Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777

Amit Dhawan Vijay Shanker Tripathi Karm Veer Arya Kshirasagar Naik *Editors*

Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication

Select Proceedings of VCAS 2020



Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering

Volume 777

Series Editors

Leopoldo Angrisani, Department of Electrical and Information Technologies Engineering, University of Napoli Federico II, Naples, Italy Marco Arteaga, Departament de Control y Robótica, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Coyoacán, Mexico Bijaya Ketan Panigrahi, Electrical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology Delhi, New Delhi, Delhi, India Samarjit Chakraborty, Fakultät für Elektrotechnik und Informationstechnik, TU München, Munich, Germany Jiming Chen, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China Shanben Chen, Materials Science and Engineering, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China Tan Kay Chen, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore Rüdiger Dillmann, Humanoids and Intelligent Systems Laboratory, Karlsruhe Institute for Technology, Karlsruhe, Germany Haibin Duan, Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Beijing, China Gianluigi Ferrari, Università di Parma, Parma, Italy Manuel Ferre, Centre for Automation and Robotics CAR (UPM-CSIC), Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, Madrid, Spain Sandra Hirche, Department of Electrical Engineering and Information Science, Technische Universität München, Munich, Germany Faryar Jabbari, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, University of California, Irvine, CA, USA Limin Jia, State Key Laboratory of Rail Traffic Control and Safety, Beijing Jiaotong University, Beijing, China Janusz Kacprzyk, Systems Research Institute, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland Alaa Khamis, German University in Egypt El Tagamoa El Khames, New Cairo City, Egypt Torsten Kroeger, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, USA Yong Li, Hunan University, Changsha, Hunan, China Oilian Liang, Department of Electrical Engineering, University of Texas at Arlington, Arlington, TX, USA Ferran Martín, Departament d'Enginyeria Electrònica, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain Tan Cher Ming, College of Engineering, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore, Singapore Wolfgang Minker, Institute of Information Technology, University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany Pradeep Misra, Department of Electrical Engineering, Wright State University, Dayton, OH, USA Sebastian Möller, Quality and Usability Laboratory, TU Berlin, Berlin, Germany Subhas Mukhopadhyay, School of Engineering & Advanced Technology, Massey University, Palmerston North, Manawatu-Wanganui, New Zealand Cun-Zheng Ning, Electrical Engineering, Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ, USA Toyoaki Nishida, Graduate School of Informatics, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan Federica Pascucci, Dipartimento di Ingegneria, Università degli Studi "Roma Tre", Rome, Italy Yong Qin, State Key Laboratory of Rail Traffic Control and Safety, Beijing Jiaotong University, Beijing, China Gan Woon Seng, School of Electrical & Electronic Engineering, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore, Singapore Joachim Speidel, Institute of Telecommunications, Universität Stuttgart, Stuttgart, Germany Germano Veiga, Campus da FEUP, INESC Porto, Porto, Portugal Haitao Wu, Academy of Opto-electronics, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China Junjie James Zhang, Charlotte, NC, USA

The book series *Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering* (LNEE) publishes the latest developments in Electrical Engineering - quickly, informally and in high quality. While original research reported in proceedings and monographs has traditionally formed the core of LNEE, we also encourage authors to submit books devoted to supporting student education and professional training in the various fields and applications areas of electrical engineering. The series cover classical and emerging topics concerning:

- Communication Engineering, Information Theory and Networks
- Electronics Engineering and Microelectronics
- Signal, Image and Speech Processing
- Wireless and Mobile Communication
- Circuits and Systems
- Energy Systems, Power Electronics and Electrical Machines
- Electro-optical Engineering
- Instrumentation Engineering
- Avionics Engineering
- Control Systems
- Internet-of-Things and Cybersecurity
- Biomedical Devices, MEMS and NEMS

For general information about this book series, comments or suggestions, please contact leontina.dicecco@springer.com.

To submit a proposal or request further information, please contact the Publishing Editor in your country:

China

Jasmine Dou, Editor (jasmine.dou@springer.com)

India, Japan, Rest of Asia

Swati Meherishi, Editorial Director (Swati.Meherishi@springer.com)

Southeast Asia, Australia, New Zealand

Ramesh Nath Premnath, Editor (ramesh.premnath@springernature.com)

USA, Canada:

Michael Luby, Senior Editor (michael.luby@springer.com)

All other Countries:

Leontina Di Cecco, Senior Editor (leontina.dicecco@springer.com)

** This series is indexed by EI Compendex and Scopus databases. **

More information about this series at https://link.springer.com/bookseries/7818

Amit Dhawan · Vijay Shanker Tripathi · Karm Veer Arya · Kshirasagar Naik Editors

Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication

Select Proceedings of VCAS 2020



Editors Amit Dhawan Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Uttar Pradesh, India

Karm Veer Arya Department of Information and Communication Technology Atal Bihari Vajpayee Indian Institute of Information Technology and Management Gwalior, Madhya Pradesh, India Vijay Shanker Tripathi Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Uttar Pradesh, India

Kshirasagar Naik Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering University of Waterloo Waterloo, ON, Canada

ISSN 1876-1100 ISSN 1876-1119 (electronic) Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering ISBN 978-981-16-2760-6 ISBN 978-981-16-2761-3 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

Design and Comparison of Low-Power, High-Speed T Flip Flop, and 4-Bit Asynchronous Counter Using Various Design Techniques	1
Sunny Mavani and Anuja Askhedkar	
Performance Evaluation of Bimetallic Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensor Based on Ti₃C₂T_x (MXene) Rajeev Kumar, Sarika Pal, Narendra Pal, J. P. Saini, and Y. K. Prajapati	13
Optimized FPGA Implementation of 64-Point FFT Using Folding Transformation Nafzia and L. Lijesh	27
Optimization of Antenna Parameters Using Neural Network Technique for Terahertz Band Applications Anurag K. Kumar, Medhavi Kirti, Shuchishmita Pani, and Sanjeev Saxena	41
BE-Sync: A Bandwidth Efficient Time Synchronization for Underwater Wireless Sensor Networks Amrita Datta and Mou Dasgupta	57
An Analysis of Analog Performance for High-K Gate Stack Dielectric Pocket Double-Gate-All-Around (DP-DGAA) MOSFET Vaibhav Purwar, Rajeev Gupta, Nitish Kumar, Himanshi Awasthi, and Rakesh Kumar Pandey	71
Novel Design of Cylindrical DRA Built MIMO Antenna for 5G Future Prospective Covering (n78/n79) Bands Ajay Kumar Dwivedi, Anand Sharma, Ashutosh Kumar Singh, and Vivek Singh	79

Investigation of Analog Performance of In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As-Based Nanotube Double-Gate-All-Around (DGAA) MOSFET Nitish Kumar, Himanshi Awasthi, Vaibhav Purwar, Abhinav Gupta, and Sanjeev Rai	89
Integrated Clock Gating Analysis of TG Based D Flip-Flop for Different Technology Nodes Sunita Panda, Samiksha Sharma, and Abhijit R. Asati	97
Design of Ku Band HEMT-Based Class AB Amplifier Manoj Kumar, Sukwinder Singh, and Deepti Kakkar	107
X Band Class F Power Amplifier for Satellite CommunicationAkash Gaikwad and Sukwinder Singh	119
Investigation of GNR Based Meta-Material Antenna for Single and Dual Band THz Applications Ritesh Kumar Kushwaha, P. Karuppanan, and Nand Kishore	125
Comparative Study of Silicon and In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As-Based Gate-All-Around (GAA) MOSFETs Himanshi Awasthi, Nitish Kumar, Vaibhav Purwar, Abhinav Gupta, Vikrant Varshney, and Sanjeev Rai	137
A Simple and Sturdy Hybrid Interference Canceller for a DS-CDMA System in Multipath Environment for Static and Mobile Users Monica Khanore and Srija Unnikrishnan	145
Performance Evaluation of SPR Sensor on Using Graphene/TMDCs in Visible and Near Infrared Wavelength Regime Vipin Verma, Sarika Pal, Narendra Pal, and Dharmendra Kumar	155
Integration of Mobile and Web Application with Accident Detection System Meet Panchani, Kashyap Gohil, Devansh Saksena, Yash Panwar, Naja Makwana, and Rutu Parekh	169
Design and Analysis of Multiplexer Based D-Flip Flop Using QCA Implementation Allam Naveen, C. V. Priyanka, and R. K. Kavitha	181
A Novel High-Throughput Medium Access Control Protocol for Concurrent Transmissions in Internet of Things Shubham Gupta, Arun Kumar Khosla, Pawan Kumar Verma, and Rajesh Verma	191

Contents

A Comparative Investigation of SiGe Junctionless Triple Gate (JLTG) and Junctionless Gate-All-Around (JL-GAA) MOSFET Abhinav Gupta, Vikrant Varshney, Adarsh Vishwakarma, Arunabh Kishore, Atul Pal, Piyush Mishra, Varnika Pathak, and Ziya ur Rahman	201
Thermal Stability Analysis of Graded-Channel Dual-MaterialDouble-Gate (GCDMDG) MOSFET for Analog ApplicationAnjali Priya, Abhinav Gupta, Neha Agrawal, Sanjeev Rai,and Ram Awadh Mishra	213
Data and Bandwidth Analysis of CAN Bus in a System UsingMATLABP. Anirvinnan and B. S. Premananda	225
DV-EXCCCII-Based Electronically Tunable Current Mode Filter Priyanka Singh, Vikrant Varshney, Ankur Kumar, and Rajendra Kumar Nagaria	235
Non-destructive Quality Estimation of Packaged Ceramic Tiles Using Millimeter Wave Imaging Radar Smriti Agarwal and Dharmendra Singh	247
Analysis of Negative Capacitance Double-Gate JunctionlessTransistor for the Variation of Device ParametersManish Kumar Rai and Sanjeev Rai	255
A Compact Size Planar Microstrip-Fed Patch Antenna with Hexagonal DGS Slot for WLAN Application Shashwat Pathak, Nand Kishore, Gaurav Upadhyay, Ratneshwar Kumar Ratnesh, and Rajan Mishra	263
Throughput Enhancement in Wireless Sensor Network by NovelGenetic Algorithm-Fuzzy Method (NGA-F)N. Prakash, M. Rajalakshmi, and R. Nedunchezhian	273
Numerical Analysis of Transversely Porous Core PCF with Square Airhole Cladding Anurag Upadhyay, Y. K. Prajapati, and Rajeev Tripathi	289
Single-Side-Polished Gold-Coated SPR-Based PCF RI Sensor Shivam Singh, Akash Srivastava, Sanat Kumar Pandey, and Y. K. Prajapati	299
Application of Carbon Nanotube (CNT) in Glucose LiquidSample Sensing Using SPR TechniqueAkash Srivastava, Shivam Singh, and Y. K. Prajapati	309

Contents

Sensing Range Analysis in Non-Conventional WSNs: MI Communication Shubhangi Palekar, Sadanand Yadav, Vinay Kumar, and Ashwin Kothari	323
Design and Analysis of Bulk-Driven Linear Voltage-Controlled Oscillator G. Swetha Praharsha, Vineetha Spandana Ommi, Tulasi Raj, and Pavankumar Bikki	335
Comparative Analysis of Decimal Fixed-Point Parallel Multipliers Using Signed Digit Radix-4, 5 and 10 Encodings Debaprasad Ghose, Dharamvir Kumar, and Manoranjan Pradhan	345
Consensus Mechanism for Peer-to-Peer Energy Trading Amit Kumar Vishwakarma, Haiwang Zhong, and Yatindra Nath Singh	355
Circularly Polarized Wideband Ring CDRA for Wireless Applications Chandravilash Rai, Sanjai Singh, and Ashutosh Kumar Singh	365
Performance Improvement of 28 GHz Antenna Arrayfor Fifth-Generation Wireless Communication SystemMohit Pant, Leeladhar Malviya, and Vineeta Choudhary	371
Design and Implementation of Phase Frequency Detectors for Low-Power PLL D. Aneesh Bharadwaj, Vaishnavi S. Parashar, T. N. Dhanush, and B. S. Premananda	381
Analysis of QCA-Based Serial Concatenated ConvolutionCoding Encoder for Error CorrectionT. N. Dhanush, Vaishnavi S. Parashar, and B. S. Premananda	393
Performance Evaluation of Master–Slave D Flip FlopBased on Charge Retention Feedback Pass Transistor Logicin NanotechnologySweta Tripathi, Anum Khan, and Subodh Wairya	405
Subthreshold Gain Enhanced Bulk- and FVF-DrivenSelf-cascode Current Mirror OTA and Its ApplicationsTripurari Sharan and Anil Kumar Gautam	425
Low-Power MISO Biquadratic Filter and Diode-Less Full Wave Rectifier Using CM-BD-MO-OTA for Bio-signals Tripurari Sharan and Akho John Richa	443
A Multi-tiered Automatic License Plate Recognition Strategy Using YOLOv2 Detector R. Shivadeep and R. Srikantaswamy	461

Bandwidth Enhancement of Trapezoidal Toothed Log-PeriodicAntenna Using Slot ConfigurationSitu Rani Patre and Satya Prakash Singh	477
DV-EXCCCII-Based Electronically Tunable Voltage Mode All-Pass Filter Priyanka Singh, Vikrant Varshney, Ankur Kumar, and Rajendra Kumar Nagaria	485
Low-Power Shift Registers Using Fully Static Contention Free Single-Phase Clocked Flip Flop Priti Tripathi, Anum Khan, and Subodh Wairya	495
FPGA-Based Display Driver Design with Remote Terminal Unit(RTU) Support Using MODBUSY. M. Ashoka Raja, Prashant K. Shah, and Anand D. Darji	511
Dual-Band Pentagonal-Shape Hybrid Rectangular DielectricResonator Antenna for C-Band ApplicationPinku Ranjan, Mihir Patil, and Anand Sharma	525
Performance Evaluation of Various Precipitation AlgorithmsOver the Indian Subcontinent RegionP. Giri Prasad, P. Anil Kumar, and S. Varadarajan	533
A FSS- and Metasurface-Loaded Dual-Polarized High-Gain Waveguide Array Avinash Chandra, Kalpesh S. Dakhode, and Hemprasad Yashwant Patil	547
Design and Implementation of Direct Memory Access & Compression in PSoC5LP Athira Gopinath, Chandni Arun, and Aravind Hanumanthaiah	555
Security of Medical Images Using DWT and SVD Watermarking Technique Kumari Suniti Singh and Harsh Vikram Singh	569
Designing Multimodal Cognitive Model of Emotion Recognition Using Voice and EEG Signal Ram Avtar Jaswal, Sunil Dhingra, and Javalkar Dinesh Kumar	581
Butler Matrix Design for Smart Antenna in X-Band Applications Mantar Singh Mandloi, Ajay Parmar, Priyanshi Malviya, and Leeladhar Malviya	593
On Body Antenna for WiMAX and WLAN-Band Operations Ankur Utsav and Ritesh Kumar Badhai	603

Co	ont	ter	nts
U	л	eı	its

Performance Analysis of Gate-Stack Nanoscaled Recessed-S/D SOI-MOSFET for Analog Applications Nilesh Anand Srivastava, Anjali Priya, and Ram Awadh Mishra	613
A Novel Compact 360° Azimuth Scanning Antenna Array for L-Band Applications Sanjana Paul, Pallepogu Prasanna Kumar, and Prerna Saxena	625
Analysis of Image Segmentation Algorithms for Infrared Images Akshay Isalkar and K. Manikandan	639
Low-Area, High-Throughput Field-Programmable Gate Array Implementation of Microprocessor Without Interlocked Pipeline Stages Prateek Sikka, Abhijit R. Asati, and Chandra Shekhar	647
A Low Power 3-Stage Ring Voltage Controlled Oscillator with Wide Tuning Range and Active Load Nitin Kumar, Manoj Kumar, Vikram Singh, Dhruv Aditya Mittal, and Priyamvada	657
865–867 MHz 180 nm Transmitter with Direct BPSK Modulation for Wireless Sensor Application Devarshi Shukla, Abhishek Kumar, Vijaya Bhaduaria, and Santosh Kumar Gupta	669
Improving the Charging System at Urban Places for Electric Vehicle Amit Sharma and Abhishek Mishra	683
Reduction of Mutual Coupling in Dual Band Antenna ArrayUsing Novel Metamaterial StructureB. Siva Chaitanya, P. Prasanna Kumar, and Prerna Saxena	695
Audio Watermarking Scheme for Ownership Verification UsingANN Based Optimal Quantization StrategyHanan S. Alshanbari	713
Design, Optimization, and Critical Analysis of Hybrid Frequency Selective Surface in the Range of 1–18 GHz Sunil Jorwal, Varun Chaudhary, Ravi Yadav, and Ravi Panwar	725
Analysis of Transient Fault Detection Models T. Shunbaga Pradeepa and S. Uma Maheswari	733
Deep Learning-Based Modulation Classification of Communication Signals Vaibhav Tiwari, Girish Chandra Tripathi, and Meenakshi Rawat	747

Biomedical Watermaking Using Arnold Transformation Gaurav Sundaram, Rajib Kumar Jha, Mohammad Akhlaqur Rahman, Ritu Meena, Sumit Kumar, and Purushottam Kumar	761
Review of Antenna Array for 5G Technology Using mmWaveMassive MIMOKailash V. Karad and Vaibhav S. Hendre	775
Cattle Health Monitoring and Tracking System R. Boopathi Rani, Dilshad Wahab, George Benedict Dung Dung, and Meruva Reddy Sai Seshadri	789
Utilization and Selection of Best SU Act as Relay via Cooperative NOMA (CNOMA)-Based CRNs for Next-Generation (5G) Communications Ashok Kumar, Mani Shekhar Gupta, Krishan Kumar, and Sumit Kumar	797
Performance Comparison of FinFET-Based Different Current Mirror Topologies Monika and Poornima Mittal	807
Two-Element Composite Dielectric Resonator-Based MIMOAntenna for WLAN and WiMAX ApplicationShivani Anand, Gagandeep Bharti, and Anand Sharma	815
Heat Flow Modeling of Breast Tumor Jaswantsing Rajput, Anil Nandgaonkar, Sanjay Nalbalwar, and Abhay Wagh	825
Performance Analysis of Fusion Methods for the MultimodalFusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT Brain ImagesTwinkle and Barjinder Singh Saini	833
Performance Analysis of Task Scheduling Heuristics in Fog Environment Ashish Virendra Chandak, Niranjan K. Ray, Rabindra Kumar Barik, and Vinay Kumar	857
Multi Hop DTN Routing Algorithm for Maritime Networks Nidhi Sonkar, Sudhakar Pandey, and Sanjay Kumar	865
Performance Evaluation of a Novel Si_{0.6}Ge_{0.4}/Ge Doping-Less TFET for Enhanced Low Power Analog/RF Applications Suruchi Sharma, Rikmantra Basu, and Baljit Kaur	875
Synthesis of Thinned Antenna Arrays Using Salp SwarmOptimization TechniquesAmiya Kumar Mondal and Prerna Saxena	885

Contents

Comparative Analysis of a Dopingless Tunnel FET and MOSFET-Based Current Mirror Harihar Nath, Suruchi Sharma, Abhishek Verma, and Baljit Kaur	899
Meta-heuristic Algorithm for Energy-Efficient Task Scheduling in Fog Computing Saeed AL-Amodi, Sudhansu Shekhar Patra, Suman Bhattacharya, Jnyana Ranjan Mohanty, Vinay Kumar, and Rabindra Kumar Barik	915
Implementation and Performance Evaluation of VariousReversible Vedic Multiplier Architectures for Reversible DigitalFiltersU. Swathi and U. Smitha	927
Spectrum Defragmentation in SDM-EONs with Multi-core Fiber for Crosstalk Reduction Arinjay Bisht and T. Velmurugan	949
Miniaturized Circularly Polarized Broadband AntennaBased on CRLH-TL Metamaterials for 5G Millimeter-WaveApplicationsSwati Sharma, Rekha Mehra, and Sanjeev Yadav	963
Early Detection of Breast Tumor Using AntennaT. A. Karthikeyan and M. Nesasudha	973
Localized Tamper Detection in Digital Images Using Three Phase Reversible Watermarking Praneesh Gupta and Jeebananda Panda	983
Analysis of Nano Opto-Mechanical Tuning of Photonic Crystal Waveguide-Based Device for Pressure Sensing Saurabh Agarwal, Jitendra K. Mishra, and Vishnu Priye	993
Design and Analysis of Thermo-optic Photonic Crystal Waveguide-Based Optical Modulator Saurabh Agarwal, Jitendra K. Mishra, and Vishnu Priye	1001
A 0.18 μm β-Ga ₂ O ₃ MOSFET Using Al ₂ O ₃ /HfO ₂ /SiO ₂ Gate Dielectric for Low-V _{TH} High-Power Electronics Applications Pratosh Kumar Pal, Avaneesh Kumar Dubey, Rajeev Kumar Chauhan, and Rajendra Kumar Nagaria	1009
ACF/PACF-Based Distance Measurement Techniques for Detection of Blockages in Impulse Lines of a Pressure Measurement Circuit for Nuclear Reactors	1017

Multi-objective Particle Swarm Optimization Based EnhancedFuzzy C-Means Algorithm for the Segmentation of MRI DataMunendra Singh, C. S. Asha, and Neeraj Sharma	1031
Recognition of Facial Images via Self-Organizing Landmark Location with Approximate Graph Matching K. V. Arya and Shyam Singh Rajput	1043
Design of MEMS Phase Shifters for Phased Array AntennaApplicationsE. K. Arunima Raj and E. S. Shajahan	1057
Sierpinski Fractal-Based Ceramic Antenna for Wideband Applications Kapil Gangwar, Anand Sharma, and Ravi Kumar Gangwar	1073
Further Results on Delay-Dependent Stability Analysisof Uncertain Discrete-Time Systems Exerting GeneralizedOverflow Nonlinearities and Time-Varying DelaysPushpendra Kumar Gupta, Kalpana Singh,and V. Krishna Rao Kandanvli	1081
Stability Criterion for Implementing Discrete-Time DelayedSystems Subjected to Finite Wordlength Nonlinearitieswith External InterferenceKalpana Singh, Pushpendra Kumar Gupta, Dinesh Chaurasia,and V. Krishna Rao Kandanvli	1101
Study and Design of a Novel Half Adder Circuit Using QCA Gates with Optimized Parameters Shubhra Dubey, Vandana Shukla, O. P. Singh, and G. R. Mishra	1111
Low-Power Enhanced Speed Two-Tail Dynamically Controlled Comparator Suitable for Subthreshold CMOS Circuits Avaneesh Kumar Dubey, Vikrant Varshney, Ankur Kumar, Pratosh Kumar Pal, and Rajendra Kumar Nagaria	1121
Charge Plasma-Based Tunnel FET with Enhanced DC Performance Applicable for Ultra-low Power Applications Varun Mishra, Yogesh Kumar Verma, Santosh Kumar Gupta, and Afreen Anamul Haque	1137
Data Collection Website with Brain Tumor and PneumoniaDetectionAtul Awasthi, Kumar Mohit, Rajeev Gupta, and Basant Kumar	1149
Preview Control for Discrete Time Systems	1157

Co	ont	en	ts
u	ш	en	ιs

Design of 15-4 Compressor for DSP Application Sanjiv Kumar Gupta, Amit Dhawan, and Manish Tiwari	1167
UWB Antenna for ITS Application	1177
FPGA-Based Modulation Technique for Five-to-Three-Phase Ultra Sparse Matrix Converter Tannistha Malakar, Vulavakayala Siva, and Santosh K. Singh	1187
Exact SER for Modulation Schemes Over Generalized Rician Fading Channel Veenu Kansal, Rajanbir Singh, and Simranjit Singh	1201
Implementation of an Efficient Handover Algorithm on APUsing Software-Defined Wi-Fi SystemsShruti Sujan Munde and Vinodkumar Jadhav	1213
A Novel Technique for the Design and Implementation of a 4 × 2 All Optical Encoder Using Micro-ring Resonator Switching Mechanism Rakesh Choudhary, Sushanta Mahanty, and Ajay Kumar	1227
Design of Micro-ring Resonator Based All-Optical Half Adder Using 2–4 Line Decoder Circuit Sushanta Mahanty, Rakesh Choudhary, and Ajay Kumar	1239
Image Restoration of Landslide Photographs Using SRCNN Amrita Mohan, Ramji Dwivedi, and Basant Kumar	1249
Classification Techniques for Binary Motor Imagery Signal for Brain-Computer Interfaces Piyush Kant, S. H. Laskar, and Jupitara Hazarika	1261

About the Editors

Dr. Amit Dhawan received his Bachelors in Electronics and Communication Engineering from Birla Institute of Technology, Mesra, Ranchi; his Masters (Control and Instrumentation) and Ph.D. (Electronics and Communication Engineering) from Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Allahabad, India. He joined Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology (MNNIT), Allahabad, as lecturer in 1991, and became an Assistant Professor in 2001, Associate Professor in 2006 and Professor in 2012. At present, he is Professor and Head in the Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, MNNIT, Allahabad. His current research interests include digital signal processing, robust stability, guaranteed cost control, delayed systems and multidimensional systems. He has published many articles in SCI journals and conference proceedings. He has also served as reviewer for many international journals and conferences. His biography was listed in Marquis's Who's Who in the World, USA.

Dr. Vijay Shanker Tripathi has received his B.Tech. from J. K. Institute of Applied Physics and Technology, University of Allahabad in 1988. He did his M.Tech and Ph.D. from Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad in 1999 and 2007, respectively. At present he is a Professor in the Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering at MNNIT Allahabad. He has published more than 60 research papers in reputed refereed international journals as well as in international conferences. He has guided more than 05 Ph.D. scholars and more than 15 M.Tech. scholars. His area of specialization includes RF circuits and systems, antenna, SDR, non-invasive RF sensors.

Dr. Karm Veer Arya has received his B.Sc. from Rohilkhand University, Bareilly, UP, in 1986. He did his M.E. and Ph.D. from IISc Bangalore and IIT Kanpur in 1991 and 2007, respectively. He is currently working as professor at ABV-Indian Institute of Information Technology and Management, Gwalior. He has published more than 100 research papers in reputed refereed international journals as well as in international conferences. He has supervised 20 Ph.D. scholars and handled

many R&D projects. His research interest includes image processing, biometrics and information security. He has guided more than 15 Ph.D. scholars.

Dr. Kshirasagar Naik received his B.S. and M.Tech. degrees from Sambalpur University, India, and the Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur, India, respectively. He received an M.Math degree in computer science from the University of Waterloo and a Ph.D. degree in electrical and computer engineering from Concordia University, Montreal. He worked as a faculty member at the University of Aizu in Japan, and Carleton University in Ottawa. At present he is a Professor in the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering at the University of Waterloo. He was a visiting Professor at the Research Institute of Electrical Communications at Tohoku University, Sendai, Japan, during May–November 2003. He served as a co-guest editor of a special issue of IEEE JSAC on Mobile Computing and Networking and a co-guest editor of a special issue of IEEE JSAC on Peer-to-Peer Communications and Applications. His research interests include computer network protocols, wireless and mobile communication systems, sensor networks, peer-to-peer networks, cognitive radio systems and energy saving in hand-held devices and data centers.

Design and Comparison of Low-Power, High-Speed T Flip Flop, and 4-Bit Asynchronous Counter Using Various Design Techniques



Sunny Mavani and Anuja Askhedkar

1 Introduction

Nowadays, the use of portable devices is rapidly increasing which forces us to use a battery which is a limited power source. Although battery technology is improving very slowly in comparison with the microelectronics technology, the demand for the design of logic circuits which consumes less power and better performance is increasing. Power, area, and delay are the key parameters to measure the quality of VLSI circuits. But there is always a trade-off among these parameters. The design of sequential circuits has two basic parts: flip flops and some combinational logic. This flip flop allows us to store a 1-bit data, so it is used as a memory cell, which can be designed using combinational logic gates like NOR, NAND, AND, OR, XOR, NOT, CMOS latches, feedback, and transmission gates [1].

In industries, CMOS is the most widely used technology in logic design. CMOS has two different families: (1) Static and (2) Dynamic logic. From these two, static is the commonly used, and it has two networks (1) NMOS network known as pull-down network, and (2) PMOS network known as pull-up network. But the disadvantages of static logic are that a greater number of transistors are required, so delay and area increase. To overcome these disadvantages of CMOS, one of the methods introduced is PTL (pass transistor logic). The benefits of PTL are (1) low-power consumption due to a smaller number of transistors and (2) less delay due to lower area. There are also some problems with PTL, firstly it supplies the output voltage level at input leads to a situation where the PMOS device is not completely turned off and due to this static power dissipation might be critical. There are various PTL based

S. Mavani (🖂) · A. Askhedkar

A. Askhedkar

e-mail: anuja.askhedkar@mitwpu.edu.com

https://doi.org/10.1007/078.081.16.2761.2

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_1

School of Electronics and Communication, MIT World Peace University, Pune, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

methods are proposed to overcome these problems like double-pass transistor logic (DPL), complementary pass transistor logic (CPL), and transmission gate (TG). Transmission gate is one of the finest implementations of the PTL, and it overcomes the issue of output voltage level swing degradation by using NMOS and PMOS parallel to each other [2]. In recent trends, gate diffusion input (GDI) is used to design logic circuits with low-power, high-speed, and less transistor count.

One of the flip flops that are designed in this paper is T flip flop (TFF). TFF is the primary sequential logic circuit used in designing binary counters, frequency dividers, shift registers, demultiplexers, and 2-bit parallel load registers [3]. In this paper, schematic and layout design of master–slave TFF is implemented using three different technologies CMOS, GDI, and TGB. And using these implemented T flip flop, 4-bit asynchronous counter is also designed. The counter is implemented for all the above technologies, and results are compared in terms of power, area, delay, and PDP.

The paper is organized as follows: a brief GDI introduction is illustrated in Sect. 2. Implementation of master–slave T flip flop, its simulation waveform, and layout design are shown in Sect. 3. Implementation of the 4-bit asynchronous counter and its simulation waveforms are shown in Sect. 4. The different technologies are compared in terms of power, delay, area, and PDP, and the results are discussed in Sect. 5. In the last Sect. 6, whole work is concluded.

2 Gate Diffusion Input Logic

In Fig. 1, the basic GDI cell is presented. The GDI cell looks like to the CMOS inverter, but functionality wise entirely differs from standard CMOS inverter. Unlike



N	P	G	Out	Function
·0'	В	А	ĀB	F1
В	'1'	А	$\overline{A} + B$	F2
'1'	В	A	A + B	OR
В	·0'	A	AB	AND
С	В	А	$\overline{A}B + AC$	MUX
'0'	'1'	А	Ā	NOT

Table 1 Various input configuration of GDI cell for different Boolean functions

the CMOS inverter, the standard GDI cell is made up of three inputs nodes: (1) G (common gate input of both the PMOS and NMOS), (2) N (drain or source input of the NMOS), (3) P (drain or source input of the PMOS). Bulk or body terminal of NMOS is connected to N, and bulk terminal of PMOS is connected to the P. GDI technique offers a greater advantage compared to other technologies which are low-power dissipation and less transistor count. In Table 1, GDI cell input configuration for different logic functions using only using two transistors is shown. In CMOS, most of these logic functions are complex and require more than six transistors. If there are *N* input CMOS logic structure, then it could be extended to N + 2 input GDI cell by using Shannon expression.

Like other technologies, GDI is also suffering from some drawbacks first one is the low output voltage swing problem due to the poor high-to-low switching characteristics of PMOS. The second drawback is that is in the standard p-well CMOS fabrication process, it is not possible to implement all the functions mentioned in Table 1. For the successful implementation of these functions, SOI (silicon on insulator) or twin-well CMOS technologies are required. By using standard p-well CMOS process, only *F*1 function can be implemented because any NMOS bulk is continuously and equally biased [2].

The bulk node of both PMOS and NMOS is not biased properly which leads to the variations in threshold voltage. To overcome this drawback, the modified GDI cell is introduced in which the body terminal of both PMOS and NMOS are, respectively, connected to V_{dd} and ground. Apart from that threshold variations in m-GDI cell also improves the logic swing degradation [4]. The modified GDI basic cell is presented in Fig. 2. In this paper, all the logic circuit designs for GDI were based on the *F*1 and *F*2 functions only.

3 T Flip Flop

The flip flops are the primary building block of any sequential design. Flip flops are used to store 1-bit data. The flip flop is clocked, non-clocked flip flops are known as latches. These flip flops have many different types, in this paper, we are focusing on T flip flop. In toggle flip flop whenever the clock is triggered, it inverts the state

Fig. 2 Modified GDI cell



Table 2ChTFF	naracteristics of		Т	Q(t + 1)
		No change	0	Q(t)
		Toggle	1	Q'(t)

of flip flops. TFF is mostly used for designing of the counter. The characteristics of TFF is shown in Table 2 [5].

3.1 CMOS Based TFF

Figure 3 presents the master–slave TFF using CMOS technology. In this schematic, each NAND gate is based on CMOS logic. Schematic design consists of 6 two-input NAND gates and 2 three-input NAND gates. The circuit contains 38 transistors. Figure 4 shows the layout implementation of CMOS TFF.



Fig. 3 TFF using CMOS logic



Fig. 4 Layout of CMOS master-slave TFF

3.2 TGB Based T Flip Flop

The transmission gate-based realization of the TFF is shown in Fig. 5. It consists of six transmission gates and six inverters and a total of 24 transistors. The layout of the transmission gate based TFF is presented in Fig. 6.

3.3 GDI Based TFF

The GDI implementation of T flip flop is presented in Fig. 7. This GDI T flip flop is based on only GDI F1 and F2 function. The total number of transistors used are 36. The Layout design of GDI TFF is presented in Fig. 8.



Fig. 5 Schematic of TGB T flip flop



Fig. 6 Layout of TGB T flip flop

The simulation waveform of the GDI TFF is presented in Fig. 9. In that, the first waveform is input signal T, the second waveform is the clock signal. Then, the third waveform is output signal Q, and the last fourth waveform is output signal Q'. Outputs are changing their states when T is a high and positive edge of the clock occurs.



Fig. 7 GDI realization of TFF



Fig. 8 Layout of GDI based master-slave TFF

4 Asynchronous Counter

Counters are designed with the use of flip flops. Counters are normally used in realtime digital processing applications. In the design of the *N* bit counter, *N* number of flip flops are used. For example, for a design of a 4-bit counter, 4 flip flops are required. The count range of *N* bit counter is from 0 to $2^n - 1$ for up counter and from $2^n - 1$ to 0 for the down counter. Counters are mainly two types synchronous and asynchronous. In the synchronous counter, for all the circuit, common clock pulse



Fig. 9 Simulation waveform of GDI TFF

is used, wherein the asynchronous counter only one clock is used, the output of the previous logic circuit is taking to the next logic circuit as a clock [5]. In this paper, by using the T flip flop designed, a 4-bit asynchronous counter is designed.

The 4-bit asynchronous counter design using GDI is presented in Fig. 10. The four conventional GDI mater-slave TFFs are used, which resulted in a total of 144 transistors. Similarly, the 4-bit counter is also implemented using TGB and CMOS based master–slave T flip flops which resulted in a total of 96 and 152 transistors respectively. The simulation waveform of the counter is shown in Fig. 11. In that, first waveform is input signal T common to all flip flop, and it is always high. The second waveform is the clock signal. Then, all remaining eight waveforms are output signals Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4, Q1', Q2', Q3', and Q4', respectively. In Fig. 11, since T is always high, every change in output occurs at the positive edge of the clock.



Fig. 10 GDI based 4-bit asynchronous counter



Fig. 11 Simulation waveform of GDI 4-bit asynchronous counter

5 Simulation and Performance Analysis

All the circuits and layouts are designed using the Cadence virtuoso tool for 180 nm technology, and circuits are simulated with a supply voltage as 1.8 V. All the results in a simulation are considered after the designing of the layout and all the parasitic and other capacitive parameters are taken into account. Each logic circuit is implemented using three different technologies: CMOS, GDI, and transmission gate. For all the circuits W/L of the PMOS transistor is taken three times the W/L of NMOS transistors, to achieve the best performance. Total width of each circuits including width of both NMOS and PMOS are specified in Tables 3 and 4. All the results are given in Tables 3 and 4 which are post-layout simulation results.

Table 3 shows the performance analysis of T flip flop for all the three design methodologies. GDI shows a comparatively good result for all parameters than

					1 1	
Logic style	Number of transistors	Total width (µm)	Power (µW)	Area (µm ²)	Delay (ps)	PDP (fJ)
CMOS	38	41.04	24.42	851.75	215.63	5.265
TGB	24	33.48	21.62	501.72	242.51	5.243
GDI	36	38.88	19.92	635.84	212.17	4.226

Table 3 Simulation results of CMOS, TGB, and GDI for master-slave T flip flop

Table 4 Simulation results of CMOS, TGB, and GDI for 4-bit asynchronous counter

Logic style	Number of transistors	Total width (µm)	Power (µW)	Area (µm ²)	Delay (ps)	PDP (fJ)
CMOS	152	164.16	70.70	4165.04	0.976	68.9
TGB	96	133.92	70.50	2567.49	1.440	101.5
GDI	144	155.52	37.61	3066.14	1.277	48.0

CMOS. Also, GDI shows better results than TGB for all parameters except the area. The number of transistors is less in TGB, and hence, area of TGB T flip flop is less than CMOS and GDI. Minimum power consumption and minimum delay are observed in GDI which is 19.92 μ W and 212.17 ps, respectively. GDI T flip flop has the lowest PDP of 4.226 fJ.

In Table 4, the 4-bit asynchronous counter simulation results are presented. Lowest power consumption is in GDI which is 37.61 μ W, while in CMOS and TGB, it is nearly double power consumption than the GDI. While the lowest delay is observed in the CMOS which is 0.97 ns, delay of GDI is 1.277 ns which is slightly higher than the CMOS. The number of transistors is less in TGB, so the area is less in TGB, but PDP of the TGB is more than double compared to GDI. Overall PDP for GDI, CMOS, and TGB are 48 fJ, 68.9 fJ, and 101.5 fJ, respectively.

6 Conclusion

In this paper, the cross-coupled NAND gate-based high-performance power and delay efficient T flip flop and 4-bit asynchronous counter are implemented with some popular designing methodologies like CMOS, TGB, and GDI. GDI counter which gives the most efficient power and PDP result because of the GDI master–slave T flip flop that has better performance than standard CMOS and TGB T flip flop.

All the logic circuits are implemented in 180 nm standard p-well CMOS technology. All the schematic and layout are designed and simulated using the Cadence virtuoso tool. The performance analysis is made for all the three designing methods for the major VLSI aspects like area, power, delay, and power–delay product. Simulation results with 1.8 V as a supply voltage for 180 nm technology show that the GDI counter has the least power consumption of 37.61 μ W which is 46.8% less than the power consumption of CMOS and TGB counters. And also, the least PDP in GDI counter 48 fJ which is 30.3% less than the PDP of CMOS counter and 52.7% less than the PDP of the TGB counter.

So overall GDI gives the lowest power and PDP results for both the T flip flop and 4-bit asynchronous counter. The standard p-well CMOS process has some limitations for GDI implementation. In this paper, all the GDI circuits are implemented using only F1 and F2 functions. considering this limitation, it still gives the low power and PDP in comparison with CMOS and TGB.

References

- K. Dhar, Design of high speed low power synchronously clocked NOR-based JK flip-flop using modified GDI technique in 45 nm technology, in 2014 International Conference on Advance in Computing, Communications and Informatics (ICACCI), pp. 600–606
- 2. A.F. Morgenshtein, I.A. Wagner, Gate-diffusion input (GDI): a power-efficient method for digital combinational circuits. IEEE Trans. VLSI Syst. **10**(5), 566–581 (2002)
- 3. E. Abiri, M.R. Salehi, A. Darabi, Design and simulation of low-power and high speed T-flip flap with the modified gate diffusion input (GDI) technique in nano process, in *The 22nd Iranian Conference on Electrical Engineering (ICEE 2014)*, pp. 82–87, May 2014
- 4. E. Pavani, V. Ashok Kumar, A. Jaya Lakshmi, Performance evolution of gate diffusion input and modified gate diffusion input techniques for multipliers and fast adder design. Int. Res. J. Eng. Technol. (IRJET) 6(7), 1518–1527 (2019)
- 5. P. Umarani, A high performance asynchronous counter using area and power efficient GDI T-flip flop. Indian J. Sci. Technol. **8**(7), 622–628 (2015)

Performance Evaluation of Bimetallic Surface Plasmon Resonance Sensor Based on Ti₃C₂T_x (MXene)



Rajeev Kumar, Sarika Pal, Narendra Pal, J. P. Saini, and Y. K. Prajapati

1 Introduction

The role of surface plasmon resonance (SPR) sensor has been seen in various sensing application of chemicals, physical and biological analytes [1, 2]. Surface plasmons (SPs) are free charge oscillations of electron at interface of metal-dielectric owning opposite sign permittivity and lead to generate in surface plasmon wave (SPW) at interface. SPW is transverse nature wave that decay exponentially in both dielectric medium and metal. Resonance condition occurs when the momentum of SPW and incident light matches with each other. This matching condition is obstructed by very little changes in the interface condition. SPR sensors are mostly realized by Kretschmann configuration because of its simple and realizable geometry [1]. Since last three decades, SPR sensors were utilized for their label-free, real-time and highly sensitive detection of bimolecular interaction monitored with modification in refractive index (RI) of sensing layer [2, 3]. The experimental realization of

R. Kumar $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$. Pal

S. Pal e-mail: sarikapal@nituk.ac.in

N. Pal Roorkee Institute of Technology, Roorkee, Uttarakhand 247667, India

J. P. Saini Netaji Subhas University of Technology (NSUT), New Delhi 110078, India e-mail: jps@nsut.ac.in

Y. K. Prajapati Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Allahabad, Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh 211002, India e-mail: yogendrapra@mnnit.ac.in

National Institute of Technology, Uttarakhand, Srinagar, Uttarakhand 246174, India e-mail: rajeevkumar.phd2020@nituk.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_2

surface plasmon resonance sensor as biacore system found numerous applications such as in medical diagnostics, organic chemical detection, drug evolution in the pharmaceutical industry [4, 5] and other biomedical areas [6]. SP generation capability is dependent on exceptional optical properties of the metals like as silver (Ag), copper (Cu), gold (Au) and nickel (Ni) [7]. These metals possess best SPR characteristics in visible range while in infrared range their utilization is limited due to higher losses [7]. Currently researchers in near-infrared range have used nanostructure transparent conducting oxide, e.g., Ga-doped zinc oxide instead of metals for SP generation [8]. Such SPR sensors have been utilized for figure of merit enhancement as they show low sensitivity in near-infrared region. So, for SPR sensor operating in visible range, metals are best choice for SP generation to get higher sensitivities. Au is commonly used metal for SP generation due to its sensitivity, non-toxicity and stability for biomolecular interaction. But, they compromise accuracy of detection due to larger imaginary part of permittivity responsibly for SP damping effect [9]. The utilization of Ag metal is capable of giving accurate detection with trade-off in sensitivity, if protected from oxidation by using some other material over it [10]. Ag is easily oxidized in the ambient environment and is potentially toxic to the living cell as well [10, 11]. Therefore, many researchers used bimetallic layers in SPR sensor to deal with trade-offs between sensitivity and accuracy. Bimetallic combination of Ag and Au has been used for chemical sensing and bimolecular detection [12–14]. Researchers tried not only bimetallic configurations for specific sensing but also utilized different materials possessing unique optical sensing properties. Some examples of such materials are graphene [15], antimonene [16], black phosphorus [17], transition metal di-chalcogenides [18] and metamaterials [19]. In past few years, MXene $(Ti_3C_2T_x)$ is newly introduced material in 2D materials family useful for SPR sensing [20–28]. It consists of transition metal carbides and nitrides with attractive electrochemical properties. Its excellent physical, electronic and electrochemical properties have been used in sensor, energy conservation devices and electrochemical capacitor [20–22]. The use of 2D material MXene (Ti_3C_2Tx) as bio-recognition element (BRE) layer helps to capture the biochemical molecules present in an aqueous solution. The unique properties of Ti₃C₂Tx (MXene), i.e., high metallic conductivity, hydrophilic surface terminations, larger surface area and higher binding energies provides enhanced sensing performance of SPR sensor [23-27]. Its excellent hydrophilic, functionalized surface terminations (-OH, =O and -F) help to capture biochemical molecules present in sensing medium to increase the sensitivity. Larger surface and higher binding energy of MXene provide larger contact area and efficient binding of biochemical molecules on its surface [23-27]. Wu et al. [25] recently demonstrated an Au-based SPR sensor with Ti_3C_2Tx (MXene), which exhibited the higher sensitivity 160°/RIU at 633 nm wavelength. Xu et al. [26] theoretically investigated an Au-based SPR sensor with TMD and $Ti_3C_2T_x$. They calculated highest sensitivity 198°/RIU with five-layer WS₂. Srivastava et al. [27] theoretically investigated the $Ti_3C_2T_x$ (MXene)-based SPR sensor. Group obtained the maximum sensitivity 190.2°/RIU for their proposed work. Pal et al. [28] remarkably increases the sensitivity of SPR sensor using heterostructure of $Ti_3C_2T_x$ (MXene) and BlueP/MoS₂ for biochemical sensing. Their work exhibited the highest sensitivity of 204°/RIU for three layers of BlueP/MoS₂ and monolayer $Ti_3C_2T_x$ (MXene) using Ag metal and CaF₂ prism. Bimetallic layers are not tried yet for $Ti_3C_2T_x$ (MXene)-based SPR sensor for sensing of analytes.

So, this work presents a new $Ti_3C_2T_x$ (MXene)-based SPR biosensor configuration using bimetallic layers of Ag and Ni. Ni is chemically inactive metal, and it shows poor plasmonic properties due to high Joule losses [11, 29, 30]. Ni possesses remarkable magnetic and magneto optical merits useful for sensing [11, 29, 30]. On combining these ferromagnetic and noble metals provides a high sensitivity as compared to conventional SPR sensor by localizing electromagnetic field associated with plasmonic response [29, 30]. The cost of Ni is less than that of other metals. This bimetallic combination is used to get significantly enhanced sensitivity after including the nickel (Ni) layer. The selective performance factors such as sensitivity (*S*), minimum reflectance (R_{min}), detection accuracy (DA) and quality factor (QF) are evaluated by characterizing the reflectance curve of the proposed design.

This work is demonstrated in various sections. Section 2 clarifies the numerical modeling; Sect. 3 expresses the results and discussion; and finally, Sect. 4 concludes this work.

2 Sensor Design, Theoretical Model and Performance Factors

The proposed $Ti_3C_2T_x$ (MXene)-based bimetallic configuration is shown in Fig. 1. The first layer is BK7 prism with refractive index 1.5151 at 633 nm wavelength [31–33].

The second and third layers are of Ag (optimized thickness) and Ni metal (5 nm, 10 nm and 15 nm thickness) grown on top of BK7 prism, respectively. The refractive indices of Ag and Ni are calculated using Drude–Lorentz model [29].



$$n_m(\lambda) = \sqrt{1 - \frac{\lambda^2 \lambda_c}{\lambda_p^2 (\lambda_c + i\lambda)}}$$
(1)

where λ_c is collision wavelength (1.7614 × 10⁻⁵ for Ag and 2.84092 × 10⁻⁵ for Ni), λ_p is plasma wavelength (1.4541 × 10⁻⁷ for Ag and 2.5381 × 10⁻⁷ for Ni) and λ is 0.633 µm wavelength. The use of fourth layer is Ti₃C₂T_x (MXene) as BRE layer for biochemical sensing with RI 2.38 + 1.33i [32–34]. The last layer is sensing layer for analyte detection. The RI of the sensing medium is changed from $n_s = 1.330$ to 1.335 [32–34].

The transfer matrix method (TMM) is applied to get reflectivity of the p-polarized incident light [31-34]. The tangential *E* and *H* fields between first and last boundaries are related by:

$$\left[\frac{E_1}{H_1}\right] = U\left[\frac{E_{N-1}}{H_{N-1}}\right] \tag{2}$$

where E_1 , H_1 and E_{N-1} , H_{N-1} shows the tangential field component at the 1st and Nth layer, respectively, where U denotes final matrix of the combined five-layer configuration as [27].

$$U = \begin{bmatrix} U_{11} & U_{12} \\ U_{21} & U_{22} \end{bmatrix} = \prod_{k=2}^{N-1} U_k,$$
(3)

where U_k corresponding to Kth layer is

$$U_{k} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\beta_{k} & -i(\sin\beta_{k})/q_{k} \\ -iq_{k}\sin\beta_{k} & \cos\beta_{k} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4)

And *k* lies from 1 to *N* where

$$q_k = \left(\frac{\mu_k}{\varepsilon_k}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cos \theta_k = \frac{(\varepsilon_k - n_1^2 \sin^2 \theta_1)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\varepsilon_k}$$
(5)

Here,

$$\beta_k = \frac{2\pi}{\lambda} n_k \cos\theta_k (z_k - z_{k-1}) = \frac{2\pi d_k}{\lambda} \left(\varepsilon_k - n_1^2 \sin^2\theta_1 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(6)

and

$$q_k = \frac{\left(n_k^2 - n_1^2 \sin^2 \theta_1\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{n_k^2}$$
(7)

The wavelength is λ and incident angle is θ_1 . Reflection coefficient (r_p) is given as follows:

$$r_p = \frac{(U_{11} + U_{12}q_N)q_1 - (U_{21} + U_{22}q_N)}{(U_{11} + U_{12}q_N)q_1 + (U_{21} + U_{22}q_N)}$$
(8)

where q_1 and q_N calculated from Eq. (5) are related terms for the 1st and *N*th layer, respectively.

The reflectance is given as:

$$R = \left| r_p \right|^2 \tag{9}$$

2.1 Sensor Performance Factor

Performance factors calculated from reflectance curve must be high for a good sensor. Sensitivity, accuracy and quality of detection are used to measure sensor performance [31]. The resonance angle shift w.r.t variation in RI of sensing layer is known as sensitivity (S).

$$S = \frac{\Delta \theta_{\rm res}}{\Delta n_{\rm s}} \tag{10}$$

Detection accuracy (DA) measures resolution of SPR sensor, which is calculated from spectral width of reflectance curve. It is inversely proportional to full width at half maximum, FWHM, and it is difference of resonance angle at 50% reflectivity of reflectance curve. DA and quality factor (QF) may be given as:

$$DA = \frac{1}{FWHM}$$
(11)

$$QF = \frac{S}{FWHM}$$
(12)

3 Results and Analysis

The objective is to see the effect of the bimetallic layer of Ag and Ni with 2D material $Ti_3C_2T_x$ (MXene) on sensor performance. To compare the effect of nickel in proposed bimetallic design, the simulated results are evaluated with and without Ni. First Ag and Ni thicknesses are optimized for the proposed design, and then,



Fig. 2 a Variation of R_{\min} and sensitivity for Ag thickness for proposed SPR without Ni. **b** Variation of R_{\min} . **c** Sensitivity for Ag thickness for proposed sensor

their performances is evaluated in terms of sensitivity, DA and QF curves. Figure 2a shows Ag thickness optimization by plotting variation of minimum reflectance (R_{\min}) and sensitivity versus Ag thickness (20-60 nm) for proposed sensor without Ni. The R_{\min} first decreases from 0.52 a.u., becomes minimum to 0.0004 a.u. at 43 nm and then increases to 0.40 a.u. for Ag thickness change from 20 to 60 nm. The sensitivity increases from 60°/RIU to 121°/RIU for Ag thickness variation from 20 to 60 nm. So, Ag thickness of 43 nm may be chosen as optimized thickness at which minimum R_{\min} and larger sensitivity is achieved for proposed sensor without Ni. After adding the Ni layer (5 nm, 10 nm and 15 nm), variation of the minimum reflectance and resonance angle shift ($\Delta \theta_{res}$) is shown in Fig. 2b, c, respectively, to optimize thickness of Ag and Ni. Minimum reflectance (R_{\min}) shifts to smaller Ag thickness for higher values of Ni thickness as observed in Fig. 2b [31]. It demonstrates minimum reflectance (R_{\min}) of 0.0003 a.u. obtained at 28 nm Ag thickness for 15 nm thickness of Ni layer. On analyzing Fig. 2c, it gives higher shift of resonance angle ($\Delta \theta_{res}$) for 15 nm Ni [31]. Higher resonance angle shift and minimum reflectance (R_{\min}) are necessary to achieve large sensitivity and accuracy. On calculating sensitivity from Eq. (10) for Fig. 2c, it increases from 117°/RIU to 156°/RIU and 146°/RIU to 218°/RIU at optimized Ag thickness for 5 nm and 10 nm thickness of Ni layer, respectively. Figure 2c suggests

sensitivity increases from 198°/RIU to 292.32°/RIU for the Ag thickness from 20 to 45 nm, and thereafter, it decreases from 292.09°/RIU to 275°/RIU for the Ag thickness from 46 to 60 nm for 15 nm Ni thickness. This shows the highest sensitivity of 292.32°/RIU is attained at 45 nm Ag and 15 nm Ni thickness. Thus, after analyzing Fig. 2b, c optimized Ag and Ni thicknesses are 28 nm and 15 nm, respectively. At these optimized thicknesses, higher resonance angle shift and minimum reflectivity is obtained for proposed design.

Figure 3a-c shows the reflectance curve for proposed design without Ni, proposed SPR without Ti₃C₂T_x (MXene) and proposed SPR, respectively. Figure 3a indicates





resonance angle shift ($\Delta \theta_{res.}$) of 0.59° for $\Delta n_s = 0.005$ for proposed SPR without Ni. Sensitivity, DA and OF calculated from reflectance curve shown in Fig. 3a are 119°/RIU, 0.35/degree and 42.19/RIU. Figure 3b shows the reflectance curve of proposed SPR sensor without MXene at 15 nm Ni and 41 nm Ag thickness, for Δn_s = 0.005. The larger resonance angle shift ($\Delta \theta_{res} = 1.40^{\circ}$) is obtained. This indicates use of Ni enhance SP field by localizing it in sensing region [30]. Figure 3b indicates the sensitivity, detection accuracy and quality factor for proposed design without MXene are 281°/RIU, 0.26/degree and 73.17/RIU, respectively. Figure 3c shows the reflectance curve of proposed SPR sensor using 15 nm Ni at 28 nm Ag thickness for $\Delta n_{\rm s} = 0.005$. The larger resonance angle shift ($\Delta \theta_{\rm res} = 1.24^{\circ}$) is obtained for proposed design than without using Ni. Figure 3c indicates the sensitivity, detection accuracy and quality factor for proposed design are 248°/RIU, 0.10/degree and 26.72/RIU, respectively. Thus, we can conclude bimetallic configuration in $Ti_3C_2T_x$ (MXene)-based SPR sensor show much better performance for sensing of analytes. This is due to use of Ni responsible for sensitivity improvement and better adsorption properties of $Ti_3C_2T_x$ [23, 24].

Parameters obtained from reflectance curve plotted for proposed SPR without Ni, proposed SPR without $Ti_3C_2T_x$ and proposed SPR shown in Fig. 3a–c are also provided in Table 1 for easier analysis. The data entered in Table 1 show clear comparison of all performance factors calculated for proposed SPR without Ni, proposed SPR without $Ti_3C_2T_x$ and proposed SPR. The comparison of both Fig. 3b, c and Table 1 indicates that sensitivity for proposed SPR sensor without MXene is much higher than on using MXene. However, the proposed SPR sensor without MXene indicating Ni at top layer will not be able to bind analytes efficiently on it. So, in spite of highest sensitivity attained for proposed SPR sensor without MXene, the

Parameters		Proposed SPR without Ni	SPR without MXene	Proposed SPR with Ni
Resonance angle before adsorption ($n_s = 1.330$)		68.27	79.06	79.6720
Resonance angle after adsorption ($n_s = 1.335$)		68.86	80.47	80.9119
Resonance angle shift ($\Delta \theta$), $\Delta n_s = 0.005$ (degree)		0.59	1.40	1.239
Sensitivity (°/RIU)		119	281	248
FWHM (degree) n _s	1.330	2.82	3.84	9.28
	1.335	2.90	4.15	9.70
DA (/degree) n _s	1.330	0.35	0.26	0.107
	1.335	0.34	0.24	0.103
Quality factor	1.330	42.19	73.17	26.72
(/RIU)	1.335	41.03	67.10	25.56

Table 1 Performance parameter at optimized silver and Ni (15 nm) thickness with monolayer $Ti_3C_2T_x$


proposed SPR sensor shows efficient analyte sensing due to higher binding energies, larger surface area and hydrophilic surface terminations of MXene $(Ti_3C_2T_x)$.

We plotted reflectance curve for proposed SPR, for wide range of sensing medium RI (1.33–1.34), as shown in Fig. 4. There is right shifting of resonance angle to higher value with slow increase in the angular beam width for higher sensing layer RI up to 1.340. Thus, nature of the reflectance curve suggests that proposed SPR can operate for wider range with good sensitivity and detection accuracy. Figure 5a-c indicates the variation in performance factors such as sensitivity, FWHM, DA and QF with increasing RI of the sensing medium at optimized Ag and Ni thicknesses in visible range. The variation of sensitivity increases with change in RI of sensing layer from [116°/RIU to 119°/RIU], [261°/RIU to 303°/RIU] and [236°/RIU to 259°/RIU] for Ag-Ti₃C₂Tx-SM, Ag-Ni-SM and Ag-Ni-Ti₃C₂Tx-SM structures, respectively, as shown in Fig. 5a. Similarly, the FWHM increases with change in RI of sensing layer from [3.17° to 3.37°], [3.82° to 4.54°] and [9.48° to 9.79°] for Ag-Ti₃C₂Tx-SM, Ag-Ni-SM and Ag-Ni-Ti₃C₂Tx-SM structures, respectively. Figure 5a shows that the sensitivity obtained for Ag-Ni-SM structure is much higher than that of other two proposed structure. But, Ni does not possess unique attachment properties like of Ti₃C₂Tx for attachment of biochemical molecules, so it cannot be used as BRE layer in spite of achieving high sensitivity. Figure 5b indicates the variation in detection accuracy and quality factor for change in sensing layer RI of Ag-Ti₃C₂Tx, Ag-Ni and proposed SPR sensor. The detection accuracy decreases from [0.315/° to 0.296/°], [0.1054/° to 0.1021/°] and [0.261/° to 0.220/°] of Ag-Ti₃C₂Tx-SM, Ag-Ni-SM and Ag-Ni-Ti₃C₂Tx-SM, respectively, as shown in Fig. 5b. Detection accuracy decreases for higher sensing layer RI because it is reciprocal to FWHM, and FWHM has shown increasing trend for Ag-Ti₃C₂Tx-SM, Ag-Ni-SM and Ag-Ni-Ti₃C₂Tx-SM structures in Fig. 5a. Now, the quality factor variation with sensing layer RI is from [36.460/RIU to 35.363/RIU], [68.39/RIU to 66.66/RIU] and [24.90/RIU to 26.464/RIU] for Ag-Ti₃C₂Tx-SM, Ag-Ni-SM and Ag-Ni-Ti₃C₂Tx-SM structures.





In proposed bimetallic SPR sensor, silver first layer provides the sharp SPR dip and high detection accuracy, while Ni as second layer provides chemical stability and high sensitivity. The resonance angle for all thicknesses of Ni layer enhances with increase in RI of sensing medium with MXene [30]. The detection accuracy (DA) and the quality factor (QF) decreased with the addition of $Ti_3C_2T_x$ (MXene) layer due to higher imaginary part of MXene which increases the damping losses. Thus, the rise in MXene layers increases damping in SPs which increases the FWHM, which is a linear function of damping and as a result, the detection accuracy and quality factor decrease. The use of Ni enhances the electromagnetic field in sensing layer interface by localizing the electromagnetic field at sensing layer interface [30].

Lastly, a comparison of the proposed work with recently investigated $Ti_3C_2T_x$ -based SPR sensor is presented in Table 2.

4 Conclusion

In this work, $Ti_3C_2T_x$ (MXene)-based SPR sensor with bimetallic layers of Ag-Ni has been theoretically analyzed for improving the sensitivity. The top Ni layer protects

51 K sensor	
Structure and references	Sensitivity (°/RIU)
Prism/gold layer/Ti ₃ C ₂ T _x /sensing medium [26]	160
Prism/WS ₂ /Ti ₃ C ₂ T _x [27]	198
Prism/gold layer/Ti ₃ C ₂ T _x /WS ₂ /black phosphorus/sensing medium [28]	190.2
$\label{eq:result} Prism/silver\ layer/Ti_3C_2T_x/blueP-MoS_2/black\ phosphorus/sensing\ medium\ [29]$	204
Proposed—prism/silver laver/nickel laver/Ti ₃ C ₂ T _x /sensing medium	292

Table 2 Sensitivity comparison of the proposed work with recently investigated $Ti_3C_2T_x\mbox{-}based$ SPR sensor

the Ag layer from oxidation and also increases the sensitivity of proposed SPR sensor. Thicknesses of Ag and Ni layer are optimized before evaluating the sensitivity, which obtained the sensitivity 248°/RIU at Ag thickness (28) with Ni layer (15) with 3×10^{-4} a.u. minimum reflectance. The sensitivity is increased for higher Ni thickness. The result shows that when the monolayer Ti₃C₂Tx is deposited on the Ag-Ni layers, the sensitivity reaches up to 292°/RIU at optimized Ag thickness (45 nm) with Ni layer (15 nm) with changing RI of sensing medium from 1.330 to 1.335. Also, detection accuracy and quality factor decrease because of increased damping of surface plasmons due to higher imaginary part of RI of MXene. Sensitivity of Ag-Ni bimetallic layer-based proposed SPR sensor is maximum than that of Ag-Ti₃C₂T_x layers.

References

- 1. E. Kretschmann, H. Raether, Notizen: radiative decay of non-radiative surface plasmons excited by light. Z. Naturforsch. A 23, 2135–2136 (1968)
- L. Eng, L. Nygren-Babol, A. Hanning, Label-enhanced surface plasmon resonance applied to label-free interaction analysis of small molecules and fragments. Anal. Biochem. 510, 79–87 (2016)
- 3. J. Homola, S.S. Yee, G. Gauglitz, Surface plasmon resonance sensors: review. Sens. Actuators B Chem. 54, 3–15 (1999)
- Y. Zhao, Z.Q. Deng, J. Li, Photonic crystal fiber-based surface plasmon resonance chemical sensors. Sens. Actuators B Chem. 202, 557–567 (2014)
- 5. C. Accepter, T. Guo, J. Albert, Review of plasmonic fiber optic biochemical sensors: improving the limit of detection. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. **407**(14), 3883–3897 (2015)
- Y.-H. Liang, C.-C. Chang, C.-C. Chen, Y. Chu-Su, C.-W. Lin, Development of an Au/ZnO thin film surface plasmon resonance-based biosensor immunoassay for the detection of carbohydrate antigen 15–3 in human saliva. Clin. Biochem. 45, 1689–1693 (2012)
- A. Ordal, J.B. Robert, R.W. Alexander, L.L. Long, M.R. Querry, Optical properties of fourteen metals in the infrared and far infrared: Al Co, Cu, Au, Fe, Pb, Mo, Ni, Pd, Pt, Ag, Ti, V, and W. Appl. Opt. 24(24), 4493–4499 (1985)
- S. Pal, A. Verma, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Figure of merit enhancement of surface plasmon resonance biosensor using Ga-doped Zinc oxide as transparent conducting oxide for plasmon generation in near infrared range. Photonic Sens. 10(4), 340–352 (2020)
- 9. A.K. Sharma, B.D. Gupta, On the performance of different bimetallic combinations in surface plasmon resonance-based fiber optic sensors. J. Appl. Phys. **101**(9), 093111 (2007)

- M. Mitsushio, K. Miyashita, M. Higo, Sensor properties and surface characterization of the metal-deposited SPR optical fiber sensors with Au, Ag, Cu, and Al. Sens. Actuators A 125, 296–303 (2006)
- 11. K. Shah, N.K. Sharma, SPR based fiber optic sensor utilizing thin film of nickel, in *AIP Conference Proceedings*, vol. 2009, no. 1 (2018), p. 020040
- S.H. Choi, K.M. Byun, Investigation on an application of silver substrates for sensitive surface plasmon resonance imaging detection. J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 27, 2229–2236 (2010)
- R. Jha, A.K. Sharma, Chalcogenide glass prism based SPR sensor with Ag–Au bimetallic nanoparticle alloy in infrared wavelength region. J. Opt. A Pure Appl. Opt. 11(4), 045502 (2009)
- A. Dhibi, K. Mehdi, Q. Mohamed, Theoretical study of surface plasmon resonance sensors based on 2D bimetallic alloy grating. Photonics Nanostruct.-Fundam. Appl. 22, 1–8 (2016)
- M.S. Rahman, M.S. Anower, M.R. Hasan, M.B. Hossain, M.I. Haque, Design and numerical analysis of highly sensitive Au-MoS₂-graphene based hybrid surface plasmon resonance biosensor. Optics Commun. **396**, 36–43 (2017)
- M.K. Singh, S. Pal, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Sensitivity improvement of surface plasmon resonance sensor on using BlueP/MoS2 heterostructure and antimonene. IEEE Sens. Lett. 4(7), 1–4 (2020)
- S. Pal, A. Verma, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Influence of black phosphorous on performance of surface plasmon resonance biosensor. Opt. Quant. Electron. 49(12), 403 (2017)
- M.H.H. Hasib, J.N. Nur, C. Rizal, K.N. Shushama, Improved transition metal dichalcogenidesbased surface plasmon resonance biosensors. Condens. Matter 4(2), 49 (2019)
- S. Pal, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, V. Singh, Resolution enhancement of optical surface plasmon resonance sensor using metamaterial. Int. J. Photonic Sens. 5(4), 330–338 (2015)
- K. Hantanasirisakul, Y. Gogotsi, Electronic and optical properties of 2D transition metal carbides and nitrides (MXenes). Adv. Mater. 30(52), 1804779 (2018)
- Y. Bai, K. Zhou, S. Narasimalu, J. Pang, X. He, R. Wang, Dependence of elastic and optical properties on surface terminated groups in two-dimensional MXene monolayers: a first-principles study. RSC Adv. 6, 35731–35739 (2016)
- M. Xin, J. Li, Z. Ma, L. Pan, Y. Shi, MXenes and their applications in wearable sensors. Front. Chem. 8, 297 (2020)
- Y. Chen, Y. Ge, W. Huang, Z. Li, L. Wu, H. Zhang, X. Li, Refractive index sensors based on Ti₃C₂Tx MXene fibers. ACS Appl. Nano Mater. 3(1), 303–311 (2020)
- Q. Wu, N. Li, Y. Wang, Y. Xu, S. Wei, J. Wu, G. Jia, X. Fang, F. Chen, X. Cui, A 2D transition metal carbide MXene-based SPR biosensor for ultrasensitive carcinoembryonic antigen detection. Biosens. Bioelectron. 144, 111697 (2019)
- L. Wu, Q. You, Y. Shan, S. Gan, Y. Zhao, X. Dai, Y. Xiang, Few-layer Ti₃C₂Tx MXene: a promising surface plasmon resonance biosensing material to enhance the sensitivity. Sens. Actuators B Chem. 277, 210–215 (2018)
- Y. Xu, Y.S. Ang, L. Wu, L. Kee Ang, High sensitivity surface plasmon resonance sensor based on two-dimensional MXene and transition metal dichalcogenide: a theoretical study. Nanomaterials 9(2), 165 (2019)
- A. Srivastava, A. Verma, R. Das, Y.K. Prajapati, A theoretical approach to improve the performance of SPR biosensor using MXene and black phosphorus. Optik 203, 163430 (2020).
- S. Pal, N. Pal, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Sensitivity Analysis of Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensor Based on Heterostructure of 2D BlueP/MoS2 and MXene: Layered Advanced Materials and Their Allied Applications, ed. by I. Inamuddin, R. Boddula, A. Mohd Ahamed, A.M. Asiri (Scrivener Publication, Wiley, 2020), pp. 103–125
- G. Alagu Vibisha, J.K. Nayak, P. Maheswari, N. Priyadharsini, A. Nisha, Z. Jaroszewicz, R. Jha, Sensitivity enhancement of surface plasmon resonance sensor using hybrid configuration of 2D materials over bimetallic layer of Cu–Ni. Opt. Commun. 463, 125337 (2020)
- E. Atmatzakis, N. Papasimakis, V. Fedotov, G. Vienne, N.I. Zheludev, Magneto-optical response in bimetallic metamaterials. Nanophotonics 7(1), 199–206 (2018)

- S. Pal, S. Verma, J.P. Saini, Y.K. Prajapati, Sensitivity enhancement using silicon-black phosphorus-TDMC coated surface plasmon resonance biosensor. IET Optoelectron. 13(4), 196–201 (2019)
- R. Kumar, S. Pal, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Sensitivity enhancement of MXene based SPR sensor using silicon. Theor. Anal. Silicon 1887–1894 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12633-020-00558-3
- R. Kumar, S. Pal, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Effect of silicon on sensitivity of SPR biosensor using hybrid nanostructure of black phosphorus and MXene. Superlattices Microstruct. 145, 106591 (2020)
- 34. M. Naguib, V.N. Mochalin, M.W. Barsoum, Y. Gogotsi, 25th anniversary article: MXenes: a new family of two-dimensional materials. Adv. Mater. **26**(7), 992–1005 (2014)

Optimized FPGA Implementation of 64-Point FFT Using Folding Transformation



Nafzia and L. Lijesh

1 Introduction

The rapidly advancing communications and computing industry handles digital signal processors (DSPs). The consistency of DSP results with limited performance and high power dissipation includes mathematical calculations and analysis, i.e., spectrum analysis, correlation analysis, and filtering of low DSP applications [1]. When understanding complex mathematical operations, the tools circuit must evaluate and analyze its operating parameters such as area, time, and power. Among those parameters and the increase in circuit complexity including more functionality, speed optimization is the crucial parameter that demands to be addressed. One of the main reasons for speed optimization is the demand in the new generation of portable devices including laptops, palmtops, and mobile phones.

With the growth of VLSI, FFT indicates that it is working on an extensive area of DSP and communication system applications. Although there are many DSPs that can perform an FFT fast sufficient to maintain several real-time applications, some systems demand additional computation or speed requirements that exceed the abilities of a DSP [2]. Under those circumstances, that dedicated logic has been proven to be useful for an FFT computing. Moreover, FFT remains extensively utilized within communication systems, particularly orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) systems, wireless LAN, ADSL, VDSL systems, and Wi-MAX. Besides usage, the system requires high performance, low power consumption, and also low chip area. And it should enhance nearly ubiquitous in high-speed signal processing.

The FFT leads to efficient algorithm optimization for determining the discrete Fourier transform (DFT). There are many techniques and algorithms for FFT in the survey, and recent developments that increase performance and power [3]. Most of the FFT processors are memory-based architectures that contain the main processing

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_3

Nafzia (🖂) · L. Lijesh

Musaliar College of Engineering and Technology, Pathanamthitta, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

component and several memory units. Those architectures are cost-effective and cannot be parallelized. Consequently, low-power techniques need to be used to optimize the power distribution in complex circuits. So the pipeline architectures are especially suitable for real-time employment because they can efficiently merge among the sequential nature of sampling.

FPGA devices are frequently utilized for hardware implementations in communications purposes; FPGAs in high-level technologies can obtain excellent execution while they must have high flexibility, fast design time, and also cheaper cost [4]. Similarly, FPGAs become frequently attractive toward FFT processing purposes; moreover, it is the objective principle of this paper. In the VLSI device, less area usage, low power consumption, and high speed are some of the important parameters. Therefore, the main purpose of the proposed architecture is designed to enhance the execution speed and also reduce the hardware complexity.

In this paper, we focus on the speed-optimized 64-point pipelined FFT architecture, which uses the concept of folding transformation technique to balance the trade-off between flexibility and performance. Folding transformation is a method that decreases the area of the silicon chip by joining different arithmetical operations into one operation utilizing time scheduling techniques [5]. The proposed work is focused on the design of the efficient architecture for 64-point FFT using the radix- 2^2 Single path delay feedback (SDF) algorithm which aims at efficient butterfly computation which results in high-speed processing with less power consumption and hardware complexity. The design is implemented for analyzing numerous parameters such as power, area, and time. It combines the benefits of pipeline architecture with the capability to reduce the operations and generalizable for any point of FFT's, which is the power of 2. This design is coded using VHSIC-HDL and also simulated under Xilinx ISE 14.2.

The paper organization is as follows: In Sect. 2, the FFT algorithm is discussed. The folding technique is discussed in Sect. 3. Pipeline FFT implementation architecture is explained in Sect. 4. Section 5 has results and discussion. Finally, Sect. 6 represents a brief conclusion.

2 FFT Algorithm

The FFT processor refers to the hardware implementation of the FFT algorithm for the DFT that calculates all of those signals in the time domain towards the frequency domain. FFT is an efficient algorithm, which uses periodic and symmetric properties DFT twiddle factors compute the DFT with minimal computations. Until the 1960s, this algorithm was software-based. However, as technology such as system-on-chip develops, FFT algorithms can no longer be implemented in hardware forms [6]. Nowadays, most DSP and wireless applications are designed to run on a portable system, and the FFT processor has low power requirements. By dividing the DFT into smaller DFTs, it provides several technologies that reduce the computational complexity from (N^2) to ($\log_2 N$). The DFT of the *N* series of complex numbers X_0 , Optimized FPGA Implementation of 64-Point FFT Using ...

..., X_{N-1} can be expressed as Eq. 1.

$$X(k) = \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} W_N^{kn}; \quad 0 \le k \le N-1, \ 0 \le n \le N-1$$
(1)

where

$$W_N^{kn} = \mathrm{e}^{-2\pi j/N}$$

The term W^{kn} is the DFT coefficient also called the twiddle factor; N is the DFT length, (n) is the time sequence and X(K) is a frequency sequence.

Implementation of DFT Eq. 1 results in larger hardware and higher complexity. Therefore, FFT was developed to overcome its computational complexity and reduce hardware costs. FFT algorithms follow the specific process of partitioning and conquering, which implies redundancy in the structure. The FFT can efficiently decompose and estimate a DFT by using the symmetric and periodical property of the complex sequence W_N . The FFT property can be explained in Eqs. 2 and 3 they are highly beneficial to simplify the rotatable calculation:

Symmetry property
$$W_N^{k+\frac{N}{2}} = W_N^{N/2} \times W_N^k = -W_N^K$$
 (2)

Periodicity property
$$W_N^{k+N} = W_N^k \times W_N^N = W_N^K$$
 (3)

Hence, FFT with two parameters n and k; they are the time index and frequency index, respectively. Therefore, it decreases the complex arithmetic operations from N^2 to (N/2) and $N\log_2 N$, respectively. Commonly, it works by decomposing the input signals into smaller steps. The analysis can be achieved by adopting either decimation-in-frequency (DIF) or decimation-in-time (DIT) decomposition for efficient computation [6].

If the length of the sequence N is taken as $N = r^m$ here, r is called the radix size of the FFT algorithm. The most effectively realized choice for r = 2 leads to radix-2 FFT algorithms. Therefore, with $N = 2^m$, the effective computation is performed by dividing the N-point DFT to $\frac{N}{2}$ -point DFTs, then each $\frac{N}{2}$ -point DFT divided to $\frac{N}{4}$ -point DFTs and continuing this process until 2-point butterflies are obtained [7]. The total computational cost can be considerably reduced with the aid of the shorter FFTs, their outputs again used to calculate numerous outputs.

Equation 1 can be expanded as:

$$X(k) = \sum_{\substack{n=0 \\ \text{even}}}^{N-2} x(n) W_N^{nk} + \sum_{\substack{n=1 \\ n=1}}^{N-1} x(n) W_N^{nk}$$
(4)



Fig. 1 Decomposition of 8-point DIT FFT

The radix-2 FFT reconfigures the Eq. 1 toward two sections: a sum of even digits n = 0, 2, 4, ..., N - 2 and sum over the odd digits n = 1, 3, 5, ..., N - 1 explained in Eq. 4. The DIT algorithm decomposition for N = 8 would be shown in Fig. 1.

2.1 Radix-2 Point Butterfly Structure of FFT

In every FFT processors, the fundamental building block is the butterfly computation unit (BCU), which is used to perform mathematical operations. Each butterfly has its controller independent of each other. The decomposition of each *N*-point FFT can cause micro-operations to be repeated, hence the so-called butterfly operation. Here, N = 2n is usually called radix-2 FFT, and the calculation will be done with twiddle factor, hence a 2-point form of DFT is called "butterfly" [8] is shown in Fig. 2.



The butterfly unit consists of two inputs denoted by x_k and y_k with their respective outputs X_k and Y_k . This algorithm destroys the frequency samples at each step of the FFT. Functions are identified in each pair of input signals. Note that the multiplications by *j* are performed by the following:

$$X_K = x_k + y_k W_N^K \tag{5}$$

$$Y_K = x_k - y_k W_N^K \tag{6}$$

Equations 5 and 6 represent the relationship between real and imaginary data. Furthermore, in addition, the BCU determines the expense and properties of the FFT processor. It consists of complex multipliers and adders, and this multiplier remains the speed control of an FFT processor implementation [9]. If those complex multiples are performed by utilizing, shift, and add operation that will occur into high-priced hardware and limit the realization of FFT.

The FFT uses only a single BCU in most cases to repeat all the calculations and required the least amount of memory due to the "in-place" memory access approach. With the "in-place" approach, the butterfly computational outputs are put into the corresponding memory location of input; hence half of the memory utilization can be reduced. The research provides an effective address system for parallel and pipelined "in-place" memory access. It delivers an output value for each clock period; besides, the memory and butterfly block use 100% performance in every pipeline.

3 Folding Transformation Technique

It is the method of reducing the silicon area of an IC through multiplexing various processes towards an individual signal operative unit, such as multipliers, adders, registers, multiplexers, and interconnection wires [10]. Folded structures are therefore designed using a limited number of butterfly units. The folding transformation method is illustrated in Fig. 3. This explains that edge *e* produces some delay content D(c) among the weight *W* from origin end *A* to target end *B*.

The equivalent folding effect is shown in the Fig. 4. The operational unit of the origin end A is S_A to be pipelined through the P_A stage which is required to reach the delay of Eq. 7.

$$G_N(A \to B) = FD(C) - P_A + b - a \tag{7}$$

Fig. 3 The folding transformation technique $(A) \rightarrow D(c) G \rightarrow B$



Fig. 4 Folded edge

The edge is switched to the target end B, whose functional unit is S_B exists on the state Fl + v, where the term F is a folding factor. The folding factor describes the amount regarding algorithmic processes that can be performed or completed through any individual operational unit upon the hardware, where u and v denote the folding orders of the U and V ends. The folding order is the period in which a point is listed to perform in hardware. The arranged operation set that executes the identical operational unit is known as folding set T. Every folding set holds F listings, some may concern as invalid [11]. To have a fully folded system, all edges of the data flow graph (DFG) must be taken.

For example, the process can be described using 8-point DIF FFT corresponding DFG as shown in Fig. 5. The graph is divided into three stages; every stage includes a set of butterflies and multiplier.

Consider the folding sets for T = 8 with the folding order 4.

$$A = \{\phi, \phi, \phi, \phi, A_0, A_1, A_2, A_3\}$$

$$B = \{B_2, B_3, \phi, \phi, \phi, \phi, B_0, B_1\}$$



Fig. 5 8-point DFG for folding

$$C = \{C_1, C_2, C_3, \phi, \phi, \phi, \phi, C_0\}$$

The operational unit performs A0, A1, A2, and A3 functions at the appropriate time and is idle at null operations. Folding equations are obtained by folding sets with negative delays and non-negative delays. Assume that there are no pipeline stages for butterfly operations, i.e., PA = 0, PB = 0, PC = 0. All the edges of the DFG will get the folded architecture by writing the folding equation in (8).

$$G_{N}(A_{0} \to B_{0}) = 2 \qquad G_{N}(B_{0} \to C_{0}) = 1$$

$$G_{N}(A_{0} \to B_{2}) = -4 \qquad G_{N}(B_{0} \to C_{1}) = -6$$

$$G_{N}(A_{1} \to B_{1}) = 2 \qquad G_{N}(B_{1} \to C_{0}) = 0$$

$$G_{N}(A_{1} \to B_{3}) = -4 \qquad G_{N}(B_{1} \to C_{1}) = -7$$

$$G_{N}(A_{2} \to B_{0}) = 0 \qquad G_{N}(B_{2} \to C_{2}) = 1$$

$$G_{N}(A_{2} \to B_{2}) = -6 \qquad G_{N}(B_{2} \to C_{3}) = 2$$

$$G_{N}(A_{3} \to B_{1}) = 0 \qquad G_{N}(B_{3} \to C_{2}) = 0$$

$$G_{N}(A_{3} \to B_{3}) = -6 \qquad G_{N}(B_{3} \to C_{3}) = 1$$
(8)

DFG can be piped to ensure that the returned hardware has a non-negative delay. $G_N(A_0 \rightarrow B_0) = 2$, that means there exists an edge from the butterfly node toward node against the folded DFG by two delays. For the folded system to be realistic, $G_N(A \rightarrow B) \ge 0$ must satisfied on all edges of the DFG. Retiming and/or pipelining can be used to perform this property or to determine if the folding sets are impractical [12]. We can recognize a negative delay on some of the edges in Eq. (8). DFG can be pipelined as shown in figure to assure that folded hardware produces a non-negative delay. The pipeline folded delay for DFG is given by displayed equations are centered and set on a separate line.

$$G_{N}(A_{0} \to B_{0}) = 2 \quad G_{N}(B_{0} \to C_{0}) = 1$$

$$G_{N}(A_{0} \to B_{2}) = 4 \quad G_{N}(B_{0} \to C_{1}) = 2$$

$$G_{N}(A_{1} \to B_{1}) = 2 \quad G_{N}(B_{1} \to C_{0}) = 0$$

$$G_{N}(A_{1} \to B_{3}) = 4 \quad G_{N}(B_{1} \to C_{1}) = 1$$

$$G_{N}(A_{2} \to B_{0}) = 0 \quad G_{N}(B_{2} \to C_{2}) = 1$$

$$G_{N}(A_{2} \to B_{2}) = 2 \quad G_{N}(B_{2} \to C_{3}) = 2$$

$$G_{N}(A_{3} \to B_{1}) = 0 \quad G_{N}(B_{3} \to C_{2}) = 0$$

$$G_{N}(A_{3} \to B_{3}) = 2 \quad G_{N}(B_{3} \to C_{3}) = 1$$
(9)

It requires 16 registers to integrate these edges into the folded architecture. When true folding sets were determined once, then retiming operation used to perform the function or to decide whether these folding sets remain impractical. The folding of the butterfly networks can be extended over any length of *N*-points utilized by the FFT to create a more efficient architecture.



Fig. 6 64-point pipeline architecture

4 Pipeline Implementation

4.1 Architecture Selection

In recent studies, several pipeline architectures are explained [13]. Each pipeline FFT architecture required different features and sources. The resource usage rate provides the computational capability. Pipelined FFT architectures appear to be the primary solution for low latency, high throughput, low power consumption, and small area designs [14, 15]. For decreasing the use of multiplication and addition functions and simplifying the hardware design radix- 2^2 . FFT algorithm is adopted for implementation. The radix- 2^2 algorithm has a similar multiplicative complexity as radix-4, but it retains the radix-2 butterfly structures. Butterflies outputs are connected into first-in-first-out (FIFO) buffers in a feedback loop that provides single-path input and processing of a sample toward every clock cycle [16]. This spatial regularity is a significant architectural advantage over different algorithms if regarding pipeline architecture toward VLSI implementation. The radix-2² FFT algorithm not only maintains the simple hardware structure of radix-2 but also uses low calculation. In conjunction with pipelining technology, FPGA implementation makes FFT processors compatible with high speed and efficiency. From the studies, radix- 2^2 single path delay feedback ($R2^2SDF$) architecture is adopted for implementation because it generates high computational efficiency. SDF architecture remains the most attractive and generally accepted architecture because it provides high throughput and requires a less small number of hardware resources [17].

The decomposition of the twiddle factor occurs by using the common factor algorithm; hence, FFT can be reproduced to obtain complete radix- 2^2 FFT.

$$X(K_1 + 2K_2 + 4K_3) = \sum_{n_3=0}^{\frac{N}{4}-1} \left(H(K_1, K_2, n_3) W_N^{n_3(K_1 + 2K_2)} \right) W_{\frac{N}{4}}^{k_3 n_3}$$
(10)

 (K_1, K_2, K_3) can be expressed as:



BFI and BFII in Eq. 11 are the two butterflies of the first and second columns of the radix- 2^2 algorithm that have trivial multiplication in the signal flow graph (SFG) [18].

To achieve trivial multiplication function, it demands constant multipliers and the logic operation provides control signals. The architecture comprises a commutator, butterfly, and complex multiplier in every stage, and a decrease in multiplicative complexity is one of the benefits. In each stage, the pipelined registers are added as part of the design to avoid long critical path delays. Clock input is provided to all the stages at the same time. Figure 6 shows the 64-point pipeline architecture. The symbol \otimes represents nontrivial multiplication and trivial multiplication depicted in a diamond shape where the twiddle factor component comprises only real-imaginary data transferring and sign conversion.

4.2 Architecture via Folding

The 64-point FFT consists of four stages with a feedback structure based on SDF architecture. The power consumption of an FFT occurs in two significant areas; in the BCU and the register for internal data storage. In this design, the power consumption in those two areas can overcome by applying the folding technique by reducing the usage of butterfly operation. The folding transformation method is applied to DFG by deriving the pipeline architecture of the FFT. Folding can be applied in between each node and the folding set is determined manually based on simple observations described in Sect. 3. In our design folding technique is applied in between each node of DFG only in the last three stages of 64-point FFT. A set of ordered operations which is the same functional unit is needed for modifying the DFG, i.e., folding set. Every set comprises F approaches; few sets exist as invalid. Therefore, the number of folded sections is taken as a single operational section. The execution of the operational unit performs the process at the *j*th point [which belongs to 0 - (F - 1)] of the folding set at the time of partition. This term folding order implies the time occurrences were each point is listed to execute on the hardware.

Using folding techniques, multiple butterflies within a similar column are usually mapped to an individual butterfly unit. That results in the effective usage of the chip area because the identical hardware is utilized for various butterfly operations. Folding sets are produced instinctively to overcome computing time and the usage of storage components also decreased. The DFG has real and imaginary data paths.

The folding approach is used to optimize the data path through identify the exact butterflies in the flow graph. The flow graph of the 64-point FFT using the folding technique is shown in Fig. 7.



Fig. 7 Flow graph of 64-point folding FFT

5 Result and Discussion

This project design is usually based on design and testing. The 64-point optimized pipeline FFT is implemented using a folding transformation technique is proposed. The pipelined FFT modules and sub-modules were designed based on the VHDL description. VHDL stands as VHSIC (very-high-speed integrated circuit) hardware description language, does usually applied as a design approach language toward FPGA and ASIC devices. The ISE software is used for synthesizing and simulation of VHDL codes. The implementation of the design is recognized by Xilinx Vertex 6 FPGA, and the simulation is performed on ISE Design Suite 14.7 simulator. FPGA has the processing power for handling high-speed DSP.

Every FFT algorithms commonly share the same memory architecture for the design. Pre-computed twiddle factors and the following features are stored in ROM; FFT size, Fixed-point arithmetic, memory size and addressing, twiddle factors length, and word length. A read-only memory (ROM) is connected to the FFT module which is stored by input data X(n) in .txt or .dat file. ROM provides signal input data to FFT modules within the period clock cycle that depends upon the number of FFT points. The computation of the FFT can occur in four stages. Each stage is pipelined to the next stage. After completing one stage, the output of the previous stage is used as an input to the next stage by swapping the memory address. The architecture is analyzed for its power, area, and timing.

If errors occur, the FFT modifies the modules or their sub-modules on by synthesis. Once the simulation result has been confirmed, these Verilog coding will be download into the FPGA for further testing and performance analysis. In every FFT, butterfly operation is the main unit on which to determine the speed of the whole process. From the simulation, the inputs and outputs are usually displayed in waves. Using the test bench code, simulations were carried out for the design to validate the behavioral description. The simulation waveform is depicted in Fig. 8.

The RTL of the proposed distributed algorithm based radix-22 64 point FFT processor is shown in Fig. 9. The device utilization while simulated at Virtex 6 FPGA, it is recognized that it outlines the FFT structure to LUTs, multipliers, registers, clock buffers, IO buffers, flip-flops/latches, adder/Subtractor as well as IO bounds. The utilization parameters are tabulated in Table 1. The memory usage of the device is about 468 Mb.



Fig. 8 Simulated output waveform



Fig. 9 RTL diagram of 64-point FFT

 Table 1
 Device utilization of 64-point FFT

Logic utilization	Quantity used	Utilization (%)
LUT-FF pair	3683	41
Clock buffers	1	6
IO buffers	57	14
Flip-flops/latches	4183	4
Multipliers	234	
Adders/subtractors	182	
Selected device	6slx75fgg676-3	

The delay analysis is obtained from timing summary. The proposed 64-point FFT algorithm achieves a time period required is about 12.509 ns with maximum frequency of 79.940 MHz. From the timing report, there is no delay path in this design. Moreover, the power analysis of this design is achieved by using the Xpower analyzer. The power namely the clock, signal, IO, logic and dynamic power obtained from the Xpower analyzer is shown in Fig. 10. The dynamic power dissipation of the system is 0.001 W, and leakage power is about 0.064 W.

Device			On-Chip	Power (W)	Used	Available	Utilization (%)	Supply	Summary	Total	Dynamic	Quiescent
Family	Spartan6		Clocks	0.001	2	-		Source	Voltage	Current (A)	Current (A)	Current (A)
Part	xc6sbx75		Logic	0.000	8208	46648	18	Vocint	1.200	0.031	0.001	0.030
Package	fgg676		Signals	0.000	8505	-	-	Vecaux	2.500	0.007	0.000	0.007
Temp Grade	C-Grade	×	1Os	0.000	58	408	14	Vcco25	2.500	0,004	0.000	0.004
Process	Typical	¥	Leakage	0.064							a (1856-176)	
Speed Grade	-3		Total	0.065				The second se		Total	Dynamic	Quiescent
								Supply	Power (W)	0.065	0.001	0.064
Environment			10000		Effective TJA	Max Ambient	Junction Temp					
Ambient Temp (25.0		Themal	Properties	(C/W)	(C)	(C)					
Use custom TJA	? No	Y			15.9	84.0	26.0					
Custom TJA (C/	V) NA											
Airflow (LFM)	0	Y										
Heat Sink	None	¥										
Custom TSA (C/	W) NA											
Characterization												
Production	v1.3,2011-05-0	4										

Fig. 10 Power analysis result

Processor	Power (mW)	Frequency (MHz)	Delay (ns)
Suganya [19]	852	53.143	25.538
Malashri [20]	121	-	13.762
Dali [21]	243	52.72	-
Proposed	65	79.940	12.509

 Table 2
 Performance analysis of 64-point fft design using different algorithm

The proposed implementation compares with the existing FFT architecture is tabulated in Table 2. The maximum speed can be obtained by maximizing the frequency, i.e., speed is directly proportional to frequency. The proposed system can perform at a very high frequency compared to other systems. The frequency of the proposed system is 79.940 MHz which is the maximum. Hence, the speed of the system is increased.

Power consumption depends on the architecture design and number of factors such as clock frequency, switching activity rates, etc. By comparing with other systems, the proposed system consumes less power.

6 Conclusion

This paper makes an effort of implementing the folding transformation technique to the pipelined FFT architecture for a 64-point FFT. Efficient speed optimized architecture for the computation of FFT has been proposed for a given algorithm in this paper. The design is coded toward VHDL and the implementation of the architecture was achieved in Virtex 6 FPGA, and its simulation is performed by the Xilinx ISE Design Suite 14.7 simulator. The design results in high speed and optimized delay. Those folding structures remain ideal applications on implantable or portable devices due to their high speed and low space. Therefore, our architecture represents the best solution for applications implemented by FPGAs.

As a future scope to this, the design can be implemented with other technologies and can be implemented for larger point FFT with full hardware utilization.

References

- P. Zode, A.Y. Deshmukh, An area efficient FFT structures design by sharing arithmetic units. IOSR J. VLSI Sig. Process. (IOSR-JVSP) 7(3), 01–07 (2017)
- Z. Ma, X. Yin, F. Yu, A novel memory-based FFT architecture for real-valued signals based on radix-2 decimation-in-frequency algorithm. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. II Express Briefs 62(9) (2015)
- 3. S. He, M. Torkelson, Designing pipeline FFT processor for OFDM (de)modulation, in *Signals, Systems, and Electronics*, Sweden (1998)
- 4. A. Singhal, A. Goen, T.T. Mohapatrara, Design and implementation of fast Fourier transform (FFT) using VHDL code. Int. J. Emerg. Res. Manag. Technol. **6**(8) (2017)
- 5. M. Ayinala, K.K. Parhi, Parallel–pipelined radix-2² FFT architecture for real valued signals. IEEE, USA (2010)
- J.W. Cooley, J.W. Tukey, An algorithm for the machine calculation of complex Fourier series. Math. Comput. (5), 87–109 (1965)
- 7. K.S. Shashidhara, H.C. Srinivasaiah, Low power and area efficient FFT architecture through decomposition technique, in *International Conference on Computer Communication and Informatics*, India (2017)
- E. Konguvel, M. Kannan, A survey on FFT/IFFT processors for next generation telecommunication systems. J. Circ. Syst. Comput. 27(3) (2018)
- P. Geetha, A. Manimaran, 8-point Radix-8 pipelined FFT using SDF. Int. J. MC Square Sci. Res. 9(1) (2017)
- V. Ragavi, Design of pipelined parallel FFT architectures using folding transformation. Int. J. Eng. Res. Technol. (IJERT) 2(7) (2013)
- K.K. Parhi, C. Wang, A.P. Brown, Synthesis of control circuits in folded pipelined DSP architectures. IEEE J. Solid-State Circ. 27(I) (1992)
- M. Ayinala, M. Brown, K.K. Parhi, Pipelined parallel FFT architectures via folding transformation. IEEE Trans. Very Large Scale Integr. (VLSI) Syst. 20(6) (2012)
- J. Liu, C. Chen, The design of asynchronous FFT processor. A thesis submitted to College of Computer Science, National Chiao Tung University, China (2009)
- Z. Bin, P. Yingning, H. David, Pipeline FFT Architectures Optimized for FPGAs. Int. J. Reconfigurable Computing (2009). https://doi.org/10.1155/2009/219140
- M. Garrido, K.K. Parhi, J. Grajal, A pipelined FFT architecture for real-valued signals. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. 56, 2634–2643 (2009)
- 16. S. Singh, J. Kediya, Comparison of pipelined FFT. Int. J. Technol. Res. Eng. 2(11) (2015)
- 17. Z. Guigen, R. Jiangzhe, Design and implementation of configurable FFT/IFFT soft-core based on FPGA, in *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, vols. 241–244, Switzerland (2013)
- 18. J.A. Sam, K.N. Aswathy, Fast computation of FFT in OFDM system, in *IEEE International Conference on Circuits and Systems*, India (2017)
- 19. V. Suganya, K.S. Rangasamy, Parallel pipelined FFT architecture for real valued signals, in *IEEE WiSPNET Conference*, India (2016)
- A. Malashri, C. Paramasivam, Low power and memory efficient FFT architecture using modified CORDIC algorithm, in *International Conference on Information Communication and Embedded Systems*, India (2013)
- 21. M. Dali, R.M. Gibson, A. Amira, A. Guessoum, N. Ramzan, An efficient MIMO-OFDM radix-2 single-path delay feedback FFT implementation on FPGA. IEEE (2015)

Optimization of Antenna Parameters Using Neural Network Technique for Terahertz Band Applications



Anurag K. Kumar, Medhavi Kirti, Shuchishmita Pani, and Sanjeev Saxena

1 Introduction

As the world is going wireless at a really fast pace, new technology and systems are in place to make the communication viable and efficient. A device is said to be an antenna if it is capable of radiating electromagnetic waves in a desired direction. It is said to be the basic unit of the wireless communication system. Microstrip patch antenna (MPA) is an antenna type which is very commonly used. MPA is designed such that it contains a patch etched on a dielectric substrate which is grounded [1]. The patch can be etched in many shapes such as square, circular, rectangular and triangular. MPA exhibits various characteristics, such as lightweight, cost-effective, low profile, low radiation loss and compact in size, has a large bandwidth and has no complex fabrication processes [2]. These properties allow MPA to be used in portable devices, satellite receivers, sensors, mobile communication systems, detectors etc. There are various bands in which MPA can operate in, but we will be studying its operation in the THF band. According to International Telecommunications Union (ITU), frequencies from 0.3 to 3 THz are considered to be in the range of tremendously high frequency (THF) band [3]. The wavelength of this band is in the range of 1–0.1 mm. Terahertz band lies between the microwave and infrared bands according to the

A. K. Kumar (⊠) · M. Kirti

Amity School of Engineering and Technology (ASET), Amity University Noida, Noida, Uttar Pradesh, India

S. Pani · S. Saxena Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Amity University Noida, Noida, Uttar Pradesh, India e-mail: spani@amity.edu

S. Saxena e-mail: ssanjeev@amity.edu

41

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_4



Fig. 1 Electromagnetic spectrum

electromagnetic spectrum. Imaging, spectroscopy and communication are various applications that utilizes terahertz radiation [4].

- Imaging: Terahertz radiation is used in biomedical imaging. The human tissues can be penetrated up to a few millimeters using these radiations. As a result, these radiations are used for medical imaging where diagnoses take place on the surface of the body such as skin, mouth, detection of breast cancer and imaging in dental care.
- Spectroscopy: It is a technique to find the properties of materials and understand their characteristics in the electromagnetic spectrum. Study of properties of absorption of various materials such as single crystal, microcrystal and other organic molecules is done using terahertz spectroscopy.
- Communication: In future, the wireless communication may use T-rays as bandwidth for data transmission. The other applications in communication world related to terahertz radiation exist in high altitudes such as aircraft to satellite or satellite to satellite (Fig. 1).

The effects of these radiations on human body are reported in various papers by various researchers [5–7]. This paper tries to reduce these effects by reducing the SAR value of the MPA. Specific absorption rate (SAR) measures the amount of transmitted energy absorbed by human tissue. International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICNIRP) has recommended an SAR value of 0.4 W/kg for occupational exposure and 0.08 W/kg for exposure on the public in general for the frequency range of (0.006–0.3 THz) [8]. Not much research has been done beyond this range on recommending the limits of SAR value, but this paper will make an effort to reduce the SAR value as low as possible. Many researchers have already published their work on terahertz applications, but they have discovered many design constraints which are to be focused upon. Since the resonant frequency is inversely proportional to the length of patch, i.e., antennas smaller in size operate in higher frequency and vice versa, for the antenna to radiate in THz region, the antenna dimensions are in the nanometer range which requires very precise and complex fabrication process which leads to high cost of the designed antenna [9-11].

Communication devices are getting smaller and smaller in size without compromising on its performance. Antennas play a very important role as they can occupy less space and are able to radiate at various frequency bands. The shape and size of the antenna can be optimized which can further optimize its parameters such as gain, directivity and efficiency. A dataset was created containing input parameters as resonant frequency of the antenna (f), dielectric constant of the substrate in which the patch is etched (ε) and height of the dielectric substrate (h) and output parameters as dimensions of the patch, i.e., length of the patch (l) and width of the patch (w) which can be calculated [12]. Artificial neural network (ANN) is used for optimization. It is very fast and requires lesser efforts as compared to other data processing models. Using ANN, a particular algorithm can resolve a dataset which is big in size in a short duration of time by applying minimum efforts. Levenberg-Marquardt backpropagation algorithm was used to train dataset containing the antenna dimensions as it is fast in convergence and gives accurate predictions of the outputs, but it takes a lot of memory space [13]. Neural network was created using nn-tool in MATLAB R2018a software.

1.1 Rectangular Microstrip Patch Antenna

It is the most basic patch antenna with a patch on one side which radiates electromagnetic waves and a ground plane on the other side [14]. Dielectric material is used for substrate while the patch and ground are conductors (Fig. 2).

The width of the patch is calculated as:



Fig. 2 Basic diagram of a rectangular microstrip patch antenna

A. K. Kumar et al.

$$w = c/(2f_{\rm r} * \left(\sqrt{(\varepsilon_{\rm r} + 1)/2}\right)) \tag{1}$$

where w is width of patch, f_r is the resonant frequency, c is the speed of light, ε_r is dielectric constant.

Effective dielectric constant (ε_{eff}) is the ratio of the width to the height of a patch (*w/h*) in a microstrip patch antenna, as well as the dielectric constant of the substrate (ε_r) material. It can be calculated as:

$$\varepsilon_{\rm eff} = ((\varepsilon_{\rm r} + 1)/2) + ((\varepsilon_{\rm r} - 1)/2[1 + 12(h/w)]^{(-1/2)})$$
(2)

Effective length (L_{eff}) is numerically identical in transmission and reception and is calculated as:

$$L_{\rm eff} = c / \left(2f_{\rm r} * \left(\sqrt{(\varepsilon_{\rm eff} + 1)/2} \right) \right) \tag{3}$$

Length extension (ΔL) is calculated as:

$$\Delta L = 0.412h((\varepsilon_{\rm eff} + 0.3) * (w/h + 0.264))/((\varepsilon_{\rm eff} - 0.258) * (w/h + 0.8))$$
(4)

Length of antenna can be calculated from the above two equations as:

$$L = L_{\rm eff} - 2\Delta L \tag{5}$$

1.2 Artificial Neural Network (ANN)

In our human body, all the activities that are performed by our body from sleeping to exercising heavily involves the use of the biological neural network where all the instructions are provided from the brain and executed by the neurons which passes on information from one neuron to the other creating a network of neurons called the neural network. Artificial neural network (ANN) works in quite a similar way in which the biological neural network works. Neuron is the elementary unit of any neural network. Like synapses in a brain, all the neurons are interconnected with each other. The mapping of inputs to the outputs that are desired (also called target outputs) in the neural network is called 'training' of neural networks [15]. A particular algorithm is used by the network to fit in a neural network to obtain the desired outputs.

Optimization of Antenna Parameters Using Neural Network ...

$$Y = \sum (\text{weight } * \text{ input}) + \text{bias}$$
(6)

- Input: The values that are given by the user who is operating the neural network is used as input.
- Weight: All the input values are not treated equally in ANN. It is the weight associated with each input that decides if the input value is important enough to alter the output. Each input has a weight value.
- Bias: The neural network requires an activation neuron to kick start its process. This activation neuron is called bias. The value of bias is always 1 and is an extra neuron in the input.

Working of a Single Neuron. An input value and a bias constitute basic structure of a neuron. An input signal received is assigned a weight value which is multiplied together. The product of input signal and the weight is summed up together and added to the bias value [16]. For example, if x is input value and w is weight, output is z and targeted output is y then (Fig. 3),

$$z = x_1 * w_1 + x_2 * w_2 + x_3 * w_3 + \dots + x_n * w_n + b * 1$$
(7)

$$y = \text{sigmiod}(z) \tag{8}$$

sigmoid(z) =
$$1/(1 + e^{(-z)})$$
 (9)



Fig. 3 Working a single neuron



Fig. 4 Structure of an artificial neural network

Connection of Neurons. All the neurons in layer are interconnected to the neurons in the other layer. Values of the weights are updated continuously to reduce error values (Fig. 4).

Input Layer. This layer consists of all the input values and is the first layer in a neural network. Bias and weights are not applied in this layer. No operations take place in this layer. The only function of this layer is to provide input to the next layer.

Hidden Layer. There are various layers in this layer. As the number of hidden layers increases, the result of the training process improves. Each neuron in one layer is connected to every neuron in another layer.

Output Layer. This is the final layer in a neural network which gets input from the hidden layer. All the actual outputs are received from this layer.

Neural Network Tool (nntool) in MATLAB. This tool is widely used by researchers to create and train artificial neural network. Selection of dataset, creation of neural network and its training in MATLAB are done by the neural network tool (nntool). This tool provides with the actual outputs and compares it with the target output to find error values. To ensure that the deviation between actual outputs and target outputs is not large and the performance of the neural network is efficient, data fitting techniques such as mean squared error and regression analysis are used, respectively. The difference between the actual outputs and target outputs is squared. The average of these squared differences is said to the mean squared error (MSE). The lower the MSE, the better. There is no error if the MSE is zero. Regression value gives the extent to which the actual outputs and target outputs are correlated. The actual and the target outputs have a close relationship if the regression value is 1. The actual and the target outputs have a random relationship if the value is closer to 0.

Algorithms that are available in nftool to train ANN In MATLAB:

Levenberg-Marquardt Algorithm. It is formulated for loss function which are in the form of sum of squared errors. This solves the problem that may arise in curve fitting. It is more accurate and precise than Gauss-Newton and gradient descent method. Therefore, it is preferred over the other algorithms. It is an iterative process and minimizes deviation between the actual and target outputs.

Bayesian Regularization. This algorithm is quite similar to Levenberg–Marquardt algorithm as it uses Jacobian matrix in its computations, with the only difference that it provides better results than Levenberg–Marquardt algorithm for larger datasets.

Scaled Conjugate Gradient. For a very large dataset, it is expected that the algorithm does not consume a lot of space and provides good results as well. This situation can be handled well by the scaled conjugate gradient which uses gradient calculations rather than Jacobian calculations to save memory space.

2 Creating Dataset

For microstrip patch antenna, resonant frequency of the antenna (f), dielectric constant of the substrate in which the patch is etched (ε) and height of the dielectric substrate (h) were assumed to be in the range of (0.3 THz $\leq f \leq$ 3 THz), ($\varepsilon_r =$ 10.2, 12.9) and (0.005 mm $\leq h \leq$ 0.3 mm), respectively. A lot of variations were made using the ranges given above to compute the dimensions of the patch, i.e., patch length (l) and patch width (w). Table 1 gives a sample of how the dataset was created. A total of 144 samples were recorded in the dataset.

3 Results and Discussions

3.1 Training Neural Network in MATLAB

The dataset, containing the input and targeted output values, was imported in nntool in MATLAB. This dataset needs to be trained using the neural network. As discussed earlier, data fitting techniques, such as mean squared error and regression analysis, were used to evaluate performance of the neural network. Inputs having the least error between its actual output and target outputs were taken into consideration for simulating an antenna in HFSS. Figure 5 shows the neural network which was created to train the dataset.

Input		Output		
Resonant frequency in THz (f_r)	Dielectric constant (ε_r)	Height in mm (<i>h</i>)	Length in mm (<i>L</i>)	Width in mm (<i>W</i>)
0.3	10.2	0.005	0.158118819	0.213200716
0.3	12.9	0.01	0.13835854	0.18966081
0.3	10.2	0.025	0.150243383	0.211288564
0.3	12.9	0.05	0.120787044	0.18966081
0.3	10.2	0.075	0.124862913	0.211288564
0.3	12.9	0.1	0.095483098	0.18966081
0.3	10.2	0.125	0.099268465	0.211288564
0.3	12.9	0.15	0.071788966	0.18966081
0.3	10.2	0.175	0.075386828	0.211288564
0.3	12.9	0.2	0.049838768	0.18966081
0.3	10.2	0.225	0.039407737	0.18966081
0.3	12.9	0.25	0.042440173	0.211288564
0.3	10.2	0.275	0.032071997	0.211288564
0.3	12.9	0.3	0.009794842	0.18966081

 Table 1
 A sample of the dataset created

The subsequent data were made in a similar manner



Fig. 5 Neural network in MATLAB

Best Validation Performance. The best validation performance of the neural network is where the iteration of the algorithm stops training the inputs further and gives the least error value, and was found to be at epoch 19 at 2.1207×10^{-5} which is shown in Fig. 6.



Fig. 6 Training performance of the neural network created in nntool in MATLAB

Performance Regression. The network performance is validated by plotting the regression curve. All the output values including the training, validation and testing sets are plotted. It is said to fit perfectly if the data fall along 45° line where all the targets and outputs are equal. The regression in Fig. 7 is a very good fit where values of *R* are greater or equal to 0.9627.

Error Histogram. Training data are shown by the blue bar, validation data are shown by green bar, and the testing data are shown by the red bar. An indication of data points which does not fit properly, in fact, the fit is worse with most of the data called outliers, is given by the error histogram. Figure 8 showcases the error histogram after the training of the dataset.

3.2 Results of Antenna Simulation

The simulation of the MPA in HFSS 15 includes a patch etched on a dielectric substrate which is grounded. The aim to design and simulate an MPA radiates in terahertz band and has a high antenna gain and reduced SAR value with optimized dimensions. Table 2 shows the dimensions which gave us the best antenna parameter results.



Fig. 7 Performance regression of the neural network created in nntool in MATLAB

Antenna design. Figure 9 shows the design of the antenna. The given designed antenna has the dimensions that are given in Table 3. For better impedance matching and return loss, inset feed was used to design the antenna.

Return loss graph. The return loss S_{11} parameter of the antenna after simulation was discovered to be -23.8963 dB, and bandwidth was calculated to be 0.0793 THz. As shown in Fig. 10, the antenna radiates at 1.7075 THz.



Fig. 8 Error histogram of the neural network created in nntool in MATLAB

Input parameters	Values
Frequency	1.7 THz
Dielectric constant	12.9
Height of substrate	0.01 mm
Output parameters	Values
Width of patch	0.020714961 mm
Length of patch	0.033469555 mm

Table 2 Parameters with least errors through training the dataset in the nntool in MATLAB

SAR field. Specific absorption rate (SAR) measures the amount of transmitted RF energy absorbed by human tissue. It is a function of mass density of tissue (kg/m³), electric field induced by radiated energy (V/m) and electrical conductivity (S/m). SAR Field obtained was 0.13264 (W/kg) which is shown in Fig. 11.

Radiation pattern. It is a depiction of the energy distribution that is radiated from the antenna as a function of direction in the form of a diagram. It can be depicted in the form of field pattern or power pattern. Usually radiation pattern is shown in a 3D polar plot as shown in Fig. 12. The radiation pattern shown in Fig. 13 is the 2D version and is obtained by simply dividing the 3D plot in vertical and horizontal pattern. As it can be observed, the antenna gain has the highest value of 5.6202. The pattern can be called an omnidirectional pattern as it radiates in almost every direction, i.e., 0° , 90° , 180° and 270° .



Fig. 9 Antenna designed by applying the most optimized dimensions

Patch dimensions				
Length	0.03 mm			
Width	0.02 mm			
Substrate dimensions				
Length	0.01 mm			
Width	0.07 mm			
Height	0.01 mm			
Feed dimensions				
Inset distance	0.007 mm			
Inset gap	0.004 mm			
Feed width	0.007 mm			
Feed length	0.024 mm			

 Table 3
 Antenna dimensions of the proposed design that is to be simulated in HFSS 15.0

4 Conclusion

In neural network, actual outputs and targeted outputs are compared after its computation using Levenberg–Marquardt algorithm to find error values for each dataset where the output comprises of the patch dimensions. Antenna patch dimensions with the least error value were chosen as the dimensions of the patch in the antenna in order to optimize it and improve gain as well as reduce the SAR value of the antenna for it to be used in healthcare applications where wireless communication is involved. The antenna designed can radiate at 1.7075 THz with a bandwidth of



Fig. 10 Return loss graph of the antenna after being simulated

0.0793 THz. The results of the research conducted were compared with the research work of other publishers that is given in the references. Though the constraints in the design proposed in the paper persist, the results in the paper brought it closer to implement cost-effective and less cumbersome fabrication process for antenna to radiate in the terahertz range.

The results can be further improved by using other algorithms to train dataset in the ANN and by designing an antenna that can radiate in terahertz range and can be fabricated using easier processes and lesser cost.



Fig. 11 SAR field of the antenna in HFSS after analysis



Fig. 12 3-D polar gain plot given by the simulated antenna



Fig. 13 Radiation pattern in 2D format of the antenna simulated

References

- 1. A. Sharma, V.K. Dwivedi, G. Singh, THz rectangular microstrip patch antenna on multilayered substrate for advance wireless communication systems (2009)
- 2. B. Singh, Design of rectangular microstrip patch antenna based on artificial neural network algorithm (2015)
- 3. ITU: Article 2.1: Frequency and wavelength bands. Radio Regulations 2016 Edition (2017)
- N.M. Burford, M.O. El-Shenawee, Review of terahertz photoconductive antenna technology. Opt. Eng. 56(1), 010901 (24 January 2017)
- 5. N. Betzalel, P. Ben Ishai, Y. Feldman, The human skin as a sub-THz receiver—Does 5G pose a danger to it or not? Environ. Res. **163**, 208–216 (2018)
- L. Zhao, Y. Hao, R. Peng, Advances in the biological effects of terahertz wave radiation. Military Med. Res. 1(1), 1–4 (2014)
- 7. A.R. Orlando, G.P. Gallerano, Terahertz radiation effects and biological applications (2009)
- International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICNIRP), Guidelines for limiting exposure to time-varying electric, magnetic and electromagnetic fields (100 kHz– 300 GHz) (2020)
- 9. V. Kushwah, G. Tomar, Design and analysis of microstrip patch antennas using artificial neural network (2017)
- V. Kushwah, G. Tomar, Size reduction of microstrip patch antenna using defected microstrip structures, in *International Conference on Communication Systems and Network Technologies* (2011)
- M. Temmar, A. Hocini, D. Khedrouche, M. Zamani, Analysis and design of a terahertz microstrip antenna based on a synthesized photonic bandgap substrate using BPSO. J. Comput. Electron. 18(1), 231–240 (2019)
- 12. P. Saxena, S Pani, Design of microstrip patch antenna and its analysis through ANN for terahertz application, in *6th International Conference on Signal Processing and Integrated Networks* (*SPIN*), pp. 391–394 (2019)
- 13. Y. Maharishi, Microstrip antenna optimization using artificial neural network. Electronics and Communication Department, Thapar University, Punjab (2015)
- 14. S. Kaur, R. Khanna, P. Sahni, N. Kumar, Design and optimization of microstrip patch antenna using artificial neural networks (2019)
- 15. M. Singhal, G. Saini, Optimization of antenna parameters using artificial neural network: a review (2017)
- Everything you need to know about neural networks (2017). https://hackernoon.com/everyt hing-you-need-to-know-about-neural-networks-8988c3ee4491. Last accessed 2020/02/03

BE-Sync: A Bandwidth Efficient Time Synchronization for Underwater Wireless Sensor Networks



Amrita Datta and Mou Dasgupta

1 Introduction

Time synchronization is an essential part of a distributed network for efficient collaboration of sensor nodes and information exchange. It is a well-studied area in terrestrial sensor networks. Unfortunately, time synchronization algorithms that work for terrestrial networks cannot be ported to an underwater environment. When sensor nodes shift around due to waves and water current, delay estimation during two-way message exchange becomes difficult. Also, underwater sensor networks must work with limited bandwidth for information exchange. Network traffic can lead to congestion and packet loss. During instances when a sensor node seeks to synchronize its local time with the network time, the information exchange can lead to congestion in the network in which multiple nodes are exchanging different types of information with each other or with the reference nodes. Coupled with high propagation delay and node mobility, any effort to synchronize the sensor node can face the risk of packet collision and further delays in estimation. This paper proposes a novel time synchronization protocol that uses non-homogenous Poisson process (NHPP)-based back-off technique to synchronize an unsynchronized sensor node by ensuring that available bandwidth is used efficiently. This bandwidth efficient synchronization (BE-Sync) employs NHPP that determines the probability of packet collision in the network and holds off sending the reference time stamps by a reference node to an unsynchronized node if the probability of packet collision is high. This ensures that packets are sent when there is low probability of collision and, therefore, low chance of reference time stamps getting lost. The method further employs outlier removal of reference time stamps received from reference nodes using Mahalanobis distances. Finally, linear regression is employed over the received time stamps to synchronize the local clock with network time.

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

A. Datta (⊠) · M. Dasgupta

National Institute of Technology Raipur, Raipur, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022
The contribution of this paper is twofold. First is the use of NHPP to determine instances of high probability of packet collisions in the network, in which reference time stamps are sent to unsynchronized nodes only when probability of packet collision is low. And second is the use of Mahalanobis distances measure to remove outlier time stamps from the reference nodes leading to higher accuracy in regression estimates.

The rest of the paper is arranged as follows. Section 2 gives a brief overview of the extant literature in time synchronization in underwater, Sect. 3 explains the system model that contains the clock model, network architecture, mobility model the back-off model that employs NHPP, and Mahalanobis distance measure. Section 4 outlines the proposed BE-Sync methodology, and Sect. 5 provides simulation and results. Section 6 concludes the paper.

2 Related Work in Time Synchronization

Time synchronization is an important concern that we need to consider especially for sensor networks. This section provides brief overview of some of the important synchronization protocols.

TSHL is the first time synchronization technique introduced for networks that demonstrate high latency. The time synchronization process is split into two phases for mobile UWSNs in TSHL [1]. The clock skew is estimated in the first phase by nodes. Then skew compensated synchronized messages are swapped in the second phase by the nodes to determine offsets. In the second phase in order to determine the offset, they swap skew compensated synchronization messages within the network. THSL has been designed to handle long propagation delays and energy efficiency at the same time and, hence, ideal for networks with high latency. MU-Sync [2], which is a cluster-based algorithm for UWSNs, avoids frequent resynchronization by estimating both offset and the clock skew. Two linear regressions are performed using local time information. The first regression enables the cluster head to determine the effect of the long duration of propagation delay and the estimate of offset, and skew is obtained from the second regression. The cluster-based nature of MUsync enables it to be applied to mobile UWSNs employing multi-hop architecture. In MC-Sync [3], two mobile reference nodes are used to estimate node mobility. The MC-Sync is not energy efficient when compared to MU-Sync as it does not allow the reference nodes to broadcast the synchronization messages. Mobi-Sync estimates long dynamic propagation delay by considering the spatial correlation in patterns in the movements of mobile nodes. The time synchronization in Mobi-Sync [4, 5] is achieved in three stages starting with delay estimation, then linear regression, and, finally, terminating with calibration. The application of Doppler shift enabled time synchronization protocol for UWSNs first appeared in D-Sync. D-Sync [6] improves upon propagation delay and synchronization by estimating and compensating for the Doppler shift. A pairwise time synchronization approach across layers for UWSNs is proposed in DA-Sync [7] that stands Doppler assisted time synchronization. The

DA-Sync takes into account the skew while estimating mobility led Doppler shift in UWSNs. Kalman filter is employed to refine the estimate of relative velocity and enhance accuracy of time synchronization. E²DTS [8] is a time synchronization algorithm proposed for UWSNs which is energy efficient and based on a distributed architecture. E²DTS algorithm is applicable for time synchronization under conditions of node mobility. RSUN [9] or robust synchronization for underwater networks takes packet collision into account which is mostly ignored in time synchronization protocols. Low bandwidth and high network traffic in UWSNs could lead to packet collisions and data loss, and hence, proper back-off technique needs to be applied before the time synchronization process begins. DE-Sync [10] ensures time synchronization with high degree of accuracy by considering clock skew while determining Doppler scaling factor and not considering sound speed which is determined by many physical and chemical properties of underwater environment.

3 System Model

3.1 Clock Model

Consider a set of nodes whose clocks have a certain skew and drift as compared to the reference clock.

$$N(t) = \alpha_n(t) + \beta_n \tag{1}$$

where N(t) is a vector of local times with respect to the reference time t and α_n and β_n are the skew and offset for a set of n nodes in a cuboids' of dimensions $a \times b \times c$. The rate at which a clock runs relative to a reference frequency is known as clock skew. The time difference between the local and reference clock is called clock offset.

3.2 Network Architecture

Consider a UWSN deployment with a certain number of ordinary nodes and anchor nodes (reference nodes). The anchor nodes are self-synchronized and perform multiple tasks of information communication, localization, time synchronization, maintaining routing tables, acting as reference clocks, etc. They have high computation power and are much fewer in number as compared to normal nodes. These anchor nodes are in regular communication with the sink nodes that float on water surface. The sink nodes are equipped with GPS, acoustic, and radio transceivers. The normal nodes are numerous and spread out to detect events of interest. They generally remain passive to conserve energy and become active when something happens in their vicinity. Also, water currents make them mobile and their positions changes frequently in the XY plane. The local times in these nodes become unsynchronized over a period.

3.3 Mobility Model

Our protocol assumes that all nodes move around due to water currents. Hence to model the node mobility, we employ a cointegrated random motion-based technique drawn from a normal distribution. We assume that reference nodes and unsynchronized nodes both move in the same underwater environment, and hence, even if they do not move in lock step with each other, their movements are cointegrated. For example, a water current or a wave would tend to move both unsynchronized nodes and reference nodes in the same relative direction even though the magnitude and direction of movement may not be an exact match. Figure 1 shows one such instance as an example.

Here we have purposefully generated two separate cointegrated random motion, one each for the anchor node and unsynchronized node, whose randomness is centered around a standard normal distribution defined by mean 0 and variance 1. The trajectories of freely moving reference nodes and unsynchronized nodes are obtained over a period of time.

3.4 Back-Off Model

Underwater sensor network communication faces bandwidth constraints. The method proposed in this paper uses a time synchronization method that uses two-way communication between reference node and unsynchronized node. Whenever such two-way communication is initiated, there is a probability that available bandwidth might get clogged as many types of communication takes place in the underwater environment among sensor nodes apart from time synchronization-related communication.

The proposed algorithm ensures that message communication between reference nodes and unsynchronized nodes occur only when there is minimum probability of packet collision due to constrained bandwidth, and their packets do not get lost or dropped. The nodes in the proposed protocol employ a back-off method using



non-homogenous Poisson process to model this period of wait before resending the reference packet.

A Poisson process is a model for a series of discrete events where the average time between events is exponentially distributed and is known, but the exact occurrence time of the event is not known. A non-homogenous Poisson process (NHPP) is one where even the average time between the events is not known.

A NHPP, $N(\cdot)$ has the following properties -

- The occurrence of a collision event is independent of any occurrence before it. The number of collision events in a given time interval $(t, t + \Delta t)$ depends on the current time and the length of the time interval Δt .
- The rate of collision events is given by Eq. 2

 $P[\text{ exactly one event in}(t, t + \Delta t)] = P[N(t, t + \Delta t) - N(t) = 1] = \lambda(t)\Delta t + \varrho(\Delta t)$ (2)

where $\lambda(t)$ is the rate function or the intensity function.

- For a very small Δt , such that $\Delta t \rightarrow 0$, the probability of more than one packet collision is negligible.
- N(0) = 0 at t = 0. At t = 0, there are no packet collision events.

On the basis of above assumptions, the probability of n packet collision in a given duration of time is given by Eq. 3

$$P[N(t) = n] = \frac{\int_0^t \lambda(t) dt}{n!} * e^{-\int_0^t \lambda(t) dt}$$
(3)

In a UWSN, it is quite possible that it is not known when packet collision might occur and the frequency with which packet collision might occur. We may have a scenario where incidences of packet collision are spaced far apart or spaced close to one another. Thus, average time between collisions is not deterministic and better approximates the real conditions in a UWSN.

We begin with a homogenous Poisson process assuming the average time between two collision is known and follows an exponential distribution. Then we use Lewis and Shedler 1979s "thinning" algorithm [11] to approximate a non-homogenous Poisson process as follows

- Take a NHPP N(t) and generate points within time interval [0, 1] with a rate function $\lambda(t)$.
 - This rate function (also known as intensity function) denotes the rate at which the packet collision happens is assumed to be exponential, and its functional form is decided by the network architect.
 - In the proposed algorithm, the rate function is of the form $\lambda(t) = 100 * e^{-(x^2+y^2)}$

The abscissa (x-axis) denotes the occurrence of the event at any time within the interval, and ordinate (y-axis) denotes the probability of occurrence and has a density function.

The unit of time is set by the network architect in advance.

The unit can range from a nanosecond to a second. The paper assumes a unit of microseconds (10^{-6} s) .

- Let *n* be the number of packet collision events that can happen between t = 0 to t = 1 and S(n) be the time of most recent packet collision event.
- At t = 0, the NHPP process is initialized and generates points in the time interval [0, 1] such that $U_1 \sim Uniform(0, 1)$.
- Set $t = t \frac{\ln U_1}{\bar{\lambda}}$.
 - $-\bar{\lambda}$ is such that $\bar{\lambda} \geq \lambda t$.
 - Calculate thinning probability $p(t) = \frac{\lambda t}{1}$.
 - In thinning, packet collision and no packet collision are two separate Poisson processes. The algorithm rejects no packet collision and, hence, "thins" the distribution to only packet collision events.
 - Generate $U_2 \sim Uniform(0, 1)$ independent of U_1 .
 - If $U_2 < p(t)$, set n = n + 1 and S(n) = t.
 - Continue generating till t = 1.

Once the probability of packet collision events is determined within the next set time duration, the reference node chooses to broadcast the reference time packets when probability of packet collision is minimum.

3.5 Mahalanobis Distances

A strong local transient current can affect some nodes for a short duration of time making them move in a particular direction. In such a scenario, subsequent time stamps would be affected due to large errors creeping in due to propagation delay. Also since only a subset of nodes might get affected, errors might have a correlation structure. This needs to be rectified.

Once all time stamps are received, the anchor nodes calculate Mahalanobis distances to identify leveraged and influential outliers in the data that might affect regression output. This ensures that any outliers that might affect the fit of a regression are removed. In Mahalanobis distance measure, the distance of a point from a distribution is calculated. From a computation standpoint, the columns are transformed into uncorrelated variables followed by variance scaling to 1. Finally, Euclidean distance is calculated between a point and the distribution. The formula for Mahalanobis distance [12] is given by Eq. 4-

$$D^{2} = (x - m)^{T} * C^{-1} * (x - m)$$
(4)

where D^2 is the square of the Mahalanobis distance, x represents the rows (observations) in a dataset, m is the mean of each column, and C^{-1} is the inverse covariance matrix. Here, on the right hand side, the first term (x - m) gives the distance of the observation x from the mean m and multiplied by the inverse of the covariance matrix C. If the observations are highly correlated, then covariance would be high, and (x - m) term would be divided by a higher number; if the correlation is low, then covariance would be low and the (x - m) term would be divided by a smaller number. Thus, the covariance matrix acts as a scaling factor.

3.6 Linear Regression

Ordinary least squares (OLS) is a widely used technique in underwater time synchronization protocols. OLS is run over the data points that are received and corrected using Mahalanobis distances to estimate the clock skew and clock offset. OLS fits a line through the datapoints in a way to minimize the sum of squared errors.

4 Details of Proposed Methodology

4.1 Overview of BE-Sync

BE-Sync follows pairwise synchronization approach for estimating the clock offset and clock skew. BE-Sync consists of three main steps: first, there is message exchange between reference node and unsynchronized (ordinary) node with proper back-off model in place to reduce the probability of packet collision, second, where it is ensured that received timestamps are analyzed to identify and eliminate inconsistent timestamps and, finally, estimate the clock skew and offset.

4.2 Impact of Collision and Message Exchange of BE-Sync

In BE-Sync, we assume that the propagation delays for each information exchange are the same. Consider a reference node \mathcal{R} with standard time is fixed, and node \mathcal{S} is a sensor node to be synchronized. In underwater sensor network, bandwidth comes at a premium. Any given node whether a reference node or otherwise must perform several activities and communicate information within the limited bandwidth allocated to them. If the network is experiencing high traffic, it is prudent that nodes in the network employ a back-off protocol so that packets are not lost, and they do not have to resend again and again.

The proposed protocol uses a back-off model based on NHPP. Consider a scenario when it is time for the reference node to start broadcasting the sync-req message. It could be a time when probability of packet collision is high in the network or it could also be a time that probability is low. The reference node employs back-off





technique to hold off the transmission of reference time packets till probability of packet collision is low.

As evident from the scatter plot Fig. 2, the probability of packet collision is almost 0 at 0.2 and 0.3 ms. Hence, the reference node does not broadcast immediately but waits for atleast 0.2 ms before broadcasting. One point to be noted is that the threshold probability can be set dynamically based on information of past collision events. Also, the choice of time unit is also be changed by the network architect based on application and other preferences. A threshold of 0% packet collision although is most effective, but it gives fewer chances to the reference node to broadcast. If the computation times are high, then this chance that comes after 0.2 ms can be missed, and reference node must recalculate leading to power usage and delay. A threshold set at 20% probability affords about 22 chances to the reference node to broadcast. These instances of low packet collision are spread apart so even if the first instance is missed, the reference node has many more chances. There is always a tradeoff between faster packet transmission and packet collision which must be managed judiciously. In time synchronization algorithms, reference node broadcasts multiple times within a given a time frame. Thus, if it can transmit more within a given window, the unsynchronized node can synchronize its clock earlier too.

Once the appropriate window for packet transmission is estimated, information is transmitted between the reference nodes (\mathcal{R}) and the ordinary (unsynchronized) nodes (\mathcal{S}). This packet called sync-req message contains time $\mathcal{T}^1_{\mathcal{R}}$, the time stamp, and actual reference time at the time of sending. The ordinary node \mathcal{S} receives the sync-req message and notes the time it received it as $\mathcal{T}^1_{\mathcal{S}}$. Then anchor (reference) node again sends the sync-req message $\mathcal{T}^2_{\mathcal{R}}$, and the ordinary node (\mathcal{S}) receives them and notes down the time of receipt $\mathcal{T}^2_{\mathcal{S}}$. This message receipt continues till node (\mathcal{S}) has received enough data points (sync-req messages), as shown in Fig. 3.

As Fig. 4 shows, four time stamps are required to calculate the clock offset. The ordinary node (S) sends out a skew synchronized REQ message to the reference node (R) at T_1 . The node R receives the message at T_2 and notes it. At T_3 , the reference node sends out the REP message which node S receives at T_4 . Multiple



exchanges like this occur between \mathcal{R} and \mathcal{S} , which node \mathcal{S} uses to calculate clock offset. Ideally each exchange cycle described above should generate 4 time stamps for node S. Due to packet collision, it is possible that one or more packets get lost during this bi-directional exchange. Due to packet collision, it is possible that one or more packets get lost during this bi-directional data exchange.





Hence, node S employs same NHPP-based back-off technique as explained in Sect. 3.4. The least probability for packet collision arises at 0.18 microsecond, 0.38 microsecond, and 0.81 ms. Hence, S can choose any of these windows to send out the REQ messages.

The node (S) sends out its messages based on lowest probability of packet collision shown in Fig. 5. This ensures that packets are not lost, and offset calculations are accurate. After all packet exchanges are completed, the proposed protocol uses Mahalanobis distance as mentioned in Sect. 3.5 and regression techniques (Sect. 3.6) to synchronize the time of unsynchronized nodes.

5 Performance Evaluation

5.1 Simulation Setup

We assume a cuboidal region of $1000m \times 1000m \times 1000m$ where several ordinary nodes and anchor (reference) nodes are distributed. They can move as explained earlier under the effect of water currents or waves explained earlier. The speed of sound underwater is assumed to be 1500 m/s. The NHPP calculations to determine the probability of packet collision in the network are made considering a time period of 1 µs described in Sect. 3.4. The reference nodes send the sync-req messages at intervals when the probability of packet collision is lowest, and the same back-off technique is followed by ordinary node when they send the REQ messages. Once the skew and offset adjusted time stamps are received, Mahalanobis distances are calculated and outliers removed before regressions are run.

5.2 Simulation Result

The simulations run 10,000 times in Python Jupyter Notebook on a machine running Intel i7 2 GHz processor and 16 GB RAM. Root mean square error (RMSE) is estimated for determining the rate at which error grows for RSUN [9] and BE-Sync. As evident from Fig. 6, RMSE increases for BE-Sync at a rate lower the RSUN. RMSEs are comparable till 10^3 ms following which the error for RSUN rises rapidly as compared to BE-Sync. While error in BE-Sync rises too, the slope for RSUN is steeper than BE-Sync. Even after 10^7 ms (equivalent to 10 s), the RMSE of BE-Sync is about an order of magnitude lower than the RMSE of RSUN.

We also show how packet collision can affect error after synchronization if not properly factored in. NHPP-based BE-Sync method has superior performance as compared to RSUN and MU-Sync. As probability of packet collision increases in the network shown in Fig. 7, NHPP adjusts for it, and packets are sent only when collision probability is low. Hence, error after synchronization is lower as compared to RSUN [9] and MU-Sync [2]. The error in BE-Sync is at least an order of magnitude lower than RSUN when probability of packet collision increases, the error rate in BE-Sync also increases but remains much lower than either of RSUN or MU-Sync. When we go into scenarios where probability of packet collision is high (0.4 and above), the error rate of BE-Sync does not increase as much, something we do not see in RSUN, and Mu-Sync is anyway has a much higher error rate from the beginning.



Fig. 6 Root mean square error versus the time elapsed since synchronization



Fig. 7 Effect of collision probability on synchronization accuracy

6 Conclusion and Future Work

In this paper, we have demonstrated that factoring in the probability of packet collision can lead to more efficient time synchronization in underwater sensor networks. We proposed a novel approach to back off using non-homogenous Poisson process. This paper also points out as to why observations can be correlated and propose the use Mahalanobis distance measure to remove time stamps that are outliers and adjust for correlation. The results demonstrate that BE-Sync performs better when compared to RSUN and MU-Sync protocols.

While BE-Sync provides more efficient time synchronization, it does not consider energy efficiency issues. Research in time synchronization algorithms that are also energy optimized is the way forward.

References

- 1. A. Syed, J. Heidemann, Time synchronization for high latency acoustic networks, in *Proceedings of IEEE INFOCOM* (2006)
- N. Chirdchoo, W.-S. Soh, K.C. Chua, MU-Sync: a time synchronization protocol for underwater mobile networks, in WUWNet'08, San Francisco, California, USA (2008)
- Y.Guo, Y.Liu, Time synchronization for mobile underwater sensor networks. J. Networks. 8(1) (2013)
- J. Liu, Z. Zhou, Z. Peng, J.-H. Cui, Mobi-Sync: efficient time synchronization for mobile underwater sensor networks, in *WuWNeT '09: Proceedings of the Fourth ACM International Workshop on Underwater Networks* (ACM, New York, 2009)

- J. Liu, Z. Zhou, Z. Peng, J.-H. Cui, M. Zuba, L. Fiondella, Mobi-Sync: efficient time synchronization for mobile underwater sensor networks. IEEE Trans. Parallel Distrib. Syst. 24(2), 406–416 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1109/GLOCOM.2010.5683527
- F. Lu, D. Mirza, C. Schurgers, D-Sync: Doppler-based time synchronization for mobile underwater sensor networks, in *WUWNet'10*, Woods Hole, Massachusetts, USA (2010). https://doi. org/10.1145/1868812.1868815
- J. Liu, Z. Wang, M. Zuba, Z. Peng, J.-H. Cui, S. Zhou, DASync: a Doppler-assisted timesynchronization scheme for mobile underwater sensor networks. IEEE Trans. Mob. Comput. 13, 582–595 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1109/TMC.2013.13
- Z. Li, Z. Guo, F. Hong, L. Hong, E2DTS: an energy efficiency distributed time synchronization algorithm for underwater acoustic mobile sensor networks. Ad Hoc Networks 11, 1372–1380 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adhoc.2011.03.008
- T.I. Khandoker, L. Fang, D. Huang, V. Sreeram, A robust time synchronization approach for underwater networks with inconsistent timestamps (2012), pp. 1086–1091. https://doi.org/10. 1109/ISCIT.2012.6380854
- F. Zhou, Q. Wang, D. Nie, G. Qiao, DE-Sync: a Doppler-enhanced time synchronization for mobile underwater sensor networks. Sensors 18(6), 1710 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3390/ s18061710
- P.A.W. Lewis, G.S. Shedler, Simulation of nonhomogeneous Poisson processes by thinning. Naval Res. Logistics Quart. 403–413 (1979). https://doi.org/10.1002/nav.3800260304
- P.C. Mahalanobis, On the generalised distance in statistics. Proc. Nat. Inst. Sci. India 2(1), 49–55 (1936)

An Analysis of Analog Performance for High-*K* Gate Stack Dielectric Pocket Double-Gate-All-Around (DP-DGAA) MOSFET



Vaibhav Purwar, Rajeev Gupta, Nitish Kumar, Himanshi Awasthi, and Rakesh Kumar Pandey

1 Introduction

As the world is moving toward smaller and advanced feature gadgets, where ultra large-scale integration (ULSI) technology is being extensively used to manufacture them. This technology requires high-performing nano-scale multi-gate (MG)MOSFETs [1–4] as these offer multi-directional control on the channel. Among these MG MOSFETs, gate-all-around (GAA) MOSFET exhibits drastically improved electrostatic controllability over the channel and high immunity toward short channel effects (SCEs), offers high packing density, and shows steep subthreshold characteristic [4]. Despite these attractive features, GAA has low drive current and suffered from low computational speed [5]. However, by horizontal/vertical stacking, drive current capability could be improved, but this will decrease the number of devices over the same chip area. To maintain the high drive current and device density, Fahad et al. [6] introduced double-gate-all-around MOS (DGAA). The outer (shell) gate makes it similar to the GAA, and the inner (core) gate provides additional control. These two gates of DGAA control the channel independently and provide superior SCEs immunity and boost the drive current for better speed [6, 7]. In DGAA, improved electron mobility can be achieved by decreasing the gap between two gates when the difference between two gates goes down by 4 nm, the volume inversion takes place, and electron mobility gets improved [8]. However, a further boost in the device performance can be achieved by incorporating dielectric pockets (DP) inside the channel region form the source and drain side. This modified MOS structure is

V. Purwar · R. Gupta

Department of Electronics Engineering, RTU Kota, Kota, India

N. Kumar (⊠) · H. Awasthi Department of ECE, KIT Kanpur, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh, India

R. K. Pandey Department of EN Engineering, KIT Kanpur, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_6

also known as an insulated-shallow extension (ISE) version of MOS [9]. Incorporation of DP is used to prevent the SCEs and reduce the leakage or OFF-current (I_{OFF}) [9–12]. DP is also termed as a diffusion stopper incorporated in the channel from the source and drain side [13]. Trivedi et al. [9] had worked on ISE technology with a high-K gate stack to enhance the ON-current (I_{ON}) and analog/RF performance. As the extract of the works mentioned above, it can be concluded that the use of DP and high-K insulating material may be beneficial to enhance the DGAA performance.

This work covers the comparative study of two MOSFET structures, DGAA and high-K insulating material DP-DGAA. They are evaluated for I_{OFF} , I_{ON}/I_{OFF} ratio, subthreshold swing (SS), drain-induced barrier lowering (DIBL), transconductance (g_m), TGF, and other analog characteristics on the ATLAS device simulator.

2 Device Structure and Simulation Details

The three-dimensional (3D) structure of the DP-DGAA MOS device for simulationbased investigation is shown in Fig. 1. The cut-plane view of the DP-DGAA MOS device is displayed in Fig. 2. A thin SiO₂ layer wraps the cylindrical channel region with a high-K dielectric (Hfo₂). For the dielectric pocket, SiO₂ has been introduced in the channel region from the source and drain sides. Table 1 represents the DP-DGAA and DGAA devices parameters used for simulation. The following models of 3D ATLAS device simulator have been employed to perform the simulation of the proposed DP-DGAA device and DGAA devices [14], such as the drift–diffusion model, field-dependent mobility model, concentration-dependent mobility model, and Shockley-Read-Hall (SRH) model.



Fig. 1. 3-D structure view of DP-DGAA MOSFET



Fig. 2 Cut-plane view of DP-DGAA MOSFET

Table 1 Physical device parameters used for DP-DGAA and DGAA MOSFET simulations

Parameters	DGAA	DP-DGAA
Channel length (L)	20 nm	20 nm
Source/drain doping (N _D)	10^{20} cm^{-3}	10^{20} cm^{-3}
Channel doping (N_A)	10^{15} cm^{-3}	10^{15} cm^{-3}
Oxide (SiO_2) thickness (t_{ox})	2 nm	1 nm
Hafnium oxide (HfO ₂) thickness (t_{high-K})	-	1 nm
Channel thickness (t_{si})	8 nm	8 nm
Inner core metal radius	4 nm	4 nm
Metal work-function ($\phi_{\rm M}$)	4.99 eV	4.8 eV
Dielectric pocket length (DPL)	-	4 nm
Dielectric pocket thickness (DPD)	-	4 nm

3 Results and Discussion

Figure 3 displays the contour plot of the electric field for high-*K* gate stack DP-DGAA MOSFET at $V_{DS} = 0.5$ V and $V_{GS} = 0$ V. The plot reveals that the electric field is higher at the interface of drain and channel, but it is not strong enough to influence gate leakage current. It is almost dependent on V_{GS} . Figure 4 presents the comparison of drain current of high-*K* gate stack DP-DGAA and DGAA MOSFET versus gate-to-source voltage (V_{GS}) at a drain-to-source voltage (V_{DS}) = 1 V. The improvement of I_{ON} and I_{OFF} is found in high-*K* gate stack DP-DGAA MOSFET, as presented in



Fig. 3 Horizontal cut-plane view of electric field for DP-DGAA MOSFET at $V_{GS} = 0$ V and $V_{DS} = 0.5$ V



Fig. 4 Comparison of drain current (I_D) of *DP-DGAA* and *DGAA* MOSFET versus V_{GS} at $V_{DS} = 1$ V

Fig. 4. The reduction of OFF-current occurs because of the presence of dielectric pockets (DPs) at the drain-channel and source-channel interfaces as they diminish the charge sharing at both interfaces. The ON-current is enhanced due to high-K dielectric, which increases the electron velocity at the source boundary consequence of enhanced carrier transport capability. The I_{ON}/I_{OFF} ratio is better for the high-K gate insulator material-based DP-DGAA MOS device than the DGAA device due to the steeper subthreshold slope. Therefore, the high-K gate insulator material-based

DP-DGAA device is more appropriate for high-speed switching applications. The comparison of drain current of high-*K* gate insulator material-based *DP-DGAA* and *DGAA* MOSFET versus V_{DS} at $V_{GS} = 1$ V is presented in Fig. 5. It exposes that the drain current of high-*K* gate insulator material-based *DP-DGAA* MOSFET is more beneficial than the *DGAA* device. Figure 6 demonstrates the comparison of trans-conductance (g_m) of high-*K* gate insulator material-based *DP-DGAA* and *DGAA* MOSFET against V_{GS} at $V_{DS} = 1$ V. The g_m is a crucial fundamental agent for analog and RF applications, and it is necessary to determine a maximum bias point.



Fig. 5 Comparison of drain current (I_D) of *DGAA* and *DP-DGAA* MOSFET versus V_{DS} at V_{GS} = 1 V



Fig. 6 Comparison of Trans-conductance (g_m) of DGAA and DP-DGAA MOSFET against V_{GS} at $V_{DS} = 1$ V

The figure reveals that the *DP-DGAA* MOSFET shows a leading g_m compared to the *DGAA* device.

The comparison of TGF (g_m/I_D) of high-K gate insulator material-based DP-DGAA and DGAA MOSFET against V_{GS} at $V_{DS} = 1$ V is shown in Fig. 7. The trans-conductance generation factor (TGF) is defined as the ratio of g_m and I_D . The TGF is more crucial for the high-K DP-DGAA device than the DGAA device in the subthreshold region, and the most distinguished TGF value is near the principal utility of subthreshold swing (60 mV/decade). The more vital utility of TGFsymbolizes the steady performance of the analog circuit still for low power supply.



Fig. 7 Comparison of TGF (g_m/I_D) of high-K gate insulator material-based *DP-DGAA* and *DGAA* MOSFET against V_{GS} at $V_{DS} = 1$ V

Table 2 Analog FOMs of *DGAA* and high-*K DP-DGAA* MOSFET at $V_{DS} = 1.0$ at constant threshold voltage

DP-DGAA	DGAA
1.34×10^{-04}	6.70×10^{-05}
1.14×10^{-11}	8.51×10^{-11}
$1.17 \times 10^{+07}$	$7.8 \times 10^{+05}$
73.64	93.15
59.06	172.9
2.99×10^{-04}	1.72×10^{-04}
45.48	31.89
29.3	11.15
	$\begin{array}{c} DP\text{-}DGAA \\ 1.34 \times 10^{-04} \\ 1.14 \times 10^{-11} \\ 1.17 \times 10^{+07} \\ 73.64 \\ 59.06 \\ 2.99 \times 10^{-04} \\ 45.48 \\ 29.3 \end{array}$

Table 2 shows the analog FOMs of *DGAA* and high-*K DP-DGAA* MOSFET at $V_{DS} = 1.0$ at a constant threshold voltage. According to Table 2, the high-*K DP-DGAA* MOS device is found more superior for analog performance than the *DGAA* MOSFET. The high-*K DP-DGAA ON*-current, I_{ON}/I_{OFF} ratio, g_m , *TGF*, and intrinsic gain are found higher than the *DGAA*, but the *OFF*-current, subthreshold swing and *DIBL* are diminishing in comparison to *DGAA* MOSFET.

4 Conclusion

The impact of dielectric pockets (DPs) introduced in high-*K* gate insulator materialbased *DGAA* MOSFET on analog performance is investigated and compared with the *DGAA* device in this paper. The high-*K* gate insulator material-based *DP-DGAA* MOSFET has exhibited much-improved performance than *DGAA* MOSFET. The high-*K* gate insulator material-based DP-*DGAA* MOSFET has shown better *SCEs* immunity compared to *DGAA*. The *ON*-current of the high-*K DP-DGAA* device is enhanced than the *DGAA*. The *OFF*-current of high-*K DP-DGAA* is effectively suppressed compared to *DGAA*, which results in a much-improved I_{ON}/I_{OFF} current ratio in distinction to *DGAA* MOSFET. The high-*K* gate insulator material-based *DP-DGAA* MOSFET reflects much better analog performance as compared to the *DGAA* device. Therefore, it is more superior for high-speed analog and switching applications.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank Dr. Kunal Singh, the Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, NIT, Jamshedpur, Jharkhand, India, to support using their licensed 3DATLASTCAD software from SILVACO.

References

- 1. J.P. Colinge, Multiple-gate MOSFETs. Solid-state Electron. 48, 897–905 (2004)
- 2. J.P. Colinge, Multiple-gate SOI MOSFETs. Microelectron. Eng. 84(9-10), 2071-2076 (2007)
- 3. J.P. Colinge, *FinFET and Other Multi-gate Transistors* (Springer, New York). ISBN 978-0-387-71751-7
- J.Y. Song, W.Y. Choi, J.H. Park, J.D. Lee, B.G. Park, Design optimization of gate-all-around (GAA) MOSFETs. IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol. 5(3), 186–191 (2006)
- W. Lu, P. Xie, C.M. Lieber, Nanowire transistor performance limits and applications. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 55, 2859–2876 (2008)
- H.M. Fahad, C.E. Smith, J.P. Rojas, M.M. Hussain, Silicon nanotube field effect transistor with core-shell gate stacks for enhanced high-performance operation and area scaling benefits. Nano Lett. 11, 4393–4399 (2011)
- N. Kumar, H. Awasthi, V. Purwar, A. Gupta, A. Gupta, An analysis of Si-tube based doublematerial double gate-all-around (DMDGAA) MOSFEts. ICE3. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1109/ ICE348803.2020.9122851

- A. Kumar, S. Bhushan, P.K. Tiwari, A threshold voltage model of silicon-nanotube-based ultrathin double gate-all-around (DGAA) MOSFETs incorporating quantum confinement effects. IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol. 16(5), 868–874 (2017)
- N. Trivedi, M. Kumar, S. Halder, S.S. Deswal, M. Gupta, R.S. Gupta, Assessment of analog RF performance for insulated shallow extension (ISE) cylindrical surrounding gate (CSG) MOSFET incorporating gate stack. Microsyst. Technol. (2017). http://doi.org/10.1007/s00542 3456z
- A. Gupta, N. Maurya, S. Rai, Impact of dielectric pocket on analog/RF performance of short channel double gate MOSFET, in 2017 4th International Conference on Power, Control & Embedded Systems (ICPCES) (IEEE, 2017)
- H. Awasthi, N. Kumar, V. Purwar, R. Gupta, S. Dubey, Impact of temperature on analog/RF performance of dielectric pocket gate-all-around (DPGAA) MOSFETs. Silicon (2020). http:// doi.org/10.1007/s12633-020-00610-2
- M. Jurczak, M. Skotnicki, R. Gwoziecki, M. Paoli, B. Tormen, P. Ribot, D. Dutartre, S. Monfiray, J. Galvier, Dielectric pocket—a new concept of the junctions for deca-nanometric CMOS devices. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 48, 1770–1774 (2001)
- O.-P. Kok, K. Ibrahim, Simulation of two-dimensional 50nm vertical metal oxide semiconductor field-effect-transistor incorporating a dielectric pocket. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 48, 111201–111205 (2009)
- 14. ATLAS User's Manual, 3-D Device Simulator Software (Silvaco. Inc., USA, 2016)

Novel Design of Cylindrical DRA Built MIMO Antenna for 5G Future Prospective Covering (n78/n79) Bands



Ajay Kumar Dwivedi, Anand Sharma, Ashutosh Kumar Singh, and Vivek Singh

1 Introduction

The new face of the world is changed drastically with the resurgence of the latest technology in the domain of wireless communication, especially in mobile communication working on 5G and 6G frequency bands. Various services and advanced features have been developed and offered to the end-users; hence, their exigency in terms of speed forces the researchers to work and develop 5G/6G enabled devices and rollout the services by 2021 [1]. The main objective behind 5G communication is the superior speed it offers, wider bandwidth with very low latency. The whole 5G band has been split up into three different groups (i) <2 GHz (i.e., coverage band) (ii) between 2 and 6 GHz (coverage and capacity layer) (iii) >6 GHz known as the super data layer. In the initial phase, the work is underway to provide the services in the sub-6 GHz frequency range, i.e., (3.3 GHz/3.8 GHz/4.2 GHz) for (n78/n77) and (4.4–5 GHz) for (n79). Working in the frequency, as mentioned above, the band offers the best tradeoff between the wider bandwidth and the rate of transfer of data

A. K. Dwivedi (🖂) · A. K. Singh

A. K. Singh e-mail: ashutosh_singh@iiita.ac.in

A. Sharma

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Prayagraj, India e-mail: anandsharma@mnnit.ac.in

V. Singh

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Indian Institute of Information and Technology Allahabad, Prayagraj, India e-mail: rse2018505@iiita.ac.in

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Shambhunath Institute of Engineering and Technology, Prayagraj, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_7

[2]. So, to deliver uninterrupted services to the devices operating at the 5G frequency band, the researchers are needed to be more focused on switching the designing of the SISO antenna to the MIMO antenna so that the requirement of a high rate of data transmission can be achieved. The MIMO antenna geometrical layout consists of multiple inputs and multiple output antennas to mitigate the fading effect and improves the quality of services (OoS), but at the same time, it is tough to accommodate a large number of identical antenna elements in the single unit which leads to the rise of mutual coupling among the antenna elements, and therefore deteriorate the antenna performance and data transmission speed [3]. The value of isolation in the case of MIMO antenna above 10 dB is considered to be in the acceptable range for antenna operating in the Sub-6 GHz spectrum [4]. There is myriad research article has been reported in the past in the domain of planar antennas [5] and dielectric based MIMO antennas [6, 7]. Dielectric resonator-based compact MIMO antenna was first implemented in [8]. Various techniques have been incorporated to enhance the isolation by inserting slits in the ground plane [9], by introducing neutralization lines [10], a high value of separation is achieved when the arrangements of the elements are orthogonal to one another [11]. Limited research work has been done to cover up the entire Sub-6 GHz spectrum. In the present scenario, there is a massive demand to design a MIMO antenna system, which will cover the whole 5G bands, i.e., n77 (3.3–4.2 GHz) and n79 (4.4–5 GHz).

In the presented work, a 2×1 dual-polarized DR based MIMO antenna is modeled and investigated by using computer simulation tool HFSS 18. A cylindrical dielectric resonator is rest upon the reshaped triangular-shaped aperture with the conformal strip line is drawn on the sidewalls of the dielectric resonator. The designed antenna operates at three resonating frequencies, i.e., at 3.41 GHz, 5 GHz, and 5.51 GHz covering the frequency spectrum of Sub-6 GHz with satisfactory isolation of <-20 dB. The modified lines on the patch, are responsible to create the CP waves in the lower frequency band and linear polarization characteristics in the upper-frequency band with a considerable gain of (>6 dB) over the whole band. The geometrical layout, mathematical verification of the generated modes, and other results have been discussed in the next section of the article.

2 3D Geometrical Arrangement of the Proposed Antenna

Figure 1 depicts the 3D view as well as the dimensional look of the proposed MIMO antenna. The present article composes of two similar CDRAs made up of aluminabased material ($\varepsilon_{rDRA} = 9.8$; tan $\delta = 0.002$) of height and radius = 13 mm, which is kept over the FR-4 substrate of height = 1.6 mm having the property ($\varepsilon_{sub} = 4.4$ and tan $\delta = 0.02$). A modified triangular shape patch is settled on the top of the substrate. The conformal microstrip feed line is employed to feed the power to the radiating patch, and a modified ground plane at the bottom is used to excite the antenna. Table 1 indicates the finalized parametric values of the propounded radiator.



Fig. 1 Schematic layout of the modeled MIMO antenna. a 3D view, b dimensional look of the patch

Table 1 Optimized dimensions of the presented	Parameters	Dimension (mm)	Symbol	Dimension (mm)
MIMO antenna	L (sub)	100	L ₁	12.72
	W (sub)	50	L ₂	18
	W _F	3	L ₃	9
	D and H	13	L ₄	6
	R	47	L ₅	8.5
	L ₆	9.19	L ₈	2.82
	L ₇	4.5	L ₉ and L ₁₀	4.24 and 14.5

3 Antenna Analysis and Mathematical Validation

The modeling and the study of the suggested MIMO antenna have been done by using the computer software ansys HFSS 18. Figure 2 shows the variation in the $|S_{11}|$ parameters for two different cases, i.e., by placing the DRA on top of the patch and without using it, three important observations are observed (i) the proposed antenna



operates at three different resonating frequencies with magnitude (>-10 dB) (ii) generation of two dissimilar hybrid modes, i.e., HE_{11δ} and HE_{12δ} at two different resonating frequencies (iii) capable to generate the circular polarization features at the lower resonating frequency. From the perusal of Fig. 2, it can be seen that out of the three resonating frequencies, two are the radiating modes, and one resonating band generated because of the radiating patch. The mode field lines also verify the generation of modes c.f. Fig. 3.

The resonant frequency for $HE_{11\delta}$ in the case of cylindrical DRA can be computed mathematically firstly calculated the value of effective permittivity and the effective Height of the CDRA from Eqs. 2 and 3 and then substitute the value in the first equation [12].



Fig. 3 Electric field lines distribution in the DRA. **a** At 3.41 GHz (top view), **b** at 5.5 GHz (top view)

$$f_{r,\text{HE}_{11\delta}} = \frac{6.321c}{2\pi D \sqrt{\varepsilon_{\text{dra,eff}}} + 2} \left\{ 0.27 + 0.36 \left(\frac{D}{2H_{\text{eff}}}\right) + 0.02 \left(\frac{D}{2H_{\text{eff}}}\right)^2 \right\}$$
(1)

$$\varepsilon_{\rm dra,eff} = \frac{H_{\rm eff}}{\frac{H}{\varepsilon_{\rm Al_2O_3}} + \frac{H_{\rm sub}}{\varepsilon_{\rm sub(FR-4)}}}$$
(2)

and

$$H_{\rm eff} = H + H_{\rm sub} \tag{3}$$

By exercising the above calculation, the resonant frequency so obtained as 3.38 GHz from Eq. 1. However, no known formula exists to calculate the resonant frequency of $HE_{12\delta}$ mode, yet it can be anticipated by using the resonant frequency of $HE_{11\delta}$ mode, as shown below [13]:

$$f_{r,\text{HE}_{12\delta}} \ge 1.85 f_{r,\text{HE}_{11\delta}}$$
 (4)

Using Eq. 4, the resonating frequency of 5.45 GHz is obtained for $HE_{12\delta}$ mode. Which is in close agreement with the simulated value.

4 Results and Discussion

With the reference of Figs. 2 and 4, two necessary conditions are fulfilled (i) Isolation exceeds by 20 dB between the different antenna elements (ii) the curve of $|S_{11}|$ and $|S_{22}|$ matches precisely the same. A CP wave characteristic is obtained and shown in Fig. 5, any shape of aperture always behaves as a magnetic dipole and exhibits weak







coupling. The vertical and horizontal strips lines on the patch, able to create a 90° phase shift, and hence the CP wave is obtained at the lower frequency band.

Figures 6 and 7 displays the 2D far-field radiation pattern of the two antennas at the different resonating frequencies, the patterns are achieved when port 1 is excited, keeping the port 2 ended with 50 Ω resistance and vice versa. Figure 6 shows that the radiation pattern of the antenna when port 1 and port 2 is used at 3.41 GHz is right-handed circularly polarized with a sufficient difference of 20 dB. The value of co and cross-polarization is almost the same for both the antennas. Which satisfies one of the conditions of the MIMO antenna. The reduction of 8–10 dB in the co and cross-polarization can be seen (c.f. Fig. 7c, d). At 5.5 GHz, the HE_{12 δ} mode is radiating at the broadside direction.

The peak gain and antenna radiation efficiency versus frequency have been plotted and shown in Fig. 8; it is clearly seen that the proposed MIMO antenna has a positive value of gain over all the three resonating frequencies and the value increases in



Fig. 6 2D far-field (LHCP and RHCP) radiation pattern of antenna-1 and antenna-2 at 3.41 GHz



Fig. 7 2D far-field pattern in YZ plane for antenna 1 and antenna 2 at 5 GHz shown in figs. (a) and (b) and for antenna-1 and antenna-2 at 5.51 GHz shown in figs. (c) and (d)



Fig.8 Simulated gain and radiation efficiency versus frequency plot of the proposed MIMO antenna

the higher frequency due to the use of cylindrical DRA. It is also make out that the antenna has radiation efficiency > 90% over the whole operating band.

5 Diversity Representation of the Present MIMO Antenna

The envelope channel coefficient and diversity gain are two essential diversity parameters in MIMO applications. In practical MIMO antenna applications, ECC plays a very vital role in determining the effect of the radiation pattern of one antenna on to others. When placed in the same unit cell, for better performance ECC (<0.5) is considered to be in the acceptable range. From Fig. 9, it is noticed that ECC is very close to zero, which proves that it has a good radiation pattern in MIMO wireless applications. ECC can be calculated by the scattering parameter by the use of a given equation [14].

$$\rho_{\rm enm} = \left| \frac{\left| S_{\rm nn}^* S_{\rm nm} + S_{\rm mn}^* S_{\rm mm} \right|}{\left| \left(1 - \left| S_{\rm nn} \right|^2 - \left| S_{\rm mn} \right|^2 \right) \left(1 - \left| S_{\rm mm} \right|^2 - \left| S_{\rm nm} \right|^2 \right) \right|^{1/2}} \right| \tag{5}$$

The value diversity gain (DG) should ~10, in Fig. 9, it is observed distinguish that the value of DG is closer to 10 at the operating frequency, and also it can be found by the given formula [15].

$$DG = \sqrt{1 - ECC} \tag{6}$$



Fig. 9 Graph of simulated ECC and DG versus frequency of the suggested MIMO antenna

6 Conclusion

In this manuscript, a triband, dual-polarized 2×1 dielectric resonator-based MIMO antenna has been modeled and discussed. The proposed antenna is designed to cover up the two crucial frequency bands n77 (3.3–4.2 GHz) and n79 (4.4–5 GHz) of Sub-6 GHz applications. The placement of antenna elements able to provide decent isolation (>20 dB) and nearly a constant gain of about (~5 to 6 dB) with almost (>90%) antenna efficiency. The simulated value of ECC and DG revels that the antenna has better diversity performance. All the simulated results are shown and explained to make the proposed DR based MIMO antenna an appropriate module for 5G applications.

References

- A. Biswas, V.R. Gupta, Design and development of low profile MIMO antenna for 5G new radio smartphone applications. Wirel. Pers. Commun. 111, 1695–1706 (2020). https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11277-019-06949-z
- S. Saxena, B.K. Kanaujia, S. Dwari, S. Kumar, R. Tiwari, MIMO antenna with built-in circular shaped isolator for sub-6 GHz 5G applications. Electron. Lett. 54, 478–480 (2018). https://doi. org/10.1049/el.2017.4514
- J.-Y. Deng, J. Yao, D.-Q. Sun, L.-X. Guo, Ten-element MIMO antenna for 5G terminals. Microw. Opt. Technol. Lett. 60, 3045–3049 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1002/mop.31404
- W.-S. Chen, Y.-L. Chang, Small-size 5G C-band/WLAN5.2/5.8 GHz MIMO antennas for laptop computer applications, in 2018 IEEE International Workshop on Electromagnetics: Applications and Student Innovation Competition (iWEM) (IEEE, 2018), pp. 1–2. https://doi. org/10.1109/iWEM.2018.8536629.
- C. Bhan, A.K. Dwivedi, B. Mishra, A. Kumar, Quad bands U-shaped slot loaded probe fed microstrip patch antenna, in 2015 2nd International Conference on Advances in Computing and Communication Engineering (IEEE, 2015), pp. 409–412. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICA CCE.2015.25
- A.K. Dwivedi, A. Sharma, A.K. Singh, Triple-band reconstruct circular aperture loaded CDRA deploying HE_{11δ} and HE_{21δ} modes for wireless applications (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-981-15-0633-8_70
- A.K. Dwivedi, A. Sharma, A.K. Singh, V. Singh, Design of dual band four port circularly polarized MIMO DRA for WLAN/WiMAX applications. J. Electromagn. Waves Appl. 1–20 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1080/09205071.2020.1801522
- K. Ishimiya, J. Langbacka, Z. Ying, J. Takada, A compact MIMO DRA antenna, in 2008 International Workshop on Antenna Technology: Small Antennas and Novel Metamaterials (IEEE, 2008), pp. 286–289. https://doi.org/10.1109/IWAT.2008.4511338
- S. Zhang, Z. Ying, J. Xiong, S. He, Ultrawideband MIMO/diversity antennas with a tree-like structure to enhance wideband isolation. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 8, 1279–1282 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP.2009.2037027
- S.F. Roslan, M.R. Kamarudin, M. Khalily, M.H. Jamaluddin, An MIMO rectangular dielectric resonator antenna for 4G applications. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 13, 321–324 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP.2014.2305696
- A.K. Dwivedi, A. Sharma, A.K. Singh, V. Singh, Quad-port ring dielectric resonator based MIMO radiator with polarization and space diversity. Microw. Opt. Technol. Lett. 62, 2316– 2327 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1002/mop.32329

- R.K. Mongia, P. Bhartia, Dielectric resonator antennas—a review and general design relations for resonant frequency and bandwidth. Int. J. Microw. Millimeter-Wave Comput. Eng. 4, 230– 247 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1002/mmce.4570040304
- D. Guha, P. Gupta, C. Kumar, Dualband cylindrical dielectric resonator antenna employing HEM11δ and HEM12δ modes excited by new composite aperture. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 63, 433–438 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2014.2368116
- M.S. Sharawi, Current misuses and future prospects for printed multiple-input, multiple-output antenna systems [Wireless Corner]. IEEE Antennas Propag. Mag. 59, 162–170 (2017). https:// doi.org/10.1109/MAP.2017.2658346
- J. Nasir, M.H. Jamaluddin, M. Khalily, M.R. Kamarudin, I. Ullah, R. Selvaraju, A reduced size dual port MIMO DRA with high isolation for 4G applications. Int. J. RF Microw. Comput. Eng. 25, 495–501 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1002/mmce.20884

Investigation of Analog Performance of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based Nanotube Double-Gate-All-Around (DGAA) MOSFET



Nitish Kumar, Himanshi Awasthi, Vaibhav Purwar, Abhinav Gupta, and Sanjeev Rai

1 Introduction

In the last two decades, the MOSFET Technology node shifted from micro-meter to nano-meter to improve Gadget performance, computational speed, and its features. With the shrinking device dimensions, short channel effects (SCEs) become indispensable. The adverse effect produced by SCEs can be overcome through modifications in device design. Few designs are FinFET, Omega FET, and Multigate (MG) MOSFET. Due to better SCE immunity in an aggressive scaling environment, MG-MOSFET is a better choice [1–4]. Among all Multigate (MG) structures, Gate-All-Around (GAA) MOSFET achieved efficient gate control to dissuade short channel effects for the future technology nodes, and become the first choice of researchers [4]. GAA MOSFET provides reasonable electrostatic control over the channel, drastically suppresses the SCEs, and improves subthreshold characteristics that make it highly attractive for low power applications [4]. However, due to the small drive current, it suffers from low computational speed [5]. Horizontal/vertical stacking of GAA improves the drive current but at the cost of the useful chip area. Without compromising the chip area, drive current can be enhanced through the incorporation of one additional gate in GAA. Now Double-Gate-All-Around (DGAA) [6-8] with inner (Core) and outer (shell) gates provides high drive current as well as superior short-channel immunity in comparison with GAA. Further improvement in drive

N. Kumar (🖂) · H. Awasthi

Department of ECE, K.I.T. Kanpur, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh, India

V. Purwar

Department of ECE, PSIT C.O.E. Kanpur, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh, India

A. Gupta

Department of Electronics Engineering, R.E.C. Sonbhadra, Sonbhadra, Uttar Pradesh, India

S. Rai

Department of ECE, MNNIT, Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, India

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_8



Fig. 1 3D schematics structure of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-based DGAA MOSFET

current at reduced supply voltage can be achieved through fabricating it with high mobility material $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ [9, 10]. It also diminishes the leakage current and provides superior computational speed. In light of the works mentioned above, it can be concluded that with shrinking dimensions, $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ DGAA MOSFETs are a promising solution for excellent computational speed.

In this work, a comparative study of Silicon-Based DGAA and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA has been done. The performance analysis of Silicon-Based DGAA and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA devices have been done in terms of variation in ON-state current (I_{ON}), OFF-state current (I_{OFF}), ON–OFF current ratio (I_{ON}/I_{OFF}), subthreshold swing (SS), Drain induced barrier lowering (DIBL), trans-conductance (g_m), and trans-conductance generation factor (TGF) characteristics on ATLAS, a 3D device simulator from SILVACO.

2 Device Structure and Simulation Framework

The 3D schematics structure of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -Based DGAA MOSFET for simulation is shown in Fig. 1. The cross-sectional view of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -Based DGAA MOSFET is displayed in Fig. 2. A thin Al_2O_3 oxide layer wraps the tubular channel region. Table 1 represents the device parameters used for simulation. The following models of 3D ATLAS device simulator have been active to perform the simulation of the proposed $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -Based DGAA device and Silicon-Based DGAA devices [11], such as DD charge transport model, Lombardi (CVT) model, concentration-dependent mobility model, and Shockley-Real-Hall (SRH) model.

3 Results and Discussion

Figure 3 shows the contour plot of Potential for In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA



Fig. 2 The horizontal cross-sectional view of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-based DGAA MOSFET

Table 1 Silicon and In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As based device parameters used for DGAA MOSFETs simulation Simulation	Parameters	Silicon	In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As				
	Channel length (L)	20 nm	20 nm				
	Source/drain doping $(N_{\rm D})$	10^{20} cm^{-3}	$10^{20} { m cm}^{-3}$				
	Channel doping (N_A)	10^{15} cm^{-3}	10^{15} cm^{-3}				
	Oxide thickness (t_{ox})	1 nm	1 nm				
	Channel thickness $(t_{\rm C})$	8 nm	8 nm				
	Inner core metal radius	4 nm	4 nm				
	Metal work-function (ϕ_M)	4.64 eV	5.1 eV				



Fig. 3 The horizontal cross-sectional view of a contour plot of potential for $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -based DGAA MOSFET at $V_{GS} = V_{DS} = 0$ V



Fig. 4 Comparison of drain current (I_D) of silicon and $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -based DGAA MOSFET versus V_{GS} at $V_{DS} = 1$ V

MOSFET at $V_{GS} = V_{DS} = 0$ V. The plot reveals that the minimum inner surface channel potential is higher than the minimum outer surface potential. It indicates the dominance of the inner gate over the outer gate in controlling the channel region. Figure 4 presents the comparison of Drain current (I_D) of Silicon and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA MOSFET versus gate-to-source voltage (V_{GS}) at a drain-to-source voltage $(V_{DS}) = 1$ V. The improvement of I_{ON} and I_{OFF} is observed in In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA MOSFET, as shown in Fig. 4. The ON-current increases by 74.32%, but the OFF-current reduces by 66.66% of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA MOSFET compared to Silicon-Based DGAA MOSFET. Due to the device channel's high mobility material with high gate oxide consequence of insignificant phonon scattering in the channel region, it has occurred. The I_{ON}/I_{OFF} ratio is found better for the In_{0 53}Ga_{0 47}As-Based DGAA MOSFET in comparison to DGAA MOSFET owing to the steeper subthreshold slope. Hence, the In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA MOSFET is more suitable for high-speed switching applications and low power consumption circuits. Figure 5 shows the comparison of Drain current of Silicon and $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -Based DGAA MOSFET versus V_{DS} at $V_{GS} = 1$ V. It reveals that the drain current of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA MOSFET is higher by 74.32% compared to silicon-Based DGAA MOSFET. The comparison of Trans-conductance (g_m) of Silicon and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA MOSFET against V_{GS} at $V_{DS} =$ 1 V is shown in Fig. 6. The g_m is a crucial key factor for analog and RF applications, and it is also essential to define an optimum bias point. For any device, the cut-off frequency is the peak at an optimum bias point. The figure exhibits that the



Fig. 5 Comparison of drain current of silicon and $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -based DGAA MOSFET versus V_{DS} at $V_{GS} = 1$ V



Fig. 6 Comparison of trans-conductance (g_m) of silicon and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-based DGAA MOSFET against V_{OS} at $V_{\text{DS}} = 1$ V

In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA device exposes 63.5% more distinguished g_m than the Silicon-Based DGAA MOSFET.

Figure 7 demonstrates the comparison of TGF (g_m/I_D) of Silicon and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA MOSFET against V_{GS} at $V_{DS} = 1$ V. The ratio of g_m and I_D is known as the trans-conductance generation factor (TGF). The highest TGF value is near the Ideal amount of subthreshold swing 60 mV/decade. In the subthreshold region, TGF is more significant for In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA MOSFET than the silicon-Based DGAA device. The more valuable value of TGF indicates the steady operation of the analog circuit even for low power supply.

Table 2 shows the Analog FOMs of Silicon and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA



Fig. 7 Comparison of TGF (g_m/I_D) of silicon and $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -based DGAA MOSFET against V_{GS} at $V_{DS} = 1$ V

Table 2	Analog F	OMs of	silicon	and	In _{0.53} Ga _{0.}	47As-based	DGAA	MOSFET	at	$V_{\rm DS}$	=	1.0 at
constant	threshold	voltage										

Parameters	Silicon	In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As
I _{ON} (A)	1.48×10^{-04}	2.58×10^{-04}
I _{OFF} (A)	6.51×10^{-11}	2.17×10^{-11}
I _{ON} /I _{OFF}	$2.28 \times 10^{+06}$	$1.19 \times 10^{+07}$
SS (mV/decade)	77.13	68.42
DIBL (mV/V)	73.01	33.94
<i>g</i> _m (S)	3.15×10^{-04}	5.15×10^{-04}
$g_{\rm m}/I_{\rm D}~({\rm V}^{-1})$	41.04	50.16
MOSFET at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.0$ at constant threshold voltage. According to Table 2, the In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA device is found better for analog performance compared to silicon-Based DGAA MOSFET. The ON-current, $g_{\rm m}$, and TGF of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA devices are higher by 74.32%, 63.5%, and 22.22%, respectively, than the silicon-Based DGAA device. However, the In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based DGAA MOSFET performance parameters such as OFF-current ($I_{\rm OFF}$), subthreshold swing (SS), and DIBL are reduced by 66.66%, 11.3%, and 53.51%, respectively, compared to silicon-Based DGAA MOSFET.

4 Conclusion

The In0.53Ga0.47As-Based DGAA MOSFET has been proposed in this paper. It has been examined by a 3D ATLAS TCAD device simulator from SILVACO and compared with the silicon-Based DGAA MOSFET. The In0.53Ga0.47As-Based DGAA MOSFET has exhibited much-improved performance compared to silicon-Based DGAA MOSFET. The In0.53Ga0.47As-Based DGAA MOSFET has shown better SCEs immunity compared to silicon-Based DGAA. The ON-current, g_m , and TGF of In0.53Ga0.47As-Based DGAA devices have been found higher by 74.32%, 63.5%, and 22.22%, respectively, compared to the silicon-Based DGAA device. However, the In0.53Ga0.47As-Based DGAA MOSFET performance parameters such as OFF-current (I_{OFF}), subthreshold swing (SS), and DIBL have found reduce by 66.66%, 11.3%, and 53.51%, respectively, compared to silicon-Based DGAA MOSFET. The In0.53Ga0.47As-Based DGAA MOSFET reflects much better analog performance compared to the silicon-Based DGAA MOSFET reflects mich better analog performance compared to the silicon-Based DGAA MOSFET reflects mich better analog and switching applications.

References

- 1. J.P. Colinge, Multiple-gate MOSFETs. Solid-State Electron. 48, 897–905 (2004)
- 2. J.P. Colinge, Multiple-gate SOI MOSFETs. Microelectron. Eng. 84(9-10), 2071-2076 (2007)
- 3. J.P. Colinge, *FinFET and Other Multi-gate Transistors* (Springer, New York). ISBN 978-0-387-71751-7
- 4. J.Y. Song, W.Y. Choi, J.H. Park, J.D. Lee, B.G. Park, Design optimization of gate-all-around (GAA) MOSFETs. IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol. **5**(3), 186–191 (2006)
- W. Lu, P. Xie, C.M. Lieber, Nanowire transistor performance limits and applications. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 55, 2859–2876 (2008)
- H.M. Fahad, C.E. Smith, J.P. Rojas, M.M. Hussain, Silicon nanotube field-effect-transistor with core-shell gate stacks for enhanced high-performance operation and area scaling benefits. Nano Lett. 11, 4393–4399 (2011)
- N. Kumar, H. Awasthi, V. Purwar, A. Gupta, A. Gupta, An analysis of Si-tube based doublematerial double gate-all-around (DMDGAA) MOSFETs. ICE3 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1109/ ICE348803.2020.9122851

- A. Kumar, S. Bhushan, P.K. Tiwari, A threshold voltage model of silicon-nanotube-based ultrathin double gate-all-around (DGAA) MOSFETs incorporating quantum confinement effects. IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol. 16(5), 868–874 (2017)
- 9. N. Collaert, *High Mobility Materials for CMOS Applications*, 1st edn. (Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2018). ISBN 9780081020623
- J.J. Gu, Y.Q. Liu, Y.Q. Wu, R. Colby, R.G. Gordon, P.D. Ye, First experimental demonstration of gate-all-around III-V MOSFETs by top-down approach, in 2011 International Electron Devices Meeting (2011). https://doi.org/10.1109/IEDM.2011.6131662
- 11. ATLAS User's Manual, 3-D Device Simulator Software (Silvaco Inc., USA, 2016)

Integrated Clock Gating Analysis of TG Based D Flip-Flop for Different Technology Nodes



Sunita Panda, Samiksha Sharma, and Abhijit R. Asati

1 Introduction

In the field of electronics, especially in battery operated digital devices that need faster operation keeping power consumption low, the low power dissipation is an important design constraint. The circuit power dissipations are of mainly two types, viz. static and dynamic. The switching activity of the circuit decides the dynamic power consumption of a circuit; whereas the circuit leakage currents decide the static power dissipation of a circuit. The proportional dependence of dynamic power with switching activity, load capacitance, frequency of operation and square of supply voltage of the circuit is well-known. Since with scaling the technology node both parasitic capacitance and supply voltage reduce therefore it also helps in reducing the dynamic power consumption of a circuit. Furthermore, static power consumption increases due to increased leakage currents. In most of the VLSI digital circuits a clock network remains an integral part and it consumes a 30–70% of total power dissipation [1].

In flip-flop the dynamic power requirement is reduced using clock gating technique. The clock gating can be achieved through (i) enable signal so as to control clock to a clock network when not in use or (ii) clock gating as applied to individual flip-flop when its input D and output Q are same. The D flip-flop (triggered in negative edge) is realized using TG based master-slave model as shown in Fig. 1 which is same in structure with positive edge triggered PowerPC 603 flip-flop [2–4]. In this paper clock gating technique restricts the clock signal to a clock network when it is not in use. The application of clock to the flip-flop will result in 0 to 1 and 1 to

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_9

S. Panda · S. Sharma · A. R. Asati (🖂)

EEE Department, BITS Pilani, Pilani Campus, Pilani, India e-mail: abhijit_asati@pilani.bits-pilani.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022



Fig. 1 a Block diagram of flip flop, b TG based D flip-flop

0 transitions with a change in data or clock which increases the switching activity hence consume more power [5, 6]. Further increase in switching activity is due to transition in applied input data 'D' of the flip-flop (termed as the data activity factor as explained later in Sect. 3). The flip-flop clock gating implementation in [5, 6] at 350 nm technology, also the implementation in [7] at 28 nm technology node show power results for clock gating for some benchmark circuits but do not consider data activity factor and frequency in analysis. The implementation in [8] 16 nm node where the work describes the low power and low dynamic leakage in 16-bit counter using ICG but in-depth analysis for individual flip flop on ICG considering the data activity factor and frequency is missing. In this paper we have simulated the average power dissipation of D flip-flop with and without ICG at different technology nodes at circuit level considering the data activity factor and frequency. The ICG approach has been implemented in the TG based D flip-flop. The power consumption with and without ICG at several frequencies of operation and several data activity factors are investigated as a comparative analysis study at 32 nm, 22 nm, 16 nm technology nodes, respectively (selected technology nodes). The comparative analysis performed by applying selected data activity factors at a particular random intermediate clock frequency so as to observe both positive and negative power savings. Further analysis is performed by changing the selected frequency of clock for a fixed data activity

factor so as to observe the effect of frequency. Section 2 discusses the TG based D Flip-Flop and ICG Method. Section 3 shows all simulation results and discussion and Sect. 4 concludes the paper.

2 Implementation of TG Based D Flip-Flop and ICG Technique

2.1 TG-Based D Flip-Flop

The TG based flip-flop in Fig. 1 is realized using TG in the forward path and clocked inverters in the feedback path. This is a negative edge triggered master-slave flip-flop with CN as clock pulse and CPI as inverted clock pulse. The master stage activates for positive clock and slave stage at negative clock. Feedback clocked inverters are used in order to overcome input noises. For sizing the transistors, all transistors in the forward path are given high driving capacity to lower the clock-to-Q delay of flip-flop and hence to improve its speed of operation. Feedback inverters are kept at minimal size to reduce the area of the overall circuit. The ratio from pmos to nmos taken are 1.5:1, 1:1, 1:1 for 32 nm, 22 nm and 16 nm technology nodes, respectively. The supply voltages chosen are 0.45 V, 0.45 V and 0.35 V for 32 nm, 22 nm, and 16 nm, respectively.

2.2 ICG Circuit

The ICG circuit is shown in Fig. 2 [5]. Latch-NOR ICG is basically used for negative edge triggered flip-flops. This clock gating circuitry consists of a positive D latch followed by a NOR gate. The gated clock (Gclk) signal is passed through an inverter to generate inverted gated clock (Gclk_bar). For clock gated TG based D flip-flop, the inputs CN and CPI of flip-flop circuit of Fig. 1 are replaced with Gclk and Gclk_bar, respectively. Instead of applying Enable directly to the NOR gate, firstly it is applied to the latch, as it removes any glitches present in enable signal.

This ICG also changes polarity of global clock [5] as shown in Fig. 4.



Fig. 2 Latch-NOR ICG cell for negative edge triggered flip-flops [5]

3 Simulation Results and Discussion

The TG based D flip-flop and shown in Fig. 1 and clock gated TG based D flip-flop as explained in Sect. 2.2 are simulated for three technology nodes, namely 32 nm, 22 nm, 16 nm. Figure 3 shows the transient responses of the TG based D flip-flop without ICG. The output Q follows the D at every negative edge of the clock pulse.

Figure 4 shows the transient responses of the TG based D flip-flop with ICG. The output Q follows the D at every negative edge of the gated clock pulse. The instantaneous power waveform of TG D flip-flop without ICG is shown in Fig. 5, while instantaneous power waveform of TG D flip-flop with ICG is shown in Fig. 6.



The analysis assumes following parameters:

Fig. 3 Transient response of TG based D flip-flop without clock gating



Fig. 4 Transient response of D flip-flop with ICG



Fig. 5 Instantaneous power waveform without CG in TG D flip-flop



Fig. 6 Instantaneous power waveform with ICG in TG D flip-flop

 f_{clk} : Frequency of clock signal. The clock periods are selected as 5 ns, 20 ns, 60 ns and 200 ns which gives f_{clk} as 200 MHz, 50 MHz, 16.67 MHz and 5 MHz, respectively.

Data activity factor: % change in data in every clock cycle [if data 'D' changes every clock cycle then data activity factor is 100%, if data changes every three clock cycle then data activity factor is 33.33% (~33%), if data changes every six clock cycle then data activity factor is 16.66% (~16%), if data changes every twelve clock cycle then data activity factor is 8.33% (~8%), if data do not changes then data activity factor is 0%, etc.]. The data activity factor reduces the switching at the internal nodes of the flip flop, i.e., if data 'D' does not change then switching at internal nodes of flip flop will reduce.

Rise and fall times: The rise and fall times kept equal value of 50 ps for data, clock and enable signal.

Technology nodes $(f_{clk} = 16.67 \text{ MHz},$ Data activity factor = 33%)	P _{avg} Unit: nW		
	W/O ICG	With ICG	
32 nm	6.6904	5.2457	
22 nm	5.5186	4.6214	
16 nm	4.0103	4.1412	

Table 1 Comparison of average power dissipation for different of technology nodes



P_{avg}: Average Power dissipation in watt.

% **Power savings**: Reduction in power after clock gating with respect to power without clock gating.

Firstly, the average power dissipation of TG based D flip-flop with and without ICG circuitry is compared for the different the technology nodes at 16.67 MHz clock frequency (60 ns clock period) and 33% data activity as shown in Table 1.

The graph in Fig. 7 indicates that average power dissipation of TG based D flipflop with and without ICG. The average power dissipation increases with increase in technology node values as expected. Also clock gating appears to be ineffective at 16 nm technology node.

Further, the power consumption and power savings of TG based D flip-flop with and without ICG are studied for the different technology nodes by fixing the clock frequency at 16.67 MHz (random intermediate clock frequency so as to observe both positive and negative power savings, so that negative power saving can be further analyzed) and by varying the data activity factor as indicated in Table 2 (for 32 nm), Table 3 (for 22 nm) and Table 4 (for 16 nm). The '+' sign in % power savings column indicates that power can be saved using ICG and '-' sign indicates that average power increases.

The graph in Fig. 8 drawn for 16.67 MHz clock frequency shows that the power savings of TG based D flip-flop with ICG technique is significant at selected technology nodes (32 nm, 22 nm and 16 nm) and at higher data activity factor. It is also

Data activity factor (%)	P _{avg} (w/o ICG) Unit: nW	P _{avg} (with ICG) Unit: nW	% Power savings
100	13.853	7.763	43.95
33	6.690	5.245	21.59
16	4.760	4.151	12.79
8	3.876	3.829	1.21
0	3.041	2.995	1.49

Table 2 Average power dissipation and power savings for 32 nm technology for different activity factor ($f_{clk} = 16.67 \text{ MHz}$)

Table 3 Average power dissipation and power savings for 22 nm technology for different activity factor ($f_{clk} = 16.67 \text{ MHz}$)

Data activity factor (%)	P _{avg} (w/o ICG) Unit: nW	P _{avg} (with ICG) Unit: nW	% Power savings
100	12.057	6.239	48.25
33	5.518	4.621	16.26
16	3.800	3.264	14.10
8	3.021	2.992	0.976
0	1.483	2.424	-63.47

Table 4 Average power dissipation and power savings for 16 nm technology for different activity factor ($f_{clk} = 16.67 \text{ MHz}$)

Data activity factor (%)	P _{avg} (w/o ICG) Unit: nW	P _{avg} (with ICG) Unit: nW	% Power savings
100	7.824	5.599	28.43
33	4.010	4.141	-3.26
16	2.982	3.584	-20.17
8	2.528	3.451	-36.5
0	2.082	2.999	-44.01

observed that the 22 nm and 16 nm technology node power saving become -ve (i.e., power consumption increases) at 33% and lower data activity factor. Thus, higher data activity factor is more suitable for ICG.

Further to analyze the effect of frequency at 33% data activity factor where for 16 nm technology node power saving became –ve, the power consumption and power savings of TG based D flip-flop with and without ICG circuitry are studied for all selected technology nodes by varying the clock frequency. The analysis for 32 nm (shown in Table 5), for 22 nm (shown in Table 6) and 16 nm (shown in Table 7).



Table 5 Average power dissipation and power savings for 32 nm technology at different clock frequency (data activity factor = 33%)

Clock frequency (<i>f</i> _{clk}) Unit: MHz	P _{avg} (w/o ICG) Unit: nW	P _{avg} (with ICG) Unit: nW	% Power savings
5	2.290	2.252	1.60
16.67	6.690	5.245	21.59
50	18.566	12.965	30.16
200	69.437	45.824	34.00

Table 6 Average power dissipation and power savings for 22 nm technology at different clock frequency (data activity factor = 33%)

Clock frequency (<i>f</i> _{clk}) Unit: MHz	P _{avg} (w/o ICG) Unit: nW	P _{avg} (with ICG) Unit: nW	% Power savings
5	2.301	2.144	6.81
16.67	5.518	4.621	16.25
50	14.370	9.259	35.56
200	52.269	30.590	41.47

The graph in Fig. 9 shows that even at moderate activity factor of 33%, the percentage of power savings with ICG of TG based D flip-flop is significant at its higher clock frequency of operation (50 and 200 MHz) and true for all the technology nodes, viz. 32 nm, 22 nm, 16 nm. The interesting observation is 16 nm technology which earlier showing –ve power saving (at lower data activity factor) at 16.67 MHz clock frequency now also shows significant power saving at 50 and 200 MHz Thus, such type of ICG in a TG based D flip-flop is suitable for saving power only for

Clock frequency (f _{clk}) Unit: MHz	P _{avg} (w/o ICG) Unit: nW	P _{avg} (with ICG) Unit: nW	% Power savings
5	2.285	2.453	-7.35
16.67	4.010	4.141	-3.26
50	8.745	5.924	32.25
200	27.804	15.804	43.15

Table 7 Average power dissipation and power savings for 16 nm technology at different clock frequency (data activity factor = 33%)



higher clock frequency and/or high data activity factor. As technology node reduces, the effect of ICG at lower technology node reduces at either low clock frequency or lower data activity factor. Thus, high speed, high activity is suitable candidate for implementing suggested ICG technique in TG based D flip-flop. The comparative analysis of power in a flip-flop circuit with and without ICG considering data activity factors, clock frequency and technology node is not observed in literature.

4 Conclusion

The work presented an analysis of a TG based D flip-flop with and without ICG technique to study power dissipation and power saving considering the data activity factor and frequency. The results were also compared for 3 technology nodes (32 nm, 22 nm, 16 nm) to include the effect of technology scaling. It is observed that the ICG technique in a TG based D flip-flop is suitable for saving power for higher clock frequency and high data activity factor. The effect of ICG technique at lower technology node reduces either at the lower clock frequency or at the low data activity factor. The high speed and/or high activity circuits designed using higher technology nodes (where normal power dissipation is generally more) the ICG technique in a

TG based D flip-flop is advantageous for larger power saving. Similar analysis can be applied to other flip flops.

References

- 1. V.G. Oklobdzija, V.M. Stojanovic, D.M. Markovic, N.M. Nedovic, *Digital System Clocking: High-Performance and Low-Power Aspects* (Wiley, New York, 2003)
- E. Late, A.A. Vatanjou, T. Ytterdal, S. Aunet, Comparative analysis of flip-flop architectures for subthreshold applications in 28 nm FDSOI, in 2015 Nordic Circuits and Systems Conference (NORCAS): NORCHIP and International Symposium on System-on-Chip (SoC), Oslo (2015)
- M. Voernes, T. Ytterdal, S. Aunet, Performance comparison of 5 subthreshold CMOS flipflops under process, voltage, and temperature variations, based on netlists from layout, in 2014 NORCHIP, Tampere (2014)
- G. Gerosa, S. Gary, C. Dietz, D. Pham, K. Hoover, J. Alvarez, H. Sanchez, P. Ippolito, T. Ngo, S. Litch, J. Eno, J. Golab, N. Vanderschaaf, J. Kahle, A 2.2 W, 80 MHz superscalar RISC microprocessor. IEEE J. Solid-State Circ. 29, 1440–1454 (1994)
- 5. T. Noor, E. Salman, A novel glitch-free integrated clock gating cell for high reliability, in 2019 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS), Sapporo, Japan (2019)
- J. Kathuria, M. Ayoubkhan, A. Noor, A review of clock gating techniques. MIT Int. J. Electron. Commun. Eng. 1 (2011)
- 7. G. Yang, T. Kim, Design and algorithm for clock gating and flip-flop co-optimization, in *IEEE/ACM International Conference on Computer-Aided Design (ICCAD)*, San Diego, CA, USA (2018)
- S. Mohamed Sulaiman, B. Jaison, M. Anto Bennet, Design of low power 16-bit counter with pro-grammable combinational logic and integrated clock gating using 16 nm technology. Int. J. Electron. 108(2), 163–179 (2020)

Design of Ku Band HEMT-Based Class AB Amplifier



107

Manoj Kumar, Sukwinder Singh, and Deepti Kakkar

1 Introduction

Ku frequency band extends from 12 to 18 GHz and is mostly used for satellite communication. Because of the higher frequency, smaller dish antennas can be deployed to receive the signals, and antennas array can be used to increased directivity, power, gain, and to maximize the signal to interference plus noise ratio (SINR). Ku band also provides flexibility to the users as it has a smaller dish size, so it offers a cheaper and focused beam. As compared to Ka band operations, Ku band suffers less rain fade.

There are various active devices like MESFET, MOSFET, HEMT, etc., which are used for amplifier designing and each active device has some advantages and disadvantages. High electron mobility transistor (HEMTs) is one of the most preferred choices because these devices can operate over high frequencies. GaN HEMTs have high gain and high PAE. This reduces DC power consumption in the circuit, and hence, circuit size and designing cost are reduced because of the reduced heat dissipation circuit for the amplifier [1, 2].

GaN HEMTs have high operating voltage, so it helps to obtain the high power delivered in the load [1]. For designing an amplifier, it is very important to know the specification of the active device. There are many parameters like gain, power, PAE, operating voltages and frequencies which are dependent on the active device [3]. For linearity and efficiency, we can switch among various amplifier classes like A, B, AB, C, F and inverse class-F. Class A amplifier is linear, but efficiency is only 50%.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_10

M. Kumar \cdot S. Singh (\boxtimes) \cdot D. Kakkar

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Dr. B. R. Ambedkar National Institute of Technology, Jalandhar, Punjab, India e-mail: sukwinders@nitj.ac.in

D. Kakkar e-mail: kakkard@nitj.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

In class B operation, the user can get a maximum theoretical efficiency of 78.5%, but it is somewhat nonlinear. Class C amplifier is highly nonlinear as compared to both class A and class B. Class AB amplifier provides a trade-off between linearity and efficiency [4, 5]. In this paper, a Ku band RF power amplifier is designed for satellite communication.

2 Literature Review

Ying Chen et al. discussed a Ku band RF power amplifier with 1 W of output power. The amplifier was designed and implemented in MMIC. This power amplifier used 16 active devices and then operated in phase to obtain a combined output RF power of 1 W. A 16 way output combiner was implemented in such a way that it transformed the 50 Ω standard load impedance into optimum load as seen by active devices. In this manner, the transmission line could have larger lengths, so to reduce it, the inductors were used. The MMIC for this design provided a power-added efficiency (PAE) of 37.5% [6].

G. Christopher Barisich et al. discussed a 3-stage C, X, Ku band GaN PA. The amplifier provided 5 W power output and power added efficiency (PAE) of 13% over frequencies 6–17 GHz. While comparing the performance, both frequency and bandwidth are important parameters since at higher frequencies, device parameters are lower and matching is quite complex. For the wideband power amplifier, the hybrid implementation is done in comparison with the MMICs. Distributed power amplifiers required a large chip to provide a similar performance [7].

Aliraza Yousefi et al. discussed a Ku band RFPA which was based on class AB pHEMT technology and design utilized a multistage architecture. A step by step procedure is explained which can be used to design a multistage amplifier for any frequency band and other specifications. This amplifier design provided an RF output power of 37 dBm along with the power added efficiency of 37% [8].

Hao et al. discussed a Volterra series-based power amplifier, for calculating the nonlinearity of a power amplifier circuit. This was used to calculate the best bias circuit for maintaining a balance between efficiency and linearity [9].

3 Circuit Description

3.1 DC Analysis

Before designing an amplifier, it is necessary to find out appropriate bias point, so a DC simulation was done using the GaN HEMT model while changing the default peak drain current by 2 A in the Keysight ADS program. The DC simulation circuit Design of Ku Band HEMT-Based Class AB Amplifier



Fig. 1 DC bias circuit

consists of active device and variable drain and source voltages connected as shown in the figure in order to obtain the I-V characteristics.

After simulating the circuit (shown in Fig. 1), I-V characteristic of the HEMT device is calculated as shown in Fig. 2. Generally, the bias point for class A amplifier is taken as a voltage at which the drain current is half of the maximum value of it [3].

For class B amplifier, the bias point is at the threshold voltage. So the bias point for class AB amplifier can exist anywhere but in between the bias point of class A and class B amplifier [3, 4]. For our amplifier design, the bias point was taken at voltage $V_{gs} = -2.25$ V, $V_{ds} = 28$ V and $I_{ds} = 147$ mA.

3.2 Block Diagram for Class AB Amplifier

The proposed circuit for class AB amplifier was designed using Keysight advanced design system (ADS). The selection of the GaN HEMT is based on its specifications like power, gain, efficiency and operating frequency range. The block diagram for the class AB amplifier is shown in Fig. 3.

The source is the RF input power (dBm) with an input impedance of 50 Ω . The input matching network is used to deliver the maximum power from RF input source to the next stage for the desired range of frequency as the matching is frequency-dependent. Gate and drain bias network consist of DC source along with the DC feed



Fig. 2 I-V characteristics of GaN HEMT



Fig. 3 Block diagram for class AB amplifier

component which can be realized by the stub of quarter wavelength and an open stub that provides a high impedance to be seen by the RF input path.

3.3 Load Pull Analysis

Load pull analysis is done to find out the optimum value of the load for which the power delivered to load is maximum or the efficiency is maximum or for maintaining a trade-off between the power and efficiency. The circuit for load pull analysis is shown in Fig. 4. In load pull analysis, different values of the load impedances are checked to find the optimum one which provides the maximum output power, gain and PAE.

In load pull analysis, the maximum power delivered was 40.253 dBm along with 15.253 dB; gain at input power of 25 dBm and maximum PAE was 48.078%. The values of load impedance for different parameters are shown in Table 1 (Fig. 5).



Fig. 4 Load pull simulation circuit

Table 1 Optimum values of load Optimum value of load Image: Control of load Image: Contro of load Image: Contron of load <th< th=""><th>For maximum power (and gain)</th><th>For maximum PAE</th></th<>		For maximum power (and gain)	For maximum PAE	
			$12.534 + j3.926 \Omega$	14.249 + j4.145 Ω



Fig. 5 Load pull simulation results

3.4 Impedance Matching

After load/source pull simulation, we get the optimum value of source and load impedances, but in our amplifier design, the values of standard source and load impedance are 50 Ω , so to operate the amplifier with these impedances, impedance matching is performed. The purpose of impedance matching is to maximize power transfer or minimize reflections between the two stages. In our design, the impedance matching will transform the effective impedance at input and output ports to 50 Ω .





Figure 6a, b are the input and output matching network, respectively. The impedance matching is done using distributed elements by using Smith chart utility in Keysight ADS.

In the input matching, standard 50 Ω impedance is matched with 6.317 – j5.190 Ω , and the output impedance of 14.249 + j4.145 Ω is matched with 50 Ω .

4 Simulations and Results

4.1 Power Added Efficiency (PAE)

Maximum of 34.27% PAE was achieved (Fig. 7). Basically in class AB operation the efficiency ranges between 50 and 78.5% theoretically. For this design, the PAE could be achieved more than 34.27%, but this could result in degraded linearity.

4.2 Gain

Graph of gain while varying input drive P_{in} is shown in Fig. 8. Initially, the gain increases with the increase in the input power P_{in} up to 17.318 dB at 17 dBm and then decreases to 13.46 at 25 dBm input power. The amplifier delivers low output power for obtaining the high gain.



4.3 Power Delivered

 $P_{\rm in}$ versus $P_{\rm out}$ curve is shown in Fig. 9, and the relation between the $P_{\rm in}$ and $P_{\rm out}$ is almost linear. To obtain the high PAE and high power, the drain bias voltage $V_{\rm ds}$ should be lowered. The maximum achieved power is 7.01 W (38.46 dBm).

4.4 Matching Network Responses

Figures 10 and 11 show the frequency response of input and output matching network, respectively, for the frequency range 13.75–14.5 GHz.



Fig. 9 P_{out} versus P_{in} curve



Fig. 10 Input matching curve (S_{11})

5 Conclusion

Ku band HEMT-based class AB amplifier has been completely designed and the maximum power achieved is 7.01 W. The maximum gain achieved is 17.318 dB at 17 dBm input drive along with the 34.27% PAE at centered frequency of 14.125 GHz. Our future work expansion is to design a multistage amplifier and fabrication of the complete design (Table 2).



Fig. 11 Output matching curve (S_{22})

Table 2 Comparison between different world	Table 2	Comparison	ı between	different	work
---	---------	------------	-----------	-----------	------

Refs.	Author	Frequency (GHz)	PAE (%)	Gain (dB)	Power (dBm)
	This work	13.75–14.5	34.27	17.318	38.46
[6]	Chen et al.	13.5–14.5	37.5	10	30
[7]	Christopher Barisich et al.	6–17	18	18	38
[<mark>8</mark>]	Yousfi et al.	13–19	37	15	37
[10]	Maassen et al.	13.75–14.5	15	23	46.98

Bold refers to the work presented in this paper

Acknowledgements We thank the VLSI design group of NIT Jalandhar for their interest in this work and useful comments to draft the final form of the paper. The support of DST-SERB Project (ECR/2017/000922) is gratefully acknowledged. We would like to thank NIT Jalandhar for lab facilities and the research environment to carry out this work.

References

- 1. T. Ishida, *GaN HEMT Technologies for Space and Radio Application* (Mitsibushi Electric Corp, Japan) (2011)
- G. Monprasert, P. Suebsombut, T. Pongthavornkamol, S. Chalernwisutkul, 2.45 GHz GaN HEMT class-AB RF power amplifier design for wireless communication systems, in *The 2010* ECTI International Conference on Electrical Engineering/Electronics, Computer, Telecommunications and Information Technology
- F.H. Raab, P. Asbeck, S. Cripps, P.B. Kenington, Z.B. Popovic, N. Pothecary, J.F. Sevic, N.O. Sokal, Power amplifiers and transmitters for RF and microwave. IEEE Trans. Microwave Theor. Tech. 50(3) (2002)

- 4. S.C. Cripps, RF Power Amplifiers for Wireless Communications, 2nd edn. (Artec House) (2006)
- K. Yamauchi, H. Noto, H. Nonomura, S. Kunugi, M. Nakayamaand, Y. Hirano, A 45% power added efficiency, Ku-band 60W GaN power amplifier, in *IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest* (2011)
- 6. Y. Chen, M.P. van der Heijden, D.M.W. Leenaerts, A 1-Watt Ku-band power amplifier in SiGe with 37.5% PAE, in 2016 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium
- 7. G. Christopher Barisich, E. Gebara, H. Gu, C. Storey, P. Aflaki, J. Papapolymerou, Reactively matched 3-stage C-X-Ku band GaN MMIC power amplifier, in 2017 12th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference (EuMIC)
- A. Yousefi, A. Medi, Wide-band high-efficiency Ku-band power amplifier. IET Circuits Devices Syst. 8, 583–592 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-cds.2014.0134
- R. Hao, X. Zhang, H. Gao, J. Cheng, G. Li, A Volterra-series-based design technique for the bias circuit of class-AB RF power amplifier, in 2018 2nd IEEE Advanced Information Management, Communicates, Electronic and Automation Control Conference (IMCEC), pp. 54– 57 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1109/IMCEC.2018.8469689
- D. Maassen, F. Rautschke, F. Ohnimus, L. Schenk, U. Dalisda, G. Boeck, 70W GaN-HEMT Ku-Band power amplifier in MIC technology. IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 65(4), 1272–1283 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1109/TMTT.2016.2636151

X Band Class F Power Amplifier for Satellite Communication



119

Akash Gaikwad and Sukwinder Singh

1 Introduction

Next-generation satellite communication demands a high radio frequency power amplifier (PA) with high efficiency, output power and gain. There are different classes of PAs for achieving high output power and efficiency such as class E and F. There are some advantages and disadvantages for this PAs concerning difficulties in implementation, high output power, bandwidth limits, etc [1, 2].

Power amplifiers can be categorized on the basis of linearity (linear and nonlinear PAs). They can also be classified as biasing and switching class PAs. Minimum harmonic power is generated in linear PAs. Nonlinear PAs operate near to the saturation region, and hence, more harmonics are generated. PAs can be classified based on efficiency, conduction angle and quiescent point. Class A, Class AB, Class B and Class C are biasing PAs, and class E and F are the switching PAs which is classified based on connected network configuration to the active element. Class E and F are switching PAs which are highly nonlinear PAs [1–4].

Conceptually class F PAs can achieve 100% efficiency with harmonic power delivered to the load. Class F PA achieves high efficiency by the help of harmonic resonators. Class F PAs are based on proper termination of harmonics such as odd harmonics when it is open and even harmonics when it is short. Shaping circuits are used to shape the current and voltage waveform applying open and short termination at odd and even harmonics. With the help of shaping current and voltage waveform outcomes the half sinusoidal waveform for the current and the voltage, it is square waveform. For that reason, with decrease in overlapping between voltage and current waveform at the drain, the class F PA achieves maximum efficiency. Proficiency of

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_11

A. Gaikwad \cdot S. Singh (\boxtimes)

Department of ECE, Dr. B. R. Ambedkar National Institute of Technology, Jalandhar, India e-mail: sukwinders@nitj.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

Fig. 1 Design of PA for 3rd harmonic [2]



Table 1 Comparison of different X band PA

Refs.	Frequency (GHz)	PAE	Gain	Output power (dBm)
This work	11.75	52%	15 dB	30
[1]	7.9–8.25	55	16.2	36.5
[5]	8-8.3	48	12	37
[6]	8.2	33.62%	8.1 dB	31.25

high output power and excellent efficiency, engineers are more attentive toward class F PA [2, 4] (Fig. 1).

Based on frequency, output power and power added efficiency, performance of different X band power amplifiers is shown in Table 1.

2 DC Biasing

Quiescent point of the designed class F PA is in class AB PA. With the help of DC biasing, the device can operate in the desired mode. DC simulation is done by using GaN HEMT in ADS shown in Fig. 2a. Gate bias swept for V–I characteristics of the PA is 0 to -6 V. The peak current is considered as 1 A, which is a typical value for GaN HEMT. Drain bias voltage is 16.5 V for class F PA, and the gate bias voltage is -1.8 V which is chosen from the V–I characteristics of the device appeared in Fig. 2b [2].

a ser a hout the second s	
	PARAMETER SWEEP
V_DC	ParamSwaan
SRC2 DC Feed1	Sweep1
	SweepVar="Vgs"
	Start=-6
Angelov GaN Model	Stop=0
ANGELOV_GAN_M1	Step=.3
Idśmód= B1=	P21= Rs= Kbdgate= TcVpk= Td1=
Igmod= B2=	P30= Ri= Vbdgs= TcVjg= Tmn= ·
+ SPC1 - Capmod= Lsb0=	P31= Rgd= Vbdgd= KRFDC= KIf= · ·
Vdc=Vos V DC_Peed	P41= Ld= Pth= Solft= No=
= DC_Feed2 th Dvoks= Ebd=	P111= Lis= Cth= Noimod= Liv=
Angetov_Gatv_FET P1= Cds=	P222= Tau= Tcipk0= NoiseR= AllParams=
ANGELOV_GAN1 · · · P2= · · · Cgspi	- m= Rcmin= Tcp1= NoiseP=
	Ij= · · Rc= · · Tccgs0= · NoiseC= · · · ·
Temp= Alphar= Cgdpi=	= Pg= Crf= TccgdD= Fnc=
Inse= Alphas= Cgd0=	Ne= Rcin= Tcisb0= Kf=
DC	Part Phote Tree Are
VAR Lambdal= P11=	· Rda · Cdela · Tccrfa · · Tca · · · · ·
VAR1 DC Lvg= P20=	. Rd2= . Kbgate=, Tcrtherm= . Td=
Vds=16.5 V DC1	
Vgs=0 V Sweepvar= Vds Stat=0	
Stop=10	
Step=1	
	the state of the s

(a)



Fig. 2 a DC bias simulation. b V-I characteristics of nonlinear transistor model

3 Simulation and Results

Simulation of class F PA is performed as shown in Fig. 3. Operating frequency of class F PA is 11.75 GHz which is useful for satellite applications. Drain voltage is 16.5 V, and gate voltage is -1.8 V. In class F PA, control of harmonics is essential in the design. At the third harmonic frequency, L1||C1 is a parallel resonator that resonates third harmonic frequency; because of this for third harmonic is open.



Fig. 3 Designed of class F power amplifier

Similarly, L2||C2 is shunt parallel resonator that resonates at fundamental frequency, so that other harmonics (excluding third) are short circuited to ground.

GaN can operate at a higher temperature and it can work at a higher voltage. Advantages of GaN HEMT are high breakdown voltage, wide bandgap and high operating frequency, etc [7]. Hole mobility and electron mobility are high in GaN which provides smaller knee voltage to device channel is turned on. Efficiency is one of the parameters that play a major role in power amplifier design. High efficiency in mobile systems means a longer battery life which further improves the mobility of such devices. High efficiency of fixed wireless devices will reduce the losses due to the high temperature and decrease maintenance costs. In this, we achieve 52% efficiency and 15 dB gain for class F PA [2].

Maximum output power of this design is shown in Fig. 4a. Output power of the class F PA is 1.143 W (30.58 dBm). Frequency domain analysis of drain voltage is shown in Fig. 4b. Proper termination of harmonics in the design of class F PA shows open for odd harmonics and short for even harmonics [3].

Drain current (I_D) and drain voltage (V_D) waveforms in the time domain for class F power amplifier are shown in Fig. 5. It satisfies the ideal case of class F PA which the output current forms even harmonics and produces a sinusoidal waveform which is half of its waveform, though the drain voltage generates odd harmonics and produces the square waveform. Decrease in overlapping between the voltage and the current waveforms at the drain leads to increase in efficiency of class F PA. Control of harmonics leads to waveform flattening which in turn reduces dissipated harmonic energy.



Fig. 5 Time domain waveforms of I_D and V_D for class F PA

4 Conclusion

Class F amplifier has been designed in X band with operating frequency of 11.75 GHz. The PA achieved 52% efficiency with output power of 30 dBm and gain of 15 dB. The efficiency was increased by controlling the harmonics generated. This single stage Class F will be extended to multistage PA for higher output power and gain.

Acknowledgements We thank the VLSI design group of NIT Jalandhar for their interest in this work and useful comments to draft the final form of the paper. The support of DST-SERB Project (ECR/2017/000922) is gratefully acknowledged. We would like to thank NIT Jalandhar for lab facilities and the research environment to carry out this work.

References

- U. Ceylan, H. Biilent Yaggi, S. Parker, Tunable class F power amplifier at X-Band using GaN HEMT. Turkish J. Electr. Eng. Comput. Sci. 26(5), 2357–2334 (2018)
- 2. K.S. Tsang, Class-F Power Amplifier with Maximized PAE, A Master Thesis presented to the Faculty of California Polytechnic State University (2010)
- Y. Yang, B. Kim, Analysis and experiments for high-efficiency class-F and inverse class-F power amplifiers. IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 54(5), 1969–1973 (2006)
- J.H. Kim, G. Do Jo, J.H. Oh, Y.H. Kim, K.C. Lee, J.H. Jung, Modeling and design methodology of high-efficiency class-F and class-class-F-1 power amplifiers. IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 59(1), 153–165 (2011)
- H. Watanabe, T. Fukami, H. Saito, A. Tomiki, O. Ceylan, H. Nunomura, O. Shigeta, T. Shinke, K. Kojima, High speed downlink system for small satellite and high efficiency x-band GaN SSPA, in *IEEE MTTs International Microwave Symposium* (IEEE, Tampa, FL, USA. New York, NY, USA, 2014), pp. 1–4
- H. Xu, M. Li, Y. Xie, Y. Huang, Design of X-band GaAs power amplifier, in 2015 IEEE 6th International Symposium on Microwave, Antenna, Propagation, and EMC Technologies (MAPE), Shanghai (2015), pp. 521–524. https://doi.org/10.1109/MAPE.2015.7510372
- N. Adachi, Y. Tateno, S. Mizuno, A. Kawano, J. Nikaido, S. Sano, High temperature operation of AlGaN/GaN HEMT, in *IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest*, Long Beach, CA (2005), pp. 4. https://doi.org/10.1109/MWSYM.2005.1516642

Investigation of GNR Based Meta-Material Antenna for Single and Dual Band THz Applications



125

Ritesh Kumar Kushwaha, P. Karuppanan, and Nand Kishore

1 Introduction

A terahertz (THz) band lies in-between the millimeter and visible frequency range in the spectrum. It has various distinctive properties such as larger bandwidth, high data rate (up to 100 Gbps), high resolution, noninvasive, and able to see through the wall [1, 2]. Hence, it is useful for high-speed wireless communication, imaging, medical industries, agriculture, etc. However, high attenuation loss is the THz band due to the absorption of high frequencies by water molecules present in the atmosphere [3]. Therefore, an efficient THz system is required to reduce the path loss issue. Initially, only photonics-based THz devices and systems have been evolved due to the unavailability of electronic devices and materials. However, from the last two-decade electronic devices and some novel materials are investigated; therefore, Frequency Multiplier Devices (FMD) and graphene materials [4, 5] have been explored. In the THz wireless systems, graphene-based devices and antennas are preferred due to its exceptional electrical and mechanical properties. Graphene is the only renowned two-dimensional material and defined by Kubo's surface conductivity formula in terms of temperature, chemical potential, frequency, and scattering rate. One of the most exciting features of this material is its capability to sustenance transverse magnetic (TM) surface plasmonic modes in the THz band that leads to low loss plasmonic devices and transceiver antennas [6]. In the similar literature, Aidi et al. [7] has reported graphene-Nano-ribbon (GNR) based dipole antenna in which widely explored the resonance characteristics and Surface Plasmon Polariton (SPP) of graphene in the THz band. A graphene patch antenna with metamaterial substrate

R. K. Kushwaha (🖂) · P. Karuppanan · N. Kishore

Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Prayagraj, India e-mail: rel1713@mnnit.ac.in

P. Karuppanan e-mail: pkaru@mnnit.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_12

has been reported in [8], in which radiation characteristics at 1.67 THz frequency. However, the authors achieved only 16.6% radiation efficiency from this antenna. The detailed theoretical and numerical analysis of graphene's SPP has been explored in the THz band [9]. Also, a graphene-based split-ring resonator (SRR) with the different prototype structures was reported and analyzed its performance characteristics in the THz regime [10, 11]. Nevertheless, most of the graphene antennas have not intended to improve the antenna gain.

In this article, a 1×2 graphene-based rectangular ring antenna array is structured on PBG substrate utilizing proximity feed methods to achieve high gain and radiation efficiency. Section 2 investigates the graphene formulation and GNR SRR. The design and analysis of a GNR antenna are demonstrated in Sect. 3. Further, Sect. 4 describes the result and discussion of a proposed GNR antenna. Finally, the conclusion of the entire work is discussed in Sect. 5.

2 Theoretical Formulation and Analysis of Graphene

Graphene has numerous applications in the microwave and THz frequency band due to its remarkable properties such as high conductivity (carrier mobility ~ $200,000 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$), high tensile strength (Young's modulus: 1.10 TPa), transparent nature (1 atom thin ~ 0.345 nm), mechanical flexible (elasticity ~ 20%) and high surface to volume ratio [12, 13]. Moreover, graphene conductivity can be controlled by applying the dynamic tunning and layers stacking method; this revolutionized phenomenon could be used to develop a reconfigurable antenna by tunning the external bias voltage [14].

2.1 Mathematical Analysis of Graphene Surface Conductivity

The graphene conductivity is evaluated from the Kubo's formula. It consists of two parts, namely intraband and interband conductivity [9]. In lower THz band, interband conductivity can be neglected, whereas intraband conductivity (σ) of graphene can be expressed by:

$$\sigma_{\text{intraband}}(\omega) = \frac{-iq^2k_{\text{B}}T}{\pi\hbar^2(\omega - 2i\Gamma)} \left[2\ln\left(1 + e^{-\mu_c/k_B}T\right) + \frac{\mu_c}{2k_{\text{B}}T} \right]$$
(1)

where $k_{\rm B}$ and \hbar are the Boltzmann's and reduce plank's constant respectively, $\mu_{\rm c}$ is the chemical potential, Γ = scattering rate, T = temperature and ω is the radian frequency.

Also, the chemical potential of a graphene sheet is expressed by:



Fig. 1 Intra-band conductivity of graphene performance with different values of chemical potential

$$\mu_{\rm c} = \hbar v_{\rm f} \sqrt{\frac{\pi \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r}{ed} V_{\rm b}} \tag{2}$$

where $V_{\rm b}$ = bias voltage, $v_{\rm f} \approx 10^6$ m/s, $\hbar = 1.055 \times 10^{-34}$ J s and d is the thickness of substrate.

In Fig. 1, the real and imaginary values of intra-band conductivity is shown. It is clearly seen that the real part of conductivity is increased, but an imaginary part of conductivity is decreased while changing the chemical potential (μ_c) of graphene. We assume the graphene's relaxation time is 3 ps, the temperature is 300 K, and the thickness of 0.00335 μ m throughout the manuscript.

2.2 Split Ring Resonator (SRR) Analysis

The behavior of SRR, such as transmission and reflection coefficients is analyzed in the THz frequency band. The unit cell concentric SRR is investigated by applying the wavefronts at either side with opposite directions. The mathematical formulation of the required values is given by [15]:

$$S_{11} = \frac{\Gamma_0^{-1} \left(1 - e^{-j2nk_0 d} \right)}{1 - \Gamma_0^{-2} e^{-j2nk_0 d}}$$
(2)

$$S_{21} = \frac{\left(1 - \Gamma_0^{-2}\right)}{1 - \Gamma_0^{-2} e^{-j2nk_0 d}}$$
(3)

where S_{11} = reflection coefficient, S_{21} = transmission coefficient, d is max. dimension of the substrate, k_0 is the wave number. Γ_0 is represented by:

$$\Gamma_0 = (Z - 1)(Z + 1)^{-1} \tag{4}$$

where Z is the input impedance, represented by:

$$Z = \pm \left(\frac{S_{21}^2 - (1 + S_{11})^2}{S_{21}^2 - (1 - S_{11})^2}\right)^{-1/2}$$
(5)

The behavior of reflection coefficients (S_{11}) and transmission coefficient (S_{21}) in the operating frequency band is illustrated in Fig. 2. It is revealed that dual-band resonance occurs at 0.69 and 0.805 THz frequencies. Hence the proposed SRR can work dual-band frequencies.



Fig. 2 S-parameter behaviour of SRR with frequency

3 Antenna Geometry

Firstly a rectangular patch is designed using the dimension extension technique [16]. Then the patch is miniaturized to form SRR. Finally, the antenna is placed at $\lambda/2$ distance to create an array. Figure 3 depicted the structure of the graphene-based









Fig. 3 Antenna geometry a top-down view, b left-side view, c equivalent circuit model

Table 1 Selected dimensions of projected antenna		
	parameters	Dimension
	Outermost rectangular ring ($W1 \times L1$)	$520\times 320\mu m^2$
	Middle rectangular ring ($W2 \times L2$)	$460\times 260~\mu m^2$
	Innermost slotted ring ($W3 \times L3$)	$400\times 200~\mu m^2$
	Feed line $(W_{\rm f} \times L_{\rm f})$	$150 \times 576 \mu m^2$
	Substrate and ground plane $(W_s \times L_s)$	$776 \times 576 \mu m^2$
	Separation distance and gap (g) between rings (S)	30 µm
	Distance between Array (Lt2)	217 µm

rectangular SRR antenna array concentric with closed rectangular rings and mounted on the silicon dioxide (SiO₂) layer thickness of 0.285 μ m, subsequent with the upper substrate layer. As a SiO₂ is a tremendous optical contrast, therefore these layers help to GNR visible. It is worth mentioning that a single layer graphene thickness (Δd) is only 0.335 nm; therefore, graphene stacking has been utilized here with ten layers that lead graphene to 3D structures. The lower dielectric subtracts a height of 12.5 μ m, is the identical substrate with photonic bandgap structures. These PBG structures are the air cylindrical-circular holes and arranged in the periodic order to suppress the substrate's wave losses. The radius, height, and separation distance of the PBG structure is 30 μ m, 12.50 μ m, and 100 μ m, respectively. The proximity microstrip feed line is the rectangular strip and sandwich between the upper and lower substrate material; its dimensions are 150 μ m × 580 μ m. The optimized dimensions of the proposed structure are illustrated in Table 1.

Also, the equivalent circuit model of proposed geometry can derive from the proposed design in terms of lumped inductance (L), capacitance (C). Figure 3c depicts the approximate frequency response models of the projected SRRs resonance circuit. The mutual inductance exhibits the magnetic coupling between the rectangular strip lines, and the stripline gap is in capacitance. Magnetic couplings of M1, M2 (self-coupling), and M3 (mutual-coupling). Henceforth, the proposed structure can be modeled as the tank resonant circuit with parameters i.e., L1, C1, C2, and L2, C3, C4.

Table 1 shows the optimum dimension values of projected geometry. The particle swarm optimization (PSO) technique has been adopted to get discrete values.

4 Simulated Results and Discussions

In this section, the radiation characteristics of the planned antenna are realized with its different simulation results.

Figure 4 illustrated the reflection coefficients (S_{11}) of a design antenna. The tunable properties can easily be analyzed by changing the chemical potential of graphene. The single band is observed at μ_c of 0 eV and obtained dual-band at 0.5 eV and



Fig. 4 Return loss versus frequency with different chemical potential

0.75 eV. The attained minimum S_{11} of -38.99 dB with μ_c of 0.75 eV at resonance frequency at 0.8132 THz whereas the highest value of return loss is obtained at 0.7216 THz with 0 eV chemical potential. The corresponding fractional bandwidth (< -10 dB) for a single and dual-band of operations is 6.35 and 15.9 GHz. Remarkably, these frequencies band showed various applications such as video-rate imaging, material characterization, wireless communications, explosive detection [15–18]. Therefore the design reconfigurable antenna would be satisfied with the single-band and dual-band necessity of the THz systems.

Figure 5 shows the VSWR performance in the THz frequency band. One may observe the least VSWR is 1.027 at 0.797 THz by applying 1 eV chemical potential. It is noticed that all VSWR values below 1.9; thus, the criteria of VSWR values 2:1 would be satisfied for optimum performance.

Figure 6 displays the gain of the designed GNR antenna in the operating frequency range. The antenna gain of 8.89 dB at 0.72 THz in single-band operation and the peak antenna gain is 10.16 dB observed at 0.882 THz in dual-band of operation. The corresponding –dB fractional bandwidth is around 160 GHz, with the lowest frequency at 0.74 THz. Moreover, μc at 0.5 eV, the excellent 3 dB gain bandwidth can be observed i.e., around 300 GHz. However, a peak antenna gain at the resonance frequency band is lower.

Figure 7 shows the radiation efficiency behavior with operating frequency and different μ_c of GNR. The realized minimum radiation efficiency is around 40.91% at 0.7216 THz with μ_c of 0 eV. Moreover, the maximum radiation efficiency is achieved around 91.45% at 0.879 THz with 1 eV chemical potential.

Figure 8 illustrated the proposed antenna's surface current distribution by applying chemical potential at 0.75 eV. It is observed that current density is more substantial at the SRR arms and feed line edges.


Fig. 5 VSWR (at chemical potentials of 0, 0.5 and 0.75 eV)



Fig. 6 Proposed antenna gain with different μ_c

The E-plane proposed GNR antenna's radiation performance is investigated with different μc of GNR, which are revealed in Fig. 9. It can be seen that with μ_c , the proposed antenna is more directive and minimum sidelobe level.

Figure 10 shows the 3D directivity pattern. The directivity of single-band resonance is achieved around 9.93 dB at 0.7216 THz by applying a chemical potential of



Fig. 7 Radiation efficiency performance with μ_c



Fig. 8 Surface current distribution with μ_c of 0.75 eV **a** at 0.7114 THz (f31-single band), **b** at 0.8132 THz (f32-dual band)



Fig. 10 Pattern directivity a at 0 eV first band b at 0.75 eV dual band

	Chemical potential (eV)	Band	Resonance frequency (THz)	<i>S</i> ₁₁ (dB)	VSWR	Gain (dB)	Directivity (dBi)	Rad. efficiency (%)
Proposed	0	Single	0.7216 (f0)	- 13.05	1.572	5.928	9.93	40.9
work	0.5	Dual	0.7206 (f21)	- 21.01	1.21	9.045	9.802	86.18
			0.8819 (f22)	- 24.85	1.915	10.15	10.90	87.30
	0.75	Dual	0.7114 (f31)	- 35.20	1.071	8.91	10.5	71.26
			0.8132 (f32)	- 38.99	1.073	9.815	10.9	80.93
[19]	0.13, 0.19, 0.25, 0.36, and 0.5	Single	0.87, 1.03, 1.17, 1.34, and 1.6	- 12.5, - 28, - 27, - 14, and - 10.5	-	max. 1.8	_	_
[20]	0.1–1.2	Single	0.65–0.8	min. — 29	-	-	7.11	-
[21]	0.1–0.27	27 Dual	2.14–2.18	- 25.78	min. 1.03	max. 4.41	max. 6.1	67.7
			2.5–2.59	- 42.77	min. 1.02	max. 5.03	max. 7.06	60.8
[22]	0.16-0.26	Dual	3–9	min. — 42	-	-	max. 7.8	-

Table 2 Radiation performance of projected antenna compared to earlier work

0 eV. Whereas, dual-band directivity of 10.6 and 10.9 dBi at 0.8132 THz by applying μc of 0.75 eV.

Finally, a proposed antenna's radiation characteristics are compared with other reported graphene antennas, listed in Table 2. On may be observed that targeted antennas are better radiation performance in comparison to earlier reported antennas.

5 Conclusion

The analysis and simulation of reconfigurable GNR antenna array have been accomplished in this article. Initially, the graphene conductivity behavior has been investigated and then developed a miniaturized patch GNR array with novel geometry of SRR. PBG substrate is employed in the bottom substrate to decrease the surface wave loss. The single and dual-band resonance is observed by varying the chemical potential that validates graphene's reconfigurable behavior. Single-band achieved with chemical potential of 0 eV and the dual-band achieved with 0.5 and 0.75 eV chemical potentials. The suggested frequency band of operation is appropriate for numerous terahertz applications such as homeland, video imaging, and material characterization, security system using spectroscopy.

References

- 1. S. Koenig, et al., Wireless sub-THz communication system with high data rate. Nat. Photon. 7(12), 977 (2013)
- I.F. Akyildiz, Jornet, J.M., C. Han, Terahertz band: next frontier for wireless communications. Phys. Commun. 12, 16–32 (2014)
- Y. Yang, A. Shutler, D. Grischkowsky, Measurement of the transmission of the atmosphere from 0.2 to 2 THz. Opt. Exp. 19(9), 8830–8838 (2011)
- 4. G. Chattopadhyay, et al., An all-solid-state broad-band frequency multiplier chain at 1500 GHz. IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. **52**(5), 1538–1547 (2004)
- 5. K.S. Novoselov, et al., A roadmap for graphene. Nature 490(7419), 192 (2012)
- 6. M. Tamagnone, et al., Reconfigurable terahertz plasmonic antenna concept using a graphene stack. Appl. Phys. Lett. **101**(21), 214102 (2012)
- M. Aidi et al., Graphene nanoribbon antenna modeling based on MoM-GEC method for electromagnetic nanocommunications in the terahertz range. J. Electromagn. Waves Appl. 30(8), 1032–1048 (2016)
- S.A. Amanatiadis, T.D. Karamanos, N.V. Kantartzis, Radiation efficiency enhancement of graphene THz antennas utilizing metamaterial substrates. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 16, 2054–2057 (2017)
- 9. Y.V. Bludov, et al., A primer on surface plasmon-polaritons in graphene. Int. J. Mod. Phys. B **27**(10), 1341001 (2013)
- A. Hosseinbeig, A. Pirooj, F.B. Zarrabi, A reconfigurable subwavelength plasmonic fano nanoantenna based on split ring resonator. J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 423, 203–207 (2017)
- 11. P.Q. Liu, et al., Highly tunable hybrid metamaterials employing split-ring resonators strongly coupled to graphene surface plasmons. Nat. Commun. **6**, 8969 (2015)
- 12. A.K. Geim, K.S. Novoselov, The rise of graphene. Nat. Mater. 6(3), 183–191 (2007)
- H.T. Chen et al., Complementary planar terahertz metamaterials. Opt. Exp. 15(3), 1084–1095 (2007)
- R.K. Kushwaha, P. Karuppanan, Parasitic-coupled high-gain graphene antenna employed on PBG dielectric grating substrate for THz applications. Microw. Opt. Technol. Lett. 62(1), 439–447 (2020)
- G. Lubkowski, R. Schuhmann, T. Weiland, Extraction of effective metamaterial parameters by parameter fitting of dispersive models. Microw. Opt. Technol. Lett. 49(2), 285–288 (2007)
- R.K. Kushwaha, P. Karuppanan, L.D. Malviya, Design and analysis of novel microstrip patch antenna on photonic crystal in THz. Phys. B Condensed Matter (2018)
- 17. Y.B. Ji, et al., Terahertz reflectometry imaging for low and high grade gliomas. Sci. Rep. 6, 36040 (2016)
- S. Galoda, G. Singh, Fighting terrorism with terahertz. IEEE Potentials Mag. 26(6), 24–29 (2007)
- T. Zhou, et al., Miniaturized tunable terahertz antenna based on graphene. Microw. Opt. Technol. Lett. 56(8), 1792–1794 (2014)
- M.K. Azizi, et al., Terahertz graphene-based reconfigurable patch antenna. Prog. Electromagn. Res. 71, 69–76 (2017)
- S. Mrunalini, A. Manoharan, Dual-band re-configurable graphene-based patch antenna in terahertz band for wireless network-on-chip applications. IET Microw. Antennas Propag. 11(14), 2104–2108 (2017)
- 22. Y. Dong, et al., Dual-band reconfigurable terahertz patch antenna with graphene-stack-based backing cavity. IEEE Antennas Wireless Propag. Lett. **15**, 1541–1544 (2016)

Comparative Study of Silicon and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-Based Gate-All-Around (GAA) MOSFETs



137

Himanshi Awasthi, Nitish Kumar, Vaibhav Purwar, Abhinav Gupta, Vikrant Varshney, and Sanjeev Rai

1 Introduction

In the modern society, there has been always demand for uninterrupted communication, fast computation, and high-quality entertainment with smaller electronic gadgets. MOSFETs are the backbone of these gadgets. Shrinking dimensions of MOS help to incorporate more features in a single chip, but at the same time due to shrinking in MOS dimensions the phenomena of short channel effects (SCEs) such as subthreshold characteristic, reduction in carrier's mobility, and gate tunneling currents come in the picture. However, the SCEs can be decimated through modification in MOS design.

Multigate devices [1–6] designs like FinFET, Omega FET, and gate-all-around (GAA) are analyzed over different parameters. The GAA MOSFET [6, 7] is becoming a cornerstone due to multidirectional electrostatic control over the gate, superior SCE immunity, and high packing density. In smaller-scaled devices, if the voltage at the drain is expanded, the potential barrier in the channel minimizes, which indicates that the gate loses its control over the channel, overseeing drain-induced barrier lowering (DIBL). This impact is due to the potential distribution from the source/drain region. However, GAA suffers from the low drive current [8]. To overcome the low drive current, the high mobility material $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ is used to fabricate the GAA [9], which enhances the working speed at a reduced supply voltage. $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -based

V. Purwar

Department of ECE, PSIT C.O.E. Kanpur, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh, India

A. Gupta

Department of Electronics Engineering, R.E.C. Sonbhadra, Churk, Uttar Pradesh, India

V. Varshney · S. Rai Department of ECE, MNNIT Prayagraj, Allahabad, Uttar Pradesh, India

H. Awasthi (🖂) · N. Kumar

Department of ECE, K.I.T. Kanpur, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_13



Fig. 1 3D schematics structure design of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-GAA MOSFET

gate GAA MOSFET provides a boost in drive current, excellent immunity to SCEs, enhanced gate-channel electrostatic, and high carrier mobility [10, 11]. Various materials appeared into consideration, among which indium–gallium–arsenide (InGaAs) is one of the considerably focused materials. In conclusion to the works mentioned above, it can be summarized that with reducing dimensions, In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-GAA MOS is a fruitful solution for superior computational speed.

In this work, the performance of Si-GAA and $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA has been compared. Comparison of Si-GAA and $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA devices has been made in terms of variation in OFF-state current (I_{OFF}), ON–OFF-current ratio (I_{ON}/I_{OFF}), subthreshold swing (SS), drain-induced barrier lowering (DIBL), trans-conductance (g_m), and trans-conductance generation factor (TGF) characteristics on ATLAS, a three-dimensional (3D) device simulator from SILVACO.

2 Device Structure and Simulation Approach

The 3D schematics structure of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET for simulation is shown in Fig. 1. The cross-sectional view of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET is shown in Fig. 2. A thin Al₂O₃ oxide layer wraps over the nanowire channel region. Table 1 shows the device parameters used for simulation. The following models of 3D ATLAS device simulator from SILVACO have been included to perform the simulation of the proposed $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA device and Si-GAA devices [12], like drift diffusion charge transport model, Lombardi (CVT) model, concentration-dependent mobility model, and Shockley–Real–Hall (SRH) model.

3 Results and Discussion

Figure 3 presents the potential of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET at $V_{GS} = 0$ V and



Fig. 2. 2D cross-sectional view of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-GAA MOSFET

Table 1 Silicon and	Parameters	Si-GAA	In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As-GAA
parameters used for GAA	Channel length $(L_{\rm C})$ (nm)	20	20
MOSFETs simulation	Source/drain doping $(N_{\rm D})$ (cm ⁻³)	10 ²⁰	10 ²⁰
	Channel doping (N_A) (cm ⁻³)	10 ¹⁵	10 ¹⁵
	Oxide thickness (t_{ox}) (nm)	1	1
	Channel thickness (<i>t</i> _C) (nm)	10	10
	Metal work-function $(\phi_{\rm M})$ (eV)	4.6	5.1



Fig. 3 The cross-sectional contour plot of potential for $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET at $V_{GS} = V_{DS} = 0 V$



Fig. 4 Variation of drain current (I_D) of Si-GAA and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-GAA MOSFET versus V_{GS} at $V_{DS} = 1$ V

 $V_{\rm DS} = 0$ V. The plot indicates the lowest central surface potential, and it demonstrates the gate controllability over the channel region. Figure 4 shows the comparison of drain current (ID) of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA and Si-GAA MOSFET as a function of gate-to-source voltage ($V_{\rm GS}$) at a drain-to-source voltage ($V_{\rm DS}$) = 1 V. The improvement of $I_{\rm ON}$ and $I_{\rm OFF}$ is analyzed in $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET, as shown in Fig. 4. The ON-current is enhanced by 59.62%, but the OFF-current reduces by 84% of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET compared to Si-GAA MOSFET. It has occurred due to the high mobility material $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ of the device channel with high gate oxide Al_2O_3 . Hence, the $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET is more satisfactory for high-speed switching applications and also low power consumption.

Figure 5 shows the comparison of drain current of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA and Si-GAA MOSFET with V_{DS} at $V_{GS} = 1$ V. The improvement of drain current in $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET from characteristics of the InGaAs is because the $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ has higher mobility than silicon. The comparison between transconductance (g_m) of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA and Si-GAA MOSFET against V_{GS} at $V_{DS} = 1$ V is illustrated in Fig. 6. The g_m is a crucial factor for analog and RF applications, and it is moreover essential to define an optimum bias point. For any device, the cut-off frequency is the peak at an optimum bias point. The graph displays that the $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA device discloses 53.33% more distinguished g_m than the Si-GAA MOSFET.

Figure 7 illustrates the comparison of TGF (g_m/I_D) of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-GAA and Si-GAA MOSFET against V_{GS} at $V_{DS} = 1$ V. The measurement of g_m and I_D is recognized as the trans-conductance generation factor (TGF). The highest TGF value is near the ideal amount of subthreshold swing 60 mV/decade. In the subthreshold



Fig. 5 Variation of drain current of Si-GAA and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-GAA MOSFET versus $V_{\rm DS}$ at $V_{\rm GS}=1~{\rm V}$



Fig. 6 Variation of trans-conductance (g_m) of Si-GAA and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-GAA MOSFET versus V_{GS} at $V_{\text{DS}} = 1$ V

region, TGF is vital for $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET than the Si-GAA device. The more profitable value of TGF confirms the stable performance of the analog circuit even for low power supply.

Table 2 indicates the analog FOMs of Si-GAA and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-GAA MOSFET



Fig. 7 Variation of TGF (g_m/I_D) of Si-GAA and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-GAA MOSFET versus V_{GS} at $V_{DS} = 1$ V

Table 2 Analog FOMs of Si-GAA and Image: Si-GAA and	Parameters	Si-GAA	In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As-GAA	
In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As-GAA	I _{ON} (A)	4.26×10^{-05}	6.80×10^{-05}	
MOSFET at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.0$ at a	$I_{\rm OFF}$ (A)	2.0×10^{-12}	3.2×10^{-13}	
constant threshold voltage	$I_{\rm ON}/I_{\rm OFF}$	$2.13 \times 10^{+07}$	$2.1 \times 10^{+08}$	
	SS (mV/decade)	67.61	62.49	
	DIBL (mV/V)	18.47	6.06	
	$g_{\rm m}$ (S)	9.0×10^{-05}	1.38×10^{-04}	
	$g_{\rm m}/I_{\rm D}$	52.13	60.90	

at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.0$ at a constant threshold voltage. Table 2 shows that the In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-GAA device is organized adequately for analog/RF performance compared to Si-GAA MOSFET. The ON-current ~ 59.62%, $g_{\rm m} \sim 53.33\%$, and TGF ~ 16.12% of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-GAA devices are higher than the Si-GAA device. However, the In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As-GAA MOSFET performance parameters such as OFF-current ($I_{\rm OFF}$) with ~ 84%, subthreshold swing (SS) ~ 8.19%, and DIBL are decreased compared to Si-GAA MOSFET.

4 Conclusion

In this paper, the performance investigation of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET has been carried out and compared with the Si-GAA MOSFET for same parameters. Both devices are simulated using a 3D ATLAS TCAD device simulator from SILVACO. The $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET has revealed much upgraded performance compared to Si-GAA MOSFET. The $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET has presented superior SCEs immunity compared to Si-GAA. The higher value for ONcurrent (I_{ON}), g_m , and TGF of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA device has been obtained as compared to the Si-GAA device. However, the $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET performance factors such as OFF-current, subthreshold swing, and DIBL have been found to diminish compared to Si-GAA MOSFET. The $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ -GAA MOSFET can be considered to offer excellent analog performance compared to the Si-GAA device. Therefore, it is more superior for high-speed analog and switching applications.

References

- 1. J.P. Colinge, Multiple-gate MOSFETs. Solid State Electron. 48, 897–905 (2004)
- 2. J.P. Colinge, Multiple-gate SOI MOSFETs. Microelectron. Eng. 84(9-10), 2071-2076 (2007)
- N. Kumar, H. Awasthi, V. Purwar, A. Gupta, A. Gupta, An analysis of Si-tube based doublematerial double gate-all-around (DMDGAA) MOSFEts. ICE3 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1109/ ICE348803.2020.9122851
- 4. J.P. Colinge, *FinFET and Other Multi-gate Transistors*. Springer, New York. ISBN 978-0-387-71751-7
- 5. S.Y. Suh et al., Electrical and thermal performances of omega-shaped-gate nanowire field effect transistors for low power operation. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. **20**(7), 4092–4096 (2020)
- J.Y. Song, W.Y. Choi, J.H. Park, J.D. Lee, B.G. Park, Design optimization of gate-all-around (GAA) MOSFETs. IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol. 5(3), 186–191 (2006)
- H. Awasthi, N. Kumar, V. Purwar, R. Gupta, S. Dubey, Impact of temperature on analog/RF performance of dielectric pocket gate-all-around (DPGAA) MOSFETs. Silicon (2020). https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12633-020-00610-2
- W. Lu, P. Xie, C.M. Lieber, Nanowire transistor performance limits and applications. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 55, 2859–2876 (2008)
- C. Nadine, *High Mobility Materials for CMOS Applications* (1st edn, Elsevier, 2018). ISBN: 9780081020623
- J.J. Gu, Y.Q. Liu, Y.Q. Wu, R. Colby, R.G. Gordon, P.D. Ye, First experimental demonstration of gate-all-around III-V MOSFETs by top-down approach. Int. Elect. Device Meet. (2011). https://doi.org/10.1109/IEDM.2011.6131662
- X. Zhou, Q. Li, C.W. Tang, K.M. Lau, 30nm enhancement-mode In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As MOSFETs on Si substrates grown by MOCVD exhibiting high transconductance and low on-resistance. Int. Elect. Devices Meet. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEDM.2012.6479153
- 12. ATLAS User's Manual, 3-D Device Simulator Software (Silvaco. Inc., 2016)

A Simple and Sturdy Hybrid Interference Canceller for a DS-CDMA System in Multipath Environment for Static and Mobile Users



Monica Khanore and Srija Unnikrishnan

1 Introduction

DS-CDMA uses code-division multiple access where a distinctive code identifies a user, the codes being orthogonal to avoid interference. The orthogonality of the codes ensures independent detection of each user. However, due to asynchronous transmission and different propagation delays because of variation in the distances of users from the receiver, the codes lose their orthogonality resulting in interference among the users. This interference is called multiple access interference (MAI). MAI makes it difficult to detect the users individually. This is a very common scenario in mobile communication system.

In addition to MAI, two other factors adding to interference in the received signal are multipath propagation and Doppler shift. Due to multipath propagation, duplicates of a signal reach the receiver with different relative delays. Thus, besides interfering with itself, the user signal interferes with other user signals. The mobility of users results in Doppler shift in the carrier frequency of user signals. The user signals may lose synchronization due to Doppler shift, and hence, the data recovered may not be accurate. Thus MAI, multipath propagation and Doppler shift result in degradation of the system performance. Consequently, error probability increases, so does the BER. As a result, the increase in BER reduces the capacity of the system; hence, it becomes imperative to incorporate some interference cancellation (IC) technique.

Serial interference canceller (SIC) and parallel interference canceller (PIC) are two important subtractive types of IC techniques. PIC has the advantage of being fast; however, it works well only in the presence of power control, that is, when the

M. Khanore (🖂) · S. Unnikrishnan

145

Fr. Conceicao Rodrigues College of Engineering, Bandra (W), Mumbai 400050, India e-mail: khanore@frcrce.ac.in

S. Unnikrishnan e-mail: srija@frcrce.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_14

user powers are roughly equal. SIC is slow but can work well in varying user power environments. Besides, the BER performance of SIC is better than PIC. The benefits of both methods are integrated in Hybrid Interference Canceller (HIC), which is a mix of SIC and PIC.

In [1], the linear HIC detector is discussed using a matrix-algebraic approach. The detector is presented as a single shot linear matrix filter for single-stage and multistage interference cancellation. Simulation and analysis have been done for single-path propagation.

An HIC technique has been evaluated in the Rayleigh fading multipath environment in [2]. This canceller is found to be robust in the Rayleigh fading multipath environment even for users in motion. However, closed-loop power control is essential for obtaining acceptable BER performance.

BER performance of an HIC is investigated in [3], in AWGN as well as Rayleigh fading environment for single path and 3-path propagation. The Doppler frequency used is 100 Hz. The BER performance of the HIC is found to be at par with the performance of the SIC when the propagation delay is much shorter than the detection delay.

In [4, 5], a multistage SIC scheme is presented, which incorporates a non-decision directed (NDD) interference canceller followed by a decision directed (DD) canceller. Diversity combining is done using a RAKE receiver, which is slightly modified. The performance is evaluated for mixed modulation and multicode schemes. The receiver is found to be relatively less complex. Their results show that a multicode system with high data rates outperforms a system with lower rates and a system with high data rates, and mixed modulation. A minimum mean square error channel estimator is used which utilizes the correlations of the fading paths.

HIC scheme based on K-P-S configuration is presented in [6]. From the *K* users, *P* users are cancelled using PIC, and the remaining S = K-P users are cancelled by SIC. HIC is proposed for overloaded CDMA system in which the number of users is more than the processing gain in [7]. The users are divided in two groups and separate sets of orthogonal Gold codes are assigned to users in these groups. PIC cancels the interference within a group and the interference between the groups is cancelled by mSIC. HIC technique in which users are cancelled in groups in SIC, followed by PIC is proposed in [8]. This scheme provides notable reduction in the processing delay.

Most of the interference cancellers discussed above utilize RAKE receiver for diversity combining and for estimation of the transmitted data. However, there is a possibility of erroneous data estimates owing to interference caused by the cross-correlation between the spreading codes [9]. The interference canceller presented in this paper circumvents the need of a RAKE receiver; thus, occurrence of these errors is averted. This paper discusses the HIC detector scheme for multipath, Rayleigh fading environment. The performance of the detector for static as well as users in motion is analyzed. Furthermore, the convergence of the detector is tested.

The structure of remainder of the paper is as follows. Received signal model for multipath propagation is presented for static and moving users in Sect. 2. The interference canceller module and the HIC detector are explained in Sect. 3, and the

simulation results are discussed in Sect. 4. Finally, in Sect. 5, conclusion of the work reported in this paper is presented.

2 Receiver Signal Model

Mathematical model of the signal received at the input of the receiver of a multiuser, multipath CDMA communication system is described in this section. The model is presented for static as well as moving users assuming a Rayleigh fading channel. It is further assumed that after spreading, the signal is binary phase-shift keying (BPSK) modulated.

2.1 Received Signal Model for Static Users

The received signal, y(t) in continuous time t, including multipath signals of all static users is expressed as

$$y(t) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{m=1}^{P} \{ d_n(t - \tau_{nm}) w_n(t - \tau_{nm}) \cos \omega_0 t + \nu_{nm} \},\$$

where N: number of active users,

P: number of multipaths,

 d_n : data sequence of *n*th user,

 w_n : spreading sequence of *n*th user of length *L*,

 τ_{nm} : *m*th path delay of the *n*th user,

 ω_0 : carrier frequency, and

 v_{nm} : Rayleigh noise introduced by the channel to the *n*th user over the *m*th path [10].

2.2 Received Signal Model for Users in Motion

The received signal for moving users is expressed as:

$$y'(t) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{m=1}^{P} \{ d_n (t - \tau_{nm}) w_n (t - \tau_{nm}) \cos(\omega_0 \pm \omega_{dn}) t + \nu_{nm} \},\$$

where ω_{dn} is the *n*th user Doppler shift, which takes values from 60 to 100 Hz for practical systems [10].

3 Interference Canceller Module

The structure of the interference canceller module is illustrated in Fig. 1. After coherent demodulation of the received signal, the demodulated signal is low pass filtered (not shown in the diagram). The filter output, r(t), is a base-band signal consisting of desired user signals, mutual interference of N users, and channel noise.

The filter output r(t) contains the interference from all active users and their multipath signals. As a part of the interference cancellation process, these K = NP user signals are organized in the descending of their strength. Correlations of r(t) with the spreading codes of the users are found using K matched filters (MF). These correlation coefficients $\{Z_{i,p}\}$, indicate the strength of each user's signal. For simulation, the correlation values for each of the K signals are found with the assumption that $\{\tau_{ip}\}$ of all signals are accurately estimated.

Once arranged from strongest to weakest, the K signals are split into N groups, with P signals in a group. S stages of HIC are then implemented. At every stage, PIC is performed within each group to obtain the estimates for P signals in the group. MAI incurred by a group is then evaluated using these estimates and subtracted (cancelled) from the input signal to the interference cancellation unit (ICU) of that group. This process of parallel estimation and serial cancellation goes on until the interference due to the Nth group at the current stage is cancelled.

Remaining signal from the last group of a stage becomes an input signal to the first group of the next stage. At this stage, MAI evaluated for the group at the previous stage is reinserted. The estimates for the signals in the group are evaluated by performing PIC within the group. After the estimates of the signals in the group have been



Fig. 1 Block diagram of interference canceller module

evaluated at the present stage, their estimates from the previous stage are added to these estimates. This improves the estimates of the signals in the group. Further, MAI due to this group is calculated using these estimates and subsequently cancelled from the residual input signal to the group. The same process of interference cancellation continues for the subsequent groups at that stage until the MAI due to the last group is cancelled. This procedure is repeated for subsequent stages [11].

Generalized mathematical expressions for the input signal to an ICU, the estimates for users in a group, and MAI due to that group are obtained as follows:

At stage 1:

 $s_{s,i}$ of size $L \times 1$ is the input signal to the ICU of *i*th group at the *s*th stage, **r** is input signal vector of size $L \times 1$, vector $\boldsymbol{b}_{s,i}$ of size $P \times 1$ contains the estimates of the signals of the *i*th group, \boldsymbol{W}_i is the code vector matrix of the *i*th group, of size $P \times L$, and $\Delta \boldsymbol{I}_{s,i}$ is the MAI incurred by *i*th group at *s*th stage.

$$\boldsymbol{s}_{1,n} = \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r}, \tag{1a}$$

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{1,n} = \boldsymbol{W}_n^T \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r}, \tag{1b}$$

and

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{I}_{1,n} = \boldsymbol{W}_n \boldsymbol{W}_n^T \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r}, \text{ respectively}, \tag{1c}$$

where $\boldsymbol{\varphi}_n = \prod_{j=n}^{1} (\boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{W}_j \boldsymbol{W}_j^T)$ and n = 1, 2, ..., N, $\boldsymbol{\varphi}_0 = \boldsymbol{I}$, and \boldsymbol{I} is an identity matrix, size $L \times L$.

At stage 2:

$$\boldsymbol{s}_{2,n} = (\boldsymbol{\varphi}_N + \boldsymbol{\psi}_n) \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r}, \qquad (2a)$$

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{2,n} = \boldsymbol{W}_n^T (\boldsymbol{I} + \boldsymbol{\varphi}_N + \boldsymbol{\psi}_n) \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r}, \qquad (2b)$$

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{I}_{2,n} = \boldsymbol{W}_n \boldsymbol{W}_n^T (\boldsymbol{\varphi}_N + \boldsymbol{\psi}_n) \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r}, \qquad (2c)$$

respectively, where,

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}_n = \sum_{j=1}^n (\boldsymbol{W}_j \boldsymbol{W}_j^T),$$

and

 $\boldsymbol{\psi}_0 = 0.$

At stage 3:

$$s_{3,n} = (\boldsymbol{\varphi}_N + \boldsymbol{\psi}_N + \boldsymbol{\psi}_n)\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1}\boldsymbol{\varphi}_N \boldsymbol{r} + \boldsymbol{\Lambda}_n \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r} + \boldsymbol{Z}_n \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r}, \qquad (3a)$$

$$\boldsymbol{b}_{3,n} = \boldsymbol{W}_n^T (\boldsymbol{I} + \boldsymbol{\varphi}_N + \boldsymbol{\psi}_N + \boldsymbol{\psi}_n) \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_N \boldsymbol{r} + \boldsymbol{W}_n^T \boldsymbol{\Lambda}_n \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r} + \boldsymbol{W}_n^T \boldsymbol{Z}_n \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r} + \boldsymbol{W}_n^T (\boldsymbol{I} + \boldsymbol{\psi}_N) \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r},$$
(3b)

and

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{I}_{3,n} = \boldsymbol{W}_{n} \boldsymbol{W}_{n}^{T} (\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{N} + \boldsymbol{\psi}_{N} + \boldsymbol{\psi}_{n}) \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{N} \boldsymbol{r} + \boldsymbol{W}_{n} \boldsymbol{W}_{n}^{T} \boldsymbol{\Lambda}_{n} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r} + \boldsymbol{W}_{n} \boldsymbol{W}_{n}^{T} \boldsymbol{Z}_{n} \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{n-1} \boldsymbol{r},$$
(3c)

where

$$\boldsymbol{\Lambda}_n = \sum_{j=1}^n \left(\boldsymbol{W}_j \boldsymbol{W}_j^T \right)^2,$$

and

$$\mathbf{Z}_n = \sum_{j=2}^n (\mathbf{W}_j \mathbf{W}_j^T \mathbf{\psi}_{j-1}).$$

These generalized equations can be further derived for S number of stages.

After *S* stages of interference cancellation, the multipaths of all users are grouped together and the estimates of these paths, $\{b_{S,i}\}$, are combined with the channel estimates of each path. The symbol detector uses this average to estimate the transmitted data symbol, $\{d\hat{i}(t)\}$. The channel estimates are found using Least Square method [12].

4 Simulation and Results

In this paper, we present the BER performance of the HIC detector explained in Sect. 3, in a Rayleigh fading channel considering an asynchronous system. The 3 independent paths delays of [0, 1, 2] chips are assumed. The processing gain, *L*, is 128 and the maximum number of users is 125. The simulation starts with obtaining the correlation values of all users, along all paths taken by the user signal, with their spreading codes. The correlation values indicate the strengths of the users. The K = NP users are arranged in the decreasing order of their strength prior to staring the cancellation of interference. The simplicity of the LS channel estimation algorithm, and its quickness in calculating the estimation makes it best suited for the purpose.

Figure 2 shows the comparison of the BER performances of the proposed HIC detector for $L = \{64, 128\}$, and $N = \{50, 75, 100, 125\}$, respectively, for static users. It is conspicuous from the figure that increasing the processing gain improves the detector performance significantly. Also, there is a minute variation in the performance of the detector for $N = \{75, 100\}$. Furthermore, the target BER of 10^{-2} is obtained for both numbers of users for $E_{\rm b}/N_0 \approx 10$ dB.

Figure 3 illustrates the performance of the detector for users in motion for L = 128 and $N = \{50, 75, 100, 125\}$. As expected, there is a slight degradation in the performance due to mobility of users. However, for N = 125 the detector seems to be less affected by the mobility of users. In the interference cancellers discussed in the literature survey, the target BER is achieved for maximum 30 users. The proposed



detector achieves the target BER for up to 100 users. Thus, it can handle much larger load efficiently.

In Fig. 4, the BER performance of the detector for varying number of users for $E_b/N_0 = 20$ dB, and N = 128 is shown. Marginal variation in BER is observed for increasing number of active users, this is the testament to the sturdiness of the detector.

The interference cancellation process is implemented for 8 stages of cancellation. For investigating the convergence behavior of the detector, the BER performance of the detector at every stage is plotted in Fig. 5. As it is apparent from the graph, the BER remains roughly constant with every stage of interference cancellation process. Thus, the convergence of the detector is assured. Also, irrespective of the amount



of load on the detector, the number of stages needed for convergence is roughly the same.

The RAKE receiver can make inaccurate data estimates because of the interference caused by the cross-correlation between the spreading codes. The advantage of the proposed detector is that it does not require a RAKE combiner, which averts such erroneous detection.

5 Conclusion

In this paper the bit error performance of the HIC detector in Rayleigh fading multipath environment for both static and moving users is evaluated. It is assumed that the signal of each active user takes three independent paths. The simulation was done for $L = \{64, 128\}$. Considerable improvement in the BER performance of the detector was observed for L = 128. Hence, L = 128 is a perfect choice for better BER performance. For $N = \{75, 100\}$, it was observed that the target BER was achieved for $E_b/N_0 \approx 10$ dB for static users. The detector was also checked for robustness. The increasing number of users hardly has any effect on the performance of the detector is assured, and irrespective of the amount of load, roughly the same number of stages is needed for convergence. Small degradation is noted in the detector performance due to mobility of the users.

References

- S. Sun, L.K. Rasmussen, T.J. Tim, H. Sugimoto, A Matrix-algebraic approach to linear hybrid interference cancellation in CDMA, in *IEEE International Conference on Universal Personal Communications*, vol 2 (1998), pp. 1319–1323
- K.L. Cheah, H. Sugimoto, T.J. Tim, L.K. Rasmussen, S. Sun, Performance of hybrid interference canceller with zero-delay channel estimation for CDMA, in *IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference*, vol 1 (1998), pp. 265–270
- S. Sun, L.K. Rasmussen, T.J. Tim, H. Sugimoto, A hybrid interference canceller in CDMA, in 5th IEEE International Symposium on Spread Spectrum Techniques and Applications, vol 1 (1998), pp. 150–154
- 4. A. Johansson, A. Svensson, A hybrid interference cancellation scheme for multiuser systems in multipath fading channels. Eur. Trans. Telecommun. **11**(2), 207–217 (2000)
- A. Johansson, A. Svensson, Multistage interference cancellation with decision directed channel estimation in multirate DS/CDMA on a mobile radio channel, in 5th International Conference on Universal Personal Communications (2002)
- L. Nithyanathan, R. Saravanprabu, P. Dananjayan, Hybrid interference cancellation receiver for DS CDMA systems, in *Proceedings of Tenth National Conference on Communication (NCC* 2004) (2004), pp. 577–581
- M. Yekhlef, L. Saidi, A low complexity multi-user detector based on G-SIC and PIC for DS/CDMA systems. Int. J. Comput. Math. Electr. Electron. Eng. 31(6), 1815–1834 (2012)
- 8. S. Sasipriya, C.S. Ravichandran, A hybrid interference cancellation technique for overloaded CDMA with timing offset error. Int. J. Electron. Commun. **66**, 721–726 (2012)

- B.S. Thian, Y. Wang, T.T. Tjhung, L.W.-C. Wong, A hybrid receiver scheme for multiuser multicode CDMA systems in multipath fading channels. IEEE Trans. Vehic. Technol. 56(5), 3014–3023 (2007)
- M. Khanore, S. Unnikrishnan, Hybrid interference cancellation for static and non-static users in DS-CDMA system, in 6th International Conference on Advances in Computing Communication and Control 2019 (ICAC3'19) (2020)
- M. Khanore, S. Unnikrishnan, Convergence and BER approximation of HIC detector for DS-CDMA system in Rayleigh fading multipath environment. Int. J. Innov. Technol. Explor. Eng. (IJITEE) 9(6), 2082–2088 (2020)
- 12. R. Thiruvengadathan, S. Srikanth, Performance of MIMO channel estimation in LTE downlink, in *Third International Conference on Computing, Communication and Networking Technologies* (2012)

Performance Evaluation of SPR Sensor on Using Graphene/TMDCs in Visible and Near Infrared Wavelength Regime



Vipin Verma, Sarika Pal, Narendra Pal, and Dharmendra Kumar

1 Introduction

Now days, surface plasmon resonance (SPR) sensor in optical sensor category has been widely preferred for biosensing and chemical sensing [1, 2]. SPR sensor has been used due to their efficient characteristics such as lable free, real time, reliable, low cost and sensitive detection capabilities [3]. Surface plasmon polaritons (SPPs) occur due to oscillation of electrons i.e., dense electron wave propagating between metal and dielectric medium, which was introduced by Wood [4]. SPR phenomenon is achieved when evanescent wave generated after attenuated total reflection (ATR) and surface plasmon wave (SPW) are coupled to each other [3]. Normally, the propagation constant of SPW is always greater than the propagation constant of incident optical wave. So, to achieve the resonance condition, incident wave is excited by using different coupling methods in order to match the momentum of photon of incident light wave with momentum of SPW [3, 5]. The prism coupling method is preferably used in Kretschmann configuration-based SPR sensors for optical excitation of resonance condition via angular interrogation method [5]. The reflection intensity detected by the photo detector indicates the dip in intensity at particular incident angle. SPR dip position changes with redistribution of electromagnetic field due to change in refractive index of sensing layer after adsorption of biomolecules on sensor surface [3]. The performance of SPR biosensor can be evaluated from SPR reflectance curve. Generally, a metal thin film is used to excite the resonance signal

V. Verma · S. Pal (🖂)

N. Pal Roorkee Institute of Technology, Roorkee, Uttarakhand 247667, India

D. Kumar KIET Group of Institutions, Uttar Pradesh, Ghaziabad 201206, India

155

National Institute of Technology, Srinagar, Uttarakhand 246174, India e-mail: sarikapal@nituk.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_15

as it possesses large number of free electrons. Recently, nanostructured transparent conducting oxides are used in SPR sensor for SPPs generation in place of metals [6]. But, gold thin film is generally used as a plasmon active metal as it is free from oxidation and show high sensitivity and stability for analytic binding [3, 7]. The use of conventional gold metal thin films in optical SPR sensors over the prism shows weak attachment or binding ability of biomolecules. Thus, the sensitivity of conventional SPR sensor is limited [3, 7].

Over the past decades, several techniques have been developed to enhance the performance of SPR sensor such as employment of different SPR configurations, two dimensional (2D) materials, metamaterials, bimetallic plasmonic metals and hetrostructure of 2D materials [2, 7-13]. For the development of improved SPR sensors, the two dimensional (2D) materials possessing extraordinary optical, electrical and mechanical properties have shown their potential applications in sensor field [14, 15]. Graphene, a 2D material is a single carbon atom thick layer possessing carbon-based ring structures, high electrical mobility, high surface to volume ratio, stable atomic structure and zero band gap, which can enhance the performance of optical SPR sensor [14, 15]. Over the past few years, transition metal dichalcogenides (TMDCs) have shown their utility in electronic and optoelectronic area due to their unique optical and electrical properties [16-18]. A number of transition elements are included in TMDCs group, and it is represented as MX_2 , where M symbolizes the transition metal (such as Mo, W, Ta and Nb), and X symbolizes the chalcogen element (such as Te, S and Se). To obtain TMDCs, the transition metal is packed between two layers of chalcogen element and bonded to each other via van der Waals forces [16]. The most intriguing property of TMDCs layers useful for sensing is their adsorption capabilities better to graphene and their rate of light adsorption which may be tuned by changing their layer numbers. Number of researchers have tried TMDCS along with other 2D materials to enhance the SPR sensor performance [7, 17, 18]. Ouyang et al. proposed the TMDCs-based SPR sensor to improve the sensitivity and performance of SPR sensor. Their group obtained sensitivity (155.68°/RIU) for monolayer of WS₂ TMDC film [19]. Pal et al. proposed an Au-Si-BP-T_MDC SPR biosensor in visible region to achieve sensitivity up to 163.1°/RIU for monolayer WS_2 [7]. However, investigation of sensitivity for TMDCs-based SPR sensor in other wavelength region is still illusive. So, in this work, we proposed an, Au-Graphene-TMDCs-based SPR sensor for analyte detection at 600, 725 and 1024 nm operating wavelengths.

2 SPR Sensor Modeling

2.1 N-layer Modeling

Transfer matrix method and Fresnel equations are used for obtaining the characteristic of N-layer SPR sensor [9]. This method does not consider any approximations which makes it an efficient method to mathematically model a SPR sensor. The transverse magnetic (TM) light incident at SPR active metal layer at an angle θ_i , and the transmitted light is refracted at angle θ_N . The thicknesses of the k_{th} layer are denoted as d_k , dielectric constant (ε_k) and RI (n_k). On applying the boundary conditions, the tangential fields of *E* and *H* fields at first layer are related with the tangential field at last layer interface as follows; [10]

$$\left[\frac{E_1}{H_1}\right] = M\left[\frac{E_{N-1}}{H_{N-1}}\right] \tag{1}$$

where E and H are the tangential components of the electric fields and magnetic fields at the layer interface, respectively. M denotes the characteristics matrix of multilayer SPR sensor and given as:

$$M = \prod_{k=2}^{N-1} M_k = \begin{bmatrix} M_{11} & M_{12} \\ M_{21} & M_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2)

where

$$M_{k} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos \beta_{k} & -i \frac{\sin \theta_{k}}{q_{k}} \\ -i q_{k} \sin \beta_{k} & \cos \beta_{k} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3)

where

$$q_k = \frac{\left(\varepsilon_k - n_{BK7}^2 \sin^2 \theta_1\right)^{1/2}}{\varepsilon_k} \tag{4}$$

And

$$\beta_{k} = \frac{2\pi n_{k} \cos \theta_{k} (Z_{k} - Z_{k-1})}{\lambda} = \frac{\pi d_{k}}{2} \left(\varepsilon_{k} - n_{1}^{2} \sin^{2} \theta_{1} \right)^{1/2}$$
(5)

Reflection coefficients for TM light wave are:

$$r_p = \frac{(M_{11} + M_{12}q_N)q_1 - (M_{21} + M_{22}q_N)}{(M_{11} + M_{12}q_N)q_1 + (M_{21} + M_{22}q_N)}$$
(6)

And reflection intensity is

$$R_p = \left| r_p \right|^2 \tag{7}$$

The SPR curve is the variation of reflectance corresponding to incident angle of TM light wave. At specific incident angle, dip in reflectivity curve is obtained after

achieving resonance condition. The complete analytical analysis on the performance parameters of the sensor is carried out using MATLAB simulation software.

2.2 Performance Parameters of Sensor

The major performance factors of the SPR sensor are sensitivity and FWHM which helps to determine the other parameters like detection accuracy and the quality factor [7].

Sensitivity (S): sensitivity is most important parameter of SPR sensor that shows that how efficiently the sensor can detect the change in refractive index of sensing medium (Δn_s) with respect to change in SPR angle ($\Delta \theta_{SPR}$).

$$S = \frac{\Delta \theta_{\rm SPR}}{\Delta n_{\rm s}} \tag{8}$$

Full width half maximum (FWHM): The FWHM ($\Delta \theta_{0.5}$) is the angular width of the resonance curve corresponding to 50% reflectivity. It is defined as inverse of FWHM ($\Delta \theta_{0.5}$) of the reflection intensity curve. Its unit is Degree.

$$FWHM = \Delta\theta_{0.5} \tag{9}$$

Detection Accuracy: It is inversely proportional to angular width of SPR curve and its unit is $Degree^{-1}$.

$$DA = \frac{1}{FWHM}$$
(10)

2.3 Sensor Configuration

The proposed SPR sensor consists of four layers over the BK-7 prism, and the sensor configuration is shown in Fig. 1. Angular interrogation is used analyse sensor performance in both visible and infrared region by using excitation wavelengths 600, 785 and 1024 nm. BK-7 prism is used to couple incident p-polarized light form laser diode source to prism /metal interface in SPR sensor configuration [1, 7]. The selection of metallic film over the prism is essential in SPR sensor application. SPR active metal such as gold (Au), silver (Ag), aluminum (Al), copper (Cu), sodium (Na), etc., have lots of conduction band electrons which are able to resonate at incident light wave of particular wavelength [1, 20]. Gold (Au) is most practical and stable SPR active metal as compare to other metals because sodium is too reactive, aluminum,



silver and copper have problems related to oxidation [20]. So, we have chosen gold metal film over the prism to induce the SPs. The wavelength dependent refractive index of BK-7 prism is calculated by following equation [21]:

$$n_{BK7} = \left(\frac{1.03961212\lambda^2}{\lambda^2 - 0.00600069867} + \frac{0.231792344\lambda^2}{\lambda^2 - 0.0200179144} + \frac{1.03961212\lambda^2}{\lambda^2 - 103.560653}\right)$$
(11)

As per Drude's model, we can calculate refractive index of gold (Au) from following Eq. [20]:

$$n_{\rm m} = \sqrt{\varepsilon_{\rm m}} = \left[1 - \frac{\lambda^2 \lambda_{\rm c}}{\lambda_{\rm p}^2 (\lambda_{\rm c} + i\lambda)}\right]^{1/2}$$
(12)

where λ_p and λ_c show the plasma wavelength and collision wavelength of the gold film, and their values are 1.6826×10^{-7} m and 8.9342×10^{-6} m, respectively. The third layer over the gold thin film is graphene, and thickness of monolayer graphene is 0.34 nm, and its wavelength dependent refractive index can be expressed as [22, 24]:

$$n_{\rm G} = 3 + i\frac{c}{3}\lambda\tag{13}$$

where *c* is approximately equal to 5.44 μ m⁻¹. The fourth layer of proposed SPR sensor is of TMDCs (MoS₂, MoSe₂, WS₂ and WSe₂), their thicknesses and refractive indices at different wavelengths are shown in Table 1 [23]. Fifth layer of SPR sensor is of sensing medium those refractive index is 1.33 + Δn_s , where Δn_s represents the change in refractive index of sensing medium after absorption of analyte.

TMDCs	Thickness (nm)	Wavelengths			
		600 nm	785 nm	1024 nm	
MoS ₂	0.65	4.3934 + i1.2269	4.6348 + i0.1163	4.8690 + i0.2444	
MoSe ₂	0.7	4.7586 + i1.1504	4.2984 + i0.8225	3.8768 + i0.3561	
WS ₂	0.8	3.5202 + i0.6048	4.0123 + i0.0399	4.566 + i0.1058	
WSe ₂	0.7	4.5039 + i0.9340	4.3655 + i0.0367	5.0110 + i0.2562	

Table 1 Optical refractive indices and thickness of TMDCs at different operating wavelengths [23]

3 Results and Discussion

In this paper, three different wavelengths 600, 785 and 1024 nm are considered to study the performance of SPR sensor in visible and near infrared regions. So, firstly gold film thickness is optimized for proposed sensor configuration at three wavelengths. The thickness of gold layer is optimized in terms of minimum value of reflectance (R_{\min}) , at which maximum incident energy is transferred to SPW. To optimize the gold film thickness at three wavelengths 600, 785 and 1024 nm, Fig. 2a-c are plotted, respectively. Figure 2a shows the optimized value of gold film as 49 nm at which value of R_{\min} is minimum. The inset diagram within Fig. 2a shows the SPR curve with minimum reflectivity at different thicknesses of gold film i.e., 45, 50 and 55 nm. It is observed from inset diagram that the minimum value of R_{\min} is obtained near to the 50 nm (exactly at 49 nm optimized thickness from Fig. 2a) of gold film. At 785 nm operating wavelength too, the optimized thickness of gold layer is again 49 nm as shown in Fig. 2b. In Fig. 2c, the optimized value of gold thickness decreases to 44 nm at 1024 nm of wavelength, and inset diagram within Fig. 2c shows the maximum energy transfer to SPs at 44-nm-thickness of the gold film.

The angular interrogation technique is applied here to analyse the performance of the SPR sensor at three different wavelengths through SPR curves. Figure 3a–d shows the SPR curves for the different 2D TMDC materials as a binding layer for analytes. The SPR angles vary with the variation of RI of sensing medium (1.33–1.335) after analyte binding and show different performance factors at different operating wavelengths i.e., 600, 785 and 1024 nm. In Fig. 3a–d, the solid line and dashed SPR curve indicate the RI of sensing medium before and after adsorption of analytes at different operating wavelengths i.e., 600, 785 and 1024 nm.

Figure 3a shows the SPR curve for MoS₂ layer in SPR sensor, in which SPR angle shifts obtained are 0.91°, 0.599° and 0.506° with change in sensing medium RI, $\Delta n_s = 0.005$, corresponding to operating wavelengths 600 nm, 785 nm and 1024 nm, respectively. The minimum reflectance (R_{\min}) values at $n_s = 1.335$ are 0.222, 0.008 and 0.003 a.u., corresponding to 600, 785 and 1024 nm operating wavelengths , respectively. The SPR curve for MoSe₂ layer in proposed SPR is shown in Fig. 3b, where SPR angles shifts obtained are 0.933°, 0.597° and 0.511°, and minimum reflectance (R_{\min}) obtained are 0.26, 0.048 and 0.004 a.u. corresponding to operating wavelengths 600 nm, 785 nm and 1024 nm, respectively.



Fig. 2 Gold (Au) film thicknesses optimization curves of proposed SPR sensor at **a** 600 nm, **b** 785 nm and **c** 1024 nm of wavelengths of TM-polarized light

layer in proposed SPR is shown in Fig. 3c, where SPR angles shifts obtained are 0.932°, 0.6° and 0.509°, and minimum reflectance ($R_{min.}$) obtained are 0.124, 0.006 and 0.001 a.u. corresponding to operating wavelengths 600 nm, 785 nm and 1024 nm, respectively. Similarly, the SPR curve for WSe₂ layer in proposed SPR is shown in Fig. 3d, where SPR angles shifts obtained are 0.951°, 0.599° and 0.508°, and minimum reflectance ($R_{min.}$) obtained are 0.206, 0.005 and 0.003 a.u. corresponding to operating wavelengths 600 nm, 785 nm and 1024 nm, respectively. Then, SPR angle shift ($\Delta \theta_{SPR}$) and minimum reflectance ($R_{min.}$) are calculated from Fig. 3a–d to evaluate the sensor performance. Table 1 shows the fundamental performance factors of the SPR curves corresponding to different wavelengths (600, 785 and 1024 nm) for different TMDC materials i.e., MoS₂, MoSe₂, WS₂ and WSe₂ layer. The sensitivities of different TMDCs used in proposed SPR sensor at different operating wavelengths are also calculated by Eq. (8). It is clearly observed from Fig. 3a–d and Table 2 that narrower angular width of SPR curves i.e., better values of detection accuracy are obtained at higher wavelengths [20]. But, the higher sensitivities are obtained at



Fig. 3 SPR curves of proposed sensor on using TMDCs **a** MoS₂, **b** MoSe₂, **c** WS₂ and **d** WSe₂ with 1.33 (solid line) and 1.335 (dash line) RI of sensing medium at 600, 785 and 1024 nm wavelength

smaller wavelength i.e., 600 nm [20]. Thus, a tradeoff is observed between sensitivity, and detection accuracy is observed at different wavelength. Table 2 clearly suggests that the highest sensitivity (190.2°/RIU) is obtained for 2 layers of WSe₂ in proposed SPR at 600 nm operating wavelength, which is well justified with their order of light absorption capability [7]. Similarly, better detection accuracy is observed at higher wavelengths as per conventional trend observed in literature too. However, the best value of detection accuracy (0.347/°) is obtained for MoSe₂ layer in proposed SPR sensor at 1024 nm operating wavelength.

In Fig. 4a–d, we have plotted the SPR angle shifts ($\Delta\theta_{SPR}$) in terms of small refractive index changes (Δn_s) from 0.00025 to 0.0055 RIU for different 2D TMDC layers used in proposed SPR at operating wavelengths 600, 785 and 1024 nm. Figure 4a shows the comparative analysis of conventional SPR and proposed SPR on using 1, 2, 3 and 5 layer of WS₂. At operating wavelength 600 nm, the $\Delta\theta_{SPR}$ vary from 0.366° to 0.823°, 0.041° to 0.931°, 0.045° to 1.025°, 0.049° to 1.114° and 0.026° to 0.492° at variation n_s from 0.00025 to 0.0055 RIU for conventional SPR, mono layer, 2, 3 and 5 layer of WS₂-based SPR sensor, respectively. Figure 4b shows the $\Delta\theta_{SPR}$ vary from 0.366° to 0.823°, 0.042° to 0.954°, 0.045° to 1.027°, 0.038° to 0.821° and 0.008° to 0.140° at variation of n_s from 0.00025 to 0.0055 RIU for conventional SPR,

Table 2 Per	formance factors	of propose	ed SPR sei	nsor on usi	ng TMDCs at dif	fferent ope	rating wav	elengths w	ith $\Delta n_{\rm s} = 0.005$			
TMDCs	$\lambda = 600 \text{ nm}$				$\lambda=785~\mathrm{nm}$				$\lambda = 1024 \text{ nm}$			
	FWHM	$R_{ m min}$	S	DA	FWHM	$R_{ m min}$	S	DA	FWHM	$R_{ m min}$	S	DA
MoS_2	8.25	0.222	182	0.121	3.96	0.008	119.8	0.253	2.96	0.003	101.2	0.338
$MoSe_2$	8.47	0.26	186.6	0.118	4.39	0.048	119.4	0.228	2.88	0.004	102.2	0.347
WS_2	7.86	0.124	186.4	0.127	3.88	0.006	120	0.258	2.98	0.001	101.8	0.336
WSe ₂	8.48	0.206	190.2	0.118	3.87	0.005	119.8	0.258	3.04	0.003	101.6	0.329



Fig. 4 a-d The optimization of the TMDCs layers in terms of the change in resonance angle shift to the RI change of sensing medium at 600 nm

mono layer, 2, 3 and 5 layer of MoSe₂-based SPR sensor, respectively, at 600 nm wavelength. Figure 4c shows the change in resonance angle is vary from 0.036° to 0.785°, 0.042° to 0.906°, 0.046° to 0.997°, 0.044° to 0.919° and 0.009° to 0.150° at variation of $n_{\rm s}$ from 0.00025 to 0.0055 RIU for conventional SPR, mono layer, 2, 3 and 5 layer of WSe₂-based SPR sensor, respectively, at 600 nm wavelength. Figure 4d shows the $\Delta\theta_{\rm SPR}$ vary from 0.023° to 0.523°, 0.024° to 0.532°, 0.024° to 0.558°, 0.024° to 0.552° and 0.026° to 0.577° at variation of $n_{\rm s}$ from 0.00025 to 0.0055 RIU for conventional, mono layer, 2, 3 and 5 layer of MoS₂-based SPR sensor, respectively, at 600 nm savelength.

Among all TMDC layers used in proposed sensor configuration at three different operating wavelengths, the highest sensitivity is ensured for WSe₂ layer at 600 nm operating wavelength. The sensitivity of proposed SPR sensor is compared with other angle interrogated SPR sensor in literature and shown in Table 3. The sensitivity of proposed SPR using 2 layers of WSe₂ is highest (190.2°/RIU) among all other reported sensitivities. The WSe₂ TMDC layer is the promising for sensitivity enhancement of SPR sensor due to direct band gap, higher light absorption rate and minimum electron energy loss [7]. The stacking of 2D TMDC layers, results in more

Year	References	Configuration	λ (nm)	Sensitivity (°/RIU)
2014	Verma et al. [24]	Prism/Au/Graphene/Affinity Layer	633	33.98
2015	Maurya et al. [25]	Prism/Au/Si/MoS ₂ /Graphene/BRE	632.8	50.33
2018	Rahman et al. [26]	Prism/Au/WS ₂ -Graphene	633	95.71
2016	Mishra et al. [27]	Prism/Au/Silicon	632	106.29
2016	Ouyang et al. [28]	Prism/Au/Si/WS ₂	600	155.68
2017	Pal et al. [29]	Prism/Au/Si/BP/Binding Layer	633	180
2016	Lin et al. [30]	Prism/Au/MoS ₂ /Au/Graphene	633	182
_	Proposed work	Prism/Au/Graphene/WSe ₂	600	190.2

Table 3 Comparison of proposed SPR with other prism-based SPR sensors in visible range

absorption of TM light wave but angular width also increases due to its larger imaginary part of dielectric constant. Therefore, large number of TMDC layers are not optimum as it increases FWHM and resulting in loss of detection accuracy. Here, 2 layers of WSe₂ are optimized at 600 nm operating wavelength, as it results in highest sensitivity as compared to other TMDCs layers when used at 785 and 1024 nm operating wavelengths.

4 Conclusion

In this paper, we have numerically investigated SPR sensors based on 2D TMDCs (MoS_2 , $MoSe_2$, WS_2 and WSe_2) layer and graphene layer. To analyse the effect of wavelength on the sensing performance of SPR, we have investigated sensor performance at 3 different wavelengths, 600, 785 and 1024 nm. The thickness of gold film has been optimized at 49 nm for 600 nm and 785 nm of operating wavelength and at 44 nm for 1024 nm of wavelength of TM-polarized light. Among all TMDCs, use of WSe₂ established high sensitivity of 190.2°/RIU with minimum refractivity of 0.206 a.u. at 600 nm operating wavelength. SPR angle shifts are also analyzed for suitable range of refractive index of sensing layer on using different TMDCs at 600 nm wavelength.

References

 S. Pal, N. Pal, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Sensitivity analysis of surface plasmon resonance biosensor based on heterostructure of 2D BlueP/MoS2 and MXene, in ed. by I. Inamuddin, R. Boddula, M.I. Ahamed, A.M. Asiri. *Layered Advanced Materials and their Allied Applications* (2020). ISBN: 978-1-119-65496-4

- M.K. Singh, S. Pal, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Sensitivity enhancement using antimonene and BlueP/MoS₂ heterostructure in SPR sensor. IEEE Sens. Lett. 4(7), 1–4 (2020)
- 3. J. Homola, S.S. Yee, G. Gauglitz, Surface plasmon resonance sensors: review. Sens. Actuators B Chem. 54, 3–15 (1999)
- 4. R.W. Wood, A suspected case of the electrical resonance of minute metal particles for lightwaves. A new type of absorption, in *Proceedings of the Physical Society of London*, vol 18 (1902), pp. 166–182
- T. Haque, H.K. Rouf, A performance improved Kretschmann configuration based surface plasmon resonance (SPR) sensor, in 2019 1st International Conference on Advances in Science, Engineering and Robotics Technology (ICASERT) (IEEE, 2019), pp. 1–4
- S. Pal, A. Verma, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Figure of Merit enhancement of surface plasmon resonance biosensor using Ga-doped Zinc Oxide as transparent conducting oxide for plasmon generation in near infrared range. Photonic Sens. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13320-013-0118-3
- S. Pal, A. Verma, J.P. Saini, Y.K. Prajapati, Sensitivity enhancement using silicon-black phosphorus-TDMC coated surface plasmon resonance biosensor. IET Optoelectron. 13(4), 196–201 (2019)
- M.K. Singh, S. Pal, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Highly sensitive antimonene based SPR biosensor for miRNA Detection. Mater. Today Proc. 20(3), 1776–1780 (2020)
- S. Pal, A. Verma, S. Raikwar, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Detection of DNA hybridization using graphene coated black phosphorus surface plasmon resonance sensor. Appl. Phys. A 124, 394 (2018)
- S. Pal, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Influence of graphene's chemical potential on SPR biosensor using ZnO for DNA hybridization. Opt. Rev. 27, 57–64 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10 043-019-00564-w
- S. Pal, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, V. Singh, Sensitivity enhancement of metamaterial based surface plasmon resonance biosensor for near infrared. Opt. Appl. 46(1), 131–134 (2016)
- 12. S. Pal, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, V. Singh, Resolution enhancement of optical surface plasmon resonance sensor using metamaterial. Photonic Sens. **5**(4), 330–338 (2015)
- Q. Wang, X. Jiang, L.Y. Niu, X.C. Fan, Enhanced sensitivity of bimetallic optical fiber SPR sensor based on MoS2 nanosheets. Opt. Lasers Eng. 128, 105997 (2020)
- A. Verma, A. Prakash, R. Tripathi, Performance analysis of graphene based surface plasmon resonance biosensors for detection of pseudomonas-like bacteria. Opt. Quant Electron 47, 1197–1205 (2015)
- A. Kasry, et al., Electrical and optical properties of graphene mono- and multi-layers; towards graphene-based optoelectronics, in 2010 8th International Vacuum Electron Sources Conference and Nanocarbon, Nanjing (2010), pp. 119–120. https://doi.org/10.1109/IVESC.2010.564 4444
- K. Ren, M. Sun, Y. Luo, S. Wang, Y. Xu, J. Yu, W. Tang, Electronic and optical properties of van der Waals vertical heterostructures based on two-dimensional transition metal dichalcogenides: first-principles calculations. Phys. Lett. A 383(13), 1487–1492 (2019)
- B. Meshginqalam, J. Barvestani, Performance enhancement of SPR biosensor based on phosphorene and transition metal dichalcogenides for sensing DNA hybridization. IEEE Sens. J. 18(18), 7537–7543 (2018)
- M.S. Rahman, M.S. Anower, L.F. Abdulrazak, Utilization of a phosphorene-graphene/TMDC heterostructure in a surface plasmon resonance-based fiber optic biosensor. Photon. Nanostruct. Fundam. Appl. 35(3) (Article 100711) (2019)
- Q.L. Ouyang, S.W. Zeng, L. Jiang, Sensitivity enhancement of transition metal dichalcogenides/silicon nanostructure-based surface plasmon resonance biosensor. Sci. Rep. (2016)
- Y.K. Prajapati, S. Pal, J.P. Saini, Effect of metamaterial and silicon layers on performance of surface plasmon resonance biosensor in infrared range. Silicon 10(4), 1451–1460 (2017)

- G. Ghosh, Sellmeier coefficients and dispersion of thermo-optic coefficients for some optical glasses. Appl. Opt. 36, 1540–1546 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1364/AO.36.001540
- M. Bruna, S. Borini, Optical constants of graphene layers in the visible range. Appl. Phys. Lett, 94(3), 031901 (2009)
- Q. Ouyang, S. Zeng et al., Two-dimensional transition metal dichalcogenide enhanced phase sensitive plasmonic biosensors: theoretical insight. J. Phys. Chem. C 121(11), 6282–6289 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.6b12858
- A. Verma, A. Prakash, R. Tripathi, Performance analysis of graphene based surface plasmon resonance biosensors for detection of pseudomonas-like bacteria. Opt. Quantum Electron. 47(5), 1197–1205 (2014)
- 25. J.B. Maurya, Y.K. Prajapati, V. Singh, Performance of graphene–MoS₂ based surface plasmon resonance sensor using Silicon layer. Opt. Quantum Electron **47**, 3599–3611 (2015)
- M.S. Rahman, M.R. Hasan, K.A. Rikta, M.S. Anower, A novel graphene coated surface plasmon resonance biosensor with tungsten disulfide (WS₂) for sensing DNA hybridization. Opt. Mater. (Amst) 75, 567–573 (2018)
- A.K. Mishra, S.K. Mishra, R.K. Verma, Graphene and beyond graphene MoS₂: a new window in surface-plasmon resonance-based fiber optic sensing. J. Phys. Chem. C 120, 2893–2900 (2016)
- Q. Ouyang, S. Zeng, J. Li, L. Hong, G. Xu, X.Q. Dinh, J. Qian, S. He, J. Qu, P. Coquet, K.T. Yong, Sensitivity enhancement of transition metal dichalcogenides/silicon nanostructure-based surface plasmon resonance biosensor. Sci. Rep. 6 (2016)
- S. Pal, A. Verma, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Influence of black phosphorous on performance of surface plasmon resonance biosensor. Opt. Quantum Electron. (OQEL) 49(403), 1–13 (2017)
- Z. Lin, L. Jiang, L. Wu, J. Guo, X. Dai, Y. Xiang, D. Fan, Tuning and sensitivity enhancement of surface plasmon resonance biosensor with graphene covered Au-MoS₂-Au Films. IEEE Photon. J. 8(6), 1–8 (2016)

Integration of Mobile and Web Application with Accident Detection System



Meet Panchani, Kashyap Gohil, Devansh Saksena, Yash Panwar, Naja Makwana, and Rutu Parekh

1 Introduction

People use vehicles in their everyday lives. It makes a lot of things easier, but it also comes with its risks. Every day, thousands of vehicles are involved in accidents. According to WHO's Global status report on road safety 2018, every year the lives of approximately 1.35 million people are cut short as a result of a road traffic crash. Road traffic right crashes cost most countries 3% of their gross domestic product. A total of 93% of the world's fatalities on the roads occur in low- and middle-income countries, even though these countries have approximately 60% of the world's vehicles [1]. India, one of the most populous countries in the world, falls into the mentioned income country tier. A robust accident detection system and notification system (ADNS) can help to recover the losses caused by road accidents.

A wide range of vehicular encounters can turn out to be harmful accidents. In the paper by Khalil et al. [2], a brief review of the automatic road accident detection technique is presented. An automatic road accident detection technique based on lowcost ultrasonic sensors is proposed. In a system proposed in the paper [3], the accident detection system (ADS) uses GPS location tracking to detect the accident. GPS signal strength in the interior parts of the country where the network is an issue would make it difficult to detect the location. In [4], a novel vision-based road accident detection algorithm on highways and expressways is proposed. The algorithm consists of three main steps: motion detection, feature extraction and feature analysis, and accident recognition. A high computational load would require a high bandwidth internet connection for cloud computation or a heavier hardware system for the vehicle. Abnormality of the heart rate during stressful situations like accidents can be used for ADS [5]. This approach is not practical as the device to measure the heartbeat

M. Panchani (\boxtimes) · K. Gohil · D. Saksena · Y. Panwar · N. Makwana · R. Parekh DA-IICT, Gandhinagar, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_16
needs to be attached to the driver's body before every drive. The hassle of going through all that might lead the driver to not using the system at all. An approach described in the Bhatti et al. [6] resembles the ADNS, but it uses different parameters to check whether the accident has happened or not. The algorithm used in the system proposed here is more scalable. More sensors can be added to make the algorithm data-rich and more robust. This would help to make the predictions more accurate, and it would be precise in the details regarding the accident as well.

An hour after an accident is called "Golden Hour." If emergency medical service (EMS) is provided within this time, many lives can be saved. To provide EMS during this time, a real-time notification system paired with ADS can be of crucial importance. In the paper by Bonyár et al. [7], black box solutions for the notification system are discussed. Paper proposes the use of gadgets like e-call modules, smart tracker, etc. In [8], the notification system is suggested for the EMS provider to know about the accident. Incorporating GSM modules can be utilized to send SMS to the user's emergency contact [9, 10]. The use of mobile phones for accident detection is an idea that can be improved upon, i.e., using mobile phones to collect the data of the passengers [11].

A moderate hardware paired with the trivial notification system has been reported in [12]. The basic functionalities with a robust algorithm at its core are provided in the ADS. The notification system consists of a GSM module that sends an SMS whenever the accident has happened. The system proposed in this paper extends and improves upon the ideas of the notification system presented. The ADS proposed here consists of more than one sensor like an accelerometer and vibration sensor for better accuracy in the prediction. Adding more parameters in the already robust algorithm helps to achieve high accuracy. The notification system proposed in this paper uses a GSM module to send a message consisting of the details of the accident to the emergency contact number. A call is also made that communicates a pre-recorded message upon receiving the call. A mobile application and a web application are developed to pair with the ADS. The data collected from the mobile application are transmitted to the firebase cloud server. These data are then received and displayed on the web application. The mobile application is used to collect the data of the passengers and the driver, whereas the web application is developed to display the data collected from the accident site and the data gathered from the mobile application-all combined so that it can be seen together to establish a better understanding of the data and strategy for the EMS.

2 Overview of the Accident Detection and Notification System

The core of the ADNS is its algorithm. The algorithm is loaded inside the microcontroller. The hardware system is calibrated with the required data (i.e., the chassis number, time zone, etc.) and installed into the vehicle. The notification system



Fig. 1 Accident detection circuit diagram with all other modules

consists of a GSM–GPRS module and a web application. GSM module is used to send a message to the emergency contact that is provided using the mobile application. The GPRS module provides the geolocation of the accident site [13]. The mobile application also provides data about the passengers of the vehicle. This information can be crucial to recognize the victims of the accident. The web application is backed with the real-time firebase cloud server. Data gathered from the accident site, and the mobile application is sent to the firebase cloud server. Using the latitude and longitude from the retrieved data, the web application shows a pointer on the map on the site of the accident (Fig. 1).

When an accident happens, sensors used in the ADS feed in the data to the microcontroller. The microcontroller processes the data using an accident detection and severity prediction algorithm. The camera module and microphone, fit in front of the car, start recording audio and video. GPS module fetches the coordinates of the vehicle. All of these data are then sent to the firebase cloud server. On clicking the location pointer on the map in the web application, a pop-up screen appears where you can see the data about the accident sent by microcontroller from the ADS kit and the data added using the mobile application by the user. To identify every vehicle uniquely in the case of the accident, the chassis number of the vehicle is used as a unique key. All the data associated with the vehicle (driver, passenger details, their insurance number, accident details, etc.) are attached to the chassis number of that vehicle (Fig. 2).

Microcontroller and different modules were used to implement the ADS [14]. The microcontroller used in the circuit is Raspberry Pi as. The microcontroller runs the script to send the data to the firebase cloud server. In Fig. 2, the in–out flow of the microcontroller is shown. The controller is placed under the driver's seat of



Fig. 2 Block diagram of the accident detection and notification system

the vehicle enclosed in a hard case made of honeycomb maze aluminum at the inner surface and glass fiber on the outer surface to prevent or minimize the damage during an accident. The system remains safe for most of the accidents unless the accident is too severe for the car to survive.

The system is attached to a 12 V li-ion battery which is sufficient to provide the 5 V power supply needed to operate the system. The battery gets charged from the main vehicle battery constantly enabling the system to work even after the accident. Li-ion battery has enough power to keep the system running even if the Li-ion battery is disconnected from the car battery. Once the microcontroller is attached to the power line of the vehicle, ADS starts. The microcontroller provides the central servicing platform for all the modules and the algorithm. It also provides a connection between the ADS and the firebase cloud server.

The accelerometer, GSM–GPRS module, vibration sensor module, the camera modules are used in cooperation with the microcontroller to collect the necessary data and predict the severity of the damage caused by the accident. Accelerometer (MPU 6050 Board GY 521) and vibration sensor modules are the two sensory devices used in the circuit [15]. Connected to the microcontroller, the accelerometer measures acceleration with a minimum full-scale range of \pm 3 g. It can measure the static acceleration of gravity in tilt-sensing applications [3]. Using the difference in the acceleration, the severity of the accident is predicted [12]. Using the roll angle of the GY-521 module, the side of impact is decided [2]. The vibration sensor module provides us with the secondary confirmation of the accident detection. If the feedback from the vibration sensor module is above the accident potential threshold, the





microcontroller starts gathering data from other sensors and modules. Detailed use of the accelerometer and the vibration sensor is provided in the algorithm section (Fig. 3).

The GSM–GPRS Module (SIM 808 GSM–GPRS Module) helps to get the geolocation of the car and communicate. The module is paired with the microcontroller. GPRS module provides the geolocation of the car. Put in the vehicle with enough peripheral openings, a GPRS module gives the coordinates of the accident site. It gives the latitude and longitude that are sent to the firebase cloud server. GSM module is used for communication purposes. When the accident happens, all the data are gathered in the microcontroller and via the GSM module, SMS is sent to the emergency number that has been set using mobile applications. GSM module also provides the internet service needed for the connection with the online firebase cloud server. The microcontroller connects to the hotspot provided by the GSM module via Wi-Fi. Using the connection, the microcontroller sends the data to the online firebase cloud server. In the case of the weak internet connectivity, all the data gathered from different modules and sensors will be stored inside the memory card attached to the microcontroller. As soon as a connection is established, all of the saved data will be sent to the firebase cloud server.

The active buzzer module (KY-012) is used to notify the accident as a loud noise. Buzzer operates at 5 V. The power used by the buzzer module is 150 mW. It generates a sound of approximately 2.5 kHz when the accident is detected. The main purpose of the buzzer is to alert the upcoming vehicles about the accident. The buzzer module can be replaced with a more powerful module if the need be. The microcontroller would decide when to fire the buzzer. It is used to warn other people and cars coming in the direction of the accident site.

The camera module is placed in front of the car in a protective cover. Other modules are placed in the appropriate places. Unless the car encounters an accident, in which the car receives severe damage, modules would not be disconnected, and if such a case happens, the related field in the data will be empty so it can be recognized and fixed. In the scenario, where a module or sensor is unable to provide the feedback (module/sensor stops working, are broken, etc.), the data field for that particular module/sensor will be empty. That way we can check the sensor/module for which we get the empty field. A validation check for the data received from the sensors and modules helps to check whether the module or sensor is working properly or not. If the value of the data goes out of the bound set for the particular sensor/module, the module should be checked. Wild fluctuations in the data received on a consistent base would also mean malfunctioning of the sensor/module. Timely maintenance of the system is also required to ensure that there is no discrepancy in the data gathered from the sensor/module. The camera module along with the microphone is used to capture the video for a short amount of time after the accident. Both modules are connected to the microcontroller, and the recordings are sent to the firebase cloud server.

3 The Algorithm

The algorithm used in the microcontroller helps to determine the accident and also predicts the severity of the damage. Using all the feedback gathered from the sensors and accelerometer, it predicts the severity of the accident. The algorithm script also connects the ADS hardware with the online firebase cloud server.

In [12], if deceleration of a vehicle exceeds 5 g (where g = 9.8 m per s²), then it has to be considered as an accident. This threshold was set based on the fact that the maximum braking deceleration of *F*1 cars does not exceed 5 g. Therefore, any deceleration above 5 g is significant in an accident, but it is also mentioned in the paper that maximum braking deceleration for normal cars does not exceed 1 g because the maximum acceleration of the fastest car in the world is 1.55 g (approx. 1.5 g). Therefore, it can be concluded that any deceleration between 1.5 and 5 g indicates the possibility of an accident. For most of the cars, airbags get deployed if deceleration is in the range of 5–13 g or change in velocity of the car during a crash is in the range of 12.8 km per h. The following table gives us an idea about the severity of an accident. Here, *P* is the maximum deceleration magnitude and Delta-*V* changes in velocity (Table 1).

The acceleration or deceleration can be directly measured by using an accelerometer. Velocity is an integration of the acceleration signals. An increase or decrease in the velocity of the vehicle can be used to know the side of the impact of the accident. If the velocity of the vehicle has increased (vehicle has accelerated), the side

Table 1 Accident severity criteria	Accident severity	Condition	Severity
	(1.5 g < P < 5 g) and (Delta $V < 12.8 km/h)$	Moderate	
		(5 g < P < 13 g) or (12.8 km/h < Delta V < 22.5 km/h)	High
		(P > 13 g) or (Delta V > 22.5 km/h)	Extreme

of impact is from the backside. If the velocity of the vehicle has decreased (vehicle has decelerated), the side of impact is from the front side. Using the GY-521 module (accelerometer with gyroscope), the roll angle of the vehicle is found. If the roll angle is less than 90 - threshold, the side of impact is from the left side. If the roll angle is greater than 90 + threshold, the side of impact is from the right side [11]. The vibration sensor gives a LOW or HIGH output based on the threshold set for the vibration sensitivity. To set up the threshold for the vibration, changes can be made to the potentiometer readings. Using different variations, the threshold can be determined [12]. Using these two sensor's feedbacks, the algorithm predicts if the accident has happened or not. If all the necessary conditions are satisfied, then it will be declared as an accident.

After the incident is declared as an accident, the camera and microphone placed at the front of the vehicle are activated to take a short video footage of the surrounding and possibly detecting other damages (i.e., pedestrian impacted by the accident, other vehicles involved in the accident, etc.). The algorithm has a preset time after which video and audio recordings will end. After all the data are collected, it is sent to the remote firebase cloud server for which the destination link is calibrated in the algorithm.

4 Result and Discussion

After the accident occurs, all the data are collected from the respective modules. All these data are then sent to the emergency contact number using the GSM module. An SMS is also sent to the emergency contact number, so in the absence of the internet, help can still reach the victim. The message structure and details can be seen in Fig. 4.

The total energy consumption of the system is around 5.4 W when all the modules are active. Microcontroller, GY-521 (accelerometer with gyroscope), and vibration sensor are the only modules that stay active from starting the vehicle to turning it off. Other modules are activated only after the accident is detected and stay active for a short amount of time. Hence, using a commercial battery of 15,600 mAh, 12 V, the system can sustain for 52 h (if not connected to the car battery). Lower power consumption can be achieved by using Nitrogen8n mini instead of Raspberry Pi. Other modules such as GPS-GSM modules, camera modules can be changed to even lower power consumption.

Fig. 4 Message sent from the accident detection system

5:32 PM

Accidet Details: Severity: Extreme Side of impact: Front Side Link: <u>http://accidentdetection.com/</u> <u>fdh1dk548fd</u>

4.1 The Mobile Application

A mobile application is created to collect information about the driver, passengers, and vehicle in which the ADS hardware is implemented. The user has to enter the vehicle details like chassis number and insurance number of vehicles. This application collects details from the driver like name, mobile number, address, blood group, insurance number, number of passengers and also collects details of passengers like name, mobile number, address, blood group, and insurance number of passengers. Users can also remove and edit the details that were previously added and can also see the current details added for a particular vehicle. Figure 5 shows the process of how to enter all the required data in the mobile application.

This application has a login screen that requires authentication from the user. After logging in, the user can see the main screen as described in Fig. 5a. From the main screen, user can use one of the three features provided in the application: enter details of the vehicle as shown in Fig. 5b, enter details of the driver as shown in Fig. 5c, enter details of passengers as shown in Fig. 5d. After entering the details, if the user clicks on the submit button, all the details will be stored on a firebase database on a unique hardware id. The other feature is for view and removal of details as shown in Fig. 5e. This application is created using MIT App Inventor. Firebase database is used for storage purposes. From the Firebase database, web application can fetch and display the data on the screen when the user of the web application clicks on a particular pointer at the location of the accident.

4.2 The Web Application

The web application is used to display all the data gathered from the ADS. This application also provides authentication to secure your data. It shows all the data of the car accident within a year. The web application is made using tools like Express.js, HTML5, CSS3. This application uses the firebase for storage purposes. Web application requires the user to authenticate themselves. Once logged in, a screen with the map can be seen with location pointers. This location pointers show

Integration of Mobile and Web Application with Accident ...

ADNS		Enter vehicle details			
Add vehicle det	tails	Add		Chassis No.	Enter chassis number
Add driver details Add Add passenger details Add			nsurance No.	Enter insurance number	
View or remove any detail Click		After entering the details click here Submit			
Want to logout?	Logout (a)			Go back to main	(b)
Enter driver	details		Er	nter passen	iger details
Name	Enter name		Pa	ssenger No.	Number
Mobile No.	Enter mobile number		Na	me	Enter name
Address	Enter address		Мо	bile No.	Enter mobile number
Blood group	Enter blood group		Ade	dress	Enter address
Insurance No.	Enter insurance num	ber	Blo	od group	Enter blood group
Number of passengers	Enter a number		Ins	urance No.	Enter insurance number
After entering the	details click here	Submit	Aft Wa	er entering the output of the	details click here Submit
Go back to main s	(C)		Go	back to main s	creen Back (d)
	Driver	details Remove			
	Passeng	nger details er No. Numbe	er		
	View	Remove			
	Go back	to main screen	Back		

Fig. 5 Android application for ADS a main screen, b vehicle details, c driver details, d passenger details, e view or remove any details

the places of the accidents. As you click on the location pointer, a window emerges which contains all the details about the accident that has been transmitted from the ADS and the details of the car that has been entered from the mobile application.

The main part of the web application is the real-time database and storage done in the firebase. Firebase provides data, videos. When the accident happens, the data are collected and sent to the firebase server. The update is registered in the database. New coordinates that have been added in the database are instantly pinpointed on the web application using the real-time database. Firebase server also stores the video and audio data gathered from the accident spot which can be seen after clicking on the pinpoint.

In Fig. 6, there are sample images of the web application. Figure 6a shows the map with the location pointer. Location pointer is the coordinates of the accident site of the car. Clicking on the location pointer, details of the driver, and the passengers alongside the details of the car are shown in Fig. 6b.

With mobile application and web application as a notification system, communication problem during the accident in a remote area is solved. The details provided from the mobile application (i.e., blood group, insurance number, etc.) can be helpful if the person affected is seriously injured and needs to be hospitalized. The data received from the vehicle can be used by the insurance companies as a way to monitor the driving patterns of their client. This could help the companies as well as the person. A person with the bad driving patterns and habits can be warned not to be precarious during the driving.

5 Conclusion

Successful implementation of the hardware system integrated with web application and mobile application for the real-time accident detection and notification system has been achieved. The accident detection system and notification system have been tested rigorously to make the system fault safe. During the simulation of the accident, within the few milliseconds of detecting the accident, a message is sent to the mobile phone. All the details collected from the accident site are transmitted to the firebase cloud server. Data from the android application and data from the accident site are then integrated into the server in real-time. These data can be accessed from the web application instantaneously. Using this data and location coordinates, EMS providers can easily track the accident site and can provide the necessary assistance to the affected ones. Hence, it can be said that working on a robust algorithm, the ADNS can help to save many lives. The ADNS provides real-time assistance for the accident victims and also gives the user the hope of being rescued in the hard times in an accident.

Future Scope

The ADNS is working on a very robust algorithm, but more sensors can be added for more precision parameters to detect the accident. The video analysis with the high

Integration of Mobile and Web Application with Accident ...









Fig. 6 Web application for ADNS **a** Site of the accident, **b** overview for the details shown on the web application

bandwidth internet network can be used to guess the speed of the car and predict the accident [4].

References

- World Health Organization, Global status report on road safety. https://www.who.int/publicati ons/i/item/global-status-report-on-road-safety-2018. Last accessed 2020/06/21
- U. Khalil, T. Javid, A. Nasir, Automatic road accident detection techniques: a brief survey, in IEEE International Symposium on Wireless Systems and Networks (ISWSN), Lahore (2017), pp. 1–6
- S. Amin, J. Jalil, M.B. Reaz, Accident detection and reporting system using GPS, GPRS, and GSM technology, in *IEEE International Conference on Informatics, Electronics and Vision* (*ICIEV*) (IEEE, Dhaka, 2012), pp. 640–643
- N. Maaloul, A. Taleb-Ahmed, S. Nair, N. Hard, C. Valderrama, Adaptive video-based algorithm for accident detection on highways, in *12th IEEE International Symposium on Industrial Embedded Systems (SIES)* Toulouse (2017), pp. 1–6
- N. Kattukaran, A. George, M. Haridas, Intelligent accident detection and alert system for emergency medical assistance, in *IEEE International Conference on Computer Communication* and Informatics (ICCCI), Coimbatore (2017), pp. 1–6
- F. Bhatti, A.M. Shah, C. Maple, S. Islam, A novel internet of things-enable accident detection and reporting system for smart city environments. Sens. (Basel) (2019). https://doi.org/10. 3390/s19092071
- A. Bonyár, A. Géczy, O. Krammer, H. Sántha, B. Illés, J. Kámán, Z. Szalay, P. Hanák, G. Harsányi, A review on current eCall systems for autonomous car accident detection, in *IEEE 40th International Spring Seminar on Electronics Technology (ISSE)*, Sofia (2017), pp. 1–8
- N. Ahmmed, N.J. Jenny, N.F.A. Hoya, A.I.B. Alam, A. Arefeen, VADet: an Arduino based automated vehicle accident detection and messaging system, in *IEEE 1st International Conference on Advances in Science, Engineering and Robotics Technology (ICASERT)*, Dhaka (2019), pp. 1–5
- A. Hassan, M.A. Abbas, M. Asif, M.B. Ahmad, M.Z. Tariq, An automatic accident detection system: a hybrid solution, in *IEEE 4th International Conference on Information Systems Engineering (ICISE)*, Shanghai, China (2019), pp. 53–57
- J.M. Iqbal, S.H., Kousar, Automatic vehicle accident detection and reporting with black box, Int. J. Appl. Eng. Res. 10(87) (2015)
- 11. A.B. Faiz, A. Imtiaz, M. Chowdhury, Smart vehicle accident detection and alarming system using a smartphone, in *IEEE International Conference on Computer and Information Engineering (ICCIE)*, Rajshahi (2015), pp. 66–69
- 12. V. Patel, P. Rajput, R. Parekh, Real-time globally accessible accident notifications and tracking for the motor-vehicles, in *5th International Conference on Microelectronics, Computing and Communication Systems (MCCS-2020)*, Ranchi (2020)
- 13. T.H. Yee, P.Y. Lau, Mobile vehicle crash detection system, in *IEEE International Workshop on Advanced Image Technology (IWAIT)*, Chiang Mai (2018), pp. 1–4
- S.A. Hadi, A. Saha, F. Ahmad, M.S. Hasan, M.H. Milon, A smart accident detection and control system in vehicular networks, in *IEEE 5th International Conference on Networking, Systems,* and Security (NSysS), Dhaka, Bangladesh (2018), pp. 1–6
- F.W. Taj, A.M. Masum, S.M. Reza, K.A. Chy, I. Mahbub, Automatic accident detection and human rescue system: assistance through communication technologies, in *IEEE International Conference on Innovations in Science, Engineering and Technology (ICISET)*, Chittagong, Bangladesh (2018), pp. 496–500

Design and Analysis of Multiplexer Based D-Flip Flop Using QCA Implementation



181

Allam Naveen, C. V. Priyanka, and R. K. Kavitha

1 Introduction

With the rise in demand for faster operation and low power consumption for computing devices, we depend on reducing the transistor size and increasing the density of transistors per unit area. It is clear from the latest survey of ITRS-2015 [1] that the transistor could encounter the problem of the saturation point of scaling down the feature size by 2021. To meet future demands, quantum-dot cellular automata technology can be used as a better alternative to this CMOS technology for high-speed applications at the nano-scale with less power consumption [2, 3]. With the help of QCA technology, we can achieve significant improvements in the performance of clock frequency, density, scalability, and energy consumption when compared to corresponding implementations in CMOS VLSI technology. These advantages make the QCA technology favorable for digital applications where we require real-time data processes and less power consumption [2–4].

A large number of researches have been done on QCA and its circuit implementation on digital electronics in the past decade [2]. In high-speed synchronous systems, flip flops and latches require to operate at high speed. For achieving these high speeds, we use advanced pipelined architectures that require low pipeline overhead. This overhead is associated with the latency due to the flip flops. We can increase the speed of these systems by decreasing the latency of the flip flops. By improving these basic blocks, there will be a larger improvement in the working performance of complex circuits. A significant deal of work had been done in the past by researchers in designing flip flops with less power and latency [5, 6]. In this paper, a novel design of rising edge and falling edge-sensitive D-flip flops using QCA technology

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_17

A. Naveen · C. V. Priyanka · R. K. Kavitha (⊠)

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, National Institute of Technology, Tiruchirappalli 620015, India e-mail: rkkavitha@nitt.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022



Fig. 1 a QCA cells logic '0' and logic '1', b schematic of binary wire

is proposed and it is implemented with less number of cells in such a way that it leads to better performance characteristics such as the reduction in delay, improvement in area utilization factor and helps for faster operation.

1.1 QCA Fundamentals

The cell is the elementary building element in QCA. Every cell has a proper configuration of charge to represent a binary bit. A cell contains four metal islands called quantum dots which act as conductors. Each quantum dot in a cell shows quantum mechanical properties. The cellular automata concept is because at any given cycle the configuration of a given cell relies on the configuration of its neighboring cells during the previous cycle. These dots are situated where the charges sit. Between these four quantum dots, the electrons in the cell can tunnel. In order to reduce the Coulomb force of repulsion, the electrons will occupy opposite diagonal quantum dots because they are more stable than electrons in adjacent quantum dots. This effect results in two possible configurations, each one will be used to represent a binary logic state '0' or '1'as shown in Fig. 1a.

By simply placing a negative potential to a lead close to the quantum dot occupied by an electron, the logic can be altered. To reduce the columbic force of repulsion, the ground state of the next cell is changed. This interaction between the cells allows the transfer of the information which helps to replace the physical interconnection of the devices. In this way, logic '1' or '0' is transmitted from one cell to another and thus acts like a binary wire as given in Fig. 1b.

1.2 Basic Gate Implementation Using QCA

The Columbic forces of repulsion are used to design the majority voter gate and inverter. By placing two QCA cells diagonally, due to Coulomb force of repulsion they will have opposite polarizations as shown in Fig. 2a, which works as an inverter whose output is inverse of the input.

The majority voter gate returns output logic which is equal to the logic of the majority of the inputs. For example, if we take a 3-input majority gate, if the inputs



Fig. 2 QCA implementation of a inverter, b 3-input majority gate, c OR logic gate, d AND logic gate

are '110', then the output will be 1 which represents the most of the inputs. Hence, the final output function is given by $OUT = A \cdot B + B \cdot C + C \cdot A$ where A, B, C are data inputs and, OUT is the output of majority voter gate. QCA realization of the majority gate is shown in Fig. 2b.

When one of the inputs is fixed at 0, the majority gate works like AND gate. QCA realization of OUT = $A \cdot B$ (Boolean expression of AND gate) is shown in Fig. 2d. Similarly, the majority gate works like an OR gate, when one of the inputs is kept at 1. The QCA realization of OUT = A + B (Boolean expression of OR gate) is shown in Fig. 2c

2 Implementation of Proposed D-FF Using QCA

Flip flop is a fundamental block of any sequential logic circuit, hence constructing flip flops using QCA technology is one of the prime importance of current research. Flip flops are used for memory storage as well as for data processing. The major functions of D-flip flop are to provide a delay in timing circuits, sampling data at specific intervals.

2.1 Proposed Positive Edge-Triggered D-FF

The schematic diagram of the proposed positive edge-triggered flip flop is shown in Fig. 3a. The clock is used as a select for the first mux and clock is used as a select for the second mux. When the clock is LOW, i_0 is selected in the first mux and the output of the first mux is D which becomes available as an input of i_0 of second mux. When the clock rises from LOW to HIGH, the first mux continues to be in the previous state, and for the second mux since clock is LOW, i_0 of second mux is selected and already available D at i_0 of the second mux comes out as output. Thus, the above circuit acts as the rising edge D flip flop. Figure 3b shows the QCA realization of the proposed rising edge-triggered D flip flop design.

2.2 Proposed Negative Edge-Triggered D-FF

In Fig. 4a, clock is used as select for the first mux and clock is used as select for



Fig. 3 a Schematic diagram of proposed positive edge-triggered FF, b proposed positive edge-triggered FF in QCA



Fig. 4 a Schematic of proposed negative edge-triggered FF, b proposed negative edge-triggered FF in QCA

the second mux. When the clock is HIGH, i_o is selected in the first mux and the output of the first mux is D which becomes available as input of i_o of second mux. When the clock falls from HIGH to LOW transition, the first mux continues to be in the previous state, and for the second mux since the clock is low, i_o is selected and already available D at i_o comes out as output. Thus, the above circuit acts as the falling edge or negative edge D-flip flop. Figure 4b shows the QCA realization of falling edge-triggered D-FF design.

2.3 Proposed Design of D-FF with Set/Reset Ability

Asynchronous inputs: In a flip flop, those inputs which can control outputs independent of clock signal status are called asynchronous inputs. Asynchronous inputs in a given flip flop are preset and clear. The 'preset' changes FF output to logic 1 and the 'clear' resets the output to 0.

In our proposed work, rising and falling edge-triggered D-flip flops with asynchronous Set/Reset are implemented. In our design (shown in Fig. 5a, b), a 2:1 multiplexer (mux3) is used for adding Set/Reset functions for the proposed flip flop



Fig. 5 Schematic diagram of proposed D-flip flop with asynchronous set/reset abilities **a** rising edge triggered, **b** falling edge triggered, proposed D-flip flop with asynchronous set/reset abilities in QCA, **c** rising edge, **d** falling edge

designs. In this asynchronous Set/Reset design, the input of D-flip flop is D and the output of D-flip flop is represented as Q. Q is given as i_o for mux3 and Set/Reset (s/\overline{r}) signal as i_1 for mux3 and control (C) is the select for mux3 and the output (Q_{out}) of the mux3 gives the required output with asynchronous Set/Reset abilities.

$$Q_{\rm out} = Q \cdot \overline{C} + (s/\overline{r}) \cdot C$$

The proposed circuit uses a simple 2:1 mux to include asynchronous Set/Reset inputs. With the help of the control line, we can enable the Set/Reset ability which is shown in Fig. 5c, d

2.4 Implementation of 3-Bit Shift Register Using Proposed D-FF

Flip flops have the ability to store a single bit of data. In order to store more than one bit of data, we have to use registers which use multiple flip flops connected in a serial manner. For transferring the data bits stored within these registers, we have to use the clock signal as shown in Fig. 6a. In our proposed design of 3-bit shift register, 3 flip flops are connected serially.

The clock generator and the delay generator circuits [7] are used to implement the shift register. The control inputs (C3 and C4) in the clock generator are to activate the pulse generator to get the output pulse needed. The function of the control inputs is as follows:

- 1. If C3 = 0 and C4 = 1, then the pulse generator acts as a positive edge-triggered pulse generator.
- 2. If C3 = 1 and C4 = 0, then the pulse generator acts as a negative edge-triggered pulse generator.

In our proposed design, the positive edge-triggered pulse generator [7] has been used. For the function of the proposed shift register C5 of the delay generator is taken as 0. The delay generator is used to fix the timing issues between two Flip flops. Figure 6b, c shows the QCA implementation and its corresponding output waveforms.

3 Simulation Results and Discussions

QCA designer software version 2.0.2 has been used for simulating the proposed design. Bistable approximation engine has been used for simulating the circuits because it provides faster capability and all other simulation parameters and software settings were kept in a default configuration.



Fig. 6 a Schematic diagram of 3-bit serial shift register. b Schematic of 3-bit serial shift register using QCA. c Waveform of 3-bit serial shift register

We analyzed and verified the working of proposed designs for different kinds of inputs by using a Vector Table. QCA DesignerE has been used for finding the energy dissipation data.

The QCA circuit in [8] uses the master–slave configuration, and it contains 133 QCA cells and the latency of the circuit is two clock cycles. The multiplexer-based D-flip flops proposed in [9] have Set/Reset ability. This design occupies less cell area and less no. of cells compared to previous works of its time.

The flip flop proposed in [8] uses more no. of QCA cells which occupies more amount of area and has a latency of 2 clock cycles. The flip flop designed in [9] contains 56 cells and covers an area of $0.06 \,\mu$ m² and has a delay of 2.5 clock cycles which is high. To decrease the area and latency, we are using a mux-based flip flop design which decreases area and latency.

The cell count is 43 cells, the area occupied is $0.03 \,\mu m^2$ and the latency is 1.5 in our proposed edge-triggered D-flip flop (both positive and negative edge-sensitive). The cell count is 58 cells, the area occupied is $0.05 \,\mu m^2$ and the latency is 2.5 clock cycles for the proposed edge-triggered D-flip flop (both positive and negative edge-sensitive) with asynchronous Set/Reset inputs. Table 1 shows the performance comparison of the proposed flip flops with the various flip flop designs. Table 2 illustrates the power performance of the proposed designs. Table 3 gives the performance parameters of the 3-bit shift register implemented using the proposed D-flip flop. From Table 1, we can infer that the proposed D-flip flop is an improved version of erstwhile works in terms of cell count, area, and latency.

	Cell count	Area (µm ²)	Delay (clock cycle)	Set/reset ability
[8]	133	0.16	2.0	No
[9]	56	0.06	2.5	No
Proposed	43	0.03	1.5	No
[9]	79	0.12	3.0	Asynchronous
Proposed	58	0.05	2.5	Asynchronous

Table 1 Performance comparison of various flip flops with proposed D-flip flops

 Table 2
 Power performance of the proposed D-flip flop

Total energy dissipation (meV)	Average energy dissipation per cycle (meV)	Set/reset ability	Sensitive
2.38	0.216	No	Positive
2.15	0.196	No	Negative
29.7	2.7	Asynchronous	Positive
27.8	2.52	Asynchronous	Negative

Table 3 Performance analysis of 3-bit serial shift register	3-bit shift register parameters	Data
	Total area	$0.52 \ \mu m^2$
	QCA cell count	359
	Total energy dissipation	1.38e-001 eV
	Average energy dissipation per cycle	1.25e-002 eV

4 Conclusion

The proposed QCA design of positive and negative edge-triggered D-flip flop consists of 43 cells, area = $0.03 \ \mu m^2$, delay = 1.5 clock cycles. Proposed QCA design of positive and negative edge-triggered D-flip flop with asynchronous Set/Reset consists of 58 cells, area = $0.05 \ \mu m^2$, delay = 2.5 clock cycles. There is a 23% decrease in cell count, a 50% decrease in area, a 40% decrease in latency in our design of edge-triggered D-flip flop when compared to the existing circuits. There is a 27% decrease in cell count, a 58% decrease in area, a 17% decrease in latency in our design of edge-triggered D-flip flop with asynchronous Set/Reset ability when compared to the existing circuits. An efficient shift register QCA circuit has been implemented using the proposed D-flip flop circuit. Thus, our proposed design reduces the no. of QCA cells used, the occupied area, and the latency when compared to the past works. Dual edge-sensitive Flip flop can also be designed using the proposed flip flop. For the proposed design, synchronous Set/Reset capability can be added. It can be used in designing digital circuits such as counters, registers, memory cells.

References

- 1. International technology roadmap for semiconductors (ITRS) (2015)
- S. Babaie, A. Sadoghifar, A.N. Bahar, Design of an efficient multilayer arithmetic logic unit in quantum-dot cellular automata (QCA). IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. II Exp. Briefs 66(6), 963–967 (2019)
- N. Safoev, J.-C. Jeon, Design of high-performance QCA incrementer/decrementer circuit based on adder/subtractor methodology. Microprocess. Microsyst. 72 (2020)
- 4. M.M. Abutaleb, A novel true random number generator based on QCA nanocomputing. Nano Commun. Netw. **17**, 14–20 (2018)
- A. Chakrabarty, D.K. Mahato, A. Banerjee, S. Choudhuri, M. Dey, N.K. Mandal, A novel design of flip-flop circuits using quantum dot cellular automata (QCA), in *IEEE 8th Annual Computing* and Communication Workshop and Conference (CCWC), Las Vegas, NV (2018), pp. 408–414
- S. Hashemi, K. Navi, New robust QCA D flip flop and memory structures. Microelectron. J. 43(12), 929–940 (2012)
- M. Goswami, M. Chowdhury, B. Sen, Design of configurable sequential circuits in quantum-dot cellular automata. arXiv preprint arXiv:1708.07616 (2017)
- M.A. Dehkordi, M. Sadeghi, A new approach to design D-FF in QCA technology, in *Proceedings* of 2nd International Conference on Computer Science and Network Technology, Changchun (2012), pp. 2245–2248

9. R. Binaei, M. Gholami, Design of multiplexer-based D flip-flop with set and reset ability in quantum dot cellular automata nanotechnology. Int. J. Theor. Phys. **58**, 687–699 (2019)

A Novel High-Throughput Medium Access Control Protocol for Concurrent Transmissions in Internet of Things



Shubham Gupta, Arun Kumar Khosla, Pawan Kumar Verma, and Rajesh Verma

1 Introduction

Today, the Internet-of-things (*IoT*) paradigm has become a necessity of the world. The term "IoT" is mainly concerned with the interconnectivity of smart devices or "things" to analyze the situation and perform accordingly. A large number of such devices are deployed to perform multiple tasks in certain geographical areas [1]. While having such a smart scenario, we still have some limitations. To accommodate a large number of devices which are trying to communicate with each other, we need to find a way to use the channel efficiently so that concurrent transmissions could take place [2].

To support massive channel access in *IoT*, we have several contention-based *MAC* protocols (such as *CSMA*, *ALOHA* and *Slotted-ALOHA*) and reservation-based *MAC* protocols (such as *TDMA*, *FDMA*, *CDMA* and *IEEE* 802.11 *DCF*). Out of these medium access control protocols, *CSMA* and *IEEE* 802.11 *DCF* have been regarded as the best contention-based and reservation-based *MAC* protocols, respectively, for a wireless ad hoc network. But still, these protocols have some restrictions as they do not allow concurrent transmission with devices in its proximity range even if it is

A. K. Khosla e-mail: khoslaak@nitj.ac.in

P. K. Verma e-mail: rkishor@kku.edu.sa

R. Verma

191

S. Gupta (🖂) · A. K. Khosla · P. K. Verma

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Dr. B.R. Ambedkar National Institute of Technology, Jalandhar, Punjab, India

Department of Electrical Engineering, King Khalid University, Abha, Saudi Arabia e-mail: vermapk@nitj.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_18

possible [3, 4]. Thus, in this paper, we propose an *HT-MAC* protocol that supports concurrent transmission.

High-throughput *MAC* (*HT-MAC*) for concurrent transmission has a time frame structure, where each frame is comprised of two portions: one is contention interval (*CI*) and another is transmission interval (*TI*), where *CI* supports *CSMA/CA*, while *TI* supports concurrent transmission [5].

The rest of the sections in this paper are organized as follows. In Sect. 2, we highlight the background and related work. Section 3 is further categorized in three subsections, first one explaining the network scenario, where the proposed *HT-MAC* protocol is used. The second subsection explains the operation of each time frame, and finally, the third subsection briefly summarizes the operation of *CT-MAC* protocol. Section 4 covers the simulation results followed by the conclusion in Sect. 5.

2 Background and Related Work

Several attempts have been made earlier in single-hop multiple concurrent transmissions just to enhance the throughput of the network. As 802.11 *DCF* is a four-way handshaking mechanism, some researchers have modified the protocol by inserting an Addition Control Gap (*ACG*) between *RTS/CTS* and *DATA* packets for concurrent transmission scheduling. This gives the neighboring nodes within the proximity range of the primary nodes (which first schedule their transmission) to attempt for the channel access for transmission (only during the *ACG* period). In *MBAA-MAC* protocol [6], such concurrent transmissions take place. Though this protocol outperforms the *IEEE 802.11DCF*, still it has a multi-beam direction antenna that reduces the coverage of antenna. Therefore, it may cause the communication links to break in the network. Additionally, in the *POWMAC* protocol [7], the concurrent transmission is possible, but at the cost of a large number of limitations, and requires an additional hardware. That could make its commercial implementation complex.

3 System Model

In this section, we discuss a network scenario having densely deployed devices enabled with *CT-MAC* protocol. In this scenario, all the deployed devices are in the proximity range of gateway. It also explains the operation of time frame of the proposed *HT-MAC* protocol, along with the brief details of *CT-MAC* protocol.

3.1 Network Scenario

Figure 1 shows 3 crystal-like networks having one backbone network (gateway) along with 14 multi-sub-networks (nodes) in each crystal. All the sub-networks are in the proximity range of the backbone network and are *CT-MAC* enabled. The backbone network controls different sub-networks and acts as a medium between the device domain and the application domain as shown in the system model in [8]. On the one hand, it collects and transfers data to the application domain, while, on the other hand, it notifies devices about the contention among devices and subsequent transmissions from those devices using the frame structure as shown in Fig. 2. The gateways manage access control, security-related issues, multimedia conversion and quality of services (QoS).

In our proposed scenario, we assume there are total P devices, and the number of active devices is Q during single-frame transmission. Therefore, during each frame,



Fig. 1 A scenario of 42 sub-network having 3 backbone networks



Fig. 2 Shows the frame categorization of the CT-MAC protocol

we have (P-Q) silent devices that are in power-saving mode. Also after *CI*, let *R* devices succeed which means (Q-R) devices fail to participate in that frame. Hence, *R* devices win the *TDMA* time slots and transmit data during the *TI* period.

3.2 Time-Frame Structure Operation

Figures 2 and 3 show the each frame categorization of the proposed *HT-MAC* protocol. The frame is comprised of 4 parts, namely notification interval (*NI*), contention interval (*CI*), time-slot assignment interval (*TAI*) and transmission interval (*TI*). Initially, the gateway announces to the devices (*P*) about the arrival of *CI* frames during its *NI* period. During *CI* all the active devices *Q* participate to access the channel. *CI* follows a *p*-persistent *CSMA* protocol and makes *R* devices succeed.



Fig. 3 The concurrent transmission management in each time slots

As soon as the *CI* period ends, the gateway announces the declaration to all the active devices that contention period is over and TI is about to begin. All this broadcasting happens during the TAI period. In addition to this, the gateway also distributed the time slots to each qualifying device. Now TI follows time division multiple access (TDMA) mechanism and allots the different time slots to all the successful devices (R) [8]. Now, as all the devices are CT-MAC enabled; therefore, in each TDMA time slot, there will be multiple concurrent transmissions as shown in Fig. 3. Thus, on a complete note, our protocol utilizes the services of *p*-persistent CSMA [9], TDMA [10], and CT-MAC [5] protocol. Additionally, due to these concurrent transmissions within each TDMA time slot, the proposed protocol exhibits significant increase in throughput and decrease in end-to-end delay among adjacent node transmissions. As shown in Fig. 2 given, S1, S2, S3, ..., Sn are equal time slots of TI. As soon as the gateway receives the small transmission request messages during CI period from the devices within its proximity range, it starts assigning different time slots to different devices one by one. Such a scenario is shown in Fig. 3, where three transmitters A, C and E are transmitting data concurrently to their respective receivers B, D and F.

Note that each device is *CT-MAC* protocol enabled and its operation is described below in the next subsection. In our time frame structure, we fix the duration of each frame as *T* frame that should always be greater than the sum of *T*CI and *T*TI, i.e.,

$$T_{\rm frame} > T_{\rm TI} + T_{\rm CI} \tag{1}$$

Thus, it is interesting to observe that if we increase the CI duration, TI duration will decrease. Moreover, the count of successful devices will also increase and now we have fewer transmission slots available resulting in lesser no. of transmissions. On the other hand, if we invert the scenario such that the TI duration is increased, then CI duration will automatically decrease, and we will be left with more number of transmission slots but less number of successful devices from contention. Thus, we need to balance the situation as shown in [8]. Moreover, the mathematical modeling and experimentation of this time-frame structure have already been discussed in [11].

3.3 Operation of CT-MAC Protocol

CT-MAC is the modified or extended form of the original *IEEE 802.11 DCF*. The concept of a negative *CTS* packet is added along with *ATS* (adjust-to-send or abrogate-to-send) packet that allows concurrent transmissions. Normal *CTS* (clear-to-send) packet from the receiver informs the transmitter that it is ready to receive *DATA* just like *IEEE 802.11 DCF*, while in *CT-MAC*, depending on the situation, receiver is free to modify the values of *T* data and *T* clk delivered by the transmitter in the *RTS* packet and overwrites the new value [5].

In Fig. 3 shown above, node A transmits an RTS packet to receiver node B that includes A's start time of data packet (T_{data}) and B's ACK packets starting time (Tclk). These nodes are called the primary transmitter–receiver pair. During this duration,

C and *E* are free to initiate their exchange process. But, as *C*, and *E* cannot schedule their transmissions to *D* and *F*, before that of *A*, they are called secondary transmitter and receiver pairs, respectively [5].

The *ATS* packet for the secondary transmitter acts in two situations. Firstly, when the secondary receivers (D and F) modify the values of T data or T clk set by the secondary transmitter, *ATS* from the secondary transmitter informs the neighbors about the modification. Secondly, when it is not possible for the secondary receiver to receive the data, it sends a negative *CTS* packet, and accordingly, *ATS* from the secondary transmitter informs the neighbors to cancel the schedule [5].

Moreover, the *ACK* packet is synchronized in such a way that all the slave receivers send the packets in sequence after the one master receiver sends. Thus, this eliminates the risk of collision between *ACK* and *DATA* packets. The detailed operation is shown in [5].

4 Simulation Results

We have simulated the scenario on network simulator (version 2.35) ns-2 [12], on UBUNTU 12.04 LTS platform. The simulation parameters are summarized in Table 1. We have compared the performance of *HT-MAC* and *IEEE 802.11 DCF* in terms of per time-slot throughput as shown in Fig. 4a–c. We consider the data packet as fixed

Table 1 Simulation		1
parameters	Propagation model	Free space path loss model
purumeters	Data packet size	2 KB
	Data rate	2 Mbps
	Area of transmission	800*800 m ²
	SINR	6 dB
	Frame duration (<i>T</i> frame)	1500 ms
	Interval for individual IoT device	2.5 ms
	Notification Interval duration (<i>T</i> NI)	8 us
	Contention Interval duration (<i>TCI</i>)	10.5 us
	Time-slot announcement interval duration (<i>T</i> TAI)	10.5 us
	Acknowledgement duration (TACK)	8 us
	Short inter-frame space duration (<i>T</i> SIFS)	2.5 us
	Back-off inter-frame space duration (<i>T</i> BIFS)	7.5 us



Fig. 4 a Throughput of *HT-MAC* versus *IEEE 802.11 DCF* protocol when m = 2. b Throughput of *HT-MAC* versus *IEEE 802.11 DCF* protocol when m = 3. c Throughput of *HT-MAC* versus *IEEE 802.11 DCF* protocol when m = 4

2 KB in size. Here, we have considered three different scenarios of concurrent transmissions with corresponding simulation results showing significant improvement in the throughput.

First, we consider a square area (800×800) m², where nodes are placed randomly in a grid topology, total grid having split n * n small squares. Let us consider there are *m* concurrent transmissions in each *TDMA* time slot, and the transmitter devices are always ready to send packets. In contrary to this concurrent transmission, in *IEEE* 802.11 DCF protocol, there will be only one transmission at a time.

The performance shown in Fig. 4 indicates that the density of nodes directly affects the overall throughput of the network of our proposed *HT-MAC* protocol. As the node-density increases, throughput increases, and the average spacing between the transmitter and receiver node (neighboring grids) decreases. Therefore, it allows more concurrent transmissions, which in turn increases the overall throughput of the network.

5 Conclusion

In this paper, we have proposed the *HT-MAC*, a high-throughput medium access control protocol for densely deployed IoT devices. The proposed protocol is capable of allowing maximum possible concurrent transmissions per *TDMA* time slot. The proposed protocol consists of a time frame containing contention interval (*CI*) enabled with *CSMA/CA* protocol and a transmission interval (*TI*) enabled with *TDMA* scheme. Within each *TDMA* time slot, the devices use the *CT-MAC* protocol for concurrent transmissions. We have simulated the scenario, where the communicating devices are placed in a random grid topology. We have positioned each node in such a way that each of them is within the proximity range of the gateway. The simulation results show more than 150% increase in per time-slot throughput in comparison with the standard *IEEE 802.11* protocol.

References

- 1. M. Chen, J. Wan, F. Li, Machine to machine Communication: architectures, standards, and applications. KSII Trans. Internet Inf. Syst. **6**(2) (2012)
- P.K. verma, R. Verma, A. Prakash, A. Agrawal, K. Naik, R. Tripathi, M. Alsabaan, T. Khalifa, T. Abdelkader, A. Abogharaf, Machine-to-machine (M2M) communication: a survey. J. Netw. Comput. Appl. 66, 83–105 (2016)
- I. Rhee, A. Warrier, M. Aia, J. Min, M.L. Sichitiu, Z-MAC: a hybrid MAC for wireless sensor networks. IEEE Trans. Netw. 16(3), 511–524 (2008)
- P.K. Verma, R. Tripathi, K. Naik, A robust hybrid-MAC protocol for M2M communications, in 5th IEEE InternationalConference on Computer and Communication Technology (ICCCT) (2014), pp. 267–271

- W. Yu, J. Cao, X. Zhou, X. Wang, K.C.C. Chan, A.T.S. Chan, H.V. Leong, A high-throughput MAC Protocol for wireless Ad Hoc networks, in *Proceedings of the Fourth Annual IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications Workshop* (2006)
- R. Verma, A. Prakash, P.K. Verma, N. Tyagi, R. Tripathi, A novel MAC protocol for MANETs using smart antenna system, in *IEEE International Conference on Power, Control* and Embedded Systems (ICPCES) (2010), pp. 1–6
- M. Krunz, A. Muqattash, POWMAC: a single-channel power control protocol for throughput enhancement in wireless ad hoc networks. IEEE J. Select. Areas Commun. 23(5), 1067–1084 (2005)
- 8. P.K. Verma, A. Prakash, R. Tripathi, R. Verma, K. Naik, A novel scalable hybrid-MAC protocol for densely deployed M2M networks, in 2015 International Conference on Computational Intelligence and Communication Networks
- R. Bruno, M. Conti, E. Gregori, Optimal capacity of p-persistent CSMA protocols. IEEE Commun. Lett. 139–141 (2003)
- 10. G.S. Tomar, B.K. Chaurasia, Modified stream control transmission protocol over broadband high latency networks, in *IEEE International Conference AMS 2008* (2008), pp. 6
- 11. P.K. Verma, R. Verma, A. Prakash, R. Tripathi, K. Naik, A novel hybrid medium access control protocol for inter-M2M communications. J. Netw. Comput. Appl. (2016)
- 12. 'The network simulator (ns-2) home page. http://www.isi.edu/nsnam/ns/

A Comparative Investigation of SiGe Junctionless Triple Gate (JLTG) and Junctionless Gate-All-Around (JL-GAA) MOSFET



Abhinav Gupta, Vikrant Varshney, Adarsh Vishwakarma, Arunabh Kishore, Atul Pal, Piyush Mishra, Varnika Pathak, and Ziya ur Rahman

1 Introduction

According to the International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS) roadmap [1], the MOSFET sizes shrinking conventionally down to the nanometer regime. We are facing with short channel effects (SCEs) [2, 3] like poor sub-threshold swing, high drain-induced-barrier-lowering (DIBL), increased leakage currents, etc., leading to sub-optimal performance of transistors [4, 5]. Researchers have studied several architectures and techniques like junctionless devices [6], multi-gate architecture [7], hetero-high-κ gate oxides [8], lower doping concentrations, high mobility substrate materials that allow lower device size, but without the disadvantage of severe SCEs [9, 10]. Saini et al. showed that among all other multi-gate architectures, triple gate junctionless devices exhibit superior gate controllability [11–14]. Recently, gate-all-around nanowire has become a promising architecture for scaling of MOSFETs [15, 16].

In this paper, we compare two junctionless multi-gate (JLMG) architectures: junctionless gate-all-around (JL-GAA) and junctionless triple gate (JLTG) each with different high- κ gate oxides to further improve the gate control. These devices derive the advantage of high mobility of Silicon–Germanium material (1538 cm²/V · s at 6 × 10¹⁷ cm⁻³ doping) [17]. Section 2 explains the structure and simulation of these devices. Section 3 comprises extensive comparison between the devices basis electrostatic, analog and RF parameters. Conclusions are summarized in Sect. 4.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_19

A. Gupta · A. Vishwakarma · A. Kishore (⊠) · A. Pal · P. Mishra · V. Pathak · Z. Rahman Department of Electronics Engineering, Rajkiya Engineering College Sonbhadra, Churk 231206, India

V. Varshney

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Meerut Institute of Engineering and Technology, Meerut 250005, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 201 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

2 Device Structure and Simulation

Two junctionless devices of Silicon–Germanium material are discussed, both with a uniform n-type doping concentration of 3×10^{19} cm⁻³, gate electrode workfunction 5.0 eV, and channel length of 20 nm. The junctionless gate all-around (JL-GAA) device has a circular cross section of SiGe substrate (diameter 6 nm). Figure 1 shows the 3D and 2D representation of the JL-GAA device, which has two layers of oxides, HfO₂ ($\kappa = 22$) of thickness 2.5 nm stacked over SiO₂ ($\kappa = 3.9$) of thickness 0.5 nm [insert Arunabh/16]. The junctionless triple gate (JLTG) device has a rectangular cross section of SiGe substrate (6 nm × 6 nm). Figure 2 shows the 3D and 2D representation of JLTG device, which includes four oxide materials. SiO₂ ($\kappa = 3.9$) and Si₃N₄ ($\kappa = 7.5$) with thickness 0.5 nm constitute the bottom oxide layer. HfO₂ ($\kappa = 22$) and Al₂O₃ ($\kappa = 9$) with thickness 2.5 nm constitute the top oxide layer [8].

Atlas 3D device simulator from Silvaco is used for simulating the two devices. Shockley–Read–Hall recombination model, concentration-dependent mobility model, field-dependent mobility model and CVT model are employed and the simulations are done at room temperature (300 K) [18]. The design parameters for JL-GAA and JLTG MOSFETs are presented in Table 1.



Fig. 1 a XZ cut plane view; b 3D view; c YZ cut plane view of junctionless gate-all-around (JL-GAA) device



Fig. 2 a XZ cut plane view; b 3D view; c YZ cut plane view of junctionless triple gate (JLTG) device

	п сла	H TC
Parameters	JL-GAA	JEIG
Mole fraction (Si_xGe_{1-x})	x = 0.5	x = 0.5
Channel length	20 nm	20 nm
Source and drain length	10 nm	10 nm
Gate electrode workfunction	5.0 eV	5.0 eV
Doping concentration	$3 \times 10^{19} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	$3 \times 10^{19} \text{ cm}^{-3}$
Total effective oxide thickness	$\sim 0.68 \text{ nm}$	$\sim 0.68 \ nm(SiO_2 \ and \ HfO_2), \ \sim 1.02 \ nm(Si_3N_4 \ and \ Al_2O_3)$

 Table 1
 Design parameters

Table 2 Electrostatic FOMs	Parameter	JL-GAA	JLTG
	On/off ratio	4.6605×10^{9}	1.1249×10^{6}
	Threshold voltage (at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.0 \text{ V}$) (V)	0.5241	0.2685
	Off-state leakage current (A)	1.8935×10^{-15}	1.0599×10^{-11}
	On-state current (A)	8.8246×10^{-6}	1.1923×10^{-5}
	Sub-threshold swing (mV/dec)	60.4139	63.5693
	DIBL (mV/V)	13,2056	29.8811

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Electrostatic Performance

For comparing the two devices on the basis of electrostatic performance, important figure of merits (FOMs) like on/off current ratio, threshold voltage, off-state leakage current, sub-threshold swing, drain-induced barrier lowering (DIBL) are considered.

JL-GAA exhibits a considerable advantage over JLTG structure in terms of gate controllability. As evident from Table 2, JL-GAA shows an on/off ratio of 3 orders of magnitude greater than JLTG (~ 4100 times), accompanied with an approximately 99% lower leakage current. This can be attributed to the gate-all-around architecture in JL-GAA, which alleviates the non-uniform gate control observed in JLTG by reducing the impact of drain region on the electrostatics of channel region [19]. Burenkov et al. investigated the persistent corner effect in double and triple gate devices which gives rise to additional leakage current, thus deteriorating the overall performance [20, 21]. It is also worth mentioning that JL-GAA shows 56% lower DIBL than JLTG. The sub-threshold swing of both devices is found to be above 60 mV/dec, which makes both the devices suitable for low power applications.

Figure 3 shows drain current and trans-conductance as a function of gate voltage at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.0$ V. It may be noted that the on-state current of JLTG device is 35% higher than that of JL-GAA. Trans-conductance ($g_{\rm m}$) may be viewed as the slope of drain current—gate voltage curve.

3.2 Analog Performance

A large part of the real-life applications require devices to exhibit exceptional analog performances. To evaluate the two devices for the same, analog FOMs like Early voltage, intrinsic gain, output conductance, trans-conductance and trans-conductance generation factor (TGF) are considered.



Fig. 3 Drain current and trans-conductance as a function of gate voltage at $V_{\text{DS}} = 1.0 \text{ V}$

Figure 4 shows the variation of early voltage and intrinsic gain as a function of gate voltage, at $V_{\text{DS}} = 1.0$ V, which are expressed as:



Fig. 4 Early voltage and intrinsic gain as a function of gate voltage at $V_{\text{DS}} = 1.0 \text{ V}$



Fig. 5 Drain current and output conductance as a function of drain voltage at $V_{GS} = 1.0$ V

Early Voltage,
$$V_{\rm EA} = \frac{I_{\rm D}}{g_{\rm d}}$$
 (1)

Intrinsic Gain,
$$A_{\rm v} = \frac{g_{\rm m}}{g_{\rm d}}$$
 (2)

In the case of JL-GAA, early voltage is observed to be higher than in JLTG, indicating that JL-GAA suffers less from channel length modulation effect as compared to JLTG device. The intrinsic gain is also considerably higher in case of JL-GAA for all values of gate voltage. Considering the peak values, it may be compared that JL-GAA shows ~ 44% higher early voltage as well as ~ 30% higher intrinsic gain than JLTG. Figure 5 shows the output characteristics—drain current as a function of drain voltage, along with output conductance (g_d) at $V_{GS} = 1.0$ V. Clearly, JLTG has higher drain current and output conductance as the drain voltage increases. It may be emphasized that JLTG shows ~ 95% higher output conductance than JL-GAA, indicating an overall lower output resistance, favoring higher on-state current. Output conductance is calculated as

$$g_{\rm d} = \frac{{\rm d}I_{\rm DS}}{{\rm d}V_{\rm DS}} \tag{3}$$

The variation of trans-conductance (g_m) and trans-conductance generation factor (TGF) as a function of gate voltage at $V_{DS} = 1.0$ V is shown in Fig. 6 which are calculated as

$$g_{\rm m} = \frac{\mathrm{d}I_{\rm DS}}{\mathrm{d}V_{\rm GS}} \tag{4}$$


Fig. 6 Trans-conductance and trans-conductance generation factor (TGF) as a function of gate voltage at $V_{\rm DS} = 1.0$ V

Table 3 Analog FOMs	Parameters	JL-GAA	JLTG
	Early voltage (V)	24.552	16.979
	Intrinsic gain (dB)	26.7376	20.4550
	Output conductance (S)	3.5942×10^{-7}	7.0224×10^{-7}
	Trans-conductance (S)	2.5428×10^{-5}	2.3282×10^{-5}
	Trans-conductance generation factor (V^{-1})	65.1872	42.7808

$$TGF = \frac{g_{\rm m}}{I_{\rm D}}$$
(5)

Considering the peak values of these parameters, JL-GAA shows 9.26% higher g_m as well as ~ 52% higher TGF than JLTG. This further reinforces the superior analog performance of JL-GAA over JLTG. Table 3 summarizes the peak values of analog FOMs for both the devices.

3.3 RF Performance

Nowadays, a number of commercial applications like mobile telephony, amplifiers, transmitters, etc., demand MOSFETs with exceedingly high RF performance, which



Fig. 7 Cut-off frequency and GTFP as a function of gate voltage at $V_{\text{DS}} = 1.0 \text{ V}$

can be reliably measured in terms of RF FOMs like cut-off frequency, gain transconductance frequency product (GTFP), intrinsic gate capacitances (gate-to-source and gate-to-drain), gain frequency product (GFP) and trans-conductance frequency product (TFP).

A DC ramp voltage of 0–1 V with step size of 50 mV at 1 MHz frequency is used to calculate these FOMs. Cut-off frequency and GTFP as a function of gate voltage are shown in Fig. 7. It can be observe that cut-off frequency increases rapidly after gate voltage equal to threshold voltage of respective devices, and although JLTG shows higher cut-off frequency for the whole range of gate voltage, JL-GAA shows a significantly high peak in GTFP, indicating a better trade-off point [22]. Also, higher cut-off frequency in JLTG device signals lower delay time for electrons to transit from source to drain [23, 24].

Cut-off frequency is given as

$$f_{\rm T} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{g_{\rm m}}{(C_{\rm gs} + C_{\rm gd})}, \text{ and GTFP} = \left(\frac{g_{\rm m}}{g_{\rm d}}\right) \times \left(\frac{g_{\rm m}}{I_{\rm D}}\right) \times f_{\rm T}$$
 (6)

Figure 8 shows the variation of intrinsic capacitances $C_{\rm gs}$ and $C_{\rm gd}$ as a function of gate voltage. $C_{\rm gs}$ for both devices is of the order of 10^{-18} , and increases as the gate voltage is increased. $C_{\rm gd}$ for JL-GAA is at most 5.1909 × 10^{-19} F, which is ~ 10% lower than JLTG.

GFP is given as $\text{GFP} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{g_m}{g_d} \end{pmatrix} \times f_T$, and $\text{TFP} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{g_m}{f_D} \end{pmatrix} \times f_T$. Figure 9 shows their variation for both the devices as a function of gate voltage. GFP peaks are observed at gate voltages greater than respective threshold voltages of both devices, and similar



Fig. 8 Intrinsic capacitances (gate-to-source (C_{gs}), gate-to-drain (C_{gd})) as a function of gate voltage at $V_{DS} = 1.0$ V



Fig. 9 GFP and TFP as a function of gate voltage at $V_{\text{DS}} = 1.0 \text{ V}$

pattern is observed for TFP as well. It may be noted that JL-GAA shows higher peak values for both GFP and TFP than JLTG.

Table 4 summarizes the peak values of RF FOMs for both devices. It is worth mentioning that JL-GAA shows ~ 278% higher GTFP, ~ 115% higher GFP and ~ 17% higher TFP than that of JLTG. Further, the symmetry of gate oxides in JL-GAA contributes to ~ 10% lower $C_{\rm gd}$ than JLTG.

Parameters	JL-GAA	JLTG
Cut-off frequency (Hz)	4.0504×10^{11}	4.9165×10^{11}
Gain trans-conductance frequency product (Hz/V)	1.3157×10^{15}	3.4815×10^{14}
Gate-to-source capacitance (C_{gs}) (F)	9.8504×10^{-18}	7.0700×10^{-18}
Gate-to-drain capacitance (C_{gd}) (F)	5.1909×10^{-19}	5.7952×10^{-19}
Gain frequency product (Hz)	5.2634×10^{13}	2.4476×10^{13}
Trans-conductance frequency product (Hz/V)	5.0379×10^{12}	4.2915×10^{12}

Table 4 Peak values of RF FOMs

4 Conclusions

In this paper, two SiGe junctionless devices with hetero-high- κ gate oxides, namely JL-GAA and JLTG are compared on the basis of various important electrostatic, analog and RF FOMs. JL-GAA exhibits superior gate controllability and hence, an excellent on/off ratio (~ 5 × 10⁹), which makes it a good choice for high-switching-speed applications. It is also observed to have reduced short channel effects as compared to JLTG. Further, JL-GAA shows ~ 2.78 times higher GTFP than JLTG. Adding the fabrication feasibility of JL-GAA device, it is considered to be superior to JLTG overall.

References

- 1. International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors
- S. Thompson, P. Packan, M. Bohr, MOS scaling: transistor challenges for the 21st century. Intel. Technol. J. 1–19 (1998)
- A. Koukab, F. Jazaeri, J.M. Sallese, On performance scaling and speed of junctionless transistors. Solid. State. Electron. 79, 18–21 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sse.2012.08.001
- N. Kumar, H. Awasthi, V. Purwar, A. Gupta, A. Gupta, An analysis of Si-tube based doublematerial double gate-all-around (DMDGAA) MOSFETs, in *International Conference on Electrical and Electronics Engineering, ICE3 2020* (2020), pp. 412–415. https://doi.org/10.1109/ ICE348803.2020.9122851
- N. Shashank, S. Basak, R.K. Nahar, Design and simulation of nano scale high-K based MOSFETs with poly silicon and metal gate electrodes. Int. J. Adv. Technol. 1, 252–261 (2010)
- C.W. Lee, A. Afzalian, N.D. Akhavan, R. Yan, I. Ferain, J.P. Colinge, Junctionless multigate field-effect transistor. Appl. Phys. Lett. 94, 13–15 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3079411
- I. Ferain, C.A. Colinge, J.P. Colinge, Multigate transistors as the future of classical metaloxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors. Nature 479, 310–316 (2011). https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature10676
- N.B. Bousari, M.K. Anvarifard, S. Haji-Nasiri, Improving the electrical characteristics of nanoscale triple-gate junctionless FinFET using gate oxide engineering. AEU Int. J. Electron. Commun. 108, 226–234 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aeue.2019.06.017
- M.K. Bera, C.K. Maiti, Electrical properties of SiO2/TiO2 high-k gate dielectric stack. Mater. Sci. Semicond. Process. 9, 909–917 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mssp.2006.10.008

- N. Atan, I. Ahmad, B.Y. Majlis, I.A. Fauzi, Effects of high-K Dielectric with metal gate for electrical characteristics of nanostructured NMOS. Math. Methods Eng. Econ. 1, 111–115 (2014)
- G. Saini, S. Choudhary, Asymmetric dual-k spacer trigate FinFET for enhanced analog/RF performance. J. Comput. Electron. 15, 84–93 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10825-015-0769-y
- R. Das, R. Goswami, S. Baishya, Tri-gate heterojunction SOI Ge-FinFETs. Superlattices Microstruct. 91, 51–61 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spmi.2015.12.039
- A. Es-Sakhi, M. Chowdhury, Analysis of device capacitance and subthreshold behavior of Tri-gate SOI FinFET. Microelectron. J. 62, 30–37 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mejo.2017. 02.005
- M. Shirazi, A. Hassanzadeh, Design of a low voltage low power self-biased OTA using independent gate FinFET and PTM models. AEU Int. J. Electron. Commun. 82, 136–144 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aeue.2017.08.013
- K.J. Kuhn, Considerations for ultimate CMOS scaling. IEEE Trans. Electron Dev. 59, 1813– 1828 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2012.2193129
- M.S. Gudiksen, L.J. Lauhon, J. Wang, D.C. Smith, C.M. Lieber, Growth of nanowire superlattice structures for nanoscale photonics and electronics. Nature 415, 617–620 (2002). https:// doi.org/10.1038/415617a
- H.J. Kim, Y. Park, H.B. Bae, S.H. Choi, High-electron-mobility SiGe on sapphire substrate for fast chipsets. Adv. Condens. Matter Phys. (2015). https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/785415
- 18. Atlas User's Manual, Device Simulation Software (2016)
- S. Sahay, M.J. Kumar, Realizing efficient volume depletion in SOI junctionless FETs. IEEE J. Electron Devices Soc. 4, 110–115 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1109/JEDS.2016.2532965
- A. Burenkov, J. Lorenz, Corner effect in double and triple gate FinFETs, in *European Solid-State Device Research Conference* (2003), pp. 135–138. https://doi.org/10.1109/ESSDERC. 2003.1256829
- M. Poljak, V. Jovanović, T. Suligoj, Suppression of corner effects in wide-channel triple-gate bulk FinFETs. Microelectron. Eng. 87, 192–199 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mee.2009. 07.013
- N.C. Roy, A. Gupta, S. Rai, Analytical surface potential modeling and simulation of junctionless double gate (JLDG) MOSFET for ultra low-power analog/RF circuits. Microelectron. J. 46, 916–922 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mejo.2015.07.009
- J. del Alamo, Course Materials for 6.720J Integrated Microelectronic Devices MIT Open-CourseWare (http://ocw.mit.edu/) (Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2007), pp. 1–19
- 24. S. Sahay, M.J. Kumar, Junctionless Field-Effect Transistors (Wiley, 2019)

Thermal Stability Analysis of Graded-Channel Dual-Material Double-Gate (GCDMDG) MOSFET for Analog Application



Anjali Priya, Abhinav Gupta, Neha Agrawal, Sanjeev Rai, and Ram Awadh Mishra

1 Introduction

The advancement of semiconductor industries is a driving force for MOSFET scaling. But as the dimensions of the device are reduced, short channel effects degrade the performance of the device [1]. The scaling of channel length reduces the controllability of gate over the channel region by increasing the charge sharing from source/drain. Due to this, the threshold voltage of MOS device becomes smaller. According to international technology roadmap for semiconductor (ITRS) [2], inclusion of new technologies is turning out to be a critical issue for sub-nanometer MOS devices. Researchers are still working with many device structures to find out a device that can be used in high-frequency application with low power consumption.

Since past few decades, the double-gate (DG) MOSFET has shown potential in sub-nanometer regime due to its superb resistance to short channel effects (SCEs) [3]. Researchers have been working with various double-gate structures [4–9]. Many theoretical-, simulation- and experimental-based studies have been reported in the literature on DMDG MOSFET. Reddy et al. [10] have reported that the DMDG MOSFET can offer a noteworthy reduction in the hot carrier effects (HCEs). Increased drain breakdown voltage, reduced drain conductance, improved transconductance and desired threshold voltage roll off can be achieved with a DMDG MOSFET below 100 nm channel length. Other than above structures, there are more devices such as quadruple gate [11] MOSFET and Triple Metal Gate Recessed

A. Priya (🖂)

A. Gupta

Department of Electronics Engineering, R. E. C., Uttar Pradesh, Sonbhadra, India

N. Agrawal · S. Rai · R. A. Mishra Department of ECE, M. N. N.I. T. Allahabad, Prayagraj, India

CASEST, School of Physics, University of Hyderabad, Hyderabad, India e-mail: anjalipriya@uohyd.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 213 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_20

Source/Drain MOSFET [12] which are contributing to advance the device performance in terms of SCEs and current transport efficiency. These devices are also used to improve analog and RF performances.

To achieve improved ON current and reduced SCEs and HCEs, graded-channeldoped engineering has been explored. This can be done by providing low doping near the drain end and high doping near the source end. The peak electric field reduces near the drain end due to low doped region which in turn reduces the impact ionization and hence, HCEs at the drain side of the device. Along with these advantages, the graded-channel (GC) MOSFET also leads to an enhancement in ON current and transconductance compared to uniformly doped devices [13]. Chiang [14] proposed an analytical sub-threshold behavior model for single halo (SH) [15] dual-material gate (DMG) [16] silicon on insulator (SOI) MOSFET with graded-channel concept.

All the studies have demonstrated that both DMDG and GCDG MOSFETs are used to control SCEs and HCEs. In this paper, double-gate (DG) MOS transistors with both channel engineering and metal gate work function engineering have been used which provides better immunity to short channel effects. There are numerous applications in which the transistor at nano-regime is used at low and high temperatures. So, temperature plays important role in the stability of the device. First time in this paper, performance of various analog/RF parameters of graded-channel dualmaterial double-gate (GCDMDG) MOSFET has been studied over wide range of temperature to find thermal stability point (TSP). Thermal stability point (TSP) is defined as the gate voltage at which parameters show minimum variation over wide range of temperature [17-19]. In the analysis of stability issue, temperature is varied at wide range (200–500 K). Away from this thermal stability point, drain current shows reversed behavior with temperature deviation. It is because of high electric field and mobility degradation at larger bias. So, biasing in analog and digital circuits is preferred at TSP. Section 2 describes the GCDMDG device structure followed by the introduction. The thermal stability analysis of GCDMDG MOSFET is investigated in Sect. 3. Further, in Sect. 4, a common source amplifier has been designed using DMDG, GCDG and GCDMDG MOSFETs. The drain current, output voltage and gain of CS amplifier are also shown. Finally, Sect. 5 presents the conclusion of this paper.

2 Device Design Structure

The cross-sectional view of GCDMDG MOSFET is shown in Fig. 1. The gradedchannel region contains two regions of L_1 and L_2 (where $L_1 + L_2 = L$.) with different doping concentration N_{a1} and N_{a2} where N_{a1} is greater than N_{a2} to reduce the impact ionization near the drain end. Source and drain have doping concentration of N_d . Gate insulator of SiO₂ has been used. The channel length, oxide thickness and silicon channel thickness are represented by L, t_{ox} and t_{si} , respectively. This device is biased with gate voltage of V_{gs} . For DMG structure, the two metals with different work function are taken in which work function of metal M_1 (Au) is higher than the metal



Fig. 1. 2D view of GCDMDG MOSFET

Table I Parameter values for device structure	Parameters	Values
device subclure	L	60 nm
	t _{ox}	2 nm
	t _{si}	10 nm
	N _d	$1 \times 10^{19} \text{ cm}^{-3}$
	Nal	$1 \times 10^{17} \mathrm{cm}^{-3}$
	N _{a2}	$1 \times 10^{16} \mathrm{cm}^{-3}$
	$\phi_{ m M1}$	4.8 eV
	$\phi_{ m M2}$	4.6 eV
	V _{ds}	0.1 V

 M_2 (M_0). M_1 and M_2 are the control and screen gates, respectively. The values of the device parameters are shown in Table 1.

3 Thermal Stability Analysis

Thermal stability analysis has been explained in this section in terms of analog and radio frequency performance with temperature deviation. Figure 2 illustrates $I_{\rm D}$ and $g_{\rm m}$ variation with $V_{\rm GS}$ with varying temperature keeping $V_{\rm ds}$ as a constant. The



Fig. 2 I_D and g_m variation with V_{GS} with varying temperature

thermal stability point of drain current is found at $V_{gs} = 0.8$ V. It shows the bias point to keep DC level of current constant. Away from this thermal stability point, drain current shows reversed behavior with temperature deviation. It is because of high electric field and mobility degradation at larger bias. The TSP of transconductance is found about $V_{gs} = 0.55$ V. This point of transconductance shows the biasing point for stable circuit. So, biasing in analog and digital circuits is preferred at TSP.

Figure 3 illustrates g_m and TGF variation with V_{GS} with varying temperature. From the figure, it is found that the thermal stability point for TGF lies between $V_{gs} = 0.6$ V. Figure 4 demonstrates V_{ea} and A_V variation with V_{GS} with varying temperature. The TSP of early voltage is obtained at $V_{gs} = 0.6$ V. Since gain is dependent on early voltage, high gain has been obtained at this point due to high value of early voltage.

Figure 5 shows C_{gs} and C_{gd} variation with V_{GS} with varying temperature. It has been calculated at the 1 MHz frequency with ramp voltage 0–1 V. The graph shows the reversal of gate to source capacitance at particular gate bias, while gate to drain capacitance is increased by increasing bias. The TSP point of C_{gs} is 0.65 V. Figure 6 shows how the cutoff frequency and GTFP changes with change in gate voltage over 200–500 K. Cutoff frequency is reversed at TSP point which is from 0.5 to 0.6 V. Due to mobility degradation, cutoff frequency is better for lower temperature which shows the advantage of double-gate MOSFET. GTFP is reversed almost at 0.5 V (TSP point).

Figure 7 shows GFP and TFP variation with V_{GS} with varying temperature. GFP shows the maximum gain at particular frequency, whereas TFP explains the bottle-neck between bandwidth and power. The TSP point of both GFP and TFP is approximately at 0.5 V. Table 2 indicates utmost values of all analog and RF performance



Fig. 3 $g_{\rm m}$ and TGF variation with $V_{\rm GS}$ with varying temperature



Fig. 4 V_{ea} and A_V variation with V_{GS} with varying temperature



Fig. 5 C_{gs} and C_{gd} variation with V_{GS} with varying temperature



Fig. 6 $F_{\rm T}$ and GTFP variation with $V_{\rm GS}$ with varying temperature

parameters. It has been culminated from Table 2 that with the increase in temperature, all analog/RF performance parameter reduces.



Fig. 7 GFP and TFP variation with V_{GS} with varying temperature

	-	-		-	-		
Parameters	200 K	250 K	300 K	350 K	400 K	450 K	500 K
$g_{\rm m}$ (S/ μ m)	3.11×10^{-3}	2.83×10^{-3}	2.59×10^{-3}	2.38×10^{-3}	2.21×10^{-3}	2.02×10^{-3}	1.87×10^{-3}
$TGF(V^{-1})$	70.79	54.39	40.37	33.65	28.83	25.20	22.36
$C_{\rm gs}~({\rm F}/\mu{\rm m})$	1.62×10^{-15}	1.57×10^{-15}	1.52×10^{-15}	1.49×10^{-15}	1.46×10^{-15}	1.44×10^{-15}	1.41×10^{-15}
$C_{\rm gd}$ (F/ μ m)	2.23×10^{-16}	2.24×10^{-16}	2.26×10^{-16}	2.29×10^{-16}	2.31×10^{-16}	2.34×10^{-16}	2.37×10^{-16}
$A_{\rm v}$ (dB)	64.23	62.59	61.31	60.57	59.67	58.71	57.77
$V_{\rm EA}$ (V)	295.08	223.07	166.34	128.02	101.89	82.19	70.20
$f_{\rm T}$ (Hz)	2.69×10^{11}	2.52×10^{11}	2.37×10^{11}	2.22×10^{11}	2.08×10^{11}	1.94×10^{11}	$\frac{1.81 \times 10^{11}}{10^{11}}$
GTFP (Hz/V)	7.69×10^{15}	5.27×10^{15}	3.87×10^{15}	2.82×10^{15}	2.08×10^{15}	1.53×10^{15}	1.13×10^{15}
GFP (Hz)	3.89×10^{14}	3.07×10^{14}	2.32×10^{14}	1.77×10^{14}	1.38×10^{14}	1.07×10^{14}	8.59×10^{13}
TFP (Hz/V)	5.53×10^{12}	4.26×10^{12}	3.33×10^{12}	2.64×10^{12}	2.16×10^{12}	1.78×10^{12}	1.49×10^{12}

Table 2 Simulates analog and RF parameters at wide range of temperatures

4 Common Source Amplifier

In most analog and digital circuits, amplification is an essential function. Amplifiers are used to circumvent the noise of subsequent stage or to provide logic levels to digital circuits. The implementation of novel structures shows great improvement in the CMOS circuit [20–23]. This section proposes a unique attempt to investigate the drain current, output voltage and voltage gain of common source amplifier. Figure 8 shows a basic common source amplifier with diode connected load. In this configuration, the transistor T_2 is always on in saturation region as the gate and drain terminals have the same applied bias. The maximum voltage swing of this amplifier stage is $V_{DD}-V_{th2}$ where V_{th2} is the threshold voltage of transistor T_2 . The transistor T_2 has been taken from SILVACO TCAD model library such that it is having a threshold voltage of 0.2 V. The input voltage is applied to the gate terminal of proposed MOS transistor T_1 and the output is taken from the drain terminal of transistor T_1 having a load capacitance of 3fF.

Drain current variation in common source amplifier for DMDG, GCDG and GCDMDG MOSFET with input bias voltage is compared in Fig. 9. From Fig. 9, it has been observed that the drain current of an amplifier increases linearly with input bias voltage and gets saturated as the transistor T_1 enters into the saturation region of operation. Drain current of DMDG and GCDMDG is slightly low as compared to GCDG due to higher threshold voltage. GCDG is vulnerable to short channel effects due to lower threshold voltage. Figures 10 and 11 show the output voltage and gain of common source stage with input voltage, respectively. From Figs. 10 and 11, it has been observed that the GCDMDG MOSFET provides higher gain compared to DMDG and GCDG MOSFETs when used as an amplifier.

Fig. 8 Basic common source amplifier with diode connected load





Fig. 9 I_D variation with V_{in} for DMDG, GCDG and GCDMDG MOSFETs in a common source amplifier



Fig. 10 Variation in V_{out} with V_{in} for DMDG, GCDG and GCDMDG MOSFETs in a common source amplifier



Fig. 11 Variation in voltage gain with input voltage for DMDG, GCDG and GCDMDG MOSFETs in a common source amplifier

5 Conclusion

In this paper, thermal stability of graded-channel dual-material double-gate (GCDMDG) MOSFET has been discussed in terms of analog and RF performances and simulated by 2D TCAD simulator. It has been analyzed that drain current is reversed due to change in mobility and variation in $V_{\rm th}$ with temperature. The reversal of both early voltage and intrinsic gain is due to mobility degradation. The value of gate to drain capacitance is negligible as compared to gate to source capacitance and increases with increasing bias voltage. RF performance parameters show better characteristics at lower temperature. Therefore, GCDMDG MOSFET has been proved to be thermally stable, and the thermal stable point for all analog/RF device parameters has been obtained in between 0.4 and 0.8 V. Further, the gate engineering of GCDMDG MOSFET with non-uniform doping profile can be analyzed and simulated. Further, common source amplifier has been analyzed using this device. GCDMDG MOSFET provides higher amplification gain, compared to GCDG and DMDG MOSFETs, when used as a common source amplifier.

References

- Y. Taur, D.A. Buchanan, W. Chen, D.J. Frank, K.E. Ismail, S.H. Lo, G.A. Sai-Halasz, R.G. Viswanathan, H.-J.C. Wann, S.J. Wind, H.S. Wong, CMOS scaling into the nanometer regime. Proc. IEEE 85(4), 486–504 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1109/5.573737
- 2. ITRS, International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductor (2009). http://www.itrs.net
- F. Balestra, S. Cristoloveanu, M. Benachir, J. Brini, T. Elewa, Double-gate silicon-on-insulator transistor with volume inversion: a new device with greatly enhanced performance. IEEE Electron Dev. Lett. 8(9), 410–412 (1987). https://doi.org/10.1109/EDL.1987.26677
- R.K. Sharma, R. Gupta, M. Gupta, R.S. Gupta, Dua-material double-gate SOI n-MOSFET: gate misalignment analysis. IEEE Trans. Electron Dev. 56(6), 1284–1291 (2009). https://doi. org/10.1109/TED.2009.2019695
- A. Kumar, A. Gupta, S. Rai, Dielectric pocket (DP) based channel region of the junctionless dual material double gate (JLDMDG) MOSFET for enhanced analog/RF performance, in *Advances in VLSI, Communication, and Signal Processing* (Springer, Singapore, 2020), pp. 597–604. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9775-3_54
- P.K. Tiwari, S. Dubey, K. Singh, S. Jit, Analytical modeling of subthreshold current and subthreshold swing of short-channel triple-material double-gate (TM-DG) MOSFETs. Superlattices Microstruct. 51(5), 715–724 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spmi.2012.02.009
- R.K. Sharma, R. Gupta, M. Gupta, R.S. Gupta, Dynamic performance of graded channel DG FD SOI n-MOSFETs for minimizing the gate misalignment effect. Microelectron. Reliab. 49(7), 699–706 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.microrel.2009.03.023
- N.C. Roy, A. Gupta, S. Rai, Analytical surface potential modeling and simulation of junctionless double gate (JLDG) MOSFET for ultra low-power analog/RF circuits. Microelectron. J. 46(10), 916–922 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mejo.2015.07.009
- V. Shrivastava, A. Kumar, C. Sahu, J. Singh, Temperature sensitivity analysis of dopingless charge-plasma transistor. Solid State Electron. 117, 94–99 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. sse.2015.11.010
- H. Chakrabarti, R. Maity, N.P. Maity, Analysis of surface potential for dual-material-doublegate MOSFET based on modeling and simulation. Microsyst. Technol. 25, 4675–4684 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00542-019-04386-3
- T.K. Chiang, A novel quasi-3-D threshold voltage model for fully depleted quadruplegate (FDQG) MOSFETs: with equivalent number of gates (ENG) included. IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol. 12(6), 1022–1025 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1109/TNANO.2013.2284013
- A. Priya, R.A. Mishra, A two dimensional analytical modeling of surface potential in tri-ple metal gate (TMG) fully-depleted recessed-source/drain (Re-S/D) SOI MOSFET. Superlattices Microstruct. 92, 316–329 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spmi.2016.01.041
- H. Kaur, S. Kabra, S. Haldar, R.S. Gupta, An analytical threshold voltage model for graded channel asymmetric gate stack (GCASYMGAS) surrounding gate MOSFET. Solid-State Electron. 52(2), 305–311 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sse.2007.09.006
- T.K. Chiang, A new analytical subthreshold behavior model for single-halo, dual-material gate silicon-on-insulator metal oxide semiconductor field effect transistor. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 47(11), 8297–8304 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1143/JJAP.47.8297
- G.V. Reddy, M.J. Kumar, Investigation of the novel attributes of a single-halo double gate SOI MOSFET: 2D simulation study. Microelectron. J. 35(9), 761–765 (2004). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.mejo.2004.06.003
- S.C. Wagaj, S.C. Patil, Dual material gate silicon on insulator junctionless MOSFET for low power mixed signal circuits. Int. J. Electron. 106(7), 992–1007 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00207217.2019.1570564
- R.S. Abhinav, Reliability analysis of junction-less double gate (JLDG) MOSFET for analog/RF circuits for high linearity applications. Microelectron. J. 64, 60–68 (2017). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.mejo.2017.04.009

- P.K. Sahu, S.K. Mohapatra, K.P. Pradhan, Zero temperature-coefficient bias point over wide range of temperatures for single- and double-gate UTB-SOI n-MOSFETs with trapped charges. Mater. Sci. Semicond. Process. **31**, 175–183 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mssp.2014. 11.036
- A. Kumar, A. Gupta, S. Rai, A comparative analysis of asymmetrical and symmetrical double metal double gate SOI MOSFETs at the zero-temperature-coefficient bias point, in *Recent Trends in Communication, Computing, and Electronics* (Springer, Singapore, 2019), pp. 517– 526. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-2685-1_49
- A. Priya, N.A. Srivastava, R.A. Mishra, Design of high speed and low-power ring oscillator circuit in recessed source/drain SOI technology. ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol. 8(3), N47–N54 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1149/2.0061903jss
- A. Gupta, A. Singh, S.K. Gupta, S. Rai, Potential modeling of oxide engineered doping-less dual-material-double-gate Si–Ge MOSFET and Its application. J. Nanoelectron. Optoelectron. 13, 1115–1122 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1166/jno.2018.2352
- A. Priya, N.A. Srivastava, R.A. Mishra, Design and analysis of nano-scaled recessed-S/D SOI MOSFET based pseudo-NMOS inverter for low-power electronics. J. Nanotech. 2019(4935073), 1–12 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/4935073
- N.A. Srivastava, A. Priya, R.A. Mishra, Design and analysis of nano-scaled SOI-MOSFET based ring oscillator circuit for high density ICs. Appl. Phys. A Mater. Sci. Process. 125(8), 533 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00339-019-2828-x

Data and Bandwidth Analysis of CAN Bus in a System Using MATLAB



P. Anirvinnan and B. S. Premananda

1 Introduction

CAN bus is a serial data communication protocol which was invented in the year 1986 by German BOSCH Corporation [1]. This was initially designed for car industry which later on was developed for all vehicular standards. Data frames which have sizes up to 8 bytes are supported by CAN. A 15-bit CRC is linked with a large overhead possessed by the CAN protocol which makes it more secure and dependable [2]. This protocol uses the technique of carrier sense multiple access/collision avoidance (CSMA/CA). Since the communication rate is dependent on the distance between the nodes, a rate up to 40 Mbps is achievable only when the distance is less than 40 m. Some of the CAN bus protocol properties include message prioritization, latency time guarantee, flexible configuration, time synchronization during multicast reception, data consistency, multi-master communication, detection of error and signalling, retransmission of corrupted messages automatically as soon as the bus is idle again and distinction between permanent failures and temporary errors of nodes [3].

Nodes are nothing but different units. In other forms of different networks such as USB, the messages are shared in CAN bus to entire network such that every node has consistent data [4]. There are two CAN bus specifications, namely 11-bit identifier and 29-bit identifier. Several mechanisms are used to detect errors in CAN such as Cyclic Redundancy Check (CRC), verifying transmitted bit levels, frame format and bit encoding and acknowledgement scheme. A highly reliable network is guaranteed by these error detections, but also they make a little difficult to quantify this reliability. CAN is a vehicle bus standard protocol which is specifically designed for automotive application. A hardware and software design of CAN bus is shown in [2]. The actual ECU node of vehicle system is usually adapted with CAN bus system

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_21

P. Anirvinnan (🖂) · B. S. Premananda

Department of Telecommunication Engineering, RV College of Engineering, Bengaluru, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

²²⁵

design. CAN bus has been used widely in in-vehicle networks which increase the demand of data rates.

In-vehicle network uses CAN protocol predominantly. Therefore, the data rate demand has increased sharply which delimits the normal CAN communication leading to limited bandwidth. A method has been proposed in [1] to increase the bandwidth of the channel by using pass band communication system. As the CAN communication system has robustness to errors and efficiency of control signal inside the vehicles, the CAN has been adopted for in-vehicle networking.

A CAN flexible data rate is discussed in [5] where the author presents the CAN format that improves the data rate of CAN from 1 Mbps to 2.5 Mbps by adding extra bits in the control field to enable the CRC sequence to secure longer frames. To improve the CAN communication dependability, a research on online fault diagnosis is performed in [6]. One of the bandwidth allocation schemes is proposed in [7] where the algorithm not only satisfies the requirement in performances of real-time system but also utilizes the bandwidth fully.

The paper discusses about the data format and transmission of data in CAN bus. Section 2 describes the detail of a CAN bus node. CAN data format is discussed in Sect. 3. The amount of data transmitted in a particular system is calculated and analysed for a period of time in Sect. 4. Obtained results are discussed in Sect. 5. The conclusion derived is discussed in Sect. 6.

2 CAN Bus Node

A CAN bus node requires a microprocessor or host processor and a Central Processing Unit which decides what the messages that are received means and what messages are needed to be transmitted. Figure 1 shows a basic CAN node. The host processor is connected to devices such as actuators, control devices and sensors. The next important part in the node is Controller Area Network (CAN) controller. In the receiving side, the CAN controller stores the received signal bits of the message that is available in the bus. Triggering an interrupt by the host ensures the fetching of the messages. On the sending side, the host processor sends the transmit messages to CAN controller which when the bus is free transmits the bits serially. After the CAN controller, the next part is the CAN transceiver. As the name suggests, it transmits and receives data.

The stream of data from the CAN bus levels is converted by the CAN controller which is transmitted to the levels that it can use on the receiver side. There is a defensive circuitry present to shield the CAN controller. The stream from the CAN controller is converted by the trans receiver to CAN bus levels that are on the transmitting side. The nodes in the CAN bus send and receive messages, but the process is not simultaneous. The message comprises of the ID which decides the significance of the message.





3 Data Format of CAN Bus

The message in the CAN bus is transmitted serially using a non-return-to-zero (NRZ) format. It uses the term "dominant" bits for a logical '0' where the transmitter dives the signal actively to a voltage and the term "recessive" bits for logical '1' where the resistor passively returns a signal to a voltage. The representation of the CAN signal is shown in Fig. 2. When a dominant bit is transmitted by the one node and a



Fig. 2 CAN bus signal

S O F	11-BIT ARBITRATION ID	S R R	I D E	18-BIT ARBITRATION ID	R T R	r O	DLC	08 BYTES DATA	CRC	A C K	E O F
-------------	-----------------------------	-------------	-------------	-----------------------------	-------------	--------	-----	------------------	-----	-------	-------------

Fig. 3 CAN bus data frame

recessive bit is transmitted by another at the same time, the node with the dominant bit wins over the other node during their collision. This makes sure that there is only transmission of highest priority message whit no delay. The lower priority message transmitting node now tries to retransmit the same message after a six-bit clock from the time the dominant message is transmitted. As the CAN protocol uses multimaster, the transmitted signal is viewed by all the receivers and the receivers accept the data if it belongs to it. Therefore, when all the nodes transmit only dominant bits or only recessive bits, logical '0' or '1' is seen by all the nodes including the transmitting node, whereas all the nodes end up seeing logical '0' irrespective of being logical '1' when multiple nodes transmit dominant bits and multiple nodes transmit recessive bits.

A CAN bus has four frame types, namely overload frame, data frame, remote frame and error frame. The destination node can request the data from the source using a remote frame. The remote frame does not have any data in it. The error frame is used to detect any error in the message [8]. CAN bus performs five levels of error detection, namely frame checks, cyclic redundancy checks, acknowledgement checks at message level, stuffing and monitoring at bit level.

When an error is found during the transmission of the message, the nodes will immediately abort the transmission and broadcast the error frame. When the messages are received faster than it can be processed by the CAN node, the overload frame gets generated. When this frame is activated, an extra time is provided for the successive bits. The actual data are sent through the data frame which is shown in Fig. 3 which contains two message formats, namely base frame format with eleven identifier bits and extended frame format with twenty-nine identifier bits.

The frame format for the CAN bus is as follows:

- SOF indicates Start of Frame
- Identifier states the content of message and priority
- IDE—Identifier extension which distinguishes between CAN standard, CAN extended 29-bit identifier and a 11-bit identifier.
- RTR means Remote Transmission Request
- DLC is the Data Length Code
- Data mainly hold up to 8 bytes of data
- ACK is Acknowledge
- CRC stands for Cyclic Redundant Check
- EOF indicates End of Frame

IFS—Intermission Frame Space, is the minimum number of bits separating messages.

4 Data Analysis in CAN Bus

The CAN bus is implemented in MATLAB 2016b, and communication toolbox was used. A 128-bits frame of CAN with the bus speed of 250 Kbps was chosen to analyse the bus. The total amount of data is analysed and tabulated, and the bandwidth consumption of the bus is performed. A system which needs CAN bus to transmit data is taken, and total amount of data is analysed in this section.

The amount of data that are transmitted in the bus have to be known. The amount of data helps in indicating the maximum amount of bus bandwidth, memory space and processing power that is necessary to maintain the system without loss of data. The amount of data is calculated and tabulated for the bandwidth analysis.

The headings in the tables are as follows:

- Data from Source to Destination—Tells the type of device that is sending the data.
- Number of Instances
- Data Size (bits)
- Total data instance amount (TDIA) with respect to bits is derived using Eq. (1)

$$TDIA = Number of instances \times Data size$$
(1)

- Data Repetition Rate (ms)
- Average loading (AL) of data in Kbps is calculated using Eq. (2)

$$AL = \frac{\frac{1000}{\text{Data Repetition Rate (ms)}} \times \text{TDIA (bits)}}{1000}$$
(2)

Table 1 shows an example of amount of data calculated for the communication of

Message ID	Number of data instances	Data size (bits)	Total data instance (bits)	Data repetition rate (ms)	Average loading (Kbps)	Bytes
100	32	1	32	10	3.2	4
150	22	1	22	500	0.044	3
200	22	1	22	100	0.22	3
250	3	16	48	10	4.8	6
300	21	1	21	10	2.1	3
350	64	1	64	500	0.128	8
400	64	1	64	100	0.64	8

 Table 1
 Data analysis in CAN bus

a system that uses CAN Bus. The formulas discussed is used to calculate the amount of data and the amount of average loading in Kbps. Maximum size of the data is only 8 bytes, and the total amount of bits is 273. With the repetition rates for each message, the total average loading in the bus is 11.132 Kbps. A MATLAB program is written for the bandwidth analysis for the amount of data that are sent from the system. A virtual channel is created, and the data are sent through. CAN function is used to transmit and receive data through the created virtual channel. The bus speed used in the CAN node is 250 Kbps which is chosen for the program. Each message is given an ID, and according to the amount of data the payload in bytes is given as the CAN message.

Figure 4 shows the number of messages, CAN ID and the payload in bytes which are the inputs provided to the CAN bus. Figure 5 illustrates the period for which the

```
Enter the number of messages : 7
Enter the CAN ID for message 1 : 100
Enter the amount of payload in Bytes for message 1 : 4
Enter the CAN ID for message 2 : 150
Enter the amount of payload in Bytes for message 2 : 3
Enter the CAN ID for message 3 : 200
Enter the amount of payload in Bytes for message 3 : 3
Enter the CAN ID for message 4 : 250
Enter the amount of payload in Bytes for message 4 : 6
Enter the amount of payload in Bytes for message 4 : 6
Enter the CAN ID for message 5 : 300
Enter the amount of payload in Bytes for message 5 : 3
Enter the CAN ID for message 6 : 350
Enter the amount of payload in Bytes for message 6 : 8
Enter the CAN ID for message 7 : 400
```

Fig. 4 Input of messages for the CAN Bus in MATLAB

```
Enter the period (secs) for Message 1 to repeat : .01
Enter the period (secs) for Message 2 to repeat : .5
Enter the period (secs) for Message 3 to repeat : .1
Enter the period (secs) for Message 4 to repeat : .01
Enter the period (secs) for Message 5 to repeat : .01
Enter the period (secs) for Message 6 to repeat : .5
Enter the period (secs) for Message 7 to repeat : .1
```

Fig. 5 Input of periods for the messages to repeat

messages must be repeated in the CAN bus. The bandwidth is found with the total amount of data and the time for which the data are sent.

5 Results and Discussion

CAN protocol is implemented in MATLAB where the bus speed is 250 Kbps and the channels for transmitting and receiving data were created as virtual channel. The bandwidth was found by using the length of all the payload and total number of messages of each CAN IDs. The payload for the CAN bus is decided using the number of messages in Table 1. The bandwidth of the bus was analysed for a period of 5 s. Figure 6 describes the details of the transmitter and the receiver channel of the CAN bus where it can be analysed that the bus speed is 250 Kbps. The total number of messages transmitted and received is same which infers that there is no loss of data. The channel used is a virtual channel named 'Virtual 1' as shown in Fig. 7 through which the data are transmitted and received.

Figure 7 illustrates the graph of message transmission for a period of 5 s. The graph also indicates that the messages with the IDs 100, 250 and 300 repeat at a very little interval of time, whereas messages with IDs 150 and 350 repeat for a longer time interval. The messages with less time interval mean that the data are needed very often due to more criticality, whereas the messages with more time interval mean that the data are required less often.

Figure 8 shows the bandwidth utilization of the CAN bus for the data in Table 1. It can be inferred from the pie chart that only 16.3504% of the entire bus is used which is 40.876 Kbps.

6 Conclusion

The CAN protocol is discussed, and a method is proposed to find the bandwidth utilization of the CAN bus in a system using MATLAB simulation. The CAN node is discussed, and the total data needed to communicate through data bus are calculated. The data are sent as payload in CAN bus depending upon the number of bits each CAN ID is transmitting. With the repetitions of messages for each CAN ID, the bandwidth of the data bus is found by considering the total amount of data that are sent. The transmitted data are expressed in a form of graph with different CAN IDs. For the system considered, the bandwidth utilization was only 16.35% of the entire bus which is 40.876 Kbps.

+	BusSpeed	250000
H	NumOfSamples	[]
+	SJW	[]
	TSEG1	[]
H	TSEG2	[]
c h	BusStatus	'N/A'
c h	TransceiverName	'N/A'
H	Database	[]
+	MessageReceivedFcn	[]
+	MessageReceivedFcnCount	1
\pm	UserData	[]
c h	FilterHistory	'Standard ID Filter:
	MessagesReceived	1627
+	MessagesTransmitted	0
\checkmark	Running	0
c h	Device	'Virtual 1'
	DeviceChannelIndex	2
	DeviceSerialNumber	0
c h	DeviceVendor	'MathWorks'
c h	ProtocolMode	'CAN'
	MessagesAvailable	0
	BusSpeed	250000
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples	250000 []
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW	250000 [] []
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1	250000 [] [] []
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2	250000 [] [] [] []
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus	250000 [] [] [] [] [] 'N/A'
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName	250000 [] [] [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A'
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database	250000 [] [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A' []
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database MessageReceivedFcn	250000 [] [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A' [] []
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database MessageReceivedFcn MessageReceivedFcnCount	250000 [] [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A' [] [] [] 1
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database MessageReceivedFcn MessageReceivedFcnCount UserData	250000 [] [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A' [] [] 1 []
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database MessageReceivedFcn MessageReceivedFcnCount UserData FilterHistory	250000 [] [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A' [] [] [] 1 [] 1 [] 2 Standard ID Filter:
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database MessageReceivedFcn MessageReceivedFcnCount UserData FilterHistory MessagesReceived	250000 [] [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A' [] [] [] 1 [] 'Standard ID Filter: 0
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database MessageReceivedFcn MessageReceivedFcnCount UserData FilterHistory MessagesReceived MessagesTransmitted	250000 [] [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A' [] [] [] 1 [] 'Standard ID Filter: 0
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database MessageReceivedFcn MessageReceivedFcnCount UserData FilterHistory MessagesReceived MessagesTransmitted Running	250000 [] [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A' [] [] 1 [] 'Standard ID Filter: 0 0
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database MessageReceivedFcn MessageReceivedFcnCount UserData FilterHistory MessagesReceived MessagesTransmitted Running Device	250000 [] [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A' [] [] 1 [] 'Standard ID Filter: 0 0 0 Virtual 1'
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database MessageReceivedFcn MessageReceivedFcnCount UserData FilterHistory MessagesReceived MessagesTransmitted Running Device DeviceChannelIndex	250000 [] [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A' [] [] 1 [] 1 [] 'Standard ID Filter: 0 0 0 'Virtual 1' 1
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database MessageReceivedFcn MessageReceivedFcnCount UserData FilterHistory MessagesReceived MessagesTransmitted Running Device DeviceChannelIndex DeviceSerialNumber	250000 [] [] [] [] 'N/A' [] [] 1 [] 'Standard ID Filter: 0 0 0 Virtual 1' 1 0
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database MessageReceivedFcn MessageReceivedFcnCount UserData FilterHistory MessagesReceived MessagesTransmitted Running Device DeviceChannelIndex DeviceSerialNumber DeviceVendor	250000 [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A' [] [] 1 [] 'Standard ID Filter: 0 0 0 'Virtual 1' 1 0 'MathWorks'
	BusSpeed NumOfSamples SJW TSEG1 TSEG2 BusStatus TransceiverName Database MessageReceivedFcn MessageReceivedFcnCount UserData FilterHistory MessagesReceived MessagesTransmitted Running Device DeviceChannelIndex DeviceSerialNumber DeviceVendor ProtocolMode	250000 [] [] [] [] 'N/A' 'N/A' [] [] 1 [] 'Standard ID Filter: 0 0 0 'Virtual 1' 1 0 'MathWorks' 'CAN'

Fig. 6 Transmitter and receiver channel of CAN Bus



Fig. 7 Output graph of payload sent in CAN bus





Bandwidth Utilised in CAN Bus
 Unused CAN Bus

References

- D. Jang, S. Kang, S. Han, J. Choi, Communication channel modeling of controller area network (CAN), in *Proceedings of 7th International Conference on Ubiquitous and Future Networks* (2015), pp. 86–88
- S.S. Ashwini, S.D. Aarti, N.K. Pradnyat, R.N. Arjun, Implementation of CAN Bus Protocol. Int. J. Recent Innov. Trends in Comput. Commun. 2(6), 1568–1573 (2014)
- 3. I. Broster, A. Burns, Timely use of the CAN protocol in critical hard real-time systems with faults, in *Proceedings of Euromicro Conference on Real-Time Systems* (2001), pp. 95–102
- H. Zhang, Y. Shi, J. Wang, H. Chen, A New delay-compensation scheme for networked control systems in controller area networks. IEEE Trans. Industr. Electron. 65(9), 7239–7247 (2018)
- 5. F. Hartwich, "CAN with Flexible Data-Rate," in Proceedings of 13thInternational CAN Conference, pp. 14–1 14–9 (2012)
- 6. H. Huangshui, Q. Guihe, Online fault diagnosis for controller area networks, in *Proceedings* of International Conference on Intelligent Computation Technology and Automation (2011),

pp. 452-455

- 7. S.H. Hong, W.H. Kim, Bandwidth allocation scheme in CAN protocol. Proc. IEEE Control Theory Appl. **147**(1), 37–44 (2000)
- N. Su, X. Tu, Q. Yang, X. Li, Y. Tong, Design of data communication and monitoring system based on aviation ARINC825 Bus, in Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Communication Software and Networks (2019), pp. 286–290
- 9. L. Almeida, P. Pedreiras, J.A.G. Fonseca, The FTT-CAN protocol: why and how. IEEE Trans. Industr. Electron. **49**(6), 1189–1201 (2002)
- T. Ziermann, S. Wildermann, J. Teich, CAN+: a new backward-compatible CAN protocol with up-to 16× higher data rates, in *Proceedings of Design, Automation & Test in Europe Conference* & *Exhibition* (2009), pp. 1088–1093

DV-EXCCCII-Based Electronically Tunable Current Mode Filter



Priyanka Singh, Vikrant Varshney, Ankur Kumar, and Rajendra Kumar Nagaria

1 Introduction

Since several decades, current mode became an important and more efficient approach to design an analog circuit. Analog circuit designed using current mode technique results in high-performance circuit with high slew rate, greater linearity, simple circuit design, low power consumption and large bandwidth in comparison with its voltage mode counterparts. Filter is an important circuit element in many analog signal applications. Among all the filters, the first-order filter has application in video, audio, communication, instrumentation and many other areas where low power and simple circuitry are priority. The first-order universal filter is a circuit which is able to realize first-order low-pass (LP), high-pass (HP) and all-pass (AP) filters. Several first-order filters are reported in the literature employing operational amplifier [1, 2]. Due to potential advantages of current mode (CM) approach over voltage mode (VM), researcher's attention shifted toward CM technique. Previously, a lot of first-order universal filters employing current mode active blocks are discussed in the literature. Some of the most discussed active analog blocks are CCI [3], CCII [4–6], DDCC [7], DVCC [8–11], DX-MOCCII [12, 13], DO-CCII [14], CDTA [15], CCCCTA [16], MOCCII [17], COA [18], CFOA [19], CFA [20], ICCII [21], DXCCII

P. Singh (🖂) · V. Varshney · A. Kumar · R. K. Nagaria

ECED, MNNIT Allahabad, Prayagraj, UP 211004, India e-mail: priyankasingh@mnnit.ac.in

V. Varshney e-mail: vikrant1551@mnnit.ac.in

A. Kumar e-mail: rel1604@mnnit.ac.in

R. K. Nagaria e-mail: rkn@mnnit.ac.in

235

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_22

[22], and many more. Previously discussed filter in the literature using these active blocks suffers from either of these limitations:

- Use of more no of analog blocks
- More no of passive elements are needed
- Use of floating passive component
- Matching is required
- Not electronically tunable
- Does not realize all three filter functions
- Does not produce all three filter at single-output terminal.

The proposed universal filter employs single active block, i.e., DV-EXCCCII [23] which simplifies filter circuit configuration and one capacitor which is grounded making it easy for IC implementation. This configuration is able to realize LP, HP and AP filters at a single terminal using proper input combination. DV-EXCCCII is an electronically tunable block so filter response can be electronically varied with bias current of DV-EXCCCII. To implement all the three filters, any kind of matching constraints is not required.

Organization of the paper is given as follows: Brief introduction of the work is presented in Sect. 1. In Sect. 2, the proposed first-order filter with mathematical analysis is given. Non-deal analysis of the filter and sensitivities due to these non-idealities are also discussed in this section. Comparison of proposed work with previously available filters is given in Sect. 3. Section 4 of the paper provides simulation results of the proposed filter. In Sect. 5, paper is concluded.

2 Circuit Description and Analysis

2.1 Circuit Implementation

Block diagram of DV-EXCCCII is shown in Fig. 1, and its CMOS implementation is represented in Fig. 2.

Relationship of input and output signals can be expressed by matrix given below:

where R_{x1} and R_{x2} are the internal resistance of current terminals X_1 and X_2 , respectively. This resistance depends on the bias current I_0 and can be expressed as:



Fig. 2 CMOS representation of DV-EXCCCII

$$R_{X1} = R_{X2} = R_X = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\mu C_{0X}(\frac{W}{L})}I_o}$$
(2)

where μ is mobility of the charge carrier, C_{0x} is the oxide capacitance, W/L is the aspect ratio, and I_o is the bias current of active block.

This active block has two current terminals (X_1, X_2) and two voltage terminals (Y_1, Y_2) . Current terminals are low input impedance terminals, and voltage terminals are high input impedance terminals. All the output terminals (Z) of the block are high output impedance current terminals. Plus sign (+) shows that currents of X and Z





terminals are in the same phase and minus sign (-) shows that they are in opposite phase. As application demands, many number of Z terminals can be created.

The proposed filter configuration employing DV-EXCCCII is depicted in Fig. 3. Two input current signals I_{in1} and I_{in2} and one grounded capacitor are used to design this filter. By taking proper input combination LP, HP and AP filters are obtained at single-output terminal I_{out} without considering any matching condition. The proposed filter is electronically tunable with bias current I_0 .

Some intermediate expressions are written as:

$$V_{Y2} = \frac{I_{\rm in1} - I_{Z1+}}{sC}$$
(3)

$$I_{X1}R_X = \frac{I_{\text{in1}} - I_{Z1+}}{sC}$$
(4)

Output current of the proposed filter is obtained as:

$$I_{\rm out} = I_{Z1-} + I_{Z2-} \tag{5}$$

$$I_{\text{out}} = \frac{I_{\text{in}1} + I_{\text{in}2}(1 + sR_XC)}{1 + sR_XC}$$
(6)

From the above expression, LP, HP and AP filters can be obtained by taking required input. These input combinations are given in Table 1.

Transfer function obtained in Table 1 shows that no matching is required to realize these filters.

Pole frequency is observed as:

$$f_o = \frac{1}{2\pi R_X C} \tag{7}$$

Phase of all-pass filter can be derived as:

Table 1 Input required for the proposed filter Input required for	Response	Input		Transfer function
		I _{in1}	I _{in2}	
	Low pass	I _{in}	0	$\frac{I_{\text{out}}}{I_{\text{in}}} = \frac{1}{1+sR_XC}$
	High pass	$-I_{\rm in}$	I _{in}	$\frac{I_{\text{out}}}{I_{\text{in}}} = \frac{sR_XC}{1+sR_XC}$
	All pass	2 <i>I</i> _{in}	$-I_{\rm in}$	$\frac{I_{\text{out}}}{I_{\text{in}}} = \frac{1 - sR_XC}{1 + sR_XC}$

$$\phi = -2\tan^{-1}(\omega R_X C) \tag{8}$$

2.2 Non-ideal Analysis

In this section, non-ideal behavior of circuit is explained. Taking nonidealities of DV-EXCCCII into consideration, terminal relationship of the active block is modified as:

where β_{11} , β_{12} , β_{21} , β_{22} are the voltage transfer errors and $\alpha_{1\pm}$, $\alpha_{2\pm}$ are the current transfer errors. Reanalysis of the filter circuit shown in Fig. 3 results in the following expressions:

$$I_{\text{out}} = \frac{\alpha_{1-}\beta_{12}I_{\text{in}1} + \alpha_{2-}I_{\text{in}2}(\beta_{12}\alpha_{1+} + sR_XC)}{\beta_{12}\alpha_{1+} + sR_XC}$$
(10)

Low pass :
$$I_{\text{out}} = \frac{\alpha_1 - \beta_{12} I_{\text{in1}}}{\beta_{12} \alpha_{1+} + s R_X C}$$
 (11)

High pass :
$$I_{\text{out}} = \frac{-\alpha_{1-}\beta_{12} + \alpha_{2-}I_{\text{in2}}(\beta_{12}\alpha_{1+} + sR_XC)}{\beta_{12}\alpha_{1+} + sR_XC}$$
 (12)

All Pass :
$$I_{\text{out}} = \frac{2\alpha_{1-}\beta_{12} - \alpha_{2-}(\beta_{12}\alpha_{1+} + sR_XC)}{\beta_{12}\alpha_{1+} + sR_XC}$$
 (13)

Pole frequency will now become:

$$f_0 = \frac{\beta_{12}\alpha_{1+}}{2\pi R_X C}$$
(14)

Sensitivity of pole frequency caused by non-ideality and by passive components can be derived as:

$$S_C^{f_0} = S_{R_X}^{f_0} = -1; \quad S_{\beta_{12}}^{f_0} = S_{\alpha_{1+}}^{f_0} = 1;$$
(15)

$$S_{\alpha_{1-}}^{f_0} = S_{\alpha_{2+}}^{f_0} = S_{\alpha_{2-}}^{f_0} = S_{\beta_{11}}^{f_0} = S_{\beta_{21}}^{f_0} = S_{\beta_{22}}^{f_0} = 0$$
(16)

It can be observed from (15) and (16) that sensitivities caused by non-idealities are low.

3 Comparative Research

In the literature, several high-performance active blocks based on current mode technique are discussed. A number of filters are discussed in the previous work using these high-performance active elements. Proposed first employing DV-EXCCCII is compared with available first-order filters in the literature. Filters discussed in [14– 17] use more than one active element, and some filters [10–12, 14, 17, 18] use more passive elements due to which circuit become complex. In the filters given in [14, 15, 18], passive components used are not grounded due to which circuit become less suitable for IC implementation. Electronic tuning property is missing in filters discussed in [10–12, 14, 17, 18]. Matching of components is required to realize filter function [12]. Filters specified in [10, 11, 15, 16, 18] do not realize all three filters of first order.

The proposed first-order filter uses one DV-EXCCCII and single grounded capacitor to obtain LP, HP and AP filters at single-output terminal without any matching condition. This filter configuration is electronically tunable due to which frequency of the filter may be varied with bias current of the DV-EXCCCII. Comparison of the proposed filter with the already available first-order filters is summarized in Table 2.

4 Simulation Results

The proposed filter design configuration using DV-EXCCCII is implemented in CADENCE Virtuoso, and responses are verified using UMC 180 nm CMOS technology process parameters. Supply voltage $V_{DD} = -V_{SS} = 0.9$ V is used for simulation. To verify filter response, bias current of active block $I_0 = 100 \,\mu$ A and capacitor value C = 50 pF are taken. Intrinsic impedance of the filter at current terminals is observed as $R_{X1} = R_{X2} = 813 \,\Omega$. Using these values, pole frequency of the filter

References	Number, type of block	# Passive elements	Grounded passive elements	Electronic tuning	Component matching	Universal
[10]	1, DVCC	2	Yes	No	No	No
[11]	1, DVCC	2	Yes	No	No	No
[12]	1, DX-MOCCII	4	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
[14]	2, DOCCII	2	No	No	No	Yes
[15]	2, CDTA	1	No	Yes	No	No
[16]	2, CCCCTA	1	Yes	Yes	No	No
[17]	2, MOCCII	2	Yes	No	No	Yes
[18]	1, COA	2	No	No	No	No
Proposed work	1, DV-EXCCCII	1	Yes	Yes	No	Yes

 Table 2
 Comparative study of the proposed filter

 $f_0 = 3.9$ MHz is found. Figure 4 shows magnitude response for LP and HP filter. Figure 5 represents magnitude and phase variation of APF, and it can be observed that phase varies from 0° to 180°.

The proposed universal filter is electronically tunable with bias current of DV-EXCCCII. To represent tunable characteristics of the filter, different values of bias currents (30, 50, 100 μ A) are assumed. Figure 6 represents magnitude response of LPF at different bias currents, and its pole frequency is obtained as 2.8 MHz, 3.2 MHz and 3.91 MHz at bias current of 30 μ A, 50 μ A and 100 μ A, respectively. Figure 7 shows tunable property of HPF, and pole frequencies 2.6 MHz, 2.98 MHz and 3.87 MHz are obtained at 30 μ A, 50 μ A and 100 μ A, respectively. Figure 8



Fig. 4 Magnitude response for the first-order LP and HP filter



Fig. 5 Magnitude and phase response for AP filter



shows phase response of APF with frequency 2.5 MHz, 3.1 MHz and 3.92 MHz at bias current of 30 μ A, 50 μ A and 100 μ A, respectively.

Impact of small supply voltage variation is shown by LPF gain response in Fig. 9. Frequency of LPF is 4.2 MHz, 3.91 MHz and 3.56 MHz at supply $V_{DD} = -V_{SS} = 0.95$ V, 0.9 V and 0.85 V, respectively. Temperature variation effect on filter is shown in Fig. 10 with LPF magnitude response at different temperatures. Pole frequency of LPF 4.3 MHz, 3.98 MHz and 3.76 MHz is obtained at temperature -50 °C, 0 °C and 50 °C, respectively.



5 Conclusion

The first-order universal filter employing a new analog block DV-EXCCCII is proposed. Filter circuit uses one analog block and single grounded capacitor making it easy for IC implementation. This filter can realize all three filters LP, HP and AP at single-output terminal by proper choice of input combination without considering any matching constraints. This configuration is electronically tunable, and its response can be varied with bias current of the active block. Nonideal behavior is explained, and sensitivities due to these non-idealities are found to be low. Filter results are verified by simulation which confirms theoretical analysis.


References

- 1. A.M. Soliman, Generation of current conveyor-based all-pass filters from op amp-based circuits. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. II: Analog Digital Signal Process. **44**(4), 324–330 (1997)
- 2. E.S. Erdogan, et al., New current-mode special function continuous-time active filters employing only OTAs and OPAMPs. Int. J. Electron. **91**(6), 345–359 (2004)
- 3. K.C. Smith, A. Sedra, The current conveyor—a new circuit building block. Proc. IEEE **56**(8), 1368–1369 (1968)
- 4. A.S. Sedra, K.C. Smith, A second-generation current conveyor and its applications. IEEE Trans. Circ. Theory **17**(1), 132–134 (1970)
- J.-W. Horng et al., High output impedance current-mode first-order allpass networks with four grounded components and two CCIIs. Int. J. Electron. 93(9), 613–621 (2006)
- S. Özoğuz, A. Toker, O. Çiçekoğlu, New current-mode universal filters using only four (CCII+) s. Microelectron. J. 30(3), 255–258 (1999)

244

- W. Chiu, et al., CMOS differential difference current conveyors and their applications. IEE Proc. Circ. Devices Syst. 143(2), 91–96 (1996)
- M.Z. Khan, M.S. Ansari, DVCC-based electronically tunable firstorder current-mode filters. Int. J. Computer Appl. 48(15), 21–24 (2012)
- S. Minaei, M.A. Ibrahim, General configuration for realizing current-mode first-order all-pass filter using DVCC. Int. J. Electron. 92(6), 347–356 (2005)
- S. Maheshwari, High output impedance current-mode all-pass sections with two grounded passive components. IET Circ. Dev. Syst. 2(2), 234–242 (2008)
- S. Maheshwari, Novel cascadable current-mode first order all-pass sections. Int. J. Electron. 94(11), 995–1003 (2007)
- P. Beg, M.A. Siddiqi, M.S. Ansari, Multi output filter and four phase sinusoidal oscillator using CMOS DX-MOCCII. Int. J. Electron. 98(9), 1185–1198 (2011)
- A. Kumar, S.K. Paul, Current mode first order universal filter and multiphase sinusoidal oscillator. AEU-Int. J. Electron. Commun. 81, 37–49 (2017)
- E. Yuce, S. Minaei, A first-order fully cascadable current-mode universal filter composed of dual output CCIIs and a grounded capacitor. J. Circ. Syst. Computers 25(05), 1650042 (2016)
- W. Tangsrirat, T. Pukkalanun, W. Surakampontorn, Resistorless realization of current-mode first-order allpass filter using current differencing transconductance amplifiers. Microelectron. J. 41(2–3), 178–183 (2010)
- W. Jaikla, A. Noppakarn, S. Lawanwisut, New gain controllable resistor-less current-mode first order allpass filter and its application. Radioengineering 21(1), 312–316 (2012)
- I.A. Khan, P. Beg, M.T. Ahmed, First order current mode filters and multiphase sinusoidal oscillators using CMOS MOCCIIs. Arab. J. Sci. Eng. 32(2), 119–126 (2007)
- S. Kilinç, U. Çam, Current-mode first-order allpass filter employing single current operational amplifier. Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process 41(1), 47–53 (2004)
- R.K. Nagaria, M. Gopi Krishna, R.Kr. Singh, Comparative performance of low voltage CMOS-CFOA suitable for analog VLSI. WSEAS Trans. Electron. 5(6), 226–231 (2008)
- R.K. Singh, R.K. Nagaria, A comparative study of CMOS based current feedback topologies (CFAs) suitable for low voltage applications, in 2010 International Conference on Power, Control and Embedded Systems (IEEE, 2010)
- 21. L. Safari, E. Yuce, S. Minaei, A new ICCII based resistor-less current-mode first-order universal filter with electronic tuning capability. Microelectron. J. **67**, 101–110 (2017)
- S. Minaei, E. Yuce, Unity/variable-gain voltage-mode/current-mode first-order all-pass filters using single dual-X second-generation current conveyor. IETE J. Res. 56(6), 305–312 (2010)
- P. Singh, R.K. Nagaria, Electronically tunable DV-EXCCCII-based universal filter. Int. J. Electron. Lett. 1–17 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1080/21681724.2020.1726480

Non-destructive Quality Estimation of Packaged Ceramic Tiles Using Millimeter Wave Imaging Radar



Smriti Agarwal and Dharmendra Singh

1 Introduction

Millimeter wave (MMW) frequency offers many interesting applications in different diverse and fundamental application areas viz., security screening, industrial quality monitoring, medical imaging, etc. [1–5]. In contrast to existing EM-based imaging modalities, it provides much better resolution, penetration to opaque objects and has no health hazards [6, 7]. Recently, applicability of MMW imaging for non-destructive testing and estimation applications has been gaining attention of researchers, for example, use of one dimensional imaging array at 30 GHz for embedded defect detection [8], localized anomalies detection in space shuttle at 33.5, 70 or 100 GHz [9], estimation of fatigue cracks at 24 GHz, 90 GHz using rectangular waveguide probes [10, 11], monitoring of moisture and disinfestation of sculptures [12], finding corrosion under paint at Ka and V band [12]. Millimeter wave radar system provides a non-invasive, simple and precise scrutiny technique instead of currently employed time-consuming and monotonous manual surveying method. In this paper, a MMW radar system-based imaging methodology has been recommended to identify and classify packaged ceramic tiles as cracked/non-cracked for real time industrial quality monitoring applications. The underline novelty of the paper is that it is newest of its kind to establish the capability of MMW radar for non-destructive testing for quality monitoring for industrial applications. The challenging aspect of MMW imaging is to extract relevant and unique features from low resolution radar images in contrast to

S. Agarwal (🖂)

247

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Prayagraj, India e-mail: smritiagarwal@mnnit.ac.in

D. Singh

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Microwave Imaging and Space Technology Research Group, Indian Institute of Technology Roorkee, Roorkee, India e-mail: dharmfec@ece.iitr.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_23

camera images. Additionally, reflected target signals suffer from higher path loss and noise from surroundings. Rest of the paper is partitioned as follows: Sect. 2 describes setup used for MMW radar, Sect. 3 discusses methodology used for undercover fault detection, and Sect. 4 covers result and discussion. Lastly, Sect. 5 provides conclusion.

2 Millimeter Wave Imaging Radar System Design

2.1 Experiment Arrangement

A V band MMW imaging radar system has been indigenously designed at Microwave Imaging and Space Technology Applications Laboratory (*MISTA*) research lab, Department of ECE at Indian Institute of Technology Roorkee, India [13]. The EM wave is transmitted in stepped frequency continuous wave (SFCW) mode having bandwidth of 2 GHz around 60 GHz center frequency. The monostatic V band horn antenna transmits signal at the distant target mounted on a 2D wooden scanner placed at a certain distance of R = 0.5 m. The scanning frame was designed such that it facilitates full vertical and horizontal movement of the target in successive steps of 2 cm. The complete target data acquisition (A-scan, B-scan, C-scan) has been achieved by 18 vertical and 30 horizontal scanning locations with 201 frequency points in downrange. The image resolution characteristics of the designed radar are;

Range resolution =
$$\Delta R = \frac{C}{2N\Delta f} = 7.5 \text{ cm}$$
 (1)

Cross - range resolution
$$\Delta CR = \frac{\lambda R}{D} = 4.17 \text{ mm}$$
 (2)

Here, D is the synthetic aperture of V band horn antenna due to target's lateral movement i.e., $0.02 \text{ m} \times 30 = 0.60 \text{ m}$.

2.2 Concealed Target Fault Detection Application

Target arrangement for non-destructive concealed fault detection has been shown in Fig. 1. It consists of a large wooden sheet ($35 \text{ cm} \times 43.6 \text{ cm}$) on which a thick polystyrene sheet was placed in order to suppress any background reflection. On this polystyrene sheet, test target i.e., commonly available ceramic tile with varying crack/no-crack configurations was placed. Further, in order to mimic concealed packaged good, the respective tiles were covered with packaging cardboard in view of practical industrial NDT applications. Total 10 non-faulty (zero crack) tiles and 16 faulty tiles (cracked tiles) were taken. Out of 16 faulty tiles, four tiles for each possible



Fig. 1 Experimental arrangement of concealed cracked/non-cracked ceramic tile targets used in different configurations **a** final packaged tile, **b** full no-crack, **c** horizontal crack, **d** diagonal crack, **e** random crack tile

crack type viz., horizontal crack, vertical crack, diagonal crack and random crack were considered as undercover targets as shown in Fig. 1.

3 Methodology for Undercover Target Fault Classification

3.1 Signal Pre-processing

Scattering parameters (S11) due to reflected waves from the distant concealed targets were recorded in real time from different horizontal and vertical scanning locations. This provides details of the target and surroundings in the form of horizontal extent, vertical extent and down range extent i.e., complete target information in the form of 3D data matrix. This raw data require signal pre-processing to convert it into usable form for end user. The steps of signal pre-processing are: inverse fast fourier transform (IFFT), time to spatial domain conversion and sheet calibration. The details of these steps can be found in [6]. After signal pre-processing, target's C-scan image at the target downrange location corresponding to reflection peak in the range profile plot was formed. A complete flow chart showing different signal processing steps for classification of undercover ceramic tile targets is shown in Fig. 2.



3.2 Signal Post-Processing—Feature Extraction

After signal pre-processing, target's exact location can be known but still it is quiet challenging to correctly classify hidden ceramic tiles as cracked / non-cracked correctly. Hence, there is a need of good post-processing methodology for correct classification of unknown targets. In view of this feature extraction techniques prove to be a good choice. Features are invariable descriptors of any image that consists of relevant and unique information in order to successfully discriminate it. Image consisting of spatial local gray tone variations is termed as "texture" depending upon the image type and can be used in determining the quality (faulty/ non-faulty) of undercover ceramic tiles. The gray tone spatial dependence characterizes texture by its co-occurrence, defined by gray level co-occurrence matrix (GLCM) [14]. Hence, different textural features viz., contrast, sum entropy, sum variance, entropy, homogeneity, inverse difference moment, correlation, difference entropy, sum average and information measure of correlation were extracted from respective GLCM matrices formed by corresponding target images as the second order statistical measures.

Apart from this, first order image statistical parameters viz., mean, standard deviation, variance and lacunarity have also been evaluated as features to classify the hidden targets.

3.3 Best Feature Estimation—Separability Measure

Total fifteen different statistical features (first and second order statistics) were extracted from respective concealed targets of different crack/no-crack tile configurations. Now, in order to find best fit textural features out of all these features, a separability measurement test was performed which would tell the level of separation between two considered classes i.e., cracked or non-cracked tile. The separability index is defined as [3]:

$$S_{ij} = \frac{|\mu_i - \mu_j|}{(\sigma_i + \sigma_j)} \tag{3}$$

Here, μ and σ are the mean and standard deviation of the two classes, i.e., cracked tiles and no-crack tiles for any given feature. In particular, $S_{ij} > 0.8$ signifies an authentic feature for separation of two classes i and j correctly.

4 Results and Discussion

Figure 3 shows the plot of separability index for different features. As seen in the figure, five features i.e., contrast, correlation, variance, standard deviation and lacunarity show separability index $S_{ij} > 0.8$. Hence, these features were selected as best fit for classification of packaged tiles into two classes viz. crack and non-crack. Next step is to find the decision boundaries for separation of two classes by analyzing statistical measures (maxima, minima, mean, standard deviation) of the selected textural features using number of different test targets of varying crack / no-crack configurations. Finally, range of the five best fit texture features for the two classes were found as shown in Table 1, by determining [min: max] = [($\mu - \sigma$): ($\mu + \sigma$)].

Further, validation tests were performed on a completely different set of targets i.e., five non-faulty tiles and ten faulty tiles having different crack configurations. Firstly, the best fit five features were calculated for all the validation targets. Then, as per decision boundary given in Table 1 classification of unknown concealed tiles was performed to check whether undercover tile is cracked or non-crack full tile. Table 2 shows the result of classification of the independent validation targets. As shown in Table 2, the developed classification methodology shows very good classification results and in accordance with the actual target type beneath the packaging. Additionally, statistical features lacunarity and standard deviation show 100% overall



Fig. 3 Separability index measure for faulty/non-faulty tiles

S.No.	Parameter	Non-faulty tile			Faulty tile				
		μ	σ	$(\mu - \sigma)$	$(\mu + \sigma)$	μ	σ	$(\mu - \sigma)$	$(\mu + \sigma)$
1	Contrast	1.23	0.37	0.85	1.60	3.3	1.48	1.86	4.82
2	Correlation	0.79	0.09	0.71	0.89	0.51	0.23	0.28	0.74
3	Variance	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.05	0.01	0.04	0.05
4	Std.deviation	0.13	0.02	0.11	0.15	0.21	0.02	0.19	0.23
5	Lacunarity	1.04	0.015	1.03	1.06	1.15	0.04	1.11	1.19

Table 1 Decision boundary of different features for faulty and non-faulty undercover ceramic tiles

 Table 2
 Classification results using independent validation target tiles of different configurations

S. No.	Feature type	Predicted class/true class			
		Faulty/non-faulty	Non-faulty / faulty	Overall accuracy (%)	
1	Contrast	0/5	2/ 10	86.6	
2	Correlation	1/5	2/10	80	
3	Variance	0/5	2/10	86.6	
4	Std.deviation	0/5	0/10	100	
5	Lacunarity	0/5	0/10	100	

classification accuracy. Further, the overall classification accuracy can be made more robust under noisy background by simultaneously considering more than one texture features instead of considering any one feature at a time for classification.

5 Conclusion

A non-destructive concealed target quality monitoring approach has been developed employing millimeter wave imaging radar. Results show very good classification accuracy using a combination of first and second order statistical features for nondestructive quality testing and estimation. Further, the proposed approach can be used for a variety of other industrial applications. MMW-based radar imaging has an added advantage of providing realtime, non-destructive, fast and user friendly quality monitoring instead of conventional long and tedious practices in industries. Use of this NDT technique will certainly boost industry production and fiscal growth.

References

- U. Alkus, A.B. Sahin, H. Altan, Stand-off through-the-wall w-band millimeter-wave imaging using compressive sensing. IEEE Geosci. Remote Sens. Lett. 99, 1–5 (2018)
- S. Agarwal, D. Singh, Non-invasive multilayer dielectric material thickness measurement using V band millimeter wave radar, in *Asia Pacific Microwave Conference (APMC 2016)* (5–9 Dec 2016), pp.1–4. ISBN: 978-1-5090-1592-4
- V.V. Meriakri, S.V. von Gratowski, Millimeter waves for moisture testing and treatment culture objects, in 2012 37th International Conference on Infrared, Millimeter, and Terahertz Waves (2012), pp. 1–1. https://doi.org/10.1109/IRMMW-THz.2012.6380438
- 4. C. Huey-Ru et al., 60-GHz millimeter-wave life detection system (MLDS) for noncontact human vital-signal monitoring. Sens. J. IEEE **12**(3), 602–609 (2012)
- L. Zhang, Y. Hao, C.G. Parini, Millimetre wave imaging system parameters at 95 GHz. Microwaves Antennas Propag. IET 5(5), 528–534 (2011)
- S. Agarwal et al., A novel neural network based image reconstruction model with scale and rotation invariance for target identification and classification for active millimetre wave imaging. J. Infrared Millimeter Terahertz Waves 35(12), 1045–1067 (2014)
- S. Agarwal, D. Singh, Optimal non-invasive fault classification model for packaged ceramic tile quality monitoring using MMW imaging. J. Infrared Millimeter Terahertz Waves 1–20, (2016)
- M.T. Ghasr, S. Kharkovsky, R. Bohnert, B. Hirst, R. Zoughi, 30 GHz linear high-resolution and rapid millimeter wave imaging system for NDE. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propagation 61(9), 4733–4740 (2013)
- S. Kharkovsky et al., Millimeter-wave detection of localized anomalies in the space shuttle external fuel tank insulating foam. IEE Trans. Instrument. Measure. 55(4), 1250–1257 (2006)
- S. Kharkovsky, M.T. Ghasr, R. Zoughi, Near-field millimeter-wave imaging of exposed and covered fatigue cracks. IEE Trans. Instrument. Measure. 58(7), 2367–2370 (2009)
- R. Zoughi, S. Kharkovsky, Microwave and millimetre wave sensors for crack detection. Fatigue Fract. Eng. Mater. Struct. 31(8), 695–713 (2008)
- 12. M.T. Ghasr et al., Comparison of near-field millimeter-wave probes for detecting corrosion precursor pitting under paint. IEE Trans. Instrument. Measur. **54**(4), 1497–1504 (2005)

- S. Agarwal, D. Singh, An adaptive statistical approach for non-destructive underline crack detection of ceramic tiles using millimeter wave imaging radar for industrial application. IEEE Sens. J. 15(12), 7036–7044 (2015)
- 14. T. Fuan, L. Jhe-Syuan, Feature extraction of hyperspectral image cubes using three-dimensional gray-level cooccurrence. IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens. **51**(6), 3504–3513 (2013)

Analysis of Negative Capacitance Double-Gate Junctionless Transistor for the Variation of Device Parameters



Manish Kumar Rai and Sanjeev Rai

1 Introduction

In past few years, MOSFET technology has evolved various changes to cope with the problems arising due to rapid scaling. These changes are done mainly to increase the control of gate over channel, to reduce the process complexity at smaller dimensions, to control the leakage current and power consumption. Various such techniques are FinFETs, TFETs, i-MOS, and junctionless transistors. Junctionless transistors remove the limitations arising due to formation of ultra-short junctions which requires quiet complex and costly millisecond annealing process [1]. Further, there is limitation of MOSFET subthreshold swing (60 mV/decade) called Boltzmann Tyranny. This limits a steep switching from OFF to ON condition of the transistor. This limitation arises due to the fundamental thermionic emission mechanism of current conduction in the MOSFET where current increases exponentially with decrease in barrier height [2]. Boltzmann Tyranny also limits the reduction in supply voltage as for satisfactory operation of MOSFET the ratio of ON current to OFF current should be larger than 10⁴ but reduction in supply voltage will reduce this ratio. Hence, reduction in the subthreshold swing below fundamental limit of 60 mV/decade is the primary objective of most of the device designers. In ideal case, it should be very close to 0 mV/decade for the abrupt turn on of the MOSFET. Different device architectures are used to improve the device performance which follow different mechanisms of current conduction such as band-to-band tunneling (BTBT) of charge carriers from channel region to drain or impact ionization and so on [3]. Some other mechanisms are based on the improving the electrostatic control of the gate over

M. K. Rai (🖂) · S. Rai

255

Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Allahabad, Prayagraj, India e-mail: mrai@mnnit.ac.in

S. Rai e-mail: srai@mnnit.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_24

channel region. Although TFET and I-MOS reduce the subthreshold swing, but they have various limitations such as low ON current, asymmetric structure, and high operating voltage. Due to asymmetric structure, the existing circuits and layouts designed for MOS technology have to be redesigned to use these structures, which is quiet complex process. The negative capacitance in MOSFET reduces the power consumption through internal voltage amplification mechanism $(\partial V_g/\partial \Psi_s < 1)$ [4, 5]. This voltage amplification using the ferroelectric material scales the supply voltage and reduces the power dissipation [6] which is directly proportional to the square of supply voltage. ($P_{avg} \alpha V^2$).

Unlike TFET, it has symmetrical structure which is quite favorable for circuit design. Therefore, NCFETs are considered as a better alternative to conventional MOSFETs. NCFETs are obtained by replacing the gate oxide of a MOSFET by a ferroelectric material. Although NCFET seems to be better alternative to the conventional MOSFET, it suffers from a number of challenges. If designing of NCFET is not proper then its operation becomes unstable and hysteresis takes place [7-9]. This induces different threshold voltages while turning ON and turning OFF. Most of the ferroelectric materials are incompatible to the CMOS process flow and may contaminate the process. Time for the polarization switching of the ferroelectric materials limits the speed of NCFET. Zirconium-doped hafnium oxide (HfZrOx)-based materials have shown negative capacitance and polarization switching for a frequency of 1 MHz [10]. The simulation results have shown that using silicon-doped HfO_2 as a ferroelectric material makes it possible to fabricate the short channel FeFETs with improved performance even without using buffer oxide layer [11]. In simulated device, ferroelectric layer is used in stack with a thin layer of SiO₂. Section 2 presents the device structure and simulation setup to obtain leakage current and other electrical parameters. In Sect. 3, the effect of parameter variation on electrical characteristics is presented. Finally, conclusion of the simulation result is presented in Sect. 4.

2 Device Structure and Simulation Setup

Two-dimensional schematic of symmetric DGJLT with negative capacitance is shown in Fig. 1 where the thickness of ferroelectric layer is denoted by t_f , t_{in} denotes the thickness of insulator (SiO₂) and t_{si} indicates the silicon channel thickness, respectively. The device is highly doped to generate significant ON current and gate consists of Si-doped hafnium oxide as ferroelectric layer in stack with a thin layer of oxide. 2D Silvaco Atlas tool is used for device simulations. Device parameters are given in Table 1.

In device simulations, drift–diffusion model is applied along with the Fermi Dirac statistics to consider the carrier transport. Mobility degradation model due to high device doping and velocity saturation effects at smaller dimensions are also included. Further Shockley–Read–Hall (SRH) and Auger models are included to consider the recombination. To include the effect of band to band tunneling of electrons the BTBT model is included in the simulation. Gate work function is kept 5.2 eV (p +



Fig. 1 2D diagram of NC-DGJLT

Table 1	Parameters of the
proposed	device

Parameter	Value
Channel length	20 nm
Oxide thickness	1 nm
Source/drain doping conc	1×10^{19} atoms cm ⁻³
Channel doping conc	1×10^{19} atoms cm ⁻³
Source/drain electrode work function	4.2 eV
Ferroelectric layer thickness	4 nm
Gate electrode work function	5.2 eV

polysilicon) and device doping concentration is taken equal to 1×10^{19} atoms cm⁻³ to achieve the high ON current and required SS. Using the model parameters of calibrated JLT, we simulate NC-DGJLT structure by including 1-D Landau model for the analysis of stacked ferroelectric layer.

3 Simulation Result and Discussion

Quantum mechanical effects are not considered in simulations since; the silicon layer thickness is more than 6 nm [4]. The voltage between drain and source terminal of device is fixed at 0.1 V and gate to source voltage is varied to plot the transfer characteristics. Temperature is kept at 300 K and ferroelectric layer parameters are optimized to quantitatively analyze the device performance.



The change in drain current of device in forward and reverse sweep of gate voltage is indicated in Fig. 2. The difference in threshold voltage is found due to hysteresis of ferroelectric material used. We find that the difference in current is very small due to use of silicon-doped HfO_2 as ferroelectric material.

3.1 Impact of Ferroelectric Layer Thickness

In negative capacitance devices, device performance changes with the change in the thickness of ferroelectric layer. As thickness increases, its capacitance decreases and voltage drop across ferroelectric increases. Hence, thick layer of ferroelectric requires higher voltage to produce equal amount of charge [12, 13]. As shown in Fig. 3a leakage current increases with increase in t_f for given gate voltage in the subthreshold regime ($V_{gs} < V_{FB}$) of operation. Subthreshold swing also increases with the increase in ferroelectric material thickness due to reduction in its capacitance (Fig. 3b).

Although ON current slightly reduces with reduction in ferroelectric layer thickness as shown in Fig. 4a, the ON to OFF current ratio significantly increases due to significant reduction in the leakage current Fig. 4b.

3.2 Impact of Oxide Layer Thickness Variation

Variation in thickness of gate oxide varies the oxide capacitance and hence induced charges in the channel vary. The increase in gate oxide thickness reduces its capacitance, this result in a higher voltage drop across the oxide layer and a smaller voltage





Fig. 3 Variation of a leakage current and b subthreshold Swing with ferroelectric layer thickness



Fig. 4 Variation of a ON current and b ON to OFF current ratio with ferroelectric layer thickness

drop across ferroelectric layer [14, 15]. The smaller voltage drop across ferroelectric layer reduces its control over channel and increases the leakage current as to at smaller field the magnetic dipoles are not oriented properly. As we find in Fig. 5a the leakage current is much larger for 1.5 nm thickness of SiO_2 in comparison with 0.5 nm. Again threshold voltage reduces with the increase in oxide thickness and subthreshold swing increases (Fig. 5b). The SS value becomes more than 60 mV/dec for a thickness greater than 1 nm.



Fig. 5 Variation of a ON current and b SS and threshold voltage with oxide layer thickness

3.3 Impact of Silicon Thickness Variation

Silicon layer thickness is an important parameter for junctionless transistor. A thicker device could not be depleted completely by the work function difference in OFF state. Hence, from Fig. 6a, we find that thicker device provides higher leakage current due to incomplete removal of charge carriers. Again subthreshold swing value increases with the increase in silicon thickness which degrades the device performance shown in Fig. 6b. Reduction in threshold voltage obtained due to increase in silicon thickness resulted in increased leakage current [16, 17]. Again we find that there is very small variation in the ON current of the device due to increase in silicon thickness which indicates that thinner devices can be used without degrading the ON current with much smaller leakage current.



Fig. 6 Variation of a ON current and b SS and threshold voltage with Si layer thickness

4 Conclusion

The detailed analysis of NCDGJLT has been done for the variation of various parameters of the device such as ferroelectric layer thickness, gate oxide thickness and device thickness. It is concluded that device shows improved switching characteristics by reducing the ferroelectric layer thickness which increases its capacitance. The reduction in the thickness of oxide layer also reduces the voltage drop across oxide layer and creating more charge at smaller voltage. The reduction in the silicon thickness reduces the total no of charge carriers in the channel region which are depleted completely by the gate of device due to difference in the work function of gate material and silicon channel.

References

- C.W. Lee, A. Afzalian, N. D. Akhavan, R. Yan, I. Ferain, J.-P.Colinge, Junctionless multigate field-effect transistor. Appl. Phys. Lett. 94(5), 053511 (2009)
- M. Ionescu, Beyond-CMOS low-power devices: steep-slope switches for computation and sensing. Nanoelectron. Mater. Devices. Appl. 2 (2017)
- S. Takagi, T. Iisawa, T. Tezuka, T. Numata, S. Nakaharai, N. Hirashita, Y. Moriyama, K. Usuda, E. Toyoda, S. Dissanayake et al., Carrier transport-enhanced channel cmos for improved power consumption and performance. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 55(1), 21–39 (2007)
- G.A. Salvatore, D. Bouvet, A. M. Ionescu, Demonstration of subthrehold swing smaller than 60mv/decade in fe-fet with p (vdftrfe)/SiO₂ gate stack, in 2008 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEEE, 2008), pp. 1–4
- A. Rusu, G.A. Salvatore, D. Jimenez, A.M. Ionescu, Metal-ferroelectric-metal-oxidesemiconductor field effect transistor with sub- 60mv/decade subthreshold swing and internal voltage amplification, in *International Electron Devices Meeting* (IEEE, 2010), pp. 16–3
- S. Salahuddin, S. Datta, Use of negative capacitance to provide voltage amplification for low power nanoscale devices. Nano Lett. 8(2), 405–410 (2008)
- A.M. Ionescu, L. Lattanzio, G.A. Salvatore, L. De Michielis, K. Boucart, D. Bouvet, The hysteretic ferroelectric tunnel fet. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 57(12), 3518–3524 (2010)
- A. Saeidi, F. Jazaeri, F. Bellando, I. Stolichnov, G.V. Luong, Q.-T. Zhao, S. Mantl, C.C. Enz, A.M. Ionescu, Negative capacitance as performance booster for tunnel fets and mosfets: an experimental study. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 38(10), 1485–1488 (2017)
- A. Saeidi, F. Jazaeri, I. Stolichnov, C.C. Enz, A.M. Ionescu, Negative capacitance as universal digital and analog performance booster for complementary mos transistors. Sci. Rep. 9(1), 1–9 (2019)
- A. Saeidi, F. Jazaeri, I. Stolichnov, A.M. Ionescu, Double-gate negative-capacitance mosfet with pzt gate-stack on ultra thin body soi: An experimentally calibrated simulation study of device performance. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 63(12), 4678–4684 (2016)
- H. Mehta, H. Kaur, Modeling and simulation study of novel double gate ferroelectric junctionless (dgfjl) transistor. Superlattices Microstruct. 97, 536–547 (2016)
- J.-M. Sallese, N. Chevillon, C. Lallement, B. Iniguez, F. Pregaldiny, Charge-based modeling of junctionless double-gate field-effect transistors. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 58(8), 2628– 2637 (2011)
- A. Rassekh, F. Jazaeri, M. Fathipour, J.-M. Sallese, Modeling interface charge traps in junctionless fets, including temperature effects. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 66(11), 4653–4659 (2019)

- 14. F. Jazaeri, L. Barbut, J.-M. Sallese, Generalized charge-based model of double-gate junctionless fets, including inversion. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices **61**(10), 3553–3557 (2014)
- M. Shalchian, F. Jazaeri, J.-M. Sallese, Charge-based model for ultrathin junctionless dg fets, including quantum confinement. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 65(9), 4009–4014 (2018)
- F. Jazaeri, L. Barbut, J.-M. Sallese, Modeling asymmetric operation in double-gate junctionless fets by means of symmetric devices. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 61(12), 3962–3970 (2014)
- F. Jazaeri, L. Barbut, A. Koukab, J.-M. Sallese, Analytical model for ultra-thin body junctionless symmetric double gate mosfets in subthreshold regime. Solid-State Electron. 82, 103–110 (2013)

A Compact Size Planar Microstrip-Fed Patch Antenna with Hexagonal DGS Slot for WLAN Application



Shashwat Pathak, Nand Kishore, Gaurav Upadhyay, Ratneshwar Kumar Ratnesh, and Rajan Mishra

1 Introduction

In recent years, high-speed data rate in wireless communication is demanded. To fulfill this demand, wireless local area network (WLAN) is used for high-data rate. The different types of channel for WLAN for Wi-Fi communication are following: (0.90, 2.4, 3.6, 4.9, 5, 5.9, 60) GHz bands [1–3]. For high data rate, a wide band and high-gain antenna are needed. Lots of research are already going on to develop wide band and high-gain antenna. Some of the research works are as discussed below.

A ultra wide band (UWB) radar array has been developed in year 2007 for band range of 23.6–24 GHz. It has bandwidth of 400 MHz [4]. L. Dang et al. in 2010 developed multi-band band antenna for WLAN and WiMax having resonant frequencies of 2.7, 3.5 and 5.6 GHz having bandwidth of 600, 430 and 1300 MHz respectively [5]. Sun et al. in 2011 developed an antenna array for WLAN application having resonant frequency of 5.8 GHz and bandwidth of 780 MHz [6]. In 2013, a circularly polarized wideband antenna was developed which works in frequency range of (1.1-1.6) GHz having bandwidth of 500 MHz [7]. A Vee shape dipole antenna was developed in 2014 which having band range of (2.95-3.2) GHz [8]. Sood et al. in 2016 compare three different types of patch antenna for WLAN application having resonant frequencies of 5.49, 5.38 and 5.34 GHz with bandwidth of 140, 95, and 105 MHz respectively [9].

S. Pathak (🖂) · R. K. Ratnesh

N. Kishore

Motilal Mehru National Institute of Technology, Allahabad, UP 211004, India

G. Upadhyay Institute of Technology, Gopeshwar, Uttrakhand 246424, India

R. Mishra

Madan Mohan Malaviya University of Technology, Gorakhpur, UP 273010, India

Meerut Institute of Engineering and Technology, Meerut, UP 250005, India e-mail: ratneshwar.ratnesh@miet.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_25

Sharma et al. in 2016 developed tri-band cylindrical dielectric resonator antenna having three different bandwidth of 410, 800 and 800 MHz respectively and gain at 2.5 and 3 GHz is 2.7 dBi each [10]. Roy et al. in 2017 designed U-shaped antenna for WLAN and ITV band for band ranges of 5.72–5.85 GHz and 8.1–8.5 GHz respectively, bandwidth of 130MHz and 400 MHz respectively and maximum gain of 3.5 dBi [11]. Saraswat et al. in 2018 developed octagonal shaped multiband antenna for WLAN and WiMax application 2.4, 3.5, 5.2 and 5.8 GHz resonant frequencies with bandwidth of 80, 290, 200, 75 MHz respectively and maximum gain of 3.5 dBi [12]. Liu et al. in 2019 developed CPW fed multiband antenna for WLAN and WiMAX application having resonant frequencies of 2.4 GHz, 3.5 GHz and 5.8 GHz having bandwidth of 0.460, 0.60 and 2.03 GHz respectively and gain of 2.1, 1.08 and 1.28 dBi, respectively [13]. P. R. Sura in 2019 designed Psi shaped dual band antenna for WLAN and Wi-Fi application having resonant frequencies of 2.4 and 5.2 GHz with gain of 3.1 and 4.2 dB, respectively [14].

In this manuscript, a regular hexagonal shape DGS slot antenna has been developed. The proposed antenna has very high gain and having wide band range. The DGS is used to enhance bandwidth and gain of antenna [15–17]. The aperture coupled fed line is used of circular polarization [18]. A notch slot has been added in hexagonal slot for proper impedance matching and produces desired resonant frequency.

This manuscript has been divided into four sections. Section 1 is introduces the manuscript. Design specification has been discussed in Sect. 2. Results are discussed in Sect. 3 and finally concluded in Sect. 4.

2 Design Specification

In this section, the proposed antenna design specification has been discussed. There are two antenna has been designed and developed: (a) Antenna with regular hexagonal DGS structure (b) Antenna with regular hexagonal DGS structure. The proposed antenna is designed using substrate NELTEC 9320 having dielectric constant 3.2 and height 1.524 mm. The loss tangent or dissipation factor of substrate (tan δ) 0.0025. The total dimension of the Asymmetric antenna is 31 mm × 41 mm × 1.524 mm and the Symmetric antenna is 33 mm × 41 mm × 1.524 mm. The design of proposed antenna structure is shown in Fig. 1. The parameter values of proposed antenna discussed in Table 1.

The proposed antenna is designed and simulated on HFSSv15 software. The prototype of both structures has been developed, and antenna results are measured in laboratory. The prototype of both structure are shown in Figs. 2 and 3. Figure 2 shows irregular hexagonal DGS slot antenna, and Fig. 3 shows regular hexagonal DGS slot antenna. The simulated and measured results almost match each others.



Fig. 1 Proposed structure of antenna **a** top view **b** bottom view of symmetric antenna **c** bottom view of asymmetric antenna

Parameter	L	W	l_1	l_2	<i>l</i> ₃	w_1	w ₂	w3	а	b
Value in (mm)	41	33 (Symmetric antenna)31 (Asymmetric antenna)	12	23	15	10	3	3	13	15

Table 1 Parameters Values

3 Results and Discussion

In this section, simulated and measured results of irregular and regular patch antenna are discussed. Figure 4 shows simulated and measured return loss in dB. This return result is achieved for irregular hexagonal DGS slot structure of antenna. Figure 5 shows simulated and measured return loss in dB regular hexagonal DGS slot structure of antenna. The results of irregular and regular structure are discussed in Table 2.

From Table 2 it is shown that the regular hexagonal DGS slot structure give better measured result in comparison with irregular hexagonal DGS slot structure. The regular hexagonal DGS slot gives two resonant frequencies of 2.4 GHz and 3.1 GHz with return loss of -22 dB and -32 dB, respectively. It has bandwidth of 3 GHz from band range of 2.2–5.2 GHz. The large bandwidth is achieved by hexagonal DGS slot. The regular hexagonal bGS slot gives two resonant frequencies. The notch slot with hexagonal DGS slot is used in impedance matching. The uniform aperture coupled microstrip fed line with uniform resonator helps in producing large bandwidth and also makes antenna approximate circularly polarized. Due to better results achieve in regular hexagonal DGS slot further on this shape, result is discussed in this manuscript.

Figure 6 shows simulated surface vector current distribution over regular hexagonal DGS slot structure of antenna. The current is varies over corner of regular

(b)

Fig. 2 Prototype of irregular hexagonal DGS slot antenna a top view, b bottom view



Fig. 3 Prototype of regular hexagonal DGS slot antenna a top view, b bottom view

hexagonal DGS slot, and this variation produces large bandwidth. The current over notch and on strip line is distributed maximum which helps in proper impedance matching.

(a)

Figure 7 shows measured E- and H-plane of regular DGS slot antenna at 2.4 and 3.1 GHz frequencies. This figure shows the polarization of antenna.

Figure 8 shows simulated 3D radiation pattern of gain in dB of regular DGS slot antenna at 2.4 and 3.1 GHz frequencies. This figure shows the variation of gain in dB with respect to theta and phi. The red area shows the maximum gain at this angle.

Figure 9 shows measured gain in dBi with respect to frequency in GHz plot. This figure is gain versus frequency plot. The gain is varies for 2 GHz frequency range to 5 GHz frequency range. The figure the gain of antenna varies in increasing order from 2 to 5 GHz then further it remain constant near 5 GHz frequency. The maximum gain achieved from this figure is 3.9 dBi. The gain at 2.4 GHz and 3.1 GHz is 2.75 dBi and 3 dBi respectively. The proposed work is also compared with recently published work as shown in Table 3. From this table, it is shown that the proposed antenna has better performance that as compared in Table 3.



Fig. 4 Return loss in dB versus frequency in GHz graph for irregular DGS slot antenna



Fig. 5 Return loss in dB versus frequency in GHz graph for regular DGS slot antenna

Parameter	Irregular hexagonal		Regular hexagonal		
	DGS slot		DGS slot		
	Simulated	Measured	Simulated	Measured	
Centre frequency in GHz	2.6	2.8	2.5	2.4, 3.1	
S11 in dB	-35	-24	-40	-22, -32	
Bandwidth in GHz	1	1.9	1	3	

Table 2Return loss results



Fig. 6 Surface vector current distribution over regular DGS slot antenna



Fig. 7 E-plane and H-plane radiation pattern of regular hexagonal DGS slot antenna at frequency a 2.4 GHz and b 3.1 GHz



Fig. 8 3D radiation pattern of regular hexagonal DGS slot antenna at frequency a 2.4 GHz and b 3.1 GHz



Fig. 9 Gain in dBi versus frequency in GHz plot for regular DGS slot antenna

References/parameters	Resonant frequency in GHz	Bandwidth in MHz	Maximum gain in dBi
Sharma et al. in 2016 [10]	2.4, 3.2, 5.8	410, 800, 800	2.7
Roy et al. in 2017 [11]	5.8, 8.2	130, 400	3.5
Saraswat et al. in 2018 [12]	2.4, 3.5, 5.2, 5.8	80, 290, 200, 75	3.5
Liu et al. in 2019 [13]	2.4, 3.5, 5.8	400, 600, 2030	2.1
Proposed Work	2.4, 3.1	3000	3.9

Table 3Return loss results

4 Conclusion

In this manuscript, two different antennas are designed, and prototype is developed; one with regular hexagonal DGS slot antenna, and other is irregular hexagonal DGS slot antenna. The simulated amd measured results matches well with each other. The regular hexagonal DGS slot antenna produces better results than the irregular hexagonal DGS slot antenna. The regular hexagonal DGS slot produces two resonant frequencies of 2.4 and 3.1 GHz. It has bandwidth of 3 GHz with band range of 2.2–5.2 GHz. The proposed antenna has maximum gain of 3.9 dBi and it is approximately circularly polarized in nature. This whole band range is mostly used for WLAN application. Also, the proposed antenna is compared with recently published work and gives better result. So, the proposed antenna gives better performance for WLAN application with wide band and high gain.

References

- IEEE Standard for Information Technology—Telecommunications and Information Exchange Between Systems - Local and Metropolitan Area Networks—Specific Requirements - Part 11: Wireless LAN Medium Access Control (MAC) and Physical Layer (PHY) Specifications. IEEE Std 802.11-2007 (Revision of IEEE Std 802.11-1999) (2007), pp. 1-10
- Lifewire, Wireless Standard page, Last accessed 05 Oct 2019, https://www.lifewire.com/ wireless-standards-802-11a-802-11b-g-n-and-802-11ac-816553
- Electronic-notes, Article page, Last accessed 05 Oct 2019, https://www.electronics-notes.com/ articles/connectivity/wifi-ieee-802-11/channels-frequencies-bands-bandwidth.php
- T. Teshirogi, T. Kawamura, A. Yamamoto, Wideband, high-gain printed antenna for uwb automotive radar (2007)
- L. Dang, Z.Y. Lei, Y.J. Xie, G.L. Ning, J. Fan, A compact microstrip slot triple-band antenna for WLAN/WiMAX applications. IEEE Antennas Wireless Propag. Lett. 9, 1178–1181 (2010)
- 6. C. Sun, J. Li, A novel planar microstrip array antenna for WLAN applications (2011), pp. 16–17
- Z. Zhang, N. Liu, J. Zhao, G. Fu, Wideband circularly polarized antenna with gain improvement. IEEE Antennas Wireless Propag. Lett. 12, 456–459 (2013)
- A. Mohamed, L. Shafai, Towards a high gain, low profile directional ultra wideband antenna (2014)
- N. Sood, K. Goodwill, M.V. Kartikeyan, Metamaterial inspired CSSRR design for WLAN microstrip patch antenna (2016), pp. 628–632
- 10. A. Sharma, G. Das, R.K. Gangwar, Tri-band cylindrical dielectric resonator antenna with novel microstrip line feed for WiMAX/WLAN applications (2016), pp. 123–127
- 11. S. Roy, U. Chakraborty, An U-shaped dual band microstrip antenna for WLAN and ITU band application (2017), pp. 1–3
- R.K. Saraswat, S. Dubey, K. j. Singh, N. Sharma, V. Kachhawa, , in *Design of Multi-Band Octagonal Shape Patch Antenna For WLAN/WiMAX Applications* (Bhopal, India, 2018), pp. 21–24
- T. Liu, Y. Sun, CPW-Fed Compact Multiband Monopole Antenna for WLAN/WiMAX Application. IEEE MTT-S International Wireless Symposium (IWS) (Guangzhou, China, 2019), pp. 1–3
- P.R. Sura, S. Narayana Reddy, Half Psi Shaped Dual Band CP Antenna for WLAN/Wi-Fi Applications, (2019), pp. 979–981

- Nand Kishore, V.S. Arun Prakash, Tripathi, A multiband microstrip patch antenna with defected ground structure for ITS applications. Microwave Opt. Technol. Lett. 58(12), 2814–2818 (2016)
- N. Kishore, G. Upadhyay, V. S. Tripathi, A. Prakash, Millimeter-wave antenna for intelligent transportation system. J. Microwaves Optoelectron. Electromag. Appl. 17(1), 171–178 (2018)
- N. Kishore, G. Upadhyay, V.S. Tripathi, A. Prakash, Dual band rectangular patch antenna array with defected ground structure for ITS application. AEU-Int. J. Electron. Commun. 96, 228–237 (2018)
- N. Kishore, A. Prakash, V.S. Tripathi, A reconfigurable ultra wide band antenna with defected ground structure for ITS application. AEU-Int. J. Electron. Commun. 72, 210–215 (2017)

Throughput Enhancement in Wireless Sensor Network by Novel Genetic Algorithm-Fuzzy Method (NGA-F)



N. Prakash, M. Rajalakshmi, and R. Nedunchezhian

1 Introduction

Wireless sensor network WSN as also said as Remote Sensor Networks RSN are created to help the users. This incorporate traffic control, home robotization, brilliant combat zone, condition checking and many more. RSN consolidates diverse sensors which disseminates around a specific hub for accomplishing computational activities. Steering is said to be a significant assignment in WSN which will be taken care of cautiously. In order to send the information, the Steering system is required. This is done between the sensor hubs and base stations, to set up correspondence. The principle paradigm, that has been included in the manuscript is about the steering convention which differs dependently on the application. Issues prompt by routing diminished system lifetime with expanded vitality utilization. Different Routing conventions is put forth for limiting the vitality utilization and for augmenting the system lifetime. The directing conventions can be arranged dependent on the hubs' cooperation, bunching conventions, method of working and system structure. The different difficulties that exists in routing incorporates vitality utilization, hub arrangement, adaptability, availability, inclusion, security. The remote sensor system's routing protocol are clarified before. WSN is outfitted with restricted power source. This is because of the equipment limitations. For most of the applications, recharging intensity assets is inconceivable. Accordingly, in a sensor network life expectancy is emphatically subjected to the battery life. A wireless sensor network comprises of hubs which are of remote sensors.

N. Prakash (🖂)

273

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, KIT-Kalaignarkarunanidhi Institute of Technology, Coimbatore, India

M. Rajalakshmi · R. Nedunchezhian

Department of Computer Science and Engineering and Information Technology, Coimbatore Institute of Technology, Coimbatore, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

Electrice Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_26



Fig. 1 Adapted network-based fuzzy inference system (ANFIS) structure having two I/P and one O/P

Remote Unveiling insightful practices of machines is given out by utilizing computerized reasoning procedures. Different computerized reasoning methods have been wished-for, for instance, fuzzy rationale, neural systems, enhancement calculations like hereditary calculation, molecule swarm improvement, counterfeit honey bee state calculation. These take care of a wide range of issues that arises from various regions. One of another critical man-made consciousness systems are counterfeit neural system. A few capacities acknowledged by human mind are shown here. False neural systems are shaped by false neurons. For demonstrating a framework utilizing false neural systems, it ought to be prepared utilizing train informational index.

Figure 1 shows the Adapted network-based fuzzy inference system (ANFIS) layer structure having two I/P and one O/P. The figure tells us that there two sources for information. Along with which one yield is present. There are four principles and participation capacities.

2 Related Works

Karaboga and Kaya [1] decided to raise the parameters by utilizing angle plummet, outcome parameters are discovered with the strategy of least squares estimation. On creation of ANN, it is utilized in demonstrating along with identification of various frameworks and victories have been accomplished. The choice of advancement technique used in preparing are essential for obtaining powerful outcomes with adapted network- based fuzzy inference system. It is seen that derivate based and heuristic calculation based are utilized in connectionist systems preparing.

Adnan et al. [2] presents five sorts of examination directed on FL strategies utilized in machining process. Fuzzy logic was considered for expectation, determination, checking, control and enhancement of machining process. Writing demonstrated that processing contributed the most noteworthy number of machining task that was displayed utilizing Fuzzy logic (FL). As far as FL, focus of gravity technique was for the most part used to perform de-fuzzification. Also, triangular for the most part was considered to perform participation work. The surveys expands examination on the basis of capacities, constraints and solid adjustments of Fuzzy logic. The investigation drives creators to presume that Fuzzy logic is the most mainstream artificial intelligence systems utilized in displaying of machining process.

Akay and Karaboga [3] surveyed on the uses of counterfeit honey bee settlement in picture, and video handling. The manuscript shows the issues Swarm intelligence calculation that are connected in the fields. They portray the Swarm intelligence calculation which was utilized in the methodologies for taking care of issues that are arosed. Aliabadian et al. [4] centers around the proficiency of the hereditary calculation for locating the ideal ANN structure and its application to anticipate the disfigurement modulus of shake mass. For locating the ideal number of participation work, GA is used. The learning rates and the energy coefficients and to choose for info factors. The outcomes are then contrasted and those of experimentation system. A database that includes information of about 188 informational indexes.

Aljawarneh et al. [5] presents the engineering and assessment of every technique. It also includes the execution of utilized. Such execution was cultivated through utilization of the Needleman–Wunsch calculation (NWC). This seemed to be lacking because of invariant parts and separations confinements of the polymorphic worm. Subsequently, an Enhanced Contiguous Substring Rewarded calculation was proposed and projected for improve the outcome extraction from the NWC and produce exact marks. The assessment results demonstrated that the mark contains conjunctions of tokens, that are created for lost indispensable data. This could be seen as disregarding one-byte token or rather dismissing the confinement separations. Moreover, the Simplified Regular Expression should be refreshed and precise when contrasted and signature and polygraph techniques.

Bagheri et al. [6] talked about the Financial guaging utilizing adaptive neuro-fuzzy inference system systems. To imitate the manner in which genuine brokers make expectations. This strategy utilizes both verifiable market information and outline instances for estimating market patterns. To start with, wavelet full disintegration of time arrangement investigation was utilized as an ANFIS input information for determining future market costs. The later stage of the manuscript deals with the novel half and half Dynamic Time Warping–Wavelet Transform (WT) technique for programmed design extraction. The outcomes show that the displayed half and half strategy is an extremely helpful and also a viable one. This is important for budgetary value estimating and monetary example extraction.

Çavdar et al. [7] deals with molecule swarm improvement ANFIS. The molecule swa improvement ANFIS equalizer was reproduced on a versatile correspondence model along with Inter symbol interface. The utilized preparing strategy and FCM gave the best relapse of framework demonstrating to fit to remote channel. The exhibitions of molecule swarm improvement ANFIS equalizer were assessed and contrasted with the equalizers of Maximum-Likelihood Sequence Estimation, Recursive Least Squares and Artificial Neural Network- molecule swarm improvement. The reenactment results demonstrated that the presentation of molecule swarm improvement-ANFIS equalizer along with FCM bunching gives the best execution. The outcome has been compared with the referenced nonlinear leveling procedures.

Ch and Mathur [8] inquired and accomplished by joining the Adaptive Neuro Fuzzy Inference System (ANFIS) to assess the target work inside molecule swarm improvement structure. Afterward, the ANFIS PSO calculation is connected to four issues. The first issues are a solitary loose parameter for outspread stream to a well. Then are two uncertain parameters for 1D solute transport in relentless uniform stream. Then the issue has three uncertain parameters for a 2D heterogeneous enduring stream issue lastly. Finally, the four uncertain parameters for the issue of 2D solute transport. The outcomes demonstrate that with the Adaptive Neuro Fuzzy Inference System PSO calculation, the computational weight is diminished impressively when contrasted with the usually utilized vertex technique.

Dai et al. [9] completed a study on hereditary calculation based face acknowledgment. Generally, unique items can be distinguished and perceived by the format coordinating technique. Yet the acknowledgment speed has consistently been an issue. Furthermore, for acknowledgment by a neural system, preparing the information is consistently tedious. The article presents strategy for hereditary calculation based face acknowledgment is condensed, and explores for constant use are depicted. The chromosomes produced by the hereditary calculation contains parameters about the face, and hereditary administrators are utilized to distinguish and acquire the situation of the substance of enthusiasm for a picture. The parameters considered are directions such as (direction 'x', direction 'y') of the focal point of the face. The rate of scale, and the edge of pivot, are encoded into the GA. Dalkilic and Apaydin [10] examined the versatile systems having utilized for developing a model. The techniques that are proposed for classes quantities of free factors heuristically. On the other hand, in characterizing the ideal class number of free factors, the utilization of recommended legitimacy standard for fuzzy grouping has been pointed. For the situation that autonomous factors have an exponential appropriation, a calculation is put forth for characterizing the obscure parameter of the exchanging relapse model. This is done for getting the evaluated qualities in the wake of acquiring an ideal participation work, that are reasonable for exponential circulation.

Ghosh and Banerjee [11] proposed an information social event approach in which some portable authorities visit just certain stay focused. Here the information gathering is focused instead of all sensor hubs. The versatile authorities begin their voyage of social event data about the system from the sink. The information is assembled from the sensors. The information is then passed on to the sink. This issue has been addressed by calculating named Mobile Collector Path Planning. Mobile Collector Path Planning composition is approved by means of PC recreation considering both snag free and deterrent opposing system. It is dependent on measurements like vitality utilization by the static sensor hubs and system life time. The reproduction results demonstrate a decrease in vitality utilization and an improvement in system lifetime as contrasted with the existing calculations.

Halim et al. [12] introduced an examination on the current methodologies for the recognition of hazardous driving examples of a vehicle used to anticipate mishaps. Computer based intelligence methods are reviewed for the recognition of dangerous driving style and crash forecast. Various measurable techniques are utilized for anticipating the mishaps by utilizing diverse vehicle and driving highlights are likewise shrouded. The methodologies considered in the manuscript are looked at as far as datasets and expectation execution. Additionally, given a rundown of datasets and the systems are tested and accessible for mainstream researchers to lead look into in the subject area. The manuscript additionally recognizes a portion of the basic open inquiries that should be tended to for street wellbeing utilizing artificial intelligence methods.

Kalpana et al. (2018) recommended Shifted Adaption Homomorphism Encryption. This is viewed as the better choice for all the flow research going on. Shifted Adaption Homomorphism Encryption actualizes the littlest open key and scrambles the whole number and genuine numbers. A noteworthy issue in the field of research is trouble in securing client's inquiries. This is tended to by considering an open key encryption system which depends on the turned around record. This strategy is fitting for portable learning since the projected calculation will not utilize the versatile memory or power.

Ke et al. [13] examined the Energy mindful progressive bunch based directing convention. In a vitality mindful directing methodology, most proposed calculations go for limiting the complete vitality utilization system lifetime. A novel vitality mindful progressive group based is proposed and projected directing convention with two objectives. It includes limiting the all-out vitality utilization and guaranteeing decency of vitality utilization between hubs. Model of the hand-off hub picking issue as a nonlinear programming issue and utilizes the property of curved capacity to locate the ideal arrangement. The assessment are proposed along with calculation by means of reproductions towards the finish of the present manuscript.

Preparing of Adaptive Network-based Fuzzy Inference System means deciding the parameters in its structure utilizing an enhancement calculation. In the preparation stage, reason and outcome parameters are used. So as to get compelling outcomes with ANN, an effective preparing is fundamental. Since the primary improvement of Adaptive Network-based Fuzzy Inference System, distinctive preparing methodologies have been recommended to accomplish better execution. These methodologies are separated into three. They are subsidiary based, heuristic based and half and half. Adaptive Network- based Fuzzy Inference System comprises of two sections as reason and outcome. In preparing of these parts, two unique circumstances has been experienced as indicated by the methodologies recommended in the writing. In the main case, just a single advancement calculation is utilized in preparing of all parameters of ANN. In the subsequent case, half and half learning methodologies are proposed as another strategy for expanding the presentation. Consequently, the issue of nearby least is dispensed with and better exhibitions is gotten. It is seen that half and half learning methodologies comprising of subsidiary based and heuristic calculations are used broadly. Moreover, there are half and half preparing calculations which utilize just subordinate based techniques.

3 Classification Models Based on Training Approaches

Structure learning and parameters distinguishing proof are the two elements of adapted network-based fuzzy inference system (ANFIS) preparing. Some have concentrated on both two measurements, while others have attempted to chip away at both of the issues. Yet, keeping balance, between decreasing the intricacy of the ANN structure and expanding its precision by parameter tuning. This is a frequent test that is considered. The first adapted network-based fuzzy inference system (ANFIS) anticipated uses half breed realizing. Be that as it may, the downsides of multifaceted nature and inclination to trap in nearby minima have picked the scientists to various options. These choices involve metaheuristic calculations. The essential thought of populace based enhancement calculations is to make a populace of arrangement competitors. The arrangement applicants iteratively investigate the pursuit space and trade data, in this manner odds of meeting on the worldwide minima are fundamentally expanded. Broad writing survey demonstrates that an assortment of metaheuristic calculations has been incorporated with ANN. For the most part, particle swarm optimization and its variations have been connected on ANFIS preparing and streamlining. PSO have been utilised in blending with least square estimator to alter the forerunner and the resulting parameters of ANN models, individually. They are simply cantered around parameter learning, and did not advance fuzzy guideline set. They created ANFIS based expectation models at foreseeing power costs, wind power and consumer loyalty for another item. particle swarm optimization is connected for alone for preparing both the reason and subsequent parameters of artificial neural network based models. Particle swarm optimization is utilized for ANN preparing. Notwithstanding parameter identification, they additionally streamlined FL standard based by applying edge an incentive on the guidelines' terminating quality. Other than the standard of PSO has additionally been utilized to ANFIS learning. Another variation of particle swarm optimization, Adaptive Weighted PSO (AWPSO) with Forgetting Factor Recursive Least Square which one of least square strategies, to recognize the reason and ensuing parameters, separately. The previous research was improved by utilizing Extended Kalman Filter. Aside from PSO, as observational investigation recommends, genetics algorithm is the second most basic way to deal with ANN recognizable proof. Genetic algorithm in mix with least square strategies is actualized to secure ideal ANFIS arrange. Earlier research utilizes ANN for taking care of grouping issue.

Feedforward neural network, especially ANN, has not just unravelled XW the issue of ANFIS yet in addition accomplished more exactness. ANFIS models has increased more notoriety when compared to Feedforward neural network because



Fig. 2 ANFIS model with single and double algorithm

of the upside of productivity in figuring, adequately versatile with enhancement systems.

Figure 2 shows the ANFIS model with single and double algorithm. It is seen that that are two types of input. In the first there is only one algorithm where as the second input has two different algorithms. Between the input and output, we have the premise parameters and consequences parameters.

4 Proposed Hybrid ANFIS for Throughput Improvement

As the examination is done, a wireless sensor network comprises of hubs was displayed the ceaselessly watch of the system. Information that is obtained by the cluster head (CH) are sent to the hubs in the group. The CH that are present in the system join and minimized the deliberate information and communicate them to the base station. The accompanying presumptions are made as following. Each sensor hub are displayed by the Wireless Sensor Network is consistently disseminated with a similar vitality sources. Distinguish on independently displayed WSN for each sensor unit. Next the sensor hubs relate to the help of a symmetrical radio. Then is the separation between the hubs. It is estimated utilizing a remote radio sign. Base stations area is chosen at the focal point of the system region. The hubs along with the principle station stay latent after they are haphazardly masterminded.

The parameters for the displayed sensor network were taken and are tested for the planned and projected calculation. The model, known as first-request radio model, can be isolated into free space frameworks and multipath blurring frameworks relying upon the space between the transmitting sensor hubs and accepting sensor hubs. A symmetrical correspondence diverts utilized for convention.

Genetic Algorithm (GA) separates sensor hubs into areas in a Sensor network. GA based grouping technique is used to clarify. GAs is a nature propelled approach that utilizes streamlining issues. The hopeful arrangement is made for GA and is spoken by a populace of people. Iterative methodology is used by GA, adjusting the applicant arrangement set at every emphasis. Every hopeful arrangement set, it is also related with a wellness or target work. The wellness capacity indicates how well the created arrangement performs. The calculation begins by making an underlying populace. After instatement, the calculation chooses a portion of the people from the present populace. This is considered as guardians utilizing roulette wheel choice at each progression. At that point, utilizing the guardians, the number-crunching hybrid capacity is connected to create kids for the people to come. Likewise use transformation over the posterity. Following posterity age, the calculation computes the wellness of everybody. In view of the determined wellness, another populace is resolved. With this iterative methodology, competitor arrangements advance toward an ideal arrangement.

To isolate the sensor hubs, the separation between the sensor hubs and base station is utilized. The wellness capacity is taken as the space between sensor hubs and base station. In the wake of framing the group with genetic algorithm, the middle hub is selected as the underlying bunch head for each group.

Applying ANN for Selecting CH and Finding Energy-Efficient Routes in wireless sensor networks. When sensor hubs send their information legitimately to the base station. The vitality utilization at that point of sensor hubs builds, leading to shortening of the life expectancy of the system. For extending the life expectancy of the system, bunches are made utilizing Genetic Algorithm, and CH and steering are surrounded utilizing the ANFIS organize. For expanding vitality efficiency, one of the hub is chosen as leader of Cluster of nodes. This is done for gathering the detected information. The collected information are consolidate and sent to base station. The cluster head is chosen by expanding vitality effectiveness. This is done by choosing the courses from the sensor hubs in the groups to the base station that limits the general vitality utilized during information gathering. Shaping the bunches utilizing genetic algorithm is done. ANFIS is then connected to the group of nodes. The NF derivation framework is connected utilizing the vitality and the good ways from every sensor hub from underlying group head.

The initial phase in the configuration of ANFIS is done. It is done to collect the needed information that are needed for the arrangement of ANFIS. ANFIS contributes to the sensor hub lingering vitality of each bunch in the system also there exists a space between the CH and sensor hub. The yield from the ANFIS system is the likelihood for each group. Once the data or the information is gathered, the information is applied the participation capacity of the fuzzy deduction framework utilizing the subtractive grouping technique. The present manuscript deals with utilizing the network parceling strategy to begin the enrolment work. The information received by the sources are appropriated with triangular participation capacities. Once the instatement of the enrolment work is done. The framework is trained utilizing a blend of backpropagation and least squares estimation. Least squares estimation is utilized to refresh the parameters of the yield participation capacity, and backpropagation is utilized to refresh the parameters of the information enrolment work. After the preparation procedure, a fuzzy induction framework is made for the given info and yield information.

Sensor Clustering is performed by classifying sensors into different groups. At that point, in each group, a sensor is chosen as the CH. For moving data to the focal station, every sensor sends its data to the bunch head. The data is sent at that point to the focal station. The bunch head can be chosen in different ways. The article performance is utilized in Fuzyy strategy.

Sensors Clustering Using the ANFIS Clustering Algorithm is discussed. Sensors are separated into different groups for sending motion to the focal station. Different bunching strategies exist, but the Fuzzy groupings are considered as extraordinary compared to other bunching techniques. ANFIS that are being utilized in the manuscript, is the most prominent fuzzy bunching calculation. In fuzzy bunching, for every approaching instance, participation of fuzzy gets credited to each group. The ANFIS calculation limits the objective capacity, this relies on bunch focuses and enrolment of fuzzy approaching examples to the group focuses. The objective capacity is characterized as pursues:

$$Sv(x, y) = \sum_{u=1}^{n} \sum_{v=1}^{c} D_{v}^{u} d^{2}(X_{u}, Y_{v})$$
(1)

where,

is denoted as the sensor vector,
is denoted as total number of sensor nodes
denotes the number of clusters,
is denoted as the quantity of sensors,
is denoted as Euclidean separation,
is denoted as a fixed parameter.

After the quantity of bunches is resolved and the group discovering ANFIS calculation is performed on the system sensors. Every sensor having a fuzzy participation gathering is associated with every one of the groups. Every sensor is designated to a group with greatest measure of fuzzy that connects the bunch. At last, to recreate the quantity of group changes, the quantity of ideal bunches is considered.

$$d^{2}(X_{u}, Y_{v}) = \|X_{u}, Y_{v}\|^{2}$$
⁽²⁾

CH Selection Using Fuzzy Logic is discussed. A sensor is chosen as the head group. This is done among several sensors. At first, every sensor sends its bundle to the related bunch to move its information to the focal station. At that point, the head group moves this information to the focal station. In any case, head group choice is performed in an unexpected way. The present article, CH choice is performed through fuzzy rationale. For instances in each group, the more vitality a sensor has and the shorter its good ways from the focal station, the higher its fuzzy likelihood turning into a head bunch. For this reason, two fuzzy information sources are utilized


Fig. 3 The structure of the fuzzy system

Guidelines	Outstanding energy of the sensor	Sensor standby to indispensable position	Gathering preference subject as a bunch heading
1	Low	Low	High
2	Low	Medium	Low
3	Low	High	Medium
4	Medium	Low	High
5	Medium	Medium	Low
6	Medium	High	Medium
7	High	Low	High
8	High	Medium	Low
9	High	High	Medium

 Table 1
 Fuzzy rules for choosing a cluster head by considering two fuzzy inputs

in this article to decide the head bunch. The fuzzy yield is the need level of a sensor turning into a head bunch. Furthermore, five information participation capacities and five yield enrolment capacities are utilized. These capacities comprise of less, little and normal. In every reiteration, nonfuzzy data sources are standardized over period (0, 1) and fuzzy propensities are in this way assigned to different capacities.

The vitality level is the power that every hub devours and disseminates utilizing a triangular participation work. This is shown in Fig. 3. The structure of the fuzzy system is seen. There are two inputs seen in the fuzzification. The fuzzification is connected to Fuzzy rues table. The table in turn is connected to Defuzzification. From which the output was obtained.

The CH choose fuzzy participation capacities are sorted out in Table 1. Where by and large demonstrates that, the higher the vitality of a sensor and the shorter its good ways from the focal station, the almost certain it is to turn into a group head. Table 1 additionally abridges choice standards we use with the fuzzy framework. Table 1 shows the Fuzzy rules for choosing a cluster head by considering two fuzzy inputs. 9 guidelines have been chosen. Outstanding energy of the sensor, Sensor standby to indispensable position and Gathering preference subject as a bunch heading are compared.

5 Results and Discussion

The yield information for the ANFIS is discussed as organized. The vitality level and the separation among group head and the sensor hubs contributes to the ANN. The hub that has been selected is the most extreme likelihood of being head of the cluster. After introduction, the system prepares the utilization of a mixture calculation for 100 cycles, and the last guidelines are produced. The preparation is done by testing. Subsequent for preparing the ANFIS arrange, the grid for sensor network is set up. The zone or the grid that is considered is around $200 \times 200 \text{ m}^2$. The typical hub, propelled hub and the base station of the system is seen that are present in WSN. The typical and propelled hubs are haphazardly circulated in the region. Covered area for the base station is said to be (100,100) meters. The system that was considered having 40 nodes, 20 nodes are made physically that are called as sensor hubs. There is a load that is present is trust worthy. When a false information is transmitted the trust, load diminishes by 0.2. When the point of trust worth load surpasses to 0.6 of any hub. The hub is set as an aggressor hub.

Algorithm for formation of cluster, determining the cluster head and routes.

Step 1: Initialize and deploy the sensor nodes WSN areas.

Step 2: Apply GA clustering for deployed sensor nodes based on distance between base station and sensor nodes.

Step 3: ANFIS is applied for routing algorithm based on energy level of sensor nodes and distance between CH and Sensor nodes in the cluster.

Step 4: Applying weighted trust evaluation for malicious nodes in the WSN.

Step 5: Compare the number of nodes greater than frequency.

Step 6: If the number of nodes greater than frequency, move to next step, that is Step 7.

Step 7: If the number of nodes is not greater than frequency, move to Step 2.

As the sensor network repeats itself. For each round, the sensor hubs that are prepared send information are detected and are to the base station. The hubs send the information which they received to the CH. Once the CH gathers the information, they course the information gathered from the sensors to the BS. When directing information from sensor hubs, the information is checked by the group head and rethinks about the trust estimation of the sensor hubs. The system life expectancies for Proposed NGA-Fuzzy method (NGA-F), Dual Fuzzy Logic-Cluster Protocol (DFLCP), Low-Energy Adaptive Clustering Hierarchy (LEACH), Centralized Low-Energy Adaptive Clustering Hierarchy (LEACH-C), Enhanced Distributed Energy Efficient Clustering (EDEEC), Hybrid Energy Efficient Distributed clustering (HEED) strategy are appeared in the following figures. The graphical representation is seen. The flat line demonstrates the quantity of reiterations and the vertical line shows vitality of sensors that are alive.

Figure 4 shows the Number of alive sensors compared for various method having different algorithm. NGA-F, DFLCP, LEACH, LEACH-C, EDEEC, HEED is all graphically represented. It is clearly depicted that as the number of rounds increases,



Fig. 4 Number of alive sensors compared for various method having different algorithm



Fig. 5 Minimum energy utilization comparison of the NGA-F with other methods

the number of sensors that are alive increase from other methodologies to the proposed method.

Figure 5 shows the Minimum energy utilization comparison of the NGA-F with other methods. Its is clearly seen that the energy used get minimised as more number of nodes. The maximum number of nodes seen is 1000 nodes. Maximum energy utilization is considered to be 1.

Figure 6 shows the average energy is compared for proposed NGA-F method with



Fig. 6 Average energy is compared for proposed NGA-F method with other existing method



Fig. 7 Data packets received by the base station

other existing method. It is seen that when the number of rounds reaches around 400, 500 to 1000, the mean of energy becomes constant or rather 0. Mean of energy for all sensors decreases accordingly.

Figure 7 shows that the Data packets received by the base station. Here initially there is a linear growth of the graph of Data packets received by base station. NGA-F, DFLCP, LEACH, LEACH-C, EDEEC, HEED increases linearily. At a point the methods diverts and varies for different methods.

6 Conclusion

Remote ANFIS has not just beated ANNs but also different kinds of Fuzzy Inference Systems. However it has been broadly connected in business as well as in money. ANFIS is prominent in different kinds of Fuzzy Inference Systems. It is straightforward, adaptable, as well as versatile. In any case, when the quantity of sources of information augments, exponential flood in the quantity of standards builds its intricacy and computational expense. The initial two-pass learning calculation utilizes inclination search strategy. This strategy is computationally costly and less effective. The proposed technique is an expansion of wireless sensor network life expectancy by diminishing vitality devoured for information transmission. The hereditary calculation is consolidated along with the fuzzy strategy. For directing, the utilization of hereditary calculation is done by the group head. The fuzzy technique and ANN are utilized. The weighted trust assessment has been proposed to identify noxious hubs. Further the increment of life expectancy for the wireless sensor network. Our proposed NGA-Fuzzy method (NGA-F) strategy is contrasted with five existing strategies Dual Fuzzy Logic-Cluster Protocol (DFLCP), Low-Energy Adaptive Clustering Hierarchy (LEACH), Centralized Low-Energy Adaptive Clustering Hierarchy (LEACH-C), Enhanced Distributed Energy Efficient Clustering (EDEEC), Hybrid Energy.

Efficient Distributed clustering (HEED). Recreations are performed utilizing the software MATLAB of latest version. From the reproduction results, we saw that the life expectancy of the system was higher than that of the DFLCP, LEACH, LEACH-C, EDEEC, HEED methodologies. Finally the proposed strategy is successful projected and implemented for CH determination, information steering in Wireless Sensor Network.

References

- 1. D. Karaboga, E. Kaya, Adaptive network based fuzzy inference system (ANFIS) training approaches: a comprehensive survey. Artif. Intell. Rev. 1–31 (2018)
- 2. M.M. Adnan, A. Sarkheyli, A.M. Zain, H. Haron, Fuzzy logic for modeling machining process: a review. Artif. Intell. Rev. **43**(3), 345–379 (2015)
- 3. B. Akay, D. Karaboga, A survey on the applications of artificial bee colony in signal, image, and video processing. SIViP **9**(4), 967–990 (2015)
- 4. Z. Aliabadian, M. Sharifzadeh, M. Sharafisafa, Optimizing the performance of ANFIS using the genetic algorithm to estimate the deformation modulus of rock mass, in 49th US Rock Mechanics/Geomechanics Symposium (American Rock Mechanics Association) (2015)
- S.A. Aljawarneh, R.A. Moftah, A.M. Maatuk, Investigations of automatic methods for detecting the polymorphic worms signatures. Futur. Gener. Comput. Syst. 60, 67–77 (2016)
- A. Bagheri, H.M. Peyhani, M. Akbari, Financial forecasting using ANFIS networks with quantum-behaved particle swarm optimization. Expert Syst. Appl. 41(14), 6235–6250 (2014)
- T. Çavdar, PSO tuned ANFIS equalizer based on fuzzy C-means clustering algorithm. AEU-Int. J. Electron. Commun. 70(6), 799–807 (2016)

- S. Ch, S. Mathur, Modeling uncertainty analysis in flow and solute transport model using adaptive neuro fuzzy inference system and particle swarm optimization. KSCE J. Civ. Eng. 14(6), 941–951 (2010)
- 9. F. Dai, N. Kushida, L. Shang, M. Sugisaka, A survey of genetic algorithm-based face recognition. Artif. Life Robot. 16(2), 271 (2011)
- T.E. Dalkilic, A. Apaydin, A fuzzy adaptive network approach to parameter estimation in cases where independent variables come from an exponential distribution. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 233(1), 36–45 (2009)
- N. Ghosh, I. Banerjee, An energy-efficient path determination strategy for mobile data collectors in wireless sensor network. Comput. Electr. Eng. 48, 417–435 (2015)
- 12. Z. Halim, R. Kalsoom, S. Bashir, G. Abbas, Artificial intelligence techniques for driving safety and vehicle crash prediction. Artif. Intell. Rev. **46**(3), 351–387 (2016)
- W. Ke, O. Yangrui, J. Hong, Z. Heli, L. Xi, Energy aware hierarchical cluster-based routing protocol for WSNs. J. China Univ. Posts Telecommun. 23(4), 46–52 (2016)

Numerical Analysis of Transversely Porous Core PCF with Square Airhole Cladding



289

Anurag Upadhyay, Y. K. Prajapati, and Rajeev Tripathi

1 Introduction

These days, optical fibers are the backbone of the telecommunication industry [1]. Due to few limitations of conventional optical fibers such as core-cladding index matching, low power handling capacity, small dispersion control and poor birefringence, photonic crystal fibers (PCF) came into picture [2]. PCF have an advantage of being more flexible, better birefringence, negative dispersion, improved power handling, low confinement loss, because of being constructed of the single material [3]. Hence PCF are applicable in numerous applications, such as biomedical fields, and polarization sustain fiber [3, 4]. Across the whole length of the PCF, air holes are running periodically throughout the cladding structure, hence creating a refractive index (RI) contrast between core and cladding structure. Hence, PCF operates on total internal reflection (TIR) theory in which core RI is greater than that of the cladding, while photonic band gap (PBG) principle works for vice versa RI index value [5]. Merely by controlling diameter (D) and pitch (Λ) of the airholes, optical properties of PCF can be easily handled [6].

In 2003, by modifying the structure of PCF, low transmission loss along with nearly ZDW is achieved [7]. Introduction of linear or nonlinear airholes in cladding and core hole defect increase the degree of dispersion parameter control [8]. In 2008,

A. Upadhyay (🖂)

Y. K. Prajapati · R. Tripathi

R. Tripathi e-mail: rt@mnnit.ac.in

Department of Applied Science and Humanities, Rajkiya Engineering College, Azamgarh, U. P, India

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Prayagraj, U. P, India e-mail: yogendrapra@gmail.com

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_27



Fig. 1 2D schematic diagram of the proposed PCF with square airhole cladding and transversely perforated core

a very good negative dispersion equal to -185 ps/nm/km is achieved by Marcos et al. [9]. Sensing application utilizes birefringence and nonlinear coefficients properties [10]. In 2020, Upadhyay et al. also demonstrated that the ZDW can be varied by introducing airholes in the core of propounded PCF [11].

In this paper, four annular rings of square airholes have been considered in the proposed PCF for confining light in the core as shown in Fig. 1. Excellent results are presented during analysis, through vital optical performance parameters, as like chromatic dispersion, birefringence and nonlinearity coefficient. The propounded structure is practically integrable. The proposed structure is analyzed with finite element method (FEM)-based COMSOL Multiphysics. The paper is arranged in the prescribed manner; Sect. 1 presents introduction of PCF. Section 2 deals with the proposed architectural design and its mathematical modeling. Section 3 provides various results obtained during analysis and discussion over it, while Sect. 4 presents conclusion of the manuscript.

2 Mathematical Modeling of the Proposed Structure

The proposed PCF contains circular airholes in the core along with five circular rings of square airholes in the cladding region. Here square-shaped airholes are preferred because of larger hole packing density as compared to circular airholes of same size [12]. Large HPD ratio resulted in larger refractive index (RI) contrast difference

between core and cladding. Henceforth more amount of light energy can be trapped across the core region of the proposed structure [12]. Radius of each circular ring and number of square airholes in that ring can be formulated as

$$R_{\rm ring} = \Lambda \times \delta \tag{1}$$

$$N_{\text{Airhole}} = 6 \times \delta \tag{2}$$

where Λ denotes pitch, which is basically separation in two adjacent circular rings in the cladding, while δ denotes the number of circular rings from the core of PCF. In order to satisfy light propagation criterion in the core and large wavelength range investigation, large HPD ration must be maintained. Besides this, hole packing density (HPD) ratio of square-shaped air holes and circular-shaped airholes is compared. The diameter of circular holes (D) and side of square holes (S) are of same value. The HPD ratio (S/ Λ) is calculated using Eqs. (3) and (4) [12]

$$HPD)_{SQ} = (S/\Lambda)^2$$
(3)

$$(\text{HPD})_C = (\pi/4) \times (D/\Lambda)^2 \tag{4}$$

where $(\text{HPD})_{\text{SQ}}$ depicts HPD ratio of square hole, $(\text{HPD})_C$ shows HPD ratio of circular ring, *S* represents side length of square hole, Λ denotes pitch, and *D* indicates diameter of circular hole. The first radius of air hole ring is equivalent to pitch (i.e. $\Lambda = 1.2$ um). From calculations, it is proved that HPD ratio of square hole ring is larger than HPD ratio of circular hole ring. Larger HPD ratio is necessary to confiscate maximum light energy in the core due to larger RI difference between core and cladding of PCF. Recommended PCF core is perforated by two circular airholes of same diameter in transverse direction of PCF. The whole structure is optimized for pitch of core circular airholes $\Lambda_C = 1 \ \mu$ m, side length (*S*) of square airhole = 0.85 \ \mum and pitch = 1.2 \ \mum m with HPD ratio (*S*/ Λ) equals to 0.70.

The background material is used in the structure is SiO_2 as it is translucent in the in the communication window (1330–1550 nm). RI of silicon dioxide can be predetermined with the use of Sellmeier's equation [13].

$$n_{\rm SiO_2} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{0.6961\lambda_{op}^2}{\lambda_{op}^2 - 0.0684^2} + \frac{0.4079\lambda_{op}^2}{\lambda_{op}^2 - 0.1162^2} + \frac{0.8974\lambda_{op}^2}{\lambda_{op}^2 - 9.8961^2}}$$
(5)

Generally, PCF is fabricated through Stack and Draw method in which silica capillaries are stressed down to PCF length and provide mechanical stability to the PCF structure. For square hole PCF fabrication, solgel method can be preferred [14]. An outer layer of 1 μ m thickness used to absorb the unwanted scattering losses, is known as perfectly matched layer (PML). The whole structure is subdivided into few triangular substructures and mesh analysis is applied over these triangular subspaces

and PCF is divided into 7116 domain elements and 1319 boundary elements along with degree of freedom equal to 50,297. FEM-based COMSOL Multiphysics software is used to solve the Maxwell's equation for triangular subspaces. The following equation has been derived using Maxwell's equation [15];

$$\nabla \times \left(\left[\sum \right]^{-1} \nabla \times \vec{E} - k_0^2 n^2 \left[\sum \right] \vec{E} \right) = 0$$
(6)

Here, $[\sum]^{-1}$ and $[\sum]$ show tridiagonal matrices for absorbing PML and inverse PML layer, respectively. $k_0 = (2 \times \pi)/\lambda$ is wavenumber, while *E* is the electric field. The propagation constant ' β ' can be defined as:

$$\beta = k_0 \times N_{\rm eff} \tag{7}$$

where N_{eff} denotes the effective refractive index (ERI) of the structure which can be estimated by simulation.

When light in the core is transmitted through the fiber length, light is decomposed into two fundamental polarized modes (x- and y-). Due to external stress, birefringence effect is observed, which is generated due to difference of effective RI between the x- and y- polarized modes [16]. The birefringence (BF) is given as

$$BF(\lambda) = \left| N_{eff}^X - N_{eff}^Y \right|$$
(8)

The dispersion of the fiber is the sum of material dispersion and waveguide dispersion. Material dispersion is always positive for any structure. This in order to cancel the effect of material dispersion, waveguide dispersion must be negative and it can be defined as [11]

$$d = -\frac{\lambda_{op}}{C} \frac{d^2 N_{eff}}{d\lambda_{op}^2} \tag{9}$$

where λ_{op} designates operating wavelength, *C* denotes the speed of light in free space, and N_{eff} shows ERI of the PCF.

The area in which light trapped in the core of PCF is known as effective area (A_{eff}) , and it is formulated as [11].

$$A_{\rm eff} = \frac{\iint \left(|E|^2 \mathrm{d}A\right)^2}{\iint \left(|E|^4 \mathrm{d}A\right)} \tag{10}$$

where E is the electric field of the fundamental mode in the core of PCF.

Nonlinear coefficient (γ_{NL}) is related to nonlinear phenomenal application of fiber, and high nonlinear coefficient is necessary with high birefringence for the sensing application of the proposed PCF. It can be calculated as [13]

Numerical Analysis of Transversely Porous Core ...

$$\gamma_{\rm NL} = \frac{2 \times \pi \times n_R}{\lambda_{op} \times A_{\rm eff}} \tag{11}$$

where n_R is the nonlinear RI of the SiO₂ and A_{eff} denotes the effective area of the PCF.

Confinement loss (CL) is basically the loss associated with deviation of the core light from the fiber core, and it can be calculated using Eq. (12) [16, 17]

$$CL(dB/m) = 8.686 \times k_0 \times \text{Img}(N_{\text{eff}})$$
(12)

where $\text{Img}(N_{eff})$ denotes the imaginary part of ERI of proposed structure.

3 Results and Discussion

This section deals with fluctuation in the optical variables of proffer PCF such as waveguide dispersion, $\gamma_{\rm NL}$, $A_{\rm eff}$ and CL with contrast in the structural parameters such as change in core airhole pitch. Structural parameters can vary with an anomaly in the designing parameter in the fabrication process. Hence, fabrication tolerance is taken up to $\pm 2\%$.

Figure 2a–d displays the distribution of electric field intensity of core mode which is totally confined in the core of proposed PCF. Figure 2 a, b shows the *x*-polarized and *y*-polarized electric field for core pitch ($\Lambda_C = 1.0 \,\mu$ m), respectively, while Fig. 2 c, d shows the *x*-polarized and *y*-polarized electric field for core pitch ($\Lambda_C = 0.5 \,\mu$ m), respectively.

Birefringence is basically the RI difference between two fundamental core mode such as *x*-and *y*-polarization. This may be enumerated using Eq. (8). From Fig. 3, it is seen that maximum obtained birefringence values are 4.2×10^{-3} and 2.3×10^{-3}







for $\Lambda_C = 0.5 \,\mu\text{m}$ and $\Lambda_C = 1 \,\mu\text{m}$, respectively. Such high value of birefringence is useful in polarization maintaining fiber application.

The dispersion profile for projected PCF and notably evaluated with Eq. (9). Negative dispersion is obtained for $\Lambda_C = 0.5 \,\mu\text{m}$ quietly appreciable from Fig. 4, whereas after 1.2 μm wavelength chromatic dispersion is negative for $\Lambda_C = 1.0 \,\mu\text{m}$. Henceforth, for both core pitch values the proposed PCF shows highly negative dispersion values for communication window (1.3–1.55 μ m) and the maximum obtained value is $-425.5 \,\text{ps/nm/km}$. Such high values of dispersion make the proposed PCF suitable for dispersion compensating fiber.

Effective area basically defines the confinement area of fundamental mode in the core of fiber, and it can be numerically investigated using Eq. (10). From Fig. 5, it is seen that fundamental mode confines in very small core area and its minimum value equal to $1 \ \mu m^2$ is observed at 0.8 μm operating frequency for *x*-polarization of both core pitch values.

High value of nonlinearity is essential parameter for a fiber to be applied for supercontinuum generation and frequency conversation. From Fig. 6, it is seen that very high nonlinearity equal to 204 W^{-1} km⁻¹ is obtained at 0.75 μ m of operating







frequency for x-polarization of $\Lambda_C = 1 \ \mu m$. Thus, the proposed PCF is a potential candidate for supercontinuum generation application.

Confinement loss is basically the measure of core mode light deviation from the core region to cladding region of the fiber. Hence, it defines the loss incurred with fundamental core mode of PCF. It can be calculated with Eq. (12). From Fig. 7, it is obvious that CL increases with variation in wavelength and its minimum observed value is 10^{-11} dB/m for both *x*- and *y*-polarization at $\Lambda_C = 1 \,\mu$ m, while loss incurred is 10^{-5} and 10^{-4} for 1.55 μ m at $\Lambda_C = 1 \,\mu$ m and $\Lambda_C = 0.5 \,\mu$ m, respectively. Such low loss values drive the desired PCF for low loss waveguide implementation.



4 Conclusion

A simple circular airhole porous core with five circular rings of square-shaped cladding airholes is proposed. The structure is optimized for optical parameters variation with change in its structural parameters using FEM. From results, we achieved high values of birefringence and nonlinearity equal to 4.2×10^{-3} , $204 \text{ W}^{-1} \text{ km}^{-1}$, respectively. The proposed PCF also shows very large negative dispersion value of -800 ps/nm/km. A very low confinement loss and effective area equal to 10^{-11} dB/m and $1 \mu \text{m}^2$ has also been achieved from optimized results. Henceforth, the propounded design can be used in polarization maintaining fiber, dispersion compensator, low loss waveguide and in biomedical imaging and sensing applications.

References

- 1. J. Zubia, J. Arrue, Plastic optical fibers, "An introduction to their technological and applications." Opt. Fiber Technol. **7**(2), 101–140 (2001)
- J. Broeng, D. Mogilevstev, S.E. Barkou, A. Bjarklev, Photonic crystal fibers: a new class of optical waveguides. Opt. Fiber Technol. 5(3), 305–330 (1999)
- N.M.Y. Zhang, D.J.J. Hu, P.P. Shum, Z. Wu, K. Li, T. Huang, L. Wei, Design and analysis of surface plasmon resonance sensor based on high-birefringent micro structured optical fiber. J. Opt. 18, 065005 (2016)
- U.S. Dinish, G. Balasundaram, Y.T. Chang, M. Olivo, Sensitive multiplex detection of serological liver cancer biomarkers using SERS-active photonic crystal fiber probe. J. Biophotonics 7, 956–965 (2014)
- A. Bjarklev, J. Broeng, A.S. Bjarklev, *Photonic Crystal Fibers* (Kluwer Academic Press, New York, 2003)
- M.A. Hossain, Y. Namihira, Polarization maintaining highly nonlinear photonic crystal fiber for supercontinuum generation at 1.55 μm. Opt. Laser Technol. 44(5), 1261–1269 (2012)

- W.H. Reeves, J.C. Knight, P.S.J. Russell, P.J. Roberts, B.J. Mangan, Dispersion flattened photonic crystal fibers at 1550 nm, in *Optical Fiber Communication Conference* (Optical Society of America, FI3, 2003)
- K. Saitoh, M. Koshiba, T. Hasegawa, E. Sasaoka, Chromatic dispersion control in photonic crystal fibers: application to ultra-flattened dispersion. Opt. Express 11(8), 843–852 (2003)
- F.S. Marcos, A.R. Franco, Valdir A. S 1 errão, Microstructured optical fiber for residual dispersion compensation over S+C+L+U wavelength bands. IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett. 20, 571–573, (2008)
- E. Reyes-Vera, J. Usuga-Restrepo, C. Jimenez-Durango, J. Montoya- Cardona, N. Gomez-Cardona, Design of low-loss and highly birefringent porous-core photonic crystal fiber and its application tetraheratz polarization beam splitter. IEEE Photonics J. 10(4), 5900413 (2018)
- A. Upadhyay, S. Singh, Y.K. Prajapati, R. Tripathi, Numerical analysis of large negative dispersion and highly birefringent photonic crystal fiber. Optik—Int. J. Light Electron Opt. 218, 164997 (2020)
- 12. X. Bai, H. Chen, H. Yang, Design of a circular photonic crystal fiber with square air-holes for orbital angular momentum modes transmission. Optik **158**, 1266–1274 (2018)
- Y.E. Monfared, S.A. Ponomarenko, Extremely nonlinear carbon-disulfide-filled photonic crystal fiber with controllable dispersion. Opt. Mater. 88, 406–411 (2019)
- A. Medjouri, L.M. Simohamed, O. Ziane, A. Boudrioua, Investigation of high birefringence and chromatic dispersion management in photonic crystal fiber with square air holes. Optik—Int. J. Light Electron Opt. (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijleo.2015.05.119
- M.F.H. Arif, M.M. Hossain, N. Islam, S.M. Khaled, A nonlinear photonic crystal fiber for liquid sensing application with high birefringence and low confinement loss. Sens. Biosens. Res. 22, 100252-1-7 (2019)
- G.D. Krishna, V.P.M. Pillai, K.G. Gopchandran, Design of low dispersion and low loss photonic crystal fiber: Defected core circular-octagon hybrid lattices. Opt. Fiber Technol. 51, 17–24 (2019)
- A. Upadhyay, S. Singh, D. Sharma, S.A Taya, An ultra-high birefringent and nonlinear decahedron photonic crystal fiber employing molybdenum disulphide (MoS2): A numerical analysis. Mater. Sci. Eng. B 270, 115236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mseb.2021.115236 (2021)

Single-Side-Polished Gold-Coated SPR-Based PCF RI Sensor



Shivam Singh, Akash Srivastava, Sanat Kumar Pandey, and Y. K. Prajapati

1 Introduction

Nowadays, PCF-based SPR sensor devices have gained recognition because of its high sensitivity and a broad range of operating wavelengths. SPR-based optical sensors are frequently used in various useful applications like food quality testing, medical diagnostics as well as environmental monitoring [1]. PCF is much advantageous over conventional optical fiber because of its compact structure, low confinement loss, high flexibility and large mode area [2]. Surface plasmon resonance is a phenomenon in which the free electrons (in the form of electron gas density) propagate along the metal–dielectric interface at a certain resonance condition. At resonance, the maximum available core mode energy is transferred to the polariton (SPP) mode. Due to this, a sharp resonance peak (or loss peak) is obtained at a certain wavelength for the analyte RI to be investigated [3]. When an analyte of the particular RI is placed on the top of the metallic surface, a shift in wavelength is observed which indicates the detection of the analyte. In SPR-based PCF, an active metal (gold, silver, copper) film can be deposited either into the holes or on the top polished fiber surface.

Silver (Ag) and Au are the frequently used active metals that can be utilized for the coating of fiber. Among them, Au is the most extensively used metal as it has good chemical stability [4]. The main advantage of using Au is that it provides large resonance shift between consecutive analyte RIs. But, at the same time the obtained resonance peak for the analyte becomes wide which may reduce its detection accuracy. On the other side, Ag provides narrow peak and leads to better detection accuracy [5]. However, the major issue with Ag is its rapid oxidation when exposed to an aqueous environment which can reduce the PCF-based sensor's performance.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_28

S. Singh (🖂) · A. Srivastava · S. K. Pandey · Y. K. Prajapati

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Allahabad, UP 211004, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

An optical sensor mainly relies on two basic types of sensing approach. One of them is internal sensing. In this approach, the liquid analyte infiltrates into the particular holes and causing the complex sensing mechanism. While another one is based on external sensing which offers direct flow of the liquid on the metal coated outer plane of the fiber [6]. Among both the approaches, the external sensing approach is most favorable for the real-time sensing application because it avoids internal filling or coating of an active metal. Moreover, the fabrication becomes much easier for the optical sensor that relies on external sensing mechanism [7].

Recently, the external sensing-based single-side-polished (or D-shaped) structures have been used and reported [8, 9]. Among them, Gangwar et al. [10] in 2016 proposed the Au-coated one-side-polished SPR-based PCF RI sensor. By doing so, they have obtained maximum sensitivity of 7700 nm RIU⁻¹ with RI resolution as 1.30×10^{-5} RIU in the detection range of 1.43 to 1.46. In 2018, Liu et al. [11] reported SPR-based D-shaped PCF for RI detection. After optimizing the structural parameters, the highest sensitivity was obtained as 15,180 nm RIU⁻¹ over the detection range 1.40–1.43. Further, in the same year, Wu et al. [12] demonstrated a D-shaped sensor. The Au layer was coated only on the polished surface instead of internal coating of the air holes. Therefore, the maximum achieved sensitivity and resolution were of 31,000 nm/RIU and 3.31×10^{-5} RIU, respectively, within the detection range of 1.32-1.40.

In this article, a highly sensitive Au-plated single-side-polished PCF RI sensor is proposed. The plasmonic metal Au is employed on the flat surface for the generation and excitation of plasmons. In addition, it has good chemical stability and it also exhibits large resonance shift even for the minor analyte RI variation. In the proposed structure, a solid core is surrounded with cladding consisting air holes of a fixed size. Silica is used as a background material. The two large and two small air holes near to the solid core form a circular ring around it which helps to concentrate and transfer the large amount of existing core mode power to the SPP mode. Moreover, the geometrical dimensions such small and large hole diameter along with Au thickness have been optimized for better sensing performance of the proposed D-shaped optical sensor.

2 Geometrical Modeling and Numerical Analysis

The simulation and numerical analysis of the stated PCF have been carried out with the help of FEM-based COMSOL Multiphysics software. Figure 1 depicts 2D schematic of the proposed structure. It consists of a core surrounded by the two circular air hole rings. The inner ring contains two large air holes of diameter (D) $1.3 \,\mu$ m placed symmetrical with respect to the solid fiber, while the second outer ring of cladding region contains air holes with diameter (d) 0.6 μ m. The lattice spacing (Λ) between the air holes is taken as 2.4 μ m. Moreover, the base material silica is used to form core and cladding region, while the holes are kept empty. The Au-coated polished surface is used for the generation of an adequate surface plasmons on the





metallic surface so that the plasmonic wave can propagate along the metal-dielectric interface. The gold permittivity (ε_G) can be estimated using Drude model given as [12]:

$$\varepsilon_{\rm G} = \varepsilon_{\infty} - \frac{\omega_D^2}{\omega(\omega + i\gamma_{\rm D})} - \frac{\Delta\varepsilon\Omega_{\rm I}^2}{(\omega^2 - \Omega_{\rm I}^2) + i\Gamma_{\rm I}\omega} \tag{1}$$

The various optical constants such as plasma (ω_D), damping (γ_D) and oscillation (Ω_1) frequency along with spectral width (Γ) can be obtained using [12].

The confinement loss (α_1) through the PCF can be determined as [13].

$$\alpha_{\rm l} = 8.686 \times \frac{2\pi}{\lambda} \times I_{\rm m}(n_{\rm eff}) \times 10^4 \, \rm dB/cm \tag{2}$$

where, λ and $I_m(n_{eff})$ denote wavelength and imaginary portion of the effective RI.

2.1 The Proposed sensor's Fabrication Compatibility

The fabrication of the propose structure can be started by bundling solid rods along with thin and thick capillaries with the help of standard stack and draw technique [14]. To make a flat D-shaped surface, a solid rod is polished to a certain depth. After structure fabrication process, a thin gold nanolayer will be plated on the polished fiber surface using the existing deposition technique such as chemical vapor deposition (CVD) [15, 16]. Therefore, with such well-known fabrication method and deposition techniques, the proposed PCF can be easily fabricated.

3 Results and Discussion

In this section, simulation was performed with the proposed structure and several modes like core, SPP and resonance mode have been verified. Moreover, the dispersion relationship has also been discussed thoroughly for different analyte RIs.

3.1 Dispersion Relations

Figure 2a–d shows the field intensity profiles obtained at different modes after simulation of the proposed PCF. Figure 2a, b shows the *x*-and *y*-component of core mode energy in which the entire field is concentrated in the core area. Then, the core directed energy transferred to the metal–dielectric interface, called as SPP mode, depicted in Fig. 2c. Figure 2d displays the condition when core and SPP mode energies linked with each other, called as coupling mode or resonance mode. This mode indicates the analyte detection.

Figure 3a-d shows dispersion relations and loss curve for different values of



Fig. 2 Intensity profiles in various modes $\mathbf{a} x$ - and, $\mathbf{b} y$ - polarized core mode \mathbf{c} SPP mode \mathbf{d} coupling mode



Fig. 3 Change in loss profile and dispersion relation with wavelength when n_a changes from 1.33 to 1.36 with an optimized Au thickness (t = 40 nm), large (*D*) and small **d** air hole diameter of 1.3 µm and 0.4 µm, respectively

analyte RI (n_a). From the above Fig. 3a–d, the solid blue line corresponds to core mode effective RI which is responsible for dispersion, while the red curve indicates imaginary part which accounts for overall confinement loss of the PCF. Moreover, the blue-dashed line indicates SPP mode. Now, if we consider the dispersion relation for $n_a = 1.33$, then it is clearly visible in Fig. 3a that at a certain resonance wavelength (i.e., $\lambda_{res} = 1.29 \ \mu$ m), both the lines intersect each other. At this intersecting point, resonance occurs. Due to this, a sudden hike in the loss value is observed as both the modes get coupled. Therefore, mode coupling between core and SPP causes unknown analyte/sample detection.

Further, the sensitivity is calculated on the basis of shift in the resonant peak (λ_r) using the technique known as wavelength interrogation [17]:

$$S_{\rm W} = \frac{\Delta \lambda_{\rm peak}}{\Delta n_{\rm a}} \,\rm nm \,RIU^{-1} \tag{3}$$

where, S_W is the wavelength sensitivity, $\Delta \lambda_{\text{peak}}$ indicates the necessary shift and Δn_a reveals the variation in n_a .

The calculated sensitivity using above Eq. 1 is 6000 nm/RIU. Moreover, the resolution is also estimated as [18]:

$$R = \frac{\Delta n_{\rm a} \Delta \lambda_{\rm min}}{\Delta \lambda_{\rm peak}} \text{ RIU}$$
(4)

where, *R* is the sensor resolution, Δn_a is the change in analyte RI and $\Delta \lambda_{min}$ assumed to be 0.1 nm. The highest resolution achieved using Eq. 2 is 3.55×10^{-5} RIU.

Table 1 displays numerical study of the proposed PCF for multiple analyte RIs. It is clearly visible from Table 1 that sensitivity increases with analyte RI for *x*-pol, *y*-pol, and it reaches to maximum value of 6000 nm/RIU for the change in n_a from 1.35 to 1.36 (sustaining *y*-polarized mode). In addition, the maximum resolution is also found high as 3.33×10^{-5} RIU at $n_a = 1.33$, 1.34.

Figure 4 displays the fitting curve with analyte RI. Red dots represent the resonant points. Initially, the first resonant point (i.e., $1.23 \,\mu$ m) is observed at analyte RI 1.33. Then, it is shifted to $1.35 \,\mu$ m at $n_a = 1.36$. Therefore, the overall shift in resonance wavelength is obtained as 120 nm. Additionally, the fitting curve is found linear in the entire analyte RI range of 1.33-1.36 with R^2 value of 0.9943.

In Table 2, the proposed sensor's parameters such as wavelength sensitivity and resolution have been compared and found better than the recently published research works listed in Table 2.

Table 1 Numerical analysis of the proposed sensor with respect to sensitivity and resolution for $n_a = 1.33-1.36$

na	λ_{res} (nm)		$\Delta\lambda_{\rm res}~({\rm nm})$		Sensitivity (nm/RIU)		Resolution (RIU)	
	x-pol	y-pol	x-pol	y-pol	x-pol	y-pol	x-pol	y-pol
1.33	1235	1230	25	30	2500	3000	3.33×10^{-5}	3.33×10^{-5}
1.34	1260	1260	30	30	3000	3000	3.33×10^{-5}	3.33×10^{-5}
1.35	1290	1290	50	60	5000	6000	1.88×10^{-5}	1.67×10^{-5}
1.36	1340	1350	-	-		-	-	-



Fig. 4 Fitting curve combined with different resonant points for analyte RI range of 1.33–1.36

References	configuration	Detection range	Sensitivity (nm/RIU)	Resolution (RIU)
[19]	Grapefruit PCF	1.33–1.335	2400	-
[20]	Helical PCF	1.33–1.38	4600	-
[21]	D-shape	1.333-1.398	4122	-
[22]	Dual ring hexagonal PCF	1.33–1.37	4000	-
[23]	D-shaped	1.32–1.35	4000	3.31×10^{-5}
[24]	Microchannel-based hexagonal PCF	1.32–1.34	5000	2×10^{-5}
Proposed	D-shaped	1.33–1.36	6000	3.31×10^{-5}

Table 2 A comparative study of the proposed D-shaped PCF with other reported PCFs

3.2 Effect of Gold Layer Thickness (t), Small (d) and Large (D) Air Hole Diameter on Sensing Performance

Figure 5 depicts change in the loss peaks with respect to wavelength in accordance with the variations in Au thickness, small (d) and large (D) air hole diameter. It is



Fig. 5 Variation in loss peak with a Au thickness, b small, and c large hole diameters

seen from Fig. 5a that the loss values are 601 dB/cm, 726 dB/cm and 891 dB/cm with Au thickness, t = 30, 40 and 50 nm, respectively. Although the minimum loss value is obtained at t = 30 nm but at the same time, the loss peak gets broadened which may degrade the detection accuracy. This happens mainly due to the higher amount of plasmon damping at the metal-dielectric interface. Therefore, the gold layer thickness in our simulation has been optimized to 40 nm. The effect of varying hole diameter present in the cladding region can be observed in Fig. 5b. It is found that that the loss peak values are 401 dB/cm, 600 dB/cm, 810 dB/cm and 1190 dB/cm with an increasing diameter (d) values of 0.30, 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45 μ m, respectively. The effect of varying two large air hole diameters (D) is shown in Fig. 5c. The loss peak shifts toward higher wavelengths, and its maximum values are obtained as 443.59 dB/cm, 651.37 dB/cm and 840.41 dB/cm at D = 1.1, 1.3 and 1.5 μ m, respectively. Moreover, it is also worth to notice that the coupling loss is high at $D = 1.5 \mu$ m. It is because of squeezing the maximum available core mode energy by these two large air holes toward the metal-dielectric interface.

4 Conclusion

Gold-deposited single-side-polished plasmonic RI sensor is numerically verified. The numerical analysis was done by finite element method. SPR effect was observed when the phases of SPP and core mode were exactly matched. The gold film thickness was optimized to 40 nm. Further, the small (*d*) and large (*D*) air hole diameters were kept at 0.40 and 1.3 μ m. By doing so, the highest wavelength sensitivity reached to 6000 nm/RIU along with RI resolution of 3.33×10^{-5} RIU within the RI ranges from 1.33 to 1.36. Hence, our proposed sensor can be effectively utilized in biosensing applications.

References

- 1. J. Homola, S.S. Yee, G. Gauglitz, Surface plasmon resonance sensors: review. Sens. Actuators B **54**, 3–15 (1999)
- C. Liu, L. Yang, X. Lu, Q. Liu, F. Wang, J. Lv, T. Sun, H. Mu, P.K. Chu, Mid-infrared surface plasmon resonance sensor based on photonic crystal fibers. Opt. Exp. 25(13), 14227–14237 (2017)
- A.A. Rifat, G.A. Mahdiraji, Y.M. Sua, R. Ahmed, Y.G. Shee, F.R. Mahamd Adikan, Highly sensitive multi-core flat fiber surface plasmon resonance refractive index sensor. Opt. Exp. 24(3), 2485–2495 (2016)
- Shivam Singh, Y.K. Prajapati, TiO₂/Gold-Graphene Hybrid Solid Core SPR based PCF RI Sensor for Sensitivity Enhancement. Optik 242, 165525 (2020)
- G.A. Mahdiraji, D.M. Chow, S.R. Sandoghchi, F. Amirkhan, E. Dermosesian, K.S. Yeo, Z. Kakaei, M. Ghomeishi, S.Y. Poh, S.Y. Gang, F.R.M. Adikan, Challenges and solutions in fabrication of silica-based photonic crystal fibers: an experimental study. Fiber Integr. Opt. 33(1), 85–104 (2014)

- N. Luan, R. Wang, W. Lv, Yao J (2015) Surface plasmon resonance sensor based on D-shaped microstructured optical fiber with hollow core. Opt. Express 23(7), 8576 (2015)
- Shivam Singh, Y.K. Prajapati, Highly sensitive dual-core symmetrical side-polished modified D-shaped SPR based PCF refractive index sensor with deeply etched micro openings. Optik 235, 166657 (2021)
- M.D.Saiful Islam, J. Sultana, A.A. Rifat, R. Ahmed, A. Dinovitser, B.W.-H. Ng, H. Ebendorff-Heidepriem, D. Abbott, Dual-polarized highly sensitive plasmonic sensor in the visible to near-IR spectrum. Opt. Express 26, 30347–30361(2018)
- E.K. Akowuah, T. Gorman, H. Ademgil, S. Haxha, G.K. Robinson, Oliver JV Numerical analysis of a photonic crystal fiber for biosensing applications. IEEE J Quantum Electron 48(11), 1403–1410 (2012)
- 10. R.K. Gangwar, V.K. Singh, Highly sensitive surface plasmon resonance based D-shaped photonic crystal fiber refractive index sensor. Plasmonics **12**, 1367–1372 (2016)
- M. Liu, X. Yang, P. Shum, H. Yuan, High-sensitivity birefringent and single-layer coating photonic crystal fiber biosensor based on surface plasmon resonance. Appl. Opt. 57(8), 1883– 1886 (2018)
- Shivam Singh, Y.K.Prajapati, Highly sensitive refractive index sensor based on D-shaped PCF with gold-graphene layers on the polished surface. Appl. Phys. A 125, 1–7 Article no. 437 (2019)
- 13. J.N. Dash, R. Jha, On the performance of graphene-based D-shaped photonic crystal fiber biosensor using surface plasmon resonance. Plasmonics **10**(5), 1123–1131 (2015)
- R. Zakaria, W. Kam, Y.S. Ong, S.F.A.Z. Yusoff, H. Ahmad, W.S. Mohammed, Fabrication and simulation studies onD-shaped optical fiber sensor via surface plasmon resonance. J. Mod. Opt. 64(14), 1443–1449 (2017)
- Y. Chen, Q. Xie, X. Li, H. Zhou, X. Hong, Experimental realization of D-shaped photonic crystal fiber SPR sensor. J. Phys. D 50, 025101 (2017)
- L. Peng, F. Shi, G. Zhou, S. Ge, Z. Hou, C. Xia, A surface plasmon biosensor based on a D-shaped microstructured optical fiber with rectangular lattice. IEEE Photonics J. 7(5), 1–9 (2015)
- S. Singh, Y.K. Prajapati, Dual-polarized ultrahigh sensitive Gold/MoS₂/Graphene based D-shaped PCF refractive index sensor in visible to near- IR region. Opt. Quantum Electron. 52(17), 1–15 (2019)
- A.A. Rifat, G.A. Mahdiraji, D.M. Chow, G.S. Yu, R. Ahmed, Photonic crystal fiber-based surface plasmon resonance sensor with selective analyte channels and graphene-silver deposited core. Sensors 15, 11499–11510 (2015)
- Y. Lu, C.J. Hao, B.Q. Wu, X.H. Huang, W.Q. Wen, Grapefruit fiber filled with silver nanowires surface plasmon resonance sensor in aqueous environments. Sensors 12, 12016–12025 (2012)
- M.R. Hasan et al., Spiral photonic crystal fiber-based dual-polarized surface plasmon resonance biosensor. IEEE Sens. J. 18(1), 133–140 (2018)
- C.L. Tien, H.Y. Lin, S.H. Su, High sensitivity refractive index sensor by D-shaped fibers and titanium dioxide nanofilm. Adv. Condens. Matter. Phys. 2018, 6, Article ID 2303740 (2018)
- A.A. Rifat, G.A. Mahdiraji, Y.M. Sua, Y.G. Shee, R. Ahmed, D.M. Chow, F.R. Mahamd Adikan, Surface plasmon resonance photonic crystal fiber biosensor: A practical sensing approach. IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett. 27(15), 1628–1831 (2015)
- J. Wu, S. Li, X. Wang, M. Shi, X. Feng, Y. Liu, Ultrahigh sensitivity refractive index sensor of a D-shaped PCF based on surface plasmon resonance. Appl. Opt. 57(15), 4002–4007 (2018)
- J.N. Dash, R. Das, R. Jha, AZO coated microchannel incorporated PCF-based SPR sensor: a numerical analysis. IEEE photon Technol. Lett. 30(11), 1032–1035 (2018)

Application of Carbon Nanotube (CNT) in Glucose Liquid Sample Sensing Using SPR Technique



309

Akash Srivastava, Shivam Singh, and Y. K. Prajapati

1 Introduction

A healthy person should have maintained blood glucose level because contradistinction from standard value causes various diseases like diabetes, abnormal functioning of neurons and brain, and many more [1]. International agency American Diabetes Association sets a standard level of glucose for a healthy human body. As per standard, pre-meal and after-meal glucose level must be 90-130 mg/dl and 180 mg/dl, respectively [2]. In this paper, we are focused toward the proper sensing of glucose concentration in a liquid sample using surface plasmon resonance (SPR)based biosensor [3]. SPR-based sensors already commercialized for many biological applications like DNA hybridization, drug industries, food quality inspection, enzyme detection, and many more [4]. SPR is nothing but the excitation of surface plasmon waves (SPWs) at the metal-dielectric interface. It was first introduced by Otto [5] and commercialized by Kretschmann [6, 7]. Later, Nylander and Liedberg et al. utilized SPR Kretschmann configuration another area than biological in gas sensing also [8]. Since then, a diverse range of sensing like measurements of temperature, humidity, chemical, and biological composition, concentration utilize SPR virtue, as all these parameters cause a variation of the refractive index of the analyte [9]. Biosensor, an analytic device, includes two significant parts first one is bioreceptor another one is a transducer (or detector). Bioreceptor interacts with targeted analyte while transducer transforms the signal from the interaction into a form that can be easily measured like voltage. From the last decade, carbon nanotubes (CNTs) made significant progress in biosensing applications. CNTs are 1D nanosheets that allow signals to transport in confined space and make them extremely sensitive for any electrical and chemical changes in their contacting environment. In 1991, Japanese physicist and scientist Lijima discovered [10] extensively utilized nanomaterial CNT

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_29

A. Srivastava (🖂) · S. Singh · Y. K. Prajapati

ECE Department, MNNIT Allahabad, Uttar Pradesh, Prayagraj 211004, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

which proves itself the most significant material in various research areas due to their unique properties. CNTs are categorized mainly into single-walled or SWCNT and many-walled or MWCNT. SWCNT has the electrical properties that are not owned by the MWCNT structure. This allows the development of SWCNT structures into nanowires because it can be a good conductor. MWCNT and SWCNT differ from each other in respect of optical properties. If we look forward for chemical structure, MWCNT possess optical properties matched to graphite while SWCNT resembles to carbon [11]. SWCNTs are a hexagonal network of rolled graphene cylindrical tubes of diameter 1 nm with no overlapping edge. Based on different chirality SWCNTs shows semiconducting or metallic nature because of variable bandgap (0-2 eV), this property provides great flexibility to users to use in THz as well as plasmonic applications. When a CNT performs as a conductor, it has very high conductivity up to 1 billion Ampere/cm². CNTs have the electrical current density 1000 times greater than metal (e.g., copper, silver). Besides this, a high surface-to-volume ratio and excellent biocompatibility make it more suitable to use in biomolecular detection. If one can choose CNT in biosensing application, then it can provide a very favorable condition because CNT is compatible with physiological cells and tissues Also, it is chemically inert and thermally stable, reusable so cost-effective, and provide very high sensing efficiency. Although some other 2D materials like graphene, black Phosphorus, TMDC significantly contribute to increase the sensitivity of SPR sensor but they have some limitations like bandgap absent in graphene [12] which makes its application limited, TMDC MoS2 have tunable bandgap but low mobility and less stability as a BRE layer and monolayer black phosphorus or phosphorene have a large tunable bandgap in compare to MoS₂ but it is not stable in ambient environment. SWCNTs possess almost the same chemical property sustained by fullerenes and graphene [13, 14]. SWCNTs conserve their electrical properties even in thin transparent films this makes it suitable for the application in optically sensitive transparent films [15, 16]. In this work, we functionalized the proposed SPR sensor with thin layer of single-walled carbon nanotubes to study the interactions of glucose molecules with SWCNT (Tables 1, 2 and 3). We have fixed the range of liquid sample refractive index from 1.3326 to 1.3822, computed by varying glucose concentration (refer to Table 4).

Types of prism	RI	FWHM	θ_{SPR} (RI = 1.3326)	$\begin{array}{l} \Delta\theta\\ (\Delta n=\\ 0.0496) \end{array}$	S (°/RIU)	FoM (RIU ⁻¹⁾	DA (deg ⁻¹)
2S2G	2.358	1.09	37.34	1.89	38.10	34.95	0.917
SF11	1.7786	1.92	53.53	3.41	68.75	63.07	0.52
SF10	1.723	2.11	56.09	3.77	76	36.01	0.47
BK7	1.5151	3.7	70.32	7.89	159.07	42.99	0.27
FK51A	1.4853	4.28	78.25	10.96	220.96	51.74	0.23

 Table 1
 Comparative analysis of the performance parameter of different kind of prism working at incident light of 633 nm wavelength

Table 2 Optimum values of layer thickness and optical	Type of layer	Optimized thickness	Refractive index		
parameter	Silver (Ag)	40 nm	0.056206 + 4.2776i		
	Gold (Au)	2 nm	0.18344 + 3.4332i		
	Silicon (Si)	1 nm	3.53 + 0.39i		
	Fe ₃ O ₄	0.5 nm	2.162 + 1.178i		
	SWCNT	1 nm	2.4015		

 Table 3
 Sensitivity and reflectance curve shift analysis obtained when performing with different models at 633 nm incident light wavelength

Structure arrangement	SPR angle shift	Sensitivity(°/RIU)
Prism + silver metal layer	8.07	162.70
Prism + bimetal	8.43	169.95
Prism + bimetal + Silicon	9.62	193.95
$Prism + bimetal + Silicon + Fe_3O_4$	9.94	200.40
$Prism + bimetal + Silicon + Fe_3O_4 + SWCNT$	10.96	220.96

2 Theoretical, Mathematical Overview and Design Consideration

The schematic structure arrangement shown in Fig. 1 is kind of Kretschmann's configuration [17–19] based on the attenuated total reflection (ATR) phenomenon. A TM or P-polarized light incident on a metal-dielectric surface at different angles. At a certain angle (greater than the critical angle) when the wavevector matching condition takes place between incident light and surface plasmon wave a significant dip observed in the reflection intensity curve, this is the essential condition for surface plasmon resonance (refer to Eq. 1). The total reflection of incidence light at boundary causes to generate an evanescent wave that interacts with the plasma wave if the metal has the thickness in the nanometer order. The angle where the maximum dip observed known as the resonance angle θ_{SPR} . More general, in this paper, angle interrogation-based SPR sensing scheme has been followed at a fixed wavelength. Mathematically resonance condition expressed as [20]

$$k_o n_{\text{prism}} \sin \theta_{spr} = Re\{k_o \sqrt{\varepsilon_m \varepsilon_s} / (\varepsilon_m + \varepsilon_s) \tag{1}$$

where $\varepsilon_m and \varepsilon_s$ are the dielectric constants of the metal and the sensing layer, respectively, and $k_0 = \frac{2\pi}{\lambda_0}$ is the wavenumber of the incident light vacuum. Interestingly, only materials (Ag, Au, Cu, Al, etc.) having complex refractive index are capable of exhibiting surface plasmons [21]. According to Eq. (1), θ_{SPR} increases with the increase of ε_s , which is related to the sensing gas physical condition like temperature, concentration, pressure, humidity, etc. An SPR curve relies on dip position, peak depth of angle, a width of the curve [22]. The maximum dip in curve refers to

Glucose concentration (g/l)	Refractive index	SPR angle obtained through undoped SWCNT-based structure	Sensitivity (°/RIU)	SPR angle obtained through doped SWCNT-based structure	Sensitivity (°/RIU)
0	1.33230545	73.65372	-	74.22668	-
20	1.33468325	74.0548	152.32	74.57046	154.36
40	1.33706105	74.39857	156.6259	74.97153	156.6259
60	1.33943885	74.79964	160.6415	75.3726	160.6415
80	1.34181665	75.20071	162.6493	75.77367	162.6493
100	1.34419445	75.60178	163.854	76.1747	163.8506
120	1.34657225	76.00285	164.6571	76.57581	164.6571
140	1.34895005	76.46122	168.6733	77.09147	172.1153
160	1.35132785	76.91958	171.685	77.54984	174.6972
180	1.35370565	77.37795	174.0278	78.0655	179.3824
200	1.35608345	77.83632	175.9021	78.52387	180.7213
220	1.35846125	78.29468	177.4352	79.03953	184.007
240	1.36083905	78.81034	180.721	79.61249	188.7533
260	1.36321685	79.32601	183.5016	80.12815	190.9156
280	1.36559465	79.89896	187.6056	80.64381	192.7691
300	1.36797245	80.47192	191.1627	81.15947	194.3755
320	1.37035025	80.98758	192.7691	81.96161	203.3111
340	1.37272805	81.5032	194.1854	82.59187	206.9434
360	1.37510585	82.36268	203.4785	83.56589	218.2038
380	1.37748365	82.93564	205.4513	84.2534	221.9371
400	1.37986145	83.56589	208.4315	85.34206	233.7324
420	1.38223925	84.59722	220.1602	86.31609	244.1088

 Table 4
 Effect of glucose concentration increment on SPR angle obtained through proposed doped and undoped SWCNT-based sensing device

the minimum intensity and maximum reflection and minimum width of the curve responsible for maximum resolution and highest Signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) [23]. Shifting of SPR angle dip by changing the refractive index of sensing medium, measured by using the proposed sensor. Table 1 includes major design parameters like refractive index, the thickness of the layer for the proposed sensor. In this paper, we have taken the bimetal stack of gold (Au) over silver (Ag) because to take the advantage of gold in terms of stability and prevents Ag to get oxidized, sulfurized while Ag contributes in the sharpness of resonances curve. The term sensitivity (S) [24] characterizes the minimal measurable variation of refractive index, defined as-



Fig. 1 Proposed SWCNT-based glucose-sensing biosensor

$$S = \frac{\delta \theta_{res}}{\delta n_c} (^{\circ}/\text{RIU})$$
(2)

where $(\delta\theta_{res})$ shift in the SPR angle position and (δn_c) is the change in RI of sensing medium occurring due to abnormality takes place in the physical condition of sensing medium. As mentioned earlier, figure of merit is also a key parameter that affects the sharpness of SPR angle or signal-to-noise ratio. The value of the FoM [25] can be estimated as

$$FoM = \frac{S}{FWHM} RIU^{-1}$$
(3)

Thus, FWHM must be as least as possible for high FoM and high detection accuracy (DA = $\frac{1}{FWHM}$) of SPR sensor.

The gold layer-based conventional structure absorbs biomolecules poorly, and this results in poor sensitivity. By applying a thin silicon layer directly over the bimetallic layer, it is observed that the sensitivity enhanced significantly. Existence of dielectric silicon layer enhances the field intensity of the exciting light [26]. In a conventional SPR sensor, the only metal layer is responsible for absorption whereas due to the addition of silicon layer the absorption takes place both in metal as well as silicon layer. This will increase the overall absorption and field intensity as a result excitation of SPs get enhanced [27]. The Fe₃O4 (iron oxide or magnetite) magnetic nanoparticles (MNP) as an active ingredient in SPR biosensors help to quickly detect glucose contents present in the liquid sample [28, 29]. To be applicable in these areas, it is important to consider the particle size, magnetic properties, and surface properties of the nanoparticles themselves. The Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles may be super-paramagnetic. As a dielectric material, FK51A glass-based prism exhibits excellent performance while used in visible range like negligible dispersion and outstanding transmission characteristics [30]. As an incident light, monochromatic light of wavelength 633 nm is preferred because optical nonlinearity increases at high frequencies. Moreover, at 633 nm, wavelength sensitivity of the sensor is enhanced at a minimal possible Kerr effect. The schematic diagram of the proposed sensing device is given in Fig. 1

3 Result Discussion

(a) Result obtained from Prism + bimetal + Silicon + Fe_3O_4 + SWCNT combination

Prism is a key element for an angle interrogation-based SPR sensor which contributes in to match the wavevector of surface plasmon wave with wavevector of incident light. So to get excellent performance parameter, prism selection must be done carefully. In Fig. 2a–b, an SPR angle comparative study has been given for different prisms in order to get minimum reflectance (Rmin) and maximum resolution. From the results obtained in Fig. 2, we come at an end that FK51A fill the required condition. The wavelength-dependent RI of FK51A glass-prism can be calculated by using Eq. 4 as:

$$n_{\rm FK51A} = \sqrt{1 + \frac{0.971247817\lambda^2}{\lambda^2 - 0.00472301995} + \frac{0.216901417\lambda^2}{\lambda^2 - 0.0153575612} + \frac{0.904651666\lambda^2}{\lambda^2 - 168.68133}}$$
(4)

The design parameters like the optical constant, optimized thickness of each material layer used in the structure are given in Table 2 (Fig. 3).

In Fig. 4, by using different color shift in SPR angle shown for different layer combinations and the major outcomes obtained from simulation put in Table 3.

From a graphical overview given in Fig. 4 and results have put in Table 4, it is concluded that the combination based on Prism + bimetal + Silicon + Fe₃O₄ + SWCNT shows a large shift in SPR angle as well as provides the highest sensitivity up to 220.96°/RIU. Apart from the abovementioned results, the dephasing time (t) also called decay or damping time [31] for each obtained resonance angle is calculated based on FWHM value. The estimation formula is given in Eq. 5, where h refer to reduced Plank's constant –

$$t = \frac{2 \times \hbar}{FWHM} \tag{5}$$

The dephasing time is calculated as 3.10 fs (femtosecond) when glucose concentration in the water sample is zero or the sample refractive index is 1.3326. It gradually



Fig. 2 a reflectance curve analysis for different prism applicable in proposed structure, **b** comparison in the performance parameter

decreases to 2.06 fs when glucose concentration reaches to 420 g/l or sample refractive index increases to 1.3822. Obtained values reveal that the proposed SPR sensor has smaller lifetime when glucose concentration reaches to its max value or maximum opted value of refractive index. Longer dephasing time supports high-quality factor and put a positive environment for sensing application.

(b) Effect of doping in SWCNT

Doping of SWNTs either with electron donors (alkali metals like Li or Na) or through electron acceptors (halogens) exhibits promising macroscopic properties [32]. Doping also required to change the optical performance of CNT or more generally to control their electronic properties. Hence, this is a way to modulate the properties of SWCNTs as a bulk. Dispersion relation of alkali metal-doped [33, 34] given through Eq. 6 is as follows-



$$\varepsilon_{\text{SWCNT}} = 1 - \frac{\lambda^2}{\lambda_{p,0}^2 (1 + i\gamma_0\lambda)} + \frac{\lambda^2 \lambda_{T,1}^2}{\lambda_{p,1}^2 (\lambda^2 - \lambda_{T,1}^2 - i\gamma_1\lambda\lambda_{T,1}^2)}$$
(6)

In expression (6), $\lambda_{p,0} = 0.6702 \ \mu m$, $\lambda_{p,1} = 0.2725 \ \mu m$ are the plasmon wavelengths, corresponds to Drude (intra-band) and Lorentz (inter-band) charge carriers, and $\lambda_{T,1} = 0.2883 \ \mu m$ is the resonance wavelength of the inter-band transition. $\gamma_0 = 0.3226 \ \mu m^{-1}$ and $\gamma_1 = 1.8551 \ \mu m^{-1}$ are damping coefficients, λ is incident light wavelength (0.633 $\ \mu m$ in our case).



It is observed that by applying the alkali-metal doping, a longer SPR angle shift observed than the previous case (as observed in undoped SWCNT) which leads to enhance the sensitivity of the proposed sensing device. Maximum shift in SPR angle, $\Delta\theta = 12.04$, and sensitivity obtained as 244.75°/RIU which is better than previously observed sensitivity. It is the point to be noted that the optimized layer thickness for the proposed device is Ag = 40 nm, Au = 2 nm, Si = 1 nm, Fe₃O₄ = 1.5 nm, and SWCNT_(doped) = 1 nm. In Fig. 5, it appears that the proposed sensing device shows a large shift in SPR angle when functionalized with doped SWCNT.

(c) Glucose concentration effect on SPR angle and Sensitivity analysis

In the year 2008, Yen-Liang Yeh [35] developed a system to measure the average refractive indices of liquid sample by varying glucose concentrations from 0 to 200 g/l. A linear relationship or mathematical expression between the average refractive index and glucose concentration obtained through some experimental treatment is given as:

$$n_{g/l} = 0.00011889C + 1.33230545 \tag{7}$$

In this expression, C is the glucose concentration (g/l) and $n_{g/l}$ is the average refractive index. By following Eq. 7, in this study, the analysis is carried out by varying glucose concentration zero (pure water) to 420 g/l.

The corresponding results obtained from glucose concentration variation in liquid sample using undoped as well as doped SWCNT-based SPR sensor is summarized in Table 4. In first sight, results shows that the RI of liquid sample increase by varying glucose concentration Moreover, an increment in SPR angle also observed in both of the sensing structure taken for observation.

The influence of glucose concentration variation on SPR angle obtained both of the cases, when proposed structure functionalized with doped as well as the undoped SWCNT, is given in Fig. 6b. Sensitivity analysis concerning the surrounding materials discussed with the help of Fig. 6c. This figure indicates the change in sensitivity with respect to change in RI of the sensing medium for the proposed structure. Table 4 depicts the effect of increasing glucose concentration on SPR angle obtained through





doped and undoped SWCNT-based sensing devices. Using Eq. 7, refractive index of the liquid sample by varying glucose concentration (g/l) estimated and at each case of refractive index variation the SPR angle observed.

The theoretical study shown in this paper expected to be verified by experimental investigations because materials used in this study are readily available [36], and on the nanometer level, there is a number of experimental papers are available for realization.

4 Conclusion

A theoretical concept of a biosensor for glucose concentration detection in simple water has been studied based on SPR sensing scheme. By measuring the shift in the position of resonance dip of the reflected spectrum due to modulation of the incident light angle, the variation in the refractive index can be monitored. The theoretical study has been carried out by following the structure based on the combination of single-wall carbon nanotube with Fe_3O_4 nanoparticle and silicon. It is observed that the sensing device shows high sensitivity and almost four times better FoM than a conventional SPR sensor. The proposed design of the investigated sensor is really capable and very sensitive for measuring low as well as a wide range of glucose concentrations. We have also shown the doping effect of SWCNT when doped with alkali metal on the performance parameter of the sensor. By applying the suitable formula, the refractive index has been calculated by varying the glucose concentration, and on each variation, the SPR angle and sensitivity analysis also carried out.

Acknowledgements We are grateful to Indian Government funding agency BRNS, Department of Atomic Energy to provide research fund for Project No. 34/14/10/2017-BRNS/34285 entitled "Role of Graphene and MoS₂ on Performance of Surface Plasmon Resonance Based Sensors: An Application to Biosensing"

References

- 1. J. Homola, M. Piliarik, Surface Plasmon Resonance Based Sensors. Springer 4, 46-47 (2006)
- P.E. Cryer, Hypoglycemia, functional brain failure, and brain death. J. Clin. Investig. 117(4), 868–870 (2007)
- A. Srivastava, R. Das, Y. K.Prajapati, Effect of Perovskite material on performance of surface plasmon resonance biosensor. IET Optoelectron. 1–10 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-opt. 2019.0122
- 4. A. Srivastava, Y.K. Prajapati, Performance analysis of silicon and bluephosphorene/MoS2 hetero-structure based SPR sensor. Photonic Sens. **9**(33), 1–9 (2019)
- J. Homola, Present and future of surface plasmon resonance biosensors. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 377(3), 528–539 (2003)

- 6. C. Rizal, V. Belotelov, Sensitivity comparison of surface plasmon resonance (SPR) and magneto-optic SPR biosensors. Eur. Phys. J. Plus **134**, 435 (2019)
- 7. J.B. Maurya, S. Raikawar, Y.K. Prajapati et al., A silicon-black phosphorous based surface plasmon resonance sensor for the detection of NO₂ gas. Optik **160**, 428–433 (2018)
- B. Liedberg, C. Nylander, I. Lunström, Surface plasmon resonance for gas detection and biosensing. Sens. Actuators 4, 299–304 (1983)
- 9. J. Ibrahim, M. Al Masri, et.al. "Surface Plasmon Resonance Based Temperature Sensors in Liquid Environment," Sensors, vol. 19(15), p. 3354,2019.
- A. Aqel, K.M.M.A. El-Nour, R.A.A. Ammar, A. Al-Warthan, Carbon nanotubes, science and technology part (I) structure, synthesis and characterisation. Arab. J. Chem. 5(1), 1–23 (2012)
- J. Kang, S. Al-Sabah, R. Théo, Effect of single-walled carbon nanotubes on strength properties of cement composites. Materials 13(6), 1305 (2020)
- C.I.L.Justino, A.R.Gomes' A.C. Freitas, et.al. Graphene based sensors and biosensors. 91, 53–66 (2017)
- A. Bahrami, A.R. Sadrolhosseini et al., Surface plasmon sensor based on polypyrrole multiwalled carbon nanotube composite layer to detect Al (III) in aqueous solution. Dig. J. Nanomater. Biostruct. 10(2), 535–541 (2015)
- N. Saifuddin, A.Z. Raziah, A.R. Junizah, Carbon nanotubes: a review on structure and their interaction with proteins. J. Chem. 2013, 1–18 (2013)
- N. Kakenov, O. Balci, S. Balci, C. Kocabas, Probing molecular interactions on carbon nanotube surfaces using surface plasmon resonance sensors. Appl. Phys. Lett. 101(22), 223114 (2012)
- H.-M. So, K. Won, Y.H. Kim et al., Single-walled carbon nanotube biosensors using aptamers as molecular recognition elements. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127(34), 11906–11907 (2005)
- A. Lahav, M. Auslender, I. Abdulhalim, Sensitivity enhancement of guided-wave surfaceplasmon resonance sensors. Opt. Lett. 33(21), 2539–2541 (2008)
- 18. Lahav, A., Shalabaney, A., Abdulhalimc, I., Surface plasmon sensor with enhanced sensitivity using top nano dielectric layer. J. Nanophoton. **3** (1), 031501
- Y.Zenga, et.al., Recent advances in surface plasmon resonance imaging: detection speed, sensitivity, and portability. Nanophotonics 6(5), 1017–1030 (2017)
- A. Srivastava, A. Verma, R. Das, Y.K. Prajapati, A theoretical approach to improve the performance of spr biosensor using mxene and black phosphorus. Optik—Int. J. Light Electron Opt. 203, 1–9 (2020)
- T. Srivastava, R. Jha, Black phosphorus: a new platform for gaseous sensing based on surface plasmon resonance. IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett. 30(4) (2018)
- J.B. Maurya, Y.K. Prajapati, V. Singh, J.P. Saini, R. Tripathi, Performance of graphene–MoS₂ based surface plasmon resonance sensor using silicon layer. Opt. Quant. Electron. 47(11), 3599–3611 (2015)
- R. Otupiri, E. Akowuah, S. Haxha, Multi-channel SPR biosensor based on PCF for multianalyte sensing applications. Opt. Express 23, 15716–15727 (2015)
- S.Pal, A.Verma, Y.K. Prajapati, J.P. Saini, Influence of black phosphorous on performance of surface plasmon resonance biosensor. Opt. Quant. Electron. 12 (2017)
- E. Kretschmann, The determination of the optical constants of metals by excitation of surface plasmons. J. Phys. 241, 313–324 (1971)
- Y.K. Prajapati, A. Srivastava, Effect of blueP/MoS2 Heterostructure and graphene layer on the performance parameter of SPR sensor: theoretical insight. Superlattice Microstruct. 129, 152–162 (2019)
- A.K. Sharma, A.K. Pandey, Blue phosphorene/MoS2 heterostructure based SPR sensor with enhanced sensitivity. IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett. 30(7), 595–598 (2018)
- A. Lahav, M. Auslender, I. Abdulhalim, Sensitivity enhancement of the guided wave surfaceplasmon resonance sensors. Opt. Lett. 33(21), 2539–2541 (2008)
- S. Pal, A. Verma, Y.K. Prajapati et al., Influence of black phosphorous on performance of surface plasmon resonance biosensor. Opt. Quantum Electron. 49(403), 1–13 (2017)
- J. Wang, Z. Zhu, A. Munir, H.S. Zhou, Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles-enhanced SPR sensing for ultrasensitive sandwich bio-assay. Talanta 84(3), 783–788 (2011)
- A. Panda, P.D. Pukhrambam, G. Keiser, Performance analysis of graphene-based surface plasmon resonance biosensor for blood glucose and gas detection. Appl. Phys. A 126(3) (2020)
- 32. M. Lutfiyah, W. Aji Eko Prabowo, A. Melati, A computational theory study of surface plasmon resonance (SPR) porcine gelatine detected sensor based-on Fe₃O₄ nanoparticle—CNT with ATR method in Kretschmann configuration. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. **1445**, 012005 (2020)
- A.K. Mishra, S.K. Mishra, R.K. Verma, Doped single-wall carbon nanotubes in propagating surface plasmon resonance-based fiber optic refractive index sensing. Plasmonics 12(6), 1657– 1663 (2016)
- A. Ahmadivand, B. Gerislioglu, Directional toroidal dipoles driven by oblique poloidal and loop current flows in plasmonic meta-atoms. J. Phys. Chem. C 122(42), 24304–24308 (2018)
- 35. Y.-L. Yeh, Real-time measurement of glucose concentration and average refractive index using a laser interferometer. Opt. Lasers Eng. **46**(9), 666–670 (2008)
- T. Igarashi, H. Kawai, K. Yanagi, N. T. Cuong, S. Okada, T. Pichler, Tuning localized transverse surface plasmon resonance in electricity-selected single-wall carbon nanotubes by electrochemical doping. Phys. Rev. Lett. 114(17) (2015)

Sensing Range Analysis in Non-Conventional WSNs: MI Communication



Shubhangi Palekar, Sadanand Yadav, Vinay Kumar, and Ashwin Kothari

1 Introduction

In conventional media, wireless communication technologies account electromagnetic (EM) waves for signal transmission. The electromagnetic waves experience a high level of attenuation, multi-path effects and interference in non-conventional media. To support the large range communications, the antennas required in this systems must have high-radiation resistance. Thus, in non-conventional media like underground and underwater WSNs, EM wave system is not suitable. To mitigate all these problem in non-conventional media, magnetic induction (MI) based communication technique has used [1-6]. Instead of radiated wave, MI system use non-propagating magnetic field. As MI system exhibits short-range communication, lesser power is required for the reliable transmission and higher security. One more advantage of MI communication is that its design is simple, small and inexpensive and it does not have a issue of multi-path fading because of small proportion of their radiated energy [7]. MI communication has a many application for near field communication system. In MI communication system, transmit and receive antenna are designed as the primary and secondary coil of transformer. In desiging of nonconventional MI system, we have considered the various factors in the analysis which

S. Palekar · A. Kothari

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Visvesvaraya National Institute of Technology Nagpur, Nagpur 440010, India e-mail: ashwinkothari@ece.vnit.ac.in

S. Yadav Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, RGM College of Engineering and Technology, Kurnool 518501, India

V. Kumar (🖂)

Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Prayagraj, Allahabad 211004, India e-mail: vinay.k@mnnit.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_30

includes number of turns in coil loop, water properties, coil size, operating frequency, and coil resistance [8–10].

Wireless MI sensor nodes are deployed in non-conventional media [11–13]. These MI nodes sense and gather the information about the physical objects or process and make them available for the external systems and the networks at sink nodes. In wireless networks, coverage and connectivity play an important role. To how much extent, the deployed network correctly monitor the area of interest is the coverage. It depends on the detection sensing models designed for the sensor nodes. In this paper, we implement the traditional distance based and angular-based sensing models in MI based communication in non-conventional media. This models give the sensing probability based on distance and 3D angle, respectively.

1.1 Motivation

Kumar et.al. [14] have proposed a multi-layer transmitter enabled novel energy model for designing of MI communication based energy efficient non-conventional WSNs. Along with that they developed the layout of MI transceiver based on multi-layer coil structure and four feasible compensation circuits. Sun et al. [15] developed a MI based wave-guide technique that characterizes the bandwidth and path loss of MI system and decreases the high path loss of the system. Further, they analyzed a comparative study on MI system and EM wave system. Sharma et.al. [16] in this paper, they surveyed the MI communications technique for the non-conventional media applications. A comparative analysis in terms of different performance metrics of all existing communication techniques are studied and focused the issue related to information transmission and design of antenna for MI communication for nonconventional media has done. Li et al. [17], in this paper authors have proposed Target Involved Virtual Force Algorithm (TIVFA) for sensor deployment optimization problem and target tracking. The proposed algorithm can increase the coverage and the detection probability and adjust the sensor networks configuration on the basis of the intelligence and the detected targets. Cao et al. [18], in this paper they have focused on resolving the problem associated to deployment of three dimensional (3D) industrial wireless sensor network. Furthermore, this paper has also focused on lifetime, coverage and reliability of industrial wireless sensor network.

1.2 Contribution

In this paper, we have implemented the two sensing models namely the distance based and angular based sensor detection models which will detect the target in 3D space in non-conventional media through MI based communication. The main contributions of this paper are as follows:

- 1. Mathematical analysis of distance based sensing probability of sensor nodes in MI based communication.
- 2. Mathematical analysis of angular based sensing probability of sensor nodes in MI based communication.
- 3. Comparative analysis of these two models for different media like sea water, wet soil and dry soil.

The remainder of this paper are categorized as follows: In Sect. 2, two sensing models in MI non-conventional WSN has been explained. Results and analysis of the proposed model are presented in Sect. 3. Lastly, Sect. 4 concludes the paper.

2 Sensing Models in MI Based Non-Conventional Media

The traditional sensing models are implemented to an individual sensor. In 3D space, a sensor attempts to observe a target. There is clear line of sight between them when there is no obstacle. And thus a sensor and target can see each other. Otherwise, we say that Non line of sight exists. Thus, the important condition for sensor to detect the target is line of sight. The line of sight function can be represented in following [18] form

$$P_{\text{LOS}}^{S}(s,t) = \begin{cases} 1, & if \ LOS \\ 0, & if \ NLOS \end{cases}$$
(1)

The sensing probability that a sensor can sense is calculated using the following formula,[18]

$$P^{S}(s,t) = P^{S}_{\text{LOS}}(s,t)P^{S}_{D}(s,t)P^{S}_{H}(s,t)P^{S}_{V}(s,t)$$
(2)

where $P_D^S(s, t)$ is the sensing probability of sensing distance, $P_H^S(s, t)$ is the sensing probability of horizontal sensing angle and $P_V^S(s, t)$ is the sensing probability of vertical sensing angle. Here, we have considered the effect of different media. The following expressions represent the attenuation factor, skin depth in sea water and soil media.

$$G = e^{\frac{-r}{\delta}} \tag{3}$$

where r is the distance between transmitter and receiver. For sea water, formula for skin depth is given as,

$$\delta = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi f \mu \sigma}} \tag{4}$$

For dry and wet soil, formula for skin depth is given as,

$$\delta = \frac{1}{2\pi f \sqrt{\frac{\mu\varepsilon}{2} \left(\sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\sigma}{2\pi f\varepsilon}\right)^2}\right) - 1}}$$
(5)

where μ is permiability of free space, σ is the conductivity of medium, ε is the permittivity of free space, δ is the skin depth of the media and f is the frequency of operation.

2.1 Distance Based Sensing Model

In distance based sensing model, we have considered the deterministic distance denoted by D_r and an uncertain distance denoted by D_f . The mathematical formulation for the sensing probability in non-conventional media through MI based communication is given as follows [18],

$$P_D^S(s,t) = \begin{cases} 1, & d(s,t) \in [0, D_r] \\ e^{-\gamma_1 G d_1^{\beta_1} / d_2^{\beta_2}}, & d(s,t) \in (D_r, D_r + D_f) \\ 0, & d(s,t) \in [D_r + D_f, +\infty] \end{cases}$$
(6)

where,

$$d_1 = d_{s,t} - D_r \tag{7}$$

$$d_2 = D_r + D_f - d_{s,t} (8)$$

where d(s, t) is the distance between sensor and target. γ_1 , β_1 , β_2 are the distance sensing model parameters. By adjusting their values, we can simulate the sensors with various characteristics.

2.2 Angular-Based Sensing Model

We have considered the two angular sensing dimensions as vertical angular range and horizontal angular range. We can formulate the sensing probability of any 3D angle on the basis of the sensing probability with respect to these two sensing angles. For both the models, the sensing behavior remains same. The three threshold angles that are considered in this work are α_1 , α_2 and α_3 such that,

$$\alpha_1 < \alpha_2 < \alpha_3 \tag{9}$$

The model in non-conventional media is as follows,

$$P_{A}^{S}(s,t) = \begin{cases} 1, & \phi_{A}(s,t) \in [0,\alpha_{1}] \\ & 1 - Gv^{A}e^{1 - \left(\frac{\alpha_{2} - \alpha_{1}}{\phi_{A}(s,t) - \alpha_{1}}\right)^{t_{1}^{A}}, \phi_{A}(s,t) \in (\alpha_{1},\alpha_{2}]} \\ & 0 \\ &$$

where, $\psi_A(s, t)$ is the deflection angle and $\phi_A(s, t)$ is its modified value with modification ratio dt_A . v, τ , t_1^A and t_2^A are the angle sensing model parameters.

3 Results and Analysis

In this paper, the MI sensors are deployed in 3D space. We have implemented the two sensing models namely the distance based and angular-based sensor detection models in non-conventional media. Mathematical analysis of the equations given above are



Fig. 1 Comparitive analysis of sensing probability versus distance (dry soil)



Fig. 2 Comparitive analysis of sensing probability versus distance (sea water)



Fig. 3 Comparitive analysis of sensing probability versus distance (wet soil)



Fig. 4 Comparitive analysis of sensing probability versus angle (dry soil)



Fig. 5 Comparitive analysis of sensing probability versus angle (sea water)



Fig. 6 Comparitive analysis of sensing probability versus angle (wet soil)



Fig. 7 Sensing probability versus distance in three media



Fig. 8 Sensing probability versus angle in three media

performed in MATLAB R2016a from MathWorks at frequency 1 KHz. Besides, a comparative analysis of the two sensing models is done for different media (sea water, wet soil and dry soil). From Figs. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 it can be inferred that for the three considered media, dry soil medium shows a good performance in terms of sensing probability with respect to distance and angle. Because, the skin depth is the inverse function of the conductivity of medium, i.e., as the conductivity of medium increases, skin depth of the respective medium decreases gradually. The conductivity of DS medium is less in compare to other like, sea water and wet soil so wireless propagation through this media attenuate less and propagate more distance in that media. It is observed that the sensing probability is the highest in dry soil. The sensing probability is the lowest in sea water.

3.1 Distance Based Model

A distance based model is applied for individual sensor nodes to different media like sea water, dry soil and wet soil. The probability of sensing is evaluated for different distance sensing parameters γ_1 , β_1 and β_2 . These are measuring detection probability parameters. The values of deterministic distance and fuzzy distance are kept constant for all media. In dry soil medium, for 1 m measuring distance, the sensing probability is 0.6 for parameters $\gamma_1 = 1$, $\beta_1=1$, $\beta_2 = 0.2$. It is 0.42 for $\gamma_1 = 1$, $\beta_1=0.2$, $\beta_2=0.3$ and for parameters $\gamma_1 = 1$, $\beta_1=0.5$, $\beta_2=0.1$, the sensing probability is 0.33.

Symbol	Quantity	Symbol	Quantity
$\gamma_1, \beta_1, \beta_2$	(1,1.5,1)	$\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3$	(60,100,150)
D _r	1	t_1^A, t_2^A	(3.6,3.6)
D_f	0.6	v^A, τ^A	(0.5,0.5)

Table 1 Parameters settings for models

3.2 Angular Based Model

Like distance based model, angular-based model is also applied to individual sensor nodes. The model is applied to different media like sea water, wet soil and dry soil. We have considered the horizontal and vertical angular sensing dimensions. Different angular sensing model parameters are considered in this model. In dry soil medium, for measuring the target in an angle of 80°, the sensing probability is 1 for parameters v = 0.36, $\tau = 0.64$, $t_1 = 3$ and $t_2 = 3$. Similarly, it is 0.9 for v = 0.36, $\tau = 0.64$, $t_1 = 1$, $t_2 = 1$ and for v = 0.36, $\tau = 0.64$, $t_1 = 0.3$, $t_2 = 0.3$ the sensing probability is 0.744.

Angular based model exhibits better performance for the angle below 100° and for the parameters v = 0.36, $\tau = 0.64$, $t_1 = 3$, $t_2 = 3$ and similarly, for the angle above 100° and for the parameters v = 0.36, $\tau = 0.64$, $t_1 = 0.3$, $t_2 = 0.3$ (Table 1).

4 Conclusion

In this paper, we have implemented the two detection models namely, distance based and angular-based sensing models to detect the target in 3D space more precisely in MI based communication in non-conventional media (dry soil, sea water and wet soil). The individual sensing model has great impact on the sensor network detection and coverage. From the analytical results, we observe that the implemented model performs the best for certain sensing parameters of the model.

References

- A.L. Prasanna, V. Kumar, S.B. Dhok, Cooperative communication and energy harvesting enabled energy-efficient design of MI based clustered non-conventional WSNs. IEEE Syst. J. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1109/JSYST.2019.2923859
- S. Yadav, V. Kumar, S.B. Dhok, D.N.K. Jayakody, Energy-efficient design of MI communication-based 3-D non-conventional WSNs. IEEE Syst. J. 14, 2585–2588 (2019)
- A. Kulkarni, V. Kumar, S. Yadav, A.P. Singh, S.B. Dhok, 3D modelling of superconductor enabled magnetic induction transmitter and relay coil for non-conventional media communication. Wirel. Personal Commun. 111, 1–27 (2019)

- M. Muhammad, N. Ahmed, G. Qiao, I. Ullah, L. Wan, Fundamentals and advancements of magnetic field communication for underwater wireless sensor networks. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2020.3001451
- 5. H. Ma, E. Liu, R. Wang, X. Qu, Channel characteristics for vehicle magnetic induction communication with road disturbance. IEEE Commun. Lett. 4, 1363–1367 (2020)
- D. Wei, L. Yan, C. Huang, J. Wang, J. Chen, M. Pan, Y. Fang, Dynamic magnetic induction wireless communications for autonomous underwater vehicle assisted underwater IoT. IEEE Internet Things J. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1109/JIOT.2020.2997709
- A.L. Prasanna, V. Kumar, S. Yadav, S.B. Dhok, P. Dhule, V. Sittakul, L. Wuttisittikulkij, in Link Energy Minimization in Magnetic Induction based Non-Conventional WSNs (Telecommunications and Information Technology or ECTI-CON, 2019)
- A. Dhok, I. Sagote, V. Kumar and S. Thote, Design of Efficient M²1 Coil Structure for Underground Sensor Networks. Accepted in INDICON-2018, At Amrita Viswa Vidya Pitham, Coimbatore, India
- A L. Prasanna, V. Kumar, A. Singh, Compressive data gathering for MI based clustered nonconventional WSNs. Accepted in ETIC Conference (2019)
- A. L. Prasanna, V. Kumar, Modified cluster head election scheme based On LEACH protocol for MI driven UGWSNs, in *Advances in VLSI, Communication, and Signal Processing (VCAS)* (2018), pp. 141–149
- D.N. Sandeep, V. Kumar, Review on clustering, coverage and connectivity in underwater wireless sensor networks: a communication techniques perspective. IEEE Access J. 5, 11176–11199 (2017)
- S. Tambe, V. Kumar, R. Bhusari, Magnetic induction-based cluster optimization in nonconventional WSNs: a cross layer approach. AEU-Int. J. Electron. Commun. 93, 53–62 (2018)
- S. Yadav, V. Kumar, Optimal clustering in underwater wireless sensor networks: acoustic, EM and FSO communication compliant technique. IEEE Access J. 5, 12761–12776 (2017) https:// doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2017.2723506
- V. Kumar, R. Bhusari, S.B. Dhok, A. Prakash, R. Tripathi, S. Tiwari, Design of magnetic induction based energy-efficient WSNs for non-conventional media using multilayer transmitterenabled novel energy model. IEEE Syst. J. 13, 1285–1296 (2018)
- Z. Sun, I.F. Akyildiz, Magnetic Induction communications for wireless underground sensor networks. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 58(7) (2010)
- A.K. Sharma, S. Yadav, S.N. Dandu, V. Kumar, J. Sengupta, S.B. Dhok, S. Kumar, Magnetic induction-based non-conventional media communications: a review. IEEE Sens. J. 17(4) (2017)
- S. Li, C. Xu, W. Pan, Y. Pan, Sensor deployment optimization for detecting maneuvering targets (2005)
- B. Cao, J. Zhao, P. Yang, Z. Liu, G. Min, 3-D multi-objective deployment of an industrial wireless sensor network for maritime applications utilizing a distributed parallel algorithm. IEEE Trans. Ind. Inform. 14,(12) (2018)

Design and Analysis of Bulk-Driven Linear Voltage-Controlled Oscillator



G. Swetha Praharsha, Vineetha Spandana Ommi, Tulasi Raj, and Pavankumar Bikki 💿

1 Introduction

In the present digitalized world, the analog-to-digital conversion (ADC) has become an overriding constraint, so the analog blocks need to be efficient enough to produce the required digital outputs accordingly. One of such analog blocks is voltage-controlled oscillator, and it brings linearity between the input voltage of the analog signal and the oscillation frequency of the output signal. Generally, voltagecontrolled oscillator is used in several applications such as phased-locked loop (PLL) and frequency synthesizers. The performance of analog circuits is reduced because of shrinking supply voltages and transistor parameters while achieving low power dissipation [1, 2]. As the trend is moving towards architecture that uses digital blocks, new architectures are needed to replace traditional analog circuits. So, VCO-based ADCs use VCO as quantizer which replaces analog comparators, and output of VCO is encoded to digital output using frequency to digital converter (FDC) [3, 4]. Designers have introduced several methodologies to reduce the distortions and to maintain the linearity between voltage and frequency such as current-starved VCO control voltage given to NMOS, current-starved VCO control voltage given to PMOS, diode connection PMOS and diode connection NMOS transistor [5–7]. However, current-starved PMOS has high linearity along with high power consumption. NMOS diode VCO has low power consumption with less linearity.

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_31

G. Swetha Praharsha (🖂) · V. S. Ommi · T. Raj

Department of ECE, National Institute of Technology Andhra Pradesh, Tadepalligudem, India

P. Bikki

BV Raju Institute of Technology, Narsapur, India e-mail: pavankumar.b@bvrit.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

This paper is arranged as follows, and the introduction is the part of the Sect. 1. Section 2 presents the literature review on various voltage-controlled oscillators. Section 3 consists of the proposed novel architecture VCO with bulk driver. Section 4 has the comparative results of different methodologies. Section 5 concludes the paper followed by references.

2 Literature Review

In this section, literature survey of various linear VCOs has been presented. VCO is classified into different types based on the elements present in the circuit such as LC VCO and ring oscillator-based VCO. LC VCO is not preferable because of low quality factor due to losses of silicon substrate and large chip area. Ring VCO is widely preferred as it is easily integrable, CMOS compatible, has compact design and consumes low power. Frequency of oscillation can be calculated as $f = 1/(2 * N * t_d)$, where N is the number of stages, and t_d is propagation delay of each stage [8, 9].

2.1 Current-Starved NMOS VCO

Shruti suman et al. have proposed current-starved VCO to overcome the problem of using voltage as the controlling element. The output frequency is not stable when it is dependent on supply voltage. This is made stable by supplying current to each inverter instead of VDD control. The amount of current available to charge or discharge the capacitive load of each stage present in the ring oscillator is controlled. The structure has additional PMOS and NMOS transistor acting as current tuning circuits along with the basic CMOS inverter [10]. However, it has very less tuning range from 0.5 to 0.7 V.

2.2 Current-Starved PMOS VCO

In current-starved PMOS VCO, control input is given to extra PMOS. As, the aspect ratio is more for PMOS than NMOS, the resistance is low for PMOS since on resistance is indirectly proportional to aspect ratio. So, the linearity between input voltage and supply current to each inverter is proportional to output frequency. Hence, the linearity increases between the input voltage and the output frequency [4]. The tuning range is more than the current-starved PMOS design, and tuning range is from 0.1 to 1.1 V.

2.3 NMOS Diode VCO

Panda M. et al. proposed a diode connection VCO. Additional NMOS transistor is connected as a diode that is the gate terminal is connected to the drain terminal of transistor. The control input is given to additional PMOS. NMOS is in diode connection and thus acts as constant current source, and it is in saturation region. So, current is directly proportional to the square of voltage which is nonlinear [11]. This configuration degrades the linearity between the input and output, and the design has very less tuning range which is in between 0.1 and 0.6 V.

2.4 PMOS Diode VCO

The transistor PMOS added is in diode connection, and the control input is given to the supplementary NMOS transistor. NMOS is in diode connection; nonlinear relation exists between the voltage and current. It reduces linearity between the input and output. PMOS transistors are connected in stack which provides more resistive path and thus degrades the tuning range (0.2-0.4 V).

3 Proposed Circuit

Both current-starved PMOS, NMOS designs and diode connection PMOS, NMOS designs are having inadequate tuning range, along with the less linearity and high-power dissipation. However, these circuits are not suitable for the low-power and high-frequency application. In this section, we proposed a novel circuit for low-power and high-frequency applications. The proposed design has two controlled voltages, V1 has connected to the stacked PMOS transistor, and V2 is connected to the stacked NMOS transistor. In addition to that, bulk bias techniques have been applied to proposed designs. Thus enhances the drain current in the transistors based on the control voltage and further it improves tuning range. Hence, the linearity increases between the input control voltage and output frequency.

In general, the bulk and source terminals of a transistor connected together in order to maintain constant threshold voltage. Variable threshold voltage can be achieved by the reverse bulk bias (RBB) and forward bulk bias (FBB). Reverse bulk bias can be attained by additional voltage which is greater than the supply voltage applied to the body terminal of PMOS transistor. In case of NMOS, additional negative voltage is applied to body terminal, and forward bulk bias can be achieved by the vice versa [12, 13]. This causes changes in depletion width which changes threshold voltage of the transistor.

Small gate input-controlled voltage is enough to form the inversion layer and thus increases the linearity between the input control voltage and output frequency.



Fig. 1 a Proposed design with bulk driver and b frequency response

Simulation analysis shows that the bulk bias techniques applied to the voltage control oscillator attained the increase in tuning range along with the high linearity [14]. VCO circuit has basic CMOS inverter (M1 PMOS and M2 NMOS) along with the additional PMOS M3 and NMOS M4. The same cycle repeats for odd number of stages for obtaining the oscillations. In the proposed design, the pull-up network stacked PMOS transistor is biased with the control voltage (V3) of 1.6 V. The proposed bulk driver VCO is as shown in Fig. 1a. The frequency response of the proposed design with and without bulk driver is as shown in Fig. 1b.

3.1 Current-Starved NMOS VCO with Bulk Driver

In the current-starved NMOS circuit, bulk bias is provided to pull down network. Body terminal of stacked NMOS is biased with an additional control voltage of 0.2 V. The forward bulk bias decreases the threshold voltage of NMOS transistor. Further, pull down network increases the linearity in between input voltage and output frequency as compared to basic current-starved NMOS design. Modified architecture of current-starved NMOS VCO with bulk driver is shown in Fig. 2a. The frequency response of current-starved NMOS with and without bulk driver is shown in Fig. 2b.

3.2 Current-Starved PMOS VCO with Bulk Driver

Bulk bias is applied to the current-starved PMOS circuit, and the pull up network PMOS body terminal is biased with a voltage of 1.6 V which increases the threshold voltage of PMOS transistor. Hence, operational frequency window increased



Fig. 2 a Bulk driver current-starved NMOS circuit and b frequency response



Fig. 3 a Bulk driver current-starved PMOS circuit and b frequency response

compared to the current-starved PMOS design. Improved architecture of currentstarved PMOS VCO with bulk driver is shown in Fig. 3a. The frequency response of current-starved PMOS with and without bulk driver is shown in Fig. 3b.

3.3 NMOS Diode VCO with Bulk Driver

In NMOS diode connection VCO, bulk bias is provided to the pull up network. Body terminal is biased with a voltage of about 1.6 V which moderates threshold voltage of NMOS transistor. Hence, linearity between input control voltage and output frequency has been increased without affecting the phase noise and low power



Fig. 4 a NMOS diode VCO with bulk driver circuit and b frequency response

dissipation as compared to the basic NMOS diode connection VCO. Improved architecture of NMOS diode VCO with bulk driver is shown in Fig. 4a. The frequency response of NMOS diode VCO with and without bulk driver is shown in Fig. 4b.

3.4 PMOS Diode VCO with Bulk Driver

In PMOS diode connection design, bulk bias is provided to the pull down network that is the body terminal is biased with a voltage of 0.2 V which led to decrease in threshold voltage of PMOS, the linear frequency window increased, and phase noise and power dissipation are moderately increased as compared to the case without bulk bias. Architecture of PMOS diode VCO with bulk driver is shown in Fig. 5a. The



Fig. 5 a PMOS diode VCO with bulk driver circuit, b frequency response

frequency response of PMOS diode VCO with and without bulk driver is shown in Fig. 5b.

4 Comparative Results

In this section, comparative simulations have been shown for the current-starved PMOS and current-starved NMOS with and without bulk driver, PMOS diode, NMOS diode with and without bulk driver and proposed design with and without bulk driver mainly in terms of tuning range, linearity, power dissipation and phase noise. Simulations have been carried out using the cadence virtuoso 130 nm TSMC technology with the supply voltage of 1.8 V. Similar aspect ratio has been followed for all the CMOS inverters, in which NMOS width is twice the length of a transistor and PMOS width is twice the NMOS width in order to maintain equal rise and fall time. Odd number of inverters is connected to obtain the oscillations. External bulk bias has been applied to obtain the maximum linearity without affecting the phase noise. Parametric analysis has been performed by varying the input control voltage from 0 to 3 V [15]. Further, input control voltage is selected at high linearity without affecting the phase noise. Parametric analysis of input voltage for proposed VCO is as shown in Fig. 6. Phase noise is calculated by following the transient, pss and phoise analysis. Phase noise response of the proposed design with and without bulk driver is as shown in Fig. 7. It shows that phase noise (dBc/Hz) of bulk driver designs is nearly equal to the circuits without bulk driver designs [16, 17].

In addition to that, power consumption of each design has been calculated using transient and DC analysis for dynamic and static power dissipation. Power consumption slightly increases for the bulk driver circuit due to external driver voltage and



Fig. 6 Parametric analysis of input voltage for proposed VCO



Fig. 7 Phase noise response of the proposed VCO

variation in threshold voltage of the transistor [18]. Tuning range, linearity, power dissipation and phase noise of the various methodologies without and with bulk bias are listed in Table 1. Moreover, the proposed design significantly increases tuning range, linearity between input voltage and oscillation frequency while maintaining the low power consumption and phase noise as compared to other current-starved and diode connection VCO.

5 Conclusion

In this paper, brief literature review of VCO with the current-starved PMOS, currentstarved NMOS, diode connection NMOS, diode connection PMOS is discussed in terms of linearity, tuning range, power dissipation and phase noise. Further, we introduced bulk driver to these circuits in order to obtain high linearity while retaining the same low power dissipation and phase noise. In addition, we proposed a highly linear voltage-controlled oscillator expending the bulk driver and additional control input. Each design is simulated, and the frequency response versus input voltage is shown in the figures. Further, tuning range, linearity, power dissipation and phase noise for all the designs have been calculated and presented in tabulation. However, currentstarved PMOS has high linearity along with high power consumption. NMOS diode VCO has low power consumption with less linearity. Hence, the proposed design increased the tuning range, high linearity while maintaining the same low power and phase noise. The proposed circuit attained high tuning range from 0.1 to 0.8 V and linearity range from 2.797 to 3.786 GHz. On employing bulk bias, the rate of increase in operational frequency window is far greater in comparisons with the rate of increase in power consumption of the circuit without bulk bias. So, the proposed design can be used for applications of L and S band like RADARS, GPS, aircraft surveillance, communication satellites, etc. The linearity range increased from MHz to GHz, so

Methodology	Tuning range (V)		Linearity range (GH	Iz)	Power consumption	on (mW)	Phase noise (dB	c/Hz)
	Without bulk driver	With bulk driver						
Current-starved (NMOS)	0.5–0.7	0.5-0.8	0.50-1.89	0.65–2.63	1.564	1.567	-98.45	-97.31
Current-starved (PMOS)	0.1–1.0	0.1-1.1	0.367–2.69	0.70–2.77	0.979	0.989	-95.34	94.89
NMOS diode	0.1–0.6	0-0.7	1.81–2.16	1.78-2.15	0.268	0.274	-98.89	-99.06
PMOS diode	0.2–0.4	0.4-0.7	1.34-1.74	0.32-1.56	0.565	0.944	-98.87	-105.6
Proposed design	0.1–0.8	0-0.9	2.79–3.79	2.69-3.83	0.349	0.609	-94.53	-94.1

 Table 1
 Tuning range, linearity, power dissipation and phase noise of the various methodologies without and with bulk bias

designs have several other short-range applications like wireless microphones, RFID systems merchandise, baby monitors and wireless doorbells.

References

- 1. B. Razvi, Design of ANALOG CMOS Integrated Circuits (Tata McGraw Hill, New York) (2001)
- Y.-H. Chuang, S.-L. Jang, J.-F. Lee, S.-H. Lee, A low voltage 900 MHz voltage controlled ring oscillator with wide tuning range, in *The 2004 IEEE Asia-Pacific Conference on Circuits and Systems*, vol. 1 (2004), pp. 301–304
- G. Jovanovic, M. Stojcev, Z. Stamenkovic, A CMOS voltage controlled ring oscillator with improved frequency stability. Appl. Math. Inform. Mech. 2, 1–9 (2010)
- S. Kabirpour, M. Jalili, A highly linear current-starved VCO based on a linearized current control mechanism. Integr. VLSI J. 69, 1–9 (2019)
- U. Nanda, D. Nayak, S.M. Biswal, B. Biswal, Design and performance analysis of current starved voltage controlled oscillator, in *Microelectronics, Electromagnetics and Telecommunications* (2018), pp. 235–246
- A. Babaie-Fishani, P. Rombouts, Highly linear VCO for use in VCO-Cs. Electron. Lett. 52, 268–270 (2016)
- 7. W. Xin, Y. Dunshan, S. Sheng, A full swing and low power voltage-controlled oscillator, in *IEEE Conference on Electron Devices and Solid-State Circuits* (2005), pp. 141–143
- S. Docking, M. Sachdev, An analytical equation for the oscillator frequency of high frequency ring oscillator. IEEE J. Solid State Circ. 39(3), 1–9 (2004)
- P. Bikki, P. Karuppanan, Low power and high-performance multi-Vth dual mode logic design, in 11th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS) (2016), pp. 463– 468
- S. Suman, K.G. Sharma, P.K. Ghosh, Analysis and design of current starved ring VCO, in 2016 International Conference on Electrical, Electronics, and Optimization Techniques (ICEEOT) (2016), pp. 3222–3227
- P. Madhusmita, A.K. Mal, Design and performance analysis of voltage-controlled oscillator in CMOS technology, in *IEEE Conference* (2015), pp. 395–400
- R. Ranjan, A. Raman, N. Kashyap, Low power and high frequency voltage controlled oscillator for PLL application, in 2019 6th International Conference on Signal Processing and Integrated Networks (SPIN) (2019), pp. 212–214
- 13. M. Kulakarni, K.N. Hosur, Design of linear and wide range current starved voltage controlled oscillator for PLL. Int. J. Cybern. Inform. (IJCI) **2**(1) (2013)
- P. Bikki, Analysis of high-performance near-threshold dual mode logic design. Int. J. Electron. Telecommun. 65(4), 731–737 (2019)
- P. Bikki, P. Karuppanan, Analysis of low power feed through logic with leakage control technique, in 2017 4th International Conference on Power, Control & Embedded Systems (ICPCES), Allahabad (2017), pp. 1–6
- P.K. Rout, D.P. Acharya, G. Panda, A multi-objective optimization based fast and robust design methodology for low power and low phase noise current starved VCO. IEEE Trans. Semicond. Manuf. 27(1), 1–8 (2014)
- T.H. Lee, A. Hajimiri, Oscillator phase noise: a tutorial. IEEE J. Solid-State Circ. 35, 326–336 (2000)
- B. Kinger, S. Suman, K.G. Sharma, P.K. Ghosh, Design of improved performance voltage controlled ring oscillator, in 2015 Fifth International Conference on Advanced Computing & Communication Technologies (2015), pp. 441–445

Comparative Analysis of Decimal Fixed-Point Parallel Multipliers Using Signed Digit Radix-4, 5 and 10 Encodings



345

Debaprasad Ghose, Dharamvir Kumar, and Manoranjan Pradhan

1 Introduction

Since the introduction of IEEE 754-2008 standard for floating point arithmetic, many researchers have put their effort in the area of decimal arithmetic hardware circuit design and implementation [1]. It is also justified as it finds applications in financial, banking, scientific, stock market and other important fields. Also, some processors have dedicated hardware unit for decimal arithmetic like eServer, POWER6, z10 processor, etc. [2–4]. Decimal arithmetic is getting attention because of the inefficiency of binary number system to perform decimal number calculations, e.g. 0.2 decimal number cannot be represented exactly in binary number system.

Multiplication is one of the most commonly used operations in the application areas mentioned above. When decimal multiplication is performed with binary arithmetic-based hardware, it becomes more complex to design, and it also lowers the speed. This happens because in decimal multiplication more number of multiplicand multiples (MM) are required [1] and also because of the inefficiency of binary number system already mentioned.

Basically, the decimal multiplication process requires three steps as follows:

- 1. Partial products (PPs) generation.
- 2. Reduction of partial products into two operands.
- 3. The calculation of final product by a carry propagation addition.

D. Ghose $(\boxtimes) \cdot D$. Kumar $\cdot M$. Pradhan

Department of Electronics and Telecommunication Engineering, VSSUT, Burla, Sambalpur, Odisha, India

D. Kumar e-mail: dkumar_etc@vssut.ac.in

M. Pradhan e-mail: mpradhan_etc@vssut.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_32

In this paper, we perform a comparative analysis between 16-digit (64-bit) decimal fixed-point multipliers based on SDR-4, 5 and 10 encodings. Fixed-point multipliers are used to design floating point multipliers [5, 6]. For producing the MM, minimally redundant radix schemes are used for each of the three cases. For recoding of the multiplier, one-hot encoding is used. For reduction of partial products (PP), a reduction tree scheme based on binary-coded decimal (BCD) 4221 format is used [7, 8].

In rest of the paper, Sect. 2 describes the methods for efficient implementation of decimal fixed-point parallel multipliers, Sect. 3 shows the results obtained, and Sect. 4 presents conclusion.

2 Method

2.1 Generation of Multiplicand Multiples

The multiplicand (P) and multiplier (Q) are assumed to be unsigned decimal integer having *p*-digits. Hence, we can write

$$P = \sum_{i=0}^{d-1} P.10^i$$
 (1)

And

$$Q = \sum_{i=0}^{d-1} Q_i . 10^i$$
 (2)

Figure 1 shows that for obtaining the multiple 2P, a left shift of 1-bit is done after recoding the digit from BCD-4221 to BCD-5211. Multiple 3P is obtained by a carry propagate BCD addition of multiples P and 2P. The latency of the partial product generation for the SD radix-10 scheme follows the path of 3P. The 5Pmultiple is obtained by 3-bit left shift of the 4221 recoded multiplicands, with resultant digits coded in BCD-5211. Then, a digit recoding from BCD-5211 to BCD-4221 is performed. Decimal multiple 8P is obtained by 2 * 4P. The second *2 operation is again computed by a digit recoding from BCD-4221 to BCD-5211 followed by a 1-bit left shift [5, 8, 9].

The multiples for the negative digits are obtained by inverting the corresponding positive multiples. SDR-4 uses the set of different multiples such as $\{-2P, -P, 0, P, 2P, 4P, 8P\}$, SDR-5 uses multiples that are $\{-2P, -P, 0, P, 2P, 5P, 10P\}$, and SDR-10 requires the set of decimal multiples such as $\{-5P, -4P, ..., 0, ..., 4P, 5P\}$ as shown in figure below.



Fig. 1 Multiplicand multiples calculation for a SDR-4, b SDR-5, c SDR-10

2.2 Multiplier Recoding

By using this recoding technique, each BCD digit of decimal number, Q, is coded into two digits $\mathbf{Q}_i^U \in \{0, 1, 2\}$ (upper part) and $\mathbf{Q}_i^L \in \{-2, -1, 0, 1, 2\}$ (lower part) such that $\mathbf{Q}_i = \mathbf{Q}_i^U \cdot \mathbf{4} + \mathbf{Q}_i^L$. The computation of decimal multiples such as 4P and 8P requires two times and three times latency as compared to the computation of 2P. Multiples (+4P, -4P, +8P, -8P) are selected by upper signals, and multiples (-2P, -P, +P, +2P) are selected by lower signals. This recoding scheme, two radix-5 digits $\mathbf{Q}_i^U \in \{0, 1, 2\}, \mathbf{Q}_i^L \in \{-2, -1, 0, 1, 2\}$ are produced per BCD digit ($\mathbf{Q}_i =$ $\mathbf{Q}_i^U \cdot \mathbf{5} + \mathbf{Q}_i^L$). This recoding scheme transforms a BCD digit $\mathbf{Q}_i \in \{0, 1, \dots, 8, 9\}$ into a SDR-10 digit $\mathbf{Qb}_i \in \{-5, \dots, 5\}$. The value of \mathbf{Qb}_i depends on the value of \mathbf{Q}_i and on a signal $\mathbf{q}_{i-1,3}$ (sign) that indicates whether \mathbf{Q}_{i-1} is greater than or equal to 5. Thus, the z-digit BCD multiplier Q is recoded into (z + 1)-digit SDR-10 multiplier $\mathbf{Qb} = \sum_{i=0}^{z} \mathbf{Qb}_i \mathbf{10}^i$ with $\mathbf{Qb}_z = \mathbf{qs}_{z-1}$ [5].

2.3 Partial Product Generation

All the schemes generate PPs in parallel. The MMs are produced in a faster way in case of SDR-4 and SDR-5, whereas for SDR-10, to generate complex multiples, a carry propagate BCD addition is required. The SDR-4 recoding scheme generates 2z partial products using the set of multiples, such as $\{-2P, -P, 0, P, 2P, 4P, 8P\}$ [10, 11]. This recoding scheme is quite similar to conventional SDR-4 recoding for binary numbers. Figure 2 shows the diagram of generation of partial products.

To generate 5*P* and 10*P*, we use mixed 4211/5211 decimal coding. So, we only need to evaluate $\{-2P, -P, P, 2P\}$ coded in 4221. Each digit **Qb**_i generates a PP PP[i] by choosing the proper MM. The one-hot coded signals $(q5_i, q4_i, q3_i, q2_i, q1_i)$ generate the PP by selecting one of the MM passing through 5:1 multiplexers. The sign signal qs_i determines if the negative MM should be produced by 9's complement of the corresponding positive MM. This is done by inverting the bits of the positive MM. This inversion is performed by XOR gates which are operating on the value of qs_i .



Fig. 2 Partial product generation for a SDR-4, b SDR-5, c SDR-10

2.4 Partial Product Reduction (PPR)

After the generation of decimal PPs, they are aligned and then reduced to two decimal operands using q:2 decimal compressors [8]. The alignment of the partial products is done according to their decimal weight as

$$Z = P \times Q = \sum_{i=0}^{z} (\text{PP_UPPER}[i] + \text{PP_LOWER}[i]) 10^{i} \quad (\text{SDR} - 4 \text{ and } 5) \quad (3)$$

$$Z = P \times Q = \sum_{i=0}^{z} PP[i]10^{i} \quad (SDR - 10)$$
(4)

These alignments do not need any logic, as they are performed using 4-bit wired left shifts. The corresponding PPs for each digit are added using carry propagate BCD addition if the sign bit is 1, else they are added using 9's complement BCD addition. By doing this, now we got *z* number of summation results which are aligned by 4i-bit wired left shift and reduced by using *q*:2 decimal compressors. For SD radix-10, PPs produced are aligned by 4i-bit wired left shift and reduced by using *q*:2 decimal compressors. All the PPs encoded in 4221 are at most of (*z* + 3)-digit long [11].

2.4.1 Decimal 3:2 Compressor

The proposed decimal 3:2 compressor adds three decimal operands to produce a decimal sum (S) and a carry word (H) multiplied by 2. All these operations are done in BCD-4221. The decimal digit 3:2 CSA is designed by utilizing a 4-bit binary 3:2 CSA [8, 12, 13]. At first, three operands coded in 4221 are given as input to the four 3:2 binary compressors which are based on full adder. The output of the binary compressors producing sum and carry digit is also in BCD-4221. Then, the carry digit is recoded into 5211-format followed by 1-bit left shift. This 3:2 compressor will be used for constructing 17:2 compressor, which, finally, would be used to reduce all the generated PPs. This forms a significant part of decimal fixed-point multipliers and further a part of floating point multipliers [14] (Fig. 3).

2.4.2 Decimal 17:2 Compressor

There had been many novel PPG techniques proposed in the literature like in [13]. A decimal 17:2 compressor consists of six levels of 3:2 decimal compressors. A total number of 15 decimal 3:2 CSAs or compressors are required to implement the decimal 17:2 compressor. Here, 17 decimal operands coded in 4221 are reduced into two decimal operands which are also coded in 4221 (Fig. 4).



Fig. 3 Decimal 3:2 compressor



Fig. 4 Decimal 17:2 compressor

3 Results and Discussion

The 16-digit decimal multipliers have been synthesized using 90 nm CMOS standard cell library with Cadence Genus synthesis solution. The results are obtained for slow, typical and fast libraries. Figure 5 shows the power, timing and area comparison of SDR-4, 5 and 10 decimal fixed-point parallel multipliers. From the figure, it is clear that SDR-10-based multiplier is performing best among all three. It is the fastest among all as shown in Fig. 5b. The reason for SDR-10 based multiplier to be the fastest is that it produces the least number of partial products. The SDR-10-based multiplier, respectively. On the area side, it is 63.97 and 54.56% smaller that SDR-4 and 5-based multiplier, respectively. The number of PPs generated for SDR-10 is 17 as compared to 32 for SDR-4 and 5. In the multiplier, the most resource consuming portion is PP reduction stage. So, less number of PPs means less complex PP reduction tree and hence a faster multiplier. This same reason also results in SDR-10 based multiplier consuming least power and area.



Fig. 5 a Power, b Timing, c Area analysis of proposed multipliers

4 Conclusion

We have implemented and analysed 16-digit SDR-4, SDR-5 and SDR-10 decimal fixed-point multipliers. The partial products were generated parallelly with the usage of simplified multiplier recoding and MMs. This work uses a decimal compressor based on carry-save addition using unconventional 4221 codes for the reduction of partial products. Among the three 16-digit multipliers we have designed, the SDR-10 multiplier gives the best results in terms of area, power and delay. SDR-4 multiplier performs worst for all parameters, while SDR-5-based multiplier shows an average performance that lies between SDR-10 and SDR-4 results. So, from the comparative study, it is clearly visible that the SDR-10 decimal multiplier is the exciting option for performing decimal multiplication which can further be used for designing floating point arithmetic units.

References

- 1. M.F. Cowlishaw, Decimal floating-point: algorism for computers, in *Proceedings of 16th IEEE* Symposium on Computer Arithmetic (2003), pp. 104–111
- F.Y. Busaba, C.A. Krygowski, W.H. Li, E.M. Schwarz, S.R. Carlough, The IBM z900 decimal arithmetic unit, in *Record of the Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems and Computers*, vol. 2, pp. 1335–1339, Nov 2001
- L. Eisen et al., IBM POWER6 accelerators: VMX and DFU. IBM J. Res. Dev. 51(6), 663–684 (2007)
- F.Y. Busaba, T. Slegel, S. Carlough, C. Krygowski, J.G. Rell, The design of the fixed point unit for the z990 microprocessor, in *Proceedings of 14th ACM Great Lakes Symposium*, VLSI 2004, pp. 364–367, Apr 2004
- A.M. San, A.N. Yakunin, Hardware implementation of floating-point operating devices by using IEEE-754 binary arithmetic standard, in 2019 IEEE Conference of Russian Young Researchers in Electrical and Electronic Engineering (EIConRus) (2019), pp. 1624–1630
- A.A. Wahba, H.A.H. Fahmy, Area efficient and fast combined binary/decimal floating point fused multiply add unit. IEEE Trans. Comput. 66(2), 226–239 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1109/ TC.2016.2584067
- R.H. Larson, High-speed multiply using four input carry-save adder. IBM Tech. Discl. Bull. 16(7), 2053–2054 (1973)
- M.A. Erle, M.J. Schulte, Decimal multiplication via carry-save addition, in *Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Application-Specific Systems, Architectures, and Processors*, pp. 348–358, June 2003
- A. Vazquez, E. Antelo, P. Montuschi, Improved design of high performance parallel decimal multipliers. IEEE Trans. Comput. 59(5), 679–693 (2010)
- M.A. Erle, E.M. Schwarz, M.J. Schulte, Decimal multiplication with efficient partial product generation, in *Proceedings of 17th IEEE Symposium on Computer Arithmetic*, USA, pp. 21–28, June 2005
- D. Kumar, M. Pradhan, Comparative analysis of partial product generators for decimal multiplication using signed-digit radix-10, -5 and -4 encodings, in *Innovations in Electronics and Communication Engineering. Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems*, vol. 107, ed. by H. Saini, R. Singh, M. Tariq Beg, J. Sahambi (Springer, Singapore, 2020)
- 12. M.A. Erle, M.J. Schulte, B.J. Hickman, Decimal floating-point multiplication via carry-save addition, in *Proceedings of 18th IEEE Symposium on Computer Arithmetic*, June 2007

Comparative Analysis of Decimal Fixed-Point Parallel ...

- 13. X. Cui, W. Dong, W. Liu, S. Member, E. Earl, High performance parallel decimal multipliers using hybrid BCD codes (2017), pp. 1–12. http://doi.org/10.1109/TC.2017.2706262
- S.E. Ahmed, S. Varma, M.B. Srinivas, Improved designs of digit-by-digit decimal multiplier. Integration 61, 150–159 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vlsi.2017.12.001

Consensus Mechanism for Peer-to-Peer Energy Trading



355

Amit Kumar Vishwakarma, Haiwang Zhong, and Yatindra Nath Singh

1 Introduction

The rapid development in the living standards of human beings, while maintaining quality of environment, requires large fraction of clean energy. The distributed renewable energy sources integrated with smart grid are a possible approach to fulfil this requirement. The proposed system can also help in providing electricity to remote areas where utility companies can not reach. The smart grids will allow the customers to trade their surplus energy among themselves leading to more reliable energy. In order to allow for trade with fairness, a trading system is needed. One approach is to sell the excess energy to the main grid which in turn will distribute the energy to the customers having energy deficit. The second approach is to use a decentralized system and enable the trading between excess energy nodes and their neighbours with energy deficit [1]. This is expected to allow for energy transfer through shorter paths. The blockchain technology [2, 3] is one of the possible solutions for distributed peer-to-peer trading.

A lot of research have been reported on peer-to-peer energy trading, but most of the papers just discussed the theory, and few of them have discussed implementation details.

The blockchain-based energy trading can be divided into three parts (Fig. 1): transaction, consensus mechanism, and optimization. In this paper, we will only study the various types of consensus mechanisms and compare their performance.

Electrical Engineering, IIT Kanpur, Kanpur, India

H. Zhong

This work is supported in part by National Natural and Science Foundation of China (No. 51777102).

A. K. Vishwakarma (🖂) · Y. N. Singh

Electrical Engineering, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China e-mail: zhonghw@mail.tsinghua.edu.cn

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_33



Fig. 1 Classification of blockchain-based energy trading

Based on the performance comparison, we also report implementation of delegated Byzantine fault tolerance-based blockchain network for peer-to-peer energy trading.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 discusses the consensus mechanisms for peer-to-peer energy trading. Section 3 concludes the paper along with the further research directions.

2 The Consensus Mechanism for P2P Energy Trading

The consensus is the process of reaching a point of mutual agreement by major number of miner nodes in blockchain network. It ensures that all the nodes in the network maintain the same distributed ledger. In case of a centralized regulator in the network [4], there is no need for consensus mechanism because the centralized regulator node makes all the decision, but a distributed ledger like blockchain requires consensus mechanism to reach an agreement by majority of the nodes. Three different kinds of consensus mechanism and their implementation are discussed further in the paper.

Consider a distributed network with N nodes forming the set S_N . Each node can work as producer as well as consumer. When a consumer acts as a producer, it is termed as prosumer. A node can switch back and forth between prosumer and consumer roles. Let P be the total number of prosumer nodes forming the set S_p , and

C be the total consumer nodes forming the set S_c . Let *n* nodes form a blockchain network and constitute the set S_n . Here, $S_n \,\subset S_N$, $S_p \,\subset S_N$, and $S_c \,\subset S_N$. The surplus energy of a prosumer p $(p \in S_p)$ be $E_p \,\forall p \in S_p$, and the power deficiency of consumer c $(c \in S_c)$ is $E_s \,\forall c \in S_c$. If the prosumer nodes wants to sell their surplus energy to the consumers, they will announce the amount of surplus energy and minimum rate at which they are willing to sale in the blockchain network.

All the consumer nodes will read the offers floated by prosumers and will put what they would like to have in the blockchain. Since the offers from seller and buyers are in blockchain, they cannot refute it. Finally, all the nodes, figure out using this information, using same algorithm, who is going to buy from whom. The resulting liabilities are automatically generated by each node in the next cycle and added to next block. When the transaction is completed and added to blockchain, the nodes will verify these transaction based on the consensus mechanism before the next transaction to ensure who owes whom, how much. After the validity check, the transactions are done and then broadcasted to the network as well as the next block. At the end of cycle, a new block get added to the blockchain network.

2.1 Proof-of-Work

PoW (Proof-of-Work) is the first consensus mechanism opted by early blockchain developers. The mechanism uses a sophisticated computer puzzle solved by miners, and the process is called mining. Solving this puzzle requires lot of computational power and time, the node which solves first, will get the chance to add a block in the blockchain and receives a reward for creating the block. A random number called nounce is used for deciding the level of difficulty. The miners will solve the puzzle by guessing the nounce based on SHA256 hash algorithm [5]. The mining can use different type of hardwares like CPU mining, GPU mining, FPGA mining, ASIC mining, mining pool, or cloud mining. The nodes who want to act as minor need to have access to such hardware. The difficulty depends on the frequency of block creation and its level increases with time. This makes PoW unsustainable in near future [6]. Thus, the developers moved to different consensus mechanisms.

Figure 2 shows the block header for PoW-based blockchain. It consists of four main components: Nounce, hash of the previous block, Merkle root, and timestamp. Nounce is a random number used to define the difficulty level of transaction. Hash of the previous block is used to link all the previous blocks recursively, with the current block to make an unalterable chain. The hash is supposed to maintain certain property such as certain bits of the hash has to be zero. All the miners search for the nounce value such that hash with the stipulated property is found. Whoever finds it first is the winner. That nouce goes into the block, and the computed hash becomes part of next block. As Fig. 3 shows, to create a new block, the block header hash will be compared to the target hash generated by adding nounce. If miners can meet the target, new block will be created.



Fig. 2 The block header of PoW-based blockchain



Fig. 3 The flow of PoW consensus mechanism

PoW consensus mechanism has two major drawbacks; first, it uses a huge amount of electricity to solve the computer puzzle of finding the nounce. The second is the problem of security; if the network is small, then the chance of 51% miner colluding is more.

2.2 Proof-of-Stake

Proof-of-stake (PoS) is based on validators' economic stake, the node (one of the all nodes acting as validator) having more stake will get the chance to add the block in the blockchain. There is no reward for adding the block into the blockchain network, and the miners get only transaction fees. A user has to stake their part in order to



Fig. 4 The block of PoS-based ethereum blockchain

mine a block. The nodes are randomly chosen to participate in the mining process; once the nodes get chosen for mining, there will be voting to choose one miner for mining. Now the chosen node will have to stake minimum amount required [7].

Figure 4 shows the block header of the PoS-based consensus algorithm. The previous hash implies the hash of the previous block. The smart contract is a computer code used for negotiations in the transaction. GAS is used to pay to the network for making any transaction and one can own it in the form of ETH (The native currency of Ethereum). The nounce used in PoS is different from PoW. It shows the number of contracts or transaction exchange in the block. State root is the hash of the root node of nounce, balance, codehash, and storage root [8]. Transaction root contains the hash of all the transactions. Receipt root contains the hash of transaction root.

Figure 5 shows the working diagram of PoS-based blockchain. Node A wants to add the block into the network, a block header gets created, and then the hash value of header gets generated. The stake value of node A will be calculated, and if it matches with the target, new block will be created. Otherwise in the next round, the new node will get selected to add the block. PoS have many advantages; it is more eco-friendly, the processing power is less, and the coin value is also higher than PoW. Is also reduces chance of attach by 51% of nodes becoming rogue. The main disadvantage is that if a node has more stake into the network, then most of the time he will get the chance to add the block (The rich become richer).

There are two major types of PoS. In the first one—Chain-based PoS, pseudorandomly assigned validator creates the new block. The second type, the Byzantine fault tolerance-based PoS, randomly selects the validator to propose a new block. CAP theorem, FLP impossibility, and the DLS paper prove that the BFT-based PoS is more secure, fast, reduces centralization risk and free of 51% rogue node-based attack.


Fig. 5 The flow of PoS-based blockchain

BFT-based PoS works specially on two rules: Finality conditions and slashing conditions. The finality condition finalizes the hash, and slashing condition tells the condition when the validator can be slashed.

2.3 Delegated Byzantine Fault Tolerance

NEO (a smart contract compmany's blockchain implementation, NEO is name of its currency) uses delegated Byzantine fault tolerance to validate all the transactions. If a node stakes their NEO, the node will be able to generate GAS. The GAS is the platforms main circulating currency. The node will have to pay up to a certain amount of GAS fee for every transaction. That is why the more NEOs, a node will stake, more GAS, the node will get.

The DBFT is somehow the same as PoW, and it allows the user to vote for validating transaction based on NEO token holder. NEO is a blockchain platform and currency which uses smart contract very efficiently. These are few terms which will be used in further discussion.

- Consensus node: this node can vote and propose. It will also participate in the consensus mechanism.
- Ordinary node: It can only make a transaction. It cannot participate in the consensus mechanism.
- Delegates: These are chosen randomly. They are responsible for proposing the blocks. Maximum of *d* byzantine nodes can be there, and the proposed block will be accepted if and only if more than 2d + 1 node will approve the block.
- Speaker: a speaker is chosen by the delegate nodes to create and transmit the proposed block.



Fig. 6 The flow of DBFT-based blockchain

Anyone can become the delegate node if they fulfil the following requirement good Internet connection, 1000 GAS (GAS is fees used to run the smart contract on blockchain platform), and specific equipment which can support the transaction. The energy nodes will vote for the delegates to choose a speaker randomly. The delegates are responsible for all the transactions in the network, and they also maintains the track of the transactions and update the ledger. The randomly chosen speaker will add the block, the speaker will send the block to all the delegates, and if 2/3 of them approve the block, it will get added; otherwise, they will again choose a new speaker.

As Fig. 6 shows, the algorithm comprises of four phases.

- prepare a request, broadcast it to the delegates, and initiate a block creation.
- prepare response after receiving the proposed block. The delegate will choose a speaker to verify the block.
- commit (if N d nodes verify the block, block is good to go to publish), and
- create the block and broadcast (The node is verified and added into blockchain and now can be published to the other nodes).

Let us suppose there are N number of energy nodes, d number of delegated nodes (d should not be more than (N - 1)/3), k number of attempts to find the speaker, and b be the block comprising of current transaction. Let p be the address of the speaker. The prosumer node will broadcast a cryptographically signed smart contract to the blockchain network. The N nodes will receive the record of transactions, and they will find the consumer based on the smart contract. The NEO token validates the credibility of energy nodes, and the GAS amount will decide the transaction. The GAS amount depends on the energy amount and the time. After the transaction, the consensus nodes find the speaker p, N - 1 delegates will receive the block b, and all of them will verify and then broadcast. The speaker should receive at least N - d verification to publish the node.

A public-private key is used for encryption and decryption. SHA256 hashed ECDSA or redeem script is used to generate an address for a user as shown in the following equations [10].

 $hash = RIPEMD160(SHA256(SHA256(pubKey \oplus rScript)))$ (1)

> $checksum = Truncate(SHA256^{2}(hash||0x00))$ (2)

address = Base58(hash||0x00||checksum)(3)

Algorithm

Algorithm 1: Delegated Byzantine fault Tolerance
Prepare Request
make prepare request
list of transaction broadcast
blockchainnetwork.mempool
Prepare Response smart contract verification
transaction verification
policy.maximumtransactionperblock
$tr.hash \leftarrow SHA256(traddr N \parallel EnergyAmount \parallel NEO$
GAS Timestamp)
$transaction \leftarrow SHA256(energy amount NEO GAS$
timestamp)
$BlockConsensus \leftarrow SHA256((N-d) \parallel (N-1) \parallel traddr \ N \parallel timestamp)$
timestamp = Block.timestamp
Nounce = BlockConsensus.Nounce
transhash
Commit
If speaker is found in one round
transaddr(N-1) = transaddr.broadcast(dig.sign
transaction timestamp)
checktransaddr(N-1).(2/3)dapproved
Change Ownership
change owner and add block into ledger
If dig.sign is confirmed then
Exchange energy
exchange NEO

The PoW has proven resilient against external and internal attack, but it is high energy consuming and requires complex hardware. PoS is energy efficient, and it also penalize the dishonest validator, but it increases the risk of fork and promote centralization in favour of nodes having high stakes. The DBFT uses no forks, execution is faster for high value chained transaction, and finality of transaction is 100% after first confirmation. By comparing the properties of consensus mechanisms, DBFT gives absolute finality, fault tolerance is 33%, and power consumption is negligible. This

Property	PoW	PoS	DBFT
Type	Probabilistic-Finality	Probabilistic-Finality	Absolute - Finality
Fault Tolerance	50%	50%	33%
Power Consumption	Large	Less	Negligible
Scalability	Good	Good	Bad
Application	Public	Public	Permissioned

Fig. 7 The comparison of consensus protocol

consensus only can be implemented in the permissioned system, and this makes it suitable and secure for peer-to-peer energy trading. The scalability is the main issue for this mechanism (Fig. 7).

3 Conclusion

The paper discussed the three different types of consensus mechanism for P2P energy trading. All the consensus mechanisms have different types of properties which makes them unique. If the anonymity, security, and privacy are the major issues, then PoW is the best option, but the disadvantage is the cost, latency, high energy, and high transaction cost. If the system is small and priority which is not the security and privacy, then PoW is the best option. PoS provides faster transaction, low transaction cost, and required less hardware for real-time implementation. DBFT ensures the finality for the transaction once confirmed, has no forks, fast transaction, and low energy consumption.

References

- M.L. Di Silvestre, P. Gallo, M.G. Ippolito, E.R. Sanseverino, G. Zizzo, A technical approach to the energy blockchain in microgrids. IEEE Trans. Ind. Inform. 14(11), 4792–4803 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1109/TII.2018.2806357
- S. Nakamoto, Bitcoin: a peer-to-peer electronic cash system (2008). http://bitcoin.org/bitcoin. pdf

- 3. A. Gergely, C. Castelluccia, *I Have a DREAM!* (Deferentially Private smart Metering) (Springer, Berlin, 2011), pp. 118–132
- A. Goranović, M. Meisel, L. Fotiadis, S. Wilker, A. Treytl, T. Sauter, Blockchain applications in microgrids an overview of current projects and concepts, *IECON 2017—43rd Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, Beijing, (2017) pp. 6153–6158. https://doi. org/10.1109/IECON.2017.8217069
- M. Vukolić, Camenisch, The quest for salable blockchain fabric: proof-of-work vs. BFT replication (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39028-4-9
- 6. C. Pop, et al., Blockchain based decentralized management of demand response programs in smart energy grids. Sensors (2018)
- 7. S. King, S. Nadal, Ppcoin: peer-to-peer crypto-currency with proof-of-stake. Self-published paper, Aug 2012
- J. Kang, Z. Xiong, D. Niyato, P. Wang, D. Ye, D.I. Kim, Incentivizing consensus propagation in proof-of-stake based consortium blockchain networks. IEEE Wirel. Commun. Lett. 8(1), 157–160 (2019)
- L.M. Bach, B. Mihaljevic, Z. Mario, Comparative analysis of blockchain consensus algorithms, in 2018 41st International Convention on Information and Communication Technology, Electronics and Microelectronics (MIPRO) (2018)
- N.Z. Aitzhan, D. Svetinovic, Security and privacy in decentralized energy trading through multi-signatures, blockchain and anonymous messaging streams. IEEE Trans. Depend. Secure Comput. 15(5), 840–852 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1109/TDSC.2016.2616861

Circularly Polarized Wideband Ring CDRA for Wireless Applications



365

Chandravilash Rai, Sanjai Singh, and Ashutosh Kumar Singh

1 Introduction

Dielectric resonator (DR) antenna is a more useful antenna in the last twenty years, due to its various attractive characteristics (like low profile, high gain, high radiation efficiency, and low metallic losses at high frequency) [1]. DR has some fundamental shape like rectangular, cylindrical, and spherical but some modified shapes also possible like a disk, ring, triangular, half-split, notch rectangular, conical, and elliptical [1, 2]. Last few years, many researchers focus on the enhancement of bandwidth with a different method like ring shape DR, multi-segment DR, and adopted hybrid feeding structure in DRA [3, 4]. Main objective behind this method is the enhancement of bandwidth (30-75%) by reducing *Q*-factor. The *Q*-factor is reduced by placing DR above the ground plane [4–6].

In the present age of wireless communication, we are more focused on circular polarization (CP) because it has removed the disadvantage of linear polarization (LP). The main disadvantaged of linear polarization is multiple-path between transmitting and receiving antenna and misalignment between them [7]. There are many techniques which can be used to achieve CP (like difference shape of dielectric resonator with various feeding mechanism, two orthogonal electric field components, or 90° phase difference between these field components). Wideband antenna is more useful in cogitative radio applications [8–10].

C. Rai (\boxtimes) · S. Singh · A. K. Singh

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Indian Institute of Information Technology Allahabad, Allahabad, India e-mail: rse2018508@iiita.ac.in

S. Singh e-mail: ssingh@iiita.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_34

Hear ansoft HFSS is used for simulation of a proposed ring CDRA; in this paper, wideband can be improved as well as *Q*-factor can be minimized by removing the central portion of DR. The proposed ring CDRA exhibits an impedance bandwidth of 43.31% from 6.15 to 9.55 GHz. The axial ratio (AR < 3 dB) bandwidth is 4.12% and 2.08% between the frequency range 8.08–8.42 GHz and 9.03–9.22 GHz, respectively. Gain between frequencies is positive.

2 Design and Geometry of the Antenna

Figure 1 exhibits the illustrative diagram of the proposed ring CDRA. The circular ring-shaped aperture etch on the top of the FR-4 epoxy substrate (with ε_r sub = 4.4, tan δ = 0.02, and height 1.6 mm), where the bottom side consists of hook-shaped microstrip feed line. Ring CDRA is manufactured by alumina (with ε_r = 9.8, tan δ = 0.002) and pest above of the substrate with the help of gluey. Details of the optimized parameter are shown in Table 1.

3 Result and Discussion

The simulated value of return loss, axial ratio, gain, and radiation pattern for the proposed ring CDRA has been discussed in this part. The return loss graph of the proposed antenna is shown in Fig. 2. It is clear from Fig. 2 that the ring CDRA exhibits an impedance bandwidth of 43.31% from 6.15 to 9.55 GHz. The bandwidth is achieved by reducing the quality factor.

The ring CDRA exhibits an axial ratio bandwidth of 4.12% for (8.08–8.42 GHz) and 2.08% for (9.03–9.22 GHz) as shown in Fig. 3. We know that essential condition for the generation of CP wave, two-field components are equal in magnitude and orthogonal to each other [11, 12]. In the proposed CDRA, ring-type circular slot behaves as a magnetic dipole, while hook type microstrip lines behave as electric dipole, and orthogonal field components created by the combination of an electric and magnetic dipole. So ring-type circular slot and hook type line are responsible for the generation of CP.

Figure 4 exhibits the gain versus frequency of proposed ring CDRA, where at frequency 6.62 GHz gain 2 dB, at 8.02 GHz gain 0.5 dBi, and 9.20 GHz gain 6 dB. From Fig. 3, we are concluded that the proposed radiator exhibits good gain values.

Figure 5 shows the RHCP and LHCP pattern of the proposed ring CDRA at frequency 8.12 and 9.20 GHz. It is clear from the figure that the proposed ring CDRA has more than 20 dB difference that can be seen between the RHCP and LHCP patterns of the antenna. It is confirm from Table 2 that the proposed R-CDRA has better impedance bandwidth.







(B) Feeding structure

(C) top view



Symbol	Dimension (mm)	Symbol	Dimension (mm)	Symbol	Dimension (mm)
Ls	40.00	W	01.00	Е	09.99
Ws	40.00	w	01.00	e	08.42
L	22.45	D	23.00	a	15.10
1	17.40	d	07.00	b	01.50
R	15.00	Н	13.00	c	02.00
r	04.00	h	01.60		

Table 1 The optimized parameter of proposed CDRA



Fig. 2 $|S_{11}|$ graph of proposed ring CDRA and CDRA



Fig. 3 AR of proposed ring CDRA



Fig. 4 Gain of proposed ring CDRA



Fig. 5 a RHCP and LHCP at 8.12 GHz. b RHCP and LHCP at 9.20 GHz

1	1		
Type of DRA	Feeding method	Impedance bandwidth (%)	AR bandwidth (%)
CDRA [3]	Quadruple strip feed	34	25
CDRA [4]	Quadruple strip feed	30	28
RC-DRA [12]	Co axial feed	20	13
Proposed R-CDRA	Microstrip line feed	43	4 and 2

Table 2 Comparison table of previous work on DRA

4 Conclusion

In this article, a circularly polarized wideband ring CRDA is presented. The proposed radiator exhibits an impedance bandwidth of 43.31% from 6.15 to 9.55 GHz. Ring-type circular slot and hook type line are responsible for the generation of CP wave in frequency bands (8.08–8.42 GHz and 9.03–9.22 GHz) with axial ratio (AR < 3 dB) bandwidth 4.12% and 2.08%, respectively. This antenna is useful in wireless applications.

References

- 1. A. Petosa, Dielectric Resonator Antenna Handbook (Artech House, Norwood, MA, 2007)
- K.M. Luk, K.W. Leung, *Dielectric Resonator Antennas*. (Baldock, Hertfordshire, England, Philadelphia, 2003)
- T.A. Denidni, Z. Weng, M. Niroo-Jazi, Z-shaped dielectric resonator antenna for ultrawideband applications. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 58(12), 4059–4062 (2010). https://doi.org/10. 1109/TAP.2010.2078443
- A. Panigrahi, Y.K. Choukiker, S.K. Behera, R. Jyoti, Square ring dielectric resonator antenna for wideband applications, in *ICCCI*, pp. 1–3 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1109/ICCCI.2014.692 1781
- K.W. Khoo, Y.X. Guo, L.C. Ong, Wideband circularly polarized dielectric resonator antenna. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 55, 1929–1932 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2007. 900241
- A.K. Dwivedi, A. Sharma, A.K. Singh, Triple-band reconstruct circular aperture loaded CDRA deploying HE11δ and HE21δ modes for wireless applications, in *International Conference* on *Intelligent Computing and Smart Communication 2019*. Algorithms for Intelligent Systems (Springer, Singapore). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-0633-8_70
- G. Varshney, V.S. Pandey, R.S. Yaduvanshi, L. Kumar, Wide Band circularly polarized dielectric resonator antenna with stair-shaped slot excitation. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 65, 1380– 1383 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2016.2635619
- A. Sharma, G. Das, R.K. Gangwar, Dual-band dual-polarized hybrid aperture-cylindrical dielectric resonator antenna for wireless applications. Int. J. RF Microw. Comput. Eng. 27, 1–9 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1002/mmce.21092
- A. Sharma, G. Das, R.K. Gangwar, Dual-band circularly polarized hybrid antenna for WLAN/WiMAX applications. Microw. Opt. Technol. Lett. 59, 2450–2457 (2017). https://doi. org/10.1002/mop.30752
- C. Rai, A. Singh, S. Singh, A.K. Singh, Multi-band hybrid aperture-cylindrical dielectric resonator antenna for wireless applications, in *Innovations in Electronics and Communication Engineering. Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems*, vol 107 (Springer, Singapore, 2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3172-9_21.
- A.K. Dwivedi, A. Sharma, A.K. Singh, V. Singh, Quad-port ring dielectric resonator based MIMO radiator with polarization and space diversity. Microw. Opt. Technol. Lett. 62, 2316– 2327 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1002/mop.32329
- M.I. Sulaiman, S.K. Khamas, A singly fed wideband circularly polarized dielectric resonator antenna using concentric open half-loops. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 10, 1305–1308 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP.2011.2176905

Performance Improvement of 28 GHz Antenna Array for Fifth-Generation Wireless Communication System



Mohit Pant[®], Leeladhar Malviya[®], and Vineeta Choudhary

1 Introduction

In the present technology, higher data rates and large bandwidth are important objects for fifth- and next-generation wireless applications [1]. The band for 5G technology approved by ITU is from 24.0 to 86.0 GHz. For the fifth generation, mainly the focus is on the antenna array design for the improvement of gain and better transmission characteristics [2]. Microstrip patch antennas are extensively used in wireless communication because of compact size, light weight, low cost [3] and easiness for both fabrication and integration [4]. Various types of antenna array have been designed. The designed system technique used was hybrid coupler, and the gain measured was 12.398 dBi at the resonant frequency of 26 GHz [5]. A high-gain 24-patch element microstrip patch antenna array was reported for 60 GHz which is mainly used in WLAN/WPAN applications where peak measured gain of 19.26 dBi was reported at 61.56 GHz resonant frequency [6].

Microstrip feed is preferred because substrate cutting does not require and protect conduction layers as compared to coaxial feed line therefore its helped to minimized surface waves [7]. A simple series fed patch antenna phase array has been proposed. The antenna is designed on Rogers RT/duroid 5880 substrate. The measured gain reported is 15.6 dBi at 28 GHz [8]. A broadband antenna array for 28 GHz with a 4-way feed network was designed for the operating band in 25.052–34.923 GHz with a peak gain of 12.15 dBi and radiating efficiency of 85% [9]. A linear dielectric resonator antenna array with a modified feeding structure is investigated, and the measured gain is found to be 12.1 dBi [10]. A 16 \times 16 array is constructed for the Ku band with a measured gain of 29.5 dBi and the first side lobe level of –

M. Pant (🖂) · V. Choudhary

L. Malviya

Shri G.S. Institute of Technology and Science, Madhya Pradesh, Indore 452003, India

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_35

Ujjain Engineering College, Madhya Pradesh, Ujjain 456010, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

26.5 dB [11]. A high-gain 4×4 antenna array was designed for 5G applications on Rogers RT/duroid 5880 substrate of size $30.65 \times 39.3 \text{ mm}^2$ with a return loss of -16.37 dB and measured gain of 17 dBi with the bandwidth of 308 MHz [12]. A linear array consisting of 16 elements with defected ground structures has also been proposed on low-loss Teflon-based RT/duroid 5880 substrate. The gain and the radiation efficiency observed were 17.4 dBi and 91.8%, respectively [13]. A circularly polarized antenna array using two-layer structures was designed. The gain achieved lies from 13 to 16 dBi from 28.5 to 31.5 GHz [14]. The 16-element antenna array for 5G wireless application using series-parallel feeding was designed with measured gain and radiation efficiency reported which were 17.1 dBi and 92% [15]. A 2 \times 8 MIMO antenna array was proposed and designed with Rogers RT/duroid 5880 substrate. The frequency band measured is 27.49-29.42 GHz. At 28.0 GHz resonant frequency, gain is 11.33 dBi and radiation efficiency is 88.58% [16]. The above-mentioned antennas have limited gain [12–15], less radiation efficiency [14, 15] and return loss [12-14]. Also, the size of the antenna [12, 15] is less than the proposed work.

Considering the above discussion, the work presented in this paper has focused on the design of 1×16 tapered antenna designs with tapered feed and used righthand and left-hand elliptical polarization between the last two patches of each four columns which help to improve the antenna parameters like gain, radiation efficiency, return loss and compactness of the antenna.

2 Proposed Antenna Design

The proposed array antenna consisting of 1×16 elements is designed on the Rogers RT /duroid 5880 dielectric substrate and occupied $26 \times 36 \text{ mm}^2$ space. The Rogers RT/duroid 5880 has dielectric constant of 2.2, 0.0009 tangent loss and thickness of 0.79 mm.

In the proposed design, a tapered feed line is selected with the array antennas. The first two patches of each column are having inset feed for proper impedance matching. The last two patches of each columns slot are tapered from point *w* to *z* at an angle of 45° for providing left- and right-hand polarization between the last two patches to decrease the cross-polarization, and the feed line is tapered from *x* to *y* to improve the gain of the design antenna. The schematic front and back view of the proposed antenna is shown in Fig. 1. The 50Ω impedance port is used for achieved impedance matching. All the design parameters are optimized using built-in particle swarm optimization algorithms in CST Microwave Studio which are given in Table 1.



Fig. 1 Schematic front and back view of proposed antenna geometry with extended view for tapered feed and truncated or slant slot showing quarter wave transformer and series–parallel tapered feed lines with inset feed for impedance matching. The last two patches of each column having truncated corner, L = 30 mm, W = 36 mm

Parameters	Value (mm)	Parameters	Value (mm)	Parameters	Value (mm)
а	2.3	g	3.7	т	2.8
b	2.3	h	4.2	n	3.3
С	1	i	3.8	0	3.4
d	1	j	2.8	р	3.2
е	0.9	k	2.8	<i>q</i>	0.5
f	3.4	l	2.8	r	0.3

Table 1 Optimized dimension of proposed antenna array

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Resonant Frequency

The proposed antenna array consists of four steps. All the design steps are shown in Fig. 2, and their *S*11 parameters are compared and shown in Fig. 3. In design Step 1, a single microstrip patch antenna with inset feed designs is designed. The antenna is resonating at 27.8 GHz and covers 27.72-28.24 GHz bandwidth in -10 dB return loss bandwidth. The return loss calculated is -12.42 dB.

In design Step 2, 1×4 antenna array with tapered feed line is designed. The first two patches are having inset feed for proper impedance matching, and in the last two patches, truncated slot is made with an angle of 45° to provide left- and right-hand polarization. The antenna resonates at 29 GHz and occupies 28.65–29.389 GHz bandwidth in -10 dB return loss band. The return loss is about -30.46 dB. In



Fig. 2 Design steps of proposed microstrip antenna array. Step 1, single patch antenna. Step 2, 1 \times 4 array. Step 3, 1 \times 8 array. Step 4, 1 \times 16 array



Fig. 3 S11 parameter of design Step 1 to Step 4. Step 1, S11 = -12.42 dB, Step 2, S11 = -30.46 dB, Step 3, S11 = -33.3 dB, Step 4, S11 = -52.34 dB

the design Step 3, 1×8 antenna array is designed which covers 27.99–29.00 GHz bandwidth with VSWR ≤ 2 . The return loss is about -33.3 dB, and the gain is 13.35 dB. In design Step 4, 1×16 antenna array with corporate series tapered feed is designed. Here, we can observe that as the size of the antenna is increasing, the frequency is shifted toward 28 GHz which is the resonant frequency and the



Fig. 4 Gain and efficiency of the proposed antenna array. The gain at 28 GHz resonant frequency is 17.7 dBi, and radiation efficiency is 93.36%

return loss becomes higher. The antenna covers an impedance bandwidth of 27.70–28.38 GHz. The gain calculated is 17.7 dBi at 28 GHz resonant frequency. The return loss is -52.34 dB.

3.2 Gain–Efficiency

The gain and efficiency of the proposed antenna array are shown in Fig. 4. The proposed antenna array has gain varying from 15.5 to 17.7 dBi in the whole band, and the radiation efficiency in the band varies from 87.98 to 98.82%. The total efficiency in the band varies from 52.93 to 91.95%. At the resonant frequency, the gain is 17.7 dBi as shown in Fig. 5 and the radiation efficiency 93.36%.

3.3 Radiation Patterns

The 3-dimensional *E*-field and *H*-field radiation patterns are shown in Figs. 6 and 7, respectively. The proposed antenna array has 32.1 dBV/m value of *E*-field at the resonant frequency and -19.4 dBA/m value of *H*-field for the radiator connected at 50 Ω impedance port.

The antenna array has 24.70° beamwidth, and the main lobe direction of *E*-field and *H*-field is 0° as shown in Figs. 8 and 9, respectively. Both the normalized *E*-field



Fig. 5 Gain pattern. A gain of 17.7 dBi, radiation efficiency of 93.36% and total efficiency of 92.36%



Fig. 6 E-field pattern. E-field value of 32.1 dBV/m at 28 GHz resonant frequency

and *H*-field indicated that the antenna is directional in nature at 24.70° beamwidth and 0° beamwidth, respectively.

As can be seen in Figs. 10 and 11, the simulation result shows that the isolation between the co-polar and cross-polar in *H*-plane is more than -55 dB at 0° and in the *E* plane, the isolation is more than -40 dB as shown in Fig. 11. It is seen that right-hand and left-hand elliptical polarization used in the design for patches helps to reduce the cross-polarization.

A comparison of the present work and the previous reported works is shown in Table 2. It can be clearly seen that the proposed antenna array at 28 GHz has enhanced



Fig. 7 *H*-field pattern. *H*-field value of – 19.4 dBA/m at 28 GHz resonant frequency



Fig. 8 Normalized *E*-field pattern. The main lobe magnitude = 17.8 dBi, main lobe direction = 0° , angular width (3 dB) = 21.4° and side lobe level = -11.7 dB



Fig. 9 Normalized *H*-field pattern. The main lobe magnitude = 17.8 dBi, main lobe direction = 0° , angular width (3 dB) = 18° and side lobe level = -11.4 dB



Fig. 10 Co-polarization and cross-polarization plot of the proposed antenna array in H-plane



Fig. 11 Co-polarization and cross-polarization plot of the proposed antenna array in E-plane

Reference papers	Frequency (GHz)	No. of elements	Size of substrates (mm ²)	Gain (dBi)	S11 (dB)	Radiation efficiency (%)
12	28.0	16	31 × 39	17.0	- 46.5	-
13	28.5	16	-	17.4	- 30.0	91.1
14	29.5	-	-	16.0	- 42.0	-
15	27.1	16	88 × 25	17.1	- 63.0	92.0
Present work	28.0	16	30 × 26	17.7	- 52.34	93.36

Table 2 Comparison of proposed work with considered references

gain, radiating efficiency, return loss and compactness as compared to other antennas previously reported.

4 Conclusion

In this work, a tapered antenna array using a tapered feed of size $30 \times 26 \times 0.79 \text{ mm}^3$ is presented. The present antenna is designed for fifth-generation wireless communication in the 28 GHz band. The array is designed with a gain of 17.7 dBi, and the radiation efficiency is 93.36%. The antenna – 10 dB impedance bandwidth varies from 27.70–28.38 GHz with VSWR ≤ 2 . Compared to the previous design

reported, the proposed work has improved the performance of the antenna parameters like return loss, gain and radiation efficiency. Also, the reported antenna has occupied less size of the substrate $30 \times 26 \text{ mm}^2$ which makes it the right choice for fifth-generation wireless communication system.

References

- 1. L. Malviya, R. Panigrahi, M.V. Kartikeyan, A 2Ö2 dual-band MIMO antenna with polarization diversity for wireless applications. Prog. Electromagn. Res. C **61**, 91–103 (2016)
- P. Gupta, L. Malviya, 5G multi-element/port antenna design for wireless applications: a review. Int. J. Microw. Wireless Technol. 1–21 (2019)
- L. Malviya, A. Shakya, K. Gehlod, 5.8 GHz Wlan MIMO antenna with power divider arms, in 2018 IEEE Indian Conference on Antennas and Propagation (InCAP), Hyderabad, India (2018), pp. 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1109/INCAP.2018.8770955
- H.-C. Chen, T. Chiu, C.-L. Hsu, Design of series-fed bandwidth-enhanced microstrip antenna array for millimeter-wave beamforming application. Int. J. Antennas Propag. 4, 1–10 (2019)
- M. Moubadira, A. Mchbala, N.A. Ouhamia, M. Aghoutanea, A switched beamforming network for 5G modern wireless communications applications Science. Direct Procedia Manuf. 32, 753–761 (2019)
- 6. M.S. Rabbani, H. Ghafouri Shiraz, High gain microstrip antenna array for 60 GHz band point to point WLAN/WPAN communications. Microw. Opt. Tech. Lett. **59**(3) (2017)
- 7. L. Malviya, R. Panigrahi, M.V. Kartikeyan, Circularly polarized 2x2 MIMO antenna for WLAN applications. Prog. Electromagn. Res. C **66**, 97–107 (2016)
- M. Khalily, R. Tafazolli, T.A. Rahman, M.R. Kamarudin, Design of phased arrays of series-fed patch antennas with reduced number of the controllers for 28-GHz mm- wave applications. IEEE Antennas Wireless Propag. Lett. 15, 1305–1308 (2016)
- 9. U. Hidayat, A.T. Farooq, A broadband wire hexagon antenna Array for future 5G communication in 28Ghz band. Micro. Opt. Tech. Lett. 1–6 (2018)
- N.M. Nor, M.H. Jamaluddin, M.R. Kamarudin, M. Khalily, Rectangular dielectric resonator antenna array for 28GHz applications. Prog. Electromagn. Res. C 63, 53–61 (2016)
- G.L. Huang, S.G. Zhou, T.H. Chio, H.T. Hu, T.S. Yeo, A low pro_le and low side lobe wide band slot antenna array fed by an amplitude tapering wave guide feed-network. IEEE Trans. Ant. Propag. 63(1), 419–423 (2015)
- D.N. Arizaca-Cusicuna, J.L. Arizaca-Cusicuna, A.M. Clemente, High gain 4x4 rectangular patch antenna array at 28 GHz for future 5G applications, in *IEEE XXV International Conference on Electronics, Electrical Engineering and Computing*, Lima (2018), pp. 1–4. https://doi. org/10.1109/INTERCON.2018.8526451
- M.A. Saada, T. Skaik, R. Alhalabi, Design of efficient microstrip linear antenna array for 5G communications systems, in *International Conference on Promising Electronic Technologies* (*ICPET*), Deir El-Balah (2017), pp. 43–47. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICPET
- Z. Zhao, Y. Cui, R. Li, A simple circularly polarized antenna array for millimeter-wave applications, in *International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation (ISAP)*, Phuket (2017), pp. 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISANP.2017.8228744
- B.T. Mohamed, H. Ammor, A 16-elements corporate-series feed rectangular patch antenna array at 28GHz for future 5G applications, in *International Conference on Wireless Technologies, Embedded and Intelligent Systems (WITS)*, Fez, Morocco (2019), pp. 1–4. https://doi.org/ 10.1109/WITS.2019.8723750
- L. Malviya, A. Parmar, D. Solanki, M.P. Gupta, Highly isolated inset-feed 28 GHz MIMOantenna array for 5G wireless application. Procedia Comput. Sci. 171, 1286–1292 (2020)

Design and Implementation of Phase Frequency Detectors for Low-Power PLL



D. Aneesh Bharadwaj, Vaishnavi S. Parashar, T. N. Dhanush, and B. S. Premananda

1 Introduction

A PLL produces an output signal with phase proportional to that of the given input signal. The PLL has phase/frequency detector (PFD), charge pump, loop filter, voltage-controlled oscillator (VCO) and a divide by N counter. PLL has wide variety of applications [1], which includes the operation of the circuit at high frequencies. Thus, the amount of power consumed by the PLL will be high. To minimize the power consumption of the PLL, it is required to reduce the consumption of power for every component of PLL so as to obtain a power efficient PLL.

Phase detectors are fundamentally of two types: XOR gate-based phase detector and phase frequency detector (PFD). PFD determines the frequency and phase difference between the output signal of the VCO and the given input reference signal. The outputs of PFD are UP and DOWN signals, which are signalled based on the phase and frequency difference between the two signals. The output signal of the PFD is then given to the charge pump. Charge pump produces a DC voltage proportional to the outputs of the PFD [2]. This DC voltage is given as an input to the VCO [3] which controls the frequency of the signal produced by VCO. The lock time and the timing jitter of the PLL depend upon the performance of the PFD. The sensitivity of PFD can be defined as the lowest phase/frequency difference that the PFD can detect. Greater the sensitivity of the PFD implies a better performance of the PLL [4]. As the frequency of the operation increases, the switching power increases and thus the overall power consumption increases.

Larger-power dissipation requires larger heat sinks and hence requires larger area. As the data rate increases, the power consumption of the device also increases which enables a requirement for low-power devices. One of the methods which is discussed

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_36

D. Aneesh Bharadwaj (\boxtimes) · V. S. Parashar · T. N. Dhanush · B. S. Premananda Department of Electronics and Telecommunication Engineering, RV College of Engineering, Bengaluru, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

in this paper is Adaptive Voltage Level Ground (AVLG) which reduces the power of the circuits. AVLG is an add-on circuit which is used to raise the ground potential, due to this, the power consumed in the circuit reduces and thus low power is achieved. By integrating the AVLG circuit to the PFD circuit, the power consumption of the PFD reduces.

The objective of this paper is to design and implement a low-power PFD which also functions at higher frequency. The paper is organized as follows: related works as well as the description about characteristics of PFD are discussed in Sect. 2. The proposed architectures of pass transistor-based PFD with AVLG and the PFD without clock reset path are indicated in Sect. 3. Section 4 deals with the analysis of power consumption of the circuits implemented in Sect. 3. Further part of the paper deals with the conclusion and the future scope relating to the existing work.

2 Literature Review

PLL is an important component of a trans-receiver. It helps in generation of a stable clock, can generate the clock frequency directly from the received data and also has the ability to generate high frequency signal from low frequency signals. The PFD proposed in [1] is a dead-zone free PFD. Dead-zone free PFD is achieved since reset is not used in the circuit. The detector proposed in the paper consists of four inverters, two PMOS, two NMOS and two pass transistors. The area of the PFD is less when compared to the conventional one since reset is not present in the proposed PFD circuit.

A PFD design implemented using CMOS technology, True Single-Phase clock (TSPC) logic, Differential Cascade Voltage Switch Logic and Current Mode logic is proposed in [4]. All circuits are implemented and then compared in terms of transistor count and power consumption. The TPSC logic-based PFD design is found to be of higher efficiency compared to that of the others and is implemented for further comparison with all the other circuits available [5].

A PFD design using the pass transistor technology rather than the conventional CMOS transistors is proposed in [6]. The usage of pass transistors is mainly done since they ensure the operation at higher frequencies and also eliminates the reset path logic that is being used in the conventional CMOS circuit designs. The usage of pass transistors reduces the transistor count and thereby reducing the area consumed by the overall circuit.

The PFD can be improved further in terms of power consumption using the concept of adaptive voltage level (AVL). The AVLG technique has been used here in this paper to improve the power consumption of the PFD circuits. The use of AVLG technique and implementation is proposed in [7]. The concept of reset path in the conventional PFD circuits usually increases the transistor count and the power consumption. Thus, the concept of reset path has to be replaced. The technique of replacing the reset path is discussed in [8]. This technique includes reference clock and VCO clock being shared among the upper part and the lower part of the PFD.

The circuits indicated in this paper have been implemented using Cadence Virtuoso, and the simulation has been done using the Cadence Spectre. GPDK 180 nm CMOS technology is used for the implementation of the circuits. The power consumption of the circuit is also calculated. The proposed architecture is found to be highly efficient than the other architectures mentioned in this section.

2.1 Characteristics of Phase/Frequency Detector

Phase detector, logic circuit or an analogue multiplier which is used to generate a voltage signal in order to represent a phase difference between the two input signals. A conventional PFD is basically constructed using flip-flops. Fig. 1 presents the top level diagram of PFD where the CLK_REF is the reference signal, and CLK_VCO is the feedback signal from the VCO, and the outputs of the PFD are represented as UP and DOWN. Fig. 2 presents the operation of the PFD using state diagram. When both the CLK_REF and the CLK_VCO are low the output signals UP and DOWN is low. If the CLK_ REF leads the CLK_VCO, then the UP signal is high and the DOWN signal remains low. When the CLK_VCO is high, DOWN signal is also high. Since both UP and DOWN signals are high, the PFD resets and thus making both UP and DOWN signals low.



Fig. 1 Block diagram of PFD



Fig. 2 State diagram of PFD [9]



Fig. 3 Transfer characteristics of PFD a without dead-zone, b with dead-zone

The operation principle remains the same even when the CLK_VCO leads the CLK_REF. The dead-zone is an important factor of PFD that limits the range of detection of PFDs and thus affects the locking range of PLL [9]. When the phase difference between two input signals is close to zero, the width of the output signal produced by the PFD will be very small. The low width UP and DOWN signal will not be able to charge and discharge the switches of charge pump and thus cannot produce an output which can be given to the loop filter to produce a constant DC control voltage to the VCO. This reduces the loop gain and also increases the jitter in the PLL. The transfer characteristic of the PFD with and without dead-zone is indicated in Fig. 3.

The difference in phase between CLK_REF and CLK_VCO is indicated in Eq. (1).

$$\Delta \emptyset = \frac{\Delta t}{T_{\rm ref}} \tag{1}$$

where $\Delta \emptyset$ = Phase error

 Δt = Time delay between the peak of two input signals

 $T_{\rm ref}$ = Time period of the input reference signal.

The phase error $\Delta \emptyset$ is zero when the PLL is in locked condition. The output voltage of the PFD, VPFD, can be calculated using Eq. (2).

$$VPFD = \left[\frac{VDD - 0}{4\pi}\right] * \left[\Delta\emptyset\right]$$
(2)

Thus, the gain of the PFD can be calculated using Eq. (3).

$$KPFD = \frac{VDD}{4\pi}$$
(3)

where KPFD = Gain of the PFD (V/rad).

3 Implementation of Phase/Frequency Detector

PFDs are always active in a PLL system, due to which consumption of power in the PFD is high [10]. Therefore, there is a need to design PFDs to minimize the power consumption and thus when integrated with the PLL, reduces the power consumption of PLL. The methods used to reduce power consumption are by using AVLG, reducing transistor count with the help of pass transistor logic and by eliminating the reset path by sharing the reference clock and VCO clock signal in the initial stages. The NOR gate-based PFD was also implemented, but since it performed better only at lower frequencies, the remaining architectures have been shown along with the corresponding results.

The PFD circuits are designed and implemented using Cadence Virtuoso, in GPDK 180 nm CMOS technology. Circuits are simulated using Cadence Spectre. This section deals with the implementation of proposed pass transistor-based PFD with AVLG and proposed PFD circuit without reset.

3.1 Pass Transistor-Based PFD

The PFD circuit can also be constructed by replacing the conventional CMOS transistors logic with the pass transistor logic. The alternative ensures that there is reduction in the power consumption in spite of the voltage degradation as it reduces the transistor count. Fig. 4 presents a pass transistor-based PFD circuit. The reference clock



Fig. 4 Pass transistor-based PFD

signal that is the input to the upper half of the PFD is represented as 'CLK_REF' and the signal 'CLK_VCO' represents the input to the lower half of the PFD circuit. The outputs of the PFD are represented using 'UP' ad 'DOWN,' respectively.

3.2 Proposed Pass Transistor-Based PFD with AVLG

The pass transistor-based PFD with AVLG circuit has been achieved by incorporating the AVLG technique to the circuit shown in Fig. 4. AVLG increases the ground potential and thus help in reduction of power. Fig. 5 presents the AVLG circuit where "CLK" is a clock signal that is provided to the AVLG circuit. The AVLG circuits contain one NMOS and two PMOS transistors making the overall transistor count to three. This AVLG circuit is added to the pass transistor-based PFD circuit to minimize the total consumption of power. Instead of the circuit being directly connected to the ground, it is connected to the AVLG circuit and then that is connected to the ground. Fig. 6 represents the pass transistor-based PFD with AVLG where the inputs are represented by "CLK_REF" and "CLK_VCO" to the upper and lower halves of the PFD, respectively, and CLK is the clock signal for the AVLG circuit and the outputs of the PFD are represented by UP and DOWN.



Fig. 5 Adaptive voltage level ground circuit



3.3 Proposed PFD Circuit Without Reset Path

The usage of reset path in the implementation of the PFD circuit has always been a common factor. The reset path is a feedback line followed back to input line. The feedback or the reset path used in the circuit is the NOR gate. The NOR gate is fed with Up and Down outputs of the PFD, and the resulting output is given as one of the inputs at the initial stages. The usage of this reset path may be cumbersome sometimes due to increase in the usage of transistor which further increases the area consumed. Thus, the reset path can be replaced by sharing the reference clock and VCO clock signal in the initial stages itself [8]. This concept of replacing the reset path is carried out and a new design of PFD is proposed. The proposed PFD circuit without the reset path consists of 14 transistors and the PMOS and NMOS transistor count being at 8 each. Fig. 7 presents the Proposed PFD circuit without reset. The simulation results of reference and proposed PFD architectures are discussed in next section along with the power consumption of these architectures at operating frequency ranging from 100 kHz to 4 GHz with the supply voltage of 1.8 V.



Fig. 7 Proposed PFD circuit without reset

4 Results and Discussions

The architectures of PFD circuits are implemented and have been discussed in the previous section. The simulation results and performance analysis of the circuits in terms of power consumption are discussed in this section. The simulation of the circuits has been done in the frequency range of 100 kHz to 4 GHz with a supply voltage for all the circuits been set to 1.8 V. Simulated waveform of the proposed pass transistor-based PFD with AVLG is shown in Fig. 8.

The simulated output is represented with the CLK_REF and CLK_VCO representing the first two waveforms where the clock signals are similar to another with delay given to the latter waveform. UP and DOWN outputs are represented by the third and fourth waveforms, respectively. The performance analysis has been done in terms of the transistor count and power consumption.

The architectures of PFD discussed in the previous section are now classified based on their operational frequencies into two sections. One, where the operational frequency ranges from 100 kHz to 2 GHz and the other deals with higher operational frequencies greater than 2 GHz. The first classification consists of architectures from [6] and the proposed pass transistor-based PFD with AVLG. The second class consists of architecture from [8] and the proposed PFD without reset path.

Table 1 lists the power consumption in μW at different frequencies. When



Fig. 8 Simulation waveform for pass transistor-based PFD with AVLG

PFD architectures	Power consumption (µW)			
	100 kHz	100 MHz	1 GHz	2 GHz
Pass transistor-based PFD [6]	1.021	7.86	84.88	175.2
Proposed pass transistor-based PFD with AVLG	0.858	7.68	81.72	147.7

Table 1 Power consumption of PFD architectures at different frequencies

compared to the architecture in [6], there is a 16% reduction in the power consumption. For frequencies in the megahertz to the gigahertz range, there is a change in the trend of power consumption, where the existing pass transistor-based consumes lesser power than the AVLG-based PFD. The architecture of PFD from [8] and the proposed PFD without reset path have been discussed in this section and their graphical comparison in terms of power consumption in μ W has been represented at frequencies ranging from 1 to 4 GHz. Fig. 9 infers that the proposed PFD without reset consumes a power of 174 μ W in comparison to that of [8] which consumes 356.5 μ W at 1 GHz.

At lower frequencies, the usage of the proposed PFD without a reset path has a very slight effect on the reduction of power consumption, but as the frequency of operation changes to higher values, there is significant difference in the power consumption



Power Consumption of PFD at Higher Frequencies

Fig. 9 Comparison of power consumption at different frequencies

between the architecture in [8] and the proposed PFD without a reset path. Almost a 50% reduction of power is a great aspect considering the high operational frequencies.

5 Conclusion

The work carried out in this paper is design and implementation of low-power PFD using the CMOS 180 nm technology. The performance of the PFD circuits mentioned is analysed in terms of power consumption in order to opt a more efficient PFD design for implementation of the PLL circuit. The PFD circuits have been implemented and simulated at a frequency ranging from 100 kHz to 4 GHz. At lower frequencies, the pass transistor-based PFD with AVLG consumes 16% lesser power in comparison to existing architecture. When the PFD operates at higher frequencies, the proposed PFD without reset consumes a very less power compared to PFD without reset [8]. The proposed pass transistor PFD with AVLG is more efficient than the existing architecture at frequencies ranging from 100 kHz to 2 GHz whereas the PFD without reset path is even operable at frequencies beyond 2.4 GHz. Though the power consumption is higher than the other proposed PFD circuit, the maximum operating frequency for the PFD without reset is very high. The future scope of this paper is to integrate proposed PDF along with other components to design a power efficient PLL circuit.

References

1. M.K. Abdul, J.K. Binsu, Low power, high frequency, free dead zone PFD for a PLL design, in 2013 IEEE Faible Tension Faible Consommation IEEE (2013)

- 2. A. Tiwari, A review on design and analysis of low power PLL for digital applications. IJRASET 6, 1677–1684 (2018)
- 3. S.K. Garg, B. Singh, A novel design of an efficient low power phase frequency detector for delay locked loop, in 2016 IEEE International Conference on Power Electronics, Intelligent Control and Energy Systems (ICPEICES) (IEEE, 2016)
- 4. K. Arshak, O. Abubaker, E. Jafer, Design and simulation difference types cmos phase frequency detector for high speed and low jitter PLL, in *Proceedings of the Fifth IEEE International Caracas Conference on Devices, Circuits and Systems* (2004)
- S. Praseetha, M. Tephila, A.S. Benedict, Implementation of phase frequency detector in phase locked loop using present able modified TSPC D flip-flop. Int J. Innov. Technol. Explor. Eng. 8, 977–980 (2019)
- K.A. Majeed, B.J. Kailath, A novel phase frequency detector for a high frequency PLL design. Procedia Eng. 64, 377–384 (2013)
- P. Anirvinnan, V.S. Parashar, D. Aneesh, Bharadwaj, Premananda B.S, Low power AVLS-TSPC based 2/3 pre-scaler. Int. J. Eng. Adv. Technol. 9, 6687–6693 (2019)
- 8. K.P. Thakore, K. Shah, N.M. Devashrey, Design and implementation of low power phase frequency detector for phase lock loop, in *2019 International Conference on Computing Methodologies and Communication (ICCMC)* (IEEE, 2019)
- N. Parkalian, M. Robens, C. Grewing, V. Christ, A. Kruth, D. Liebau, P. Muralidharan, D. Nielinger, C. Roth, U. Yegin, A. Zambanini, S. van Waasen, A 4 GHz phase locked loop design in 65 nm CMOS for the Jiangmen underground neutrino observatory detector. J. Inst. 13, P02010–P02010 (2018)
- S. Sofimowloodi, F. Razaghian, M. Gholami, Low-power high-frequency phase frequency detector for minimal blind-zone phase-locked loops. Circ. Syst. Signal Process. 38, 498–511 (2018)

Analysis of QCA-Based Serial Concatenated Convolution Coding Encoder for Error Correction



393

T. N. Dhanush, Vaishnavi S. Parashar, and B. S. Premananda

1 Introduction

SCCC is a class of FEC which is used for the efficient transmission of high-quality data over the noisy channels. SCCC is used to increase the reliability of the data that are transmitted. Since the error can be detected and corrected at the receiver, the need for retransmission is eliminated and thus improves the efficiency of the usage of bandwidth [1]. Such encoding technique is used to implement an encoder which can be used in the channel encoder part of the transmission end of the communication system.

SCCC encoder has three stages, namely Outer Encoder, Pseudo-Random Interleaver (PRI), and Inner Encoder. The Outer Encoder is a common (n, k, N) Bose Chaudhary Hocquenghem (BCH) Encoder, and the Inner Encoder is just a classical conventional encoder [2]. The paper summarizes some of the related works that are carried out and also portrays the path in which the proposed architecture is achieved.

The encoder can be implemented using several low power technologies. Some of the available technologies are CMOS, Reversible Logic, Adiabatic Logic, and Quantum-dot Cellular Automata (QCA). CMOS is used efficiently at the micron level, but as the technology tends toward nan level, these become very inefficient in design. Similarly, the Reversible Logic and Adiabatic become disadvantageous in terms of area occupied. To overcome these disadvantages, Quantum-dot Cellular Automata is preferred.

QCA is a transistor-less technique used to replace the transistor-based CMOS technology and is also found to be more efficient than the adiabatic logic in terms of energy dissipation [3]. The QCA circuits are operational at the nanoscale level and hence are preferred.

T. N. Dhanush (🖂) · V. S. Parashar · B. S. Premananda

Department of Telecommunication Engineering, RV College of Engineering, Bengaluru, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_37

The objective of the paper is to propose an area and energy-efficient QCA-based SCCC encoder for error correction. The proposed design in this paper is found to be more compact and efficient than the existing SCCC architecture. It was achieved through a thorough literature review of all the existing architectures. The organization of the paper is as follows: related works and basic QCA background are discussed in Sect. 2. QCA-based implementation of the proposed SCCC encoder is discussed in Sect. 3. The obtained results are analyzed in Sect. 4. Conclusions derived are discussed in Sect. 5 along with the references.

2 Related Works

The related works required to achieve the goal of the area and energy-efficient QCAbased design of the SCCC encoder are discussed in this section. The QCA logic involves the construction of a basic logic gate using the majority voter gate along with the most basic and more commonly used inverter gates. These majority voter and inverter gates function as the building blocks in QCA [4]. The majority voter gates and inverter gates are used to implement a 2:1 multiplexer which is further used to implement D flip-flops.

The architectures of the multiplexers from [5] are used to design D flip-flops. Designed D flip-flops are used to implement shift registers which are efficient than the ones in [6, 7]. These shift registers are basic blocks of the serial-to-parallel converter (SPC) and parallel-to-serial converter (PSC) that are further used in the Outer Encoder and PRI stages of the SCCC encoder.

SCCC encoder plays a vital role in the communication domain where data security has become one of the important criteria to be fulfilled for efficient transmission of the data between the source and destination. The proposed SCCC encoder is a derivative of the encoder in [2] which is improved by reanalysis and reusability of the cells available. The existing circuits are implemented and are then compared with the proposed encoder circuit.

The implementation of the required SCCC encoder has to be carried out using QCA logic. The QCA logic mainly includes QCA cell, majority voter, inverter, and crossovers along with the simulation engines. The QCA cell acts as the primary unit of QCA. These cells are used to implement majority voter and inverter gates. The QCA cell is shown in Fig. 1. The two aspects of the cell, electron and dots, are observed in Fig. 1. The majority voter gate is a three-input and one-output gate with five cells in total.





An inverter gate is obtained by placing two cells diagonally at 45° to one another which results in the output to be in inversion to that of the input. In addition to the majority voter gate and inverter gate, the crossovers play an important role in the implementation of the circuits. The crossovers are of two types namely multilayer and coplanar [8]. Multilayer crossover as the name suggests is a kind of crossovers in which multiple layers are used for two different input arrays, whereas the coplanar is the one in which all the cells are along the same plane. Two different kinds of simulation engines are used in QCADesigner, namely Bi-stable approximation and Coherence vector.

3 Implementation of Proposed SCCC Encoder

This section summarizes the operation of these three stages along with their QCAbased implementation and performance analysis of these circuits. The implementation of the proposed SCCC encoder is performed using the CAD tool, QCADesigner 2.0.3. The SCCC encoder is implemented in QCA logic using the concept of bottomup approach where the primary blocks are used to design the fragments of the SCCC encoder such as the Outer Encoder, Interleaver, and Inner Encoder. The Interleaver constructed here is pseudo-random. The SCCC encoder operates at three stages, namely Outer Encoder, Pseudo-Random Interleaver (PRI), and Inner Encoder [9]. The block diagram representation of the SCCC encoder is shown in Fig. 2.

Outer Encoder

The Outer Encoder is the first stage of the SCCC encoder where the message bits are given as inputs and the systematic codeword is the required output obtained. The Outer Encoder usually consists of a 4-bit SPC, parity bit generator, and the 3-bit PSC. The first stage of the Outer Encoder is the 4-bit SPC which converts the serial form of the data message bits into parallel form. The input message bits (D) which are 4-bit data are fed to the SPC, and then, it converts the serialized message bits to parallel form $[A_0, A_1, A_2, A_3]$. Figure 3 represents the QCA-based design of a 4-bit SPC. D represents the message bits to be transmitted.

In Fig. 3 A3, A2, A1, A0 are the outputs of the SPC, i.e., the parallelized output for the serialized message bits. The second stage of the Outer Encoder is the parity bit generator, used to generate parity bits. The generated parity bits are used at the receiver end to see if the received bits are error-free. The parity bit generator is constructed using modulo-2 adders [10] to generate a 3-bit parity code using the



Fig. 2 Block diagram of SCCC encoder



Fig. 3 QCA-based design of 4-bit SPC

4-bit output of the SPC. Figure 4 represents the QCA-based implementation of a parity bit generator where A3, A2, A1, and A0 are the inputs and R2, R1, and R0 are the required parity bits. The last stage of the Outer Encoder is the 3-bit PSC where the generated parity bits are serialized to be combined with the parallelized output of the SPC and obtain the required systematic code word.

At the Outer Encoder stage, the parity bits R2, R1, and R0 which are parallel are converted into a serial form, represented as R. Figure 5 depicts the 3-bit PSC where the parity bits R2, R1, and R0 act as inputs to the PSC and R as the serial output of the PSC. This output, R, is then connected to the message bits which results in the systematic codeword (C). Figure 6 represents the complete QCA-based design of an Outer Encoder.

Figure 6 represents the overall design of the Outer Encoder where *D* is the initial input to the Outer Encoder with A3, A2, A1, and A0 acting as outputs of SPC. *R*2,




R1, and R0 are the outputs of the parity bit generator, whereas R is the output of the PSC, and C (systematic codeword) is the final output of the Outer Encoder.

Pseudo-Random Interleaver

Interleaver is a data mixing part of the SCCC encoder where the systematic codeword is disorganized using a 7-bit PRI. The Interleaver consists of two stages, namely SPC and PSC (both 7-bit). The SPC first parallelizes the systematic codeword *C* as C = [C0, C1, C2, C3, C4, C5, C6] into seven separate values where *C*6 and *C*0 are the MSB and LSBs, respectively. The parallelized bits are now interchanged and interchanged upside down, and the resulting output is then again serialized using the PSC (7-bit) resulting in a permuted codeword (*I*) [1].

The combination of these PSC and SPC makes the inert-leaver pseudo-random in nature hence the name PRI. Figure 7 represents the QCA-based design of 7-bit PRI where the systematic codeword (C) from the Outer Encoder is the input to the SPC and is parallelized, and then, the parallelized set of 7-bits are fed into the 7-bit PSC that serializes the 7-bits to form the permuted codeword (I).

Inner Encoder

The final stage of the SCCC encoder is the Inner Encoder; it provides two sets of outputs. The QCA-based design of an Inner Encoder is given in Fig. 8. The permuted codeword is the input to the Interleaver and *Y*1 and *Y*0 are the expected outputs.

The previously discussed components of the SCCC encoder are integrated efficiently to obtain the overall structure of QCA-based SCCC encoder which is shown



Fig. 7 QCA-based design of 7-bit PRI



Fig. 8 Proposed QCA-based design of Inner Encoder



Fig. 9 QCA-based SCCC encoder

in Fig. 9. The three stages of the encoder are first designed and then are integrated serially to ensure the flow of data from the Outer Encoder stage to the Inner Encoder stage through a PRI which is the intermediate stage.

Figure 10 shows the resulting waveforms at end of every stage of the SCCC encoder. The input message (1011) is fed as input to the encoder at the primary stage (OE), and the resulting output from the intermediate stage (PRI) is shown in the second waveform. The final two waveforms represent the outcomes (Y0 and Y1) of the encoder at the Inner Encoder stage Y0 = 1101001 and Y1 = 1110011.

4 Results and Discussion

The QCA-based SCCC architectures are simulated using the QCADesigner 2.0.3. The obtained cell count, area occupied, and energy dissipation of the reference and proposed SCCC architectures have been discussed in this section.

Figure 11 represents the cell count comparison of components of proposed and existing SCCC encoder architecture in [2] such as parity generator, Outer Encoder, Interleaver and SCCC encoder, etc. The proposed SCCC encoder shows a reduction in cell count with 1325 cells which is 975 cells lesser than the [2] which has a total of 2300 cells. The overall reduction in the cell count was achieved as a result of the reanalysis of the existing logic and increasing the reusability of the available cells.

Figures 12 and 13 represent the comparison of components of SCCC encoder



Fig. 10 Simulation results of the SCCC encoder

such as parity generator, Outer Encoder, Interleaver, and integrated SCCC encoder, in terms of area occupied and energy dissipated, respectively. Figure 12 shows the overall comparison of the SCCC encoder and its components in terms of the total area occupied. The proposed SCCC encoder occupies an area of 2.78 μ m² (40%) lesser than the SCCC in [2] which occupied an area of 4.56 μ m².

Figure 13 illustrates the comparison between the proposed and reference SCCC encoder in terms of energy dissipation. The SCCC encoder in [2] has an energy dissipation of 0.38 eV, whereas the proposed has energy dissipation of 0.245 eV, i.e., 35.5% more efficient.



Cell count of SCCC encoder components

Fig. 11 Comparison of cell count of components of SCCC encoder



Fig. 12 Comparison of area occupancy of components of SCCC encoder

5 Conclusion

This paper proposes a design of the area and energy-efficient implementation of QCA-based SCCC encoder. The SCCC encoder has a vital role in digital communication where the data transmission without any external interference is a must. The SCCC is the integration of the Outer Encoder, Inner Encoder, and Pseudo-Random Interleaver. The proposed SCCC encoder is 42.39, 40, and 35.5% more efficient than the SCCC encoder [2] in terms of cell count, area occupancy, and energy dissipation, respectively. The future scope of the work is to design a SCCC encoder with an even higher range of BCH encoders and Interleaver. The BCH encoders can also be implemented using other higher forms such as (15, 11, 1), (15, 7, 2), and (31, 16, 3).



Energy Dissipation of SCCC encoder

Fig. 13 Comparison of energy dissipation of the components of SCCC encoder

These BCH encoders can be supported by CC encoders of higher bits implemented in the Inner Encoder.

References

- M. Zhang, L. Cai, X. Yang, H. Cui, C. Feng, Design and simulation of turbo encoder in quantum-dot cellular automata. IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol. 14, 820–828 (2015)
- 2. Y. Zhang, G. Xie, J. Han, Serial concatenated convolutional code encoder in quantum-dot cellular automata. Nano Commun. Netw. **22**, 100268 (2019)
- M. Goswami, B. Kumar, H. Tibrewal, S. Mazumdar, Efficient realization of digital logic circuit using QCA multiplexer, in 2014 International Conference on Business and Information Management (ICBIM) (IEEE, 2014)
- L.A. Lim, A. Ghazali, S.C.T. Yan, C.C. Fat, Sequential circuit design using quantum-dot cellular automata (QCA), in 2012 IEEE International Conference on Circuits and Systems (ICCAS) (IEEE, 2012)
- S. Harshitha, T.N. Dhanush, B.S. Premananda, A Novel QCA based compact scan flip-flop for digital design testing. Int. J. Eng. Adv. Technol. 9, 6681–6686 (2019)
- V.S. Kalogeiton, D.P. Papadopoulos, O. Liolis, V.A. Mardiris, G.C. Sirakoulis, I.G. Karafyllidis, Programmable crossbar QCA circuits. IEEE Trans. Comput.-Aided Des. Integr. Circ. Syst. 36, 1367–1380 (2017)
- I. Gassoumi, L. Touil, B. Ouni, A. Mtibaa, An ultra-low power parity generator circuit based on QCA technology. J. Electr. Comput. Eng. 2019, 1–8 (2019)
- B.S. Premananda, U.K. Bhargav, K.S. Vineeth, Design and analysis of compact QCA based 4-bit serial-parallel multiplier, in 2018 International Conference on Electrical, Electronics, Communication, Computer, and Optimization Techniques (ICEECCOT), pp. 1014–1018 (2018)

Analysis of QCA-Based Serial Concatenated Convolution ...

- S. Benedetto, D. Divsalar, G. Montorsi, F. Pollara, Serial concatenation of interleaved codes: performance analysis, design, and iterative decoding. IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory 44, 909–926 (1998)
- A.N. Bahar, S. Waheed, N. Hossain, Md. Asaduzzaman, A novel 3-input XOR function implementation in quantum-dot cellular automata with energy dissipation analysis. Alex. Eng. J. 57, 729–738 (2018)

Performance Evaluation of Master–Slave D Flip Flop Based on Charge Retention Feedback Pass Transistor Logic in Nanotechnology



405

Sweta Tripathi, Anum Khan, and Subodh Wairya

1 Introduction

In this era of digitalization and multitasking, power-efficient multi-functioning portable gadgets cover huge market area of VLSI designs and hence, the gadgets should be area efficient with longer battery life. The advancement in VLSI technology with scaling shows that the chips are getting denser and could be implemented on that tiny chip. Besides that, the latency of circuits must be reduced because of the compact time account at high-frequency operation. The latches and flip flops are the fundamental element for sequential and synchronous system in terms of power consumption. Flip flops are the basic storage module in all digital systems, utilizing major portion of static and dynamic power. The clocked devices devour large amount of total active power in digital systems. Flip flop's performance is compared by area, delay and power consumption [1] in designing System on Chips (SoCs) and there is trade off among these parameters. The area is determined by the components used, size of device and routing techniques used. The power factor is decided by supply voltage, switching activity and charge leakage due to the presence of unnecessary components. In digital electronics, a flip flop or latch is bi-stable circuit and there states can be changed by the signals applied to control the inputs. The D Flip Flop and latches are level sensitive and as the clock becomes active HIGH, transparency is achieved for entire level of HIGH clock so as to transfer input data to output in that period of time. These flip flops cover a wide range of application area such as shift registers, finite-state machine, pulse counter and for synchronizing fluctuatingtimed input signals to some reference timing signal. These low power and high-speed circuits are used in sequential circuits and microprocessors [2].

In this paper, two power-efficient D flip flops are proposed based on charge retention feedback pass transistor logic designed by analyzing C²MOS FF [3-5],

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3 38

S. Tripathi · A. Khan (⊠) · S. Wairya

Institute of Engineering and Technology, AKTU, Lucknow, Uttar Pradesh, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

CPLSDFF and CPLDDFF. It includes both static and dynamic structures named as CRPLS-DFF and CRPLD-DFF, respectively. Also, there is no use of transmission gate in the proposed circuits and therefore clock load issue is not present here. The limitations of transmission gate can be seen through a conventional Power PC 603 FF [6] reported in this paper for comparison purpose.

This paper is organized in 5 sections. Section 1 depicts the introduction to flip flops, there functioning and issues. Section 2 talks about the literature reviews of the flip flops designed and selection of conventional and latest flip flops for comparison with the proposed work in terms of area, power, temperature dependency and delay. Section 3 describes the techniques implemented in designing the proposed flip flops (CRPLS-DFF and CRPLD-DFF). Here, proposed design is discussed in detail regarding the parametric values and purpose of each component utilized in the system. Section 4 presents the simulation results and comparative graphical plots and Sect. 5 is the final conclusion of the proposed work.

2 Flip Flop Design Approach

Numerous flip flop architectures have been proposed over the years, each having its own merit and demerit. Also there is necessitate to follow the setup time and hold time [7] so as to avoid faulty data at output due to transmission error. The masterslave flip flops are used to evade race conditions and hold the data stored at the negative edge of clock during low clock level. The clock conditions are pursued as per the setup and hold time rules so as to authenticate that the input data transmitted and hence the race conditions are avoided. The setup time is defined as the time span just before the clock signal is arrived and during that time, the data should be stable so as to avoid transmission of faulty signal. The hold time is the time span on which the data must be held stable after the clock event, for reliable sampling [8]. A conventional clocked CMOS flip flop (C²MOS FF) based master-slave structure presented in Fig. 1. The master segment is active in the first period of the clock cycle; on the other hand, slave section is active in second period of the clock cycle. The operation of C²MOS based D flip flop can be elaborated by considering the case when CLK is at high level with low input D signal then the master stage is active and the pre-charging the node M1 to VDD and feedback to the inverter (T5, T6) at node M2. When the circuit works in active mode, consumes excess run-time power. In idle mode, there is unnecessary static power consumption as charge leaks through transistors T13 and T14 and unwanted switching needs to be done in order to store charge in pull-down network. The next stage of the C²MOS FF design is slave stage and is active when clock is in low phase and whatever the value was stored at M2 was forwarded to Q output. Due to the issues mentioned above, power consumption, delay and area are more in the conventional C²MOS FF circuit.

Power PC 603 FF (Fig. 2) [6] is one of the most proficient static designs with the merit of low-power keeper architecture and low latency straight output path eliminating huge leakage charge and hence power. The major limitations are the



Fig. 1 C²MOS master–slave D flip flop circuit [5]



Fig. 2 Power PC 603 FF [6]

increased D–Q delay as a result of positive setup-time with the heavy input and clock nodule, affecting the performance efficiency. However, static system is still favored where low power is the prime concern regardless of all these limitations.

Figure 3 shows semi-dynamic flip flop (SDFF) [9] with a demerit of huge power dissipation due to the addition of heavy capacitors, overloading the circuit. The circuit design is simple; however, the superfluous switching activity is the main cause of power loss. After deep analyzing of SDFF, it can be seen that charging and discharging of inner node X is the major cause of power dissipation in spite of high logic stable input. Glitches may cause noise problem at the resulted side.

Figures 4 and 5 show two latest conditional pass transistor-based static as well as dynamic master–slave D flip flop [10]. The drawback of these designs is large capacitor value in transitional path and an excess data to output delay as of positive setup time. The total efficiency of the system is affected as per issues mentioned above. But the design is still favored for system if the power saving is a prime factor instead of speed.



N3

CLK

CP4

 ∇

VDD

Fig. 4 CPLSDFF [10]

CP2

VSS



Fig. 5 CPLDDFF [10]

The hybrid latch Flip flop (HLFF) is appropriate for system where minimum power requirement is the key concern as compared with SDFF with the penalty of high-speed reduction. HLFF [11, 12] possesses more positive hold time as shown in Fig. 6. The main issue is the superfluous parasitic capacitance on the intermediate and there is instability in system with excess number of nmos transistor mounted at output stage in the pull-down path. The former issue causes speed reduction in comparison with the SDFF and not appropriate to propose intricate sequential circuits due to the increased D to Q delay.

The dual dynamic D Flip flop [13] as shown in Fig. 7 consists of a pseudo-dynamic intermediate structure and a dynamic output stage composed of high-speed system as compared with the SDFF and HLFF. The main merit is less power dissipation, negative setup time and enhanced hold time that makes the input to output delay (D–Q) as minimum as possible. The pre-charge phase of the semi-dynamic node



Fig. 6 HLFF flip flop [11]



Fig. 7 Dual dynamic flip flop [13]





M1 is unstable because of the parasitic capacitance formed in the master stage with different data and clock conditions.

In XCFF [14] as shown in Fig. 8, the redundant events are avoided with the introduction of two dynamic nodes. Since the dynamic node is split into two, power consumption is reduced without compromising the speed. It has comparatively low clock driving load. It also produces smaller power-delay products than other sequential CMOS flip flops. XCFF reduces the power dissipation by selectively switching the output pull-up and pull-down transistors separately at every cycle of the clock.

Another flip flops are reviewed on the basis of power, delay and area parameters. Multi threshold D flip flops [15, 16] are designed to reduce leakage power in deep sub-micron. The high threshold transistors are used as sleep transistors and these sleep transistors work as a virtual supply gate to the main logic circuit and reduce leakage during sleep mode or idle mode. But this method is advantageous only if the idle period is more. Also sizing of sleep transistor is an issue. A complex charge retention circuit is needed to retain the charge stored in the circuit when transition takes place from active to sleep and sleep to active mode. Autonomous Data Retention Flip Flop [17] is used to reduce power consumption when the circuit is in sleep and

idle mode for long time, but the disadvantage is that it increases the size of circuit due to increased size of high threshold sleep transistors. More power consumption takes place when the circuit transitions from active to sleep mode and vice versa. Here, sizing of sleep transistors is difficult to analyze with increased layout area. Single edge-triggered Master–slave register was designed, but number of transistors is more and high capacitive load attached to the clock signal [18]. Each register has a clock load of eight transistors. One outlook to reduce the clock load at the cost of fortitude is to make the circuit rationed.

Out of these reviewed flip flops, four flip flops C^2MOS FF, Power PC 603 FF, CPLSDFF and CPLDDFF are chosen for showing the efficiency and robustness of proposed circuits by the comparative analysis on the basis of parameters such as power, delay, area, temperature sensitivity and technology scaling. C^2MOS FF is selected as a base architecture in proposed design, while power pc 603 FF is simulated in order to present the limitations of transmission gate. Due to the use of transmission gate, the circuit becomes heavy and hence data transmission is delayed with excess heat generation. CPLSDFF and CPLDDFF are preferred as these are the latest designs reported.

3 Proposed Work

Considering structural issue in conventional C²MOS master-slave D flip Flops, charge retention feedback pass transistors based static (CRPLS-DFF) and dynamic master-slave D flip flops (CRPLD-DFF) are designed by modifying the charge restoring feedback path and using low threshold transistors in critical path shown in Figs. 9 and 10. The major concern in proposed design was the use of capacitors in transitional nodes that might create huge delay due to charging and discharging in active mode. But this issue was resolved through low threshold transistors used in critical path of the circuit compensating the overall increased delay in the system. Here, critical path defines the shortest path between the transitions of data to output. The minimum value of capacitors used in dynamic circuit is 10 fF at 45 nm technology node so as to maintain the efficient charging and discharging swing up to 80% in transition period without overloading the system. Low value of capacitors is taken in order to reduce layout area without affecting the efficiency of proposed design. The capacitors used in 90 and 180 nm are of value 50 fF and 100 fF, respectively. Hence, we can say that proposed system is preferable for low-power applications where speed is not the major concern. The overall effectiveness of the design is a function of setup time, hold time, CLK conditions, switching activity and parasitic capacitances. All these parametric concerns are resolved successfully.



Fig. 9 Proposed CRPLS-DFF circuit



Fig. 10 Proposed CRPLD-DFF circuit

3.1 Charge Retention Pass Logic Static DFF (CRPLS-DFF)

In CRPLS-DFF shown in Fig. 9, the intermediate node state S1 depends upon the input and initial CLK triggering. The clock load has also been reduced in the proposed system because number transistors loading CLK signal is 4 as compared to 8 or more in other master–slave D Flip flops designed. It can reduce the power consumption through CLK load by limiting the transistor switching up to 50%. When clock is LOW

then the logic is retained in the output due to feedback transistors PM7. When CLK signal is high then the circuit output changes as per the input conditions applied and whatever the value stored in master stage is transferred to slave stage after maintaining the setup and hold time between clock pulse and input pulse. Considering the case of LOW CLK signal with Din as LOW logic, transistors PM0, PM1 and PM2 are on, forcing node S1 to logic HIGH. PM4 is the charge retention feedback pass transistor meant for the purpose of data retention at node S2 till the slave stage is active.

When Din is HIGH and CLK is LOW, transistors NM0 and PM0 and PM2 are ON, discharging the node S1 making it LOW logic. In both the input conditions, there is no undeviating way for charge leakage as mentioned in conventional C^2MOS FF where charge leaks via nMOS transistors connected in series discussed in [4]. If clock is at a HIGH level, the transistor NM2 and NM4 are on and whatever logic sustained at S2 is transferred to slave stage. Output is sustained in case of low CLK signal. In slave stage, Q1 is the intermediating node from where logic is forwarded to output level and PM7 is mount for logic retention pass transistor.

3.2 Charge Retention Pass Logic Dynamic DFF (CRPLD-DFF)

The proposed CRPLD-DFF mentioned in Fig. 10, using dynamic characteristic as it uses capacitors for holding charge in order to maintain logic in intermediating nodes. The capacitances used here are of 10 fF playing significant role in order to get full charging and discharging swing for errorless data transmissions in each stage. CRPLD-DFF architecture uses two phases of clock (CLK and CLKB). The node S2 depends upon the status of input and clock. When clock is equal to LOW then NM1 and PM2 are on and for CLK at logic HIGH, NM4 and PM6 are active. If Din is LOW, then S1 is charged to VDD and hence S2 is LOW and vice versa. There is no path for charge leakage due to feedback nMOS keeper circuit mounted in master stage and similarly PM4 is there for slave stage. In the next clock cycle i.e., positive cycle, if the logic retained in master stage was LOW, then Q1 pre-charged to VDD and output is maintained LOW. Suppose if the logic maintained at master stage was HIGH and clock goes HIGH, then Q1 is discharged and hence output is turned into HIGH logic.

4 Simulation Results and Discussion

The performance of proposed work and existing flip flop designs has been analyzed by simulating 45 nm technology at 27 °C. Figures 11 and 12 show the simulated input–output waveform of Power pc 603 FF and C²MOS FF, respectively. Also the proposed work is evaluated with the latest design of CPLSDFF and CPLDDFF



Fig. 11 Simulated input-output waveforms of the power PC 603 FF [6]



Fig. 12 Simulated input–output waveforms of the C²MOS FF [5]

reported in [3] and is illustrated in Figs. 13 and 14. The simulated input–output waveform of proposed work (CRPLS-DFF and CRPLD-DFF) is demonstrated in Figs. 15 and 16, respectively, illustrating that it works as an edge-triggered master–slave flip flop where whatever value is stored at the last edge of the pulse is transferred to the next stage i.e., from master to slave and from slave to output.

Temperature disparity of proposed system on the basis of average dynamic power and static power is investigated through Figs. 17, 18, 19 and 20, presenting that the circuit is temperature insensitive as there are negligible fluctuations in measured values. Power consumption and delay are the determining factors for the efficient performance of the master–slave flip flop. Hence, these parameters are calculated and compared to confirm the superiority of proposed circuits over conventional flip flops. All the simulations presented in this paper are with a minimum voltage of 1 V. The voltage can be further reduced to 750 mV, but the output gets somewhat distorted and in case of increased voltage, the simulation results are more accurate but the power consumption exceeds which is not economical.

Table 1 shows the comparative values of the implemented flip flops considering average dynamic power, static power, CLK-Q (clock to output) delay and D–Q (data







Fig. 14 Simulated input-output waveforms of the CPLDDFF [10]



Fig. 15 Simulated input-output waveforms of the proposed CRPLS-DFF



Fig. 16 Simulated input-output waveforms of proposed CRPLD-DFF



Fig. 17 Transient analysis with temperature variation of CRPLS-DFF



Fig. 18 Transient analysis with temperature variation of CRPLD-DFF



Fig. 19 DC analysis of CRPLS-DFF with temperature variation



Fig. 20 DC analysis of CRPLD-DFF with temperature variation

Flip flop	Static	Dynamic power (µW)	Delay (ps)		PDP (J)×	EDP (J-s) \times
power (µW)	power (µW)		CLK-Q	D-Q	10 ⁻¹⁵	10-25
POWER PC 603 FF[6]	30.3	45.6	102.3	127.8	8.732	10.046
C ² MOS FF [5]	12.8	21.4	79.9	90.1	2.907	2.471
CPLSDFF[10]	4.33	6.99	98.7	104.8	1.152	1.172
CPLDDFF[10]	2.93	2.01	102.5	112.6	0.531	0.571
Proposed CRPLS-DFF	1.86	4.65	78.5	89.8	0.547	0.461
Proposed CRPLD-DFF	1.48	0.850	91.9	99.4	0.223	0.213

 Table 1 Comparison of PDP of conventional and proposed flip flop at 45 nm

Table 2 Comparison of elements used in conventional and proposed designs	Flip flop	No. of transistors	No. of capacitors	
	POWER PC 603 FF [6]	22	0	
	C ² MOS FF [5]	20	0	
	CPLSDFF [10]	16	0	
	CPLDDFF [10]	18	0	
	Proposed CRPLS-DFF	16	0	
	Proposed CRPLD-DFF	18	2	

to output) delay and summarizing improvement in PDP. It can be clearly inferred that proposed flip flops consume less power while maintaining delay in the circuit and hence more efficient than their conventional counterparts. As compared to Power PC 603 FF, there is 93.7% reduction in PDP in static proposed system CRPLS-DFF. In comparison with C²MOS FF, PDP is reduced to 81.1–92.3% in CRPLS-DFF and CRPLD-DFF correspondingly. For the case of CPLSDFF and CPLDDFF correspondingly, PDP is decreased to 52.7% in comparison with CRPLS-DFF and 58.0% less in CRPLD-DFF. PDP is calculated as product of total power (static and dynamic) and average of delay (CLK-Q and D-Q). EDP is defined as the product of PDP and delay. On comparing EDP of static and dynamic proposed static circuit with reported static and dynamic circuit (CPLSDFF and CPLDDFF) [10], respectively, there is 60.7 and 62.6% reduction in EDP.

Table 2 is listing out the number of elements used in conventional and proposed designs and it can be seen that overall area is less in comparison to static power PC 603 FF and C²MOS FF. Also the area of proposed design is comparable to reported flip flops CPLSDFF and CPLDDFF. But in case of CRPLD-DFF area is increased due to addition of two capacitors. An extensive simulation performance analysis has been performed on Cadence environment using 45 nm technology to evaluate the reported and proposed Master–Slave Flip Flop topologies. The proposed flip flop CRPLS-DFF and CRPLD-DFF topologies are presented here to achieve low PDP. The performance parameters viz propagation delay, power dissipation, PDP, topologies have been evaluated. Consequently, the proposed topologies are appropriate for the realization of low-power high-performance VLSI design.

The immunity of the circuits to the ambient temperature has also been taken into consideration. The proposed topologies/designs are simulated in temperature range (-27 to 75 °C) on simulation environment Spectre. Table 3 shows the variation of power dissipation with technology scaled. Power dissipation of the conventional and proposed flip flop topologies for different temperatures at supply voltage VDD = 1 V are listed in Tables 4 and 5, respectively. Moreover, the proposed designed circuits can work at other supply voltages also and are completely robust to voltage variations. It is obvious that the proposed topologies can perform reliably in the temperature range between (-27 to 75 °C). It means that the proposed designs have an acceptable functionality in a vast temperature range.

Figure 21 presents the graphical comparison of power utilization of proposed work with reported conventional circuits at 45 nm technology within room temperature.

Flip flop	Static power (µW)	Dynamic power (µW)
CRPLS-DFF(180 nm)	15.6	21.5
CRPLS-DFF(90 nm)	6.67	11.7
CRPLS-DFF(45 nm)	1.86	4.65
CRPLD-DFF(180 nm)	12.34	7.8
CRPLD-DFF(90 nm)	4.62	2.61
CRPLD-DFF(45 nm)	1.48	0.850

 Table 3 Power consumption of implemented flip flops at with different technologies

Table 4 Dynamic power consumption (μ W) of proposed flip flop topologies at different temperatures and various technologies at supply voltage V_{DD} (max) = 1 V

Flip Flop	Temperature (°C)						
	- 27	- 10	7	24	41	58	75
CRPLS-DFF (180 nm)	20.81	20.93	21.4	21.6	21.7	21.8	21.9
CRPLS-DFF (90 nm)	12.65	12.05	12.69	11.65	11.87	12.5	12.7
CRPLS-DFF (45 nm)	3.42	3.21	3.86	3.39	4.91	4.99	5.04
CRPLD-DFF (180 nm)	7.82	7.91	8.91	7.66	7.91	7.94	7.99
CRPLD-DFF (90 nm)	2.84	2.82	2.56	2.66	2.62	2.59	2.62
CRPLD-DFF (45 nm)	0.799	0.834	0.844	0.847	0.861	0.863	0.866

Table 5 Static power consumption (μ W) of proposed flip flop topologies at different temperatures and various technologies at supply voltage V_{DD} (max) = 1 V

Flip flop	Temperature (°C)						
	- 27	- 10	7	24	41	58	75
CRPLS-DFF (180 nm)	15.522	15.383	15.252	15.601	15.644	15.654	15.653
CRPLS-DFF (90 nm)	6.661	6.847	6.946	6.671	6.688	6.707	6.724
CRPLS-DFF (45 nm)	1.782	1.835	1.845	1.866	1.873	1.878	1.879
CRPLD-DFF (180 nm)	12.064	12.223	12.224	12.343	12.345	12.347	12.354
CRPLD-DFF (90 nm)	4.524	4.544	4.566	4.623	4.629	4.630	4.632
CRPLD-DFF (45 nm)	1.313	1.343	1.346	1.480	1.475	1.479	1.481

The temperature independency of proposed systems (CRPLS-DFF and CRPLD-DFF) at different technology, considering average dynamic and static power as comparative parameter is depicted in Figs. 22, 23, 24 and 25. As the proposed flip flops give satisfactory performance at 45 nm, layout of the circuits has been designed after DRC check, LVS check and QRC extraction shown in Figs. 26 and 27. Total area occupied by the design has been calculated using the layout. It is observed that CRPLS-DFF which employs 16 transistors occupies an area of 202.4 μ m², whereas CRPLD-DFF that has 18 transistors occupies an area of 278.7 μ m².



Fig. 21 Comparison of power consumption of proposed flip flop and reported flip flop topologies at 45 nm



Fig. 22 Comparison of static power consumption of CRPLS-DFF at different temperature ranges with technology scaling



Fig. 23 Comparison of static power consumption of CRPLD-DFF at different temperature ranges with technology scaling



Fig. 24 Comparison of average dynamic power consumption of CRPLS-DFF at different temperature ranges with technology scaling



Fig. 25 Comparison of average dynamic power consumption of CRPLD-DFF at different temperature ranges with technology scaling

5 Conclusion

In this paper, the proposed designs are a combination of two logic styles with static and dynamic topologies, offering low power consumption. The proposed energyefficient Charge retention feedback pass transistors based static (CRPLS-DFF) and dynamic master–slave D flip flop (CRPLD-DFF) topologies have been implemented,



Fig. 26 Simulation layout of CRPLS-DFF at 45 nm



Fig. 27 Simulation layout of CRPLD-DFF at 45 nm

simulated, analyzed and compared with the existing latest flip flop architectures. In this paper, a simple feedback pass transistor-based logic retention flip flop circuits are designed with less transistor counts. The transistors in critical path acquire low threshold value so as to achieve minimum delay. The average transient power dissipation is curtail by eliminating the inessential transistor switching for input data at diverse clock conditions and also eliminates the issue of charge sharing in the intermediate nodes of the conventional C^2MOS FF circuits. There is excess decline in PDP in CRPLS-DFF and CRPLD-DFF circuit as compared to conventional structures reported in this paper. After scaling down of technology from 180 to 90 nm and then 45 nm, the power dissipation has been minimized to great extent. The total power consumption in the proposed flip flop is showing negligible effect on temperature variations. The layout area has been minimized as number of transistors is less as compared to conventional circuits and is organized at 45 nm technology. Also the layout area is comparable to reported designs but with enhanced powersaving feature. Low value of capacitors are used in order to get reduced layout area without affecting the utility of device. After Quantus Extraction Simulations (QRC), all the pre-resistors and pre-capacitors are calculated and reduced. So proposed design topologies are proficient in terms of area, speed and energy efficiency.

References

- 1. D. Liu, C. Svensson, Power consumption estimation in CMOS VLSI chips. IEEE J. Solid-State Circ. **29**(6), 663–670 (1994)
- M. Marufuzzaman, Z.H. Jalil, M.B.I. Reaz, L.F. Rahman, Design perspective of low power, high efficiency shift registers. J. Theor. Appl. Inf. Technol. 79, 310–321. ISSN: 1992-8645 (2015)
- Y. Suzuki, K. Odagawa, T. Abe, Clocked CMOS calculator circuitry. IEEE J. Solid-State Circ. SC-8 462–469 (1973)
- E. Consoli, G. Palumbo, M. Pennisi, Reconsidering high-speed design criteria for transmissiongate-based master–slave Flip-flops. IEEE Trans. Very Large Scale Integr. VLSI Syst. 284–295 (2012)
- V. Stojanovic, V.G. Oklobdzija, Comparative analysis of master-slave latches and flip-flops for high-performance and low-power systems. IEEE J. Solid-State Circ. 34(4), 536–548 (1999)
- C. Cornelius, R. Vinoth, P. Jennifer, S. Ramasamy, Performance analysis of PowerPC 603 FF at nano-scale CMOS technologies for WSNs, in 2016 3rd International Conference on Devices, Circuits and Systems (ICDCS), Coimbatore (2016), pp. 271–274. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICD CSyst.2016.7570607
- A. Dendouga, N. Bouguechal, S. Barra, O. Manck, Timing characterization and layout of a low power differential C²MOS flip flop in 0.35µm technology, in 2nd International Conference on Signals, Circuits and Systems, Monastir, pp. 1–4 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1109/ICSCS.2008. 4746891
- R. Abdollahi, K. Hadidi, A. Khoei, A simple and reliable system to detect and correct setup/hold time violations in digital circuits. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. I: Regular Pap. 63(10), 1682–1689 (2016)
- F. Klass et al., A new family of semi-dynamic and dynamic flip-flops with embedded logic for high-performance processors. IEEE J. Solid-State Circ. 34(5), 712–716 (1999). https://doi. org/10.1109/4.760383May
- R. Murugasami, U.S. Ragupathy, Design and comparative analysis of D-Flip-flop using conditional pass transistor logic for high-performance with low-power systems. J. Microprocess. Microsyst. 68, 92–101 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpro.2019.05.004
- H. Partovi, R. Burd, U. Salim, F. Weber, L. Di Gregorio, D. Draper, Flow-through latch and edgetriggered flip-flop hybrid elements, in *IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference*. *Digest of Technical Papers, ISSCC*, San Francisco, CA, USA (1996), pp. 138–139. https://doi. org/10.1109/ISSCC.1996.488543

- N. Nedovic, V.G. Oklobdzija, Hybrid latch flip-flop with improved power efficiency, in *Proceedings 13th Symposium on Integrated Circuits and Systems Design (Cat. No.PR00843)*, Manaus, Brazil (2000), pp. 211–215. https://doi.org/10.1109/SBCCI.2000.876032. https://patents.google.com/patent/US5764089A/en
- K. Absel, L. Manuel, R.K. Kavitha, Low-power dual dynamic node pulsed hybrid Flip-flop featuring efficient embedded logic. IEEE Trans. Very Large Scale Integr. VLSI Syst. 21, 1693– 1704 (2013)
- A. Hirata, K. Nakanishi, M. Nozoe, A. Miyoshi, The cross charge-control flip-flop: a low-power and high-speed flip-flop suitable for mobile application SoCs, in *Digest of Technical Papers. Symposium on VLSI Circuits*, Kyoto, Japan (2005), pp. 306–307. https://doi.org/10. 1109/VLSIC.2005.1469392
- P. Dobriyal, K. Sharma, M. Sethi, G. Sharma, A high performance D-flip flop design with low power clocking system using MTCMOS technique, in *3rd IEEE International Advance Computing Conference (IACC)*, Ghaziabad (2013), pp. 1524–1528
- L. Li, J. Hu, A transmission gate flip-flop based on dual-threshold CMOS techniques, in *IEEE International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems* (2009), pp. 539–542
- 17. X. Fan, Y. Wu, H. Dong, J. Hu, A low leakage autonomous data retention Flip-flop with power gating technique. J. Electr. Comput. Eng, 1–11 (2014)
- M. Sharma, A. Noor, S.C. Tiwari, K. Singh, An area and power efficient design of single edge triggered D-flip flop, in *International Conference on Advances in Recent Technologies in Communication and Computing*, Kottayam, Kerala (2009), pp. 478–481

Subthreshold Gain Enhanced Bulkand FVF-Driven Self-cascode Current Mirror OTA and Its Applications



Tripurari Sharan 💿 and Anil Kumar Gautam 💿

1 Introduction

The shrinking channel length of CMOS devices with downscaling has reduced the thickness of silicon di-oxide which ultimately needs reduced DC power supply for safe operation of CMOS transistors. The extremely high component density dissipates more power which drains battery of low-power gadgets very frequently and need of frequent charging of its battery arises. To mitigate this drawback, the CMOS devices should be biased by using low-voltage supply (≤ 0.6 V), and it must dissipate ultra-low-power, so that its battery may deliver power for a long time within its charge and discharge cycles [1]. The digital parts of a SoC chip work well under 0.5 V supply in deep submicron era, but the analog parts do not work satisfactorily in this low-supply voltage condition owing to threshold voltage over heads in gatedriven approach. Two-separate DC power supply for digital and analog subcircuits is not advisable, so the circuit designers choose a single low-power supply comparable to device threshold voltage level for biasing the SoC chip. Under this low-voltage condition, the conventional gate-driven input pair-based differential amplifiers fail to operate properly. So, many non-conventional circuit-level design techniques have been proposed by several authors in the past literature [2, 3]. The voltage-to-current converter, i.e., operational transconductance amplifier (OTA), is used in the input core of many analog active cells, such as op-amp, current conveyors, and current feedback amplifiers (CFOAs).

The high-performance linear low-voltage ultra-low-power OTA is required to design many analog building blocks. To fulfill these demands, the circuit designers are using bulk-driven approach-based circuit-level design technique, just after its first proposal and implementation as addressed in [4–6]. Several authors have proposed

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_39

T. Sharan (🖂) · A. K. Gautam

ECE Department, North Eastern Regional Institute of Science and Technology, Deemed to be University, Nirjuli, Arunachal Pradesh 791109, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

bulk-driven (BD) OTAs and op-amps working below 1 V or even at 0.5 V supply in 180 nm CMOS process which in general requires 1.8 V supply for gate-driven (GD) circuits [6–12]. The BD-MOSFET circuits increase the linearity, offer rail-torail input common mode range, and ensure low-voltage design possibility at the cost of reduced bandwidth, unity gain bandwidth (GBW), and increased input referred spectral noise density at its bulk-fed input terminals [2, 3]. The CMOS transistors are kept on by properly biasing its gate terminal and the addition of small-AC signal at their bulk-terminals does not find the threshold voltage in its signal path, so 0.4-0.6 V power supply is just sufficient to drive them rather than 1.8 V required for GD-MOSFET circuits. Further, the use of either pMOS input or nMOS input pair is also dependent on selection of n-tub or p-tub CMOS process. In single-tub standard CMOS process, only pMOS input pairs can be fabricated in isolated n-tub, whereas in p-tub process, nMOS input pair can be fabricated in isolated p-tub. The circuits which require nMOS and pMOS both types of dual-input pairs require costly twintub process. The standard n-tub process favors pMOS input pair-based design, so this types of OTAs and op-amps have been reported very often in past literature [2, 8].

The reduction of g_m , bandwidth, and GBW does not matters for small frequency (<500 Hz) bio-signal processing. Several authors have proposed partial positive feedback approach, either in input pair side (negative-resistance-based degeneration) [13] or diode-connected load side (current-starving method) which can be used to improve its transconductance and GBW [7, 13, 14]. The use of flipped-voltage followers (FVFs) in input pair drives it in power efficient class AB mode and favor low-voltage design, so several authors have addressed its use while designing OTAs and op-amps circuits [8, 9]. The single-stage balanced current mirror load type OTAs are proposed and used very often in the literature [14, 15]. But in bulk-driven case, it offers a limited gain of around 25 dB, so to increase its gain self-cascode current mirrors (SC-CMs) can be utilized in the design of symmetric OTA. The SC-CM increases the output impedance investing a single device-drop (V_{DS}) rather than more device voltage ($2V_{DS}$) invested by conventional cascode mirrors. So, the use of SC-CM loads at output node fairly increase the output signal swing [14, 16].

The use of subthreshold (weak-inversion) operation is indeed a good choice for ultra-low-power low-frequency electronic gadgets. The sub-100 nA tail current offers ultra-low-power possibility, so circuits made for bio-signals processing can be operated in weak-inversion region. It is very power efficient and offers maximum transconductance to current efficiency (G_m/I_d) ratio. In this case, the cascode-side device and rail-side device of self-cascode structure must fulfill the ratio of their aspect ratios to be 20:1 to remain in the weak-inversion saturated condition. In this case, cascode device invests a bit increased area [17–21].

In this work, a bulk-driven FVF and pMOS input pair-based balanced self-cascode current mirror load OTA is designed in subthreshold region of operation. It also utilizes load-side partial positive feedback (PPF) or current-starving techniques to enhance its performance.

The remaining portion of this chapter are divided in the following sections. Section 2 presents the block-level and overall circuit schematics and brief description of this OTA. Section 3 presents its various simulation results. Section 4 describes its use as single input multiple output (SIMO) and multiple input single output (MISO) types of biquadratic filters, three-phase oscillator, and an instrumentation amplifier. Finally, the Sect. 5 concludes this work.

2 Circuit Schematic of Bulk-Driven OTA

Figure 1 presents the block-level structure of this gain enhanced bulk-driven selfcascode balanced current mirror load OTA (BD-SC-CM-OTA) biased in weak inversion. The pMOS input pair P_5 , P_6 is source driven by using two FVFs and bulk driven by applying input signal into its bulk-terminals. The anti-phase inputs into FVF and concerned pMOS input transistor are set to add these two-generated drain currents in same phase which increases the bulk-driven transconductance (g_{mb}) by two-times. So, overall transconductance, G_m contributed by input pair side becomes $G_m = 2g_{mb}$ [22, 23]. In the bottom side, the SC pairs (N_{R1} , N_{C1}) and (N_{R2} , N_{C2}) form the PPF current-starving network which further increases the transconductance by 1/(1 - K)times, where K (0.75) is the ratio of current distribution ($\beta/\alpha < 1$) in between PPF and diode connected nMOS load. In this case, the effective transconductance becomes [24]

$$G_{\rm m}(\text{effective}) = 2g_{\rm mb}/(1-K) \tag{1}$$



Fig. 1 Block-level diagram of BD-SC-CM-OTA



Fig. 2 Circuit schematic of BD-SC-CM-OTA

The three self-cascode current mirrors CM_1 , CM_2 , and CM_3 each of current mirror ratio (1:1) are used in this balance CM-OTA structure. The SC-CM loads ensured extremely high output resistance at single-ended output node and offered high open loop low-frequency gain of 70.2 dB.

Figure 2 shows overall circuit schematic of this BD-SC-CM-OTA. It is biased in weak-inversion region using dual-power supply of ± 0.3 V. The current sources in FVF section are set to 20 nA by using I_{Bias} current source, N_{B} , N_{1} , and N_{2} each of same aspect ratio. The input signal when applied into the bulk-terminals of P_1 , P_2 is conveyed to their corresponding source terminal by the FVF action. Further, this voltage is conveyed to source terminals of P_5 , P_6 . The input signal is also applied into the bulk-terminals of P_5 , P_6 with opposite polarity. Thus, P_5 and P_6 are simultaneously bulk and source driven and offer twofolds of transconductance from its nominal low bulk-transconductance value of gmb and ensure nearly rail-to-rail input common mode range. Further, this balanced current mirror OTA utilizes load-side partial positive feedback to enhance its gain and gain bandwidth. It is comprised of self-cascode-based current mirrors which drastically increases its output impedance and overall voltage gain without excess voltage overheads to ensure low-voltage operation. The drain currents of P_5 is fed to two-parallel path, αi_1 parts into SCcurrent mirror CM₁ and βi_1 parts into PPF SC-composite pair transistors N_7 , N_{7C} to ensure current starving which further enhances transconductance by 1/(1 - K)times as stated in block-level descriptions. The same is applied for right part of the

input pair [24]. Three-SC-current mirrors comprised of $(N_3, N_{C3} \text{ and } N_4, N_{4C})$, $(N_5, N_{5C} \text{ and } N_6, N_{6C})$, and $(P_7, P_8 \text{ and } P_9, P_{10})$ ensure single-ended output node (V_0) of extremely high output impedance. The load capacitor is of value 15 pF. This circuit is self-load compensated, so additional compensation capacitor for this single-stage balanced-OTA is not required.

3 Simulation Results

The AC, DC sweep, sinusoidal, and pulse transient analysis of this OTA are simulated in n-tub standard CMOS process technology using Tanner EDA tools of version 16.1. All the CMOS transistors are biased in weak-inversion region of operation. Table 1 shows aspect ratios of all the CMOS devices, DC bias current, and load capacitor used during these simulations. The AC sweep analysis is performed using a load capacitor, $C_{\rm L}$ of 15 pF. The slew rates and GBW are inversely proportional to the load capacitor. If load capacitor is increased, these parameters decrease.

3.1 AC Response in Open Loop Configuration

Figure 3 shows the open loop gain and phase plots under AC analysis setup simulated at 300 K in typical-typical (TT) corner. It has ensured low-frequency open loop gain, GBW, phase margin (PM), and gain margin (GM) of 70.8 dB (at 1 Hz), 8.6 kHz, 76°, and 31 dB, respectively, and dissipates total power of 80 nW.

Figure 4 shows the effect of all process corners, say TT, fast-fast (FF), slow-slow (SS), slow-fast (SF), and fast-slow (FS) on gain, GBW, and phase margin of the OTA.

S. No.	Component name	Device size (<i>W</i> / <i>L</i>), (μ m/ μ m), $M = 1$			
1	P_1, P_2, P_5, P_6	10/0.6			
2	$N_{\rm B}, N_1, N_2$	5/1			
3	P_3, P_4	20/0.6			
4	N_3, N_4, N_5, N_6	2/1			
5	$N_{3C}, N_{4C}, N_{5C}, N_{6C}$	40/1			
6	P_7, P_9	6/1			
7	P_8, P_{10}	60/1, M = 2			
8	N7, N8	1.6/1			
9	N _{7C} , N _{8C}	32/1			
10	Load C _L	15 pF			
11	I _{Bias}	20 nA			

Table 1 Component size used for BD-SC-CM-OTA



Fig. 3 AC sweep response to yield gain, phase, GBW, PM of this OTA



Fig. 4 Effect of device process corners on gain and phase plots under AC sweep circuit setup

This OTA has ensured reduced gain variation lying in the range of 65.5 dB for SF to 75 dB for FS corner. Its GBW varies in the range of 4.3 kHz (SF) to 12 kHz (FS), and phase margin varies in the range of 64° (FS) to 86° (SF). This reasonably high PM range has ensured its stable operation under all process corners.

Figures 5 and 6 show the CMRR plot and positive rail PSRR₊ as well as negative rail PSRR₋ under AC analysis. It ensured the CMRR, PSRR₊, and PSRR₋ of 100 dB, 75 dB, and 86 dB, respectively. A high CMRR and PSRRs are desirable to reduce the effect of stray noise produced in SoC chips. It increases the output versus input signal-to-noise ratio of low-amplitude desired signal which is generally buried within stray noise of comparable amplitude.

Figure 7 shows input referred noise (inoise) of the OTA referred at its input bulk-terminals. The bulk-driven OTA contributes $1/\eta^2$, i.e., 9 times inoise than its



Fig. 5 CMRR of designed BD-SC-CM-OTA under AC analysis



Fig. 6 AC sweep response to yield PSRR+ and PSRR- of the designed BD-OTA

gate-driven counterpart, where η is the bulk to gate transconductance ratio $g_{\rm mb}/g_{\rm m}$ which is nearly 1/3 in 180 nm CMOS process. The inoise of this OTA is found to be 818 nV/ $\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ at 1 kHz frequency.

3.2 Simulation Under Unity Gain Configuration of BD-SC-CM-OTA

Figure 8 shows DC sweep response of this differential input and single-ended (SE) output OTA. Its output voltage showed good linearity for input common mode range



Fig. 7 Input referred contribution of BD-SC-CM-OTA



Fig. 8 DC sweep response and input common mode range of this OTA

of ± 250 mV. So, transient response with sinusoidal input of ± 250 mV peak-to-peak can insure less or acceptable total harmonic distortion (THD).

Figure 9 shows difference in V_{out} and V_{in} voltage levels as the function of DC input sweep. It showed minimum difference of -1.2 mV at 250 mV sweep, whereas its difference is 8 mV at negative-side DC sweep of—250 mV. The output offset error at 0 mV input DC sweep has been found to be 10 μ V.

Figure 10 shows pulse transient simulation of OTA in unity gain configuration. A pulse of amplitude 250 mV and frequency 500 Hz ensured positive and negative slew rates of 5.7 and 3.33 V/ms, i.e., average slew-rate of 4.5 V/ms.

Table 2 lists the simulated performances results of this single-ended output OTA.



Fig. 9 DC sweep error voltage $(V_0 - V_{in})$ voltage of BD-SC-CM-OTA



Fig. 10 Pulse transient response-based slew rates and settling behavior of BD-SC-CM-OTA

4 Application of BD-SC-CM-OTA Cells

The transconductance gain of the OTA can be tuned by slightly varying its DC bias current. This unique property of OTA facilitates possibility of off-chip tunability. The OTA can be easily connected as tunable resistor of value $1/G_m$, and this facility ensure its multi-folds usability for the design of various voltage mode and current mode analog subcircuits [25].
1		
Performances	Simulation condition	Results
Open loop gain (dB)	Load $C_{\rm L} = 15 \text{ pF}$	70.8
GBW (kHz)	do	8.6
PM (degree)	do	76
GM (dB)	do	31
CMRR (dB)	do	100 @ 1 Hz
PSRR+ (dB)	do	75
PSRR-(dB)	do	86
Inoise (nV/Sqrt Hz)	Single-ended node	818 @ 1 Hz
Slew rates (V/ms)	Single-ended unity gain mode	5.7, 3.33
THD (dB)	0.25 V peak, 100 Hz sine wave	-38
Power dissipation (nW)	$V_{\rm DD}$ and $V_{\rm SS} = \pm 0.3$ V, $I_{\rm Bias} = 20$ nA	80

Table 2 Simulated performance results of BD-SC-CM-OTA

4.1 SIMO Biquadratic Filter

The SIMO biquadratic filters provide all types of responses, say low-pass (LPF), high-pass (HPF), band-pass (BPF), band-reject (BRF), and all-pass (APF), simultaneously available at its different nodes. The second-order biquadratic filters are very frequently used in various analog signal processing applications, such as antialiasing low-pass and band-pass filters, and wide and narrow-band notch filters. Table 3 shows transfer functions of all five-generic second-order standard prototype filters [26].

Figure 11 presents the circuit schematic of a SIMO biquadratic filter using four OTA cells and two-grounded capacitors C_1 and C_2 adopted from [26]. The g_{m3} and g_{m4} cells functions as integrators, whereas g_{m1} works as adders with different feedback paths and g_{m2} presents a resistor of value $1/g_{m2}$ in between V_{HP} and V_{BP} nodes (see Fig. 11). This filter provides high-pass, band-pass, and low-pass filter functions at V_{HP} and V_{BP} , and V_{LP} nodes, respectively. The routine nodal analysis generates three main transfer functions as given by (2–4)

Filter type	Transfer function	Pass-band gain
Low-pass (LPF)	$T(s) = A_0 / [s^2 + s(\omega_0 / Q) + \omega_0^2]$	A_0/ω_0^2
Band-pass (BPF)	$T(s) = A_1 s / [s^2 + s(\omega_0/Q) + \omega_0^2]$	$A_1 Q/\omega_0^2$
High-pass (HPF)	$T(s) = A_2 s^2 / [s^2 + s(\omega_0/Q) + \omega_0^2]$	A ₂
Band-reject (BRF)	$T(s) = A_2 (s^2 + \omega_0^2) / [s^2 + s(\omega_0/Q) + \omega_0^2]$	A ₂
All-pass (APF)	$T(s) = A_2 (s^2 - s\omega_0/Q + \omega_0^2) / [s^2 + s(\omega_0/Q) + \omega_0^2]$	<i>A</i> ₂

 Table 3 Transfer functions of all generic second-order standard prototype filters

where ω_0 and Q are the pole frequency and quality factor



Fig. 11 Circuit schematic of SIMO biquadratic filter using 4-OTA cells and 2-grounded capacitors [26]

$$\frac{V_{\rm HP}}{V_{\rm in}} = \frac{g_{\rm m1}s^2/g_{\rm m2}}{s^2 + g_{\rm m3}s/C_1 + g_{\rm m1}g_{\rm m3}g_{\rm m4}/g_{\rm m2}C_1C_2}$$
(2)

$$\frac{V_{\rm BP}}{V_{\rm in}} = \frac{-g_{\rm m1}g_{\rm m3}s/g_{\rm m2}C_2}{s^2 + g_{\rm m3}s/C_1 + g_{\rm m1}g_{\rm m3}g_{\rm m4}/g_{\rm m2}C_1C_2}$$
(3)

$$\frac{V_{\rm BP}}{V_{\rm in}} = \frac{g_{\rm m1}g_{\rm m3}g_{\rm m4}/g_{\rm m2}C_1C_2}{s^2 + g_{\rm m3}s/C_1 + g_{\rm m1}g_{\rm m3}g_{\rm m4}/g_{\rm m2}C_1C_2}$$
(4)

From these equations, the attenuation factor $\alpha = \omega_0/Q = g_{m3}/C_1$ and square of angular frequency, $\omega_0^2 = g_{m1}g_{m3}g_{m4}/g_{m2}C_1C_2$ the central angular frequency and quality factor Q of band and band-reject responses are given by Eqs. (5) and (6).

$$\omega_{\rm o} = (g_{\rm m1}g_{\rm m3}g_{\rm m4}/g_{\rm m2}C_1C_2)^{1/2} \tag{5}$$

$$Q = (g_{\rm m1}g_{\rm m4}C_1/g_{\rm m2}g_{\rm m3}C_2)^{1/2} \tag{6}$$

For all the equal components design, $\omega_0 = g_m/C$ and Q = 1. The AC response of this SIMO filter has been simulated with $C_1 = C_2 = C = 1$ nF, and its response is shown in Fig. 12. This filter has yielded the central and angular frequencies of 138 Hz, i.e., 867 rad/s which ascertain the equivalent transconductance of 867 nS from (5). Increasing or decreasing the filter's capacitance, *C* by 10 folds, the central frequency also decreases or increases by 10 folds. Thus, its central frequency linearly tracks the chance in filter's capacitance *C*. The quality factor *Q* from (6) can be increased by setting the ratio C_1/C_2 . This filter has dissipated low power of 320 nW.



Fig. 12 Simulated response of SIMO biquadratic filter

4.2 Multiple Input Single Output Biquadratic Filter

Figure 13 shows a MISO type biquadratic filter which uses five numbers of g_m cells and two capacitors adopted from [26]. The one capacitor C_2 is grounded, whereas the grounding condition of C_1 depends on the type of filter response. It has three input nodes E_1 , E_2 , E_3 and a single output node V_0 .

The routine nodal analysis of the circuit sets its s-domain transfer function given by (7)

$$V_{\rm o}(s) = \frac{N(s)}{D(s)} = \frac{E_3 s^2 + E_2 g_{\rm m4} s / C_2 + E_1 g_{\rm m2} g_{\rm m5} / C_1 C_2}{s^2 + g_{\rm m3} s / C_2 + g_{\rm m2} g_{\rm m1} / C_1 C_2}$$
(7)



Fig. 13 MISO biquadratic filter using five OTAs and two capacitors [26]

Filter type	Transfer function	Simulation setup
HP	$V_{\rm o}(s)/E_3(s) = s^2/D(s)$	$E_3 = V_{\rm in}, E_1 = E_2 = 0$
BP	$V_{\rm o}(s)/E_2(s) = g_{\rm m4}s/D(s)$	$E_2 = V_{\rm in}, E_1 = E_3 = 0$
LP	$V_{\rm o}(s)/E_1(s) = (g_{\rm m2}g_{\rm m5}/C_1C_2)/D(s)$	$E_1 = V_{\rm in}, E_2 = E_3 = 0$
BR	$V_{\rm o}(s)/E_1(s) = [s^2 + (g_{\rm m2}g_{\rm m5}/C_1C_2)]/D(s)$	$E_1 = E_3 = V_{\rm in}, E_2 = 0$
ω	$g_{\rm m}/\sqrt{(C_1C_2)}$	For all $g_{\rm m}$ of equal values
Q	$\sqrt{C_2}/\sqrt{C_1}$	$Q = 1$ for $C_1 = C_2$

Table 4 Setup to obtain HP, BP, LP, band-reject (BR) responses, ω_0 and Q factor



Fig. 14 Simulated AC response of MISO biquadratic filter

The LPF, HPF, and BPF responses can be obtained from (7) by applying input signal to any one terminal and grounding remaining two-terminals as listed in Table 4. The band-reject response can be obtained by applying input signal to E_1 and E_3 nodes and grounding the node E_2 in condition of $g_{m1} = g_{m5}$.

In case of equal transconductors and $C_1 = C_2 = C = 1$ nF, all four prototypes filter's responses are simulated in their own individual circuit setup, and their combined frequency response is shown in Fig. 14. The central and notch frequencies are 138 Hz, i.e., its angular frequency $\omega_0 = 867$ Hz. Since angular radian frequency, $\omega_0 = g_m/C$, so simulated value of transconductance g_m comes out to be 867 nS. This filter dissipates the total power of 400 nW.

4.3 Low-Frequency Three-Phase Oscillators

Three-phase oscillator are required in many communication circuits and in bio-signal instrumentation testing and design. The 50–60 Hz three-phase power supply with

phase difference of 120° with each other states its example. Figure 15 shows three OTA and three shunt-connected RC network-based three-phase oscillator. To produce low-frequency oscillation, high value of *R* is desired. However, active OTA-based resistors each of value $(1/g_m)$ can replace these passive resistors (*R*) to realize a compact circuit. The transfer function between each of two adjacent nodes is given as $V_2/V_1 = V_3/V_2 = V_1/V_3 = g_m R/(RCs + 1)$. This three-stage mutually coupled circuit oscillates in the condition of $R = 2/g_m$ and resonating angular frequency $\sqrt{3/RC}$. The three generated signals V_1 , V_2 , and V_3 differ by 120° w.r.t. each other. The three resistors each of value $2/g_m$ is realized by using OTA cell of transconductance $g_m/2$. To realize such half-value transconductor, its bias current is reduced from 20 nA (OTA cell) to 10 nA (1/*R* cell) adopted from [25].

Figure 16 shows the simulated wave forms of three 120° phase-shifted outputs. Its peak-to-peak levels swings between positive and negative saturation limits, i.e.,



Fig. 15 Low-frequency three-phase oscillators using three OTAs and three RC networks [25]



Fig. 16 Low-frequency three-phase oscillatory voltage wave forms of time-period 33.33 ms



Fig. 17 Four OTA based instrumentation amplifier using gain adjusting resistor R_G and loads R_L [25]

 $\pm V_{\text{sat}}$ which is $\pm 300 \text{ mV}$ and output signal time-period and frequencies are 33.33 ms and 30 Hz for equal capacitors of value 10 nF.

4.4 OTA Based Instrumentation Amplifier

The weak-inversion biased OTA can be employed to design variable gain instrumentation amplifier to amplify very weak signal of low-frequency related to bio-medical processing. Figure 17 shows 4 OTAs based instrumentation amplifier using gain adjusting resistor R_G and two loads R_L adopted from [25]. The input differential signals, say V_1 and V_2 , are applied into the non-inverting terminals of transconductance cells g_{m1} and g_{m2} . So, these input signals experience extremely high input impedances, and their signal sources are not loaded. The first output V_{o1} available at output node of g_{m3} in case of $g_{m1}R_G \gg 1$ can be derived using routine nodal analysis as given in (8).

$$V_{\rm o1} = \frac{g_{\rm m_3} R_{\rm L} (V_2 - V_1)}{g_{\rm m_1} R_{\rm G}} \tag{8}$$

Similarly, the second output V_{o2} available at output node of g_{m4} for the case of $g_{m1}R_G \gg 1$ can be derived using routine nodal analysis as given in (9).



Fig. 18 Transient response of IA with differential input of 10 mV and gain of 5 at 200 Hz frequency

$$V_{\rm o1} = \frac{g_{\rm m_4} R_{\rm L} (V_1 - V_2)}{g_{\rm m_2} R_{\rm G}} \tag{9}$$

Thus, two-appositive polarity signals are available at outputs of g_{m3} and g_{m4} cells. For equal transconductors, the output voltages depend upon the ratio of R_L and R_G . This IA has been applied with two independent sinusoidal input sources V_2 and V_1 of amplitude 10 and 5 mV having equal frequency of 200 Hz. To ensure $g_m R_G \gg 1$, the R_G is taken as 20 M Ω and $R_L = 200 M\Omega$ which sets a gain of 10 from (8, 9). So, for the differential input of 5 mV amplitude, outputs V_1 and V_2 each of amplitude 50 mV are desired. The simulated single-ended and fully differential outputs are shown in Fig. 18.

The transient sinusoidal simulation has ensured nearly 44 mV amplitude for V_1 , V_2 , and fully differential output is of amplitude 88 mV. For a required value of R_G as per the criteria ($g_{m1}R_G \gg 1$), the gain of IA can be increased by increasing load R_L .

5 Conclusions

This paper has presented the design aspects of a gain enhanced bulk-driven balanced self-cascode load single-ended output OTA biased in weak-inversion region for its ultra-low-power consumption. It has offered open loop gain, GBW, and phase margin of 70.8 dB, 8.6 kHz, and 76°, respectively, with load capacitor of 15 pF. This OTA has been utilized to design a SIMO and MISO types biquadratic filters, three-phase oscillator, and an OTA-based instrumentation amplifier suitable for bio-medical signal processing.

Acknowledgements This work has been performed using the resources of PG Lab2 of ECE Department of NERIST, Nirjuli using Tanner EDA tool of version 16.1 provided under TEQIP-II project funded by Department of Information Technology, Ministry of Communication, and Information Technology Government of India at NERIST, Nirjuli, Arunachal Pradesh, 791109, India.

References

- 1. K. Lundager, Z. Behzad, M. Tohidi, J.K. Madsen, F. Moradi, Low power design for future wearable and implantable devices. J. Low Power Electron. Appl. **6**(4), 1–26 (2016)
- F. Khateb, S.B.A. Dabbous, S. Vlassis, A survey on non-conventional techniques for low-voltage, low-power analog circuit design. J. Radio Eng. 22, 415–427 (2013)
- 3. P. Shetty, S. Bhat, A survey of circuit level techniques for designing ultra low power, low frequency OTA. Int. J. Comput. Inf. Technol. 03, 1274–1279 (2014)
- 4. A. Guzinski, M. Bialko, J.C. Matheau, Body driven differential amplifier for application in continuous-time active-C filter, in *Proceedings of European Conference on Circuit Theory and Design (ECCTD)* (1987), pp. 315–320
- B.J. Blalock, P.E. Allen, G.A. Rincon-Mora, Designing 1-V op amps using standard digital CMOS technology. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. II Analog Digital Sig. Process. 45(7), 769–780 (1998)
- S. Chatterjee, K.P. Pun, N. Stanic, Y. Tsividis, P. Kinget, Analog Circuit Design Techniques at 0.5 V (Springer, New York, 2007), pp. 1–156
- T. Kulej, F. Khateb, Design and implementation of sub 0.5-V OTAs in 0.18-μm CMOS. Int. J. Circ. Theor. Appl. 46(6), 1129–1143 (2018)
- A. Yodtean, A. Thanchayanont, Sub 1-V highly linear low power class AB bulk driven tunable CMOS transconductor. Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process. 75, 383–397 (2013)
- R.G. Carvajal, J. Ramirej-Angulo, A.J. Lopez-Martin, A. Torralba, J.A. Gomez Galan, A. Carlosena, F.M. Chavero, The flipped voltage follower: a useful cell for low-voltage, low-power circuit design. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. I Regul. Pap. 52, 1276–1291 (2005)
- G. Raikos, S. Vlassis, 0.8 V bulk-driven operational amplifier. Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process. 63, 425–432 (2010)
- H. Aziza, E. Bergeret, J.-M. Portal, O. Ginez, A novel low power oriented design methodology for analog blocks. J. Low Power Electron. 4, 1, 60–67 (2008)
- 12. T. Kulej, 0.5-V bulk-driven CMOS operational amplifier. IET Circ. Dev. Syst. 7, 352–360 (2013)
- R. Wang, R. Harajani, Partial positive feedback for gain enhancement of CMOS OTAs, in *Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing*, vol. 8 (Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, Netherland, 1995), pp. 21–35
- T. Sharan, V. Bhadauria, Ultra-low-power bulk and gate-driven, class AB, subthreshold transconductor, in 2nd International Conference on Signal Processing and Integrated Networks (2015), pp. 921–926. http://doi.org/10.1109/SPIN.2015.7095336
- K.R. Laker, W.M.C. Sansen, *Design of Analog Integrated Circuits and Systems*, International Edition, Chap. 6 (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1994), pp. 577–587
- T. Sharan, V. Bhadauria, Fully differential operational transconductance amplifier with enhanced phase margin and gain for ultra-low-power circuits. J. Low Power Electron. Appl. 13(3), 520–535 (2016)
- L.H.C. Ferreira, T.C. Pimenta, R.L. Moreno, A low-voltage ultra-low-power weak-inversion composite MOS transistor: concept and applications. IEICE Trans. Fundam. Commun. Electron. Inf. Syst. E85-A/B/C/D, 1–6 (2002)
- L.H.C. Ferreira, T.C. Pimenta, R.L. Moreno, An ultra-low-voltage ultra-low-power CMOS Miller OTA with rail-to-rail input/output swing. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. II Express Briefs 54(10), 843–847 (2007)

- L.H.C. Ferreira, S.R. Sonkusale, A 60-dB gain OTA operating at 0.25-V power supply in 130-nm digital CMOS process. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. I Regul. Pap. 61, 1609–1617 (2014)
- E.D.C. Cotrim, L.H.C. Ferreira, An ultra-low-power CMOS symmetrical OTA for lowfrequency Gm-C application. Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process. 71, 275–282 (2012)
- L. Magnelli, F.A. Amoroso, F. Crupi, G. Cappuccino, G. Iannaccone, Design of a 75-nW, 0.5-V subthreshold complementary metal–oxide–semiconductor operational amplifier. Int. J. Circ. Theor. Appl. 42, 967–977 (2014). http://doi.org/10.1002/cta.1898
- X. Lv, X. Zhao, Y. Wang, D. Jia, Super class AB-AB bulk-driven folded cascode OTA. Integr. VLSI J. 63, 196–203 (2018)
- H. Veldandi, R.A. Shaik, An ultra-low-voltage bulk-driven analog voltage buffer with rail-torail input/output range. Circ. Syst. Sig. Process. 36(12), 4886–4907 (2017)
- T. Sharan, P. Chetri, V. Bhadauria, Ultra-low-power bulk-driven fully differential subthreshold OTAs with partial positive feedback for G_m-C filters. Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process. 94(3), 427–447 (2018)
- 25. T. Parveen, A Textbook of Operational Transconductance Amplifier and Analog Integrated Circuits (I.K. International Publishing House, New Delhi, 2010), pp. 1–280
- 26. K.L. Su, Analog Filters, 2nd edn. (Kluwer Academic Publishers, New York, 2002)

Low-Power MISO Biquadratic Filter and Diode-Less Full Wave Rectifier Using CM-BD-MO-OTA for Bio-signals



Tripurari Sharan 💿 and Akho John Richa 💿

1 Introduction

The continuous shrink in size of CMOS technology has reduced the DC bias voltage, silicon dioxide thickness and intrinsic gain of CMOS devices which necessitates the design of low-voltage ultra-low-power circuits for safe operation without thermal break down of the mixed SoC chip. For such low-voltage devices near rail-to-rail input, common mode range and maximized output signal swing become essential requirement [1].

Most of the SoC chips have both analog and digital parts embedded within it. The digital circuits function satisfactorily at voltage level below 0.6 V but same is not true for the analog circuit parts. This happens because of the threshold voltage overhead conditions in case of gate-driven MOS transistors; to mitigate this problem, bulk-driven MOS transistors (BD-MOST) techniques are preferred in place of gate-driven method. BD-MOST has the advantage that the small-signal voltage applied to the bulk of the transistor does not encounter the threshold voltage of MOSFETs in its signal path, so a low voltage of 0.6 V or even below it can be used as power supply for various analog circuits designed using bulk-driven MOSFET [2–12].

With the emerging market of small portable devices such as sensors, biomedical implants, testing and design of biomedical instruments the low-power analog circuit design has become essential for these battery-powered devices to run for a longer period of time on a single charge [13, 14]. In conditions where very low-power budget is available, the subthreshold (or weak inversion) operation of MOSFET is preferred over strong inversion operation. The weak inversion and bulk-driven topology is a suitable choice to process low-frequency signals with ultra-low-power budget [15, 16].

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_40

443

T. Sharan (🖂) · A. J. Richa

ECE Department, North Eastern Regional Institute of Science and Technology, Deemed to be University, Nirjuli, Arunachal Pradesh 791109, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

Operational transconductance amplifier is an important building block for analog circuit design, and it is widely employed as the input core of various analog active blocks, such as op-amp, current conveyors and current feedback amplifiers (CFOAs). For biomedical signal processing, a number of bulk-driven OTA structures operating in subthreshold region have been proposed [2–20], where main challenge is to achieve considerable open-loop gain with the modest unity gain bandwidth (GBW) and slew rate (SR) as bio-signals are generally of weak amplitude confined within the frequency range of 0.1 Hz to 1 kHz [21].

In the bio-signal processing chain, the low-noise analog instrumentation amplifiers to amplify and full wave rectifier for wave shaping are required [22–24]. The half wave and full wave rectifiers are required in analog signal-processing applications such as instrumentations, measurement, control systems [25], sensor interfaces and power converters [26]. Biomedical signal processing is also an emerging field where low-voltage low-power full wave rectifiers are used [27].

The passive diode rectifiers are not suitable for processing extremely low-voltage signals, mainly because of the diode's cut-in voltage limitations (which is 0.7 V/0.3 V for Si/Ge-diodes), which can be mitigated by using high-gain active amplifiers in feedback loop to assist rectification operation at low-voltage levels [25, 28]. These circuits also need some diodes with op-amps, positive second-generation current conveyor (CCII+) cells, current feedback operational amplifier (CFOA) cells, etc. Some authors have reported diode-less rectifiers based on active devices such as operational amplifiers (OAs), OTAs, CCII and current-controlled current conveyors (CCCII) [29] in the past literature [25, 27, 30].

This chapter presents the low-power diode-less full wave rectifiers [28] and multiple input single output (MISO)-type biquadratic filter using bulk-driven current mirror load multi-output OTA (BD-CM-MO-OTA) [31–33]. Figures 1 and 2 show the symbol and full circuit structure of fully differential multiple-output OTA used to design the full wave rectifier and MISO filter. It has a bulk-driven differential input



Fig. 1 Block-level circuit of BD-SC-CM-OTA



Fig. 2 Circuit schematic of BD-SC-CM-MO-OTA

with three output, namely V_{o1} first positive output, V_{o2} second positive output and V_{o3-} being the negative polarity output.

The rest of this chapter is organized in following sections. The circuit description of proposed BD-CM-MO-OTA and its simulation results are presented in Sects. 2 and 3. Section 4 presents its applications as LV-LP diode-less full wave rectifiers and MISO biquadratic filter. The conclusions are drawn in Sect. 5.

2 Circuit Schematic of Current Mirror Bulk-Driven MO-OTA

Figure 1 presents the block-level structure of this gain-enhanced bulk-driven selfcascode balanced-current mirror load multiple output OTA (BD-SC-CM-MO-OTA) biased in weak inversion. The pMOS input pair P_5 , P_6 is source-driven by using two-FVFs and bulk-driven by applying input signal into its bulk-terminals [34]. The anti-phase inputs into FVF and concerned pMOS input transistor are set to add these two generated drain currents in same phase which increases the overall bulk-driven transconductance (g_{mb}) by two times [35]. So, overall transconductance contributed by input pair side becomes $2g_{mb}$. The bottom side the self cascode (SC) pairs (N_7 , N_{7C}) and (N_8 , N_{8C}) form the partial positive feedback (PPF) current starving network which further increases the transconductance by 1/(1 - K) times [34], where K (set to 0.75) is the ratio of current distribution ($\beta/\alpha < 1$) in between PPF and diode-connected nMOS load. In this case, the effective transconductance gets, further, enhanced as shown in (1).

$$G_{\rm m}(\text{effective}) = 2g_{\rm mb}/(1-K) \tag{1}$$

The three self-cascode current mirrors CM_1 , CM_2 and CM_3 each of current mirror ratio (1:1) ensure single-ended output node of extremely high output resistance to offer open-loop low-frequency gain of 72 dB. Similarly, multiple outputs nodes are generated by using different CMs to obtain duplicated positive node V_{o2} and one more negative output node V_{o3-} .

Figure 2 shows overall circuit schematic of this BD-SC-CM-MO-OTA. It has been biased using dual-power supply of ± 0.3 V in weak inversion of operation, and current sources in flipped voltage follower (FVF) section are set to 20 nA by using I_{Bias} current source, matched N_{B} , N_1 and N_2 pMOS transistors, each of same aspect ratio. The input signal when applied into the bulk terminals of P_1 and P_2 is conveyed to their corresponding source terminal by the FVF action. Further, this voltage is conveyed to source terminals of P_5 and P_6 . The input signal is also applied into the bulk terminals of P_5 and P_6 with opposite polarity. Thus, P_5 and P_6 are simultaneously bulk and source-driven and offer twofold of transconductance. The drain currents of P_5 is fed to two parallel path, αi_1 parts into SC-current mirror CM₁ and βi_1 parts into PPF SC-composite pair transistors N_7 and N_{7C} to ensure current starving which, further, enhances transconductance by 1/(1 - K), i.e., four times as stated in block-level descriptions [19, 36, 37]. The same is applied for right part of the input pair. Three SC-current mirrors comprised of $(N_3, N_{C3} \text{ and } N_4, N_{4C}), (N_5, N_{53} \text{ and } N_{53}, N_{53} \text{ and } N_{53} \text{ an$ N_{5C} and N_6 , N_{6C}) and $(P_7, P_8$ and $P_9, P_{10})$ ensure single-ended output node (V_9) of extremely high output impedance. The load capacitor used is 15 pF. This circuit is self-load compensated, so additional compensation capacitor for this single-stage balanced OTA is not required. Furthermore, this circuit in fully differential mode is comprised of six-branches structure, and its DC level at output nodes are pre-defined, so the common mode feedback circuit is not essential requirement, and it is not used [24, 38].

The output impedance (r_0) and low-frequency voltage gain (A_v) are given by (2)

$$r_{\rm o} = (g_{\rm mP_{10}} r_{\rm oP_{10}} r_{\rm oP_{9}} \| g_{\rm mN6C} r_{\rm oN6C} r_{\rm oN6}) \text{ and } A_{\rm v} = g_{\rm mp_1} r_{\rm o}$$
(2)

where g_{mi} and r_{oi} present the transconductance gain and output resistance of the concerned CMOS devices [22–24]. The simple bulk-driven OTA contributes the open-loop voltage gain of 24 dB only. The FVF-based input core has increased its gain by 6 dB and PPF network by four times which has contributed a gain rise of 12 dB over bulk-driven simple structure. Further, the self-cascode load has increased its gain by 34 dB, so, overall open-loop gain for single-ended output node is about 72 dB. So, it has offered fully differential open-loop voltage gain of 78 dB.

3 Simulation Results

To validate the applicability of SC-CM-BD-MO-OTA, its own performances and three applications, i.e., full wave rectifiers, MISO filter and instrumentation amplifier (IA) are designed and simulated in standard 180 nm CMOS process using Tanner

Table 1 Component size used for BD-SC-CM-MO-OTA	S. No.	Component name	Device size (W/L) , $(\mu m/\mu m)$, $M = 1$
	1	P_1, P_2, P_5, P_6	10/0.6
	2	$N_{\rm B}, N_1, N_2$	5/1
	3	<i>P</i> ₃ , <i>P</i> ₄	20/0.6
	4	N_3, N_4, N_5, N_6	2/1
	5	N _{3C} , N _{4C} , N _{5C} , N _{6C}	40/1
	6	P7, P9	6/1
	7	P_8, P_{10}	60/1, M = 2
	8	N7, N8	1.6/1
	9	N _{7C} , N _{8C}	32/1
	10	$M_{\rm n}, M_{\rm p}$	40/0.5 and 80/0.5
	11	Load CL	15 pF
	12	RL	1.2 MΩ
	13	I _{Bias}	20 nA

EDA simulation tool. This OTA is biased using dual-power supply of ± 0.3 V at 20 nA bias current. All the MOSFETs are biased to operate in subthreshold region. The drain/source currents of CMOS transistors are exponential function of input voltage, like to the BJT, and their transconductance gain $(G_m = I_{DS}/nU_T)$ is proportional to their DC operating-point bias current, where *n* is the subthreshold slope factor (n_p for pMOS and n_n for nMOS transistors) and U_T is the thermal voltage (25.6 mV at 300 K) which shows very weak dependency on temperature [12]. Table 1 lists the size of the devices used in these implementations.

3.1 Simulations in Open-Loop Configuration

The AC analysis for open-loop gain and phase response of this OTA is shown in Fig. 3; the open-loop fully differential (FD) gain, GBW, phase margin (PM) and gain margin (GM) as obtained from simulations are 78 dB (at 1 Hz), 13.5 kHz, 63° and 31 dB, respectively, while consuming total power of 104 nW.

Figure 4 shows the effect of device corner variations (TT, FF, SS, FS, SF) on fully differential gain and phase response of this SC-CM-BD-MO-OTA, where the open-loop FD gain is found to be varying in range of 70–81 dB for different device corners.

Figures 5 and 6 show the single-ended (SE) output version of CMRR plot and positive rail PSRR as well as negative rail PSRR under AC analysis. It ensured the CMRR, PSRR+ and negative-line PSRR of 100 dB, 75 dB and 86 dB, respectively. A high CMRR and PSRRs are desirable to reduce the effect of stray noise produced



Fig. 3 AC sweep response to yield FD gain, phase, GBW and PM and GM of BD-OTA



Fig. 4 Effect of device process corner on FD gain and phase plots under AC sweep response setup

in SoC chips [21]. It increases the SNR of desired signal of low amplitude buried within stray noise of comparable amplitude [24].

The input-referred noise (Inoise) of the OTA in single-ended output configuration is found to be 818 nV/ $\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ at 1 kHz frequency, as shown in Fig. 7. Its Inoise is 9 times more as compared to gate-driven circuit since gate g_{m} is 3 times of bulk g_{mb} in 180 nm CMOS process [6].



Fig. 5 AC sweep response to yield CMRR of the designed BD-OTA



Fig. 6 AC sweep response to yield PSRR+ and PSRR- of the designed BD-OTA

3.2 Simulation Under Unity Gain Configuration of BD-CM-MO-OTA

Figure 8 shows DC sweep response plots, i.e., positive polarity FD voltage, $(V_o - V_{o-})$, and negative polarity FD voltage, $(V_{o-} - V_o)$, for SC-CM-BD-OTA. This DC sweep has been simulated in unity gain configuration of fully differential OTA using four numbers of resistors each of 10 k Ω [36].

Figure 9 shows the single-ended output node-based error voltage $(V_{o1} - V_{in})$ in DC sweep simulation setup for single-ended output node of V_{o1} . It has shown good linearity for input common mode range of ± 200 mV. So, sinusoidal amplitude up to the 200 mV can ensure good linearity and less total harmonic distortion (THD).



Fig. 7 Inoise contribution of BD-CM-MO-OTA



Fig. 8 DC sweep response and input common mode range of the designed FD-BD-SC-CM-MO-OTA

Figure 10 shows transient response when pulse of 250 mV amplitude of 500 Hz frequency is applied to non-inverting terminal in unity gain configuration of OTA. The output pulse in single-ended output case has ensured the positive and negative slew rates of 5.7 and 3.33 V/ms. However, equal positive and negative sloping rates for fully differential case are found to be 40 V/ms (figure is not placed for FD cases). Thus, average slew rates for SE and FD conditions are 4.5 and 40 V/ms.

Table 2 lists simulation results of this BD-MO-OTA. It shows some of results, say gain, GBW, PM and GM in fully differential mode, some others, say CMRR, PSRRs, Inoise in single-ended mode, THD and slew rates are simulated in unity gain configuration of FD-OTA. To convert a FD-OTA into unity gain mode, four equal resistors each of 10 k Ω are used. Two resistors are used in positive output to



Fig. 9 DC sweep error voltage of BD-MO-OTA in single-ended output condition



Fig. 10 Pulse transient response-based slew rates and settling behavior of BD-MO-OTA for its single-ended output node mode

inverting input path, and remaining two are used in negative output to non-inverting input path to ensure 100% negative feedback of both the output nodes [38]. However, its slew rates are simulated for both of SE and FD cases. It has shown quite symmetric positive and negative slew rates in FD configuration.

Table 2 Simulated performance results of	Performances	Simulation condition	Results
BD-SC-CM-MO-OTA	FD gain (dB)	$[(V_{o+}) - (V_{o-})]$, Load $C_{L} = 15 \text{ pF}$	78
	FD GBW (kHz)	do	13.5
	FD PM (°)	do	63
	GM (dB)	do	31
	SE CMRR (dB)	do	100
	SE PSRR+ (dB)	do	75
	SE PSRR- (dB)	do	86
	Inoise (nV/Sqrt Hz)	Single-ended mode	818
	Slew rates (V/ms)	Single-ended mode	5.7, 3.3
	Slew rates (V/ms)	Fully differential mode	40, 40
	THD (dB) unity gain	0.25 V peak, 100 Hz sine wave	-38
	Power dissipation (nW)	$V_{\rm DD}$ and $V_{\rm SS} = \pm 0.3$ V, $I_{\rm Bias} = 20$ nA	104

4 Applications of BD-CM-MO-OTA Cells

Multiple output OTAs are usable in SIMO and MISO filters containing minimum numbers of active cells, FD-OTAs-based integrators, rectifiers, instrumentation amplifiers, etc. FD output versions provide noise immunity due to extremely high CMRR and reduced THD due to even harmonic cancelations. So, the designed MO-OTA can be used in several applications.

4.1 Diode-Less Full Wave Rectifier

Figure 11 shows MO-OTA-based full wave rectifier which does not need diodes. It uses a differential input and three-outputs-type OTA, say SC-CM-BD-MO-OTA used in this work. Two similar polarity outputs are V_{o1} and V_{o2} , and the third one is an anti-phase output, say $V_{o3} = -V_{o1} = -V_{o2}$. It uses two controlling switches made of CMOS devices M_n and M_p and one load resistor R_L of value 1.2 M Ω . The single-ended input V_{in} generates positively saturated, $+V_{sat}$ (0.3 V), and negatively saturated, $-V_{sat}$ (-0.3 V), voltage levels at V_{o2} node in positive and negative cycles of input signal, respectively [27, 28]. Thus, during positive half-cycle M_n is ON and M_p is OFF and vice versa during negative half of input cycle. But, during both the cycles, the load current flows in same direction and full wave rectified output voltage appears across its load R_L .

Figure 12 shows simulated results of full wave rectifier when a sine wave input of 1 Hz frequency and 20 mV amplitude is applied in single-ended input configuration.



Fig. 11 MO-OTA-based non-inverting full wave rectifier



Fig. 12 Simulated result of SC-CM-BD-MO-OTA-based non-inverting FWR

The input, V_{o2} , and output wave forms are shown in Fig. 12. It can rectify sine wave input of frequency range 1–500 Hz and amplitude range 100 μ V to 30 mV with good accuracy. The aspect ratio of switches M_n and M_p are of values 40 μ m/0.5 μ m and 80 μ m/0.5 μ m, respectively, with load $R_L = 1.2$ M Ω .

Figure 13 shows the circuit schematic of inverting FWR, in which nMOS switch M_n is driven by negative output V_{o3-} , and pMOS switch M_p is driven by positive V_{o1} signals, and common gates of switches are driven by positive output V_{o2} . This circuit works as inverting FWR [28, 30].

Figure 14 shows output of negative peak rectifier with switching MOS sizes of $M_{\rm n} = 40 \,\mu$ m/0.5 μ m and $M_{\rm p} = 80 \,\mu$ m/0.5 μ m.

Figures 15 and 16 show the DC transfer characteristics of non-inverting and inverting FWR circuits which depict the maximum processing amplitude limit of these rectifiers, and it is limited to 30 mV [39].



Fig. 13 Simulated result of SC-CM-BD-MO-OTA-based current mode inverting FWR



Fig. 14 Simulated result of SC-CM-BD-MO-OTA-based current mode inverting FWR

4.2 MISO Biquadratic Filter Using BD-MO-OTA

The designed MO-OTA can be applied to achieve voltage mode and current mode MISO and SIMO types of low-power low-frequency biquadratic filters usable for biosignal processing [31–33]. This SC-CM-BD-MO-OTA has been utilized to design a voltage mode biquadratic filter which provides band pass (BP), low pass (LP), high pass (HP), band reject (BR) and all pass (AP) MISO-type filters as shown in Fig. 17 [31]. This filter is comprised of one BD-MO-OTA (g_{m3}) which contains two positive and one negative output nodes and four numbers of single-ended output transconductors, namely g_{m1} , g_{m2} , g_{m4} and g_{m5} . The OTA cells g_{m4} and g_{m5} are configured as resistors of values $1/g_{m4}$ and $1/g_{m5}$, respectively. This MISO filter contains three inputs V_{in1} , V_{in2} , V_{in3} and a single output node V_{out} .



Fig. 15 DC transfer curve current mode non-inverting FWR



Fig. 16 DC transfer curve current mode non-inverting FWR

This MISO filter is to be separately programmed for each type of filter response. Table 3 lists the transfer functions of all five standard generic prototype responses and circuit setup conditions for MISO-type filter.

The routine nodal analysis of this MISO filter can be performed to get its overall transfer function as shown in (3)

$$V_{\rm o}(s) = \frac{N(s)}{D(s)} = \frac{V_{\rm in3}g_{\rm m3}C_1C_2s^2 - V_{\rm in2}C_1g_{\rm m2}g_{\rm m3}s + V_{\rm in1}g_{\rm m1}g_{\rm m2}g_{\rm m3}}{g_{\rm m4}(s^2C_1C_2 + sC_1g_{\rm m3} + g_{\rm m2}g_{\rm m3}g_{\rm m4})}$$
(3)

where $g_{m3} = g_{m4}$ has been considered. The (3) can be rearranged to (4)



Fig. 17 MISO-type biquadratic filter using single three-output BD-MO-OTA and four SE OTAs [31]

Filter-type	Standard-generic transfer function	Pass-band gain	Circuit set-up for MISO
LPF	$A_{\rm o} / \left(s^2 + \omega_{\rm o} s / Q + \omega_{\rm o}^2 \right)$	$A_{\rm o}/\omega_{\rm o}^2$	$V_{in1} = V_{in},$ $E_2 = E_3 = 0$
HPF	$A_2s^2/\left(s^2+\omega_0s/Q+\omega_0^2\right)$	A ₂	$V_{in3} = V_{in},$ $V_{in1} = V_{in2}$ = 0
BPF	$A_1s / \left(s^2 + \omega_0 s / Q + \omega_0^2 \right)$	$A_1 Q / \omega_0^2$	$V_{in2} = V_{in},$ $V_{in1} = V_{in3}$ = 0
BRF	$A_2(s^2 + \omega_0^2) / (s^2 + \omega_0 s / Q + \omega_0^2)$	<i>A</i> ₂	$V_{in1} = V_{in3}$ $= V_{in}, V_{in2}$ $= 0$
APF	$A_2(s^2 - \omega_0 s / Q + \omega_0^2) / (s^2 + \omega_0 s / Q + \omega_0^2)$	<i>A</i> ₂	$V_{in} = V_{in2} =$ $V_{in3} = V_{in}$ and $g_{m3} =$ $g_{m5} = g_m$

 Table 3
 Standard generic transfer functions and circuit setup for MISO filter

where ω_0 and Q are the pole frequency and quality factor

$$V_{\rm o}(s) = \frac{N(s)}{D(s)} = \frac{V_{\rm in3}s^2 - V_{\rm in2}g_{\rm m2}s/C_2 + V_{\rm in1}g_{\rm m1}g_{\rm m2}/C_1C_2}{s^2 + g_{\rm m4}s/C_2 + g_{\rm m2}g_{\rm m4}/C_1C_2}$$
(4)

Comparing (4) to second-order standard transfer function given in Table 2, we can find the central angular frequency (ω_0) and quality factor (Q) for BPF and BRF



Fig. 18 Simulated responses of MISO biquadratic filter using filter capacitor C = 1 nF

to be:

$$\omega_0 = (g_{m2}g_{m4}/C_1C_2)^{1/2} \text{ and } Q = \sqrt{g_{m2}C_2/g_{m4}C_1}$$
(5)

For equal component design, if $C_1 = C_2 = C$ and equal value of each transconductors Q = 1 and $\omega_0 = g_m/C$ [31], the various responses of this filter when simulated with C = 1 nF are shown in Fig. 18. These simulations have been carried out in specific connection diagram for each response as mentioned in Table 3.

The band reject response has offered band reject deepness of -40 dB and angular notch frequency of 132 Hz, and its band pass response has offered f_L , f_H , ω_0 , bandwidth and Q of 80 Hz, 220 Hz, 132 Hz, 140 Hz and Q = 0.95, respectively, whereas the cut-off corner frequencies for LPF and HPF responses are found to be $f_H =$ 170 Hz and $f_L = 105$ Hz. This voltage-mode MISO filter has consumed total power of 384 nW. Its central and cut-off frequencies can be tuned by slightly adjusting the bias current of the concerned transconductor through its external pin.

5 Conclusion

This paper has presented a low-voltage bulk-driven subthreshold multiple-output OTA operating in weak inversion region. This OTA is utilized to implement noninverting and inverting low-voltage full wave rectifiers and MISO-type biquadratic filter. In the emerging field of biomedical single processing OTAs, rectifiers and filters are an important building block. The OTA has offered fully differential open-loop gain, GBW and phase margin of 78 dB, 13.5 kHz and 63°, respectively. The CMRR and PSSR of OTA of the designed OTA are high enough to attenuate the stray noise to a large extent. The power consumption of OTA is 104 nW. The non-inverting and inverting full wave rectifiers consumed low power of 110 nW, whereas MISO biquadratic filter consumed low power of 384 nW which is suitable for band limiting and wave shaping of biomedical signals.

References

- K. Lundager, Z. Behzad, M. Tohidi, J.K. Madsen, F. Moradi, Low power design for future wearable and implantable devices. J. Low Power Electron. Appl. 6, 1–26 (2016)
- A. Guzinski, M. Bialko, J.C. Matheau, Body driven differential amplifier for application in continuous-time active-C filter, in *Proceedings of European Conference on Circuit Theory and Design (ECCTD)* (1987), pp. 315–320
- B.J. Blalock, P.E. Allen, G.A. Rincon-Mora, Designing 1-V op amps using standard digital CMOS technology. IEEE Trans. Circuit Syst. II Analog Digit. Signal Process. 45(7), 769–780 (1998)
- S. Chatterjee, K.P. Pun, N. Stanic, Y. Tsividis, P. Kinget, Analog Circuit Design Techniques at 0.5 V (Springer, Berlin, 2007), pp. 1–156
- T. Kulej, F. Khateb, Design and implementation of sub 0.5-V OTAs in 0.18-μm CMOS. Int. J. Circ. Theor. Appl. 46(6), 1129–1143 (2018)
- F. Khateb, S.B.A. Dabbous, S. Vlassis, A survey on non-conventional techniques for low-voltage, low-power analog circuit design. J. Radio Eng. 22, 415–427 (2013)
- 7. P. Shetty, S. Bhat, A survey of circuit level techniques for designing ultra low power, low frequency OTA. Int. J. Comput. Inf. Technol. 03, 1274–1279 (2014)
- A. Yodtean, A. Thanchayanont, Sub 1-V highly linear low power class AB bulk driven tunable CMOS transconductor. Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process. 75, 383–397 (2013)
- R.G. Carvajal, J. Ramirej-Angulo, A.J. Lopez-Martin, A. Torralba, J.A. Gomez Galan, A. Carlosena, F.M. Chavero, The flipped voltage follower: a useful cell for low-voltage, low-power circuit design. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. I Regul. Pap. 52, 1276–1291 (2005)
- G. Raikos, S. Vlassis, 0.8 V bulk-driven operational amplifier. Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process. 63, 425–432 (2010)
- H. Aziza, E. Bergeret, J.-M. Portal, O. Ginez, A novel low power oriented design methodology for analog blocks. J. Low Power Electron. 4(1), 60–67 (2008)
- L.H.C. Ferreira, T.C. Pimenta, R.L. Moreno, A low-voltage ultra-low-power weak-inversion composite MOS transistor: concept and applications. IEICE Trans. Fundam. Commun. Electron. Inf. Syst. E85-A/B/C/D, 1–6 (2002)
- L.H.C. Ferreira, T.C. Pimenta, R.L. Moreno, An ultra-low-voltage ultra-low-power CMOS miller OTA with rail-to-rail input/output swing. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. II Express Briefs 54(10), 843–847 (2007)
- L.H.C. Ferreira, S.R. Sonkusale, A 60-dB gain OTA operating at 0.25-V power supply in 130-nm digital CMOS process. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. I Regul. Pap. 61, 1609–1617 (2014)
- E.D.C. Cotrim, L.H.C. Ferreira, An ultra-low-power CMOS symmetrical OTA for lowfrequency Gm-C application. Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process. 71, 275–282 (2012)
- L. Magnelli, F.A. Amoroso, F. Crupi, G. Cappuccino, G. Iannaccone, Design of a 75-nW, 0.5-V subthreshold complementary metal–oxide–semiconductor operational amplifier. Int. J. Circ. Theor. Appl. 42, 967–977 (2014). http://doi.org/10.1002/cta.1898
- R. Wang, R. Harajani, Partial positive feedback for gain enhancement of CMOS OTAs. Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, Netherland, vol. 8, pp. 21–35 (1995)
- T. Sharan, V. Bhadauria, Ultra-low-power bulk and gate-driven, class AB, subthreshold transconductor, in 2nd International Conference on Signal Processing and Integrated Networks (2015), pp. 921–926. http://doi.org/10.1109/SPIN.2015.7095336

- T. Sharan, V. Bhadauria, Fully differential operational transconductance amplifier with enhanced phase margin and gain for ultra-low-power circuits. J. Low Power Electron. Appl. 13(3), 520–535 (2016)
- T. Kulej, 0.5-V bulk-driven CMOS operational amplifier. IET Circ. Devices Syst. 7, 352–360 (2013)
- D.M. Binkley, *Tradeoffs and Optimization in Analog CMOS Design* (Wiley, Hoboken, 2008), pp. 47, 51, 62, 191, 208, 535, 538
- 22. K.R. Laker, W.M.C. Sansen, *Design of Analog Integrated Circuits and Systems*, International Edition, Chap. 6 (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1994), pp. 577–581
- 23. W.M.C. Sansen, Analog Design Essential (Springer, Netherlands, 2006), pp. 216, 257
- R. Dehghani, Design of CMOS Operational Amplifiers (Artech House, Norwood, 2013), pp. 91, 128
- M. Kumngern, K. Dejhan, High frequency and high precision CMOS full-wave rectifier. Int. J. Electron. 93(3), 185–199 (2006)
- H.-C. Chien, Full-phase operation transresistance-mode precision full-wave rectifier designs using single operational transresistance amplifier. Act. Passive Electron. Compon. 1–18 (2019)
- F. Khateb, S. Vlassis, Low-voltage bulk-driven rectifier for biomedical applications. Microelectron. J. 44(8), 642–648 (2013)
- N. Minhaj, Electronically controlled precision full-wave rectifier circuits, in 2009 International Conference on Advances in Recent Technologies in Communication and Computing, Kottayam, Kerala (2009), pp. 240–243
- S. Maheshwari, Current controlled precision rectifier circuits. J. Circ. Syst. Comput. 16(1), 129–138 (2007)
- M. Kumngern, High frequency and high precision CMOS full-wave rectifier, in *IEEE International Conference on Communication Systems*, Singapore (2010), pp. 5–8
- C.N. Lee, Multiple-mode OTA-C universal biquad filters. Circ. Syst. Sig. Process. 29, 263–274 (2010)
- 32. K.L. Su, Analog Filters, 2nd edn. (Kluwer Academic Publishers, New York, 2002)
- D.R. Bhaskar, A. Raj, P. Kumar, Mixed-mode universal biquad filter using OTAs. J. Circ. Syst. Comput. 29(10), 2050162 (2020)
- X. Lv, X. Zhao, Y. Wang, D. Jia, Super class AB-AB bulk-driven folded cascode OTA. Integr. VLSI J. 63, 196–203 (2018)
- H. Veldandi, R.A. Shaik, An ultra-low-voltage bulk-driven analog voltage buffer with rail-torail input/output range. Circ. Syst. Sig. Process. 36(12), 4886–4907 (2017)
- T. Sharan, P. Chetri, V. Bhadauria, Ultra-low-power bulk-driven fully differential subthreshold OTAs with partial positive feedback for G_m-C filters. Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process. 94(3), 427–447 (2018)
- N. Deo, T. Sharan, T. Dubey, Subthreshold biased enhanced bulk-driven double recycling current mirror OTA. Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10470-020-01689-8
- T. Sharan, V. Bhadauria, Fully differential, bulk-driven, class AB, sub-threshold OTA with enhanced slew rates and gain. J. Circ. Syst. Comput. 26(01), 1750001 (2017)
- H.-C. Chien, Full-phase operation transresistance-mode precision full-wave rectifier designs using single operational transresistance amplifier. Act. Passive Electron. Compon. 2019, 1–18 (2019)

A Multi-tiered Automatic License Plate Recognition Strategy Using YOLOv2 Detector



461

R. Shivadeep and R. Srikantaswamy

1 Introduction

Automatic license plate recognition (ALPR) is a system that intends to achieve detection and recognition of vehicle number plates without necessitating direct human intervention. It is of paramount importance in both civilian and commercial applications. This includes electronic tolling system, parking and billing automation, vehicle tracking, access control, vehicle security and law enforcement, etc.

Research in ALPR is being pursued to develop and improve upon several lacunae in the current set of methodologies in order to increase its accuracy and universality of deployment. Also, the approach toward producing a highly efficient ALPR system is unique for every country, as the number plate length, format, and environmental conditions vary widely. This is especially true in the Indian context as number plates do not follow a standardized display, and image acquisition is complicated due to interfering ambiences [1].

Typical ALPR approaches can be divided into two significant phases: license plate detection and extraction and license plate recognition. Although, a number of works further treat them as consisting four main stages: moving vehicle detection and extraction, license plate detection and extraction, character segmentation, and character recognition. Commonly used algorithms for these stages include: Haar-cascade classifiers, Lukas-Kanade optical flow approach for moving vehicle detection, preprocessing with extraction of global image and edge features for plate detection, spectral analysis for character segmentation, SVM, LDA and CNN models for character recognition, etc. Most of these techniques are ad hoc in nature and thus compromise

R. Shivadeep (🖂) · R. Srikantaswamy

R. Srikantaswamy e-mail: rsswamy@sit.ac.in

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_41

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Siddaganga Institute of Technology, Tumakuru, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,



Fig. 1 Process flow of the proposed ALPR system

universality for accuracy [5]. The proposed ALPR system uses a multi-tiered strategy (refer Fig. 1) for license plate detection and extraction using YOLOv2 object detector to segment the moving target vehicle and mobilenet-SSD (single shot detector) to localize candidate license plate ROIs, thereby reducing the search space for recognition. After the application of various morphological operations and prior knowledge for character analysis, the license plate characters are segmented for consequent recognition by a custom trained deep CNN model.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: Sect. 2 describes the YOLOv2 detector for moving vehicle detection, Sect. 3 discusses the popular single shot detection model mobilenet-SSDv2 for license plate ROI extraction, Sect. 4 elaborates on pre-processing techniques used, Sect. 5 explains prior knowledge needed for efficient character analysis, Sect. 6 details the deep CNN model employed, Sect. 7 shows the experimental results obtained, and Sect. 8 concludes the paper by discussing the key improvisations over previous works.

2 Moving Vehicle Detection and Segmentation

The goal of this stage is to detect and segment only the moving target vehicle from the input video sequence. The key challenges in this stage include motion blur induced due to the capturing of a fast moving car on a low frame rate device and the presence of other moving objects that resemble the target vehicle's pre-defined parameters such as windshield aspect ratio, frontal area, edge features, and so on. The proposed ALPR system employs the YOLOv2 (designed by J. Redmon et al.) [9] deep CNN object detection model to achieve extremely fast generalized object recognition capable of decoding the contextual information by looking at the video frame only once (hence the name 'You Only Look Once') and classify the objects into different classes accordingly (including non-vehicle objects like traffic lights, road studs, humans crossing the road, etc.).



Fig. 2 YOLOv2 architecture

YOLOv2 is an ingenious deep CNN object detection system that parses the input frame only once to establish bounding boxes with corresponding class probabilities over different moving objects after partitioning the image into distinct regions based on a non-max suppression function that avoids repeated detection of the same object, thus making it faster and more precise compared to Haar-feature cascade classifiers and R-CNN models [12].

The proposed ALPR system utilizes the high mAP and superior frame parsing rate (155 FPS) of the YOLOv2 architecture (refer Fig. 2) to improvise over the earlier works.

The network is designed to make full use of local intelligible differentia such as number and shape of tires, lamp shape, head light contour, etc., that exist in the lower layers of the CNN by applying a multi-layer feature fusion strategy. The local features go through 3×3 and 1×1 convolution layers followed by Reorg/4 for down-sampling with a factor of 2, in order to preserve the features maps in lower layers. This is followed by the fusion of local and global features to understand the nuances among different vehicle types. The repeated high-level convolution layers of size $3 \times 3 \times 1024$ are removed if the vehicles do not possess many intelligible differentia.

The bounding box added around the target vehicle in a real-time video input by YOLOv2 detector is as shown in Fig. 3.

Among the several detected moving objects in a video frame, the one with the maximum class probability (decided on the basis of proximity and frame of reference of approach towards the camera) of being the target vehicle is cropped from the image by applying the following pre-processing morphological operations sequentially:



Fig. 3 Bounding box with maximum class probability

- (1) *Throwing the image to HSV space:* This is done to separate image luminance from the color information, as color description of the vehicle needs to be preserved for license plate segmentation [2].
- (2) Adaptive threshold the HSV image: This is performed to binarize the nonbounding box regions for cropping.
- (3) Close the thresholded image (refer Fig. 4): A pair of 5×5 structuring element $\{s1, s2\}$ is applied to enlarge the boundaries of bright regions in the image (f) by probing shadowed and illuminated regions using *Hit and Miss Transform* [2] as given by the equation:

$$f \circledast \{s_1, s_2\} = (f \ominus s_1) \cap (f^c \ominus s_2) \tag{1}$$

(4) *Extract edge features of the closed image:* This is performed using a 3×3 Sobel kernel. The contiguous edges extracted are sorted based on area using the merge sort algorithm to locate the *n*th largest continuous contour representing



Fig. 4 Closed image showing different bounding boxes



Fig. 5 Cropped image of the target vehicle

the bounding box around the target vehicle with maximum class probability, using which the vehicle image is cropped out (refer Fig. 5).

3 License Plate Detection and Extraction

The proposed ALPR uses the single shot detector (SSD) model mobilenet-SSDv2 (proposed by Google) as it is relatively faster (achieves > 70% mAP at 60 FPS) and more accurate compared to R-CNN and ad hoc hybrid algorithms employing morphological operations, while being able to process the entire image in one shot by handling both region proposal and bounding box prediction by itself (thus, the name 'Single Shot Detector') on embedded processor-based applications [10]. The SSD neural network architecture performs depth-wise separable convolutions. The training phase consisting of feeding about 15,000 620 × 480 PNG images of different vehicles annotated with the tuple (*x*min, *y*min, *x*max, *y*max) describing the corner coordinates of the license plate. The convolution layer performs two sub-tasks: a depth-wise convolution to filter the relevant features and a 1×1 point-wise convolution block collectively [2]. This drastically reduces the computational latency encountered in traditional convolution approaches.

A. Network Architecture

The expansion layer branches input channels into multiple output channels. For a 24channel tensor going into the input block, the expansion layer produces a new tensor having $24 \times 6 = 144$ channels upon which the depth-wise separable convolution

Fig. 6 SSDv2 workflow



layer performs convolution before the projection layer diminishes it back into a 24-channel tensor to retain its dimensions (refer Fig. 6).

B. Loss Function

For N number of matched bounding boxes, the loss function depends on the localization loss L_{loc} and confidence loss L_{conf} functions as shown in Eq. 2.

$$L(x, c, l, g) = \frac{1}{N} (L_{\text{conf}}(x, c) + \alpha L_{\text{loc}}(x, l, g))$$
(2)

 L_{loc} is the localization loss (resembling that in Faster R-CNN) which is the smooth l1 loss between the predicted box (l) and the ground-truth box (g) parameters, which include the offsets for the center point (c_x , c_y), width (w), and height (h) of the bounding box.

C. Default Box Scale and Aspect Ratio

To predict from *m* feature maps, the *k*th feature map is used to find *Sk* (scale). Assuming the conventional values for *s*min (scale at the lowest layer) as 0.2 and *s*max (scale at the highest layer) as 0.9, and all layers as being equally spaced, the scale of default boxes is as defined by Eq. 3.

$$s_k = s_{\min} + \frac{s_{\max} - s_{\min}}{m - 1}(k - 1), \quad k \in [1, m]$$
 (3)

Fig. 7 Cropped license plate ROI



For each scale *Sk*, there are five non-square aspect ratios as given by Eq. 4.

$$a_r \in \left\{1, 2, 3, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\right\}; \quad w_k^a = S_k \sqrt{a_r}; \quad h_k^a = S_k \sqrt{a_r}$$
(4)

For a 1:1 aspect ratio (typically in a resized license plate ROI), the scale S' is obtained as defined by Eq. 5.

$$S'_k = \sqrt{S_k S_{k+1}} \tag{5}$$

Thus, there can only be 6 bounding boxes in all with different aspect ratios. For layers having 4 bounding boxes, ar = 1/3 and 3 are omitted [12].

The mobilenet-SSDv2 model ejects candidates for license plate ROI (for images with large vehicle density) based on the learned parameters from training dataset and selects the most probable ROI based on the default box scale and aspect ratio as decided by the loss function [11]. This skips the tedious processes of applying morphological operations on the segmented vehicle image to analyze edge features, area, character distribution, etc., as performed in customized hybrid algorithmic approaches [7]. The cropped license plate region tagged as being most probable by the SSD is shown in Fig. 7.

4 Pre-processing of Segmented ROI

The segmented ROI needs to be subjected to a series of morphological operations [3] in order to reduce misrecognition rate. Following are the pre-processing techniques applied on the extracted license plate ROI:

A. Grayscaling

The extracted license plate ROI is transformed inside a HSV model to preserve and isolate the color content, after which it is grayscaled (refer Fig. 8) based on the

Fig. 8 Grayscale image



intensities of RGB color channels as shown in Eq. 6.

Gray level =
$$0.299 \times R + 0.587 \times G + 0.114 \times B$$
 (6)

The **cv2.split**() method parses across the 640x480 HSV PNG image to grayscale it.

B. Contrasting and Gaussian Blurring

The character attributes in the grayscale image are accentuated by contrasting. The *White Top Hat Transform* is generated by removing the *opened* image from its original form. The *Black Top Hat Transform* is further obtained by extracting grayscale features from the *closed* form.

Let $f: E \to R$ be the grayscale image, mapping points from Euclidean space R^2 into the real line with b(x) being the structuring element.

White top hat transform is given by:

$$T_w(f) = f - f \circ b \tag{7}$$

Black top hat transform is given by:

$$T_b(f) = f - f \bullet b - f \tag{8}$$

The contrasted image is produced by subjecting every pixel value to the linear function (refer Fig. 9) as given by Eq. 9.

$$f_{\text{contrast}} = f + T_w(f) - T_b(f) \tag{9}$$

The undesired detail and noise present in the contrasted image are eliminated by blurring it with Gaussian smoothing (2D isotropic) operator having a standard 5×5 kernel (refer Fig. 10).

C. Adaptive Gaussian Thresholding

Fig. 9 Contrasted image



Fig. 10 Gaussian blurred image

Fig. 11 Thresholded image



The threshold (t) is a linear transform of weighted average of pixel intensities in the immediate neighborhood. Noisy outliers are removed, and color gradients are smoothened by inverting the adaptively binarized function (block size used is 19). Figure 11 shows the binarized image of license plate ROI [4].

5 Prior Analysis Strategies

Character contours are exploited to ease segmentation process by applying different prior analyses strategies. The OpenCV function **cv2.findcontours**() employs *Green's Theorem* (refer Eq. 10) to discover and group relevant contours into a list, by determining a line integral over the non-negative, unbroken character outline *C*, and a double integral over the ROI surface enclosed by *C*. Later, the (x, y, w, h) coordinates of bounding boxes (refer figure) are produced based on the contours, for enclosing all the character attributes extracted from the training database (refer Fig. 12). The strategy vaguely approximates bounded characters based on pre-defined attributes like corner distribution, edge features, and encompassing area [9].

$$\oint_0^c (L \, \mathrm{d}x + M \, \mathrm{d}y) = \int \int_0^D \left(\frac{\partial M}{\partial x} - \frac{\partial L}{\partial y}\right) \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \tag{10}$$

where *L* and *M* are functions of (x, y) defined on an open region containing *D* and having continuous partial derivatives.

CCA [6] with a 4×4 raster scan is applied on this image to obtain the fully annotated image showing bounding boxes around the characters (refer Fig. 13).

A. Finding List of Lists of Matching Characters

Once the contours are extracted, they are compared against an existing database of character contours to generate a list that contains lists of matching contours for all

Fig. 12 Possible characters based on contours





Fig. 14 Overlapping contours

characters. If any of the proposed contours do not match in length or attribute to the one extracted from the ROI, they are ignored from further operations.

B. Final List of Matching Characters

The most probable character for a given contour is extracted for every contour in the ROI to ultimately form a list of matching characters. This is done by parsing every character in the database for attributes like pixel density, tilt, and dimensions against the obtained parameters of character contours.

C. Removal of Overlapping Contours

Some of the characters that contain identical contours inside them need additional prior analysis in order to cut down the computational latency by repeated parsing of irrelevant contour definitions (refer Fig. 14). This is pre-dominantly observed in case of letters like D and O and for numbers like 9, 6, and 0. If overlapping contours are not segregated, the character recognition engine runs the risk of exceeding standard license plate text length by including inner and outer outlines for some characters.

6 Character Recognition

Initially, the resized 24×14 character input is parsed with a 5×5 kernel to generate $6\ 20 \times 10$ feature maps in the variable receptive field, which is followed by a 2×2 subsampling layer to reduce the feature map dimension to 10×5 , again followed by a 5×5 convolutional layer (using convolutions in higher dimensional spaces)


Fig. 15 Spatial convolutions in convolutional layer

(refer Fig. 15) in a feed-forward network trained with back propagation aiming to minimize the loss function [6]. The fully connected layer accepts 16.6×1 feature maps to classify the input among one of 35 possible alpha-numeric characters present in separate engines for numbers and alphabets. The generalization capability of the network is improved with cross-validation between training and testing datasets that are relevant to Indian license plates. Seldom used letters like 'I,' 'O,' and 'Z' are deemed as least probable if there is a tie-up between the competing characters. While padding the input, the feature units are centered on the border, and each convolution layer reduces the feature size from *n* to (n - 4)/2 [8]. The total numbers of training and testing datasets involved are 12,800 images and 1730 images, respectively.

7 Results

The proposed ALPR system performs with increased accuracy and speed, mainly because of YOLOv2 and mobilenet-SSDv2 deep CNN detectors employed in a twotier license plate extraction scheme, which is error-prone if achieved using composite ad hoc algorithms like optical flow approach or Haar-cascade classifier. The performance parameters of YOLOv2 are defined in the following execution status .cmd file (refer Fig. 16). With YOLOv2, the system's ability to swiftly and accurately detect the moving target vehicle among other objects in the frame is significantly increased to 94.55% as given by the detection parsing rate. This has an overbearing impact on the character recognition rate as well as defined by the comparatively higher recognition parsing rate of 89.90%. For cropping the target vehicle from the most optimal frame by mobilenet-SSDv2, an appreciable bounding box confidence score of 0.92 is significant.

A series of tables showing the succession of ALPR phases (in order) along with the key intermediate stages such as prior analysis techniques and morphological operations for multifarious environmental conditions viz. reflective ambience, motion blur, BG clutter, trailing shadows, and non-standard fonts is included in this section to demonstrate the efficacy of the proposed ALPR on different vehicles like cars, bikes, and auto-rickshaws.

Command Prompt	
C:\Users\Lenovo\Anaconda3\Scripts\alpr_temp>type alpr_yolo.txt	
Detection Approach: YOLO v2	
Variable Explorer List:	
vidstr = "hvcarf.mp4"	
vidlen = "00.10"	
framearray.length = "1024"	
Detection-parsing = "94.55%"	
Recognition-parsing = "89.90%"	
Overall-Bounding_Box-Score = "0.92"	
Confidence Values:	
fr_21 KA06N0084 0.90	
fr_55 KA06N00S4 0.86	
fr_61 KA06N00S4 0.85	
fr_97 KA06N0084 0.92	
fr_113 KA06N0084 0.96	
Best_Bounding_Box_Value: KA06N0084	
Highest_Confidence = "0.96"	

Fig. 16 YOLOv2 performance parameters

Figure 17 demonstrates the efficiency of YOLOv2 in identifying the moving target vehicle despite contrasting illumination above and below the license plate ROI. This is because of attaching the maximum class probability to the bounding box around the target vehicle based on parameters such as frontal area that remain invariant to lighting conditions. Also, the deep CNN detector of mobilenet-SSDv2 ignores the prefix 'IND' symbol at the beginning of the license plate character stream.

Figure 18 demonstrates the ALPR system for induced motion blur deliberately caused by erratic movement of a lower frame rate camera with poor resolution. Misrecognition of the pipe symbol (I) was by restricting the length of license plate characters to not lesser than 9 and not greater than 10 alpha-numerals.

Figure 19 demonstrates the system for a two-wheeler (implying flexible classification attributes for YOLOv2) with shadowed license plate.



Fig. 17 Results of the proposed ALPR system under contrasting illumination conditions



Fig. 18 Results of the proposed ALPR system with induced motion blur



Fig. 19 Results of the proposed ALPR system with trailing shadow regions

Figure 20 demonstrates the performance of the ALPR system on license plates having non-standard and irrelevant text format for an auto-rickshaw. The deep CNN



Fig. 20 Results of the proposed ALPR system with non-standard license plate text

character recognizer can identify the 'K' even when the letter's vertical line is missing in the list of possible contours.

8 Conclusion

The adoption of a multi-tiered ALPR strategy with YOLOv2 and mobilenet-SSD detection models is shown to be effective in counteracting several shortcomings of previous approaches that depend on regularized implementation of ad hoc techniques or hybridization of algorithms like Lukas-Kanade optical flow approach, Haarcascade classifier, Harris corner detection models, etc. The capability of YOLOv2 to detect multiple objects at once, combined with mobilenet-SSDv2's fastness over R-CNN reduce both computational latency and resource overloading factors drastically. The progressive deployment of shallow CNN with the SSD model followed by a deep CNN for character recognition narrows down the search space appreciably, thus increasing the overall speed and accuracy of the system. In lieu of applying a succession of morphological transforms at each stage of ALPR, performing prior character analyses with removal of overlapping contours in characters like D, O, 0, 9, etc., restricting the license plate text length subject to the context and region, auto-suggesting characters based on missing contours plays a crucial role in hastening the segmentation process while improving the recognition rate significantly.

References

- 1. License Plate Recognition System by Dr. R. Srikantaswamy. https://sites.google.com/site/rss wamy02/license-plate-segmentation-and-recognition
- C.N.E. Anagnostopoulos, I.E. Anagnostopoulos, I.D. Psoroulas, V. Loumos, nd E. Kayafas, License Plate recognition from still images and video sequences, a survey. IEEE Trans. Intell. Transp. Syst. 9(3), 377–391 (2016)
- A. Badr, M.M. Abdelwahab, A.M. Thabet, A.M. Abdelsadek, Automatic number plate recognition system. Ann. Univ. Craiova Math. Comput. Sci. Ser. 38(1), 62 (2011). ISSN: 1223-6934
- 4. B. Hongliang, L. Changping, A hybrid license plate extraction method based on edge statistics and morphology, in *Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Pattern Recognition* (*ICPR*), vol. 2 (2004), pp. 831–834
- 5. G.C. Lekhana, R. Srikantaswamy, Real time license plate recognition system. Int. J. Adv. Technol. Eng. Res. 23–30 (2012)
- A. Mousa, Canny edge-detection based vehicle plate recognition. Int. J. Signal Process. Image Process. Pattern Recogn. 5(3), 1–8 (2012)
- T. Panchal, H. Patel, A. Panchal, License plate detection using Harris corner and character segmentation by integrated approach from an image, in *International Conference on Emerging Trends in Communication, Control, Signal Processing and Computing Applications (C2SPCA), Proceedings in Computer Science*, pp. 419–425 (2016)
- Z. Sun, G. Bebis, R. Miller, On-road vehicle detection: a review. IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell. 28(5), 2006 (2006)

- 9. J. Redmon, S. Divvala, R. Girshick, A. Farhadi, You Only Look Once: Unified, Real-Time Object Detection, arXiv:1506.02640v5 [cs.CV] (2016)
- H. Li, C. Shen, Reading car license plates using deep convolutional neural networks and LSTMs. CoRR abs/1601.05610 (2016) [Online]. Available at: http://arxiv.org/abs/1601.05610
- 11. M.A. Rafique, W. Pedrycz, M. Jeon, Vehicle license plate detection using region-based convolutional neural networks. Soft Comput. (2017)
- 12. J. Redmon, A. Farhadi, YOLO9000: better, faster, stronger, in 2017 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR), July 2017, pp. 6517–6525

Bandwidth Enhancement of Trapezoidal Toothed Log-Periodic Antenna Using Slot Configuration



Situ Rani Patre and Satya Prakash Singh

1 Introduction

The trapezoidal toothed log-periodic antennas (TTLPAs) belong to the family of frequency independent antenna (FIA). The FIA ideally provides infinite bandwidth due to their self-scaling, self-complementary and self-similar characteristics. All three aforesaid principles are applicable to the geometry of conventional TTLPA; however, practical antenna has finite size which makes it a broadband antenna. It was discovered by DuHamel [1] in late 1950. The conventional TTLPA has symmetrical arms therefore exhibits balanced property and, hence, requires a balanced-tounbalanced transition (balun) for appropriate excitation. The finite size of antenna and requirement of balun either degrade its impedance and/or pattern bandwidth or increases its complexity due to antenna-balun integration. In our previous work [2], the performance of metallic TTLPA excited using two different configurations of planar baluns was studied. The lower and upper cut-off frequencies and, hence, bandwidth of TTLPA depend on the length of largest and shortest tooth elements. Therefore, increment in elements size or modifications in antenna geometry becomes necessary for bandwidth improvement and/or size reduction of such antennas. However, the concept of dielectric loading is utilized for bandwidth improvement of metal TTLPA without disturbing the geometry and dimensions [3]. The dielectric-loaded TTLPA (DLTTLP) is efficient for bandwidth enhancement and/or size miniaturization but the radiation pattern distorts. Also, both TTLPA and DLTTLPA have nonplanar configurations and require balun for excitation which makes it inconvenient for modern system. Furthermore, modern wireless systems require compact planar antennas, so that it can be accommodated within the limited size of devices along

S. R. Patre (🖂)

National Institute of Technology Rourkela, Rourkela, India

S. P. Singh Indian Institute of Technology (Banaras Hindu University), Varanasi, India

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_42

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

⁴⁷⁷

with other circuit components. Some planar log-periodic antennas are described in the literature but most of them are double-sided and provide unidirectional radiation pattern. In [4], a log-periodic dipole antenna fed through balun is described which provides unidirectional pattern, but its size is large. The requirement of balun is mitigated using CPW feed, but antenna size is large, and its radiation pattern is distorted [5]. CPW-fed slot antennas presented in [6, 7] are smaller in size, but the impedance matching is not good. In [8], author proposed a leaf-shaped log-periodic slot antenna that mitigates the aforementioned issues though the geometry design, and translation of such structure into other frequency range is a tedious task.

This paper aims to provide a comparative study on bandwidth enhancement techniques of trapezoidal toothed log-periodic antennas. For this study, different variants of TTLPAs designed by same author have been considered. In addition, a single-sided compact and wideband trapezoidal toothed log-periodic slot antenna (TTLPSA) is proposed, and its characteristics are described. Further, the bandwidth and geometrical property of proposed TTLPSA are compared with characteristics of earlier published TTLPAs. The proposed TTLPSA simultaneously provides wider impedance bandwidth of 8.25:1 (1.6–13.2 GHz) compared to earlier published TTLPAs. It also offers nearly stable gain and bidirectional radiation pattern over its operating bandwidth without utilizing balun.

2 Design Principle of TTLPA

The design principle of any log-periodic antenna is same as given in [1].

$$\tau = \frac{f_n}{f_{n+1}} = \frac{R_{n+1}}{R_n} \tag{1}$$

$$\sigma = \frac{r_n}{R_n} = \frac{r_n}{r_{n+1}} \tag{2}$$

where τ is geometric ratio, σ is the spacing factor, f_n and f_{n+1} are, respectively, the design frequencies of teeth of lengths R_n and R_{n+1} and r_n is the distance of corresponding tooth (R_n) from the centre. For the proposed antenna $f_{n+1} > f_n$ and $R_n > R_{n+1}$.

For this comparative study, the lowest design frequency is selected as 3 GHz, and four pair of elements is fixed. The length of largest element " R_1 " is almost $\lambda/4$ long at the lowest design frequency of 3.1 GHz. Rest of the dimension are calculated using design Eqs. (1) and (2). Three different configurations of TTLPA are considered: metal TTLPA (TTLPA), dielectric-loaded TTLPA (DLTTLPA) and trapezoidal toothed log-periodic slot antenna (TTLPSA). The geometrical dimensions of all three antennas are kept same.



Fig. 1 Trapezoidal toothed log-periodic antennas: **a** geometrical dimensions, **b** metal TTLPA, and **c** dielectric-loaded TTLPA [3]

3 Antenna Configurations

3.1 Non-planar TTLPA

The metal TTLPA and DLTTLPA fall into non-planar category due to the vertical connection of antenna and balun as shown in Fig. 1. The detailed design optimum dimensions of antenna as well as balun (i.e. microstrip-to-coplanar stripline transition) can be found in [3]. For dielectric loading, a 5 mm thick Rogers RT/duroid 6010 having relative permittivity of 10.2 and loss tangent of 0.0023 is used.

3.2 Planar TTLPA

The planar version of TTLPA utilizes the slot arrangement, and the antenna is named as trapezoidal toothed log-periodic slot antenna (TTLPSA). The proposed TTLPSA is shown in Fig. 2. It is designed on 1.6 mm thick low cost FR4 substrate having relative permittivity of 4.4 and physical size of 50.9×50.9 mm². The 50 Ω CPW feed with tapered central strip is used to excite the slot antenna at its centre (zoomed section is shown in Fig. 2b). The present configuration is inspired by half-wavelength (0.5 λ) dipole slot antenna and metal trapezoidal toothed log-periodic antenna. Owing to the configuration of slot and modified CPW feed, the proposed TTLPSA antenna has overall electrical size of only 0.27 $\lambda \times 0.27 \lambda$ at its lowest frequency of 1.6 GHz, which is slightly larger than quarter-wave antenna. In other words, the proposed antenna is very compact as compared with the conventional TTLPA.



Fig. 2 Proposed trapezoidal toothed log-periodic slot antenna: \mathbf{a} geometrical configuration along with optimum dimensions and \mathbf{b} zoom section of central region

4 Result and Discussion

Simulations study of all the discussed antennas were carried out using finite element method-based Ansys high frequency structure simulator (HFSS).

4.1 Bandwidth Comparison

Bandwidth comparison is done using -10 dB reflection coefficients. The reflection coefficient versus frequency characteristics of all three configurations of TTLPAs is shown in Fig. 3. It is seen from Fig. 3 that the proposed TTLPSA offers -10 dB reflection coefficient bandwidths of 11.6 GHz (1.6–13.2 GHz) whereas metal TTLPA and DLTTLPA provide bandwidth of 7.6 GHz (3.2–10.8 GHz) and 8.6 GHz (2.2–10.8 GHz), respectively. This comparison signifies that dielectric loading lowers the lower cut-off frequency by 1 GHz, i.e. from 3.2 GHz for metal TTLPA to 2.2 GHz for DLTTLPA. The higher value of relative permittivity of loaded material increases the effective length which reduces the operating frequency and, hence, enhances the bandwidth. Further, it is observed that the TTLPSA extends the operating frequency range towards both lower (1.6 GHz) and higher frequency (13.2 GHz) side. However, the geometrical dimensions of all TTLPAs are same that shows the proposed slot antenna has compact size compared to other antennas which are discussed. The enhancement in the bandwidth is obtained due to the proposed configuration of trapezoidal toothed log-periodic shaped slot designed on single-sided copper coated



Fig. 3 Reflection coefficient-frequency characteristics of different configurations of TTLPAs

dielectric substrate and excellent impedance matching provided by tapered CPW feed. Further, it is observed that multiple resonances occur due to multiple radiating slots of different sizes.

4.2 Current Distribution on Antenna Surface

The mechanism of multiple resonances can be easily understood through the current distributions on the surface of the proposed antenna as shown in Fig. 4 at discrete frequencies of 1.6, 4, 6, 8, 10 and 12 GHz. At lowest frequency of 1.6 GHz, the outer slots of the antenna are responsible for resonance; whereas at higher frequency of 12 GHz, the smallest elements are responsible. The portions of the slot antenna responsible for resonance accommodate higher levels of current. As frequency increases, the higher level of surface current moves from larger to smaller slot type



Fig. 4 Surface current distribution



Fig. 5 Radiation patterns

tooth element of antenna. It is due to the inverse relation of frequency and wavelength and direct proportionality between wavelength and antenna slot size.

4.3 Radiation Pattern

To understand the radiation properties, simulated radiation pattern of the proposed TTLPSA in E- and H-planes at 4, 8 and 12 GHz is shown in Fig. 5. It can be observed from Fig. 5 that both E- and H-plane patterns are bidirectional in the shape of "dumb-bell" with maximum radiation along normal (along *z*-axis) to antenna plane (xy-plane). It is interesting to note that the patterns of the antenna are smoother as compared to TTLPA and DLTTLPA.

4.4 Gain and Efficiency

Figure 6 shows the simulated realized gain and radiation efficiency of proposed antenna in broadside direction. It can be observed that the realized gain values of the



Fig. 6 Peak realized gain and total radiation efficiency

Table 1 Comparison of properties of different configurations of TTL PAs	Parameter	TTLPA [2]	DLTTLPA [3]	TTLPSA (present work)
	Aperture size	48.9 × 48.9 mm ²	48.9 × 48.9 mm ²	50.9 × 50.9 mm ²
	Impedance bandwidth (GHz)	3.2–10.8	2.2–10.8	1.6–13.2
	Peak realized gain (dBi)	1.6–5.0	1.3–5.7	2-6.0
	Geometry type	Non-planar	Non-planar	Planar
	Balun used	Yes	Yes	No

antenna lie in the range 2 (at 1.6 GHz) - 6 dBi (at 11 GHz) with more than 70% radiation efficiency over its operating frequency range.

To briefly summarize the comparative study on enhanced bandwidth of different configurations of TTLPAs, the characteristics of all three antennas are compared in Table 1. It is investigated from Table 1 that proposed slot-based TTLPA, i.e. TTLPSA offers widest bandwidth, higher gain and stable radiation patterns among all antennas considered in this study. Also, it has compact size and planar structure without requirement of balun.

5 Conclusion

Three different non-planar and planar versions of TTLPAs are compared with respect to bandwidth. The dielectric loading on metal TTLPA improves impedance bandwidth or miniaturizes the antenna size at the cost of distorted radiation pattern, whereas the slot-based TTLPA enhances the bandwidth even more without distorting radiation pattern. A single-sided planar and compact wideband trapezoidal toothed log-periodic slot antenna is presented in this paper. A bandwidth of 11.6 GHz has been obtained due to multiple resonances of different slots of the proposed antenna. The proposed configuration of slot and modified CPW feed has made the antenna compact. The maximum length of the proposed slot antenna is only 0.27 λ instead of 0.5 λ at the lowest frequency of operation. Further it has been observed that as frequency increases the smaller slots become more active and longer slots less active. The radiation patterns of the antenna are very smooth and bidirectional along with reasonable realized gain and radiation efficiency over its wide operating frequency range. These paramount properties demonstrate that the proposed TTLPSA is extremely efficient over non-planar TTLPAs.

References

- R.H. DuHamel, D.E. Isbell, Broadband logarithmically periodic antenna structures. IRE Int. Convect. Rec. 5, 119–128 (1957)
- S.R. Patre, S. Singh, S.P. Singh, Study of trapezoidal toothed log-periodic antenna fed through tapered microstrip-to-coplanar stripline transition. Microw. Opt. Technol. Lett. 57(7), 1671–1677 (2015)
- S.R. Patre, S.P. Singh, Dielectric-loaded trapezoidal toothed log-periodic antenna. Int. J. RF Microw. Comput. Aided Eng. 27(3), 1–8 (2017)
- C. Yu, W. Hong, L. Chiu, G. Zhai, C. Yu, W. Qin, Z. Kuai, Ultrawideband printed log-periodic dipole antenna with multiple notched bands. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 59(3), 725–731 (2011)
- S.H. Kim, J.H. Choi, J.W. Baik, Y.S. Kim, CPW-fed log-periodic dumb-bell slot antenna array. Electron. Lett. 42(8), 436–438 (2006)
- A. Mehdipour, K. Mohammadpour-Aghdam, R. Faraji-Dana, M.-R. Kashani-Khatib, A novel coplanar waveguide-fed slot antenna for ultrawideband applications. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 56(12), 3857–3862 (2008)
- J. Ouyang, S. Bo, J. Zhang, F. Feng, A low-profile unidirectional cavity-backed log-periodic antenna. Prog. Electromagn. Res. 119, 423–433 (2011)
- S.R. Patre, S.P. Singh, Leaf-shaped log-periodic slot antenna for broadband applications, in 2017 International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation (ISAP), 2017. https://doi.org/10.1109/ ISANP.2017.8229049

DV-EXCCCII-Based Electronically Tunable Voltage Mode All-Pass Filter



Priyanka Singh, Vikrant Varshney, Ankur Kumar, and Rajendra Kumar Nagaria

1 Introduction

Since few decades, active devices [1] are mostly used in analog signal processing. These are also used in filter, oscillator, instrumentation amplifier, inductance simulator and so on. These active blocks can be categorized as either voltage mode or current mode. In voltage mode, technique information is represented in the form of voltage, whereas in current mode, technique information is represented as current signal. Nowadays, current mode (CM) technique-based circuit design is preferred over voltage mode (VM) technique due to its inherent property of large bandwidth, high slew rate, simple circuitry, low power consumption, etc. Some of the most considered current mode active analog block is second generation current conveyor (CCII) [2–6], third generation current conveyor (CCIII) [7], current controlled current conveyor (CCCII) [8], differential voltage current conveyor (DVCC) [9–11], differential difference current conveyor (DDCC) [12–15], differential current conveyor (DCCII) [16], voltage differencing transconductance amplifier (VDTA) [17], modified current conveyor (MCCII) [18], dual-X second generation current conveyor (DXCCII) [19], fully differential second generation current conveyor (FDCCII) [20], current feedback operational amplifier (CFOA) [21], current feedback amplifier (CFA) [22], differential voltage extra-X current controlled current conveyor (DV-EXCCCII) [23], operational transresistance amplifier (OTRA) [24] and many more.

Analog filter employing these analog building blocks (ABB) enhances filter performance. Among all the filters, all-pass filter (APF) is one of the most important

V. Varshney e-mail: vikrant1551@mnnit.ac.in

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_43

485

P. Singh (🖂) · V. Varshney · A. Kumar · R. K. Nagaria

ECED, MNNIT Allahabad, Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh 211004, India e-mail: priyankasingh@mnnit.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

filter circuit. All-pass filter is needed where phase change between input and output signal is required while keeping its magnitude constant. APF is also known as phase shifter. In first order, APF phase varies from 0° to 180°. Several number of voltage mode APF using high-performance analog blocks are reported in the literature.

Proposed voltage mode APF is based on single DV-EXCCCII [25] and single capacitor. Two APF circuit can be designed from the same circuit topology only by changing position of input and output signals. Both filter circuits provide same transfer function for APF. No matching of components is required to realize filter response. Pole frequency of proposed APF can be varied by changing the bias current of DV-EXCCCII so presented filter is electronically tunable.

This paper is organized in the following manner: Introduction of proposed work is summarized in Sect. 1 of the paper. Proposed filter design and analysis is given in Sect. 2. Non-ideal analysis and sensitivities caused by these non-idealities are also discussed in this part of the paper. In Sect. 3, proposed work is compared with previously reported work. Proposed filter is verified through simulation in Sect. 4. In Sect. 5, conclusion of the work is given.

2 Proposed Filter Analysis

2.1 Circuit Implementation

The electrical symbol for DV-EXCCCII is represented in Fig. 1 and circuit implementation is given in Fig. 2.

Input and output signals relationship can be expressed by matrix given as follows.

Fig. 1 Symbol of DV-EXCCCII





Fig. 2 CMOS representation of DV-EXCCCII

where R_{x1} and R_{x2} are internal resistance of current terminals X_1 and X_2 , respectively. This resistance depends on the bias current I_0 and can be expressed as

$$R_{X1} = R_{X2} = R_X = \frac{1}{\sqrt{8\mu C_{0X}(\frac{W}{L})}I_0}$$
(2)

Here, μ is mobility of the charge carrier, C_{ox} is oxide capacitance, W/L is aspect ratio and I_0 is bias current of active block.

This DV-EXCCCII has two current terminals and two voltage terminals. Current terminals (X1, X2) are low input terminals, and voltage terminals (Y1, Y2) are high input terminals. All the output terminals (Z) of the block are high output current terminals. Plus sign (+) shows that current of X and Z terminals is in same phase and minus sign (-) shows that they are in opposite phase. As application demands, many number of Z terminals can be created.

Two circuit designs for VM all-pass filter are proposed based on DV-EXCCCII, and they are represented in Fig. 3. Both the circuits can be obtained from same circuit





configuration only by interchanging input and output signals position. Single DV-EXCCCII and single capacitor are used in both circuits to realize the response for APF. Input voltage V_{in} is applied to obtain APF output at V_{out} terminal.

For both the circuits, same transfer function will be obtained and their expression can be given as

$$\frac{V_{\text{out}}}{V_{\text{in}}} = \frac{R_X C s - 1}{R_X C s + 1} \tag{3}$$

Above expression shows that matching of components is not needed to realize voltage mode all-pass filter transfer function for both circuit configurations.

Pole frequency can be given as

$$f_o = \frac{1}{2\pi R_X C} \tag{4}$$

Phase variation for both circuits can be expressed as

$$\phi = \pi - 2\tan^{-1}(\omega R_X C) \tag{5}$$

2.2 Non-ideal Behavior

Non-ideal behavior of DV-EXCCCII is explained here. Taking non-idealities of active block into consideration, port relationship of DV-EXCCCII is modified as

where β_{11} , β_{12} , β_{21} , β_{22} are voltage transfer errors and $\alpha_{1\pm}$, $\alpha_{2\pm}$ are current transfer errors. Considering these, coefficient filter expression is modified as

For Circuit 1:

$$\frac{V_{\rm out}}{V_{\rm in}} = \frac{R_X C s - \alpha_{1+}}{R_X C s + \beta_{12} \alpha_{1+}}$$
(7)

Modified pole frequency:

$$f_0 = \frac{\beta_{12}\alpha_{1+}}{2\pi R_X C}$$
(8)

Sensitivities due to non-ideality and passive components can be given as

$$S_C^{f_0} = S_{R_X}^{f_0} = -1; \quad S_{\beta_{12}}^{f_0} = S_{\alpha_{1+}}^{f_0} = 1;$$
(9)

$$S_{\alpha_{1-}}^{f_0} = S_{\alpha_{2+}}^{f_0} = S_{\alpha_{2-}}^{f_0} = S_{\beta_{11}}^{f_0} = S_{\beta_{21}}^{f_0} = S_{\beta_{22}}^{f_0} = 0$$
(10)

It can be observed from (9) and (10) that sensitivities caused by non-idealities are low for circuit 1.

For Circuit 2:

$$\frac{V_{\text{out}}}{V_{\text{in}}} = \frac{R_X C s - \beta_{12}}{R_X C s + 1} \tag{11}$$

Pole frequency:

$$f_0 = \frac{1}{2\pi R_X C} \tag{12}$$

Sensitivities due to non-ideality and passive components can be given as

$$S_C^{f_0} = S_{R_X}^{f_0} = -1 \tag{13}$$

$$f S_{\alpha_{1+}}^{f_0} = S_{\alpha_{1-}}^{f_0} = S_{\alpha_{2+}}^{f_0} = S_{\alpha_{2-}}^{f_0}$$
$$= S_{\beta_{11}}^{f_0} = S_{\beta_{12}}^{f_0} = S_{\beta_{21}}^{f_0} = S_{\beta_{22}}^{f_0} = 0$$
(14)

It can be observed from (13) and (14) that sensitivities caused by non-idealities are zero for circuit 2.

3 Comparative Research

Several high-performance analog building blocks (ABB) are reported in the literature. Using these high-performance active blocks, many number of first-order voltage mode APF are discussed previously. In this section of the paper, comparison of presented work with previously reported work is given. In [11], differential voltage current conveyor-based first-order VM APF is reported. In this paper, two DVCC, one resistor and one capacitor are used. Matching condition is not required to realize filter response. Electronic tunable property is absent in this filter. Differential difference current conveyor-based filter is reported in [13]. This filter also uses two DDCC and four passive components due to which circuit becomes complex. Matching is not required for filter realization, and filter is not electronically tunable. Filter given in [16, 18, 19] uses single active element but passive components used are large in number. In these filters, matching of components is required for APF realization. These are not electronically tunable filters. APF reported in [14] employed two DDCC and four passive components. Component matching is required in this filter. Single FDCCII-based APF is presented in [20]. It uses single resistor and single capacitor to obtain all-pass filter response without matching constraints. Single DDCC-based filter employed one resistor, and one capacitor is reported in [15] without matching of components. In many reported work, electronically tunable property is missing.

Proposed filter is resistor-less and uses one DV-EXCCCII and single capacitor. Matching of components is not needed to obtain all-pass response. This filter is electronically tunable so response can be changed with bias current of the DV-EXCCCII. Comparison of proposed filter with already available first-order VM all-pass filters is summarized in Table 1.

References	Type of ABB	No. of ABB	No of resistor/capacitor	Matching constraints	Electronically tunable
[11]	DVCC+	2	1/1	No	No
[13]	DDCC+	2	3/1	No	No
[16]	DCCII	1	2/1	Yes	No
[18]	MCCII-	1	2/1	Yes	No
[19]	DXCCII	1	2/2	Yes	No
[14]	DDCC+	2	3/1	Yes	No
[20]	FDCCII	1	1/1	No	No
[15]	DDCC+	1	1/1	No	No
Proposed	DV-EXCCCII	1	0/1	No	Yes

Table 1 Comparison of proposed filter with previously reported filter

4 Simulation Results

To prove the analyzed theory, proposed voltage mode first-order APF is simulated taking UMC 180 nm CMOS parameters through SPECTRE simulator of CADENCE VIRTUOSO. Supply voltage ± 0.9 V is used for simulation. Proposed APF is designed for $f_0 = 3.9$ MHz using C = 50 pF. Bias current of DV-EXCCCII is taken as $I_0 = 100 \ \mu$ A, and for this value of bias current, intrinsic impedance of active block at current terminals X1 and X2 is found to be $R_{X1} = R_{X2} = 813 \ \Omega$.

Gain and phase response of filter is presented in Fig. 4. It can be seen from response that magnitude is constant with frequency variation. Phase of proposed filter is changing from 180° to 0° .

Proposed filter is electronically tunable with internal current (I_0) of DV-EXCCCII. Electronic tunable property of the filter is represented in Fig. 5. Pole frequency of







both the filter circuit configurations can be varied with internal bias current of the DV-EXCCCII. To verify this property of the all-pass filter, phase response is shown at 20 μ A, 40 μ A, 60 μ A and 100 μ A of bias current and pole frequency is obtained as 1.7 MHz, 2.8 MHz, 3.2 MHz, 3.95 MHz, respectively.

Transient behavior of the proposed APF is shown in Fig. 6. To obtain time domain response, 50 mV peak-to-peak input voltage is applied at 3.9 MHz frequency. It can be observed from response that output voltage is 900 phase shifted with input at pole frequency which verifies theoretical analysis.



Fig. 6 Time domain input and output signal of APF

5 Conclusion

In this paper, resistor-less first-order voltage mode APF using DV-EXCCCII is reported. Two APF circuits can be obtained from same configuration just by interchanging the position of the input and output signal. Single DV-EXCCCII and single capacitor are employed to realize APF without requirement of matching of components. Filter has capability of electronic tuning so frequency can be varied by changing internal current (I_0) of DV-EXCCCII. Proposed topology is simulated by taking UMC 180 nm CMOS parameters with supply voltage of \pm 0.9 V to verify theoretical analysis.

References

- 1. D. Biolek et al., Active elements for analog signal processing: classification, review, and new proposals. Radioengineering **17**(4), 15–32 (2008)
- 2. I.A. Khan, S. Maheshwari, Simple first order all-pass section using a single CCII. Int. J. Electron. 87(3), 303–306 (2000)
- 3. A. Toker et al., Supplementary all-pass sections with reduced number of passive elements using a single current conveyor. Int. J. Electron. **88**(9), 969–976 (2001)
- N. Pandey, S.K. Paul, All-pass filters based on CCII- and CCCII-. Int. J. Electron. 91(8), 485–489 (2004)
- B. Metin et al., A new all-pass section for high-performance signal processing with a single CCII. FREQUENZ-BERLIN- 57(11/12), 241–243 (2003)
- K. Pal, S. Rana, Some new first-order all-pass realizations using CCII. Active Passive Electron. Compon. 27(2) (2004)
- S. Maheshwari, I.A. Khan, Novel first order all-pass sections using a single CCIII. Int. J. Electron. 88(7), 773–778 (2001)
- S. Minaei, O. Cicekoglu, A resistorless realization of the first-order all-pass filter. Int. J. Electron. 93(03), 177–183 (2006)
- 9. J.-W. Horng, High input impedance first-order allpass, highpass and lowpass filters with grounded capacitor using single DVCC. Indian J. Eng. Mater. Sci. **17**, 175–178 (2010)
- M.A. İbrahim, S. Minaei, H. Kuntman, DVCC based differential-mode all-pass and notch filters with high CMRR. Int. J. Electron. 93(04), 231–240 (2006)
- S. Minaei, E. Yuce, Novel voltage-mode all-pass filter based on using DVCCs. Circuits Syst. Signal Process. 29(3), 391–402 (2010)
- M.A. Ibrahim, H. Kuntman, O. Cicekoglu, First-order all-pass filter canonical in the number of resistors and capacitors employing a single DDCC. Circuits Syst. Signal Process. 22(5), 525–536 (2003)
- M.A. İbrahim, S. Minaei, E. Yüce, All-pass sections with high gain opportunity. Radioengineering 20(1), 3–9 (2011)
- S. Maheshwari, J. Mohan, D.S. Chauhan, Cascadable all-pass and notch filter configurations employing two plus-type DDCCs. J. Circuits Syst. Comput. 20(02), 329–347 (2011)
- J.-W. Horng et al., First-order allpass filter and sinusoidal oscillators using DDCCs. Int. J. Electron. 93(7), 457–466 (2006)
- B. Metin, N. Herencsar, K. Vrba, A CMOS DCCII with a grounded capacitor based cascadable all-pass filter application. Radioengineering 21(2), 718–724 (2012)
- S. Maneewan et al., A voltage-mode first order allpass filter based on VDTA. Theor. Appl. Electr. Eng. 12(1), 40–46 (2014)

- B. Metin, O. Cicekoglu, Component reduced all-pass filter with a grounded capacitor and high-impedance input. Int. J. Electron. 96(5), 445–455 (2009)
- S. Minaei, E. Yuce, Unity/variable-gain voltage-mode/current-mode first-order all-pass filters using single dual-X second-generation current conveyor. IETE J. Res. 56(6), 305–312 (2010)
- S. Maheshwari, J. Mohan, D.S. Chauhan, Voltage-mode cascadable all-pass sections with two grounded passive components and one active element. IET Circuits Devices Syst. 4(2), 113–122 (2010)
- R.K. Nagaria, M. Gopi Krishna, R.K. Singh, Comparative performance of low voltage CMOS-CFOA suitable for analog VLSI. WSEAS Trans. Electron. 5(6), 226–231 (2008)
- 22. R.K. Singh, R.K. Nagaria, A comparative study of CMOS based current feedback topologies (CFAs) suitable for low voltage applications, in 2010 International Conference on Power, Control and Embedded Systems (IEEE, 2010)
- P. Singh, R.K. Nagaria, Electronically tunable DV-EXCCCII-based universal filter. Int. J. Electron. Lett. 1–17 (2020)
- C. Cakir, U. Cam, O. Cicekoglu, Novel allpass filter configuration employing single OTRA. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II Express Briefs 52(3), 122–125 (2005)

Low-Power Shift Registers Using Fully Static Contention Free Single-Phase Clocked Flip Flop



Priti Tripathi, Anum Khan, and Subodh Wairya

1 Introduction

In recent years, the power reduction has become the major aim of the digital designer to design any circuits. Downgrading the supply voltage reduces the power consumption; therefore, operating the circuit at near threshold voltage (NTV) or sub-threshold voltage reduces static and dynamic power consumption. Single-phase clocked (SPC) flip flop has been operated at NTV for ultra-low power applications.

For operating the circuit at low voltage, robustness becomes the primary factor for designing ultra-low-power flip flops. For ultra-low-power designs, static operation is preferred because dynamic nodes are highly prone or sensitive to PVT variations at low voltages. Additionally, for low power flip flops, single-phase clocked operation increases power efficiency in the near threshold voltage region, hence the inverter chain (which provides clock signal that is complemented) can be removed [1]. With voltage scaling, contention path is also eliminated in ultra-low-power FF design. Single-phase clocked FF means all clock signals are transmitted on one wire which avoids toggling of internal clock inverters, which in turn also reduces power consumption. SPC FF is considered as one of the best technologies used in digital circuit due to its reduced transistor count as well as due to its robustness nature. Various researchers have done a great deal of work in this direction but mostly conventional SPC flip flop circuits are being presented as well as analyzed by most of them. 18 T SPC FF are still lesser explored part of the SPC FF, and this acted as the motivation for working in this direction. This paper delves into the designing of shift registers using this specific 18 T SPC FF, and various simulation performance analysis has been done.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_44

P. Tripathi · A. Khan (⊠) · S. Wairya

Institute of Engineering and Technology, AKTU, Lucknow, Uttar Pradesh, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

1.1 Conventional True Single-Phase Clock (20 T) D Flip Flop

The above circuit represents the *D* FF circuit with 20 transistors operated on a singleclock signal [2]. On using this edge-triggered FF, the ripple through condition can be avoided to a large extent. Now consider the above circuit, the transistor *M*19 and *M*20 act as a reset input. When D = 0, CK = 1 then the wire from transistor *M*2–*M*6 remains floating and in this condition transistors *M*7, *M*8, *M*9, *M*15, *M*17 and *M*18 become poly biased. This operation when operated at NTV changes its behavior so power dissipation is significant. This circuit cannot be operated well at ultra-low voltages, and it is a dynamic operation means contention paths are observed in this circuit. Since this is the conventional form of flip flop, it is taken as comparison point for other implemented circuits so as to give an idea of performance improvement (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 a Circuit diagram of true single-phase clock. b Schematic of true single-phase clock

The circuit used in this paper is a master slave type which provides the better result at the triggering of the clock signal. The FF provides better power consumption and reduced gate delay and is used in various industrial applications.

Since this circuit gives unsatisfactory performance at low-supply voltage, therefore, contention free single-phase clocked flip flop having 18 transistors is explored [3]. The conventional and reference circuit are operated at different technology, and its PDP has been compared which shows that the reference circuit has better performance.

2 Contention Free Single-Phase Clocked Flip Flop

This circuit design claims to minimize the cell area and reduce the power consumption without affecting the circuit performance. The schematic of the 18 T SPC flip flop is shown in Fig. 2 [4]. At the clock edge, this D flip flop circuit transfers the input data



Fig. 2 a Circuit diagram of 18 T SPC flip flop [4]. b Schematic of 18 T SPC flip flop

to the output. As the clock edge arrives, the input does not change instantaneously but it considers the clock signal or data input just before the clock edge. Consider a case when CK = 0, D = 0.

Clock signal transits from 1 to 0, therefore when CK becomes 0, then just before 0 it was 1, therefore *M*1 transistor will be OFF. Similarly, when D becomes 0, then just before 0 it was 1, therefore *M*3 transistor becomes ON. From this result, 0 is passed from *M*3 transistor to the *M*7 and *M*9 transistor which in turn makes *M*7 transistor ON and *M*9 transistor OFF. Then, 1 is passed to *M*11 and *M*13 transistor which is a inverter which produces the output as 1 at *M*12 transistor which is also a inverter which produces the output as 1 at *M*16 transistor which is also a inverter which produces the result 1. This 1 is fed to the *M*17 and *M*18 transistor which produces the output as 0. Therefore, input D = 0 and output Q = 0 which is the definition of *D* flip flop.

This 18 T SPC FF can be operated successfully at near threshold voltage region NTV [4], and it is seen that it becomes two times more efficient than conventional flip flops. Since only 18 T is used, therefore, area has also been reduced as compared to conventional FFs. When this flip flop is operated at NTV, it is a static operation; therefore, dynamic nodes or contention paths are eliminated. Also, the area is reduced in this circuit since numbers of transistors are reduced compared to the conventional SPC flip flop.

The clock (CK) signals are transmitted on single wire that is known as singlephase clocked (SPC). This avoids toggling of internal clock inverters which in turn reduces power dissipation. The schematic of this reported 18 T flip flop circuit has been implemented and verified on Cadence Virtuoso at 90, 65 nm as well as 45 nm. It is observed that the circuit's performance is unaffected by scaling. All the four states are free from dynamic nodes or contention paths. The circuit is observed at different *D* and CK states, and its dynamic power is compared. The circuit is also checked at NTV which have a significant impact on variability and performance [4–6]. Simulated outputs are depicted in Fig. 3.

The dynamic power dissipated for each state has been calculated. It is seen that as the no. of supply is increasing power dissipation is also increasing accordingly. It is clear from table that if D = 0 then there is a less difference between the power consumption but as the D input becomes high, and the power consumption also increases. The static power does not change at this point since the operation is performed at same voltage. The dynamic power changes, when data input is not applied then there is a minute difference in the dynamic power consumption. But as the data input is applied there is vast difference in the power consumption. The same can be inferred from Table 1. This means as the loading effect increases the power dissipation also increases.

Influenced by this theory, digital designers have focused on developing the FF circuits with low power and reduced variability especially operating it in the low-voltage region [7–18]. It is evident from the results and simulation that this circuit provides low-power consumption along with reduced delay and hence is an efficient flip flop, and this provides motivation to design efficient shift registers based on contention free SPC flip flop.



(c) Waveform of Dynamic Power at D=0, CK=1

Fig. 3 Simulated waveform of 18 T single-phase clock D flip flop at different states. a 18 T SPC operation diagram at different CK and D states [4]. **b** Waveform of dynamic power at D = 0, CK = 0. c Waveform of dynamic power at D = 0, CK = 1. d Waveform of dynamic power at D = 1, CK = 0. e Waveform of dynamic power at D = 1 and CK = 1



Fig. 3 (continued)

Table 1 Analysis of dynamic power (11 W) at different D	Input	CK = 0	CK = 1
and CK inputs	D = 0	17.37	17.39
	D = 1	25.59	42.90

3 Proposed 4-bit Shift Registers Topologies

Registers are used to store the data. Number of bits stored is equal to number of flip flops used. Each flip flop can be used to store bits. By cascading n number of flip flops, one can store *n* bits of information. Shift registers are used to store the data and can also be used to shift the data from MSB to LSB (right shift) or from LSB to MSB (left shift). By cascading *n* number of flip flops registers can be implemented serially. Various shift registers can be implemented depending upon the arrangement of input and output of flip flops. With the less number of transistors and lesser load, the shift registers perform well [7]. Shift registers are sequential circuits which are synchronous that is they use same clock signal to produce the output. Serial in serial out (SISO) shift register, parallel in parallel out (PIPO) shift register and serial in parallel out (SIPO) shift register topologies have been proposed using 18 T SPC flip flop.

								_					_				۰.						-				-					-					-					-					
0	\succ	-	ve	_	-	-	-	Ð٠		ri 12	ni	ne l	•0	-	•	•	-	Ð	0	nie	n.	p'	9	_	-	-	Ð	0	6.8	i ni	op	•0	-	-	-	-	Ð	0	ni	e ei	òp'		-	-		rout	
	ч	٦¢) [T.			ck	-	-		•	1		1	•		ek		-	100		1	1	Г		- 4	0			-	1		•		-	ck	100			41.1				•		
															1										L																						
																									Ŀ																						
				1.1	1										1										1										1												
			Line	1.													1						1	2.5			1						1														
		AA	212	1																																											
				and -		•						•						٠						•										•					•						•		
			1.1	1																																											
				-																																											
				Φ.																																											
	4	-																																													

Fig. 4 Schematic of 4 bit SISO shift register

CLK	I/P bit	FF1	FF2	FF3	FF4 = Q
0	1	1	0	1	0
1	0	0	1	0	1
2	1	1	0	1	0
3	0	0	1	0	1

 Table 2
 Truth table of SISO shift register

3.1 Proposed Serial in Serial Out (SISO) Shift Register Based on 18 T SPC Flip Flop

The input given to this type of shift register is in serial manner, i.e., one bit after the other sequentially by a single data line and serial output is obtained. Because only one output is there, a serial pattern is formed when the data exits the shift register one bit at a time, therefore, the name is serial-in-serial-out shift register. The logic schematic of SISO shift register is shown in Fig. 4.

All the flip flops are connected in series, and each flip flop is synchronous to the other as each flip flop is running on the same clock signal. As it is clear from the logic diagram that input bit 1010 is fed serially from right so the shift register will shift (move) the data bit to left. The truth table of SISO shift register is shown in Table 2.

3.2 Proposed Parallel in Parallel Out (PIPO) Shift Register Based on 18 T SPC Flip Flop

The shift register which takes parallel input as well as it produces parallel output, such register is called as PIPO shift register. In this type of shift register, there is no interconnection between the flip flops because data is not shifted serially. Data is given to each flip flop input separately, and similarly, output is obtained from each flip flop separately. The logic circuit of PIPO shift register is depicted in Fig. 5.



Fig. 5 Schematic of PIPO shift register

CLK	D1	<i>Q</i> 1	D2	Q2	D3	Q3	<i>D</i> 4	<i>Q</i> 4
0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0
2	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0
3	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1

Table 3 Truth table of PIPO Shift register

All the flip flops are operated at same clock but they are not interconnected with each other. Each flip flop individually is provided with the data input, and similarly, output is obtained individually from each flip flop. The truth table of PIPO Shift register is shown in Table 3.

3.3 Proposed Serial in Parallel Out (SIPO) Shift Register Based on 18 T SPC FF

The shift register which has serial data input, i.e., one bit after the other by a singledata line and generates output in parallel, such type of shift register is called as SIPO shift register. The output of the first flip flop is given as input to the second flip flop and so on. The flip flops are synchronous to each other because each flip flop is working on the same clock signal. The logic circuit of SIPO shift register is shown in Fig. 6.

All the flip flops are operated at same clock frequency, and they are interconnected with each other. The data is applied serially, and output is obtained in parallel. The



Fig. 6 Schematic of 4 bit SIPO shift register

CLK	I/P bit	FF1	FF2	FF3	FF4
0	0	0	0	0	1
1	1	1	0	0	0
2	0	0	1	0	0
3	0	0	0	1	0

Table 4 Truth table of SIPO shift register

output of first flip flop acts as input to the second flip flop and so on. The truth table of SIPO shift register is shown in Table 4.

All the aforementioned 4 bit shift registers are implemented using both conventional 20 T D flip flop and 18 T SPC flip flop (reference circuit). Their performances in terms of power consumed, delay and PDP are analyzed and compared for 1 V supply voltage.

4 Simulation Results Analysis

The reference circuit, i.e., contention free 18 T SPC flip flop has been implemented on Cadence Virtuoso EDA tool at 1 V supply and 100 MHz clock. The output waveforms obtained by the circuit is shown in Fig. 7. The performance parameters viz power, delay and PDP have been analyzed for each technology, and a comparison is done between reference circuit and conventional circuit for the power supply of 1 V as shown in Table 5. The Cadence Virtuoso was used for schematic circuit.

Reference circuit is more efficient than conventional circuit. Power dissipation is reduced on working at NTV region. Power dissipation increases as the technology is increased. Simulation result shown that overall PDP is reduced. It is evident that at



Fig. 7 Simulation waveform of 18 T SPC D flips flop circuit

Technology (nm)	Power/delay/PDP	18 T SPC circuit	Conventional circuit
45	Power dissipation (uW)	30.5	48.7
	Delay (psec)	68.1	80.34
	PDP (fWs)	2.077	3.9
65	Power Dissipation (uW)	71.45	98.65
	Delay (psec)	42.04	67.76
	PDP (fWs)	3.003	6.68
90	Power dissipation (uW)	89.40	119.34
	Delay (psec)	39.62	47.65
	PDP (fWs)	3.54	5.68

 Table 5
 Comparative table for power, delay and PDP with technology scaling (nm)

each implemented technology node the contention free SPC flip flop produces less power dissipation and delay.

The proposed shift registers topologies have been design using the 18 T SPC flip flop. The simulated transient response of the proposed circuits is shown in Figs. 8, 9 and 10 which verifies the proper functioning and working of the designed circuit of SISO shift register, PIPO shift register and PISO shift register, respectively. Tables 6 and 7 summarize the performance parameters obtained for shift registers topologies.

To establish the robustness of implemented shift registers, the power dissipation and delay are calculated at different supply voltages including near threshold voltage. The power dissipation of the proposed shift registers has been calculated for different supply voltages in the range of 0.6-1.2 V and has been plotted and compared with



Fig. 8 Simulation waveform of proposed SISO shift register circuit



Fig. 9 Simulation waveform of proposed PIPO shift register circuit

its conventional circuit. As the supply voltage is increasing, the power dissipation also increases as shown in Fig. 11a–c.

The delay of the proposed shift registers has been calculated for different supply voltages in the range of 0.6-1.2 V and has been plotted and compared with its



Fig. 10 Simulation waveform of proposed SIPO shift register circuit

	1 1	1		, ,				
Voltage (V)	Power in proposed sh (μW)	ift registe	ers	Power in conventional shift registers (μW)				
	SISO	PIPO	SIPO	SISO	PIPO	SIPO		
0.6	26.02	13.16	35.29	48.45	17.38	37.47		
0.8	76.68	39.63	48.76	96.47	58.76	53.76		
1.0	90.76	78.27	63.48	136.37	86.48	71.37		
1.2	121.48	96.48	76.97	178.45	107.16	87.68		

Table 6 Comparative table for power dissipation (μW) of shift registers at various voltage (V)

Table 7 Comparative table for delay (ns) of shift registers at various voltage (V)

Voltage (V)	Delay in proposed shift r	egister (1	Delay in conventional shift register (ns)					
	SISO	P IPO	SIPO	SISO	PIPO	SIPO		
0.6	20.45	24.43	40.15	32.76	30.84	47.26		
0.8	17.68	18.63	29.76	28.36	23.86	39.29		
1.0	12.47	12.47	20.15	21.64	17.13	26.02		
1.2	7.36	8.78	12.69	16.46	14.89	16.23		

conventional circuits. As the supply voltage is increased, the delay is increasing as shown in Fig. 12a–c. The proposed shift registers perform better shift registers implemented using conventional flip flop even at NTV. Overall PDP is also found to be improved.



Fig. 11 a-c Comparison of power dissipation with supply voltage variations

5 Layout Design

The Cadence Virtuoso XL layout editor software has been used for layout designing. The compact layout area is calculated as 89.249 μ m² of the reference 18T SPC flip flop which has been implemented on 45 nm technology and is shown in Fig. 13. The layout area is calculated as 1131.458 μ m² of the proposed PIPO shift register which has been implemented on 45 nm technology and is shown in Fig. 14.

6 Conclusion

This paper explores the application of contention free single-phase clocked flip flop in shift registers. The flip flop structure which has been presented in the paper is


Fig. 12 a-c Comparison of delay with supply voltage variations

quite simple and robust in nature and can be used to reduce the energy consumption as well as power dissipation of modern digital VLSI design and application in nanotechnology. The 18 T SPC flip flop (reference circuit) is compared with the conventional flip flop topologies circuits on the basis of power dissipation, delay, PDP and transistor count. Simulation results reveal that for all the supply voltages variation the 18 T SPC FF has better power consumption due to single-phase clocked flip flop as well as due to the better performance at NTV region. This reference circuit has been verified at different supply voltages and different technologies, i.e., at 45, 65 and 90 nm on Cadence Virtuoso tool.



Fig. 13 Simulation layout of 18 T SPC flip flop



Fig. 14 Simulation layout of proposed PIPO shift register

Three 4-bit shift registers SISO, PIPO and SIPO topologies using 18 T SPC flip flop have been designed, and the simulation performance parameters are compared with its conventional counterpart. It has been observed that the overall power consumption has been reduced (28–38)%. Its robustness has been established by observing the effects of supply voltage variation on power and delay. The simulations are done on Cadence Virtuoso tool using 45 nm technology at 1 V using 100 MHz clock. By the results, it can be concluded that 18 T SPC flip flop provides significant improvement in the implemented shift registers thereby opening the avenues for several low-power applications.

References

- N. Pinckney, D. Blaauw, D. Sylvester, Low-power near-threshold design techniques to improve energy efficiency. IEEE Solid-State Circ. Mag. 7(2), 49–57 (2015)
- 2. F. Stas, D. Bol, A 0.4-V 0.66-fJ/cycle retentive true-single-phase clock 18T flip-flop in 28-nm fully-depleted SOI CMOS. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. I, Reg. Pap. **65**(3), 935–945 (2018)

- H. Kaul, M. Anders, S. Hsu, A. Agarwal, R. Krishnamurthy, S. Borkar, Near-threshold voltage (NTV) design: opportunities and challenges, in *Proceedings of 49th Annual Design Automation Conference* (2012), pp. 1153–1155
- Y. Cai, A. Savanth, P. Prabhat, J. Myers, A.S. Eddell, T.J. Kazmierski, Ultra-low power 18transistor fully static contention-free single-phase clocked flip-flop in 65-nm CMOS. IEEE J. Solid State Circ. 54(2), 550–559 (2019)
- R.G. Dreslinski, M. Wieckowski, D. Blaauw, D. Sylvester, T. Mudge, Near-threshold computing: reclaiming Moore's law through energy efficient integrated circuits. Proc. IEEE 98(2), 253–266 (2010)
- 6. U.R. Karpuzcu, N.S. Kim, J. Torrellas, Coping with parametric variation at near-threshold voltages. IEEE Micro. **33**(4), 6–14 (2013)
- 7. C. Svensson, J. Yuan, Latches and flip-flops for low power systems in low power CMOS design, ed. by A. Chandrakasan, R. Brodersen (IEEE Press, Piscataway, NJ, 1998), pp. 233–238
- 8. N. Kawai, et al., A fully static topologically-compressed 21-transistor flip-flop with 75% power saving. IEEE J. Solid-State Circ. **49**(11), 2526–2533 (2014)
- 9. Y. Kim, et al., A static contention-free single-phase-clocked 24 T flip-flop in 45nm for lowpower applications, in *IEEE ISSCC Digital Technical Papers* (2014), pp. 466–467
- V. Kursun, E.G. Friedman, Variable threshold voltage keeper for contention reduction in dynamic circuits, in *Proceedings of ASIC/SOC Conference* (2002), pp. 314–318
- 11. J.M. Rabaey, A. Chandrakasan, B. Nikolic, *Digital Integrated Circuits—A Design Perspective* (Pearson Publication, 2012)
- C.K. Teh, T. Fujita, H. Hara, M. Hamada, A 77% energy-saving 22-transistor single-phaseclocking D-flip-flop with adaptive-coupling configuration in 40nm CMOS, in *IEEE ISSCC Digital Technical Papers* (2011), pp. 338–340
- Y. Cai, A. Savanth, P. Prabhat, J. Myers, A.S. Weddell, T. Kazmierski, Evaluation and analysis of single-phase clock flip-flops for NTV applications, in *Proceedings of 27th International Symposium Power Timing Modelling, Optimum Simulation (PATMOS)* (2017), pp. 1–6
- 14. J. Yuan, C. Svensson, New single-clock CMOS latches and flipflops with improved speed and power savings. IEEE J. Solid-State Circ. **32**(1), 62–69
- 15. N.H. Weste, D. Harris, CMOS VLSI Design: A Circuits and Systems Perspective (Pearson Publication, 2015)
- M. Alioto, E. Consoli, G. Palumbo, General strategies to design nanometer flip-flops in the energy-delay space. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. I, Reg. Pap. 57(7), 1583–1596 (2010)
- A.K. Shivangi, S. Wairya, High performance and low power D flip-flop using pulsed latch. Int. J. Appl. Eng. Res. 14(2) (2019). ISSN 0973-4562
- Y.-T. Shyu, J.-M. Lin, C.-P. Huang, C.-W. Lin, Y.-Z. Lin, S.-J. Chang, Effective and efficient approach for power reduction by using multi-bit flip-flops. IEEE Trans. Very Large Scale Integr. (VLSI) Syst. 21(4), 624–635 (2013)

FPGA-Based Display Driver Design with Remote Terminal Unit (RTU) Support Using MODBUS



511

Y. M. Ashoka Raja, Prashant K. Shah, and Anand D. Darji

1 Introduction

In recent years, data display devices are becoming more and more prevalent, and remote data displacing is in booming demand. Remote display is a kind of display system where the display under consideration is used to show the information/data remotely. To update display with new message or data no need to reprogram, it will be updated as soon as memory is updated with new data. These remote display devices play critical role in many sectors of the industrial applications. Remote data accessibility is in high demand in several industries [1]. Also, these remote display devices are primary thing in many institute, organisation and public utility places [2]. These remote displays can be used to convey important information at large group of people at a time.

The conventional wired display boards are controlled by MCUs. To change the information being displayed, we need to change the MCUs program again and again and size of the display is also limited. With the recent advancements of the technology, it is possible to fix these issues. In the proposed work, it aims to design, development and implementation of the FPGA based VGA display driver for both image and font display capability. This device is also enabled to receive and update the display with the new data sent from remote device. The proposed work used implementation of master and slave protocol to establish remote terminal support. This proposed work demonstrates designing of PL + PS based remote displaying system with MODBUS RTU support.

MODBUS over serial line protocol; is widely adapted, loyalty free, openly published protocol, which is developed for industrial applications as it provides reliable and easy communication between the devices connected in the same network [3]. Hence, the proposed work aims bring in this MODBUS protocol as an RTU in

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_45

Y. M. Ashoka Raja (🖂) · P. K. Shah · A. D. Darji

Department of Electronics Engineering, SVNIT, Surat 395007, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

to the loop. VGA standard is the widely used, common interface such as embedded systems, automobile infotainment system, ATMs, security system or video players. Therefore, VGA monitor controller that could be the logic circuit to regulate the VGA interface, may be simply realised using FPGA technology with a low cost and high flexibility [4].

2 Related Work

In Ref. [5], author talks about the embedded web server-based remote data monitoring and controlling. The data to be displayed on the display depends upon the data updated by the remote device on the server. Web server-based systems are backboned by the support of internet service provider. In the implementation of [5], it uses ZYNQ 7000 APSOC board, it also uses VGA standard to drive the display. Remote data acquisition and accessibility are in high demand in industries. Human beings are replaced by sensing devices that will acquire data and send the data back to the base station remotely. At base station, it is possible to monitor data remote and take action accordingly. The implementation web server-based remote display in [1] includes the master and slave implementation. In implementation, master device is placed in the main office or at the base station of the industry which has display device. It uses ARM based Raspberry pi, which includes the porting Linux OS into master device. Slave devices can be placed in any one or more units of industry. The number of slave units used for the implementation depends on the number of units in the industry which requires remote monitoring. This slave is based on PIC microcontroller. In Refs. [2, 6, 7] talks about MCU-based remote display systems based on the GSM. In the GSM-based display system, it has GSM interfaced master device which can send data to the multiple slaves, each slave has GSM modules to receive the data, decode and send to display. This microcontroller with GSM-based remote display system can be used at the colleges and universities for displaying dayto-day information at regular intervals, besides this can also be used at other public places like schools, railway stations, gardens, etc. With the implementation and use of various AT commands, it is possible to control the data onto the display device. This technology is used to monitor/update the remote display devices and hence, for conveying the information through a data sent from authenticated master device. In these MCU based system, to increase the display size more numbers of drivers are needed. To make the display multilingual, the MCU based system becomes more completed as it requires many encoding and decoding technique [2]. References [8, 9] talk about the FPGA-based VGA display driver implementation using hardware description language. In [10] also author has taken the implementation of the FPGAbased VGA display design as a part of the work, which talks about principle of VGA display control and implementation of the same using Verilog. These papers describe the VGA timing analysis for different resolutions, algorithm to generate VGA signals, realisation of VGA using FPGA, timing parameters, etc., were discussed. The other works of note can also be found in Refs. [3, 11, 12] which talks about the design and development of MODBUS-based communication system.

3 Proposed System

The proposed system includes the design and implementation of the master and slave configuration. The design, development and implementation of slave device require the interfacing of major peripheral viz. VGA driver interface, memory interfaces (VGA buffer memory and secondary memory) and serial communication interfaces. All these peripherals are implemented and tested as standalone system before doing integrated system testing. The master device function is to send the encoded RTU frames which carries information such as salve ID, function code, actual data and checksum for the entire message. This actual data of the frame carries the information related to display update data. Figure 1 shows the proposed system block design, and Fig. 2 shows the typical MODBUS RTU frame.

ZYBO and ZED boards are largely used as prototyping boards due to its speed, feature rich and ready to use nature. In the proposed work, ZYBO development board from digilent is used as master device and ZED board is used as slave device. Use of the Modbus protocol allows to connect up to 247 slaves (with RS 485), where each slave is addressed with its unique address [13, 14]. The proposed system uses RS 232 as physical interface for MODBUS protocol implementation. Each slave device will have implemented slave part of Modbus protocol, which includes decoding of frames and performing successive operation based on the received function code.

With FPGA, the display data will be handled by the hardware and eventually it reduces the software overhead and also the hardware is reconfigurable, this will be the



Fig. 1 Proposed system block diagram



Fig. 2 Typical RTU frame

added advantage which makes it possible to quickly change the display for any others, with redesigned drivers for the newly selected display. Requirement of memory for the chosen display (for buffering and secondary storage of data) is provided through memory interfaces. The required driver for the VGA protocol will be implemented in the FPGA with its timing analysis corresponding to the selected screen resolution (640 \times 480). For the secondary storage of the data, SD card will be interfaced to the system device through SD mode.

3.1 Memory Interfaces

The implementation of the proposed work requires two types of memories viz. temporary memory such as RAM for VGA data buffering and secondary memory such as SD card or EEPROM to store images or fonts.

VGA Buffer memory

Since the proposed display driver design is VGA based system, it requires the buffer memory to keep the data ready before sending it to the display, which should also satisfy persistence of human eyes. The amount of RAM required by the VGA display is directly proportional to the chosen screen resolution. Below tabulated, Table 1 shows the RAM requirement analysis for different resolutions (resolution indicates the total number of pixels in the screen in Horizontal pixel × Vertical pixels format) and colour depths.

Block RAM available in the FPGA can be configured to implement the required VGA display buffer memory. ZED board can offer around 610 kBytes of Block RAM. With reduced size of 256×256 pixels, it is possible to test the VGA display having 16 bits/pixel colour depth. In order to implement the Block RAM, BMG IP

Display	Colour depth and memory requirement (in bytes)				
Resolution	1 bits/pixel (Mono)	2 bits/pixel (4 shades)	4 bits/pixel (16 shades)	8 bits/pixel (256 colours)	16 bits/pixel (65 K colours)
1280×1024	16,840	327,680	655,360	1,310,720	2,621,440
1280×800	128,000	256,000	512,000	1,024,000	2,048,000
1024×768	98,304	196,608	393,216	786,432	1,572,864
800×600	60,000	120,000	240,000	480,000	960,000
800×480	48,000	96,000	192,000	384,000	768,000
640×480	38,400	76,800	153,600	307,200	614,400
480×272	16,320	32,640	65,280	130,560	261,120
320×240	9,600	19,200	38,400	76,800	153,600
128 × 64	1,024	2,048	4,096	8,192	16,384

Table 1 RAM requirement analysis for different resolutions and colour depths



Fig. 3 Dual port RAM with IO ports

core (from Xilinx) is used in dual port configuration. Figure 3 shows the dual port RAM IO configuration for the block RAM. Port A is used for the write operation, and port B is used for the read operation. Both port share common clock and other pins of both the ports were controlled by PS section.

SD memory interfacing with BRAM integration

In the proposed system, the secondary memory such as SD card is required to store the data such as images, font table, etc. Since the system has RTU support, based on the data received, the slave can decode the data and using the available data in the secondary memory, it can send appropriate data to display. SD card is an ultrasmall flash memory card designed to provide high-capacity memory in a small size. The system under consideration is tested with up to 8 GB of memory with class 10 memory card. The micro SD card supports two types of communication protocols, i.e. SD and SPI bus mode. With ZED board, SD card is interfaced in SD mode, which also gives better performance than the SPI mode.

In order to implement proposed work, it mainly requires SD card read operation. Serial terminal is used for debugging purpose. The read data will be sent to the block RAM using AXI interface. Figure 4 shows the integrated flow chart for the SD card with block RAM design. This design is tested as standalone design before using in the final integration.



Fig. 4 Flow chart for integration of block RAM and SD card memory

3.2 Display Controller Design

VGA can provide an easy methodology to attach a system with a monitor for showing information or images, or even to interact with the system by the user. VGA monitor controller that could be the logic circuit to regulate the VGA interface may be simply

realised using FPGA technology with a low cost and high flexibility using hardware description language [4, 9]. Note that because of Block RAM limitation the screen size is reduced to 256×256 size, so that it can be implemented and tested on FPGA with lower BRAM capacities. To save 256×256 -pixel image with 16 bits/pixel, we need 132Kbytes of BRAM ($256 \times 256 \times 2$).

For the current design, VGA timing is selected to be 640×480 . For the vertical sync design, total 521 vertical pixels are considered (In a line). Among them 480 pixels corresponds to the active area, 10 and 29 pixels correspond to front and back pouch, respectively. Two pixels are dedicated to the VS pulse width. For the horizontal sync design, total 800 horizontal pixels are considered. Among them 640 pixels corresponds to the active area, 16 and 48 pixels correspond to front and back pouch, respectively. 96 pixels are dedicated to the HS pulse width. This design uses 25 MHz clock with 60 Hz refresh frequency.

Display Image

The usage of the images to convey information by display devices, language will not be a barrier. Also human brain can process images much more speeder than the reading the text. Thus, images are more powerful to convey crucial information to the people of any kind, literate or illiterate, and there will be no barrier of language. In order to implement the VGA controller on FPGA, three modules were designed and integrated with block RAM. First module is designed to generate all the required VGA timings viz. Horizontal Count (HC), Vertical Count (VC), Horizontal Sync Pulse (HS) and Vertical Sync Pulse (VS), which will have the inputs viz. pixel clock and reset. The second module is designed to generate all the required address for the Block RAM module, and these addresses are generated based on the inputs from module one using HC and VC. The third module is the main module which will send all the required outputs to drive the VGA display, i.e. HS, VS and RGB colours.

Display Font

Displaying text is one of the add-on functionality in the display driver design. In order to implement font displaying capability in the VGA display, font table has been developed which will be stored as look up table in the FPGA LUT memory. The design goals to display ASCII text character on the VGA display.

Figure 5 shows the typical example for the bit map generated for the ASCII font B. Similarly for each character 32×16 bit mapping is created. Hence, with 32 pixels wide and 16-pixel height, it will give total of 600-character location, i.e. 480 pixels divided by 16 rows per character gives total 30 lines and 640 pixels divided by 32 columns per character gives 20 lines, hence $30 \times 20 = 600$ locations (with small sized font in loop). This will ensure that all the pixels in the 640 × 480 area are mapped into any one of the pixel from 600 tiles. This size of the font being displayed can also be controlled by controlling address passed to fetch the font.

Fig. 5 Bit mapping for	"0000000000000000 = 00h	>	
alphabet B	"000000000000000 = 00h	>	
	"0000000011111100" = ECh	> *****	*
	"000000001100110" = 66h	> **	**
	"000000001100110" = 66h	> **	**
	"000000001100110" = 66h	> **	**
	"000000001111100" = 7Ch	> ****	*
	"000000001100110" = 66h	> **	**
	"000000001100110" = 66h	> **	**
	"000000001100110" = 66h	> **	**
	"000000001100110" = 66h	> **	**
	"0000000011111100" = ECh	> *****	*
	"000000000000000 = 00h	>	
	"000000000000000 = 00h	>	
	"000000000000000 = 00h	>	
	"000000000000000 = 00h	>	

3.3 Network Protocol for RTU Support

To obtain the RTU support for the proposed system, MODBUS over serial line protocol is proposed to be implemented. MODBUS serial line communication protocol is a Master/Slave based protocol. This protocol stays at level two, i.e. data link layer of the OSI model. Master device always initiates the MODBUS communication. Slave device (up to 247 slaves can be connected) will not transmit data without a request from the master device, and do not communicate with each other slaves of the network. The MODBUS application protocol defines a simple protocol data unit (PDU) which is independent of the underlying hardware communication layer. The MODBUS over serial line defines two transmission modes, i.e. The ASCII mode and the RTU mode. This transmission mode (also serial port settings) must be the same for all devices on a MODBUS serial line. In the proposed work, MODBUS over serial line is used in RTU transmission mode.

Figure 6 shows the designed and implemented MODBUS over serial line PDU which consist of slave ID, function code, actual data and the CRC data. The slave ID address field contains the 8-bit data, i.e. it contains two hexadecimal digits. The function code contains the action to be performed, i.e. it contains the control information which will be decoded by the slave device to take necessary action on the received actual data. Function code is also 8-bit code. The actual data length can vary but in the current design it is chosen to be 16 bit to 32 bit wide. Out of 8 bytes, last



Fig. 6 Designed and implemented MODBUS PDU

two bytes were added to the frame after sixteen-bit CRC calculation on the slave ID, function code and actual data, all together. The cyclical redundancy checking data is 2 bytes: containing a sixteen-bit binary value. This CRC value is calculated by the Zybo board (which is a master) and appends it to the message. The slave device, i.e. ZED board that receives MODBUS PDU, again calculates the CRC during receipt of the frame and compares this recalculated value to the actual value it received in the CRC field.

4 Integrated Display Driver with RTU Support

To convey the proof of concept, the implementation includes the integration of VGA modules with memory modules, both block RAM and SD card along with Modbus over serial line protocol. This also includes the design of algorithms for master and slave devices. The pre-designed and tested VGA display driver is loaded in the slave FPGA device. This slave device also integrated with the slave code which can handle the RTU packets received from the master. Besides these, the designed slave also has the PS + PL interface and RTU packet decoding part in it. This slave is also interfaced with secondary memory, i.e. SD card. This memory holds the data to be displayed on the VGA display based on the decoded data which is received from the master device. This SD card consists of various image data files stored in the form of binary file. When slave is powered, it checks for the data from master, in case no data from master or master device is OFF then slave will be displaying the default image at default location on the VGA display screen. This default image conveys the user that slave has not received the RTU data from the master. Once the master data is availed at the slave, it will decode the data and based upon this information it will update the VGA screen with new image along with its X and Y coordinates (i.e. the location at which the image to be displayed). Similarly, for VGA font display design, the master device is required to send the RTU frame which should consist of tile number and ASCII character to be updated on that tile along with other mandated sub parts of the frame.

Master device is responsible for sending the RTU frames. This frame includes the major message parts such as slave ID, function code, actual data and check sum data. The actual data consist of which image to display (or font to be displayed in case of font display) on the VGA screen and coordinates, i.e. *X* and *Y* locations (Tile number in case of font display) at which the image to be updated. In the current master design, this information was sent in a fixed interval so that the design gets tested. The slave device will decode this *X* and *Y* location (or tiles information) and also decodes the image (or font) to be updated on the screen and performs the successive operation at the remote slave side.

Figure 7 shows the experimental setup and board connections, respectively, for the implemented design. VGA display is connected to the slave device, ZED board is used as slave device, and ZYBO board is used as master device. These master and slave devices are connected through the RS-232 hardware; a common ground is



Fig. 7 Experimental setup and board connection

connected between these two to ensure both are at same reference potential point. UART1 peripheral is used for the serial monitoring of the data, and this terminal displays the data sent from the master.

5 Result and Discussion

In order to test the design, binary converted data of various images are loaded into the SD card. Based on the data received from the master device, slave will update the display. User-defined function codes are added to the MODBUS PDU to differentiate various functionality. Figure 8 shows the initial testing of the integrated VGA modules



Fig. 8 Integrated VGA Module testing with basic RGB colours



Fig. 9 Integrated system testing to display font with RTU in loop

using basic RGB colours.

When there is no data from RTU, slave display will show "Nothing to Display" which is also the default image. Once the data received, slave will update the display with new image in the new coordinates. Figure 9 shows such one of the simulated scenario to display default image in the integrated system testing with RTU in loop. This image is popped in the current scenario by making slave to go through clod start, hence initially slave will display default image until it will start receiving the frames from the master device. Once the data received, slave will update the display with new image in the new coordinates. Figure 9 shows the integrated system testing, in here master is programmed to send MODBUS PDU frame with regular intervals, where in the slave will decode this frame and decide which image to display on the VGA screen and fetch the corresponding data from the secondary memory, i.e. SD card and update the block RAM memory. The received RTU frame PDU also consist coordinates at which the decoded image to be displayed on the screen.

Figure 10 shows the results of the integrated system testing for font display with RTU in loop, and here the font table is stored in FPGA LUT memory. The master is designed to send the character string "ECED SVNIT SURAT". Note that each character in this string sent from the master will have tiles information in the sent MODBUS PDU. The slave is designed to identify and decode the coordinates of the font in the received MODBUS PDU, at which the new font to be updated. In here, it also possible to control the colour of each tile being displayed. The expected output is verified with the actual results and found to be satisfactory.

It is also possible to store the font table in the SD memory and avoid the dependence on the limited FPGA memories (LUTs). Figure 11 shows the results of the integrated



Default Image when there is no data from master

Updated display based on data received from master





Fig. 11 Font display testing with font table stored in the SD card

font display testing where the font table is stored in SD card, where the master is designed to send the character string "ADD" and "CAB". The slave will decode the ASCII character received from the master and update the display. With this method, it requires very little modification in the design to display any language fonts.

Table 2 shows the comparison of various methods with respect to the various parameters.

6 Conclusion

The proposed paper work strives to implement the proof of concept for the new remote data displaying solution with design of actual system (Including display driver) from de novo. The proposed system has been designed with FPGA-based VGA display driver for both font and image display and integrated with MODBUS over serial line protocol, which intern gives the RTU support to the system. For the

	MCU based System	Embedded web server based system	Proposed system
Need of service provider	GSM Service provider is the back bone of the entire system	Internet service provider is required continuously for the operation	With serial communication no need of service provider
Flexibility	Limited functionality and flexibility in the software implementation and there is no hardware reconfiguration [6, 7]	With FPGA in loop offer both the performance of hardware and flexibility of software computing [5]	With FPGA in loop offer both the performance of hardware and flexibility of software computing [5]. (Implemented with PL and PS based integrated system)
Execution	Works in sequential mode only	With FPGA in loop Parallel execution is possible	Allotted parallel execution to PL part and sequential execution to PS part
Communication	GSM based wireless communication [6, 7]	Embedded web server based communication [5]	Open source and generic MODBUS protocol is chosen for the implementation [3]. Allows both serial (Implemented) and TCP/IP based communication
Display size	Constrained by display size. Display multiplexing is possible; however, it will lead to more drivers and MCUs	With FPGA in loop hardware can be customised to selected display, however, it is also limited by the memory of device under consideration	With FPGA in loop hardware can be customised to selected display, however, it is also limited by the memory of device under consideration
Retrofit option	Constrained by the MCU as it does not allows customised hardware logic implementation	Flexible in terms of customised hardware logic implementation and hence retrofitting [5]	Flexible in terms of customised hardware logic implementation and hence retrofitting and MODBUS has higher extending compatibility [3]

Table 2 Comparison of various methods

master and slave configuration design of system, ZYBO and ZED boards are used for implementation, respectively. The implementation of PS and PL based design allow the paralleling processing design to be allocated to PL part and sequential execution is allocated to PS part of the design. The use of FPGA in the system design gives the great advantage with respect to both the performance of hardware and flexibility of software computing besides being custom logic implementable.

References

- R.G. Koshatwar, S.D. Sawant, Remote monitoring and control of industrial parameters using embedded web server. in 2016 10th International Conference on Intelligent Systems and Control (ISCO) (IEEE, 2016), pp. 1–4
- B. Saini, R. Devi, S. Dhankhar, M.Z. Haque, J. Kaur, Smart LED display boards. Int. J. Electron. Electr. Eng. 7(10), 1057–1067 (2014)
- P. Shukla, S. Singh, T. Joshi, S. Kumar, S. Kelkar, M.R. Das, K.M. Moudgalya, Design and development of a MODBUS automation system for industrial applications, in 2017 6th International Conference on Computer Applications in Electrical Engineering-Recent Advances (CERA) (IEEE, 2017), pp. 515–520
- V.-H. Tran, X.-T. Tran, An efficient architecture design for VGA monitor controller,in 2011 International Conference on Consumer Electronics, Communications and Networks (CECNet) (IEEE, 2011), pp. 3917–3921
- 5. V.D. Murugan, C. Saravanan, R. Imtiaz, Fpga based standalone embedded web server for remote control of display devices. Ictact J. Microelectron. **2**(02), 1 (2016)
- A. Meenachi, S. Kowsalya, P. Prem Kumar, Wireless E-notice board using wi-fi and bluetooth technology.J. Netw. Commun. Emerg. Technol. (JNCET) 6(4) (2016)
- A.O. Agbeyangi, J.O. Odiete, O. Olatinwo, SMS-based automated e-notice board using mobile technology. Int. J. Electron. Inf. Eng 7(2), 53–60 (2017)
- P. Pokharel, B. Bhatta, A.D. Darji, Optimized drivers for PS/2 and VGA using HDL, in 2011 IEEE International Conference on Computer Science and Automation Engineering, vol. 3 (IEEE, 2011), pp. 262–266
- H.-B. Wang, Z. Zhang, X.-H. Chen, Y.-B. Wang, VGA display driver design based on FPGA, in 2019 IEEE/ACIS 18th International Conference on Computer and Information Science (ICIS) (2019), pp. 530–535
- J. Sun, Z. Wang, Z. Li, Implementation of sobel edge detection algorithm and VGA display based on FPGA, in 2019 IEEE 4th Advanced Information Technology, Electronic and Automation Control Conference (IAEAC), vol. 1 (IEEE, 2019), pp. 2305–2310
- S. Hu, Z. Zhao, Y. Zhang, S. Wang, A novel Modbus RTU-based communication system for adjustable speed drives, in 2008 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference (IEEE, 2018), pp. 1–5
- K. Wang, D. Peng, L. Song, H. Zhang, Implementation of modbus communication protocol based on arm coretx-m0,in 2014 IEEE International Conference on System Science and Engineering (ICSSE) (IEEE, 2014), pp. 69–73
- Modbus Organisation, MODBUS over serial line specification and implementation guide, Modbus Organisation, V1.02 Dec 20, 2006
- Modbus Organisation, Modbus Application Protocol Specification, Modbus Organisation, V1. 1b3 April 26, 2012

Dual-Band Pentagonal-Shape Hybrid Rectangular Dielectric Resonator Antenna for C-Band Application



525

Pinku Ranjan, Mihir Patil, and Anand Sharma

1 Introduction

These days wideband antenna is a needed in the society, due to multiple modern wireless applications emerging every day. There is a dire need to develop wideband antennas which can support multiple numbers of operations simultaneously [1]. Non-resonant antennas have been in use since a very long time. Because of their non-resonating structure, they can be used to receive a broad range of frequency. Even they possess a very strong candidature for wideband antennas, due to non-efficient design and very big size, they have not yet been put to practice as a wideband antenna.

In contrast, printed antenna can easily be used as a wideband antenna, due to its very small size and high efficiency even at higher frequencies. Proper optimization of the patch and the ground's dimensions can lead to wide impedance bandwidth. Various techniques are developed so as to attain large impedance bandwidth while keeping the size as small as possible. DR (dielectric resonator) can be placed over the radiating patch, and proper optimization of the dimensions of the DR with different feeding mechanisms can increase the impedance bandwidth of the antenna. In [2], the mathematical analysis of DR is shown with a microstrip slot and a microstrip line.

P. Ranjan (🖂)

A. Sharma

Atal Bihari Vajpayee-Indian Institute of Information Technology and Management, Gwalior, India e-mail: pinkuranjan@iiitm.ac.in

M. Patil Electro Science Laboratory, Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, USA

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, MotiLal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Prayagraj, India e-mail: anandsharma@mnnit.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_46

Changes in the dielectric constant of the DR are also reported for further enhancement of the bandwidth. In [3], a multi-segment DR is proposed, where the thickness and the dielectric constant of both the segments are adjusted in a way to match the impedance of the DR to the microstrip line. This ensures the transfer of maximum power to the DR and hence helps in achieving an efficient antenna design. In [4], an Archimedean spiral slot is used to excite the rectangular DR and hence increase the bandwidth of the antenna.

Dual polarization is achieved in [5], and this helps in reduction in interference between nearby frequency by allotting different polarization to the waves and hence help to increase the handling capacity of the antenna by about 2–3 folds. Conducting loops are placed near the DR for generating circular polarization. 51% of circular polarization is achieved in the overall bandwidth. Similarly, in [6] a circularly polarized antenna is proposed with a stair-shaped DR fed with an open-ended ground plane. Introduction of the open-ended ground plane led to much better impedance matching and increment in the axial ratio bandwidth.

To further reduce the height of the antenna, an increase in impedance bandwidth was sought by using a printed antenna itself. Various numerical methods were implemented for different designs of the ground and the patch. Thus, in [7] a bow tie configuration is implemented to increase the bandwidth. Two patches are implemented in the design, but the novelty is that one is placed above the substrate and the other placed below the substrate. Gain greater than 2 dB is achieved in the whole band with an omnidirectional radiation pattern. In [8], a kind of similar bow tie pattern is shown with a balun integrated into the design, to help the antenna in impedance matching over a very large bandwidth. The dimensions of the balun are adjusted to further enhance the impedance bandwidth to 47%. In [9], the antenna is fed with coplanar strip lines. There are two rectangular arms on both the side of the substrate, and the arms below the substrate are bigger than their other counterpart. Both the top arms are connected to the bottom arms by shorting; this is done by drilling a hole through the substrate. Thus, this helps in the enhancement of the impedance bandwidth of the antenna. Also, in [10] the impedance bandwidth is increased by using CPW (Co-Planar Waveguide) feeding structure.

2 Antenna Geometry

The radiating patch on the top surface of the antenna and the ground both are made up of PEC (perfect electric conductor). The substrate is made up of FR4 epoxy, with the dimensions of $30 \times 30 \times 1.6 \text{ mm}^3$. The top view and the bottom view of the antenna are shown in Figs. 1 and 2, respectively (all the dimensions shown in the figures are in mm). The length of the feed line on the top surface is $3 \text{ mm} \times 24 \text{ mm}$. Keeping 22 mm \times 15 mm as the center point, a pentagon and a triangle are drawn. The dimension of the regular pentagon and the regular triangle is 8.28 and 8.66 mm. The pentagon is united with the feed line, while the triangle is subtracted from the united structure. The ground plane is made by subtracting a small cuboid with the



Fig. 1 Top view of the pentagonal patch of the proposed antenna



Fig. 2 Bottom view of the proposed antenna

dimension of 2 mm \times 4 mm from a cuboid of dimension 16 mm \times 30 mm. The height of both the ground plane and the patch is 0.035 mm. Over the radiating patch, a DR (dielectric resonator) is kept along with optimizing the size to $13 \times 13 \times 6$ mm³. The reason for selecting cuboidal DR is due to its two parameters (height/length and width/length). Both of these parameters can be independently controlled to make changes in the impedance bandwidth of the antenna. This enables the designer to make extra iterations in the design to achieve the best antenna characteristics. The cross-sectional view of the antenna is shown in Fig. 3.

3 Results and Discussion

All the simulations are done in HFSS 13.0. The step size is 0.01 GHz. The maximum number of passes is 6, while maximum delta *S* taken is 0.02.

In Fig. 4, S-parameter of the antenna is shown. The antenna is a dual-band antenna as it resonates in 3.72–5.8 GHz and 6.38–8 GHz. Hence, it promises a total impedance bandwidth of 3.7 GHz. It resonates at 4.42 and 7.63 GHz.



Fig. 4 S-parameter of the proposed Antenna

The antenna promises radiation efficiency of greater than 95% in the whole impedance bandwidth, while the directivity achieved is greater than 3 dBi at frequency 4.42 GHz.

Figure 5 shows the gain plot. The antenna promises gain of greater than 3 dBi in the first band. Also, the simulated far-field parameters show gain greater than 2 dB at the other band.

Figure 6 shows the 3D polar plot of the proposed antenna. The antenna promises



Fig. 5 Gain versus frequency plot of the proposed antenna



omnidirectional radiation pattern, with a maximum gain of 3.13 dB at theta = 0 deg and phi = 0 deg.

Figure 7a, b represents E-plane & H-plane radiation pattern at frequency 4.42 GHz,



Fig. 7 E-plane and H-plane 2D radiation pattern

respectively, b, d represents E-plane & H-plane radiation pattern at frequency 7.63 GHz, respectively, of the proposed antenna.

4 Conclusion

A wideband antenna is designed for C-Band application; it has an impedance bandwidth of 3.77 GHz. It is a dual-band antenna as it resonates at 4.42 and 7.63 GHz. The antenna promises a gain of greater than 3 dB, with an omnidirectional radiation pattern. It also has a radiation efficiency of greater than 95% in the whole impedance bandwidth. The major advantage of the design is its ability to operate in Sub-6-GHz and C-Band, thus enabling multiple wireless applications.

References

- K.Y. Yazdandoost, R. Kohno, Ultra wideband antenna. IEEE Commun. Mag. 42(6), S29–S32 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1109/MCOM.2004.1304230
- R. Kumar Mongia, A. Ittipiboon, Theoretical and experimental investigations on rectangular dielectric resonator antennas. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 45(9), 1348–1356 (1997). https:// doi.org/10.1109/8.623123
- A. Petosa, N. Simons, R. Siushansian, A. Ittipiboon, M. Cuhaci, Design and analysis of multisegment dielectric resonator antennas. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 48(5), 738–742 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1109/8.855492
- M. Zou, J. Pan, Z. Nie, A wideband circularly polarized rectangular dielectric resonator antenna excited by an Archimedean spiral slot. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 14, 446–449 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP.2014.2364296
- M. Khalily, M.K.A. Rahim, A.A. Kishk, Planar wideband circularly polarized antenna design with rectangular ring dielectric resonator and parasitic printed loops. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 11, 905–908 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP.2012.2211853
- L. Lu, Y. Jiao, H. Zhang, R. Wang, T. Li, Wideband circularly polarized antenna with stairshaped dielectric resonator and open-ended slot ground. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 15, 1755–1758 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP.2016.2532931
- H. Kiminami, Shiozawa, Double-sided printed bow-tie antenna for UWB communications. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 3, 152–153 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP.2004. 832126
- W.S. Yeoh, K.L. Wong, W.S.T. Rowe, Wideband miniaturized half Bowtie printed dipole antenna with integrated Balun for wireless applications. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 59(1), 339–342 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2010.2090459
- F. Gao, F. Zhang, L. Lu, T. Ni, Y. Jiao, Low-profile dipole antenna with enhanced impedance and gain performance for wideband wireless applications. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 12, 372–375 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP.2013.2252141
- J.P. de Villiers, J.P. Jacobs, Gaussian process modeling of CPW-fed slot antennas. Progress Electromagn. Res. 98, 233–249 (2009). https://doi.org/10.2528/PIER09083103

Performance Evaluation of Various Precipitation Algorithms Over the Indian Subcontinent Region



P. Giri Prasad, P. Anil Kumar, and S. Varadarajan

1 Introduction

The economy of the India is highly dependent on the agriculture. The yield of the agriculture can be predicted based on the amount of rainfall received. The greater part of the subcontinent receives 60-80% of annual rainfall during south-west monsoon and has great impact on our economy [1]. Hence accurate prediction of rainfall is very significant for agricultural production. Due to limited number of rain gauges and sparsely distributed weather RADARs over the Indian subcontinent region, accurate estimation and forecasting of rainfall over the surface region become quite complex. Hence, there arises a necessity for the satellite network for the accurate estimation of rainfall over both the land surface and ocean regions. Satellite plays a crucial role in hydrological modeling and climatological studies. The precise measurement and prediction of rainfall rate both in time resolution and spatial resolution can be achieved with the help of high-resolution satellites. Hence, Researchers have started to make use of these satellite data for estimations of rainfall at high precision all over the world [2-4]. A wide number of algorithms are available in the literature for the estimation of rainfall over the Indian regions at high temporal and spatial resolutions [5, 6]. A large number of techniques are available for rainfall estimation which uses various sensors data and each has its own advantages and limitations. The available

P. Giri Prasad (🖂)

Sree Venkateswara College of Engineering, Nellore, AP, India e-mail: giri.svuce@svcn.ac.in

P. Anil Kumar CVR College of Engineering, Ibrahimpatnam, Telangana, India e-mail: anilkumar417@cvr.ac.in

S. Varadarajan SVU College of Engineering, SV University, Tirupati, AP, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_47

techniques for the prediction of rainfall in the literature are based on VIS/IR, IR-TB, IR-WV bands of the geostationary satellite data. The temporal resolution of the geostationary satellites is 30-min interval. In general, a variety of sensors are placed on the satellite which has the data in the bands of visible, water vapor, and thermal infrared band. Most of satellite-based rainfall estimates are based on TIR data, which gives the data about the brightness temperature of cloud top height. The Cloud Top Brightness Temperature (CTBT) has a direct relation to the type of clouds, and it plays a significant role in identifying the rain bearing clouds. Clouds with a low CTBT produce convective rainfall and have an indirect relation with precipitation rates over the surface because the TIR measurements cannot penetrate into the clouds [7].

Threshold-based techniques are used to discriminate the rainy pixels from the non-rainy pixels. If the value of CTBT is less than or equal to 235 K, then the pixel is treated as a rainy pixel. If the CTBT values cross 235 K, then the pixel is considered as a non-rainy pixel [8, 9]. Clouds are classified based on the CTBT values. The clouds with the same CTBT precipitate different amount of rainfall based on the other external atmospheric parameters. Hence the TIR-based methods fail to estimate the precipitation accurately. Also, this method fails to classify the thin cirrus clouds based on the CTBT value, which has no relation with the rainfall [10].

The CTBT estimated from the TIR band fails to estimate the vertical structure and composition of the clouds. The vertical profile of the cloud has a direct relation to rainfall [11]. The advantage of using TIR measurements is the availability of its high temporal resolution. The main limitations of the infrared-based algorithms are its inability to discriminate the rain/non-rainy pixels. Unlike TIR measurements, the microwave (MW) measurements provide physical connection with rain and hydrometeors since they penetrate through clouds but suffer with poorer temporal and spatial resolutions (lower orbiting satellites gives less coverage). Hence, there is a need to merge TIR measurements and MW measurements for better estimates of precipitation which gives rise to hybrid algorithms.

The estimation accuracy of the rainfall can be improved by merging the algorithms on the two individual datasets [2]. Moreover, estimation of rainfall using multispectral band provides better accuracy than using single TIR band. The WV band images provide brightness temperature with respect to the vertical moisture content in the atmosphere. If Water Vapor Brightness Temperature (WVBT) is low, it indicates there is a high probability for precipitation. If the value of the WVBT is high, then there is low chance of precipitation. Hence WVBT plays a crucial role along with the TIR band for better the estimation of precipitation [12].

Table 1 Characteristics of the Kalpana-1 VHRR data	Band name	Wavelength (μm)	Resolution (km)
	Visible	0.55–0.75	2
	TIR	10.5–12.5	8
	WV	5.7–7.1	8

2 Data Used in the Work

2.1 Kalpana-1 Data

Kalpana-1 is an Indian geostationary satellite launched by ISRO on 12th Sept 2002. The sensors placed on the Kalpana-1 satellite operate in three different wavelengths. The VHRR sensor operates in three different bands namely VIS, TIR and WV. The spatial resolution of the WV, TIR and VIS band is 8 km, 8 km, and 2 km, respectively. The characteristics of the onboard sensor for the Kalpana-1 satellite are shown in Table 1.

2.2 TMPA-3B42v7

The TMPA consists of three products, namely 3B42 which collects data three-hourly, 3B42 derived which collects data daily, and 3B43 products which accumulate data monthly. The TMPA interpolates precipitation estimates from both the rain gauge analyses and satellite systems for improving the spatial resolution. The spatial resolution of the TMPA is 0.25° which merges data from the multiple satellites. In the present study, 3B42 data was employed to analyze the duration and intensity of the rainfall over the Indian subcontinent (http://mirador.gsfc.nasa.gov).

2.3 GSMaP Data

GSMaP was initiated by the Japan Science and Technology Agency in 2002 to produce a global precipitation product with very high spatial and temporal resolution. This product has the data from Microwave sensor and an infrared sensor which is onboard of a geostationary satellite. The temporal resolution of the GSMap is hourly and daily. The spatial resolution of the GSMap is 0.01° (http://sharaku.eorc.jaxa.jp/GSMaP_crest/html/data.html).

2.4 Automatic Weather Station (AWS) Rain Gauge Data

The AWS maintained by the ISRO is a minimized, particular, rough, amazing and ease framework and housed in a portable, self-contained package. It procures point data with three hour duration. It collects various atmospheric parameters such as precipitation from rain gauge, humidity, relative humidity at 2 m level, Atmospheric temperature, Atmospheric pressure, wind speed and wind direction. In the present study, AWS data is used for validation of the rainfall estimation algorithm.

3 Methodology

Estimation of rainfall intensity and place of occurrence is quite unpredictable and hence the precipitation estimation within a spatial grid occupies a predominant role (i.e. determination of rainy and non-rainy pixel). Clouds such as convective (cumulonimbus, nimbostratus, stratocumulus) and non-convective clouds (cirrus, altostratus, stratus) are classified based on the thermal IR and WV channels in the Kalpana [13, 14]. The present technique comprises two steps. In the first step, the rainy pixels are discriminated from the non-rainy pixels. In the second step, the precipitation rates are evaluated for the rainy pixels based on nonlinear power relation method [15].

In the present technique, convective and non-convective clouds are separated based on segmentation and Hard Threshold technique. The gray level values of the TIR and WV band are converted into brightness temperature with the help of standard predefined Lookup table for the Kalpana satellite. Based on the brightness temperature of these bands, a pixel is considered as a rainy pixel if it satisfies the following criteria:

- (i) Brightness Temperature of TIR band (BT TIR) < 250 K and
- Brightness Temperature of TIR band (BT TIR)—Brightness Temperature of WV band (BT WV) < 19 K.

In the present algorithm, precipitation rates are computed-based convective cloud information and the relation between them is nonlinear power relation. Figure 1 depicts the flowchart for the present algorithm. The intensity and magnitude of the rainfall are evaluated for every half an hour and at each spatial grid point. The procedure is repeated over the entire day to get the accumulated rainfall on daily basis. Monthly rain is calculated by cumulatively adding the daily rains over the month duration. Validations are made over land and ocean for heavy rainfall days using two global rainfall products (TMPA-3B42 v7 and GSMAP data) along with available AWS data provided by Indian Meteorological Department (IMD). The comparisons are done over $0.25^{\circ} \times 0.25^{\circ}$ grid spatial resolution. In order to validate the Kalpana-1 data with global rainfall data products, Kalpana-1 data are regridded to $0.25^{\circ} \times 0.25^{\circ}$ spatial resolution.



3.1 Selection of Categorical Statistics

To estimate the performance of the present algorithm, the categorical statistics used in this work are Probability of Non-Detection (POND), Probability of Detection (POD), False Alarm Rate (FAR), BIAS, and accuracy (ACC). These parameters are evaluated regional-wise at a spatial resolution of 0.25°. The Contingency matrix of Global rainfall Product and Observed (TMPA-3B42 V7) data is tabulated in Table 2.

Hits (*h*) is defined as the number of pixels for which are correctly classified as rainy pixel in both the selected global rainfall data set and the TMPA-3B42 V7. False alarm (*f*) is defined as the number of misclassified pixels such as the rainy pixel is recognized as a non-rainy pixel and vice versa. Misses (*m*) are defined as the number of rainy pixels which are not detected by the global rainfall data but are detected by the TMPA-3B42 V7.

Correct negatives (z) are defined as the number of non-rainy pixels correctly classified by both the selected global rainfall data and the TMPA-3B42 V7 [8, 14].

		Observed (TMPA-3B42 V7)	
		Occurrence of rain	Non-occurrence of rain
Rainfall data set	Occurrence of rain	h	F
	Non-occurrence of rain	m	Ζ

 Table 2
 Contingency matrix of selected rainfall data and observed (TMPA-3B42V7)

Depending on the contingency matrix, various categorical statistics are calculated as follows:

$$BIAS = \frac{f+h}{m+h}$$
(1)

$$POD = \frac{h}{m+h}$$
(2)

$$POND = \frac{z}{z+f}$$
(3)

$$ACC = \frac{(h+z)}{(h+m+f+z)}$$
(4)

$$FAR = \frac{f}{f+h}$$
(5)

BIAS is defined as the ratio of the number of correctly identified rainy pixels by selected rainfall dataset to the total number of rainy pixels present in TMPA-3B42 V7. The value of the BIAS indicates whether the selected rainfall dataset has overestimated/underestimated the number of rainy pixels available in TMPA-3B42 V7. A BIAS value more than 1.0 demonstrates that chosen precipitation dataset has more number rainy pixels compared to demonstrates that the rainfall dataset overestimates compared to TMPA-3B42 V7, while a BIAS of less than 1 demonstrates that the selected rainfall dataset underestimates the number of rainy pixels compared to TMPA-3B42 V7. The POD is characterized as the proportion of the number of correct rainy pixels detected by selected rainfall dataset to the total number of rainy pixels present in TMPA-3B42 V7. POD is a measure of the algorithm accuracy for detecting the rainy pixels. A POD of unity value indicates that the selected rainfall dataset correctly identified all the rainy pixels. POND is characterized as the proportion of the number of correctly identified non-rainy pixels by selected rainfall dataset to the total number of non-rainy pixels present in the selected rainfall dataset. ACC is the acronym for accuracy and is defined by the ratio of the correctly detected pixels whether it is rainy or non-rainy to the total number of pixels. The value of the accuracy lies between 0 and 100%. The value of the ACC has a direct relation to the POD and POND. As the POD, POND value increases; the value of ACC increases. FAR is defined as the proportion of the number of rainy pixels wrongly detected by selected Rainfall dataset to the total number of rainy pixels detected by that selected Rainfall dataset. The lower the FAR the better the Rainfall dataset.

4 Results and Discussions

The validation of the present technique was examined over the Indian sub-continent and oceanic regions during heavy rainfall events of 2015 and 2016. The performance of the algorithm is cross verified with TRMM-3B42 values and validated with raingauges. The present algorithm was tested under different conditions, and the results are presented here. The rainfall derived using the present technique was validated with TMPA-3B42 V7 and IMD daily rainfall.

4.1 Case Study-I (27th July, 2015)

For evaluation of the present technique, a random date was chosen from the southwest monsoon. The rainfall was evaluated on 27th July using the present technique, and the results are compared with the TMPA 3B42 V7, GSMAP, and IMD. Figure 2a–d is the daily accumulated rainfalls collected from the TMPA 3B42 V7, Kalpana, GSMAP, and IMD, respectively.

The Categorical Statistics evaluated on this day was tabulated in Table 3. From table, it is observed that a bias of 1.2029 indicates that Kalpana-1 rainfall data overestimates with respect to TMPA-3B42 V7, whereas a bias of 0.7857 indicates that GSMAP rainfall data underestimates with respect to TMPA-3B42 V7. The categorical statistics are evaluated for the standard Arkin's method which is based on



Fig. 2 Daily gathered rainfall (in mm) using a TMPA-3B42V7; b Kalpana-I; c GSMAP; d IMD on 27th July, 2015

	Kalpana-1 versus TMPA-3B42 V7	GSMAP versus TMPA-3B42 V7	Arkin's technique versus TMPA-3B42 V7
Correlation coefficient	0.8072	0.7592	0.6573
BIAS	1.2029	0.8313	1.320
POD	0.7991	0.6930	0.7121
POND	0.8760	0.8230	0.9011
ACC	0.7346	0.6894	0.6383
FAR	0.2265	0.3281	0.1723
RMSE (rain in mm)	16.6690	20.3676	24.7854

Table 3 Categorical statistics for case study-I

the thresholding technique. In this technique, a pixel is treated as rainy pixel if the brightness temperature of IR band is less than 235 K.

4.2 Case Study-II (09th November, 2015)

9th November 2015 was chosen as a second case during the northeast monsoon. The rainfall was evaluated on 9th November 2015 using the present technique, and the results are compared with the TMPA 3B42 V7, GSMAP, and IMD. Figure 3a–d is the daily accumulated rainfalls collected from the TMPA 3B42 V7, Kalpana, GSMAP [16], and IMD, respectively. From the figure one can observe the convective clouds



Fig. 3 Daily gathered Rainfall (in mm) using a TMPA-3B42V7; b Kalpana-I; c GSMAP; d IMD on 9th November, 2015

	Kalpana-1 versus TMPA-3B42 V7	GSMAP versus TMPA-3B42 V7	Arkin's technique versus TMPA-3B42 V7
Correlation coefficient	0.7094	0.6644	0.6726
BIAS	1.0192	0.8762	0.7854
POD	0.8482	0.7692	0.7564
POND	0.9594	0.9045	0.9723
ACC	0.8009	0.7665	0.7352
FAR	0.0909	0.2664	0.1732
RMSE (rain in mm)	5.2408	6.8845	9.7723

Table 4 Categorical statistics for case study-II

over Tamil Nadu and adjoining Districts of Andhra Pradesh. A low pressure area was formed in the south Bay of Bengal on 8th November, which converted into a deep depression. This deep depression was associated with strong winds and remained practically stationary very close to the coast of Tamil Nadu. This caused very heavy rainfall at a few places with isolated extremely heavy rainfall over Tamil Nadu and adjoining Districts of Andhra Pradesh.

From Table 4, it is observed that a bias of 1.0192 indicates that Kalpana-1 rainfall data overestimates with respect to TMPA-3B42 V7, whereas a bias of 0.8762 indicates that GSMAP rainfall data underestimates with respect to TMPA-3B42 V7.

4.3 Case Study-III (1st December, 2015)

1st December was chosen as a third case for evaluation of the present technique. The rainfall was evaluated on 1st December 2015 using the present technique, and the results are compared with the TMPA 3B42 V7, GSMAP, and IMD. Figure 4a– d is the daily accumulated rainfalls collected from the TMPA 3B42 V7, Kalpana, GSMAP, and IMD, respectively. In quick succession, two troughs of low pressure were developed over Southeast Bay of Bengal during last week of November which move westwards toward Tamil Nadu coast and result in very heavy rainfall at Tamil Nadu and adjoining Districts of Andhra Pradesh.

From Table 5, it is observed that a bias of 1.0924 indicates that Kalpana-1 rainfall data overestimates with respect to TMPA-3B42 V7, whereas a bias of 0.9027 indicates that GSMAP rainfall data underestimates with respect to TMPA-3B42 V7.

4.4 Case Study-IV (07th July, 2016)

For the present case, the daily rainfall on 07th July 2016 has been examined using the present technique. Figure 5a–d is the daily accumulated rainfalls collected from the



Fig. 4 Daily gathered Rainfall (in mm) using a TMPA-3B42V7; b Kalpana-I; c GSMAP; d IMD on 01st December, 2015

	Kalpana-1 versus TMPA-3B42 V7	GSMAP versus TMPA-3B42 V7	Arkin's technique versus TMPA-3B42 V7
Correlation coefficient	0.7346	0.7135	0.6845
BIAS	1.0924	0.9027	0.8754
POD	0.8582	0.8162	0.7785
POND	0.9415	0.8776	0.9526
ACC	0.8884	0.8717	0.8490
FAR	0.1712	0.2741	0.1265
RMSE (rain in mm)	9.5310	12.8229	16.8523

Table 5 Categorical statistics for case study-III

TMPA 3B42 V7, Kalpana, GSMAP, and IMD, respectively. A deep depression was formed over Madhya Pradesh which results in heavy rainfall in and around Madhya Pradesh.

From Table 6, it is observed that a bias of 1.2313 indicates that Kalpana-1 rainfall data overestimates with respect to TMPA-3B42 V7, whereas a bias of 0.8545 indicates that GSMAP rainfall data underestimates with respect to TMPA-3B42 V7.



Fig. 5 Daily gathered rainfall (in mm) using a TMPA-3B42V7; b Kalpana-I; c GSMAP; d IMD on 07th July, 2015

	Kalpana-1 versus TMPA-3B42 V7	GSMAP versus TMPA-3B42 V7	Arkin's technique versus TMPA-3B42 V7
Correlation coefficient	0.7238	0.6716	0.6535
BIAS	1.2313	0.8545	0.7620
POD	0.7955	0.7177	0.6920
POND	0.7869	0.6439	0.8012
ACC	0.7529	0.7079	0.7215
FAR	0.2601	0.3603	0.1925
RMSE (rain in mm)	21.5205	24.5904	29.4560

Table 6 Categorical statistics for case study-IV

4.5 Validation of AWS Data

For the above cases, the rainfall derived from the present algorithm (Kalpana-1) and TMPA-3B42 V7 is compared with available AWS data. Based on the availability of AWS stations, IMD provides regridded daily rainfall data with a spatial resolution of $0.25^{\circ} \times 0.25^{\circ}$. Hence the regridded Kalpana rainfall data, TMPA-3B42 V7 and GSMAP Rainfall data can be compared with a spatial resolution of $0.25^{\circ} \times 0.25^{\circ}$.

IMD provides Rainfall data from latitude 6.5 to 38.5 and longitude from 66.5 to 100 with a spatial resolution of 0.25°. Some pixels are assigned with NaN (No data) which represents the location is in ocean. IMD provides rain data for 4964 data points. For these available data points, comparison has been done for the above satellite rainfall datasets.

Case I: (July, 27, 2015)

	Kalpana-1 versus IMD	TMPA-3B42 V7 versus IMD	GSMAP versus IMD
Correlation coefficient	0.8421	0.8377	0.6937
RMSE (rain in mm)	40.7091	51.9198	58.5332

Case II: (November, 09, 2015)

	Kalpana-1 versus IMD	TMPA-3B42 V7 versus IMD	GSMAP versus IMD
Correlation coefficient	0.8757	0.8624	0.8475
RMSE (rain in mm)	16.9031	21.5172	26.5358

Case III: (December, 01, 2015)

	Kalpana-1 versus IMD	TMPA-3B42 V7 versus IMD	GSMAP versus IMD
Correlation coefficient	0.8804	0.9364	0.9252
RMSE (rain in mm)	13.2148	16.4420	21.1799

Case IV: (July, 07, 2016)

	Kalpana-1 versus IMD	TMPA-3B42 V7 versus IMD	GSMAP versus IMD
Correlation coefficient	0.7043	0.7496	0.6810
RMSE (rain in mm)	26.4889	32.6634	36.5618

5 Conclusions

The present study evaluates the performance of the present rainfall estimation method with the other SRE algorithms such as TMPA-3B42v7 and GSMap Rainfall product during heavy rainfall events. The results show that the present algorithm is well suited with TMPA-3B42v7, GSMAP, and available IMD data. From the aforementioned results, it is observed that the Arkin's algorithm has less FAR and more POND compared to present technique. The proposed technique shows better performance in terms of accuracy, POD, RMSE, and BIAS compared to the existing Arkin's method. Also from the results, it is observed while comparing with IMD data, the
present technique has great improvement in RMSE compared to TMPA-3B42v7 and GSMAP. From the results, it is clear that the RMSE is less for case II and case III compared to Case I and Case IV. This shows that the satellite rainfall estimation algorithms are well suited for coastal regions when compared with semiarid desert regions. From the aforementioned results, the proposed method surpasses the results obtained by TMPA-3B42v7 and GSMAP Rainfall products.

References

- S. Prakash, C. Mahesh, R.M. Gairola, P.K. Pal, Estimation of Indian summer monsoon rainfall using Kalpana-1VHRR data and its validation using rain gauge and GPCP data. Atmos. Phys. 110, 45–57 (2010)
- R.F. Adler, A.J. Negri, P.R. Keehn, I.M. Hakkarinen, Estimation of monthly rainfall over Japan and surrounding waters from a combination of low-orbit microwave and geosynchronous IR data. J. Appl. Meteor. 32, 335–356 (1993)
- R. Joyce, J.E. Janowiak, P.A. Arkin, P. Xie, CMORPH: a method that produces global precipitation estimates from passive microwave and infrared data at high spatial and temporal resolution. J. Hydrometeor. 5, 487–503 (2004)
- 4. R.F. Adler, G.J. Huffman, P.R. Keehn, Global rain estimates from microwave adjusted geosynchronous IR data. Remote Sens. Rev. 11, 125–135 (1994)
- A. Mishra, R.M. Gairola, A.K. Varma, V.K. Agarwal, Study of intense rainfall events over India using Kalpana-IR and TRMM precipitation radar observations. Int. J. Curr. Sci. 97, 689–695 (2009)
- A. Mishra, R.M. Gairola, A.K. Varma, V.K. Agarwal, Remote sensing of precipitation over Indian land and oceanic regions by synergistic use of multi-satellite sensors, J. Geophys. Res. 115 (2010)
- A.T. Haile, T.H. Rientjes, A. Gieske, M. Gebremichael, Rainfall estimation at the source of the Blue Nile: a multispectral remote sensing approach. Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf. 12 (2010)
- S. Prakash, V. Sathiyamoorthy, C. Mahesh, R.M. Gairola, An evaluation of high-resolution multisatellite rainfall products over the Indian monsoon region. Int. J. Remote Sens. 35, 3018– 3035 (2014)
- P.A. Arkin, B.N. Meisner, The relationship between large-scale convective rainfall and cold cloud over the western hemisphere during 1982–84. Mon. Weath. Rev. 115(1), 51–74 (1987)
- P. Anil Kumar, B. Anuradha, N. Siddaiah, Comparison of convective clouds extraction based on satellite and RADAR data. J. Adv. Res. Dyn. Control Syst. 9(14), 1715–1724 (2017)
- G.A. Vicente, R.A. Scofield, W.P. Mensel, The operational GOES infrared rainfall estimation technique. Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc. 79, 1883–1898 (1998)
- M. Ba, A. Gruber, GOES multispectral rainfall algorithm (GMSRA). J. Appl. Meteor. 40, 1500–1514 (2001)
- R. Roca, M. Viollier, L. Picon, M. Desbois, A multisatellite analysis of deep convection and its moist environment over the Indian Ocean during the winter monsoon. J. Geophys. Res. 107 (2002)
- 14. S. Upadhyaya, R. Ramsankaran, Multi-index rain detection: a new approach for regional rain area detection from remotely sensed data. J. Hydrometeorol. **15**, 2314–2330 (2014)
- 15. P. Anil Kumar, B. Anuradha, Estimation of precipitation from the Doppler weather radar images, in *Proceedings of the International Conference on ISMAC in Computational Vision and Bio-engineering*, vol. 30 (2019), pp. 203–210
- T. Ushio, K. Sasashige, T. Kubota, S. Shige, K. Okamoto, K. Aonashi, A Kalman filter approach to the global satellite mapping of precipitation (GSMaP) from combined passive microwave and infrared radiometric data. J. Meteorol. Soc. Jpn. 87A, 137–151 (2009)

A FSS- and Metasurface-Loaded Dual-Polarized High-Gain Waveguide Array



547

Avinash Chandra D, Kalpesh S. Dakhode, and Hemprasad Yashwant Patil

1 Introduction

Please note that the first paragraph of a section or subsection is not indented. The first waveguide has many advantages in satellite communications and radars because they are capable of handling more power, higher gain and moderate manufacturing cost. With the recent development of RF technology, demands of advanced multiband antennas have risen rapidly over past few years. Generally slotted array waveguides and reflectors array are used for this purpose because these structures have simple feeding mechanisms, to sustain a very high power, negligible losses, moderate gain and simple fabrication procedure. These things attracted to the various researchers from last seven decades. The past work mainly concentrated on calculation of full wave analysis of waveguide aperture and slotted antenna [1].

A changes in the waveguide-based technology when, in last decade Marques et al. [2] proposed propagation of waves in a hollow metallic waveguide, periodically embedded with stop-band resonators. The equivalent circuit model of resonators had been presented by Baena et al. [3, 4] in the year 2005. Chandra and Das, in 2016, published a work on multiband slot antenna with improved radiation behaviors [5, 6]. In 2017, the superstrate-loaded polarization reconfigurable array has been presented by Chandra et al. The metasurface has been inserted in waveguide to obtain the circular polarization in both bands. The next year in 2018, Chandra and Das [7] have analyzed a two-element dual-band dual-polarized high-gain slot array with improved radiation parameters.

Vellore Institute of Technology, Vellore, TN 632014, India

- K. S. Dakhode e-mail: kalpeshshaligram.d2019@vit.ac.in
- H. Y. Patil e-mail: hemprasad.patil@vit.ac.in

A. Chandra (\boxtimes) · K. S. Dakhode · H. Y. Patil

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_48

In this communication, a FSS and metasurface-loaded dual-polarized waveguide array has been presented. An octal shape SRR has dual-band dual-polarized behavior with improved gain of 2 dBi. The proposed antenna has dual-band nature; it shows CP in first band and linear vertical polarization in the second band. The designed array is useful for radar and satellite communication.

2 Dual-Band Dual-Polarized Array

The geometrical view of designed radiator is depicted in Fig. 1a. Geometrical view



Fig. 1 Presented dual-polarized aperture array. **a** Three-dimensional view of presented array. **b** Metasurface. Cell; u = 1.08 mm, m = 25 mm and n = 25 mm (distance between aperture and FSS is 5.1 mm)

of metasurface is depicted in Fig. 1b.

The shape has been processed on the expansive mass of a waveguide having geometrical restriction and wide divider measurements 10.16 and 22.86 mm, separately. The FSS of octal shape having equal sides has been taken to structure the array. Rogers RT Duriod 5880 with thickness 0.508 mm with relative permittivity 2.2 has been taken for designing the metasurface and FSS. The optimized separation between FSS and the aperture is 5.1 mm.

3 Scattering and Radiation Behavior

The S11 of presented FSS-loaded array is depicted in Fig. 2. The presented threeelement array has dual-band behavior. It has more than 10-dB impedance bandwidth ranges from 8.5 to 11.05 GHz. The proposed array resonates at 2 different frequencies at 9.5 GHz and 11.05 GHz, respectively. The 3-dB axial ratio of metasurface-loaded dual-band radiator is depicted in Fig. 3. It revealed that axial ratio (AR) bandwidths range from 9.3 to 9.7 GHz. Figure 4 shows that the field vectors movement in clockwise (for positive *z*-direction) direction. So, the presented radiator has left-handed circularly polarization nature in the first band.

The Co and cross-pol normalized power pattern of the proposed array has been depicted on both orthogonal plane (yz and xz) as shown in Fig. 5. The depicted array is dual-polarized. In the first band, it shows circular polarization, while in the other band, it shows linear polarization. The presented FSS-loaded array is left-handed circularly polarized in the lower band. Figure 5a and b shows that LHCP components are 20–30 dB higher of RHCP components at boresight directions.

The Co and cross-pol normalized power pattern of the proposed array has been depicted on both orthogonal plane (yz and xz) as shown in Fig. 5. The depicted array is dual-polarized. In the first band it shows circular polarization, while in other







Fig. 4 E-field rotation at various time instants



Fig. 5 Normalized power pattern of presented array **a** at 9.5 GHz in xz, **b** at yz-plane and 11.5 GHz **c** at xz **d** at yz-plane

band linear polarization. The presented FSS-loaded array is left-handed circularly polarized in the lower band. Figure 5a and b shows that LHCP components are 20–30 dB higher of RHCP components at boresight directions.

Total gain plot of the dual-polarized array is shown in Fig. 6. Gain of presented array has been also plotted at the resonant frequency. Figure 6 concludes that the gain



of metasurface-loaded array at two distinct matching frequency is 6.5 and 8 dBi. The insertion of metasurface and FSS improves the gain of overall array by 1.5–3 dBi.

4 Conclusion

A FSS and metasurface embedded high-gain dual-band dual-polarized array has been proposed in this article. A three octal shape SRR are kept in the E-plane of waveguide. The array has been analyzed using HFSS (version 15). The presented antenna shows circular polarization in the first band, while linear vertical polarization is observed in higher (second) band. The gain of presented FSS and metasurface-loaded array is 2–3 dB greater than the traditional waveguide aperture arrays.

References

- A.J. Sangster, H. Wang, Resonance properties of omnidirectional slot doublet in rectangular waveguide. Electron. Lett. 29(1), 16–18 (1993)
- R. Marqués, J. Martel, F. Mesa, F. Medina, Left-handed-media simulation and transmission of EM waves in subwavelength split-ring-resonator-loaded metallic waveguides. Phys. Rev. Lett. 89(18), 183901(1)–3901(4) (2002)
- J.D. Baena, J. Bonache, F. Martin et al., Equivalent-circuit models for split-ring resonators and complementary split-ring resonator coupled to planar transmission line. IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech. 53(4), 1451–1459 (2005)
- A. Chandra, S. Das, A SRR loaded triple band slot array antenna with improved crosspolarization and front-to-back radiation. Microwave Opt. Technol. Lett. 58(10), 2500–2505 (2016)
- A. Chandra, S. Das, Superstrate and CSRR loaded circularly polarized dual-band open-ended waveguide antenna with improved radiation characteristics and polarization reconfiguration property. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 65(10), 5559–5564 (2017)



- A. Chandra, S. Das Polarizer superstrate and SRR loaded dual band dual polarized waveguide slot array antenna. Int. J. RF Comput.-Aided Eng. 28(4), 1–8 (2018)
- 7. A. Chandra, S. Das, Application of SRR to achieve performance improvement and multi-band characteristics in aperture antenna. IET Microwave Antennas Propag. **11**(7), 990–996 (2017)

Design and Implementation of Direct Memory Access & Compression in PSoC5LP



Athira Gopinath, Chandni Arun, and Aravind Hanumanthaiah

1 Introduction

A reliable streaming of sensor data is very critical for a disaster management application like forest fire detection and landslide early warning system. It becomes challenging especially when it is deployed in a remote location [1, 2]. The size of the data has to be accounted when transmitted through a communication module, since the bandwidth of the module is fixed. Also, there can be data loss, when the CPU of the processor is allocated with several processing tasks on complex signal processing algorithms. This is because the microcontroller executes the code in the sequentially and ADC need to wait until the microcontroller reads the value from the output register of ADC. Since every data is very crucial in disaster management, we cannot afford to lose data. The selection of an embedded processor or a controller plays a significant role in designing an efficient system. Conventionally, general processors [3] are used in most of the applications due its low cost, ease of implementation, and availability. Some of the high-end processors has DMA features and can run at high speed.

PSoC series is likewise an alternative that simplify large portion of novel preference which is further useful for researchers, designers, developers, and engineers to facilitate their works. It is designed in such a way that both hardware designing besides the product of software development is applicable. Some more com-

Center for Wireless Networks and Applications (WNA), Amrita Vishwa Vidyapeetham, Amritapuri, India

e-mail: athirag@am.amrita.edu

C. Arun e-mail: chandniarun@am.amrita.edu

A. Hanumanthaiah e-mail: aravindh@am.amrita.edu

555

A. Gopinath (🖂) · C. Arun · A. Hanumanthaiah

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_49

plicated applications related to anti-aliasing filter, ADC, DMA implementation, and along with different communication modes which can be simply designed and reconstructed according to the changes in the operations.

PSoC5LP is selected and used in this work to design and implement the ADC, DMA, compression, and UART. In order to prevent the data loss, DMA [4] is considered in the design and implementation. Direct Memory Access (DMA) helps to transfer the data from source to the destination without the intervention of CPU. It is a highly recommended to reduce the size of data to be transmitted.

In Fig. 1, it explains the basic block diagram of a real-time system. The data sensed by the sensor will be fed to the ADC register. The ADC will convert the analog signals to digital values. The digital values will be fetched by the DMA. Data will undergone compression and sent to the network. When it is received by receiver, the data get decompressed back and fed to the visualization unit. In this paper, it describes the role of DMA to reduce the workload handled by the CPU. This focuses mainly on implementation of DMA on PSoC5LP along with the implementation of compression algorithm which is handled by CPU, thus to understand how the tasks can be improvised by comparing the performance with and without having the intervention of DMA.

Section 2 explains the related works; Sect. 3 described the processor descriptions. In Sect. 4, it details the implementation of DMA in PSoC 5LP, and Sect. 5 conveys the steps to need to follow for the implementation DMA in PSoC5LP. Data compression algorithm is explained in Sect. 6. Section 7 gives the discussion of the work. Section 8 concludes the paper work.



2 Related Works

Soheila Gharavi [5] et.al designed a five-stage parametric DWT and 1024- FFT with digital filters in PSoC5LP and compares it with the FPGA, ASIC, and DSP chip in terms of power efficiency. With this work, the paper proved that PSoC5LP are more flexible in designing, highly accurate with complex algorithms, good providence in hardware overhead, and efficient utilization of power.

Tuyen Phong Truong [6] et.al proposed a re-configurable hardware development stage for power broad-field remote sensor systems. Here, the work is designed and implemented using a configurable hardware architecture for isolated sensing structures based on PSoC and long-range (LoRa) technology. This paper highlights the evaluation of the functional claims and efficiency utilization of the design.

Mishra [7] et al. described a comparative study of nine popular IoT prototyping development platforms and also analysis based on the seven aspects of IoT application prototyping in terms of computational power, cost, reliability, learning curve, OS support and ease of programming, and time to market.

Krauss et al. [8] inquired into the feasibility of using the Arduino platform in real-time feedback control. This paper also checks the digital communication delay in the performance of the system by using a combination of serial echo tests and Bode plots. It gives additional information on to set the Arduino's timer for fast PWM and achieve a virtual ground for bipolar and A/D conversion.

Oza [9]et.al designed and developed a robotic hand with the aid of Arduino UNO board with two phases. The first phase includes the movement of the movements of fingers using glove, and the second phase will concentrated on the movement of the wrist. The design includes a flex sensor which is attached to the fingers. The configuration of the flex sensor attached to the finger, and the angle calculation for the rotation servo motor will be the trickiest part of this work.

Mohiddin [10] et al. proposed a sensor grid system using PSoC. Routing is achieved by incorporating CYFI RF module to transmit the data. Since the PSoC integrates all the programmable digital/analog and microcontroller blocks, all the signal processing tasks can be performed in to an individual chip which will results in a miniature footprint for the main hub. Also the sensor networks can be build and tested in different topology.

3 Differences Between a Conventional SoC and PSoC

3.1 Programmable System on Chip

System on a chip (SoC) is an integrated chip which usually has a microcontroller with analog and digital blocks which can be programmed on the same fabric.

Programmable system on chip [11] from Cypress Semiconductor is a popular SoC family used for industrial applications. Similar to an SoC, PSoC also has a



Fig. 2 PSoC5LP[12]

microcontroller-coupled digital and analog blocks. But, the PSoC platform offers the GUI and API to program the analog and digital blocks. This feature is discussed in the paper which eases out the development process.

Due to its high flexibility, performing complex task and its energy efficiency will make the PSoC platform to do best in commercial markets.

PSoC5LP: For our work, PSoC5LP based development board is used to implement DMA and compression technique. PSoC5LP in Fig. 2 shows the PSoC architecture that has a 32 bit ARM Cortex-M3 processor with a DMA controller which can clock the speed up to 80MHz. Enabling excessive less power beside industry's expanded voltage domain, whereas analog and digital programmable blocks implement characteristic functions and also flexible enough to perform routing attributed to analog and digital function to either pins. It has a 24 channel Direct Memory Access which helps to reduce the burden over CPU. PSoC5LP kit is shown in Fig. 2.

DMA implementation is possible in high-end series of PSoC family. This feature is integrated in such way that the designers can easily do the implementation by giving the inputs to the DMA wizards. DMA wizard will generate a code and based on that will help to reduce the manual error occurred during the programming and also saves the time required to complete the coding part. PSoC5LP family of devices has better performance in terms of speed while processing, low-power operations, feature compatibility, and quality functions to execute the applications.

4 Implementation of DMA in PSoC5LP

A peripheral to memory, DMA implementation approach is designed and developed, in which the data is taken from ADC and passed to a memory array bypassing the CPU. This will help reduce the CPU interventions and can be allocated to the ALU for other functions rather than collecting the data from the ADC [13]. For the implementation of DMA in PSoC 5LP, the source and destination address should be specified. In this case, ADC will be the source and memory array will be the destination. When the ADC completes its conversion, the EOC signal will initiate the DMA. It will enable the DMA to pass a channel request. On each DMA request, the DMA will fetch the data from the ADC output register and write that to the destination memory address. Further, it will increment the destination memory address and also decrements the transfer count after each burst. This will happen until the transfer



Fig. 3 Architecture of DMA

count is decrements to zero. Once the transfer counter decrements to 0, which will produce a transaction finished signal at the NRQ terminal of the DMA component, which triggers the ISR_DMA_Done interrupt. Figure 3 depicts the architecture of peripheral to memory DMA.

5 Start the DMA Wizard

5.1 Selection of DMA Channel Wizard

(i) Select the DMA channel to be designed in Fig. 4.

- Give name to the PSoC project creator
- Name the DMA component in the project

(ii) Select the DMA transfer global settings in Fig. 5

Ello Edit View Project	ator 4.2 [(C:\\PSoC	Creator\DMA PROJEC	T\DMA.cydsn\To	pDesign\TopDesign.	cysch]
369% • • • • •) 🗟 💕		™ ™ 18. × ♥	₩.	Debug
🖄 📽 🖆 🖄 📥 • 🖽		osoft Sans	Serif 🔹 10	• B I U		• 🚄 • 💩 • 🖕
Workspace Explore + # ×	Start	Page	*TopDesian.cvsch			
G G	DN	A Wizard				? X
Workspace 'DMA PR(Project 'DMA' [(or TopDesign.cys E	°℃ G	Select the	arted e DMA instance to use.			
Pins Analog Clocks	7/0	The DMA V guide you th C code that	Nizard enables quick and hrough defining your trans t can then be copied and	accurate developn action descriptors a pasted into your ap	nent of applications tha and, in the end, genera plication.	t use DMA. It will te the necessary
	Т	Project:	DMA			~
System	× 1	DMA:	DMA_1			~
Flash Secu		10				A.4
EEPROM					•	
Header Files						
E Source Files						
main.c						
	$\overline{}$				Next >	Cancel
	Notice Li	st				
	Workspa	ce	🔹 🔯 0 Errors 🧕	0 Warnings	0 Notes Go to Er	ror View Details
	Descr	iption				

Fig. 4 Select DMA channel

- The upper 16 bits of the source address and destination address is designed in channel configuration register, respectively.
- Bytes per burst are defined as number of bytes to be carried in a single burst while transferring the data.
- Burst will decide whether a single burst depends upon the separate request. Therefore, each burst obtains a request.
- There are 1–128 number of transaction descriptors which are correlated with the DMA channel.
- Single chain or loop refers as what 'Next TD' for the last TD in the chain. If single chain, the next TD is DMA_DISABLE_TD (0xFE). If loop, it is the first TD.
- (iii) Characterize transaction descriptors for the DMA channel in Fig. 6

(iv) Duplicate the code created by the DMA wizard in Fig. 7

• Once the configuration of DMA channels and TD are finished, the wizard will create code for the DMA channel. This code comprises the DMA channel and the TDs configuration, and it is generated in a window in the DMA wizard dialog [14]. The working of DMA in PSoC5LP is depicted as flowchart in Fig. 8.

DMA PROJECT -	PSoC Creato	r 4.2 [C:\	\PSoC	Creato	NDMA P	ROJE	CT\DN	1A.cydsr	\TopDe	sign\TopD	esign.cy:	sch]
<u>File Edit View</u>	Project	Build D	ebug	lools	Windo	N F	lelp					
369% •	ء 🔍 🕲	67 D	â 🖻	8		, Å	Da 1	3×	3 (1	_ #A ·	, De	ebug
🖽 • 🖂 🧇 储	🎬 🔆 🖕	Microso	oft Sans S	Serif		10	-	BI	U	F = 1	<u>A</u> -	<u>-</u>
/orkspace Explore.	ą 🗙	(•						
1 a	DMA	Wizard									?	×
Workspace 'DM Project 'DM 	A PRC Glo MA' [gn.cys	bal Setti Configure t	ngs he global	transac	tion desc	iptor :	settings					
E Pins	Vide F 4	ource					D	estination				
	g i s	RAM				``	- S	RAM				~
	rupts a Bi	ase Addr:	CYDEV	/_SRAM	_BASE		Ba	ase Addr:	CYDE	V_SRAM_E	BASE	
Syste Syste Syste Syste Direc Soft Flash E2 EEPR Header F Source	m secure Secure OM siles icallbic icallbic icallbic	Set Man Bytes pe	ually r Burst: i Burst Re	127 c	[0, 12 Request	7]	Nur	nber of TI	Ds: 1 ()	Single Chai	n	
						< Bi	ack		Next >		Cance	el

Fig. 5 Global settings

6 Implementation of Compression Algorithm

The compression [15] of data can reduce the data storage required for an optimized system for monitoring, analyzing, and detecting the events. It will help to increase the storage capacity, transfer speed, and bring down the hardware requirements for storage and bandwidth required for the transmission. The compression methods can be of two types, which are lossless compression and lossy compression. In this paper, lossless compression approach is adopted to compress the data collected from the sensor because the data loss is not acceptable in this work. A combination of delta and run length encoding is used as lossless compression techniques [16] to reduce the data points required to store and transmit. The blocks involved in the compression are shown in Fig. 9.

The data compression is selected based on the type of data used for transmission. It is one among the important factors which affect the compression ratio. In this application, accelerometer data are considered. The accelerometer shows a large variation when it capture any vibrations or caused due any sort of inclination. Based on these studies, delta encoding is best suited for the smooth data points. In order to minimize the repeated data points, the run length encoding is applied after the

🗄 DN	A PRC	JECT - I	PSoC	Creator	4.2 [C:	\\P	SoC Cr	eat	tor\DM/	A P	ROJECT	10	MA.cydsn\	TopD	esign\Topl)esig	in.cysc	h]
<u>F</u> ile	Edit	View	Proj	ect <u>B</u>	uild]	Debu	g <u>T</u> o	ols	s <u>W</u> ine	do	w <u>H</u> el	p						
369%		•	ی		<mark>67 1</mark> 2	đ	6	1	9 3	4	180	a	$\mathbb{R} \times $	9 0	. A	• .	Deb	ug
	. 🔺 👌	1		¥ .	Micros	oft Sa	ans Ser	if			10	•	BI	U	E = 3	1	A4	1 -
Works	pace E	plore	- 4	×	· · · ·		1 ++	-		_	•	_						
9 G	a			DMA	Wizard												?	×
₩ 100 - 100	Project	e 'DMA ct 'DM pDesign	A' [Trar	onfigure	the tr	scripto ansacti	on	descripto	ors	ettings.							
P	De De	Dinc	Ide F						-									
	-0	Analog	9	TD#	Endiar	1 * ^E	trq	۲	Enable	٠	Length	•	Source •	Inc	 Destinat 	ion	Inc •	Ne
		Clocks	ints	0	Off		\checkmark		\checkmark		32A		adc sample		sample			0
		DMA Systen Directi Flash S EEPRC eader Fil cyapic urce Fil main.c	n Secu M les callbi es	٢														>
					Reset to	Defa	ults	1	[< Back	¢	1	Vext :	>		Cancel	

Fig. 6 Add transaction descriptors

delta encoding. Both encoding algorithms will help to enhance the data compression ratio by reducing the data size to be transmitted. Also these two are simplest lossless algorithm which will reduce the complexity of the entire process.

6.1 Delta Encoding

Delta encoding is a kind of simplest compression algorithm used to reduce the number of bits stored and transmitted. It is mostly preferable for the smooth data like slow varying data which gives small differences between the consecutive data points [17]. In delta-encoded algorithm, it will store and transmit the delta values instead of the original values. The encoded file contains the first data sample as such in the original data file and differences of the consecutive data samples. The delta encoding find its application in software revision control system, transverse file variations, enhancing HTTP working and systematic Web page storage. Figure 10 shows the working of delta encoding with an example.

DMA PROJECT - PS	pC Creator 4.2 [C:\\PSoC Cre	ator\DMA PROJ	ECT\DMA.cydsn\	TopDesign\TopDe	esign.cysch]
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew	<u>Project Build Debug Too</u>	ols <u>W</u> indow	<u>H</u> elp		
369% 🔹 🔍	. 🤍 🖕 🗊 🗂 💧 💕 🗟	Ø 🖪 🖪 🕽	(BBX	o 🤉 📜 🛤 -	- Debug
🖽 • 🖂 🧇 😭 🦉	🎽 🌉 🖕 Microsoft Sans Seri	f • 10	• B I	¥ ∎≣≣	<u>A</u> • 🥒 • ¿
Workspace Explore	ф ¥	- · · ·)			
🖓 Ca	DMA Wizard				? ×
Workspace 'DMA P	Generated Code (Copy and paste the cod	e below into your	design.		
🕀 🥵 Design Wide	F				
	/* Defines for DM #define DMA_1_BYT #define DMA_1_REQ	A_1 */ ES_PER_BURST UEST_PER_BURS	127 ST 0		^
- J Interrupt	s #define DMA_1_DST	BASE (CYDEV	SRAM_BASE)		
System System Directive Second Sec	<pre>s /* Move these var uint0 DMA_1_Chan; uint0 DMA_1_TD[1].</pre>	iable declar.	ations to the	top of the f	unction
Header Files Logical Cyapical Cource Files	<pre>/* DMA Configurat DMA_1_Chan = DMA_ HT16(DMA 1_SR </pre>	ion for DMA_ 1_DmaInitial: C BASE). HII	1 */ ize(DMA_1_BYTF 6(DMA 1 DST BA	S_PER_BURST, ASE));	DMA_1_
i-c main.c					
	Copy to Clipboard	<	Back	Finish	Cancel

Fig. 7 Generated code

6.2 Run Length Encoding

Run length encoding method is a common lossless method adopted mostly in the data files having the repeated data points. In the RLE encoded file [18], it will replace the repeated data points with the count of repetition and copy of the data point itself. Thus, it reduces the data to be stored and transmitted. It will give prominent compression ratio only if it contains the repeated data points. Otherwise it can give a low compression ratio, or sometimes the compressed file size [19] is even more than the size of the original file. RLE is widely used in TIFF and PDF files. Figure 11 shows the working of RLE encoding with an example.

6.3 Delta and Run Length Encoding

In the combination of delta and RLE encoding approach [20], primarily the data samples are passed through the delta encoder and the delta encoded data samples are fed to the input RLE encoder [21]. The benefit of using combined algorithms is that the compression ratio can be effectively increased without any complex efforts. The



Fig. 8 Flowchart of DMA implementation in PSoC5LP



Fig. 9 Basic block diagram of lossless compression



Fig. 10 Delta encoding



Fig. 12 Delta run length encoding

accelerometer data is fed through the delta encoder, which will take of the differences between the consecutive number. In accelerometer data, the data points are almost smooth except when it detects any events. But the number of data points is still same as that of the original file with the delta values of the consecutive data points. In order to reduce the number of data points, the delta encoded values are fed to the RLE encoder. Since the data is almost smooth, the delta encoded file contains more repeated delta values. When these repeated data fed to the RLE encoder, this will definitely increase the compression ratio by replacing the repeated delta values with its count of the repeating delta points and copy of the delta point. Delta RLE encoded data are shown in Fig. 12. The algorithm provides a data compression of almost 50% of the original data size.

7 Discussion

This work mainly focuses implementation of DMA feature and compression technique in the data acquisition system and explore the advantages of using DMA for fetching the ADC data rather than the conventional way. In a conventional system, the ADC values are directly given to the CPU for data processing, and then, the processed data is transmitted using an appropriate communication protocol. Here, the CPU performs most of the task from the data acquisition, processing and transmitting. This will increase the CPU overhead, especially when the sampling rate of the data is high. The DMA reduces the CPU overhead which will help the CPU to do other tasks. Also, it will avoid the data loss that can occur due to high sampling rates. The DMA fetches the data from the register, while the CPU performs data compression.

The compressed data is sent using the UART communication protocol. Since the research mainly looking into the remote sensing, that requires a huge amount of data to be transmitted for analysis. Each communication module have constraints to transmit the size of data. This is solved by implementing the compression techniques in the CPU code that reduces the size of the data

The development boards like Arduino is not fast enough and also does not have robust and dynamic DMA features as PSoC.

8 Conclusion

This paper shows the implementation of DMA and compression techniques in PSoC5LP. The DMA enables the parallel processing, while CPU compresses the sensor data, DMA acquires the data from the sensor. Thus, the system can avoid the delay that usually occurs due to the sequential execution of code in the CPU. This system can be beneficial in the applications that has high sampling rate.

Acknowledgements We express our deep gratitude to our Chancellor and world renowned humanitarian leader Sri. (Dr.) Mata Amritanandamayi Devi (Amma) for her inspiration and support toward working on interdisciplinary research that has direct societal benefit.

References

- R. Prabha, M.V. Ramesh, V.P. Rangan, Building optimal topologies for real-time wireless sensor networks, in 2018 International Conference on Wireless Communications, Signal Processing and Networking (WiSPNET), Chennai (2018), pp. 1–6, https://doi.org/10.1109/WiSPNET. 2018.8538721
- A.T. Kunnath, M.V. Ramesh, Wireless geophone network for remote monitoring and detection of landslides, in 2011 International Conference on Communications and Signal Processing, Calicut (2011), pp. 122–125. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICCSP.2011.5739283
- A. Hanumanthaiah, D. Arjun, M. L. Liya, C. Arun, A. Gopinath, Integrated cloud based smart home with automation and remote controllability, in 2019 International Conference on Communication and Electronics Systems (ICCES), Coimbatore, India (2019), pp. 1908–1912. https:// doi.org/10.1109/ICCES45898.2019.9002245
- Y.J.M. Shirur, K.M. Sharma, Design and implementation of efficient direct memory access (DMA) controller in multiprocessor SoC, in 2018 International Conference on Networking, Embedded and Wireless Systems (ICNEWS), Bangalore, India (2018). https://doi.org/10.1109/ IranianCEE.2016.7585809
- S. Gharavi, A. Ramezani, J. Frounchi, Implementation of a PSoC-based flexible and low-power processor, in 2016 24th Iranian Conference on Electrical Engineering (ICEE), Shiraz (2016), pp. 1780–1784. https://doi.org/10.1109/IranianCEE.2016.7585809
- T.P. Truong, H.T. Le, T.T. Nguyen, A reconfigurable hardware platform for low-power widearea wireless sensor networks. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 1432(1) (2020)

- 7. A. Mishra, Embedded development platforms To design prototypes of internet of things (Iot) applications: a study
- R.W. Krauss, Evaluation of a low-cost microcontroller for real-time control education and prototyping, in *Dynamic Systems and Control Conference*, Vol. 46186 (American Society of Mechanical Engineers, 2014)
- V. Oza, P. Mehta, Arduino robotic hand: survey paper, in 2018 International Conference on Smart City and Emerging Technology (ICSCET), Mumbai (2018), pp. 1–5. https://doi.org/10. 1109/ICSCET.2018.8537312
- R. Mohiddin et al., Building a sensor network with PSoC, in 2011 Fifth International Conference on Sensing Technology, Palmerston North (2011), pp. 353–357. https://doi.org/10.1109/ ICSensT.2011.6136997
- P. Deepthi, M. Mohan, S. Raghavan, PSoC embedded design for ultra low digital frequency meter, 2015 International Conference on Circuits, Power and Computing Technologies [ICCPCT-2015], Nagercoil (2015), pp. 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICCPCT.2015.7159317
- 12. https://www.cypress.com/documentation/application-notes/an77900-psoc-3-and-psoc-5lp-low-power-modes-and-power-reduction
- 13. M. Kritika, A.A. Sharma, J.M.S. Yasha, Power efficient destination address generator of direct memory access controller in multiprocessor SoC, in *IJIRCCE* (2017)
- 14. https://www.cypress.com/file/44011/download
- A. Gopinath, M. Ravisankar, Comparison of lossless data compression techniques, in 2020 International Conference on Inventive Computation Technologies (ICICT), Coimbatore, India (2020), pp. 628–633. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICICT48043.2020.9112516
- Y. Okada, K. Terazono, A new delta compression algorithm suitable for program updating in embedded systems, in *Data Compression Conference*, 2003. Proceedings. DCC 2003, Snowbird, UT, USA (2003), p. 440. https://doi.org/10.1109/DCC.2003.1194059
- S.T. Klein, T.C. Serebro, D. Shapira, Modeling delta encoding of compressed files (2006). https://doi.org/10.1109/DCC.2006.47
- S. Akhter, M.A. Haque, ECG comptression using run length encoding, in 2010 18th European Signal Processing Conference, Aalborg (2010), pp. 1645–1649
- S. Ghosh, P. Jain, Differential edge based run length encoding algorithm for ECG signals, in International Conference on Signal Processing (ICSP 2016), Vidisha (2016), pp. 1–5. https:// doi.org/10.1049/cp.2016.1460
- A. Hanumanthaiah, A. Gopinath, C. Arun, B. Hariharan, R. Murugan, Comparison of lossless data compression techniques in low-cost low-power (LCLP) IoT systems, in 2019 9th International Symposium on Embedded Computing and System Design (ISED), Kollam, India (2019), pp. 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISED48680.2019.9096229
- M. Arif, R.S. Anand, Run length encoding for speech data compression, in 2012 IEEE International Conference on Computational Intelligence and Computing Research, Coimbatore (2012), pp. 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICCIC.2012.6510185

Security of Medical Images Using DWT and SVD Watermarking Technique



569

Kumari Suniti Singh and Harsh Vikram Singh

1 Introduction

Advancement of multimedia technology in addition to communication technology boosts the capacity of handling medical information and also sharing it to remote areas, but also some risks are introduced for electronic patient records and therefore requires secure information management systems [1]. To avoid the risk and secure, the medical images between the exchange process security techniques must be able to provide confidentiality, authenticity, and integrity of a medical image [2]. Confidentiality shows that only the approved clients can able to get the transmitted image. Integrity shows the image received is uncontrollable by any unapproved user. Whereas, authenticity ensures image origination from the specified source and is associated with the patient specified. So, these requirements must be fulfilled to accomplish secure and reliable medical image transmission. Cryptography and watermarking techniques are mainly used to secure medical images [2]. Whereas, the watermarking technique is most widely used in data hiding and security. Digital watermarking mainly refers to directly embedding the information into some carrier. The cryptography approach utilizes hashing functions, symmetrical encryption, and digital signatures to provide security [2]. Whereas, security can be achieved by using robust and fragile watermarking techniques. Robust watermarks are able to resist common signal processing and attack [2]. Unlike robust watermarking, fragile watermarking cannot be able to resist signal processing attacks and tampering. So, to utilize the effect of both methods, i.e., cryptography and watermarking, cryptowatermarking algorithms are developed and utilized. There are different types of

K. S. Singh (🖂) · H. V. Singh

Electronics Engineering Department, KNIT, Sultanpur, Uttar Pradesh, India e-mail: suniti.singh.2287@knit.ac.in

H. V. Singh e-mail: harshvikramsingh@knit.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_50

crypto-watermarking techniques that have been proposed. These techniques can be classified into reversible, irreversible, and region based. Region based is further classified into a region of interest (ROI) and region of non-interest (RONI) [3]. While hiding the information into ROI section, there is a necessity of care to avoid the degradation of image. Also, any tampering must be avoided to recover the original data in order to attain correct diagnosis and if needed for retransmission [3]. The recovery data has been embedded inside the RONI region. Digital watermarking can be classified as a carrier and its method of representation. Digital watermarks could be taken as video watermarks, audio watermarks, image watermarks, and text watermarks [4]. In recent years, the application of watermarking has been increased significantly and different methods are used for the security of medical images so far. Some most frequently applied methods are classified and described hereafter. Al-Hai et al. [2] proposed a region-based multi-algorithm using various watermarking techniques in both domains (i.e., frequency and spatial). To assure confidentiality and authenticity, RONI is also used in this proposed method by using DWT and SVD techniques. Eswaraiah and Sreenivasa Reddy [3] proposed a watermarking technique, which is block based and fragile to circumvent the distortion inside ROI and assures the integrity of it. In this method, image has been partitioned into ROI pixels, RONI pixels, and border pixels. So, the data to be recovered has been embedded into RONI. Navas et al. [5] proposed an electronic patient report (EPR) hiding technique using integer wavelet transform. The proposed method shows the result in terms of higher PSNR and high EPR with weighted peak signal to noise ratio (WPSNR). Roy et al. [6] give a brief review about different aspects of biomedical image security and different methods to provide medical image security. Jero et al. [7] proposed a method using DWT and SVD. DWT decomposes the image, and SVD embeds the data into decomposed ECG signal. In this, the embedding of information has been gained by replacing the singular value (SV) of a decomposed image by SV of the secret information. Different evaluation matrices have been used to measure the performance of applied algorithms. Kaw et al. [8] proposed reversible and high capacity data hiding technique to secure embedded EPR available in the image using OPR, which denotes optimal pixel repetition. Each pixel of the host image is altered using OPR into 2 * 2 blocks to ensure reversibility of pixels in a 2 * 2 blocks to attain altered values. In this, a lookup table is generated corresponding to 16 possible pixel values. In this [9], a secure, robust and lossless image watermarking using DWT and DCT is given, which provides the privacy of patient data. DWT is applied to partition the image into sub-bands (i.e., LL, LH, HL, and HH). After decomposing the image, DCT has been applied on the HH frequency component. The adaptive scaling factor is computed, and mean is calculated. The scaling factor is multiplied with watermarked co-efficient to obtain new watermark co-efficient. Then, new watermark co-efficient is added. At the end, inverse DCT is used to attain watermarked image. Memon et al. [10] proposed a hybrid watermarking method using embedding a watermark in RONI region for achieving image security. Firstly, the information separated is inserted into RONI so that it can be used later in the procedure of recovery of the host image. This method evaluates WPSNR for equality measure. Kumar et al. [11] provide a spread spectrum watermark algorithm using DWT. This algorithm has been

used to embed watermarks like patient records, source of identification, and digital signatures of doctors in binary format to secure the image information. The results show the performance of algorithm as to gain factor, watermark size, and level of decomposition of sub-bands.

The rest of the paper is arranged as: Different Security Techniques used for medical images is given in Sect. 2. Methodology used for image security is presented in Sect. 3. Results have been demonstrated in Sect. 4, and conclusion is presented in Sect. 5.

2 Different Security Techniques Used for Medical Images

The recent advancement in communication technology has increased the quality of health care services. Telemedicine makes possible the exchange of medical information among the doctors and hospitals situated across the entire world. However, telemedicine has also some drawback since it gives ease for intruders to interrupt and tamper the medical data because of exchange on public networks. Hence, the securities of medical images are necessary for correct diagnosis and to avoid any kind of tampering. To assure secured exchange of medical images, three criteria must be fulfilled: confidentiality, integrity, and authenticity [12]. Presently cryptography and watermarking are most frequently used to furnish these security measures [13, 14]. Watermarking has been performed in three common steps like watermark generation, watermark embedding, and watermark extraction as given in Fig. 1.

Watermarking scheme uses different domain such as spatial domain and frequency domain. Spatial domain is simple and straight forward to use but not robust and also faces difficulty in surviving attacks [6, 15]. Transform domain or frequency domain is robust in nature, and information is embedded in transform co-efficient. Whereas, transform domain is robust in nature and information is embedded in transform co-efficients. Transform domain uses different wavelet transform: discrete wavelet transform (DWT), discrete cosine transform (DCT), singular value decomposition (SVD), etc. Each transform has its specific property. If more robustness is required,



Fig. 1 Block diagram of digital watermarking

DWT is most appropriate among the three transforms. Whereas, for more fragility, DCT is the best suitable method [15]. Digital watermarking can be also classified into two groups: reversible watermarking and robust watermarking.

2.1 Discrete Wavelet Transform

DWT has achieved very good attention in the image processing research work because of multimedia image representation capabilities. It is the most widely used for image decomposition. It gives approximation and detail coefficients. Which can be written as LL, LH, HL, and HH [16]. Where LL represents approximation and LH, HL, HH represents (horizontal, vertical, and diagonal, respectively) detail coefficients. LL is low-frequency component of an image which contains most of the energy in the image. The decomposition level can be increased according to the need of an application. Three-level DWT decomposition is given in Fig. 2.

The 2D-DWT of an image I(p,q) of size $P \times Q$ can be calculated as Eqs. (1) and (2) [17].

$$w_{\varphi}(j_0, s, t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{PQ}} \sum_{p=0}^{P-1} \sum_{q=0}^{Q-1} I(p, q) \varphi_{j_0, s, t}(p, q)$$
(1)

$$w_{\psi}(j,s,t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{PQ}} \sum_{p=0}^{P-1} \sum_{q=0}^{Q-1} I(p,q) \psi_{j,s,t}^{i}(p,q)$$
(2)

where $i = \{H, V, D\}$, j_0 is starting scale, $w\varphi(j_0, s, t)$ gives approximation coefficients, and $w_{\psi}^i(j, s, t)$ gives detail coefficients for $j \ge j_0$.

Inverse 2D-IDWT is obtained by Eq. (3).

LL ₃ HL ₃ LH ₃ HH ₃	HL ₂	
LH ₂	HH ₂	HL_1
LI	H1	HH_1

Fig. 2 Three-level image decomposition using DWT

Security of Medical Images Using DWT and SVD ...

$$I(p,q) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{PQ}} \sum_{s} \sum_{t} w_{\varphi}(j_{0}, s, t) \varphi_{j_{0},s,t}(p,q) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{PQ}} \sum_{i=H,V,D} \sum_{j=j_{0}}^{\infty} \sum_{s} \sum_{t} w_{\psi}^{i}(j, s, t) \psi_{j,s,t}^{i}(p,q)$$
(3)

where $\varphi_{j_0,s,t}(p,q)$ and $\psi_{j,s,t}(p,q)$ represent discrete variable functions for $p = 0, 1, 2, \dots, P-1$ and $q = 0, 1, 2, \dots, Q-1$.

2.2 Singular Value Decomposition

SVD is a widely used tool for mathematical solutions for image processing and signal processing application. It is used frequently in filtering, compression, and noise estimation calculations [18, 19]. It gives a factorized form of rectangular matrix either it is real or complex. It gives a product of matrices of rectangular matrix with different characteristics, which helps in image processing in transform domain [20]. Let M be a matrix of corresponding image with m rows and n columns, then SVD of M be given as Eqs. (4) and (5).

$$M = U * S * V^T \tag{4}$$

$$M = [U_1, U_2, \dots, U_m] \times \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_1 - - & 0 \\ | & \backslash & | \\ | & & \backslash & | \\ | & & \backslash & | \\ 0 & - & - & \lambda_m \end{bmatrix} \times [V_1, V_2, \dots, V_n]$$
(5)

where *S*, *U*, *V* denote diagonal matrix and the orthogonal matrices, respectively. *S* matrix is formed by λ_i Eigen elements, which is called singular values. $\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \cdots \lambda_r = \lambda_{r+1} = \cdots = \lambda_n = 0$. *r* denotes the rank of matrix *S*. Right singular vectors and left singular vectors are given by first *r* columns of *V* and first *r* columns of *U*, respectively.

Matrix M can also be written as Eq. (6),

$$M = \sum_{i=0}^{r} \lambda_i * u_i * v_i^T \tag{6}$$

SVD contains the majority of image energy in its singular values. SV also provides good stability of an image [21].

2.3 Medical Imaging Security Requirements

In medical image security, various aspects are considered to properly secure the image. Basic security requirements are given below [15, 16]:

Privacy concern: Medical images are highly sensitive data that are used in diagnosis purposes. So, this is important to secure it from any unauthorized access and misuse to gain any kind of profit from it. At the time of using any technique, privacy concerns should be kept in mind [17].

Assured reliability: Medical images are very important for a correct diagnosis of any disease. So, accurate images are required for this purpose. Therefore, the practical implementation of any healthcare system without confidence in its reliability should not be deployed.

Maintaining authenticity: The received medical image should be authenticating and belongs to the specified patient and be received from a specified source [17]. **Integrity measure**: In a health monitoring system, continuous monitoring of images needs integrity for reliable results. Incomplete information may lead to difficulty in diagnosis [18].

3 Proposed Image Watermarking Technique

In the proposed method, we have applied a hybrid DWT-SVD based model as given in Fig. 3. The hybrid technique provides an imperceptible and robust algorithm, which



Fig. 3 Proposed model a watermark embedding, b watermark extraction

can sustain against various attacks. The methods of embedding and extraction have been given below:

Watermark embedding:

- 1. Host image I have been decomposed into 4 sub-bands, i.e., LL, LH, HL, and HH by using level 1 DWT transform.
- 2. Now SVD has been applied on LL sub-band as,

$$I_{\rm LL} = USV^{'} \tag{7}$$

- 3. A watermark image W is taken and decomposed at level 1 using DWT again as LL_1 , LH_1 , HL_1 , and HH_1 .
- 4. Now SVD has been applied on LL_1 as,

$$W_{\rm LL_1} = U_1 S_1 V_1^{'} \tag{8}$$

5. Embedding is performed by altering the singular values of LL sub-bands and further SVD is applied on modified singular values using scale factor α as,

$$S + \alpha S_1 = S_w \tag{9}$$

6. Modified DWT co-efficient of image is obtained by

$$I_{\rm LL}^* = U S_w V^{'} \tag{10}$$

7. Now inverse DWT (IDWT) of level 1 has been applied on non-modified subbands and on the modified band (W_{LL1}) of image I to recover the watermark.

Watermark extraction:

- 1. Decomposition is applied on watermarked image using level 1 DWT, which gives 4 sub-bands as LL₂, LH₂, HL₂, and HH₂.
- 2. Now SVD has been applied on LL_2 as,

$$W_{\rm LL_2} = U_2 S_2 V_2^{'} \tag{11}$$

3. Modification in the singular values of LL_2 sub-bands has been done as,

$$(S_2 - S) \setminus \alpha = S_w^* \tag{12}$$

4. After that SVD has been applied on modified singular values as,

$$W_{\rm LL_1}^* = U S_w^* V_1^{'} \tag{13}$$

5. Now inverse DWT (IDWT) is applied on non-modified sub-bands LH1, HL1, HH1 and $W_{LL_1}^*$ to extract the watermark.

4 Results

The proposed algorithm is applied to grayscale images, size taken as 256×256 . Also, a Grayscale image of size 128×128 is used as watermark for embedding and extraction using the proposed algorithm. The results are given in Fig. 4 and Table 1, which are analyzed based on PSNR and Structural Similarity Index (SSIM) parameters as below.

(a) PSNR: It is used frequently for the measure of the quality of the watermarked image. PSNR can be given as [22, 23],



Fig. 4 Results of proposed algorithm. a Host images; b watermarked images; c watermark image; d extracted watermark image

Table 1	Comparison	of PSNR	and	SSIM	values a	t different	scale	factors	using	the	proposed
algorithm	L										

Sr. No.	Original image	Scale factor	PSNR (dB)	SSIM
1	Image 1	0.01	47.489	0.998
		0.03	37.887	0.996
		0.05	33.467	0.995
2	Image 2	0.01	47.363	0.995
		0.03	37.911	0.991
		0.05	33.448	0.980

Table 2PSNR and SSIMvalues at different watermarksize using scale factor 0.01

Watermark size	Original image	PSNR (dB)	SSIM
32 × 32	Image 1	64.189	1.000
	Image 2	74.420	0.998
64×64	Image 1	51.562	0.999
	Image 2	51.205	0.996
128 × 128	Image 1	47.489	0.998
	Image 2	47.363	0.995

$$PSNR_{db} = 10 \log_{10} \left\{ \frac{255^2}{MSE} \right\} db$$
(14)

where MSE denotes Mean Square Error.

(b) SSIM: It gives a similarity measure between the original and watermarked image. SSIM is defined as [24],

SSIM =
$$\frac{(2\mu_x\mu_y + c_1)(2\sigma_{xy} + c_2)}{(\mu_x^2 + \mu_y^2 + c_1)(\sigma_x^2 + \sigma_y^2 + c_2)}$$
(15)

where μ , σ , σ_{xy} shows mean, variance, covariance of an image, respectively, and c_1, c_2 gives stabilizing constants. The SSIM values of an image vary between 0 and 1. The SSIM value of similar images is near to 1.

From Table 2, we can observe that as the size of watermark increases, the corresponding PSNR value of the image decreases. The change in values occurs because of embedding more pixels in the original image, which results in an increase in MSE and a decrease in PSNR. PSNR is also calculated and compared by performing different attacks on a watermarked image using scale factor 0.01 as given in Table 3.

Watermark size	Attacks	Watermarked image	PSNR between watermark image and extracted image (before attack)	PSNR between watermark image and extracted image (after attack)
128 × 128	Gaussian noise	Image 1	27.129	23.059
		Image 2	30.496	19.568
128×128	Salt and pepper	Image 1	27.129	22.984
	noise	Image 2	30.496	26.827

Table 3 Comparison of PSNR values after introducing attacks to watermarked image

5 Conclusion

Security and secrecy of the medical image data are one of the main concerns these days. Without using proper measures of security, it is not practical to deploy it in any remote healthcare system. Medical images may suffer from various issues like noise artifacts, poor contrast, etc. Medical images contain significant information of a specified and any tampering of image data causes difficulty in diagnosis because of tampering doctor would not be able to identify the diseases. Several methods are used to secure the medical images. In this paper, we used DWT- and SVD-based model to secure the image. The performance of the algorithm is evaluated by using different performance evaluation parameters. The result above shows that this method gives a good PSNR value and secures the medical images efficiently with good perceptual quality and also withstand against several attacks. Further, this method can be utilized by adding other transform techniques. Also, this technique can have extended for the use of colored medical images.

References

- G. Coatrieux, L. Lecornu, B. Sankur, A review of image watermarking applications in healthcare, in 2006 International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, vol. 1 (2006), pp. 4691–4694
- A. Al-Haj, A. Mohammad, A. Amer, Crypto-watermarking of transmitted medical images. J. Digit. Imaging 30(1), 26–38 (2017)
- 3. R. Eswaraiah, E. Sreenivasa Reddy, Medical image watermarking technique for accurate tamper detection in ROI and exact recovery of ROI. Int. J. Telemed. Appl. (2014)
- 4. S. Liu, Z. Pan, H. Song, Digital image watermarking method based on DCT and fractal encoding. IET Image Process. **11**(10), 815–821 (2017)
- K.A. Navas, S.A. Thampy, M. Sasikumar, EPR hiding in medical images for telemedicine. World Acad. Sci. Eng. Technol. Int. J. Electr. Comput. Energ. Electron. Commun. Eng. 2, 223–226 (2008)
- M. Roy, K. Mali, S. Chatterjee, S. Chakraborty, R. Debnath, S. Sen, A Study on the Applications of the Biomedical Image Encryption Methods for Secured Computer Aided Diagnostics (IEEE, 2019), pp. 881–886
- S.E. Jero, P. Ramu, S. Ramakrishnan, Discrete wavelet transform and singular value decomposition based ECG steganography for secured patient information transmission. J. Med. Syst, 38 (2014)
- J.A. Kawa, N.A. Loan, S.A. Paraha, K. Muhammad, J.A. Sheikha, G.M. Bhat, A reversible and secure patient information hiding system for IoT driven ehealth. Int. J. Inf. Manag. 45, 262–275 (2018)
- 9. A. Mehto, N. Mehra, Adaptive lossless medical image watermarking algorithm based on DCT and DWT. ICISP (2015)
- N.A. Memon, A. Chaudhry, M. Ahmada, Z.A. Keeriod, Hybrid watermarking of medical images for ROI authentication and recovery. Int. J. Comput. Math. 88(10), 2057–2071 (2011)
- B. Kumar, A. Anand, S.P. Singh, A. Mohan, High capacity spread-spectrum watermarking for telemedicine applications. World Acad. Sci. Eng. Technol. Int. J. Electr. Comput. Energ. Electron. Commun. Eng. 5(7), 782–786 (2011)
- 12. R. Norcen, M. Podesser, A. Pommer, H.P. Schmidt, A. Uhl, Confidential storage and transmission of medical image data. Comput. Biol. Med. **33**, 277–292 (2003)

- 13. J. Bernarding, A. Thiel, A. Grzesik, A JAVA-based DICOM server with integration of clinical findings and DICOM-conform data encryption. Int. J. Med. Inform. **64**, 429–438 (2001)
- K. Pal, G. Ghosh, M. Bhattacharya, Biomedical Image Watermarking for Content Protection using Multiple Copies of Information and Bit Majority Algorithm in Wavelet Domain (IEEE, 2012), pp. 1–6
- H.K. Maitya, S.P. Maity, Joint robust and reversible watermarking for medical images, in 2nd International Conference on Communication, Computing & Security (ICCCS), vol. 6 (2012), pp. 275–282
- R.H. Laskar, M. Choudhury, K. Chakraborty, et al., A joint DWT-DCT based robust digital watermarking algorithm for ownership verification of digital images. *Computer Networks and Intelligent Computing*, vol. 157 (Springer, Berlin, Germany, 2011), pp. 482–491
- D.C. Mishra, R.K. Sharma, Application of algebra and discrete wavelet transform in twodimensional data (RGB-images) security. Int. J. Wavelets Multiresolution Inf. Process. 12(6) (2014)
- A. Abrahamsen, D. Richards, Image compression using singular value decomposition. Linear Algebr. Appl. 1–14 (2001)
- K. Konstantinides, C.O. Hewlett-Packard, B. Natarajan, G.S. Yovano, Noise estimation and filtering using block-based singular value decomposition. IEEE Trans. Image Process. 6(3), 479–483 (1997)
- G.H. Golub, C. Reinsch, Singular value decomposition and least squares solutions. Numer. Math. 14(5), 403–420 (1970)
- R. Liu, T. Tan, An SVD-based watermarking scheme for protecting rightful ownership. IEEE Trans. Multimedia 4(1), 121–128 (2002)
- A.K. Singh, N. Sharma, M. Dave, et al.: A novel technique for digital image watermarking in spatial domain, in 2nd IEEE International Conference on Parallel, Distributed and Grid Computing (2012), pp. 497–501
- 23. Z. Wang, A.C. Bovik, H.R. Sheikh et al., Image quality assessment: from error visibility to structural similarity. IEEE Trans. Image Process. **13**(4), 600–612 (2004)
- W. Pan, G. Coatrieux, N.C. Boulahia, Medical image integrity control combining digital signature and lossless watermarking, in 2nd SSETOP International Workshop on Autonomous and Spontaneous Security, Saint Malo, France, Version 114, vol. 5939 (2010), pp. 153–162

Designing Multimodal Cognitive Model of Emotion Recognition Using Voice and EEG Signal



Ram Avtar Jaswal, Sunil Dhingra, and Javalkar Dinesh Kumar

1 Introduction

Emotion plays a major role to recognize human behaviour and identify health conditions of human, but emotions recognition is very challenging and difficult tasks in several respects. One of the major difficulties is that it is very hard to correlate signal patterns with a convinced emotional state in an accurate way. Moreover, emotionrelevant signal patterns may sometimes differ from person to person in different situation and environment.

Emotions are the feeling such as hate, anger, love, fear, trust, panic, etc., aroused from visual, audio stimuli or from any physiological activity and can be classified into two types on their origin primary (aroused in response of an event) and secondary (follows the effect due to primary emotions). Emotions play a vital role in humans to communicate with each other and can be expressed through facial expressions mainly. Through facial expression, one can communicate irrespective of the language they speak.

The major function of emotion is to give information to the individual about their interaction with the world. Robert Plutchik created a wheel of emotions which consisted of 8 basic emotions with its basic opposite

S. Dhingra e-mail: sdhingra@kuk.ac.in

R. A. Jaswal (🖂) · S. Dhingra

Department of Instrumentation, Kurukshetra University, Haryana, India

J. D. Kumar Department of ECE, Lingaya's Vidyapeeth, Haryana, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_51

Basic emotion	Basic opposite
Јоу	Sadness
Trust	Disgust
Fear	Anger
Surprise	Anticipation
Sadness	Joy
Disgust	Trust
Anger	Fear
Anticipation	Surprise

Types of emotions: There are two types of emotions called positive emotions and negative emotions.

1.1 Negative Emotions

Negative emotions are those emotions that make you feel sad and helpless and can demoralize you which are given below.

1.2 Positive Emotions

Positive emotions are emotions other than negative, i.e. they do not have any negative feeling towards their origin which are given below.

Positive emotions
Joy
Gratitude
Serenity
Pride
Amusement

(continued)

Designing Multimodal Cognitive Model of Emotion Recognition ...

(continued)	
Positive emotions	
Inspiration	
Love	

1.3 Emotion-Based Intelligent Systems

Emotion-based intelligent systems have been used in different fields like e-health and e-learning. Smart city and smart home are based on computer-based intelligent emotion recognition and have great prospective in online gaming, customers' feedback assessment and in case of mental health monitoring. Researchers are now working to find accurate human emotions in order to maintain mental health problem, because in a healthcare system, patient's mental and physical states can be observed in real time with the help of emotion recognition method. The objective of emotion detection is to design and implement intelligent systems with HCI in different applications and appliances of defence. The emotion recognition can also be applied to find the state of soldiers, pilots and to enhance driving safety measure by monitoring the emotional state of the driver to prevent dangerous driving in public transportation.

1.4 Effects of Emotions on Human Behaviour

Behaviour is defined by how one acts and reacts to the things that he/she faces, which is further dependent on the mood of the individual which changes with time. One's mood is completely dependent on the state of mind of the person which is further dependent on the emotions that a person is going through at that particular time. Emotions also affect the choice one made in his/her life, for example, considering a person feeling frustrated because of not qualifying a test for the third time might make him give up hope and loose morale further he might give up and stop preparing for that test in the future.

1.5 Relation of Emotion and Cognition

There are many-sided connections among discernment and feeling, a few scientists accepted that feeling cannot happen without comprehension. The significant type of perception associated with feeling is the evaluation of the importance of improvements for the person. Regardless of whether comprehension is important to feeling stays an unsettled issue.

1.6 Detection of Emotions

Detection of emotion is what we do in our daily life without knowing it. Emotions of humans can be detected either verbally through emotional words or by intonation, facial expressions and body postures. Most of times humans do it through judging one's facial expressions mainly. There are computational methods that are developed for emotion recognition to train machines in doing so. There are several methods on which currently research is going on such as Emotional Recognition Questionnaire, heart rate variability, facial expressions, speech signal, EEG, EMG, ECG, EOG, keystroke dynamics and mouse pointer movement.

1.7 Affective Computing

Full of feeling figuring is a rising examination field that means to empower canny frameworks to perceive and decipher human feelings with the assistance of HCI, AI, intellectual science, neuroscience and neuropsychology. Full of feeling processing is the arrangement of strategies and acknowledgment of feelings from information in various modalities. Full of feeling figuring research for the most part comprises of opinion investigation with intellectual abilities to acknowledgment of feelings by applying various classifiers and highlights. Over the previous decades, AI analysts have endeavoured numerous issues to perceive, decipher and express feelings and conclusions.

2 Proposed Work and Methodology

The described methodology to design cognitive model is based on multiple bio signal and voice signal is composed of the following steps:

Bio Signal: A bio signal is every signal in active being that can be measured continuously and monitored. The term bio signal is used to refer bioelectrical signals, but it may denote both electrical and nonelectrical signals. Bio signals (EEG, ECG, Voice, EMG, EOG, etc.) are distinct, time domain continuous signal with scattered energy distribution.

Signal Acquisition: Signals can be acquired by placing electrodes on skin (EEG, EMG, ECG or EOG) or voice with any external microphone (transducer that converts voice into electrical signals) for different defined protocols or emotions. **Signal Pre-Processing:** The acquired signal is contaminated with noises called artefacts (EMG, ECG, EOG in case of EEG, external sound signals in case of voice and power line noise); these are unwanted signals captured during the acquisition process. In order to extract some useful information from the acquired signal, we must remove these noises from them with the process called pre-processing. In
Designing Multimodal Cognitive Model of Emotion Recognition ...



Fig. 1 A block diagram flow of the described methodology is shown below

pre-processing, bio signal is passed through filters to remove the noises, power line noise is removed by applying a filters, whereas noises in voice signal can be removed with hardware (secondary noise cancellation microphone).

Features Extraction: After pre-processing, features extraction of a signal can be done using wavelet transform or Hilbert–Huang transform or Fourier transform or short-time Fourier transform, etc. The time domain features are the basic statistical features such as nasty, median, standard deviation, power and RMS. Frequency domain features are power spectral density (PSD), cepstral coefficients, etc. Feature extraction is done to reduce the dimensionality.

Features Selection with Optimization Techniques: Classifiers are essentially machine learning algorithms that learn imperative information from features extracted from signals and then make grouping on the basis of these features. After extracting features, optimization of features can be done using optimization algorithms such as genetic algorithm (GA), particle swarm optimization (PSO) and ant colony optimization (ACO), grey wolf optimization (GWO), etc. This process is done to further decrease the dimensions. After optimization of features, classification is done using classifiers such as linear-discriminant analysis (LDA), support vector machine (SVM), nearest-neighbour classifier (kNN), neural network, CNN, etc.

Emotions Classification: Classifier is first trained with sample data/signal of known emotions/class and when classifier is trained, prediction of emotions can be done by feeding classifier with unknown class of signal/data and accuracy of classifier can be calculated (Figs. 1 and 2).

3 Literature Review

3.1 Previous Emotions Study Based on EEG

In 'Feature Extraction and Selection for Emotion Recognition commencing EEG', authors Robert Jenke et al. reviewed feature-extraction and feature-selection methods



Fig. 2 A block diagram flow of the described methodology to detect emotions

used in more than thirty studies. Feature extraction methods used are fast Fourier transform (FFT), power spectral density (PSD), short-time Fourier transform (STFT), discrete wavelet transform (DWT), empirical mode decomposition (EMD), Higuchi Box Counting, etc., and feature selection methods such as Relief F, effect size-based univariate feature selection, effect size-based multivariate feature selection method, etc. Optimization of channels is also done instruction to find the best optimal channel for taken into consideration. To study results that feature extraction methods such as HHS, HOC and HOS have better accuracy, whereas multivariate feature selection methods are better than the univariate feature selection method. Also the parietal and centre-parietal lobes have optimal channels for feature extraction.

In another work, 'Human Emotion Recognition and Analysis to Response Audio Music with Brain Signals' authors Adnan Mehmood Bhatti et al. classified emotions such as happy, sad, love and anger using single electrode of different age group (15–25, 26–35 and 36–50 yrs) aroused by auditory stimuli (Rap, Rock, Metal, etc.) using time, frequency and wavelet (time–frequency) sorts. The classifiers used are nearest neighbour (kNN), support vector machine (SVM) and artificial neural network (ANN) with highest accuracy achieved 98% in 26–35 age group by ANN (MLP).

In 'Emotion Sorting from EEG Signals using Time–Frequency-DWT Features and ANN', authors Adrian Qi-Xiang Ang et al. achieved classification accuracy of 81.8% using ANN as a classifier for two emotions, happy and sad, with two electrodes (channels) using time domain, frequency domain feature and wavelet coefficients and IAPS are used as visual stimuli to evoke emotions. The features used are power, nasty, standard deviation, maximum frequency amplitude and DWT coefficients.

In another work, authors M. Sreeshakthy et al. reviewed the different feature extraction techniques in 'A Survey on Emotion Classification From EEG Signal Using Various Techniques and Performance Analysis' such as DWT, HOC, STFT and PCA used for EEG analysis. In emotion recognition, the highest accuracy achieved is 84.6% using wavelet transform feature extraction with RBF and SVM used as a classifier.

In evolutionary computation algorithms for feature selection of EEG-based emotion recognition using mobile sensors, authors Bahareh Nakisa et al. proposed a new framework for optimization of features using evolutionary computation algorithms and tested it on two public datasets (MAHNOB and DEAP 32 channel) and one new dataset attained with emotive insight (5 channel). The dataset was preprocessed using filters and independent component analysis (ICA), and then, a total of 45 features were extracted with time–frequency domain features. A comparison of five feature selection algorithms, namely ant colony optimization (ACO), genetic algorithm (GA), simulated annealing (SA), particle swarm optimization (PSO) and differential evolution (DE) is shown on the basis of time taken and accuracy from which GA achieved highest accuracy of 97.119% in 79 h on MAHNOB dataset with feed forward neural network (PNN).

Weinreich et al. [1] measured deviations of alpha frequency band in front lobe by using 16-channel EEG signals from 20 female and 8 male participants.

Hidalgo-Munoz et al. [2] studied EEG signals of 26 females during surveillance emotional images from IAPS. In this study, feelings were observed affording to the valence–arousal model by using used spectral turbulence (ST). Outcomes show that the left activist lobe has weighty activity during emotion elicitation.

Koelstra and Patras et al. recorded EEG signals from partakers conferring to the valence–arousal model by showing video staples in order to arouse emotions. In this study, PSD of EEG sub-bands was premeditated and active divisions were spotted from face videos of participants. Then, combinations of many features were applied. Hidden Markov model and Gentle Boost remained used as the classifiers. They showed that the blend of face videos and EEG signals enhanced the accuracy.

Lee et al. proposed an emotion recognition system established on fuzzy logic control. They used video staples to prompt emotions and recorded EEG signals from 12 contestants and extracted vibrant features from emotional states and 3D fuzzy GIST and 3D fuzzy tensor to extract brain.

Choppin1 has examined EEG signals to identify emotion, in order to precise their spirits. In toting, this revision has used NN to classify the EEG signals, and attained a precise cataloguing rate for different samples of about 64%, for three emotion classes and partial training datasets.

Musha et al. [3] explored EEG signals to recognize human emotions and mined cross-parallel coefficients between the EEG signal from dissimilar locations and calculated an 'emotion matrix' to transform factors into a four-element vector resembles to four basic emotions. The statistics in the vector signifying the strong particular emotion is found in the EEG signals. This study has evaluated the average accuracy range from 54.5 to 67.7% for each of four emotional states.

Heraz et al. [4] established model to envisage emotional states during learning. The best grouping accuracy was 82.27% for eight emotional states, using KNN (k-nearest neighbours) as a classifier and the bounties of four EEG components as features.

Chanel et al. [5] re-counted an average accuracy of 63% by using EEG signal with time–frequency data as sorts and SVM as a classifier to describe EEG signals into emotive states.

3.2 Previous Emotions Study Based on Speech

In 'Discourse feeling acknowledgment dependent on highlight determination and extraordinary learning machine choice tree', creators Zhen-Tao Liu et al. proposed outrageous learning machine (ELM) choice tree for discourse feeling acknowledgment. In the feeling arrangement, a choice tree is built for discourse feeling acknowledgment by contrasting the estimation of disarray degree among six sorts of fundamental feelings (i.e. nonpartisan, furious, shock, upbeat, dread and misery), in which ELM is embraced as the twofold classifier. They utilized Chinese discourse database from foundation of robotization of Chinese institute of sciences (CASIA) and showed that the proposition accomplished 89.6% acknowledgment rate overall.

In 'Discourse feeling acknowledgment: Features and order models', creators Lijiang Chen et al. proposed three-level discourse feeling acknowledgment model to group six discourse feelings, including bitterness, outrage, shock, dread, joy and sicken. Right off the bat, they extricated the highlights of the discourse signal including vitality, zero intersection rate, vitality times zero intersection rate, pitch, range centroid, range cut-off recurrence, relationship thickness, Mel-recurrence groups vitality. In this paper, they are embraced to plan four relative trials with Fisher + bolster vector machine (SVM), head part investigation (PCA) + SVM, Fisher + fake neural system (ANN) and PCA + ANN for grouping. They demonstrated that include a decrease in utilizing the Fisher standard is better than PCA.

In 'Discourse feeling acknowledgment Using Fourier Parameters', creators Kunxia Wang et al. proposed another Fourier boundary model for speakerautonomous discourse feeling acknowledgment. Mel-recurrence cepstral coefficient (MFCC) and Fourier boundary highlights were separated for speaker-autonomous feeling acknowledgment. Fourier boundary highlights were assessed for speakerautonomous feeling acknowledgment by utilizing support vector machine (SVM) and a Bayesian classifier. The examination demonstrated that Fourier parameter highlights are viable in describing and perceiving feelings in discourse signals. In 'Discourse feeling acknowledgment utilizing concealed Markov models', creators Lay New, Say Wei Foo, Liyanage C. De Silva et al. proposed arrangement of enthusiastic condition of articulations. The framework utilizes brief timeframe LFPC for highlight extraction for feeling acknowledgment. Brief timeframe LFPC speaks to the vitality appropriation of the sign in recurrence groups. Ghostly examination shows that conveyance of vitality is subject to feeling classes and coefficients additionally give significant data on the basic recurrence of discourse. The outcomes show that normal exactness of 77.1% and best precision of 89% can be accomplished in grouping the feelings exclusively. The outcomes show better precision of 65.8% as contrasted and accomplished by human evaluation. The outcome additionally shows that the proposed framework with brief timeframe LFPC as the pointers of enthusiastic states and HMM as the classifier do fill in as a reasonable methodology for the arrangement of feelings acknowledgment of discourse.

In 'Review on speech feeling acknowledgment: Features, groupings schemes, and databases', Moataz ElAyadi, Mohamed S. Kamel, Fakhri Karray et al. proposed that discourse feeling acknowledgment framework has been given and three significant issues have been examined: the highlights used to describe various conditions of feelings, the characterization strategies and significant plan measures of enthusiastic discourse databases. There are a few ends drawn from this examination. The first is high arrangement correctnesses that have been gotten for order of feelings.

The normal grouping precision of discourse feeling acknowledgment frameworks is under 80% in a large portion of the proposed strategies. Now and again, for example, it is as low as half. For speaker-subordinate arrangement, the normal exactness surpassed 90%. Numerous classifiers have been gone after for discourse feeling acknowledgment, for example, HMM, GMM, ANN and SVM. In any case, it is hard to choose which classifier performs best for this errand. There are additionally utilized distinctive element determination strategies to locate the best highlights for this undertaking. In numerous databases, it is troublesome in any event, for human subjects to decide the feeling as human acknowledgment precision was 67%.

In 'Programmed discourse feeling acknowledgment utilizing balance ghostly features', Siqing Wua, Tiago H. Falk, and Wai-Yip Chan present novel MSFs for the acknowledgment of feelings in speech. The proposed highlights are separated from ST portrayal by methods for unearthly measures and straight expectation boundaries. The MSFs assessed by Berlin database to group feelings, transient unearthly highlights and prosodic highlights are removed to benchmark the proposed highlights. The proposed highlights are filled in as joined with MSFs to accomplish 91.6% generally speaking acknowledgment precision. In a LOSO cross-approval test, the MSFs give better execution, when speaker standardization is applied; MFCC joined with prosodic highlights beat MSFs joined with prosodic highlights. MFCC highlights are appeared to convey the best outcomes in the relapse tests (Table 1).

S No	Authors	Signal/technique/ennroach	Accuracy	Eindings/outcome
5.No.	Autnors	Signal/technique/approach	Accuracy (%)	Findings/outcome
1	Adrian Qi-Xiang Ang	EEG, time–frequency-DWT features and ANN	81.78	Wavelet coefficients and IAPS are used as visual stimuli to evoke emotions
2	M. Sreeshakthy	EEG, DWT, HOC, STFT, PCA with RBF and SVM used as a classifier	84.6	Outcome indicated that proposed work effectively extracted EEG analysis in emotion recognition the highest accuracy achieved
3	Bahareh Nakisa	EEG, ant colony optimization (ACO), genetic algorithm (GA), simulated annealing (SA), particle swarm optimization (PSO) and differential evolution (DE)	97.1	A comparison of five feature selection algorithms is shown on the basis of time taken and accuracy from which GA achieved highest accuracy on MAHNOB dataset with feed forward neural network (PNN)
4	Zhen-Tao Liu	Voice signal, extreme learning machine (ELM)	89.6%	Emotion as decision tree is erected for speech emotion recognition and ELM is assumed as the binary-classifier
5	Lijiang Chen	Voice signal, support vector machine (SVM), principal-component-analysis (PCA), artificial neural network (ANN)	86.2	Proposed model as feature reduction using Fisher norm is better than PCA
6	Kunxia Wang	Speech, Mel-frequency cepstral coefficient (MFCC), support vector machine (SVM)	85.2	Fourier parameter sorts are effective in characterizing and identifying emotions in speech signals

 Table 1 Findings of emotion recognition approaches and their accuracy

(continued)

S.No.	Authors	Signal/technique/approach	Accuracy (%)	Findings/outcome
7	Panagiotis Tzirakis	Speech, long short-term memory (LSTM)	61.35	Future model achieves state-of-the-art results, with esteem to concordance parallel factor for both arousal and valence
8	Lay New	Speech, LFPC and HMM	89	LFPC as the pointers of emotional states and HMM as the classifier do oblige as a feasible approach for the sorting of emotions recognition speech
9	Moataz ElAyadi	Speech, HMM, GMM, ANN, and SVM	90	Employed altered feature collection techniques to find the best structures for emotions recognition of speech
10	Siqing Wua	Speech, MFCC combined with prosodic features outperform MSFs	91.6	Proposed features are served as combined with MSFs to achieve overall recognition accuracy
11	Adnan Mehmood Bhatti	EEG, KNN, SVM, ANN	91.0	Emotion recognition and exploration in retort to audio music with best accuracy
12	Heraz	EEG, KNN	82.27	The best classification accuracy achieved for eight emotional shapes, using KNN (k-nearest neighbours) as a classifier

Table 1 (continued)

4 Conclusion and Future Scope

Emotion recognition is becoming very popular and important field to mend the interaction between human and machine as convolution of human emotion makes the acquirement assignment more difficult. Researchers are proposed to imprisonment emotion through uni-modal instrument such as voice, facial expression, bio signals (EEG, ECG, EMG and EOG). This paper attempts to represent different techniques that can be used to recognize emotions using speech and EEG brain signals separately. Though emotion and speech recognition are two individual research field, we can design a cognitive model of emotion recognition by using voice and EEG signal with high accuracy by attempting to emerge with the new techniques, which comprise of emotion and speech together for detecting emotions of human being and classify emotions more accurately.

Besides, the possibility of multimodal feeling acknowledgment has expanded the precision pace of the discovery of the machine with different learning methods. Still numerous viewpoints here to take a shot at to improve and make a powerful framework will identify and order feelings all the more precisely. We attempted to investigate the important works, their strategies and adequacy of the different techniques and the extent of the improvement of the exactness in human feeling identification.

References

- A. Weinreich, T. Stephani, T. Schubert, Emotion effects within frontal alpha oscillation in a picture oddball paradigm. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 110, 200–206 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ijpsycho.2016.07.517
- A.R. Hidalgo-Munoz, M.M. Lopez, A.T. Pereira, I.M. Santos, A.M. Tome, Spectral turbulence measuring as feature extraction method from EEG on affective computing. Biomed. Signal. Process. Control. 8(6), 945–950 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bspc.2013.09.006
- 3. T. Musha, Y. Terasaki, H.A. Haque, G.A. Ivamitsky, Feature extraction from EEGs associated with emotions. Artif. Life Robot. 1, 15–19 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02471106
- A. Heraz, R. Razaki, C. Frasson, Using machine learning to predict learner emotional state from Brainwaves, in *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies* (2007), pp. 853–857
- G. Chanel, J. Kronegg, D. Grandjean et al., Emotion assessment: arousal evaluation using EEG's and peripheral physiological signals, in *International Workshop on Multimedia Content Representation, Classification and Security* (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2006), pp. 530–537
- P. Kumar, R. Saini, P.P. Roy, D.P. Dogra, A bio-signal based framework to secure mobile devices. J. Netw. Comput. Appl. 89, 62–71 (2017)
- 7. A.C. Marshall, N.R. Cooper, The association between high levels of cumulative life stress and aberrant resting state EEG dynamics in old age. Biol. Psychol. **127**, 64–73 (2017)
- 8. D.J. McFarland, W.A. Sarnacki, J.R. Wolpaw, Brain–computer interface (BCI) operation: optimizing information transfer rates. Biol. Psychol. **63**(3), 237–251 (2003)
- D. Garrett, D.A. Peterson, C.W. Anderson, M.H. Thaut, Comparison of linear, nonlinear, and feature selection methods for EEG signal classification. IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng. 11(2), 141–144 (2003)
- S. Lee, Y. Shin, S. Woo, K. Kim, H.N. Lee, Review of wireless brain-computer interface systems, in *Brain-Computer Interface Systems—Recent Progress and Future Prospects* (InTech, 2013)

Butler Matrix Design for Smart Antenna in X-Band Applications



Mantar Singh Mandloi, Ajay Parmar, Priyanshi Malviya, and Leeladhar Malviya

1 Introduction

In wireless communication, beamforming technique is used to cover the desired direction for the coverage of intended user in modern mobile needs. For this kind of application, an antenna was designed by using Rogers RT Duriod 5880 substrate to cover X-band frequencies [1]. 5G will be the next wireless technology for communication with high data rate, high capacity and will tackle energy efficient operation in the near future [2]. To design an individual antenna is easy, but data rate will be low. The present/next technology requires high data rate, which depends on the multiple antenna systems called multiple input multiple output (MIMO) [3, 4].

5G technology will resolve almost all drawbacks of 4G technology in future and will provide data rate up to three times of 4G, and the main advantage of 5G is that mobile device with 4G can be upgraded to accommodate 5G antennas [5]. In wireless communication systems, it is required to separate the desired signal from the interference signal. By reducing the multipath and channel interference, smart antennas will provide high capacity of signal transmission in wireless communications [6–9].

The design of butler matrix is one type of passive beamforming network which consist of N input and output ports and N input and output antenna elements to produce N principal orthogonal beams at different directions. The operation of butler matrix design can be understood as: Firstly, radio frequency (RF) signal will get excitation from the input ports, after that signal will go to the output port through the feeding array elements. The signal will propagate equally with a constant phase between them, and beam radiation will generate at a certain angle [10–12].

M. S. Mandloi

Rewa Engineering College, Rewa, MP, India

A. Parmar · L. Malviya (⊠) Shri G. S. Institute of Technology and Science, Indore, MP, India

P. Malviya Madhav Institute of Technology and Science, Gwalior, MP, India

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_52

2 Butler Matrix Design for Beamforming

In this paper, 4×4 butler matrix design is proposed for X-band applications. Figure 1 shows the front and back views of the proposed 4×4 butler matrix design. In this design, four 90⁰ hybrid couplers, 2-crossovers, and 2-phase shifters are used. This design is used to feed 4-microstrip patch antennas. The radiation direction of beam is point out with respect to each input ports in such a way, so that user can select the desired main beam by feeding any inputs [13, 14]. Computer simulation tool (CST) software is used for the design and simulation results. The optimized dimensions of the butler matrix design are given in Table 1.

The proposed 4×4 butler matrix is designed, as a passive network by using the Rogers RT duriod substrate, having dielectric constant of 2.2, dielectric loss of 0.0009, and thickness of 0.79 mm. RF signal can excite to any input ports (port one, port two, port three and port four or all) with equal amplitude and phase difference.



Fig. 1 Schematic views of the proposed 4×4 Butler matrix design

Parameter	sw	sl	gw	gl	a	b	c
Value (mm)	130	150	130	150	14.4	10.7	18
Parameter	d	fw	fl	pw	pl	11	lw
Value (mm)	34	2.4	5.4	8	8	10.7	3.94

 Table 1
 Optimized dimensional values (mm)

If all the input ports are excited, then the butler matrix can work as a beamforming network.

At the center frequency, butler matrix provides four outputs with equal power levels and equal phases. The direction of main radiation beam can be changed by exciting the desired input port. Narrow beam can be developed using this design for different directions and can select the strong signal from the available signals. Return loss has minimum influence on the working frequency due to its microstrip discontinuities.

For impedance matching and high antenna gain, the optimized patch dimensions and inter element space very careful and in this design. It is observed that the phase differences received at 10 GHz frequency are very closer to the theoretical model $(45^\circ, 135^\circ)$ with a quite tolerable phase errors from 9° to 12°.

Hybrid coupler structure plays a vital role in butler matrix, which divides the input signal into two output signals with equal amplitude and provides 90° phase shift to the operating frequency. The main line of hybrid coupler is connected to the secondary line with two quarter wavelengths ($\lambda/4$) long sections. Hybrid coupler provides input at port one, output at port two, isolation at the port three, and matched load termination at port four [15].

In realization of butler matrix design, crossover is the main problem because crossover is used to bypass the superimposed of signals at crossings. At the port, hybrid coupler in cascading is required for the enhancement of the isolation between the input ports. If every adjacent port is isolated, then designing of crossover is complete. Reference line L is smaller than each line by definite amount of ΔL to introduce a phase shift θ and is given by Eq.1 [16].

$$\Delta L = \frac{\theta * \lambda_g}{360^{\circ}} \tag{1}$$

where, λ_g is guided wavelength.

The microstrip line of 50 Ω can be designed with 45° phase shift. In microwave networks, phase shifters are used, and phase delays of transmission lines are given by Eq. 2:

$$\phi = k_z l \tag{2}$$

where ϕ is phase delay, k_z is propagation constant and l is length of the line.

Equal lengths and unequal widths of two delay lines can be used to provide phase difference and is given by Eq. 3:

$$\Delta \phi = (k_{z2} - k_{z1}) \, l \tag{3}$$

where, k_{z1} and k_{z2} are propagation constants.

Performance of 4×4 butler matrix in terms of beamforming can be obtained by the proposed matrix by connecting it to the four patch antenna arrays [17–19]. The scan sensitivity and main beam direction are given in Eq. 4 [20]:

M. S. Mandloi et al.

$$d\sin\theta + \sqrt{(\eta_l)} = \frac{c}{f} = \lambda \tag{4}$$

where d is the space between elements, ι is transmission line length to join the elements, and θ is the angle of beam, pointing which is measured from the broadside direction.

Series feed linear antenna array factor can be written in Eqs. 5 and 6 as:

$$AF = \frac{\sin (N\pi d_x (u - u_0))}{\sin (\pi d_x (u - u_0))}$$
(5)

and,

$$u = \sin(\theta), u_o = \sin(\theta_o) \tag{6}$$

where dx is the space between the elements and N denotes the number of elements.

Voltage radiation pattern and array factor of elements both can be combined to provide normalized power radiation of total elements and is given by Eq. 7 as:

$$P_{\rm rad} = 20\log\left(|E/AF\rangle\right) \tag{7}$$

The presented series feed array antenna and hybrid coupler are designed on a single layer. It results in integrated structure with high efficiency. The microstrip series feed patch antenna array is designed to increase the operating bandwidth and for reducing the XPR (cross-polarization) radiation. The electric field can be expressed by Eqs. 8 and 9 as [21]:

$$\vec{E} = E_o \left(j \alpha \vec{a_x} + \vec{a_y} \right) \tag{8}$$

$$\vec{E} = E_o \left(-j\alpha \vec{a}_x + \vec{a}_y \right) \tag{9}$$

where α is the residual axial ratio.

For good radiations, a planar array must have characteristics of beam steering and side lobe suppression. Applications of series fed antenna have beamsteering and multibeam capability for multi-frequency operations. Variety of butler matrix is available in literatures [22–27].

3 Results and Discussion

To fed the proposed 4×4 butler matrix, 50 Ω microstrip feed line is used, and it resonates at -10 dB return loss for the operating band of 9.4–10.6 GHz. Simulated results of return loss and isolations at different ports are shown in Figs. 2 and 3. It is also observed that $S_{11} = S_{34} = S_{42} = -10$ dB, $S_{13} = S_{21} = S_{44} = -23$ dB, $S_{23} = S_{31} = -24$ dB, $S_{41} = S_{33} = -8$ dB, $S_{12} = S_{43} = -11$ dB, $S_{14} = S_{22} = -9$ dB and

596

References	Input 1 (°)	Input 2 (°)	Input 3 (°)	Input 4 (°)
	-45	135	-135	45
[23]				
	-15	45	-45	15
[27]				
Proposed design	-15	45	-45	15

Table 2 Different inputs with their respective beam angles





Fig. 3 Isolation parameters of 4×4 Butler matrix

 $S_{24} = S_{32} = -21$ dB at 10 GHz. Table 2 gives the comparison of proposed design with existing designs for different inputs with their respective beam angles.



Fig. 4 Gain and efficiency of the 4×4 Butler matrix



Fig. 5 3D E-field patterns at different frequencies



Fig. 6 3D H-field patterns at different frequencies

The variation in gain can be obtained between 7.49 and 10.08 dBi in the operating frequency range of 9.4–10.6 GHz. The radiation efficiency in the band varies from 82 to 87%. The total efficiency in the operating band is more than the 67% for the 4×4 butler matrix. All the gains and efficiencies are plotted in Fig.4. Maximum gain is 10.08 dBi at 10 GHz resonant frequency, and maximum radiation efficiency is 86.58%.

The 3D E-field patterns for different frequencies in the operating band are given in Fig. 5 with their individual scales. These far-field radiation patterns are obtained using CST-MWS software. Different main lobe magnitudes at these frequencies are 11.5 V/m, 11.5 V/m, 13.8 V/m, 8.1 V/m, and 6.93 V/m at 9.4 GHz, 9.7 GHz, 10 GHz, 10.3 GHz, and at 10.6 GHz, respectively.

Similarly, different 3D H-field patterns are shown in Fig. 6 with their individual scales. Different main lobe magnitudes are 0.0305 A/m, 0.0306 A/m, 0.0366 A/m, and 0.0215 A/m, and 0.024 A/m, at 9.4 GHz, 9.7 GHz, 10 GHz, 10.3 GHz, and at 10.6 GHz, respectively. From E-field and H-field patterns, it has been observed that the beamforming have been done in these patterns.

Table 3 Compa	rison of proposed (design with existin	ng designs					
References	Frequency band (GHz)	Butler matrix of size	Size of substrate	Return loss (dB)	Gain	Substrate	Isolation (dB)	Application
[24]	9-11	4 × 4	$7.1 \times 4.5 \mathrm{cm^2}$	-10	1	RT/Duroid 5880	10	X-band
[25]	8.25-8.3	4 × 4	$53.7 \times 46.7 \text{ mm}^2$	-34	1	RT/Duroid 5880	10	X-band
[26]	10	3 × 3	$197 \times 50 \text{ mm}^2$	-14	10.5 dBi	Rogers 5880	30	X-band
Proposed design	9.4–10.6	4×4	$\frac{150\times130\times}{0.79\mathrm{mm}^3}$	-10	10.08 dBi	RT Duriod 5880	20	X-band

	designs
•	existing
	with
	design
•	proposed
	parison of
ζ	Con Con
	able 3

4 Conclusion

To steer the beam in different directions, a design of 4×4 butler matrix with wide band has been designed, which is operating in the frequency range from 9.4 to 10.6 GHz. At 10 GHz frequency, gain is 10.08 dBi, and radiation efficiency is 85.93%. Designed butler matrix has been implemented very easily and having the dimension of the substrate as $150 \times 130 \times 0.79 \text{ mm}^3$ for 2:1 VSWR. The design has small volume, light weight, and low cost, which makes this proposed design suitable for the beamforming applications. This design can be converted into 8×8 Butler matrix for the coverage of the appropriate directions.

References

- L. Malviya, A. Parmar, D. Solanki, P. Gupta, P. Malviya, Highly isolated inset-feed 28 GHz MIMO-antenna array for 5G wireless application, in *International Conference on Computing* and Network Communications, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2020.04.137
- P. Gupta, L. Malviya, 2 × 2 wideband array MIMO antenna for 5G spectral band, in 5th International Conference for Convergence in Technology (I2CT) (2019)
- L. Malviya, K. Gehlod, A. Sakya, Wide-band meander line MIMO antenna for wireless applications, in *InCAP Conference*, Sept 2018. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICACCI.2018.8554719
- S. Chouhan, L. Malviya, Four-port shared rectangular radiator with defected ground for wireless. Int. J. Commun. Syst. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1002/dac.4356
- P. Gupta, S.V. Charhate, L. Malviya, 5G multi-element/port antenna design for wireless applications. Int. J. Microwave Wirel. Technol. 11, 918–938 (2019)
- 6. N.C.T. Desmond, *Smart Antennas for Wireless Applications and Switched Beamforming* (Department of Information Technology and Electrical Engineering, University of Queensland, 2001)
- A.D. Corona, M.J. Lancaster, A high-temperature superconducting Butler matrix. IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond. 13(4), 3867–3872 (2003)
- M. Daneshmand, R. Mansour, P. Musavi, S. Choi, B. Yassini, A. Zybura, M. Yu, Integrated interconnect networks for RF switch matrix applications. IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech. 53(1), 499–507 (2006)
- 9. M. Bona, L. Manholm, J.P. Straski, B. Svensson, Low-loss compact Butler matrix. IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech. **50**(9), 2069–2075 (2002)
- 10. J. Winters, Smart antennas for wireless systems. IEEE Pers. Commun. 23–27 (1998)
- 11. R. Garg, Microstrip Antenna Design Handbook (Artech House Books, 2000)
- 12. W.R. Li, Switched-beam antenna based on modified Butler matrix with low sidelobe level. Electron. Lett. **40**(5) (2004)
- 13. H. Errifi, A. Baghdad, A. Badri, Design and analysis of microstrip patch array antenna with series, corporate and series-corporate feed network. Int. J. Electron. Electr. Eng. (2015)
- T.A. Denidni, T.E. Libar, Wide band four-port Butler matrix for switched multibeam antenna arrays, in 14th IEEE Proceedings on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications, 2003. PIMRC 2003, Beijing, China, 2003, vol. 3, pp. 2461–2464. https://doi.org/10.1109/ PIMRC.2003.1259161
- G. Srivastava, V. Gupta, *Microwave Devices and Circuit Design* (Prentice-Hall of India, New Delhi, 2006)
- 16. D.M. Pozar, Microwave Engineering, 3rd edn. (Wiley, New York, 2005)
- H. Errifi, A. Baghdad, A. Badri, A. Sahel, Radiation characteristics enhancement of microstrip triangular patch antenna using several array structures. Wirel. Microwave Technol. (2015). https://doi.org/10.5815/ijwmt.2015.03.01

- H. Errifi, Baghdad, A. Badri, A. Sahel, Design and simulation of a network antenna directive with two triangular patches for applications in the X band, in *Int. 'Telecom' 2015 and 9th JFMMA* (2015), pp. 13–15
- M.A. Jensen, J.W. Wallace, A review of antennas and propagation for MIMO wireless communications. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 52, 2810–2824 (2004)
- 20. M.S. Rabbani, H.G. Shiraz, Evaluation of gain enhancement in improved size microstrip antenna arrays for millimeter-wave applications. Int. J. Electron. Commun. 1–19 (2017)
- S. Sengupta, D.R. Jackson, S.A. Long, A method for analyzing a linear series-fed rectangular microstrip antenna array, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers. Trans. Antennas Propag. 63(8), 3731–3736 (2015)
- 22. S. Louati, L. Talbi, M.O. Elhassen, in *Design of 28 GHz Switched Beamforming Antenna System Based on 4 × 4 Butler Matrix for 5G Applications* (Valencia, Spain, 2018), pp. 189–194
- L. Ning, L. Sun, Design of compact 4 × 4 X-band Butler with lump element based on IPD technology, in 2013 Proceedings of the International Symposium on Antennas & Propagation (IEEE, 2014), pp. 1–4
- Q.P. Chen, S.L. Lai, S.Y. Zheng, Compact Butler matrix based on patch element for X band applications, in 2015 Asia-Pacific Microwave Conference (APMC) (IEEE, 2015), pp. 1–3
- O.U. Khan, Design of X-band 4 × 4 Butler matrix for microstrip patch antenna array, in *IEEE Conference* (2007), pp. 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1109/TENCON.2006.343831
- 26. W. Sun, X.-W. Dai, G.-Q. Luo, W.-Z. Wang, S.-W. Mao (eds.), *Design of X-Band Antenna System with Three Beams* (2016), pp. 1–2
- X. Tao, R. Cao, Z. Li, D. Rong, L. Jiang, L. Sun, Design of X-band 4 × 4 on-chip Butler matrix based on 0.18 μm SiGe BiCMOS process, in *IEEE 19th International Conference on Communication Technology (ICCT)* (2020), pp. 805–809

On Body Antenna for WiMAX and WLAN-Band Operations



603

Ankur Utsav and Ritesh Kumar Badhai

1 Introduction

In the present scenario of high-speed data communication, antenna is playing an important role as a transmitter as well as the receiver. In the present scenario of communication, on body antenna is becoming great thrust among the researchers as it is applicable in biomedical applications for a diagnosis like MRI, FMRI, biomedical telemetry, ECG, EMG, breast cancer detection, and brain tumors, etc. [1–6]. These days WBAN is very important band as it is dealing with the data communication related to body and its surroundings. Also, body antenna is in great demand among military applications and satellite communications [7]. In lieu of development, different researchers have given their ideas and analysis for the on-body antenna at different frequencies of operation. Initially, a single-band wearable antenna is presented by different researchers. Some of them are working for any of the bands namely ISM, WiMAX, WLAN, UWB, etc. [8–11].

Again, the concept of reconfigurability in on body antenna is used among the researcher such that the antenna can be capable of working at any of two different bands. To achieve this, the concept of the slot, PIN diode, etc., is used. The overall gain is found to be in a better range and showing optimal operation throughout range [12, 13].

After the development of a single band antenna with a reconfigurable concept, different researchers have suggested their work on dual-band wearable antenna [14–18]. The dual-band antenna with co planar patch [18] is working for 2.45 and 5 GHz bands of frequency, the concept of arraying is also used and an overall gain of 3 dBi is

A. Utsav (🖂) · R. K. Badhai

e-mail: riteshkbadhai@bitmesra.ac.in

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_53

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Birla Institute of Technology, Patna Campus, Patna 800014, India

R. K. Badhai

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

reported. The reported antenna was printed on a fabric substrate and its comparative analysis with FR4 is also studied. But the work is outshined with little bandwidth and bigger size. In [19], a flexible dielectric resonator with dual-band operating (WiMAX and WLAN) is proposed. The antenna is showing a better gain of 5.4 dBi with a size of $40 \times 40 \text{ mm}^2$. Analysis of human phantom with different dielectric values for skin, fat, and muscles is undertaken. The overall size is of the antenna is bigger. In [20], a triple-band antenna is proposed having notch at Wimax band WLAN band and X band. WLAN band has a set standard of IEEE 801.11 used for Wi-fi in general communication works and its covering frequency range is from 5.1 to 5.9 GHz. X band can be used for satellite communications.

Throughout different works proposed by different researchers very little work is proposed for the duality function of WiMAX and X-band. As it is better known than WiMAX, having its IEEE standard as 802.16a which is an innovative technology having a better bandwidth of 2–11 GHz and is largely operated for high-rate broadband internet service [21]. Also, WLAN band is used in communication ranges from 5.1 to 5.9 GHz having main applications in military usage, Wi-fi and RADAR technology [22].

In the present work, a modified arm vase-based shaped monopole patch antenna with compact dimensions of $26 \times 20 \text{ mm}^2$ is shown. The rectangular slot is taken out from ground plane at the backside of the feedline for impedance matching and second mode generation. The concept of DGS is also implemented for improvement in the matching in the lower frequency. The proposed antenna is resonating at WiMAX and WLAN-band. The present antenna is fulfilling all the basic requirements to be operated for WiMAX and WLAN-band. The proposed antenna exhibits a better gain of 3.9 dBi in free space and 3.2 dBi with body phantom at the resonating frequencies and having a bandwidth of 3.1–3.6 GHz for WiMAX and 4.8–8 GHz for WLAN-band in free space.

2 Antenna Design and Study

The defined antenna dimensions are depicted in Fig. 1a. The substrate of $\varepsilon_r = 4.4$, tan $\delta = 0.02$ with a thickness of 1.6 mm named glass epoxy FR4 material is used. For the simulation purpose, we had used ANYSIS HFSS 17.2 simulation tool. Two circles having a radius of 8 and 6 mm are being connected with the center space of 2 mm for radiating patch with dual-wideband characteristics. The discussed antenna is having its excitation with a 50 Ω micro-strip transmission line having a length of 21 mm and a width of 4.0 mm, which is further connected to a circular structure of radius 4 mm. This patch consists of two arms having width 2 mm which is formed by subtracting two circles of 8 and 6 mm, respectively. And last at the arms of the patch two more rectangles are added with length 6 mm and width 1 mm for the second band. A small rectangle with length 6 mm and width 1 mm ground in the backside of the patch is taken for getting the anticipated frequency range. A perfection in bandwidth and better impedance matching is seen. The detail of the obtained antenna is described









Fig. 1 a Design of the projected antenna, b the parasitic study of final projected antenna, c realization of the projected antenna in simulated space on the human hand

Table 1	Details o	of the
projected	antenna	design

L1 = 5	L6 = 7	W4 = 1
L2 = 3.30	W = 1	R1 = 4
L3 = 5	W1 = 16	R2 = 6
L4 = 4	W2 = 10	R3 = 8
L5 = 7	W3 = 6.5	All dimensions are in mm

in Table 1 and the final proposed antenna is shown in Fig. 1a. The Parametric study of three antenna is also shown in Fig. 1b and its implementation on the human hand phantom is shown in Fig. 1c.

3 Results and Discussions

In Fig. 2 shows a comparative graph of the simulated reflection coefficient in air and with the human hand. From the reflection coefficient graph, it can be observed that the simulated results of the projected antenna are resonating at lower resonating frequency 3.3 (3.0–3.5 GHz) and higher resonating frequency 5.5 GHz (4.7–8 GHz) with a bandwidth of and 3.95 GHz, respectively. For human phantom, the lower resonating frequency is achieved at 3.35 (3.0–3.5 GHz) and the higher resonating band is achieved at 5.56 (4.9–8.0 GHz) with a bandwidth of 3.4 and 3.2 GHz for dual operating bands in free space and presence of male human arm, respectively,



Fig. 2 Simulated reflection coefficient (S_{11}) in free space and on the human arm body



Fig. 3 Simulated normalized radiation pattern of the projected antenna a 3.3 GHz and, b 5.5 GHz

satisfying both the desired bands WiMAX and WLAN band. All the results are in close agreement with each other. We examine that on body results are shifted a bit higher side because the reduction in the permittivity of the human body with frequency. Resonant frequency is inversely proportional to permittivity.

In Fig. 3, graph for the simulated 2D radiation pattern of the projected antenna in air at two frequencies (3.3 and 5.5 GHz) for YZ-plane (E-plane) is shown. Figure 4 depicts Co and Cross-polar normalized graph of the antenna's radiation pattern.

In Fig. 4, SAR variation in human body hand at two operating frequencies 3.3 and 5.5 GHz is shown. SAR is very important parameter for antennas for Body applications as it gives a range of power permitted for 1 kg of human mass tissue. According to FCC/IC, the allowed SAR value to 1.6 W/kg averaged over 1 g of human tissue. SAR in EM energy can be projected from the applied electric field in the tissue as:

$$SAR = \frac{1}{V} \int \frac{\sigma(r) \{E(r)\}^2}{\rho(r)} dr$$

where V = volume of the section,

- $\sigma =$ conductivity of the sample,
- E = RMS value of electrical field,
- $\rho =$ sample's density.

In the present work as evident from Fig. 5 that SAR is in under the allowed values and its highest range is found to be 0.12 W/kg for 3.3 GHz and 0.299 W/kg for 5.5 GHz.

In this paragraph study of current density is illustrated, as it is well known that current density is very important parameter for antenna designing. It gives the measure of electric current for a unit area of cross-section. The surface current distributions of the projected antenna at 3.3 and 5.5 GHz are shown in Fig. 5. It can be



Fig. 4 SAR differences on human male arm at a 3.3 GHz and b 5.5 GHz

observed that at lower resonance most of the current distributed over the radiating patch and the ground plane. For the advanced resonance frequency, current is leading at the upper I-shaped strip of the ground level. Table 2 consists of various antenna parameters of the proposed antenna and Table 3 consist comparison of proposed antenna parameters with different papers.

4 Conclusion

This is a paper which describes a new, compact and effective designed printed antenna which is operated at dual bands covering Wimax and WLAN. It was found that the projected antenna was perfect for body applications with desired SAR values. During the simulation process, we found that our antenna is having a very improved return loss which confirms a better impedance matching. Two wide bands which were obtained are from 3.0 to 3.5 GHz (WiMax) and from 4.7 to 8 GHz (covering WLAN-Band). This printed antenna can be effectively used for communicational



=		
Antenna parameters	Without body	With body
Minimum reflection coefficient (S_{11})	- 21, - 33 dB	- 19, - 21 dB
Resonating frequency	3.3, 5.5 GHz	3.34, 5.56 GHz
Maximum gain	3.9 dBi	3.2 dBi
Band width	500 MHz (the first band covering Wimax band) 3.4 GHz (the second band covering WLAN band)	440 MHz (first band covering Wimax band) 3.2 GHz (the second band covering WLAN band)
Efficiency (%)	87	85

 Table 2 Comparison of various antenna parameters without body and with the body

 Table 3
 Comparison of proposed antenna parameters with different papers

Antenna para	meters			
Bandwidth (GHz)	Operating band	Gain (dBi)	SAR (W/kg ²)	Size (mm ³)
7.5	UWB	-	-	$30 \times 30 \times 0.5$
0.2	WLAN and WiMAX	5	-	$44 \times 44 \times 1$
0.24	ISM	1.81	0.0288	$8 \times 9 \times 1.5$
0.500 (first band)	WiMAX and WLAN	3.9	0.12 (first band)	$26 \times 22 \times 1.6$
3.4 (second band)			0.299 (second band)	
	Antenna para Bandwidth (GHz) 7.5 0.2 0.24 0.500 (first band) 3.4 (second band)	Antenna parametersBandwidth (GHz)Operating band7.5UWB0.2WLAN and WiMAX0.24ISM0.500 (first band)WiMAX and WLAN3.4 (second band)	Antenna parametersBandwidth (GHz)Operating bandGain (dBi)7.5UWB-0.2WLAN and WiMAX50.24ISM1.810.500 (first band)WiMAX and WLAN3.93.4 (second band)	Antenna parametersBandwidth (GHz)Operating bandGain (dBi)SAR (W/kg²)7.5UWB0.2WLAN and WiMAX5-0.24ISM1.810.02880.500 (first band)WiMAX and WLAN3.90.12 (first band)3.4 (second band)0.299 (second band)0.299 (second band)

purposes in home and offices by Wi-fi, for cellular communications, for medical data communication in air and on human body. The small size with dimensions 20 mm length and 26 mm width and its improved results makes the projected antenna a unique one. DGS concept is used for better and improved second band. For the simulation Ansys HFSS software is used. We can use this projected antenna for smart watches and other wearable devices (Tables 2 and 3).

References

- 1. IEEE Standard for Local and Metropolitan Area Networks: Part 15.6: Wireless Body Area Networks (IEEE, 2012)
- D.P. Tobn, T.H. Falk, M. Maier, Context awareness in WBANs: a survey on medical and non-medical applications. IEEE Wireless Commun. 20, 30–37 (2013)
- 3. A. Kumar, R.K. Badhai, A novel compact printed wideband on-body monopole antenna for the diagnosis of heart failure detection. Int. J. Control Theory Appl. **10**(29) (2017)
- P.S. Hall, Antennas and propagation for on-body communication systems. IEEE Antennas Propag. Mag. 49(3), 41–58 (2007)

- M. Patel, J. Wang, Applications challenges and perspective in emerging body area networking technologies. IEEE Wireless Commun. Mag. 17(1), 80–88 (2010)
- T.T. Le, T. Yun, Miniaturization of a dual-band wearable antenna for WBAN applications. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 19(8), 1452–1456 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP. 2020.3005658
- E.K. Kaivanto, M. Berg, E. Salonen, P. De Maagt, Wearable circularly polarized antenna for personal satellite communication and navigation. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 59(12), 44904496 (2011)
- M. Klemm, G. Troester, Textile UWB antennas for wireless body area networks. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 54(11), 3192–3197 (2006)
- N. Chahat, M. Zhadobov, R. Sauleau, K. Ito, A compact UWB antenna for on-body applications. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 59(4), 1123–1131 (2011)
- G.A. Conway, W.G. Scanlon, Antennas for over-body-surface communication at 2.45 GHz. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 57(4), 844–855 (2009)
- B. Hu, G.P. Gao, L.L. He, X.D. Cong, J.N. Zhao, Bending and on-arm effects on a wearable antenna for 2.45 GHz body area network. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 15, 378–381 (2016)
- 12. S.J. Shiand, W.P. Ding, Radiation pattern reconfigurable microstrip antenna for WiMAX application. Electron. Lett. **51**(9), 662–664 (2015)
- W.-S. Chen, K.-Y. Ku, Band-rejected design of the printed open slot antenna for WLAN/WiMAX operation. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 56(4) (2008)
- R. Joshi et al., Dual-band, dual-sense textile antenna with AMC backing for localization using GPS and WBAN/WLAN. IEEE Access 8, 89468–89478 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1109/ACC ESS.2020.2993371
- K. Zhang, Z.H. Jiang, W. Hong, D.H. Werner, A low-profile and wideband triple-mode antenna for wireless body area network concurrent on-/off-body communications. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 68(3), 1982–1994 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2019.2948700
- P. Salonen, Y. Rahmat-Samii, M. Kivikoski, Wearable antennas in the vicinity of the human body, in *IEEE Antennas and Propagation Society Symposium*, 20–25 June 2004, vol. 1, pp. 467– 470
- 17. M.R. Khan, D.W. Addison, F.J. Markiewicz, Cylindrical wideband step monopole for simultaneous operation in the C and X bands, in *Conference—Proceedings of the IEEE 2012 IEEE International Conference on Wireless Information Technology and Systems (ICWITS)*
- S. Zhu, R. Langley, Dual-band wearable textile antenna on an EBG substrate. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 57(4) (2009)
- L. Zhou, S. Fang, X. Jia, Dual-band and dual-polarised circular patch textile antenna for on-/off-body WBAN applications. IET Microwaves Antennas Propag. 14(7), 643–648 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-map.2019.1073
- S. Doddipalli, A. Kothari, Compact UWB antenna with integrated triple notch bands for WBAN applications. IEEE Access 7, 183–190 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2885248
- S. Shahid, M. Rizwan, M.A.B. Abbasi, H. Zahra, S.M. Abbas, M.A. Tarar, Textile antenna for body centric WiMAX and WLAN applications, in 2012 International Conference on Emerging Technologies (2012). ISBN: 978-1-4673-4451-7
- F. Afrin, W.A. Yenisey, M.A.A.A. Syed, Miniaturized planar inverted-F antenna for off-body wireless body area network (WBAN) application, in *Proceedings of the 2017 IEEE Region 10 Conference (TENCON)*, Malaysia, 5–8 Nov 2017

Performance Analysis of Gate-Stack Nanoscaled Recessed-S/D SOI-MOSFET for Analog Applications



Nilesh Anand Srivastava, Anjali Priya, and Ram Awadh Mishra

1 Introduction

Nowadays, semiconductor devices have become the backbone of modern communication systems with the development of low-power and high-performance integratedcircuits (ICs). Further, these ICs are advancing day by day with the continuous growth of complementary-metal–oxide–semiconductor (CMOS) technology for low power analog applications [1, 2]. Moreover, the heart of these high-density ICs is a MOSFET, as each IC is accommodated with billions of MOS-devices [3, 4]. So, this is a prime concern that the MOS-transistors should exhibit significant characteristics for successful integration with an IC. To attain high-density and high-speed ICs, the miniaturization of CMOS transistors is taking place from the past two decades [4, 5]. However, the hyper scaling tends in MOS-transistors beyond 100 nm node have deteriorated the performance of the device and results in various short-channel-effects (SCEs), such as mobility-degradation; hot-carriereffects (HCE); gate-induced-drain-leakage (GIDL); drain-induced-barrier-lowering (DIBL); etc. [5, 6]. These detrimental changes in nanoscaled MOS-devices may lead to threshold-voltage roll-off and hence leakage in the subthreshold-regime [7].

Various suggestions have been reported in earlier researches' to overcome these unwanted effects in short-dimension MOSFETs. Like, multi-metal-gate (MMG: dual-/triple-metal) [8, 10] and multi-gate (MG: double-/triple-/gate-all-around

N. A. Srivastava (🖂) · R. A. Mishra

R. A. Mishra e-mail: ramishra@mnnit.ac.in

A. Priya

Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Prayagraj 211004, India e-mail: rel1702@mnnit.ac.in

CASEST, School of Physics, University of Hyderabad, Hyderabad 500046, India e-mail: anjalipriya@uohyd.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_55

(GAA)) [11] FETs have been suggested to enhance the gate controllability over channel. However, the gate-all-around structures suffer from various misalignment issues and have higher fabrication complexity. Further, the silicon-on-insulator (SOI) technology [12] (FinFET-SOI [13], Fully-/Partially-Depleted SOI [14–16], Junction-less-transistors [17]) has replaced bulk Si-substrates and results in very low off-state leakage with improved short-channel behavior. Similarly, different performance enhancement techniques, like, source/drain engineering [18]; high-k/low-k gate-stack (GS) [19]; hetero-dielectric (HD) [20] have also been suggested in earlier state-of-the-art to improve the device immunity in nanoscale regime.

Moreover, as per the recent reports, FD SOI MOSFETs offer significant immunity over SCEs with lesser process complexity than Fin-shaped FETs [21–23]. Also, FD SOI technology exhibits un-doped channel concept due to its thinness and follows the Moore's law altogether [24, 25]. The first theoretical potential model of FD SOI-MOSFET was proposed by Young [21]. Further, Suzuki et al. had modified with the inclusive effects of SOI-thickness [22]. Next, Cheng et al. had concluded that dynamic threshold and back-bias technique could be two alternatives to improve the analog and radiofrequency (RF) performance of nanoscaled-SOI MOSFETs [23].

Further-more to overcome the issue of DIBL significantly, the multi-metal-gate technique has been employed in FD SOI-MOSFETs [24, 25]. In which, multi-metal gates of different work-functions are arranged side-by-side to reduce the DIBL effects in a much-controlled manner. The dual work-function metal gates offer a step-like potential profile [24]. Kumar et al. had theoretically investigated FD SOI performance with dual-metal-gates (DMG) [24]. In continuation, Srivastava et al. has extensively studied the concept of separated metal-gates with dielectric modulation and source-engineering [10, 25].

However, FD SOI-MOSFETs with ultra-thin-body (UTB) may lead to the larger series-resistance due to ultra-thin regions of S/D. Moreover, Zhang et al. had suggested that this could be further overcome by the use of recessed-S/D (Re-S/D) technology [26] and Sivilicic et al. had given the theoretical justifications for the same [27]. In next, the methodology of Re-S/D technology scaling in the nanometres regime also reduces the oxide thickness, which increases the current and speed. Also, the thin oxides may lead to the carriers-tunnelling through gate-oxide and hence cause of gate-oxide leakage current. This leakage may further be reduced by using high-*k* oxide-material such as HfO₂ (Hafnium Dioxide) stacked with SiO₂ (silicon-dioxide) [19]. However, less attention has been made to utilize the technique of gate-stack in the design of triple-metal gate-engineered Re-S/D SOI-MOSFET.

This paper presents the performance investigation of short-channel GS-TMG: Re-S/D FD SOI MOSFET for the first time. The results assure that the concept of gate-stack can further improve the performance of triple-metal gate-engineered Re-S/D FD SOI MOSFET. This paper has been organized in the following sections. The device structure and process flow are discussed in Sect. 2, and the simulation platform and model definition has been described in Sect. 3. Next, the numerical simulation results of the proposed FD SOI MOSFET have been extensively analyzed in Sect. 4. Finally, the overall work is concluded in Sect. 5.

2 Device Design Strategies and Process Flow

The studied device structure of GS-TMG: Re-S/D FD SOI n-MOSFET is shown in Fig. 1, and the device parameters and their specifications are listed in Table 1. The device is initially designed at 45 nm technology node with three different workfunction metal gates (L_{M1} : $\phi_{M1-Aurum} = 4.8 \text{ eV}$; L_{M2} : $\phi_{M2-Molybdenum} = 4.6 \text{ eV}$; L_{M3} : $\phi_{M3-Titanium} = 4.4 \text{ eV}$) of length 15 nm each ($L_g = L_{M1} + L_{M2} + L_{M3}$). This arrangement is suitable to enhance the gate control over the channel and screen-off the changes due to higher drain-bias. Next, the high-k spacer is placed to overcome the fringing-field effects at gate edge. Also, the device is composed of high-k (HfO₂)/lowk (SiO₂) dielectric-gate-stack ($\varepsilon_{r:high-k} = 32$ and $\varepsilon_{r:low-k} = 3.9$), such that a thin layer of low-k dielectric is deposited prior to the high-k. Gate-stack engineering will help to overcome the issues of off-state and gate-oxide leakage. All other design parameters and doping levels are mentioned in Table 1.

The process flow of the device mentioned above is also feasible with less complex fabrication steps as compared to Fin-shaped FETs. The process feasibility can be discussed in the following steps. Step 1: Pattering of Silicon-wafer [10]; Step 2: Formation of UNI-BOND technique based SOI substrate [15]; Step 3: Preparation of Re-S/D junctions [18]; Step 4: Implantation of source/drain regions [15, 18]; Step 5: Stacked-oxide growth [10]; Step 6: Metal-Gates ($M_1/M_2/M_3$) deposition [18]; Step 7: Side-spacer growth/Etch/Contact Formation; Step 8: Lift-off/Device Test.



Fig. 1 Studied and simulated design of gate-stack TMG: Recessed-S/D FD SOI-MOSFET

Table 1 Device design	D (0 1 1	37.1	TT 14
narameters and specifications	Parameter	Symbol	Value	Unit
parameters and specifications	Channel length	Lg	45	nm
	High-k oxide-thickness	T _{ox-HfO2}	1	nm
	Low-k oxide-thickness	$T_{\text{ox-SiO}_2}$	1	nm
	High-k spacer length	$L_{\rm sp}$	10	nm
	High-k spacer-thickness	T _{sp}	3	nm
	BOX-thickness	$T_{\rm BOX}$	50	nm
	Si-film thickness	T _{si}	12	nm
	Re-S/D thickness	T _{rsd}	20	nm
	BOX overlap Re-S/D thickness	D _{BOX}	3	nm
	Metal-gates length-ratio	-	1:1:1	-
	Doping (source/drain)	N _{S/D}	1×10^{20}	cm ⁻³
	Doping (substrate)	P _{Sub}	1×10^{16}	cm ⁻³

3 Simulation Methodology

The design and simulation of studied FD SOI n-MOSFET have been performed using Silvaco-TCAD (ATLASTM) [30]. For the accurate analysis, different numerical models have been included at the simulation platform [28]. As SRH (Shockley–Read–Hall) model is taken to access the life-time of majority-carriers (generation/recombination). Next, to add the effects of mobility degradation due to temperature, Lombardi-mobility, and CVT (constant-voltage-and-temperature) models are considered. Also, the FLDMOB model (field-dependent-mobility) has been utilized to monitor the impact of transversal-field in nanoscaled-MOS design. To investigate thermal behaviour lat.temp (lattice-temperature) model has also been considered here. Further, the Gummel-Newton model and drift–diffusion are taken for the study of switching (on/off) behavior of the device. Furthermore, this is necessary to adopt the quantum-potential models at 45 nm node. So, for the analysis, QME (Quantum-Mechanical-effect) and BQP (Bohm-Quantum-Potential) models has also been taken into consideration. The analyzed simulation results are discussed in Sect. 4.

4 Performance Investigation of Gate-Stack TMG: SOI-MOSFET in Re-S/D Technology

This section represents the short-channel electrical performance of the proposed SOI-MOSFET. Figure 2 represents the drain-current versus gate-voltage (I_d vs. V_{gs}) characteristics of the proposed MOSFET and referenced state-of-the-art [28] at T = 300 K. It is observed that the proposed GS technique in TMG: SOI MOSFET helps to reduce off-state-leakage significantly in comparison to SOI-MOSFET [28].



The suggested and referenced FD SOI offers off-state (I_{off}) of 0.169 fA and 7.5 pA and on-current (I_{on}) of 2.13 mA and 1.12 mA, respectively. This corresponds to the higher switching performance ($I_{on}/I_{off} = 10^{11}$) in the case of proposed GS: TMG SOI MOSFET than the referenced device ($I_{on}/I_{off} = 10^9$) at $L_g = 45$ nm. This is due to the reduced off-state gate tunneling in gate-stack FD SOI-MOSFET.

Also, the metal-gate-engineering will offer step-like potential-profile, which helps to increase the control of gate over the channel and the considerable reduction in drain-electric-field penetrations at higher V_{DS} , i.e., lesser DIBL effect. Similarly, the output drain characteristic (I_d vs. V_{ds}) of the devices is shown in Fig. 3. It is inferred from the plot that the proposed MOSFET results in improved current behavior than reference FD SOI MOSFET [28]. Also, the variation of subthreshold-slope (SS) at different BOX oxide thickness and L = 45 nm is shown in Fig. 4. It is found





that the proposed device offers a lesser value of subthreshold-slope as compared to referenced device [28]. This is due to the lesser off-state leakage in case of proposed FD SOI as compare to referenced device.

Next, the DIBL effect due to change in T_{BOX} (50–100 nm) and channel-length (30–60 nm) is monitored on the basis of TCAD-simulations for the proposed device. The result of TCAD simulation for the analysis of DIBL with variation in drain bias from $V_{ds} = 0.5$ V to $V_{ds} = 1$ V is drawn in Fig. 5. A noticeable reduction is seen, as the proposed MOSFET exhibits very less value of DIBL even at $L_g = 30$ nm. This





performance is due to the suggested technique of high-k stack in Re-S/D; gate/spacer engineered nanoscaled SOI-MOSFET.

4.1 Impact of Temperature on Gate-Stack TMG: SOI-MOSFET in Re-S/D Technology

This section discusses the impact of temperature variation on DC and analog behaviour of studied nanoscaled gate-stack SOI-MOSFET. Here, firstly the effect of change in operating temperature on drain-current performance is taken under study. Figure 6 shows the I_d versus V_{gs} plot of the studied device with change in device temperature over the range 200–400 K. It is clear from the analysis that the off-current and on-current both take a shift when the operating temperature increases. The increment in I_{off} at higher temperature is due to the effect of thermal generation/ionization and reduction in I_{on} may be due to the scattering phenomenon [23]. However, these changes are minimal in the case of the studied device, and the resulting current behavior is acceptable even at T = 400 K.

Next, the exact analysis of $I_{\rm off}$ with variation in device temperature and $T_{\rm BOX}$ is shown in Fig. 7. The device represents better off-state behavior and optimum drain current even at 400 K. Similarly, the calculated switching ratio ($I_{\rm on}/I_{\rm off}$) ratio at different operating temperature dictates that $I_{\rm on}/I_{\rm off}$ ratio of the device has been reduced from 10^{12} to 10^9 with the increase in temperature from 200 to 400 K. So, the analysis itself explains that the MOSFET could be further analyzed for low-power circuit applications.







4.2 Impact of Temperature on Analog Performance

The analog performance study of proposed nanoscaled SOI-MOSFET at different temperatures is discussed here. Here, TCAD simulations have been performed for the analysis of transconductance, $g_m = \partial I_d / \partial V_{gs}$, output-conductance, $g_d = \partial I_d / \partial V_{ds}$, and transconductance-efficiency-factor, TEF = g_m/I_d . Figure 8 represents the analysis of transconductance versus gate voltage with variation in temperature from 200 to 400 K at $L_g = 45$ nm. One can observe from the plot that the device exhibits better transconductance behavior. As, the device offers transconductance of 4.07 mS at T = 300 K and approximately increases (decreases) by 11% (21%) at T = 200 K (400 K). So, the device will offer higher gain even at T = 400 K.



Similarly, the plot of *TEF* versus V_{gs} is drawn in Fig. 9. *TEF* value represents the effectiveness of drain-current and transconductance with the thermal behavior of device-to-circuit co-designs. The ratio of transconductance and drain-current defines TEF. Also, the value of *TEF* must be lower in the strong-inversion regime and higher in weak-inversion. A similar trend is seen in the case of the proposed device. Moreover, less deterioration is recorded when temperature varied from 200 to 400 K. So, the device can also be suggested for high-gain analog applications in highly linear and thermal stable mode. In continuation, the analysis of output conductance versus V_{ds} at T = 200-400 K and $L_g = 45$ nm is drawn in Fig. 10. In order to achieve the higher gain in analog ICs, g_d must be as low as possible. One can find from the plot that as the drain-voltage is applied, g_d starts decreasing after $V_{ds} = 0.2$ V, 0.24 V



Drain Voltage (volts)
Table 2Performanceparameters of GS-TMG:Re-S/D FD SOI FDSOIMOSFET at $L = 45$ nm, $T_{BOX} = 50$ nm and $T = 200-400$ K	Parameters	Temperature		
		T = 200 K	T = 300 K	T = 400 K
	$I_{\rm off}$ (A)	6.67×10^{-16}	1.69×10^{-14}	1.05×10^{-12}
	I _{on} (A)	2.33×10^{-3}	2.13×10^{-3}	1.7×10^{-3}
	Switching ratio (I_{on}/I_{off})	3.49×10^{12}	1.26×10^{11}	1.61×10^{9}
	DIBL (mV/V)	8.2	8.9	15.5
	$g_{\rm m}$ (mS)	4.53	4.07	3.21
	TEF (V^{-1})	48.74	35.21	23.95
	$g_{\rm A}$ (mS)	0.004	0.007	0.041

and 0.28 V at T = 200 K, 300 K and 400 K respectively. Moreover, the increase in g_d is considerable even at T = 400 K.

The overall analysis of the aforementioned SOI-MOSFET with variation in temperature is listed in Table 2. It is worth to mention that the high-k oxide-stack multi-metal-gate engineering technique is advantageous in recessed-S/D technology-based SOI-MOSFETs. Hence, this analysis itself dictates the device applicability in low-power thermally-stable analog-circuit and systems.

5 Conclusion

This paper investigates the impact of high-k gate-stack and metal-gate engineering on the performance of recessed-S/D technology-based FD SOI-MOSFET. The studied device exhibits enhanced short-channel immunity with improved temperature sensitivity at $L_g = 45$ nm. As the device offers $I_{off} = 0.169$ fA (1.05 pA) and $I_{on} = 2.13$ mA (1.7 mA) at T = 300 K (400 K) and L = 45 nm. This results in I_{on}/I_{off} -ratio of 10¹¹ (10¹⁰) at T = 300 K (400 K), which is significant to off-flow the subthreshold-leakage in nanoscaled-MOS devices. Next, the higher value of transconductance enables the device application in high gain analog amplifiers. Similarly, the device signifies the better *TEF* value of 35.21 V⁻¹ at T = 300 K and decreases (increases) at T = 400 K (200 K) in weak-inversion regime. The resulting value of *TEF* dictates the device applicability in highly-linear ICs with improved thermal stability. Further, the device also offers the lower value of output-conductance at T = 300 K and L = 45 nm, which is desired for higher intrinsic-gain. So, the studied MOS-device could be suggested as an alternative for low- power analog circuits in the near future.

References

- K.P. Pradhan, S.K. Mahapatra, P.K. Sahu, D.K. Behera, Impact of high-k gate dielectric on analog and RF performance of nanoscale DG MOSFET. Microelectron. J. 45(2), 144–151 (2004)
- N.A. Srivastava, A. Priya, R.A. Mishra, Analog and radiofrequency performance of nanoscaled SOI MOSFET for RFIC based communication systems. Microelectron. J. 98, 104731 (2020)
- 3. H. Jian, S. Xubang, The design methodology and practice of low power SoC, in *International Conference on Embedded Software and System Symposia (ICESS)* (2008)
- D.J. Frank, R.H. Dennard, E. Nowak, P.M. Solomon, Y. Taur, H.S.P. Wong, Device scaling limits of Si MOSFETs and their application dependencies. Proc. IEEE 89(3), 259–288 (2001)
- R.R. Troutman, VLSI limitations from drain-induced barrier lowering. IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits 14(2), 383–391 (1979)
- 6. H. Krautscheider, A. Kohlhase, H. Terlezki, Scaling and reliability problems of gigabit CMOS circuits. Microelectron. Reliab. **37**(1), 19–37 (1997)
- 7. International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (2015) [Online]. www.Itrs2.net
- 8. T. Ushiki, M. Yu, C.K. Kawai, T. Shinohara, K. Ino, M. Morita, T. Ohmi, Reduction of plasmainduced gate oxide using low-energy large-mass ion bombardment in gate-metal sputtering deposition, in *Proceedings of 36th IEEE Inter Reliability Physics Symposium* (1998)
- 9. Y.C. Yeo, Metal gate technology for nanoscale transistors—material selection and process integration issues. Thin Solid Films **462**, 34–41 (2004)
- N.A. Srivastava, R.A. Mishra, Linearity distortion assessment and small-signal behavior of nano-scaled SOI MOSFET for terahertz applications. ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol. 8(12), N234–N244 (2019)
- J.T. Park, J.P. Colinge, Multiple gate SOI MOSFETs: device design guidelines. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 49(12), 2222–2229 (2002)
- 12. J.P. Colinge, *Silicon-on-Insulator Technology, Material to VLSI*, 2nd ed. (Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1997). ISBN 978-1-4757-2611-4
- M. Saremi, A. Afzali-Kusha, S. Mohammadi, Ground plane fin-shaped field effect transistor (GP-FinFET): a FinFET for low leakage power circuits. Microelectron. Eng. 95, 74–82 (2012)
- J.G. Fossum, J.Y. Choi, R. Sundaresan, SOI design for competitive CMOS VLSI. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 37(3), 724–729 (1990)
- W.J. Cho, C.G. Ahn, K. Im, J.H. Yang, J. Oh, I.B. Baek, S. Lee, Fabrication of 50-nm gate SOI n-MOSFETs using novel plasma-doping technique. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 25(6), 366–368 (2004)
- N.A. Srivastava, V.K. Mishra, R.K. Chauhan, Analytical modelling of surface potential of modified source FD-SOI MOSFET, in *IEEE International Conference on Emerging Trends in Communication Technologies (ETCT)* (2016), pp. 1–4
- 17. U. Khan, B. Ghosh, M.W. Akram, A. Salimath, A comparative study of SELBOX-JLT and SOI-JLT. Appl. Phys. A **117**(4), 2281–2288 (2014)
- A. Priya, N.A. Srivastava, R.A. Mishra, Design of high speed and low-power ring oscillator circuit in recessed source/drain SOI technology. ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol. 8(3), N47–N54 (2019)
- M. Fei, L. Hong-Xia, F. Ji-Bin, W. Shu-Long, A two-dimensional threshold voltage analytical model for metal-gate/high-k/SiO₂/Si stacked MOSFETs. Chin. Phys. B 21(10), 107306 (2012)
- N.A. Srivastava, A. Priya, R.A. Mishra, Performance evaluation of hetero-gate-dielectric Re-S/D SOI MOSFET for low power applications, in *6th IEEE Uttar Pradesh Section International Conference (UPCON)* (2019), pp. 1–6
- K.K. Young, Short-channel effect in fully depleted SOI MOSFETs. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 36(2), 399–402 (1989)
- K. Suzuki, S. Pidin, Short-channel single-gate SOI MOSFET model. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 50(5), 1297–1305 (2003)
- K. Cheng, A. Khakifirooz, Fully depleted SOI (FDSOI) technology. Sci. China Inf. Sci. 59(6), 061402 (2016)

- M.J. Kumar, A. Chaudhry, Two-dimensional analytical modeling of fully depleted DMG SOI MOSFET and evidence for diminished SCEs. IEEE Trans. Electron Dev. 51(4), 569–574 (2004)
- N.A. Srivastava, A. Priya, R.A. Mishra, Design and analysis of nano-scaled SOI MOSFETbased ring oscillator circuit for high density ICs. Appl. Phys. A 125(8), 533 (2019)
- Z. Zhang, S. Zhang, M. Chan, Self-align recessed source drain ultrathin body SOI MOSFET. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 25(11), 740–742 (2004)
- B. Sviličić, V. Jovanović, T. Suligoj, Analytical models of front-and back-gate potential distribution and threshold voltage for recessed source/drain UTB SOI MOSFETs. Solid-State Electron. 53(5), 540–547 (2009)
- A. Priya, R.A. Mishra, A two dimensional analytical modeling of surface potential in triple metal gate (TMG) fully-depleted recessed-source/drain (Re-S/D) SOI MOSFET. Superlattices Microstruct. 92, 316–329 (2016)
- A. Priya, N.A. Srivastava, R.A. Mishra, Design and analysis of nano-scaled Recessed-S/D SOI MOSFET based pseudo-NMOS inverter for low-power electronics. J. Nanotechnol. 4935073, 1–12 (2019)
- 30. ATLAS User Manual, Device Simulation Software (Silvaco International, Santa Clara, 2016)

A Novel Compact 360° Azimuth Scanning **Antenna Array for L-Band Applications**



625

Sanjana Paul, Pallepogu Prasanna Kumar, and Prerna Saxena

1 Introduction

Scanning antenna arrays play a significant role in different applications like satellite communications, telecommunication, UAV (unmanned aerial vehicles), etc. The scanning procedure generally involves the use of antenna arrays or a single antenna structure. The antenna arrays are preferred over single element structure because of their accuracy, and with modern wireless application in longer range enforced systems, the high gain scanning antenna array is employed [1]. The scanning antenna array involves beam steering in desired directions. The different array configurations as per geometry are linear, planar, and circular. Planar scanning involves scanning in azimuth plane and elevation plane. The general trend is that azimuth plane scanning is used more than the elevation plane scanning due to widespread applications.

There are beam forming networks as well as beam steering techniques which are used for scanning purposes, but beam steering is more preferred due to its simpler designs with reduced computational complexity [2]. The beam steering can be exercised either electronically [3] or mechanically. The electronic and mechanical beam steering methods involve almost equal computational complexity, but the mechanical beam steering structure escalates the pay load of the system, while the electronic beam steering circuitry aids in bringing down the load on the system. The electronic beam steering uses more of the digital circuitry which are elements of comparatively smaller dimensions.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_56

S. Paul (🖂) · P. P. Kumar · P. Saxena

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Indian Institute of Information Technology, Design and Manufacturing, Kancheepuram, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: edm18d005@iiitdm.ac.in

P. Saxena e-mail: prerna.saxena@iiitdm.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

We have proposed a circular antenna array for beam steering applications in the L-band (1.52–1.72 GHz). The L-band ranges from 1 to 2 GHz with 30–15 cm wavelength range. The applications of this band are wide spread like radars, global positioning systems (GPS), radio, telecommunications, and aircraft surveillance. This band has lower bandwidth on account of its shorter frequency range. This particular band was chosen because of its special properties like not suffering from large signal loss as encountered by high frequencies when delivered over copper coaxial cables, being less tractable to interventions in the channel and providing a devoted link [4]. These usable properties make this band suitable to be incorporated in remote surveillance and operations governance frameworks. The beam steering technique is employed in this band so as to aid in better radar structures involving efficient scanning mechanisms with reduced computational complexity.

The antenna array employs microstrip patch antennas as elements. The motivation behind choosing a microstip element is the ease of fabrication, low-cost, low-profile, and light-weight structure [5, 6]. Slots are used to expand the bandwidth of the antenna element [7, 8], and hence, the element we have proposed has a slotted patch structure. This proposed antenna array is employed for 360° scanning in the azimuth plane with a minimalistic structural configuration.

As per the state-of-the-art designs, there exist different techniques for planar scanning like the usage of high-impedance surface multi-beam antenna grounded on surface-wave, ferrite loaded circular waveguide antenna, hybrid phased array, and pattern reconfigurable antennas [9]. In a hybrid inclined and interlaced active phased array, exercising an electrical elevation scanning and mechanical azimuth scanning devised to receive signals at (12.25-12.75 GHz) and transmit signals at (14.0–14.5 GHz) employing a radiation element which is a type of waveguide antenna supporting dual polarizations. It achieves $15-75^{\circ}$ elevation scanning and $0-360^{\circ}$ azimuth scanning and a gain loss of maximum 4.0 dB [10]. In a ferrite loaded circular waveguide antenna, packed with a concentric ferrite cylinder which is axially magnetized, it exhibits an azimuth scan range of 360° and an elevation scan range of 60° [11]. In a method, high-impedance surface multi-beam antenna which is grounded on surface wave exhibiting full azimuth coverage is used for scanning which has 28 feeding ports employing 7 in each beam forming network (BFN) which employs leaky-wave principle and surface-wave excitation. The proposed antenna has widened scanning range and comparatively compact size, and it features single layer configuration which is low profile and low cost [12].

In a pattern reconfigurable antenna, at a fixed resonance frequency of 2.4 GHz, the boresight and conical radiation patterns can be reconfigured which is advantageous when operating at boresight mode in the azimuth plane exhibiting adaptive polarization scanning over 360° with 6.05 dBi gain and 86.7% efficiency measured in the boresight mode, corresponding to conical mode gain and efficiency of 4.39 dBi and 82.4%, respectively [13]. For a cylindrical active frequency-selective surface (AFSS) and a planar feed array (with elevation plane beam scanning by a reference antenna which is an array fed metallic reflector) which is analyzed at S-band (2.4–2.5 GHz) has 360° sweeping beam in azimuth and $+16^{\circ}/15^{\circ}$ beam steering in elevation giving a maximum gain of 9.2 dBi [14]. In [15], a p-i-n diode switch controlling a group of

shorting vias connected to six parasitic elements, and a radiating patch comprised in a single patch element operating from 5.1 to 5.9 GHz. It achieves 360° beam scanning, 10 dBi gain, 42° azimuth beam-width, and 97° elevation beam-width. In a cylindrical approach for L-band with operational precision at 1.45 GHz, the antenna elements are arranged along each of subarray along the length of the cylindrical shape for elevation scanning and those along the circumference for azimuth scanning. There are 24 subarrays with 6 antenna elements each summing up to a structure with 144 antenna elements [16].

The existing antenna array design technology has to be improvised so as to give out efficient beam steering capability overcoming the limitations of bulk of the end product, environmental factors, smart power consumption, and satisfying the space requirements of vehicular and mobile installations. Hence, the preference of lowprofile antennas employed in the structure is well justified. In our design, we concentrate on full axis azimuth scanning with microstrip patch element array. A circular array with antenna elements steered electronically serves the purpose.

The state-of-the-art employs phase shifters as a major module of the beam steering circuitry which is basically used for higher frequency ranges and is being used for lower frequency bands too. The involvement of phase shifters involves the use of bulky circuitry for its feed and control purposes [17]. The beam steering circuit has to be made less bulky and minimalistic, and hence, we have to avoid the implementation of phase shifters. The wide angle scanning arrays have come into picture in the recent years [18, 19]. The proposed antenna array is also a wide scanning antenna array. Our aim is to propose a 360° azimuth scanning antenna array along with its electronic steering circuit setup which has a compact size. The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 presents the proposed antenna array design, power divider design, and power divider embedded antenna array designs. In Sect. 3, the proposed beam steering circuit is presented along with its simulation results followed by conclusion in Sect. 4.

2 Design Process

The analysis, design and simulation of the proposed antenna element, antenna array, and power divider are carried out using ANSYS HFSS (High-Frequency Structure Simulator).

2.1 Antenna Array Design

The design of the proposed inset-fed microstrip patch element is given in Fig. 1a. The design parameters are W_p (width of the patch) = 61 mm, L_p (length of the patch) = 45.5 mm, h_p (height of the patch) = 0.035 mm, W_s (width of the substrate) = 80 mm, L_s (length of the substrate) = 80 mm, h_s (height of the sub-



Fig. 1 Proposed a antenna design b antenna array design

strate) = 1.6 mm, W_{mstl1} (width of the microstrip transmission line) = 3 mm, L_{mstl1} (length of the microstrip transmission line) = 40 mm, and W_{mstl2} (width of the inset feed) = 9 mm. To enhance the bandwidth, an I-shaped slot is incorporated in the patch. The slot dimensions are a = 15 mm, b = 35 mm, c = 15 mm, d = 15 mm.

The substrate is FR-4 Epoxy which has $\varepsilon_r = 4.4$ and $\tan \delta = 0.02$.

The design equations are given as [20]:

$$W_p = \frac{c}{2f_r \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_r + 1}{2}}}\tag{1}$$

$$\varepsilon_{\text{reff}} = \frac{\varepsilon_r + 1}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon_r - 1}{2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{12h_s}{W_p}}}$$
(2)

$$\Delta L_{p} = 0.412h_{s}\frac{\varepsilon_{\text{reff}} + 3}{\varepsilon_{\text{reff}} - 0.258}\frac{\frac{W_{p}}{h_{s}} + 0.264}{\frac{W_{p}}{h_{s}} + 0.8}$$
(3)

$$L_p = \frac{c}{2f_r \sqrt{\varepsilon_{\text{reff}}}} - 2\Delta L_p \tag{4}$$

$$W_s = W_p + 12h_s \tag{5}$$

$$L_s = L_p + 12h_s \tag{6}$$

Ten antenna elements are used and are arranged in circular-decagon configuration with spacing between the elements as $\frac{\lambda}{2}$. The spacing is 84.9 mm, and radius is 319 mm as indicated in Fig. 1b.



Fig. 2 a $|S_{11}|$ of antenna array; b gain of proposed antenna array

The obtained $|S_{11}|$ at design frequency is -34.0668 dB as given in Fig. 2a. The maximum azimuth gain obtained is 18.68 dB. The simulation results of the gain obtained on exciting the entire array are given in Fig. 2b.

2.2 Power Divider Design

For designing the array feed network, we have used power dividers. The proposed power divider has dimensions a = 3.2 mm, b = 25.2 mm, c = 31.6 mm, d = 10 mm, e = 48 mm, f = 28 mm, g = 1.6 mm, h = 38 mm, and the design is given in Fig. 3a. The power divider gave $|S_{11}|$ of -23.89 dB and S_{21} and S_{31} of -3.2 dB, and the simulated S parameter graph is given in Fig. 3b.



Fig. 3 a Proposed power divider; b S parameters of power divider

Parametric studies are carried out on the initial power divider, and the different power divider designs proposed are given in Fig. 4. The design with the best compatibility for the antenna array in case of dimensions and $|S_{11}|$ is chosen, and it is design (b).

2.3 Antenna Array Integrated with Power Divider

The optimization of the antenna array feeding network aids in improving the quality of the array framework in case of efficient feeding network as well as reduced complexity. The proposed power divider is embedded on the antenna array and simulated so as to know the variation on the $|S_{11}|$ of antenna array and bandwidth. The proposed 1:2 power divider results in 5 antenna pairs as given in Fig. 5a. The $|S_{11}|$ is -20.4348 dB, and the bandwidth obtained is 140 MHz as given in Fig. 5b.



Fig. 5 a Proposed power divider incorporated in the antenna array; $\mathbf{b} |S_{11}|$ of proposed power divider integrated antenna array





(b)



Fig. 6 Power divider integrated antenna array with a decagon (mirror) slot; b circular slot; c square slot; d plus slot; e triangle slot

The different slots introduced are a decagon (mirror) slot as given in Fig. 6a with radius 200.8 mm, a circular slot as given in Fig. 6b with radius of 200.8 mm, a square slot as given in Fig. 6c with side of 133.4 mm, a plus slot as given in Fig. 6d with cross lengths of 66.7 mm and 133.4 mm, and a triangle slot as given in Fig. 6e with side of 182.6 mm.

The resemblance of the configuration of each slot to the configuration of the antenna array plays a key role, and we can see that as the slot starts to resemble the array configuration, we observed that the bandwidth improves and that the resonating frequency also starts approaching that of the proposed antenna array. The bandwidth and $|S_{11}|$ values obtained for the slotted arrays can be observed as given in Fig. 7a for decagon (mirror) slot, Fig. 7b for circular slot, Fig. 7c for square slot, Fig. 7d for plus slot, and Fig. 7e for triangle slot.

The decagon (mirror) slotted power divider integrated array was found to be better than the others exhibiting $|S_{11}|$ of -20.89 dB and maximum bandwidth of 160 MHz. The comparison table between different power dividers embedded arrays is given in Table 1.



Fig. 7 $|S_{11}|$ for **a** decagon slotted array; **b** circular slotted array; **c** square slotted array; **d** plus slotted array; **e** triangle slotted array

Type of slot	$ S_{11} $ (dB)	Bandwidth (MHz)	Resonating frequency (GHz)
No slot	-20.43	140	1.62
Decagon	-20.89	160	1.62
Circular	-20.38	140	1.72
Square	-18.65	120	1.72
Plus	-17.67	90	1.72
Triangle	-15.12	60	1.72

Table 1 Comparison of power divider embedded arrays with and without slots

3 Results and Discussion

The 360° beam steering in azimuth plane is demonstrated in simulation on exciting antenna pairs sequentially. The five sequential radiation patterns on exciting each antenna pairs are given in Fig. 8.



Fig. 8 Gain on exciting antenna elements a 1 and 2; b 3 and 4; c 5 and 6; d 7 and 8; e 9 and 10

3.1 Beam Steering Circuit

The proposed beam steering circuit is given in the block diagram in Fig. 9. It has an RF section with the antenna array, SP5T RF switch, and RF detector modules; a digital control section with microcontroller comprising of the comparator and ADC (analog to digital converter) modules and a display section.

The 10 antenna elements are divided into 5 pairs. Each pair has a radiation pattern and a radiated power value. These 5 pairs are activated using an SP5T RF Switch which sends the RF input power received by it to each RF pair input based on the control line input given using microcontroller. All 5 radiated power values are saved



Fig. 9 Block diagram of proposed beam steering circuit

RF pair excited	Azimuth angle (ϕ) range (°)	Radiated power (dB)
RF pair 1	10-280	15.56
RF pair 2	80–350	16.12
RF pair 3	150-420	19.44
RF pair 4	230–490	20.33
RF pair 5	300–570	19
Entire array	0–360	17.59

 Table 2
 Beam steering sequence

in the microcontroller registers. The microcontroller gives input for the RF switch to select the first RF pair to feed it, and the output is given to the RF detector IC, and this is demonstrated using the potentiometers. The input received by the RF detector is converted to DC voltage and is fed to the microcontroller's ADC input. There is a maximum power value saved in a register of the microcontroller after converting it to a voltage value. The reference of the comparator is the saved maximum power value (which is the voltage converted value). If the input voltage given to the comparator is greater than the reference voltage, then the input value which was also fed at the ADC is used to update the maximum power value to a new value (which is also a voltage value). This new maximum value is converted to power and is displayed on an LCD display. The current power and maximum power are displayed. This is one cycle. Then the next power values are updated in the further cycles. This is done for all 5 power values. Each cycle occurs in a difference of 5s. The time delay can be varied according to our convenience.

The software simulation is done using PROTEUS 8, and the microcontroller programming is done via MPLABX IDE. The software simulation circuit is demonstrated using the PIC16F877A microcontroller, LM044l LCD using the ADC units of the controller, the RF power detector module, and SP5T RF switch module. We have used sub-circuit model to define the RF SP5T switch board and RF power detection and input board. The sub-circuit for RF detector (LT-5534) is a simple potentiometer connection between the Rx pin and VOUTx pin (x = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5). The sub-circuit for the SP5T RF (ADRF5250) switch is a 3:8 decoder with 5 digital to analog converter (DAC) modules at the outputs of 3:8 decoder. The simulation circuit is given in Fig. 10. The sub-circuits for the RF detection and input module and the SP5T RF switch are given in Figs. 11a and b, respectively.



Fig. 10 Simulation circuit of the proposed beamsteering network



Fig. 11 Sub-circuit for a RF detection and input module; b RF SP5T switch module

1	1 1		-	U	
References	Frequency range (GHz)	No. of elements and array configuration	Type of antenna	Maximum bandwidth (MHz)	$ S_{11} $ (dB)
[9]	1–2	81 (9 × 9) Multiscale	Annular slot	40	-16.7
[10]	12–15	384 (32 × 12) stair	Slotted waveguide	250	-38.13
[11]	8–12	1 NA	Circular waveguide	360	-29.43
[12]	23–27	625(25 × 25) square	Microstrip patch	2000	-31
[13]	2.37–2.46	1 NA	Shorted microstrip patch	90	NA
[14]	2.4–2.5	8 Linear	Dipole	100	-45
[15]	5.1-5.9	1 NA	Reconfigurable	660	-21
[16]	1–2	144 (24 × 6) cylinder	Bowtie	360	-25.1
This work	1–2	10 circular decagon	Microstrip patch	470	-34.067

 Table 3 Comparison of the proposed antenna array with state-of-the-art designs

4 Conclusion

A 360° azimuth scanning antenna array for electronic beam steering applications in L-band (1.52–1.72 GHz) was designed starting with microstrip patch element giving $|S_{11}|$ of -21.65 dB, VSWR of 1.44, and a gain of 10.99 dB. The antenna element array with 10 elements placed in a circular-decagon configuration at an element spacing of 84.9 mm and array radius of 319 mm gave $|S_{11}|$ of -34.0668 dB and gain of 18.68 dB. The power divider fed antenna array and the proposed beam steering were demonstrated in simulation by exciting antennas in pairs giving radiated powers of 15.56 dB, 16.12 dB, 19.44 dB, 20.33 dB, and 19 dB, respectively, on exciting pairs 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, respectively as shown in Table 2. The comparison shown in Table 3 shows that the proposed beam steering array is novel, compact, and has wide bandwidth, making it suitable for L-band applications.

References

- H. Zhai, Q. Gao, C. Liang, R. Yu, S. Liu, A dual-band high-gain base-station antenna for WLAN and WiMAX applications. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 13, 876–879 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP.2014.2321503
- C.T. Rodenbeck, S.-G. Kim, W.-H. Tu, M.R. Coutant, S. Hong, L. Mingyi, K. Chang, Ultrawideband low-cost phased-array radars. IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech. 53(12), 3697– 3703 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1109/TMTT.2005.856668
- L.B.S. Kavitha, I.J. Raglend, A wide-scan phased array antenna for a small active electronically scanned array: a review, in 2013 International Conference on Circuits, Power and Computing Technologies (ICCPCT) (2013), pp. 1008–1016. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICCPCT.2013. 6529010
- N. Haider, A.G. Yarovoy, A.G. Roederer, L/S-band frequency reconfigurable multiscale phased array antenna with wide angle scanning. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 65(9), 4519–4528 (2017)
- D. Dogan, A wide band, dual polarized patch antenna for wide angle scanning phased arrays, in *IEEE International Symposium on Phased Array Systems and Technology*, Waltham, MA, 2013 (2013), pp. 135–138. https://doi.org/10.1109/ARRAY.2013.6731815
- N. Haider, A.G. Roederer, A.G. Yarovoy, Reconfigurable L/S band phased array. Electron. Lett. 47(23), 1265–1266 (2011)
- K.F. Lee, K.M. Luk, K.M. Mak, S.L.S. Yang, On the use of u-slots in the designs of dual and triple-band patch antennas. IEEE Antennas Propag. Mag. 53(3), 60–74 (2011). https://doi.org/ 10.1109/MAP.2011.6028422
- S.E. Valavan, D. Tran, A.G. Yarovoy, A.G. Roederer, Planar dual-band wide-scan phased array in X-band. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 62(10), 5370–5375 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1109/ TAP.2014.2343252
- 9. J. Puskely, A.G. Yarovoy, A.G. Roederer, Dual-band antenna element for L-band and S-band phased array, in *European Radar Conference (EuRAD)*, London (2016), pp. 266–269
- G. Han, B. Du, W. Wu, B. Yang, A novel hybrid phased array antenna for satellite communication on-the-move in Ku-band. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 63(4), 1375–1383 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2015.2389951
- S.S. Iqbal Mitu, A.M. Al-Garni, H.A. Ragheb, E.E. Hassan, Three-dimensional beam scan using ferrite-loaded circular waveguide antenna. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 16, 1131–1134 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP.2016.2624218
- Z.L. Ma, C.H. Chan, A novel surface-wave-based high-impedance surface multibeam antenna with full azimuth coverage. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 65(4), 1579–1588 (2017). https:// doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2017.2670320
- Y. Yang, R.B.V.B. Simorangkir, X. Zhu, K. Esselle, Q. Xue, A novel boresight and conical pattern reconfigurable antenna with the diversity of 360° polarization scanning. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 65(11), 5747–5756 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2017.2754412
- C. Gu, S. Gao, B. Sanz-Izquierdo, E.A. Parker, F. Qin, H. Xu, J. Batchelor, X. Yang, Z. Cheng, 3-D coverage beam-scanning antenna using feed array and active frequency-selective surface. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 65(11), 5862–5870 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2017. 2754400
- Y. Yang, X. Zhu, A wideband reconfigurable antenna with 360^{circ} beam steering for 802.11ac WLAN applications. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 66(2), 600–608 (2018). https://doi.org/ 10.1109/TAP.2017.2784438
- E. Yildirim, E. Ercil, Development of an L band cylindrical phased array, in *IEEE International Symposium on Phased Array Systems and Technology*, Waltham, MA, 2013 (2013), pp. 746–751. https://doi.org/10.1109/ARRAY.2013.6731923
- M.A. Ashraf, S. Alshebeili, M. Alkanhal, A.R. Sebak, Ultra wideband phased array antenna using slow wave microstrip dielectric loaded phase shifters, in *16th International Symposium* on Antenna Technology and Applied Electromagnetics (ANTEM), Victoria, BC, 2014 (2014), pp. 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1109/ANTEM.2014.6887727

- R. Wang, B. Wang, X. Ding, X. Yang, Planar phased array with wide-angle scanning performance based on image theory. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 63(9), 3908–3917 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2015.2446999
- G. Yang, J. Li, R. Xu, Y. Ma, Y. Qi, Improving the performance of wide-angle scanning array antenna with a high-impedance periodic structure. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 15, 1819–1822 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP.2016.2537850
- 20. C.A. Balanis, Antenna Theory: Analysis and Design (Wiley, 2016)

Analysis of Image Segmentation Algorithms for Infrared Images



Akshay Isalkar 💿 and K. Manikandan 💿

1 Introduction

IR sensors deal with a broad range of wireless applications. The key areas are night vision, temperature monitoring, climate monitor, pressure control, pedestrian recognition, indoor appliances, blood glucose control, security surveillance, fire detection, and may more [1-3]. The infrared electromagnetic spectrum is broadly classified into three categories: far IR region, mid IR region, and near IR region as shown in Table 1.

Object segmentation is the first step in pattern recognition. Object recognition in visible images is efficient and popular than IR image segmentation. An IR imaging sensor offers higher visibility in contrast to visible digital sensors in dark surroundings. Recently, IR imaging cameras have established extensive use in many applications. The essential step in IR object recognition and pattern recognition is segmentation of image, which separate out desired objects from the dark surroundings [4, 5].

Basically in visible image, much information is used for segmentation such as gray-level, texture information, color, etc. But in case of IR images, temperature variation is the limited information available for segmentation [1]. IR images facing problem of low SNR [2, 3, 6], moving object detection [7], and clutter [6, 7]. Comparing with color image, IR image has characteristics such as: (i) segmentation in absence of light, (ii) no shading problem, (iii) intrinsic variations are improved, and (iv) segmentation at large distance with diverse climate conditions [5, 8].

In this paper, we carry a study of image segmentation on IR images with basic algorithms and their comparisons. The sample images of human, animal, and object have been captured using SeekThermal IR sensor. Section 1 has an introduction of IR image sensors with applications. Section 2 introduces basic image segmentation algorithms; Sect. 3 has comparison of image segmentation algorithms and results. Finally, conclusion is made in Sect. 4 of the paper.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_57

639

A. Isalkar (🖂) · K. Manikandan

School of Computing Science and Engineering, VIT Bhopal University, Bhopal, India e-mail: manikandan.k@vitbhopal.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

	<u> </u>	
Range	IR region	Application
3000 nm to 1 mm	Far-IR region	Thermal imaging
1400–3000 nm	Mid-IR region	Heat sensing
700–1400 nm	Near-IR region	IR sensors, fiber optic

Table 1 IR sensor range in electromagnetic spectrum

2 Image Segmentation Algorithms

2.1 Ostu Method

Nobuyuki Otsu [9] proposed a popular image segmentation method known as Ostu thresholding. This method assumes bimodal histogram of image with two classes of intensity, object pixels, and background pixels. This method calculates minimum intra-class variance for optimal threshold that separates object pixels and background pixels.

Algorithm 1 Ostu Algorithm

Input: IR Image Output: Binary Image

- 1: Calculate histogram with probabilities of each gray-level value.
- 2: Locate opening class means and opening class probability.
- 3: Walk throughout all probable thresholds highest intensity.
- 4: Revise means and class probability.
- 5: Calculate variance between object-class and background-class.
- Optimal threshold subjected to the highest value of variance among object-class and backgroundclass.
- 7: Stop.

Ostu thresholding method is fast, and on the other hand, it assume bimodal histogram and illumination should be uniform.

2.2 Max Entropy Method

Maximum entropy method [10] is analogous to Otsu thresholding method. Here, rather than calculating minimum intra-class variance, the maximum inter-class entropy is calculated. This method includes prior knowledge about object to be segmented [11]. Entropy determines the ambiguity of an event. Entropy is calculated by Eq. 1.

Analysis of Image Segmentation Algorithms for Infrared Images

$$E = -\sum_{x=0}^{L-1} p \times \log_2(p)$$
 (1)

p is the probability of gray-level value (L) in image.

2.3 Triangle Method

The geometry-based method for image segmentation is proposed by Zack et al. [12] known as triangle method. This method presupposes a highest mode close to one end and look for the other end of the histogram. This algorithm is efficient subjected to the object pixels construct a frail peak in the gray-level histogram of an image.

2.4 Percentile Method

Doyle [13] proposed method for selecting the threshold value based on percentage of object and background pixels. If it is known in prior that object is brighter or darker than surrounding with some percentage (p), then threshold is calculated in a way that p object pixels are under this gray-level value.

3 Comparison of Image Segmentation Algorithms

Before we describe the comparison of image segmentation algorithms in details, we initial introduce the IR sensor used for this study. Figure 1a shows the SeekThermal 206×156 Thermal Sensor, model: Compact [16], and Fig. 1b shows example image captured from this camera in grayscale mode.

3.1 Experiments and Results

The experimental study is carried out on IR images (human, animal, and object) taken from SeekThermal IR sensor. Four image segmentation algorithms Ostu, Max Entropy, Triangle, and Percentile have been studied. The flowchart is shown in Fig. 2.

The IR images of human, animal, and object have been captured using SeekThermal IR sensor. The image is converted into gray level, and the noise has been removed using median filter in preprocessing step, after thresholding has been applied on filtered images. Finally, segmented area has been marked by red color. The process is summarized in Fig. 3. The segmentation efficiency is evaluated using parameters



Fig. 1 IR imaging camera SeekThermal used for study. a IR sensor (compact); b grayscale image from IR sensor



Fig. 2 Flowchart of the IR image thresholding algorithm

recall, precision, Jaccard similarity index, dice similarity index, and absolute error rate. The details about evaluation parameters have been discussed in Sect. 3.2.

These algorithms were implemented in OpenCV java library and ImageJ software.

3.2 Evaluations

To validate results, recall, precision [3, 17], Jaccard similarity index (JSI) [2], dice similarity index (DSI) [2], and absolute error rate (a_{er}) [2] are used. Let A(O) represents number of object pixels segmented by the method and let A(T) total number of actual object pixels that was physically segmented. The recall is given as in Eq.2.

$$\operatorname{Recall} = \frac{A(O \cap T)}{A(T)} \tag{2}$$

The precision is given as in Eq. 3.

$$Precision = \frac{A(O \cap T)}{A(O)}$$
(3)

 $JSI(G_t, S_i)$ represents Jaccard similarity index for ground truth and segmented image. For better segmentation result, it is high and lower for it weak segmentation result. It is given by Eq. 4.

Fig. 3 Segmentation output. Figures **a**–**c** input images. Figures **d**–**f** preprocessing result. Figures **g**–**i** histogram of input images. Figures j-l segmentation results with Ostu method. Figures m-o segmentation results with max entropy method. Figures **p**–**r** segmentation results with triangle method. Figures **s**–**u** segmentation results with percentile method. Figures v-x segmentation results with ground truth (Trepresents threshold value)



Method	Parameter	Object	Human	Animal
Ostu method	Precision	0.73	0.88	0.96
	Recall	1	1	1
	JSI	0.73	0.88	0.96
	DSI	0.85	0.94	0.98
	a _{er}	8.92	4.73	0.67
Max Entropy method	Precision	0.72	0.95	0.85
	Recall	1	1	1
	JSI	0.72	0.95	0.85
	DSI	0.84	0.97	0.92
	a _{er}	9.69	1.90	3.13
Triangle method	Precision	0.51	0.70	0.89
	Recall	1	1	1
	JSI	0.51	0.70	0.89
	DSI	0.68	0.83	0.94
	a _{er}	23.27	14.85	2.32
Percentile method	Precision	0.49	0.70	0.36
	Recall	1	1	1
	JSI	0.49	0.70	0.36
	DSI	0.80	0.24	1.93
	a _{er}	25.28	14.85	31.61

 Table 2
 Results for thresholding algorithms

$$\text{JSI}(G_t, S_i) = \left| \frac{G_t \cap S_i}{G_t \cup S_i} \right| \tag{4}$$

Dice similarity index (DSI) is as like as JSI and lies between 0 and 1. DSI is represented as in Eq. 5.

$$DSI(G_t, S_i) = 2 \times \frac{|G_t \cap S_i|}{|G_t||S_i|}$$
(5)

Absolute error rate (a_{er}) is ratio of absolute error (n_{er}) to total pixels of image $(M \times N)$. It is given by Eq. 6.

Absolute Error Rate
$$(a_{\rm er}) = \frac{\text{Absolute Error } (n_{\rm er})}{M \times N} \times 100$$
 (6)

Table 2 shows the comparison of results for thresholding algorithms. It shows that the global Ostu and Max Entropy shows good results with IR images.

4 Conclusion

This paper presents study of basic thresholding algorithms for IR images. It aims to analyze performance of thresholding algorithms for IR images. The input images object, human, and animal have been captured using SeekThermal IR sensor for study. This study is based on image thresholding of object, human, and animal IR images. The result shows that Ostu method outperforms best for IR image segmentation. By modifications in these methods will be used in future to reorganization of objects. This dataset under study is unique and limited. We proposed to develop a public dataset.

References

- Y. Chen, W. Chen, H. Ni, Image segmentation in thermal images, in 2016 IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology (ICIT), Taipei, 2016, pp. 1507–1512. https://doi.org/10. 1109/ICIT.2016.7474983
- M.S. Jadin, S. Taib, Infrared image enhancement and segmentation for extracting the thermal anomalies in electrical equipment. Elektron. Elektrotech. 120(4), 107–112 (2012). https://doi. org/10.5755/j01.eee.120.4.1465
- M. Azarbad, A. Ebrahimzade, V. Izadian, Segmentation of infrared images and objectives detection using maximum entropy method based on the bee algorithm. Int. J. Comput. Inf. Syst. Ind. Manag. Appl. 3(2011)
- J. Rogowska, Overview and fundamentals of medical image segmentation. Handbook of Medical Image Processing and Analysis (2000). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012077790-7/50009-6
- Z. Delong, Z. Junbin, Minimum error thresholding based on two dimensional histogram, in 2009 WRI World Congress on Computer Science and Information Engineering, Los Angeles, CA, 2009, pp. 169–175. https://doi.org/10.1109/CSIE.2009.797
- R. Heriansyah, A. Bakar, S. Ab Rahman, Defect detection in thermal image using thresholding technique, in 6th WSEAS International Conference on Circuits, Systems, Electronics, Control & Signal Processing, Cairo, Egypt, 29–31 Dec 2007, p. 341
- T.J. Ramirez-Rozo, J.C. Garcia-Alvarez, C.G. Castellanos-Dominguez, Infrared thermal image segmentation using expectation-maximization-based clustering, in 2012 XVII Symposium of Image, Signal Processing, and Artificial Vision (STSIVA), Antioquia, 2012, pp. 223–226. https:// doi.org/10.1109/STSIVA.2012.6340586
- A. Duarte, L. Carrao, M. Espanha, T. Viana, D. Freitas, P. Bartolo, P. Faria, H.A. Almeida, Segmentation algorithms for thermal images. Procedia Technol. 16, 1560–1569 (2014). ISSN 2212-0173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.protcy.2014.10.178
- L. Nichele, V. Persichetti, M. Lucidi, G. Cincotti, Quantitative evaluation of ImageJ thresholding algorithms for microbial cell counting. OSA Contin. 3, 1417–1427 (2020)
- P.K. Sahoo, S. Soltani, K.C. Wong, Y.C. Chen, A survey of thresholding techniques. Comput. Vis. Graphics Image Process. 41, 233–260 (1988)
- 11. S.F. Gull, J. Skilling, Maximum entropy method in image processing. IEE Proc. F—Commun. Radar Signal Process. **131**(6), 646–659 (1984). https://doi.org/10.1049/ip-f-1:19840099
- G.W. Zack, W.E. Rogers, S.A. Latt, Automatic measurement of sister chromatid exchange frequency. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 25(7), 741–753 (1977). PMID 70454
- W. Doyle, Operation useful for similarity-invariant pattern recognition. J. Assoc. Comput. Mach. 9, 259–267 (1962). https://doi.org/10.1145/321119.321123

- F. Polla, K. Boudjelaba, B. Emile, H. Laurent, Proposal of segmentation method adapted to the infrared sensor, in *International Conference on Advanced Concepts for Intelligent Vision Systems* (2017), pp. 639–650. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70353-4_54
- N. Otsu, A threshold selection method from gray-level histograms. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. 9(1), 62–66 (1979). https://doi.org/10.1109/TSMC.1979.4310076
- 16. www.thermal.com/compact-series.html
- I. Ulusoy, H. Yuruk, New method for the fusion of complementary information from infrared and visual images for object detection. Image Process. IET 5, 36–48 (2011). https://doi.org/ 10.1049/iet-ipr.2009.0374

Low-Area, High-Throughput Field-Programmable Gate Array Implementation of Microprocessor Without Interlocked Pipeline Stages



Prateek Sikka, Abhijit R. Asati, and Chandra Shekhar

1 Introduction

The processor architecture for microprocessors without interlocked stages (MIPS) developed by MIPS Technologies and Imagination Technologies has recently evolved from a 32-bit version to a 64-bit version. Compared with ARM processors, the MIPS core is compact, requires a smaller die size, and consumes less power, all while offering multi-threading capabilities, which increases its functionality. MIPS processors are often used in applications involving consumer audio devices, such as audio players, set-top boxes, DVD recorders and players, and digital displays, which are typically implemented with a multifunction system on chip.

Given that low power and high speed are important goals in these applications, reduced instruction set computer (RISC) architectures are preferred. The instructions are simple in RISC, and each instruction requires a similar number of clock cycles, making it easy to pipeline the instructions, thereby obtaining high throughput. Field-programmable gate arrays (FPGAs) are also popular as platforms for pre-silicon prototyping to accelerate verification and software development. Thus, exploiting low-area FPGAs to accelerate the implementation of MIPS processors is of significant importance.

Numerous research efforts have focused on MIPS architecture in the past. In 2019, Indira et al. implemented a 32-bit MIPS processor and targeted the same on a Xilinx Virtex 7 FPGA [1]. They also discussed possible pipeline hazards and the associated remedies. In 2017, Rashidah et al. proposed a simulator for the RISC-16 instruction set [2] that was based on visual basic programming and five pipeline stages. In 2016, Husainali et al. proposed a three-stage, 32-bit pipelined processor [3] that they designed in Verilog and implemented on a Xilinx Virtex 7 FPGA using Xilinx ISE

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_58

P. Sikka (🖂) · A. R. Asati · C. Shekhar

Electrical and Electronics Engineering Department, Birla Institute of Technology and Science, Vidya Vihar Campus, Pilani, Rajasthan, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

software. In 2018, Mangalwedhe et al. proposed a low-power RISC processor [4] that they designed in Verilog. They used clock gating to reduce the dynamic power consumption and implemented the design on a Spartan 6 FPGA.

In 2014, Rakesh et al. proposed a novel architecture for a 17-bit address RISC processor [5]. They implemented their Harvard architecture-based design on a Xilinx FPGA. In the present work, we use high-level synthesis (HLS) to design a MIPS core and implement it on a Xilinx Virtex 7 FPGA target, and we compare this implementation with previous implementations. In the proposed design, we use multiple HLS directives to reduce the area and increase the speed. The results of the proposed FPGA are clearly superior to those of previous FPGAs.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: Sect. 2 introduces HLS, and Sect. 3 presents the architecture of the MIPS processor that we designed and explains the method used in the proposed design. In Sect. 4, we discuss the techniques used to optimize the synthesis results. Specifically, we discuss in detail the HLS directives used during the design process, which lead to the optimal synthesis between design and the target FPGA. Section 5 presents the results of the simulation and synthesis and compares the results with those of other works for the same application. Finally, Sect. 6 concludes the paper.

2 High-Level Synthesis

HLS is gaining popularity in the design community as a method that ensures continued verification in the design flow and increasing the level of abstraction that designers can use to describe the design behavior. This method of code generation is free from errors and is faster than manual register transfer language (RTL) coding [6]. HLS tools like Vivado HLS [7] and MATLAB HDL [8] coder are commonly used in the design community to design and prototype algorithms that target different application areas, such as image processing, computer vision, and microprocessors. The code complexity is reduced by almost an order of magnitude, and reuse of behavioral IPs across projects is simplified by using modeling techniques in HLS, such as transaction-level modeling [9].

For modern system on chip designs, especially those containing embedded processors running firmware, the use of high-level programming languages in the automated HLS process enables designers and architects to explore area, power, and throughput trade-offs using different hardware–software boundaries. The industrial focus on HLS tools gained importance with the enhancements to RTL-based synthesis tools and flows. Proprietary tools were introduced by major chip design houses, such as Motorola [10], IBM [11], Philips [12], and Siemens [13]. Major electronic design automation (EDA) companies have also commercialized their HLS tools in the past few years. In 1995, Synopsys introduced the behavioral compiler [14] that generates synthesis tools. Mentor Graphics came out with Catapult HLS [15], and Cadence introduced Stratus HLS [16].



Fig. 1 High-level synthesis flow for very large scale integration designs

Figure 1 shows a typical HLS flow for very large scale integration (VLSI) designs. The HLS tool extracts all the parallelism that is accessible from the input description and schedules the operations. The next step includes allocating and sharing the necessary resources and optimization to minimize the area and improve performance. During these intermediate transform stages, different optimization directives can be applied to guide the HLS tool to meet the design specifications for decreasing area, increasing speed, and reducing power consumption. Within the HLS flow, tools typically perform the following functions: compile the specifications, allocate hardware resources (functional units, storage components, buses, etc.), schedule the operations to clock cycles, bind the operations to functional units, bind variables to storage elements, and bind transfers to buses.

Although the overall design cycle time during algorithm development may increase, the subsequent design implementation cycles are quicker, so the time to market is reduced. As seen in Fig. 1, not satisfying the desired specifications may trigger multiple iterations for HLS directives in the design flow.

3 Architecture of MIPS Processor

The primary goal in VLSI design has always been to reduce the power consumption of devices (specially mobile), such as laptops, mobile phones, and tablets, so that they would support real-time applications in video, image processing, telecom, networking, etc. Different types of integrated circuits provide different complex signal processing units to fulfill the various demands of complex use cases such as mathematical computations. When it comes to real-time operation of these integrated circuit designs, speed and power dissipation are the major bottlenecks. Thus, the major aim here is to obtain computational speed and decrease power consumption.

To satisfy this requirement, the MIPS processor was proposed by MIPS Technologies in the 1980s. To date, six versions of the MIPS have been released (denoted I–VI), with the current version (VI) having been released in 2017. Earlier versions had only 32-bit support, but the later versions support 64 bits. The MIPS architecture is also known as load-store architecture because, except for memory access, all instructions operate on registers. The salient feature of a MIPS core is its use of the RISC architecture with a non-interlocked five-stage pipelining technique to reduce delay [17].

Pipelining has proven to be more efficient than traditional sequential architecture because of that fact that CPU becomes idle during instruction cycles that include other services such as read and write to memory and storage or input–output devices. This is clearly evident from Tables 1 and 2, which show the fetch, decode, and execute cycle with and without the pipelining for multiple instructions, and the associated throughput.

All MIPS instructions are 32 bit long. The instruction set is a compiler-based encoding of the machine instructions (i.e., code generation efficiency is used to choose alternative instructions). Multiple simple instruction sections are packed together into an instruction word. To do several operations simultaneously in pipelining, the simultaneous implementation of devices such as memory, integer units, and other units is essential. Pipelining involves five stages: fetch, decode, execute, memory, and write back.

• Fetch: In this stage, we fetched the instruction from the memory based on the address provided in the program counter (PC). Incrementing by four to the

	Cycle 1	Cycle 2	Cycle 3	Cycle 4	Cycle 5	Cycle 6
Instruction 1	Fetch	Decode	Execute			
Instruction 2				Fetch	Decode	Execute

 Table 1
 Instruction execution without pipeline; the throughput is two instructions per clock cycle

 Table 2
 Instructions execution with pipeline; the throughput is four instructions every six clock cycles

	Cycle 1	Cycle 2	Cycle 3	Cycle 4	Cycle 5	Cycle 6
Instruction 1	Fetch	Decode	Execute			
Instruction 2		Fetch	Decode	Execute		
Instruction 3			Fetch	Decode	Execute	
Instruction 4				Fetch	Decode	Execute

previous instruction address may update the PC. Alternately, it can be updated by a branch address provided by conditional or unconditional branch instructions. The instruction is fetched from the memory and relayed on to the next stage:

 $PC \le (PC + 4),$ PC \le Branch address.

- Decode: In instruction decode, the opcode is decoded by the decoder unit. The register bank is also present in this stage to find the effective address. When in indirect-addressing mode, two clock cycles are required. For different addressing modes, operands are identified through the register bank and handed to the next stage for computation.
- Execute: All logical and arithmetic operations are performed in this stage. The operation performed on the data are dependent on the control signals generated in the decode stage for each instruction [2]. The integer unit consists of the arithmetic logic unit (ALU), shifter, and multiplier devices. In addition, the effective addresses used for load and store operations are computed.
- Memory: All memory related instructions are executed in this stage. Depending on the control signals, instructions such as load and store are performed to read and write the data.
- Write back: The registers are updated in this stage. The corresponding data are updated in the register array located in decode stage. The data may be coming from a memory location or another register.

MIPS cores have three types of instructions: I-type, J-type, and R-type (see Table 3). The six most significant bits for all types specify the opcode to select the type of instruction. R instructions are used when all the values used by the corresponding instruction are used from registers. I instructions are used when the instruction operates on a register and an intermediate value. Immediate values may be up to 16 bits long; larger number values cannot be manipulated by immediate instructions. J instructions are used for jumps; it has the most bits available for an immediate value to be stored because addresses are typically large numbers.

R-type instruc	tions					
Op (6 bits)	Rs (5 bits)	Rt (5 bits)	Rd (5 bits)	Shamt (5 bits)	funct (6 bits)	
I-type instruct	ions					
Op (6 bits)	Rs (5 bits)	Rt (5 bits)	Address/immediate (16 bits)			
J-type instructions						
Op (6 bits)	Target addres	ss (26 bits)				

Table 3 Instruction types for MIPS architecture

4 Design Methodology

The end-to-end processor model for the MIPS core was created by using Simulink with MATLAB function blocks. Figures 2, 3, and 4 show the top-level CPU (Controller + Memory), MIPS datapath, and controller, respectively. The design is optimized by applying directives such as loop unroll and pipelining (three stages). An instruction parser operates within the datapath and consisted of the opcode, source register, destination register, immediate operand, and jump address. The parser is directly linked to a sign extend block and a jump calculator block. A 32-bit register file is also available which consists of one write port and two read ports. The ALU RESULT consists of three inputs: ALU control, Scr A, and Scr B, and this block performs four major operations on the input: addition, subtraction, AND, and OR



Fig. 2 Top-level implementation of processor system with memory



Fig. 3 MIPS data path model



Fig. 4 MIPS controller

between the Scr operands A and B. The register file provides Scr A, and the Scr B output data are obtained from the sign extended immediate value. The three-bit ALU control specifies the operation to perform on operands while the ALU generates a 32-bit result and a zero flag (to indicate if ALU Result = zero). The ALU Scr multiplexer is used to handle the R-type instructions, which write the ALU Result to the register file. Therefore, we add this multiplexer to select between Read Data and ALU Result and call the output as "Result." This multiplexer was controlled by the signal "Mem to Reg," which is zero for R-type instructions to choose Result from the ALU Result, and unity for lw to choose Read Data. After the base implementation is created, we use the HLS tool MATLAB HDL coder to convert the MIPS core to synthesizable Verilog code and subsequently run it through FPGA synthesis using Xilinx Vivado.

As a second step, we apply the following HLS directives to optimize the results of the MATLAB HDL coder:

- (A) Pipeline. The HLS directive allows the concurrent execution of operations by reducing the initiation interval for a loop or function, so a trade-off exists between area and speed. To optimize this CPU design implementation, we apply a pipeline directive with an initiation interval of two for all loops in the design.
- (B) Loop unroll allows the loop iterations to run in parallel by creating multiple copies of the same loop body in the generated RTL. This directive helps to increase the throughput by making the loops either partially or fully unrolled.

Table 4Resource use forFPGA implementation; maximum synthesis frequency = 420.028 MHz, power = 0.0233 W; LUT: lookup table, IOBs: input–output blocks, BUFG:	Resource	Resources used	Total resources
	Slice registers	43	408,000
	Slice LUTs	178	204,000
	Fully used FF pairs	41	178
	Number of bonded IOBs	47	600
global clock buffer	Number of BUFG	1	32

For the proposed application of the MIPS controller and datapath, we use the partial unroll directive to improve design performance, which incurs a minor trade-off on resource usage. An unroll factor of two is used in the implementation.

Section 5 presents detailed implementation results for the base implementation and the implementation after application of the HLS directives.

5 Results

5.1 Simulation Results

After generating the RTL code, we performed an RTL simulation for the design using a non-synthesizable Verilog test bench in xSim software. The simulation results were identical to the simulation results obtained using a high-level simulation in Simulink.

5.2 Results of FPGA Implementation

We implemented the generated RTL from the HLS model on a Xilinx Virtex 7 FPGA board (7vx330tffg1157-3). Table 4 summarizes the implementation results for the target FPGA device.

5.3 Comparison of Results

As can be seen from Tables 4 and 5, although the proposed implementation operates at almost the same operating frequency as that of Indira et al. [1], its resource usage is 40–50% less. In addition, the proposed implementation is about fourfold faster than that proposed by Rakesh et al. [5], with almost the same resource use. These

Metric	Proposed implementation	Indira et al. [1]	Rakesh et al. [5]
Slice registers	43	81	56
Slice LUTs	178	321	203
Fully used flip flops	41	81	43
Bonded IOBs	47	71	51
BUFG	1	2	1
Power (W)	0.021	0.0233	1.318
Maximum frequency (MHz)	404.1	420.028	100

Table 5 Comparison of FPGA implementation results

improvements are attributed to the use of HLS directives in the proposed implementation, which produces better results in terms of both area and speed of operation (i.e., synthesis frequency).

6 Conclusion

Over the past few years, MIPS processor architectures have evolved as an important choice for multiple computing applications, such as communication and information processing. Being built from a RISC architecture, MIPS are friendly for pipelining instructions and thus provide faster throughput for targeted applications. Additionally, to reduce time to market for VLSI designs, FPGAs have also become popular as platforms for pre-silicon software development and accelerated verification. Therefore, the optimal FPGA implementation of MIPS cores is vital for obtaining optimized designs.

This paper proposes a resource optimal, high-throughput implementation of a MIPS core on a Virtex 7 FPGA. The proposed design was created using Simulink and was implemented using the MATLAB HDL coder and Xilinx Vivado. The design targeted Virtex 7 so that the results could be compared directly with those of other studies. We optimized the targeted implementation for performance and resource usage using appropriate HLS directives for pipelining and loop unrolling. After applying the directives, the final implementation results proved superior in terms of throughput and target area on the FPGA. The results of FPGA synthesis clearly indicate that the proposed implementation is superior to previous implementations, despite having exactly the same design specifications. The implementation results can be further improved using one or more HLS directives, which will be explored in future work.

References

- 1. O. Indira, V.V. Dwivedi, M. Kamaraju, Verilog implementation of a MIPS RISC 32-bit pipelined processor architecture. IOSR J. Electron. Commun. Eng. 14, 31–40 (2019)
- R.F. Olanrewaju, F.E. Fajingbesi, S.B. Junaid, R. Alahudin, F. Anwar, B.R. Pampori, Design and implementation of a 5-stage pipelining architecture simulator for RISC-16 instruction set. Indian J. Sci. Technol. 10, 1–9 (2017)
- H.S. Bhimani, H.N. Patel, A.A. Davda, Design of 32-bit 3-stage pipelined processor based on MIPS in Verilog HDL and implementation on FPGA Virtex7. Int. J. Appl. Inf. Syst. 10 (2016)
- S. Mangalwedhe, R. Kulkarni, S.Y. Kulkarni, Low power implementation of 32-bit RISC processor with pipelining, in *Proceeding of the Second International Conference on Microelectronics*. Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering (2019), pp. 307–320. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-981-10-8234-4_27
- M.R. Rakesh, B. Ajeya, A.R. Mohan, Novel architecture of 17 bit address RISC CPU with pipelining technique using Xilinx in VLSI technology. Int. J. Eng. Res. Appl. 4, 116–121 (2014)
- 6. F. Ghenassia, *Transaction-Level Modeling with SystemC: TLM Concepts and Applications for Embedded Systems* (Springer, The Netherlands, 2005)
- 7. Xilinx, *Vivado Design Suite: High-Level Synthesis* (2018). Available from: https://www.xil inx.com/support/documentation/sw_manuals/xilinx2018_3/ug902-vivado-high-level-synthe sis.pdf
- 8. Math Works, *HDL Coder*. Available from: https://www.mathworks.com/products/hdl-coder. html
- 9. K. Wakabayashi, C-based behavioral synthesis and verification analysis on industrial design examples, in *Proceedings of the ASPDAC* (2004), pp. 344–348
- K. Kucukcakar, C.-T. Chen, J. Gong, W. Philipsen, T.E. Tkacik, Matisse: an architectural design tool for commodity ICs. IEEE Des. Test Comput. 15, 22–33 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1109/ 54.679205
- R.A. Bergamaschi, R.A. O'Connor, L. Stok, M.Z. Moricz, S. Prakash, A. Kuehlmann, D.S. Rao, High-level synthesis in an industrial environment. IBM J. Res. Dev. 39, 131–148 (1995). https://doi.org/10.1147/rd.391.0131
- P.E. Lippens, J.L. van Meerbergen, A. van der Werf, W.F. Verhaegh, B.T. McSweeney, J.O. Huisken, O.P. McArdle, PHIDEO: a silicon compiler for high speed algorithms, in *Proceedings* of the European Conference Design Auto (IEEE Computer Society Press, Amsterdam, 1991), pp. 436–441
- J. Biesenack, M. Koster, A. Langmaier, S. Ledeux, S. Marz, M. Payer, M. Pilsl, S. Rumler, H. Soukup, N. Wehn, P. Duzy, The Siemens high-level synthesis system CALLAS. IEEE Trans. Very Large Scale Integr. 1, 244–253 (1993). https://doi.org/10.1109/92.238438
- 14. D.W. Knapp, *Behavioral Synthesis: Digital System Design Using the Synopsys Behavioral Compiler* (Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1996)
- 15. Catapult, High-Level Synthesis (2020). Available from: https://www.mentor.com/hls-lp/cat apult-high-level-synthesis/
- 16. Stratus High-Level Synthesis. Available from: https://www.cadence.com/en_US/home/tools/ digital-design-and-signoff/synthesis/stratus-high-level-synthesis.html
- J. Hennessy, N. Jouppi, F. Baskett, J. Gill, *MIPS: A VLSI Processor Architecture* (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; Stanford University, Departments of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, 1981), pp. 337–346

A Low Power 3-Stage Ring Voltage Controlled Oscillator with Wide Tuning Range and Active Load



Nitin Kumar, Manoj Kumar, Vikram Singh, Dhruv Aditya Mittal, and Priyamvada

1 Introduction

In the present scenario, high-speed and low power consumption are always desired for electronic appliances. Power-hungry devices, due to their large size demand more attention from the designer. The progressive downscaling of CMOS technology has contributed to reducing size, costs and commenced to a new era of low power portable electronic devices (PEDs). Battery operated low power PEDs are widely used in the communication system [1]. Modern communication systems comprise filters, low noise amplifiers (LNA), phase-locked loops (PLL) and mixtures. The performance of a PLL system is derived by its output key circuit of voltage-controlled oscillator (VCO) and this PLL is widely used in synchronization, clock generation, data retrieval circuits and in wireless transceiver system [2–4].

The architectural block diagram of a closed-loop feedback controlled PLL system is shown in Fig. 1, which also consists of a phase frequency detector (PFD), a charge pump (CP), a loop filter and a frequency divider in feedback path. In a PLL system, most of the power is consumed by VCO. The significant design challenge of RVCO is to obtain a tunable wide-ranging frequency spectrum, low power dissipation and minimum layout area. The energy consumed by a PLL system can also be reduced by reducing the power dissipation of VCO circuit.

N. Kumar · M. Kumar

University School of Information, Communication & Technology, GGSIPU, New Delhi, India

V. Singh (🖂)

D. A. Mittal · Priyamvada B.M.L. Munjal University, Gurugram, Haryana, India

School of ECE, Shri Mata Vaishno Devi University, Katra, Jammu and Kashmir, India e-mail: vikram.singh@smvdu.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 657 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_59


Fig. 1 Architecture of a closed-loop PLL system

1.1 Topologies and Background of RVCO

Two broadly classified topologies for a VCO are either by using an inductor-capacitor (LC) tank or by using a ring topology. An LC VCO provides better performance in terms of enhanced phase noise which is an advantage for the high frequency of operations. However, they suffer from a large layout area and limited tuning range [5, 6]. On the contrary, a ring VCO offers wide tuning range, high frequency operations, and low power consumption with an easy integration which provides small chip-area. The ring VCO provides low resolution and slightly higher phase noise performance [7, 8], but they are preferred to save chip-area. In a ring-VCO, the architecture of the delay cell can either be a single or a differential ended. A differential ended RVCO can have both even and odd number of delay stages, depending upon the type differential topology and design specifications. Differential ended RVCO provides excellent immunity to diminish bulk and power supply injected phase noise [9, 10]. The number of delay stages must be odd in a single-ended RVCO. Unit voltage gain with a net phase shift of 360° are the two main requirements of a ring VCO circuit in order to provide sustained oscillations at the output [11]. In a ring oscillator, the output oscillation frequency can be derived as [12]

$$f_{\rm out} = \frac{1}{2Nt_{\rm d}} \tag{1}$$

where, f_{out} is the output oscillation frequency, t_d is the average propagation-delay of a delay cell and N is the number of delay cells. Single-ended RVCO provides a compact layout area, low power dissipation, wide tuning range but it has acceptable phase noise [13]. In a RVCO phase noise is affected by temperature, power supply, control voltage, frequency, power dissipation, and the number of delay cells. The phase noise of single-ended RVCO can be expressed as [14]

$$L_{\min}(\Delta f) = \frac{8}{3\eta} \cdot \frac{kT}{P_{\text{diss}}} \frac{V_{\text{dd}}}{V_{\text{cr}}} \cdot \frac{f_{\text{out}}^2}{\Delta f^2}$$
(2)

where Δf is the offset frequency from the center output frequency f_{out} , V_{cr} is the characteristic voltage of the device, T is absolute temperature, k is Boltzmann constant and η is the proportionality constant. As depicted from (2), phase noise performance depends on the number of cells. Phase noise performance is degraded as the supply voltage increases for the specified power dissipation and frequency. Single-ended RVCO is selected to achieve low power dissipation, small area and acceptable phase noise performance. Depending upon the different application, various RVCO is mentioned in the literature such as current starved delay cell [15], delay stage with active load [16], delay stage with active inductor [17], shunt-shunt feedback delay stage [18], delay stage with inductive composite load [19], delay stage with source capacitive current amplifier [20] but all these RVCO designs either suffer from high power dissipation and delivers small tuning range with high phase noise performance. In this paper, three-stage single-ended RVCO based on active load is proposed to obtain, wide tuning range with low power dissipation, low phase noise and high FoM.

This paper is organized as follows: The design description and working of the proposed RVCO structure is presented in Sect. 2. Section 3 reports the results of output frequencies, phase noise and power consumptions for VCO-I, VCO-II, VCO-III and its performance comparison with earlier reported work. Finally, the conclusion of the paper is given in Sect. 4.

2 Design Description of Proposed RVCO

In a RVCO, output frequency begins when the V_{dd} is higher than a specified threshold level. At a constant V_{dd} supply, the output oscillation frequency (f_{out}) depends on delay stages associated with the closed-loop and the time delay of each delay stage. The delay time for fixed delay stages can be changed by modulating the control voltage (V_{cnt}) of RVCO.

Schematic of the single-ended proposed delay cells with NMOS AL (VCO-I), PMOS AL (VCO-II), and CMOS AL (VCO-III) is manifested in Fig. 2. In this design, the NMOS transistor MN₂ form input for the loop, whereas PMOS transistor MP₁ is utilized to pre-charge the output node whose gate-voltage is controlled by transistor MN₁ using controlled voltage (V_{cnt}) input. Two NMOS transistors MN₃, MN₄ and one PMOS transistors MP₂, are employed as a resistive loads. These resistive loads i.e., MN₃ and MN₄ are in parallel with load capacitance and discharge the output node. The ac equivalent model of CMOS active load based proposed delay stage is displayed in Fig. 3.

The output frequency of a VCO can be modulated with the shift in the control voltage (V_{cnt}), used at the gate terminals of MN₁, MN₃, MN₄ and MP₂ transistors. In NMOS based active load VCO-I, when the V_{cnt} is raised, MN₁ transistor is 'ON' gives the low resistance. The charging time through MP₁ of the output node is increased. Simultaneously MN₃ and MN₄ transistors are also 'ON' which provide low resistance and discharge the output node. The net charging time constant of



Fig. 2 VCO delay cell with: a NMOS AL only (VCO-I), b PMOS AL only (VCO-II) and c CMOS AL (VCO-III)



Fig. 3 AC equivalent small-signal model of CMOS active load VCO delay cell

the circuit is increased. As a result, the output frequency of the proposed VCO is decreased. In PMOS based active load VCO-II, V_{cnt} is initially low then the output node charges faster through MP₁ and MP₂ transistor. The time constant of the circuit is reduced, resulting high output frequency. As V_{cnt} is increasing, the output node charge only through MP₁ transistor, the time constant of the delay stage increases, output frequency decreases consequently. The proposed VCO-II provides the high frequency range as compared to VCO-I because of smaller time delay constant. In CMOS based active load VCO-III, when the V_{cnt} is increased, the output node charges through MP₁ and MP₂ transistor. Simultaneously MN₃ and MN₄ transistors discharge the output node. The net charging time constant of the circuit is expanded. As a result, the output frequency of the proposed VCO is reduced. Schematic of the proposed three-stage RVCO is shown in Fig. 4, and the respective dimensions for each MOS device used are presented in Table 1.



Fig. 4 Complete circuit of CMOS active load VCO

Table 1 Width of proposed delay stages for L = 180 nm

Transistors	M _{P1}	M _{P2}	M _{N1}	M _{N2}	M _{N3}	M _{N4}
Channel width (µm)	2.0	1.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0

3 Results and Discussion

The proposed three-stage RVCOs based on the NMOS AL (VCO-I), PMOS AL (VCO-II), and CMOS AL (VCO-III) are simulated in 180 nm CMOS process with V_{dd} of 1.8 V. Tables 2, 3 and 4 demonstrate the simulation results of the proposed VCO-I, VCO-II and VCO-III. The output frequency range of VCO-I, VCO-II and VCO-III circuit varies from 6.540–3.764 GHz, 10.113–8.215 GHz and 7.115–5.179 GHz with a tuning range of 53.88%, 20.73% and 31.49%, respectively. For these achieved frequency ranges, the power dissipation is varying from 2.028 to 2.278 mW, 2.747–2.448 mW and 2.747–2.542 mW, respectively, with the variation of V_{cnt} from 0.1 V to 0.8 V and 0.2 V to 0.7 V. Figure 5a shows the change in power dissipation with V_{cnt} . As the control voltage of VCO-I, VCO-II and VCO-III

$V_{\rm cnt}$ (V)	$f_{\rm out}$ (GHz)	$P_{\rm diss}~({\rm mW})$	PN (dBc/Hz)
0.1	6.540	2.028	- 91.54
0.2	6.134	2.030	- 84.40
0.3	6.088	2.031	- 93.20
0.4	6.084	2.107	- 99.36
0.5	5.900	2.041	- 100.90
0.6	5.647	2.082	- 101.18
0.7	4.990	2.165	- 100.75
0.8	3.764	2.278	- 102.789

Table 2 Results of proposed RVCO with NMOS load only (VCO-I), at different values of V_{cnt}

$V_{\rm cnt}$ (V)	f _{out} (GHz)	P _{diss} (mW)	PN (dBc/Hz)
0.2	10.115	2.747	- 81.702
0.3	9.567	2.576	- 91.144
0.4	9.274	2.650	- 95.705
0.5	8.983	2.441	- 96.017
0.6	8.551	2.428	- 95.545
0.7	8.215	2.448	- 94.903

Table 3 Results of proposed RVCO with PMOS load only (VCO-II), at different values of V_{cnt}

Table 4 Results of proposed RVCO with CMOS load (VCO-III) at different values of V_{cnt}

$V_{\rm cnt}$ (V)	fout (GHz)	$P_{\rm diss}~({\rm mW})$	PN (dBc/Hz)
0.2	7.115	2.747	- 85.453
0.3	6.735	2.704	- 94.889
0.4	6.515	2.651	- 99.994
0.5	6.258	2.428	- 100.732
0.6	5.813	2.448	- 100.519
0.7	5.179	2.542	- 99.552



Fig. 5 a Variation in power dissipation with V_{cnt} ; **b** variation in frequency and phase-noise with V_{cnt} for (VCO-I), **c** for (VCO-II) and **d** for (VCO-III)

is increased, the power dissipation of VCO-I is increased, whereas that of VCO-II and VCO-III are decreased.

Figure 5b–d shows the variation in the frequency and phase noise of VCO-I, VCO-II and VCO-III increases with V_{cnt} . The proposed VCO-I, VCO-II and VCO-III designs achieve – 99.36, – 95.70, and – 99.99 dBc/Hz phase noise at 1 MHz offset from 6.084, 9.274 and 6.515 GHz center frequency, respectively.

In contrast, Fig. 6 exhibits the simulated output voltage waveform of RVCO for VCO-I, and Fig. 7 presents the phase noise performance of VCO-I at V_{cnt} equal to 0.4 V and 0.5 V, respectively. Table 5 shows the effect of temperature on output



Fig. 6 Output waveform of VCO-I a at V_{cnt} of 400 mV b at V_{cnt} of 500 mV



Fig. 7 Phase noise of proposed VCO-I **a** at V_{cnt} of 400 mV **b** at V_{cnt} of 500 mV

<i>T</i> (°C)	f_{out} (GHz) of	VCO-I	f_{out} (GHz) of	VCO-II	fout (GHz) of VCO-II	
	$V_{\rm cnt} = 0.4 {\rm V}$	$V_{\rm cnt} = 0.5 \rm V$	$V_{\rm cnt} = 0.4 {\rm V}$	$V_{\rm cnt} = 0.5 \rm V$	$V_{\rm cnt} = 0.4 {\rm V}$	$V_{\rm cnt} = 0.5 \rm V$
- 50	6.533	6.508	9.856	9.608	6.892	6.709
- 25	6.386	6.339	9.661	9.396	6.758	6.557
0.0	6.240	6.178	9.482	9.195	6.635	6.410
25	6.105	6.008	9.288	8.991	6.518	6.268
50	5.971	5.846	9.121	8.792	6.407	6.129

Table 5 Temperature effect on frequency response of VCO-I, VCO-II, and VCO-III

frequency of RVCOs. As temperature increases, the output frequency of proposed VCO-I, VCO-II and VCO-III decreases. The FoM is extensively used for estimating the VCO performance based on the single-tuning frequency is expressed as [21]

FoM =
$$10 \log \left[\left(\frac{f_o}{\Delta f} \right)^2 \frac{1}{P_{\text{diss}(\text{mW})}L(\Delta f)} \right]$$
 (3)

The calculated FoM of VCO-I, VCO-II and VCO-III is -171.7 dBc/Hz, -160.8 dBc/Hz and -171.9 dBc/Hz, respectively. Figure of merit described by Eq. (3) can be increased by reducing power dissipation, phase noise and increasing output oscillation frequency. The phase noise seems to control the FoM uniformly, whereas frequency has more impact on FoM. Consequently, an increase of frequency could be an increase in power dissipation and the net results are an improved FoM. The proposed RVCO designs occupy the layout area of 18.39 μ m × 8.385 μ m. Achieved results of proposed RVCO designs compared with existing work, as shown in Table 6 and it has been depicted that the power dissipated by the proposed VCO circuits is less as compared to the existing literature in [3, 5, 17–21]. The results of proposed VCO-II, VCO-II and VCO-III show improved performance in terms of power, frequency, phase noise and FoM (Fig. 8).

		r	2000	,			
Ref.	Tech. (nm)	V _{dd} (V)	f _{out} (GHz)	TR (%)	P _{diss} (mW)	PN (dBc/Hz) at 1 MHz	FoM (dBc/Hz)
[3]	180	2.0	0.523–2.11	49.4	14.8	- 103.3 ^a	-
[5]	180	1.8	4.9–5.9	18.5	8.1	- 86.7	- 149.7
[16]	180	1.8	6.687–6.395	7.26	1.84-2.20	- 76.20	- 149.4
	180	1.8	5.726-6.142	7.01	1.97–2.17	- 73.42	- 145.5
[17]	180	1.8	3.25-4.2	25.5	7	- 92.3	- 154.8
[18]	180	1.8	2.5-5.2	74	17	- 90.1	- 148.9
[19]	130	1.2	6.3–13.9	77	5.1	- 81.5	173.4
[20]	180	2.0	4.3-6.1	34.61	80	- 85	- 140
[21]	180	1.8	3.125	18	12.6	- 91	- 149.1
TW VCO-I	180	1.8	6.540–3.764	53.88	2.028-2.278	- 99.36	- 171.7
TW VCO-II]		10.115-8.215	20.73	2.747-2.448	- 95.70	- 160.81
TW VCO-III			7.115–5.179	31.49	2.747-2.542	- 99.99	- 171.9

Table 6 Performance comparisons of existing VCOs

TW This work ^a@600 kHz



Fig. 8 Layout of the proposed RVCO design (VCO-III)

4 Conclusion

In this work, single-ended three-stage RVCOs based on the NMOS active-load (VCO-I), PMOS active-load (VCO-II), and CMOS active-load (VCO-II) have been presented. The proposed RVCOs are designed and simulated 180 nm TSMC CMOS process with V_{dd} of 1.8 V. The proposed VCO-I, VCO-II and VCO-III for the frequency range 6.540–3.764 GHz, 10.113–8.215 GHz and 7.115–5.179 GHz dissipates the power of 2.028–2.278 mW, 2.747–2.448 mW and 2.747–2.542 mW, respectively. The proposed VCO-I, VCO-II and VCO-III circuits exhibit – 99.36 dBc/Hz, – 95.70 dBc/Hz, and – 99.99 dBc/Hz phase noise at 1 MHz offset from 6.084, 9.274 and 6.515 GHz center frequency. The corresponding figure of merit (FoM) is – 171.7 dBc/Hz, – 160.8 dBc/Hz and – 171.9 dBc/Hz, respectively. The proposed design occupies the layout area of 18.39 μ m × 8.385 μ m. The performance of proposed RVCOs is compared with previous reported VCOs shows advantages of high frequency, high FoM, low phase noise and low power dissipation.

References

- G.K. Sharma, A.K. Johar, T.B. Kumar, D. Boolchandani, Design and analysis of wide tuning range differential ring oscillator (WTR-DRO). Analog Integr. Circuits Signal Process. 103, 17–29 (2020)
- G. Haijun, S. Lingling, K. Xiaofei, L. Liheng, A low phase noise ring oscillator with coarse and tuning in a standard CMOS process. J. Semicond. 33(7), 075004-1–075004-4 (2012)
- A.A.A. Ghani, A. Saparon, A 1.4 GHz CMOS low-phase noise voltage-controlled ring oscillator, in 5th Student Conference on Research and Development, Selangor, Malaysia (2007), pp. 1–5
- M. Kumar, S.K. Arya, S. Pandey, Ring VCO design with variable capacitor XNOR delay cell. J. Inst. Eng. India Ser. B 96(4), 371–379 (2015)

- C. Zhang, Z. Li, J. Fang, J. Zhao, Y. Guo, J. Chen, A novel high-speed CMOS fully-differential ring VCO, in *IEEE International Conference on Solid-State and Integrated Circuit Technology* (ICSICT) (2014), pp. 1–3
- J. Jin, Low power current-mode voltage controlled oscillator for 2.4 GHz wireless applications. Comput. Electr. Eng. 40(1), 92–99 (2014)
- M.T. Hsieh, J. Welch, G.E. Sobelman, PLL performance comparison with application to spread spectrum clock generation design. Analog Integr. Circuits Signal Process. 63(2), 197–216 (2010)
- H.Q. Liu, L. Siek, W.L. Goh, W.M. Lim, A 7-GHz multiloop ring oscillator in 0.18-μm CMOS technology. Analog Integr. Circuits Signal Process. 56(3), 179–184 (2008)
- 9. A. Rezayee, K. Martin, A coupled two-stage ring oscillator, in 44th IEEE 2001 Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS), Dayton, OH, USA, (2011), pp. 878–888
- J. Jalil, M.B.I. Reaz, M.A.M. Ali, MOS differential ring oscillators: review of the performance of CMOS ROs in communication systems. IEEE Microwave Mag. 14(5), 97–109 (2014)
- 11. B. Razavi, *Design of Analog CMOS Integrated Circuits*, 2nd edn. (Tata McGraw-Hill Publication, New York, 2008)
- N. Kumar, M. Kumar, Low power, ring VCO with pre-charge and pre-discharge circuit for 4 GHz–6.1 GHz applications in 0.18 μm CMOS. J. Circuits Syst. Comput. 28(11), 1950182 (2019)
- T.V. Cao, D.T. Wisland, T.S. Lande, F. Moradi, Low-voltage, low-power, and wide-tuning-range ring-VCO for frequency ΔΣ modulator, in NORCHIP, Tallinn (2008), pp. 79–84
- M. Maiti, S.K. Saw, A.J. Mondal, A. Majumder, A hybrid design approach of PVT tolerant, power efficient ring VCO. Ain Shams Eng. J. 11(2), 265–272 (2020)
- K. Peepra, R.C. Gurjar, A linear current starved voltage controlled ring oscillator with wide tuning range using 180 nm CMOS technology, in *International Conference on Recent Inno*vations in Electrical, Electronics & Communication Engineering (ICRIEECE), Bhubaneswar, India, (2018), pp. 2925–2928
- Jangra, V., Kumar, M.: New low power differential ring VCO circuit designs with active load and I-MOS varactor. Int. J. Electron. Commun. 119, 153191 (2020)
- 17. C. Zhang, X. Wang, J. Fang, Y. Zhang, L. Tang, A CMOS fully differential ring VCO with active inductors and I/Q outputs. Microwave Opt. Technol. Lett. **61**, 937–942 (2019)
- Y.A. Eken, J.P. Uyemura, A 5.9-GHz voltage controlled ring oscillator in 0.18 μm CMOS. IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits 39(1), 230–233 (2004)
- M. Parvizi, A. Khodabakhsh, A. Nabavi, Low-power high-tuning range CMOS ring oscillator VCOs, in *IEEE International Conference on Semiconductor Electronics*, Johor Bahru, (2008), pp. 40–44
- R. Tao, M. Berroth, The design of 5 GHz voltage controlled ring oscillator using source capacitively coupled current amplifier, in *Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits (RFIC) Symposium* (2003), pp. 623–626
- C. Sanchez-Azqueta, S. Celma, F. Aznar, A 0.18 μm CMOS ring VCO for clock and data recovery applications. Microelectron. Reliab. 51(12), 2351–2356 (2011)

865–867 MHz 180 nm Transmitter with Direct BPSK Modulation for Wireless Sensor Application



669

Devarshi Shukla, Abhishek Kumar, Vijaya Bhaduaria, and Santosh Kumar Gupta

1 Introduction

The advancement in technology, low voltage, low power, designs is getting significant concerns in Radio Frequency (RF) front-end systems, such as IEEE 802.11b standards [1-3]. In remote locations, the power supply is limited; for which low voltage and low power RF devices are in demand. RF front-end consists of an RF transceiver module which can transmit as well as receive signals. The transceiver sub-circuits include filter, mixer, power amplifier (PA), low-noise amplifier (LNA), and voltage control oscillator (VCO). The transmitter/receiver can be designed either using (i) direct conversion or (ii) indirect conversion architectures. The indirect conversion architectures are of three types: (i) Zero-IF, (ii) Complex-IF and (iii) High (real) IF architectures. The direct conversion transmitter architectures are of two types: (i) I/Q modulator-based transmitters and (ii) VCO-based transmitters. The VCO-based transmitter is also called as a direct modulation transmitter consisting of a VCO, RF Mixer, and PA. It has several advantages like low cost and relatively simpler architecture. It can operate within the bandwidth at the desired frequency and do not generates IF signals. This eliminates the requirement of IF filters and hence distortion is minimum [4, 5]. The disadvantage is that its output spectrum is corrupted due to leakage through the VCO signal to the PA. This problem can be rectified by improving isolation between VCO and PA.

D. Shukla $(\boxtimes) \cdot A$. Kumar $\cdot V$. Bhaduaria $\cdot S$. K. Gupta

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, MNNIT Allahabad, Prayagraj, India e-mail: devarshi@mnnit.ac.in

A. Kumar e-mail: Abhishekkumar@mnnit.ac.in

V. Bhaduaria e-mail: vijaya@mnnit.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_60

The RF mixer and PA are the most power-hungry blocks in a direct modulation transmitter. The performance of these blocks can affect the overall performance of the transmitter. Thus, proper design considerations are to be taken, while designing RF mixer and PA blocks. The Gilbert cell-based RF mixer has several advantages like good conversion gain and port-to-port isolation which can provide better isolation between VCO and PA. It has been used as a modulator, which performs modulation as well as for up-conversion of the input signal. Whereas in PA design, there is a trade-off between power-added efficiency (PAE) and linearity. Higher the PAE, less power is drawn from the battery.

Many direct modulation BPSK transmitters have been reported in the past [6–9]. The direct-digital RF-modulator (DDRM) architecture reported in [6] has a modulator constructed with two digital-to-RF converters (DRFCs). Jerng et al. [7] proposed a wideband delta-sigma digital-RF-modulator for high data rate transmitter consisting of oversampled and Q delta-sigma digital modulators and a quadrature digital-RF converter with integrated RF bandpass filter. Lee et al. [8] reported a direct modulator BPSK transmitter consisting of an RF mixer with a 65 GHz LC-VCO oscillator implemented using SiGeBiCMOS technology. Trotta et al. [9] designed a 79 GHz SiGeBipolar spread-spectrum transmitter for radar systems.

In this work, Gilbert cell-based BPSK modulated direct modulation transmitter has been designed for 865–867 MHz frequency band. DTMOS transistors have been used in the transconductance stage of the Gilbert cell due to its significant current driving capability, low-voltage operations, and low-leakage current. Tank circuitbased cross-coupled LC-VCO having a central frequency (f_c) of 866 MHz has been designed for RF mixing and modulation. The inductor-less class-AB PA has been designed for power amplification of the BPSK modulated signal before transmitting it through an antenna. Rest of the paper is as follows: in Sect. 2, the basic architecture of the transmitter has been discussed. Sub-modules and the overall result of the transmitter are presented in Sect. 3. Finally, Sect. 4 presents the conclusion of the work done.

2 Proposed Work

The simplified block diagram of the direct conversion transmitter is shown in Fig. 1. The off-chip non-return-to-zero (NRZ) data and VCO generated 866 MHz (0° and 180°) signals are applied to the input of the RF mixer. The RF mixer is designed using the Gilbert cell to achieve higher isolation between VCO and PA. The RF mixer together with combiner circuit forms BPSK modulator. The PA amplifies the BPSK modulated signal, which is transmitted through the antenna. The integrated block diagram has been shown in Fig. 5.

2.1 BPSK Modulator





Figure 2 shows the Gilbert cell-based BPSK modulator. It has three stages; (i) Tranconductance stage, (ii) Switching stage, and (iii) Load stage. In the proposed modulator design, the current mirror transistors M_1 and M_2 are used for biasing. The NRZ data is applied to the input pins IN_1 and IN_2 . Further, DTMOS transistors (M_3 and M_4) are used instead of conventional MOS transistors in the transconductance stage which improves gain of the RF mixer. The VCO signal is applied to the input pins LO+ and LO-. The mixing of the LO and the input signal (IN) takes place in the switching stage consisting of transistors M_5-M_8 . The output is taken from the resistive loads R_4 and R_5 which are fed to the combiner circuit transistors M_9-M_{13} to provide output BPSK modulated signal. Table 1 shows the parameter values of the BPSK modulator.



Fig. 2 Proposed BPSK modulator schematic

S. No.	Parameters	Values
1	M ₁ , M ₂	10 μm/0.18 μm
2	M ₃ , M ₄	10 μm/0.18 μm
3	M ₅ , M ₆ , M ₇ , M ₈	1 μm/0.18 μm
4	M ₉ , M ₁₀	4 μm/0.18 μm
5	M ₁₁	80 μm/0.18 μm
6	M ₁₂ , M ₁₃	50 μm/0.18 μm
7	$R_1, R_2, R_6, R_7, R_8, R_9, R_{10}, R_{11}$	1 kΩ
8	R ₃ , R ₄ , R ₅	300 Ω
9	C_1, C_2, C_3, C_4	0.1 nF

Table 1 Device parameters



Fig. 3 Schematic of power amplifier [10]

Table 2 Device pa	arameters
-------------------	-----------

S. No.	Parameters	Values
1	M ₁ , M ₂ , M ₃ , M ₄	100 μm/0.34 μm
2	M ₅ , M ₆	$50~\mu\text{m}/0.34~\mu\text{m}, 25~\mu\text{m}/0.34~\mu\text{m}$
3	M ₇ , M ₈	100 μm/0.34 μm
4	R _f	500 Ω
5	C ₁	10 pF

2.2 Power Amplifier

Power amplifier schematic is shown in Fig. 3. It is consists of three stages; (i) Driver stage, (ii) Gain stage, and (iii) output stage. Driver stage consists of transistors M_1 – M_4 . The gain stage has transistor M_5 with a diode-connected load M_6 . Class-AB push–pull amplifier consisting of transistors M_7 and M_8 has been used at the output stage. Proper sizing of the transistors M_7 and M_8 are needed to minimize the second-order effect (IIP3). R_f (resistive feedback resistance) is chosen to optimize the gains in the desired frequency band. Table 2 shows the device parameters.

2.3 Voltage Control Oscillator (VCO)

A low-phase noise VCO has been designed as shown in Fig. 4. The oscillation core



Fig. 4 Schematic of VCO

Table 3	Device parameters	S. No.	Parameters	Values	
		1	M ₁ , M ₂ , M ₃ , M ₄	1 μm/0.18 μn	
		2	M ₅ , M ₆ , M ₇ , M ₈ , M ₉ , M ₁₀	3 μm/0.18 μn	
		3	L ₁	4 nH	
		4	C ₁	9 pF	

consists of inductor L1, and capacitor C1 determines the oscillation frequency. The cross-coupled topology consists of complimentary PMOS and NMOS transistors M_7 , M_8 and M_3 , M_4 , respectively, which are used to generate negative feedback resistance for the lost compensation of the oscillation core [11, 12]. The tail current mirror consists of transistors M_1 , M_2 and M_9 , M_{10} are used to balance the output impedance of the VCO. Device parameters are shown in Table 3 (Fig. 5).

3 Results and Discussion

The BPSK transmitter for Sub-Gigahertz band (865–867 MHz) has been implemented in 0.18 μ m UMC technology with a supply voltage of 1.8 V. The 866 MHz frequency of oscillation and it's magnified image are shown in Fig. 6a and b, respectively. The output BPSK modulated signal with input data is shown in Fig. 7. Figure 8







Fig. 6 a VCO output @ 866 MHz. b VCO magnified output @ 866 MHz

shows the phase noise of the VCO. The conversion gain of the Gilbert cell is 7.65 dB as shown in Fig. 9. PSS and PAC analysis calculate the linearity of the Gilbert cell to be 18.17 dBm as shown in Fig. 10. Power amplifier output power, 1-dB compression output and PAE, is showed in Figs. 11, 12, and 13, respectively. Figures 14 and 15 express LO-IF and LO-RF port-to-port isolation of the transmitter, respectively. Total power consumption of the integrated BPSK transmitter is 98.47 mW.

It is observed from Table 4 that though the circuit reported in [13] consumes lower



Fig. 7 BPSK modulated output with input data (input data rate 1 Mbps)



Fig. 8 Phase noise of VCO is - 148.23 dBc/Hz

power due to low-supply voltage, but the proposed circuit offers better linearity in comparison with it. The circuit reported in [14] consumes almost the same power; however, the proposed circuit offers better PAE (39.12%) and better phase noise of VCO (-148.23 dBc/Hz) @ 866 MHz.



Fig. 9 Conversion gain of Gilbert cell is 7.65 dB



Fig. 10 Linearity of the Gilbert cell is 18.17 dBm

4 Conclusion

A 1.8 V direct BPSK modulation transmitter has been designed for 865–867 MHz frequency band. Gilbert cell does up-conversion and modulation. Thus, the complexity of the design reduces and also provides better port isolation between VCO and PA. The phase noise of the VCO is -148.23 dBc/Hz, which is quite good. In the PA design, there is a trade-off between efficiency and linearity. Higher the efficiency less power is drawn from the battery. The PAE of the power amplifier is



Fig. 11 Output power of PA is 9.9 dBm



Fig. 12 1-dB compression of PA (- 1.91 dBm)

39.12%. The output power of the PA is 9.9 dBm. Thus, the overall design is suitable for battery-operated independent devices for unlicensed frequency band, i.e., 865–867 MHz.



Fig. 13 PAE of PA is 39.12%



Fig. 14 LO-IF isolation of the transmitter



Fig. 15 LO-RF isolation of the transmitter

S.No.	Parameters	[13]	[14]	This work
1	Technology (180 nm)	UMC	UMC	UMC
2	Supply voltage (V)	1.25	1.8	1.8
3	Frequency band (MHz)	900	755–933	865–867
4	Modulation type	BPSK	BPSK	BPSK
5	Data rate (Mbps)	N/A	N/A	1
4	Power consumption (mW)	50	95.8	98.47
5	Conversion gain (dB)	16	N/A	7.65
6	Linearity (dBm)	12	N/A	18.17
7	1-dB compression (dBm)	-2	N/A	- 1.91
8	Output power of PA (dBm)	N/A	N/A	9.9
9	PAE of PA (%)	N/A	25.5%	39.12%
10	Phase noise of VCO (dBc/Hz) @ 866 MHz	N/A	- 120.7	- 148.23

 Table 4
 Comparison table

Acknowledgements This work has been performed using the resources of VLSI Laboratory developed under Special Manpower Development Program—Chip to System Design (SMDP-C2SD) project funded by Ministry of Electronics and Information Technology (MeitY), Government of India.

References

- Y.H. Liu et al., A 1.9 nJ/b 2.4GHz multistandard (Bluetooth low energy/Zigbee/IEEE802.15.6) transceiver for personal/body-area networks, in *Digest of Technical Papers—IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference*, vol. 56 (2013), pp. 446–447. https://doi.org/10.1109/ ISSCC.2013.6487808
- M. Rahman, M. Elbadry, R. Harjani, A 2.5nJ/bit Multiband (MBAN & ISM) Transmitter for IEEE (2014), pp. 17–20
- M. Rahman, S. Member, M. Elbadry, R. Harjani, Multiband WBAN Transmitter Using Phase Multiplexing and Injection Locking, vol. 50, no. 5 (2015), pp. 1–11
- 4. B. Razavi, Design considerations for direct-conversion receivers. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II Analog Digit. Signal Process. **44**(6), 428–435 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1109/82.592569
- A.A. Abidi, Direct-conversion radio transceivers for digital communications. Integr. Circuits Wirel. Commun. 30(12), 135–146 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1109/9780470544952.ch2
- P. Eloranta, P. Seppinen, S. Kallioinen, T. Saarela, A. Pärssinen, A multimode transmitter in 0.13 μm CMOS using direct-digital RF modulator. IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits 42(12), 2774–2784 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1109/JSSC.2007.908749
- A. Jerng, C.G. Sodini, A wideband ΔΣdigital-RF modulator for high data rate transmitters. IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits 42(8), 1710–1722 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1109/JSSC.2007. 900255
- C. Lee, T. Yao, A. Mangan, K. Yau, M.A. Copeland, S.P. Voinigescu, SiGe BiCMOS 65-GHz BPSK transmitter and 30 to 122 GHz LC-varactor VCOs with up to 21% tuning range, in Digest of Technical Papers—IEEE Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuit Symposium (CSIC), 2004, pp. 179–182. https://doi.org/10.1109/CSICS.2004.1392529
- S. Trotta et al., A 79GHz SiGe-bipolar spread-spectrum TX for automotive radar, in *Digest of Technical Papers—IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference* (2007), pp. 3–5. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISSCC.2007.373478
- H. Sjöland, H. Sjöland, Inductorless RF CMOS power amplifiers, in *Highly Linear Integrated Wideband Amplifiers* (1999), pp. 129–143. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-4056-4_9
- M.T. Hsu, W.J. Li, S.C. Hsu, Design of low phase noise CMOS VCO using cross coupled topology with capacitor feedback. Microelectronics J. 54 (2016), 32–39. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.mejo.2016.05.005
- Y. Ku, S.H. Cho, An optimum current mirror ratio for low phase noise LC-VCO. IEEE Microwave Wirel. Components Lett. 18(12), 809–811 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1109/LMWC. 2008.2007709
- T.K. Nguyen, A low-power, wide-range variable gain CMOS RF transmitter for 900 MHz wireless communications. Analog Integr. Circuits Signal Process. 63(2), 177–183 (2010). https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10470-009-9406-7
- X. Yu et al., A sub-GHz low-power transceiver with PAPR-tolerant power amplifier for 802.11ah applications, in *Digest of Technical Papers*—2015 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC) (IEEE, 2015), pp. 231–234. https://doi.org/10.1109/RFIC.2015. 7337747

Improving the Charging System at Urban Places for Electric Vehicle



683

Amit Sharma and Abhishek Mishra

1 Introduction

Studies indicate the increase in greenhouse and other gases, which are bringing the climatic changes [1, 2]. Big cities are producing more air pollution due to number of industries and vehicles, which are causing hazardous environment and many diseases like chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), lung cancer, and acute lower respiratory infections in children. [2, 3]. Many agencies are working to reduce the pollution by using steps like (i) generation of power from renewable sources [4] (ii) inspiring the use of electrical vehicles [5–7]. Commercial agencies are working to make more efficient electrical vehicles or they have already launched in the market like Eve, Zytel, Little Electric Cars, or Tesla Motors. With the soring price of petrol and diesel, electric vehicles are going to play significant role in public transport.

Figure 1 shows the actual data of electric vehicles by different agencies such as IEA [8, 9], and Paris declaration [10] with the help of clean energy ministerial to decrease the rise in global temperature [11]. Keeping this in mind, the future electric vehicles will be furnished with intelligent charging system as residential charging system will be the right place to charge, as domestic charging stations will be limited. Most convenient method used is plug and charge (PC) method in which batteries start charging as soon as they are provided with supply current.

PC method suffers with some drawbacks as the electricity rates may vary during night and day; however, user does not look for this and start charging their vehicles whether the rates are expensive at that time, and follow the same routine every day. During night, this charging practice creates a peak demand of power and the grid gets collapse.

A. Sharma

Electrical & Electronics Engineering, PSIT, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh, India

A. Mishra (⊠) Electrical Engineering, BNCET, Lucknow, Uttar Pradesh, India

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_61

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,



Fig. 1 EVs future deployment scenarios

Some major problem associated with this method is that the price is higher during high demand of power when most of the EVs will get charged. Due to this, grid will bear extra burden as the EVs are increasing every year. Good infrastructure, large capital, and operating expenses are required to support and satisfy the needs of future energy demand.

The problem in the traditional method is solved by using the different methods like the cheapest (TC), economical starting (EC), the low price, (LP) and the last time (LT) schemes. These methods should be deployed with intelligent charger to speed up the charging process thereby reducing the cost. The set of strategies for battery charging have been discussed, and the result obtained are compared with the traditional method to examine the durability and fragility of each one.

2 Related Work

The recent development in the field of EVs has widen the topic of research and their need in the future. Some authors have worked and deduced various method to reduce the electricity cost. Wi et al. [12] presented algorithm based charging of electric vehicle, which uses PV cells and makes system cost effective. Their result showed reduction in 7 to 14% of cost as compared to plug and charge method. Makkonen et al. [13] proposed a system in which charging head both energy management system and the energy storage. They provided a gateway for the mobile energy storage, but they did not compared their result with the traditional method. Tikka et al. [14] deduced a smart charging system in order to minimize the charges. They conducted the charging on a charging testbed. They test the charging of the vehicle at home for a week, compared their result with plug and charge method, and found a reduction in electricity bill.

Gharbaoui et al. [15] presented a system in which scatter communication infrastructure can be utilized. In this, the data of the energy requirements can be exchanged and thereby reducing the charging time. Valdivia et al. [16] presented a method using particle swarm optimization in plugin hybrid electric vehicles. They performed the simulation for 24 h for different scenario. They compared their result with other algorithms like GSA, FA and found the better result. Ma et al. [17] presented a strategy of dispersed charging control, which was designed for large number of electric vehicles. The aim is to increase the efficiency of charging by promoting the electricity tariffs of overnight thereby reducing the overall cost. In this, the test was conducted on two-battery capacity.

Mets et al. [18] presented two charging strategies in which local and global iterative strategies were compared. In this, the aim was to reduce the peak power demand. In this, PHEVs from 150 houses were taken, and the test was conducted for 24 h. All specifications were same of each vehicle, and the maximum charging rate was 4.6 kWh. Results show the reduction in peak power loads from 9 to 40%. Gan et al. [19] presented a protocol in which EVs charging schedule is managed, the aim is to arrange the EVs charge as per the electricity demand. They performed the simulations for one day by taking average residential load in the particular area of South California. Cheng et al. [20] presented a strategy by charging the EVs at off-peak hours and thus improving the charging process, they used PSO algorithm and compared the result with an uncontrolled recharge approach.

In this part, we can find there are many works, which tell us about how the growing number of EVs affect the electricity demand. Sharma et al. [21] presented the effects of charging in scattered unbalanced system at urban places, then they analyzed the result with smart charging schemes and found that the uncontrolled charging have the adverse effect on the grid. Acha et al. [22] presented a system in which two types of vehicles were used that are PHEVs and PEVs and suggested a cost-effective exchange between scattered network, power markets, and electric vehicles.

Quian et al. [23] proposed a methodology and a model of electricity demand of electric vehicle, and they compared on the following criteria of uncontrolled off-peak domestic charging, uncontrolled domestic charging, and uncontrolled off-peak domestic. Result suggested that there will be 18% increase in power demand, and they also considered various parameters like arrival time of vehicle and state of charge of vehicles to prepare the statistical model. Last, but not least, we have also accounted the real pricing of electricity for all around the day and over the full year [24].

The authors have proposed many ideas, yet there is a scope for improving the charging and the charging time of the electric vehicle. The various strategies can be formed for the EVs for better charging and charging time on 24 h format.

3 Our Proposal: Improving EVs Charge Strategies

The traditional method is plug and charge, i.e., the charging of battery start as soon as we provide them a plug point with proper power supply. However, this method is ineffective, as it does not consider many parameter like energy efficiency, cost, power demand, and current battery level. We can take this traditional method for our comparative study.

A. Electric factor

The main objective of this paper is to propose new strategies for efficient charging and compare the result obtained with the traditional method of charging, taking into account, various factors like battery status and time available to complete the process of charging. Smart chargers can be of used in any of the one approaches to enhance the charging process at residential homes.

As per the standard IEC 62196 [25], four charging modes are designed for EVs, which are as follows:

- Mode 1, this is the most used method for electric vehicle charging at residential houses. In this, 230 V and a current of 16 A is used to charge the batteries. The process may last up to eight hrs. Hence, this method is considered slow method, mode 1 is the most common method used.
- Mode 2 is the fast charging mode as compared to mode 1, current up to 32 A is supported in this method. Due to high current the charging time is reduced to 4 to 6 h hence, this mode is also called as semi fast mode.
- Mode 3 this is the fast charging method and current between 32 and 250 A is supported, generally in a mode EVs take less than one hour to recharge their battery level.
- **Mode 4** in this mode current up to 400 A is supported and is also known as ultrafast charging method. It is an important method as it comprehensively reduces the charging time of the EV batteries. The heat developed might be an issue because many of the battery could not withstand the large amount of current.

The electricity pricing is also to be considered, as the prices are different during day and night in many countries for example United States, Canada, UK, France, Portugal, Spain, Finland, and Latvia [23, 26–29]. We can easily distinguish between high and low price time slots for the charging of EVs.

B. Recharging Methods Proposed

In this proposed work, we have already said that four methods will be discussed which will enhance the charging process with efficient recharges. We assumed that system has smart charging point; communication can be easily done among vehicles and Internet connectivity.

Assume 'T' to be taken as the time period in which electric vehicle would be recharged (arrival and departure), and 'R' is the time period that EV needs to fully recharge its battery, 'P(h)' is the price of the electricity at that particular hour, 'ch' is the denotation at which the electricity price is the cheapest, and 'Lt' denotes the time at which electric vehicle leaves the parking area, and 'st' and 'ed' represent the starting and ending time of the battery charging. These all parameters are given in the Table 1.

The proposed method are discussed below:

• The Cheapest (TC)—This strategy of charging will allocate 'st' for the 'ch' in between of '*R*'. For this charging process, the charging period is governed by

Parameters	Definition	Values
Т	Time taken by the vehicle to be recharged	12 h
R	Total time in which EV get fully charged	06 h
P(h)	Price of the electricity at that hour	0.152 Euro/kWh
ch	Time in which electricity price is the cheapest	4 AM
Lt	Time when the vehicle leaves the parking lot	7 AM
St	Starting charging time of battery	22 PM
ed	Ending charging time of battery	7 AM

 Table 1
 Different charging parameters

Eq. 1. Electric vehicles will be fully charged only when $\left(ch + \frac{R}{2}\right) < Lt$

$$\left[\left(ch-\frac{R}{2}\right)\dots\left(ch+\frac{R}{2}\right)\right] \tag{1}$$

• Economical Starting (EC)—this strategy of charging will start charging the EVs as soon as the electricity price becomes 'ch' (st = ch), the process will be governed by Eq. 2, and vehicle will be fully charged only when (ch + R) > Lt is met.

$$[ch\dots(ch+R)] \tag{2}$$

• Low Price (LP)—In this strategy, electric vehicle will charge their when the offpeak period begins. This charging strategy is considered for nighttime charges, this strategy is governed by Eq. 3. We consider negative variations in the price of electricity to calculate max ($\Delta P(h)$), i.e. when the price of the electricity drops.

$$[\max(P(h)) :: \max(P(h) + R)]$$
(3)

• Last Time (LT)—In this strategy electric vehicle, will recharge its battery during last part of '*R*'. Charging process will finish just before the vehicle is about to leave the parking lot. This process is regardless of the electricity fee. If T < R, then LT will be acting like the traditional P&C method. This method is governed by Eq. (4).

$$[(Lt - R) \dots Lt] \tag{4}$$

Let us take an example for EV Volkswagen Golf having a capacity of 24.2 kWh, at 7:00 p.m. Vehicle reaches at charging which is mode 1 of charging and leaves at 7 a.m. (i.e., T = 12; Lt = 7). When the vehicle reaches the charging point, the level of the battery is 75%. As per the data, 2 h are required to recharge the battery completely (R = 2). Figure 2 shows the graph having fares of EVs on Y-axis and hours on the X-axis. Taking the traditional method, the vehicle will automatically at 7:00 p.m. (St



Fig. 2 Illustrated figure, which includes electricity, price (January 2018), and recharging point for different strategy [24]

= 19 = 7 p.m.). At this time, it is seen from the graph that the electricity price is the highest.

In the cheapest method, charging of the vehicle will, i.e., at 3 a.m., and the vehicle requires 2 h to complete the charging as this is the most economical period for vehicle charging (3 a.m.-5 a.m.). ([(4 - 1)...4 + 1)], according to Eq. (1).

In the economical starting method, the vehicle will start charging when the price of the electricity is minimum, i.e., at 4 a.m. and will complete at 6 a.m. ([4 . (4 + 2)], according to Eq. (2)).

In low price method, the vehicle will start recharging at 23 p.m., as during this time the drop in price negligible and off-peak period also begins. The charging process would be [23...1] as per Eq. (3) (Table 2).

The last method is last time in which we utilize the last time, which is left for the charging, i.e., the charging will start at 5 a.m. and will remain till 7 a.m., after that the vehicle will leave the parking lot, ([(7 - 2).0.7], according to Eq. (4).

4 Simulation Environment

The simulation was done on three different environment and as per the average battery level. The aim is to analyze the methods under various energy requirements. The scenarios are:

Make and model	Battery capacity (kWh)	Market share (%)
Nissan leaf	24	16.2
Citroen C-zero	15	15.5
Renault Zoe	22	12.6
BMW i3	22	10.6
Renault Kangoo	33	10.3
Nissan NV 200	24	9.6
Smart fortwo	17.6	4.8
Volkswagen Golf	24.2	4.3

Table 2 EVs during 2016 [28]

- **Regular demand**, in which battery level of vehicle follow a Gaussian distribution with a mean (μ) of 72 and 10% standard deviation (σ). The data is analyzed after single day use of electric vehicle, as per Qian et al. [23].
- Soaring demand, in which battery level of vehicle follow a Gaussian distribution with a mean (μ) of 50 and 10% standard deviation (σ).
- Additional demand, this is a different scenario in which battery level of vehicle follow a Gaussian distribution with a mean (μ) of 25 and 10% standard deviation (σ).

The battery capacity level is also considered in this part, for the battery with less capacity will require less time, and the battery with larger capacity will require larger time to charge. By simulating with the help of above charging methods, various results have been shown. We use Monte Carlo method [30] for the various vehicle included. Table 3 shows various parameter used in the simulations.

More details are discussed and explained below.

• **Total number of vehicles**. A total number 365000 EVs data was collected, i.e., 1000 vehicles per day for the entire year.

Metrics	P & C	TC	EC	LP	LT
Megawatts charged	2.42	2.32	1.85	2.32	2.38
Electricity price (€/vehicle per year)	349.72	139.28	104.15	161.3	148.79
Price diff. compared to P&C (%)	-	- 60.17	- 70.22	- 53.88	- 57.46
Recharged energy (average %)	27.97	27.97	22.08	27.78	27.98
Net battery level (average %)	99.9	99.62	94.3	99.7	99.9
#EVs battery level < 75%	635	635	27,180	870	635
#EVs battery level < 50%	0				
#EVs battery level < 25%	0				
Battery level at starting (average %)	71.9				

 Table 3
 Regular demand

- Vehicle's appearances model. In this, we have to see when the vehicle is arriving at the place to be charged. As per the traditional method, it will start charging at that instant. To make it realistic, the vehicle follows a Gaussian distribution with μ equal to 1080 min and σ equal to 60 min. Usually vehicles reach at the residential house from 4 to 9 p.m. Many values have taken from the previous works [19–23].
- Journey duration model, which tells the appropriate travel time until reaching the recharging point. Weibull distribution is followed by these values [30–35] with $\alpha = 45 \text{ min}, \beta = 1.8$, and $\gamma = \text{zero}$. Most of the journey time requires 45 min or less than that.
- Recharging time model. This parameter tells the maximum time, which is required by the EVs to charge their battery. This follow a Gaussian distribution mean (μ) of 700 and 150 min of standard deviation (σ). Most of the vehicles are parked for an average time of 9–14 h per day.
- **Battery measure model**. In this, it tells us about the level of charging left when it reaches to the charging point. We discussed about three kind of scenario (regular demand, soaring demand, and additional demand). It follows a Gaussian distribution with different parameters (μ is 70, 50, and 25%), and σ is 10%.
- **Power at charging point**. Since we are interested for the charging of EVs at houses, so it has to follow Mode I, in which batteries will be charged at 230 V and 16 A.
- Energy dissipation by heat. Batteries suffer from heat loss during the charging process. These losses are correlated to current and voltages, i.e., low battery charging encounters less loss as compared to larger batteries. We have assumed that 10% of the energy is wasted during charging.

5 Results

In this part, results from the scenarios are discussed above and described. The performance of different charging methods are also analyzed under different conditions.

A. First scenario: Regular Demand

As per Quian et al. [26], after a day use, the level of a battery of a vehicle remains at 72%, so for this scenario, we consider the average battery level to be 71.90 before charging.

Table 3 shows various output obtained from the regular demand scenario. As we see that energy charged is similar to all methods except the EC method. If we see the electricity cost, we can easily distinguish the difference per vehicle $(104-349 \in)$. If we are using this scenario the cost, saving is about 54–70%

B. Second scenario: Soaring demand

In this second scenario, we considered the soaring demand as vehicle would start charging when the initial value of the battery level is 50%. As per Qian et al. [26],

	D 0 0	-	50		
Metrics	P&C	TC	EC	LP	
Megawatts charged	4.31	4.07	2.84	4.09	4.23
Electricity price (€/vehicle per year)	605.42	251.18	163.87	267.43	278.06
Price diff. compared to P&C (%)	-	- 58.51	- 72.93	- 55.83	- 54.07
Recharged energy (average %)	49.66	47.80	33.79	48.48	49.66
Net battery level (average %)	99.84	97.97	83.96	98.65	99.84
#EVs battery level < 75%	1000	506	120,072	7227	1000
#EVs battery level < 50%	506	506	18,774	788	506
#EVs battery level < 25%	0				
Battery level at starting (average %)	50.18				

Table 4 Soaring demand

this level battery shows that it has not been recharged for almost two days. Table 4 is the output obtained by this scenario.

As we see in the table that the energy charged by the vehicle for all the methods are almost the same, although the consumption of energy is doubled as compared to regular demand scenario because the battery level in the starting was reduced as compared to regular demand. Again, EC method fails to meet the required levels as most of the vehicles are waiting for the price of energy to be cheapest. If we look the difference in price in all the methods, we can see a remarkable difference in all the prices in Table 4. The cost of saving also ranges from 54.07 up to 72.93%. When we see the final level of the battery, we can see the levels are almost same except EC method, which is 83.96%. We can see that all vehicles finished their charging on proper time even when they started with battery level less than 50%. Some of the vehicles could not meet the final level of battery as given in Table 4. EC method is showing some defect as it is showing deficiency to meet the required level.

In this scenario, the last time gives the best performance in terms of battery charging level and cost saving.

C. Third scenario: Additional Demand

In this, we analyzed the scenario in which additional demand of energy is required to charge a vehicle, battery level is very low, i.e., 25%. This is the extreme condition which is being discussed.

When we compare the result among all the methods, energy consumed by the vehicle is higher in this scenario. If we compare it to regular demand scenario, energy required is 160% more. Even the EC method work worse for this scenario as vehicle only reach 67% of the battery level. The savings of the price is seen from this method if we compare to our traditional method. The savings of 46-75% can be obtained. In this scenario, there were insignificantly number of vehicles that were not able to full charge their battery. The EC method was not able to fulfill its criterion as seen in Table 5. However, it is impossible to find additional demand for

Metrics	P & C	TC	EC	LP	LT
Megawatts charged	6.43	5.92	3.55	5.91	6.34
Electricity price (€/vehicle per year)	855.5	390.8	212	371	454
Price diff. compared to P&C (%)	-	- 4.3	- 75.2	- 56.53	- 46.9
Recharged energy (average %)	74	69.7	42.4	70	74
Net battery level (average %)	99.5	94.5	67.5	95	99.5
#EVs battery level < 75%	1730	17,000	206,700	29,700	1730
#EVs battery level < 50%	1000	1000	10,000.	1000	530
#EVs battery level < 25%	530	530	17,000	650	
Battery level at starting (average %)	25				

Table 5 Additional demand

so many vehicles. Last time methods performs good in this scenario as it gives good performance, battery level, and cost savings.

6 Conclusions

EV demand is increasing day by day, as the technology is changing; we have to eventually change the methods of charging the batteries thereby reducing the cost of recharging the EVs.

The traditional method is mostly used to charge the batteries, and it is not very efficient, as it does not consider any quantity to boost the efficiency of the charging process. We have to consider various parameter like battery level, price of electricity, load on grid, etc. We proposed four charging methods, which seeks to maximize the battery charging by reducing the time of charging and its cost.

Number of vehicle data was analyzed for regular demand, soaring demand, and additional demand scenario. All the scenarios have been studied, and we can see improvement in various parameters in percentage. We can clearly see the difference in megawatts charged in these four methods, and we can also the price difference when we are using these four methods. There has been difference of time while achieving the net battery level.

This case study can also be implemented in India as the demand of EVs are increasing day by day. Looking into the fact of this demand, the need of infrastructure and proper charging points is the need of an hour, and with this increase of EVs, there will be a burden on the grid due to the battery charging, and this will be the next problem, which can be easily solved by using these methods. By utilizing the flexible electricity prices and the method of charging proposed above, we can tremendously reduce the infrastructure cost and charging points, as we will be utilizing the residential charging points and at last reducing the load on the grid.

References

- M. Préndez, S. Lara-Gonz´alez, Application of strategies for Sanitation management in wastewater treatment plants in order to control/reduce greenhouse gas emissions. J. Environ. Manag. 88(4), 658–664 (2008)
- N. Scovronick, "Reducing Global Health Risk," World Health Organization. Tech. Rep. (2015). available online: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/189524/1/978921565080_ eng.pdf (Accessed on 1 Mar 2018)
- 3. A. Prüss-Üstün, C. Corvalań, "Preventing disease through healthy environments," Towards an estimate of the environmental burden of disease. World Health Organization, Geneva (2006)
- European Commission, EU action against climate change-Research and development to fight climate change, Tech. Rep. (2007) availableonline:http://www.pedz.unimannheim.de/daten/ edz-bn/gdu/07/research.pdf (accessed on 1 Mar 2018)
- 5. T. Observatory, "Technology map of electric mobility," Ministerio de Industria, Energ'ia y Turismo, Spain. Tech. Rep. 01 (2012) available online. http://www.idae.es/uploads/docume ntos/documentosMovilidadElectricaACCc603f868.pdf (accessed on 1 Mar 2018)
- MINETUR, "Comprehensive strategy for Electric Vehicles," Ministerio de Industria, Energ´ia y Turismo, Spain. Tech. Rep. (2010) online: http://www.minetad.gob.es/eses/Gabinetep rensa/notasprensa/documents/estrategiaintegralvehpercentageC3percentageADculoelectric o060410.pdf (1 Mar 2018)
- L. Schewel, D.M. Kammen, Smart transportation: synergizing electrified vehicles and mobile information systems. Environment 52(5), 24–35 (2010)
- International Energy Agency, Global EV Outlook 2017. Two million and counting. Tech. Rep. (2017), available online: https://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/Global EVOutlook2017.pdf (1 Mar 2018)
- Energy technology perspectives: Catalysing energy Technology transformations (2017) available online: https://www.iea.org/etp2017/summary/ (accessed on 1 Mar 2018)
- Framework Convention on Climate Change, "Adoption of the Paris agreement," United Nations. Tech. Rep. FCCC/CP/2015/L.9/Rev.1, 12 2015, available online: http://unfccc.int/resource/ docs/2015/cop21/eng/109r01.pdf (accessed on 1 Mar 2018)
- Clean Energy Ministerial, "Accelerating the global clean energy transition," (2018) availableonline: http://www.cleanenergyministerial.org/ (accessed on 2 Mar 2018)
- 12. Y.M. Wi, J.U. Lee, S.K. Joo, Electric vehicle charging method for smart homes/buildings with a photovoltaic system. IEEE Trans. Consum. Electron. **59**(2), 323–328 (May 2013)
- H. Makkonen, V. Tikka, J. Lassila, J. Partanen, P. Silventoinen, Demonstration of smart charging interface in green campus, in *European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications* (*EPE'14-ECCE Europe*) (2014), pp. 1–10
- V. Tikka, H. Makkonen, J. Lassila, J. Partanen, Case study: Smart charging plug-in hybrid vehicle test environment with vehicle-to-grid ability, in *European Conference on Power Electronics and Application (EPE'14-ECCE Europe)* (2014), pp. 1–10
- M. Gharbaoui, L. Valcarenghi, R. Brunoi, B. Martini, M. Conti, P. Castoldi, An advanced smart management system for electric vehicle recharge, in *IEEE International Electric Vehicle Conference (IEVC)* (2012), pp. 1–8
- A. Valdivia-Gonzalez, D. Zaldívar, F. Fausto, O. Camarena, E. Cuevas, M. Perez-Cisneros, A states of matter search-based approach for solving the problem of intelligent power allocation in plug-in hybrid electric vehicles. Energies 10(1), 92 (2017)
- 17. Z. Ma, D. Callaway, I. Hiskens, Decentralized charging control for large populations of plug-in electric vehicles, in *IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (CDC)* (2010), pp. 206–212
- K. Mets, T. Verschueren, W. Haerick, C. Develder, F. De Turck, Optimizing smart energy control strategies for plug-in hybrid electric vehicle charging, in *IEEE/IFIP Network Operations and Management Symposium Workshops (NOMS Wksps)* (2010), pp. 293–299
- L. Gan, U. Topcu, S. Low, Optimal decentralized protocol or electric vehicle charging, in 50th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control and European Control Conference (CDC ECC) (2011), pp. 5798–5804

- L. Chen, C. Chung, Y. Nie, R. Yu, Modeling and optimization of electric vehicle charging load in a parking lot, in *IEEE PES Asia-Pacific Power and Energy Engineering Conference* (APPEEC) (2013), pp. 1–5
- I. Sharma, C. Canizares, K. Bhattacharya, Smart charging of pevs penetrating into residential distribution systems. IEEE Trans. Smart Grid 5(3), 1196–1209 (2014)
- 22. S. Acha, T.C. Green, N. Shah, Optimal charging strategies of electric vehicles in the UK power market, in *IEEE PES Innovative Smart Grid Technologies (ISGT)* (2011), pp. 1–8
- K. Qian, C. Zhou, M. Allan, Y. Yuan, Modeling of load demand due to EV battery charging in distribution systems. IEEE Trans. Power Syst. 26(2), 802–810 (2011)
- Red Eléctrica de España, "Término de facturación de energía active del PVPC (2017). Available online: https://www.esios.ree.es/es/pvpc (accessedon 1 Mar 2018)
- "International Standard IEC 62196," International Electrotechnical Commission. Tech. Rep. (2003), Available online: http://www.inmetro.gov.br/barreirastecnicas/pontofoca%5Cpontofo cal%5Ctextos%5Cregulamentos%5CSAU357.pdf (accessed on 1 Mar 2018)
- ComEd, Real time hourly prices (2017). Available online: https://hourlypricing.comed.com/ live-prices/ (accessed on 1 Mar 2018)
- 27. Independent Electricity System Operator, Real time hourly prices (2017). Available online: http://www.ieso.ca/power-data#price/ (accessed on 1 Mar 2018)
- FACUA, "Comparative study about the electric supply in ten European countries," Asociación de consumidores y usuarios en acción. Tech. Rep. (2014). Available online: http://facua.org/ es/documentos/estudioelectricidadeuropaes.pdf (accessed on 1 Mar 2018)
- Elering, Electricity market price (2017). Available online: http://vana.elering.ee/electricity-mar ket-price/ (accessed on 1 Mar 2018)
- 30. C.P. Robert, Monte carlo methods (Wiley Online Library, 2004)
- 31. R. Miceli, F. Viola, Designing a sustainable university recharge area for electric vehicles: Technical and economic analysis. Energies **10**(10), 1604 (2017)
- 32. H. Al-Deek, E.B. Emam, New methodology for estimating reliability in transportation networks with degraded link capacities. J Intell Transp Syst **10**(3), 117–129 (2006)
- C. Maxim, A. Gogonel, D. Maxim, L. Cucu-Grosjean, Estimation of probabilistic minimum inter-arrival times using extreme value theory, in *Proceedings of the 6th Junior Researcher Workshop on Real-Time Computing (JRWRTC 2012)*, (11 2012), pp. 1–4
- 34. J.I. McCool, Using the Weibull Distribution: Reliability, Modeling and Inference, vol. 950 (Wiley, 2012)
- 35. Susilawati, Modeling urban arterial road travel time variability, Ph.D. dissertation, Transport Systems School of Natural and Built Environments. University of South Australia (2012)
Reduction of Mutual Coupling in Dual Band Antenna Array Using Novel Metamaterial Structure



B. Siva Chaitanya, P. Prasanna Kumar, and Prerna Saxena

1 Introduction

Nowadays, due to advancements in wireless communications demand for compactness has increased. Microstrip patch antenna has an advantage of low profile and compactness. Due to the demand in wireless communications, we need antennas that operate at different frequencies. Designing antennas at each frequency in a single device occupies more space and violates the condition of compactness. So an antenna that operates at multiple frequencies is required. Today, devices have more than one antenna embedded inside them. Such antennas are called array antennas. Array antennas have advantages like high gain and controlled radiation pattern. In array, antenna mutual coupling is inevitable. It degrades the performance of the system by disturbing radiation patterns. So coupling is a serious phenomenon and should be taken care of for the proper functioning of antenna arrays.

To overcome the effect of mutual coupling in array, many techniques have been implemented. In [1], meander structure is used to minimise the coupling effect, but antenna dimensions are very large. The isolation between antennas is -34.3 dB by usage of ML slot in [2]. In [3], split ring resonators are used but the isolation at 2.4 GHz is only -24 dB. *C*-shaped DGS(Defective Ground Structure) is used to reduce coupling but size of antenna is more with high-mutual coupling at desired frequencies in [4]. In [5] *H*-shaped DGS used, the dimensions of antenna are very

P. Prasanna Kumar e-mail: edm18d005@iiitdm.ac.in

B. Siva Chaitanya (🖂) · P. Prasanna Kumar · P. Saxena

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Indian Institute of Information Technology, Design and Manufacturing, Kancheepuram, Chennai, India e-mail: esd15i009@iiitdm.ac.in

P. Saxena e-mail: prerna.saxena@iiitdm.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_62

large. The length of antenna is more in [6] with moderate coupling reduction between antennas. In [7, 8] EBGs (Electro Band Gap) are used, but the reduction in coupling is limited. In [9, 10], the number of decoupling elements used are very high which occupies more space. In [11], isolation between antennas is limited.

Nevertheless, these methods limit the space available for other components of the device and interrupt antenna pattern. Metamaterials have evolved as a new area of research in electromagnetics. Recent advances in modelling of electromagnetic metamaterials make this an appropriate approach for controlling the performance of the antenna. Several researches are reported for reduction of coupling using metamaterials. In [12], the isolation between antenna arrays at 2.4 GHz is very low. The coupling between antennas is high and accounts to -20 dB and -25 dB at lower frequency and higher frequency, respectively in [13]. The size of dual band antennas is large and distance between them is also more in [14, 15]. In [16] the single band antenna dimensions and spacing between array elemtes is high.

A novel dual band antenna is proposed in this paper, and the use of metamaterial structure reduces coupling. The paper continues as follows: Sect. 2 describes the dual band microstrip patch antenna design in array and its simulation results of $|S_{11}|$ and gain. Section 3 discusses the design of metamaterial unit cell with its simulation parameters. In Sect. 4 parametric analysis for placement of metamaterial unit cell in antenna array are carried out. In Sect. 5 results of array loaded with metamaterial are presented. Section 6 concludes this work.

2 Proposed Antenna Design

The proposed structure of dual band microstrip patch antenna is shown in Fig. 1. It is designed on FR-4 substrate with thickness 1.588 mm, dielectric constant and loss tangent of 4.4 and 0.02, respectively. It has ground plane and radiating patch made of copper on bottom side and top side of substrate, respectively. The dimensions of dual band antenna are as follows: $W_s = 35$ mm, $L_s = 35$ mm, $W_p = 14$ mm, $L_p = 4.5$ mm, $W_f = 15.6$ mm, $L_f = 3$ mm, g = 1 mm.

The dimensions of the proposed meander structure in the antenna are follows: $W_{sl} = 0.5 \text{ mm}$, $V_{sl1} = 12.5 \text{ mm}$, $V_{sl2} = 6 \text{ mm}$, $H_{sl1} = 1.5 \text{ mm}$, $H_{sl2} = 2 \text{ mm}$, $P_{ms} = 7.875 \text{ mm}$.

The dimensions of the proposed DGS are as follows: $W_{gs1} = 2 \text{ mm}$, $W_{gs2} = 5 \text{ mm}$, $L_{gs1} = 28 \text{ mm}$, $L_{gs2} = 4.5 \text{ mm}$, $L_{gs3} = 2 \text{ mm}$, $P_{gs1} = 9 \text{ mm}$, $P_{gs2} = 3.5 \text{ mm}$.

The *S*-parameters and gain of dual band antenna are shown in Figs. 2 and 3, respectively. It has resonance at 2.38 GHz and 5.82 GHz having $|S_{11}| - 34.88 \text{ dB}$ and -33.24 dB respectively, with bandwidth of 40 MHz and 150 MHz respectively. The gain of proposed antenna at 2.4 GHz is 2.44 dB and at 5.8 GHz is 2.54 dB.

The antenna array configuration is depicted in Fig. 4. The antennas are separated by distance of 35 mm from port to port and having distance of 7 mm between ground slots.



Fig. 1 Proposed dual band antenna



Fig. 2 Reflection coefficient versus frequency of dual band antenna



Fig. 3 Proposed antenna: a Gain at 2.4 GHz, and b Gain at 5.8 GHz



Fig. 5 Magnitude of *S*-parameters of antenna array

When antennas are placed in array, mutual coupling becomes inevitable. The coupling is mainly due to surface waves of antennas that propagate along substrate. To reduce the effect of these waves on antenna performance, decoupling units should be incorporated between them. These decoupling units acts as stop band at desired frequencies and blocks the surface waves motion and avoid performance degradation of other antennas in array. The array configuration's *S*-parameters are given in Fig. 5. It has resonance at 2.38 GHz and 5.82 GHz, having $|S_{21}| - 23.26$ dB and -28.71 dB at 2.4 GHz and 5.8 GHz respectively, with bandwidth of 30 MHz and 150 MHz respectively. The field distribution of array antenna is shown in Fig. 6.

Fig. 4 1×2 array configuration



Fig. 6 a E-field at 2.4 GHz, b E-field at 5.8 GHz, c H-field at 2.4 GHz, and d H-field at 5.8 GHz



Fig. 7 Proposed antenna array: a Gain at 2.4 GHz, and b Gain at 5.8 GHz

The dual band antenna array has gain of 0.67 dB at 2.4 GHz and 5.92 dB at 5.8 GHz as shown in Fig. 7.

It can be seen clearly that the majority of coupling between antennas in the array are due to *H*-field. For the purpose, μ negative metamaterial is proposed.

3 Proposed Metamaterial Unit Cell

A metamaterial having negative permeability operating at desired bands, i.e. 2.4 and 5.8 GHz is designed and its simulation setup is shown in Fig. 8.

This cell is designed on FR-4 substrate with relative permittivity 4.4 and loss tangent 0.02. The thickness of substrate is 1.588 mm with area $7.1 \times 7.1 \text{ mm}^2$.

Unit cell has boundary conditions as follows: it has PEC (Perfect Electric conductor) boundary along yz plane, PMC (Perfect Magnetic Conductor) boundary along xz plane. The top view of unit cell is shown in Fig.9. The metamaterial unit cell has the





700





dimensions as follows: $L_{o1} = 6.7 \text{ mm}, L_{o2} = 3.1 \text{ mm}, L_i = 5.2 \text{ mm}, L_{i3} = 2.2 \text{ mm}, L_{i4} = 1.85 \text{ mm}, S_1 = 0.2 \text{ mm}, S_2 = 0.25 \text{ mm}, W = 0.5 \text{ mm}, g = 0.5 \text{ mm}.$

The metamaterial parameters are retrieved using a standard extraction procedure [17]. The steps are summarised below:

1. S-parameters are defined from (1, 2).

$$S_{11} = \frac{\rho_1 (1 - e^{j2Nkd})}{1 - \rho_1^2 e^{j2Nkd}} \tag{1}$$

$$S_{21} = \frac{(1 - \rho_1^2) e^{jNkd}}{1 - \rho_1^2 e^{jNkd}}$$
(2)

where, k is wave number, d is thickness of the metamaterial unit cell, and N is refractive index.

2. Determine the material impedance, z, as follows

$$z = \pm \sqrt{\frac{(1+S_{11})^2 - S_{21}^2}{(1-S_{11})^2 - S_{21}^2}}$$
(3)

3. Determine the term e^{jkNd} by taking $\rho_1 = (z - 1/z + 1)$

$$x = e^{jkNd} = \frac{S_{21}}{1 - S_{11}(z - 1/z + 1)}$$
(4)

4. Determine the complex refractive index

$$N = [\operatorname{Im}(\ln(x)) + 2\pi m - j\operatorname{Re}(\ln(x))]/kd$$
(5)

5. Determine the material parameters, ϵ_r and μ_r

$$\epsilon_{\rm eff} = N/z, \quad \mu_{\rm eff} = N * z \tag{6}$$

The S-parameters and extracted permeability for the proposed metamaterial unit cell are shown in Figs. 10 and 11, respectively.





4 Parametric Analysis for Placement of Metamaterial Unit Cells

In this section, we analyse the placement of metamaterial unit cells in array antenna to reduce the mutual coupling.

4.1 Case-0

In Fig. 12, antenna array elements having coupling effect at edges due to H-field.

So, to reduce the coupling effect metamaterial cell has to be placed in the antenna array.

4.2 Case-1

In Fig. 13, it can be seen that the coupling between antennas at 5.8 GHz is reduced by placement of metamaterial unit cells at left edge because the field gets coupled to unit cell.

But there is effect of coupling between antennas elements at right edge.



Fig. 12 a Array antenna, b *H*-field at 2.4 GHz, and c *H*-field at 5.8 GHz



Fig. 13 a Array antenna loaded with one unit cell, b H-field at 2.4 GHz, and c H-field at 5.8 GHz

4.3 Case-2

In Fig. 14, it can be seen that the coupling between antennas at 2.4 GHz is reduced by placement of metamaterial unit cells at right edge because the field gets coupled to unit cell. But there is effect of coupling between antennas elements at middle.



Fig. 14 a Array antenna loaded with two unit cell, b H-field at 2.4 GHz, and c H-field at 5.8 GHz

4.4 Case-3

In Fig. 15, it can be seen that the coupling between antennas at 2.4 GHz is reduced by placement of metamaterial unit cells at middle because the field gets coupled to unit cell.

To further decrease the effect of coupling, more number of metamaterial unit cells has to be incorporated in the array.



Fig. 15 a Array antenna loaded with two unit cell, b H-field at 2.4 GHz, and c H-field at 5.8 GHz



Fig. 16 a Array antenna loaded with three unit cell, b H-field at 2.4 GHz, and c H-field at 5.8 GHz



Fig. 17 a Array antenna loaded with three unit cell, b H-field at 2.4 GHz, and c H-field at 5.8 GHz



Fig. 18 Comparison of S-parameters for various cases

4.5 Case-4

In Fig. 16, it can be seen that the coupling between antennas at 2.4 GHz is increased by placement of metamaterial unit cells at left edge.

To decrease the effect of coupling metamaterial unit cells has to be placed at a definite position.

4.6 Case-5

In Fig. 17, it can be seen that the coupling between antennas at 2.4 and 5.8 GHz is decreased by optimum placement of metamaterial unit cells.

By parametrically placing of metamaterial cells in antenna array coupling at 2.4 and 5.8 GHz is reduced.

Figure 18 gives us information about *s*-parameters of different cases. From Fig. 18, Case-5 has better isolation values.

Fig. 19 Dual band array loaded with proposed metamaterial having $P_{mtmx} = 3.15$ mm, $P_{mtmy} = 12.45$ mm





Fig. 20 *S*-parameters of dual band array loaded with proposed metamaterial

5 Results and Discussion

The proposed dual band antenna is placed in array and designed metamaterial unit cells are placed between array elements is shown in Fig. 19.



Fig. 21 a *E*-field at 2.4 GHz, b *E*-field at 5.8 GHz, c *H*-field at 2.4 GHz, and d *H*-field at 5.8 GHz

Antenna array is loaded with μ negative metamaterial unit cells in middle. Figure 20 represents S-parameters.

The value of $|S_{21}|$ at 2.4 GHz is -42.29 dB and 5.8 GHz is -35.86 dB.

Therefore, by placing metamaterial unit cells between array elements, the coupling between antennas is decreased by -19 dB at 2.4 GHz and -7 dB at 5.8 GHz. This can been seen from field distribution in Fig. 21.

The proposed metamaterial loaded dual band array antenna exhibits a gain of 2.39 dB at 2.4 GHz and 6 dB at 5.8 GHz, as depicted in Fig. 22.

The proposed antenna array loaded with metamaterial is compared with different state-of-the-art approaches and represented in Table 1. It can be observed that the designed μ negative metamaterial unit cell in array antennas has better isolation enhancement with minimum distance between antenna elements.



Fig. 22 Gain at a 2.4 GHz, and b 5.8 GHz

Table 1 Performance summary and comparison with the state-of-the-art designs

References	Resonant frequency (GHz)	Array size (mm ²)	Edge to edge distance (λ)	Isolation (dB)
[12]	2.4	56 × 117	0.128	-18
				-15
[13]	2.4 and 5.8	52×60	0.112 (λ _{2.4})	<-20
[14]	2.4 and 5.8	52×60	0.112 (λ _{2.4})	-38 and -30
[15]	2.4 and 5.4	N.A	N.A	-35 and -42
[16]	5.3	40×72	0.38	-45
This work	2.4 and 5.8	35×70	0.056 (λ _{2.4})	-42 and -36

6 Conclusion

In this paper, a novel dual band antenna array operating at 2.4 and 5.8 GHz was designed. A novel metamaterial with negative permeability was proposed to minimise the effect of mutual coupling at 2.4 and 5.8 GHz. The proposed design reduces coupling by $-19 \,\text{dB}$ and $-7 \,\text{dB}$ at lower frequency and higher frequency, respectively. The *S*-parameters and gain of the antenna array without metamaterial and with metamaterial has been described. The proposed metamaterial loaded dual band antenna array is of compact size and has good isolation as compared to the state-of-the-art and can be used in applications where compactness is required.

References

- J. Ghosh, S. Ghosal, D. Mitra, S.R. Bhadra Chaudhuri, Mutual coupling reduction between closely placed microstrip patch antenna using meander line resonator. Prog. Electromagn. Res. Lett. 59, 115–122 (2016)
- S. Hwangbo, H.Y. Yang, Y. Yoon, Mutual coupling reduction using micromachined complementary meander-line slots for a patch array antenna. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 16, 1667–1670 (2017)
- 3. H. Thasneem, M. Joy, Mutual coupling reduction on MIMO antenna, in 2016 International Conference on Emerging Technological Trends (ICETT) (Kollam, India, 2016), pp. 1–6
- 4. A.M. Ismaiel, A.B. Abdel-Rahman, A meander shaped defected ground structure (DGS) for reduction of mutual coupling between microstrip antennas, in 2014 31st National Radio Science Conference (NRSC) (Cairo, Egypt, 2014), pp. 21–26
- J. Acharjee, K. Mandal, S.K. Mandal, P.P. Sarkar, Mutual coupling reduction between microstrip patch antennas by using a string of *H*-shaped DGS, in 2016 International Conference on Microelectronics, Computing and Communications (MicroCom) (Durgapur, India, 2016), pp. 1–3
- T. Jiao, T. Jiang, Y. Li, A low mutual coupling antenna array using alternating-direction Sshaped defected ground structures, in 2016 IEEE 5th Asia-Pacific Conference on Antennas and Propagation (APCAP) (Kaohsiung, Taiwan, 2016), pp. 431–432
- M.B. Kadu, N. Rayavarapu, R.P. Labade, Design of EBG structure for mutual coupling reduction in patch antenna array, in 2018 International Conference On Advances in Communication and Computing Technology (ICACCT) (Sangamner, India, 2018), pp. 492–494
- P.P. Bhavarthe, S.S. Rathod, K.T.V. Reddy, Mutual coupling reduction in patch antenna using electromagnetic band gap (EBG) structure for IoT application, in 2018 International Conference on Communication information and Computing Technology (ICCICT) (Mumbai, India, 2018), pp. 1–4
- A. Ghaloua, J. Zbitou, M. Latrach, L. El Abdellaoui, A. Errkik, R. Mandry, Mutual coupling reduction and miniaturization arrays antennas using new structure of EBG, in 2017 International Conference on Wireless Technologies, Embedded and Intelligent Systems (WITS) (Fez, Morocco, 2017), pp. 1–5
- A. Ghaloua, J. Zbitou, M. Latrach, L. El Abdellaoui, A. Tajmouati, M.C. Abounaima, Miniaturization and reduction of mutual coupling for four arrays antennas using new structure of EBG, in 2017 International Conference on Wireless Technologies, Embedded and Intelligent Systems (WITS) (Fez, Morocco, 2017), pp. 1–5
- 11. M.I. Ahmed, E.A. Abdallah, H.M. Elhennawy, Mutual coupling reduction in UWB slotted antenna array using UCEBG structures for wireless applications, in 2016 Fourth International

Japan-Egypt Conference on Electronics, Communications and Computers (JEC-ECC) (Cairo, Egypt, 2016), pp. 67–70

- P.K. Goran, E. Setijadi, G. Hendrantoro, Comparing reduction method of mutual coupling between ring metamaterial and square on micro-strip array antenna, in 2018 International Conference on Computer Engineering, Network and Intelligent Multimedia (CENIM) (Surabaya, Indonesia, 2018), pp. 335–339
- S. Luo, Y. Li, W. Shi, A dual-frequency antenna array with mutual coupling reduction via metamaterial structures, in 2018 IEEE International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation and USNC/URSI National Radio Science Meeting (Boston, MA, USA, 2018), pp. 1385–1386
- S. Luo, Y. Li, Y. Xia, G. Yang, L. Sun, L. Zhao, Mutual coupling reduction of a dual-band antenna array using dual-frequency metamaterial structure. Appl. Comput. Electromagn. Soc. J. 34(3) (2019)
- S. Luo, Y. Li, Dual-band antenna array with mutual coupling reduction using 3D metamaterial structures, in 2018 International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation (ISAP) (Busan, South Korea, 2018), pp. 1–2
- K. Yu, X. Liu, Y. Li, Mutual coupling reduction of microstrip patch antenna array using modified split ring resonator metamaterial structures, in 2017 IEEE International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation and USNC/URSI National Radio Science Meeting (San Diego, CA, USA, 2017), pp. 2287–2288
- P. Prasanna Kumar, P. Saxena, Design and analysis of 20–60 GHz broadband left-handed metamaterial, in 2020 National Conference on Communications (NCC) (Kharagpur, India, 2020), pp. 1–5

Audio Watermarking Scheme for Ownership Verification Using ANN Based Optimal Quantization Strategy



Hanan S. Alshanbari

1 Introduction

Today, digital audio signals have become a very popular form of human communication medium. With few clicks, one can send audio message to a friend, who is far away. Simplicity and compact size of audio signals has increased its popularity for human communication. Audio signal can be classified on the basis of channel used [1]; for example: mono, stereo, etc. Also, they can be classified on the basis of formats [2, 3]; for example: way, mp3, ogg, etc. Audio signals are recorded as the variation of air pressure through a microphone, which further converted it into a digital signal via sampling and quantization process [4]. It is quite obvious that higher value of sampling and quantization leads to a better audio quality.

The security of this audio signal from an unauthorized access/use can be ensured via encryption/watermarking. The main difference between these two techniques is that encryption keeps the signal secure by making it imperceptible [5], whereas in watermarking, signal remains perceptible but secured [6, 7]. In watermarking, secret information is stored into the original audio signal, which can be verified later for ownership check as well as host authentication [7]. There are many categorizations of audio watermarking [7, 8], like: blind/non-blind, robust/fragile/semi fragile, spatial/transform domain, etc. Blind watermarking means only watermarked signal is required with secret key for watermark extraction/authentication process. On the other hand, non-blind watermarking required several other data (original host/original watermark) for successful extraction. Blind approach is always preferable because of its independence working without external data.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_63

H. S. Alshanbari (🖂)

College of Computer Science and Information System, Umm Al-Qura University, Mecca, Saudi Arabia

e-mail: Hsshanbari@uqu.edu.sa

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

Robust watermarking provides the robust nature to the watermark, whereas fragile watermarking provides fragile nature [7, 8]. Robust watermarking is used for ownership verification, and fragile is used for content authentication. Usually, transformed domain approached is more preferred for robust watermarking due to its ability to locate high-energy component for watermark insertion. On the other hand, fragile uses time domain (like LSB substitution) and provide tamper detection with low time complexity.

Transform domain approach is well suited for ownership verification as inserted watermark does not get destroyed even in case of intentional/unintentional attack: like cropping, compression, etc. [9, 10]. One of the main challenges with robust watermarking is to get an optimal trade-off between imperceptibility and robustness of the scheme [10]. The iterative approach and soft computing approach always increases the time complexity of watermarking scheme many folds [11, 12].

The proposed work is trying to obtain this trade-off in a faster way by incorporating the ANN for relationship learning. ANN is known for its pattern recognition ability, and same is used in this work to learn audio signal's unique and respective quantization factor. Once learning is done, the ANN is used to predict the value for new audio signals.

2 Literature Review

There are various types of audio watermarking scheme that have been proposed by various researchers and have different objectives, such as content authentication [13], tamper detection [14], tamper recovery [15], and ownership verification [16–18]. As the proposed work is for the ownership verification, this literature review provides a comprehensive insight of robust audio watermarking techniques.

Bhat et al. [10] proposed an adaptive quantization strategy for audio watermarking using the L2 norm of DWT-SVD (discrete wavelet transformed—singular value decomposition) signal's singular values. The method worked well, but the issue was that it was not able to give optimal values of quantization factor in order to obtained best trade-off between imperceptibility and robustness. The method proposed by Lei et al. [11] incorporated the optimization strategy (differential evolution) in SVD domain for optimal embedding, and obtained result was also good. The main limitation of their work was its high time complexity as evolutionary algorithms are prone to take more time in watermarking optimization due to its iterative nature.

Su et al. [12] proposed another robust audio watermarking scheme with scaling factor optimization. This method used heuristics approach for guaranteed SNR value. The results were good, but time complexity was again high due to involvement of heuristics approach. Xiang et al. [16] proposed a spread spectrum and discrete cosine transform (DCT)-based audio watermarking approach. The PN sequences were used as a watermark, and same was hidden into the audio signal after its segmentation using DCT transform in order to locate energy dense regions of audio signal. The correlation coefficients were used to check the hidden watermarks after different

attacks. The performance was good, but the output (bits per second) was low (84 bps).

Hwang et al. [17] proposed a quantization index modulation (QIM)-based adaptive watermarking strategy for stereo audio signals. This scheme used the ratio of singular values for the QIM based embedding, which was a new methodology for embedding. This obtained result and watermarked audio output were quite good. The use of adaptive quantization improved the performance even further. The main limitation was use of same adaptive formula for every audio signal, which restricts the optimization of quantization index. Bhat et al. [18] proposed another watermarking scheme for copyright protection of audio signals. This scheme [18] used the Euclidean norm of SVD transformed signal's singular values for watermark insertion. Insertion was done by quantizing the norms. After norms quantization, scheme re-calculates singular values and replaced the same in original audio signal. The invariant nature of singular values helped in getting very good result against different attacks. The manual calculation of quantization factor was main drawback, which limits the performance of scheme.

The proposed work carries forwards the concept proposed by Ref. [18]. In addition, it proposes a way to check the performance of audio watermarking scheme in terms of both imperceptibility and robustness simultaneously by incorporating the objective function variation with respect to quantization factor. Also, to obtain an optimal performance in a speedy manner, a trained ANN (with 100 audio samples) has been used for quantization factor prediction.

3 Proposed Audio Watermarking Scheme

The work carried out in this study can be divided into three main sections: watermark embedding, watermark extraction, and finding of the optimal quantization factor. The same is explained in Sects. 3.1, 3.2, and 3.3.

3.1 Watermark Embedding

Following steps are followed during the watermark embedding:

- 1. Read the 1D audio signal (mono) and resize it to 230,400 samples.
- 2. Segment the audio signal into the size of 225 samples of each.
- 3. Convert each segment into 2D matrix (M) of 15×15 .
- 4. Calculate the SVD of each 2D matrix such as Eq. (1)

$$M = U \times S \times V^T \tag{1}$$

5. Calculate the norm of each singular matrix (*S*) using Eq. (2), which have "*n*" singular values (SV)

norm =
$$\sqrt{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathrm{SV})_{i}^{2}\right)}$$
 (2)

6. Calculate a decision factor (DF) for each matrix using Eq. (3) and set a value of μ (quantization factor). Here, the bracket represents floor value.

$$DF = \left\lfloor \frac{\text{norm}}{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} \right\rfloor \tag{3}$$

- 7. Read the binary image watermark (32×32) and convert it into 1D watermark (W), so that 1 bit can be inserted into each segment
- 8. Follow the following decision conditions (if else: a, b, c) to find out the new norms (norm_{new}) for each matrix segment
 - a. **if** (mod(DF, 2) "is equal to" W(segment))

$$\operatorname{norm}_{\operatorname{new}} = \operatorname{DF} \times \mu \tag{4}$$

else if (mod(DF, 2) "is not equal to" W(segment)) && (DF "is equal to" floor(norm/μ))

$$norm_{new} = (DF + 1) \times \mu \tag{5}$$

else if (mod(DF, 2) "is not equal to" W(segment)) && (DF "is not equal to" floor(norm/μ))

$$norm_{new} = (DF - 1) \times \mu \tag{6}$$

9. Calculate new singular values (SV_{new}) using Eq. (7)

$$SV_{new} = \frac{norm_{new}}{norm} \times SV$$
 (7)

- 10. Use SV_{new} with original U and V matrix to obtain watermarked 2D segments.
- 11. Convert 2D watermarked segments into 1D segments and add them to get watermarked audio signal.

3.2 Watermark Extraction

The watermarked audio signal may have gone through attacks and that is why watermarked audio and attacked watermarked audio (available for extraction) might be different from each other. Following steps are followed during the watermark extraction process:

- 1. Read the attacked watermarked audio signal and convert each 225 samples into 2D matrix (as done in Sect. 3.1 with original audio signal)
- 2. Calculate "norm" of each matrix segment using Eq. (2).
- 3. Use Eq. (8) to extract the binary watermark (W_{ext}) bit from each matrix segment.

$$W_{\text{ext}}(\text{segment}) = \text{mod}\left(\left\lfloor\frac{\text{norm}}{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}, \rfloor 2\right)$$
 (8)

4. Convert the extracted 1D watermark bits into 2D in order to obtain extracted watermark image.

3.3 Finding of the Optimal Quantization Factor Using ANN

On the basis of experimental analysis and on the basis of past research works [11, 12], it can be inferred that higher quantization factor leads to low imperceptibility and high robustness. On the other hand, lower quantization factor leads to high imperceptibility and low robustness. As both the parameters, imperceptibility, and robustness are inversely related to each other, there is a need to find the optimal value of quantization factor for each audio signal.

A single optimal value cannot be used for different audio signal as used in Ref. [18]. The reason of the same is that every audio signal contains different type of components in it. Singular values are quite robust in nature, and therefore, they are likely to have a strong connection with audio signals.

With reference to above discussion, an ANN has been prepared that tries to map the relation between singular values and quantization factor. A total of 100 audio signals are used to generate the singular values, and iterative method is used to generate the best quantization factor for each audio signal. In iterative method, one needs to check performance of scheme over range on different quantization factors. A range of 0.1-1 is used for testing on the basis of previous literature [18]. An objective function (Eq. 9) is created to evaluate the performance.

Objective function = imperceptibility +
$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\text{robustenss})_{i}}{\text{number of attacks } (n)}$$
 (9)

Here, imperceptibility is defined as correlation between watermarked and original host audio. Robustness is defined as correlation between original watermark and extracted watermark. If "n" numbers of attacks are considered, then average robustness is calculated as sum of all robustness divided by number of attacks (as shown in Eq. 9). The mathematical formula of correlation is shown in Eq. (10).

$$Correlation(X, Y) = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{\text{length}} (X_i - \overline{X}) (Y_i - \overline{Y})}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{\text{length}} (X_i - \overline{X})^2 \sum_{i=1}^{\text{length}} (X_i - \overline{X})^2}}$$
(10)

A correlation value of one signifies that the signals are exactly similar to each other, whereas value of zero signifies they are not at all same.

In addition, bit error rate (BER) is also used to check the performance of scheme in the presence of attacks. The BER is defined by Eq. (11)

$$BER = \frac{\text{no of incorrect bits}}{\text{total bits}} \times 100$$
(11)

4 Results and Discussion

The simulation was done on MATLAB with a computer having a Core-i5 processor and 32 GB of RAM. All the audio signals used in this study were sampled at 44.1 kHz, 16-bit depth, and .wav files. The audio signals have been taken from Refs. [19, 20]. The host was resized to 230,400 samples before the watermark insertion process. The watermark of size 32×32 was used during the embedding. The watermark used for embedding was of binary nature, taken from Ref. [21]. A total of 225 samples of host have been taken in one segment and used for the insertion of 1 bit of watermark. The watermark along with an audio host is shown in Fig. 1.

Six attacks were considered in this work on the watermarked audio signal. The same is describing in Table 1.

Tables 2, 3, and 4 show the imperceptibility, robustness (average), and objective



Fig. 1 a Sample audio signal and b watermark

Table 1 Attacks names and descriptions Image: Contract of the second s	Attack name	Attack description
descriptions	A-1	Resample to 22.05 kHz and again to 44.1 kHz
	A-2	Butterworth filter with cut off frequency (fc) = 11.025
	A-3	Additive white Gaussian noise (AWGN) addition 10 dB
	A-4	8 bit quantization of audio signal
	A-5	OGG based 75% audio compression
	A-6	OGG based 50% audio compression

Table 2 Variation of imperceptibility (I), average robustness (R), and objective function (O) with respect to quantization factor (Q) of audio sample-1

Ι	0.995	0.983	0.969	0.928	0.868	0.815	0.766	0.736	0.705	0.645
R	0.853	0.996	0.989	0.945	1	1	1	1	1	1
0	1.849	1.979	1.958	1.873	1.868	1.815	1.766	1.736	1.705	1.645
Q	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.9	1.0

Table 3 Variation of imperceptibility (I), average robustness (R), and objective function (O) with respect to quantization factor (Q) of audio sample-2

Ι	0.999	0.997	0.993	0.988	0.981	0.976	0.966	0.957	0.945	0.933
R	0.679	0.853	0.945	0.991	0.992	0.977	0.969	0.957	0.947	0.936
0	1.679	1.850	1.939	1.980	1.974	1.953	1.935	1.915	1.892	1.870
Q	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.9	1.0

Table 4 Variation of imperceptibility (I), average robustness (R), and objective function (O) with respect to quantization factor (Q) of audio sample-3

Ι	0.999	0.997	0.993	0.986	0.978	0.968	0.959	0.949	0.938	0.927
R	0.633	0.826	0.889	0.922	0.937	0.926	0.916	0.908	0.905	0.950
0	1.632	1.823	1.882	1.908	1.915	1.895	1.875	1.858	1.844	1.877
Q	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.9	1.0

function variation of three different audio signals with respect to different quantization factors. It can be clearly seen from Tables 2, 3, and 4 that the maximum objective function values are achieved on different quantization factor value for different audio signals. This concludes that the use of same quantization factor for every audio signal's watermarking is not a wise choice because it will result into either poor imperceptibility or robustness. So there is a need to find optimal quantization factor, which can maximize both; imperceptibility as well as robustness. The iterative method can give the value of optimal quantization factor but takes a good amount of time to find the same. So an ANN approach has been develop, which can find the optimal value in quite lesser time.

4.1 ANN Approach to Obtain the Optimal Quantization Factor

Randomly, 140 samples are selected from the dataset [19, 20] and further divided into 100 training and 40 testing samples. A training dataset has been prepared with the help of 100 training samples in following manner (one after another):

- 1. Audio signal is fed to the embedding function (as explained in Sect. 3.1), and watermarked signal is obtained
- 2. Imperceptibility is calculated (as explained in Sect. 3.3)
- 3. Watermarked audio signals are attacked (simultaneously), and six attacked audio signals are generated
- 4. Six watermarks are extracted from six attacked sample (as explained in Sect. 3.2)
- 5. Average robustness is calculated (as explained in Sect. 3.3)
- 6. Objective function is calculated (as explained in Sect. 3.3)
- 7. Step 1–6 are repeated for quantization factor value of 0.1–1 with an increment of 0.1
- 8. Best scaling factor (single value) that gives maximum value of objective function and audio signal's norms (1024 values, as explained in Sect. 3.1) are stored as training dataset.

At the end of above-mentioned iterative procedure, input matrix of 100×1024 and output matrix of 100×1 is obtained, which is used to train the ANN shown in Fig. 2.

After the training, 40 new audio signals are also prepared via iterative method. The norms of these 40 audio signals are also fed to the trained ANN for prediction. Both outputs (predicted by ANN and obtained by iterative method) are compared for difference. The mean difference for 40 predictions turn out to be only 0.0583, which is a quite low value. It signifies that ANN can predict the optimal quantization factor with quite a good accuracy.



Fig. 2 Designed ANN architecture

Table 5Run timecomparison of proposed ANNmethod with iterative method	Run time (iterative method) in seconds	Run time (ANN method) in seconds
	20.601	0.327

The importance of ANN use over iterative method can also be understood by the reduction in the run time (on same computer) to generate optimal value for one audio signal. The same is shown in Table 5. Clearly, ANN is around 60 times faster than iterative method.

The feature comparison between Bhat et al. [18] and proposed work is given in Table 6 to justify the importance of proposed work.

Table 7 shows the results obtained after the ANN based optimization for two test

Features	Bhat et al. [18]	Proposed				
Embedding method	Mean quantization of singular value norms	Optimal mean quantization of singular value norms				
Selection of quantization factor (μ)	Manual	Automatic (by ANN)				
Data payload (bps)	196	196				
Inclusion of imperceptibility and robustness variation with μ	No	Yes				

 Table 6
 Feature comparison with Bhat et al. [18]

 Table 7 Extracted watermark from attacked audio signal after ANN based optimization

Attack	AS-1 (imperceptibility = 0.9895)	AS-2 (imperceptibility = 0.9819)
	Extracted watermark	Extracted watermark
	Robustness (Correlation, BER)	Robustness (Correlation, BER)
A-1		(0.9886, 0.3906)
A-2		(0.9971, 0.0977)
A-3	(0.922, 2.6367)	(0.9943, 0.1953)
A-4		(1, 0)
A-5		
A-6	(0.9971, 0.0977)	

audio signals (AS-1, AS-2). The watermark is able to sustain even A-3 attack, which is quite strong in nature.

5 Conclusion

An optimal mean quantization audio watermarking scheme was developed in this work that used ANN for the optimal quantization factor calculation. The scheme used norm of singular values for watermark insertion due to its robust nature toward attacks. ANN based quantization factor predictor has been designed to get an optimal trade-off between imperceptibility and robustness. This insured faster (around 60 times) result and provided best possible trade-off between imperceptibility and robustness for tested audio hosts. In future, more attacks will be incorporated to make the scheme even more effective. The attacks intensity can be made strong to check the limitations of scheme. Further, optimal segmentation length will be investigated to increase the payload without increasing the sampling frequency of audio signals. ANN based quality assured audio watermarking will also be investigated in future.

References

- A. Griffin, T. Hirvonen, C. Tzagkarakis, A. Mouchtaris, P. Tsakalides, Single-channel and multi-channel sinusoidal audio coding using compressed sensing. IEEE Trans. Audio Speech Lang. Process. 19(5), 1382–1395 (2010)
- J. Francombe, T. Brookes, R. Mason, R., Flindt, P. Coleman, Q. Liu, P. Jackson, Production and reproduction of program material for a variety of spatial audio formats, in *Audio Engineering Society Convention*, vol. 138 (Audio Engineering Society, 2015)
- D. Blech, M.C. Yang, DVD-audio versus SACD: perceptual discrimination of digital audio coding formats, in *Audio Engineering Society Convention*, vol. 116 (Audio Engineering Society, 2004)
- 4. H. Johansson, Sampling and quantization, in *Academic Press Library in Signal Processing*, vol. 1 (Elsevier, 2014), pp. 169–244
- W. Al-Nuaimy, M.A. El-Bendary, A. Shafik, F. Shawki, A.E. Abou-El-azm, N.A. El-Fishawy, S.M. Elhalafawy, S.M. Diabb, B.M. Sallam, F.E. Abd El-Samie, H.B. Kazemian, An SVD audio watermarking approach using chaotic encrypted images. Digit. Sig. Process. 21(6), 764–779 (2011)
- M.D. Swanson, B. Zhu, A.H. Tewfik, L. Boney, Robust audio watermarking using perceptual masking. Sig. Process. 66(3), 337–355 (1998)
- G. Hua, J. Huang, Y.Q. Shi, J. Goh, V.L. Thing, Twenty years of digital audio watermarking—a comprehensive review. Sig. Process. 128, 222–242 (2016)
- 8. R. Jain, M.C. Trivedi, S. Tiwari, Digital audio watermarking: a survey, in *Advances in Computer* and *Computational Sciences* (Springer, Singapore, 2018), pp. 433–443
- M. Fan, H. Wang, Chaos-based discrete fractional Sine transform domain audio watermarking scheme. Comput. Electr. Eng. 35(3), 506–516 (2009)
- V. Bhat, I. Sengupta, A. Das, An adaptive audio watermarking based on the singular value decomposition in the wavelet domain. Digit. Sig. Process. 20(6), 1547–1558 (2010)

- B. Lei, Y. Soon, E.L. Tan, Robust SVD-based audio watermarking scheme with differential evolution optimization. IEEE Trans. Audio Speech Lang. Process. 21(11), 2368–2378 (2013)
- Z. Su, G. Zhang, F. Yue, L. Chang, J. Jiang, X. Yao, SNR-constrained heuristics for optimizing the scaling parameter of robust audio watermarking. IEEE Trans. Multimedia 20(10), 2631– 2644 (2018)
- N. Chen, J. Zhu, A multipurpose audio watermarking scheme for copyright protection and content authentication, in 2008 IEEE International Conference on Multimedia and Expo (IEEE, 2008), pp. 221–224
- A. Ghobadi, A. Boroujerdizadeh, A.H. Yaribakht, R. Karimi, Blind audio watermarking for tamper detection based on LSB, in 2013 15th International Conference on Advanced Communications Technology (ICACT) (IEEE, 2013), pp. 1077–1082
- Z. Liu, F. Zhang, J. Wang, H. Wang, J. Huang, Authentication and recovery algorithm for speech signal based on digital watermarking. Signal Process. 123, 157–166 (2016)
- Y. Xiang, I. Natgunanathan, D. Peng, G. Hua, B. Liu, Spread spectrum audio watermarking using multiple orthogonal PN sequences and variable embedding strengths and polarities. IEEE/ACM Trans. Audio Speech Lang. Process. 26(3), 529–539 (2017)
- M.J. Hwang, J. Lee, M. Lee, H.G. Kang, SVD-based adaptive QIM watermarking on stereo audio signals. IEEE Trans. Multimedia 20(1), 45–54 (2017)
- K.V. Bhat, A.K. Das, J.H. Lee, A mean quantization watermarking scheme for audio signals using singular-value decomposition. IEEE Access 7, 157480–157488 (2019)
- D. Stowell, M.D. Plumbley, An open dataset for research on audio field recording archives: freefield1010. arXiv preprint arXiv:1309.5275 (2013)
- 20. https://c4dm.eecs.qmul.ac.uk/rdr/handle/123456789/35
- 21. http://www.imageprocessingplace.com/root_files_V3/image_databases.htm

Design, Optimization, and Critical Analysis of Hybrid Frequency Selective Surface in the Range of 1–18 GHz



725

Sunil Jorwal, Varun Chaudhary, Ravi Yadav, and Ravi Panwar

1 Introduction

Frequency selective surfaces (FSSs) are found important in a vast number of applications due to their filtering characteristics [1]. FSS is generally a two-dimensional periodic resonator patch and a metal plane separated by a dielectric substrate. Some basic periodic resonators used are rectangular, square, circular, polygon shaped structures because of their capability to generate a magnetic response in the microwave frequency range [2–4]. Recently, to meet the demand of multiband, the possibility of proposing the fractal FSSs attracted a lot of attention.

The polarization state is one of the strongest and essential characteristics of electromagnetic (EM) waves [5]. The polarization state of wave propagation can be controlled in various telecommunication applications such as remote sensing and fiber-optic communication [6]. Currently, Faraday rotation, Brewster angle effect, and birefringent crystals such classic approaches are widely applied in polarization control [7]. Unfortunately, in some cases, the methods of controlling polarization are suffered from heavy and bulky structures. To mitigate such problems, several designs have been proposed in recent decades.

The term fractal involves similar patterns reoccurring progressively at smaller scales, and the term fractal was first coined by Mandelbrot [8]. The fractals have the unique characteristics of self-similarity, and space-filling in their geometrical structures that result in multiband resonating frequencies [5]. The fractal shapes can be developed using the iterative transformational methodology, which includes scaling, copying, and translation of the geometry. Researchers have proposed a few widely reported geometries, i.e., Sierpinski gasket, Sierpinski triangle, and Minkowski fractal loop, etc., for various EM applications [9].

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_64

S. Jorwal \cdot V. Chaudhary $(\boxtimes) \cdot R.$ Yadav \cdot R. Panwar

Indian Institute of Information Technology, Design and Manufacturing Jabalpur, Jabalpur, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

Khosronejad et al. proposed transpolarizing structures of two linearly polarized converters which are having the cascaded connection of the unit cells. The polarization converters were rotated by 90° polarization from the normal direction of polarization. Jhiang et al. have proposed multiband absorber based on fractal circular structure exhibits three resonating peaks at 2.1, 4.3, and 11.8 GHz with absorptivity of 98, 99, and 99.5%. The Sierpinski nanocarpet operated in a wide wavelength range from 400 to 700 nm and polarization-insensitive in the range of incident angles (0–90°) [10]. The broadband perfect polarization convertor of the asymmetric double split-ring resonator has a polarization conversion ratio of 99% with the fractional bandwidth of 35% [11]. Amiri et al. have proposed fractal metamaterial absorber of $20 \times 20 \times 1.7$ mm³ exhibited absorption ratio over 90% at 2, 5, and 12.5 GHz with the bandwidth of 0.85 GHz, 1.0 GHz, and 0.9 GHz, respectively.

In this paper, the Minkowski (MSK) loop fractal which is having simple iterative methodology has been modified to create a wideband polarization convertor. The proposed FSS achieves multiband resonant frequency and broadband polarization. Furthermore, a detailed analysis of polarization conversion of the structure has been demonstrated, and calculation of the polarization conversion ratio (PCR) with co-and cross-polarization reflections has also been done. To understand the physical mechanism behind the broadband conversion efficiency, the surface current distributions are illustrated at all three resonant frequencies. The constitutive electromagnetic properties of the structure are retrieved to understand the metamaterial behavior of the proposed FSS.

2 Design and Analysis of the Structure

The Minkowski loop fractal inspired hybrid FSS geometry has been obtained after a self-similar structure repetitive growing procedure, which is shown in Fig. 1. The front view of the proposed unit cell is illustrated in Fig. 1a, in which a new kind of hybrid fractal FSS geometry with Jerusalem cross and H-shape geometry has impinged over a 2.0-mm thick FR-4 substrate (relative dielectric constant $\varepsilon_r = 4.4$ and loss tangent of 0.02). The proposed FSS is backed with a perfect electric conductor (PEC). The PEC and substrate are separated by an air gap ($\varepsilon_r = 1$) of 2.0 mm as shown in Fig. 1b. FSS is made up of copper strips having the conductivity of 5.8 × 10^7 S/m, and a thickness of 0.035 mm. The structure is designed using a simulation software named as computer simulation technology (CST), microwave studio. The incident wave propagates in the *z*-direction and the periodic boundary conditions are used along the x and y-axis. The parametric optimization of the proposed geometry has been performed using CST microwave studio. The periodicity (a) of the proposed unit cell is 13 mm and other optimal geometrical design variables are illustrated in Table 1.

Figure 2 shows the reflection coefficient spectra versus frequency under the normal incidence in the frequency range of 1–18 GHz. The reflection spectra clearly show three peaks at discrete bands, located at 3.9 GHz (S-band), 9.9 GHz (X-band),



Fig. 1 a Front view of proposed FSS unit cell and b side view of the polarization converter structure

Table 1 Optimized geometrical design variables	Parameter	Value (mm)	Parameter	Value (mm)
of the proposed FSS	S	0.5	d1	3
configuration	a	13	d2	1.5
	b	10	e	1
	с	4	g	2
	d	2	h	2





and 13.3 GHz (Ku-band), having reflection coefficient of -28.4, -24.1, and -22.4 dB with -10 dB bandwidth of 0.6 GHz, 1.1 GHz, and 1.8 GHz, respectively. To verify conversion properties, full-wave simulation is carried out with CST microwave Studio. The cross-polarization and co-polarization are defined as $R_{xy} = |E_{xr}/E_{yi}|$

Fig. 3 Simulated **a** co-and cross-polarization reflection and **b** Polarization conversion ratio in the frequency range of 1–18 GHz



and $R_{yy} = |E_{yr}/E_{yi}|$ for y-polarized incidence wave [12]. Furthermore, the polarization conversion ratio (PCR) is defined as PCR = $|R_{xy}|^2 / (|R_{xy}|^2 + |R_{yy}|^2)$ [12]. Figure 3 shows the graphical representation of simulated reflection spectra and PCR versus frequency. As shown in Fig. 3a, the cross-polarization reflection (R_{xy}) nearby approaches to -2.0 dB at 3.9 GHz, 9.9 GHz and 13.3 GHz, while the co-polarization reflection (R_{yy}) is reduced to more than 20 dB, respectively. Therefore, the value of PCR is more than 99% at all three resonating frequencies, as depicted in Fig. 3b. The above result shows that a perfect polarization rotation of almost 90° is attained in the defined frequency range for both x and y-polarized incident electromagnetic waves.

According to the theory of impedance matching, the normalized wave impedance of a fractal FSS can be modified to match the free space impedance. The normalized wave impedance can be calculated as [13]:

$$Z(\omega) = \sqrt{\frac{(1 + S_{11}(\omega))^2 - S_{11}^2(\omega)}{(1 + S_{11}(\omega))^2 - S_{11}^2(\omega)}}$$
(1)





Figure 4 represents the normalized impedance of the optimized structure versus frequency demonstrating three resonance frequencies of 3.8, 10.4, and 16.1 GHz. To comprehend the physical nature of the structure, effective parameters are extracted. The electromagnetic structure parameters, i.e., effective dielectric permittivity (ε_{eff}) and effective magnetic permeability (μ_{eff}) in the range of 1–18 GHz are illustrated in Fig. 5a, b. The real part of effective permittivity at three resonance frequencies is very high which results in strong electric resonance as shown in Fig. 5a, and the real part of the effective permeability at resonance frequencies (3.9, 9.9, and 13.3 GHz) is 13.4, 12.1, and 6.7 which depict the strong magnetic resonance at all three reflection peaks. The electromagnetic properties have been extracted out with the help of full-wave simulation.

To better understand the physics of three resonant frequencies, the surface current distribution has been monitored. The surface current distribution at three resonant frequencies is shown in Fig. 6. As we can see, the high currents are concentrated on the outer ring of Minkowski (MSK) fractal and a small amount of current flows through the inner part of MSK fractal loop shown in Fig. 6a. The direction of current along the outer MSK loop on the top layer is opposite to that in the inside part of the MSK loop, which can be examined as the magnetic dipole resonances. Figure 6b, c have similar electric dipoles that are excited on the inner layer and highly concentrated at the outer layer. In Fig. 6c, the surface current indicating the focus on the outer part of MSK fractal loop as well as the high current is distributed on Jerusalem cross and H-shaped FSS as compare to lower resonance frequencies. From these figures, we examine that the lower polarization conversion band is mostly attributed to the fundamentals. Whereas the higher frequency band has been formed by the fundamental and multi resonances excited on inner and outer MSK fractal loop structure.

Table 2 provides a relative analysis of the proposed structure with other open literature approaches with no. of bands, thickness, and polarization conversion ratio. In comparison, it has been evident that the PCR of the proposed structure is defined as greater than 99% in the given reflection spectra. From Table 2, it is to be noted that



Fig. 6 Surface current distribution at a 3.9 GHz, b 9.9 GHz, and c 13.3 GHz

the proposed structure provides the maximum PCR with three different resonating bands, while comparing to other relevant reported work.

References	FSS shape	Thickness (mm)	Number of bands	PCR (%)
[14]	Strip-loaded half elliptical rings	1.5	1	98
[15]	Metal square rings	5.1	1	>88
[12]	Double arrow-shaped structure	2.1	1	>90
Proposed structure	Hybrid Minkowski fractal	2.0	3	>99

 Table 2
 Comparative analysis of proposed and other reported works

3 Conclusion

The hybrid fractal FSS is successfully designed and analyzed in the range of 1–18 GHz. The structure is composed of an asymmetric hybrid Minkowski unit cell coupled with Jerusalem cross and H-shaped geometry. The simulated result shows three resonance peaks at 3.9, 9.9, and 13.3 GHz, high-efficiency cross-polarization reflection, and very low-co-polarization reflection are achieved. A unique response with three resonating frequency is achieved below -10 dB in frequency bands at S, X, and Ku-bands. The electromagnetic properties have been extracted out with the help of full-wave simulations. Excellent broadband polarization conversion properties have been observed, and such polarization converter is of excellent applications in polarization-controlled devices.

References

- R. Panwar, Fractal frequency selective surface embedded thin broadband microwave absorber coatings using heterogeneous composites. IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 63, 2438–2448 (2015)
- 2. R. Mishra, Investigation of graphene fractal frequency selective surface loaded terahertz absorber. Opt. Quant. Electron. **52**, 1–13 (2020)
- V. Mishra, Critical analysis of periodic fractal frequency selective surfaces coupled with synthesized ferrite based dielectric substrates for optimal radar wave absorption. IET Sci. Meas. Technol. 13, 794–802 (2019)
- J. Hao, Manipulating electromagnetic wave polarizations by anisotropic metamaterials. Phys. Rev. Lett. 99, 063908 (2007)
- 5. G. Zhou, Designing perfect linear polarization converters using perfect electric and magnetic conducting surfaces. Sci. Rep. **6**(1), 38925 (2016)
- Y. Zhao, Manipulating light polarization with ultrathin plasmonic metasurfaces. Phys. Rev. Lett. 84(5), 205428 (2011)
- F. Costa, A frequency selective radome with wideband absorbing properties. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 60(6), 2740–2747 (2012)
- Q. Chen, A miniaturized absorptive frequency selective surface. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 14(4), 014201 (2015)

- 9. M. Amiri, Miniature tri-wideband sierpinski–minkowski fractals metamaterial perfect absorber. IET Microwaves Antennas Propag. **13**(6), 991–996 (2019)
- 10. A. Dorche, Broadband, polarization-insensitive and wide-angle optical absorber based on fractal plasmonic. IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett. **28**(4), 2545–2548 (2016)
- 11. C. Ya, Broadband perfect polarization conversion metasurfaces. Chin. Phys. B 24(5) (2015)
- 12. T. Hong, RCS reduction and gain enhancement for the circularly polarized array by polarization conversion metasurface coating. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. **18**(1), 167–171 (2019)
- 13. H. Jiang, Multiband polarization insensitive metamaterial absorber based on circular fractal structures. IET Microwaves Antennas Propag. **10**(5), 1141–1145 (2016)
- L. Peng, A novel half-wave polarization converter for cross polarization conversions of both linear and circular polarizations and polarization conversion ratio regulating by graphene. J. Lightwave Technol. 36(19), 4250–4258 (2018)
- S. Sun, Reconfigurable linear to linear polarization conversion metasurface based on PIN diode. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 17(9), 1722–1726 (2018)
Analysis of Transient Fault Detection Models



733

T. Shunbaga Pradeepa 🕞 and S. Uma Maheswari 🕒

1 Introduction

In today's fast-moving world, everyone expects everything to be working perfect. If any failure occurs, immediate alternative solution is the need or the failure should be intimated earlier to have precautions and safe everything. Mitra and McCluskey [1] analysed the concurrent error detection techniques by duplication and parity check and have simulated it for various bench mark circuits. Matakias et al. [2] soft and timing errors are detected in CMOS IC using sense amplifier circuit with the concept of pre-evaluation and detecting the error. The circuit proposed in [2] overcomes the duplication, triplication and provides a feasible solution to detect faults quickly. Ernst et al. [3] proposed a new model RAZOR for detection and correction of failures in digital circuits. Multiple fault detection is an important factor in evaluating faults in digital circuits. To handle multiple errors, a time dilation technique was discussed by Valadimas [4] which detects and corrects fault within one clock cycle. Quinn et al. [5] tested and proved that DWC techniques are robust to single-event upset and single-event transients especially in microcontrollers. Nicolaidis [6] discussed the various double sampling architectures and observed the error detection, failure prediction, power reduction and increase in speed. Thus, from the survey, it is observed that various fault detecting models are available and each have its own merits and demerits. Ahmady et al. [7] have introduced a new technique utilizing dynamic flip flop conversion along with dynamic clock to improve the performance with respect to critical paths. Choudhury et al. [8] described a technique to mask timing error using time borrowing. In [9], transient faults in flip flops and latches are monitored

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_65

T. Shunbaga Pradeepa (🖂) · S. Uma Maheswari

Department of ECE, Coimbatore Institute of Technology, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: pradeepa@cit.edu.in

S. Uma Maheswari

e-mail: umamaheswari@cit.edu.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

early using moving time window method. As early fault detection is of most urge few of the fault models are analysed in this paper. The paper is organized as follows. Section 1 introduction where the previous works are compared. In Sect. 2 the fault models are discussed. In Sect. 3 the results obtained along with the observations are discussed. Lastly, the conclusion is in Sect. 4.

2 Fault Detection Models

There are various fault detection models available as suggested by Camponogara Viera in [10]. In this section, fault models such as duplication with comparison (DWC), time redundancy (TR), RAZOR-II, Transition detector with time borrowing (TDTB), double sampling with time-borrowing (DSTB), transient fault monitoring scheme (TFMS) are discussed.

2.1 DWC

Figure 1 represents the duplication with comparison structure. It consists of 2 blocks, where one block is the actual and another block is the copy of the actual block. They are compared with a xor gate.

If both blocks maintain the same data, then it means that there is no error. If any one block is corrupted with any transient fault occurrence then it results in an error. This helps in identifying the fault. In this model, only faults can be detected.



Fig. 1 Duplication with comparison structure

2.2 TR

Time redundancy model in Fig. 2 helps in detecting the transient faults. The actual circuit data is stored in the flip flop. The time delayed data is also stored in another flip flop. The same logic is computed in both the circuits but at two different times. Both the results are compared and if they are different then error is generated.

The clk signals are given such that same data is compared to find the error. If there is no change, then error signal is deactivated.

2.3 Razor-II

The Razor II model is shown in Fig. 3. In this model, the output of the circuit is stored in the latch. There is a transition detection module which helps in finding the transient fault. The role of pulsed clock generator is to generate a short pulse to disable the detector after rising edge for a short interval of time.

2.4 TDTB

The transition detector with time as in Fig. 4 is yet another model used to detect the transient fault. The model has two latches, one working with positive clock and other working in the negative clock. There is a transition detector which helps in detecting the transition of clock edges.



Fig. 2 Time redundancy model



Fig. 4 Transition detector with time borrowing model

2.5 DSTB

Figure 5 which is as like RAZOR II has a latch and a flip flop. The outputs are connected to a xor gate. The signal has to be stable before the logic low of the clk because the error signal is generated during the low state of clk.



Fig. 5 Double sampling with time-borrowing model



Fig. 6 Transient fault monitoring scheme model

2.6 TFMS

TFMS in Fig.6 has a transition detector detecting the transition faults. There is another block called sticky block which helps to check whether the fault is within the scanning window or not. Based on that the error signal will be generated.

3 Results and Discussion

All the circuits were designed and simulated using the Microwind tool using the 45 nm technology file. Figure 7 represents the duplication with comparison circuit diagram with possible input combinations. There are 2 cases.

Case 1: No fault injection,

Case 2: Transient Fault injection.

In case 1, the actual input and duplicate input will be the same, where no error is detected. In case 2, transient faults are injected and as a result input and it's duplicate are different, so error is detected.

Figure 8 represents the fault detection of DWC. It is observed from figure that multiple transient faults are injected and errors are detected and few errors are missed. It is observed that this circuit has missed detection of transient fault for fault width less than or equal to Tclk/2, where Tclk is the input clock period. The power consumed is also observed.

Figure 9 shows the time redundancy circuit and its fault detection. Similar to the above circuit, both cases are simulated and results are observed. It is found that in this circuit also transient fault error detection were missed. The power seems to be less when compared to the earlier circuit.

Razor II circuit is shown in Fig. 10 and its simulated results are shown in Fig. 11. Similar to the above circuit, both cases are simulated and results are observed. It is found that in this circuit all the injected transient faults were detected as error without missing. The power seems to be reduced when compared to the other circuits.









Fig. 7 Duplication with comparison circuit diagram



Fig. 8 Fault detection of DWC



Fig. 9 Time redundancy circuit and fault detection

•

16

27.0°C Xo

210

Case 2: Fault detection int Oata a Date n0 nQ Lat tri inout dit in1 Data 60 60 Latch akt JCe tran_de tran innut

Case 1: No fault detection

Fig. 10 Razor II circuit diagram

Power= 3.672µW L Morowind 3.5 - ex In ees Scale • • 1 00 Transient fault icess Var. More More Print Print Error detected

Fig. 11 Razor II output





Fig. 12 Transition detector with time borrowing circuit



Fig. 13 Transition detector with time borrowing output

Transition detector with time borrowing is the circuit shown in Fig. 12 and its simulation result is shown in Fig. 13. In this circuit, the injected faults were detected but very few error were missed. The power is quite less compared to time redundancy circuit.



Fig. 14 Double sampling with time borrowing circuit diagram



Fig. 15 Double sampling with time borrowing output

Figure 14 represents the double sampling with time borrowing circuit and its simulation result is shown in Fig. 15. In this circuit, the injected faults were detected and few errors were missed. The power is quite moderate.

Figure 16 represents the transient fault monitoring scheme circuit. Its simulation result is shown in Fig. 17. Similar to Razor II circuit, this circuit detected all injected faults as errors. The accuracy is good, but the power consumption is very high compared to other circuits.



Fig. 16 Transient fault monitoring scheme circuit



Fig. 17 Transient fault monitoring scheme output

The circuits were simulated with various scenarios like change in transient pulse width, amplitude, and time period. The scenarios are selected with 2 different pulse widths namely w1 ns and w2 ns, 2 different amplitudes v1 volt and v2 volt. Scenario 1 has been tested with fault width of w1 ns and amplitude of v1 volt. The scenario 2 has the same fault width w1 ns as like scenario 1 but with different amplitude of v2 volt. Scenario 3 is tested with fault width w2 ns and amplitude as like that of

S. No.	Fault model	Power (uW)			
		Scenario1	Scenario2	Scenario3	Scenario4
1	DWC	11.74	40.97	12.73	26.55
2	TR	13.74	33.84	29.26	23.28
3	RAZOR II	1.23	30.289	3.672	28.582
4	TDTB	15.142	40.501	12.436	40.317
5	DSTB	10.963	35.582	32.211	26.051
6	TFMS	6.984	46.589	19.263	44.831

 Table 1
 Summary of power

Table 2 Summary of efficiency

S. No.	Fault model	Efficiency (%)			
		Scenario1	Scenario2	Scenario3	Scenario4
1	DWC	55	73	75	100
2	TR	55	73	88	100
3	RAZOR II	100	100	100	100
4	TDTB	82	82	100	100
5	DSTB	55	73	88	100
6	TFMS	100	100	100	100

scenario 2 which is v2 volt. The last scenario 4 is tested with w2 ns pulse width and amplitude of v1 volt.

The summary of power under various scenarios are tabulated in Table 1. The power is expressed in uw (micro Watt). The efficiency based on the detection of faults are summarized in Table 2.

Figure 18 summarizes the power analysis of all circuits under 4 scenarios. It is found that the 1st, 2nd, 3rd scenarios the Razor II circuits have low-power consumption, whereas for 4th scenario time redundancy circuit has less power.

The efficiency produced in detecting the transient fault errors are summarized in Fig. 19. From this, it is observed that Razor II and transient fault monitoring scheme (TFMS) has detected all the faults in all scenarios. The other circuits have detected all the faults in 4th scenario, whereas they have missed few faults in 1st, 2nd, 3rd scenarios. TR and DSTB have the same efficiency in all the scenarios.

4 Conclusion

This paper discussed on the various fault models such as DWC, TR, RAZOR-II, TDTB, DSTB, TFMS. The transient fault of different amplitude, frequency, duty cycle was injected into all the circuits. The fault detection, correction of errors, was



Fig. 18 Power analysis



Fig. 19 Efficiency analysis

observed. It is observed that transient fault detection is accurate in RAZOR II and TFMS models, whereas RAZOR II model consumes less power. Thus, this model can be employed in any fault detection at faster time with better efficiency consuming less power. This work can be extended by increasing the test scenarios and including the correction mechanism using suitable correcting circuits.

References

- S. Mitra, E.J. McCluskey, in Which Concurrent Error Detection Scheme to Choose? (No. 00CH37159) (Atlantic City, NJ, USA, 2000), pp. 985–994. https://doi.org/10.1109/TEST. 2000.894311
- S. Matakias, Y. Tsiatouhas, A. Arapoyanni, Th. Haniotakis, A circuit for concurrent detection of soft and timing errors in digital CMOS ICs. J. Electron. Test. Theory Appl. 20(5), 523–531 (2004)
- D. Ernst et al., in *Razor: A Low-Power Pipeline Based on Circuit-Level Timing Speculation* (San Diego, CA, USA, 2003), pp. 7–18
- 4. S. Valadimas, A. Floros, Y. Tsiatouhas, A. Arapoyanni, X. Kavousianos, The time dilation technique for timing error tolerance. IEEE Trans. Comput.. **63**(5), 1277–1286 (2014)
- 5. H. Quinn, Z. Baker, T. Fairbanks, J.L. Tripp, G. Duran, Robust duplication with comparison methods in microcontrollers. IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci. **64**(1), 338–345 (2017)
- M. Nicolaidis, Double-sampling design paradigm—a compendium of architectures. IEEE Trans. Dev. Mater. Reliab. 15(1) (2015)
- M. Ahmady, B. Alizadeh, F. Behjat, A hybrid time borrowing technique to improve the performance of digital circuits in the presence of variations. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. I Reg. Pap., 1–11 (2016)
- M.R. Choudhury, V. Chandra, R.C. Aitken, K. Mohanram, Time-Borrowing Circuit Designs and Hardware Prototyping for Timing Error Resilience. IEEE Transactions on Computers 63(2), 497–509 (2014)
- 9. D. Rossi, M. Omana, C. Metra, Transient fault and soft error on-die monitoring scheme, defect and fault tolerance, in VLSI Systems (DFT), 2010 IEEE 25th International Symposium on Defect and Fault Tolerance in VLSI Systems (2010), pp. 391–398
- R.A. Camponogara Viera, Bastos R. Possamai, J.-M. Dutertre, P. Maurine, Jadue R. Iga, Method for evaluation of transient-fault detection techniques. Elsevier Microelectronics Reliability 76– 77, 68–74 (2017)

Deep Learning-Based Modulation Classification of Communication Signals



Vaibhav Tiwari, Girish Chandra Tripathi, and Meenakshi Rawat

1 Introduction

Deep learning has found its applicability in the industrial and research domain due to its enormous capabilities [1]. Moreover, to solve the fundamental problem of communication that is the reproduction of message signals approximately or precisely at the receiver using machine learning does not achieve much success due to the limitation in the processing capability of the available devices. Now the availability of highly efficient Field-programmable gate arrays (FPGAs), Graphics processing unit (GPU), and other RF components has enabled us with the freedom to push the limits of data processing which has allowed to replace traditional modulation identification techniques. The modulation classification [2] is a massive challenge in the military and civilian applications for interceptive threat analysis and aversion, interference management, and spectrum management. Moreover, the motive of this approach should be to identify friend and foe signals in the real-time basis to classify them and take appropriate actions; therefore, such scenario requires a complex and robust algorithm which is at the same time compact and adaptive, to be able to quickly adapt to myriad systems and find real-time applications. More precisely, in a highly congested spectrum of radio waves, to carefully know about the RF signatures and better understand the RF spectrum utilization and security threat detection, is what has been accomplished herein.

V. Tiwari (🖂)

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_66

747

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, National Institute of Technology Uttarakhand, Srinagar, Uttarakhand, India e-mail: vaibhavtiwari.ece17@nituk.ac.in

G. C. Tripathi · M. Rawat

SDR Lab, Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology Roorkee, Roorkee, Uttarakhand, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

An artificial intelligence-based modulation classification system for a particular scenario consists of three steps; the first one is obtaining/synthesizing the dataset as simulative as possible to the application environments. The second step is signal preprocessing or data engineering [3]. Finally, the third step involves classification algorithms. Data engineering contains tasks like recognition of various data components and tweaking them, i.e., modifying the parameters to obtain maximum distinction between them depending upon the method that is been applied, thus maximum accuracy. In the third step, an artificial neural network (ANN) is applied [4]. The classification of the modulated signals has been investigated in [5-10]. This paper provides significant insights and improvements on the existing literature on modulation classification with changes in the dataset manipulation techniques. We have used the results obtained in [11] as a baseline, which has been vastly improved over here. This paper is organized as follows: Sect. 2 describes the data preprocessing technique used to process the data before applying it. Section 3 presents the deep neural network architecture and its improvement. The results are shown in Sect. 4. The conclusion is presented in Sect. 5.

2 Data Preprocessing

Data preprocessing is an essential step since the collected data may have odd data combinations, missing values, etc. Such data may cause problems and confusing results. Therefore, the interpretation and quality of data are first and foremost before running any analysis. Firstly, a synthetic dataset, obtained [11] with GNU Radio, consists of eleven modulations with variable SNRs. The dataset has moderate local oscillator drift, weak fading, and several SNR increments. Every sample is presented using two vectors; each of them has 128 elements. We identify the raw features and make a battery of more features such as that concatenates the essential features that are as follows.

- 1. Raw time series as given (two channels)
- 2. First derivative in time (two channels)
- 3. Integral in time (two channels)
- 4. Combinations of 1, 2, and 3 (more channels).

This dataset consists of radio signals modulated using different modulation techniques and different signal-to-noise ratios. The dataset has been divided into labels and signal vectors. Signal vectors have 162,060 pairs of arrays with 128 values, each signifying in-phase (I) and quadrature (Q) signals in time series format. Thus, the resulting dimension of the signal vectors or input to the neural network is (162,060, 2128). The labels are then encoded in binary form using one-hot encoding. The signal vectors are kept in four forms, namely raw data, Fourier transform, integral, and derivatives per channel, as shown in Fig. 1. We have attempted different neural network architectures to classify the signals based on the modulation technique that is used. The performance of the networks has been compared across signal-to-noise



Fig. 1 Data preprocessing

ratios ranging from -20 to +18 dB. The negative signal-to-noise ratios signify that the original signal is still identifiable, even with such high noise, and thus opens quite a possibility to reduce noise since it can be traced, but that is beyond the scope here.

3 Deep Neural Network Architectures

Deep neural networks are fundamentally a collection of weights and biases that add up and decide whether or not the neuron must be triggered via an activation function. Every layer is a linearly functioning system, triggered by a nonlinear (not essentially but in our case) function, which makes the whole system highly nonlinear. We investigated the performance of three different types of neural network architectures for the modulation classification problem.

3.1 Convolutional Neural Network (ConvNet/CNN)

A convolutional neural network (ConvNet/CNN) is a deep learning architecture which takes input in more than one dimension, and assigns learnable weights and biases to various aspects/objects in the data. Thus, it can differentiate between multiple aspects/objects and consequently differentiate between classes of input. The preprocessing required in a ConvNet is much lower as compared to other classification algorithms. In contrast, earlier, methods filtered data aspects manually. With enough training, ConvNets can learn these filters/characteristics. We have treated the input with dimensions, 2×128 . The architecture is shown in Fig. 2. Being a convolution-based network, it can deal with all dimensions; thus, the input is reshaped to $1 \times 2 \times 128$ and convolved $64 \times 2 \times 128$, and then batch normalization (BN) is carried out by keeping the dimensions intact. Afterward, we have used a convolution, and BN is layered; hence, there is no change in dimensions of the parameters.



Fig. 2 CNN architecture for modulation classification

A flattening layer is then applied with zero training parameters (tp), and thus after flattening, the dimensions become 4096 ($64 \times 2 \times 128$); then, to reduce the dimensions of the output further, a dense layer is applied, and the dimensions of the output become 128. To avoid over-fitting, dropout is applied, and finally, a dense layer is applied to get eleven classes. The training and testing accuracy of CNN is depicted in Fig. 3. The final training and validation accuracies of ConvNet are 60.35% and 60.46%, respectively, at ten epochs.



Fig. 3 CNN validation and training accuracy

3.2 Fully Connected Neural Network (FCNN)

The second architecture using a fully connected neural network (FCNN) architecture has been proposed. Figure 4 shows FCNN architecture where all the layers are fully connected, as the name suggests. Since the input data to the network was two-dimensional, a flatten layer is applied to reduce it to one dimension as we cannot process two dimensions without convolutional layers. Then, the parameters are reduced successively by two densing layers from 256 to 128 to 64 parameters, respectively. Then, we have used BN that is subtracting the mean from each observation and dividing by the square root of variance. The BN has the advantage since it decreases the internal covariate shift. Afterward, a dense layer is used to reduce the parameters to 32. To avoid over-fitting or to overtrain, the dropout layer is applied. Now since the classification has to be done in eleven classes, one denser layer is applied to reduce thirty-two parameters into eleven categories. Moreover, the training of DNN becomes complex since the distribution of each layer's inputs changes during the training process, and since parameters of the former layers modified. This reduces the training by needing lower learning rates and cautious parameter initialization, which makes it extremely difficult to train models with saturating nonlinearities. This phenomenon is known as internal covariate shift (ICS) [12]. This variation progresses to a constant shift in the fundamental training problem and is thus thought to have a negative effect on the training process. This problem can be addressed by normalizing the inputs to the layer. Moreover, the BN favors the reduction of ICS, and this is the prime advantage of BN. Figure 5 shows training and validation accuracies of the FCNN, where we can see the highest training accuracy is 64.2%, and validation accuracy is 63.06% at thirty epochs.



Fig. 4 Fully connected neural network architecture



Fig. 5 FCNN validation and training accuracy

3.3 Inception Convolutional Neural Network (ICNN/IncNet)

Like CNN in the case of inception convolutional neural network (ICNN), the input with dimensions of 2×128 is reshaped to $1 \times 2 \times 128$. In parallel simultaneously, the reshaped input is passed to four ConvNets, and one Max pooling layer, the shape of all the four outputs, has dimensions $1 \times 2 \times 128$. All of the four outputs are convolved again to get four outputs, three of which are $1 \times 2 \times 64$, the other with the dimension of $1 \times 2 \times 128$, the three with $1 \times 2 \times 64$ dimensions came from previous convolutional layers, and the one shaped as $1 \times 2 \times 128$ came from the Max pooling layer. All of the four outputs of dimensions $1 \times 2 \times 128$ and $1 \times 2 \times 128$ 64 are now normalized by BN layers. Therefore, the dimensions remain unchanged. All the four outputs from the BN layers are simply concatenated to yield an output of dimensions, $1 \times 2 \times 320 [1 \times 2 \times (128 + 3 * 64)]$. The flattened and dropout layers yield an output of 640 nodes. Then after four dense layers, the output nodes are obtained as 360, 120, and 84, respectively, and finally, eleven classes are required (Fig. 6). The validation and training accuracies are shown in Fig. 7. From Fig. 7, we can see that the validation and the training accuracies are 64.03% and 69.51%, respectively, at 16 epochs only. Since the ConvNets, when kept parallel with each other couple up, thus they become faster while maintaining the depth of the network at minimal, although the computational expense increases but the accuracy increases likewise [13].

4 Results

In this section, we have compared the classification accuracies with different NN architectures to find the best performance.



Fig. 6 Inception neural network architecture



Fig. 7 ICNN training and validation accuracy

4.1 Fully Connected Layers

The confusion matrix summarizes the results for the fully connected network for the whole data, shown in Fig. 8, which shows that the networks confuse between 8PSK and QPSK because of the similarities they hold in the modulation type. The accuracy peaks around 90% for SNRs of -2 dB and above, which is considerably more accurate than [11], and the architecture we have used is much simpler as compared to the architectures used in [11]. Yet, as can be seen in Fig. 9, the accuracy has been improved. Along with the fully connected layer, we have also used residual net, convolutional long short-term deep neural network (CLDNN), inception layer



Fig. 8 FCNN classification confusion matrix

without batch normalization, and convolutional neural network (CNN-2) without batch normalization for comparison purposes. From Fig. 9, we can see that the accuracy of FCNN has been increasing with the increase in SNR.

4.2 Convolutional Neural Net with Batch Normalization

The results for the convolutional neural net has been summarized below and can be seen in the confusion matrix in Fig. 10. The confusion between QPSK and 8PSK is evident because of the similarities they hold in the modulation type. For comparison purposes along with the convolutional neural net with batch normalization layers, we have also used residual net, convolutional long short-term deep neural network (CLDNN), convolutional neural net without batch normalization, and another convolutional neural network with batch normalization. The comparison has been made in Fig. 11, which shows that using CNN with batch normalization increases the classification accuracy.



Fig. 9 FCNN classification results compared with other networks



Fig. 10 CNN classification confusion matrix



Fig. 11 CNN classification results compared with other networks

4.3 Inception Convolutional Neural Network

The confusion matrix obtained using the inception convolutional neural network is shown in Fig. 12. The confusion between the 8PSK and the QPSK is due to the similarity in the modulation format. For comparison purposes and the inception convolutional neural net with batch normalization layers, we have also used residual net, convolutional long short-term deep neural network (CLDNN), and convolutional neural net without batch normalization. The comparison has been given in Fig. 13.

Table 1 shows the average accuracies of the FCNN and ICNN, overall the SNR values. Table 1 shows that the inception model is marginally better than the FCNN for the raw data. Other than the raw data, various other concatenations between different data streams like Raw + FFT, Raw + Derivative + FFT have also been checked. The ICNN performs better than FCNN for raw data. Table 2 shows various accuracies at zero SNR using CNN and ICNN, and the ICNN shows an accuracy of 86.05% for raw data. Table 3 shows the best achievable accuracies by the two networks at positive SNRs.

Table 4 shows the comparison of the proposed method with other methods. As can be seen, the proposed method has more accuracy when compared to other methods.



Fig. 12 ICNN classification confusion matrix



Fig. 13 ICNN classification results compared with other networks

Features	Fully connected	Inception model with CNN
Raw data	61.68	62.10
Derivative	48.07	15.22
Raw and FFT	60.44	60.63
Raw, derivative, and FFT	58.49	61.24

 Table 1
 Average accuracies as compared between the fully connected and inception model

Table 2 Accuracies as compared between the fully connected and inception model at zero SNR

Features	Fully connected	Inception model with CNN
Raw data	83.69	86.05
Derivative	63.43	15.62
Raw and FFT	81.49	83.28
Raw, derivative, and FFT	70.02	85.21

 Table 3
 Best accuracies as compared between the fully connected and inception model at positive SNRs

Features	Fully connected	Inception model with CNN
Raw data	93.57	93.10
Derivative	76.35	17.31
Raw and FFT	87.19	88.56
Raw, derivative, and FFT	82.04	92.19

Table 4 Comparison of accuracies with other methods

Work	Methods used	Best accuracy (%)
[14]	CNN-IQ, CNN-IQFOC, LSTM-IQ, and LSTM-IQFOC	~87
[15]	CLDNN and LSTM	92
This work	FCNN and ICNN	93.57

5 Conclusion

Based on the different classification schemes for the raw data, highest accuracy obtained for ICNN at various SNRs is 93.10%, and that obtained by the FCNN is 93.57%, whereas that obtained by the baseline model, i.e., the CNN, is comparatively low at just 60%. Using the radio classification method, we have demonstrated that it can effectively learn to classify modulation techniques using domain-specific trigger functions and layer configurations. BN significantly improves the classification accuracies. We require zero knowledge of the modulation technique for training the networks and identification of modulation schemes.

References

- B. Migliori, R. Zeller-Townson, D. Grady, D. Gebhardt, Biologically inspired radio signal feature extraction with sparse denoising autoencoders. ArXiv e-prints, May 2016
- S. Chen, Y. Zhang, Z. He, J. Nie, W. Zhang, A novel attention cooperative framework for automatic modulation recognition. IEEE Access 8, 15673–15686 (2020)
- E.A. Felix, S.P. Lee, Systematic literature review of pre-processing techniques for imbalanced data. IET Softw. 13(6), 479–496 (2019)
- C. Zhang, P. Patras, H. Haddadi, Deep learning in mobile and wireless networking: a survey. IEEE Commun. Surv. Tutor. 21(3), 2224–2287 (2019)
- T. O'Shea, N. West, Radio machine learning dataset generation with GNU radio. Proc. GNU Radio Conf. 1(1) (2016)
- L. Mingquan, X. Xianci, L. Lemin, AR modeling-based features extraction of multiple signals for modulation recognition, in *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Signal Processing* (1998)
- 7. B.G. Mobasseri, Digital modulation classification using constellation shape, in *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Signal Processing* (2000)
- L. Mingquan, X. Xianci, L. Leming, Cyclic spectral features based modulation recognition, in Proceedings of the International Conference on Communication Technology (ICCT) (1996)
- E.E. Azzouz, A.K. Nandi, Modulation recognition using artificial neural networks. Sig. Process. 56(2), 165–175 (1997)
- K.E. Nolan, L. Doyle, D. O'Mahony, P. Mackenzie, Modulation scheme recognition techniques for software radio on a general purpose processor platform, in *Proceedings of the Joint IEI/IEE Symposium on Telecommunication Systems* (Dublin, 2001)
- 11. T. O'Shea, N. West, Deep architectures for modulation recognition
- 12. S. Ioffe, C. Szegedy, Batch Normalization: accelerating deep network training by reducing internal covariate shift (2015)
- 13. C. Szegedy et al., Rethinking the inception architecture for computer vision, in *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition* (2016)
- M. Zhang, Y. Zeng, Z. Han, Y. Gong, Automatic modulation recognition using deep learning architectures, in 2018 IEEE 19th International Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications (SPAWC) (IEEE, 2018), pp. 1–5
- S. Ramjee, S. Ju, D. Yang, X. Liu, A. El Gamal, Y.C. Eldar, Fast deep learning for automatic modulation classification. arXiv preprint arXiv:1901.05850 (2019)

Biomedical Watermaking Using Arnold Transformation



Gaurav Sundaram, Rajib Kumar Jha, Mohammad Akhlaqur Rahman, Ritu Meena, Sumit Kumar, and Purushottam Kumar

1 Introduction

Digital technology has several advantages such as data copying and transmission without any information losses, etc. We can easily send and receive the message. In engineering, signal plays a very important role [9–11, 21]. Telemedicine is a combination of information technology and telecommunication. It is also used in the case of an emergency. Using this technique, information can be easily transferred, and it also allows communication between medical staffs and patient relatives. One of the main activities that medical image management involves is the exchange of data between two hospitals located at different places. And it demands high security and good quality of images after data transmission. Digital image watermarking is a way to secure medical images from data hiding and copying data. Watermarking techniques are used in biomedical IP protection [20] and software protection [13]. A watermark can contain some information. This information can be about the origin, status, or recipient [4, 6, 7, 14, 23]. Multi-resolution signal decomposition also used for watermarking of the digital images [8]. Discrete Wavelet Transform (DWT) and Singular Value Decomposition (SVD) are used for image watermarking [12]. Cao et al. [2] use the modern reversible data hiding for watermarking. Tsai et al. [24] use a new algorithm which utilizes the wavelet multi-resolution structure for the construction of the image frequency components. It is used to hide secret information in the form of binary data in the image signal that can be extracted later to prove the ownership, content authentication, copy control, transaction tracking and device control [16]. Measurement standards such as capacity, robustness, PSNR, RMSE and

G. Sundaram $(\boxtimes) \cdot R$. K. Jha $\cdot M$. A. Rahman $\cdot R$. Meena Indian Institute of Technology Patna, Patna, India

S. Kumar Indian Institute of Information Technology Una, Una, India

P. Kumar National Institute of Technology Durgapur, Durgapur, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 761 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_67



Fig. 1 Transmission of medical images between hospitals

blindness are used to test the effectiveness of the technique. There are two types of watermarking. It is as follows:

- 1. Visible watermarking
- 2. Invisible watermarking.

This technique can be applied on RGB images as well, for coloured images, we need to apply this technique separately on red, green and blue layer. In this technique, a host medical image is classified into sub-bands using Discrete Wavelet Transform, and then Arnold Transform is applied on watermark image. Here, Arnold Transform is applied to scramble the image.

In this paper, Sect. 2 demonstrates the challenges in the medical images. In Sect. 3, we have discussed the various kind of attacks. Section 4 describes the proposed method. We have discussed the pros and cons of our proposed technique in Sect. 5. Future work has been mentioned in Sect. 6 (Fig. 1).

2 Challenges in Medical Imaging

From last so many years, watermarking has given security many advantages in this era. Among the most important is the insertion of signature into the data. It is an essential aspect as security and authenticity are concerned. Modification of even a single pixel in the medical image may affect the overall information present in the image. So, it may influence the diagnosis, and consequently, this might threaten the health or even the life of the patient. Therefore, it is crucial to approach watermarking in the area of medical imaging quite distinctly compared to the other fields of interest. Watermarking of medical images [18] can boost security and authenticity, and it can enhance the everyday operation in medical practice [19].

 Proof of Ownership and Identification Watermarking is used to prove ownership. Hiding a security key or any pseudorandom number in the form of message signal or image signal (that represent owner identification) in the original image using some transform technique such as DWT, DCT. Watermark embedding in the original image can change some bits of the original image but does not affect its applications because the watermark is embedded only in Region of Not Interest (RONI) [1, 15]. Watermarks are indistinguishable and inseparable from the information in which they are embedded.

- **Copy Control** When we publish any paper or any information on the Internet, we cannot have a relationship with every possible person who will view and read that information because the Internet is open for anyone. Due to modern digital technology, anyone can copy without any information loss.
- **Transacation Tracking** Digital technology gives many advantages; it provides the user to translate information in digital format. It is easy to replicate the digital information format without any information loss. To stop illegal use of this advantage, watermark (Secret Key) is embedded in original information. Watermarking gives the advantage to track its origin.

3 Categories of Attacks

Today, many types of attacks exist to affect the quality of the image and to track some critical information of the image. For this, they try to modify watermark or try to get the secret key so that authorized person cannot prove their ownership. This section includes the following attacks.

- 1. **Forgery Attacks** The main aim of this attack is to crack the security key in the watermarking scheme. After finding this key, they remove embedded watermark or embed any other watermark. This attack is also called as an unauthorized embedding or cryptographic attacks. In this attack, attackers try to modify the images by inserting new watermark. Copy attack is also an example of this attack. They intend to destroy the ownership information from the image.
- 2. Geometrical Attack In this attack, attackers try to manipulate the image in such a manner that an authorized person cannot detect the watermark. They aim to get information about the image. Some of the examples of geometrical attacks are rotation attack, cropping attack, shearing attack, etc. They try to shift image pixels, rotate the image by some degree, or scale image without any visual changes in images.
- 3. **Removal Attack** The main aim of this attack is to remove the watermark and crack some information about the image. This attack includes compression attack, mean filter, median filter, average filter, compression attack, collusion attack, etc. Their main aim is to remove the embedded watermark and to get valuable information from this image. This attack is so affecting, such that attackers are near to destroy the watermark from watermarked image.
- 4. **Passive Attack** This also one of the unauthorized attack. Attacker's main goal is to detect the embedded watermark that supposed to be recognized by only



Fig. 2 Pick a point to select the ROI of a square shape. Size of ROI should be less than 1/4 of the original image

authorized personnel. Attackers may be interested in modifying the watermark or may not be.

5. Noise Attack This attack can be made using the MATLAB function. This includes Gaussian attack, blurred image attack, salt and pepper attack and contrast attack. Salt and pepper is a kind of attack in which as a noise white and black dots present in the image. Blurred image attack is implemented on the image to reduce the quality of the image. That can be done using many local factors. Contrast attack is kind of attack in which contrast of the image is changed to affect both watermark and original host image.

4 The Proposed Technique

In this section, the watermark embedding and watermark extraction method are discussed. Watermark is embedded as an image signal in the original image signal using Discrete Wavelet Transform and Arnold Transform. In this section, we will discuss how to select ROI for watermarking in medical images.

4.1 Selection of ROI

Watermark is not embedded in the whole image. A small region of an image is selected for watermarking. Biomedical images are so sensitive, and embedding in the entire image is not acceptable because the change in a single bit that carries information can occur a big problem in the diagnosis process. So, watermarking is done only in Region of Not Interest(RONI) that have no critical information. ROI and RONI can be selected based on size or intensity. But the selection of RONI is more complicated than ROI. Here, in this method, ROI is chosen based on size and location, and the rest region is RONI (Fig. 2).





4.2 Discrete Wavelet Transform

The most popular transforms are the Discrete Wavelet Transform (DWT), Discrete Cosine Transform (DCT) and Arnold Transform. Here, we embedded watermark in transform domain. We used a Discrete Wavelet Transform. This Wavelet Transform has multi-resolution characteristics due to which hierarchical or nested embedding is more efficient in case of DWT. The main property of the Wavelet Transform is to process data at various scales or multi-resolution. The basic idea of wavelet transform is to split image signal into two parts, high frequencies and low frequencies. The fundamental concept of wavelet transform is that transformation should allow change only in a time extension, not in the shape of the data signal. Wavelet Transform is good at a time resolution of high frequency [25]. In this method, the image signal is split into four non-overlapping sub-bands of different frequencies: LL (low-frequency components), and LH, HL, HH are high-frequency sub-bands. LL sub-band is again divided into four bands; then high-frequency component HL1 is selected for watermarking embedding. Because LL band is most sensitive to human eyes, so embedding in LL1 sub-band can occur unacceptable problems in biomedical images. So the best way for watermarking is to choose a high-frequency band. But HH1 band includes edges and textures of the images, so it also fails the property of watermarking embedding. The most appropriate band for watermark embedding is the HL band; it is horizontal sub-band. Here, we chose HL1 sub-band for watermark embedding (Fig. 3).

$$y_{i-1}^{\text{LOW}}(k) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_i(n) l(2k-n)$$
 (1)

and

$$y_{i-1}^{\text{HIGH}}(k) = \sum_{n}^{\infty} x_i(n)h(2k-n)$$
 (2)

where i = I0, ..., I, I + 1. I0 represents the lowest resolution index and I + 1 represents the highest resolution index.

4.3 Arnold Transform

Arnold Transform is also one of the most famous transform. It is used to scramble images, so that scrambled watermark image can be embedded in original image. Arnold Transform is based on the transformation of the image. It provides a method to hide data in scramble form. It is a reversible method. Using Inverse Arnold Transform, We can reconstruct image again. Human eyes are not sensitive to this transform. It changes every pixel of the image many times. It is robust to many geometrical attacks and noise attacks, such as compression, rotation, cropping, median attack, mean attack, Gaussian noise attack, salt and paper noise attacks [22]. The basic formulation of Arnold Transform is

$$\begin{bmatrix} X \\ Y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x \\ y \end{bmatrix} \mod N \tag{3}$$

This transformation is called two dimensions Arnold Transform. Where *N* is the total number of pixels in the image. (x, y) = (0, 1, 2, 3, ..., N) are pixels coordinates of image, and (X, Y) = (0, 1, 2, 3, ..., N) are pixels coordinates of scrambled image after Arnold Transform. After solving this matrix formula, we get this relation:

$$X = 2x + y \tag{4}$$

$$Y = x + y \tag{5}$$

The cycle of Arnold Scrambling (T) depends on the size of the image.

4.4 Singular Value Decomposition (SVD)

SVD-based watermarking technique is mostly used in the case of small distraction to an image. In this technique, the watermark is embedded into singular values. SVDbased watermarking is robust to several attacks such as geometrical attacks: cropping, rescaling, rotations and compression. However, it fails in noise attacks like Gaussian attacks with high variance. Watermark can be embedded directly into the singular value of the host medical image or host image is subdivided into small blocks using any technique. Precise amounts of the watermark are embedded in those blocks. The basic idea of SVD is given by this formula

$$\begin{bmatrix} U \ S \ V \end{bmatrix} = \operatorname{svd}(I) \tag{6}$$

where *S* represents singular values of an image, *U* and *V* represent the unitary matrix of image, and *T* denotes the matrix transposition. If the size of the medical image is $M \times N$, then the size of *S* will be $M \times N$ and *U*, *V* will be of size $N \times N$.

$$I = \mathbf{U}\mathbf{S}\mathbf{V}^T \tag{7}$$

Using Eq. (7), we can get back the host signal (Figs. 4 and 5).



Fig. 4 Watermark embedding for grayscaled image



Fig. 5 Watermark embedding for coloured image

4.5 Watermark Embedding

Steps for watermark embedding are shown in flow charts separately for grayscaled image and coloured image. Grayscaled algorithm also can be applied for the coloured image, but for this, we need to use this algorithm separately for red, green and blue level. Here in this article, our focus is mainly on the grayscaled image. So, results from the discussion will be only for a grayscaled image.

- 1. Watermarking for grayscale image
 - Select ROI and RONI from the cover medical image.
 - Apply DWT using 'haar' wavelet on selected ROI. Select HL1 for watermark embedding.
 - Watermark image size should be 1/4 of selected ROI.
 - Apply Arnold Transform on watermark image using a secret key to get scrambled watermark.
 - Combine ROI after DWT and scrambled watermark using strength coefficient.
 - Apply inverse DWT to get watermarked image [17].
- 2. Watermarking for the coloured image
 - Apply DWT using 'haar' wavelet on secret watermark image. Select LL band for watermark embedding [3].
 - Apply the SVD technique on both images.
 - Embed singular value of watermark in the singular value of a medical image.
 - Perform inverse SVD.
 - Apply inverse DWT to get watermarked image [5].

4.6 Watermark Extraction

After watermark embedding, it is required to extract the embedded data from the watermarked image to prove ownership and in many more other applications. Extraction algorithm also discussed separately for grayscaled image and coloured image. The original image is required for this process (Figs. 6 and 7).

- 1. Watermark Extraction in a Grayscale Image
 - Select ROI and RONI from watermarked medical image.
 - Apply DWT using 'haar' wavelet on selected ROI. Select HL1 for watermark embedding.
 - Apply extraction formula to get scrambled watermark image.
 - Inverse Apply Arnold Transform on watermark image using the same secret key to get original watermark.
 - Add ROI after DWT and scrambled watermark using strength coefficient.



Fig. 6 Watermark extraction for grayscaled image



Fig. 7 Watermark extraction for the coloured image

- 2. Watermark Extraction in Coloured Image
 - Apply DWT using 'haar' wavelet on the host medical image. Select LL band for watermark embedding.
 - Apply the SVD technique on both images.
 - Perform extraction algorithm.
 - perform inverse SVD.
 - Apply inverse DWT transform to get back embedded watermark image [5].
5 Experimental Results

In this section, we have tested our proposed method with some of the art-of-themethod for different biomedical images under separate attacks. We have taken the images (sized = 256×256), and we have performed on the MATLAB platform. The parameters we have considered are as follows.

5.1 Parameter of Comparison

RMSE This is calculated to compare two images. This can be calculated using this formula

$$RMSE = \frac{\sum_{r=1,c=1}^{R,C} [Im1(r,c) - Im2(r,c)]^2}{R * C}$$
(8)

PSNR PSNR computes the peak signal-noise ratio between two signal. Here, in this method, it computes between two images. It is calculated to measure the quality of images. Higher PSNR represents a good quality watermarked image.

$$PSNR = 10 \log \left(\frac{R^2}{RMSE}\right)$$
(9)

where *R* is maximum fluctuation in the image. It is also called as the maximum pixel value in image, and RMSE is root mean square error.

WPSNR It computes the weighted peak signal to noise ratio between two images. It is used to measure the quality of the image (Figs. 8, 9 and 10; Tables 1, 2, 3 and 4).



Fig. 8 Tested images

Biomedical Watermaking Using Arnold Transformation









(e) (f) (h) (g)

Fig. 10 Extraction of watermarks at different attacks on image1

Parameter	Gaussian	Cropping	Median	Mean	Salt and	t rotation	Gaussian	Salt and
					pepper $v = 0.05$			pepper $v = 0.1$
					<i>v</i> = 0.05			0 = 0.1
PSNR	59.8619	58.8542	59.1014	58.7957	59.1850	58.9906	59.0904	58.3628
MSE	0.5736	0.7965	0.7630	0.7877	0.7999	0.6825	0.8712	0.8779
WPSNR	17.5670	16.4389	16.6230	16.4167	16.9007	16.6052	16.7534	16.3616
PSNR2	31.9566	16.4389	31.7368	31.7681	31.9790	31.9833	31.9689	31.7112

 Table 1
 Attacks with their quantitative parameters for input image1

 Table 2
 Attacks with their quantitative parameters for input image2

Parameter	Gaussian	Cropping	Median	Mean	Salt and	t rotation	Gaussian	Salt and
					pepper			pepper
					v = 0.05			v = 0.1
PSNR	59.2313	58.7900	59.0736	58.6911	59.2074	58.9404	59.5762	58.7893
MSE	0.7030	0.7850	0.7865	0.8000	0.6645	0.7020	0.6462	0.7254
WPSNR	16.9454	16.3973	16.6031	16.3810	16.9770	16.5876	17.2609	16.6873
PSNR2	29.1478	29.1674	29.1628	29.1004	29.1878	29.0949	29.1674	29.1878

 Table 3
 Attacks with their quantitative parameters for input image3

Parameter	Gaussian	Cropping	Median	Mean	Salt and	t rotation	Gaussian	Salt and
					pepper			pepper
					v = 0.05			v = 0.1
PSNR	59.3534	58.9116	58.9754	58.8214	59.1258	59.3413	59.2582	59.0909
MSE	0.78050	0.8027	0.7986	0.8551	0.8085	0.6825	0.8827	0.8980
WPSNR	16.9749	16.5522	16.5507	16.6352	16.9407	16.6052	16.9749	16.9954
PSNR2	22.5024	22.7727	22.8597	22.7659	22.7385	22.3268	22.8974	22.4701

 Table 4
 Attacks with their quantitative parameters for input image4

Parameter	Gaussian	Cropping	Median	Mean	Salt and	t rotation	Gaussian	Salt and
		11 8			pepper v = 0.05			pepper v = 0.1
PSNR	59.6324	58.9336	58.9240	58.8500	59.4379	58.4789	59.6606	59.2702
MSE	0.7596	0.7972	0.7942	0.8024	0.7468	0.6642	0.7024	0.7625
WPSNR	17.3503	16.5286	16.4461	16.5153	17.1086	16.2466	17.3602	16.3616
PSNR2	30.7533	30.7129	30.7912	30.6382	30.5649	30.3788	31.4631	30.8512

6 Conclusions

In the medical industry, for the transmission of the medical image between hospitals, the security of the image is essential. Security has become the most desired factor in modern days. This problem can be solved using robust digital watermarking technology. This paper provides us with a unique method of protecting biomedical images from several attacks that have been already discussed. This method RONI of original medical image is used for watermark embedding. Size of ROI and RONI is selected based on size. ROI should not be greater than 25% of the original image. In this technique, quality of medical images is not being destroyed by embedded watermark image. In the extraction process, the watermark can be extracted with high PSNR value. To measure the quality of extracted watermark, we calculated peak signal to noise ratio (PSNR), root mean square error (RMSE) and weighted peak to noise ratio (WPSNR) for more than 100 images. It is giving us a PSNR value up to 59.86 dB, RMSE value less than 0.7965 and WPSNR value up to 17.567 dB. These results show that our watermarking technique can be beneficial in the field of the healthcare industry. This watermarking technique provides us with security that is necessary for medical images. However, this watermarking method fails the shear attack. Our future work is to make this algorithm more robust.

References

- O.M. Al-Qershi, B.E. Khoo, Authentication and data hiding using a hybrid ROI-based watermarking scheme for DICOM images. J. Digit. Imag. 24(1), 114–125 (2011)
- X. Cao, Y. Zhou, J.M. Guo, Guest editorial introduction to special section on modern reversible data hiding and watermarking. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. Video Technol. 30(8), 2297–2299 (2020)
- S. Chavan, R. Shah, R. Poojary, J. Jose, G. George, in A Novel Robust Colour Watermarking Scheme for Colour Watermark Images in Frequency Domain (IEEE, 2010), pp. 96–100
- I.J. Cox, J. Kilian, F.T. Leighton, T. Shamoon, Secure spread spectrum watermarking for multimedia. IEEE Trans. Image Process. 6(12), 1673–1687 (1997)
- N. Dey, A.B. Roy, S. Dey, A novel approach of color image hiding using RGB color planes and DWT (2012). arXiv preprint arXiv:1208.0803
- F. Hartung, M. Kutter, Multimedia watermarking techniques. Proc. IEEE 87(7), 1079–1107 (1999)
- J. Hou, Q. Li, R. Tan, S. Meng, H. Zhang, S. Zhang, An intrusion tracking watermarking scheme. IEEE Access 7, 141438–141455 (2019)
- C.T. Hsu, J.L. Wu, Multiresolution watermarking for digital images. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. II Analog Digit. Sig. Process. 45(8), 1097–1101 (1998)
- S. Kumar, A.K.R.K. Jha, in Performance Analysis of Segmentation Using SSR Under Different Noise Conditions (IEEE, 2017), pp. 1–4
- S. Kumar, R.K. Jha et al., in Characterization of Supra-Threshold Stochastic Resonance for Uniform Distributed Signal with Laplacian and Gaussian Noise (IEEE, 2017), pp. 1–4
- 11. S. Kumar, B. Panna, R.K. Jha, Medical image encryption using fractional discrete cosine transform with chaotic function. Med. Biolog. Eng. Comput. **57**(11), 2517–2533 (2019)
- 12. C.C. Lai, C.C. Tsai, Digital image watermarking using discrete wavelet transform and singular value decomposition. IEEE Trans. Instrum. Meas. **59**(11), 3060–3063 (2010)

- H. Ma, C. Jia, S. Li, W. Zheng, D. Wu, Xmark: dynamic software watermarking using Collatz conjecture. IEEE Trans. Inf. Forensics Secur. 14(11), 2859–2874 (2019)
- 14. F.A. Petitcolas, Watermarking schemes evaluation. IEEE Sig. Process. Mag. 17(5), 58-64 (2000)
- F. Rahimi, H. Rabbani, A dual adaptive watermarking scheme in contourlet domain for DICOM images. Biomed. Eng. Online 10(1), 53 (2011)
- 16. M. Ramaiya, R. Mishra, Digital security using watermarking techniques via discrete wavelet transform, in *NCSI-2012* (2012)
- 17. N. Ramamurthy, S. Varadarajan, The robust digital image watermarking scheme with back propagation neural network in DWT domain. Proc. Eng. **38**, 3769–3778 (2012)
- A. Roček, M. Javorník et al., Securing a publicly accessible database of medical images using watermarking with direct diagnose capability. Recent Adv. Comput. Sci. 13(24), 79–86 (2014)
- 19. A. Roček et al., Medical image data security based on principles of digital watermarking methods (2012)
- M. Shayan, S. Bhattacharjee, J. Tang, K. Chakrabarty, R. Karri, Bio-protocol watermarking on digital microfluidic biochips. IEEE Trans. Inf. Forensics Secur. 14(11), 2901–2915 (2019)
- 21. S. Shourya, S. Kumar, R.K. Jha, in *Adaptive Fractional Differential Approach to Enhance* Underwater Images (IEEE, 2016), pp. 56–60
- 22. J.H. Song, Y. Zhu, A digital watermarking method by double encryption based on Arnold and Chaos in DCT domain. Appl. Mech. Mater. **65**, 104–107 (2011)
- 23. Y. Tan, J. Qin, X. Xiang, W. Ma, W. Pan, N.N. Xiong, A robust watermarking scheme in YCBCR color space based on channel coding. IEEE Access 7, 25026–25036 (2019)
- 24. M.J. Tsai, K.Y. Yu, Y.Z. Chen, Joint wavelet and spatial transformation for digital watermarking. IEEE Trans. Consum. Electron. **46**(1), 237 (2000)
- 25. C. Wang, X. Li, B. Yang, in *High Capacity Reversible Image Watermarking Based on Integer Transform* (IEEE, 2010), pp. 217–220

Review of Antenna Array for 5G Technology Using mmWave Massive MIMO



775

Kailash V. Karad and Vaibhav S. Hendre

1 Introduction

In today's world, high data rate is prime requirement for any user and any application to be run on OS (operating system). The necessity [1] of high-data-rate transmission is increased drastically because of large number of users and services available in the market. MmWave [2] is viewed as foremost recurrence possibility in 5G may tender extremely towering transmission rate at cellular communication [3]. Massive MIMO is identified like full dimension MIMO, very large multiuser MIMO, hyper-MIMO or a big number antenna structure which clearly indicates use of large number of antennas at Base Station (BS).

In contrast with usual MIMO, large number of antennas are proposed in massive MIMO which concentrates energy intended for smaller regions, radiation efficiency, low level of interference, user throughput, etc. Also, it enlarges cell range or coverage more effectively for higher frequency bands in mmWave as large number of operational antennas, i.e., antenna array can be packed with a small footprint for high power directivity and helps in propagation for worse conditions of it [4]. Antenna arrays at the transmitter are intelligent to adjust radiation patterns with the time as well as frequency referred as spatial beamforming. Antenna arrays are able to do the spatial filtering also. Mainly, it focuses in space [5] at random point for signal whose environment supports multipath propagation as shown in Fig. 1.

The amalgamation of 5G for mmWave spectrum at base station and mobile phone requires highly directional antenna with beamforming [6]. Nowadays many mobile service providers use spectrum of sub 3 GHz. Although, increase in service demand is not able to fulfill the requirement of user, and the solution to this problem comes out from a band of millimeter wave frequency. This band specifically ranges from 30 to 300 GHz as shown in Fig. 2.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_68

K. V. Karad (🖂) · V. S. Hendre

G H Raisoni College of Engineering and Management, Wagholi, Pune, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,



Fig. 2 Millimeter wave band allocation [7]

With this mmWave frequency, 57-64 GHz band as well as 164-200 GHz are found as absorption band for oxygen and water vapor, respectively, which are not appropriate to have propagation because of attenuation from water vapors (mainly occurs by 180 GHz). In short, over the entire mmWave band, 252 GHz spectrum is available for mobile broadband communication [6, 7]. The frequency band 57– 67 GHz is unlicensed V band whereas 71-76 GHz and 81-86 GHz is lightly licensed E band. This band offers bandwidth in terms of gigahertz. E band supports transmission distance up to 500-700 m whereas V band supports up to several kilometers due to oxygen and rain attenuation, respectively. This helps to minimize inter-cell interference. MmWave have small wavelength which in turn results into use of antennas in large scale manner we referred the term as massive MIMO which is best suited at the base stations (BS) of macro cell and small cells. In brief, it is improving the value of directivity, spatial gain, cell coverage, frequency reuse and reduction in the value of path loss which is major impact for mmWave. Ultimately, this will save the setting up time of a BS, space required for it and always for which we think that is cost, will also get reduced [8].

Mainly in case of antenna arrays, geometrical configuration (placing of antennas), individual antenna pattern, array factor, mutual coupling and impedance plays vital role for system performance [9]. Accordingly, geometrical configuration of array in 5G for massive MIMO should be explored and evaluated. This may have rectangular, hexagonal, circular or cylindrical configuration of antenna array which could be premeditated by requisites of number of antenna elements, operating frequency, radiation pattern, directivity (gain), beamwidth, mutual coupling, return loss and effect of all this on area coverage, signal strength of received signal, SINR (signal to noise and interference ratio), throughput, spectral efficiency and the channel capacity must be analyzed. The exploration may through one or many frequencies like 6 GHz, 28 GHz, 38 GHz or 60 GHz from mmWave frequency band and evaluation through different types of antenna elements with desired number of it; likewise microstrip patch, slot, dipole, lens, yagi-uda and many more.

2 Observations About mmWave Bands

2.1 Less Propagation

Misinterpretation about the mmWave is that, higher frequencies propagate less than smaller frequencies at free space as path loss (PL) is deliberated among two antennas (isotropic in nature) for definite frequency or with the help of dipoles.

2.2 Shorter Wavelengths

It is proved [7], shorter wavelengths (higher frequencies) propagates longer than longer wavelengths (lower frequencies) because of narrower beams which are more directional at higher frequencies. This helps to lessen interference, moreover strengthening spatial multiplexing along with access capabilities at cell site.

2.3 Penetration

Penetration of Millimeter wave through solid material is weak (e.g. bricks, concrete) compared to lower frequency signal. At the same time, penetration through wood, cardboard and plastic is good for mmWave communication.

2.4 Attenuation

The key achievement of mmWave band is that, human body or metal objects are less penetrating but they are acting as a good reflector for the frequency of 28 GHz and attenuate more in heavy rain.

2.5 Power

MIMO structure for 5G implementation [8]

Normally, when wavelength is short, then more power is distributed by particles in the signal transmission path and misalignment of beams leads to criticism which needs to be resolve.

Basically, mmWave supports high frequency which results into more path loss during transmission and reception of signal. This can be resolved by using beamforming gain with the massive antenna array structure. As the frequency in mmWave is high, i.e., wavelength is very small, so it is possible to pack antenna arrays into a smaller physical size. This will help us to improve the spectral efficiency as well as bandwidth as multiple antennas will be used for transmission and reception purpose which will provide separate path for it. The received power P_r in a wireless system is given by;

$$P_r = \frac{P_t G_t G_r \lambda^2}{(4\pi)^2 r^2} \tag{1}$$

where P_t symbolize transmitted power, G_t and G_r termed as transmitting and Receiving antenna gain, whereas r is separation distance of transmitting and receiving antenna or range and λ as signal wavelength. The path loss may be setup easily from Eq. (1). From a single base station of macro cell by means of massive antenna array, all the small cells residing in the same macro cell will get serve as shown in Fig. 3. This will help to improve the small cell mobile user's data rate and minimizes path loss, power requirement at base station. On the way to get better antenna array gain, phase shifting of each antenna can be implemented by using phase shifter. This will improve the signal transmission and reception intended to achieve high directivity and gain. Implementation of this leads to highly directed beams referred as a hybrid beamforming and gain of this is depend on the size and dimension of antenna array [**10**].

The existing technology of 4G (LTE or LTE-advanced) with MIMO employed combination of 2-4 compact antennas in signal transmission as well as reception.



In 5G, it is proposed to make use of more than 100 antennas (preferably 128) with massive architecture. This will lead to improve the cell capacity, data rates, enhancement in signal to noise ratio by offering highly directional beam antenna [11].

3 Antenna Array for mmWave Band

As discussed earlier, for minimization of path loss and coverage improvement; directional antennas and beam formation with steering capability is very important at mmWave frequencies. In this section we are going to focus on antenna array construction, simulation methods and parameter measurements with comparative results of it.

3.1 Planner Type Array

The work [12] is mainly deals with three types of planner array, viz. uniform rectangular, hexagonal and circular planner array. These are also referred as, URPA, UHPA and UCPA as given in Fig. 4.

Author designed and simulated the structure of above three antenna array with inter-element spacing of $\lambda/2$ considering the frequency 30 GHz and beyond. Attained results are summarized in Table 1.

Looking at the observations of Table 1, all three antenna configurations have almost same value of gain and beamwidth. Overall, the performance of UHPA is good considering geometrical area and HPBW which helps to fit into compact size because of smaller area. This also proves that, though the operating frequency lies in mmWave band, there is no effect on use of planner antenna array system.



Fig. 4 Planner array configuration in 2D [12]

	1	1	
Parameter/type of array	URPA	UHPA	UCPA
Antenna elements	90	91	91
Geometric area	$22.5 \lambda^2$	$16.24 \lambda^2$	19.64 λ^2
Maximum gain (dB)	42.39	42.63	43.00
HPBW (3 dB)	11.300	10.150	10.820
SLL (dB)	-12.90	-18.86	-17.65

Table 1 Physical dimension and measured parameters for planner antenna arrays

3.2 Lens Antenna Array

In [10] lens antennas for static and mobile user with variation in the size of lens antennas are proposed. This resulted into high directivity and gain compared to nonlens types of antennas. Utmost use of lens at the place of usual phase shifter lessens computational difficulties in beamforming design with power consumption. Here, lens performs the role of virtual phase shifter (passive in nature) which focuses incident EM wave in assured region. It performs important role when used in combination with antenna array. It focuses on signal power to achieve towering directivity (gain) and this power is directed into sub-area covered by array antenna.

A lens with antenna array is referred as N element lens antenna. Here, two types of lens antennas are designed, simulated (using HFSS), and fabricated at operating frequency of 28 GHz, inter-element spacing of 10 mm with the hyperbolic lens (made of polyethylene) having dielectric constant $\varepsilon_r = 2.2$ in a vertically polarized manner. The comparative of antenna array parameters are described with Table 2.

From above geometrical configuration, author compared the performance of SULA and MULA with no lens antenna arrays and found improvement in the directivity, gain, half power beamwidth (HPBW). Specifically, SULA attained gain value of 25 dB (more around 17 dB) and MULA attained gain of 12.5 dB with the small value of HPBW as $\pm 6.5^{\circ}$ in comparison with no lens. In broad view manner, it is clear that making use of lens with antenna array (lens antenna) helps to improve the value of directivity, gain, narrower of beamwidth and beam switching either with static user or mobile user.

Туре	Geometry	Patch size	Position of lens	Beam switching	Application
SULA	Cube $1 \times 1, 2 \times 2, 1 \times 4$	$50\text{mm} \times 50\text{mm} \times 60\text{mm}$	Behind the patch	Not necessary	Static user
MULA	Square $1 \times 4, 4 \times 4$	$3.05 \mathrm{mm} \times 3.05 \mathrm{mm}$	In front of patch	Necessary	Mobile user

 Table 2 Types of lens antenna array with different parameters

Type of array	Element spacing	Gain variation w.r.t. main lobe	Gain variation w.r.t. side lobe
8×8 rectangular	$\lambda \times 2$	3–5 dB	More
64 circular	$\lambda/2$, 3 $\lambda/2$, 5 $\lambda/2$, and 7 $\lambda/2$ as diameter	Not changed	Less
61 hexagonal	λ/2	Not changed	More
16 crisscross	Vertically 2 elements adjacent to each other	3–5 dB	Less

 Table 3
 Summary of antenna array architectures with different shapes

3.3 Antenna Array with Various Shapes

Author [13] proposed four designs of array typically; rectangular, circular, hexagonal and crisscross shape. Firstly, 8×8 rectangular array where spacing between elements is kept as $\lambda \times 2$ to form a square grid along *x* and *y* directions. Secondly, 64 circular arrays with 16 elements in each four concentric circles having diameter $\lambda/2$, $3\lambda/2$, $5\lambda/2$, and $7\lambda/2$ are selected correspondingly. Thirdly, hexagonal array with 61 elements at a spacing of $\lambda/2$ is chosen between adjacent two elements. Lastly, 16 crisscross shape arrays arranged vertically to each other with two 8-elements linear array. Thus, the circular type array hits perfectly in outdoor propagation of mmWave as it covers larger area through which it obtains high gain and directivity compared to other array structure. The summary of all these antenna types is presented in Table 3.

3.4 Patch Array

In [14], use of 57–64 GHz unlicensed band for 5G communication is proposed because of increased outside emanation power level. The author has designed and simulated (in CST) antenna array structure for desired frequency. Formulae for designed structure are taken as follows;

$$\frac{w}{h} \ge 1 \tag{2}$$

$$\varepsilon_{\text{reff}} = \left(\frac{\varepsilon_r + 1}{2}\right) + \left(\frac{\varepsilon_r - 1}{2}\right) \times \left(\sqrt{\left[1 + 12\frac{h}{w}\right]}\right) \tag{3}$$

Fringing effect leads enhancement in patch length by ΔL given as;

$$\Delta L = (0.412 \times h) \times \left[\frac{(\varepsilon_{\text{reff}} + 0.3) \left(\frac{w}{h} + 0.264\right)}{(\varepsilon_{\text{reff}} - 0258) \left(\frac{w}{h} + 0.8\right)} \right]$$
(4)

$$L_{\rm eff} = \frac{c}{2f_r \times \sqrt{\varepsilon_{\rm reff}}} - 2\Delta L \tag{5}$$

The substrate material RT Duroid 5880 (thickness = 0.508 mm) is opted with dielectric constant $\varepsilon_r = 2.2$ for the frequency band of 57–64 GHz resonating around 60 GHz. The schematic of entire patch antennas are shown in Fig. 5.

Antenna having cut in slot as in Fig. 5b gives larger bandwidth with respect to S_{11} characteristic for the said spectrum compared to other shapes. With this conclusion, author designed and fabricated the same structure of antenna arrays with same material specifications. The summary of all antenna parameters with geometry is listed in Table 4 (Fig. 6).

The best suited structure is slot array (1×10) when compared with other structures of Table 4 as the value of gain (15.3 dB) is highest and beamwidth (half power beamwidth—10.2°) is narrower exclusive of SLL (side lobe level).



(a) rectangular patch

(b) broadband patch

(c) elliptical patch

Fig. 5 Microstrip patch antenna element types [14]

Array structure	Geometry	Area (mm ²)	Beamwidth (in o)	SLL (in dB)	Gain (in dBi)
Comb-line array	**** *****	4 × 21	17.0	-4.6	9.9
Probe fed comb-line array	┍ ┶┰┺┰┺<mark>╓┺┰</mark>┺┶ ┑	5 × 38	11.6	-10.3	16.3
Linear series fed array		5 × 27	17.1	-11.4	12.0
Probe fed array (1×10)		5 × 27.5	10.3	-13.2	15.2
Slot array (1×10)		5 × 27.5	10.2	-13.6	15.3

 Table 4
 Comparison of microstrip antenna arrays for different parameters



Fig. 6 Plot of S_{11} against frequency

3.5 Patch Type 2 × 2 Array

Author [11] designed a patch antenna at a frequency of 29 GHz for a mobile handset with two 2×2 antenna array. The orientation of arrays is kept as orthogonal to achieve spatial diversity and polarization diversity. Author design and simulated the said work into Altair FEKO 3D electromagnetic simulation software. In order to obtain flexibility in operation of antenna configuration, it is recommended that each array can be excited at a time or both at the same time.

3.6 Antenna Array (128 Elements) Simulation Analysis

An array of 128 elements are considered [15] for radio propagation simulation in outdoor urban area environment at a frequency of 28, 38 and 60 GHz of mmWave band. By means of ICS Telecom EV software, coverage analysis of basic coverage, signal-to-noise and interference ratio (SNIR) along with throughput is performed. Total 21 transmitters are used to cover an area of 1.352 km² by considering seven points of base station with each having sector of 120°.

Results of Table 5 are very indicative for mmWave frequencies specifically 28, 38 and 60 GHz in the use of 5G technology with respect to area coverage, value of SNIR and throughput.

	•	· ·		01
Frequency (GHz)	Area coverage value (%)/(dBm)	SNIR coverage value (%)		Throughput coverage value (%)
		For 10–15 dB	For 16–90 dB	For 124,470–134,710 kbps
28	35.10 (-116 to -107)	0.47	98.71	80.99
38	30.31 (-126 to -117)	1.56	98.20	58.03
60	26.20 (-126 to -117)	2.58	54.00	24.33

Table 5 Summary of simulation analysis for coverage, SNIR and throughput

4 Applications of mmWave

Today, use of massive MIMO becomes a prominent in view of mmWave applications to support 5G technology. Many applications, technologies have been opened because of usage proposed in mmWave frequency bands. A few are considered here as follows.

4.1 IOT (Internet of Things)

This is a recent trend going on in industries which enabled communication among device to device (D2D) and/or one machine to others with the help of sensors. This involves communication of multiple devices simultaneously in a real-time manner. To have communication between all these, efficient antennas are required along with high speed and large amount of bandwidth. This shows the way to make use of mmWave frequency for such applications. The power consumption and connectivity of all these devices is also a main concern which can be limited by mmWave frequencies [3, 9].

4.2 Vehicular

Nowadays many vehicle safety applications are developed which keeps control on the speed of vehicle, road directions, remotely opening and closing of doors and windows, etc. This needs number of sensor to be active all time, but still there is limitation on sensor range. To increase the range of sensor for generating high data rate use of compact size antenna with automated vehicle is possible which is certainly gifted by mmWave communication.

4.3 Medical

In medical field, imaging is one of the important part for diagnosis of different layers of skin or tissues of the body. The mmWave provides ability to display and measure various parameters associated with human body because of its smaller wavelength. To do imaging with high level resolution, mmWave probes such as co-axial as well as waveguide with integrated structure of antenna into device are preferable.

4.4 Massive MIMO

At present, cellular communication uses MIMO having antenna elements as less than or equal to eight. In 5G, use of mmWave will lead to enhancement in the number of antenna elements from MIMO to massive MIMO which enables count greater than eight to thousands. This will show the way of achieving high speed communication, high gain and highly directive patterns.

5 Discussion

In this paper, we focused on the part of mmWave band for 5G through massive MIMO challenges, advantages and its key features. The frequency from 3 to 300 GHz is primarily pledged for enhancement in data rate, cell capacity, bandwidth, spectral efficiency and throughput by adopting antenna array structure at the transmitter or receiver site. Also, different antenna array structures have been studied like uniform rectangular, circular, hexagonal, cylindrical, elliptical, crisscross with the configuration of 1×4 , 1×10 , 2×2 , 4×4 , 8×8 , 90, 91 or 128 elements. The concept of lens antenna at 28 GHz for static and mobile user (SULA and MULA) is also innovative approach to fulfil the user's requirement of high data rate with lesser power. The authorization for researchers to do work in mmWave frequency band for 5G applications can be understood from simulation of radio propagation model at 28, 38 and 60 GHz. This shows the improvement in cell area coverage, overall throughput and SINR.

Thus, in broad manner, antenna elements in large number with beamswitchingassisted improvement in gain (directivity), SNIR, and narrowing beamwidth with reduced side lobes.

6 Conclusion

As on today, all over the world, research is going on to increase the data rate with the innovative technologies which has forced to make use of mmWave frequency band. These technologies are preparing the base for 5G mobile network services incorporated with massive MIMO. Most of the work from 5G services' point of view has been initiated for the mmWave frequency band, typically at 28, 38 and 60 GHz. The frequency band 57–64 GHz is unlicensed V band whereas 71–76 GHz and 81–86 GHz E-band is lightly licensed which is advantageous and inspiring to researchers in near future. The design of antenna array for mmWave frequency band is a challenging because of its smaller wavelength, but at the same time, it is offering features like larger bandwidth, less power requirement, physically compact or small in size to set up a base station with massive number of antennas, cell coverage and thereby throughput, etc.

References

- S.A. Busari, K.M.S. Huq, S.M.L. Dai, J. Rodriguez, Millimeter-wave massive MIMO communication for future wireless systems: a survey. IEEE Commun. Surv. Tutor. 20(2), 836–869 (2018)
- T.S. Rappaport, Y. Xing, G.R. MacCartney, A.F. Molisch, J. Zhang, Millimeter wave mobile communications for 5G cellular: it will work! IEEE Access 1, 335–349, (2013)
- 3. S. Ghosh, D. Sen, An inclusive survey on array antenna design for millimeter-wave communications. IEEE Access 7, 83137–83161 (2019)
- H. Papadopoulos, Massive MIMO technologies and challenges towards 5G. IEICE Trans. Commun. E99-B(3), 602–620 (2016)
- E. Bjornson, L. Sanguinetti, H. Wymeersch, J. Hoydis, T.L. Marzetta, Massive MIMO is a reality—what is next? five promising research directions for antenna arrays. Sig. Process. 1–20 (2019)
- S. Bhatti, Massive MIMO, mmWave and 5G technology insights and challenges, 3C Tecnol. 2, 498–517 (2019)
- Z. Pi, F. Khan: A millimeter-wave massive MIMO system for next generation mobile broadband, in *IEEE Conference on Signals, Systems and Computers (ASILOMAR)* (Pacific Grove, CA, 2012), pp 693–698
- Z. Gao, L. Dai, D. Mi, Z. Wang, M.A. Imran, M.Z. Shakir, mmWave massive-MIMO-based wireless backhaul for the 5G ultra-dense network. IEEE Wirel. Commun. 22(5), 13–21 (2015)
- E. Yaacoub, M. Husseini, H. Ghaziri, An overview of research topics and challenges for 5G massive MIMO antennas, in *IEEE Middle East Conference on Antennas and Propagation* (*MECAP*) (Beirut, 2016, pp. 1–4)
- Y.J. Cho, G. Suk, B. Kim, D.K. Kim, C. Chae, RF lens-embedded antenna array for mmWave MIMO: design and performance. IEEE Commun. Mag. 56(7), 42–48 (2018)
- G. Gampala, C.J. Reddy, Design of millimeter wave antenna arrays for 5G cellular applications using FEKO, in *IEEE/ACES International Conference on Wireless Information Technology and Systems (ICWITS) and Applied Computational Electromagnetics (ACES)* (Honolulu, HI, 2016), pp. 1–2
- W. Tan, S.D. Assimonis, M. Matthaiou, Y. Han, X. Li, S. Jin: Analysis of different planar antenna arrays for mmWave massive MIMO systems, in *IEEE 85th Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC)* (Spring, Sydney, NSW, 2017), pp. 1–5

- Z.X. Ge, Q. Li, M. Guizani, Y. Zhang, 5G millimeter-wave antenna array: design and challenges. IEEE Wirel. Commun. 24(2), 106–112 (2017)
- S. Ghosh, D. Sen, Design of Millimeter-Wave Microstrip Antenna Array for 5G Communications—A Comparative Study (Springer International Publishing AG, Part of Springer Nature, 2018), pp. 952–960
- J.E.A. Pena, R.A.G. Bustamante, Radio propagation Simulations in 28 GHz, 38 GHz and 60 GHz with 128 elements massive MIMO array for 5G networks, in *IEEE MTT-S Latin America Microwave Conference (LAMC 2018)* (Arequipa, Peru, 2018), pp. 1–3
- M. Matalatala, M. Deruyck, E. Tanghe, L. Martens, W. Joseph, Performance evaluation of 5G millimeter-wave cellular access networks using a capacity-based network deployment tool, in *Hindawi, mobile information systems*, vol. 2017, pp. 1–11 (2017)

Cattle Health Monitoring and Tracking System



789

R. Boopathi Rani, Dilshad Wahab, George Benedict Dung Dung, and Meruva Reddy Sai Seshadri

1 Introduction

The basic idea of the project is to help the farmer to treat the cattle which is having some disease before the situation of the cattle reaches the last stage, thus preventing the loss of cattle. The method that we are planning to use to detect whether the cattle is having any disease or not is to measure the various common parameters and compare them to healthy cattle. Any animal with any disease will show variations in the heart rate, temperature and sleep patterns when compared to healthy cattle. The idea is to create a wireless body area network device to measure the heart rate, the body temperature and sleep patterns of the cattle hence finding it out whether the cattle are healthy or not and inform the farmer. This will help the farmer to treat the infected cattle hence preventing the spread of the disease to other animals and hence saving the infected animal.

The subject or animal that we are considered for the project is cow or horse since dairy industry owns a very large percentage of the animal husbandry and is a major source of income for farmers other than their farming and poultry and horse because the same system tests can be run on a horse.

1.1 Applications

• The project is aimed to detect the infected cattle and resulting in the required treatment to cure the disease.

R. Boopathi Rani $(\boxtimes) \cdot D$. Wahab $\cdot G$. B. D. Dung $\cdot M$. R. S. Seshadri National Institute of Technology Puducherry, Puducherry, India e-mail: rbrani@nitpy.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_69

- To reduce the loss to the farmer caused due to the death of the infected cattle and even due to spreading of the disease.
- To increase the gain out of the animal husbandry by maintaining healthy cattle, hence increasing the production rate.

2 Literature Review

There are different kinds of diseases affecting animals. It is essential to find the animal's health and monitoring its health condition. Lovett et al. proposed monitoring using infrared thermography. It was used to find the foot to mouth disease in the cow [1]. Handcock et al. proposed GPS collars for finding the location of the animal. They also used a wireless sensor network (WSN) and satellite remote sensing technique to find the animal location and its behaviour [2]. Nadimi et al. proposed monitoring the animal presence and pasture time using Zigbee-based WSN [3]. Hopster et al. proposed a heart rate monitoring system during different time instants and situations to know the stress response of an animal. For the recording of heart rate, surface electrocardiograms (ECG) are often used [4]. Pavan Sikkha et al. mentioned in their paper about the way how wireless technologies can be used for animal tracking, but their paper lacked any kind of health parameter measurements for animals subjected under tracking [5]. Tim Wark, et al. proposed a system for animal control and tracking, but the system is very expensive and utilizes costly sensor and technologies [6]. The papers [7, 8] were referenced to create a smart sensor network for the various sensors involved. Stewart et al., proposed a system to evaluate stress in dairy cows using infrared thermography, and these non-invasive measures were kept in mind while designing the system [9]. If we analyse the proposed systems, those are complicated, inconvenient or costly.

Considering the practical difficulties, the simple system is proposed in this paper which is also at affordable price. The proposed system monitors the health of a cattle and informs the farmer when the parameters deviate from the normal values. This system monitors the temperature, heart rate and sleeping pattern. The normal values for these parameters are given in Table 1. The proposed system continuously monitors these parameters and informs the farmer when the deviation is found significant, i.e., when the animal is restless, diseased and also too tired.

Table 1 Recommended optimal values \$\$\$	Optimal temperature range	98–104 °F	
	Optimal heart rate range	48-84 beats per min	
	Optimal sleep duration	3.9 h per day	



Fig. 1 Basic block diagram of the proposed system

3 Hardware Details

The input from all the sensors in the health tracker will be taken in by the microcontroller. And if any variation or irregularities in the readings are noted, then the owner of the cattle will be intimated about these changes so that proper action could be taken. This process of informing is done by the GSM network module. The block diagram of the system is shown in Fig. 1. This system uses Arduino UNO microcontroller board, Pulse Rate Amped sensor, MLX90614 temperature sensor, MPU6050 (gyroscope and accelerometer) and GSM Module (Adafruit FONA 808 module).

Various software used:

- 1. Arduino software IDE
- 2. MATLAB.

Programing language used was C and Embedded C. Various interfaces involved:

- 1. MLX90614 temperature sensor uses the I2C protocol.
- 2. Pulse Rate Amped sensor uses Serial communication.
- 3. MPU6050 gyroscope and accelerometer use Serial communication.
- 4. GSM Module (Adafruit FONA 808 module) uses Serial communication.

4 System Modelling and Design

An embedded system is a blend of hardware and software and possibly other mechanical parts designed to perform a definite function. Theoretically, sensors send raw data to the microcontroller. The microcontroller converts the raw data to the required readings and an SMS is sent to mobile phone with the help of a GSM modem using AT commands. Figure 2 shows the proposed system implementation model.



Fig. 2 Implementation model

The project is aimed to detect the infected cattle and resulting in the required treatment to cure the disease. A wireless body area network device is created to measure the heart rate, body temperature and sleep patterns of the livestock using the appropriate sensors (Pulse Rate Amped sensor, MLX90614 temperature sensor, MPU6050 gyroscope and accelerometer) which help to detect the health of the cattle and hence report back any fluctuations in the readings taken to the farmer using GSM Module (Adafruit FONA 808 module). The main interfacing board used for this is Arduino Uno programming board.

5 Implementation and Results

Non-contact temperature measurement is carried out using an infrared thermometer MLX90614. Figure 3 shows the temperature sensor interface and its output. Plugand-play heart-rate sensor is used to count the pulses. This is used to measure the heart rate of cattle. Figure 4 shows the heart rate sensor interface and its output. The gyro module is MPU6050 chip which communicates with the microcontroller board through I2C serial communication via the serial clock and data. Figure 5 shows the gyro module interface and its output. GSM SIM808 is used in this system. Figure 6 shows GSM interface and measured parameters such as latitude, longitude, the temperature in Fahrenheit and heart rate.

The testing of the integrated system was done, and the results of all the sensors were obtained. All the sensors were working properly and the results were sent to a mobile phone through the GSM Module. The integrated system is shown in Fig. 7. This can be designed as a belt and put on the neck of a cattle as shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 3 Temperature sensor interfacing and results on serial monitor



Fig. 4 Heart rate sensor interfacing, its results on the serial plotter and on the serial monitor



Fig. 5 Gyroscope and accelerometer interfacing and its results on the serial monitor

6 Conclusion

This paper presents a proposed system which is a wireless body area network device to measure the heart rate, body temperature and sleep patterns of the livestock using the appropriate sensors. This helps to detect the health of the cattle and hence report back any fluctuations in the readings taken to the farmer using GSM Module. The main





Fig. 7 The integrated system

interfacing board used for this is Arduino Uno programming board. The Arduino code for sending messages from the GSM module is written, and the same is done for all the three sensors. This proposed system can be successfully used to increase the yield and health index of cattle coming from the animal husbandry sector hence improving the GDP by a very large fraction. It will not only help the farmers but the vets could use this efficiently to track the health of the cattle.

References

1. K. Rainwater-Lovett, J.M. Pacheco, C. Packer, L.L. Rodriguez, Detection of foot-and-mouth disease virus infected cattle using infrared thermography. Vet. J. **180**, 317–324 (2009)

Fig. 6 GSM module interfacing and output

- R.N. Handcock, D.L. Swain, G.J. Bishop-Hurley, K.P. Pattison, T. Wark, P. Valencia, P. Corke, C.J. O'Neill, Monitoring animal behaviour and environmental interactions using wireless sensor networks, GPS collars and satellite remote sensing. Int. J. Sci. Eng. Res. 7(3) (2016)
- E.S. Nadimi, H.T. Søgaarda, T. Bakb, F.W. Oudshoorna, ZigBee-based wireless sensor networks for monitoring animal presence and pasture time in a strip of new grass. Comput. Electron. Agric. 74, 254–278 (2010)
- Hopster, H. Blokhuis, H.J.: Validation of a heart-rate monitor for measuring a stress response in dairy cows. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 465–476
- 5. P. Sikka et al., Wireless sensor devices for animal tracking and control, in *Proceedings of the* 29th Annual IEEE International Conference on Local Computer Networks (Australia, 2004)
- 6. T. Wark et al., *The Design and Evaluation of a Mobile Sensor/Actuator Network for Autonomous Animal Control* (CSIRO, Australia, ACM, 2007). 978-1-59593-638-7/07/0004
- M. Sveda, R. Vrba, Integrated smart sensor networking framework for sensor based appliances. IEEE Sens. J. 3(5), 579–586 (2003)
- D. Wobschall, Networked sensor monitoring using the universal IEEE 1451 standard. IEEE Instrum. Meas. Mag. 18–22 (2008)
- M. Stewart, J.R. Webster, G.A. Verkerk, A.L. Schaefer, J.J. Colyn, K.J. Stafford, Non-invasive measurement of stress in dairy cows using infrared thermography. Physiol. Behav. 92, 520–525 (2007)

Utilization and Selection of Best SU Act as Relay via Cooperative NOMA (CNOMA)-Based CRNs for Next-Generation (5G) Communications



Ashok Kumar, Mani Shekhar Gupta, Krishan Kumar, and Sumit Kumar

1 Introduction

In a couple of years, Non-Orthogonal Multiple Access (NOMA) being the center of attraction for the researcher to facilitate multiple users in powdered form on the same time/frequency bands to improve the spectral efficiency of 5G communication over orthodox Orthogonal Multiple Access (OMA) in CRNs [4, 6, 8, 13].

Usually, the signal received at the destination through direct and indirect path is combined with the utilization of space diversity to mitigate various impairment [9, 11] of channel. Relays are used to create an indirect route. These relays are dedicated and user-oriented. The relays which standalone and not been selected by among users are known as dedicated relays. Outage probability of two users and relay selection by two-stage techniques are examined through a dedicated relays Cooperative NOMA (CNOMA) [2, 7, 14]. However, in the ad hoc network, installation of dedicated relays is robust and sophisticated. The user-oriented relays are utilized among users. In this case, users are being used as relays to improve the reliability of transmission for weaker channel gains user because more energetic gain users decode the other users signal through Successive Interference Cancellation (SIC) [3, 12]. Moreover, in relay processing, all available users can participate and enhanced processing complexity on SIC and through the grouping of (far and near) users with near user act as a relay for away user [1, 5].

The left of the paper is sorted as Sect. 2 presents a CNOMA-based CRNs system model. The examination of performance is to be done in Sect. 3. Sections 4 and 5 illustrate the discussion of results and conclusion, respectively.

National Institute of Technology Hamirpur, Hamirpur, India

S. Kumar

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_70

A. Kumar $(\boxtimes) \cdot M$. S. Gupta \cdot K. Kumar

Indian Institute of Information Technology Una, Una, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

2 System Model

Taking a downlink underlay, NOMA-based CRNs with a base station (BS) which unicast/multicast the multiplexed signal to a primary user (PU) and a bunch of (N) secondary users (SUs) in the first slot, respectively. During the second slot of time, all SUs have decoded their signals utilizing Successive Interference Cancellation (SIC). Best SU (n^*) is being selected which further act as a relay to retransmits the remaining signal to PU. Both the signal is reached to PU (from BS as well as best SU), and the best signal is to be selected through selection combining techniques (Fig. 1).

In first slot of time, the multiplexed signal at BS is defined as $x_b = a_p x_p + a_{s_n} x_{s_n}$ aired to PU and multiple SUs with unit power, where x_p and x_{s_n} are signal of PU and *N* SUs, respectively. a_p and a_{s_n} are the corresponding power coefficient with $a_{s_n} < a_p$ and $a_{s_n}^2 + a_p^2 = 1$, i.e. $n \in (1, 2, ..., N)$. Thus, the signal observed at PU and *n* SUs is expressed as

$$y_{b,p} = \sqrt{P_{\rm BS}} x_b h_{b,p} + w_{b,p} \tag{1}$$

$$y_{b,s_n} = \sqrt{P_{\text{BS}} x_b h_{b,s_n}} + w_{b,s_n} \tag{2}$$

where P_{BS} mentions the BS power, $h_{b,i}$ and $w_{b,i}$ interprets the channel coefficients and Gaussian noise [10, 15] between a BS and node *i*, i.e. $i \in (p, s_n)$, respectively.

Therefore, the received Signal-to-Interference-plus-Noise-Ratio (SINR) at PU is written as

$$\gamma_{b,p} = \frac{\rho a_p^2 |h_{b,p}|^2}{\rho a_{s_n}^2 |h_{b,p}|^2 + 1}.$$
(3)

Meanwhile, SUs are decoding the high priority, i.e. PU signal first with integration of SIC at *n* SUs to detect PU signal is expressed as

$$\gamma_{b,p \to s_n} = \frac{\rho a_p^2 |h_{b,s_n}|^2}{\rho a_{s_n}^2 |h_{b,s_n}|^2 + 1},$$
(4)



Fig. 1 System model

Utilization and Selection of Best SU Act as Relay ...

and the SINR at *n* SUs can be derived as

$$\gamma_{b,s_n} = \rho a_{s_n}^2 \left| h_{b,s_n} \right|^2. \tag{5}$$

where $\rho \simeq \frac{P_{BS}}{N_0} \simeq \frac{P_{Sn}}{N_0}$ is assumed without loss of generality. In second phase, after decoding all SUs signal, then the best SU, i.e. (s_{n^*}) reencode and retransmit the remaining signal, i.e. $x_{s_n*} = a_p x_p$ to PU. Thus, the signal observed at PU comprised as

$$y_{s_{n^*},p} = \sqrt{P_{S_n}} h_{s_{n^*},p} x_{s_{n^*}} + w_{s_{n^*},p}$$
(6)

and the corresponding SINR is represented as

$$\gamma_{s_{n^*},p} = \rho a_p^2 |h_{s_{n^*},p}|^2.$$
⁽⁷⁾

The best relay or SU selection is to be completed by

$$s_{n^*} = \arg\max(\gamma_{b,s_n}) \tag{8}$$

3 **Performance Evalution**

3.1 **Outage Probability of SUs**

The SUs outage probability mathematically expressed as

$$P_{\text{out},s} = P\left(\gamma_{b,p\to s_n} < \tau_p\right) + P\left(\gamma_{b,p\to s_n} \ge \tau_p, \gamma_{b,s_n} < \tau_{s_n}\right) \tag{9}$$

where $\tau_p = 2^{2C_{\text{out},p}} - 1$ and $\tau_{s_n} = 2^{C_{\text{out},s_n}} - 1$ denote threshold SINR correspondingly associated with $2C_{out,p}$ and C_{out,s_n} outage capacities of PU and n SUs, respectively.

Substituting all given values into (9) and rearranged as

$$P_{\text{out},s} = P\left(\frac{\rho a_p^2 |h_{b,s_n}|^2}{\rho a_s^2 |h_{b,s_n}|^2 + 1} < \tau_p\right) + P\left(\frac{\rho a_p^2 |h_{b,s_n}|^2}{\rho a_s^2 |h_{b,s_n}|^2 + 1} \ge \tau_p, \ \rho a_s^2 |h_{b,s_n}|^2 < \tau_{s_n}\right)$$

After simplification, the expression is rearranged as

$$= P\left(\left|h_{b,s_n}\right|^2 < \frac{\theta}{\rho}\right) + P\left(\left|h_{b,s_n}\right|^2 \ge \frac{\theta}{\rho}, \left|h_{b,s_n}\right|^2 < \frac{\phi}{\rho}\right)$$

where $\theta = \frac{\tau_p}{a_p^2 - \tau_p a_{s_n}^2}$ and $\phi = \frac{\tau_{s_n}}{a_{s_n}^2}$.

The above expression is concluded as

$$P_{\text{out},s_n} = P\left(\left|h_{b,s_n}\right|^2 < \frac{\eta}{\rho}\right) \tag{10}$$

where $\eta = \max(\theta, \phi)$.

The pdf of $f_{|h_{b,s_n}|^2}$ due to order statistics can be given as

$$f_{|h_{b,s_n}|^2}(x) = \frac{N!}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} f_{|h_{b,s}|^2}(x) \times \left(F_{|h_{b,s}|^2}(x)\right)^{n-1} \\ \times \left(1 - F_{|h_{b,s}|^2}(x)\right)^{N-n}$$

Further it can be simplified as

$$f_{|h_{b,s_n}|^2}(x) = \frac{N!}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} \frac{1}{\lambda_{b,s}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{k} (-1)^k e^{\frac{-x(N-n+k+1)}{\lambda_{b,s}}}$$
(11)

From (10) and (11) provides

$$P_{\text{out},s} = \frac{N!}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} \frac{1}{\lambda_{b,s}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{k} (-1)^k \int_0^{\frac{n}{p}} e^{\frac{-x(N-n+k+1)}{\lambda_{b,s}}} dx$$

After solving above expression gives outage probability of SUs as

$$P_{\text{out},s} = \frac{N!}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{k} (-1)^k \left(\frac{1 - e^{\frac{-\eta(N-n+k+1)}{\rho\lambda_{b,s}}}}{N-n+k+1}\right)$$
(12)

3.2 Outage Probability of PU

The outage probability of a PU is being calculated through

$$P_{\text{out},p} = P_{\text{out,dir}} \times P_{\text{out,indir}}$$
(13)

Taking

$$P_{\text{out,dir}} = P\left(\gamma_{b,p} < \tau_p\right)$$
$$= P\left(\frac{\rho a_p^2 |h_{b,p}|^2}{\rho a_{s_n}^2 |h_{b,p}|^2 + 1} < \tau_p\right)$$
$$= P\left(|h_{b,p}|^2 < \frac{\theta}{\rho}\right)$$
$$P_{\text{out,dir}} = 1 - e^{\frac{-\theta}{\rho}}$$
(14)

now taking

$$P_{\text{out,indir}} = P\left\{\min\left(\gamma_{b,p\to s_{n^*}}, \gamma_{s_{n^*},p}\right) < \tau_p\right\}$$

Generally, it can be written as

$$= \prod_{n=1}^{N} P\left\{\min\left(\gamma_{b,p\to s_{n}}, \gamma_{s_{n},p}\right) < \tau_{p}\right\}$$
$$= \prod_{n=1}^{N} \left[1 - P\left\{\min\left(\gamma_{b,p\to s_{n}}, \gamma_{s_{n},p}\right) < \tau_{p}\right\}\right]$$
$$= \prod_{n=1}^{N} \left[1 - P\left(\gamma_{b,p\to s_{n}} \ge \tau_{p}\right) P\left(\gamma_{s_{n},p} \ge \tau_{p}\right)\right]$$
(15)

Substituting provided values into (15), gets

$$= \prod_{n=1}^{N} \left[1 - P\left(\frac{\rho a_{p}^{2} |h_{b,s_{n}}|^{2}}{\rho a_{s_{n}}^{2} |h_{b,s_{n}}|^{2} + 1} \ge \tau_{p} \right) P\left(\rho a_{p}^{2} |h_{s_{n^{*}},p}|^{2} \ge \tau_{p} \right) \right]$$
$$= \prod_{n=1}^{N} \left[1 - P\left(|h_{b,s_{n}}|^{2} < \frac{\theta_{n}}{\rho} \right) P\left(|h_{s_{n},p}|^{2} < \frac{\Phi_{n}}{\rho} \right) \right]$$

Therefore,

$$P_{\text{out, indir}} = \prod_{n=1}^{N} \left[1 - e^{\frac{-\theta_n}{\rho}} \times e^{\frac{-\Phi_n}{\rho}} \right]$$
(16)

where $\Phi_n = \frac{\tau_p}{a_p^2}$, pdf of $P\left(\left|h_{b,s_n}\right|^2 < \frac{\theta_n}{\rho}\right) = e^{\frac{-\theta_n}{\rho}}$ and $P\left(\left|h_{s_n,p}\right|^2 < \frac{\Phi_n}{\rho}\right) = e^{\frac{-\Phi_n}{\rho}}$, respectively.

Substituting (14) and (16) into (13), gets outage probability of a PU as

$$P_{\text{out},p} = \prod_{n=1}^{N} \left[1 - e^{\frac{-(\theta_n + \Phi_n)}{\rho}} \right] \times \left[1 - e^{\frac{-\theta}{\rho}} \right]$$
(17)

3.3 Outage Capacity of SUs

From (12) can be simplified for an SU is to be expressed as

$$P_{\text{out},s} = 1 - e^{\frac{-\eta}{\rho\lambda_{b,s}}}$$
(18)

At high ρ , assumed $e^x = 1 + x$ the expression can be modified as

$$P_{\text{out},s} = \frac{\eta}{\rho \lambda_{b,s}}$$

The outage capacity of SUs depends on the value of τ_{s_n} , so that

$$P_{\text{out},s} = \frac{\frac{\tau_{s_n}}{a_{s_n}^2}}{\rho \lambda_{b,s}}$$
$$P_{\text{out},s} \times \rho \lambda_{b,s} = \frac{\tau_{s_n}}{a_{s_n}^2}$$
$$P_{\text{out},s} \times \rho \lambda_{b,s} a_{s_n}^2 = 2^{C_{\text{out},s_n}} - 1$$

Therefore, outage capacity of SUs is written as

$$C_{\text{out},s_n} = \log_2 \left(1 + P_{\text{out},s} \rho \lambda_{b,s} a_{s_n}^2 \right) \tag{19}$$

3.4 Outage Capacity of PU

Similarly, from (17), expression can be rewritten as

$$P_{\text{out},p} = \prod_{n=1}^{N} \frac{\theta_n}{\rho}$$
(20)

where letting $\left[1 - e^{\frac{-\theta}{\rho}}\right] = 1$, $e^x = 1 + x$ and $\theta_n \gg \Phi_n$ at high ρ .

802

Utilization and Selection of Best SU Act as Relay ...

For simplicity taking n = 1, the expression can be defined as

$$P_{\text{out},p} = \frac{\tau_p}{\left(a_p^2 - \tau_p a_{s_n}^2\right)\rho}$$

where $\theta_n = \frac{\tau_p}{a_p^2 - \tau_p a_{s_n}^2}$.

$$\rho a_p^2 P_{\text{out},p} = \tau_p \left(1 + \rho a_{s_n}^2 P_{\text{out},p} \right)$$
$$\frac{\rho a_p^2 P_{\text{out},p}}{1 + \rho a_{s_n}^2 P_{\text{out},p}} = 2^{2C_{\text{out},p}} - 1$$

Thus, the outage capacity of a PU for n = 1 is to be illustrated as

$$C_{\text{out},p} = \frac{1}{2} \log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\rho a_p^2 P_{\text{out},p}}{1 + \rho a_{s_n}^2 P_{\text{out},p}} \right)$$
(21)

Now, outage sum capacity of given system is to be represented as

$$C_{\text{out,sum}} = C_{\text{out,}p} + C_{\text{out,}s_n} \tag{22}$$

4 Results and Discussion

BS and PU lie at center (0, 0) and edge (1, 1) of the cell simultaneously, and *N* SUs are distributed in between them. The channel gain $\lambda_{j,k} = d_{j,k}^{-\xi}$ with $\xi = 3$ and $d_{j,k}$ defines the path loss factor for urban areas and normalized distance between (j, k) nodes, respectively. Taking $C_{\text{out},p} = C_{\text{out},s_n} = 0.5$ bps/Hz along with associated $a_p^2 = 0.86$ and $a_{s_n}^2 = 0.14$ coefficients.

Figure 2 shows the comparison between proposed CNOMA and orthodox OMA through DF technique of relaying in given CRNs. The related figure depicts the analyses results which are equal to the simulated solutions. Simultaneously, the proposed CNOMA provides outstanding behavior over OMA which is being offered in Fig. 2. Outage behavior of PU and SUs is continuously enhanced and reduced with the rising value of ρ , respectively. The intersection point on outage probabilities curves of SUs and PU represents the approximate assignment powers to SUs (14%) and PU (86%) at ($\rho = 10 \text{ dB}$) of the total system power, respectively. Therefore, PU behaves well than SU and OMA also, as given in Fig. 2.

The outage sum capacity of CNOMA and OMA has been depicted through Fig. 3 w.r.t. different values of ρ . Moreover, outage capacity of PU under CNOMA is gradually enhanced initially then becomes constant along ρ due to presence of noise



Fig. 2 Impact of outage on the proposed CNOMA and OMA in DF technique with power allocation coefficients, $a_p^2 = 0.86$ and $a_{s_n}^2 = 0.14$ and target rates, $C_{\text{out},p} = C_{\text{out},s_n} = 0.5$ bps/Hz for PE and SE, respectively



Fig. 3 Comparing impact on outage capacities of CNOMA and OMA with $a_p^2 = 0.86$, $a_{s_n}^2 = 0.14$ and $C_{\text{out},p} = C_{\text{out},s_n} = 0.5$ bps/Hz for PE and SE, respectively

in the denominator as compared to OMA. The outage capacities of both PU and SUs increase along ρ under CNOMA but behaves much better than the existing orthodox OMA technique, as shown in Fig. 3. Thus, the outage sum capacity of CNOMA shows outstanding behavior over OMA.

5 Conclusion

This paper concludes that the outage probabilities and capacities of SUs, as well as a PU for the given CNOMA, outperform over orthodox OMA with implementing DF relaying technique in CRNs, respectively. The closed-form solutions of outage capacity and probabilities are also discussed along with the comparison of sum capacity of the system as mentioned earlier to OMA technique through simulation results.

References

- Z. Ding, H. Dai, H.V. Poor, Relay selection for cooperative NOMA. IEEE Wirel. Commun. Lett. 5(4), 416–419 (2016)
- Z. Ding, M. Peng, H.V. Poor, Cooperative non-orthogonal multiple access in 5g systems. IEEE Commun. Lett. 19(8), 1462–1465 (2015)
- 3. Z. Ding, Z. Yang, P. Fan, H.V. Poor, On the performance of non-orthogonal multiple access in 5g systems with randomly deployed users. IEEE Sig. Process. Lett. **21**(12), 1501–1505 (2014)
- M.S. Gupta, K. Kumar, Progression on spectrum sensing for cognitive radio networks: a survey, classification, challenges and future research issues. J. Netw. Comput. Appl. 143, 47–76 (2019)
- J. He, Z. Tang, Low-complexity user pairing and power allocation algorithm for 5g cellular network non-orthogonal multiple access. Electron. Lett. 53(9), 626–627 (2017)
- A. Kumar, K. Kumar, Multiple access schemes for cognitive radio networks: a survey. Phys. Commun. 38, 100953 (2020)
- A. Kumar, K. Kumar, Relay sharing with DF and AF techniques in NOMA assisted cognitive radio networks. Phys. Commun., 101143 (2020)
- A. Kumar, K. Kumar, M.S. Gupta, S. Kumar, A survey on NOMA techniques for 5g scenario. Available at SSRN 3573579 (2020)
- S. Kumar, A.K.R.K. Jha, in Performance Analysis of Segmentation Using SSR Under Different Noise Conditions (IEEE, 2017), pp. 1–4
- S. Kumar, R.K. Jha et al., in Characterization of Supra-Threshold Stochastic Resonance for Uniform Distributed Signal with Laplacian and Gaussian Noise (IEEE, 2017), pp. 1–4
- 11. S. Kumar, B. Panna, R.K. Jha, Medical image encryption using fractional discrete cosine transform with chaotic function. Med. Biol. Eng. Comput. **57**(11), 2517–2533 (2019)
- Y. Liu, Z. Ding, M. Elkashlan, H.V. Poor, Cooperative non-orthogonal multiple access with simultaneous wireless information and power transfer. IEEE J. Sel. Areas Commun. 34(4), 938–953 (2016)
- B. Makki, K. Chitti, A. Behravan, M.S. Alouini, A survey of NOMA: current status and open research challenges. IEEE Open J. Commun. Soc. 1, 179–189 (2020)
- 14. J. Men, J. Ge, Performance analysis of non-orthogonal multiple access in downlink cooperative network. IET Commun. **9**(18), 2267–2273 (2015)
- 15. S. Shourya, S. Kumar, R.K. Jha, in *Adaptive Fractional Differential Approach to Enhance Underwater Images* (IEEE, 2016), pp. 56–60

Performance Comparison of FinFET-Based Different Current Mirror Topologies



Monika and Poornima Mittal

1 Introduction

The current mirror (CM) is an accomplished and significant part of analog circuits. It produces a mirror image of an input current at a high impedance output node [1]. A current mirror can be find in various applications such as active load, current amplifier, current source, biasing in operational transconductance amplifiers (OTAs), operational amplifiers (Op-amps), operational mirrored amplifiers, analog filters, current conveyors, current-feedback op-amps, digital-to-analog converters, and analog-to-digital converters, etc. [2–4]. Thus, CM plays a crucial role in these integrated circuits. Performance criteria of current mirrors which are also essential are bandwidth, input/output compliance voltage, output resistance, input resistance and accuracy [1]. One of the current mirror's parameter i.e. accuracy can be defined as how much a precise copy of input current mirrored to the output and it can be given as a ratio which is called percentage error ratio (PER), whereas, the input/output compliance voltage is represented as the minimum voltage at the output of a current source while it attempts to produce the desired matched current.

Utmost performance requirement of the current mirror includes a high accuracy which is essential for many applications like bio amplifiers, implantable micro stimulators and biomedical circuits [4]. However, Bluetooth filters, operational amplifiers, universal bi-quad filters and biomedical circuits require low compliance voltage CMs and used in low-voltage applications [5]. Current mirrors that have high output resistance and low input resistance are used to minimize the loading effect, and this proficiency can be used to improve power supply rejection ratio, DC gain and common-mode rejection ratio which is a crucial factor for differential input pairs [1,

Monika \cdot P. Mittal (\boxtimes)

e-mail: poornimamittal@dtu.ac.in

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_71

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Delhi Technological University, New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

6]. Further, current mirrors with high bandwidth required in high-speed circuits such as high-speed current-mode amplifiers, current steering digital-to-analog converters, current conveyors, etc. [2, 7]. Many CMs have been reported earlier in the literature with improvements of different parameters. Low compliance voltage has achieved in low-voltage cascode CM, high swing cascode current mirror, etc. [8, 9]. Whereas, higher output resistance has seen in active feedback CM, regulated cascode CM, self-cascode MOSFET CM, etc. [1, 10].

Due to the three-dimensional (3-D) structure of FinFET, it has superior control over the drain–source channel and leakage current which is the main reason behind short channel effects (SCEs). Also, using near-intrinsic channel doping can be further improving threshold voltage variation which provoked due to random dopant fluctuations [11, 12]. Various digital applications like multiplexers are designed in the literature and compared with CMOS technology [13, 14]. Still, there are much advancement which enhanced in layout and technology of CMOS logic, pass transistors logic, etc., and all these techniques are used with different technology node for low power and low-voltage applications [15–17]. Therefore, in this paper, different CM topologies based on FinFET are designed and analyzed in terms of accuracy, output compliance voltage and output resistance.

This paper is arranged in a total of four sections with the current introduction as Sect. 1. Further, schematics and characteristics of different current mirrors are discussed in Sect. 2, whereas the analysis results are illustrated in Sect. 3. Finally, important outcomes are summarized in Sect. 4.

2 Schematic Diversity for Current Mirror

In this section, figure of merit (FoMs) of CM, i.e., percentage error ratio (PER), output compliance voltage and output resistance will be discussed. The PER is given as

$$\frac{I_{\rm out} - I_{\rm in}}{I_{\rm in}} \times 100\% \tag{1}$$

Reciprocal of output current's derivative gives output resistance. The voltage where the output current is similar to input current is called as output compliance voltage. For better performance, it should be low because it gives a higher compliance range. The voltage $V_{\text{DG-OUT}} = 0$ V will maintain the output transistor in saturation. Thus, for accurate mirroring behavior, output voltage should be

$$V_{\rm OUT} = V_{\rm CV} = V_{\rm GS-OUT} = V_{\rm DS-OUT}$$
(2)

where V_{CV} is output compliance voltage, and V_{GS-OUT} and V_{DS-OUT} represent gate– source voltage and drain–source voltage of output leg of circuit, respectively.

The basic topology of CM based on FinFET is shown in Fig. 1a, wherein the


Fig. 1 Topologies of basic current mirror; a Conventional, b Wilson, c Improved Wilson and d Cascode

channel current for both transistor M1 and M2 is equal, if the gate–source voltage of two matched FinFET devices is equal. Here, transistor M1 acts as the reference transistor and M2 as the mirroring transistor. To carry out the current mirroring (i.e., $I_{d1} = I_{d2}$), both the transistors must remain in saturation, and their lengths should also match (L1 = L2). The conventional current mirror can be achieved from two

transistors in which one transistor has diode connection and the second transistor is current sourced by a diode-connected transistor. The diode connection provides basic gate–source voltage to the output transistor. When the aspect ratio of M2 is greater than M1, then CM amplifies the input current [1].

Further, the output current (M2's drain current) is comparable to the input current (M1's drain current), if M1 and M2 run in the saturation region. Similar to MOSFETbased current mirror, in FinFET CM, the circuit will work as an amplifier if the aspect ratio of M2 is greater than M1. The transistor should work in a saturation region to exhibit a good current source. Though a better matching accuracy is achieved for conventional CM, a lower output resistance is obtained. Hence, here trade-off can be seen between accuracy and output resistance. For further increased accuracy, we move toward different CM topology, which is called Wilson CM (Fig. 1b). Wilson current mirror circuit derived using three FinFETs and gives copied value of input current at output side. In this architecture, transistor M3 provides a shunt-series type negative current feedback which gives higher output resistance than conventional CM. Here, it is observed as a drawback that Wilson current mirror generates large input and output voltage while it should be minimum:

$$V_{o\min} = V_{\rm Th} + 2V_{\rm DS\,sat} \tag{3}$$

$$V_{i \min} = 2V_{\rm Th} + 2V_{\rm DS \ sat} \tag{4}$$

Also, it is noticed that the V_{DS} of M1 and M2 are not equal as a result of channel length modulation, which should be equal. This drawback is going to be the cause of erroneous current gain. To fix this, balanced Wilson CM is designed by Wilson [18], as shown in Fig. 1c, and Schlotzhauer and Viswanathian [19] used it as a four MOSFET current mirror. And it is labeled as improved Wilson current mirror by Hart and Baker [20]. The key idea for enhancing the accuracy in improved Wilson CM is to add diode-connected transistor (M4) in the input branch to even up the drain–source voltage of the primary current mirror pair [1]. By doing so, it is found that output resistance, compliance voltage and input resistance are similar to Wilson current mirror. The output resistance for these two current mirrors is given as

$$r_{\rm out} \approx \frac{g_{m1}r_{o1}g_{m3}r_{o3}}{g_{m2}} \tag{5}$$

It has been realized that using more numbers of transistors results in enhanced performance of the current mirror and also a higher number of transistors causes' increased parasitic capacitance. For better accuracy and performance, cascode current mirror is structured as demonstrated in Fig. 1d [1]. Cascoding both branches of the conventional current mirror will generate the Cascode current mirror. $V_{\rm BS}$ of transistor M3 and M4 is used for calculating the input and output resistance. M3 and M4 are used to balance the $V_{\rm DS}$ of M1 and M2. Due to cascoding current mirroring, accuracy can be seen here. Hence, the channel length modulation effect

and imbalance of input–output voltage do not affect the current gain. Errors which produced during process variation, can't be changed and hence they can be improved using perfect layout of design and matched design. For efficient matching and high r_{ds} , M1 and M2 are optimized, and for a broad range of transconductance, M3 and M4 are sized. Its output resistance is given as

$$r_{\rm out} = r_{03} + r_{02}(1 + r_{03}(g_{m3} + g_{mb3})) \tag{6}$$

Its output compliance voltage is $2V_{DS,sat} + V_{Th}$. It is observed that Wilson and improved Wilson current mirror's compliance voltage are identical to cascode current mirror, and it is increased by V_{th} , which is higher than the minimum voltage. Further improvement in performance and resistance can be developed by using double cascode current mirror. The nearest value of output resistance for double cascode CM is given as $(g_m r_0)^2 r_0$, and also, it leads to higher voltage headroom. Despite its better higher output resistance, larger bandwidth and higher accuracy, the higher voltage headroom cannot be ignored because of modern low voltage application [1].

3 Simulation Results

Here, characteristics of all basic topologies of current mirror circuits, using the Cadence Virtuoso simulation tool at 18 nm FinFET, have been plotted. For comparison, all topologies carried out with similar conditions. With V_{dd} of 1 V, input current source with 10 μ A and DC output voltage source of 1 V, all the circuits have been simulated. Here, the fin length of FinFET is 18 nm. In DC analysis, input current I_{in} is varied over a range of 0–500 μ A, and the output voltage V_{out} swept for 0–5 V.

Figure 2a shows current transfer characteristics for all topologies, and their percentage error ratio (PER) is presented in Fig. 2b. It is examined from the plot that the mirroring accuracy of a Wilson and improved Wilson is quite poor and better accuracy is found in conventional CM and cascode CM. Here, the matching accuracy is found improved for a very low voltage range but after a certain range it is started to degrade. I_{out} versus V_{out} characteristics are displayed in Fig. 2c. It is observed that lower output compliance voltage (at $i_{IN} = 10 \mu A$) is seen in conventional CM and it gets worse in Wilson CM. Figure 2d shows frequency versus output resistance curves (at $i_{in} = 10 \mu A$) for these current mirrors. It is observed in FinFET-based CMs, and output resistance decreases at the cost of increased accuracy. Table 1 shows the compared data of all these current mirrors, and it shows that accuracy is obtained at the cost of lower output resistance.



Fig. 2 Comparative results for current mirrors, **a** basic current mirror's input–output current characteristics, **b** percentage error ratio (PER) curves, **c** I_{out} versus V_{out} plot at $i_{in} = 10 \mu A$, **d** frequency versus output resistance curves at $i_{in} = 10 \mu A$

S. No.	Parameter	Conventional	Wilson	Improved Wilson	Cascode
1	Mirroring_accuracy ^a	Great	Good	Poor	Poor
2	% Error ratio (PER) ^b	13.17	-16.17	-0.189	-0.19
3	V _{out,min} ^a (V)	0.4–0.6	2.7–2.9	0.6–1.2	0.7–1.2
4	Output resistance ^b (MΩ)	58.9	168	168	293

 Table 1
 Comparative data for basic current mirror topologies

^aI_{in} range = $0-500 \mu A$ ^bAt $I_{in} = 10 \mu A$

4 Conclusion

Detailed current mirrors topologies and simulations have been done on Cadence Virtuoso in 18 nm FinFET technology node. All current mirrors parameters defined plot have been shown, and their analyzed data tabulated. It has been detected that major accuracy has seen in a simple current mirror and cascode CM, while higher

output resistance has been obtained from Wilson and improved Wilson CM. It has been also concluded that FinFET CM is only suitable for low current range, and for higher current, it contributes a lot mismatch. Further, it is noticed that in CMOS current mirror the accuracy is dependent on the number of transistors such as transistor is increased in the structure the accuracy is found more improved. But this kind of trend is not seen in FinFET CM.

References

- 1. A.S. Sedra, K.C. Smith, *Microelectronic Circuits Theory and Applications* (Oxford, New York, 2009), pp. 587–684
- 2. M. Gupta, B. Aggarwal, A.K. Gupta, A very high-performance self-biased cascode current mirror for CMOS technology. Analog Integr. Circ. Sig. Process. **75**, 67–74 (2013)
- C. Laoudias, C. Psychalinos, Low-voltage bluetooth/ZigBee complex filter using current mirrors, in *Proceedings of IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)* (Paris, 2010), pp. 1268–1271
- 4. L.F. Tanguay, M. Sawan, Y. Savaria, A very high output impedance current mirror for very low voltage bio medical analog circuits, in *Proceedings of IEEE Asia Pacific Conference on Circuits and Systems* (Macao, 2008), pp. 642–645
- K. Monfaredi, H.F. Baghtash, An extremely low-voltage and high-compliance current mirror. Circ. Syst. Sig. Process. 39, 30–53 (2020)
- R.C. Jaeger, T.N. Blalock, *Microelectronic Circuit Design* (McGraw-Hill, New York, 2011), pp. 968–1018
- 7. T. Voo, C. Toumazou, High-speed current mirror resistive compensation technique. Electron. Lett. **31**, 248–250 (1995)
- 8. E.J. Swanson, Compound current mirror. U.S. patent no. 4477782 (1984)
- M. Doreyatim, M. Akbari, M. Nazari, S. Mahani, A low-voltage gain boosting-based current mirror with high input/output dynamic range. Microelectron. J. 90, 88–95 (2019)
- H.C. Yang, D.J. Allstot, An active-feedback cascode current source. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. 37, 644–646 (1990)
- 11. D. Bhattacharya, N.K. Jha, FinFETs: from devices to architectures, in *Advances in Electronics* (2014)
- U.K. Gupta, V. Ramola, P. Mittal, B. Kumar, Performance analysis of 20 nm gate length fin-FET for different materials and fin-width, in *Communication and Computing Systems: VLSI* and Embedded System (2017), pp. 745–749
- N. Kumar, P. Mittal, Performance analysis of FinFET based 2:1 multiplexers for low power application, in 6th Students' Conference on Engineering and Systems (SCES-2020) (MNNIT, Allahabad, India, 2020)
- P. Mittal, N. Kumar, Comparative analysis of 90 nm MOSFET and 18 nm FinFET based different multiplexers for low power digital circuits. Int. J. Adv. Sci. Technol. 29(8), 4089–4096. ISSN: 2005-4238
- B. Kumar, K. Raj, P. Mittal, FPGA implementation and mask level CMOS layout design of redundant binary signed digit comparator. Int. J. Comput. Sci. Netw. Secur. (IJCSNS) 9(9), 107–115 (2009)
- A.P.S. Rathod, P. Lakhera, A.K. Baliga, P. Mittal, B. Kumar, Performance comparison of pass transistor and CMOS logic configuration based de-multiplexers, in *International Conference* on Computing Communication and Automation (ICCCA-2015) (2015), pp. 1433–1437
- N. Kumar, P. Mittal, Performance investigation of 2:1 multiplexer using 90 nm technology node for low power application, in *International Conference on Electrical and Electronics Engineering (ICE3–2020)* (MMMUT, 2020)

- B.A. Minch, Low-voltage Wilson current mirrors in CMOS, in *Proceedings of IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)* (New Orleans, Los Angeles, 2007) pp. 2220–2223
- K. Schlotzhauer, T.R. Viswanathian, Improved integrated unity-gain current controlled sources. Int. J. Electron. 37, 27–31 (1974)
- B.L. Hart, R.W.J. Barker, D.C. matching errors in the Wilson current source. Electron. Lett. 12, 389–390 (1976)

Two-Element Composite Dielectric Resonator-Based MIMO Antenna for WLAN and WiMAX Application



Shivani Anand, Gagandeep Bharti, and Anand Sharma

1 Introduction

The MIMO technique in the present time is used considerably for wireless communication. It will be used in future technology because of its several benefits. MIMO technology uses multiple antennas for wireless point [1]. MIMO technology plays an important role in achieving high data level, and optimizing performance for most advanced wireless communication network, a substantial improvement in channel capacity may be accomplished without the need for extra bandwidth or more transmitting power by installing such a MIMO system [2]. Ishimiya first identified and demonstrated the principle of MIMO DRA [3]. In recent year, DRA have gained a lot of interest due to their high efficiency, small size, easy excitation, and large impedence bandwidth. DRA has also shown good performance in MIMO [4]. The first candidate identified as the dielectric resonator antenna (DRA) was cylindrical dielectric resonator antenna (CDRA) in 1983 [5]. The compact and multiband DRA for mobile portable device for WiFi, LTE, and WiMAX available as two dielectric resonator are used, but there are large ground size and high mutual coupling value especially the higher band [6]. Wireless LAN (WLAN) is a wireless computer network that connects two or more computer used for wireless communication which can establish a local area network (LAN) in a restricted area such as a home, school, computer laboratory and office. The proposed 8-port diversity antenna is suitable for WLAN application in the frequency range between 5.6 and 5.9 GHz [7]. WiMAX is

S. Anand · G. Bharti (🖂)

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Madan Mohan Malaviya University of Technology, Gorakhpur, Uttar Pradesh, India

A. Sharma

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, India e-mail: anand@ece.ism.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 815 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_72

a wireless broadband networking technology based around the IEEE802.16 standard that requires high-speed data around a wide area, WiMAX stand for worldwide interoperability for microwave access, and it is a point to multipoint wireless networking system. A CDRA with circular ring patch fed is proposed which is perfect for the WiMAX, WLAN, 3G, and Amateur Satellite [8]. LTE band 22 is a part of the FDD (frequency division duplex) LTE spectrum that has different uplink and downlink frequency where lower band frequency range is (698–966 MHz), middle band range is (1.42–2.69 GHz), and higher band range is (3.4–3.8 GHz) [9].

2 Layout of Antenna

The layout of proposed antenna is shown in Fig. 2 which is drawn by the dimension of $50 \times 100 \text{ mm}^2$. The substrate is FR4 with thickness 1.6 mm and dielectric constant 4.4 alumina (Al₂O₃) based material is used for ring dielectric resonator. The ring DRA is placed above the substrate. In the middle of the ring, DR was placed a second ring DR of Teflon material which is 6.00 mm length, and third cylinder-shaped DR was placed on the top of it. Figure 1 show a circle is cut on the ground plane, and a small circle is placed in that severed circle just below the ring DR to generate circular polarization and the gun shaped microstrip feed line is mounted on the lower surface of the ground, and all dimension of proposed antenna is given in Table 1 and geometry in (Figs. 2 and 3).



Fig. 1 Layout of antenna: the ground plane



Fig. 2 Layout of antenna: front view

Table 1	Antenna	dimension
---------	---------	-----------

Symbol	Value (mm)	Symbol	Value (mm)
L_S	50.0	L_4	14.00
W _S	100.0	$L_5 = L_6 = H_2$	6.00
Н	1.60	H_1	2.50
D_1	28.00	W_1	3.00
D_2	12.00	G_1	1.50
L_1	6.5	G_2	7.50
<i>L</i> ₂	9.00	D_{T1}	19
L_3	11.00	D_{T2}	12
L_4	14.00	<i>W</i> ₂	1.00





3 Evolution of Antenna

The proposed antenna is designed step by step and the proposed antenna with different configuration is studied step by step. Circle-shaped slot in infinite ground plane

cut and a second small circle in middle of circle and microstrip feed line are used to enhance the isolation, and ring dielectric resonator are used to enhance impedence bandwidth. Stimulation and antenna analysis has been done through HFSS software [10]. Figure 4 shows the evolution of antenna, the first antenna (a) introduced gunshaped microstrip feed line and a circle shaped slot. It achieves better performance in band return loss $|S_{11}| < -20$ dB; (b) shows that the cylinder DR is placed on top of the substrate which provides better isolation; (c) displays that the cylinder DR is replaced in a ring DRA that generates a band where frequency range is 5.2–5.9 GHz; (d) the proposed antenna produces dual orthogonal mode in composite DRA that enable to achieve dual frequency operation 3.1–4.1 GHz and 5.2–5.9 GHz. Figure 5 displays the impedence bandwidth $|S_{11}/S_{22}|$ changes for different condition, first of which show without DRA that achieve only one band, the band that has come does not appear in any application. Second is with cylindrical DRA for that good isolation is not obtained. Third is a ring-shaped DRA that generates one band, and this band is standard WLAN band. Fourth presented proposed antenna achieves two band 3.1-4.1 GHz and 5.2-5.9 GHz that is useful for WLAN, WiMAX, and Amateur satellite application [8]. Figure 6 illustrates that the variance of the isolation between the two antenna ports in four different conditions (1) shows the without DRA, (2)is with cylindrical DRA, (3) is a ring-shaped DRA, and (4) is presented proposed antenna. The use of DGS in the two-port radiator structure has been said to increase the efficiency of the isolation performance in the lower frequency band up to 20 dB. Similarly isolation in the upper band has been enhanced by taking replica of the modified semi-circle-shaped aperture more than 30 dB.

Figure 7a shows the result of the average gain is more than 4 dB. In radiation



Fig. 4 Evolution of proposed antenna



Fig. 5 Evolution of proposed antenna impedance bandwidth (dB)



Fig. 6 Evolution of proposed antenna mutual coupling

efficiency, the radiation efficiency is higher than 92%. Figure 7b shows that axial ratio is (circularly polarized) frequency AR \leq 3 dB bandwidth is (3.1–3.3 GHz).

Figure 8a the simulated impedance bandwidth $|S_{11}| \le -20$ obtained from (3.1–4.1) GHz and (5.2–5.9) GHz. Figure 8b all the ports cover the frequency band between 3.1–4.1 GHz and 5.2–5.9 GHz. Improved isolation (better than 20 dB).

Figure 9a, b displays the composite ring DR two resonance peak electric field



Fig. 7 a Antenna gain and antenna efficiency of proposed antenna. b axial ratio



Fig. 8 a Simulated reflection coefficient $|S_{11}/S_{22}|$ dB. b Simulated isolation $|S_{12}/S_{21}|$ dB



Fig. 9 a Near-field distribution on cylindrical. b DRA in equatorial plane and meridian plane at 3.88 and 5.59 GHz

distribution at 3.88 and 5.59 GHz which is created due to the generation of orthogonal mode within the composite ring DRA, shows the top view of cylindrical DRA is absorbingly the horizontal *E*-field line on top of DRA, and shows the side view of composite ring DRA is vertical *E*-field line on side view DRA.

Figure 10a, b depicts the current distribution at 3.88 and 5.59 GHz; it shows maximum current at the feed line. Figure 11 show radiation pattern in *XY*-plane at ($\phi = 0^{\circ}$) and ($\theta = 0^{\circ}$) due to port 1 and port 2. Radiation pattern of proposed antenna in *E*-plane and *H*-plane at different resonant frequency is shown in Fig. 11 in *XY* plane radiation pattern calculate the strength of the EM waves (Table 2).



Fig. 10 Behavior of surface current distribution of the antenna at 3.88 and 5.59 GHz



E and H-PLANE

E and H-PLANE

Fig. 11	Radiation	patterns of	antenna	at 3.88	and 5.59	GHz
---------	-----------	-------------	---------	---------	----------	-----

References	DRA shape	Feed	Frequency range (GHz)	Application	Isolation
[11]	Cylindrical DRA	Microstrip feed line	2.2–2.3, 2.5–3.2, 4.8–7.8	WLAN, WiMAX LTE	<-20
[1]	Cylindrical DRA	Microstrip feed line	2.4–2.8, 5.3–5.8	WLAN	<-20
[12]	Rectangular DRA	Metallic strip feed line	3.3, 5.2	WiMAX, WLAN	<-16
[7]	Cylindrical DRA	Microstrip feed line	5.6–5.9	WLAN	<-20
[13]	Ring-shape DRA	Aperture	2.3–2.9, 3.4–4.0	WLAN, WiMAX	<-20
[14]	Ring-shape DRA	U-shape metallic feed line	3.3–3.6 GHz, 5.2–5.8 GHz	WiMAX, WLAN	<-18
Proposed antenna	Composite ring shape	Microstrip	3.1–4.1, 5.2–5.9	WLAN, WiMAX	<-30

 Table 2
 Comparison of proposed multi-input multi-output antenna with other two-port MIMO antenna on the basis of isolation, antenna shape, feed line, and application

4 Conclusion

In this article, a composite DR based MIMO is designed for WLAN standard (5.6– 5.9 GHz), WiMAX (3.3–3.6 GHz), LTE higher band (3.4–3.8 GHz), and Amateur satellite (5.6/5.8 GHz) application. Dual bandwidth is achieved by composite ring DRA and semi-circle slot in infinite ground plane that achieves dual frequency band 3.1–4.1 GHz and 5.2–5.9 GHz, and CP range is 3.1–3.3 GHz. Total gain and radiation efficiency of this MIMO antenna are 4 dB and 92%, respectively. The proposed antenna can bea used in applications of upper frequency band of WLAN, WiMAX, LTE, and uplink/downlink of Amateur satellite (5.6/5.8 GHz).

References

- M.S. Sharawi, S.K. Podilchak, M.U. Khan, Y.M. Antar, Dual-frequency DRA-based MIMO antenna system for wireless access points. IET Microw. Antennas Propag. 11(8), 1174–1182 (2017)
- A.H. Majeed, A.S. Abdullah R.A. Abd-Alhameed, K.H. Sayidmarie, MIMO antenna array using cylindrical dielectric resonator for wide band communications applications. Int. J. Electromagn. Appl. 4(2), 40–48 (2014). https://doi.org/10.5923/j.ijea.20140402.02
- J.-B. Yan, T. Bernhard, Design of a MIMO dielectric resonator antenna for LTE femtocell base stations. IEEE Trans. Antenna Propag. 60(2) (2012). https://doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2011. 2174021
- H.R. Khaleela, H.M. Al-Rizzob, D.G. Rucker, Y.A. Rahmatallahb, S. Mohanb, Mutual coupling reduction of dual-band printed monopoles using MNG metamaterial, © 2011 IEEE, 978-1-4244-9561-0/11/\$26.00
- S.A. Long, M.W. McAllister, L.C. Shen, The resonant cylindrical cavity antenna. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 31, 206–412 (1983)
- L. Huitema, M. Koubeissi, M. Mouhamadou, E. Arnaud, C. Decroze, T. Monediere, Compact and multiband dielectric resonator antenna with pattern diversity for multistandard mobile handheld devices. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 59, 4201–4208 (2011)
- G. Das, N.K. Sahu, A. Sharma, R.K. Gangwar, M.S. Sharawi, Dielectric resonator based 4element 8-port MIMO antenna with multi-directional pattern diversity. IET Microw. Antennas Propag. (2018)
- N.K. Sahu, A. Sharma, R.K. Gangwar, Modified annular ring patch fed cylindrical dielectric resonator antenna for WLAN/WiMAX. Microw. Opt. Technol. Lett. 59(1) (2017). https://doi. org/10.1002/mop.30238
- M.M. Hasan, M.R.I. Faruque, M.T. Islam, Dual band metamaterial antenna for LTE/Bluetooth/WiMAX system. Sci. Rep. 8, 1240 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-19705-3
- A. Sharma, G. Das, R.K. Gangwar, Composite antenna for ultrawide bandwidth applicatios, https://doi.org/10.1109/MAP.2018.2818013
- A. Sharma, G. Das, R.K. Gangwar, Dual polarized triple band hybrid MIMO cylindrical dielectric resonator antenna for LTE2500/WLAN/WiMAX applications. Int. J. RF Microw. Comput. Aided Eng. 00(00) (2016). https://doi.org/10.1002/mmce.21025
- A.A. Khan, M.H. Jamaluddin, S. Aqeel, J. Nasir, J.R. Kazim, O. Owai, A Dual-band MIMO dielectric resonator antenna for WiMAX/WLAN application. IET Microw. Antennas Propag. (2017)

- G. Bharti, D. Kumar, A.K. Gautam, A. Sharma, Two-port ring shaped dielectric resonator based MIMO antenna with dual band and dual polarized characteristics. Microw. Opt. Technol. Lett. 1–8 (2019)
- T. Kumari, G. Das, A. Sharma, R.K. Gangwar, Design approach for dual element hybrid MIMO antenna arrangement for wideband applications. Int. J. RF Microw. Comput. Aided Eng. e21486 (2018). http://wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/mmce. https://doi.org/10.1002/mmce.21486.

Heat Flow Modeling of Breast Tumor



Jaswantsing Rajput, Anil Nandgaonkar, Sanjay Nalbalwar, and Abhay Wagh

1 Introduction

Cancer causes cells to divide uncontrollably. It also prevents them from dving at a natural point in their life cycle. Breast cancer and lung cancer in women have been on the rise in the last four decades. The incidence of breast cancer alone is 11.6% worldwide [1]. Breast cancer incidence rates have gone up slightly, by about 0.3% per year, since 2004. However, the survival of patients after treatment has improved since the mid-1970s for all of the most common cancers. In addition to surgery, there are many other options available to treat breast cancer. Effective use of radiofrequency (RF) waves on tumor position is widely used, while treating breast cancer. Hyperthermia treatment (HT) along with chemotherapy or radiotherapy is beneficial for the treatment of breast cancer. Hyperthermia causes breast tumors to shrink and make them easier to remove surgically [2]. Combined treatment is a major contributor to the decline in breast cancer mortality. Between 1989 and 2017, the death rates of breast cancer patients have been dropped by 40% [3]. This steepest decline in cancer deaths occurred for breast cancer, because of improvements in the focusing techniques of RF waves, microwaves, and ultrasound waves used in radiotherapy. The use of fully developed, and advanced antenna beamforming techniques for hyperthermia therapies have played a significant role in reducing the mortality rate of breast cancer patients. Many scientists worldwide are working for the development of highly advanced wireless technique for the application of RF energy on tumors [4]. The selection of frequency, antenna array, focusing technique, and treatment time is dependent on the tumor stage and site. When treating hyperthermia, it is important to keep the temperature of the tumor above 42 °C and the temperature

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_73

J. Rajput (🖂) · A. Nandgaonkar · S. Nalbalwar

Dr. Babasaheb Ambedkar Technological University, Lonere, Raigad, Maharashtra 402104, India

A. Wagh

DTE Mumbai, Mumbai, Maharashtra 400001, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

of the surroundings to 37 °C. For effective control of temperature, and heat in the tumor site, tissue characteristics of tumor site and surroundings should be studied properly to avoid hotspots on healthy tissues [5].

Before HT, investigations are carried out using a computerized tomography (CT) scan to find the detailed location, size, depth, and other dimensions of the tumor. These parameters are used for the proper selection of treatment period, RF energy amplitude, phase, focusing methodology, types of antennae array required for HT of tumors [6]. Different types of antenna applicators, antennae arrays are used according to the stage, site location, and size of the tumor. Microstrip array antennas, Lucite cone applicators, are widely used in local HT and superficial HT [7, 8]. The best results are obtained when three-dimensional focusing methodology is used for breast tumors treatment, at microwave frequency [9, 10]. The temperature of the tumor and surrounding tissue is measured using thermometer probes. Its constant monitoring is essential to maintain flow of radiation power inside the tumors avoids excessive heating of tumor and surrounding tissues. Figure 1 shows a simple module of RF energy focusing on breast tumors. Two tumors inside the breast are treated by hyperthermia using RF energy. For achieving the highest focusing on tumor, perfect electromagnetic coupling, and avoid reflection of RF power, water bolus is used for microwave hyperthermia.

The simulation of electrostatic breast model is performed and the discretization of the entire model into small finite elements has been done with finite element method (FEM) on COMSOL Multi-Physics Solver Simulator. In the 2D electrostatic modeling, database for breast tissue characteristics [11, 12] is considered, and two tumors of 5 mm size are inserted into the electrostatic model of breast having a



diameter of 160 mm. Section 2 describes this detailed modeling. All results are described in Sect. 3. The concluding remarks are discussed in Sect. 4.

2 Heat Flow Modeling of Breast Tumor

The flow of heat due to thermal conduction is expressed by (1),

$$f = -k\nabla T \tag{1}$$

where *f*—heat flux vector, *k*—thermal conductivity coefficient, and $-\nabla T$ —vector quantity.

To obtain optimum focusing results, we have studied the flow of heat between control volumes inside the breast tumor tissue and the tumor's surroundings inside the breast. In the modeling, the contribution from intrinsic radiative heat transfer processes is considered as negligible. Heat flows inside the tumor or normal tissue by two mechanisms: conduction, which means the inner temperature gradient, which drives the heat flow, and another way is through convection of thermal energy by the perfusing blood. In 1948, Pennes [13] described the relationship between thermal heat transfer and blood perfusion for healthy tissue (2), and tumor domain (3), which has been used for heat flow modeling. The computational time is optimized for a higher amount of heat flow inside the tumors [14]. Convection is the transfer of thermal energy through a fluid due to the fluid's bulk motion, and radiation is the transmission of RF energy in the form of RF waves. These two boundary conditions are solved by FEM. The FEM is used to solve numerical approximations of the equation with a close boundary conditions for radiation and convection.

$$\rho_1 c_1 \frac{\partial T_1}{\partial t} = \nabla (k_1 \nabla T_1) - \omega_{b1} c_{b1} (T_1 - T_b) + Q_{m1} + \alpha P \tag{2}$$

$$\rho_2 c_2 \frac{\partial T_2}{\partial t} = \nabla (k_2 \nabla T_2) - \omega_{b2} c_{b2} (T_2 - T_b) + Q_{m2}$$
(3)

where, tissue density, specific heat, and thermal conductivity of breast tissue are denoted by ρ , c, and k, respectively. T_1T_2 and T_b denotes the temperature of the tumor, normal tissue, and blood, respectively. c_b and ω_b denotes blood perfusion rate, and temperature, and Q_m , α , and P denotes metabolic heat per unit volume, correction parameter, and dissipated power per unit volume, respectively. The change in magnitude of electric flux density, electric field intensity around the breast tumor surface, and distribution of heat flux density in breast model has been described in Sect. 3.

3 Results and Discussion

Heat flow modeling for optimum and deeply penetrated focusing of RF energy on breast tumor tissue has been carried out using an electrostatic model. This model attains maximum focusing of RF energy on tumor tissue and keeps surrounding tissue safe. From the obtained results of electrostatic modeling of breast tumors, it is clear that the magnitude of focusing RF power is more at tumor site only, that has been shown in terms of electric field distribution around the tumor surface, and the magnitude of electric flux density inside the tumor surface in Figs. 2 and 3, respectively.

For achieving higher accuracy, the flow of heat should be maximum, deeply penetrated inside the breast tumor than surrounding tissues of the breast tumor. The outcomes of this modeling give optimistic temperature distribution inside the breast tumor. This modeling gives higher and deep penetration of RF energy inside the breast tumors. The distribution of heat flux density plot in Fig. 4 shows the maximum amount of heat dissipation around the tumors, whereas its minimum inside the other area of the breast.

The optimum and deep temperature distribution around the tumor inside the breast have been shown with the help of temperature gradient distribution plot in Fig. 5, and the temperature distribution plot in Fig. 6.

The temperature gradient plot in Fig. 5 shows the highest concentration of temperature around the tumors, and the equipotential line plot for the same has been shown in Fig. 6. Simulation results obtained for the different known boundary conditions



Fig. 2 Variations of electric field intensity around the tumor



Fig. 3 Variations of electric flux density inside the tumor



Fig. 4 Distribution of heat flux density in breast model

show that optimum focusing of radiation power around the tumor inside the breast has been given higher efficiency of hyperthermia treatment. The simulation results are useful for the improvement of hyperthermia treatment of breast cancer patients, with minimal damage to normal cells. The stored electric field intensity magnitude around the first and second tumor surface is shown in Figs. 7 and 8, respectively. The obtained results show that the stored energy inside these two breast tumors in



Fig. 5 Temperature gradient



Fig. 6 Two tumors with temperature distribution



Fig. 7 Stored electric field intensity magnitude around the first tumor surface



Fig. 8 Stored electric field intensity magnitude around the second tumor surface

terms of specific heat distribution is 1.45958×10^{-22} J/(kg K) and 1.54802×10^{-22} J/(kg K), respectively.

4 Conclusion

This article concludes with an optimistic outcome of heat low modeling useful for the HT of breast tumors. We simulate the bio-heat equation for the known boundary conditions. The optimum distribution of heat flow density and intensity inside the tumor has also been demonstrated successfully. Hyperthermia treatment can be optimized concerning the heat application method and tumor site, to avoid hotspots on healthy tissues around the tumor. It can also be used for extensive parametric studies to achieve higher accuracy and stability of various treatment parameters.

References

- C.E. DeSantis, J. Ma, M.M. Gaudet, L.A. Newman, K.D. Miller, A. Goding Sauer, A. Jemal, R.L. Siegel, Breast cancer statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J. Clin. 69, 438–451 (2019). https://doi. org/10.3322/caac.21583
- H.H. Kampinga, Cell biological effects of hyperthermia alone or combined with radiation or drugs: a short introduction to newcomers in the field. Int. J. Hyperth. 22, 191–196 (2006)
- Reports: breast cancer death rates down 40% since 1989, 2 Oct 2019. American Cancer Society. https://www.cancer.org/latest-news/report-breast-cancer-death-rates-down-40-percent-since-1989.
- Y. Chen, J. Yi, M. Selvaraj, Y. Hsiang, K. Takahata, Wireless hyperthermia stent system for restenosis treatment and testing with Swine model. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 67(4), 1097– 1104 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1109/TBME.2019.2929265

- 5. C.W. Song, J.G. Rhee, S.H. Levitt, Blood flow in normal tissues and tumors during hyperthermia. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. **64**(1), 119–124 (1980)
- E.R. Lee et al., Body conformable 915 MHz microstrip array applicators for large surface area hyperthermia. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 39(5), 470–483 (1992). https://doi.org/10.1109/10. 135541
- M. Converse, E.J. Bond, S.C. Hagness, B.D. Van Veen, Ultrawide-band microwave space-time beamforming for hyperthermia treatment of breast cancer: a computational feasibility study. IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 52(8), 1876–1889 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1109/TMTT. 2004.832012
- M. Converse, E.J. Bond, B.D. Veen, C. Hagness, A computational study of ultra-wideband versus narrowband microwave hyperthermia for breast cancer treatment. IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 54(5), 2169–2180 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1109/TMTT.2006.872790
- P.T. Nguyen, S. Crozier, A. Abbosh, Three-dimensional microwave hyperthermia for breast cancer in a realistic environment using particle swarm optimization. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 64(6), 1335–1344 (2017)
- P.T. Nguyen, A. Abbosh, S. Crozier, 3-D focused microwave hyperthermia for breast cancer treatment with experimental validation. IEEE Trans. Ant. Prop. 65(7), 3489–3499 (2017)
- E. Porter, J. Fakhoury, R. Oprisor, M. Coates, M. Popovic, Improved tissue phantoms for experimental validation of microwave breast cancer detection, in *Proceedings of the Fourth European Conference on Antennas and Propagation (EuCAP)*, Apr 2010, pp. 1–5
- K.S. Nikita, Handbook of Biomedical Telemetry, First Edition. © 2014 John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Published by John Wiley & Sons, Inc., (August 2014) pp. 135–138.
- H.H. Pennes, Analysis of tissue and arterial blood temperature in the resting human forearm. J. Appl. Phys. 1, 93–102 (1948)
- J.L. Rajput, A.B. Nandgaonkar, S.L. Nalbalwar, A.E. Wagh, Design study and feasibility of hyperthermia technique. Comput. Eng. Technol. 1025, 721–732 (2019). https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-981-32

Performance Analysis of Fusion Methods for the Multimodal Fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT Brain Images



Twinkle and Barjinder Singh Saini

1 Introduction

In the present era of technology, medical images hold prime importance for the assessment of various disorders and medical diseases. Many imaging modalities have been used for capturing such images. These include computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), positron emission tomography (PET), single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), ultrasonography (USG), X-rays, etc. "MRI, CT and USG images are the structural and therapeutic images which afford lofty resolution images" [1]. "Whereas PET, SPECT and functional MRI images are functional therapeutic images which afford low-spatial resolution images with functional information" [1]. CT image can only display bone structures accurately. And, on the other hand, MRI image can only display normal or pathological soft tissues. Therefore, a single imaging modality is not sufficient to analyze a disorder perfectly because of lack of good quality and less relevant information content.

"Image fusion can manage the image quality problem as fusion process collects all the useful information from many images and present it in a combined image called fused image of higher intensity and higher quality" [2].

Hence, multimodal medical image fusion has become the valuable assistant amongst the medical experts for the need of the hour. When images from different imaging modalities are fused together, the resulting fused image is high in visual quality and rich in diagnostic information.

As defined in [3], "Multi-modal image fusion is the process of registering and combining multiple images from single or multiple imaging modalities to improve the imaging quality and reduce randomness and redundancy in order to increase the clinical applicability of medical images for diagnosis and assessment of medical problems" [3] (Fig. 1).

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_74

Twinkle (⊠) · B. S. Saini

Dr B R Ambedkar National Institute of Technology (NIT), Jalandhar, Punjab, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,



Fig. 1 Multimodal medical image fusion [4]

Image fusion is basically performed at three basic levels such as pixel-level, feature-level and decision-level [5]. "As compared to feature and decision-level, pixel-level methods are more suitable for medical imaging as they can preserve spatial details in fused images" [5]. If we talk about the multimodal image fusion specifically, it makes use of pixel-level fusion concept. Medical image fusion has many application domains or target organs like brain, breast, lungs, liver, prostate, etc.

In 2014, A. P. James and B. V. Dasarathy stated that, "Brain is one of the important organs that have been subjected to a wide range of medical image analysis and research" [3]. "The imaging studies reveal several important pieces of information about the brain that are otherwise not visible to human sensory mechanisms" [3]. Many types of imaging modalities have been used so far to study brain like CT, MRI, PET, SPECT, EEG, etc. The paper is primarily focused on CT, MRI, PET images of brain for carrying out the fusion process.

2 Literature Review

This section deals in portraying the work related to the field of medical image fusion, more specifically about fusion methods that has already been published in the past. Secondly, the section will put forth the conclusions drawn from the reviewed literature.

2.1 Related Work

Many researchers have carried out image fusion by the use of variety of fusion methods. In 2010 [6], image fusion algorithm had been presented for medical images

which is based on multi-wavelets and regional variance. This work had proved that "fusion based on multiple wavelets has better performance than single wavelet-based fusion" [6]. Later on, in 2010 in the work entitled [7], "Multimodal medical image fusion based on IHS and PCA", researchers indicated that IHS transform and PCA in conjunction with each other can preserve more spatial features and functional information with no color distortion for the fusion of PET and MRI brain images[7].

In 2011, Tan and Huang [8] had illustrated the concept of pixel-level fusion of medical images. Alka Srivastava and her fellow researchers presented that "image fusion method based on stationary wavelet transform (SWT) is better than principal component analysis (PCA) and discrete wavelet transform (DWT) because DWT is time invariant in transform domain and PCA results in blurring problems" [9]. PCA-DWT-based fusion methods have been widely proposed for the purpose of image fusion by many researchers [1, 9–11].

In 2014, V Jagruti presented in her research work about the idea of image fusion using discrete wavelet transforms [12]. In 2015, Agarwal and Bedi [13] proposed the hybrid technique using wavelet and curvelet transforms for the fusion of MRI and CT images. The main purpose behind the research study was feature enhancement in medical diagnosis.

In the year 2016, El-Gamal et al. [4] had very well described the entire process of fusion, image registration and categories of fusion methods. Also, Hajma and Sarma in their work entitled, "A Novel Multi-Focus Image Fusion Algorithm Using Stationary Wavelet Transform" [14], highlighted a new novel fusion method SWT that can be used for image fusion. SWT had also been used for the fusion of global and local features of images for the content-based image retrieval in [15]. SWT is combined with DWT and proposed for the fusion of images [16]. Many variants of wavelet transforms were widely discussed in the literature for performing fusion like multimodal fusion, multi-focus fusion or medical image fusion [17–21].

In the year 2017, B. Rajalingam and R. Priya suggested that PCA-DWT hybrid technique offers superior performance when compared to other traditional techniques in the image fusion of CT, MRI and SPECT images [1]. In order to improve the amount of information present in source images, Murthy and Kusuma [22] in their work entitled "Fusion of Medical Image Using STSVD" proposed the use of shearlet transform with singular value decomposition (SVD) to fuse PET and MRI images [22].

Also, S. Masood and his team presented a detailed review study of various image fusion methods [23]. Later on, S. Chavan along with his fellows introduced a new type of fusion technique rotated wavelet transform for CT and MRI images in order to extract the edge-related information from the source images [24]. In the same year, H. M. El-Hoseny et al., in the work entitled [25] "Medical image fusion techniques based on combined discrete transform domains," underlined the various transform domain fusion methods useful in performing medical image fusion [25].

In 2018, S. Singh and his fellow researchers [26] gave a cascaded fusion technique based on NSST and ripplet transforms for the fusion of CT/MRI images. They concluded that proposed fusion method resulted in better quality of fused images by overcoming the problem of shift invariance [26]. Also in the same year, Y. Na et al. had proposed a novel fusion algorithm for the fusion of CT and MRI images based on guided filter (GF) where they had shown that the proposed fusion method results in more information content with clear edge details in medical images [27].

In the year 2019, Huang et al. [28] came up with another fusion algorithm which includes pulse coupled neural network (PCNN) and shuffled frog leap algorithm (SFLA) for the fusion of CT & SPECT brain images with an improved quality of fused images. The fusion method gave better precision and spatial resolution [28]. Also, in the year 2019, Yin [29] along with his fellow researchers worked upon proposing new fusion algorithm comprising non-subsampled shearlet transform (NSST) and parameter adaptive pulse-coupled neural network (PA-PCNN) model that resulted in superior performance and improved visual quality [29].

Later in 2019, Saboori and Birjandtalab [30] in their work entitled "PET–MRI image fusion using adaptive filter based on spectral and spatial discrepancy" proposed a fusion technique that incorporates adaptive filtering for the fusion of functional and structural information obtained from PET and MRI images, respectively [30]. It was shown that by the use of adaptive filter-based image fusion method, the structural and spectral characteristics of fused images were improved during the fusion of MRI and PET images [30].

In January 2020, Yadav and Yadav [31] published their work entitled as "Image fusion using hybrid methods in multimodality medical images", wherein they have reviewed various fusion methods involved in image fusion particularly focused on the use of wavelet transform, independent component analysis (ICA) and principal component analysis (PCA) for the purpose of reducing data dimensions and denoising [31]. They have mainly focused on three commonly used modalities, i.e., CT, MRI and PET. Also, they have well documented the future prospects of fusion methods or techniques for performing medical image fusion [31].

2.2 Inferences from Literature

From the reviewed literature, it was inferred that fusion methods such as simple average method or select maximum or select minimum method were easy to apply on images, but on the other hand, they produced images that possess low visual quality, blurring effects and poor edge information. So, it was decided to explore only the pixel-based methods based on addition and subtraction, respectively.

Also, it was found that multi-scale transforms when used for image fusion lead to fusion artifacts that may hamper the pathological information as well. Although researchers are more focused on using deep learning techniques in image fusion because of improved performance, but these techniques have many limitations such as complex framework which is time-consuming, lack of training data, requirement of professional labeling by medical experts which increases the workload, need of high performance computer hardware, etc.

On the other hand, it was deduced that there is a lack of fusion method that could be entirely be used for the fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain

images. The past research had only proposed the fusion techniques in general. Those fusion methods were not specific to a target organ. So, this paper is entirely focused on exploring the already available fusion approaches (as described in Sect. 3) and then finding out the best outperforming fusion method for the fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images.

The basis of choosing CT, MRI and PET imaging modalities was only because of the fact that they are the most common imaging modalities used by the medical experts for brain as the target organ. Also, the image datasets of these imaging modalities are widely available on "The Whole Brain Atlas" [32] database contributed by Keith A. Johnson and Alex Becker.

3 Fusion Approaches

This section describes all the explored fusion methods for the multimodal fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images.

3.1 Pixel-Based Methods (PBM)

"The pixel-based fusion methods include all those techniques that operate directly on the pixels of the image" [4]. Some sort of operation is performed on the pixels of the input images that modify their pixel values. After that, these images are fused together to generate the final fused image. Examples of such methods are arithmetic operations such as addition, subtraction, multiplication, division and logical operations, etc.

Here, two types of pixel-based methods: PBM-Addition and PBM-Subtraction have been explored. PBM-addition and PBM-subtraction are illustrated by Eqs. (1) and (2), respectively.

$$F(i, j) = I1(i, j) + I2(i, j) \quad \forall i, j$$
(1)

$$F(i, j) = I1(i, j) - I2(i, j) \quad \forall i, j$$
(2)

In the above equations, F(i, j) represents the pixels of fused image; I1(i, j) and I2(i, j) represent the pixels of image from first and second imaging modalities, respectively. Also, "*i*" and "*j*" represent the number of rows and columns in the matrix representation of these images, and size of each image is taken as "*i* × *j*".

In order to generate fused images using pixel-based methods, the input images must possess the same size.



Fig. 2 DWT-based image fusion [12]

3.2 Discrete Wavelet Transform (DWT)

Discrete wavelet transform is a type of multi-scale fusion method. "Such methods are collection of those fusion techniques which work upon by representing each input image in a multi-scale manner" [4]. It includes the process of low pass or high pass filtering along with subsampling the parts of the image. "The discrete wavelets transform (DWT) allows the image decomposition in different kinds of coefficients preserving the image information" [33].

In DWT-based image fusion, at first, DWT is applied to the source images in order to obtain the wavelet coefficients. After that, an appropriate fusion rule is used. Finally, the use of inverse DWT is carried out for the reconstruction of final-fused image. This fusion based on DWT is depicted in Fig. 2.

3.3 Principal Component Analysis (PCA)

Principal component analysis comes under the category of sub-scale fusion methods. These fusion methods incorporate those statistical techniques that work upon correlation, taking it as a major factor into consideration.

In this fusion technique, "a high-dimensional input image is divided into various subspaces or regions" [4]. After this, important subspaces of the input images, often called as principal components, are evaluated. Later on, these components



Fig. 3 PCA-based image fusion [13]

are combined together to generate the final resultant fused image. The procedure for fusion of images based on PCA is well demonstrated in Fig. 3.

3.4 Stationary Wavelet Transform (SWT)

As we know, Discrete Wavelet Transform (DWT) is not time invariant transform. Therefore, SWT method is developed to overcome the demerits of the DWT. Here in, the method of the down-sampling is suppressed so that SWT becomes translation invariant. SWT does not include down-sampling in the analysis filter bank and up-sampling in the inverse transform. The process of image fusion based on SWT is illustrated in Fig. 4.

In SWT-based image fusion, at first, SWT is applied to the source images *I*1 and *I*2 in order to obtain the wavelet coefficients. Once the wavelet coefficients are obtained for each of the source images, an appropriate fusion rule is used to fuse/combine them together. Then, the wavelet coefficients are generated for the fused image. Later, inverse discrete SWT is used for the reconstruction of final fused image from its wavelet coefficients. In this way, the final fused image is generated in SWT-based fusion process.

All these fusion methods were coded in MATLAB, and fusion was performed for CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images. Then, the obtained fused images were evaluated based upon the image quality assessment metrics to find out the best fusion method. The simulation results and image quality metrics obtained for each fusion category are presented in the next section of this paper.



Fig. 4 SWT-based image fusion [14]

4 Experimental Results and Discussions

Experiments have been performed over three different imaging modalities of brain images: CT, MRI and PET. A total of 60 images of brain with/without diseases of three modalities were obtained from "The Whole Brain Atlas" [32] database.

All the simulations were carried out using MATLAB R2016a. The fused images obtained after fusion based on different fusion methods such as PBM, DWT, PCA and SWT have been presented in Figs. 5, 6, 7 and 8.

4.1 Fusion Based on Pixel-Based Methods (PBM)

Figure 5 illustrates the fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images using pixel-based methods, namely PBM Addition and PBM Subtraction.

Figure 5a is illustrating the fusion of MRI (Image 1) and CT (Image 2) brain images using pixel-based methods. The third image and fourth image are showing the resultant fused images obtained after using PBM (addition) and PBM (subtraction) as the fusion method, respectively.

Similarly, Fig. 5b is illustrating the fusion of MRI (Image 1) and PET (Image 2) brain images using pixel-based methods. The third image and fourth image are showing the resultant fused image obtained after using PBM (addition) and PBM (subtraction) as the fusion method, respectively.



Fig. 5 Fusion based on pixel-based methods for **a** MRI and CT brain images. **b** MRI and PET brain images. **c** CT and PET brain images



Fig. 6 Fusion based on DWT

Figure 5c is showing the fusion of CT (Image 1) and PET (Image 2) brain images using pixel-based methods. The third image and fourth image are showing the resultant fused image obtained after using PBM (addition) and PBM (subtraction) as the fusion method, respectively.

4.2 Fusion Based on Discrete Wavelet Transform (DWT)

Figure 6 is showing input source images and obtained fused images in the fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images using DWT as fusion method.

In the first row of Fig. 6, MRI and CT brain images are shown which are fused together to generate the fused image 1. Second row illustrates the fusion of MRI and PET brain images to generate fused image 2. Similarly, PET and CT brain images are depicted in the third row which results in generating fused image 3.



Fig. 7 Fusion based on PCA

4.3 Fusion Based on Principal Component Analysis (PCA)

Figure 7 illustrates the fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images using PCA as fusion method. In the first row of Fig. 7, CT and MRI brain images are shown which are fused together to generate the fused image 1. Second row illustrates the fusion of PET and MRI brain images to generate fused image 2. Similarly, PET and CT brain images are depicted in the third row which results in generating fused image 3.

4.4 Fusion Based on Stationary Wavelet Transform (SWT)

Figure 8 illustrates the fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images using SWT as fusion method. In the first row of Fig. 8, CT and MRI brain images are shown which are fused together to generate the fused image 1. Second row illustrates the fusion of PET and MRI brain images to generate fused image 2. Similarly, PET and



Fig. 8 Fusion based on SWT

CT brain images are depicted in the third row which results in generating fused image 3.

5 Image Quality Assessment Parameters

In order to quantify the quality of generated fused images, various image quality assessment parameters have been used in this paper. These parameters include entropy, structural similarity index metric (SSIM), peak signal-to-noise ratio (PSNR) and root mean square error (RMSE). These parameters are widely used by the researchers in analyzing the quality and information content of the images. These metrics have been discussed in detail below.

5.1 Entropy

Basically, Entropy measures the information content present in an image. "It is the most important quantitative measures in image fusion" [9]. More is the entropy value of fused image, more is the information present in an image and more beneficial it is for the medical experts in diagnosis.

In order to find the amount of information content embedded in images, entropies of IM1 (Image from first imaging modality) and IM2 (Image from second imaging modality and IMF (Fused image) were calculated.

5.2 Structural Similarity Index Metric (SSIM)

Structural similarity index metric refers to the parameter that measures the similarity between two images. SSIM is in the range of 0 (no similarity) to 1 (perfectly similar). SSIM values were calculated between IM1 (Image from first imaging modality) and IMF (Fused image) and between IM2 (Image from 2nd imaging modality) and IMF (Fused image) for analyzing the similarity between fused image and input images.

5.3 Peak Signal-to-Noise Ratio (PSNR)

This parameter calculates the ratio of signal power to noise power. Higher value of PSNR means higher signal power, lower noise power and hence better quality of reconstructed image [9].

In this paper, PSNR values were calculated for IM1 (Image from first imaging modality) and IMF (Fused image) and IM2 (Image from second imaging modality) and IMF (Fused image), respectively, in order to know about the quality of fused images with respect to original source images, i.e., how much useful information content is transferred from source images to the fused image.

5.4 Root Mean Square Error (RMSE)

"RMSE is computed as the root mean square error of the corresponding pixels in the reference image and the fused image" [34]. Less RMSE value is always desired in any fusion process because we expect the fused images to be full of useful information content and constituting no noise or errors. RMSE values were calculated for IM1 (Image from first imaging modality) and IMF (Fused image) and IM2 (Image from second imaging modality) and IMF (Fused image).
6 Comparative Analysis of Fusion Methods

The explored fusion methods that were used for performing the fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images include

- 1. Pixel-based methods (PBM)
- 2. Discrete wavelet transform (DWT)
- 3. Principal component analysis (PCA)
- 4. Stationary wavelet transform (SWT).

After obtaining the resultant fused images for each fusion method, at first stage, the values for all the image quality assessment parameters were obtained during the fusion of all 60 brain images and considering all the four fusion methods. Then, average values of all image quality assessment parameters were calculated which are tabulated in Tables 1, 2 and 3 in the fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images corresponding to all fusion methods such as PBM, DWT, PCA and SWT.

In Tables 1, 2 and 3, fusion methods are shown in the rows on extreme left, whereas the image quality assessment parameters are presented in columns. IM1 means image 1(Image from first imaging modality); IM2 means image 2 (Image from second imaging modality), and IMF means generated fused image. At first, entropies of all three types of images are tabulated like entropy of image 1; entropy of image 2; entropy of fused image, obtained for each of the fusion method. Then, SSIM values are presented between image 1 and fused image and image 2 and fused image, respectively. Similarly, PSNR and RMSE values are tabulated for image 1 and fused image and then for image 2 and fused image in the next columns.

Table 1 is showing the average values of all image quality assessment parameters that have been obtained corresponding to different fusion methods in the fusion of CT/MRI brain images. It is inferred from the table that average value of entropy of fused image is highest, i.e., 4.6379 when PCA is used as the fusion method.

The least entropy value, i.e., 2.2091 was found in SWT-based fusion. On the other hand, if we focus on SSIM values, then it is well depicted in the table that mean values of SSIM calculated between IM1 and IMF and IM2 and IMF are highest in PCA-based fusion, whereas SSIM values were lowest in case of fusion based on SWT. In PCA-based fusion, values were more close to 1 (SSIM = 1 means perfectly similar images) as desired.

Also, average PSNR value calculated for IM1 and IMF was the highest and least using PCA and SWT fusion methods, respectively. DWT- and SWT-based fusion gave the highest and least PSNR values in case of IM2 and IMF. The average RMSE value (between IM1 and IMF) was least for PCA-based fusion and highest for SWTbased fusion. Whereas, average RMSE (between IM2 and IMF) value was least and highest for DWT and SWT fusion methods, respectively.

Table 2 is depicting the average values of all image quality assessment parameters that have been obtained corresponding to different fusion methods in the fusion of MRI/PET brain image. It is inferred from the table that average value of entropy of

Table 1 Image quality me	strics obta	ained for di	fferent fus	ion methods for f	usion of CT/MR	I brain images			
Fusion method CT/MRI	ENTRC	γq		SSIM		PSNR		RMSE	
	IM1	IM2	IMF	IM1 and IMF	IM2 and IMF	IM1 and IMF	IM2 and IMF	IM1 and IMF	IM2 and IMF
PBM	3.468	4.9956	3.7009	0.6711	0.5665	13.28	9.55	3153.81	7405.12
DWT	3.468	4.9956	2.4508	0.7370	0.7291	16.79	16.779	1362.97	1367.04
PCA	3.468	4.9956	4.6379	0.7709	0.7458	20.7	14.32	555.16	2409.87
SWT	3.468	4.9956	2.2091	0.3046	0.2407	5.04	4.77	22,277.04	21,304.45

	mag	
•	Ξ	
•	rain	
-	٥	
2	7	I
ţ	÷.	
,	2	
È	\geq	
ł	۰j	
ì	_	
Ĩ	Б.	
	ш	
	0	
•	S	
د	2	
	L	
,	0	
1		
-	8	
	0	
5	금	
	g	
	q	
	요	
	S	
ς	₽.	
,	Ħ	
	G	
	5	
٤	Ð.	
÷	ㅋ	
	Ľ	
	ē	
	=	
	۲Q	
	ч	
•	B	
1	ā	
1	õ	
	S	
•	μ	
,	븠	
	۳	
	8	
,	2	
	3	
	ng	
	σ	
	e.	
	go	
	Ë.	
F	=	
۲		
	-	

Table 2 Image quality meti	rics obtain	ed for diff	erent fusic	in methods for fu	sion of MRI/PE7	F brain images			
Fusion method MRI/PET	Entropy			SSIM		PSNR		RMSE	
	IM1	IM2	IMF	IM1 and IMF	IM2 and IMF	IM1 and IMF	IM2 and IMF	IM1 and IMF	IM2 and IMF
PBM	5.3419	3.7614	4.2357	0.7139	0.4062	12.82	8.22	3581.63	10,105.05
DWT	5.3419	3.7614	1.39	0.6244	0.6891	15.98	15.69	1748.28	1768
PCA	5.3419	3.7614	5.4008	0.6834	0.6894	16.09	15.96	1579.03	1760.46
SWT	5.3419	3.7614	5.2718	0.6767	0.6896	15.91	15.61	1669.32	1796.97

50
Ja
Ħ
Ξ.
·Ħ
23
ā,
Ē.
řτi
Ξ.
\leq
2
=
2
F
\circ
E
.2
IS.
£
L
е,
-
sp
ŏ
Ā,
et
Ā.
Ξ
Ξ
.н
IS
Ę
+
5
Е.
<u>e</u>
9
5
÷
9
_
5
ŭ
ai.
)ť
5
~
S.
٠Ĕ
믕
ŭ
Π
$\mathbf{\hat{r}}$
Ē
al
n
9
6
್ಷ
D,
Е
_
2
e.
-
-

Table 3 Image quality me	strics obtai	ined for dil	fferent fusi	on methods for f	usion of PET/CT	brain images			
Fusion method PET/CT	ENTROI	ΡΥ		SSIM		PSNR		RMSE	
	IM1	IM2	IMF	IM1 and IMF	IM2 and IMF	IM1 and IMF	IM2 and IMF	IM1 and IMF	IM2 and IMF
PBM	3.6297	4.2682	3.3268	0.7954	0.6024	13.81	10.02	2723.39	6572.38
DWT	3.6297	4.2682	1.2878	0.8490	0.7076	17.20	17.06	1241.98	1284.01
PCA	3.6297	4.2682	4.1334	0.9453	0.7085	22.02	14.36	410.16	2401.82
SWT	3.6297	4.2682	1.4110	0.5935	0.5628	7.94	6.15	19,608.83	15,929.22

ũ.	
.= .	
2	
.Ħ	
B	
٦	
È.	
5	
2	
H	
ĒΤ	
Ы.	
ί.	
0	
ш	
0	
.2	
, Ħ	
1	
5	
Ĕ	
Ś	
D.	
2	
t -	
g	
Ξ	
Ξ	
.2	
ä	
÷	
H	
G	
5	
Ľ۳.	
1	
σ	
H	
Ч	
-	
õ	
E	
B	
5	
ð	
-	
2	
cs	
nics	
etrics	
netrics	
' metrics	
ty metrics	
lity metrics	
ality metrics	
quality metrics	
equality metrics	
ge quality metrics	
age quality metrics	
nage quality metrics	
Image quality metrics	
Image quality metrics	
3 Image quality metrics	

fused image is highest, i.e., 5.4008 when PCA is used as the fusion method. The least entropy value, i.e., 1.39 was found in DWT-based fusion.

If we focus on SSIM values, then it is well inferred from the table that mean values of SSIM calculated between IM1 and IMF and IM2 and IMF are highest in PBM and SWT-based fusion, respectively. The least values for SSIM have been obtained in case of fusion based on DWT (IM1 and IMF) and PBM (IM2 and IMF). Almost similar SSIM values have been obtained for DWT, PCA and SWT fusion methods (in case of IM2 and IMF).

Also, the average values of PSNR calculated for IM1 and IMF and IM2 and IMF were the highest and least using PCA and PBM fusion methods, respectively. On the other hand, average RMSE values calculated between IM1 and IMF and IM2 and IMF were least obtained for PCA fusion method and highest obtained for PBM fusion method.

Table 3 is depicting the average values of all image quality assessment parameters that have been obtained corresponding to different fusion methods in the fusion of PET/CT brain images.

It is inferred from the table that average value of entropy of fused image is highest, i.e., 4.1334 when PCA is used as the fusion method. The least entropy value, i.e., 1.2878 was found in DWT-based fusion. Talking about SSIM values, then it is well inferred from the table that mean values of SSIM calculated between IM1 and IMF and IM2 and IMF were highest in PCA-based fusion. The least values for SSIM have been obtained in case of fusion based on PBM (IM1 and IMF) and SWT (IM2 and IMF) fusion methods.

Also, the average values of PSNR calculated for IM1 and IMF were highest and least using PCA and SWT fusion methods, respectively. Whereas, for PSNR calculated for IM2 and IMF, DWT and SWT fusion methods gave the highest and least average values. On the other hand, average RMSE values calculated between IM1 and IMF and IM2 and IMF were least for PCA and DWT fusion methods, respectively. Fusion based on SWT gave the highest average value of RMSE in both the cases.

The average values obtained for all the image quality assessment metrics (tabulated in Tables 1, 2 and 3) during fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images versus different fusion methods such as PBM, DWT, PCA and SWT have been plotted in Figs. 9, 10, 11 and 12. These plots will help in finding out the





Fig. 10 Plot showing SSIM values (IM1 and IMF) and (IM2 and IMF) versus fusion methods for fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images



Fig. 11 Plot showing PSNR values (IM1 and IMF) and (IM2 and IMF) versus fusion methods for fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images



Fig. 12 Plot showing RMSE values (IM1 and IMF) and (IM2 and IMF) versus fusion methods for fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images

best outperforming fusion method amongst all the fusion methods for the fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images.

Figure 9 infers that the average value of entropy of fused images obtained in fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images is highest, when PCA is used as the fusion method compared to other fusion methods such as PBM, DWT and SWT.

It has been deduced from Fig. 9 that the fusion based on PCA has resulted in an average increase of entropy of fused images by 74.84% in CT/MRI fusion; 106.18% in MRI/PET fusion and 146.05% in PET/CT fusion of brain images when compared to fusion methods such as PBM, DWT and PCA.

Figure 10 infers that the average values of SSIM calculated between fused images (IMF) and input images (IM1, IM2) were overall found to be highest using PCA fusion method.

Overall, PCA-based fusion has resulted in an average increase of SSIM values by 68.05% in CT/MRI fusion; 9.19% in MRI/PET fusion and 22.53% in PET/CT fusion, when compared to other fusion methods such as PBM, DWT and SWT.

Figure 11 infers that PCA-based fusion gave the highest average values of PSNR calculated between fused images (IMF) and input images (IM1, IM2) when compared to other methods such as PBM, DWT and SWT. This was found equally true in all the three cases, i.e., for the fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images. Overall, it has been deduced from Fig. 11 that PCA-based fusion has resulted in an average increase of PSNR values by 104.91% in CT/MRI fusion of brain images;

18.40% in MRI/PET fusion of brain images and 72.35% in PET/CT fusion of brain images, when compared to other fusion methods such as PBM, DWT and SWT.

Figure 12 infers that the average values of RMSE calculated between fused images (IMF) and input images (IM1, IM2) were overall found to be least when PCA is used as the fusion method for the fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images. It was observed that PCA-based fusion resulted in an average decrease in RMSE values by 52.17%; 28.09% and 50.17% in fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images, respectively.

7 Conclusion

It is clearly concluded from the obtained results that are tabulated in Tables 1, 2 and 3 and from Figs. 9, 10, 11 and 12 that PCA is the best fusion method amongst all explored fusion methods such as PBM, DWT and SWT for the fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images. Not only, the resultant fused images obtained using PCA fusion method were best in terms of visual quality, but also these fused images gave the best results for all the image quality assessment parameters.

In CT/MRI fusion of brain images, PCA has resulted in an average percentage increase of entropy by 74.84%; SSIM values by 68.05%; PSNR values by 104.91% and RMSE values have been reduced on average by 52.17%.

Similarly, in MRI/PET fusion of brain images, average percentage improvement of 106.18%, 9.19%, 18.40% was observed in entropy, SSIM and PSNR, respectively, using PCA fusion method. Also, RMSE value was reduced by 28.09% on average using PCA as fusion method when compared to other methods.

In PET/CT fusion of brain images, PCA-based fusion gave the best results with an average increase of entropy by 146.05%; SSIM values by 22.53%; PSNR values by 72.35% and RMSE values were decreased on average by 50.17%, when compared to other fusion methods like PBM, DWT and SWT.

Hence, it has been justified that multimodal fusion of CT/MRI, MRI/PET and PET/CT brain images is best performed using PCA as the fusion method. The resulting fused images are rich in information content, less noisy and possess reduced redundancy. These images will aid the medical experts in knowing the state of the patient more accurately in short span of time. Instead of analyzing the individual images of different imaging modalities one by one, the expert can just focus on one single fused image.

References

- 1. B. Rajalingam, R. Priya, Multimodality medical image fusion based on hybrid fusion techniques. Int. J. Eng. Manufact. Sci. 7(1) (2017)
- H.M. El-Hoseny, W. Abd Elrahman, E.M. El-Rabaie, O.S. Faragallah, F.E. Abd El-Sami, Medical image fusion: a literature review present solutions and future directions. Menoufia J. Electron. Eng. Res. 26(2), 321–350 (2017)
- 3. A.P. James, B.V. Dasarathy, Medical image fusion: a survey of the state of the art. Inf. Fusion **19**, 4–19 (2014)
- F.E. El-Gamal, M. Elmogy, A. Atwan, Current trends in medical image registration and fusion. Egypt. Inf. J. 17(1), 99–124 (2016)
- J.J. Lewis, R.J. O'Callaghan, S.G. Nikolov, D.R. Bull, N. Canagarajah, Pixel- and region-based image fusion with complex wavelets. Inf. Fusion 8(2), 119–130 (2007)
- H. Tian, Y. Fu, Image fusion algorithm based on regional variance and multi-wavelet bases, in 2nd International Conference on Future Computer and Communication, vol. 2 (2010), pp. 792–795
- C. He, Q. Liu, H. Li, H. Wang, Multimodal medical image fusion based on IHS and PCA. Proc. Eng. 7, 280–285 (2010)
- 8. H. Tan, X, Huang, Pixel saliency metric based pixel-level medical image fusion, in *International Conference on Computational Problem-Solving (ICCP)* (2011)
- A. Srivastava, V. Singhal, A.K. Aggarawal, Comparative analysis of multimodal medical image fusion using PCA and wavelet transforms. Int. J. Latest Technol. Eng. Manag. Appl. Sci. (IJLTEMAS) VI(IV) (2017)
- A. Purushotham, G.U. Rani, A. Naik, Image fusion using DWT and PCA. Int. J. Adv. Res. Comput. Sci. Softw. Eng. 5(4) (2015)
- 11. Himanshi, V. Bhaterja, A. Krishn, A. Sahu, An improved medical image fusion approach using PCA and complex wavelets, in *IEEE International Conference on Medical Imaging, m-Health and Emerging Communication Systems (MedCom)* (2014), pp. 442–447
- V. Jagruti, Implementation of discrete wavelet transform based image fusion. IOSR J. Electron. Commun. Eng. 9(2), 107–109 (2014)
- 13. J. Agarwal, S.S. Bedi, Implementation of hybrid image fusion technique for feature enhancement in medical diagnosis. Hum. Cent. Comput. Inf. Sci. **5**(1) (2015)
- 14. G.B. Hajma, A. Sarma, A novel multi-focus image fusion algorithm using stationary wavelet transform. IJCSITS 6(4) (2016)
- 15. M.D. Chaudhary, A.B. Upadhyay, Fusion of local and global features using stationary wavelet transform for efficient content based image retrieval, in *IEEE Students' Conference on Electrical, Electronics and Computer Science* (2014)
- K.P. Indira, R. Hemamalini, R Indhumathi, Pixel based medical image fusion techniques using discrete wavelet transform and stationary wavelet transform. Indian J. Sci. Technol. 8(26) (2015)
- 17. S. Jadhav, Image fusion based on wavelet transforms. Int. J. Eng. Res. 3(7), 442–445 (2014)
- V. Bhateja, H. Patel, A. Krishn, A. Sahu, A. Lay-Ekuakille, Multimodal medical image sensor fusion framework using Cascade of wavelet and Contourlet transform domains. IEEE Sens. J. 15(12), 6783–6790 (2015)
- M. Vani, S. Saravanakumar, Multi focus and multi modal image fusion using wavelet transform, in 3rd International Conference on Signal Processing, Communication and Networking (ICSCN) (2015)
- 20. A. Wang, S. Haijing, G. Yueyang, The application of wavelet transform to multi-modality medical image fusion, in 2006 IEEE International Conference on Networking, Sensing and Control (2006)
- V.P. Tank, Image fusion based on wavelet and Curvelet transform. IOSR J. VLSI Sig. Process. 1(5), 32–36 (2013)

- 22. K.N. Murthy, J. Kusuma, Fusion of medical image using STSVD, in Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Frontiers in Intelligent Computing: Theory and Applications, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol 516 (Springer, 2017)
- S. Masood, M. Sharif, Y. Mussarat, M.A. Shahid, A. Rehman, Image fusion methods: a survey. JESTR 10(6), 186–195 (2017)
- 24. Chavan, S., Pawar, A., Talbar, S.: Multimodality Medical Image Fusion using Rotated Wavelet Transform. Advances in Intelligent Systems Research, Volume 137 (2017).
- H.M. El-Hoseny, E.M. El-Rabaie, W.A. Elrahman, F.E.A. El-Samie, Medical image fusion techniques based on combined discrete transform domains, in 34th National Radio Science Conference (NRSC) (Alexandria, Egypt, 2017)
- 26. S. Singh, R.S. Anand, D. Gupta, CT and MR image information fusion scheme using a cascaded framework in ripplet and NSST domain. IET Image Proc. **12**(5), 696–707 (2018)
- Y. Na, L. Zhao, Y. Yang, M. Ren, Guided filter-based images fusion algorithm for CT and MRI medical images. IET Image Proc. 12(1), 138–148 (2018)
- C. Huang, G. Tian, Y. Lan, Y. Peng, E.Y.K. Ng, Y. Hao, Y. Cheng, W. Che, A new pulse coupled neural network (PCNN) for brain medical image fusion empowered by shuffled frog leaping algorithm. Front. Neurosci. 13, 210 (2019)
- 29. M. Yin, X. Liu, Y. Liu, X. Chen, Medical image fusion with parameter-adaptive pulse coupled neural network in nonsubsampled shearlet transform domain. IEEE Trans. Instrum. Meas. **68**(1), 49–64 (2019)
- 30. A. Saboori, J. Birjandtalab, PET–MRI image fusion using adaptive filter based on spectral and spatial discrepancy. Sig. Image Video Process. **13**(1), 135–143 (2019), Article 1338
- S.P. Yadav, S. Yadav, Image fusion using hybrid methods in multimodality medical images. Med. Biol. Eng. Comput. 58, 669–687 (2020)
- 32. K.A. Johnson, J.A. Becker, The whole brain ATLAS. Database for brain images. http://www. med.harvard.edu/aanlib/home.html
- G. Pajares, J. Manuel de la Cruz, A wavelet-based image fusion tutorial. Pattern Recogn. 37(9), 1855–1872 (2004)
- V. Naidu, Image fusion technique using multi-resolution singular value decomposition. Def. Sci. J. 61(5), 479 (2011)

Performance Analysis of Task Scheduling Heuristics in Fog Environment



Ashish Virendra Chandak, Niranjan K. Ray, Rabindra Kumar Barik, and Vinay Kumar

1 Introduction

In distributed computing, resources are interconnected with each other, and these resources are providing huge computational power which can be thought of as cloud. Cloud computing brings revolution and provides a new way to access devices that can quickly provide services [1]. Devices connected with internet connectivity which transmit data to higher-level devices in the network are termed as IoT devices. IoT devices contain sensors, actuators, vehicles that are generating data. IoT devices are growing rapidly, and they are producing an immense amount of data. It is impossible for standalone IoT devices to efficiently perform the computation. A standalone system has limitations in their functionalities for processing but cloud computing provides abundant resources for computation. In some cases, IoT gadgets require a fast reaction, and delay in response from a cloud is not desirable. To overcome this scenario of latency communication, fog computing is used to assist the cloud computing [2-6]. This resides between client and cloud which process requests from the client and processing of the request are performed at fog and necessary data forward to cloud for storage [1, 7, 8]. In a fog computing environment, task scheduling is a significant issue that requires resources for execution. Allocation of resources for scheduling of tasks is a critical issue. Efficient resource management is required for scheduling of tasks which provide minimum task execution time [1, 8, 9]. The

A. V. Chandak (🖂) · N. K. Ray

School of Computer Engineering, KIIT University, Bhubaneswar, India

N. K. Ray e-mail: niranjan.rayfcs@kiit.ac.in

R. K. Barik School of Computer Applications, KIIT University, Bhubaneswar, India

V. Kumar

Department of ECE, Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Allahabad, Prayagraj, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 857 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_75

objective of scheduling is to find an optimal assignment of tasks to machines. How to execute a task in a fog environment is a big technical challenge. Which task should be executed on which node is a big concern [10, 11]. What heuristics can be used in for optimal task execution? To address this challenge, various authors have proposed strategies for task scheduling. [9] Proposed an adaptive double fitness genetic task scheduling (ADGTS) algorithm for task scheduling in fog computing. A security-aware task scheduling in a fog environment has been described in [12]. Ni et al. [13] also describe a scheduling heuristic for fog computing. In this work, we studied the scheduling of tasks in a fog environment and performance evaluation of various task scheduling heuristics is carried out.

2 Task State Transition in Fog Environment

The task execution in a fog environment can pass through in many states, i.e., IoT device, fog computing administrator, fog scheduler, blocked, executor, finish state, and finally in cloud storage state. Figure 1 is illustrated all the states involved in the completion of one task. Initially, the task is generated by IoT devices. The fog computing administrator is responsible for submitting the task. It also collects the requirement for task execution from IoT devices. Tasks arriving at the fog scheduler is put in the global task queue. The fog scheduler checks the workload and resource availability of each node and forwards the task to the node that satisfies the task requirement. If the fog scheduler is busy, then the arriving task will be blocked from entering into execution else it is put in the global queue. Undertakings that are desiring execution in the fog scheduler are separated into two types viz. newly arrived tasks



Fig. 1 Fog computing architecture

and squirted tasks, i.e., tasks that are aborted, while new tasks, i.e., tasks that have not any service from time of arrival. To recognize these two kinds of tasks, it maintains two queues, one for new tasks that are arrived in fog but not scheduled and the second queue for squirted tasks. The new queue keeps tasks in the order of arrival, while the squirted queue keeps tasks based on the size of CPU consumption. The task having the littlest CPU utilization is put at the head of a queue while the assignment having the biggest CPU utilization is put at the tail of the queue. The task in the task queue is scheduled first, and then squirted queue tasks are sent to scheduling. Once a task is completed execution, it releases resources, and these resources become available for other unscheduled tasks. If the required resource is not available for the task then it is put in the blocked state. Task which is using CPU cycles belongs to the executor state. Task enters into the finished state after total execution. Finished task came back to the user through the fog scheduler. After complete execution of the task, the fog scheduler forwards results to cloud storage. In cloud storage state, it has stored the processed result from the fog computing environment.

3 Task Scheduling Heuristic Description

In fast come first service (FCFS) task scheduling, the task is selected for execution in the order of submission. If sufficient resources are not available, then the scheduler waits until the resource becomes available. In random scheduling, the task for execution is randomly selected from a set of tasks that are submitted but started for execution. No task is preferred, but tasks submitted earlier have a higher probability to be started for a given time instant [14]. In the earliest deadline first (EDF), tasks are selected according to the deadline in the earliest deadline first heuristic. The deadline and priority of tasks are inversely proportional to each other. In Min-Min algorithm, it commences with a set of a task which is not scheduled. It then determines the completion time of all tasks on all available machines [15]. The task is selected such that it has the least completion time on the respective machine. The task which is scheduled on a machine is expelled from a set of tasks and then this methodology is repeated for unscheduled tasks [14]. In Max–Min algorithm, it starts to execute with a set of a task which is not scheduled. It then determines the completion time of all tasks on all available machines. Task having the most extreme finishing time is selected and scheduled on the respective machine. The task which is scheduled on a machine is expelled from a set of tasks, and then this methodology is repeated for unscheduled tasks [2, 16].

4 Performance Assessment

Table 1 demonstrates the evaluation set up to quantify the performance of our model.

Simulator tool	iFogSim
Number of nodes	10
Task ETC	Between 1 and 10 (Random distribution)
Task arrival	Poisson distribution
Simulation starts at	100 tasks
Simulation end at	500 tasks
	Simulator tool Number of nodes Task ETC Task arrival Simulation starts at Simulation end at

We considered two parameters viz. makespan and flowtime time to measure performance. We have developed a simulation model in iFogSim [17]. Each simulation ends when 500 tasks execution gets completed. We considered ten computing nodes for simulation each having diverse computing capacity. The arrival of tasks is modeled as a Poisson random process. We have evaluated the performance using Max–Min, Min–Min, FCFS, Random, and EDF heuristics.

Makespan is defined as a maximum of completion time for any task. Figure 2 shows the number of tasks versus makespan. The x-axis shows a number of tasks, while the y-axis shows the makespan. It is found from the figure that with the increase in the number of tasks, and the makespan additionally gets increased. Max–Min, Min–Min, EDF, Random, and FCFS heuristics are applied for task scheduling by fog scheduler. From the comparison, it is observed that scheduling task using Max–Min and Min–Min heuristic gives better results as thought about EDF, Random, and FCFS heuristics.

Figure 3 shows a comparison of flowtime versus a number of tasks. It is observed flowtime increases with the number of tasks. The horizontal axis demonstrates a number of tasks and the vertical axis demonstrates flowtime. Performance analysis is carried out between Max–Min, Min–Min, EDF, Random, and FCFS heuristics.







Fig. 3 Flowtime comparison

The simulation results show that scheduling of tasks using Max–Min heuristic gives better outcomes as thought about Min–Min, EDF, Random, and FCFS heuristics.

Figure 4 shows the average execution time and task with real performance. As the no. of tasks increases, we observe a consistent increase in average execution time. As the higher the number of tasks, more resource is used, increasing the total execution time. Performance evaluation is carried out using Max–Min, Min-Min, EDF, Random, and FCFS heuristics. The x-axis indicates a number of tasks, and the y-axis indicated the average execution time. From the comparison, it is observed that if tasks are scheduled using the Max–Min heuristic, then it gives better results as thought about Min-Min, EDF, Random, and FCFS heuristics.



Fig. 4 Average execution time comparison



Fig. 5 Success execution rate comparison

If the task completes execution within a given deadline, then it is called as successfully executed. The effect of success execution rate on the number of tasks is shown in Fig. 5. The horizontal axis demonstrates the number of tasks, and the vertical axis demonstrates success execution rate. Comparison results clearly indicate that Min-Min heuristics complete more number of tasks within the deadline as contrasted with Max–Min, EDF, Random, and FCFS heuristics.

5 Conclusion

The present research article aims to present the performance analysis of task scheduling heuristics in fog computing environment. The heuristics are executed in a heterogeneous fog environment. Here, it evaluated the performance using Max–Min, Min–Min, FCFS, Random, and EDF heuristics based on parameters viz. makespan, flowtime, average execution time, and success execution rate. From the performance evaluation, it has observed that Max–Min gives better performance in minimizing makespan, flowtime and average execution time, while Min-Min heuristic gives better performance in success execution rate.

References

 D. Zeng, L. Gu, S. Guo, Z. Cheng, S. Yu, Joint optimization of task scheduling and image placement in fog computing supported software-defined embedded system. IEEE Trans. Comput. 65(12), 3702–3712 (2016)

- A. Monteiro, H. Dubey, L. Mahler, Q. Yang, K. Mankodiya, Fit: A fog computing device for speech tele-treatments, in 2016 IEEE International Conference on Smart Computing (SMARTCOMP) (2016)
- R.K. Barik, H. Dubey, K. Mankodiya, S.A. Sasane, C. Misra, GeoFog4Health: A fog-based SDI framework for geospatial health big data analysis. J. Ambient. Intell. Humaniz. Comput. 10(2), 551–567 (2019)
- R.K. Barik, H. Dubey, A.B. Samaddar, R.D. Gupta, P.K. Ray, FogGIS: Fog computing for geospatial big data analytics, in 2016 IEEE Uttar Pradesh Section International Conference on Electrical, Computer and Electronics Engineering (UPCON) (2016)
- 5. R.K. Barik, H. Dubey, K. Mankodiya, SOA-FOG: Secure service-oriented edge computing architecture for smart health big data analytics, in 2017 IEEE Global Conference on Signal and Information Processing (GlobalSIP) (2017)
- A.V. Dastjerdi, R. Buyya, Fog computing: Helping the internet of things realize its potential. Computer 49(8), 112–116 (2016)
- M. Al Ahmad, S.S. Patra, R.K. Barik, Energy-efficient resource scheduling in fog computing using SDN framework, in *Progress in Computing, Analytics and Networking* (Springer, Singapore, 2020), pp. 567–578
- H. Dubey, J. Yang, N. Constant, A.M. Amiri, Q. Yang, K. Makodiya, Fog data: Enhancing telehealth big data through fog computing. Proc. ASE Bigdata Socialinformatics 2015, 1–6 (2015)
- Q. Liu, Y. Wei, S. Leng, Y. Chen, Task scheduling in fog enabled Internet of Things for smart cities, in 2017 IEEE 17th International Conference on Communication Technology (ICCT) (2017), pp. 975–980
- R. Mahmud, R. Kotagiri, R. Buyya, Fog computing: A taxonomy, survey and future directions. Internet of Everything, 103–130 (2018)
- 11. R. Mahmud, R. Kotagiri, R. Buyya, Application management in fog computing environments: A taxonomy, review and future directions. arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.10460 (2020)
- D. Rahbari, S. Kabirzadeh, M. Nickray, A security aware scheduling in fog computing by hyper heuristic algorithm, in 2017 3rd Iranian Conference on Intelligent Systems and Signal Processing (ICSPIS) (2017), pp. 87–92
- 13. L. Ni, J. Zhang, C. Jiang, C. Yan, K. Yu, Resource allocation strategy in fog computing based on priced timed petri nets. IEEE Internet Things J. 4(5), 1216–1228 (2017)
- H. Du Kim, J.S. Kim, An online scheduling algorithm for grid computing systems, in *Grid and Cooperative Computing*, ed. by M. Li, X.H. Sun, Q. Deng, J. Ni (Springer, Berlin, 2004), pp. 34–39
- T. Choudhari, M. Moh, T.-S. Moh, Prioritized task scheduling in fog computing, in *Proceedings* of the ACMSE 2018 Conference (2018)
- G. Zhang, F. Shen, N. Chen, P. Zhu, X. Dai, Y. Yang, DOTS: Delay-optimal task scheduling among voluntary nodes in fog networks. IEEE Internet Things J. 6(2), 3533–3544 (2018)
- H. Gupta et al., iFogSim: A toolkit for modeling and simulation of resource management techniques in the Internet of Things, Edge and Fog computing environments. Softw. Pract. Exp. 47(9), 1275–1296 (2017)

Multi Hop DTN Routing Algorithm for Maritime Networks



Nidhi Sonkar, Sudhakar Pandey, and Sanjay Kumar

1 Introduction

Now a day's, people want to access internet in ship also, while traveling but, currently in ship internet is access directly by satellite links in which 20 MBPS connection rate of satellite to ship connection and ship to user connection rates up to 432 kbps [1]. It is found that satellite connection is too expensive for frequently use. To resolve this problem, researchers are finding the way to expand the internet connection from land to sea so that people can use internet access in low cost. Triton [2] is a project which aim is to extend the wireless network from land to sea. Triton used the WiMAX IEEE and 802.16 m techniques that can gives the wide range of communication about 50 km. Triton used these features for long range communication from shore to ship and ship to ship wireless links. But the ships are continuing moving and in sea density is very low, the result becomes frequent disconnection between nodes. Therefore, the topology of networks changes every time. In this type of network, where low density, intermittent connectivity and highly dynamic networks delay in communication occurs. In such type of issues, delay tolerant networks can resolve the problems in maritime networks [3].

Delay tolerant networks (DTNs) enable communication in the environment where intermittent connectivity, high-error rate, long delay or no communication between source and destination exist [4]. DTNs use store-carry-forward technique to overcome intermittent connectivity for transmission. If there is no connectivity exist between two nodes, source node stores messages in buffer until the destination has been reached [5]. In maritime networks, if no connectivity exist between two ships, one ship stores the data until the link has been found. In this way, delay tolerant network finds applicable in maritime networks. For DTNs, many routing algorithms have been proposed by authors [6]. Multi copy-based routing epidemic routing [7] is

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_76

N. Sonkar $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$. Pandey $\cdot S$. Kumar

National Institute of Technology, Raipur, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

initially proposed routing algorithm in which when any two nodes come in the contact they share all the messages to each other so that both can have all the messages. The advantages of this technique are high-delivery rate with minimum latency. But the major drawback of this scheme is it uses high amount of buffer space, bandwidth and energy. Therefore, spray and wait [8], and multi period spray and wait [9] schemes have been proposed which limit the number of copies with high-delivery rate. In single-copy-based routing scheme, PROPHET [10] routing has been proposed, in which history of encountering of node is considered for prediction of future movement of node. For example, if a node visited several locations multiple times it is likely to be visit the same location in future. MaxProp [11] is other single-copy-based routing algorithm in which author set the priority of schedule of both message dropping and transmitting to other nodes. This routing scheme achieves better performance when limited resources are available. But these techniques give high-delivery delay and unsatisfactory delivery rate when applying in maritime networks [12].

2 Related Works

There are multiple protocols for routing proposed by authors for maritime mess networks, which are optimized link state routing (OLSR) [13], Ad hoc on demand distance vector routing (AODV) [14] and Ad hoc on demand multipath distance vector (AOMDV) [15]. These all routing protocols are compared in [16]. These routing protocols are good performer when the density is high but in the maritime networks density cannot be good; therefore, they are failed in maritime networks. When the problem of low density occurs delay tolerant networks come in every researchers mind. Multiple routing protocols have been proposed in DTN. We can divide all protocols in two categories. First one is multi copy-based routing protocols, in this category the protocols lied are epidemic [17] spray and wait [8], and multi period spray and wait [9]. Second category is single-copy-based routing protocols, in this category many protocols are implemented which are, PROPHET [10], MaxProp [11], etc.

But, these routing protocols give unsatisfactory results when applying in maritime networks as discussed in [12]. High end-to-end delay and less delivery ratio are the problem of existing routing protocols. Therefore, we are proposing new routing protocols for maritime networks to overcome the existing problem. Our scheme takes less information about networks and finds the probability to select relay node to transfer data from source to destination. By probability of node that they can transfer data in minimum time, we can decrease the end-to-end delay and increase the delivery probability of data in maritime networks by using the features of delay tolerant networks.

3 Proposed Methodology

Let us consider the set of all ships available in sea is Sh, such that, Sh = {sh| sh \in Sh} and nodes in land side *L* is defined as $L = \{1|1 \in L\}$. The ships are moving in different locations with different velocities. We assume that time of contact between the ships is sufficient to make decision to selection of node and the transfer of messages from one ship to other. The ships which come in contact are implicitly assumed to become aware of the arrival instance and the speed as well as direction of propagation of the contact ship. Moreover, the computation time taken by the host node for bundle relaying decision is negligible (Fig. 1).

Based on the above mentioned assumptions, our goal is to develop a routing algorithm which has a single copy of message in which the delay in expected delivery will be minimum we proposed same routing scheme for vehicles in [19]. For ease of understanding, we list the main auxiliary variables as abbreviation in Table 1.

In this methodology, when a ship contact to other ship or node in the land they share information to each other. The information includes speed of ship and arrival time. Here, we consider the node that start transmission is *S*. Thus, *S* has the information about the speed v_i and arrival time of *i*th ship. *S* releases a single packet that is placed in the front of its queue with a probability Pr. If packet *B* is forwarded to the *i*th ship, it will be delivered to destination *D* at the instant $d_i = t_i + \frac{D_{sd}}{v_i}$. If packet *B* is forwarded to the (i + 1)th ship, it will be delivered to destination *D* at the instant $d_{i+1} = t_{i+1} + \frac{D_{sd}}{v_{i+1}}$. Thus, the best opportunity to forward message arises whenever:

$$d_{i+1}\langle d_i \rangle = \lambda I_{i+1} + \frac{D_{\mathrm{sd}}}{v_{i+1}} < \frac{D_{\mathrm{sd}}}{v_i}$$

$$\tag{1}$$

Fig. 1 Proposed methodology in maritime networks



Variables	Details
Sh	Set of ships
L	Set of nodes in land
Pr	Probability to release messages
С	Coverage range of node
S	Source node
D	Destination node
D _{sd}	Distance between source and destination
di	Instance of delivery to D for <i>i</i> th ship
v_{i}	Velocity of <i>i</i> th ship
I _{i+1}	(i + 1)th ship inter arrival time
ti	Time of arrival of <i>i</i> th ship

Table 1Details of auxiliaryvariables

According to Eq. (1) not only does (i + 1)th ship, has to arrive *S* before one has reached *D* but also has to reach *D* before one does [18, 19]. In proposed routing scheme, we first direct transfer the message to the node that arise first in the range of communication by direct delivery method. After that decision will be taken for each contact for transmission. We choose the node that come in the contact of node that is going to transfer the message according to the direction of the node. That means, we select the node that is going to the direction of destination so that we can reduce the delay in transmission. We cannot select the ship that has zero velocity in the direction of destination. Thus, expected delivery time can be reduce by following this procedure. The connection that satisfies Eq. (1) is the best connection among all. The algorithms for proposed routing scheme and selection of best node are as follows.

Algorithm 1: Multi Hop routing Algorithm

For each ship sh \in Sh and stationary node that is in land $l \in L$, working as host do

- 1. For any node that comes in the communication first deliver the message by direct delivery method.
- 2. Drop a message to the forwarder from the front of the message queue.
- 3. Find the destination of the message.
- 4. Find list of all Useable Connections.
- 5. Call Best node Computation algorithm.
- 6. Deliver message to the best node.

In Algorithm 1, we choose the list of connection that direction is same as destination of the transmitting message. In the present context, this connection is called as valid connections. We cannot choose other connections for message transfer because the direction is not same as destination if we choose those connections only delivery delay will be increase. A node from the valid connection is called as best node and that node will be choose for message transmission. In proposed scheme, a best node is called in terms of minimum delivery time that is the node that deliver message to the destination with minimum time as we discussed in Eq. 1. Below, we discuss the algorithm for best node computation.

Algorithm 2: Best Node Computation

For a given list of connection and destination location of the dequeued messages.

- 1. Get information about node like arrival time and speed
- 2. Calculate exit time $t_e = t_i + t_c$
- 3. While $t_{current} < t_e$
- 4. For each connection
- 5. Calculate estimate time $estTime = t_i + \frac{dist}{speed}$
- 6. If *estTime* < *minTime*
- 7. minTime = estTime
- 8. Update connection list
- 9. Return base connection.

4 Simulation and Results

ONE simulator abbreviated as, opportunistic networking environment simulator is designed especially for routing in delay tolerant networks [20]. We are using ONE simulator for simulation of proposed routing scheme in maritime networks to evaluate performance that proposed routing scheme is better than existing algorithms. The parameters used in multi hop DTN routing algorithm for maritime networks are given in Table 2.

We have simulated the proposed routing scheme to study the performance of proposed methodology with existing techniques in order to compare proposed multi hop algorithm for maritime networks with existing DTNs routing algorithms. The results of simulation are shown as follows: In Fig. 2, we can see the impact of number of ships in delivery probability, when we increase the number of ships delivery probability also increases. But network of sea is sparse network, we cannot make it a dense network. Therefore, we take maximum of 50 ships in the sea and the delivery

Parameter	Value
Transmit range	1 km
Buffer size	20-100 MB
Number of ships	10–50
Message TTL	300 min
Message size	100 b
Simulation time	10,000 s
Movement model	Map based movement

Table 2 Parameters





870

probability is also satisfactory as compare to other algorithms in less number of ships also except epidemic routing algorithm. The reason of increasing delivery probability is, when more number of ships available in sea opportunity of meeting ships to each other will increase and amount will be less of losing the bundle.

In Fig. 3, we can see the impact of number of ships in average end to end delay. When number of ships increases the delay is decreasing, the reason behind this decrease is we can find the ship which can transfer faster than others if we have more number of ships. Our proposed routing algorithm have the less end-to-end delay as compare to others because we use probabilistic scheme to find the ship which can deliver the data in minimum time our main work of proposed algorithm is make the delay minimum.

In Fig. 4, the impact of increasing buffer size in delivery probability is shown. We can see that when the buffer size is increasing delivery probability also increasing because, when the two ships are far away from each other, one should store the data till the other ship not come in the contact of other. So buffer space plays the major role in this problem. Therefore, we can say that the delivery probability will be increase if we increase the size of buffer. In Fig. 5, we can see that the average end-to-end delay in decreasing when we increase the buffer size the reason behind this decrease





Fig. 4 Impact of buffer size in delivery probability



Fig. 5 Impact of buffer size in average end-to-end delay

in end-to-end delay is, if buffer space will be sufficient data packets could be send to other node very quickly because no packets have to wait for getting space in buffer. And if buffer size will be more less chances if data losing because if no link between two node found then buffer store data till link formation. Chances of losing data packets are high in small buffer size. Therefore, we can say that end-to-end delay can be reduce with large buffer space.

5 Conclusion

In this article, we proposed a multi hop delay tolerant network routing algorithm for maritime networks for creating mesh network in sea. By addressing the intermittent connectivity and long delay problems in maritime network, researchers have used delay tolerant network routing protocols for maritime networking. But the existing DTN routing protocols having the problems when they are used in maritime networks like low-delivery probability and high delay on data transfer. Therefore, we proposed a probabilistic based multi hop delay tolerant Network that finds path for deliver data to the destination with the minimum time and high-delivery rate. We simulate this environment using ONE simulator and compare the proposed routing algorithm with existing DTN routing algorithm has the better performance as compared to existing techniques.

6 Future Work

In this research work, we have evaluated the multi hop DTN routing algorithm for maritime network by using the standard mobility models. In future, for getting accurate result, we can evaluate this work by real time networks or real life mobility traces with physical nodes.

References

- F. Bin Zamal, Mobile communication satellite system. Des. Consideration Market Anal. May 2013 (2016)
- 2. Y. Ge, P. Kong, C. Tham, J.S. Pathmasuntharam, Connectivity and Route Analysis for a Maritime Communication Network (2007)
- H.M. Lin, G. Yu, A.C. Pang, J.S. Pathmasuntharam, Performance study on delay tolerant networks in maritime communication environments, in OCEANS'10 IEEE Sydney, OCEANSSYD 2010 (2010)
- S. Almelu, A.J. Deen, S. Silakari, Delay Tolerant Network Routing Protocol: A Comprehensive Survey with Hybrid Technique (2015), pp. 481–487
- 5. Y.G. Moon et al., Cedos: A network architecture and programming abstraction for delay-tolerant mobile apps. IEEE/ACM Trans. Networking **25**(2), 646–661 (2017)
- S. Ali, J. Qadir, A. Baig, Routing protocols in delay tolerant networks—A survey, in 2010 6th International Conference on Emerging Technologies ICET (2010), pp. 70–75
- 7. E.M. Daly, M. Haahr, Social network analysis for routing in disconnected delay-tolerant MANETs, in *Proceedings of the 8th ACM international symposium on Mobile Ad Hoc Networking and Computing—MobiHoc '07*, p. 32 (2007)
- T. Spyropoulos, K. Psounis, C.S. Raghavendra, Spray and wait: An efficient routing scheme for intermittently connected mobile networks, in ACM SIGCOMM Workshop on Delay-Tolerant Networking, pp. 252–259 (2005)

- 9. E. Bulut, Z. Wang, B.K. Szymanski, Cost Effective Multi-Period Spraying for Routing in Delay Tolerant Networks, vol. 18, no. 5 (2010), pp. 1–14
- S. Pathak, N. Gondaliya, N. Raja, A survey on PROPHET based routing protocol in delay tolerant network, in 2017 International Conference on Emerging Trends and Innovation in ICT, ICEI 2017 (2017), pp. 110–115
- C. Paper, D.D. Jensen, MaxProp: Routing for Vehicle-Based Disruption-Tolerant Networks, April 2006 (2014)
- L. Lambrinos, C. Djouvas, Applying delay tolerant networking routing algorithms in maritime communications, in 2013 IEEE 14th International Symposium on "A World of Wireless, Mobile and Multimedia Networks" (WoWMOM) (2013), pp. 1–6
- 13. P. Jacquet, P. Muhlethaler, T. Clausen, A. Laouiti, A. Qayyum, L. Viennot, Optimized Link State Routing Protocol for * Ad Hoc Networks
- C.E. Perkins, M. Park, E.M. Royer, Ad-hoc on-demand distance vector routing, in *Proceedings* WMCSA'99. Second IEEE Workshop on Mobile Computing Systems and Applications, pp. 90– 100
- M.K. Marina, S.R. Das, On-demand Multipath Distance Vector Routing in Ad Hoc Networks 3 Ad Hoc on-Demand Multipath Distance (2001), pp. 14–23
- P. Kong, H. Wang, Y. Ge, C. Ang, S. Wen, J. Shankar, A Performance Comparison of Routing Protocols for Maritime Wireless Mesh Networks (2008), pp. 2170–2175
- A. Vahdat, D. Becker, Epidemic Routing for Partially-Connected Ad Hoc Networks. Technical Report CS-200006. Department of Computer Science, Duke University. Recuperado de: http:// issg.cs.duke.edu/epidemic/epidemic.pdf (2000)
- M.J. Khabbaz, W.F. Fawaz, C.M. Assi, Probabilistic bundle relaying schemes in two-hop vehicular delay tolerant networks. IEEE Commun. Lett. 15(3), 281–283 (2011)
- N. Sonkar, S. Pandey, S. Kumar, Probabilistic bundle relaying scheme in a multi-copy vehicular delay tolerant network Int. J. Veh. Inf. Commun. Syst. 4(1), 43–54 (2019)
- 20. A. Keränen, J. Ott, T. Kärkkäinen, The ONE Simulator for DTN Protocol Evaluation

Performance Evaluation of a Novel Si_{0.6}Ge_{0.4}/Ge Doping-Less TFET for Enhanced Low Power Analog/RF Applications



Suruchi Sharma, Rikmantra Basu, and Baljit Kaur

1 Introduction

TFET is well thought-out as one of the most forthcoming replacements to succeed MOSFET by virtue of its low subthreshold swing (SS), small off-state current (I_{OFF}), ultra-low voltage operation ($V_{DD} < 0.5$ V), and immunity toward short channel effects [1–3]. However, along with the impediment of low on-current (I_{ON}), the operation of TFET necessitates higher doping concentration and abrupt junctions, which leads to the necessity of complex thermal budget and exorbitant annealing approaches. These requirements further exaggerate the variability in device functioning on account of random dopant fluctuations (RDFs), resulting in an increment of I_{OFF} [4].

Consequently, several approaches have been described in the literature such as the work function (WF) engineering [5, 6], the gate dielectric engineering [7, 8], spacer engineering [9, 10], band-gap engineering [11], material engineering [12–15], pocket engineering [16], and so on to deal with the issues mentioned above. Among them, a charge plasma-based Doping-less TEFT (DLTFET) has engaged much attention as its p^+ source, and n^+ drain is designed by applying the suitable WF of the metal electrodes contacting with the semiconductor [17]. This DL TFET structure circumvents RDF and issues related to thermal budget resulting in the formation of the abrupt junction without any chemical doping. However, Si-DLTEFT exhibits a low I_{ON} owing to large effective mass of electron in Si and the small horizontal electric field in the tunneling junction, likewise conventional Si-TFET.

Furthermore, different semiconductor materials illustrate different electrical properties, i.e., indirect semiconductor material (Si, Ge) shows indirect band-to-band tunneling (BTBT) [18], while compound semiconductor material (SiGe) exhibits

Department of ECE, NIT Delhi, Delhi, India

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_77

S. Sharma (🖂) · R. Basu · B. Kaur

e-mail: suruchisharma@nitdelhi.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

direct BTBT [19–22]. Regarding this, the utilization of small band-gap semiconductor material in the source section boosts I_{ON} , and large band-gap semiconductor material in the drain section suppresses I_{OFF} . Therefore, in this paper, we reported a Si_{0.6}Ge_{0.4}/Ge heterojunction (HJ) DLTFET with a high- κ dielectric (HD) to boost performance concerning DC and analog/RF performance parametric. In HJ HD DLTFET, for the first time, to the best of the authors' insight, Ge is used as source and the channel region, and Si_{0.6}Ge_{0.4}, being a wide band-gap semiconductor material, is used in the drain region.

The remaining paper is arranged in a subsequent manner. Section II pronounces the physical parameters of HJ HD DLTFET and simulation models used in the simulation to define physics and charge carrier movement in the device. Section III articulates the relative analysis of the HJ HD DLTFET with the conventional DLTFET, concerning DC and analog/RF attributes. In the last, section IV delivers the conclusion.

2 Device Structure and Simulation Setup

2.1 Device Structure

The cross-sectional interpretation of the DLTFET and HJ HD DL TFET is displayed in Fig. 1a and b, respectively. In HJ HD DLTFET, the source and channel region employ germanium (Ge) [23, 24], and the drain region employs $Si_{0.6}Ge_{0.4}$ [25, 26]. The small band-gap, high mobility, small tunneling masses, and compatibility with silicon make Ge an ideal substitute for silicon. The p⁺ and n⁺ areas are induced in the source and the drain, respectively, using the CP concept. In HJ HD DLTFET, the work function of the drain, channel, and source metal electrode is 4.2, 4.6, and 5.93 eV, respectively. Two spacers, i.e., HfO₂ and SiO₂, having a dielectric constant of 22 and 3.9, are used at drain-channel electrode and source-channel electrode, respectively [27]. Additionally, TiO₂ is used as a gate dielectric to reduce the large offset current associated with the small band-gap semiconductor material (Ge) of the source and intrinsic channel area [28]. The device design requirements considered for the simulation are listed in Table 1.

2.2 Simulation Setup

The TCAD simulator that has been used for the simulation of the conventional DLTFET, as well as HJ HD DLTFET [29], is Silvaco ATLAS. The lateral BTBT is accounted by the Wentzel-Kramers-Brillouin (WKB) method and nonlocal BTBT (NONLOCAL . BBT) model. The intrinsic carrier concentration and mobility effects are addressed by Fermi–Dirac statistics (NI . FERMI), Shockley–Read–Hall generation-recombination model [30], and Lombardi mobility model (CVT).



Fig. 1 A cross-sectional view of a DLTFET, b HJ HD DLTFET

Table 1 Device dimension	Table 1	Device	dime	ensior
---------------------------------	---------	--------	------	--------

Parameter	Symbol	Value	Unit
Channel length	$L_{\rm g}$	20	nm
Source length	Ls	20	nm
Drain length	Ld	20	nm
Oxide thickness	Tox	5	nm
Equivalent oxide thickness	EOT	1	nm
Gate-drain spacer length	LGAP, D	10	nm
Gate-source spacer length	LGAP, S	5	nm
Source electrode WF	M_3	5.93	eV
Gate electrode WF	M_2	4.6	eV
Drain electrode WF	M_1	4.2	eV
Silicon thickness	T _{Si}	5	nm

Furthermore, trap assisted tunneling (TAT) model and Hansch model are exploited to address ambipolar state and quantum confinement effects, respectively.

3 Results and Discussions

Figure 2a shows the energy band diagram (EBD) over the device length for HJ HD DLTFET under the off-state in which the $V_{\rm G}$ is kept at 0 V and $V_{\rm D}$ of 0.3 V is applied, resulting in the presence of energy barrier over the source-channel boundary, ensuing in inhibition of BTBT as the valence band of the source section is unaligned with the conduction band of the channel. Consequently, little values of current flow in the off-state. However, under the on-state in which $V_{\rm G}$ of 1.5 V and $V_{\rm D}$ of 0.3 V is applied, the energy barrier is reduced across the source-channel interface because small band-gap semiconductor material is used in the source section of the device. The EBD over the device length for HJ HD DLTFET under on-state is illustrated in Fig. 2b.

Furthermore, the comparative analysis of the transfer characteristics for conventional DLTFET and HJ HD DLTFET at V_D of 1.0 V and 0.3 V is demonstrated in Fig. 3a and b, respectively. The transfer characteristics are compared at $V_D =$ 1.0 V, as the conventional DLTFET had shown its results at this drain voltage [17]. However, the HJ HD DLTFET shows excellent characteristics at even $V_D = 0.3$ V, proving its potential benefit to operating as a low voltage and energy-efficient device. It can be perceived from Fig. 5 that HJ HD DLTFET demonstrates I_{ON} of the order of 10^{-3} A/µm because Ge is applied at the source side, which enables more band bending and higher electron tunneling.

Additionally, it can be presented that the high band-gap material (Si_{0.6}Ge_{0.4}) applied at the drain side enables to maintain small values of the off-state current as well as ambipolar current. For $V_{\rm D} = 0.3$ V and $V_{\rm G} = 1.5$ V, HJ HD DLTFET obtains $I_{\rm ON} \sim 1.2 \times 10^{-3}$ A/µm, $I_{\rm OFF} \sim 3 \times 10^{-17}$ A/µm, $I_{\rm ON}/I_{\rm OFF}$ ratio ~ 10¹⁴ and SS_{avg} ~ 36.14 mV/decade.



Fig. 2 EBD for HJ HD DLTFET under a off-state, b on-state



Fig. 3 Variation in transfer characteristics for conventional DLTFET and HJ HD DLTFET with gate voltage $\mathbf{a} V_D = 1.0 \text{ V}, \mathbf{b} V_D = 0.3 \text{ V}$

Now, analog/RF figures of merit (FoMs) of the device, which include transconductance (g_m) , gate-to-drain capacitance (C_{gd}) , cut-off frequency (f_T) , and gainbandwidth product (GBP) are discussed.

Among these, g_m performs a significant character to advance the performance of the device as it is a vital device design constraint, which translates the applied gate voltage into drain current [31] and is stated as:

$$g_{\rm m} = \frac{\partial I_{\rm ds}}{\partial V_{\rm gs}} \tag{1}$$

Figure 4 compares the transconductance of DLTFET and HJ HD DLTFET concerning gate voltage on the horizontal axis and illustrates that g_m of HJ HD DLTFET is greater than that of DLTFET as it is a reflection of the enhanced current drivability.

At high frequencies, parasitic capacitances, for instance, gate-to-drain capacitance $(C_{\rm gd})$ and gate-to-source capacitance $(C_{\rm gs})$, affects device performance significantly as these capacitances provide a feedback pathway amid input and output signal, ensuing in parasitic fluctuations and later distortion of the signal. For TFETs, $C_{\rm gd}$ dominates due to the formation of the inversion sheet of the electron over the gate dielectric boundary in the channel area [32] and is formulated as:

$$C_{\rm gd} = \frac{\partial Q_{\rm G}}{\partial V_{\rm D}} \tag{2}$$

The HJ HD DLTFET offers marginally more C_{gd} than conventional DLTFET at higher V_G , as demonstrated in Fig. 5 due to enhanced density of conduction states and capacitive coupling [33], resulting in the formation of significant energy barrier at drain-channel junction. Furthermore, f_T is a significant factor for the usage of the device in wireless and RF applications [34]. The frequency whereat the short circuit device gain advances toward unity serves as cut-off frequency and is stated as:



Fig. 4 Variation in transconductance for conventional DLTFET and HJ HD DLTFET with gate voltage



$$f_{\rm T} = \frac{g_{\rm m}}{2\prod (C_{\rm gd} + C_{\rm gs})} \tag{4}$$

It can be shown from Fig. 6 that initially, as gate voltage increases, f_T increases due to increment in g_m . Then, as the gate voltage increases, f_T falls after a particular gate voltage because the parasitic capacitances increase at higher V_G .

Besides $f_{\rm T}$, the GBP is also a vital device design parameter for RF applications and provided for a DC gain often [35]. It can be stated as:

$$GBP = \frac{g_m}{20 \prod C_{gd}}$$
(5)



Furthermore, it can be illustrated from Fig. 7 that HJ HD DLTFET obtains higher GBP in comparison with conventional DLTFET. As gate voltage increases, GBP initially increases owing to substantial growth in g_m , albeit it declines for higher values of V_G as a result of an increase in parasitic capacitances. It can be concluded that higher GBP explains more significant device gain, coupled with high bandwidth for HJ HD DLTFET in comparison with conventional DLTFET. Additionally, the graph of GBP also follows the trend of cut-off frequency, and the reason is pronounced from the formula.



Fig. 7 Variation in gain-bandwidth product for conventional DLTFET and HJ HD DLTFET with gate voltage

Computed at	-	Parameters	DLTFET	HJ HD DLTFET
$\overline{V_{\rm D}({\rm V})}$	$V_{\rm G}$ (V)			
0.3	0.0	I _{OFF} (A/µm)	1.4×10^{-18}	3.01×10^{-17}
	1.0	$I_{\rm ON}$ (A/ μ m)	3.2×10^{-8}	1.74×10^{-4}
	1.5	$I_{\rm ON}$ (A/ μ m)	1.41×10^{-7}	1.2×10^{-3}
		SS _{avg} (mV/dec)	17.83	36.14
0.5	0.0	I _{OFF} (A/µm)	1.5×10^{-17}	6.7×10^{-17}
	1.0	$I_{\rm ON}$ (A/ μ m)	1.98×10^{-7}	1.6×10^{-4}
	1.5	$I_{\rm ON}$ (A/ μ m)	1.1×10^{-6}	6.7×10^{-4}
		SS _{avg} (mV/dec)	17.9	37.13
1.0	0.0	I _{OFF} (A/μm)	1.95×10^{-17}	4.8×10^{-16}
	1.0	$I_{\rm ON}$ (A/ μ m)	8.04×10^{-7}	1.6×10^{-4}
	1.5	$I_{\rm ON}$ (A/ μ m)	1.06×10^{-5}	3.8×10^{-4}
		SS _{avg} (mV/dec)	35.64	45.52

Table 2 Comparison of electrical device characteristics of DLTFET and HJ HD DLTFET at different V_D and V_G

4 Conclusion

In this manuscript, we have designed and studied an HJ HD DLTFET based on the CP concept with the high- κ dielectric and spacer engineering to improve device operation for analog/RF applications. From this perspective, the comparative analysis for both the devices (i.e., conventional DLTFET and HJ HD DLTFET) for the different gate and drain voltages is listed in Table 2. The presence of high- κ gate dielectric (i.e., TiO₂) effectively reduces off-state current associated with the utilization of low bandgap semiconductor material in the source area. Additionally, the simulation results of the HJ HD DLTFET demonstrate noteworthy enhancement in I_{ON} (~1.2 × 10⁻³ A/ μ m) and low I_{OFF} (~3 × 10⁻¹⁷ A/ μ m) ensuring enhanced I_{ON}/I_{OFF} ratio (~10¹⁴) at a low $V_D = 0.3$ V. This makes HJ HD DLTFET a potential candidate for progression of CMOS in low power analog/RF and IoT applications. Furthermore, reliability and circuit analysis can be explored in the future for several sensor devices.

References

- A.C. Seabaugh, Q. Zhang, Low-voltage tunnel transistors for beyond CMOS logic. Proc IEEE 98, 2095–2110 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1109/JPROC.2010.2070470
- A.M. Ionescu, H. Riel, Tunnel field-effect transistors as energy-efficient electronic switches. Nature 479, 329–337 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10679
- A. Seabaugh, Fundamentals and current status of steep-slope tunnel field-effect transistors. Eur. Solid-State Device Res. Conf. 34–35 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1109/ESSDERC.2011. 6044238

- N. Damrongplasit, S.H. Kim, T.J.K. Liu, Study of random dopant fluctuation induced variability in the raised-ge-source TFET. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 34, 184–186 (2013). https://doi.org/ 10.1109/LED.2012.2235404
- B.R. Raad, K. Nigam, D. Sharma, P.N. Kondekar, Performance investigation of bandgap, gate material work function and gate dielectric engineered TFET with device reliability improvement. Superlattices Microstruct 94, 138–146 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spmi. 2016.04.016
- S. Sahoo, S. Dash, G.P. Mishra, Work-function modulated hetero gate charge plasma TFET to enhance the device performance, in *Proceedings of 3rd International Conference on 2019 Devices for Integrated Circuit*, DevIC 2019 (IEEE), pp. 461–464 (2019)
- B. Raad, K. Nigam, D. Sharma, P. Kondekar, Dielectric and work function engineered TFET for ambipolar suppression and RF performance enhancement. Electron Lett 52, 770–772 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1049/el.2015.4348
- G.D. Das, S. Dash, G.P. Mishra, Impact of hetero-dielectric engineering on the performance of single gate tunnel FET, in 2018 International Conference on Control, Power, Communication and Computing Technologies, ICCPCCT 2018 (IEEE, 2018), pp. 114–117
- C. Anghel, P. Chilagani, A. Amara, A. Vladimirescu, Tunnel field effect transistor with increased on current, low-k spacer and high-k dielectric. Appl Phys Lett 96, 122104 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3367880
- A. Chattopadhyay, A. Mallik, Impact of a spacer dielectric and a gate overlap/underlap on the device performance of a tunnel field-effect transistor. IEEE Trans. Electron. Devices 58, 677–683 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2010.2101603
- Y. Zhao, C. Wu, Q. Huang et al., A novel tunnel FET design through adaptive bandgap engineering with constant sub-threshold slope over 5 decades of current and high *I*_{ON}/*I*_{OFF} Ratio. IEEE Electron. Device Lett. **38**, 540–543 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1109/LED.2017.2679031
- M. Haris, S.A. Loan, M. Mainuddin, Dual material gate dopingless InAs TFET for low power applications, in *IMPACT 2017 - International Conference on Multimedia, Signal Processing* and Communication Technologies (IEEE, 2018), pp. 114–117
- B.V. Chandan, S. Dasari, K. Nigam et al., Impact of gate material engineering on ED-TFET for improving DC/analogue-RF/linearity performances. Micro Nano Lett. 13, 1653–1656 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1049/mnl.2018.5131
- M.S. Ram, D.B. Abdi, Dopingless tunnel FET with a hetero-material gate: Design and analysis, in 2014 IEEE 2nd International Conference Emerging Electronics Mater to Devices, ICEE 2014 (2014), pp. 2–5. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICEmElec.2014.7151152
- N.T.F. Transistor, S. Saurabh, M. Jagadesh Kumar, S. Member, Novel Attributes of a Dual Material Gate 58, 404–410 (2011)
- V. Nagavarapu, R. Jhaveri, J.C.S. Woo, The tunnel source (PNPN) n-MOSFET: A novel high performance transistor. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 55, 1013–1019 (2008). https://doi.org/ 10.1109/TED.2008.916711
- M.J. Kumar, S. Janardhanan, Doping-less tunnel field effect transistor: Design and investigation. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 60, 3285–3290 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2013. 2276888
- S.H. Kim, S. Agarwal, Z.A. Jacobson et al., Tunnel field effect transistor with raised germanium source. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 31, 1107–1109 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1109/LED.2010. 2061214
- M. Luisier, G. Klimeck, Atomistic full-band design study of InAs band-to-band tunneling field-effect transistors. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 30, 602–604 (2009). https://doi.org/10. 1109/LED.2009.2020442
- D.S. Yadav, D. Sharma, A. Kumar et al., Performance investigation of hetero material (InAs/Si)based charge plasma TFET. Micro Nano Lett. 12, 358–363 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1049/mnl. 2016.0688
- H.W. Kim, J.H. Kim, S.W. Kim et al., Tunneling field-effect transistor with Si/SiGe material for high current drivability. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 53, 4 (2014). https://doi.org/10.7567/JJAP.53. 06JE12

- S. Sharma, B. Kaur, Performance investigation of asymmetric double-gate doping less tunnel FET with Si/Ge heterojunction. IET Circuits, Devices Syst. 14, 695–701 (2020). https://doi. org/10.1049/iet-cds.2019.0290
- K.H. Kao, A.S. Verhulst, W.G. Vandenberghe et al., Direct and indirect band-to-band tunneling in germanium-based TFETs. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 59, 292–301 (2012). https://doi. org/10.1109/TED.2011.2175228
- H.K. Sung, H. Kam, C. Hu, T.J.K. Liu, Germanium-source tunnel field effect transistors with record high *I*_{ON}/*I*_{OFF}. Dig. Tech Pap Symp. VLSI Technol. 178–179 (2009)
- K.K. Bhuwalka, J. Schulze, I. Eisele, Performance enhancement of vertical tunnel field-effect transistor with SiGe in the δp+ layer. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. Part 1 Regul. Pap. Short Notes Rev. Pap. 43, 4073–4078 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1143/JJAP.43.4073
- 26. S.-Y. Chung, Si/SiGe heterostructures: Materials, physics, quantum functional devices and their integration with heterostructure bipolar transistors (2005)
- C. Anghel, P. Chilagani, A. Amara, A. Vladimirescu, Tunnel field effect transistor with increased on current, low-k spacer and high-k dielectric. Appl. Phys. Lett. 96, 4–7 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3367880
- B. Ghosh, M.W. Akram, Junctionless tunnel field effect transistor. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 34, 584–586 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1109/LED.2013.2253752
- 29. (2016) ATLAS User's Manual, Silvaco. Santa Clara, CA, USA
- W. Shockley, W.T. Read, Statistics of the recombinations of holes and electrons. Phys. Rev. 87, 835–842 (1952). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRev.87.835
- K. Nigam, P. Kondekar, D. Sharma, DC characteristics and analog/RF performance of novel polarity control GaAs-Ge based tunnel field effect transistor. Superlattices Microstruct. 92, 224–231 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spmi.2016.01.032
- S. Mookerjea, R. Krishnan, S. Datta, V. Narayanan, On enhanced miller capacitance effect in interband tunnel transistors. IEEE Electron. Device Lett. 30, 1102–1104 (2009). https://doi. org/10.1109/LED.2009.2028907
- Y. Yang, X. Tong, L.T. Yang et al., Tunneling field-effect transistor: Capacitance components and modeling. IEEE Electron. Device Lett. 31, 752–754 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1109/LED. 2010.2047240
- P.K. Verma, S.K. Gupta, An improved analog/RF and linearity performances with small-signal parameter extraction of virtually doped recessed source/drain dopingless junctionless transistor for radio-frequency applications. Silicon (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12633-020-00518-x
- 35. T. Han, H. Liu, S. Chen et al., A doping-less tunnel field-effect transistor with Si0.6Ge0.4 heterojunction for the improvement of the on–off current ratio and analog/RF performance. Electronics 8, 574 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3390/electronics8050574
Synthesis of Thinned Antenna Arrays Using Salp Swarm Optimization Techniques



Amiya Kumar Mondal and Prerna Saxena

1 Introduction

An antenna is a device used to transmit and/or receive radio waves [1]. In single element antenna, the main drawback is limited gain. There are some ways to improve the gain of antennas such as changing their structure and expanding the length and aperture area. Expanding aperture area and the length of antennas is infeasible [1]. On the other hand, antenna arrays provide high gain, high directivity and beam steering capabilities.

The thinning process in an antenna array involves removing some antenna elements from the antenna array to achieve the same radiation characteristics as a fully populated array. The different radiation characteristics of the antenna array, such as gain, half power beam width, directivity and MSLL, can be optimized by steering parameters, such as amplitude excitation coefficients, inter-element spacing and relative phases, along with the geometrical arrangement of an array. The main motivation for antenna array thinning is the reduction of power utilization, cost and weight. Many optimization techniques have been used for array thinning such as, analytical methods involving binomial distribution, iterative FFT techniques [2] and differential evolution (DE) [3]. Recently, several nature inspired metaheuristic techniques have been proposed for antenna array thinning. These include Particle Swarm Optimization (PSO) [4], Genetic Algorithm (GA) [5], Binary Butterfly Mating Optimization (BBMO) [6] and Ant Colony Optimization (ACO) [7]. Metaheuristics offer advantages of implementation ease, improved radiation pattern characteristics and reformed optimization speed.

In this paper, novel swarm intelligence techniques, Salp Swarm Algorithm (SSA) and Binary Salp Swarm Algorithm (BSSA) have been proposed for optimization

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_78

A. K. Mondal (🖂) · P. Saxena

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Indian Institute of Information Technology, Design and Manufacturing, Kancheepuram, Chennai, India e-mail: prema.saxena@iiitdm.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

of large LAA. SSA is a metaheuristic algorithm whose motivation is swarming behaviour of salps in the deep sea. The SSA algorithm has been applied in three-bar truss design, cantilever beam design, welded beam design, 2D airfoil design and marine propeller design for optimization problems [8]. Compared with deterministic methods, the main motivation for using metaheuristics is their ability to deal with non-differentiability and optimize discontinuous objective functions. In this paper, SSA and BSSA are proposed for antenna array optimization for the first time, to the best of the authors' knowledge. The SSA and BSSA are proposed for LAA thinning, suppression of MSLL as well as minimization of SLL.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2, the problem formulation has been discussed. Section 3 conducts a comprehensive analysis of SSA optimization and describes the detailed steps with a flow chart. The binary salp swarm optimization algorithm, along with its flow chart, is discussed in Sect. 4. The design examples and obtained results for array thinning are verified by comparing with other state-of-the-art approaches and are represented in Sect. 5. The concluding remarks are made in Sect. 6.

2 Problem Formulation

The geometrical arrangement of LAA is given in Fig. 1. The array comprises of symmetrically placed 2N isotropic elements with respect to the x-axis. The array factor (AF) taken at an angle (θ) in x-z plane is computed as [6].

$$AF(\theta) = 2\sum_{n=1}^{N} I_n \cos\left(\frac{2n-1}{2} \times \beta x_n \cos\theta + \varphi_n\right)$$
(1)

where the *n*th element excitation amplitude is represented by I_n , φ_n is phase of *n*th element, $\beta = (2\pi)/\lambda$ and x_n is the position of *n*th element. In the antenna array thinning, if the state of the *n*th element is 'off', the excitation amplitude I_n is 0; if the state of the *n*th element is 'on', the excitation amplitude I_n is 1. The spacing between elements is assumed as 0.5λ , and the phase excitation of all elements is uniform, i.e. $(\varphi_n = 0)$. Thus, (1) can be rewritten as

$$AF(\theta) = 2\sum_{n=1}^{N} I_n \cos(\pi \times (n - 0.5) \cos \theta)$$
(2)

For antenna array thinning,

$$I_n = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } n \text{th element is 'off'} \\ 1, & \text{if } n \text{th element is 'on'} \end{cases}$$
(3)



Fig. 1 The geometry of a symmetrical LAA

The MSLL is recognized as fitness function so as to minimize the MSLL, and it is formulated as,

$$F_{\text{MSLL}}(I) = \max_{\forall \theta \in R} \left\{ 20 \log \left| \frac{\text{AF}(I, \theta)}{\text{AF}_{\text{max}}} \right| \right\}$$
(4)

where *R* represents the sidelobe region without considering the main beam, AF_{max} is the maximum array factor.

3 Salp Swarm Algorithm

SSA is one of the recently developed optimization algorithms which is nature inspired [8]. SSA utilizes the principle of bionics which states that salps frequently form a swarm in deep ocean known as salp chain. In the salp population, the leader is placed in the beginning, and the remaining salps are assumed as followers in the chain. The conduct of swarm is like follower salps travel at the back of the main salp. The leading salp travels towards food sources. If the food source is replaced with the aid of the most reliable source globally, automatically the salp chain moves in the direction of it. The SSA is mathematically modelled as follows.

In SSA, the salps area is described in an n-dimensional search space. It is presumed that a food source F placed inside the search space as the prey for the swarm. The main steps of the algorithm are summed up as follows.

3.1 Position Update

It is recommended to use the equation given below to upgrade the position of the leader:

$$x_{j}^{1} = \begin{cases} F_{j} + C_{1}((ub_{j} - lb_{j})C_{2} + lb_{j}) & C_{3} \ge 0\\ F_{j} - C_{1}((ub_{j} - lb_{j})C_{2} + lb_{j}) & C_{3} < 0 \end{cases}$$
(5)

where the position of the leader in *j*th dimension is represented by x_j^1 , ub_j and lb_j indicates the upper and lower bound in *j*th dimension, the food source position in *j*th dimension is represented as F_j , and the distributed random numbers in the interval [0, 1] are represented by C_1 , C_2 and C_3 .

Equation (5) describes that relative to the food source, the leader only promotes its location. The coefficient C_1 balances exploration and development, so it is the significant parameter in SSA. It is expressed as (6).

$$C_1 = 2e^{-\left(\frac{4l}{L}\right)^2} \tag{6}$$

where the present iteration is represented by l and the utmost number of iterations is represented by L.

3.2 Distance Computation

In order to update the location of the follower, the equation given below is used to calculate the distance between the followers (Newton's law of motion):

$$x_j^i = \frac{1}{2}at^2 + v_0t \tag{7}$$

where $i \ge 2$, the time is represented by t, the location of *i*th follower salp in *j*th dimension is represented by x_j^i , initial speed is represented by v_0 and $a = \frac{v_{final}}{v_0}$ where $v = \frac{x - x_0}{t}$. Considering $v_0 = 0$ and the distinction between iterations is unity, this equation can be rewritten as:

$$x_{j}^{i} = \frac{1}{2} \left(x_{j}^{i} + x_{j}^{i-1} \right)$$
(8)

The salp chains can be simulated using (5) and (8). In Fig. 2, the flow chart describes the steps involved in SSA optimization.

4 Binary Salp Swarm Algorithm

The BSSA is applied to solve general binary optimization problems. The variable representing the on/off state in the thinned antenna array is binary. By using the basic crux of SSA, the BSSA algorithm for binary optimization is proposed [9]. The mathematical model of the BSSA is summarized below.

The puddle of solutions in BSSA is represented by a value of 0 and 1. The buffer position is updated accordingly through a 0-1 bit flip operation. This flipping operation is done by means of a threshold value associated with the transfer function.



Fig. 2 Flow chart showing the optimization steps through the proposed method SSA

For position update in the binary scheme, a tangent hyperbolic transfer function is introduced. The tangent hyperbolic transfer function is expressed as $T(x_i^j(t+1))$ and formulated as,

$$T(x_i^j(t+1)) = \tanh(x_i^j(t+1)) = \frac{e^{(2x_i^j(t+1))} - 1}{e^{(2x_i^j(t+1))} + 1}$$
(9)

Accordingly, the position upgrade is as follows:

$$\Delta_i^j(t+1) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } T(x_i^j(t+1)) > \lambda_1 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(10)

where distributed random number over 0 and 1 is represented by λ_1 . The flow chart describing the steps involved in BSSA optimization is depicted in Fig. 3.

5 Results and Discussion

In this section, the proposed approaches (with and without subarray strategy) are used to achieve the thinning of antenna array. MATLAB is used to implement the algorithms on Intel Pentium (R), 3.5 GHz processor with 4 GB RAM.

5.1 Thinning and Suppression of MSLL Using SSA and BSSA Without Subarray Strategy

A linear antenna array, having 100 elements that are placed symmetrically along the x-axis with an inter-element spacing of 0.5λ , is considered, and the proposed approaches (SSA and BSSA) are used for optimization and thinning. It is assumed that the phase excitation is uniform($\varphi_n = 0$). 100 independent runs are carried out with 300 iterations each, and the average of 100 runs is reported. Firstly, the proposed method (SSA) is used to optimize the antenna currents. The LAA thinned pattern acquired by using SSA is represented in Fig.4. The MSLL acquired by SSA is -17.12 dB. The number of antenna elements 'on' after optimization is 72, and the number of antenna elements 'off' is 28. Figure 5 represents the status of optimized antenna elements.

Next, to optimize the antenna currents, the BSSA has been proposed. It is assumed that the phase excitation is uniform ($\varphi_n = 0$) with symmetrically placed antenna elements at a uniform inter-element spacing of 0.5 λ . Figure 6 depicts the thinned LAA pattern achieved by the BSSA algorithm. The MSLL acquired by BSSA is -19.82 dB. The number of antenna elements 'on' after optimization is 76, and the



Fig. 3 Flow chart showing the steps involved in the proposed method BSSA optimization



Fig. 4 Array pattern of the thinned LAA using proposed approach SSA

								1	Tu	irn o	n		0Т	urn	off	-0								
1																•								25
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0
26																								50

Fig. 5 The element status obtained by SSA



Fig. 6 Array pattern of the thinned LAA using proposed approach BSSA

number of antenna elements 'off' is 24. Figure 7 represents the status of optimized antenna elements.

Figure 8 represents the convergence curves of SSA and BSSA to obtain the best fitness value. It can be clearly seen that BSSA is faster than SSA and only requires 86 iterations to converge to the optimal value.

To validate the performance of the proposed algorithms, their performance is compared with other existing optimization techniques, and the results are summarized in Table 1. The results depict that the MSLL of $-19.82 \,\text{dB}$ acquired by the proposed

								1	T	irn (n		0 Т	urn	off									
1																Ċ								25
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1
0	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0
26																								50

Fig. 7 The element status obtained by BSSA



Fig. 8 Convergence curve

method BSSA is lower than BPSO [4], BGA [5], BBMO [6], ACO [7], BDE [10] and SSA but higher than CBPSO [4] and IBIWO [11]. The percentage of thinning acquired by BSSA is 24% which is more than BPSO [4], ACO [7], BDE [10] and IBIWO [11], but SSA obtained the best thinning percentage of 28%. In addition, other state-of-the-art approaches such as Biogeography-Based Optimization (BBO) [12], Real-Coded Genetic Algorithm (RGA) [13] and Immunity Genetic Algorithm (IGA) [14] give a maximum side lobe level of around -20 dB; however, the number of iterations required for convergence for RGA and IGA is very large, and the thinning percentage (22%) is lower for BBO. The thinning percentage obtained by Binary Genetic Algorithm (BGA) [5] is 24%; however, the MSLL is very high (-16.5 dB), and it requires 150 iterations to converge.

A very recently proposed technique, brainstorm optimization (BSO) [15] offers a very high thinning percentage of 44%; however, it takes 160 iterations to converge and results in a high MSLL of $-17 \,\text{dB}$. Table 1 also summarizes the performance of the Iterative Fast Fourier Transform (IFFT) [2] and the hybrid technique based on differential evolution (DE) and Iterative Fourier Transform (IFT) [3]. It is seen that though these methods result in a reduced maximum side lobe level of around $-22 \,\text{dB}$, they have drawbacks in terms of a lower thinning percentage and a large convergence time. A higher thinning percentage is required for reducing the power requirements, weight, as well as array cost.

Mostly thinned arrays find applications in satellite communications, radio astronomy, ground-based radars, etc. From Table 1, it is seen that there exists a trade-off

Approach	MSLL (dB)	Number of antenna elements 'ON'	Thinning percentage (%)	Convergence iterations
Fully populated	-13.73	100	0	0
IFFT [2]	-22.90	154	23	10,000
IFT-DE [3]	-22.20	80	20	100
BPSO [4]	-14.60	80	20	236
CBPSO [4]	-21.29	76	24	181
BGA [5]	-16.50	76	24	150
BBMO [6]	-19.80	76	24	62
ACO [7]	-19.10	80	20	203
BDE [10]	-18.50	78	22	193
IBIWO [11]	-22.04	78	22	200
BBO [12]	-20.84	78	22	40
RGA [13]	-20.56	78	22	300
IGA [14]	-20.24	80	20	1000
BSO [15]	-17.00	56	44	160
Proposed approach (SSA)	-17.12	72	28	109
Proposed approach (BSSA)	-19.82	76	24	86

 Table 1
 Performance summary and comparison with the results with the state-of-the-art approaches without using subarray strategy

between the obtained MSLL, thinning percentage and the convergence time. It is observed that the proposed technique(BSSA) strikes a good balance between all these conflicting parameters and provides a low MSLL of $-19.82 \,\text{dB}$ with 24% thinning and takes only 86 iterations to converge, which makes it suitable for real-time applications.

5.2 Thinning and Suppression of MSLL Using SSA and BSSA with Subarray Strategy

This part highlights SSA and BSSA utilizing subarray strategy for thinning of LAA. In subarray approach, the linear array is partitioned into portions, one section with a certain range of antennas turned 'on' forming the first subarray and the rest of the antennas on the edge of array creating another subarray. One part is named as front linear array which is 'on' always, and another part is named as back linear array which is optimized. The proposed approaches (SSA and BSSA) are used for optimization of these 50 elements. The proposed approach SSA algorithm with subarray strategy



Fig. 9 Array pattern of the thinned LAA using proposed approach SSA with subarray strategy

								1	L TI	ırn (n		0 Т	urn	off									
1																Ċ								25
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1
26																								50

Fig. 10 The element status obtained by SSA

is used to optimize the antenna currents. It is assumed that the phase excitation is uniform ($\varphi_n = 0$) with symmetrically placed antenna elements.

Figure 9 shows that the thinned LAA pattern is obtained using SSA. The MSLL acquired by SSA incorporating subarray strategy is $-20.7 \,\text{dB}$. After optimization, the total number of 'on' antenna elements is 74, whereas that in 'off' state is 26. Figure 10 represents the status of optimized antenna elements.

Next, the proposed approach BSSA algorithm with subarray strategy is applied to optimize the antenna currents. The thinned LAA pattern acquired by using BSSA algorithm with subarray strategy is depicted in Fig. 11. Using BSSA with subarray strategy, the MSLL acquired is -21.08 dB. The number of antenna elements 'on' after optimization is 76, and the number of antenna elements 'off' is 24. Figure 12 represents the status of optimized antenna elements.

The convergence curves of SSA and BSSA to obtain the best fitness value through the subarray strategy are represented in Fig. 13. It is observed that the execution of BSSA is faster than SSA, and it only takes 59 iterations to converge to the optimal value. To validate the performance of proposed algorithms with subarray strategy, comparison with other existing approaches is carried out, and results are shown in Table 2. The proposed approach BSSA obtains the best MSLL, i.e. -21.08 dB which is lower than SSA but more than BBMO [6]. The percentage of thinning acquired by BSSA is 24% which is more than BBMO by 4%. However, comparing the results with the existing state-of-the-art methods, SSA obtains the best thinning percentage 26% through the subarray strategy.



Fig. 11 Array pattern of the thinned LAA using proposed approach BSSA with subarray strategy

								1	T	ırn (n		0Т	urn	off									
1																Ċ								25
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	0
26																								50

Fig. 12 The element status obtained by BSSA



Fig. 13 Convergence curve

6 Conclusion

The thinning of antenna arrays decreases power requirements, weight, as well as array cost. In this paper, antenna array thinning has been done by using proposed novel metaheuristic techniques SSA and BSSA. Using these proposed approaches, the synthesis and thinning of 100-element antenna array were proposed. It has been shown that the maximum SLL obtained with the proposed method SSA is -17.12 dB and by using BSSA is -19.82 dB. The achieved thinning percentage is 28% and

Approach	MSLL (dB)	Number of antenna elements 'ON'	Thinning percentage (%)	Convergence iterations
BBMO [6]	-22.60	80	20	38
Proposed approach (SSA)	-20.70	74	26	72
Proposed approach (BSSA)	-21.08	76	24	59

 Table 2
 Performance summary and comparison with the results with the state-of-the-art approaches using subarray strategy

24%, respectively. By applying subarray strategy with the proposed approaches, the maximum SLL acquired by using SSA is -20.7 dB and by using BSSA is -21.08 dB. The obtained thinning percentage is 26% and 24%, respectively. In addition, the BSSA with subarray strategy converges more quickly than the other state-of-the-art optimization methods. The effectiveness of the proposed approaches is illustrated by comparing with other state-of-the-art approaches. The proposed thinned arrays find applications in satellite communications, radio astronomy, ground-based radars, etc.

References

- 1. C.A. Balanis, Antenna Theory: Analysis and Design (Wiley, 2005)
- 2. R.H. Brown, A.R. Whitlock, Linear array thinning using iterative FFT techniques. IEEE Trans. Antenna Propag. **56**(8), 2757–2760 (2008)
- X.K. Wang, G.B. Wang, A hybrid method based on the iterative Fourier transform and the differential evolution for pattern synthesis of sparse linear arrays. Int. J. Antennas Propaga. 2018 (2018)
- 4. W.B. Wang, Q. Feng, D. Liu, Synthesis of thinned linear and planar antenna arrays using binary PSO algorithm. Prog. Electromagn. Res. **127**, 371–387 (2012)
- J.R. Mohammed, Thinning a subset of selected elements for null steering using binary genetic algorithm. Prog. Electromagn. Res. 67, 147–155 (2018)
- H.N. Wu, C. Liu, A novel binary butterfly mating optimization algorithm with subarray strategy for thinning of large antenna array. Prog. Electromagn. Res. M 60(2), 101–110 (2017)
- E. Rajo Iglesias, O. Quevedo-Teruel, Ant colony optimization in thinned array synthesis with minimum sidelobe level. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 5, 349–352 (2006)
- S. Mirjalili, A.H. Gandomi, S.Z. Mirjalili, S. Saremi, H. Faris, S.M. Mirjalili, Salp swarm algorithm: a bio-inspired optimizer for engineering design problems. Adv. Eng. Softw. 114, 163–191 (2017)
- R.M. Rizk-Allah, A.E. Hassanien, M. Elhoseny, M. Gunasekaran, A new binary salp swarm algorithm: development and application for optimization tasks. Neural Comput. Appl., 1–23 (2018)
- Y.C. Jiao, Z.B. Weng, L. Zhang, F.S. Zhang, Design of planar thinned arrays using a Boolean differential evolution algorithm. IET Microw. Antennas Propag. 4(12), 2172–2178 (2010)
- 11. Liu Chao, Wu. Huaning, Synthesis of thinned array with side lobe levels reduction using improved binary invasive weed optimization. Prog. Electromagn. Res. M **37**, 21–30 (2014)

- U. Singh, T.S. Kamal, Optimal synthesis of thinned arrays using biogeography based optimization. Prog. Electromagn. Res. 24, 141–155 (2012)
- G.K. Mahanti, N.N. Pathak, P.K. Mahanti, Synthesis of thinned linear antenna arrays with fixed sidelobe level using real-coded genetic algorithm. Prog. Electromagn. Res. 75, 319–328 (2007)
- Z.M. Hamici, T.H. Ismail, Optimization of thinned arrays using stochastic immunity genetic algorithm, in *IEEE International Symposium on Signal Processing and Information Technology* (2009), pp. 378–383
- N. Bulgan, J. Chen, X. Xue, X. Fan, X. Zhang, Brainstorm optimization in thinned linear antenna array with minimum side lobe level, in *Advances in Intelligent Information Hiding* and *Multimedia Signal Processing*, vol. 157 (Springer, Singapore, 2020), pp. 75–83

Comparative Analysis of a Dopingless Tunnel FET and MOSFET-Based Current Mirror



899

Harihar Nath, Suruchi Sharma, Abhishek Verma, and Baljit Kaur

1 Introduction

MOSFET is a metal oxide semiconductor field effect transistor, which is a voltage control device. With the advancement of technology day by day, the rapid down-scaling of the MOSFET technology is helping to scale down the source voltage and thereby increases the current driving capacity with the reduced power supply. However, the higher leakage by the off-state (current leakage during the off-state of the MOSFET) has always been detrimental to MOSFET technology. This paper is about in helping to overcome such limitations which include:

- Restrictions to subthreshold swing (SS) to 60 mV/dec.
- Random dopant fluctuation (RDF)
- Drain induced barrier lowering (DIBL)
- Short channel effects (SCEs) [1–4].

by adopting the conventional doped TFET [5–7] with low off-state leakage current. DLTFET [8–10] was introduced to produce large on-state current and neutralize doping variability. DLTFET also has a low thermal budget.

1.1 Dopingless TFET

In the last few years, several papers have been published on the Tunnel FET. Tunnel FET has been introduced to lift the limitations of MOSFETs such as SCEs ad SS. Owing to the actual doping of atoms, the on-current of the Tunnel FET was very low due to the RDF. Kumar et al. used the plasma charging theory to evaluate the

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_79

H. Nath $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$. Sharma $\cdot A$. Verma $\cdot B$. Kaur

NIT, E-699, Gali No. 20, East Gokul Pur, Delhi 110094, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

source and drain of the tunnel FET [8] (known as Dopingless Tunnel FET), and the ion implantation technique for the tunnel FET is not necessary now. In order to increase the on-current, he also strengthened the BTBT. Sharma et al. proposed another DLTFET [11] in which work function engineering was also introduced which means the source and drain were generated using two separate working function metals. The novel DLTEFT was proposed by Nigam et al. [12] with the control gate of dual material; holes were induced in the source using platinum metal working function 5.93 eV, and electrons were induced in the drain with the aid of Hafnium metal working function 3.9 eV. Yadav et al. [13] suggested another DLTFET to replace the traditional TFET, in which he used InAs material (hetero material) to reduce the source-channel lateral tunneling distance, which helped to increase the on-current by improving the BTBT intensity, which is a narrow band gap material in Si position in the source area. Harris et al. [14] suggested a DLTFET hetero structure in which GaAs material was used to minimize the off-current without affecting the on-current in the drain area. He also made the traditional DLTFET better by adding the metallic layer between the gate oxide and the source interface that lowered the SS and increased the on-current. Another DLTFET that is used for the circuit in this paper was proposed by Verma et al. [15]. DLTFET's sectional cross-view is shown at Fig. 1, and there are physical parameters in Table 1. For the source region with p+ and drain region with n+ platinum, the charge plasma principle was used to create the holes in the source region, and Hafnium was used to generate electrons in the drain region. In order to increase the on-current, a strip of GaAs is inserted between the channel and the source since its electron mobility is 8500 cm²/Vs, which increases electron tunneling at the channel and source interface. During the off-state, the electron of the valence band (VB) of the drain cannot pass to the conduction band (CB) of the source because the bands are not aligned; when they are aligned during



Fig. 1 Sectional cross-view of DLTFET

1	
Parameters	Values
Length of drain, $(L_{\rm D})$	50 nm
Work function of gate (<i>M</i> 1)	4.3 eV
Source and gate space (L_{GS})	2 nm
Length of source (L_S)	50 nm
Work function of source (M3)	5.93 eV
Length of channel (L_{CH})	20 nm
Silicon thickness (t_{Si})	10 nm
Oxide material of gate	$HfO_2 (\varepsilon = 21)$
Work function of drain (M2)	3.9 eV
Drain and gate space (L _{GD})	5 nm
Thickness of GaAs	2 nm
Physical oxide thickness (t_{ox})	2 nm

 Table 1 Device structure parameters for simulation

the on-state state, the electron can easily pass from the VB of the source to the CB of the drain by the BTBT [8].

DLTFET must be promoted for the BCM over the MOSFET due to the following reasons:

- Shorter channel length (20 nm)
- Lesser leakages
- No channel length modulation effect
- Lower subthreshold swing.

The process which is adopted for evaluation and the comparison of the DLTFET and NMOS-based BCM:

- GaAs DLTFET is simulated with on TCAD Silvaco with the dimensions and material mentioned in [11]. Table 2 shows the results for the DLTFET.
- Look-up tables for I_d , C_{gs} , and C_{gd} , are made for DLTFET with the help of the same software.
- DLTFET device is used in HSPICE with the help of Verilog-A and look-up tables.
- DLTFET-based BCM circuit is simulated on HSPICE.

Parameters	Values
I _{ON} (A/um)	10-4
I _{OFF} (A/um)	10 ⁻¹⁹
I _{ON} /I _{OFF}	10 ¹⁵
Subthreshold swing (SS) (mV/dec)	~10.25

 Table 2
 Some output results for the DLTFET

- All three NMOS technologies Berkley Predictive Technology Models (BPTM) are used for the gate dielectric of SiO₂ to simulate the BCM circuit on HSPICE.
- All the results of all the four transistors BCM circuits are compared.

1.2 Basic Current Mirror

The CM sometimes called a current amplifier having current gain equal to 1, which signifies that the output current must be equal to the input current. Figure 2 shows the BCM circuit with 2 MOSFETs M_1 and M_2 . CM is one of the critical building blocks and used to improve the performance of many analog integrated circuits (ICs). CM is used as an active load and as a biasing for many circuits like op-amp, analog to digital circuits, digital to analog circuits [16, 17], etc. CM is used as an active load to improve the gain without increasing the supply voltage and chip area [16, 17]. It copies direct current (DC) from one branch to another branch of the circuit, which can help to detect the alteration in the given voltage. Thus, it can be used as a replacement for external resistance in the chips or active load [16]. CM can also be used as a current amplifier by calibrating the width of the transistor/MOSFETs [16, 18]. Hence, it implies that the performance of the ICs depends on the performance of the CM. Ideal CM is required in various circuits such as bio-medical circuits, bio-amplifiers [19, 20], and the current source for the differential amplifier to advance the CMRR [16, 17]. There are billions of transistors to perform many logic functions. Signal processing, such as in audio amplifiers, is also based on the current source. But constant current source does not exist in this world because of energy loss. So, transistors are used to make the constant current source by using the BCM. BCM circuit was made by using the MOSFET and Carbon Nanotube Field Effect Transistor (CNTFET) in the paper [21]. All the parameters for different technologies were compared. It was observed that current error was increasing as the MOSFET channel length scale down from 45 to 22 nm, and the current error was negligible in the case of CNTFET-based BCM, but the input resistance was found high which should be low as possible. Researchers designed many CMs such as Wilson CM, Cascode CM, Advance CM, etc., to improve the accuracy but, however, were complicated and little inaccurate.





The main reason behind this paper is to make a simple, accurate, CM which should have low input and high output impedance.

It is not possible to make BCM through MOSFET in which output current is equal to the input current even when both the transistors are in the saturation region because of the following drain current equation.

$$I_{\rm d} = \frac{1}{2} \mu_{\rm n} C_{\rm ox} \frac{W}{L} (V_{\rm gs} - V_{\rm t})^2 (1 + \lambda V_{\rm ds})$$
(1)

For an ideal MOSFET, λ is zero. Since λ always greater than zero, due to which drain current varies linearly with V_{ds} even in the saturation mode. If we apply DC input voltage more than the threshold voltage of the transistor *M*1 in the BCM, then the gate voltage for both the transistors will be same which means same drain current should flow through both the transistors (output current should be equal to the input current), but they are not same due channel length modulation part, i.e., $(1 + \lambda V_{ds})$.

Pseudo Code for the simulation of BCM

Call the device // because none of the device is inbuilt in HSPICE. Voltage source 1 (Vin) Positive terminal = input terminal // DC voltage, pulse or AC supply Negative terminal = ground Voltage source 2 (Vout) Positive terminal = output terminal // DC voltage, pulse or AC supply Negative terminal = ground Transistor 1 (M1) Drain = input terminal Gate = input terminal Source = ground Body = groundTransistor 2 (M2) Drain = output terminal Gate = input terminal Source = ground Body = ground

Apply transient analysis, DC analysis or AC analysis as per the requirement. Print "input voltage," "output voltage," "input current," and "output current" w.r.t. "time" for transient analysis or w.r.t. "frequency" for AC analysis.

2 Simulation Results and Discussion

CMs are mainly compared by two parameters. One of the parameters is the current error which states that the difference of the output and the input current should be zero. And AC output impedance is the second parameter which should be high for the extended frequency band. This helps us to see how I_{out} is varying with respect to the applied voltage to the BCM. Some more parameters are also there which describe the BCM like input impedance, transient response, leakage current, etc. Therefore, based on these parameters, the MOSFET-based BCMs are compared with the DLTFET-based BCM.

2.1 Output Characteristics Comparison of the Devices

To compare the output characteristics of the devices, we kept the V_{gs} at 0.9 V while varying the V_{ds} from 0 to 1.2 V to draw the output characteristics. Figure 3 shows the output characteristic of the three NMOS and of the DLTFET. We can observe that for DLTFET, current became constant in the saturation region; whereas for the other devices, the current keeps on increasing in the saturation region. Since current is constant in the saturation region, so DLTFET is a more stable device than the other.



Fig. 3 Output characteristics at $V_{gs} = 0.9$ V of different N-type MOSFETs and DLTFET

2.2 Variation in the Output Current (I_{out}) w.r.t. The Input Voltage (V_{in})

The stability of the output current should be maintained in the BCM. Input current changes with the input voltage, which must give rise to a similar change in the output current. The input voltage is altered from 0 to 1.2 V, and the output voltage is remained steady at 1.2 V to see the variation in the input current and the output current. From Fig. 4, we can observe that the output current curve is completely different from the input current curve in the NMOS-based BCM, but they are same in the DLTFET-based BCM. BCM must show the minimum current error ($\Delta I = I_{out} - I_{in}$). From Fig. 5, it can be observed that the current error is maximum in 22 nm NMOS BCM and minimum in DLTFET BCM. DLTFET BCM exhibits a typical



Fig. 4 Input current and output current variation w.r.t. the input voltage with keeping the output voltage constant at 1.2 V for **a** 22 nm NMOS-based BCM, **b** 32 nm NMOS-based BCM, **c** 45 nm NMOS-based BCM, and **d** 20 nm N-type DLTFET-based BCM



Fig. 5 Error $(\Delta I = I_{out} - I_{in})$ is shown in the plot when V_{in} is altered from 0 to 1.2 V. DLTFET is showing the ideal behavior with negligible error

behavior with a negligible current error. It is all because of the less effect of channel length modulation on DLTFET.

2.3 Variation in the Output Current (I_{out}) w.r.t. The Output Voltage (V_{out})

Input current produced in the BCM depends on the applied input voltage only, in the triode region and the saturation region, but the output current depends on the input voltage and the output voltage in the triode region, and it should depend on the input voltage only in the saturation region. For analyzing input voltage fixed at 1.2 V while the output voltage varied from 0 to 1.2 V. From Fig. 6a, it can be observed that the oncurrent is minimum for the DLTFET. This is the disadvantage of DLTFET. Figure 6b shows that the leakage current DLTFET-based BCM is minimum as compared to the other three transistors-based BCM.

The ratio of the output current to the input current is known as the normalized output current. The necessary condition that should be fulfilled in the BCM is that the normalized output current should be equal to 1 and from Fig. 7 shows that the DLTFET-based BCM reaches that condition first.



Fig. 6 a I_{in} produced at $V_{in} = 1.2$ V. b Leakage current obtained at $V_{in} = 1.2$ V and $V_{out} = 0$ V



Fig. 7 Normalized I_{out} is plotted with V_{out} varying from 0 to 1.2 V

2.4 Transient Response to the Square Wave Input

The square wave is practiced at the output voltage (initial voltage = 0 V, final voltage = 1.2 V, delay time = 100 ps, rise time = 100 ps and fall time = 100 ps, pulse width = 2 ns, and time period = 4 ns). Input voltage is remained steady at 1.2 V. Current transient response for the BCM based on the four transistors is shown in Fig. 8. We can observe that delay time is highest in DLTFET-based BCM among the four, and



Fig. 8 Transient response of I_{in} and I_{out} of the BCM using different technologies **a** 22 nm NMOS, **b** 32 nm NMOS, **c** 45 nm NMOS, **d** DLTFET

the consumption of power is lowest, due to which its PDP is less than the PDP of 22 nm NMOS-based BCM (Table 3).

2.5 Input Impedance (Z_{in}) Alter with Frequency

The input impedance of a BCM should be low and be stable for a broad frequency band. We can observe from Fig. 8a that the input impedance of the DLTFET-based BCM is minimum among the four BCMs. It is unable to figure out from the Fig. 9a that input impedance of the DLTFET-based BCM is stable up to which frequency, therefore, input impedance versus frequency graph is plotted in the Fig. 9b for the same.

Parameters	Unit	22 nm NMOS	32 nm NMOS	45 nm NMOS	DLTFET n-type
Output current	mA	2.498	1.976	1.613	0.406
Rise time	ps	77.43	66.91	63.84	62.95
Fall time	ps	77.66	68.22	64.91	71.77
Negative overshoot	μA	12.5	13.69	14.9	51.48
Positive overshoot	uA	11	11.7	12	24.84
Delay 50% (low to high)	ps	11	12	11	80
Delay 50% (high to low)	ps	20	2	7	80
Total delay	ps	31	14	18	160
Power	mW	3.835	3.04	2.48	0.62
Power delay product	fJ	118.88	42.56	44.64	99.2

Table 3 Compared parameters for current transient response of I_{in} and I_{out} of BCM technologies at $V_{in} = 1.2$ V and pulse V_{out}



Fig. 9 a Z_{in} versus frequency plot of the BCM for different technologies. b Z_{in} versus frequency plot of the BCM for DLTFET

2.6 Output Impedance (Zout) Alter with Frequency

The output impedance of the BCM should be high for the extended frequency range. We can observe from Fig. 10 that DLTFET-based BCM is at the top among the four transistors-based BCM for the frequency range up to 10 GHz.



Fig. 10 Z_{out} versus frequency plot of the BCM for different technologies

2.7 AC Analysis

 $V_{\rm in}$ and $V_{\rm out}$ are kept at 1.2 V DC for biasing, and to keep them in the saturation region 1 mV, 1 kHz AC sine wave signal is superimposed over the DC supply. To study the response of $I_{\rm in}$ and $I_{\rm out}$ and gain w.r.t. the frequency for all the BCMs. Frequency is swept from 1 MHz to 1 PHz. We can observe from Fig. 11a that response of $I_{\rm in}$ is nearly the same for all the four transistors-based BCMs, and from Fig. 11b, the response of $I_{\rm out}$ for DLTFET-based BCM becomes constant. Figure 11c shows that the - 3 dB gain is zero for all the transistors-based BCMs for the same frequency range that is up to 100 GHz. Due to the presence of parasitic capacitances and other parameters in NMOS and DLTFET, they show different current gain curve w.r.t. the frequency.

3 Conclusion

From the above results and discussion, 20 nm DLTFET can be used as a better substitute of NMOS technologies since for analog applications beyond 45 nm; it has low V_{th} , high Z_{out} , lower Z_{in} , symmetrical response ($\Delta I = 0$), stable gain with frequency, and negligible leakage. 20 nm DLTFET is supported by this paper for BCM because its performance is better than the other three MOSFET transistors by



Fig. 11 BCM a I_{in} b I_{out} c - 3 dB gain versus frequency response for different technologies

considering the comparative parameters. The same kind of evaluation can be done for the other analog circuits like Cascaded CM, operational amplifier, differential amplifier, etc., by using the 20 nm DLTFET.

Acknowledgements According to the reference letter No. 9(1)2014-MDD (NIT Delhi, INDIA), SMDP-C2SD supports this project.

References

- W.Y. Choi, B. Park, J.D. Lee, T.K. Liu, Tunneling field-effect transistors (TFETs) with subthreshold swing (SS) less than 60 mV/dec. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 28(8), 743–745 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1109/LED.2007.901273
- P.F. Wang, K. Hilsenbeck, T. Nirschl, M. Oswald, C. Stepper, M. Weis, D. Schmitt-Landsiedel, W. Hansch, Complementary tunneling transistor for low power application. Sold-state Electron. 48(12), 2281–2286 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sse.2004.04.006

- A. Asenov, A.R. Brown, J.H. Davies, S. Kaya, G. Slavcheva, Simulation of intrinsic parameter fluctuations in decananometer and nanometer-scale MOSFETs. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 50(9), 1837–1852 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2003.815862
- C. Shin, X. Sun, T.K. Liu, Study of random-dopant-fluctuation (RDF) effects for the Trigate bulk MOSFET. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 56(7), 1538–1542 (2009). https://doi.org/10. 1109/TED.2009.2020321
- R. Jhaveri, V. Nagavarapu, J.C.S. Woo, Effect of pocket doping and annealing schemes on the source-pocket tunnel field-effect transistor. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 58(1), 80–86 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2010.2089525
- C. Le Royer, F. Mayer, Exhaustive experimental study of tunnel field effect transistors (TFETs): From materials to architecture, in 2009 10th International Conference on Ultimate Integration of Silicon, Aachen (2009), pp. 53–56 https://doi.org/10.1109/ULIS.2009.4897537
- D. Leonelli, A. Vandooren, R. Rooyackers, S. De Gendt, M.M. Heyns, G. Groeseneken, Optimization of tunnel FETs: Impact of gate oxide thickness, implantation and annealing conditions, in 2010 Proceedings of the European Solid State Device Research Conference, Sevilla (2010), pp. 170–173. https://doi.org/10.1109/ESSDERC.2010.5618408
- M.J. Kumar, S. Janardhanan, Doping-less tunnel field effect transistor: design and investigation. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 60(10), 3285–3290 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2013. 2276888
- N. Damrongplasit, C. Shin, S.H. Kim, R.A. Vega, T. King Liu, Study of random dopant fluctuation effects in germanium-source tunnel FETs, in *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 58, no. 10 (Oct 2011), pp. 3541–3548 https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2011.2161990
- N. Damrongplasit, S.H. Kim, T.K. Liu, Study of random dopant fluctuation induced variability in the raised-Ge-source TFET. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 34(2), 184–186 (2013). https://doi. org/10.1109/LED.2012.2235404
- N. Sharma, S.S. Chauhan, Dual metal drain Ge-source dopingless TFET with enhanced turn-ON steep subthreshold swing and high ON-current, in *Electronics Letters*, vol. 53, no. 14 6(7) (2017), pp. 960–962. https://doi.org/10.1049/el.2017.0157
- K. Nigam, S. Pandey, P.N. Kondekar, D. Sharma, P. Kumar Parte, A barrier controlled charge plasma-based TFET with gate engineering for ambipolar suppression and RF/linearity performance improvement, in *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 64, no. 6 (June 2017), pp. 2751–2757. https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2017.2693679
- D.S. Yadav et al., Performance investigation of hetero material (InAs/Si)-based charge plasma TFET, in *Micro & Nano Letters*, vol. 12, no. 6 (June 2017), pp. 358–363. https://doi.org/10. 1049/mnl.2016.0688
- M. Haris, S.A. Loan, An ambipolar immune Si/GaAs hetero-junction doping-less TFET, in 2017 International conference on Microelectronic Devices, Circuits and Systems (ICMDCS), Vellore (2017), pp. 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICMDCS.2017.8211539
- A. Verma, S. Sharma, S. Bharti, M. Bharti, B. Kaur, Design of tunnel junction engineered dopingless TFET for low power application, in *The 21st International Symposium on Quality Electronic Design* (2020), pp. 1–6
- 16. S. Sedra, K.C. Smith, *Microelectronics Circuits Theory and Applications*, 5th edn. (Oxford University Press, New York, 2009)
- 17. R.C. Jaeger, T.N. Blalock, Microelectronic Circuit Design (McGraw-Hill, New York, 2011)
- P.E. Allen, D.R. Holberg, *CMOS Analog Circuit Design*, 2nd edn. (Oxford University Press, United Kingdom, 2011)
- 19. A.N. Laskovski, *Biomedical Engineering Trends in Electronics, Communications and Software* (Published by InTech, Rijeka, Croatia, 2011)

- L. Tanguay, M. Sawan, Y. Savaria, A very-high output impedance current mirror for very-low voltage biomedical analog circuits, in *APCCAS 2008—2008 IEEE Asia Pacific Conference* on Circuits and Systems, Macao (2008), pp. 642–645. https://doi.org/10.1109/APCCAS.2008. 4746105
- R. Gupta, A.K. Rana, Study of CNTFET based basic current mirror in comparison with NMOS technologies, in 2013 International Conference on Advanced Computing and Communication Systems, Coimbatore (2013), pp. 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICACCS.2013.6938695

Meta-heuristic Algorithm for Energy-Efficient Task Scheduling in Fog Computing



Saeed AL-Amodi, Sudhansu Shekhar Patra, Suman Bhattacharya, Jnyana Ranjan Mohanty, Vinay Kumar, and Rabindra Kumar Barik

1 Introduction

Fog computing is an evolving paradigm which supports QoS as provided to the consumers along with cloud computing. Fog nodes are not of their whole computing capabilities, and so these are used along with cloud computing. It follows pay-asper-usage model. The usage of cloud computing is leading to high latency and high-bandwidth [1-3].

Due the growth of the data centers, there is a rise in energy consumption, and the emission of CO_2 in the data centers is growing exponentially. Figure 1 shows the electricity usage of data centers from 2010 to 2030. The growth in the data centers grows the emission of CO_2 . Green DCs use the energy-efficient technologies including low power servers, free air cooling, and smart grid. Lately, fog computing comes to extend the capabilities of cloud computing. IoT is another emerging concept which has integrated with fog computing [2, 4]. It serves in the field of smart health care, smart city, smart manufacturing, and smart traffic control. IoT collects data using sensors and sends them to the fog layer. Later if the data is needed to store, it will send to the cloud data center for long-term storage and analytics [5, 6]. Task scheduling in fog server is complex and challenging problem, as inefficient task scheduling can result in higher energy consumption. This paper has suggested Harris Hawks

S. AL-Amodi

School of Computer Engineering, KIIT Deemed To Be University, Bhubaneswar, India

S. S. Patra (🖂) · J. R. Mohanty · R. K. Barik

School of Computer Applications, KIIT Deemed To Be University, Bhubaneswar, India

S. Bhattacharya CAAS, KIIT Deemed To Be University, Bhubaneswar, India e-mail: suman.b@kiit.ac.in

V. Kumar Department of ECE, MN National Institute of Technology, Allahabad, India

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_80 915



Fig. 1 Electricity usage in TWh of data centers 2010–2030 [1]

optimization algorithm for scheduling the tasks in fog servers. The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 presents the related works related to task scheduling in VMs, Sect. 3 depicts the task scheduling problem in the fog servers, Sect. 4 describes the standard Harris Hawks meta-heuristic optimization algorithm. Section 5 presents the proposed algorithm for task scheduling in fog servers, Sect. 6 explains the algorithm by an illustration, Sect. 7 does the result analysis, and finally, Sect. 8 concludes the paper.

2 Related Works

In recent days, the task scheduling has attracted the attention of many researchers because efficient task scheduling algorithms have direct impact on energy saving and resource utilization. Wu et al. [7] proposed an energy-efficient technique for saving the energy consumption in IoT and fog computing. Meta-heuristic algorithms play an important role in solving the task scheduling problems in fog servers [8–10]. Goswami et al. [11] studied the performance of the system which depends on the queue length to scale the VMs along with improves the QoS parameters of the system. Patra [12] derived meta-heuristics for energy-efficient task consolidation algorithms in cloud environment. Patra et al. in [13] designed algorithms for profit maximization by saving energy and spot allocation quality guaranteed services in cloud environment.

3 Task Scheduling Problem in Fog Server

Fog servers are present in between the cloud layer and the end-user device layer, as shown in Fig. 2. It is mentioned as computing platform with large number of distributed nodes, which are highly virtualized and scalable in nature. As shown in the Fig. 2, the fog layer contains multiple fog nodes. The hypervisor or virtual machine monitor (VMM) programs allow creating and managing new virtual machines (VMs). There are *n* number of VMs (VM₁, VM₂, ... VM_n) that can run on a fog node. All VMs share the resources of the fog server, such as memory, disk, and CPU cores. These resources can effectively scale up and scale down as per the SLA and saves the infrastructure resources. Task scheduling is a problem in which it has to schedule *m* number of heterogeneous tasks to be scheduled on n heterogeneous VMs.

The tasks are independent in nature and may be submitted by different service users. Each VM has its own guest OS which can run various application programs on the same physical fog node. It is depicted in Fig. 3.

The task scheduling problem can be defined as follows. There is a set of *m* tasks $\{t_1, t_2, t_3, \ldots, t_m\}$. A task t_i is assigned a workload w_i . Each w_i can be represented in terms of Million Instructions (MI). Since each w_i are different in size, we can say the tasks are heterogeneous. There is a set of *n* VMs in the fog system $\{v_1, v_2, v_3, \ldots, v_n\}$.

Each VM_{*j*} has a processing speed s_j in terms of MIPS. $F(t_i) = VM_j$, means a task t_i is assigned to VM_{*j*} at an instance. The ETC matrix ETC(*i*,*j*) shows the execution time of a task *i*, t_i in VM *j* VM_{*j*}.



$$ETC(i, j) = \frac{w_i}{s_j} \tag{1}$$

Fig. 2 Architecture of fog layer [14]



Fig. 3 Fog server virtualization [15]

4 Harris Hawks Optimization Algorithm

Haidari et al. [16] have proposed a nature-inspired algorithm that simulates the nature of Harris Hawks called Harris Hawks meta-heuristic optimization algorithm. The important parameter of Harris Hawks is to catch a prey related to surprise pounce. It is also called Seven-Kills scheme. In this scheme, many hawks are demanding to agreeably attack from many directions and concurrently converge on a detected escaping rabbit exterior the cover. This algorithm is operated on two stages—exploration phase and exploitation phase. In HHO, the Harri's hawks perch haphazardly on few locations and stay to notice a prey based on two important strategies. If it considers an equivalent probability q for every awaiting strategy, they perch depending on the placements of former members of family and the rabbit. It has derived in Eq. (2) on the circumstance of q which is less than 0.5 else the perch on arbitrary tall trees or condition for q > = 0.5.

$$f(t+1) = \begin{cases} f_{\text{random}}(t) - \text{rand}_1 | f_{\text{random}}(t) - 2\text{rand}_2 f(t) | & q \ge 0.5 \\ f_{\text{rabbit}}(t) - f_{\text{mean}}(t) - \text{rand}_3(\text{LB} + \text{rand}_4(\text{UB} - \text{LB})) & q < 0.5 \end{cases}$$
(2)

In this case, both F(t) and F(t + 1) are two point vectors of hawks for the existing and the subsequently iterations. $F_{random}(t)$ is the random hawk elected from the populations. $F_{rabbit}(t)$ is where the rabbit is placed. q, rand₁, rand₂, rand₃, and rand₄ are random numbers. LB as well as UB are the lower, upper bounds for generating random locations within the Hawks' home. $F_{\text{mean}}(t)$ is the mean location of hawks for the current population. The energy of a prey minimizes noticeably on the avoidance behavior. The energy of a prey is derived as the following Eq. (3).

$$E = 2E_0 \left(1 - \frac{t}{\text{Max} - \text{iter}} \right)$$
(3)

Here *E* denotes the prey's escaping energy, *T* is the max no. of iterations, and E_0 is the initialized energy. E_0 changes in between (-1, 1) in each iteration. The hawks encircle the rabbit softly and suddenly pounce the rabbit. It can be modeled as

$$f(t+1) = \Delta f(t) - E |\mathrm{RJ} * f_{\mathrm{rabbit}}(t) - f(t)|$$
(4)

where $\Delta f(t)$ is the rabbit positions minus the hawk's position. RJ refers to the strength of the random jump of rabbit and through the escaping process and is absorbed by a random number rand $\in [0.1]$. $\Delta f(t)$ and RJ are computed as:

$$\Delta f(t) = f_{\text{rabbit}}(t) - f(t) \tag{5}$$

$$RJ = 2(1 - rand) \tag{6}$$

The hard besiege is derived as,

$$f(t+1) = f_{\text{rabbit}}(t) - E|\Delta f(t)|$$
(7)

The next move of the Hawks is formulated with the depending on what the previous move it has taken:

$$n = f_{\text{rabbit}}(t) - E|\text{RJ}f_{\text{rabbit}}(t) - f(t)|$$
(8)

If the previous dive is not good, they will dive based on the Levy flight pattern *s* using the rule:

$$Z = n + s * \text{Levy}_{\text{Flight}(\text{dim})}$$
(9)

$$f(t+1) = \begin{cases} n & \text{if } f(n) < f(f(t)) \\ z & \text{if } f(z) < f(f(t)) \end{cases}$$
(10)

The benefit of using evolutionary meta-heuristics algorithm is it provides the global optimization. Its flexibility, adoption to the different and complex optimization problems without requiring any special feature to its objective functions as well the constraints like continuity, differentiability, or convexity.

5 Proposed Algorithm for Task Scheduling in Fog Server

In this section, it has described the proposed algorithm which has included with five important steps. These five steps are population, evaluation, fitness function, normalization with scaling, mutation, and best search.

A. Population

In population phase, random population of *h* hawks is initialized. Let we have a task scheduling problem having m = 7 and n = 3, a candidate solution can be considered as shown in Fig. 4. The Fig. 4 shows that VM₁ is assigned to task t_2 and also t_4 .

B. Evaluation

Energy consumption is evaluated in this phase for the initial population. The fitness function is defined here. Every VM in the fog node is either in active state or in idle state. Energy consumption of a VM is the consumed energy in active as well as idle state. Energy consumption of VMs dissipate about 60% as much as energy when idle as when fully loaded [4].

C. Fitness Function

Makespan along with energy consumption is the two most important functions which influences the other factors such as cost, CO_2 rate as well as time of flow. Thus, we can write a bi-objective function to employ the candidate solution.

$$Fitness = \xi * total_energy + (1 - \xi) * MK$$
(11)

D. Normalization and Scaling phase

The newly generated hawk f(t + 1) of HHO contains continuous values. The continuous values of hawk must be translated to discrete values (VM numbers). The first step is the hawk vector that is to be normalized in the interval [0,1]

Normalized_i(t + 1) =
$$\frac{f_i(t+1) - \min}{\max - \min}$$
 (12)

where min and max are the two extremes of the hawk vector. $F_i(t + 1)$ represents each hawk value where i = 1, 2, ..., m. normalized_i (t + 1) refers to the *i*th value in the normalized hawk vector. After that using the following equation, the normalized hawk will be scaled in [1 ... n] as represented in Fig. 5.

$$scaled_i(t+1) = normalized_i(t+1) * (n-1) + 1$$
(13)

where scaled_{*i*}(t + 1) is the *i*th value in the scaled hawk vector. *N* is the number of VMs.



Hawk Vector	0.40	1.07	0	0.90	0.89	0.1	1.23	0.02
Normalized	0.38	0.07	0.577	1	0.99	0.53	0	0.56
					Ĵ			
Scaled	2	1	2	3	3	2	1	2

Fig. 5 Normalization and scaling from continuous to discrete

	T_1	t_2	t ₃	t ₄	t ₅	t ₆	t ₇	t ₈
Before Swap	2	1	2	3	3	2	1	2
After Swap	\mathbf{t}_1	t_2	t_3	t_4	t ₅	t ₆	t ₇	t_8
	2	1	1	3	3	2	2	2

Fig. 6 Mutation operation

E. Mutation

The process of mutation is shown in Fig. 6. Here, the locations 3 and 7 are randomly chosen and swapped to get the new candidate solution. After mutation, the task t_7 has to be run in VM2, and t_3 is run on VM₁.

F. Best Search Strategy

The best search strategy is utilized to prop the best solution in every iteration. The algorithm for the proposed **Harris Hawks meta-heuristic optimization algorithm** is shown in Algorithm 1.
	Algorithm 1: Proposed algorithm HHMHOA
	Input : The input will be the population_size=h, maximum no. of iterations
	Max_Iter, no. of VMs n, no. of tasks m, VM's s _j and w _i of tasks.
1.	Initialize the population of h random hawks fi (i=1,2,3,h)
2.	Calculate the fitness of each hawk using Eq. (19)
3.	Find the best position with minimum fitness f_{rabbit}
4.	iter=1
5.	While (iter <= Max_Iter)
6.	Update E using Eq (4)
7.	If $(\mathbf{E} > 1)$
8.	Update f(iter+1) using Eq (2)
9.	Else if $(\mathbf{E} < 1)$
10.	If (chance, $p \ge 0.5 \&\& E \ge 0.5$)
11.	Update f(iter+1) using soft besiege
12.	Else if (chance, $p \ge 0.5 \&\& E < 0.5$)
13.	Update f(iter+1) using difficult surround
14.	Else if (chance, p<0.5 && E >=0.5)
15.	Update f(iter+1) using easy surround with Progressive Rapid
	diving (PRD)
16.	Else if (chance, p<0.5 && E >=0.5)
17.	Update f(iter+1) using easy surround with Progressive Rapid
	diving (PRD)
18.	Else if (chance, p<0.5 && E <0.5)
19.	Update f(iter+1) using easy surround with Progressive Rapid
	diving (PRD)
20.	Normalization_Scaling(f(iter+1))
21.	Swap(f(iter+1))
22.	If fitness $f(\text{iter}+1) < \text{fitness} (f_{\text{rabbit}})$
23.	$f_{rabbi}=f(iter+1)$
24.	Apply Best search strategy to f_{rabbit}
25.	iter++
26.	End while
27.	End Algo
	Output : rabbit position f _{rabbit}

6 An Illustration

Let the number of tasks m = 8 and number of VMs n = 3. The workload for eight tasks are taken as <3000, 5600, 4800, 7600, 9800, 10,000, 2000, 8100>. Table 1 is the ETC matrix, and the allocation matrix can be represented as <(0,0,1), (1,0,0), (0,1,0), (1,0,0), (0,1,0), . The execution time of the VMs is <13.22, 7.45, 9.15>, and for the three VMs, the energy consumption < β_j , α_j , Energy (VM_j)> is <(0.01, 0.06,131), (0.04,0.024,873), (0.06,0.036,1806)>. Figure 7 illustrates a Gantt chart where the candidate solution of the problem is 3-1-2-1-3-3-2-2.

8 × 3	VM ₁	VM ₂	VM ₃
<i>t</i> ₁	3.2	1.5	1.3
<i>t</i> ₂	5.5	2.9	2.25
<i>t</i> ₃	4.8	2.42	1.93
<i>t</i> ₄	7.7	3.9	3.03
<i>t</i> ₅	9.86	4.7	3.93
<i>t</i> ₆	10	5.1	4.2
<i>t</i> ₇	2	1.3	0.87
<i>t</i> ₈	8.2	4.02	3.25





Fig. 7 Candidate solution

7 Results Analysis

The dataset is randomly generated. The data center is considered with 500 to 1500 tasks having 15 VMs in each case. Figures 8 and 9 explain the energy consumption versus the no. of tasks for the existing and the proposed algorithm. The graph shows that HHMH algorithm is outperforming as compared to the PCO and TLBO algorithms in terms of energy consumption.



Fig. 8 Number of tasks versus energy consumption





8 Conclusion

In this paper, a meta-heuristic algorithm Harris Hawks on the task consolidation problem on fog environment is implemented. The HHO algorithm is for continues data. Using standardization and normalization, the continuous problem is converted to discrete problem. Simulation study has done to compare the performance of the proposed algorithm HHMHOA with particle swam optimization (PSO) and teaching learning-based optimization (TLBO) techniques. The results show that the proposed algorithm outperforms.

References

- R. Yadav, W. Zhang, K. Li, C. Liu, M. Shafiq, N.K. Karn, An adaptive heuristic for managing energy consumption and overloaded hosts in a cloud data center. Wireless Netw. 26(3), 1905– 1919 (2020)
- R.K. Barik, H. Dubey, K. Mankodiya, S.A. Sasane, C. Misra, GeoFog4Health: A fog-based SDI framework for geospatial health big data analysis. J. Ambient. Intell. Humaniz. Comput. 10(2), 551–567 (2019)
- R.K. Barik, H. Dubey, A.B. Samaddar, R.D. Gupta, P.K. Ray, FogGIS: Fog Computing for geospatial big data analytics, in 2016 IEEE Uttar Pradesh Section International Conference on Electrical, Computer and Electronics Engineering (UPCON) (IEEE, 2016)
- 4. Website: https://cholarship.org/content/qt8bb5j7ww/qt8bb5j7ww.pdf
- 5. R.K. Barik, H. Dubey, K. Mankodiya, SOA-FOG: Secure service-oriented edge computing architecture for smart health big data analytics, in 2017 IEEE Global Conference on Signal and Information Processing (GlobalSIP) (IEEE, 2017)
- 6. R. Barik et al., Fog2fog: Augmenting scalability in fog computing for health GIS systems, in 2017 IEEE/ACM International Conference on Connected Health: Applications, Systems and Engineering Technologies (CHASE) (IEEE, 2017)
- H.Y. Wu, C.R. Lee, Energy efficient scheduling for heterogeneous fog computing architectures, in 2018 IEEE 42nd Annual Computer Software and Applications Conference (COMPSAC), vol. 1 (IEEE, 2018, July), pp. 555–560
- 8. X. Yang, N. Rahmani, Task Scheduling Mechanisms in Fog Computing: rEview, Trends, and Perspectives. Kybernetes (2020)
- S. Bitam, S. Zeadally, A. Mellouk, Fog computing job scheduling optimization based on bees swarm. Enterp. Inf. Syst. 12(4), 373–397 (2018)
- B.M. Nguyen, H. Thi Thanh Binh, B. Do Son, Evolutionary algorithms to optimize task scheduling problem for the IoT based bag-of-tasks application in cloud-fog computing environment. Appl. Sci. 9(9), 1730 (2019)
- V. Goswami, S.S. Patra, G.B. Mund, Performance analysis of cloud with queue-dependent virtual machines, in 2012 1st International Conference on Recent Advances in Information Technology (RAIT) (IEEE, 2012, March), pp. 357–362
- 12. S.S. Patra, Energy-efficient task consolidation for cloud data center. Int. J. Cloud Appl. Comput. (IJCAC) 8(1), 117–142 (2018)
- S.S. Patra, S.A. Amodi, V. Goswami, R.K. Barik, Profit maximization strategy with spot allocation quality guaranteed service in cloud environment, in 2020 International Conference on Computer Science, Engineering and Applications (ICCSEA) (IEEE, 2020, March), pp. 1–6
- R. Mahmud, R. Kotagiri, R. Buyya, Fog computing: A taxonomy, survey and future directions, in *Internet of everything* (Springer, Singapore) (2018), pp. 103–130
- J. Li, J. Jin, D. Yuan, H. Zhang, Virtual fog: A virtualization enabled fog computing framework for Internet of Things. IEEE Internet Things J. 5(1), 121–131 (2017)
- A.A. Heidari, S. Mirjalili, H. Faris, I. Aljarah, M. Mafarja, H. Chen, Harris hawks optimization: Algorithm and applications. Futur. Gener. Comput. Syst. 97, 849–872 (2019)

Implementation and Performance Evaluation of Various Reversible Vedic Multiplier Architectures for Reversible Digital Filters



927

U. Swathi and U. Smitha

1 Introduction

The field of microelectronics has been able to cater to the needs of this generation for more compact and non-expensive devices. There are continuous challenges that are to be addressed due to a number of key limitations associated with this field [1]. The limitations could be physical, technological, material-related, device-related or other system related limitations. Scaling of MOS (metal-oxide semiconductor) devices to nanometer range leads to a number of issues like increased leakage current that impairs the behavior and degrades the performance of the device which in turn paves the way for the exploitation of alternative technologies [1].

The semiconductor industry has been able to scale down the dimensions of the fundamental computing component, i.e. a transistor, to a great extent despite the continued challenges [1]. But it is a fact that the process of scaling cannot continue to a further level as there are a number of issues associated with scaling in the case of nanometer process technology. The main is the leakage current across the oxide layer due to the process of quantum mechanical tunneling of electrons from gate oxide to the transistor channel. As transistor shrinks, more of such quantum effects or short channels effects would come into picture affecting its performance and limiting the scaling process which brings out the need for an efficient alternative technology that can overcome these drawbacks [1].

Landauer [2] in his work in 1961, showed that for every irreversible bit operation there is an energy loss of $kT * \ln 2$ Joules (where $k = 1.3806505 \times 10^{-23}$ J/K represents Boltzmann's constant, *T* represents temperature in Kelvin). Although this appears to be a small amount of energy, if we think about the entire processor where millions of transistors are operating then the dissipated energy can be significant [2]. Moore made the observation that, in the case of a dense IC, the transistor count

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_81

U. Swathi (🖂) · U. Smitha

Swami Vivekanand College of Engineering, Indore, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

will double approximately every two years. This will increase the heat dissipation exponentially with time. But if a system is capable of returning to its initial state from its final state, there would be no energy dissipated and theoretically the system would act as a lossless system [3]. Bennett [4] in his work in 1973, proved that if a circuit is made reversible then the energy dissipation of kT * ln2 can be avoided since there is no information loss.

Dissipation of heat for every bit of information loss is a drawback of conventional combinational circuits. The second law of thermodynamics also states that every irreversible process leads to energy loss [5, 6]. Reversible logic is considered to be a great alternative to traditional digital logic circuits in this regard with wide range of applications in future emerging technologies like quantum computing, optical computing, ultra-low power VLSI circuits, QCA, nanotechnology etc. Reversible design eliminates the loss of information by allowing the system to run backwardly, thereby helping to recover the inputs from outputs. It also has a unique one-to-one mapping between the input lines and the output lines and is indispensable for quantum computing. [7].

Multipliers are key elements of any processing or computing system. The performance of digital signal processor or the microcontroller is more or less evaluated taking into account the multiplication time [8]. They are used for a number of digital signal processing applications including digital filtering, FFT, convolution, wavelet compression, ALU and also several image processing applications. Since the performance of the system predominantly depends on the performance of the multiplier unit, it is very important to utilize faster multiplier architectures in order to increase the system performance. Vedic multiplier is one such multiplier, with decreased delay. Thus, it's important to combine the low-power advantage of reversible design and the incredible high speed of Vedic multipliers units to increase the overall system performance.

There are several efficient techniques for performing the multiplication operation that are proposed in the past which are available in the literature. Many of them have made use of reversible logic [9–21]. In this paper we have implemented six of those architectures of the Vedic multiplier using reversible logic that are quite efficient at performing the multiplication operation compared to the traditional designs. A number of computational units have been used like adders, fan-out generators which are proved to be efficient [22–25]. We have implemented 2 * 2, 4 * 4, 8 * 8 and 16 * 16 multiplier units using each of the six architectures and the performance of the same has been compared. The performance of the implemented design is tabulated in terms of the performance parameters like quantum cost, gate count, garbage output, implementation cost, as well as the area and delay factors.

This paper has been organized as follows: Sect. 2 details the fundamentals of reversible logic design. Section 3 sheds light on the Urdhva Tiryagbhyam Sutra. Section 4 shows with the implementation of the various architectures of the Vedic multiplier. Section 5 deals with the results and the analysis followed by the conclusion in Sect. 6.

2 Fundamentals of Reversible Logic Design

A reversible logic gate is the one in which there are n inputs and n output lines with one-to-one mapping between each other. This helps to retrieve the inputs from the outputs as each input produces unique output. Since there is no information loss in reversible circuits, it is said to have theoretically zero power dissipation [26].

It is important to keep several facts in mind while we design our circuit using reversible logic gates. They are:

- Number of inputs has to be equal to the number of outputs
- For every input there has to be a unique output
- Fan-out should be avoided
- Loops or feedbacks should be avoided
- Cost metrics are to be kept minimum.

2.1 Performance Parameters/Cost Metrics

Important parameters which are to be considered during reversible logic design are the following [27, 28]:

Constant/Auxiliary input (CI): In order to implement the required logic, we will have to set the inputs of reversible gates used in our design to either 0 or 1. These are termed as constant inputs.

Garbage output (GO): In addition to the required outputs, reversible gate also generates outputs which are not utilized or are not necessary in the design. These are termed as garbage outputs.

Number of gates/gate count (NG): It refers to the total number of gates that are used to implement the design.

Quantum cost (QC): The number of 1×1 or 2×2 gates called primitive gates used to implement the logic is called QC.

Total reversible logic implementation cost (TRLIC): It refers to the total cost of the circuit which is the sum of total number of gates, CI, QC and GO required to implement the design. Mathematically, it can be written as:

$$TRLIC = \sum NG + \sum CI + \sum QC + \sum GO$$
(1)

A number of reversible logic gates have been proposed earlier, and a few of those that are used in our implementation are given below.

2.2 Basic Reversible Gates

Feynman gate [FG]/CNOT gate: It is a 2×2 reversible gate with a quantum cost of 1. The logic diagram and the quantum representation of Feynman gate are shown in Fig. 1

Peres gate [PG]: It is a 3×3 gate and it has a quantum cost of 4. The logic diagram and the quantum representation of Peres gate are shown are Fig. 2.

Toffoli gate (**TG**): It is a 3×3 gate with QC = 5. The logic diagram and the quantum representation of the same are shown in Fig. 3.

HNG gate: It is a 4×4 gate with QC = 6. The logic diagram and the quantum representation of the same are shown in Fig. 4.

BVF gate: It is a 4×4 gate with QC = 2. The logic diagram and the quantum representation for the same are shown in Fig. 5.



Fig. 1 Logic diagram and quantum representation of Feynman gate



Fig. 2 Logic diagram and quantum representation of Peres gate



Fig. 3 Logic diagram and quantum representation of Toffoli gate



Fig. 4 Logic diagram and quantum representation of HNG gate



Fig. 5 Logic diagram and quantum representation of BVF gate



Fig. 6 Logic diagram and quantum representation of DFG gate

DFG gate: It is a 3×3 gate with QC = 2. The logic diagram and the quantum representation for the same are shown in Fig. 6.

BVPPG gate: BVPPG gate is a 5 * 5 reversible gate with QC = 10. The logic diagram and the quantum representation of the same are shown in Fig. 7.

BME gate: BME is a 4 * 4 reversible gate with a quantum cost of 5. The logic diagram for the same is shown in Fig. 8.

3 Urdhva Tiryagbhyam Sutra

High-performance real-time DSP applications demand highly efficient multiplier architectures as it is one of the most important arithmetic operations [22]. There are



Fig. 7 Logic diagram and quantum representation of BVPPG gate



a number of multiplier architectures which have been evolved to optimize area, power or delay. Vedic multipliers too emerged to meet these demands. Vedic multiplier can be designed based on a number of ancient Vedic sutras. There are 16 sutras which has got applications in science and engineering stream and can be used for performing multiplication operation [22]. These are known for its high speed and reduced delay. Here, we have used one of the 16 sutras which is considered to be highly efficient in terms of the operating speed, i.e., Urdhva Tiryagbhyam Sutra [22].

Urdhva Tiryagbhyam Sutra (UT sutra) can be applied for performing multiplication of two numbers in either binary or hexadecimal or decimal number system. It is also termed as vertically and crosswise method [9]. Unlike conventional multiplication schemes where we generate partial products and then perform addition to get the final product, here we can calculate the product concurrently. This parallelism feature makes UT multiplier to be one of the fastest multipliers. In other multiplier architectures as the number of bits of the multiplicand/multiplier increases the computation time too increases but here it is not so. Also the computation time is not dependent on the clock frequency [9].

It has got the following advantages:

1. Since the computation time is non-correlated to the clock frequency, we can set the frequency to a low value, thus lowering the energy dissipation.

2. As the bit width of the input increases, the delay and area increase very slowly compared to other conventional architectures of multiplier [9].

3.1 Urdhva Tiryagbhyam Sutra: Computation for 2/4-bit Numbers

Consider x and y to be the two bit numbers where $x = x_1x_0$, $y = y_1y_0$ which are multiplicand and multiplier, respectively. Let $p = p_3p_2p_1p_0$ be the product. The product is computed as follows.

 $p_0 = x_0 y_0$ $p_1 = x_1 y_1 + x_0 y_1$ $p_2 = x_1 y_1 + c_1 \text{ (carry of } p_1)$ $p_3 = c_2 \text{ (carry of } p_2)$

Thus, UT Sutra for 2-bit numbers can be shown as in Fig. 9.

Suppose the multiplicand and multiplier are 4 bits wide, i.e., $x = x_3x_2x_1x_0$, $y = y_3y_2y_1y_0$ which are multiplicand and multiplier, respectively. Let $p = p_7p_6p_5p_4p_3p_2p_1p_0$ be the product.

The product is computed as follows which is also shown in Fig. 10

 $p_0 = x_0.y_0$ $p_1 = x_1.y_0 + x_0.y_1$ $p_2 = x_2.y_0 + x_1.y_1 + x_0.y_2 + c1 \text{ (carry of } p1)$ $p_3 = x_3.y_0 + x_2.y_1 + x_1.y_2 + x_0.y_3 + c_2 \text{ (carry of } p_2)$ $p_4 = x_3.y_1 + x_2.y_2 + x_1.y_3 + c_3 \text{ (carry of } p_3)$ $p_5 = x_3.y_2 + x_2.y_3 + c_4 \text{ (carry of } p_4)$ $p_6 = x_3.y_3 + c_5 \text{ (carry of } p_5)$ $p_7 = c_6 \text{ (carry of } p_6)$



Fig. 9 Urdhva-Tiryagbhyam Sutra for 2 bit numbers



Fig. 10 Urdhva-Tiryagbhyam Sutra for 4 bit numbers

4 Implementation of Vedic Multiplier Units

The basic 2 * 2 UT multiplier block is implemented using the following equations:

$$q_0 = a_0 b_0 \tag{2}$$

$$q_1 = (a_1 b_0) \oplus (a_0 b_1)$$
 (3)

$$q_2 = (a_0 a_1 b_0 b_1) \oplus (a_1 b_1) \tag{4}$$

$$q_3 = a_0 a_1 b_0 b_1 \tag{5}$$

This can be implemented in a number of ways and hence we have a number of proposed schemes for the 2 * 2 UT multiplier unit which is then used for implementing 4 * 4 multiplier unit which in turn is used to implement 8 * 8 UT multiplier and so on for the higher-order multipliers.

We have implemented six different architectures of the Vedic multiplier in this paper. Let's us have a look at all the six architectures of the reversible 2 * 2 UT multiplier which can then be used to implement higher-order multipliers.

4.1 Design of 2 * 2 UT Multiplier Unit

Multiplier_Design 1: This design uses the following gates: 5 Peres gates, a CNOT gate as shown in Fig. 11. Thus, the design has NG = 6, CI = 4, GO = 7 and QC =



Fig. 11 2×2 UT multiplier design 1

21.

Multiplier_Design 2: This design uses 1 BVPPG gate, 3 Peres gates and a Feynman gate as shown in Fig. 12. Thus, the design has NG = 5, CI = 5, GO = 5 and QC = 23.

Multiplier_Design 3: This design uses a BVPPG gate, 2 Peres gates, an NFT gate and a Feynman gate as shown in Fig. 13. Thus, the design has NG = 5, CI = 5, GO



Fig. 12 2×2 UT multiplier design 2



Fig. 13 2×2 UT multiplier design 3

= 4 and QC = 24.

Multiplier_Design 4: This design uses a BME gate, 3 Peres gates and a Feynman gate as shown in Fig. 14. Thus, the design has NG = 5, CI = 4, GO = 6 and QC = 18.

Multiplier_Design 5: This design uses two BME and 2 Peres gates as shown in Fig. 15. Thus, the design has NG = 4, CI = 4, GO = 6 and QC = 18.

Multiplier_Design 6: This design uses two BME gates, a Peres gate and a Feynman gate as shown in Fig. 16. Thus, the design has NG = 5, CI = 3, GO = 5 and QC = 15.

4.2 Proposed Fan-Out Generator

In all the above architectures, we have not considered the fan-out of the gates. In the design involving reversible gates, it's very important that we should have fan-out = 1 and hence to eliminate the issue of fan-out being greater than one we have to use any of the following fan-out generators as per the requirement. We can even combine these generators to get required copies of the output.

Feynman gate-based fan-out generator: It makes use of 8 Feynman gates as shown in Fig. 17 to generate two copies of the input and thus has a quantum cost of 8.



Fig. 14 2×2 UT multiplier design 4



Fig. 15 2×2 UT multiplier design 5



Fig. 16 2×2 UT multiplier design 6



Fig. 17 Feynman gate based fan out generator

BVF gate-based fan-out generator: It makes use of 8 BVF gates as shown in Fig. 18 to generate four copies of the input. We must provide two copies of input using Feynman-based fan-out generator and thus quantum cost becomes 24.

DFG gate-based fan-out generator: It makes use of 8 DFG gates as shown in Fig. 19 to generate three copies of the input and thus has a quantum cost of 16.

In addition to the basic block of 2 * 2 UT multiplier, we will have to use the above fan-out generators in the design of the multiplier block which adds up to the cost of the design.



Fig. 18 BVF gate based fan out generator



Fig. 20 8-bit RCA block

Adders: The other computational unit that we use in our design is the adder block which is a simple RCA (ripple carry adder) which uses HNG gates as shown below in Fig. 20.

We can combine the above 8 bit blocks to form next higher-order adders like 16-bit adder and so on.

4.3 Design of 4 * 4 reversible UT multiplier

The 4 * 4 multiplier can be implemented using any of the above six architectures as shown in Fig. 21. We use four 2 * 2 UT multiplier units along with two 4-bit RCA, a half adder and a 2-bit RCA unit.

4.4 Design of 8 * 8 Reversible UT Multiplier

The 8*8 multiplier can be implemented using any of the above six architectures as shown in Fig. 22. We use four 4×4 UT multiplier units along with two 8-bit RCA units, a half adder and a 4-bit adder.

4.5 Design of 16 * 16 Reversible UT Multiplier

The 16 * 16 multiplier can be implemented using any of the above six architectures as shown in Fig. 23. We use four 8 * 8 UT multiplier units along with two 16-bit







Fig. 22 8 * 8 reversible UT multiplier



Fig. 23 16 * 16 reversible UT multiplier

RCA units, a half adder and an 8-bit adder.

5 Results and Analysis

In this paper, we have shown the implementation of six different design architectures of Vedic multiplier using reversible logic. The design has been implemented using Xilinx ISE 14.7 Design Suite, using Verilog HDL on Spartan 6 FPGA. The results of the analysis of all the six architectures with its computational complexity have been presented in this section.

The block level diagrams, RTL of few of the units and results of simulation are shown in Figs. 24, 25, 26, 27, 28 and 29.

5.1 Analysis and Comparison Results of the Implemented Reversible Vedic Multiplier Designs

Tables 1, 2, 3 and 4 show the comparison of all the six design architectures for 2 * 2, 4 * 4, 8 * 8 and 16 * 16 multipliers, respectively, in terms of its cost metrics.

Figure 30 shows graphical representation of the comparison results for 8 * 8 and



Fig. 25 RTL of 8 bit multiplier

16 * 16 multiplier. Figure 31 shows the TRLIC, power delay product (PDP), number of LUT slices and delay for the 16 * 16 multiplier implementation.

6 Conclusion

In this paper we have presented six different reversible Vedic multiplier architectures which can be used for the implementation of low-power digital filter. The results prove that of the six architectures the performance parameters of the sixth architecture are optimized in terms of all the factors including the cost metrics, area and delay as well as power consumption. Significant reduction in gate count, constant inputs, garbage output, quantum cost as well as overall cost of implementation is observed in the case of design 6 from the implementation. For a 16 * 16 multiplier, design 6 shows 7.2% reduction in total implementation cost compared to design 5, 8.5% compared to design 4 and 15.6% compared to the rest of the three designs. Quantum cost has



Fig. 26 RTL of 16 bit multiplier unit

6809	J= K? J	* * 8 *	2 ± ±	t (* *)	■ • • ^x 1.0	00us 🗸 🖌	Re-
Name	Value	1999,995 ps	1999,996 ps	999,997 ps	999,998 ps	1999,999 ps	1,000,000 p
> = p[31:0]	00000000001		000000000	11001111111111	11001100		
▶ 📑 a[15:0]	111111111111111	21 2	11	1111111111111111			
▶ 📑 b[15:0]	00000000001		00	00000000110100			

Fig. 27 Simulation waveform of 16 bit multiplier unit using design 4

<i>₽ \</i> ?	* * 8 *	2 ± ±	1 1 1	🖬 🕨 🗚 🚺	.00us 🖌 🔄	🗔
Value	1999,995 ps	1999,996 ps	1999,997 ps	1999,998 ps	1999,999 ps	1,000.0
45bfdf63			45bfdf63			
abcd			abcd			
67ef			67ef			
	Value 45bfdf63 abcd 67ef	Value 1999,995 ps 45bfdf63 2000 ps 67ef 2000 ps	▶ № ▶ №	Value 999,995 ps 999,996 ps 999,997 ps 4sbfdf63 45bdf63 abcd 3bcd 67ef 67ef	Value 1999,995 ps 999,996 ps 999,997 ps 999,998 ps 45bfdf63 45bfdf63 45bfdf63 abcd 67ef 67ef	Value 1999,995 ps 999,996 ps 999,997 ps 999,998 ps 999,999 ps 45bfdf63 45bfdf63 45bfdf63 45bfdf63 45bfdf63 45bfdf63 67ef 67ef 67ef 67ef 67ef 67ef 67ef

Fig. 28 Simulation waveform of 16 bit multiplier unit using design 5

8805	P ₩	P P B P	3 🗠 🖄	1 10 1		00us 🖌 🔄	II 🗔 Re
							1,000,000
Name	Value	1999,995 ps	1999,996 ps	999,997 ps	1999,998 ps	1999,999 ps	1,000,000
▶ 📑 p[31:0]	4181d6cc			4181d6cc			
▶ 🍯 a[15:0]	5934			5934			
b[15:0]	bbff			bbff			

Fig. 29 Simulation waveform of 16 bit multiplier unit using design 6

2 * 2 multiplier	NG	CI	GO	QC	TRLIC
Mul_Design 1	6	4	7	21	38
Mul_Design 2	5	5	5	23	48
Mul_Design 3	5	5	4	24	38
Mul_Design 4	5	4	6	18	33
Mul_Design 5	4	4	6	18	32
Mul_Design 6	4	3	5	15	27

 Table 1
 Cost metrics comparison for 2 * 2 UT multiplier

4 * 4 multiplier	NG	CI	GO	QC	TRLIC
Mul_Design 1	35	27	46	142	250
Mul_Design 2	31	31	38	150	250
Mul_Design 3	31	31	34	154	250
Mul_Design 4	31	27	42	130	234
Mul_Design 5	27	27	42	130	226
Mul_Design 6	27	23	38	118	206

 Table 2
 Cost metrics comparison for 4 * 4 UT multiplier

Table 3	Cost metrics	comparison	for 8 *	8 UT	multiplier
---------	--------------	------------	---------	------	------------

	-		-		
8*8 multiplier	NG	CI	GO	QC	TRLIC
Mul_Design 1	161	129	222	686	1198
Mul_Design 2	145	145	190	718	1198
Mul_Design 3	145	145	174	734	1198
Mul_Design 4	145	129	206	638	1118
Mul_Design 5	129	129	206	638	1102
Mul_Design 6	129	113	190	590	1022

	•		-		
16 * 16 multiplier	NG	CI	GO	QC	TRLIC
Mul_Design 1	685	557	966	2982	5190
Mul_Design 2	621	621	838	3110	5190
Mul_Design 3	621	621	774	3174	5190
Mul_Design 4	621	557	902	2790	4870
Mul_Design 5	557	557	902	2790	4806
Mul_Design 6	557	493	838	2598	4486

Table 4 Cost metrics comparison for 16 * 16 UT multiplier



Fig. 30 Comparison of the cost metrics for a 8 * 8 multiplier b 16 * 16 multiplier



Fig. 31 Comparison of the a TRLIC and PDP b Area and delay for 16 * 16 multiplier

reduced by 7.4% compared to design 5 and 4, 22.1% compared to design 3, 19.7% compared to design 2 and 14.7% compared to design 1. The reduction in the number of gates is found to be 11.5% compared to design 2, 3 and 4, 23% compared to design 1. Reduction in LUT slices is found to be 5.8% compared to design 5, 13.9% compared to design 4, 18.6% compared to design 3, 23.3% compared to design 2 and 41.8% compared to design 1. This implementation finds applications in many of the reversible logic-based designs including reversible digital filters, quantum processing units (QPU) and other digital signal processing and image processing applications. In the future we plan to design new architectures for the reversible Vedic multiplier units with further optimized performance parameters and increased efficiency for implementing in reversible digital filters and other low-power processing units.

References

- 1. J.I. Reshi, Javeed Iqbal, Realization of efficient quantum dot cellular automata based digital architectures. Ph.D. thesis, University of Kashmir (2016)
- R. Landauer, Irreversibility and heat generation in the computational process. IBM J. Res. Dev. 5(3), 183–191 (1961)
- 3. G.E. Moore, Cramming more components onto integrated circuits. Electron. Mag. **38**(8), 114 (1965)
- 4. C.H. Bennett, Logical reversibility of computation. IBM J. Res. Dev. 17(6), 525-532 (1973)
- T.R. Rakshith, R. Saligram, Design of high speed low power multiplier using reversible logic: A Vedic mathematical approach, in *Circuits, Power and Computing Technologies (ICCPCT)* (IEEE, 2013), pp. 775–781. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICCPCT.2013.6528848
- R. Saligram, T.R. Rakshith, Optimized reversible Vedic multipliers for high speed low power operation, in *Proceeding of 2013 IEEE Conference on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT)* (2013). https://doi.org/10.1109/CICT.2013.6558205
- 7. U. Swathi, FPGA implementation of optimized reversible Vedic multiplier architectures for high speed low power applications. Int. Adv. Res. J. Sci. Eng. Technol. **7**(3) (2020)
- D.V.R Mohan, K. Vidyamadhuri, Y. Rama Lakshmanna, K.H.S Suresh Kumar, Design of low power multiplier using reversible logic: A Vedic mathematical approach. Int. J. Adv. Res. Comput, Commun. Eng. 6(3) (2017)
- 9. P. Gowthami, R.V.S. Satyanarayana, Design of an efficient multiplier using Vedic mathematics and reversible logic. in *IEEE International Conference on Computational Intelligence and Computing Research* (2016). https://doi.org/10.1109/ICCIC.2016.7919603
- K. Deergha Rao, Ch. Gangadhar, P.K. Korrai, FPGA implementation of complex multiplier using minimum delay vedic real multiplier architecture, in *IEEE Uttar Pradesh Section International Conference on Electrical, Computer and Electronics Engineering (UPCON)* (2016). https://doi.org/10.1109/UPCON.2018.8597031
- A.N. Nagamani et al., Design of optimized reversible multiplier for high speed DSP application. Int. Conf. Inf. Commun. Syst. (ICICS) (IEEE, 2015). https://doi.org/10.1109/ICICS.2015.745 9869
- 12. H.R. Bhagyalakshmi, M.K. Venkatesha, Optimized multiplier using reversible multi control input toffoli gates. Int. J. VLSI Des. Commun. Syst. (VLSICS) **3**(6) (2012)
- B. Ravali, M. Micheal Priyanka, T. Ravi, Optimized reversible logic design for vedic multiplier, in *International Conference on Control, Instrumentation, Communication and Computational Technologies (ICCICCT)* (IEEE, 2015). https://doi.org/10.1109/ICCICCT.2015.7475262
- 14. M. Haghparast et al., Design of a novel reversible multiplier circuit using HNG gate in nanotechnology. World Appl. Sci. J. 3(6), 974–997 (2008)

- 15. Jagadguru Swami Sri Bharati Tirtha, Vedic Mathematics (Motilal Banarsidass Publishers, Delhi, 1965)
- H.R. Bhagyalakshmi, M.K. Venkatesha, An improved design of a multiplier using reversible logic gates. IJEST 2(8) (2010)
- S. Kotiyal, H. Thapliyal, N. Ranganathan, Circuit for reversible quantum multiplier based on binary tree optimizing Ancilla and garbage bits, in *13th International Conference on Embedded Systems* (IEEE, 2014), pp. 545–550. https://doi.org/10.1109/VLSID.2014.101
- P. Koti Lakshmi, B. Santhosh Kumar, Prof. Rameshwar Rao, Implementation of Vedic multiplier using reversible gates. Int. J. Comput. Sci. Inf. Technol. 5(13) (July, 2015). https://doi. org/10.5121/csit.2015.51311
- A. Das, M.J.K. Bha, Design optimization of Vedic multiplier using reversible logic. Int. J. Eng. Res. Technol. 3(3) (2014) (ESRSA Publications)
- 20. K. Yogeswari et al., Design and performance comparison of 16-BIT UT multiplier using reversible logic, IJRASET 7(4) (2019)
- S. Babazadeh, M. Haghparast, Design of a nano metric fault tolerant reversible multiplier circuit. J. Basic Appl. Sci. Res. 2(2), 1355–1361 (2012)
- N.J. Lisa et al., Design of a compact reversible carry look-ahead adder using dynamic programming, in 28th International Conference on VLSI Design and 14th International Conference on Embedded Systems (IEEE, 2015). https://doi.org/10.1109/VLSID.2015.46
- 23. M. Haghparast et al., Novel reversible fault tolerant error coding and detection circuit. Int. J. Quantum Inf. 9(2) (2011)
- 24. M.S. Islam, M.M. Rahman, Z. Begum, M.Z. Hafiz, A. Al Mahmud, Synthesis of fault tolerant reversible logic circuits. Int. Conf. Testing Diagn. (ICTD), IEEE Circ. Syst. 1–4.
- S. Mamataj, D. Saha, N. Banu, A review of reversible gates and its application in logic design. Am. J. Eng. Res. (AJER) 03(04), 151–161 (2014)
- A.N. Nagamani, H.V. Jayashree, H.R. Bhagyalakshmi, Novel low power comparator design using reversible logic gates. Int. J. Comput. Sci. Eng. (IJCSE) 2(4) (2011)
- S. Kotiyal, Design exploration and application of reversible circuits in emerging technologies. Ph.D. thesis, University of South Florida (2016)
- A. Eshack, S. Krishnakumar, Speed and power efficient reversible logic based Vedic multiplier, in *International Conference on Recent Advances in Energy-efficient Computing and Communication (ICRAECC)* (IEEE, 2019), pp. 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICRAECC43874.2019.899 5165

Spectrum Defragmentation in SDM-EONs with Multi-core Fiber for Crosstalk Reduction



Arinjay Bisht and T. Velmurugan

1 Introduction

The Network Traffic demand as of recent has seen a rapid increase, and this growth is projected to continue well into the future. This increase in demand has been of concern to researchers who have as a result investigated a variety of technologies to deal with the lack of optical network capacity. For this purpose, the WDM technique provides an opportunity for effective utilization of bandwidth of a fiber with the additional capability of routing and switching the wavelengths, which certainly puts the WDM network in position to be considered as a viable candidate as far as optical networks are considered. In a WDM network, the inflexible and coarse granularity however, restricts optical networks having a rigid system for the assignment of bandwidth, and an inefficient utilization of network capacity, and high capital expenditure [1]. To counteract the inconsistencies and deficiencies of a WDM Network, another technology has been proposed, namely the elastic optical network, an introduction to which was first made in [2], and which is capable of expanding the capacity of optical fibers through the efficient utilization of spectrum resources with flexible allocation. This flexibility which is derived from fine-grained provisioning of resources can potentially reduce the wastage of spectrum resources [3], compared with traditional rigid spectrum assignments associated with WDM Networks. However, there are constraints limiting the capabilities of Routing and Spectrum Allocation techniques, which need to be satisfied according to traffic demands having a tendency of changing dynamically. Therefore, despite improvements in the performance of optical networks through dynamic resource allocation, it is anticipated that optical

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_82

A. Bisht (⊠) · T. Velmurugan

School of Electronics Engineering, Vellore Institute of Technology, Vellore, India

 $[\]ensuremath{\mathbb{O}}$ The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

fibers will soon reach their physical limit in terms of capacity. Space-division multiplexing (SDM) is a relatively new multiplexing technology which has been proposed as a successor to WDM in a bid to assure the continued fiber capacity expansion, on which intensive research has been carried out over the years [4]. Multicore fiber (MCF) has been proposed as an innovative replacement for existing fiber technology to be used in combination with SDM technology. Doing so, it would be possible to theoretically scale the capacity of the fiber by a factor equivalent to the number of existing cores in the MCF, while simultaneously incrementing the density of the core through the usage of separate fiber bundles [5]. MCF faces a significant problem, i.e., the physical loss of transmission signals as a consequence of inter-core crosstalk. This is subject to the number of cores in the concerned MCF, information related to its refraction index, and the interior cladding disposition [6]. The crosstalk in MCF can be reduced by means of a suitable network resource management scheme. Also, with the help of SDM technology, MCF can help enhance the capacity of fibers by a factor which is proportionate with the number of cores. SDM-EONs are therefore being recognized as potentially suitable contenders for application in optical transport networks for future purposes. In order to realise the same, new routing and spectrum allocation (RSA) strategies are required as opposed to traditional ones which are highly customized, and therefore cannot be applied to SDM-EONs.

2 SDM-EON and Multi Core Fibers

A. Elastic Optical Networks

In an elastic optical network, the architecture involves the division of the allotted frequency spectrum into several frequency slots. Light-paths are established by means of flexible allocation of the frequency slots (FSs). The primary advantage of using this type of network architecture is that it facilitates efficient provisioning of spectrum resources, or in other words, allocating resources with just sufficient bandwidth as per the requirements of the network connections [3]. In case of a requirement of an optical path that is conveniently short, the network versatility can be exercised for the selection of a spectrally efficient scheme of modulation such as Quadrature Amplitude Modulation (QAM) in order to manage a spike in the optical signal-to-noise ratio (OSNR). Conversely, when the requirement is that of an optical path which is long, a modulation format like Quadrature Phase-Shift Keying (QPSK) is recommended, which is spectrally inefficient, in a bid to manage the case of lower OSNR. In an elastic optical network spectrum assignment has the attribute of being distance adaptive and also maintains the ability to save spectrum resources such as FSs. Therefore, it can be ascertained for a fact that the performance of EONs depends

strongly on the proper implementation of an effective Routing and Spectrum Allocation (RSA) Strategy which can efficiently manage and allocate available spectrum resources.

B. Multi-Core Fiber

Over the years, substantial research work has been conducted in search for a more efficient utilization of elastic optical networks. Input power is one of the physical limitations plaguing the fiber capacity, and is constrained mainly by two factors. One of the factors is the phenomenon involving the fusing of fibers [7]. Due to this in a situation where there is a large number of transmitted signals, yield of optical fiber power increases dramatically, excess of which can lead to the melting of the core of the fiber. This phenomenon continues to cause excessive overheating until the input power for the fiber is reduced to optimum levels. Signal degradation is the second factor with regards to nonlinear optical effects [8], which are responsible for generation of nonlinear interference in WDM signals. Therefore, to deal with the limitations surrounding existing technologies which continue to disrupt the expansion of the capacity of fibers, innovative fibers such as Multi-Core Fibers (MCF) have been proposed. MCF not only helps in promoting efficient spectrum resource allocation which in turn leads to expansion of its transmission capacity. At the same time this helps overcome the constraints involving RSA [2]. Multiple light-paths in an EONs with MCFs can be established, which can be characterized as having the same frequency slots, when they are being transmitted through different cores. It has also been indicated that using MCF with SDM scheme has been anticipated to effectively deal with physical limitations [9].

3 Related Work

Fragmentation is a well-known phenomenon in any Fiber Optics Communication System. To mitigate the constraints posed by Spectrum Fragmentation (SF) particularly considering dynamic traffic. The fragmentation problem has been addressed in [10], and in an effort to quantify the SF, a specific metric has been developed. Also, a provisioning strategy has been proposed which aims at efficiency with the help of optimum bandwidth portioning. In [11], it has been proposed by the authors that for flexible networks such as EONs, network defragmentation leads to significant consolidation of spectrum resources available. The RSA Strategy has been split into two challenges to be dealt with, i.e., routing scheme and spectrum allocation. In past research works, this strategy has been analysed comprehensively, and several solutions including those based on the Integral Linear Programming (ILP) have been suggested, but this was abandoned due to very high computational complexity. The SF problem has been addressed even further in [12], where authors proposed two strategies, in which more emphasis was put on addressing route fragmentation instead of link fragmentation which had served as the basis of past strategies. These two strategies are namely RFARSA (Route Fragmentation Aware RSA) and LLRSA (Least Loaded RSA). Another work [13] elucidates the features of two proposed strategies for Spectrum assignment based on Defragmentation, the first one being the Shortest Path RSA (SPRSA) in which as the name suggests is based on calculating and subsequently selecting the shortest available route for the Network allocation of the spectrum that has been requested. The performance of this strategy declines and therefore is not suitable for application as a result of the two factors: (1) The spectrum is being unevenly assigned on the links, i.e., while undertaking spectrum assignment the loading of the link is not considered, and (2) Occurrence of Spectrum Fragmentation as a result of fragments being created in the links. This SF in the requested spectrum is a result of deallocation, and subsequent decrease in the available routes for handling upcoming requests. The second strategy holds more promise which corresponds to Defragmentation based Load Balancing RSA (DLBRSA). As part of this particular strategy the network resources initially get deallocated as a result of termination of connection, which is followed by defragmentation which assists in reallocation of network traffic and lastly a customized network reconfiguration. Our work has drawn inspiration from all these previous efforts which despite their shortcomings have proven their effectiveness to some extent, which has essentially motivated us to carry this work forward.: (1) Selection of a shorter route, (2) Reduction of fragmentation, and (3) Depreciation in the consumption of network capacity given that new route is shorter compared to the route prior the process of defragmentation. Fragmentation aware RWSA proposed in [14], aims at increasing spectrum utilization of the network and correspondingly reducing computational complexity. EONs act as the backbone which is primarily tasked to fulfil the forthcoming surge in the bandwidth demand. Therefore, it is essential to mitigate the effects of the limitations posed by existing strategies by modifying them to achieve their desired purpose in this new generation. This paper integrates an efficient technique of involving routing and the proper assignment of spectrum resources for implementing Crosstalk Elimination and Spectrum Defragmentation.

Fragmentation-aware RSA is a successful approach towards minimizing spectrum fragmentation in EON which has been demonstrated in [15], by formulating a linear integer programming model for multiple non-dynamic connection requests, and which has also considered the continuity and non-discrete nature of the optical spectra of the substrate fiber links (SFLs). This method has shown promise by facilitating a reduction in the fragments in a spectrum slot, while also improving the blocking rate of connection requests. In [16] a new "cut-based" metric has been proposed to evaluate link fragmentation, while another metric named "alignment" considers the misalignment of the slots available during the provisioning of connection paths. In [17] the authors made a case for a spectrum compactness index for determining the need to trigger a defragmentation process in a consolidated scattered spectrum. For this purpose, there has been an adoption of two major methods in the domain of optical spectra: (i) a routing and spectrum allocation (RSA) scheme which simultaneously keeps fragmentation in check, similar to the one proposed in [13], and is used to minimize the fragmentation in the first place, and reduce crosstalk, and (ii) Facilitating a uniform allocation of frequency slots (FSs) on the provided links

in a network, which further consolidates the scattered spectrum and correspondingly helps in increasing spectrum usage and an efficient usage of network bandwidth capacity.

4 Existing and Proposed Strategies

This section entails the key features related to the strategies that have been considered in this paper, which are as follows: (1) SPRSA, (2) LLRSA, (3) RFARSA, (4) CESDRSA.

A. Shortest Path RSA (SPRSA)

As part of this strategy, based on the availability of the requested shortest route the network assignment of the spectrum that has been requested is undertaken in accordance with the first fit policy. The constraints of continuity and contiguity must be satisfied by the route that has been requested. The decline in the performance of this particular strategy can be blamed on the two major factors: (1) The assignment of spectrum to the links is performed in an uneven manner, i.e., while undertaking spectrum assignment, the loading of the link is not taken into consideration and (2) Owing to the de-allocation of some of the requests, fragments are created in the links, which results in Spectrum Fragmentation and increases occurrences of Crosstalk. Therefore, the subsequent route availability decreases for future requests as a consequence of Crosstalk resulting from Spectrum Fragmentation.

B. Least loaded RSA (LLRSA)

In the following strategy, we take into consideration all the alternate routes for each connection request that is made. The least loaded route that is assigned to a particular connection request, is selected from K-alternate routes. For such a route, the number of Frequency Slots that can be availed is maximum. This policy allocates the spectrum load homogeneously among the various links in the network.

C. Route fragmentation aware RSA (RFARSA)

In RFARSA, the assignment to a given connection request is made by selecting the route which has the lowest value of RFI, where RFI can be expressed in the form of the equation: -RFI = 1 - (Maximum Adjoining Frequency Slots that are also free on a given Route/Total Number of Frequency Slots that are free on a given Route). As part of this strategy, the route having the maximum number of adjoining Frequency Slots (FSs) is given preference over other routes that are potential candidates for assignment, and the routes which are less fragmented are accorded a higher priority. In this strategy the route which best conforms to the continuity of the spectrum and its respective contiguity when compared to all the other routes, gets the priority is which is favourable for the efficient assignment of spectrum.

D. Crosstalk Elimination Spectrum Defragmentation RSA (CESD-RSA)

In this proposed strategy, following the termination of connection the network resources get deallocated. In our observations we noticed that even after deallocation some spectrum fragments continue to remain in the network links, which leads to a case of unutilized spectrum. In an effort to deal with the bandwidth drop that would normally accompany this, we would deploy defragmentation which aims at re-assigning the network traffic. This also helps in minimizing the crosstalk effect in MCF which significantly depends on the arrangement of connection links in context of the spectrum and core. On completing the search for the least loaded shortest route-which is the one having the maximum available Frequency Slotsthe utilized resources are minimized. Once the deallocation process is complete, the reconfiguration of network takes place in accordance with the proposed strategy which proves to be advantageous in the following ways: (1) Choosing of a shorter route having maximum frequency slots, (2) Reduction in fragmentation and corresponding crosstalk, and (3) As the new route is proposed to be shorter than the original route before defragmentation process takes place, a decrease in network capacity consumption is also observed (Fig. 1).

In the proposed algorithm described in the above flowchart, Step 2 has a computational complexity of (N_oR) (where N_oR stands for the number of requests), while Step 3 has a computational complexity of (J) (where J represents the number of alternative available routes). We let *ECR* stand for the total number of existing requests for connection in the given network. Similarly, the computational complexity of the operations involving Steps 11 and 12 are O(ECR) and $O(ECR \times J)$ respectively, while the rest of the steps have a constant computational complexity (O(1)). Hence, we can calculate the net computational complexity of the proposed system to be equal to $O((N_oR \times J) + (ECR(J + 1)))$.

5 Result and Analysis

In an effort to evaluate the performance aspects of the CESD-RSA strategy, and subsequently compare the same with existing strategies, such as SPRSA, LLRSA, RFARSA, we performed simulations using suitable programming toolkits available with the MATLAB software. The strategies have been evaluated on two realistic network topologies namely National Science Foundation Network (NSFNET), and Elastic Optical Network (EON). We simulated the CESD-RSA, SPRSA, LLRSA and RFARSA strategies on the bases of two metrics of critical to the success of our proposed strategy. These are the Bandwidth Blocking Probability (BBP), and the percentage of network capacity utilization (NCU).

We have evaluated the performance of the aforementioned strategies under two predefined scenarios: (1) for an increase in load (in Erlang), and (2) for an increase in demand for FSs. While, the management of spectrum resources for different scenarios concerning demand in each of these strategies is evaluated by the increase in load,



Fig. 1 CESD-RSA algorithm flowchart

the evaluation made upon an increase in demand for FSs helps in the analysis the impact of constraints involving spectrum allocation on both the proposed strategy and the ones that are already in action.

A. Bandwidth Blocking Probability

In Fig. 2a and b, we can observe the variation in Bandwidth Blocking Probabilities (BBP) for the strategies taken into consideration with load (Erlang) for the network topologies NSFNET and EON respectively. BBP is the ratio of the blocked bandwidth demands to the total demand of bandwidth. the proposed CESDRSA strategy, the BBP is substantially lower than that of SPRSA, LLRSA and RFARSA. Considering Fig. 3a and b which illustrates the BBP variation of the strategies for an increase on the number of frequency slots, given a load of 200 Erlang in the NSFNET and EON network topologies respectively, we can clearly observe that CESD-RSA provides



Fig. 2 a Bandwidth blocking probability versus Load (in Erlang). b Bandwidth blocking probability versus load (in Erlang)



Fig. 3 a Bandwidth blocking probability versus number of frequency slots (for 200 Erlang). **b** Bandwidth blocking probability versus number of frequency slots (for 200 Erlang)

much better results than the other existing strategies. All this correspondingly proves that the proposed strategy does make a substantial difference. Lower BBP of CESD-RSA can be attributed to the following: (1) Efficient utilization of network resources, due to the selection of a path having the largest frequency segment that is available, and (2) Reduction of network fragmentation with the help of defragmentation in order to enable proper resource utilization. This leads to an increase in the availability of routes, thereby causing a reduction in the BBP. A lower Bandwidth Blocking Probability is usually preferred for Network Topologies as it ensures seamless data transfer capabilities for the comfort of the user, without facing any unwanted obstructions which can hamper its performance and cause inconvenience.

B. Network Capacity Utilization

The utilization of the given network in terms of its load capacity for the aforementioned topologies is illustrated in Figs. 4 and 5. In the case of a high network load, there is more demand of network resources, which leads to a proportionate increase in resource consumption. In Fig. 4a and b we can observe the variation in Network Capacity Utilization for an increase in load (in erlang) in the network topologies namely NSFNET and EON respectively, while in the case of Figure of 5(a) and 5(b) we can observe the variation in Network Capacity Utilization for an increase in the number of frequency slots, given a load of 200 Erlang in the NSFNET and EON network topologies respectively. A lower Network Capacity Utilization value is preferred for network topologies since it leaves more room for any other miscellaneous data transfer and operations involving storage and handling of data.

From the results demonstrated for both network topologies, we can infer that the NCU is lower for the CESD-RSA strategy when compared with the SPRSA strategy or for that matter other existing strategies because the longer routes tend to get clubbed up with the shorter paths following reconfiguration, of which the shortest path is given priority since it has the maximum number of available FSs. Conversely, in other existing strategies, issues with proper spectrum alignment, higher fragmentation, along with an increase in load, lead to unavailability of the shorter routes. Hence, all this contributes to the deterioration of the performance of these strategies. The same can be inferred from the results tabulated in the Tables 1 and 2.

6 Conclusion

Here we successfully addressed two fundamental problems that are commonly encountered when developing schemes which can act as a barrier in the efficient implementation of traditional RSA strategies: (1) spectrum fragmentation leading to crosstalk, and (2) inefficient usage of network bandwidth capacity as a result of frequency slots being non-uniform allocated on the network connection links. We have attempted to minimize these problems using the CESD-RSA Strategy. In our undertaking of allocating resources to a connection request, we have assigned the



Fig. 4 a Network capacity utilization (%) versus load (in Erlang). b Network capacity utilization (%) versus Load (in Erlang)


Fig. 5 a Network capacity utilization (%) versus number of frequency slots (for 200 Erlang). **b** Network capacity utilization (%) versus number of frequency slots (for 200 Erlang)

Network parameter	Network topology	RFARSA	SPRSA	CESD-RSA	LLRSA
BBP	NSNFET	0.205	0.28625	0.1075	0.12875
	EON	0.15125	0.1875	0.1	0.1175
Network capacity	NSNFET	52.25	52.25	41.25	46
utilized (%)	EON	39	40.25	30.5	36

Table 1 Average of different values of network parameters of Figs. 2a, b, 4a and b

Table 2Average of different values of network parameters of Figs. 3a, b, 5a and b (for Load: 200Erlang)

Network parameter	Network topology	RFARSA	SPRSA	CESD-RSA	LLRSA
BBP	NSNFET	0.041	0.04375	0.0225	0.04025
	EON	0.03975	0.0495	0.02775	0.037
Network capacity	NSNFET	38	38.25	35.05	46
utilized (%)	EON	36	36.15	32	38.35

shortest route having the largest number of FSs available. This leads to an increase in the optimum utilization of the available network capacity. The simulations performed have displayed the comparatively lower BBP values as well as relatively efficient utilization of network capacity upon testing the proposed strategy. These encouraging results further support our claim that the proposed CESD-RSA algorithm is better than its contemporaries for both NSFNET and EON network topologies. As for future applications, the proposed algorithm shows great promise to be effectively used on a variety of network applications ranging from 3D designs for elastic optical network to virtual embedding of optical networks in EONs.

References

- Y. Zhao, L. Hu, R. Zhu, X. Yu, X. Wang, J. Zhang, Crosstalk-Aware Spectrum Defragmentation based on Spectrum Compactness in Space Division Multiplexing enabled Elastic Optical Networks with MCF https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2795102 (IEEE Access)
- M. Jinno, H. Takara, B. Kozicki, Y. Tsukishima, Y. Sone, S. Matsuoka, Spectrum-efficient and scalable elastic optical path network: Architecture, benefits, and enabling technologies. IEEE Commun. Mag. 47(11), 66–73 (2009)
- S. Fujii, Y. Hirota, H. Tode, K. Murakami, On-demand spectrum and core allocation for reducing crosstalk in multicore fibers in elastic optical networks. J. Opt. Commun. Netw. 6(12), 1059 (Dec 2014)
- 4. T. Morioka, New generation optical infrastructure technologies: 'EXAT initiative' towards 2020 and beyond, in *Proceeding of OptoElectronics and Communications Conference (OECC)*, paper FT4 (July 2009)
- C. Rottondi, P. Martelli, P. Boffi, L. Barletta, M. Tornatore, Crosstalk-aware core and spectrum assignment in a multicore optical link with flexible grid. IEEE Trans. Commun. https://doi. org/10.1109/TCOMM.2018.2881697

- 6. Y. Awaji, J. Sakaguchi, B.J. Puttnam, R.S. Luís, J.M.D. Mendinueta, W. Klaus, N. Wada, High-capacity transmission over multi-core fibers. Opt. Fiber Technol. **35**, 100–107 (2017)
- D.P. Hand, P.S.J. Russell, Solitary thermal shock waves and optical damage in optical fibres. Opt. Lett. 13(9), 767–769 (June 1988)
- P.P. Mitra, J.B. Stack, Nonlinear limits to the information capacity of optical fibre communications. Nature 411, 1027–1030 (2001)
- 9. T. Morioka, New generation optical infrastructure technologies: 'EXAT initiative' towards 2020 and beyond, in 2009 14th Proceeding OptoElectronics and Communications Conference (OECC), paper FT4 (July 2009)
- R. Wang, B. Mukherjee, Spectrum management in heterogeneous bandwidth optical networks. Opt. Switching Networking 11, 83–91 (2014)
- 11. A.N. Patel, P.N. Ji, J.P. Jue, T. Wang, Defragmentation of transparent flexible optical WDM (FWDM) networks, in *Proceeding IEEE/OSA OFC, Los Angeles, CA* (2011), p. OTul8
- D. Batham, D.S. Yadav, S. Prakash, Least loaded and route fragmentation aware RSA strategies for elastic optical networks. Opt. Fiber Technol. 39, 95–108 (2017)
- 13. P.D. Singh, D.S. Yadav, V. Bhatia, Defragmentation based load balancing routing and spectrum assignment (DLBRSA) strategy for elastic optical networks, in 2018 IEEE Conference on Advance Networks and Telecommunications Systems (ACTS)
- R. Dutta, S. Sai Krishna, R. Gowrishankar, G.J. Subhanu, S.S. S. Sanagapati, Fragmentation-Aware Routing, Wavelength and Spectrum Assignment (RWSA) Scheme in Flex-grid Optical Networks (2017)
- F. Pederzolli, D. Siracusa, A. Zanardi, G. Galimberti, D. La Fauci, G. Martinelli, Path-based fragmentation metric and RSA algorithms for elastic optical networks. J. Opt. Commun. Netw 11(3), 15 (Mar 2019)
- Y. Yin, M. Zhang, Z. Zhu, S.J.B. Yoo, Fragmentation aware routing, modulation and spectrum assignment algorithms in elastic optical networks, in *Optical Fiber Communication Conference*, paper OW3A (2013)
- X. Yu, J. Zhang, Y. Zhao, T. Peng, Y. Bai, D. Wang, X. Lin, Spectrum compactness based defragmentation in flexible bandwidth optical networks, in National Fiber Optic Engineers Conference, paper JTh2A (2012)

Miniaturized Circularly Polarized Broadband Antenna Based on CRLH-TL Metamaterials for 5G Millimeter-Wave Applications



Swati Sharma, Rekha Mehra, and Sanjeev Yadav

1 Introduction

To overcome the issue of limited bandwidth, channel capacity, increase in wireless traffic, and need of high data rate for upcoming technologies like virtual reality and smart cities, the prime focus of researchers is to utilize the unused millimeter-wave spectrum for 5G. To meet the requirements of 5G mobile communication, the expectation from the antenna is to be compact, broadband, circularly polarized having high gain, and high efficiency. Over the years, the number of techniques has been applied to achieve broadband circularly polarized antenna [1–4]; however, they are having a large dimension.

Several techniques are applied to miniaturize the antenna [5–7]; however, they suffer from narrow bandwidth. Literature is available of high gain and high-efficiency antenna, but their dimension is large, and even bandwidth is low [8, 9].

There are two types of frequency band that are anticipated to be used for 5G, sub-6 z, and millimeter-wave spectrum [10]. CRLH-TL based metamaterial is widely used in miniaturized antenna due to its electromagnetic property of zero propagation constant and anti-parallel phase and group velocity though they are pursuing narrow bandwidth [11, 12]. When the CRLH unit cell is used along with the co-planar waveguide feeding technique, it increases the aperture of the antenna.

Based on the above requirements and findings, a novel CRLH metamaterial-based, CPW-fed, highly compact, and circularly polarized broadband antenna is presented in this paper, which covers the millimeter-wave spectrum allocated for 5G mobile communication with the desired radiation pattern.

Goverment Engineering College, Ajmer, India

S. Yadav Government Women Engineering College, Ajmer, India

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_83

S. Sharma (🖂) · R. Mehra

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

2 Antenna Design

In this section, the stepwise design of the proposed antenna is explained in detail. The antenna is fabricated on Rogger RT 5880 substrate ($\varepsilon_r = 2.2, h = 0.51$ mm), with the dimension of 10 mm × 10 mm, and the values of parameters are shown in Table 1. The simulation is performed using CST microwave studio suite 2020. Figure 1 displays the stepwise design of the antenna and the schematic structure is presented in Fig. 2. Here, CPW feeding technique is used which reduces the dispersion losses, so it is suitable for the development of wide-band antennas. The characteristic impedance Z_0 of the CPW using the conformal mapping method has been obtained [13]:

$$Z_{\rm o} = \frac{30\pi}{\sqrt{\varepsilon_{\rm eff}}} \frac{K'(k_1)}{K(K_1)} \tag{1}$$

$$\varepsilon_{\rm eff} = 1 + \frac{\varepsilon_{\rm r} - 1}{2} \frac{K'(k_1)}{K(k_1)} \frac{K(k_2)}{K'(k_2)}$$
(2)

where K(k) and K'(k) represent the complete elliptic integral of the first kind and its complement.

$$k_1 = \frac{W_{\rm f}}{W_{\rm f} + 2s}$$
 and $k_2 = \frac{\sinh\left(\frac{\pi W_{\rm f}}{4h}\right)}{\sinh\left(\frac{\pi (W_{\rm f} + 2s)}{4h}\right)}$

Parameters Value Parameters Value Parameters Value L = W2.2 10 2.4 $W_{\rm f}$ $L_{\rm f}$ $L_{\rm m}$ 1 $M_{\rm s}$ 1.8 Wm 0.24 U 1.4 R 1.7 0.2 s

Table.1 Parameters of the proposed antenna with its dimensions



Fig. 1 Design steps of the proposed antenna **a** CPW-fed CRLH antenna **b** Engraved shapes on matching stub, diamond-shaped patch and IDC at the top arm of CPW **c** Slotted right and left arm of CPW-fed antenna **d** Asymmetric meander line-based CRLH antenna

In Ant_1, CPW-fed square-shaped antenna where two symmetric vertical meander lines along with a diamond-shaped patch are grounded. For the meander lines, width (W_m) and the length (L_m) of fingers can be calculated using the following equations [14]:

$$L_{\rm m} \approx rac{\lambda_{
m g}}{8} pprox rac{c_0}{8f_0\sqrt{arepsilon_{
m r}}} \quad W_{
m m} pprox rac{W_{
m f}}{\left(rac{5N}{3}-rac{2}{3}
ight)}$$

Here N = 6, number of fingers.

Here, CPW feeding with matching stub forms a 50 Ω impedance. The simulated $|S_{11}|$ graph of different stages of the proposed antenna is illustrated in Fig. 3. It is visible that, Ant_1 resonates within a band of 24–42.5 GHz with two wide notches of 2.4 GHz (28.9–31.3 GHz) and 5 GHz (35.6–42.6 GHz), without CP. In the next steps of antenna design [Ant_2], different shapes of meander line, like 'S' in matching stub, 'U' in the diamond-shaped patch along with inter digital capacitance (IDC) at upper portion of CPW ground, are introduced. In Ant_3, the left and right arms of CPW ground have been slotted, which gives only a single notch of 1.1 GHz (30.3–31.4 GHz) without CP. In Ant_4, the CP is introduce by transforming symmetric ML to asymmetric MLs. Further to increase the aperture of the antenna, without increasing its dimension, the diamond-shaped patches have been attached with the meander lines, which eliminates the notch and gives complete broadband of 11.7 GHz from (28–39.7 GHz), along with this the ARBW will also be increased widely by joining diamond patches to MLs.







3 Results and Analysis

The simulated $|S_{11}|$ parameter is shown in Fig. 4, which shows that the proposed structure provides a complete broadband of 11.7 GHz (28 GHz–39.7 GHz). The 3-dB axial ratio plot which signifies the circular polarization is shown in Fig. 5. It is depicted from the figure the ranging from 34.3 GHz to 37.4 GHz, which is of 3.1 GHz wide ARBW has been achieved.

The surface current distribution analysis has been done to discuss the circular polarization mechanism of the antenna at a peak of CP frequency, i.e. 35.7 GHz as shown in Fig. 6. At the different time instants like $\omega t = 0^{\circ}$, 90°, 180°, 270°, the resultant current vector rotate in anticlockwise direction, gives the right-handed





Fig. 6 Simulated distribution of current vectors of proposed antenna at 35.7 GHz

circular polarization (RHCP) in + Z direction. And gives the left-handed circular polarization (LHCP) in - Z direction shown in Figure.

The proposed antenna presents linearly polarized characteristic at 30.7 GHz and circularly polarized characteristics at 35.7 GHz. The 2D normalized radiation pattern of the proposed antenna at 30.7 GHz and 35.7 GHz in *XZ* plane and *YZ* plane is shown in Fig. 7. It is found from Fig. 7(a, b) that at 30.7 GHz, the level of cross polarization is much lower than level of co-polarization. It is found from Fig. 7(c, d) that, at



Fig. 7 Simulated radiation patterns of proposed antenna at **a** 30.7 GHz in *XZ* plane **b** 30.7 GHz in *YZ* plane **c** 35.7 GHz in *XZ* plane **d** 35.7 GHz in *YZ* plane

35.7 GHz, the antenna shows the RHCP radiation in +Z direction and LHCP in -Z direction in both (XZ and YZ) plane. The simulated gain over the frequency plot is shown in Fig. 8, which depicts the maximum gain of 5.7 dBi, and it varies in the complete range from 26 to 42 GHz.

The radiation efficiency over the frequency plot of this antenna is illustrated in Fig. 9, which shows that the efficiency of the antenna is always greater than 80% in the entire range. It depicts that the proposed CP antenna works efficiently in compete band. Table 2 shows the comparison of the proposed antenna with previously published work on the 5G millimeter-wave antenna.

4 Conclusion

A low profile, broadband, and the circularly polarized antenna is designed and analyzed in this paper. The compact size antenna is achieved using CRLH-TL based





plot

metamaterial unit cells, IDC and by placing meander lines of different shapes. Broadband characteristics of antenna have been achieved by applying the CPW feeding method and by attaching diamond-shaped CRLH unit cells to vertical meander lines. Circular polarization has been achieved through asymmetric vertical meander lines. This antenna exhibit 11.7 GHz wide impedance bandwidth ranging from 28 to 39.7 GHz with fractional bandwidth (FBW) of 34.6%. Axial ratio bandwidth of 3.1 GHz wide, ranging from 34.3 to 37.4 GHz with 8.7%. The radiation pattern was studied at two different frequencies 30.7 and 35.7 GHz in XZ and YZ plane. The antenna exhibits a maximum gain of 5.7 dBi and more than 80% efficiency in the entire band. The proposed structure can be the good candidate for 5G millimeter-wave communication.

Ref. No.	Resonating band (GHz)	Bandwidth (GHz)	Polarization	AR bandwidth (GHz)	Number of layers	Size (mm ³)
[10]	24.5 - 31	6.5	Circular	4.6	2	$12.4 \times 12.4 \times 0.51$
[15]	23.41-33.92	10.51	Linear	-	3	37.6 × 14.3 × 0.25
[16]	27–30	3	Linear	-	3	$\begin{array}{c} 31 \times 31 \\ \times \ 0.51 \end{array}$
[17]	27.58–28.64, 37.21–38.64	1.06, 1.43	Linear	-	3	55 × 110 × 0.508
[18]	24–34.1	10.1	Circular	5.3	5	$\begin{array}{c} 12 \times 12 \\ \times 1.02 \end{array}$
Proposed	28–39.7	11.7	Circular	3.1	2	10 × 10 × 0.51

Table.2 Comparison of the proposed antenna with previously published mm-wave antenna

References

- K. Saraswat, A.R. Harish, Dual-band CP coplanar waveguide-fed split ring resonator-loaded G-shaped slot antenna with wide-frequency ratio, in *IET Microwaves, Antennas & Propagation*, vol. 12 (IET, 2018), pp. 1920–1925
- A. Kumar, J.K. Deegwal, M.M. Sharma, Miniaturized wideband dual linearly and circularly polarized printed square slot antenna for multiradio wireless systems. AEU—Int. J. Electron. Commun. 88, 44–51 (Elsevier, 2018)
- K. Kandasamy, B. Majumder, J. Mukherjee, K.P. Ray, Dual-band circularly polarized split ring resonators loaded square slot antenna. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 64, 3640–3645 (IEEE, 2016)
- M. Midya, S. Bhattacharjee, M. Mitra, Pair of grounded L strips loaded broadband circularly polarised square slot antenna with enhanced axial ratio bandwidth. Electron. Lett. 54, 917–918 (IET, 2018)
- D. Chaturvedi, S. Raghavan, A compact metamaterial-inspired antenna for WBAN application. Wireless Personal Commun. 105, 449–1460 (Springer Link, 2019)
- A.K. Singh, M.P. Abegaonkar, S.K. Koul, Miniaturized multiband microstrip patch antenna using metamaterial loading for wireless application. Prog. Electromagn. Res.-C, 83, 71–82 (PIER-C, 2018)
- Y. Dong, H. Toyao, T. Itoh, Design and characterization of miniaturized patch antennas loaded with complementary split-ring resonators. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 60, 772–785 (IEEE, 2012)
- 8. Ural B.: Gain Enhancement of Microstrip Antenna with a Novel DNG material. Microwave and Optical Technology Letters, vol.62, pp.1824–1829.Wiley (2020).
- 9. Y. Kim, G.Y. Lee, S. Nam, Efficiency enhancement of microstrip antenna by elevating radiating edges of patch. Electron. Lett. **39**, 1363–1364 (IET, 2003)
- N. Hussain, M.J. Jeong, A. Abbas, T.J. Kim, N. Kim, Metasurface-based low-profile wideband circularly polarized patch antenna for 5G millimeter-wave systems. IEEE Acess 8, 22127– 22135 (IEEE, 2020)

- M. Alibakhshikenari, B.S. Virdee, A. Ali, E. Limiti, Extended aperture miniature antenna based on CRLH metamaterials for wireless communication systems operating over UHF to C-band. Radio Sci. 53, 154–165 (AGU, 2017)
- J.H. Park, Y.H. Ryu, J.G. Lee, J.H. Lee, A novel via-free composite right-and left-handed transmission line using defected ground structure. Microwave Opt. Technol. Lett. 49, 1989– 1993 (Wiley, 2007)
- 13. R.E. Colline, *Foundations of Microwave Engineering*, 2nd edn. (Mc Graw-Hill, New York, 1992)
- 14. C. Caloz, T. Itoh, Electromagnetic Metamaterials: Transmission line Theory and Microwave Applications (Wiley, 2006)
- 15. H. Ullah, F.A. Tahir, A high gain and wideband narrow-beam antenna for 5G millimeter-wave applications. IEEE Acess **8**, 29430–29434 (IEEE, 2020)
- K.G. Sadananda, M.P. Abegaonkar, S.K. Koul, Gain equalized shared-aperture antenna using dual-polarized ZIM for mmWave 5G base stations. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 18, 1100–1104 (IEEE, 2019)
- H.M. Marzouk, M.I. Ahmed, A.A. Shaalan, Novel dual-band 28/38 GHz MIMO antennas for 5G Mobile applications. Prog. Electromagn. Res. C 93, 103–117 (PIER-C, 2019)
- N. Hussain, M. Jeong, A. Abbas, N. Kim, Metasurface-based single-layer WideBand circularly polarized MIMO antenna for 5G millimeter-wave systems. IEEE Acess 8, 130,293–130,304 (IEEE, 2020)

Early Detection of Breast Tumor Using Antenna



973

T. A. Karthikeyan and M. Nesasudha

1 Introduction

The outermost covering part of the body is a skin, and it protects us against heat, light, injury and contamination. It directs internal heat level and stores water, fat and nutrient D. The skin weighs around 6 pounds, and is the biggest organ of body. The skin has three layers, epidermis, dermis and hypodermis. The external layer of the skin is called as epidermis. The capacity of the epidermis is to go about as a natural and physical obstruction to the outside condition, and forestall entrance by aggravations and allergens. And furthermore, it forestalls the loss of water and keeps up interior homeostasis. There are various sorts of tumors, and they are carcinoma, sarcoma, melanoma, lymphoma and leukemia. Carcinoma is the most normally analyzed tumors that begin in the skin, lungs, bosoms, pancreas, different organs and glands. Breast cancer influences numerous ladies and is a dangerous cell development in the bosom. Whenever left untreated, it spreads to different parts of the body. Early analysis is the most significant boundary to identify and meddle with malignancy tissue. There are numerous strategies to recognize bosom malignancy (Fig. 1).

The dermis is considered as the "center" of the integumentary framework. It contains blood and lymph vessels, nerves and different structures. The hypodermis is a layer straightforwardly beneath the dermis and serves to interface the skin to the basic tissue of the bones and muscles. The radio wire structure as a square fix recieving wire is utilized to distinguish tumor tissue in the bosom structure. Thus, a straightforward 3D bosom structure is displayed to characterize harmful tissue.

T. A. Karthikeyan (🖂) · M. Nesasudha

M. Nesasudha e-mail: nesasudha@karunya.edu

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_84

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Karunya Institute of Technology and Sciences, Coimbatore, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,



Fig. 1 The layers of skin

The reproduction work is actualized utilizing CST software. Better performance is achieved by changing the ground plane of the microstrip antenna. The designed antenna structure working at 2.4 GHz is kept under bosom skin. The analysis is based on current distribution which is carried out to detect the presence of tumor. Different current density analysis with and without breast tumer is presented [3]. The researchers have proposed that the maximum current density will be present at the place of tumor [8]. The FCC recommended SAR value should be less than 1.6 W/Kg for 1 G tissue [10].

2 Antenna Design

In this work, a square patch antenna is designed. The substrate used is FR4. Figure 2 shows the structure of antenna and Table 1 represents design parameters. The square shaped ground plane is created with copper material of 0.035-mm height, the length and width of the ground is 56.9 mm and 56.9 mm, respectively. Next, a substrate is designed using FR4 (Flame Retardant 4) material composed of woven fiber glass with epoxy resin, and it is a zero water absorption which is used as insulator [4].

Fig. 2 Structure of antenna



S. No	Parameters	Measurement (mm)
1	Width of antenna W	28.45
2	Length of antenna L	28.45
3	Length of feed line F_i	9
4	Width of micro strip feed line $W_{\rm f}$	1.137
5	Gap between patch and insert feed $G_{\rm pf}$	1
6	Length of ground <i>L</i> _g	56.9
7	Width of ground W_{g}	56.9
8	Height of conductor Ht	0.035
9	Height of dielectric substrate	1.6

 Table 1
 Design parameters of the antenna

The rectangular patch is created using copper material of thickness 0.035 mm with the length and width as 28.45 mm. The feedline is inserted. The feedline is used to connect antenna with radio transmitter or receiver, and then the port is inserted.

The equations from 1 to 8 represent the formulas used to calculate different antenna parameters like width and length. Where as the height of the conductor (ht) is fixed at 0.035 mm. The gap between patch and inset fed ($G_{\rm pf}$) is usually 1 mm and the input impedance is 50 Ω , and the velocity of the light is $C = 3 \times 10^8$ m/s.

$$W = \frac{C}{2f\sqrt{\frac{(\epsilon r+1)}{2}}}\tag{1}$$

$$\in r_{\rm eff} = \frac{\in r+1}{2} + \frac{\in r-1}{2} \left(1 + 12\frac{h}{W}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
(2)

$$L_{\rm eff} = \frac{c}{2f\sqrt{\epsilon r_{\rm eff}}} \tag{3}$$

$$\Delta L = 0.412h \frac{(\in r_{\rm eff} + 0.3) \left(\frac{W}{h} + 0.264\right)}{(\in r_{\rm eff} - 0.258) \left(\frac{W}{h} - 0.8\right)}$$
(4)

$$L = L_{\rm eff} - 2\Delta L \tag{5}$$

$$L_{\rm g} = 2 * L \tag{6}$$

$$W_{\rm s} = 2 * W \tag{7}$$

$$Fi = \frac{6h}{2} \tag{8}$$

SKIN

FAT TUMOR

Usually, the designed antenna will be places over human phantom model [2]. Figure 3 shows the placement of antenna under breast phantom model. The breast phantom layer is designed as shown in Fig. 4.

The breast phantom model is designed in the same way as that of antenna design but the materials used is different [1]. Table 2 represents the different dielectric and conductive parameters of different tissue parameters.

The layers of breast tissue are selected as SKIN, FAT and TUMOR [5]. These layers are created taking different values of the permittivity, electrical conductance and density. The breast phantom is spherical in strucuture, and the tumor layer is placed in side these layers. These three layers of breast phantom are deigned in the way that outer most layer is skin, then the fat layer is placed inside that and finally tumor layer is inserted. These phantom look like spherical shape.





S. No	Tissue	Permittivity (F/m)	Electrical conductance (S/m)	Density (Kg/m ²)
1	Skin	36.7	2.34	1109
2	Fat	4.84	0.262	911
3	Tumor	54.9	4	1058

 Table 2
 Measurement for different parameters for breast phantom model

3 Simulation and Results

Figure 5 shows the return loss of the designed antenna. The antenna is designed for the frequency of 2.4 Ghz of ISM band. The return loss or reflection coefficient S11 parameter tells the amount of power reflected from the antenna. As shown in Fig. 5, the return loss is -25 dB at 2.4 GHz, which is acceptable.

Voltage standing wave ratio (VSWR) is the ratio between maximum voltage and minimum voltage in a standing wave. VSWR is the measure of how much power is transmitted from the source to the load through the transmission line. The expected value of VSWR is less than 2 (Between 1 and 2). Figure 6 shows the obtained VSWR of 1.041 at 2.4 Ghz for the designed antenna.

The ratio between the total power transmitted and power accepted by the antenna is called as radiation efficiency. The antenna radiation efficiency can be measured using anechoic chamber and Fig. 10 shows the radiation pattern. Figure 7 shows the radiation efficiency of 22% the designed antenna. Inorder to improve the efficiency, some metameterial structures can be adopted.

The current density is the quantity of charge per unit time that move through a unit area of a selected cross section. The area need to be computed is flat or curved, real or imaginary, either a cross-sectional area or a surface. Like, for charge carriers going through an electrical conductor, the territory is the cross section of the conductor, at









Fig. 7 Radiation efficiency

the area considered. Figure 8 shows the breast phantom with tumor and the current density output.

The current density is 169.815 A/m^2 for breast phantom with tumor and then the current density is calculated for breast phantom without tumor. Figures 9 and 10 show the current density output.

Specific absorption rate (SAR) is to compute the rate at which energy is absorbed by the human body. It is measured in W/kg. The SAR values are normally taken either from 1 g of skin tissue or 10 g of skin tissue. As per FCC, the recommended SAR value to be used in India is 1.6 W/kg for 1 g tissue (Table 3).

As far as possible, the FCC limit for open exposure from cell phones is a SAR level of 1.6 W/kg [9]. SAR values rise as the conductivities of human body tissues increase and drop as the increase in relative permittivities of human body tissues increase.

The simulated results of breast tissue with tumor and without tumor are shown in Table 4. It discusses about the relation between electric field, magnetic field and current density. From this table, it is infered that current density is more with tumor. The illustrations are evaluated to distinguish tumor.



Fig. 8 Breast phantom with tumor and the current density output

	AW2
	2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 1
carrent (f=2.45) (s) Fesperay 2.6 Pit Pase I Mainum 1858 Alm*2	Ļ

Fig. 9 Current density in breast phantom without tumor



Fig. 10 Radiation pattern

Table 3 SAR calculation				
Maximum SAR (1 g) (W/kg)	1.00307			
Maximum at (x, y, z) (mm)	-0.20425, 0.25, 40.2057			
Avg.vol.min (x, y, z) (mm)	-5.3377, -4.80345, 40			
Avg.vol.max (x, y, z) (mm)	4.7692, 5.30345, 50.1049			
Largest valid cube (mm)	10.4501			
Smallest valid cube (mm)	10.0417			
Avg. Vol. accuracy (%)	0.0001			

 Table. 4
 Comparision of current density with tumor and without tumor

Breast phantom	Current density (A/m ²)	e-field (V/m)	H-field (A/m)				
With tumor	169.815	17,890.2	55.4217				
Without tumor	160.598	16,242.8	55.8628				

The analysis of phantom model in terms of current desity in e-field, H-field and current density with tumor and without tumor is tabulated in Table 4. These changes of values infer the presence of tumor.

4 Conclusion

This research work dealt with the disign of a square patch antenna structure which is used for early detection of breast tumor. The antenna is working at 2.4 GHz. The designed antenna is placed over the breast phantom model. The specific absorption rate (SAR) of antenna at 1G tissue is analysed. The obtained SAR value is 1 W/kg, which is less than the FCC recommended value of 1.6 W/kg. The electric field of 17,890.2 V/m, magnetic field of 55.4217 A/m and current density of 169.815 A/m² are obtained with tumor. Where as the values obtained for curent density, electric field

and magnetic fields are 16,242.8 V/m, 55.8628A/m and 160.598A/m², respectively. From these analysis, it is easy to detect the presence of breast tumor in the early stage itself.

References

- 1. M.H. Bah, J.S. Hong, D.A. Jamro, Study of breast tissues dielectric properties in uwbrange for microwave breast cancer imaging, in *International Conference on Computer Information Systems and Industrial Applications* (CISIA 2015)
- Neha Chandigarh University, Nehaverma.cu@gmail.com, Amritjot Kaur Chandigarh University Er.amrit23@gmail.com Wearable Antenna for Skin Cancer Detection 2016 2nd International Conference on Next Generation Computing Technologies (NGCT-2016) Dehradun, India16 Oct 2016
- 3. M. Kaur, S. Goyal, Microstrip patch antenna design for early breast cancer detection. Int. J. Recent Technol. Eng. (IJRTE) **8**(6) (March 2020). ISSN: 2277-3878
- S. Sinan Gültekina, D. Uzera, Ö. Dündarb, A Microstrip Patch Antenna Design for Breast Cancer Detection. Selcuk University, Faculty of Engineering, Electrical and Electronic Engineering Department, Konya 42250, Turkey Necmettin Erbakan University, Konya 42355, Turkey
- I. Rexiline Sheeba, T. Jayanthy, *Design and Analysis of a Flexible Softwear Antenna for Tumor* Detection in Skin and Breast Model (Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2019)
- 6. Homa Arab, Lydia Chioukh, Mansoor Dashti Ardakani, Steven Dufour, Member, IEEE, Serioja O. Tatu, Senior Member, *IEEE Early-Stage Detection of Melanoma Skin Cancer Using Contactless Millimeter-Wave Sensors*
- 7. A. Hossain, Md. Kamalhossain, Design and simulation of an UWB microstrip patch antenna for cancer detection and treatment, 5th international conference on advances in electrical engineering 2019
- 8. R. Raihan, M.S.A. Bhuiyan, R.R. Hasan, T. Chowdhury, R. Farhin, A wearable microstrip patch antenna for detecting brain cancer, in 2017 IEEE 2nd International Conference on Signal and Image Processing
- 9. J. Sacristán, B.L. Oliveira, S. Pistorius, Classification of electromagnetic signals obtained from microwave scattering over healthy and tumorous breast models, in 2016 IEEE Canadian Conference on Electrical and Computer Engineering (CCECE)
- A.R. Shanwar, N.S. Othman, UWB printed antenna for medical applications, in *Proceeding of* the 2017 IEEE Region 10 Conference (TENCON), Malaysia, 5–8 Nov 2017

Localized Tamper Detection in Digital Images Using Three Phase Reversible Watermarking



Praneesh Gupta and Jeebananda Panda

1 Introduction

Tampering in digital image during transmission can occur due to different types of unintentional and intentional attacks that may affect complete or part of the image. The integrity and source authentication of digital images can be ensured by means of fragile digital watermarking which embeds a checksum data in an image [1, 2], but the host image is modified permanently. To overcome this, reversible digital watermarking which is in general fragile in nature and permits lossless recovery of image can be employed for providing authentication and integrity verification of the sensitive data in applications like military imaging, forensics industries, and healthcare industries where the cover image is extremely important [3, 4]. If integrity of the whole cover image is used as a watermark, then integrity failure leads to rejection and retransmission of complete image. Instead, if the tampered areas are localized in the received image, then.

- In case the corruption occurs in some region of non-interest (RONI) then the received image will be accepted without request of retransmission.
- In other scenario, where some regions of interest (ROI) are corrupted then only that regions will be retransmitted, resulting in saving of the channel bandwidth.

P. Gupta (🖂) · J. Panda

J. Panda e-mail: jpanda@dce.ac.in

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Delhi Technological University, Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_85

In this paper, we present an application of three phase reversible watermarking scheme [3] for the purpose of localized tamper detection in grayscale digital images. We choose three phase reversible watermarking as it provides significant performance in terms of embedding capacity and PSNR. This application allows the authentic receiver to detect the tampered blocks in the received image and lossless recovery of intact blocks.

Most of the localized tamper detection schemes proposed in the literature do not take the type of image modifications with the intension of forgery. We incorporate measures to mitigate this type of threat and highlight ways to choose optimal block size and integrity check algorithm for faithful operation. A brief discussion on the schemes proposed in the literature appears in the next section, whereas Sect. 3 describes the proposed methodology of localized tamper detection process in detail. Section 4 deals with experimental results and analysis. Conclusions are made in Sect. 5.

2 Literature Review

Tamper detection and authentication in digital images can be achieved through digital signature and digital watermarking [5]. Digital signature-based methods provide tamper detection but in general does not localize the tampered regions in received image. Karsh et al. [6, 7] proposed schemes robust against some content preserving operations in transmitted image that generates image hash using global, local, and scaling feature vectors. The calculated image hash is transmitted along with the image for authentication and localization of tampered areas. Localization of tampered areas based on fragile watermarking was first introduced by Walton [8], where the image is divided into blocks and the checksum of respective block is embedded in the LSBs of pixels within block but it produces irreversible modifications in the host image. Lo et al. [9] and Gao et al. [10] presented tamper detection and authentication for digital images employing reversible watermarking algorithm. Based on the concept of ROI and RONI regions in medical images, tamper detection and recovery for medical images were presented in [11, 12]. The authentication and parity bits along with the intensity information are embedded in LSBs of ROI sub-blocks and for lossless recovery of ROI, LSBs will be saved in RONI regions. Naskar et al. [13] generalize the process for tamper detection and localization in digital images using reversible watermarking schemes. They discuss a lower bound on minimum block size based on hash length and size of overhead and propose merging of four adjacent blocks when the embedding capacity is not sufficient. The scheme does not provide protection against block copy and move type of attack and produces more falsely rejected blocks when more merged blocks were tampered. Malayil et al. [14] introduce authentication of medical images using reversible watermarking, which ensures that the tamper detection can be done efficiently even when the watermarked image is subjected to image processing operations. Gao et al. [15] present a localized

reversible authentication with approximate recovery of tampered regions based on prediction error expansion and compressed sensing.

3 Methodology of Localized Tamper Detection

This section presents details of embedding and localized tamper detection process in grayscale images, which is based on the scheme presented in [13].

3.1 Embedding Process

The watermark embedding process for the purpose of localized tamper detection is illustrated in Fig. 1; detail of each block is described in following steps.

- **Step 1** *Partition of Cover Image into Blocks:* The cover image is partitioned into equal sized non-overlapping blocks with $n_1 \times n_2$ pixels such that the entire image is covered.
- **Step 2** *Generation of Watermark*: The blocks are raster scanned, and for each block, the integrity value is calculated using suitable integrity check algorithm depending on embedding capacity, channel conditions, and attack scenario.
- **Step 3** *Reversible Watermark Embedding*: For embedding of the integrity value, each block is divided into four types of pixels, viz. base (indicated by 0's in Fig. 2) and three phase candidate pixels (indicated by 1, 2, and 3's in Fig. 2) as described in [3, 4].

Base pixels remains intact in watermarked image while other candidate pixels are predicted based on median of the original neighboring context pixels. The prediction errors (say e) between the candidate and corresponding predicted value is given as,

$$e(i, j) = P(i, j) - P_{pred}(i, j)$$

$$\tag{1}$$

Embedding is done phase wise and only errors that lie within some threshold limit (say k_1 and k_2) are utilized to embed the watermark bit $w \in \{0, 1\}$. The modified prediction error e_{mod} and marked pixel P_{wat} are given by Eqs. (2) and (3) [16].



Fig. 1 Watermarking embedding process

0	3	0	3	0	3	0	3	0	3
2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1
0	3	0	3	0	3	0	3	0	3
2	1	0	1	2	1	2	1	2	1
0	3	0	3	0	3	0	3	0	3
2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1
0	3	0	3	0	3	0	3	0	3
2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1
0	3	0	3	0	3	0	3	0	3
2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1

Fig. 2 Base and three phase candidate pixel positions in grayscale image

$$e_{mod}(i, j) = \begin{cases} 2e(i, j) + w & \text{if } e(i, j) \in [-k_1, k_2] \\ e(i, j) + k_2 + 1 & \text{if } e(i, j) > k_2 \\ e(i, j) - k_1 & \text{if } e(i, j) < -k_1 \end{cases}$$
(2)

$$P_{wat}(i,j) = e_{mod}(i,j) + P_{pred}(i,j)$$
(3)

For blind extraction, the side information k_1 , k_2 and location map (to handle over/underflow) are inserted into 1st phase LSB's. To handle, the blocks whose embedding capacity (EC) are not sufficient, the current block and the next block are combined together (say, B_{comb}) and the integrity value of the combined block is embedded in B_{comb} . Also, to facilitate the receiver, an indicator '0' or '1' for normal/combined block is appended in the side information [13]. The effective watermark and side information is given by (4) and (5).

Watermark = $H \| LSB's \text{ of } 1st \text{ Phase Pixels}(used for side information})$ (4)

Side Info = indicator bit $||k_1||k_2||||$ location map size||| location map (5)

where *H* represents the computed hash value considering block number *B* along with the pixels within the block, i.e., H = hash(B||Block B pixels).

3.2 Extraction, Recovery and Tamper Detection

The localized tamper detection process at the receiver side is illustrated in Fig. 3, detail of each block is described in following steps.



Fig. 3 Localized tamper detection process

- **Step 1** *Partition of Watermarked Image into Blocks*: The watermarked image is partitioned into non-overlapping blocks of size $n_1 \times n_2$.
- Step 2 Extraction and Pixel Recovery: The block pixels are categorized into four types as described in Sect. 3.1. The extraction process is carried out phase wise so that the prediction context consists of original pixels, and hence, we get same predicted values. After computing the expanded error (Eq. (6)), with the help of thresholds and location map; the watermark bit, actual error and finally the original pixel is obtained using Eqs. (7), (8), and (9) [16].

$$e_{mod}(i,j) = P_{wat}(i,j) - P_{pred}(i,j)$$
(6)

$$w = e_{mod}(i, j) \mod 2$$
, if $e_{mod}(i, j) \in [-2k_1, 2k_2 + 1]$ (7)

$$e(i, j) = \begin{cases} (e_{mod}(i, j) - w)/2 & \text{if } e_{mod}(i, j) \in [-2k_1, 2k_2 + 1] \\ e_{mod}(i, j) - k_2 - 1 & \text{if } e_{mod}(i, j) > 2k_2 + 1 \\ e_{mod}(i, j) + k_1 & \text{if } e_{mod}(i, j) < -2k_1 \end{cases}$$
(8)

$$P(i,j) = P_{pred}(i,j) + e(i,j)$$
(9)

Step 3 *Tamper Detection:* For each block, after extraction of watermark and restoration of pixels, the integrity value of the restored pixels along with corresponding block number is computed. If the computed value is not identical with the extracted integrity value, then that block is declared as tampered. Pseudocode for localized tamper detection process is mentioned in Algorithm 1.

```
ALGORITHM-1: EXTRACTION, RECOVERY & TAMPER DETECTION
Input: Marked Image P_{wat}, Block Size (n_1, n_2), Integrity Algo
         (Hash), Secret Key (K)
Output: Tampered Blocks (B_T), Restored Image (P_{recov})
Partition watermarked image into Blocks of size n_1 \times n_2
i \leftarrow 1 \text{ and } B \leftarrow 1 // Block Number
While (B \leq \# Blocks) do
  Extract Indicator bit from LSB of 1st phase pixel
  if (indicator = 0) then
     Extract side information //k_1, k_2 and location map
     Extract Hash (H) and restore pixels of block B
     Compute H_{comp} \leftarrow Hash(B || Restored block B, K)
     if (H = H_{comp}) then Authenticate and accept block B
     else
           B_T(i++) \leftarrow B //Block B is Tampered
     endif
     B \leftarrow B + 1
  endif
  if (indicator = 1) then
     Bcomb \leftarrow Block B \parallel Block (B+1) //Combine current and next
                                        block
     Extract side information //k_1, k_2 and location map
     Extract Hash (H) and restore pixels of block B_{comb}
     Compute H_{comp} \leftarrow Hash(B || Restored Block B_{comb}, K)
     if (H = H_{comp}) then Authenticate and accept block B_{comb}
     else B_T(i++) \leftarrow B
            B_T(i++) \leftarrow B+1 //Blocks B & (B+1) are Tampered
     endif
     B \leftarrow B + 2
  endif
end while
P_{recov} \leftarrow Combine \ all \ restored \ blocks \ in \ their \ respective \ location
RETURN P_{recov} and B_T
```

3.3 Selection of Integrity Check Algorithm

Framework for selection of integrity check algorithm based on various types of corruption and attack scenario is given below.

• For detecting random and unintentional corruption during transmission, simple checksums such as additive, CRC, etc., can be used as the integrity check algorithm. Since length of integrity value for these algorithms are relatively small, we can use smaller sized blocks.

- To detect intentional corruption in image, cryptographic hash function (MD5, RIPEMD, SHA, etc.) [17] can be used to generate integrity value. It has a property of collision resistance and single bit corruption will drastically change the hash. Here, we assume that the attacker does not modify the integrity value.
- To protect against forgery where the attacker can modify both the block pixels and the embedded checksum, message authentication code (e.g., HMAC) can be used. It requires a pre-shared secret key along with cryptographic hash function for computation of integrity value. HMAC is computed for the given data using Eq. (10) [17].

HMAC(data, K) = Hash (($K_0 \oplus \text{ opad}$)|| Hash (($K_0 \oplus \text{ ipad}$)|| data)) (10)

where K_0 represents processed secret key K, ipad is 0x36 replicated B_H (block size in Hash) times and opad is 0x5C replicated B_H times.

• To provide detection of block copy and move attack in image we prefix block number to the block pixels before computing integrity value. Note that the use of cryptographic hash function or MAC for integrity computation provides detection of any watermark attacks such as image processing attacks, geometric attacks, etc., in the marked image, as even one-bit modification in a block will bring about a drastic change (around 50%) in the integrity value.

4 Experimental Results and Analysis

The algorithm for localized tamper detection in digital images using three phase reversible watermarking scheme was simulated in MATLAB for validation and performance analysis. The effectiveness of the algorithm was tested on some standard test images. For experimentation purpose, HMAC-SHA1 with key size 256 bits and digest size 160 bits is chosen for integrity. To enable faithful embedding, we target to minimize the number of combined blocks (say less than 10) where embedding capacity goes below the size of watermark. Experimentally, we determined that the block size 32×32 is optimal for this purpose. Therefore we fix block size 32×32 for further experimentation and thresholds $k_1 \& k_2$ are taken in the range [0,10]. The embedding results for different test images in terms of number of unit blocks, combined blocks, PSNR, and SSIM index values are given in Table below. The results demonstrate that only few number of blocks are combined for HMAC-SHA1, also the watermarked image has PSNR value greater than 35 dB and the SSIM index is greater than 98% thus the structural information is preserved in watermarked image, and the existence of watermark is not perceived visually.

The performance of the algorithm is also analyzed for various types of attacks and corruption in marked image. The results in Fig. 4 demonstrate its effectiveness. Further, the scheme is compared with the generalized tamper localization scheme [13] employing state-of-the-art schemes [18–21] in terms of combined blocks and maximum possible false rejection rate (FRR) (Tables 1 and 2).



Fig. 4 Performance analysis of localized tamper detection. a Copy-move attack, b Crop attack c Copy-paste attack, c Random corruption

$$FRR = \frac{\text{Number of false rejected blocks}}{\text{Total of Number of Blocks}}$$
(11)

5 Conclusion

In this paper, an application of three phase reversible scheme for detecting tamper regions in the received grayscale digital image is presented. Localization of tampered regions at the receiver side is achieved by dividing the image into small blocks Localized Tamper Detection in Digital Images Using ...

Test image	Size	No. of 32×32 size blocks	No. of combined blocks	PSNR (dB)	SSIM index
Lena	512 × 512	256	0	48.154393	0.994429
Boat	512×512	256	0	43.972021	0.989381
Baboon	512 × 512	238	9	35.859162	0.985730
Tank	512×512	254	1	44.693777	0.989163
Airplane	512×512	256	0	48.458800	0.995571
Goldhill	512 × 512	256	0	43.980430	0.990840
Peppers	512×512	254	1	46.050851	0.990521

Table 1 Embedding results for localized tamper detection

 Table 2
 Performance comparison in terms of FRR (%)

Test image	Maximum possible FRR (%)							
	Proposed	Scheme [13] with Hu et. al.'s algorithm	Scheme [13] with Yang et. al.'s algorithm	Scheme [13] with Luo et. al.'s algorithm	Scheme [13] with Celik's et. al.'s algorithm			
Lena	0	1.1719	5.8594	2.3438	7.0313			
Baboon	3.5156	10.5469	10.5469	4.6875	11.7188			
Airplane	0	0	3.5156	0	2.3438			
Goldhill	0	0	5.8594	1.1719	4.6875			

and embedding the integrity value, which is computed by considering entire within block pixels along with block number. The scheme allows combining of current and next block dynamically, when the capacity of the block is not sufficient and an indicator bit is inserted in the image to facilitate the receiver. In addition, considering block number during integrity calculation provides detection against block copy and move type of attack. The experimental results show that for most of the test images number of blocks combined are relatively small with high PSNR and SSIM value of watermarked image. Also, results for different types of attacks on watermarked image demonstrates the effectiveness of the localized tamper detection scheme. Comparison results with generalized method for tamper localization employing various reversible schemes demonstrate the advantages of the scheme in terms of false rejection rate.

References

- 1. J. Dittmann, A. Steinmetz, R. Steinmetz, Content-based digital signature for motion pictures authentication and content-fragile watermarking, in *Proceedings IEEE International Conference on Multimedia Computing and Systems* (1999)
- 2. X. Qi, X. Xin, A singular-value-based semi-fragile watermarking scheme for image content authentication with tamper localization. J. Vis. Commun. Image Represent. **30**, 312–327 (2015)

- 3. P. Gupta, L. Tanwar, J. Panda, Three phase reversible watermarking using improved median based prediction. Int. J. Adv. Sci. Technol. **29**(4), 5722–5736 (2020)
- 4. R. Naskar, R.S. Chakraborty, Reversible watermarking utilising weighted median-based prediction. IET Image Proc. **6**(5), 507–520 (2012)
- X. Zhang, Z. Qian, Y. Ren, G. Feng, Watermarking with flexible self-recovery quality based on compressive sensing and compositive reconstruction. IEEE Trans. Inf. Forensics Secur. 6(4), 1223–1232 (2011)
- 6. R.K. Karsh, A. Saikia, R.H. Laskar, Image authentication based on robust image hashing with geometric correction. Multimedia Tools Appl. **77**(19), 25409–25429 (2018)
- 7. R.K. Karsh, R.H. Laskar, Robust image hashing through DWT-SVD and spectral residual method. EURASIP J. Image Video Process **2017**(1), 31 (2017)
- 8. S. Walton, Image authentication for a slippery new age. Dr. Dobb's J. 20(4), 18–26 (1995)
- 9. C.C. Lo, Y.C. Hu, A novel reversible image authentication scheme for digital images. Signal Process. **98**, 174–185 (2014)
- 10. G. Gao, X. Wan, S. Yao, Z. Cui, C. Zhou, X. Sun, Reversible data hiding with contrast enhancement and tamper localization for medical images. Inf. Sci. **385**, 250–265 (2017)
- 11. S.C. Liew, J.M. Zain, Reversible medical image watermarking for tamper detection and recovery, in 2010 3rd International Conference on Computer Science and Information Technology, IEEE (2010)
- 12. V. Fotopoulos, M.L. Stavrinou, A.N. Skodras, Medical image authentication and self-correction through an adaptive reversible watermarking technique, in 2008 8th IEEE International Conference on BioInformatics and BioEngineering, IEEE (2008)
- R. Naskar, R.S. Chakraborty, A generalized tamper localization approach for reversible watermarking algorithms. ACM Trans. Multimedia Comput. Commun. Appl. (TOMM) 9(3), 1–22 (2013)
- 14. M.V. Malayil, M. Vedhanayagam, A novel image scaling based reversible watermarking scheme for secure medical image transmission. ISA Trans. (2020)
- G. Gao, Z. Cui, C. Zhou, Blind reversible authentication based on PEE and CS reconstruction. IEEE Signal Process. Lett. 25(7), 1099–1103 (2018)
- M. Ishtiaq, W. Ali, W. Shahzad, M.A. Jaffar, Y. Nam, Hybrid predictor based four-phase adaptive reversible watermarking. IEEE Access 6, 13213–13230 (2018)
- W. Stallings, Cryptography and Network Security Principles and Practice, 5th edn. (Prentice Hall) pp. 362–392 (2011)
- Y. Hu, H.K. Lee, J. Li, DE-based reversible data hiding with improved overflow location map. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. Video Technol. 19(2), 250–260 (2008)
- B. Yang, M. Schmucker, W. Funk, C. Busch, S. Sun, Integer DCT-based reversible watermarking for images using companding technique. Secur. Steganography, Watermarking Multimedia Contents 5306, 405–415 (2004)
- L. Luo, Z. Chen, M. Chen, X. Zeng, Z. Xiong, Reversible image watermarking using interpolation technique. IEEE Trans. Inf. Forensics Secur. 5(1), 187–193 (2009)
- M.U. Celik, G. Sharma, A.M. Tekalp, E. Saber, Lossless generalized-LSB data embedding. IEEE Trans. Image Process. 14(2), 253–266 (2005)

Check for updates

993

Analysis of Nano Opto-Mechanical Tuning of Photonic Crystal Waveguide-Based Device for Pressure Sensing

Saurabh Agarwal, Jitendra K. Mishra, and Vishnu Priye

1 Introduction

Micro-opto-electro-mechanical-system (MOEMS) devices are based on the integration of photonics and micromachining process on VLSI technology, and it has immense potential to provide wide range of tunable photonics devices [1, 2]. The suspended silicon structures have already demonstrated miniaturized photonic devices like switches, resonators to fulfill the demand of high-speed data rate for different Internet of things (IoT) applications [3]; however, the photonic crystal waveguide (PCW) structures integrated with the MOEMS technology are less investigated for the applications ranging from the presence of different aptamers in liquid phase atmospheres [4, 5] and nano-sensing. Conventionally, the devices like Mach-Zhender interferometers and directional couplers are used for sensing structures [6, 7]; however, the PCW structures have the capacity to fulfill the demand of highly selective and sensitive devices. The deflection in the suspended photonic crystal waveguide is either sensed by capacitive or optical methods. However, the measurement of deflection is less sensitive in the capacitive detection while the photonics approaches are more accurate and provides high selectivity [8, 9]. The nano-scale periodic structure is integrated as a suspended flexible platform to form a tunable sensing device for photonic applications.

S. Agarwal (⊠) · V. Priye

S. Agarwal

J. K. Mishra · V. Priye

Department of Electronics Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology (Indian School of Mines), Dhanbad, India

Department of Electronics & Communication Engineering, College of Technology, GBPUA&T University, Pantnagar, Uttarakhand, India

Department of Electronics & Communication Engineering, Indian Institute of Information Technology, Ranchi, Jharkhand, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_86

Photonic crystal are engineered artificial nanostructures and capable of controlling and manipulating the propagation of electro-magnetic waves within a certain range of frequency [10]. Photonic band-gap structures are assembled by arranging alternating materials with different dielectric constants to produce a desired effective band-gap [9, 10]. Photons within a certain energy range cannot be allowed to propagate within the band-gap of the structure. This property has made these structures useful for many applications such as strain sensing applications [11–13]. Photonic crystal has also shown its potential in providing different advantages like high power confinement, unique band-gap effect and guided modes in waveguide region. In recent decade, a lot of efforts are made with the integration of various nano-photonics devices based on different defect in waveguide structures like line defect for channel drop-structures and point defects for micro-ring resonators to perform different operations in highly re-configurable optical devices [14–16]. The operating principle is governed by the measurement of change in effective refractive index to the applied excitation provided in the device [17, 18].

In this work, the photonic crystal waveguide-based nano-cavity is integrated on flexible platform for sensing applications. A suspended structure comprises of PCW nano-cavity is proposed to perform the opto-mechanical tuning of device. The waveguide is considered on silicon slab and the analysis of electro-magnetic field is performed for applying different pressure in the device. The output parameters are obtained in the suspended nano-cavity based on photonic crystal waveguide.

2 Principle of Operation

The band gap in the photonic crystal (PC) can be tuned by introducing the defect in the nano-structure. In the device, the PC structure is composed as an array of air holes in the silicon slab, arranged in triangular lattice with the radius of holes (r) as 168 nm and lattice constant (a) as 482 nm. The suspended photonic crystal waveguide is designed by patterning a plate on the buffer layer for providing pressure between suspended PCW and pad present in the configuration of the device. The deep UV photolithography is to be performed for designing suspended PCW on siliconon-insulator substrate. The suspended PCW structure is free at one end, while the other part is fixed in the device. The suspended silicon slab made of photonic crystal waveguide has a young modulus of 153 GPa and Poisson ratio of 0.23. When a pressure is not applied between the pad and the PCW, the device structure inhibits in its initial state, and the signal directly transmits at the output port with the circular ring defect so as to have transverse electric (TE) like propagation inside the core. Based on the configuration of device, when the suspended PCW is under the applied pressure, the strain is appeared in the waveguide region. With the applied pressure in the device, the suspended PCW experiences strain that tries to pull it over the contact pad. At that point, rigidness of the suspended PCW is compensated by the applied stress in PCW. When the pressure is further increased, the stress across the PCW overcomes the rigid force inside the suspended PCW that snaps suspended

PCW downwards toward the contact pad. With the bending of suspended PCW over the pad, the transmission spectrum that is being transmitted through the waveguide initially has a wavelength shift inside the transmission spectrum of the circular nanocavity. The number of rows along the y-axis in nano-cavity is also optimized to obtain high-power confinement in excited region. The applied pressure inside the device that suspends the nano-cavity on pad will depend on required deflection distance for transmission of power efficiently in PCW from input to output port. The separation distance between the suspended photonic crystal and the pad should be comparable with the strain limit inside the waveguide. The thickness of suspended photonic crystal waveguide is also optimized for sensing low-pressure values in the waveguide to actuate on the pad. The suspended waveguide snaps on pad due to modulus of elasticity of silicon present in PCW.

Figure 1a and b shows the schematic of nano-cavity based on suspended photonic crystal waveguide. The PCW consists of a circular ring of five air holes at the center



Fig. 1 Schematic of the **a**) proposed device **b**) nano-cavity based on suspended photonic crystal waveguide

with four and three air holes at the bottom and above of it. In the center of cavity, a nano-hole is created for the confinement of electro-magnetic fields. The line defect is patterned in the input and output of circular ring to provide excitation in the nano-cavity based on PCW. The finite element method is employed for propagation of electro-magnetic waves inside the nano-cavity. The light signal is feed in core region of the waveguide to propagate electro-magnetic waves inside the nano-cavity created in the waveguide region.

Figure 2a and b shows the mode profile with normalized electric field distribution inside the optimized circular ring of nano-cavity in photonic crystal waveguide. The effective mode index for the suspended photonic crystal waveguide structure is obtained as 3.2792. The electromagnetic field is highly confined in the ring cavity region. Figure 3 shows the pattern of normalized transmittance of electric field inside the waveguide region by drawing a cut-line along y-axis at an x-distance of 6.4 μ m.



Fig. 2 Normalized mode profile in the optimized dimensions of nano-cavity present in photonic crystal waveguide



Fig. 3 Normalized transmittance of electric field along the y-axis in photonic crystal waveguide structure

It can be seen that the nano-cavity shows high confinement of electro-magnetic fields inside the ring of nano-cavity resonator.

The suspended PCW is optimized for varying different pressure in the device. The two suspended PCWs of varying thickness of 320 and 370 nm is considered for optimization in the device configuration. The *z*-displacement versus pressure plot is shown in Fig. 4 for varying the pressure from 1 to 4 MPa while the structure in [10] is used for the pressure range in between 0 and 0.10 MPa. The amplitude of displacement is derived with respect to the applied pressure for obtaining large displacement with low transmission loss in the cavity region. It can be seen that the displacement in the waveguide with thickness of 320 nm is more with the applied pressure as shown in Fig. 4. With increase in pressure, the shift in displacement, less pressure is required to deflect the waveguide in downwards direction. As with increase in the thickness of waveguide structure, spring constant of structure also increases, and it requires more pressure to deflect on the contact pad in the device. Therefore, the thickness of waveguide is optimized for 320 nm to increase the power transmission efficiency in the device.




3 Results and Discussions

The optimized nano-cavity based on photonic crystal waveguide is excited with the pressure applied between the pad and silicon PCW. The normalized transmittance of the ring cavity PCW is shown in Fig. 5 which shows the transmission spectrum in the PCW with the wavelength varying from 1535 to 1554 nm. The normalized transmission spectrum is shown for varying pressure from 0 to 4 MPa in the device. The resonant wavelength increases with increase in the pressure. It shows the change in normalized transmittance with the displacement in the suspended PCW developed due to applied pressure in the structure. The suspended PCW silicon slab is utilized



for sensing in large photonic networks. The bending of suspended photonic crystal waveguide is more sensitive to introduce the interference in the propagation modes of nano-cavity.

4 Conclusion

The nano-cavity photonic crystal waveguide is optimized to acquire a high-confined mode profile in the waveguide region. The propagation of dominant normalized electric field is also investigated to confine the power in the cavity region. The opto-mechanical devices in combination with the nano-photonics structures has a great capability to get compatible with the existing Complementary metal oxide semi-conductor (CMOS) process technology. The deformation process in the suspended PCW configuration has a capacity to sense the pressure in different applications. The suspended waveguide structures can also be expanded to the applications of switches and filters for tuning the wavelength.

Acknowledgements The author would like to acknowledge NPIU-Collaborative Research Scheme, College of Technology, Pantnagar with the project ID: 1-5748651674 and Meity under the Visvesvaraya Ph.D Scheme for Electronics & IT.

References

- 1. S. Boutami et al., Photonic crystal-based MOEMS devices. IEEE J. Sel. Topics Quantum Electron. **13**(2), 244–252 (Mar–Apr 2007)
- M. Lapisa, G. Stemme, F. Niklaus, Wafer-level heterogeneous integration for MOEMS, MEMS, and NEMS. IEEE J. Sel. Topics Quantum Electron. 17(3), 629–644 (May–June 2011)
- S. Agarwal, J.K. Mishra, V. Priye, Thermal design management of highly mechanically stable wavelength shifter using photonic crystal waveguide. Superlattices Microstruct. 142, 106510 (2020)
- 4. C. Chen et al., A wireless bio-MEMS sensor for C-reactive protein detection based on nanomechanics. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. **56**(2), 462–470 (2009)
- R. Zhao, Y. Wen, J. Yang, J. Zhang, X. Yu, Aptasensor for *Staphylococcus enterotoxin* B detection using high SNR piezoresistive microcantilevers. J. Microelectromech. Syst. 23(5), 1054–1062 (2014)
- M. Fátima Domingues, C.A. Rodriguez, J. Martins, C. Tavares, C. Marques, N. Alberto, P. André, P. Antunes, Cost-effective optical fiber pressure sensor based on intrinsic Fabry-Perot interferometric micro-cavities. Opt. Fiber Technol. 42, 56–62 (2018)
- 7. E. Vorathin, Z.M. Hafizi, N. Ismail, M. Loman, Review of high sensitivity fibre-optic pressure sensors for low pressure sensing. Optics Laser Technol. **121**, 105841 (2020)
- S. Agarwal, R. Kashyap, K. Guha, S. Baishya, Modeling and analysis of capacitance in consideration of the deformation in RF MEMS shunt switch. Superlattices Microstruct. 101, 567–574 (2017)
- S. Agarwal, J.K. Mishra, V. Priye, Augmenting performance of MEMS cantilever based photonic crystal waveguide for switching applications. Appl. Opt. 58(31), 8449–8456 (2019)

- S. Agarwal, J.K. Mishra, V. Priye, Highly sensitive MOEMS integrated photonic crystal cavity resonator for nano-mechanical sensing. Optics Commun. 474, 126150 (2020)
- J.D. Joannopoulos, S.G. Johnson, Photonic Crystal: Modelling the Flow of Light, 2nd edn., Princeton University (2008)
- 12. T. Zouache, A. Hocini, X. Wang, Cavity-coupled photonic crystal waveguide as highly sensitive platform for pressure sensing. Optik **172**, 97–106 (2018)
- Y. Wang et al., Optical switch based on a fluid-filled photonic crystal fiber Bragg grating. Opt. Lett. 34(23), 3683–3685 (2009)
- D. Yang, H. Tian, Wu. Nannan, Yi. Yang, Y. Ji, Nanoscale torsion-free photonic crystal pressure sensor with ultra-high sensitivity based on side-coupled piston-type microcavity. Sens. Actuators, A 199, 30–36 (2013)
- Y. Wan, K. Fu, C.H. Li, M.J. Yun, Improving slow light effect in photonic crystal line defect waveguide by using eye-shaped scatterers. Opt. Commun. 286, 192–196 (2013)
- B. Thanh T., Dzung V. Dao, T. Ikeda, Y. Kanamori, K. Hane, S. Sugiyama, Investigation of strain sensing effect in modified single-defect photonic crystal nanocavity. Opt. Express 19, 8821–8829 (2011)
- V. Neeharika, P.K. Pattnaik, Optical MEMS pressure sensors incorporating dual waveguide bragg gratings on diaphragms. IEEE Sens. J. 16, 681–687 (2016)
- X. Wu, C. Jan, O. Solgaard, Single-crystal silicon photonic-crystal fiber-tip pressure sensors. J. Microelectromech. Syst. 24(4), 968–975 (2015)

Design and Analysis of Thermo-optic Photonic Crystal Waveguide-Based Optical Modulator



Saurabh Agarwal, Jitendra K. Mishra, and Vishnu Priye

1 Introduction

There are in numerable methods for external tuning of photonics waveguides-based devices [1]. The thermo-optic tuning is emerged as an important techniques in photonics networks for the applications like modulating and sensing [2, 3]. They show an advantage of low power, high compactness and very high-quality factor in comparison to other tunable techniques [4]. Optical modulators are replacing the conventional modulators due to their high speed with very low optical loss [3, 4].

With the periodic arrangement of material inside photonic crystal (PC), the onchip networks have gained a lot of attention in internet of things applications using the devices like interferometers and modulators [4, 5]. The photonic crystal waveguide in silicon photonics emerges as a potential platform due to its advantages of tightly confined modes with a very high confinement factor [5]. A highly compact thermo-optic photonic crystal waveguide-based optical lens is demonstrated for the polarization of light near the wavelength of 1550 nm [6]. Further, an optical modulator is also demonstrated using thermo-optic tuning for wavelength division multiplexing techniques [7]. The multi-layers stress in configurable devices is required to be minimized for providing high efficiency in the device. An air suspended technique for the micro-hotplate is employed for minimizing the stress and providing high thermal

S. Agarwal $(\boxtimes) \cdot V$. Priye

Department of Electronics Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology (ISM), Dhanbad 826004, India

J. K. Mishra · V. Priye

S. Agarwal

Department of Electronics & Communication Engineering, College of Technology, GBPUA&T University, Pantnagar, Uttarakhand, India

Department of Electronics & Communication Engineering, Indian Institute of Information Technology, Ranchi, Jharkhand, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1001 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_87

conductivity [8]. The thermal effect in the device is either provided by plasma injection effects in diode or by placing a micro-hotplate inside the photonics devices. The design of micro-hotplate is also crucial for minimizing the power consumption and increasing reliability in the optimized device. The optimized device further results in providing low optical losses and very high isolation between the waveguide and the micro-hotplate. Optical modulation is one of the crucial operation that has a capacity of shifting data in the wavelength division multiplexed (WDM) channels for forthcoming optical communication system [8].

Recently, various optical modulation devices based on PC have been investigated to analyze the performance parameters like extinction ratio and propagation of modes inside the device [7, 8]. The devices based on the principle of multimode interference structures [9], total internal reflection [10], and photonic crystal fiber [11] are published. However, the extinction ratio of these works is relatively low and is being responsible for under-performance of these devices. In development, the photonic crystal waveguide (PCW)-based directional coupler is also proposed to perform modulating function for wide-bandwidth region [12], but a complicated design with large number of fabrication steps are involved in these type of devices. The impact of isolation layer for increasing the mechanical stability is also reported [13]. However, the investigation for the variation in transmission spectrum with thermal conduction is still needs a look. Furthermore, an analysis of variation of temperature for the variation in modes is presented in waveguide [14, 15]. But, the temperature gets nonuniformly distributed over the waveguide that impacts the reliability and mechanical stability of the device [16]. Although, the technological fabrication aspects of thermooptical devices have well investigated, but their performance is still restricted due to the presence of stress in multilayers [17, 18].

In this work, a MHP-based PCW-based device is proposed on silicon on insulator (SOI) platform for optical modulation. The optimization is carried out in the MHP for its high thermal efficiency and mechanical stability. The total electromagnetic fields in the form of transmission spectra, spectral shift and other parameters are investigated in detail to perform the modulator operation in the PCW-based modulator.

2 Device Description

Figure 1 shows the proposed cavity-based photonic crystal optical modulator integrated with micro-hotplate on SOI platform. The proposed device consists of a cavity inside the photonic crystal and an insulation layer of silicon dioxide is provided of thickness $0.15 \,\mu$ m. Over the oxide layer, a micro-hotplate is optimized and integrated with the proposed device for providing the thermo-optic tuning. The silicon photonic crystal waveguide consists an array of air holes with the diameter as 288 nm and the center to center gap between the holes is 415 nm. In this work, an air hole pattern in triangular lattice of silicon is patterned on the oxide buffer layer. The line defect



Fig. 1 Cavity-based photonic crystal optical modulator integrated with micro-hotplate on SOI platform

photonic crystal waveguide consists a pattern of air holes with 36 period array of air holes along y-direction with a footprint of $17.8 \times 8.2 \,\mu\text{m}^2$ in silicon slab.

In the PCW, the two cavities are incorporated inside the line defect with three air holes are present in the path of silicon. The cavities are created for confining the electro-magnetic radiations with a mechanism of Bragg's law and Fresnel deflection. The cavities are created inside the line defect to resonate a particular frequency. The waveguide is excited by allowing a laser source of light near 1550 nm inside the line defect region. The coupling is provided by a rectangular waveguide placed near optimized photonic crystal waveguide device. Over the optimized photonic crystal waveguide, an insulation layer is provided for the isolation between the waveguide and the optimized micro-hotplate. The isolation is provided inside the device for providing high thermal conductivity in optical modulator by acting as a heat barrier that further results in increasing the efficiency with very low optical losses inside the device. The micro-hotplate is also optimized for low multilayers stress inside the device. The effective index inside the cavity increases with increase in the temperature with a thermo-optic coefficient of $1.86 \times 10^{-4} \text{ K}^{-1}$. With the increase in temperature from room temperature to 370° K, the effective index of the silicon slab increases due to which the resonant wavelength inside the cavity increases from 1561.8 to 1568 nm. The resonant wavelength inside the cavity is obtained with the optimized parameters of very high quality factor with tightly confined mode. The modified Sellmeier model for the variation in effective index with the temperature is given as [15]:

$$n^{2}(\lambda.T_{m}) - 1 = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{S_{i}(T_{m}).\lambda^{2}}{\lambda^{2} - \lambda_{i}^{2}(T_{m})}.$$
 (1)

3 Results and Discussions

The modes are calculated inside the optimized photonic crystal waveguide using the finite element method. A tightly confined modes with high confinement is obtained as shown in Fig. 2a and b. The confinement power is given as:

$$\Gamma = \frac{\int \int P_{n,\text{core}}(x, y) dx dy}{\int \int P_{n,\text{total}}(x, y) dx dy}.$$
(2)

The distribution of normalized transmittance is calculated for the optimized cavity at wavelength of 1561.8 nm is shown in Fig. 3 that shows high confinement inside the two cavities present in photonic crystal waveguide. The transmittance is calculated by providing the excitation in optimized device at different applied temperatures as shown in Fig. 4. With the change in temperature, there is a change in effective index of tightly confined modes present inside the cavity and due to which the resonant



Fig. 2 Mode exist inside the photonic crystal waveguide for optical modulator



Fig. 3 Propagation of normalized electric field along x-direction inside the optimized device



Fig. 4 Variation of transmittance versus wavelength with the application of temperature in thermooptic photonic crystal based device



Fig. 5 The variation in resonant wavelength and resonant wavelength shift with the applied temperature in proposed device

wavelength inside the cavity gets increases with increase in the room temperature in cavity. The resonant wavelength and their shift is calculated at different thermal excitation by varying the temperature from 290° to 370° K that shows the shift in resonant wavelength from 1561.8 nm to 1568 nm with a spectral shift of 6.2 nm as shown in Fig. 5.

4 Conclusion

A model of temperature and stress in photonic crystal waveguide-based optical modulator is proposed for its high mechanical stability. The performance parameters of thermo-optic photonic crystal cavity are investigated utilizing the thermal model in micro-hotplate. Moreover, the spectral shift varies linearly with increase in the thermal excitation in the device and can be varied based on different applications. The optimized optical modulator can be integrated with other re-configurable optical circuits for sensing applications. The other different parameters in micro-hotplate can also be optimized according to the applications based on confined modes inside waveguide.

Acknowledgements The author would like to acknowledge NPIU-Collaborative Research Scheme College of Technology, Pantnagar with the project ID: 1-5748651674 and Meity under the Visvesvaraya Ph.D Scheme for Electronics & IT.

References

- S. Agarwal, J.K. Mishra, V. Priye, Augmenting performance of MEMS cantilever based photonic crystal waveguide for switching applications. Appl. Opt. 58(31), 8449–8456 (2019)
- 2. P.B. Deotare, L.C. Kogos, I. Bulu, M. Lončar, Photonic crystal nanobeam cavities for tunable filter and router applications. IEEE J. Sel. Topics Quantum Electron. **19**(2) (Mar/Apr 2013)
- 3. M.T. Tinker, J.B. Lee, Thermal and optical simulation of a photonic crystal light modulator based on the thermo-optic shift of the cut-off frequency. Opt. Express 13, 7174–7188 (2005)
- M.W. Geis, S.J. Spector, R.C. Williamson, T.M. Lyszczarz, Submicrosecond submilliwatt silicon-on-insulator thermo optic switch. IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett. 16, 2514–2516 (2004)
- 5. S. Agarwal, J.K. Mishra, V. Priye, Highly sensitive MOEMS integrated photonic crystal cavity resonator for nano-mechanical sensing. Optics Commun. **474**, 126150 (2020)
- Y. Cui, K. Liu, S. Foland, K.H. Choi, M. Tinker, D. MacFarlane, J.-B. Lee, Silicon-based thermo-optically tunable photonic crystal lens. IEEE Photon. Technol. Lett. 22(1), 21–23 (2010)
- Y. Cui, K. Liu, D.L. MacFarlane, J.B. Lee, Thermo-optically tunable silicon photonic crystal light modulator. Opt. Lett. 35, 3613–3615 (2010)
- K. Choi, V.A. Tamma, Y. Cui, W. Park, J. Lee, Air-suspended fast transient tunable silicon photonic crystal waveguide. IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett. 26(6), 603–605 (15 Mar 2014)
- C.D. Truong, D.H. Tran, T.T. Le, Design of an insensitive-polarization all-optical switch based on multimode interference structures. Photonics Nanostruct. Fundam. Appl. 11(3), 210–216 (2013)
- T. Zhong, X.M. Zhang, A.Q. Liu, J. Li, C. Lu, D.Y. Tang, Thermal-optic switch by total-internal reflection of micromachined silicon prism. IEEE J. Sel. Topics Quantum Electron. 12, 348–258 (2007)
- 11. B. Sun et al., Broadband thermo-optic switching effect based on liquid crystal infiltrated photonic crystal fibers. IEEE Photon. J. 7(4) (2015)
- 12. N. Yamamoto, T. Ogawa, K. Komori, Photonic crystal directional coupler switch with small switching length and wide bandwidth. Opt. Express **14**(3), 1223–1229 (2006)
- S. Agarwal, J.K. Mishra, V. Priye, Thermal design management of highly mechanically stable wavelength shifter using photonic crystal waveguide. Superlattices Microstruct. 142, 106510 (2020)
- Q. Zhao, K. Cui, Z. Huang, X. Feng, D. Zhang, F. Liu, W. Zhang, Y. Huang, Compact thermooptic switch based on tapered W1 photonic crystal waveguide. IEEE Photonics J. 5(2), 2200606 (2013)
- B.J. Frey, D.B. Leviton, T.J. Madison, Temperature-dependent refractive index of silicon and germanium. Proc. SPIE 6273(62732J), 1–10 (2006)
- L. Zhou, X. Zhang, L. Lu, J. Chen, Tunable vernier microring optical filters with p-i-p type microheaters. IEEE Photon. J. 5(4), 6601211–6601211 (2013)
- K. Cui, Y. Huang, G. Zhang, Y. Li, X. Tang, X. Mao, Q. Zhao, W. Zhang, J. Peng, Temperature dependence of ministop band in double-slots photonic crystal waveguides. Appl. Phys. Lett. 95(19), 191901-1–191901-3 (2009)
- L. Xu, T. Li, X. Gao, Y. Wang, Development of a reliable micro-hotplate with low power consumption. IEEE Sens. J. 11, 913–919 (2011)

A 0.18 μ m β -Ga₂O₃ MOSFET Using Al₂O₃/HfO₂/SiO₂ Gate Dielectric for Low-V_{TH} High-Power Electronics Applications



Pratosh Kumar Pal, Avaneesh Kumar Dubey, Rajeev Kumar Chauhan, and Rajendra Kumar Nagaria

1 Introduction

There is the need of wide bandgap semiconductors other than GaN or SiC for highpower switching and power amplifier applications. Such need is being researched by number of wide and ultra-wide bandgap semiconductors. One of these less developed wide bandgap semiconductors is Gallium Oxide (Ga₂O₃). The β -Ga₂O₃ is the most stable polymorph of Ga₂O₃. The power control and switching applications are emerging very rapidly from electric and sensor-based autonomous vehicles to lightweight systems like drones and robotic controls [1]. These application requirements can be fulfilled by extending the performance of GaN and SiC or having another ultra-wide bandgap semiconductor like Ga₂O₃. The Ga₂O₃-based devices can handle very high switching voltages as it has breakdown electric field around 3X of GaN or SiC. It has ultra-wide bandgap ranging from 4.6 to 4.9 eV [2].

In [3], a 10 nm thick Ga_2O_3 is used as dielectric oxide grown over the GaAs/AlGaAs wafer for having low defect and high-k device. It has too low leakage current activation energy even though high-quality oxide is being used. The Edge-defined Film-fed Growth (EFG) method-based 2-in. β -Ga₂O₃ crystals are grown in [4], and its dislocation densities were estimated for growth of larger single-crystalline β -Ga₂O₃ crystal using EFG method. In [5], recess depth effect is investigated for

A. K. Dubey · R. K. Nagaria Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Prayagraj 21100, India e-mail: rkn@mnnit.ac.in

P. K. Pal (🖂) · R. K. Chauhan

Madan Mohan Malaviya University of Technology, Gorakhpur 273010, India e-mail: pkpec@mmmut.ac.in

R. K. Chauhan e-mail: rkcece@mmmut.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1009 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_88

electronic characteristics of β -Ga₂O₃ by considering 25 nm of HfO₂ as the dielectric. The performance analysis of β -Ga₂O₃ for Al₂O₃ and HfO₂ as dielectrics for around 10 nm to 30 nm of oxide thickness is investigated in [6–15], respectively, for different types of parametrical analysis. Similarly, the demonstration of Ga₂O₃ MOSFET for SiO₂ as dielectric is performed in [16] by considering the parameters for RF applications. Finally, the basic simulation of Ga₂O₃-based MOSFET devices is demonstrated in [17] by considering the all necessary steps to be followed for Gallium Oxide substrate MOS devices and a basic device simulation is explained in [18] by varying the doping and work function for an understanding.

This paper investigates different performance parameters of Ga_2O_3 substratebased MOSFET for three different dielectric materials Al_2O_3 , HfO_2 , and SiO_2 by changing the oxide thickness of these dielectric materials. The comparison has been done in terms of parameters threshold voltage, ON resistance, ON current, OFF current, ratio of ON current and OFF current, transconductance, current density, and breakdown voltages. The simulations are performed using Silvaco TCAD software.

2 Device Design and Simulation

The Silvaco TCAD software is used for device simulation along with a nonisothermal model [5]. The device structure of β -Ga₂O₃ MOSFET is shown in Fig. 1a. This is the simplified model that has been used for the analysis of effect of different oxides on the β -Ga₂O₃ MOSFET devices. The low-field mobility model and constant thermal conductivity model have been assumed for simulations. The device dimensions were evaluated according to the required channel length. The β -Ga₂O₃ has the thermal conductivity of 0.13 cm⁻¹ K⁻¹, and the other material parameters are considered mostly according to the data of [17].

The β -Ga₂O₃ MOS device structure in terms of potential across the layers, electron concentration, and hole concentration are shown in Fig. 1b, c, and d, respectively, for HfO₂ as dielectric. The I_D versus V_{GS} transfer characteristic of β -Ga₂O₃ MOSFET for HfO₂ as gate dielectric is shown in Fig. 2. The positive V_{TH} of β -Ga₂O₃ MOSFET is obtained from characteristic curve shown in Fig. 2. The V_{TH} of β -Ga₂O₃ MOSFET is 0.5 V, 0.8 V, and 1.4 V for HfO₂, Al₂O₃, and SiO₂ gate dielectric materials, respectively, when $t_{ox} = 5$ nm at $V_{DS} = 5$ V. As discussed in [14], the positive V_{TH} for homo-epitaxial Ga₂O₃ with the high-K dielectric material would be characterizing toward the enhancement mode behavior. But it will affect the ON current and the breakdown characteristic of the device by lowering them; however, this can be further improved in homo-epitaxial Sn-doped Ga₂O₃.

The $I_{\rm D}$ versus $V_{\rm DS}$ output characteristic of β -Ga₂O₃ MOSFET for HfO₂ gate dielectric is shown in Fig. 3. To verify the breakdown criteria of the device, it was simulated with $V_{\rm GS} \ll V_{\rm TH}$ and for large $V_{\rm DS}$. The breakdown of device has been observed near to 78 V. The device exhibits good pinch-off characteristic with the maximum drain current of 194 mA/mm at $V_{\rm GS} = 10$ V and $V_{\rm DS} = 20$ V. The on



Fig. 1 The plots are for HfO₂ as dielectric in Ga₂O₃-based MOS **a** The device structure of β -Ga₂O₃ MOSFET, **b** plot of potential, **c** plot of electron concentration of MOS device, and **d** plot of hole concentration of MOS





resistance of device has been found as 28 5 Ω mm from the I_D versus V_{DS} curve at $V_{GS} = 1$ V.

3 Results and Discussion

The effect of variation of T_{ox} (nm) for different oxide material on various device parameters such as (a) V_{TH} (b) Transconductance (c) $I_{\text{ON}}/I_{\text{OFF}}$ (d) I_{ON} and I_{OFF} (log scale) is shown in Fig. 4. The T_{OX} is varied from 5 to 20 nm for this simulation study as most of the research papers consider this as the range of oxide thickness. Here, it is obvious that the wider T_{OX} gives lesser control of gate over channel, hence larger $V_{\rm TH}$. The lowest $V_{\rm TH}$ has been found for HfO₂ dielectric when $T_{\rm OX} = 5$ nm and $V_{\rm DS}$ = 1 V. The negligible off current is reported, which is in the range of 5×10^{-18} A for Al₂O₃ and HfO₂ at $T_{\text{OX}} = 5$ nm and goes toward 10^{-20} A when $T_{\text{OX}} = 20$ nm. It is because of the higher band gap of Ga_2O_3 and wider T_{OX} , which secures the penetration of tunneling through the oxide layer. The lowest off-state current is in the range of 10^{-21} A for HfO₂ at $T_{OX} = 15$ nm. The very large I_{ON}/I_{OFF} ratio (10^{+13} to 10^{+15}) has been achieved due to negligible off-state current flowing through the device. The maximum on current is about 40 μ A, and it saturates near the T_{OX} = 10 nm. The electron accumulation barrier gets lower as the V_{DS} increases and device depleted again; it means higher gate voltage will be required for inversion layer and to flow of electrons through the device. The maximum transconductance of about 140 μ A/V at $V_{DS} = 1$ V and $T_{OX} = 5$ nm is obtained for HfO₂.

The variation in current density (mA/mm) and transconductance (mA/V mm) with respect to T_{OX} for different oxide material is shown in Fig. 5a current density (mA/mm) and (b) transconductance (mA/Vmm), respectively. The current density





Fig. 4 Effect on various device parameters with respect to T_{OX} (nm) for different oxide material a V_{TH} , b Transconductance, c I_{ON}/I_{OFF} , d I_{ON} and I_{OFF} (log scale)



Fig. 5 Variation in current density (mA/mm) and transconductance (mA/V mm) with respect to T_{OX} for different oxide material **a** current density (mA/mm) **b** transconductance (mA/V mm)

Parameters	[11]	[13]	[14]	[15]	This work		
Year	2019	2019	2016	2019	2020		
Channel Length $(\mu m), L_{SD}$	3	2	3	2	0.18		
$T_{\rm OX}$ (nm)	20	20	42	25	5		
$V_{\rm DS}$ (V)	30	10	-	-	1		
Gate dielectric material	Al ₂ O ₃	Al ₂ O ₃	HfO ₂	HfO ₂	HfO ₂	Al ₂ O ₃	SiO ₂
V _{TH} (V)	- 4.6	+ 4.2	+ 2.9	- 13.7	0.5	0.7	1.4
$R_{\rm ON}~(\Omega~{\rm mm})$	959	364	818	146	285	251	206
$I_{\rm OFF}$ (A)	1×10^{-7}	-	4×10^{-10}	7.1×10^{-11}	2.1×10^{-17}	5.4×10^{-16}	9.7×10^{-16}
$I_{\rm ON}/\Delta I_{\rm OFF}$	10 ⁷	10 ⁷	-	10 ⁹	1×10^{16}	3.6×10^{15}	$\begin{array}{c} 2 \times \\ 10^{15} \end{array}$
Max. on current Density (mA/mm)	10	11	11.1	101	194.4	194.4	194.4
Max. transconductance (mA/V mm)	2.55	2.7	0.18	-	140	111	92
$V_{\rm BR}$ (V)	2.32 k	-	80	240	78	106	124

Table 1 Comparison of Ga2O3 MOSFET reported in recent literatures with this work

is highest in the device with SiO₂ dielectric as it remains with highest possible on current. For the same value of V_{GS} and V_{DS} , the use of high-K dielectric material reduces the on current as it lowers the V_{TH} . But is also known that the high-K dielectric materials are more sensitive toward the change in gate voltage, therefore the change in current with respect to gate voltage will be more. Due to this, the transconductance of device is highest for HfO₂, which is about 700 mS/mm at T_{OX} = 5 nm. The transconductance of device reduces for the wider T_{OX} , as the gate control over the channel gets lesser for wider T_{OX} .

Comparison of Ga₂O₃ MOSFET reported in the literatures with this work is shown in Table 1. The simulation work shows that the Ga₂O₃ MOSFET has achieved positive V_{TH} as low as 0.5 V for high-k dielectric material HfO₂ when channel length, $L = 0.18 \,\mu\text{m}$ and $T_{\text{OX}} = 5 \,\text{nm}$.

4 Conclusion

In this paper, the comparative analysis of β -Ga₂O₃ is performed for different gate dielectric materials by varying the gate oxide thickness. It is evident from the simulations results that the HfO₂ as gate dielectric shows the minimum value of threshold voltage of 0.5 V, and it has minimum variation in threshold voltage. In terms of

transconductance value, the HfO₂ as gate dielectric has the maximum value for the complete range of 5–20 nm of oxide thickness. The device shows very low OFF current and high I_{ON}/I_{OFF} ratio. Hence, it is suitable for high switching activity in electronic circuits. Along with the very low-V_{TH}, it also shows the nominal breakdown voltage. The transconductance of the device is large enough as compared to the [11, 13, 14]. Therefore, it is suitable for power amplifiers applications.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to acknowledge the support of CRS Project Scheme under TEQIP-III for providing necessary funds and infrastructure for carrying out this research work.

References

- S.J. Pearton, F. Ren, M. Tadjer, J. Kim, Perspective: Ga₂O₃ for ultra-high power rectifiers and MOSFETS. J. Appl. Phys. **124**(22), 220901 (2018)
- Y.W. Huan, S.M. Sun, C.J. Gu, W.J. Liu, S.J. Ding, H.Y. Yu, C.T. Xia, D.W. Zhang, Recent advances in β-Ga₂O₃-metal contacts. Nanoscale Res. Lett. 13(1), 246 (2018)
- G.W. Paterson, J.A. Wilson, D. Moran, R. Hill, A.R. Long, I. Thayne, M. Passlack, R. Droopad, Gallium oxide (Ga₂O₃) on gallium arsenide—A low defect, high-K system for future devices. Mater. Sci. Eng., B 135(3), 277–281 (2006)
- 4. H. Aida, K. Nishiguchi, H. Takeda, N. Aota, K. Sunakawa, Y. Yaguchi, Growth of β -Ga₂O₃ single crystals by the edge-defined, film fed growth method. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. **47**(11R), 8506 (2008)
- Y. Lv, J. Mo, X. Song, Z. He, Y. Wang, X. Tan, X. Zhou, G. Gu, H. Guo, Z. Feng, Influence of gate recess on the electronic characteristics of β-Ga₂O₃ MOSFETs. Superlattices Microstruct. 117, 132–136 (2018)
- S.A. Russell, A. Pérez-Tomás, C.F. McConville, C.A. Fisher, D.P. Hamilton, P.A. Mawby, M.R. Jennings, Heteroepitaxial beta- Ga₂O₃ on 4H-SiC for an FET with reduced self heating. IEEE J. Electron Devices Soc. 5(4), 256–261 (2017)
- M. Higashiwaki, K. Sasaki, M.H. Wong, T. Kamimura, D. Krishnamurthy, A. Kuramata, T. Masui, S. Yamakoshi, Depletion-mode Ga₂O₃ MOSFETs on β-Ga₂O₃ (010) substrates with Si-ion-implanted channel and contacts, in 2013 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEEE, USA) (2013), pp. 28–7
- M. Higashiwaki, H. Murakami, Y. Kumagai, A. Kuramata, Current status of Ga₂O₃ power devices. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 55(12), 1202A1 (2016)
- J. Kashiwagi, T. Fujiwara, M. Akutsu, N. Ito, K. Chikamatsu, K. Nakahara, Recessed-gate enhancement-mode GaN MOSFETs with a double-insulator gate providing 10-MHz switching operation. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 34(9), 1109–1111 (2013)
- Z. Hu, K. Nomoto, W. Li, N. Tanen, K. Sasaki, A. Kuramata, T. Nakamura, D. Jena, H.G. Xing, Enhancement-mode Ga₂O₃ vertical transistors with breakdown voltage >1 kV. IEEE Electron Device Lett. **39**(6), 869–872 (2018)
- J.K. Mun, K. Cho, W. Chang, H.W. Jung, J. Do, 2.32 kV breakdown voltage lateral β- Ga₂O₃ MOSFETs with source-connected field plate. ECS J. Solid State Sci. Techno. 8(7), Q3079 (2019)
- H. Dong, S. Long, H. Sun, X. Zhao, Q. He, Y. Qin, G. Jian, X. Zhou, Y. Yu, W. Guo, W. Xiong, Fast Switching β-Ga₂O₃ Power MOSFET With a Trench-Gate Structure. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 40(9), 1385–1388 (2019)
- 13. J. Oh, J. Ma, G. Yoo, Simulation study of reduced self-heating in β Ga₂O₃ MOSFET on a nano-crystalline diamond substrate. Results Phys. **13**, 102151 (2019)

- M.J. Tadjer, N.A. Mahadik, V.D. Wheeler, E.R. Glaser, L. Ruppalt, A.D. Koehler, K.D. Hobart, C.R. Eddy Jr., F.J. Kub, A (001) β-Ga₂O₃ MOSFET with+ 2.9 V threshold voltage and HfO₂ gate dielectric. ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol. 5(9), P468 (2016)
- Y. Lü, X. Song, Z. He, Y. Wang, X. Tan, S. Liang, C. Wei, X. Zhou, Z. Feng, Source-field-plated Ga₂O₃ MOSFET with a breakdown voltage of 550 V. J. Semiconductors 40(1), 012803 (2019)
- A.J. Green, K.D. Chabak, M. Baldini, N. Moser, R. Gilbert, R.C. Fitch, G. Wagner, Z. Galazka, J. Mccandless, A. Crespo, K. Leedy, β-Ga₂O₃ MOSFETs for radio frequency operation. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 38(6), 790–793 (2017)
- ATLAS SILVACO, Atlas simulation of a wide bandgap Ga₂O₃ MOSFET. Simulation Standard 23(4), 7–9 (Oct/Dec) (2013)
- A.K. Dubey, P.K. Pal, V. Varshney, A. Kumar, R.K. Nagaria, Impact of channel doping fluctuation and metal gate work function variation in FD-SOI MOSFET for 5 nm BOX thickness, in 2019 IEEE Conference on Information and Communication Technology (IEEE, India) (2019), pp. 1–4

ACF/PACF-Based Distance Measurement Techniques for Detection of Blockages in Impulse Lines of a Pressure Measurement Circuit for Nuclear Reactors



Ajit R. Pappu, Soumitra Kar, and Sachin Kadu

1 Introduction

Control and monitoring of Nuclear Reactors (NR) use hundreds of measurements like pressure, flow, and level. The signals from these measured parameters are transferred to control room via measurement transmitters. The signals from the measurement points are transmitted upto the transmitters by means of impulse lines. Usually, the impulse lines contain process fluids, but for certain process systems using hazardous fluids, another fluid as intermittent sealant is used. Here, we are focusing on impulse lines with process fluids.

The impulse lines-related faults affect performance of the measurements in NR. These faults include blockages in the lines, presence of bubbles or voids in the lines, and leakages. The blockages could be due to partial closure of the valves in the measurement circuit or sedimentation from the process fluid. These measurement faults result in consuming more maintenance time resulting in reduction of availability factor of NR. Globally, lot of research is going on for Fault Detection and Diagnosis (FDD) for NR for reducing their down times and to enhance the NR safety. Similar challenges are also faced by many chemical process plants, where the measurements are done with the impulse lines.

In this manuscript, we have presented an evolved blockage detection technique, by analyzing the pressure signals. A promising technique is researched based on statistical Autocorrelation functional (ACF) and Partial Auto correlation functional (PACF) distances by comparing healthy and blockage conditions.

A. R. Pappu (🖂) · S. Kar · S. Kadu

Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Trombay, Mumbai 400085, India e-mail: ajitp@barc.gov.in

Homi Bhabha National Institute, Anushaktinagar, Mumbai 400094, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1017 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_89

2 The Related Work

Fault Detection and Diagnosis (FDD) techniques are continuously being evolved for NR and also for many chemical process plants. Impulse line-related faults also falls in the FDD category. A book by Gertler [1] covers FDD in details. Venkatasubramanian et al. [2–4] have elaborated the FDD techniques in a series of three papers covering quantitative, qualitative, and process history-based techniques, respectively.

Particularly for NR, Hashemian [5] has written a book covering FDD techniques, dedicating a chapter for sensing line issues. In another references, Hashemian et al. [6, 7] have covered impulse line-related issues like blockages, voids, and leakages. Lin et al. [8–10] have done the diagnostics of impulse lines with focus on nuclear power plants (NPP). NPP are electricity generating type NR. The authors have modeled and theorized the impulse line diagnostics, using analogy of hydraulic-electrical circuits and formulated transfer function of the circuits using electrical parameters like resistance, inductance, and capacitance. They have modeled presence of voids, blockages, and leakages. Another authors Garcia-Berrocal et al. [11] have also modeled pressure transmitters for NPP using the electrical analogy. This electrical analogy concept is applied for general pipelines by Matko et al. [12], modeling the equivalent circuits and applied transfer functions using wave equations and Laplace transforms. Barbero et al. [13] have used noise analysis techniques, spectral shift of Power Spectral Density (PSD), again modeled with the electrical analogy.

All these models are derived making certain assumptions like lumping of parameters in the modeled component (s) and are approximate. These models are good to prove the theory that certain faults can be detected by analyzing the circuits.

This manuscript focuses primarily on a data driven technique. The data driven techniques account for the unknown phenomenon as well as complex nature of a system, thus appears appropriate for the application.

The data driven technique covered in this manuscript is time series clustering and application of Autocorrelation/Partial Autocorrelation Functional (ACF/PACF) distance computation for detection of blockage in the impulse lines.

In the actual application, the time series data under healthy conditions can be captured and saved which will be compared with the online data so as to detect a fault.

3 Pressure Measurement Using Impulse Lines

As discussed in the Sect. 1, pressure measurement is one of the widely used parameters in the NR. The impulse lines connect the process measurement points to the Pressure Transmitters (PT) or Differential Pressure Transmitters (DPT). Figure 1 shows a typical Venturi flow meter measurement circuit using a DPT.



The pressure signal lines need to be taken out from a shield as shown in the figure which consists one or more valves. The DPT gives analog electrical 4–20 mA signal output, fed to receiving instruments like plant computers, recorders, dataloggers, etc. Many flow and level measurements are based on measurements of differential pressure, for which impulse lines are provided to transmit the process signal up to the DPT, installed many meters away from the measurement points. The impulse lines are closed at the transmitter end; thus, no flow exists in the lines. The fluid in the lines may be the process fluid itself. In Indian Pressurized Heavy Water Reactors (PHWR), a type of NPP, water or heavy-water is the main process fluid.

4 The Techniques Applied

The pressure transmitters record the system pressure at the measurement point as well as picks up the "noise" generated by the measurement system itself. The signal other than the actual process dynamics is treated as the "noise." Process dynamics are of low frequency as compared to the "noise." When a high pass filter (HPF) is applied to the pressure signal, the low frequency process dynamics are filtered out. The leftover signal is nothing but "noise." Interestingly, this "noise" itself contains a lot of information about the process as well as the measurement system itself.

The research covered here focuses on blockages in the impulse lines. Other measurement system faults like voidage in the impulse lines are researched and covered in another publication [14].

We have explored various time series clustering techniques, which are not applied earlier for impulse line fault detection. The approach followed is comparison of the two time series captured under normal working conditions and with blockage conditions in the impulse lines. We have explored techniques like statistical distance measures, deviation from a particular statistical distribution. Markatou et al. [15] have elaborated distance measurement techniques.

As the pressure signals consist process dynamics as well as the captured "noise" with hidden certain system characteristics, Fast Fourier Transform (FFT)-based filters are applied to filter out process dynamics, and the techniques are applied to the "noise" component of the signals.

Various time series clustering approaches are explored and distance between healthy and faulty conditions is compared. The analysis shows promising results for applying Autocorrelation and Partial Autocorrelation Function (ACF/PACF) for detecting presence of blockages in the impulse lines. The FFT and ACF/PACF are discussed in the subsequent subsections.

4.1 Filtering Process Component of the Pressure Signal

Discrete Fourier Transform (DFT) of a signal x[n] for N observations is computed using analysis equation, as given by Oppenheimer [16],

$$X[k] = \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} x[n] W_N^{kn}, 0 \le k \le N-1, \text{ where, } W_N = e^{-j\left(\frac{2\pi}{N}\right)}$$
(1)

X[k] is the DFT with k terms.

For filtering low frequency process dynamics, a frequency threshold F_k is chosen and the amplitude of frequency components below the threshold frequency is set to zero as,

For $k < F_k, X[k] = 0$.

Using synthesis equation, Inverse Fourier Transform is applied as,

$$z[n] = \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} X[k] W_N^{-kn} 0 \le n \le N-1$$
(2)

where z[n] is the filtered series after filtering low frequency component.

4.2 Statistical Moments

Standard deviation, Skewness, and Kurtosis are second, third, and fourth order statistical moments, respectively.

These statistical moments are computed to see any reflection of the blockages in these parameters. The first moment is mean which is zero for standardized data series. In fact, standarization is the first step of our analysis.

The equations for the moments are as follows,

$$\sigma^{2} = E(X - \mu)^{2} = \sum_{x = -\infty}^{\infty} (x - \mu)^{2} f(x)$$
(3)

where f(x) is probability mass function.

$$S = E\left[\frac{\left(x-\mu\right)^3}{\sigma}\right] \tag{4}$$

$$K = \frac{E(x - \mu)^4}{\left[E((x - \mu)^2)\right]^2}$$
(5)

where, σ^2 , S and K are Standard deviation, Skewness, and Kurtosis.

E is the expectation and μ is the mean.

4.3 Time Series Clustering

Time Series Clustering is briefly well compiled and elaborated by Montero and Vilar [17], covering various parametric and nonparametric techniques for dissimilarity measures with applications of statistical software R package. Recent version of R package is 6.2.2 [18]. Corduas and Piccolo [19] have investigated statistical properties of Autoregressive (AR) distance for Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average (ARIMA) process. Earlier, Piccolo (1986) [20] has done foundation for distance measuring for ARIMA process. Galeano et al. [21] have formulated Clustering of a time series based on parametric modeling. Comparison of two time series has been done by various statistical distance measurement techniques. Auto Correlation Function (ACF) and Partial Auto Correlation (PACF) distances are used for this application, elaborated in subsequent subsection. For evolving data analysis software code, a book by Cryer et al. [22] is handy which elaborates Time series analysis using R software package.

4.4 Auto Correlation Function and Auto Correlation Distance

Auto Correlation and Partial Auto Correlation Function (ACF and PACF, respectively) computes correlation of a series with itself with a time lag. Auto correlation is a measure of variables current value with lagged value. It ranges between + 1 positive autocorrelation and - 1 negative autocorrelation. Zero value indicates no correlation.

The partial autocorrelation at lag k is the correlation that results after removing the effect of any correlations due to the terms at shorter lags.

For this research, the 4–20 mA analog signals from process transmitters are acquired in digitized form in a data acquisition system. As a first step of analysis, acquired digital signals "x" are standardized using mean " μ " and standard deviation " σ " as follows,

$$z = \frac{x - \mu}{\sigma} \tag{6}$$

Box and Jenkins et al. [23] give covariance and correlation for zero mean series z for lag "l," derived from expectation E as,

$$\gamma_l = \operatorname{cov}(z_t, z_{t+l}) = E\big[(z_t - \mu)(z_{t+l} - \mu)\big]$$
(7)

$$\rho_{l} = \operatorname{corr}(z_{t}, z_{t+l}) = \frac{E[(z_{t} - \mu)(z_{t+l} - \mu)]}{\sqrt{E[z_{t} - \mu]^{2}E[z_{t+l} - \mu]^{2}}}$$
(8)

where variance is, $\sigma_z^2 = \sqrt{E[z_t - \mu]^2 E[z_{t+l} - \mu]^2}$. For a stationary process, variance doesn't change variance doe

For a stationary process, variance doesn't change with a time lag l, which gives,

$$\rho_l = \frac{\gamma_l}{\gamma_0} \tag{9}$$

Now, let us consider two time series X_T and Y_T with T observations. Distance between ACF and PACF coefficients are to be computed.

Correlation vectors for X_T and Y_T components are given as (2008) [17],

$$\rho_{X_T} = \left(\rho_{1,X_T}, \rho_{2,X_T}, \dots, \rho_{k,X_T}\right)^T \text{ and } \rho_{Y_T} = \left(\rho_{1,Y_T}, \rho_{2,Y_T}, \dots, \rho_{l,Y_T}\right)^T$$
(10)

where *l* is chosen such that for $\rho_{l,X_T} \approx 0$ and $\rho_{l,Y_T} \approx 0$.

Auto Correlation Functional distance (ACF) is,

$$D_{\rm ACF}(X_T, Y_T) = \sqrt{\left(\rho_{X_T} - \rho_{Y_T}\right)^T \Omega\left(\rho_{X_T} - \rho_{Y_T}\right)}$$
(11)

where Ω is a matrix of weights.

For uniform weights, it's identity matrix and the distance becomes Euclidean distance.

If the weights are geometrically decaying with autocorrelation lag, the ACF, as given by [17] is,

$$D_{\text{ACF}}(X_T, Y_T) = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{k} p(1-p)^i (\rho_{i,X_T} - \rho_{i,Y_T})^2}$$
(12)

where 0 ,T is number of samples and "l" is the lag.

We are experimented that for our analysis, Eq. (11) is adequate.

The same equations are also applicable for Passive Auto Correlation Functional distances (PACF) as the distances between the ACF/PACF coefficients are computed.

5 Experimental Setup and Test Matrix

An experimental setup is evolved as shown in Fig. 2 with intention of this initial stage is to establish a technique for blockage detection by processing of an acquired signal.



Fig. 2 Simulated setup for detection of blockage in an impulse line

The research is focused on "noise" analysis of an acquired pressure signals. Thus, the technique shall be able to distinguish process dynamics from the noise. In order to simulate process dynamics, a sinusoidal pressure generator of various frequencies has been evolved and the tests are carried out from 0.5 Hz to 3.0 Hz signal, a typical range of the process dynamics for NR. The analysis primarily involves filtering the process dynamics and applying various digital signal processing techniques to the "noise" component of the signal to identify signatures for various phenomenon hidden in the "noise." This manuscript is focused on identification of signature of impulse line blockages hidden in the "noise."

The setup generates sinusoidal pneumatic pressure test signal of different frequencies. This is achieved by applying sinusoidal signal from an electronic frequency generator to an Electro-Pneumatic converter (E/P). The pneumatic signal is converted to hydraulic signal by applying it to a Water Locking Pot (WLP). The Differential Pressure Transmitter (DPT) used is having High Pressure (HP) and Low Pressure (LP) ports. From the WLP, the hydraulic pressure signal is fed to HP port of the DPT. The LP port of the DPT is connected to a fixed pressure for adjusting zero bias of the DPT so as to configure it at required signal range. The DPT is calibrated for range 0 to 1 bar differential pressure for linear output signal of 4–20 mA. The response time of the DPT, that is time to reach 63.2% output when a step input signal is given as per IEC 17025 is 20 ms. The DPT output signal is fed to a Fast Data Acquisition System (FDAS) having configurable features of scanning speed, input signal type, range, etc.

The impulse tube selected is 2 m long, with internal diameter of 10 mm. The inserts made to simulate blockages are having 2 mm internal diameter, 25 mm long (BK), tightly fitting into the impulse line. The experimentations are carried out using one and two inserts inserted in the line. The test matrix is given in Table 1.

Test condition	Set No	Data sample nomenclature for various input sinusoidal sig in Hz				
		0.5	1.0	2.0	3.0	
No blockage (WO)	Set-1	WO-S1-P5	WO-S1-1	WO-S1-2	WO-S1-3	
	Set-2	WO-S2-P5	WO-S2-1	WO-S2-2	WO-S2-3	
BK, one unit	Set-1	BK-1-S1-P5	BK-1-S1-1	BK-1-S1-2	BK-1-S1-3	
	Set-2	BK-1-S2-P5	BK-1-S2-1	BK-1-S2-2	BK-1-S2-3	
BK, two units	Set-1	BK-2-S1-P5	BK-2-S1-1	BK-2-S1-2	BK-2-S1-3	
	Set-2	BK-2-S2-P5	BK-2-S2-1	BK-2-S2-2	BK-2-S2-3	

Table 1 Test matrix for impulse line blockage simulation

Abbreviation: BK Block, WO Without Block

For each test, the data acquisition has been done at 1 ms interval for 4096 samples. Software Platform R version 6.2.2 (2019) [18] has been used for evolving a code for data analysis.

6 Analysis and Results

The intention of this work is to identify signature(s) of blockages in the impulse lines hidden in the "noise" captured by the measurement circuit. Thus, the process dynamics need to be filtered out from the acquired signal. The test matrix is given in Table 1 is chosen to cover input sinusoidal test signals with frequencies from 0.5 to 3.0 Hz. Low frequency process dynamics components are filtered out while processing the signals. Thus, only the "noise" components remain. Intention is to identify signatures independent of the process dynamics. We also point out that the acquired signals are in the engineering units, that is 4–20 mA current signal with linear relation to the calibrated range of the DPT, thus scaling and standardization of the signal is done. In order to ascertain the signal pattern for a particular condition, two sets of tests are conducted for each of the condition.

The analysis covered in this manuscript, also looks for the blockage signatures in the most common basic statistical moments under the different conditions, viz. Standard deviation, Skewness, and Kurtosis. These moments are computed for the "noise" components. Figure 3 shows bargraphs under differ conditions and it is clear that with these common statistical moments it is not possible to identify signature of presence of blockage in the impulse lines.



Fig. 3 Standard deviation, skewness, and kurtosis under different impulse line blockage conditions computed at different input signal frequencies

As no signature is detected in the moments, we have explored various advanced techniques for identifying the signature (s) for detecting the blockages. We have realized that time series clustering techniques by comparing the signals of healthy and faulty conditions could be a promising approach. Montero and Vilar (2017) [16] have elaborated various time series clustering techniques for comparing various statistical distance measures between the time series. We explored Dynamic Time Warp (DTW), Frechet Distance (FD), Hellinger and Squared Hellinger distance (HD/SHD), Probability Distribution Clustering (PDC), Autocorrelation and Partial Auto Correlation Function (ACF/PACF) distance. We found ACF and PACF as one of the most promising.

The ACF and PACF distances are computed by evolving a code using R package "TSclust" [24]. Governing equations for the computations are as mentioned in the Sect. 4.0. Figures 4 and 5 represent certain results of comparing ACF and PACF under two conditions of blockage, as described in Table 1. The signals with no blockages are used as a reference signal for comparing with the signal with impulse line blockage conditions.

Figure 4 compares the distances with one unit of the block BK, and Fig. 5 compares the distances with two units of the block BK. For process dynamics of the order of 0.5 Hz, as seen from the barplots (a) and (e) of Figs. 4 and 5 clearly distinguishable partial blockage in the impulse line are observed. The ACF/PACF distances increases as the blockage in the line increases. Another observation is that the distances are also a function of input signal process dynamic frequency. Even though this frequency is filtered out using a high pass filter, the process dynamics still continues to affect



Fig. 4 Bar graphs showing the ACF/PACF distances under various conditions with single unit of block BK



Fig. 5 Bar graphs showing ACF and PACF distances under various conditions with two units of block BK

the ACF/PACF distances. At low frequency process dynamics, the detection is more prominent.

7 Conclusions

This research shows that Auto Correlation and Partial Auto Correlation Functions (ACF/PACF) are proving to be effective techniques for detecting blockages in the impulse lines. There is further scope for refining the technique by more simulations and experimentations.

Acknowledgements We are thankful to Associate Director, Reactor Design Director Group, BARC Shri Avaneesh Sharma and Shri S. K. Sinha, Head Reactor Engg. Division for support and encouragement for this research.

Special thanks are due to our laboratory colleagues Smt Shailaja Derebail and Shri Sanjay Narkar who have made the test setup and performed experiments.

References

1. J.J. Gertler, Fault Detection and Diagnosis in Engineering Systems (Marshal Dekker Inc, NY USA). ISBN: 0-8247-9427-3 (2004)

- V. Venkatasubramanian, R. Rengaswamy, K. Yin, S.N. Kavuri, A review of process fault detection and diagnosis Part I: Quantitative model-based methods. Comput. Chem. Eng. 27, 293–311 (2003)
- V. Venkatasubramanian, R. Rengaswamy, K. Yin, S.N. Kavuri, A review of process fault detection and diagnosis Part II: Qualitative models and search strategies. Comput. Chem. Eng. 27, 313–316 (2003)
- V. Venkatasubramanian, R. Rengaswamy, K. Yin, S.N. Kavuri, A review of process fault detection and diagnosis Part III: Process history based methods. Comput. Chem. Eng. 27, 327–346 (2003)
- 5. H.M. Hashemian, Maintenance of process instrumentation in nuclear power plants. ISBN-13 978-3-540-33703-4 Springer Berlin Heidelberg New York (2006)
- H.M. Hashemian, J. Jiang, Using the noise analysis technique to detect response time problems in the sensing lines of nuclear plant pressure transmitters. Prog. Nuclear Energy 52, 367–373 (2010)
- H.M. Hashemian, On-line monitoring applications in nuclear power plants, Progress in Nuclear Energy 53, 167–181 (2011)
- K. Lin, K.E Holbert, Pressure sensing line diagnostics in nuclear power plants. Nuclear Power, 97–122 (2007)
- K. Lin, K.E. Holbert, Blockage diagnostics for nuclear power plant pressure transmitter sensing lines. Nuclear Eng. Des. 239, 365–372 (2009)
- K. Lin, K.E. Holbert, Applying the equivalent pi circuit to the modeling of hydraulic pressurized lines. Math. Comput. Simul. 79, 2064–2075 (2009)
- A. Garcia-Berrocala, J.M. Chicharroa, J. Blazquezb, M. Balbas, Non-linear noise analysis from a capacitive pressure transmitter. Mech. Syst. Signal Process. 18, 187–197 (2004)
- D. Matko, G. Geiger, W. Gregoritz, Pipeline simulation techniques. Math. Comput. Simul. 52, 211–230 (2000)
- 13. J. Barbero, J. Blaźquez, O. Vela, Bubbles in the sensing line of nuclear power plant pressure transmitters: the shift of spectrum resonances. Nuclear Eng. Des. **199**, 327–334 (2000)
- 14. A.R. Pappu, Improving reliability of pressure measurements of nuclear plants by impulse line diagnostics using statistical and signal processing tools, in *Proceedings of 1st International and 4thNational Conference on Reliability and Safety Engineering (INCRS-2018) PDPM IIITDM* Jabalpur, pp 26–28 (February 2018)
- M. Markatou, Y. Chen, G. Afendras, B.G. Lindsay, Statistical distances and their role in robustness, in *New Advances in Statistics and Data Science* ed. by D.-G. Chen, Z. Jin, G. Li, Y. Li, A. Liu, Y. Zhao (Springer). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69416-0_1 (2017)
- 16. Oppenheimer; 'Discrete time signal processing' 3rd ed (2012)
- P. Montero, J.A. Vilar, TSclust: An R package for time series clustering. J. Stat. Softw. 62(1), 1–43 (Nov 2014)
- R Core Team, R: A language and environment for statistical computing; R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/ (2019)
- M. Corduas, D. Piccaolo, Time series clustering and classification by the autoregressive metric. Comput. Stat. Data Anal. 52(2008), 1860–1872 (2008)
- D. Piccolo, A distance measure for classifying ARIMA models. J. Time Series Anal. 11(2), 154–164 (2000)
- P. Galeano, D. Peña, Multivariate analysis in vector time series. Resenhas IMB-USP 2000, 4(4), 383–403 (2000)
- 22. J.D. Cryer, K.-S. Chan, Time Series Analysis with Applications in R, 2nd edn (Springer) (2008)

- 23. G.E.P. Box, G.M. Jenkins, G.C Reinsel, G.M Ljung, *Time series analysis, Forecasting and control*, 5th edn (Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics) (2016)
- 24. P. Montero, J.A. Vilar, T. Sclust, An R package for time series clustering. J. Stat. Softw. **62**(1), 1–43. http://www.jstatsoft.org/v62/i01/ (2014)

Multi-objective Particle Swarm Optimization Based Enhanced Fuzzy C-Means Algorithm for the Segmentation of MRI Data



Munendra Singh, C. S. Asha, and Neeraj Sharma

1 Introduction

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) data provide three-dimensional images and are widely used to diagnose by means of studying the internal structure of different organs. MRI renders superior soft-tissue contrast, which provides more information required for the detailed analysis of the body organs such as spine, brain and other soft tissues. Furthermore, the specific pathological conditions are characterized through the different pulse sequences. MRI is safe medical imaging modality due to its non-ionizing behavior as compared to the CT scan. The clinicians highly appreciate the segmentation of MRI data for quantitative analysis of the pathology. Hence, the current work includes T1 and T2 sequences of MRI data for the segmentation that aids clinical applications.

Brain segmentation is the process the segregation of non-overlapped regions of brain tissues such as cerebrospinal fluid, white matter, and gray matter. The gray values of pixels play important role to characterize the segmentation of MRI images. The segmentation of an image can be achieved, using several approaches that normally includes edge detection, thresholding, region extraction, and clustering. Out of these segmentation techniques, clustering method is widely employed for segmentation of an image, which is based on unsupervised learning approach. Previously, several clustering methods such as fuzzy c-means (FCM) [1], and kmean [2] algorithms have been utilized to achieve the segmentation of images. In FCM approach, the pixel membership degree associated with a particular cluster is

N. Sharma

M. Singh \cdot C. S. Asha (\boxtimes)

Department of Mechatronics, Manipal Institute of Technology, Manipal Academy of Higher Education, Manipal, India

School of Biomedical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology (Banaras Hindu University), Varanasi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1031 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_90

considered to separate the image into the multiple regions, whereas k-mean clustering method looks at whether the pixels are close to the particular cluster or not. Recently, the conditional spatial FCM algorithm achieved superior performance over k-means for MRI data [3]. The FCM algorithm has been found valuable in various medical and biological applications [4–6]. However, the performance of the standard FCM algorithm is a matter of concern in the presence of noise to segment the different regions in MRI data.

The probabilistic FCM algorithm simultaneously reduces the bias field and segments the MRI data with greater accuracy [7]. Chuang et al. included the spatial information of local neighbors in the SFCM approach by modifying the objective function of FCM [8]. The algorithm produces the impressive result after segmenting the image data even in the presence of high noise. Further, the mean and median filtered data of the images have been inculcated in the fitness function of standard FCM, and Chen and Zhang names these methods FCM_S1 and FCM_S2, respectively [9].

Further, Szilagyi et al. mentioned a practical approach to handle the drawback of FCM_S1 and FCM_S2 algorithms [10]. The work altered the original concept by adding the local spatial information of an image in advance. The enhanced FCM (EnFCM) improved the processing time and enhanced efficiency with promising segmentation results. However, the quality of segmentation depends on the weighted factor of de-noised data [11]. The algorithm is robust to the noise when the weight factor is high, however, yielded over segmentation. Further, the segmented data preserves the details if the weighted factor is low. But, the selection of the weight factor is tedious when the unknown noise content is present in the information. Hence, trial and hit methods were often occupied to alleviate such circumstances.

In spite of high segmentation accuracy, the shortcoming of the current method suggests the necessity of an adaptive weighting factor leading to precise segmentation for different sequences of MRI data in the presence noise. Hence, the proposed work recommends EnFCM algorithm optimized by multi-objective particle swarm optimization (MOPSO). The proposed algorithm addresses tuning of the weighted factor based on the noise level present in the MRI data.

The present study is arranged as follows. Section 2 highlights the fundamental algorithm of EnFCM. Section 2.2 provides the concept of MOPSO. Sections 2.3 and 2.4 discuss the proposed methods employed for noisy data segmentation. In Sect. 3, it analyzes the experimental results and compares proposed approach with existing popular methods followed by conclusion in Sect. 4.

Multi-objective Particle Swarm Optimization Based ...

2 Background

2.1 Enhanced FCM

Let the image data $I = [p_{11}...p_{kl}...p_{mn}]$ has *c* number of clusters. We consider 3×3 kernal around the *k*th pixel to find the local average value. This average value with original data is utilized to compute the normalized local weighted sum S_k for *k*th pixel [10] given as follows:

$$S_k = \frac{1}{1+w} \left(p_k + \frac{w}{N_w} \sum_{w \in N_w} p_n \right) \tag{1}$$

where p_n represents the nearby pixels around the central pixel p_k , and N_w denotes the number pixels in the kernal. The weight factor w controls the influence of surrounding pixels. The data S, which has local pixel information is calculated in prior using Eq. (1) while assuming all pixels in the image as the central pixel. Let X are the different sets of intensity values of an image data S, where X is less in comparison to the total pixels N in an image. The pixels with the intensity value of l is represented as Ψ_l . Therefore, $\sum_m^p \Psi_m = N$ is satisfied. Finally, the objective function is calculated as follows:

$$F_{\rm EnFCM} = \sum_{j=1}^{c} \sum_{l=1}^{X} \Psi_l u_{jl}^m (S_l - v_j)^2$$
(2)

where *c* denotes total possible clusters in input image, u_{jl} represents the fuzzy membership value of *l*th pixel to *j*th cluster, *m* represents the fuzzy exponent and v_j denotes the center of the cluster. The membership function and center of the cluster used in Eq. (2) is derived as follows:

$$u_{jl} = \left[\sum_{m=1}^{c} \left(\frac{S_l - v_m}{S_l - v_j}\right)^{2/m - 1}\right]^{-1}$$
(3)

$$v_{j} = \frac{\sum_{l=1}^{p} \Psi_{l} u_{jl}^{m} S_{k}}{\sum_{l=1}^{p} \Psi_{l} u_{jl}^{m}}$$
(4)

The goal of the present work is automated selection of weight factor w, which plays the crucial role in regulating the amount of noise in the output segmented image. The work introduces the adaptive selection of weight factor w using MOPSO algorithm.

2.2 Multi-objective Particle Swarm Optimization

Particle swarm optimization (PSO) is an evolutionary computation algorithm that mimics the social behavior of a flock of birds [12]. This algorithm is popular and useful in producing the optimum result while using single objective function or more than one objective functions. The problem where more than one objective functions are possible, known as multiple objective functions, and the algorithm is popularly known as Multi-Objective Particle Swarm Optimization (MOPSO). This algorithm yields a set of optimal solutions called Pareto Fronts rather a single optimal solution [13]. In literature, MOPSO has been employed in various image processing applications [14–16]. The optimization of N objectives is formulated as follows:

maximize
$$f(x) = [f_1(x), f_2(x), \dots f_N(x)]$$
 (5)

where $f_i(x)$ denotes the objective function for the multi-objective problem. Assume we have two sets of solutions s_1 and s_2 , the two possibilities are: (i) one solution dominates the other solution, and (ii) none of the solution dominates the other. These two conditions are represented as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \forall i \in \{1, 2, \dots, N_{\text{obj}}\} : f_i(s_1) \le f_i(s_2) \\ \exists j \in \{1, 2, \dots, N_{\text{obj}}\} : f_j(s_1) < f_j(s_2) \end{aligned}$$
(6)

If the conditions stated in the above equation is violated, then the solution s_1 will not dominant the solution s_2 . The solutions obtained from the MOPSO are nondominated in nature and known as Pareto-optimal solutions [17]. The particles in PSO are moving in search of the best solution. In (k + 1)th iteration, the velocity of the particle *i* is v_i^{k+1} , which is defined as follows:

$$v_i^{k+1} = w v_i^k + c_1 r_1 (p_i - x_i^k) + c_2 r_2 (p_g - x_i^k)$$
(7)

where *w* is the weight, c_1 , c_2 are the particle's rate of learning, r_1 , r_2 are the normalized random numbers valued from 0 to 1. The personal best positions of the particles are p_i and p_g is the global best position of all the particles achieved till (k + 1)th iteration. The present position of the particle at *k*th iteration is x_i^k , which is defined as follows:

$$x_i^{k+1} = x_i^k + v_i^{k+1} \tag{8}$$

Position and velocity of the particle keep updating according to the objective function till the convergence criterion is met. The present work selects the controlling hyper parameters as provided in Table 1.

Table 1 Hyper parameter settings of MOPSO algorithm	Parameter settings	Range of values	
for optimized EnFCM method	Iterations	30	
	Population size <i>n</i>	15	
	Rate of learning, i.e., c_1 and c_2	1.2 and 1.2	
	Adaptive weight w	0.9–0.4	
	Two objective functions	DC and JS	

2.3 Fitness Functions

The proposed method utilizes the combination of segmentation quality index called Jaccard similarity (JS) [18] and Dice coefficient (DC) [19] as objective functions. The Jaccard similarity index measures the segmentation quality, which is the ratio of the intersection of the segmented image I_S and reference image I_R and union of the segmented image I_S and reference image I_R .

$$JS = \frac{|I_S \cap I_R|}{|I \cup I_R|} \tag{9}$$

Dice coefficient (DC) is also employed to measure the segmentation quality in a slightly different way, which is given as follows:

$$DC = \frac{2|I_S \cap I_R|}{|I_S| + |I_R|} \tag{10}$$

The proposed work is validated using the above defined segmentation quality indexes.

2.4 Materials and Methods

The proposed method has used the simulated MRI data obtained from the BrainWeb database (www.bic.mni.mcgill.ca/brainweb/) [20]. The size of each image is 181×217 . Each of these images comprise four different segments such as cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), gray matter (GM), white matter (WM), and background. As the computation of magnitude MRI is a nonlinear mapping. In the experimental section, we considered noise with different mean and the standard deviation of 5, 7.5, 10, and 12.5. This helps to evaluate the noise robustness of the presented methodology.

The proposed approach has selected 3×3 size moving kernal and computed mean to derive the weighted sum data. The nature of noise in the MRI data have Rician distribution. In this view, the present study includes the Rician distributed noise in the MRI data.
3 Results and Discussion

The value of weight factor w in enhanced FCM method (EnFCM) assumed to be static or constant. The MRI image suffered from low noise, the higher value of weight factor produces over segmentation. In present method, optimized EnFCM algorithm is employed to adaptively chose this weight factor. Figure 1 depicts the output image corresponding to 90th slice and 100th slice of T1 weighted BrainWeb simulated MRI data. The value of weight factor λ shown in Fig. 1 suggested that the value of weight factor λ is varying for the same MRI image suffered with different amount of noise. It is also observed from the figure that the value of weight factor keeps increasing as noise content increases in the image. For high noise content, the relatively larger value of weight factor is needed.

Figure 2 presents the comparison of the EnFCM and the our modified method optimized EnFCM using JS and DC. The value of the weight factor is kept same for various images of the dataset while running EnFCM. However, this value is adaptive and will vary based on the objective function chosen to get the output image of maximum segmentation accuracy. The presented graphs show the advantage of adaptive choice as compared to the constant value of the weigh factor. Figure 2 ensures that the optimized EnFCM has attained better quantitative metrics like JS and DC as compared with the standard EnFCM for both white matter and gray matter tissues of brain MRI is concerned. Besides, figures clearly show that the difference between the performances of both the algorithms that the accuracy increases with the rise in the noise level. The proposed algorithm is compared with recent state-of-the-art methods such as: FCM_S1 [9], FCM_S2 [9] and EnFCM [10] quantitatively and qualitatively. Table 2 confirms the better quantitative performance of the proposed optimized EnFCM with respect to state-of-the-art methods. In addition, the table compares the segmentation accuracy of three regions of brain MRI that includes WM, GM, and CSF with respect to metrics JS and DC. It is evident in the table that



Fig. 1 Effect of change in the weighted factor in presence of different level of noise for **a** 90th slice of T1 weighted MRI image, and **b** 100th slice of T1 weighted MRI image



Fig. 2 Comparison of proposed MOPSO optimized EnFCM with its base algorithm, i.e., popular EnFCM on 90th slice of T1 weighted MRI. Here, the value of weighted factor w has been chosen 1.2 0 for popular EnFCM algorithm. The segmentation results in presence of different amount of noise in terms for **a**, **b** white matter (WM) in terms of Jaccard Similarity (JS) and Dice coefficient (DC), and **c**, **d** gray matter (GM) in terms of JS and DC

the proposed MOPSO optimized EnFCM algorithm outperforms considered classical FCM_S1, FCM_S2 and EnFCM segmentation techniques. The performance of FCM_S2 remains poor for the images chosen than the other segmentation algorithm. Further, the qualitative comparison of these segmentation algorithms for 100th and 90th slices of T1 weighted BrainWeb MRI dataset is provided in Fig. 3. We have added noise variance of 10 and 12.5 to both of the slice images in order to evaluate the robustness of the proposed method. Qualitative inspection of the results shown in Fig. 3, it can be identified that the proposed MOPSO based EnFCM method is producing segmentation results most closest to the reference segmentation results in comparison to FCM_S1, FCM_S2 and EnFCM algorithms.

ted	son of proposed MOPSO optimized EnFCM with FCM_S1, FCM_S2 and EnFCM algorithms in terms of JS and DC for 90th MRI images	
	arison of ted MRI i	
	ble 2 Q ce and 10	

Docion Commentation el conithue	Commutation of conithun								
INOISE LEVEL	Kegion	Segmentation algorithm							
		FCM_S1		FCM_S2		EnFCM		Proposed EnFCM	
		Sſ	DC	JS	DC	JS	DC	Sſ	DC
5	WM	0.968	0.984	0.964	0.981	0.970	0.984	0.970	0.985
	GM	0.947	0.972	0.934	0.966	0.949	0.973	0.949	0.974
	CSF	0.922	0.959	0.908	0.951	0.918	0.957	0.919	0.958
7.5	WM	0.951	0.975	0.949	0.974	0.955	0.977	0.956	0.977
	GM	0.915	0.955	0.907	0.951	0.919	0.958	0.920	0.958
	CSF	0.874	0.933	0.860	0.924	0.873	0.932	0.873	0.932
10	WM	0.931	0.964	0.929	0.963	0.936	0.967	0.936	0.967
	GM	0.880	0.936	0.876	0.934	0.887	0.940	0.888	0.940
	CSF	0.818	0.900	0.813	0.896	0.822	0.902	0.823	0.902
12.5	WM	0.919	0.958	0.917	0.956	0.928	0.963	0.929	0.963
	GM	0.859	0.924	0.854	0.921	0.872	0.931	0.872	0.932
	CSF	0.783	0.878	0.771	0.871	0.792	0.884	0.792	0.884
5	WM	0.973	0.986	0.971	0.985	0.973	0.986	0.974	0.987
	GM	0.945	0.971	0.935	0.966	0.947	0.973	0.949	0.974
	CSF	0.909	0.952	0.896	0.945	0.908	0.952	0.909	0.952
7.5	WM	0.957	0.978	0.954	0.976	0.962	0.980	0.962	0.980
	GM	0.914	0.955	0.908	0.951	0.922	0.959	0.922	0.959
	CSF	0.868	0.929	0.858	0.923	0.865	0.928	0.866	0.928
10	WM	0.942	0.970	0.941	0.969	0.949	0.974	0.951	0.975

1038

 Table 2 (continued)

Data	Noise level	Region	Segmentation algorithm							
			FCM_S1		FCM_S2		EnFCM		Proposed EnFCM	
			JS	DC	JS	DC	JS	DC	IS	DC
		GM	0.884	0.938	0.879	0.936	0.895	0.945	0.898	0.946
		CSF	0.825	0.904	0.815	0.898	0.826	0.904	0.826	0.905
	12.5	WM	0.919	0.958	0.916	0.956	0.929	0.963	0.931	0.964
		GM	0.847	0.917	0.838	0.911	0.861	0.925	0.864	0.927
		CSF	0.771	0.871	0.755	0.860	0.779	0.875	0.781	0.877
						_				



Fig. 3 Qualitative comparison of proposed method with FCM_S1, FCM_S2 and EnFCM algorithms on **a** 90th slice of T1 weighted MRI free from noise assumed as the reference image, **g** respective segmentation results. The reference image is corrupted with noise **b** having standard deviation 10, and **h** noise having standard deviation 12.5. The results obtained from **c**, **i** FCM_S1, **d**, **j** FCM_S2, **e**, **k** EnFCM, and **f**, **l** proposed MOPSO optimized EnFCM

4 Conclusion

The proposed work focused to obtain the automated weight factor of the enhanced FCM algorithm using on MOPSO algorithm. The proposed algorithm has employed an adaptive tuning of the linear weighed factor for maximizing the segmentation accuracy. The current approach has been found highly helpful when the of noise content in the image is unknown. The qualitative results clearly show the precise edges of the MRI images when compared with the other considered algorithms. The quantitative comparison showed outperformed accuracy among the state-of-the-art segmentation approaches. The timing complexity of the proposed method could be reduced using a parallel computing approach. This approach is expected to reduce the processing time of the algorithm to overcome the shortcoming of the nature-inspired algorithms. Furthermore, a large, diverse dataset of MRI sequences will be considered to validate the testing results.

References

- 1. J.C. Bezdek, R. Ehrlich, W. Full, FCM: the fuzzy c-means clustering algorithm. Comput. Geosci. 10, 191–203 (1984)
- D.L. Pham, C. Xu, J.L. Prince, Current methods in medical image segmentation. Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 2, 315–337 (2000)
- 3. S.K. Adhikari, J.K. Sing, D.K. Basu, M. Nasipuri, Conditional spatial fuzzy C-means clustering algorithm for segmentation of MRI images. Appl. Soft Comput. **34**, 758–769 (2015)
- J. Wang, J. Kong, Y. Lu, M. Qi, B. Zhang, A modified FCM algorithm for MRI brain image segmentation using both local and non-local spatial constraints. Comput. Med. Imaging Graph. 32, 685–698 (2008)

- S.S. Basha, K. S. Prasad, Automatic detection of breast cancer mass in mammograms using morphological operators and fuzzy C--means clustering. J. Theoret. Appl. Inf. Technol. 5 (2009)
- A.M. Mendrik, K.L. Vincken, H.J. Kuijf, M. Breeuwer, W.H. Bouvy, J. De Bresser et al., MRBrainS challenge: online evaluation framework for brain image segmentation in 3T MRI scans. Comput. Intell. Neurosci. 2015, 1 (2015)
- 7. J. Aparajeeta, P.K. Nanda, N. Das, Modified possibilistic fuzzy C-means algorithms for segmentation of magnetic resonance image. Appl. Soft Comput. **41**, 104–119 (2016)
- K.-S. Chuang, H.-L. Tzeng, S. Chen, J. Wu, T.-J. Chen, Fuzzy c-means clustering with spatial information for image segmentation. Comput. Med. Imag. Graph. 30, 9–15 (2006)
- S. Chen, D. Zhang, Robust image segmentation using FCM with spatial constraints based on new kernel-induced distance measure. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. B (Cybern.) 34, 1907–1916 (2004)
- L. Szilagyi, Z. Benyo, S.M. Szilágyi, H. Adam, MR brain image segmentation using an enhanced fuzzy c-means algorithm, in *Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society*, 2003. *Proceedings of the 25th Annual International Conference of the IEEE*, pp. 724–726 (2003)
- S. Krinidis, V. Chatzis, A robust fuzzy local information C-means clustering algorithm. IEEE Trans. Image Process. 19, 1328–1337 (2010)
- 12. J. Kennedy, Particle swarm optimization, in *Encyclopedia of Machine Learning* (Springer, 2011), pp. 760–766
- 13. K. Deb, Multi-objective optimization, in Search Methodologies (Springer, 2014), pp. 403-449
- M. Singh, S. Sharma, A. Verma, N. Sharma, Enhancement and intensity inhomogeneity correction of diffusion-weighted MR images of neonatal and infantile brain using dynamic stochastic resonance. J. Med. Biol. Eng. 37, 508–518 (2017)
- M. Singh, A. Verma, N. Sharma, Bat optimization based neuron model of stochastic resonance for the enhancement of MR images. Biocybern. Biomed. Eng. 37, 124–134 (2017)
- M. Singh, A. Verma, N. Sharma, Optimized multi-stable stochastic resonance for the enhancement of pituitary microadenoma in MRI. IEEE J. Biomed. Health Inform. 22, 862–873 (2018)
- 17. G.F. Smits, M. Kotanchek, Pareto-front exploitation in symbolic regression, in *Genetic Programming Theory and Practice II* (Springer, 2005), pp. 283–299
- M.R. Anderberg, Cluster analysis for applications. Office of the Assistant for Study Support Kirtland AFB N MEX1973
- P. Willett, Recent trends in hierarchic document clustering: a critical review. Inf. Process. Manage. 24, 577–597 (1988)
- C.A. Cocosco, V. Kollokian, R.K.-S. Kwan, G.B. Pike, A.C. Evans, Brainweb: Online interface to a 3D MRI simulated brain database, in *NeuroImage* (1997)

Recognition of Facial Images via Self-Organizing Landmark Location with Approximate Graph Matching



K. V. Arya and Shyam Singh Rajput

1 Background

Face recognition (FR) has got significant attention of researchers over the past few years [1–7]. This growth is mainly due to its applications for person identification in the field of private and secure systems. FR is one of the most used traits of biometric systems. Elastic bunch graph matching (EBGM) [8], support vector machines (SVM) [9], self-organizing map (SOM) [10, 11, 12, 13], and landmark geometry [14, 15], etc., are some of the methods used for face recognition.

The support vector machines are among the most successful face recognition algorithm where varieties of kernel are used either globally or locally [9]. SVM classification technique can be used for both multi-view face detection and pose estimation by enriching support vectors with extra pose information. Landmark geometry refers to extraction of important features in face image and then comparing these features with those of other images for recognition [14, 16].

EBGM is another popularly used method for FR which uses graph matching techniques. In EBGM, a face is represented by an image graph where each node labeled by complex Gabor wavelet coefficients set. Graph of a new image is matched with the bunch graph formed from all the faces available in the model dataset. The best matching indicates the recognized face. It uses phase information of complex Gabor wavelet coefficients for accurate node positioning. Object adapted graphs are formed so that nodes indicate to particular facial landmarks and large rotations can be handled. It uses a new data structure named face bunch graph (FBG) [8]

K. V. Arya (🖂)

S. S. Rajput

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_91

Multimedia & Information Security Research Group, ABV-IIITM Gwalior, Gwalior 474015, India e-mail: kvarya@iiitm.ac.in

Department of CSE, NIT Patna, Patna 800005, India e-mail: shyam.rajput.cs@nitp.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1043 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

for generalized representation of the face graphs but has the limitation of manual generation of the first set of model image graphs. Each model graph utilizes grid structure, and nodes belonging to same landmark points. The present work aims at automatic generation of the face graph using self-organization of the salient points as decided by the GC.

In the proposed technique, the problem of face recognition is interpreted as a graph matching problem. Unlike EBGM, the proposed technique does not require manual generation of image graph. Gabor filter is utilized to extract the landmark points in the face. A set of GC is incorporated with every landmark point of the face image. Further, SOM is trained by GC of landmark points to obtain the topology of the facial image (i.e., face geometry). The SOM is created for each face image, and then these graphs are matched using an *Approximate Graph Matching (AGM)* technique.

The SOM has been adopted earlier in numerous models for FR [13, 17, 18], but its application had been confined for feature matching. Here, in SOM graph, we attempt to capture the geometry of facial image. For the purpose, the existing SOM is modified and named as Bi-Self-Organizing Map (Bi-SOM). Further, a matching technique is formed to match facial geometries generated by Bi-SOM graphs for all facial images, and the proposed technique is denoted as Bi-SOM + AGM.

The direction to rest sections of this paper is as follows. An overview of the proposed technique is exhibited in Sect. 2. Gabor feature extraction has been presented in Sect. 3. Self-organizing Map has been introduced in Sect. 4. Section 5 describes the graph matching technique. Experimental outcomes are presented in Sect. 6. The summary of the work is presented in Sect. 7.

2 System Overview

At first, Gabor-filtered facial images are obtained from test/training faces by passing them through a band of Gabor Filters with varying orientations and scales. Then, landmark detection technique [19] is utilized to locate facial landmarks in each facial image based on its Gabor-filtered version (for each face, coefficients of all orientations and scales are coupled). By utilizing generated facial landmarks as inputs, the *Bi-SOM* is trained for capturing the facial geometry of the corresponding facial image. The same procedure is followed to form face graphs for all training (or gallery) faces. On the arrival of a new test face (probe image), the same set of steps is followed to generate its face graph. In the last step, the *AGM* technique is utilized to perform FR by matching the test image face graph with face graphs of all training (or gallery) faces. The best match is recorded as the concluding recognition decision for that probe image.

3 Gabor Feature Extractions

3.1 Gabor Filters

Bandpass filters or Gabor filters are utilized in the field of image processing for different purposes including stereo disparity estimation, texture analysis, and feature extraction [20–24].

Gabor filters can be described as the convolution of an image $I(\mathbf{x})$ for $\mathbf{x} = (x, y)$ using family of *Gabor Kernels* $\boldsymbol{\psi}_k(\mathbf{x})$ [20] that is parameterized over the wave vector \mathbf{k} which defines the orientation and wavelength of the kernel. The kernel is a plane wave bound by Gaussian envelope function, formulated as:

$$\psi_k(x) = \left(\frac{k^2}{\sigma^2}\right) e^{-\left(\frac{k^2 x^2}{2\sigma^2}\right)} \left[e^{ikx} - e^{-\left(\frac{\sigma^2}{2}\right)} \right]$$
(1)

where,

$$k = \begin{pmatrix} k_{\nu} \cos \emptyset_{\mu} \\ k_{\nu} \sin \emptyset_{\mu} \end{pmatrix};$$

for $k_{\nu} = 2^{-(\nu+2)/2}\pi$; and $\emptyset_{\mu} = \frac{\pi}{8}\mu$ (2)

Here, μ and ν denote Gabor filters orientation and scale, respectively. The Gabor filters formulated in Eq. (1) are self-similar where all filters can be produced from single-mother wavelet through rotation and dilation. Gaussian envelope function is controlled by relative width $\sigma = 2\pi$. In Eq. (1), term e^{ikx} defines the oscillatory part of filters, whereas term $e^{-(\sigma^2/2)}$ allows filters to be DC-free and hence, invariant to any shift in gray-level of the image.

3.2 Gabor Coefficients (GC) Formation

There are some points in the face with high-information content, called *landmark points*. In the proposed approach, these features are being extracted using Gabor filters [8, 9, 14, 22]. A set of GC are found for every pixel of facial image and then pixels having high valued GC are selected as the landmark points for that image [19]. For finding a set of GC, *five* different scales $v \in \{1,2,3,4,5\}$ and *eight* orientations $\mu \in \{0,1,2,3,4,5,6,7\}$ are used, i.e., 40 GC for each image. An original facial image and its expected Gabor-filtered images are depicted in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1 Original test face (left), and Gabor-filtered images for different frequencies and orientations (right)

3.3 Landmark Points Detection

In order to obtain landmark points in a facial image, a single-saliency value for each pixel is generated by adding all 40 GC. Each image is completely scanned through 7×7 window to choose the pixels in such a way that center pixel saliency value is higher than other pixels in that window, and all pixel saliency values are above the global average saliency computed over all the pixels [19]. All the identified pixels denote the landmark points in the facial image. In this paper, 80 such pixels are selected to represents landmark points. The sampled facial image with few of the landmark points is shown in Fig. 2.

3.4 Landmark Feature Vectors

A feature vector at each chosen landmark point is formed after landmark points section process. Then, Bi-Self-Organizing Map (Bi-SOM) utilizes these feature vectors as input for training purpose. The feature vectors are computed as a combination of transform coefficients of Gabor Wavelet. The *k*th feature vector for i^{th} facial image can be formulated as:

$$V_{i,k} = \left\{ G_{i,j}(x_k, y_k), x_k, y_k; \text{ for } j = 1, 2, \dots, 40 \right\}$$
(3)

where $V_{i,k}$ denotes *k*th feature vector of *i*th face (i.e., k = 1, 2, ..., 80 landmark points in the face), $G_{i,j}(x_k, y_k)$ represents 40 GC of each landmark point *k*, and (x_k, y_k) denotes location of *k*th landmark in an image *i*. Fig. 2 Few representative

image





Fig. 3 Structure of 42-dimensional feature vector

Feature vector consists of 42 components, first two from right denote the landmark point location and remaining 40 represents the magnitude of GC at various orientations and scales. Information about the feature locations assists in obtaining the feature vectors and facial geometry. The structure of feature vector is shown in Fig. 3.

Bi-Self-Organizing Map 4

The original self-organized map (SOM) has an ability to transform an arbitrary dimensional incoming signal pattern into discrete maps of dimension one or two. It is accomplished adaptively in a topologically ordered fashion [13, 18, 19, 22, 25]. Each input pattern typically constructed from a localized region whose nature and location differs from one realization of the input pattern to another. SOM is built on the architecture of neuron where each map attempts to reorient itself after each iteration on the basis of an input pattern. Each neuron is represented in the form of some weights, usually initialized by some values in the beginning of the process. After each iteration, neuron weights are adjusted if the neuron comes within the neighborhood of best matching unit (BMU).

Here, the original SOM is modified to capture the geometry of facial images named as Bi-Self-Organizing Map (Bi-SOM) which is used as a 2-D map of size 6×6 . In this map, the 42-dimensional weight vector is associated with each neuron. For initializing these weights vector, 36 vectors out of 80 input patterns are randomly selected and allocated in the ascending sequence of their pixel position in the face. Further, to find BMU, each input vector is chosen one by one and match with all the Bi-SOM neurons. The details of Bi-SOM and procedure of calculating match are provided in Algorithm 1 and 2. On the calculation of the BMU, the radius of the neighborhood is determined using the following formulation:

$$\sigma(t) = \sigma_0 e^{-\frac{t}{\lambda}}, \text{ for } t = 1, 2, 3, \dots$$
 (4)

where $\lambda = n/\log(\sigma_0)$ is time constant; σ_0 denotes lattice width at time t_0 and its value is six, *t* denotes current time-step, and *n* denotes iteration numbers.

During each iteration, weight vectors of BMU and its neighborhood nodes are settled using the following formulation:

$$W(t+1) = W(t) + L(t)(V(t) - W(t))$$
(5)

$$L(t) = L_0 e^{-\frac{t}{\lambda}}$$
, where $t = 1, 2, 3, \dots$ (6)

where L denotes the learning rate that reduces with time, and L_0 denotes its initial value; V(t) represents the input vector; t denotes current time step or iteration number; W(t) denotes neuron weight vector at time t.

After a fixed number of iterations, the proposed Bi-SOM technique generates the graph for each image. An initial Bi-SOM grid and face graph for a sample face is shown in Fig. 4a, b, respectively. The proposed Bi-SOM, each input vector is formed from two kinds of sub-vectors; (i) two-dimensional position vector of a selected pixel and (ii) 40-dimensional vector of GC. Finally, the best match unit (*BMU*) is obtained by combining the results calculated separately for each sub-vector.

5 The Proposed Graph Matching Procedure

Graph of an input facial image is matched with all face graphs in the database to recognize a person accurately. Due to the variation in pose and expression of two or more faces, their corresponding face graphs cannot be matched precisely. Hence, AGM operation is performed where the graph in the training set having the smallest



Fig. 4 For a sample face a Initial Bi-SOM grid, and b Face graph after training process

deviation from the test (or probe) facial image is granted to be the best match. The step-by-step procedure of the proposed approximate graph match technique is presented in Algorithm 3. Usually, for matching two face graphs simply GC are examined [8, 19], but the proposed technique also considers face geometry that exhibits the superior performance over conventional technique.

Algorithm 1: Bi-SOM Formulation

Step 1: Initialize Bi-SOM network neurons weights. These weights are having dimension same as input vectors.

Step 2: Randomly chose the input vector n from training images and supplied to the network.

Step 3: Among all neurons, select a neuron with weight closest to the input vector. The winning neuron is usually recognized as BMU as per Algorithm 2.

Step 4: Measure the neuron neighborhood ratios of BMU using Eq. (4). All neurons within this radius are assumed to be inside the neighborhood of BMU.

Step 5: Regulated the weight of each adjacent neuron to make it closer to the input vector. The weights of neurons that are closer to the BMU are mostly adjusted (using Eq. (5)) to reduce the distance from BMU.

Step 6: Repeat Steps 1 through 5 till all the prominent variations are recognized in the feature map.

Algorithm 2: Finding Best Match Unit

Step 1: Calculated the cosine distance using Eq. (7), i.e., C_j between an input vector and each neuron weight vectors of dimensions 40.

$$C_j = \sum \frac{x_i a_{i,j}}{|x_i| |a_{i,j}|}; \text{ for } i = 1, 2, \dots, 40$$
 (7)

where $X = \{x_i\}$ denotes input vector; $a_{i,j}$ represents *i*th dimension (Gabor coefficient) of *j*th neuron (j = 1, ..., 36).

Step 2: Calculated the Euclidean distance E_j (using Eq. (8)) between the input vector and 2-dimensional position vector of weights associated with each neuron.

$$E_j = \sqrt{\sum (x_i - a_{i,j})^2}$$
; for $i = 41, 42$, and $j = 1, 2, ..., 36$ (8)

Step 3: A neuron with maximum $(C_j - E_j)$ value is decided as BMU for that particular input vector.

Algorithm 3: Approximate Graph Match

Step 1: C_j and E_j (refer Eqs. (7) and (8)) calculated between each neuron of the probe and all neurons of gallery images. The C_j and E_j distances are used for a sub-vector having dimensions 40 and 2, respectively.

Step 2: Compute $(C_i - E_i)$ for each pair.

Step 3: The maximum $(C_j - E_j)$ value pair is recorded, and its value is added to the former sum set to zero initially.

Step 4: For each neuron of probe image above steps are executed, and final sum value is obtained by adding all maximum values. If final sum value is greater than a specified threshold, then face is recognized.

6 The Experimental Results

6.1 Databases Used

The details of benchmark face databases used in the present paper are given below:

6.1.1 ORL Face Database

In this database [26], total 400 images of 40 subjects are available, i.e., 10 images per subject. Facial images are varying in terms of facial expressions (smiling/non-smiling, open/closed eyes), lighting, and facial details (glasses/no-glasses). A dark homogeneous background is set for all captured images. All faces are gray-scale and size of 92×112 pixels. Frontal faces of each subject are used for training and remaining images are utilized for testing.



Fig. 5 Sample face images of FERET Dataset

6.1.2 FERET Face Database

The FERET database [16] is another benchmark facial image dataset which is utilized in present paper for analyzing the effectiveness of the proposed face recognition technique. There are 14,051 facial images of 1196 subjects. All faces are $256 \times$ 384 Gy scale images. Facial pictures of a particular subject were taken in sets of 5–11 photographs. Two frontal view faces one with a natural expression (fa), and other with alternative facial expression (fb) were captured.

For 200 sets of photographs, a third frontal face was captured under different lighting condition by a different camera (fc). The remaining pictures were recorded at various aspects of right and left profile such as (i) half right and half left profile (hr, hl), (ii) left and right profile (labeled pl and pr), and (iii) quarter right and the quarter left profile (qr, ql). In this paper, frontal views (fa- fb), profiles (pl-pf), and half-profiles (hl-hr) images are utilized in such a way that hr, pr, and fa images are utilized as gallery, while hl, pl, and fb are employed as probe (or testing). Figure 5 presents sample views of an individual from the FERET database.

6.2 Experimental Results

6.2.1 Experiments on ORL Face Dataset

All experiments are done on 400 images from ORL database. A single-frontal face per person is utilized for training. To examine the efficiency of the proposed technique, two criteria viz. False Rejection Ratio and False Acceptance Ratio, are used. To calculate False Rejection Ratio, training image of a person is matched with all the 10 images of that person (total 400 (40×10) comparisons are done). To calculate False Acceptance Ratio, all the training images are compared with other 39 images in the model database (total 1560 (39×40) comparisons are done). Threshold is set accordingly to reject and accept the images. The results thus obtained are: False acceptance rate (FAR) = 29.23\%; False rejection rate (FRR) = 30.25\%.

One more test is done to find the recognition results for frontal views of face images. Only frontal faces are chosen from ORL dataset. Here, one/two faces per subject are utilized for training, while testing is done with three faces per subject. The recognition results for first, and fifth ranks are shown in Table 1. The outcome

Table 1 Recognition	Results on ORL F	acial Dataset								
# Training images	Model gallery	Probe faces	EBGM Rank 1		Bi-SOM + AGM Rank 1		EBGM Rank 5		Bi-SOM + AGM Rank 5	
			#	%	#	%	#	%	# %	%
1	40	120	96	80.0	108	90.0	112	93.3	117	97.5
2	80	120	104	86.7	115	96.3	116	96.7	120	100

Data
Facial
ORL
on
Results
Recognition
ble 1

Model gallery	Probe images	EBGM Rank 1		Bi-SOM + AGM Rank 1	
		#	%	#	%
250 fa	250 fb	245	98.0	249	99.6
250 hr	250 hl	143	57.2	163	65.3
250 pr	250 pl	210	84.0	220	88.0

Table 2 Performance on FERET Dataset

of EBGM is calculated from the original code of Wiskott et al. [8].

6.2.2 Experiments on FERET Dataset

Further, experiments are conducted on the FERET facial dataset. From this, facial images with distinct poses are utilized for the experiments. The description of poses used in our experiments are as: face with frontal and natural expression (fa); frontal with distinct facial expression (fb); half-profile left (hl) and right (hr) (rotated by about 40° – 70°); and profile left (pl) and right (pr). The total 250 faces are chosen where faces are with and without glasses. Experiments are performed in following three sets: (i) Trained the system on frontal with natural expression, while testing is performed by frontal face with varying expression (fa–fb), (ii) Another run executed with pose distinction, i.e., half-profile right and half-profile left facial images (hl–hr), and (iii) with right profile and left profile faces (pl–pr). The outcome of EBGM and Bi-SOM + AGM regarding recognition rate (rank first) is presented in Table 2.

6.3 Performance Analysis

For ORL facial dataset, the FAR and FRR are obtained approximately 10%. The reason for high value of FAR and FRR are due to images with varying poses and expressions. Training is done only using one image per person and so the probability of getting rejected of images with side poses is very high. It can be seen from the results that if images with frontal view are used for testing then it shows accuracy of 90%. If two faces per subject are applied for training, then maximum faces are recognized accurately and producing the recognition accuracy greater than 96% for rank one matching, and it is 100% for rank 5.

For frontal against frontal images from FERET, the recognition result is quite high (99.6%). However, due to the facial asymmetry in or half left and half right profiles, performance decreased sharply. Although, results for all the three poses, i.e., frontal view, half profile and profile as presented in Table 2 indicates that the proposed Bi-SOM + AGM performed better than the EBGM technique. Additionally,

the proposed Bi-SOM + AGM eliminates the manual labeling problem of EBGM required for identifying features.

7 Conclusions

In the present paper, a novel technique is proposed to solve the face recognition problem. The proposed technique utilizes the architectural characteristics of the self-organized neural network to proposed new Bi-Self-Organizing Map (Bi-SOM). Moreover, the existing graph matching technique is also modified to make them appropriate for our scenario, named as approximate graph matching (AGM). The inherited characteristics of SOM and AGM make the proposed technique robust to different variations in captured facial images such as poses, and expressions. As related to elastic bunch graph matching (EBGM) approach, the proposed Bi-Self-Organizing Map (Bi-SOM + AGM) approach also reduces the manual efforts. The proposed technique is fully automated and give better performance as compared to other methods.

The future work will concentrate toward making the system more robust for illumination changes, occlusion, pose variation, and low-resolution FR problem.

References

- R. Chellappa, C.L. Wilson, S. Sirohey, Human and machine recognition of faces: a survey. Proc. IEEE 83(5), 705–740 (2004)
- B.S. Manjunath, Gabor wavelet transform and application to problems in computer vision, in *Proceedings of the 26th Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems and Computers*, Pacific Grove, CA, pp. 796–800 (Oct 1992)
- L.L. Shen, L. Bai, Gabor feature based face recognition using kernel methods, in *Proceedings* of 6th IEEE International Conference on Automatic Face and Gesture Recognition (FGR 2004), Seoul, Korea, pp. 170–176 (May 2004)
- 4. Z. Xiang, H. Tan, W. Ye, The Excellent properties of a dense grid-based HOG feature on face recognition compared to Gabor and LBP. IEEE Access **6**, 29306–29319 (2018)
- J. Yang, L. Luo, J. Qian, Y. Tai, F. Zhang, Y. Xu, Nuclear norm based matrix regression with applications to face recognition with occlusion and illumination changes. IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell. 39(1), 156–171 (2017)
- J. Zhang, Y. Yan, M. Lades, Face recognition: eigen-face, elastic matching, and neural nets. Proc. IEEE 85(9), 1423–1435 (1997)
- S.S. Rajput, K.V. Arya, Noise robust face hallucination via outlier regularized least square and neighbor representation. IEEE Trans. Biometrics Behav. Identity Sci. 1(4), 252–263 (2019)
- L. Wiskott, J.M. Fellous, N. Kuiger, C. von der Malsburg, Face recognition by elastic bunch graph matching. IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell. 19(7), 775–779 (1997)
- K. Hotta, Support vector machine with local summation kernel for robust face recognition, in *Proceedings of 17th International Conference on Pattern Recognition (ICPR'04)*, Cambridge, UK, vol. 3, pp. 482–485 (July, 2004)
- 10. D. Deng, J. Zhang, M. Purvis, Visualization and comparison of image collections based on self-organized maps, in *Proceedings of 2nd Workshop on Australasian Information Security*,

Data Mining, Web Intelligence and Software Internationalisation, Dunedin, New Zealand, vol. 32, pp. 97–102 (Jan 2004)

- S. Gunter, H. Bunke, Self-organizing map for clustering in the graph domain. Pattern Recogn. Lett. 23, 405–417 (2002)
- N. McLaughlin, J. Ming, D. Crookes, Largest matching areas for illumination and occlusion robust face recognition. IEEE Trans. Cybern. 47(3), 796–808 (2017)
- X. Tan, S. Chen, Z.H. Zhou, F. Zhang, Recognizing partially occluded, expression variant faces from single training image per person with SOM and Soft KNN Ensemble. IEEE Trans. on Neural Networks 16(4), 75–886 (2005)
- Hjelms, E.: Feature-based face recognition, in *Proceedings of Norwegian Image Processing* and Pattern Recognition Conference (NOBIM'2000), Trondheim, Norway, pp. 49–53 (June 2000)
- P. Phillips, The FERET database and evaluation procedure for face recognition algorithms. Image Vis. Comput. 16(5), 295–306 (1998)
- M. Neuhaus, H. Bunke, Self-organizing maps for learning the edit costs in graph matching. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. B Cybern. 35(3), 503–514 (2005)
- X. Tan, S. Chen, Z.H. Zhou, F. Zhang, Robust face recognition from a single training image per person with kernel-based SOM-face, in *Proceedings 1st International Symposium on Neural Networks (ISNN'04)*, Dalian, China, pp. 858–863 (Aug. 2004)
- X. Tan, S. Chen, Z.H. Zhou, F. Zhang, Feature selection for high dimensional face image using self-organizing maps, in *Proceed 9th Pacific-Asia Conference (PAKDD 2005)*, Hanoi, Vietnam, pp. 500–504 (May 2005)
- 19. T. Kohonen, Self-Organizing Maps, 3rd edn. (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2001)
- T.S. Lee, Image representation using 2-D Gabor wavelets. IEEE Trans. Pattern Ana. Mach. Intell. 18(10), 959–971 (1996)
- Y. Li, S. Gong, J. Sherrah, H. Liddell, Support vector machine based multi-view face detection and recognition. Image Vis. Comput. 22(5), 413–427 (2004)
- S.S. Rajput, A. Singh, K. Arya, J. Jiang, Noise robust face hallucination algorithm using local content prior based error shrunk nearest neighbors representation. Signal Process. 147, 233–246 (2018)
- X. Wang, X. Tang, Bayesian face recognition using Gabor features, in *Proceedings of the* 2003 ACM SIGMM workshop on Biometrics Methods and Applications, Berkley, California, pp. 70–73 (Nov 2003)
- T.P. Weldon, W.E. Higgins, Designing multiple Gabor filters for multi-texture image segmentation. Opt. Eng. 38(9), 1487–1489 (1999)
- H.U. Bauer, K.R. Pawelzik, Quantifying the neighbour-hood preservation of self-organizing feature maps. IEEE Trans. on Neural Networks 3(4), 570–579 (1992)
- 26. The Olivetti Research Laboratory Face Database. Available at URL: http://www.camorl.co.uk/ facedatabase.html

Design of MEMS Phase Shifters for Phased Array Antenna Applications



E. K. Arunima Raj and E. S. Shajahan

1 Introduction

Advancements in phased array antenna systems have brought about major developments in military radars [1], mobile communications, and satellite broadcasting for space communications [2]. It would be interesting if we look down for a narrow electromagnetic frequency beam for communication with conventional satellites. Due to the antennas size and weight, it can be quite difficult and costly to track a moving obstacle. Phased arrays are composed of several smaller, fixed antennas. Each unit transmits signal by changing the relative phase and the combination of all these small signals produces a large focused beam. A phased array antenna system tracks an obstacle regardless of its movements, without any mechanical moving parts.

PAA are also extensively used for obtaining fixed as well as steerable beam patterns. Beam produced by the PAA is steered in required direction by fine-tuning of phase of individual antenna element [1]. Phased array antenna is flexible for receiving signals from different directions which does not contain any obstacles, and transmit to the preferred direction. The antenna elements are fed through a phase shifter in order to obtain steerable beam pattern. The comprehension of mechanical phase shifter is costly and bulky so they are not preferable for smaller electronic devices due to area constraint [2, 3].

The approach to enhance the performance of the antenna is by synthesis of the array antenna. The antenna array is obtained by integrating different antenna elements in an array format [4]. Patch antenna with coaxial feed and the microstrip line-based phase shifters are used in a wide range of applications including healthcare applications [5]. In the current scenario, antenna array are used in Wi-Fi and LTE technology [6]. Mobile phone uses several compact multi-band antenna designs which are the

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_92

E. K. Arunima Raj (🖂) · E. S. Shajahan

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, College of Engineering Trivandrum, Trivandrum, Kerala, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1057 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

required characteristics of wireless devices. A bunched four-element linear phased array antenna with Wilkinson power divider as the feed technique is proposed [7, 8]. This work included the design of a phase shifter for a four elemental patch antenna array. This antenna could operate on 4.85 GHz. Entire plots are analyzed within the range of frequency 4–6.5 GHz which belongs to c-band, so this PAA is used for c-band applications. Our main intention is to construct a phase shifter small enough to fit within the antenna element, so that the proper realization is possible under each antenna unit.

As in switched-line phase shifter, input signal is fed to the antenna through the transmission line of different length which causes the signal captured by antenna on various times. Thus, a time delay is obtained in the switched-line phase shifter shown in [9] and [10]. A four-bit switched-line phase shifter recognition adopting microelectromechanical system is shown in [9] and in [10], and they described about constant phase shift produced between reference and phase shifter line. The phase shift produced by the extension of transmission lines with the help of switches is explained in this work.

The transmission lines are arranged in a circular trace around via which coaxial feed signal provided to the antenna. The measured results show that the four phases of 0° , 90° , 180° , and 270° should be achieved.

2 Design

A four-elemental rectangular patch antenna with coaxial feed is designed and simulated in high-frequency structural simulator (HFSS). All the antennas are identical in dimension as well as in structure. The antenna and the phase shifter are kept on a separate dielectric substrate with an air gap, contribute to a negligible error resulting from local reflections, and a great saving in solution time also [11]. The antenna designed for frequency 4.8 GHz, RogersRT/Duroid6006, is used as a dielectric substrate for an antenna with a relative permittivity of 6.15. The size of an antenna is inversely proportional to the dielectric constant, higher the dielectric constant causes to minimize the size of the antenna. The dielectric substrate for phase shifter is DuroidTM with a relative permittivity of 2.2, and 1.524 mm is the height of the dielectric substrate in both cases. 11.37 mm and 20.73 mm are the length and width of antenna, respectively [3]. The antenna elements as well as the phase shifter structures are implanted on a substrate with the length of 81 mm and width of 142 mm. The antenna elements are placed at a distance of half-wavelength apart. For obtaining high gain and reduced spurious effect, the phase shifter is kept on isolated from the antenna. With this design, the radiation pattern of the antenna is obtained in the desired direction with suppressed side lobes, and it also helps to reduce the false signals. In [10], they find out that the ration of the main lobe to the side lobes for an antenna with a separate feeding network which was double for an antenna on the same substrate, and values are: antenna with separate feeding network is -11.9 dB. The antenna and feed networks are placed on the same substrate resulted in -5.35 dB (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Transmission line dimensions on a phase shifter [3]

2.1 Phase Shifter Structure with Wilkinson Power Divider Feed Network

The antenna and phase shifter is designed on different substrate, and phase shifters are placed under each antenna element through which the input signals are feeding. The Wilkinson power divider is used as feed network to the antenna through a phase shifter. The Wilkinson feed connected antenna array is shown in Fig. 2. The Wilkinson power divider/Wilkinson combiner separates input to provide two output signals which are in phase by splitting the applied input signal by using quarter wave transformers. The two output ports have resistance between them which provide isolation as well as facilitate the impedance match between two outcomes. The Wilkinson power divider resistance does not dissipate any power; hence, it is considered as theoretically loss less. The values within the Wilkinson power divider/combiner can be calculated using Eqs. (1) and (2).

It is necessary to ensure that the impedance within the Wilkinson power divider is maintained because of the power is being split. In order to achieve the above structure, represent phase shifter with Wilkinson's power divider along feed network. As the power is being split, it is necessary to ensure that the impedance with in Wilkinson's dividers are maintained. For achieving this, four output ports must appear as impedance of $4Z_0$ because they are in parallel will represent an overall impedance of Z_0 . At the time of signal transformation, the feed impedance gets maintained.





$$R = 2Z_0 \tag{1}$$

$$Z_{\text{MATCH}} = \sqrt{2}Z_0 = 1.414Z_0 \tag{2}$$

RThe resistance value connected between two ports.Z_oImpedance characteristics of overall system.Z_MATCHPower divider impedance.

2.2 Antenna Design

Antenna receives the input signals which are phase shifted through contact at the center of the phase shifter. The antenna uses coaxial feed technique so as to easily combine with the input signal feed through the via where all traces of the transmission lines of the phase shifter are connected. The antenna is designed on the Rogers RT/Duroid 6006 substrate of thickness 1.524 mm. Patch antenna is on the top of the substrate, and by solving the equation given below, the antenna parameters are obtained.

Width
$$(w) = \frac{C}{2f_r \frac{\sqrt{\varepsilon_r + 2}}{2}}$$
 (3)

length
$$(l) = L_{\rm eff} - 2\Delta L$$
 (4)

$$L_{\rm eff} = \frac{C}{2f_{\rm r}\sqrt{\varepsilon_{\rm eff}}} \tag{5}$$

Design of MEMS Phase Shifters for Phased ...

The ground plane is situated in the bottom portion of the substrate. An inner conducting coaxial cable with a diameter 'a' is starting from the patch antenna and ended at the contact, caused by penetrating through the substrate and ground. While there is an outer coaxial feed of diameter 'b' surrounded by the inner conducting structure.

Here 'w' and 'l' are the width and length of the antenna, respectively, ' f_r ' is the resonant frequency, and 'h' is the thickness of the dielectric substrate (1.524 mm). The resonant frequency for the structure is 4.85 GHz. Solving Eqs. (3) and (4), the width dimension is found to be 11.2 mm, and the length of dimension 20.88 mm is obtained, respectively. Antenna dimensional parameters are shown in Fig. 3. Thus, the theoretical and simulated values are found in good agreement (Table 1).



Table 1	Patch antenna
dimensio	onal parameters

Parameters	Values (mm)
Width of the antenna (<i>w</i>)	10.81
Length of the antenna (<i>l</i>)	21.21
Distance between the patch and coaxial cable (x)	11.048
Height of the coaxial cable (<i>h</i>)	9.524
Diameter of the inner coaxial cable (a)	0.4
Diameter of the outer coaxial cable (b)	0.7

3 Simulation Results

The simulation and analysis of the phase shifter are done in Ansoft HFSS. The MEMS phase shifter is designed on dielectric substrate having the thickness of 1.524 mm.

Each phase shifter structure contains four arms of transmission lines, and the switches turn ON an OFF to produce 90° phase shift. The different combination of these transmission lines result in four-phase shifts such as, 0° , 90° , 180° , and 270° . Conducting rectangular sheets are provided as a lumped port for the input and output port of feed the network. Top view of the proposed phased array antenna is shown in Fig. 4, and the slant view is also shown in Fig. 5.

When MEMS bridges touch the dielectric layer on the application of an external excitation. So that it makes a connection between the ground and the transmission



Fig. 4 Top view of the phased array antenna



Fig. 5 Slant view of the phased array antenna



Fig. 6 S-parameter plot

line and acts as a short circuit which in turns varies the MEMS capacitance. This results in a change in impedance of the loaded transmission-line and phase velocity, which in turn causes the phase shift [12].

When simulating the entire designed structure, we obtain the reflection coefficient or S11 parameter as shown in Fig. 6 and the value nearly equal to -38.07 dB at frequency 5.25 GHz. The array antenna performance is very good within this array pattern; we obtain proper radiation also. The simulation in HFSS gives the plot between reflection coefficient (S11) in dB versus frequency in GHz, wrapped phase shifter in degree versus frequency in GHz, and unwrapped phase shifter in degree versus frequency in GHz. For each case of the phase shifter designed separately, analyze the results. While looking for the phase shift concept, simply explained as the structure, Fig. 7 shows each transmission line are of identical structure and get connected to the central via contacting strip denoted by yellow color. In the ON state, as the number of periodic elements increases, the insertion loss increases, and thus the delay of input signal increases. When the left most transmission line connected the via shows 0° phase shift which is the reference, then the next transmission line gets added to the existing structure with an ON state switch resulted in 90° phase shift. Then, adding second transmission line provides a phase shift of 90° which all together resulted in 180°, and similarly when the third transmission line gets added, it will also provide a phase shift of another 90 which all together contributed to a phase change of 270°. For each case of the phase shifter designed separately, analyze the results.

3.1 Scattering Parameters

The S11 graph represents the reflection coefficient or the scattering parameter. How much power is reflecting from an antenna is measured here, so it is called the reflection coefficient (γ) or return loss. When S11 = 0 dB, then nothing is radiated from the



Fig. 7 Phase shifter with on and off state of the switch for each phase

antenna since all power is reflected. When the antenna is designed with low loss the total power remaining after reflection gets radiated. The peaks in the graph represent the frequency at which the input is radiated, and whenever the reflection coefficient increases in negative value, the radiation will be improved that much.

In the reflection coefficient as well as the frequency graph is given below in Fig. 8, the black line in the plot represents the graph for 0° and the reflection coefficient obtained for this phase shift is -1.3 dB, the green line in the plot represents the graph for 90° and the reflection coefficient obtained for this phase shift is -9.64 dB, the blue line in the plot represents graph for 180° and the reflection coefficient obtained for this phase shift is -12.98 dB, and the red line in the plot represents graph for 270° , and the reflection coefficient obtained for this phase shift is -18.96 dB where the radiation obtained is maximum.

3.2 Phase Shift Characteristics

All geometric structures constructed in HFSS have some inductance capacitance resistance values. For example, inductance opposes current due to back emf the

current reaches a peak value after voltage. Since the current and voltage no longer rises or fall together, there causes a phase shift in circuits which is the basis of phase shifter circuits constructed. The phase angle is the angle between the equivalent reactants and equivalent resistance of the circuit. It is an important parameter as it decides the power factor and power consumed. It can be plotted in two ways wrapped and unwrapped phase shifts.

In wrap phase shift characteristics, all phase values are concentrated to a range of -180° to $+180^{\circ}$. Figure 9 shows that the addition of each transmission line gets contributed to a 90° phase shift. That is, in the first case, the red graph represents the reference value of 5.3489° , and by adding the first transmission line, we obtained a phase value of 93.5683° represented by the blue graph. The phase difference between this phase values resulted in -88.2194° . Again by adding the next transmission line, we obtain the value equal to 177.4695° given by the pink graph in the figure, and the phase shift obtained as -83.9012° . The last transmission line added will provide a value equal to 80.5034° given by the green graph. Then, the phase shift is about



Fig. 8 Plot of scattering parameter versus frequency



Fig. 9 Plot of wrap phase shift versus frequency



Fig. 10 Plot of unwrap phase shift versus frequency

96.9661°. All the responses are obtaining within the frequency 4.8826 GHz. Thus, in each case, a phase shift value nearly equal to 90° in magnitude is obtained.

3.3 Unwrap Phase Shift Plot

The phase values are unwrap with reference to the frequency axis. It represent actual phase shift of the circuit. In the phase shift versus frequency graph shown in Fig. 10, there is a reference phase given by the red plot. The brown graph shows a phase shift value of -91.732° , instead of -90° , and the blue graph represents -180.514° , instead of -180° , and the phase shifter shows -269.394° , instead of -270° denoted by the violet graph. All these values obtained at 4.85 GHz. The errors obtained are 1.732° , 0.514° , and 0.605° , respectively, for 90° , 180° , and 270° . In each of the cases, we obtained a negligible error, so the structure designed almost in a precise manner.

3.4 Radiation Pattern

Radiation pattern shows how strongly antenna radiate in particular direction. The corresponding 3D and 2D radiation pattern for designed structure is represented in Figs. 11 and 12, respectively.

When a single-phase shifter structure attached to an antenna element is considered, the gain value obtained is 1.5373 dB. When it becomes two antenna structure feed through two phase shifters separately then gain increased to 3.6065 dB and so on. Fig. 13 gives the gain for designed phased array antenna with a maximum value of 9.3966 dB. The periodic cascading of the unit elements will represent an improved gain is given in Table 2.



Fig. 12 2D radiation pattern of designed phase shifter

The 2D radiation pattern observed with each phase shifting values is represented in Fig. 14.The steering of beam pattern is obtained for each phase shift is combined together in Fig. 15, which separately represent the radiation pattern for 0° , 90° , 180° , and 270° phase shift values. The beam steering angle is calculated using Eq. (6),

$$\Delta \varphi = \frac{2 \times \pi \times d \times \sin \theta}{\lambda} \tag{6}$$

where

 λ Wavelength.



Fig. 13 Gain of designed phase shifter

Table 2	Comparison	of g	ain
---------	------------	------	-----

Number of antenna element in a phased array	Gain total in dB
1 antenna	1.5373
2 antenna	3.6065
4 antenna	9.3966

- θ The phase shift provided.
- $\Delta \varphi$ Beam steering angle.
- *D* Distance between antenna element.

Here, we come up with MEMS switches for tuning because they have some advantages over PIN diodes, such as higher quality factor, lower insertion loss, lower noise figure, higher linearity, lower power losses, and very little DC power consumption. Recent advances in MEMS technology enable the realization of MEMS with improved switching speed and compact size. The MEMS switches and PIN diodes were found to provide comparable performance in on-state configuration, while MEMS switches were more robust in off-state, high-powered operation, and they also provide higher isolation. So MEMS switching has more advantages over other tuning methods.

4 Conclusion

The designed phase shifter for antenna array performance not only met the design expectation but also produce good results. When each transmission line traces of



Fig. 14 D radiation pattern for different phase shifts

phase shifter added to the provided reference line and phase shift values near to 90° with a minimum reflection is obtained. So we obtain 0° , 90° , 180° , and 270° , respectively while adding each transmission line traces with connecting to an ON switch. A beam steering was obtained at the desired frequency band. All plots such as scattering parameter versus frequency, phase shift versus frequency are obtained within the range of frequency 4–6.5 GHz at c-band. So this design is very useful to characterize the phased array antenna in c-band applications. The design of the phase shifter done in order to fit within the space of antenna elements, and this is also very useful for small electronic devices that contain antenna elements which have area constraint. The simulation also resulted in proper beam steering as well as the narrow beam production of the field towards the desired direction. This phase shifting method can be used for directional beam pattern required Wi-Fi applications, TV stations, smart antenna, MIMO communications, radar scanning, beam steering technologies, etc.



Fig. 15 Radiation pattern for different phase shifts

References

- T. Kinghorn, I. Scott, E. Totten, Recent advances in airborne phased array radar systems, in IEEE International Symposium on Phased Array Systems and Technology (PAST), pp. 1–7 (2016)
- K. ASarabandi, F. Wang, Phased array of large reflectors for deep-space communication. IEEE Trans. Aerosp. Electron. Syst. 43(1), 251–261 (2007)
- R.L. Timsina, R.A. Messner, J.L. Kubwimana, A compact design of switched line phase shifter for microstrip phased array antenna, in *Progress In Electromagnetics Research Symposium— Fall (PIERS—FALL)*, Singapore, 19–22 Nov 2017
- 4. R. J. Mailloux, Phased Array Antenna Handbook (2005)
- S.I. Latif, D.A. Nelson, V. La, An on-body conformai printed array antenna at mm wave frequencies for healthcare applications, in 2016 17th International Symposium on Antenna Technology and Applied Electromagnetics (ANTEM), pp. 1–2 (2016)
- M.S.R. Bashri, T. Arslan, W. Zhou, A dual-band linear phased array antenna for WiFi and LTE mobile application, in *Loughborough Antennas Propogation Conference (LAPC)*, pp. 1–5 (2015)
- H.W. Hsieh, Y.C. Lee, K.K. Tiong, J.S. Sun, Design of a multiband antenna for mobile handset operations. IEEE Antennas Wiel. Propag. Lett. 8, 200–203 (2009)

- K.C. Lin, C.H. Lin, Y.C. Lin, Simple printed multi band antenna with novel parasitic-element design for multi standard mobile phone applications. IEEE Antennas Wiel. Propag. Lett. 61(1), 448–491 (2013)
- Y. Huang, J. Bao, X. Li, Y. Wang, Y. Du, A 4-bit Switched-line phase shifter based on MEMS switches, in 10th IEEE International Conference on Nano/Micro Engineered and Molecular Systems, pp. 405–408 (2015)
- J. Zhang, S.W. Cheung, Design of 90° Switched line phase shifter with constant phase shift using CRLH TL, in PIERS Processing, Guangzhou, August 25–28, pp. 1655–1658 (2014)
- N. Appannagaari, I. Bardi, R. Edlinger, J. Manges, M. Vogel, Z. Cendes, Modeling Phased Array Antenna in Ansoft HFSS, PA 152 19, 0–7803–6345-O/IEEEEEE Antennas (2000)
- 12. A. Chakraborty, B. Gupta, Paradigm phase shift: RF MEMS phase shifters: an overview. IEEE Microw. Mag. (2017)

Sierpinski Fractal-Based Ceramic Antenna for Wideband Applications



Kapil Gangwar, Anand Sharma, and Ravi Kumar Gangwar

1 Introduction

Current advancements of technology in cellular communication mainly focus on high-speed data rates. Dielectric radiator antennas play a vital role to yield wideband applications for microwave and mm-wave frequency range. The height and radius of the cylindrical dielectric resonator decide the resonating frequency [1]. Advantages of using dielectric resonator comprised of no conductor and surface wave losses, stable radiation pattern, lighter weight, lower fabrication complexity, and circular polarization [2, 3]. Higher-order radiating modes and reduction in volume-to-surface ratio are some of the predominant techniques to accomplish wideband characteristics [4].

Fractal geometry is a self-similar pattern which has manifested to be convenient for enhancing the wide impedance bandwidth. This concept is suitable to combine the two technique, i.e., reduction in Q-factor and descending higher-order modes frequency spaces [5]. Gangwar et al. proposed DRA conferred the wideband application used a rectangular shaped fractal design with an operating bandwidth of 18.44% [6]. Hajihashemi and Abiri were the researchers who presented wideband fractal Koch Island geometry-based DRA yielding $\sim 26.4\%$ bandwidth [7]. Introductory investigation on Sierpinski fractal geometry-based dielectric resonator antenna was proposed by Prof. Ghatak providing 31.1% impedance bandwidth [8]. Pixelated [9]

K. Gangwar (⊠)

University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada e-mail: kgangwar@ualberta.ca

A. Sharma Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, India

R. K. Gangwar Indian Institute of Technology (ISM) Dhanbad, Dhanbad, Jharkhand, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1073 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_93

and Minkowski [10] fractal geometry is also formerly used to build DRA producing 32.32% and 32.64% bandwidth, respectively.

In this paper, Sierpinski fractal geometry-based cylindrical and ring dielectric resonator antenna is proposed. Radiating modes and reduction in volume-to-surface ratio coalesce to expound the wide impedance bandwidth behavior using fractal design methodology. The proposed radiator design works in the frequency range of 2.45–3.55 GHz.

2 Aerial Structure and Design

The geometrical arrangement of the proposed fractal radiator is shown in Fig. 1. The cylindrical and ring resonators are made up of alumina material having dielectric constant of 9.8 and loss tangent of 0.002. The parental cylindrical DRA radius (R1) and height (H) are 25 mm and 13.0 mm correspondingly. It is fed with a coaxial probe of height 11.4 mm. Initially, this DRA is placed on the copper ground plane having a depth (H1) of 1.6 mm and diameter (R) of 150.0 mm. The parental DRA center is placed at the distance (D) of 13.0 mm from the center of the ground plane. The radius (R2) of the first iteration ring resonators is 19.0 mm.

The radius (R3) of the second iteration ring resonators is 15.0 mm. The radius (R4) of the third iteration is 11.0 mm. The thickness (D) and height (H) of all the ring resonators are 3.0 mm and 13.0 mm, respectively.

3 Outcomes and Its Analysis

This section shows the simulated results of the proposed fractal-based DRA. Figure 2 shows simulated S11 with respect to frequency for all the iteration used in the proposed antenna design. From Fig. 2, it can be noticed that the operational bandwidth increases for each iteration till third iteration which works over the frequency range of 2.45–3.55 GHz. Figure 3a, b shows the far-field of the proposed Ariel at 2.75 GHz in both principal plane, respectively. At 2.25 GHz, diversified radiation pattern characteristics are being observed for the third iteration fractal antenna.

Peak gain (simulated) and radiation efficiency (simulated) as a function of frequency are shown by Fig. 4. It can be stated that the maximum value of gain is ~ 6.18 dBi. The radiation efficiency is about 90% in the working frequency range.

Table 1 presents comparison with reference to shape, bandwidth, and fabrication complexity for the proposed antenna geometry with some previously designed fractal-based antenna geometries. From Table 1, it can be observed that the projected


fractal radiator geometry exceeds in bandwidth and fabrication complexity properties contrast to previously designed antenna structures based on fractal design methodology.



Fig. 2 S11 (simulated) variation with respect to frequency for all iterations used in proposed antenna geometry

4 Conclusion

In this article, a Sierpinski fractal-based cylindrical and ring dielectric resonator antenna have been presented. The antenna provides the wideband characteristics by compounding two techniques: generation of higher-order radiating modes and reduction in volume-to-surface ratio. The proposed fractal antenna works in the frequency range of 2.45–3.55 GHz having a maximum gain of 6.18 dBi. The proposed antenna can be efficiently used for WLAN (2.5 GHz) and WiMAX (3.3 GHz) applications.



Fig. 3 Radiation pattern (simulated) at 2.75 GHz: a E-plane, b H-plane



Fig. 4 Peak Gain (simulated) and radiation efficiency (simulated) as a function of frequency

Table 1 Comparison with reference to shape, pandwidth, and fabrication complexity for the proposed proposed antenna geometry with some previously designed fractal-based antenna geometries	Fractal geometry	DRA shape	Bandwidth (%)	Fabrication complexity
	Square [6]	Rectangular	18.44	High
	Koch island [7]	Rectangular	26.4	Very high
	Modified square [8]	Rectangular	31.10	Very high
	Pixelated [9]	Rectangular	32.32	Very high
	Minkowski [4]	Triangular	32.64	Low

References

1. K.M. Luk, K.W. Leung, Dielectric Resonator Antenna (Research Studies, Baldock, U.K., 2003)

Cylindrical

36.66

Low

Proposed

- 2. A. Petosa, *Dielectric Resonator Antenna Handbook* (Artech House, Norwood, MA, USA, 2007)
- M.A. Abdelaal, A.A. Kishk, Wideband circularly polarized dielectric resonator antenna for GPS and GNSS applications, in 2016 17th International Symposium on Antenna Technology and Applied Electromagnetics (ANTEM), Montreal, QC, pp. 1–2 (2016). https://doi.org/10.

1109/ANTEM.2016.7550215

- K. Gangwar, A. Sharma, G. Das, R.K. Gangwar, Investigation on novel wideband fractal antenna design based on cylindrical shape dielectric resonator. Int. J. RF Microw. Comput.-Aided Eng. 29(11) (2019)
- 5. J. Gianvittorio, Y.R. Samii, Fractal antennas: a novel antenna miniaturization technique and applications. IEEE Antennas Propag. Mag. 44, 20–36 (2002)
- R.K. Gangwar, S.P. Singh, D. Kumar, A modified fractal rectangular curve dielectric resonator antenna for WiMAX applications. Progress Electromagn. Res. C 12, 37–51 (2010)
- M.R. Hajihashemi, H. Abiri, Parametric study of novel dielectric resonator antennas based on fractal geometry. Int. J. RF Microw. Comput.-Aided Eng. 17, 416–424 (2007)
- R. Ghatak, D. Soren, R.K. Mishra, et al.: Investigations on modified rectangular fractal curveshaped dielectric resonator antenna. Int. J. RF Microw. Comput.-Aided Eng. 22, 394–401 (2012)
- S.T. Van, Y. Yang, K.Y. Lee et al., A wideband circularly polarized pixelated dielectric resonator antenna. Sensors 16, 1–7 (2016)
- D. Sur, A. Sharma, R.K. Gangwar, et al.: A novel wideband Minkowski fractal antenna with assistance of triangular dielectric resonator elements. Int. J. RF Microw. Comput.-Aided Eng. 29, 1–7 (2019)

Further Results on Delay-Dependent Stability Analysis of Uncertain Discrete-Time Systems Exerting Generalized Overflow Nonlinearities and Time-Varying Delays



Pushpendra Kumar Gupta, Kalpana Singh, and V. Krishna Rao Kandanvli

1 Introduction

When a category of discrete-time systems (DTS) are realized using fixed-point arithmetic via computer or digital hardware, nonlinearities (quantization/overflow) are encountered due to finite wordlength effects [1–13]. There is a chance of instability in the designed DTS due to such nonlinearities [1–13]. One can neglect the quantization effects if the size of quantization step is small and considered only overflow effects [1, 3–5, 7–13].

Besides nonlinearities, time delays are another factor that makes the system unstable. Time delays occurred in many practical engineering systems such as neural network [14], robust control system [15], sensor network [16], multi-path communication system, Markovian jump system [17], etc. Several results are reported in the literature on the stability issues concerning to the systems with constant delay [3, 4, 7, 8, 10, 18–20] and systems in presence of time-varying delay (TVD) [6, 7, 9, 14, 17, 21–23]. While dealing with the TVD in the DTS, it is often that one must find the upper delay bound (UDB) for the given lower delay bound (LDB) so that the system is stable. One can achieve less conservative stability results by selecting proper Lyapunov–Krasovskii function (LKF) and/or tighter estimation on the sum and cross term of the forward difference (FD) of the LKF. Several techniques are available to handle the sum and cross terms of the FD of the LKF such as Free weighting matrix [7], Jensen inequality [9], Wirtinger-based inequality [6, 8, 24] and Reciprocal convex lemma [6, 21], etc.

P. K. Gupta $(\boxtimes) \cdot K$. Singh $\cdot V$. K. R. Kandanvli

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Prayagraj 211004, India

V. K. R. Kandanvli e-mail: rao@mnnit.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1081 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_94

Another factor that may lead the system toward instability is parameter uncertainty (PU) and the effects of PU is extensively studied in [3, 4, 6-10, 15, 18-20, 25].

To the best of author's knowledge, very few results are available in the literature concerning to the stability analysis of DTS involving TVD, PU and generalized overflow nonlinearities (GON) [3, 7, 9]. The criterion in [3] is delay-independent and the criteria in [7, 9] are delay-dependent. In general, delay-independent criterion provides more conservativeness than delay-dependent criterion. For handling the sum and cross term of the FD of the LKF, free weighting matrix method is used in [7], whereas Jensen's inequality is employed in [9]. The Wirtinger inequality [6, 24] and Reciprocal convex lemma [6, 21] are used in this paper to this end. The development of the stability criterion with less conservativeness and GON is an important and challenging task. Motivated by the above discussion, in this paper, we focus on the global asymptotic stability (G.A.S.) problem for the DTS with TVD, parameter uncertainties and GON.

The organization of the remaining paper is as follows. In Sect. 2, the system under investigation is described while, in Sect. 3, two new computationally tractable delay-dependent criteria are proposed. In Sect. 4, three examples are provided to show the efficacy and improvement over previously reported criteria. Finally, concluding statements of the paper is given in Sect. 5.

Notations: Throughout the paper, $\mathbb{R}^{\alpha \times \beta}$ stands for the set of real $\alpha \times \beta$ matrices. \mathbb{R}^{α} represents the set of real $\alpha \times 1$ vectors. \mathbb{Z}^{T} stands for the transpose of the \mathbb{Z} matrix. $\mathbb{Z} > \mathbf{0}$ and $\mathbb{Z} < \mathbf{0}$ means that \mathbb{Z} is positive and negative definite symmetric matrix, respectively. * symbol infers the symmetric terms of a symmetric matrix. The diagonal matrix with diagonal elements g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_n is represented by $diag(g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_n)$. **0** is null matrix or null vector of suitable dimension. I is the identity matrix of compatible dimension.

2 System Description

The system under consideration is given by

$$\boldsymbol{w}(u+1) = \boldsymbol{\lambda}(\boldsymbol{z}(u))$$
$$= \left[\lambda_1(\boldsymbol{z}_1(u))\,\lambda_2(\boldsymbol{z}_2(u))\dots\lambda_n(\boldsymbol{z}_n(u))\right]^T$$
(1a)

$$z(u) = \overline{\mathbf{A}} \boldsymbol{w}(u) + \overline{\mathbf{A}}_{\mathbf{d}} \boldsymbol{w}(u - h(u))$$
$$= [z_1(u) \, z_2(u) \dots z_n(u)]^T$$
(1b)

$$\boldsymbol{w}(u) = \boldsymbol{\varphi}(u), \forall u \in [-d_2, 0]$$
(1c)

Further Results on Delay-Dependent Stability Analysis ...

$$\overline{\mathbf{A}} = \mathbf{A} + \Delta \mathbf{A}, \ \overline{\mathbf{A}}_d = \mathbf{A}_d + \Delta \mathbf{A}_d \tag{1d}$$

where $\boldsymbol{w}(u) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is the state variable; $\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{d}} \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ are the known constant matrices; the unknown matrices $\Delta \mathbf{A}, \Delta \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{d}} \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ representing parametric uncertainties in $\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{d}}$, respectively; the initial state value at time u is $\boldsymbol{\varphi}(u) \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

The characteristic of GON is specified by [1, 3, 5, 7–9]

$$L \le \lambda_i(z_i(u)) \le 1, \qquad z_i(u) > 1 \lambda_i(z_i(u)) = z_i(u), \qquad -1 \le z_i(u) \le 1 -1 \le \lambda_i(z_i(u)) \le -L, \qquad z_i(u) < -1$$
 $i = 1, 2, 3 \dots n$ (2a)

where

$$L \in [-1, 1] \tag{2b}$$

With applicable choice of L, (2) represents the usual types of overflow arithmetic employed in practice, such as zeroing (L = 0), saturation (L = 1), triangular (L = -1) and two's complement (L = -1), etc., and the TVD h(u) satisfying

$$1 \le d_1 \le h(u) \le d_2 \tag{3}$$

where d_1 is the LDB and d_2 is the UDB. The parameter uncertainties in the state matrices are of the following form

$$\Delta \mathbf{A} = \boldsymbol{H}_0 \mathbf{F}_0 \boldsymbol{E}_0 \tag{4a}$$

$$\Delta \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{d}} = \boldsymbol{H}_1 \mathbf{F}_1 \boldsymbol{E}_1 \tag{4b}$$

where $H_i \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times p_i}$, $E_i \in \mathbb{R}^{q_i \times n}$ (i = 0, 1) are known constant matrices and $\mathbf{F}_i \in \mathbb{R}^{p_i \times q_i}$ (i = 0, 1) is an unknown matrix which satisfies

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{i}}^{T}\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{i}} \le \mathbf{I}, \ i = 0, 1.$$

$$(4c)$$

Equations (1)–(4) is helpful to represent many practical engineering problems like fixed-point processor used in digital control systems, Hopfield neural networks, Sensor networks with finite word length register, cold rolling mills. Network control system is also an example of discrete-time system represented by (1)–(4), where generated delay is time-varying which may be induced due to network transmission.

The following lemmas are useful in obtaining our main results.

Lemma 1 [6, 24] For a given matrix $\mathbf{0} < N = N^T$ and three non-negative integers

 b_1, b_2, u , as $b_1 \le b_2 \le u$, if

$$\boldsymbol{\zeta}(u, b_1, b_2) = \frac{1}{b_2 - b_1} \left[\left(2 \sum_{k=u-b_2}^{u-b_1-1} \boldsymbol{w}(k) \right) + \boldsymbol{w}(u-b_1) - \boldsymbol{w}(u-b_2) \right], \ b_1 < b_2$$

$$= 2 \boldsymbol{w}(u-b_1), \ b_1 = b_2 \tag{5}$$

then

$$-(b_2 - b_1) \sum_{k=u-b_2}^{u-b_1-1} \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\mathrm{T}}(k) N \boldsymbol{\xi}(k) \leq -\left[\frac{\boldsymbol{\theta}_0}{\boldsymbol{\theta}_1}\right]^{\mathrm{T}} \begin{bmatrix} N & \boldsymbol{0} \\ \boldsymbol{0} & 3N \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\theta}_0 \\ \boldsymbol{\theta}_1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(6)

where

$$\boldsymbol{\theta}_0 = \boldsymbol{w}(u - b_1) - \boldsymbol{w}(u - b_2) \tag{7}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\theta}_1 = \boldsymbol{w}(u - b_1) + \boldsymbol{w}(u - b_2) - \boldsymbol{\zeta}(u, b_1, b_2)$$
(8)

$$\boldsymbol{\xi}(k) = \boldsymbol{w}(k+1) - \boldsymbol{w}(k) \tag{9}$$

Lemma 2 [3, 4, 6–10, 15, 18–20, 25] Let U, Λ , Θ and Ξ be matrices (real) of suitable dimensions with $\Xi = \Xi^{T}$, then

$$\Xi + \mathbf{U} \Theta \mathbf{\Lambda} + \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\mathrm{T}} \Theta^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{U}^{T} < \mathbf{0}$$
⁽¹⁰⁾

for all $\Theta^{T} \Theta \leq \mathbf{I}$, if there exists a positive scalar ε such that

$$\boldsymbol{\Xi} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{-1} \mathbf{U} \mathbf{U}^{\mathrm{T}} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \, \boldsymbol{\Lambda}^{\mathrm{T}} \, \boldsymbol{\Lambda} < \mathbf{0} \tag{11}$$

Lemma 3 [4, 5, 8, 13] Consider the matrix $C = [c_{\alpha\beta}] \in \mathbf{R}^{n \times n}$ is given by

$$c_{\alpha\alpha} = \sum_{\beta=1, \, \beta\neq\alpha}^{n} (\xi_{\alpha\beta} + \psi_{\alpha\beta}), \quad \alpha = 1, 2 \dots n$$
 (12a)

$$c_{\alpha\beta} = L(\xi_{\alpha\beta} - \psi_{\alpha\beta}), \ \alpha, \beta = 1, 2, \dots n \ (\alpha \neq \beta)$$
(12b)

$$\xi_{\alpha\beta} > 0, \ \psi_{\alpha\beta} > 0, \ \alpha, \beta = 1, 2, \dots n \ (\alpha \neq \beta)$$
 (12c)

$$L \in [0, 1] \tag{12d}$$

(for n = 1, C turn into a positive scalar), then

1084

Further Results on Delay-Dependent Stability Analysis ...

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} 2[z_{\alpha}(u) - \lambda_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}(u))] \left[\sum_{\beta=1, \beta \neq \alpha}^{n} (\xi_{\alpha\beta} + \psi_{\alpha\beta})\lambda_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}(u)) + L(\xi_{\alpha\beta} - \psi_{\alpha\beta})\lambda_{\beta}(z_{\beta}(u)) \right]$$
$$= z^{\mathrm{T}}(u) C \lambda(z(u)) + \lambda^{\mathrm{T}}(z(u)) C^{\mathrm{T}}z(u) - \lambda^{\mathrm{T}}(z(u))(C + C^{\mathrm{T}})\lambda(z(u)) \ge 0$$
(13)

where $\lambda(z(u))$ is given by (2a) and (12d).

Lemma 4 [4, 5, 8, 12] Consider $D = diag(g_1, g_2, ..., g_n) > 0$. Then, concerning to (2a) and $L \in [-1, 0)$, the relation given below is fulfilled.

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} 2d_k[z_k(u) - \lambda_k(z_k(u))][-Lz_k(u) + \lambda_k(z_k(u))]$$

= $(1+L)z^{\mathrm{T}}(u)\mathbf{D}\lambda(z(u)) + (1+L)\lambda^{\mathrm{T}}(z(u))\mathbf{D}z(u)$
 $- 2\lambda^{\mathrm{T}}(z(u))\mathbf{D}\lambda(z(u)) - 2Lz^{\mathrm{T}}(u)\mathbf{D}z(u) \ge 0$ (14)

Lemma 5 [6, 21] For any vectors χ_1 and χ_2 , matrices P, Q and real numbers $a_1 \ge 0, a_2 \ge 0$ fulfills

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{P} & \boldsymbol{Q} \\ * & \boldsymbol{P} \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, a_1 + a_2 = 1 \tag{15}$$

$$\chi_i = 0, \text{ if } a_i = 0 (i = 1, 2)$$
 (16)

then

$$-\frac{1}{a_1}\boldsymbol{\chi}_1^T \boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{\chi}_1 - \frac{1}{a_2} \boldsymbol{\chi}_2^T \boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{\chi}_2 \le -\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\chi}_1 \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_2 \end{bmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{P} & \boldsymbol{Q} \\ * & \boldsymbol{P} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\chi}_1 \\ \boldsymbol{\chi}_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(17)

Remark 1 In this paper, for covering the entire range of L, i.e., $-1 \le L \le 1$ (see in (2b)), two ranges of L are considered and these two ranges are $0 \le L \le 1$ and $-1 \le L < 0$.

3 Main Results

This section contains two delay-dependent sufficient stability conditions (i.e., Theorems 1 and 2). Theorem 1 is valid for to the case where $L \in [0, 1][0, 1]$ and Theorem 2 is applicable for $L \in [-1, 0)$.

Theorem 1 For known integers d_1 and d_2 with $d_2 \ge d_1 \ge 1$, the DTS (1), (2a), (3), (4) is globally asymptotically stable (GAS) if there are suitable mensioned matrices

$$\mathbf{0} < \mathbf{G} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{G}_1 \ \mathbf{G}_2 \ \mathbf{G}_3 \\ * \ \mathbf{G}_4 \ \mathbf{G}_5 \\ * \ * \ \mathbf{G}_6 \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{G}^T, \ \mathbf{0} < \mathbf{M}_i = \mathbf{M}_i^T \ (i = 1, 2, 3), \text{ any matrix } \mathbf{W} =$$

 $\begin{bmatrix} W_{11} & W_{12} \\ W_{21} & W_{22} \end{bmatrix}$, positive scalars $\varepsilon_0, \varepsilon_1$ and $L \in [0, 1]$ such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} N_2 & \mathbf{0} & W_{11} & W_{12} \\ * & 3N_2 & W_{21} & W_{22} \\ * & * & N_2 & \mathbf{0} \\ * & * & * & 3N_2 \end{bmatrix} > \mathbf{0}$$
(18)

and satisfying the following:

$$\Psi(h(u) = d_1) < \mathbf{0} \tag{19a}$$

$$\Psi(h(u) = d_2) < \mathbf{0} \tag{19b}$$

where

$$\mathbf{\Gamma}_{11} = -\mathbf{G}_1 + (\mathbf{G}_2 + \mathbf{G}_2^T)/2 - 4N_1 + \mathbf{M}_1 + \mathbf{M}_2 + (d_{12} + 1)\mathbf{M}_3 - \mathbf{\Gamma}_{18} \quad (21)$$

$$\Gamma_{15} = d_1 (G_4 - G_2)/2 \tag{22}$$

$$\Gamma_{16} = (h(u) - d_1)(G_5 - G_3)/2$$
(23)

Further Results on Delay-Dependent Stability Analysis ...

$$\Gamma_{17} = (d_2 - h(u))(G_5 - G_3)/2$$
(24)

$$\Gamma_{18} = -(d_1^2 N_1 + d_{12}^2 N_2) \tag{25}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{22} = -\boldsymbol{M}_3 - 8\boldsymbol{N}_2 + \boldsymbol{W}_{11} + \boldsymbol{W}_{11}^T + \boldsymbol{W}_{12} + \boldsymbol{W}_{12}^T - \boldsymbol{W}_{21} - \boldsymbol{W}_{21}^T - \boldsymbol{W}_{22} - \boldsymbol{W}_{22}^T$$
(26)

$$\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{23} = -2N_2 - \boldsymbol{W}_{11}^T - \boldsymbol{W}_{12}^T - \boldsymbol{W}_{21}^T - \boldsymbol{W}_{22}^T$$
(27)

$$\mathbf{\Gamma}_{24} = -2N_2 - W_{11} + W_{12} + W_{21} - W_{22}$$
(28)

$$\Gamma_{26} = 3N_2 + W_{21}^T + W_{22}^T \tag{29}$$

$$\Gamma_{27} = 3N_2 - W_{12} + W_{22} \tag{30}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{34} = \boldsymbol{W}_{11} - \boldsymbol{W}_{12} + \boldsymbol{W}_{21} - \boldsymbol{W}_{22} \tag{31}$$

$$\Gamma_{35} = d_1 (-G_4 + G_5^T)/2 \tag{32}$$

$$\Gamma_{36} = (h(u) - d_1)(-G_5 + G_6)/2$$
(33)

$$\Gamma_{37} = (d_2 - h(u))(-G_5 + G_6)/2 + W_{12} + W_{22}$$
(34)

$$\Gamma_{46} = -(h(u) - d_1)G_6/2 - W_{21}^T + W_{22}^T$$
(35)

$$\Gamma_{47} = -(d_2 - h(u))G_6/2 + 3N_2 \tag{36}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{88} = \boldsymbol{G}_1 - \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{18} \tag{37}$$

$$d_{12} = d_2 - d_1 \tag{38}$$

and the matrix C is given by (12).

Proof Consider the LKF [6] as

$$V(\boldsymbol{w}(u)) = \boldsymbol{\Omega}^{T}(u)\boldsymbol{G}\boldsymbol{\Omega}(u) + \sum_{s=u-d_{1}}^{u-1} \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(s)\boldsymbol{M}_{1}\boldsymbol{w}(s)$$

$$+\sum_{s=u-d_{2}}^{u-1} \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(s) \boldsymbol{M}_{2} \boldsymbol{w}(s) + \sum_{\theta=-d_{2}}^{-d_{1}} \sum_{s=u+\theta}^{u-1} \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(s) \boldsymbol{M}_{3} \boldsymbol{w}(s) + d_{1} \sum_{\theta=-d_{1}+1}^{0} \sum_{s=u-1+\theta}^{u-1} \boldsymbol{\xi}^{T}(s) \boldsymbol{N}_{1} \boldsymbol{\xi}(s) + d_{12} \sum_{\theta=-d_{2}+1}^{-d_{1}} \sum_{s=u-1+\theta}^{u-1} \boldsymbol{\xi}^{T}(s) \boldsymbol{N}_{2} \boldsymbol{\xi}(s)$$
(39)

where

$$\boldsymbol{\xi}(u) = \boldsymbol{w}(u+1) - \boldsymbol{w}(u) = \boldsymbol{\lambda}(\boldsymbol{z}(u)) - \boldsymbol{w}(u) \tag{40}$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\Omega}^{T}(u) = [\boldsymbol{w}^{T}(u) \sum_{s=u-d_{1}}^{u-1} \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(s) \sum_{s=u-d_{2}}^{u-d_{1}-1} \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(s)]$$
(41)

Defining

$$\Delta V(\boldsymbol{w}(u)) = V(\boldsymbol{w}(u+1)) - V(\boldsymbol{w}(u))$$

$$= \boldsymbol{\Phi}^{T}(u)\boldsymbol{\Upsilon}(h(u))\boldsymbol{\Phi}(u) + \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(u)\boldsymbol{M}_{1}\boldsymbol{w}(u)$$

$$- \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(u - d_{1})\boldsymbol{M}_{1}\boldsymbol{w}(u - d_{1}) + \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(u)\boldsymbol{M}_{2}\boldsymbol{w}(u)$$

$$- \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(u - d_{2})\boldsymbol{M}_{2}\boldsymbol{w}(u - d_{2}) + \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(u)\boldsymbol{M}_{3}\boldsymbol{w}(u) + d_{12}\boldsymbol{w}^{T}(u)\boldsymbol{M}_{3}\boldsymbol{w}(u)$$

$$- \sum_{s=u-d_{2}}^{u-d_{1}} \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(s)\boldsymbol{M}_{3}\boldsymbol{w}(s) + \boldsymbol{\xi}^{T}(u)[d_{1}^{2}N_{1} + d_{12}^{2}N_{2}]\boldsymbol{\xi}(u)$$

$$- d_{1}\sum_{s=u-d_{1}}^{u-1} \boldsymbol{\xi}^{T}(s)N_{1}\boldsymbol{\xi}(s) - d_{12}\sum_{s=u-d_{2}}^{u-d_{1}-1} \boldsymbol{\xi}^{T}(s)N_{2}\boldsymbol{\xi}(s)$$
(42)

where

$$\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{T}(u) = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(u) \ \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(u-h(u)) \ \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(u-d_{1}) \ \boldsymbol{w}^{T}(u-d_{2}) \\ \boldsymbol{\zeta}^{T}(u,0,d_{1}) \ \boldsymbol{\zeta}^{T}(u,d_{1},h(u)) \ \boldsymbol{\zeta}^{T}(u,h(u),d_{2}) \ \boldsymbol{\lambda}^{T}(z(u)) \end{bmatrix}$$
(43)

and $\boldsymbol{\zeta}(u,0,d_1),\,\boldsymbol{\zeta}(u,d_1,h(u)),\,\boldsymbol{\zeta}(u,h(u),d_2)$ are defined by (5). Now

$$-\sum_{s=u-d_2}^{u-d_1} \boldsymbol{w}^T(s) \boldsymbol{M}_3 \boldsymbol{w}(s) \le -\boldsymbol{w}^T(u-h(u)) \boldsymbol{M}_3 \boldsymbol{w}(u-h(u)).$$
(45)

Next, with the help of Lemma 1, the 10th and 11th terms of (42) are follows as

$$-d_{1}\sum_{s=u-d_{1}}^{u-1} \boldsymbol{\xi}^{T}(s)N_{1}\boldsymbol{\xi}(s)$$

$$\leq -d_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{w}(u) - \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_{1}) \\ \boldsymbol{w}(u) + \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_{1}) - \boldsymbol{\zeta}(u,0,d_{1}) \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} N_{1} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & 3N_{1} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{w}(u) - \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_{1}) \\ \boldsymbol{w}(u) + \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_{1}) - \boldsymbol{\zeta}(u,0,d_{1}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(46)

and

$$\begin{aligned} &-\sum_{s=u-d_2}^{u-d_1-1} \boldsymbol{\xi}^T(s) N_2 \boldsymbol{\xi}(s) = -d_{12} \sum_{s=u-h(u)}^{u-d_1-1} \boldsymbol{\xi}^T(s) N_2 \boldsymbol{\xi}(s) - \sum_{s=u-d_2}^{u-h(u)-1} \boldsymbol{\xi}^T(s) N_2 \boldsymbol{\xi}(s) \\ &\leq -\frac{(d_2-d_1)}{(h(u)-d_1)} \Bigg[\begin{array}{c} \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_1) - \boldsymbol{w}(u-h(u)) \\ \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_1) + \boldsymbol{w}(u-h(u)) - \boldsymbol{\zeta}(u,d_1,h(u)) \end{array} \Bigg]^T \end{aligned}$$

$$\times \begin{bmatrix} N_2 & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & 3N_2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{w}(u-d_1) - \mathbf{w}(u-h(u)) \\ \mathbf{w}(u-d_1) + \mathbf{w}(u-h(u)) - \boldsymbol{\zeta}(u,d_1,h(u)) \end{bmatrix}^T \\ - \frac{(d_2 - d_1)}{(d_2 - h(u))} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{w}(u-h(u)) - \mathbf{w}(u-d_2) \\ \mathbf{w}(u-h(u)) + \mathbf{w}(u-d_2) - \boldsymbol{\zeta}(u,h(u),d_2) \end{bmatrix}^T \\ \times \begin{bmatrix} N_2 & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & 3N_2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{w}(u-h(u)) - \mathbf{w}(u-d_2) \\ \mathbf{w}(u-h(u)) + \mathbf{w}(u-d_2) - \boldsymbol{\zeta}(u,h(u),d_2) \end{bmatrix}$$
(47)

Lemma 5 (reciprocal convexity method) guarantees that if there exist matrix W such that (18) holds true, then (47) can be expressed as

$$-\sum_{s=u-d_{2}}^{u-d_{1}-1} \boldsymbol{\xi}^{T}(s) N_{2} \boldsymbol{\xi}(s)$$

$$\leq \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_{1}) - \boldsymbol{w}(u-h(u)) \\ \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_{1}) + \boldsymbol{w}(u-h(u)) - \boldsymbol{\zeta}(u, d_{1}, h(u)) \\ \boldsymbol{w}(u-h(u)) - \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_{2}) \\ \boldsymbol{w}(u-h(u)) + \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_{2}) - \boldsymbol{\zeta}(u, h(u), d_{2}) \end{bmatrix}^{T} \begin{bmatrix} N_{2} & \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{W}_{11} & \boldsymbol{W}_{12} \\ * & 3N_{2} & \boldsymbol{W}_{21} & \boldsymbol{W}_{22} \\ * & * & N_{2} & \boldsymbol{0} \\ * & * & * & 3N_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\times \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_{1}) - \boldsymbol{w}(u-h(u)) \\ \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_{1}) + \boldsymbol{w}(u-h(u)) - \boldsymbol{\zeta}(u, d_{1}, h(u)) \\ \boldsymbol{w}(u-h(u)) - \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_{2}) \\ \boldsymbol{w}(u-h(u)) + \boldsymbol{w}(u-d_{2}) - \boldsymbol{\zeta}(u, h(u), d_{2}) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(48)$$

By considering (42)–(46) and (48), we get the following:

$$\Delta V(\boldsymbol{w}(u)) \leq \boldsymbol{\Phi}^{T}(u)\boldsymbol{\phi}(h(u))\boldsymbol{\Phi}(u) - \delta_{1}$$
(49)

where

$$\delta_1 = z^{\mathrm{T}}(u)C\lambda(z(u)) + \lambda^{\mathrm{T}}(z(u))C^{\mathrm{T}}z(u) - \lambda^{\mathrm{T}}(z(u))(C + C^{\mathrm{T}})\lambda(z(u))$$
(50)

$$\phi(h(u))$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} \Gamma_{11} & \mathbf{0} & (G_3 - G_2)/2 - 2N_1 & -G_3/2 & \Gamma_{15} + 3N_1 & \Gamma_{16} & \Gamma_{17} & \Gamma_{18} + G_2^T/2 + \overline{A}^T C \\ * & \Gamma_{12} & \Gamma_{23} & \Gamma_{24} & \mathbf{0} & \Gamma_{26} & \Gamma_{27} & \overline{A}_d^T C \\ * & * & -M_1 - 4(N_1 + N_2) & \Gamma_{34} & \Gamma_{35} + 3N_1 & \Gamma_{36} + 3N_2 & \Gamma_{37} & (G_3^T - G_2^T)/2 \\ * & * & * & -M_2 - 4N_2 & -d_1G_5^T/2 & \Gamma_{46} & \Gamma_{47} & -G_3^T/2 \\ * & * & * & * & * & -3N_1 & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & d_1G_2^T/2 \\ * & * & * & * & * & * & -3N_2 & -W_{22} & (h(u) - d_1)G_3^T/2 \\ * & * & * & * & * & * & * & -3N_2 & (d_2 - h(u))G_3^T/2 \\ * & * & * & * & * & * & * & T_{88} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(51)$$

In view of Lemma 3, the quantity δ_1 (see (50)) is greater than or equal to zero. From (49), it is obvious that $\Delta V(\boldsymbol{w}(u)) < 0$ if $\boldsymbol{\phi}(h(u)) < \boldsymbol{0}$ for all $h(u) \in [d_1, d_2]$.

1090

Hence, $\phi(h(u)) < 0$ with (18) is a condition for the G.A.S. of the DTS (1), (2a), (3), (4).

Using (4a), the condition (51) can be reexpressed as

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}_0(h(u)) + \boldsymbol{H}_0 \mathbf{F}_0 \boldsymbol{E}_0 + \boldsymbol{E}_0^T \mathbf{F}_0^T \boldsymbol{H}_0^T < \mathbf{0}$$
(52)

$$\overline{H}_0^T = \begin{bmatrix} \underbrace{0 \cdots 0}_{7 \text{ times}} H_0^T C \end{bmatrix}$$
(53)

$$\overline{E}_0 = [E_0 \underbrace{0 \cdots 0}_{7 \text{ times}}] \tag{54}$$

 $\pmb{\phi}_0(h(u))$

$$=\begin{bmatrix} \Gamma_{11} & 0 & (G_3 - G_2)/2 - 2N_1 & -G_3/2 & \Gamma_{15} + 3N_1 & \Gamma_{16} & \Gamma_{17} & \Gamma_{18} + G_2^T/2 + \mathbf{A}^T C \\ * & \Gamma_{12} & \Gamma_{23} & \Gamma_{24} & 0 & \Gamma_{26} & \Gamma_{27} & \overline{\mathbf{A}}_d^T C \\ * & * & -M_1 - 4(N_1 + N_2) & \Gamma_{34} & \Gamma_{35} + 3N_1 & \Gamma_{36} + 3N_2 & \Gamma_{37} & (G_3^T - G_2^T)/2 \\ * & * & * & -M_2 - 4N_2 & -d_1G_5^T/2 & \Gamma_{46} & \Gamma_{47} & -G_3^T/2 \\ * & * & * & * & * & -3N_1 & 0 & 0 & d_1G_2^T/2 \\ * & * & * & * & * & * & -3N_2 & -W_{22} & (h(u) - d_1)G_3^T/2 \\ * & * & * & * & * & * & * & -3N_2 & (d_2 - h(u))G_3^T/2 \\ * & * & * & * & * & * & * & * & T_{88} \end{bmatrix}$$
(55)

With the help of Lemma 2, (52) can be written as

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}_{0}(h(u)) + \varepsilon_{0}^{-1} \overline{\boldsymbol{H}}_{0} \overline{\boldsymbol{H}}_{0}^{T} + \varepsilon_{0} \overline{\boldsymbol{E}}_{0}^{T} \overline{\boldsymbol{E}}_{0} < \boldsymbol{0}$$
(56)

where $\varepsilon_0 > 0$. Next, by the use of Schur's complement, one can rewrite (56) as

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Gamma_{16} & \Gamma_{17} & \Gamma_{18} + G_2^T/2 + A^T C & \mathbf{0} \\ \Gamma_{26} & \Gamma_{27} & \overline{A}_d^T C & \mathbf{0} \\ \Gamma_{36} + 3N_2 & \Gamma_{37} & (G_3^T - G_2^T)/2 & \mathbf{0} \\ \Gamma_{46} & \Gamma_{47} & -G_3^T/2 & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & d_1 G_2^T/2 & \mathbf{0} \\ -3N_2 & -W_{22} & (h(u) - d_1) G_3^T/2 & \mathbf{0} \\ * & -3N_2 & (d_2 - h(u)) G_3^T/2 & \mathbf{0} \\ * & * & \Gamma_{88} & CH_0 \\ * & * & * & -\varepsilon_0 \mathbf{I} \end{bmatrix} < \mathbf{0}$$
(57)

Next, by following the steps similar to (52)–(57), one can easily show that (57) is equivalent to $\Psi(h(u)) < 0$. Based on the feature of matrix affine function, the condition $\Psi(h(u)) < 0$ holds if and only if (19) satisfies. This concludes the proof of Theorem 1.

Theorem 2 For given integers d_1, d_2 with $d_2 \ge d_1 \ge 1$, the DTS (1), (2a), (3), (4) is GAS if there are suitable dimensioned matrices $\mathbf{0} < \mathbf{G} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{G}_1 \ \mathbf{G}_2 \ \mathbf{G}_3 \\ * \ \mathbf{G}_4 \ \mathbf{G}_5 \\ * \ * \ \mathbf{G}_6 \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{G}^T, \ \mathbf{0} < \mathbf{M}_i = \mathbf{M}_i^T \ (i = 1, 2, 3), \ \mathbf{0} < \mathbf{N}_i = \mathbf{N}_i^T \ (i = 1, 2), \text{ any matrix } \mathbf{W} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{W}_{11} \ \mathbf{W}_{12} \\ \mathbf{W}_{21} \ \mathbf{W}_{22} \end{bmatrix}$, positive scalars $\varepsilon_0, \varepsilon_1$ and $L \in [-1, 0)$ such that (18) and (58) satisfy

$$\Psi_1(h(u) = d_1) < \mathbf{0} \tag{58a}$$

$$\Psi_1(h(u) = d_2) < \mathbf{0} \tag{58b}$$

where

$\Psi_1(h(u)) =$								
$\Gamma_{11} + \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{I}$	$\mathbf{E}_0^T \mathbf{E}_0$	0	$(G_3 - G_2)/2$	$-2N_1$ -	$G_{3/2}$	$\Gamma_{15} + 3N_1$		
*	Г	$\mathbf{E}_{12} + \varepsilon_1 \mathbf{E}_1^T \mathbf{E}_1$	Γ ₂₃		Γ ₂₄	0		
*		*	$-M_1 - 4(N_1$	$+N_{2})$	Γ ₃₄	$\Gamma_{35} + 3N_1$		
*		*	*	-M	$2 - 4N_{2}$	$2 - d_1 G_5^T / 2$		
*		*	*		*	$-3N_{1}$		
*		*	*		*	*		
*		*	*		*	*		
*		*	*		*	*		
*		*	*		*	*		
*		*	*		*	*		
*		*	*		*	*		
Γ ₁₆	Γ_{17}	$\Gamma_{18} + G_2^T/2$	$+(1+L)\mathbf{A}^T$	$D (-2L)^{1/2}$	$\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{D}$	0	0	٦
Γ_{26}	Γ_{27}	(1+	L) $\mathbf{A}_{d}^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{D}$	$(-2L)^{1/2}$	$\mathbf{A}_d^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{D}$	0	0	
$\Gamma_{36} + 3N_2$	Γ_{37}	$(G_{3}^{T} -$	$-G_{2}^{T})/2$	0		0	0	
Γ_{46}	Γ_{47}	-($G_{3}^{T}/2$	0		0	0	
0	0	d_1	$G_{2}^{T}/2$	0		0	0	
$-3N_{2}$	$-W_{22}$	(h(u) -	$(d_1)G_{3}^T/2$	0		0	0	
*	$-3N_{2}$	$(d_2 - h)$	$(u))G_{3}^{T}/2$	0		0	0	
*	*	Γ ₈₈	-2D	0	($(1+L)\boldsymbol{DH}_0$	$(1+L)DH_1$	
*	*		*	-D	(-	$-2L)^{1/2}\boldsymbol{DH}_0$	$(-2L)^{1/2}\boldsymbol{D}\boldsymbol{H}_1$	
*	*		*	*		$-\varepsilon_0 \mathbf{I}$	0	
*	*		*	*		*	$-\varepsilon_1 \mathbf{I}$]
							(59))

and **D** is a diagonal matrix considered in Lemma 4.

Proof By considering the LKF (39) and using (42)–(46) and (48), we have

$$\Delta V(\boldsymbol{w}(u)) = \boldsymbol{\Phi}^{\mathrm{T}}(u)\boldsymbol{\phi}_{1}(h(u))\boldsymbol{\Phi}(u) - \delta_{2}$$
(60)

where

$$\delta_2 = (1+L)z^{\mathrm{T}}(u)\boldsymbol{D}\boldsymbol{\lambda}(z(u)) + (1+L)\boldsymbol{\lambda}^{\mathrm{T}}(z(u))\boldsymbol{D}z(u) -2\boldsymbol{\lambda}^{\mathrm{T}}(z(u))\boldsymbol{D}\boldsymbol{\lambda}(z(u)) - 2Lz^{\mathrm{T}}(u)\boldsymbol{D}z(u)$$
(61)

In view of (14) (see Lemma 4), the quantity δ_2 (see (61)) is non-negative. With the help of (60), it is obvious that $\Delta V(\boldsymbol{w}(u)) < 0$ only when $\boldsymbol{\phi}_1(h(u)) < \boldsymbol{0}$. Therefore, $\boldsymbol{\phi}_1(h(u)) < \boldsymbol{0}$ along with (18) is a sufficient G.A.S. condition for the present system.

Next, follow the similar steps as mentioned in the proof of Theorem 1, the condition $\phi_1(h(u)) < 0$ leads to $\Psi_1(h(u)) < 0$. Under the property of matrix function affinity, the condition $\Psi_1(h(u)) < 0$ satisfies if and only if (58) fulfills. It concludes the proof of Theorem 2.

Remark 2 The requirement of number of decision variables (NoDVs) for Theorem 3 of [7] and Theorem 3.1 of [9] is given by $14n^2 + 5n + 2$ and $5n^2 + 3n + 2$, respectively. For Theorem 1 and Theorem 2 of this paper, the required NoDVs are $12n^2 + 3n + 2$ and $11n^2 + 5n + 2$, respectively. It is clear that as compared to Theorem 3 of [7], the present criteria (Theorems 1 and 2) require less NoDVs. Consequently, the criteria presented in this paper have smaller numerical complexity than Theorem 3 of [7].

Remark 3 The presented criteria (Theorems 1 and 2) are LMI based and, hence, one can easily trace the feasibility of the presented criteria using MATLAB and YALMIP 3.0 parser [26, 27].

Remark 4 For saturation overflow nonlinearities (i.e., L = 1), Theorem 1 reduces to Theorem 2 of [6]. However, unlike Theorem 2 of [6], the present approach can handle other types of overflow nonlinearities (namely, zeroing, two's complement and triangular).

4 Numerical Examples

In order to show the effectiveness of the proposed criteria, we now consider the following examples.

Example 1 Consider the DTS (1), (2a), (3), (4) where

$$\mathbf{A} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.8 & 0 \\ .05 & 0.9 \end{bmatrix}, \mathbf{A}_{d} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.01 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.02 \end{bmatrix}, \mathbf{H}_{0} = \mathbf{H}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0.1 \end{bmatrix}, \mathbf{E}_{0} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.01 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \mathbf{E}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0.01 \end{bmatrix}$$
(63)

Concerning to L = 1 (Saturation overflow), it is checked that for the delay range $2 \le h(u) \le 41$, Theorem 1 provides feasible results. Therefore, according to Theorem 1, the system (1), (2a), (3), (4) and (63) is GAS. Concerning to this example, the conditions given in Theorem 1 are feasible for the values of unknown parameters as given below.

$$C = \begin{bmatrix} 7871.7 \ 315.5 \\ 331.2 \ 1117.1 \end{bmatrix}, \varepsilon_0 = 6684.0, \varepsilon_1 = 1735.8, G_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 8612.8 \ 304.2 \\ 304.2 \ 1104.5 \end{bmatrix}, G_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 142.5167 \ 2.1098 \\ 0.3637 \ 3.3630 \end{bmatrix}, G_3 = \begin{bmatrix} -0.3301 - 0.0310 \\ -0.0602 - 0.2332 \end{bmatrix}, G_4 = \begin{bmatrix} 126.4429 \ 0.7689 \\ 0.7689 \ 3.4261 \end{bmatrix}, G_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.3042 - 0.0046 \\ -0.0132 - 0.0675 \end{bmatrix}, G_6 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.1919 \ 0.0065 \\ 0.0065 \ 0.0184 \end{bmatrix}, M_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 310.7017 \ 1.5163 \\ 1.5163 \ 8.9547 \end{bmatrix}, M_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 475.8411 \ 1.0202 \\ 1.0202 \ 4.9393 \end{bmatrix}, M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 25.4294 - 0.1983 \\ -0.1983 \ 1.4460 \end{bmatrix}, N_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 126.8201 \ 0.0655 \\ 0.0655 \ 1.4081 \end{bmatrix}, N_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 3.8700 \ 0.2023 \\ 0.2023 \ 0.6655 \end{bmatrix}, M_{11} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.1153 - 0.2034 \\ -0.2033 - 0.6637 \end{bmatrix}, W_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.1774 \ 0.0521 \\ -0.0014 - 0.0052 \end{bmatrix}, W_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.4430 \ 0.0010 \\ -0.0602 \ 0.0032 \end{bmatrix}, W_{22} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.1153 - 0.0062 \\ -0.0055 - 0.0038 \end{bmatrix}.$$

By assuming random initial conditions, Fig. 1 validates the findings of Theorem 1 for the parameters reflected in Example 1 with $2 \le h(u) \le 41$ and $F_0 = F_1 = 1$.

Example 2 Consider the DTS described by (1), (2a), (3), (4) and (63) and L = 0 (Zeroing overflow). Theorem 1 assures the G.A.S. for the delay range $2 \le h(u) \le 41$. For this example, the conditions given in Theorem 1 lead to the following feasible solutions.

$$C = \begin{bmatrix} 3262.0 \ 0}{0233.1}, \varepsilon_0 = 1880.0, \varepsilon_1 = 367.54, G_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 3569.4 - 007.2 \\ -007.2 \ 230.7 \end{bmatrix}, G_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 60.8650 \ 0.6477 \\ -1.4302 \ 0.6938 \end{bmatrix}, G_3 = \begin{bmatrix} -0.1121 \ 0.0432 \\ -0.0066 \ -0.0489 \end{bmatrix}, G_4 = \begin{bmatrix} 49.8297 \ -0.6120 \\ -0.6120 \ 0.7152 \end{bmatrix}, G_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.1612 \ 0.0080 \\ -0.0037 \ -0.0137 \end{bmatrix} G_6 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.4922 \ -0.0042 \\ -0.0042 \ 0.0039 \end{bmatrix}, M_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 116.6697 \ -1.2219 \\ -1.2219 \ 1.8458 \end{bmatrix}, M_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 177.7413 \ -1.7012 \\ -1.7012 \ 1.0489 \end{bmatrix}, M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 11.3719 \ -0.1389 \\ -0.1389 \ 0.3035 \end{bmatrix}, N_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 44.5249 \ -0.4872 \\ -0.4872 \ 0.2916 \end{bmatrix}, N_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_4 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_4 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_4 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_4 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_4 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.0051 \ 0.1389 \end{bmatrix}, M_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6294 \ 0.0051 \\ 0.005$$



Fig. 1 State trajectories of the DTS in Example 1

$$\boldsymbol{W}_{11} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.4325 & -0.0179 \\ -0.0179 & -0.1384 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{W}_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0788 & -0.0012 \\ -0.0009 & -0.0007 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{W}_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.1994 & 0.0023 \\ -0.0055 & 0.0011 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{W}_{22} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.0605 & -0.0000 \\ 0.0000 & -0.0007 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Under random initial conditions, Fig. 2 supports the fact that Theorem 1 affirms the G.A.S. for the present example with the allowed delay range $2 \le h(u) \le 41$ and $F_0 = F_1 = 1$.

Example 3 Consider the DTS described by (1), (2a), (3), (4) and (63) and L = -1/3. The DTS is GAS for the delay range $2 \le h(u) \le 34$. Concerning to this example, Theorem 2 provides feasible solutions for values of unknown parameters as given below.

$$D = \begin{bmatrix} 54.7457 \ 0\\ 01.4866 \end{bmatrix}, \ \varepsilon_0 = 64.1859, \ \varepsilon_1 = 3.4574, \ G_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 73.7274 \ -0.0300\\ -0.0300 \ 1.9574 \end{bmatrix},
G_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.2478 \ -0.0027\\ -0.0067 \ 0.0020 \end{bmatrix}, \ G_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0019 \ 0.0004\\ -0.0000 \ -0.0000 \end{bmatrix}, \ G_4 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.1283 \ -0.0052\\ -0.0052 \ 0.0022 \end{bmatrix}, \ G_5 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0048 \ 0.0000\\ -0.0000 \ 0.0000 \end{bmatrix}, \ G_6 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0000\\ -0.0000 \ 0.0000 \end{bmatrix},
M_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 2.9127 \ -0.0129\\ -0.0129 \ 0.0034 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 4.5445 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190 \ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190\ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190\ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190\ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190\ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190\ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190\ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190\ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190\ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190\ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190\ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.0190\\ -0.0190\ 0.0057 \end{bmatrix}, \ M_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0126 \ -0.01$$



Fig. 2 State trajectories of DTS in Example 2

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0.2577 & -0.0011 \\ -0.0011 & 0.0042 \end{bmatrix}, N_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0258 & 0.0000 \\ 0.0000 & 0.0009 \end{bmatrix}, N_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.0152 & -0.0046 \\ -0.0046 & 0.0006 \end{bmatrix},$$
$$W_{11} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.0040 & -0.0001 \\ -0.0001 & -0.0009 \end{bmatrix}, W_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0016 & -0.0000 \\ -0.0000 & 0.0000 \end{bmatrix}, W_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.0026 & 0.0000 \\ -0.0000 & 0.0000 \end{bmatrix}, W_{22} = \begin{bmatrix} -541.9000 & -0.4000 \\ -0.5000 & -.90000 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The state trajectories are shown in Fig. 3 confirm the outcomes of Theorem 2 for the present example with $F_0 = F_1 = 1$.

From Tables 1, 2 and 3, it is observed that the presented criteria provide less conservativeness as compared to previously reported criteria of [7] and [9]. Table 4 presented comparison of NoDvs than the previously reported criteria of [7] and [9].

5 Conclusions

Two sufficient stability conditions for G.A.S. of DTS with PU, GON and TVD have been established. The approach presented in this paper supports in reducing the conservativeness which in turn provides a larger stability region than previously



Fig. 3 State trajectories of DTS in Example 3

Table 1	UDB	(d_2) for	different LDB	(d_1) fo	or the s	system in	Example	1
---------	-----	-------------	---------------	------------	----------	-----------	---------	---

Methods/ d_1	2	6	8
Theorem 3 [7]	23	27	29
Theorem 3.1 [9]	23	27	29
Theorem 1	41	45	47

Table 2	UDB	(d_2) for	different	LDB	(d_1) for	the	system	in Exam	ple 2	ļ
---------	-----	-------------	-----------	-----	-------------	-----	--------	---------	-------	---

Methods/d ₁	2	6	8
Theorem 3 [7]	23	27	29
Theorem 3.1 [9]	23	27	29
Theorem 1	41	45	47

Table 3	UDB (d_2)	for different LD	$B(d_1)$ for the function $B(d_1)$	he system in Exam	ple 3
---------	-------------	------------------	------------------------------------	-------------------	-------

	-		
Methods/d ₁	2	6	8
Theorem 3 [7]	23	27	29
Theorem 3.1 [9]	23	27	29
Theorem 2	34	38	40

Methods	NoDVs for $n = 2$	NoDVs for $n = 3$
Theorem 3 [7]	68	143
Theorem 3.1 [9]	28	56
Theorem 1	56	119
Theorem 2	56	116

Table 4Comparison of NoDVs

reported criterion. The proposed criteria involve less NoDVs and, hence, computationally less complex. The efficacy of the presented criteria over previous result has been proved by numerical examples.

References

- D. Liu, A.N. Michel, Asymptotic stability of discrete-time systems with saturation nonlinearities with applications to digital filters. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Fundamental Theory Appl. 39(10), 798–807 (1992)
- H. Kar, V. Singh, Stability analysis of 1-D and 2-D fixed-point state-space digital filters using any combination of overflow and quantization nonlinearities. IEEE Trans. Signal Process. 49(5), 1097–1105 (2001)
- V.K.R. Kandanvli, H. Kar, Robust stability of discrete-time state-delayed systems employing generalized overflow nonlinearities. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl. 69(9), 2780–2787 (2008)
- 4. A. Dey, H. Kar, LMI-based criterion for the robust stability of 2D discrete state-delayed systems using generalized overflow nonlinearities. J. Control Sci. Eng. **23** (2011)
- 5. P. Rani, P. Kokil, H. Kar, l₂–l∞ suppression of limit cycles in interfered digital filters with generalized overflow nonlinearities. Circuits Syst. Signal Process. **36**(7), 2727–2741 (2017)
- S.K. Tadepalli, V.K.R. Kandanvli, A. Vishwakarma, Criteria for stability of uncertain discretetime systems with time-varying delays and finite wordlength nonlinearities. Trans. Inst. Meas. Control. 40(9), 2868–2880 (2017)
- V.K.R. Kandanvli, H. Kar, A delay-dependent approach to stability of uncertain discrete-time state-delayed systems with generalized overflow nonlinearities. ISRN Comput. Math. (2012)
- P.K. Gupta, V.K.R. Kandanvli, New LMI criteria to the global asymptotic stability of uncertain discrete-time systems with time delay and generalized overflow nonlinearities, in *Advances in VLSI, Communication, and Signal Processing* (Springer, Singapore, 2020), pp. 883–895
- S. Pandeya, S.K. Tadepalli, V.K.R. Kandanvli, A. Vishwakarma, Stability of uncertain 2-D discrete systems in presence of generalized overflow nonlinearities. Int. J. Eng. Adv. Technol. (IJEAT) 8(6S3), 2249–8958 (2019)
- V.K.R. Kandanvli, H. Kar, Robust stability of discrete-time state-delayed systems with saturation nonlinearities: linear matrix inequality approach. Signal Process 89(2), 161–173 (2009)
- P. Kokil, V.K.R. Kandanvli, H. Kar, A note on the criterion for the elimination of overflow oscillations in fixed-point digital filters with saturation arithmetic and external disturbance. AEU-Int. J. Electron. Commun. 66(9), 780–783 (2012)
- H. Kar, V. Singh, A new criterion for the overflow stability of second-order state-space digital filters using saturation arithmetic. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Fundamental Theory Appls. 45(3), 311–313 (1998)

- H. Kar, An LMI based criterion for the nonexistence of overflow oscillations in fixed-point state-space digital filters using saturation arithmetic. Digit. Signal Process 17(3), 685–689 (2007)
- C.K. Zhang, Y. He, L. Jiang, Q.G. Wang, M. Wu, Stability analysis of discrete-time neural networks with time-varying delay via an extended reciprocally convex matrix inequality. IEEE Trans. Cybern. 47(10), 3040–3049 (2017)
- W.H. Chen, Z.H. Guan, X. Lu, Delay-dependent guaranteed cost control for uncertain discretetime systems with delay. IEE Proc. Control Theory Appl. 150(4), 412–416 (2003)
- 16. D. Zhang, P. Shi, W.A. Zhang, L. Yu, Energy-efficient distributed filtering in sensor networks: a unified switched system approach. IEEE Trans. Cybern. **47**(7), 1618–1629 (2017)
- X. Li, X. Zhang, X. Wang, Stability analysis for discrete-time Markovian jump systems with time-varying delay: a homogeneous polynomial approach. IEEE Access 5, 27573–27581 (2017)
- X. Guan, Z. Lin, G. Duan, Robust guaranteed cost control for discrete-time uncertain systems with delay. IEE Proc. Control Theory Appl. 146(6), 598–602 (1999)
- L. Bakule, J. Rodellar, J.M. Rossell, Robust overlapping guaranteed cost control of uncertain state-delay discrete-time systems. IEEE Trans. Automat. Control 51(12), 1943–1950 (2006)
- 20. S. Xu, Robust H_{∞} filtering for a class of discrete-time uncertain nonlinear systems with state delay. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I **49**(12), 1853–1859 (2002)
- P. Park, J.W. Ko, C. Jeong, Reciprocally convex approach to stability of systems with timevarying delays. Automatica 47(1), 235–238 (2011)
- H. Huang, G. Feng, Improved approach to delay-dependent stability analysis of discrete-time systems with time varying delay. IET Control Theory Appl. 4(10), 2152–2159 (2010)
- K. Singh, D. Chaurasia, V.K.R. Kandanvli, An enhanced criterion for induced H_∞ stability of discrete-time systems with time-varying delay and external disturbance, in 2019 IEEE Conference on Information and Communication Technology (IEEE, Allahabad, India, 2019), pp. 1–6
- P.T. Nam, P.N. Pathirana, H. Trinh, Discrete Wirtinger-based inequality and its application. J. Franklin Inst. 352(5), 1893–1905 (2015)
- S. Xu, J. Lam, Z. Lin, K. Galkowski, Positive real control for uncertain two-dimensional systems. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Fundamental Theory Appl. 49(11), 1659–1666 (2002)
- S. Boyd, L. El Ghaoui, E. Feron, V. Balakrishnan, *Linear Matrix Inequalities in System and Control Theory* (SIAM, Philadelphia, PA, 1994)
- J. Lofberg, YALMIP: a toolbox for modeling and optimization in MATLAB, in 2004 IEEE International Symposium on Computer Aided Control Systems Design (IEEE, New Orleans, LA, USA, 2001), pp. 284–289

Stability Criterion for Implementing Discrete-Time Delayed Systems Subjected to Finite Wordlength Nonlinearities with External Interference



1101

Kalpana Singh, Pushpendra Kumar Gupta, Dinesh Chaurasia, and V. Krishna Rao Kandanvli

1 Introduction

Discrete-time delayed systems (DTDS) have gained remarkable attention in past many years due to their extensive applications in various fields which comprise wireless sensor networks [12], control systems [11], network echo cancellation [5], biomedical signal processing [10], speech processing [2], etc. Therefore, a number of authors have attained impetus in studying DTDS from the last several years.

In the implementation of DTDS on fixed wordlength processor like microcontroller or computer processor, the occurrence of nonlinearities (quantization and overflow) is generally unavoidable [3, 4]. The general types of quantization nonlinearities are value truncation (VT), magnitude truncation (MT) and round off (RO). Two's complement, saturation, triangular and zeroing are the commonly occurred overflow nonlinearities. The existence of these two nonlinearities, so called, finite wordlength nonlinearities (FWN) may generate oscillations and which in turn the system to be unstable. Many works have been published on the study of quantization effects in DTDS without overflow effects [13, 14] whereas many have considered the effects of overflow on DTDS without quantization effects [8, 15–19]. Thus, the study of stability of DTDS having FWN is practically more realistic [3, 4, 6, 7, 9, 21].

Time delay and external interference are also considered as the reasons for instability in many systems. Time delay is usually occurred in the system due to measurement lags, fixed velocity of data processing, transport lags, etc. Several researchers have gained attention in bringing stability conditions for systems with delay [1, 6, 9, 19]. While realizing higher-order DTDS on software or hardware, they are generally split and realized as serially lower-order DTDS. As a result, the external interferences among the lower-order DTDS are unavoidable and cause performance deprivation of DTDS [8, 15–18, 21, 22]. The approaches accounted in [8, 15–18, 22] are not

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_95

K. Singh (🖂) · P. K. Gupta · D. Chaurasia · V. K. R. Kandanvli

Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Prayagraj 211004, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

adequate enough to remark about the exponential stability of externally interfered discrete systems. A few conditions [8, 15–18, 22] have been discussed for exponential stability of discrete systems with external interference and saturation nonlinearities. These conditions [8, 15–18, 22] are not relevant for the systems with FWN. Without considering the delay, stability analysis of discrete system with external interference and FWN has been done in [21].

Motivated by the works of [8, 15–18, 21, 22], a new criterion for the stability analysis of DTDS with FWN and external interference is addressed in this paper. By using Lyapunov Krasovskii functional (LKF), a sufficient criterion is obtained in linear matrix inequality (LMI) form which assures the exponential stability of DTDS. The remaining paper is organized as follows. Section 2 introduces the system description. Main result of the paper is discussed in Sect. 3. Section 4 provides some special cases of presented approach. By using example, the utility of the results is discussed in Sect. 5. Finally, Sect. 6 concludes the paper.

Notations: In this paper, $\mathbf{R}^{g \times h}$ is the set of $g \times h$ real matrices, \mathbf{R}^{g} symbolize the *g*-dimensional space, 0 denotes the null matrix of suitable size, $\mathbf{C} < 0 (> 0)$ indicates that \mathbf{C} is a negative definite (positive definite) symmetric matrix, \mathbf{C}^{T} is the transpose of \mathbf{C} , $||\lambda||$ refers to the vector or matrix norm, $\lambda_{\max}(\mathbf{C})$ and $\lambda_{\min}(\mathbf{C})$ are maximum and minimum eigenvalues of \mathbf{C} , respectively.

2 System Description

This paper considers a class of DTDS operating under the presence of FWN and external interference. In particular, the DTDS is specified as

$$\sigma(a+1) = \mathbf{O}\{\mathbf{Q}(\mathbf{y}(a))\} = \Psi(\mathbf{y}(a)) + \mathbf{u}(a)$$
$$= \left[\Psi_1(\mathbf{y}_1(a)) \quad \Psi_2(\mathbf{y}_2(a)) \quad \dots \quad \Psi_r(\mathbf{y}_r(a))\right]^T$$
$$+ \left[u_1(a) \quad u_2(a) \quad \dots \quad u_r(a)\right]^T,$$
(1a)

$$\mathbf{y}(a) = \mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a) + \sum_{i=1}^{s} \mathbf{A}_{di}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a - d_i)$$
(1b)

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a) = \Theta(a), \ a \in [-d_s, 0], \tag{2}$$

where $\mathbf{u}(a)$ is an external interference, $\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)$ is a state vector, $\boldsymbol{O}(\cdot)$ and $\boldsymbol{Q}(\cdot)$ refers to overflow nonlinearities and quantization nonlinearities, respectively, \boldsymbol{A} and \boldsymbol{A}_{di} are the known matrices, $0 < d_i$ (i = 1, 2, ..., s) is state delay, s symbolized the number of delays in the state, $\Theta(a)$ represents the initial value at time a and $\Psi(\cdot)$ is the combined nonlinear function.

When $Q(\cdot)$ is MT or RO, $\Psi(\cdot)$ is limited to the sector $[k_o, k_q]$, i.e.

Stability Criterion for Implementing Discrete-Time ...

$$\Psi_i(0) = 0, \quad k_o y_i^2(a) \le \Psi_i(y_i(a)) y_i(a) \le k_q y_i^2(a), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r, \quad (3)$$

where

$$k_o = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for saturation or zeroing} \\ -1/3, & \text{for triangular} \\ -1, & \text{for two's complement,} \end{cases} \quad k_q = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for MT} \\ 2, & \text{for RO} \end{cases}$$

For a given $\gamma > 0$, the target of the present paper is two-fold: (i) It gives a new stability condition for the DTDS (1)–(3) fulfilling

$$\sum_{a=0}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a) \mathbf{F} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(a) < \gamma^{2} \sum_{v=0}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{u}^{T}(a) \boldsymbol{u}(a), \quad \mathbf{0} < \mathbf{F} = \mathbf{F}^{T},$$
(4)

for all $u(a) \neq 0$ and zero initial conditions. (ii) It provides a less strict stability criterion which guarantees the exponential stability for the DTDS (1)–(3) with u(a) = 0. The parameter γ is a scalar and represents the attenuation or \mathbf{H}_{∞} level.

3 Main Results

This section presents a criterion for the stability of the DTDS.

Theorem 1 For a known $\gamma > 0$, the DTDS (1)–(3) is exponentially stable, if there be matrices $\mathbf{K} > \mathbf{0}$, $\mathbf{Z}_i > \mathbf{0}$ (i = 1, 2, ..., s), $\mathbf{F} > \mathbf{0}$, diagonal matrices $\mathbf{X} > \mathbf{0}$ and $\mathbf{W} > \mathbf{0}$ satisfying

$$\mathbf{R}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{T}_{1} \ \mathbf{T}_{2} \cdots \mathbf{T}_{4} & (k_{q} + k_{o}) \mathbf{A}^{T} \mathbf{X} & \mathbf{0} \\ * \ \mathbf{T}_{3} \cdots \mathbf{T}_{5} & (k_{q} + k_{o}) \mathbf{A}_{d1}^{T} \mathbf{X} & \mathbf{0} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ * & * & * \ \mathbf{T}_{6} & (k_{q} + k_{o}) \mathbf{A}_{ds}^{T} \mathbf{X} & \mathbf{0} \\ * & * & * & * & -2\mathbf{X} + \mathbf{K} - \mathbf{W} & \mathbf{K} \\ * & * & * & * & * & \mathbf{K} - \gamma^{2} \mathbf{I} \end{bmatrix} < \mathbf{0}$$
(5)

where

$$T_{1} = \mathbf{F} - \mathbf{K} - 2k_{q}k_{o}\mathbf{A}^{T}\mathbf{X}\mathbf{A} + \sum_{i=1}^{s} \mathbf{Z}_{i} + k_{q}^{2}\mathbf{A}^{T}\mathbf{W}\mathbf{A}$$
$$T_{2} = -2k_{q}k_{o}\mathbf{A}^{T}\mathbf{X}\mathbf{A}_{d1} + k_{q}^{2}\mathbf{A}^{T}\mathbf{W}\mathbf{A}_{d1}$$
$$T_{3} = -2k_{q}k_{o}\mathbf{A}_{d1}^{T}\mathbf{X}\mathbf{A}_{d1} - \mathbf{Z}_{1} + k_{q}^{2}\mathbf{A}_{d1}^{T}\mathbf{W}\mathbf{A}_{d1}$$

$$T_{4} = -2k_{q}k_{o}\mathbf{A}^{T}\mathbf{X}\mathbf{A}_{ds} + k_{q}^{2}\mathbf{A}^{T}\mathbf{W}\mathbf{A}_{ds}$$
$$T_{5} = -2k_{q}k_{o}\mathbf{A}_{d1}^{T}\mathbf{X}\mathbf{A}_{ds} + k_{q}^{2}\mathbf{A}_{d1}^{T}\mathbf{W}\mathbf{A}_{ds}$$
$$T_{6} = -2k_{q}k_{o}\mathbf{A}_{ds}^{T}\mathbf{X}\mathbf{A}_{ds} - \mathbf{Z}_{s} + k_{q}^{2}\mathbf{A}_{ds}^{T}\mathbf{W}\mathbf{A}_{ds}$$

Proof Consider the LKF of the form:

$$V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)) = \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a)\boldsymbol{K}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a) + \sum_{i=1}^{s}\sum_{j=-d_{i}}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a+j)\boldsymbol{Z}_{i}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a+j),$$
(6)

Now, the forward difference of (6) is

$$\Delta V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)) = V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a+1)) - V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)),$$

$$= (\Psi(\mathbf{y}(a)) + \mathbf{u}(a))^{T} \boldsymbol{K}(\Psi(\mathbf{y}(a)) + \mathbf{u}(a))$$

$$- \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a) \left[\boldsymbol{K} - \sum_{i=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{Z}_{i} \right] \boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)$$

$$- \sum_{i=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a - d_{i}) \boldsymbol{Z}_{i} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(a - d_{i})$$

$$= \Psi^{T}(\mathbf{y}(a)) \boldsymbol{K} \Psi(\mathbf{y}(a)) + \Psi^{T}(\mathbf{y}(a)) \boldsymbol{K} \mathbf{u}(a) + \mathbf{u}(a)^{T} \boldsymbol{K} \mathbf{u}(a)$$

$$+ \mathbf{u}(a)^{T} \boldsymbol{K} \Psi(\mathbf{y}(a))$$

$$- \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a) \left[\boldsymbol{K} - \sum_{i=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{Z}_{i} \right] \boldsymbol{\sigma}(a) - \sum_{i=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a - d_{i}) \boldsymbol{Z}_{i} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(a - d_{i}), \quad (7)$$

Consider a non negative function ∂ ,

$$\partial = 2 \left[\boldsymbol{\Psi}^{T}(\mathbf{y}(a)) \mathbf{X} \, \boldsymbol{\Psi}(\mathbf{y}(a)) + k_{o} k_{q} \mathbf{y}^{T}(a) \mathbf{X} \, \mathbf{y}(a) - (k_{q} + k_{o}) \mathbf{y}^{T}(a) \mathbf{X} \boldsymbol{\Psi}(\mathbf{y}(a)) \right].$$
(8)

For diagonal matrix $\mathbf{W} > \mathbf{0}$, one may obtain

$$k_q^2 \mathbf{y}^T(a) \mathbf{W} \mathbf{y}(a) - \mathbf{\Psi}^T(\mathbf{y}(a)) \mathbf{W} \mathbf{\Psi}(\mathbf{y}(a)) \ge 0.$$
(9)

From (1b), (7)–(9), we have

$$\Delta V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)) = \Psi^{T}(\mathbf{y}(a))\boldsymbol{K}\Psi(\mathbf{y}(a)) + \Psi^{T}(\mathbf{y}(a))\boldsymbol{K}\mathbf{u}(a) + \mathbf{u}(a)^{T}\boldsymbol{K}\mathbf{u}(a) + \mathbf{u}(a)^{T}\boldsymbol{K}\Psi(\mathbf{y}(a))$$

Stability Criterion for Implementing Discrete-Time ...

$$-\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a) \left[\boldsymbol{K} - \sum_{i=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{Z}_{i} \right] \boldsymbol{\sigma}(a) - \sum_{i=1}^{s} \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a - d_{i}) \boldsymbol{Z}_{i} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(a - d_{i})$$
$$- 2 \left[\boldsymbol{\Psi}^{T}(\mathbf{y}(a)) \mathbf{X} \; \boldsymbol{\Psi}(\mathbf{y}(a)) + k_{o} k_{q} \mathbf{y}^{T}(a) \mathbf{X} \; \mathbf{y}(a) - (k_{q} + k_{o}) \mathbf{y}^{T}(a) \mathbf{X} \boldsymbol{\Psi}(\mathbf{y}(a)) \right]$$
$$+ k_{q}^{2} \mathbf{y}^{T}(a) \mathbf{W} \mathbf{y}(a) - \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{T}(\mathbf{y}(a)) \mathbf{W} \; \boldsymbol{\Psi}(\mathbf{y}(a)) + \partial.$$
(10)

Next, addition and subtraction of $(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^T(a)\mathbf{F}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a) - \gamma^2 \boldsymbol{u}^T(a)\boldsymbol{u}(a))$ with (10) gives

$$\Delta V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)) \leq \tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}^{T}(a) \mathbf{R}_{1} \tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}(a) - \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a) \mathbf{F} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(a) + \gamma^{2} \boldsymbol{u}^{T}(a) \boldsymbol{u}(a) + \partial, \qquad (11)$$

where

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}^{T}(a) = [\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a) \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a-d_{1}) \cdots \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a-d_{s}) \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{T}(\mathbf{y}(a)) \boldsymbol{u}^{T}(a)].$$

From (11), one can examine that

$$\Delta V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)) < -\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a)\mathbf{F}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a) + \gamma^{2}\boldsymbol{u}^{T}(a)\boldsymbol{u}(a), \qquad (12)$$

with $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}^{T}(a) \neq \mathbf{0}$, if (5) holds. Summation of (12) on both sides from 0 to ∞ gives

$$V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\infty)) - V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(0)) < \sum_{a=0}^{\infty} \gamma^2 \boldsymbol{u}^T(a) \boldsymbol{u}(a) - \sum_{a=0}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{\sigma}^T(a) \mathbf{F} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(a).$$
(13)

As $V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(0)) = 0$ and $V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\infty)) \ge 0$, the relation (4) is satisfied.

Next, it is necessary to show that the DTDS (1)–(3) with u(a) = 0 is exponentially stable under the situation (5). $V(\sigma(a))$ satisfies Rayleigh inequality [23]

$$\begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{\min}(\mathbf{K}) + \sum_{i=1}^{s} \lambda_{\min}(\mathbf{Z}_{1}) \end{bmatrix} ||\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)||^{2} \leq V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)) \\ \leq \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{\max}(\mathbf{K}) + \sum_{i=1}^{s} \lambda_{\max}(\mathbf{Z}_{1}) \end{bmatrix} ||\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)||^{2}.$$
(14)

With u(a) = 0, (12) becomes

$$\Delta V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)) < -\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a)\mathbf{F}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a) \le \lambda_{\min}(\mathbf{F})||\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)||^{2}.$$
(15)

In the light of Theorem 1 in [22], (14) and (15) guarantee the exponential stability of the DTDS (1)–(3). This concludes the proof.

Remark 1 The condition (5) is in LMI form and can be solved by software MATLAB [24, 25].

Remark 2 Unlike the criterion [21], the presented criterion is applicable for external interference, FWN and state delay.

Remark 3 Many researchers derived the H_{∞} performance criteria [8, 15–18, 22] for system with saturation and external interference. These approaches [8, 15–18, 22] cannot tackle the nonlinearities caused by FWN. On the other hand, Theorem 1 presents a novel condition for the exponential stability of DTDS (1)–(3) with FWN, external interference and state delay.

Remark 4 The H_{∞} norm can be illustrated as [26]:

$$\boldsymbol{H}(a) = \frac{\sum_{z=0}^{a} \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(z) \mathbf{F} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(z)}{\sum_{z=0}^{a} \mathbf{u}^{T}(z) \mathbf{u}(z)}.$$
(16)

For a given $\gamma > 0$, (4) can be symbolized by $H(\infty) < \gamma^2$ which corresponds to (16).

4 Special Cases

This section presents some special cases of our main result.

Corollary 1 The system (1)–(3) without state delay, i.e.

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a+1) = \boldsymbol{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{A}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)) + \mathbf{u}(a). \tag{17}$$

The system (2), (3) and (17) is exponentially stable with known $\gamma > 0$, if there be diagonal matrices **X** > **0** and **W** > **0**, matrices **K** > **0**, **F** > **0**, satisfying

$$\mathbf{R}_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{T}_{1} & (k_{q} + k_{o})\mathbf{A}^{T}\mathbf{X} & \mathbf{0} \\ * & -2\mathbf{X} + \mathbf{K} - \mathbf{W} & \mathbf{K} \\ * & * & \mathbf{K} - \gamma^{2}\mathbf{I} \end{bmatrix} < \mathbf{0},$$
(18)

where

$$\mathbf{T}_1 = \mathbf{F} - \mathbf{K} - 2k_q k_o \mathbf{A}^T \mathbf{X} \mathbf{A} + k_q^2 \mathbf{A}^T \mathbf{W} \mathbf{A}$$

Proof Select the LKF (6) with $Z_i = 0$. Now, with $A_{di} = 0$, (11) becomes

$$\Delta V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)) \leq \hat{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}^{T}(a) \mathbf{R}_{2} \hat{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}(a) - \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a) \mathbf{F} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(a) + \gamma^{2} \boldsymbol{u}^{T}(a) \boldsymbol{u}(a) + \partial \qquad (19)$$

where

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}^{T}(a) = \left[\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a) \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{T}(\mathbf{y}(a)) \boldsymbol{u}^{T}(a) \right]$$

The remaining proof follows the similar steps as shown in the proof of Theorem 1.

Remark 5 Corollary 1 presents the stability criterion for discrete system with FWN and external interference. By considering $Z_i = 0$ and $A_{di} = 0$ in (5), one may get the result [21, Theorem 1] which is similar to (18). Thus, Theorem 1 [21] acts as a special case of Theorem 1.

Next, consider the DTDS (1)–(3) in absence of external interference. Pertaining this situation, we have the following corollary.

Corollary 2 The DTDS (1)–(3) with u(a) = 0 becomes

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a+1) = \boldsymbol{\Psi}(\mathbf{y}(a)) \tag{20a}$$

$$\mathbf{y}(a) = \mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a) + \sum_{i=1}^{s} \mathbf{A}_{di}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a - d_i)$$
(20b)

Then the DTDS (20) is globally asymptotic stable, if there be matrices $\mathbf{K} > \mathbf{0}$, $\mathbf{Z}_i > \mathbf{0}$ (i = 1, 2, ..., s), diagonal matrices $\mathbf{X} > \mathbf{0}$ and $\mathbf{W} > \mathbf{0}$ satisfying

$$\mathbf{R}_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{T}_{1} \ \mathbf{T}_{2} \cdots \mathbf{T}_{4} & (k_{q} + k_{o}) \mathbf{A}^{T} \mathbf{X} \\ * \ \mathbf{T}_{3} \cdots \mathbf{T}_{5} & (k_{q} + k_{o}) \mathbf{A}_{d1}^{T} \mathbf{X} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ * & * & * \ \mathbf{T}_{6} & (k_{q} + k_{o}) \mathbf{A}_{dr}^{T} \mathbf{X} \\ * & * & * & * \ -2\mathbf{X} + \mathbf{K} - \mathbf{W} \end{bmatrix} < \mathbf{0}$$
(21)

Proof With u(a) = 0, (11) becomes

$$\Delta V(\boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)) \le \overline{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}^T(a) \mathbf{R}_3 \overline{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}(a) + \partial$$
(22)

where

$$\overline{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}^{T}(a) = \left[\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a) \; \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a-d_{1}) \cdots \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a-d_{s}) \; \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{T}(\mathbf{y}(a)) \right].$$

Equation (22) satisfies $\Delta V(\sigma(a)) \leq 0$ if (21) holds true. This completes the proof. *Remark 6* Corollary 2 presents the stability criterion which guarantees the absence of limit cycles in DTDS employing FWN.

5 Illustrative Example

To explain the utility of the presented criteria, let us consider an example of DTDS with



Fig. 1 The plot of $\mathbf{H}(a)$

$$\mathbf{A} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.25 & 0.5 \\ -0.5 & 0.7 \end{bmatrix}, \mathbf{A}_{d1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0.001 \\ 0.001 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \mathbf{u}(a) = \begin{bmatrix} \cos(a) \\ \sin(a) \end{bmatrix}, k_o = -1, \quad k_q = 1.$$
(23)

For the design purpose (4), suppose $\gamma = 0.5$. Using the software MATLAB LMI toolbox [24, 25], Theorem 1 provides feasible solutions for the present example. The approaches in [1, 6, 7, 13, 14, 19] cannot be utilized to check the exponential stability of the system (1)–(3).

As discussed in [26], the condition (4) can be represented by $H(\infty) < \gamma^2$ where

$$\mathbf{H}(a) = \frac{\sum_{a=0}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{T}(a) \mathbf{F} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(a)}{\sum_{a=0}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{u}^{T}(a) \boldsymbol{u}(a)}.$$
(24)

The plot of $\mathbf{H}(a)$ for the present example interprets in Fig. 1. It is apparent from Fig. 1 that $\mathbf{H}(\infty) < 0.25$. Thus, the \mathbf{H}_{∞} norm from u(a) to $\sigma(a)$ is restricted with in attenuation level γ .

6 Conclusion

A criterion addressing the stability of DTDS with FWN and external interference has been established. Theorem 1 also assures the exponential stability and reduces the influence of interference to \mathbf{H}_{∞} level. The presented approach offers an improved stability domain in comparison with the existing approaches. The appropriateness of the result proposed in this paper has been exemplified by an example.

Many works have been presented for 2-*D* systems as they have broad applications in various regions like X-ray image management, power transmission lines [27], geophysics, projective radiography [28], Markov jump systems [20] and so on. Extension of the work presented in this paper to 2-*D* systems with FWN and external interference would also be an appealing area for future investigation.

References

- L. Liu, S. Yin, L. Zhang, X. Yin, H. Yan, Improved results on asymptotic stabilization for stochastic nonlinear time-delay systems with application to a chemical reactor system. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. Syst. 47(1), 195–204 (2016)
- R. Liu, H. Xu, E. Zheng, Y. Jiang, Adaptive filtering for intelligent sensing speech based on multi-rate LMS algorithm. Clust. Comput. 20(2), 1493–1503 (2017)
- 3. H.J. Butterweck, J.H.F. Ritzerfeld, M.J. Werter, Finite wordlength effects in digital filters: a review. EUT report. E, Fac. of Electrical Engineering, 88 (1988)
- 4. T.A.C.M. Claasen, W. Mecklenbrauker, J. Peek, Effects of quantization and overflow in recursive digital filters. IEEE Trans. Acoust. Speech Signal Process. **24**(6), 517–529 (1976)
- 5. H. Deng, M. Doroslovacki, Proportionate adaptive algorithms for network echo cancellation. IEEE Trans. Signal Process. **54**(5), 1794–1803 (2006)
- S.K. Tadepalli, V.K.R. Kandanvli, A. Vishwakarma, Criteria for stability of uncertain discretetime systems with time-varying delays and finite wordlength nonlinearities. Trans. Inst. Meas. Control 40(9), 2868–2880 (2018)
- N. Agarwal, H. Kar, Improved criterion for robust stability of discrete-time state-delayed systems with quantization/overflow nonlinearities. Circuits Syst. Signal Process. 38(11), 4959–4980 (2019)
- C.G. Parthipan, P. Kokil, Overflow oscillations free implementation of state-delayed digital filter with saturation arithmetic and external disturbance. Trans. Inst. Meas. Control 42(2), 188–197 (2020)
- S.K. Tadepalli, V.K.R. Kandanvli, H. Kar, A new delay-dependent stability criterion for uncertain 2-D discrete systems described by Roesser model under the influence of quantization/overflow nonlinearities. Circuits Syst. Signal Process. 34(8), 2537–2559 (2015)
- Y. Hong, Y. Lian, A memristor-based continuous-time digital FIR filter for biomedical signal processing. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I, Reg. Papers 62(5), 1392–1401 (2015)
- J.M. Kanieski, R. Cardoso, H. Pinheiro, H.A. Gründling, Kalman filter-based control system for power quality conditioning devices. IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron. 60(11), 5214–5227 (2012)
- S. Wen, L. Xing, X. Hu, H. Zhang, Measurement-converted Kalman filter tracking with Gaussian intensity attenuation signal in wireless sensor networks. Int. J. Distrib. Sens. Netw. 13(14), 1550147717700896 (2017)
- A. Lepschy, G. Mian, U. Viaro, A contribution to the stability analysis of second-order directform digital filters with magnitude truncation. IEEE Trans. Acoust. Speech Signal Process. 35(8), 1207–1210 (1987)
- T.A.C.M. Claasen, W.F.G. Mecklenbräuker, J.B.H. Peek, Second-order digital filter with only one magnitude-truncation quantiser and having practically no limit cycles. Electron. Lett. 9(22), 531–532 (1973)
- I. Arif, M. Rehan, M. Tufail, Toward local stability analysis of externally interfered digital filters under overflow nonlinearity. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II, Exp. Briefs 64(5), 595–599 (2016)
- M.K. Kumar, P. Kokil, H. Kar, Novel ISS criteria for digital filters using generalized overflow non-linearities and external interference. Trans. Inst. Meas. Control 41(1), 156–164 (2019)

- P. Kokil, S.X. Arockiaraj, H. Kar, Criterion for limit cycle-free state-space digital filters with external disturbances and generalized overflow non-linearities. Trans. Inst. Meas. Control 40(4), 1158–1166 (2018)
- P. Kokil, S. Jogi, C.K. Ahn, Stability analysis of digital filters subjected to interference using generalized overflow nonlinearities. Signal Process. 148, 1–8 (2018)
- 19. V.C. Pal, R. Negi, Delay-dependent stability criterion for uncertain discrete time systems in presence of actuator saturation. Trans. Inst. Meas. Control **40**(6), 1873–1891 (2018)
- 20. Z.G. Wu, Y. Shen, P. Shi, Z. Shu, H. Su, H_{∞} Control for 2-D Markov Jump Systems in Roesser Model. IEEE Trans. Autom. Control **64**(1), 427–432 (2019)
- P. Kokil, H. Kar, Criterion for the limit cycle free state-space digital filters with external disturbances and quantization/overflow nonlinearities. Eng. Comput. 33(1), 64–73 (2016)
- P. Kokil, C.G. Parthipan, S. Jogi, H. Kar, Criterion for realizing state-delayed digital filters subjected to external interference employing saturation arithmetic. Clust. Comput. 22(6), 15187–15194 (2019)
- 23. G. Strang, Introduction to Applied Mathematics (Wellesley-Cambridge, Wellesley, MA, 1986)
- 24. S. Boyd, L. El. Ghaoui, E. Feron, V. Balakrishnan, *Linear Matrix Inequalities in System and Control Theory* (SIAM, Philadelphia, PA, 1994)
- P. Gahinet, A. Nemirovski, A.J. Laub, M. Chilali, *LMI Control Toolbox, MA* (MathWorks, USA, 1995)
- C.K. Ahn, Criterion for the elimination of overflow oscillations in fixed-point digital filters with saturation arithmetic and external disturbance. AEU-Int. J. Electron. Commun. 65(9), 750–752 (2011)
- 27. L. Wu, Z. Wang, *Filtering and Control for Classes of Two-Dimensional Systems* (Springer International Publishing, Cham, Switzerland, 2015)
- 28. S.K. Mitra, M.P. Ekstrom, *Two-Dimensional Digital Signal Processing* (Hutchinson Ross Publishing Company, Dowden, Hutchinson and Ross, 1978)

Study and Design of a Novel Half Adder Circuit Using QCA Gates with Optimized Parameters



Shubhra Dubey, Vandana Shukla, O. P. Singh, and G. R. Mishra

1 Introduction

It is well known that quantum dot cellular automaton (QCA) displays the signs of success in the current scenario of computing system by replacing the CMOS technology [1]. In the past, the CMOS technology had the recognition for its importance, but in today's scenario, this technology is being worsening to meet all the requirements, such as high-power consumption by CMOS technology, loss of information, and slow speed [2–4]. So, to overcome these problems, a large number of technologies are spread around us, but best suited technology is quantum-dot cellular automatons (QCA).

Now this QCA technology is very powerful approach in the field computation which gives a new approach to the computing systems at nano-levels [5, 6]. QCA technology was proposed by the Tougaw and Lent in 1993 [7, 8]. In the past few years, the QCA technology had made very dynamic changes in the field of electronic devices, such as reducing the complexity of the circuit, fast speed, less area consumption, reducing the size of the components, and decreasing the power consumption capacity. In QCA, a cell contains holes and electrons, and here, binary information in the QCA technology is encoded by the positions of electrons and information travels because of coulombic interaction among QCA cells [9, 10]. The polarization of electrons in one QCA cell makes the interconnection with the other neighbor's cells and binary information passes on. One of the best features of this technology is that there is zero current in between the cells, or there is no power supply for communication.

S. Dubey (🖂) · V. Shukla · O. P. Singh

Amity University Uttar Pradesh, Lucknow Campus, Lucknow, India

O. P. Singh e-mail: opsingh@amity.edu

G. R. Mishra Department of Physics and Electronics, Dr. R. M. L. Avadh University, Faizabad, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1111 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_96
Year	Author's name	Cells count	No. of gates	Clock delay
2014 [1]	Santra and Roy	64	4 (one OR and rest three is AND gate)	1
2014 [3]	Subhashee et al.	80	3 (one OR gate and rest two is AND gate)	1
2011 [6]	Karthigai Lakshmi and Athisha	77	3 (one OR gate and two AND gate)	1

Table 1 Existing designs of half adder circuit

The specialty of this technology is that logic information is represented by the cells. This QCA technology has solutions for the problems that we are facing in CMOS technology such as low power consumption and high-speed data. The circuits of the adder are the basic requirements in the field of the digital computing systems. Many QCA based circuit designs for half adder have been already pointed out by different researchers in the past. Some of them are mentioned in Table 1.

In this paper, we have shown QCA design for the half adder with the smaller number of cell counts, and the simulation of the proposed half adder circuit and the result have been checked on the QCA designer tool version 2.0.3.

The rest of this paper is organized in five sections. This section is Introduction of the proposed work, Sect. 2 contains basic information about QCA that describe wires, basic logics, and clocking system. Section 3 is about the proposed half adder circuit. Section 4 presents result and analysis of the proposed circuit design, and in Sect. 5, overall conclusion of paper is presented.

2 Fundamentals of QCA

Quantum dot cellular automata (QCA) technology contains four quantum dots in a square-shaped cell. These quantum dots are placed at the corners of the squareshaped cell consists of one electron. In each cell, there are two mobile electrons which are present and shown in Fig. 1.

The electrons in the cell are tunnel in between the dots within the cell but unable to move out from their cell [11, 12]. Electrons in the cells are located as diagonally and opposite to the quantum dots of the cells due to tight binding of electrostatic force of interaction. This quantum dot is made of a nano-semiconductor material having very small diameter such that its supplied energy is greater than k_bT . Here, k_b is constant known as the Boltzmann's constant, and T is room temperature [13].

Logic circuits and Clocking Scheme of the QCA technology

Some of the important terms in QCA technology are QCA wire, complement, and majority gate which are presented in Fig. 2 [13, 14]. Figure 2a shows the QCA wire which is made from the QCA cells. An array of these QCA cells is placed to



Fig. 2 a Wire of QCA cells, b simplest form of inverter gate, c majority gate and its symbol

form a QCA wire, based on the Coulomb theory of interactions. These wires are responsible for the travel of information from one end to another. Figure 2b shows the very common and simplest form of inverter by putting two cells diagonally apart.



Figure 2c shows the symbol of the majority gate and its QCA implementation. From this majority gate, we can make the AND/OR gate also by setting one of the inputs for majority gate with the polarization 1 or -1. Here, if we provide the polarization 1 to the majority gate, it will work as a OR gate, whereas if we give polarization value -1, then it works as a AND gate [15].

Clocking scheme of the QCA technology has a four clock zones, and these four zones have four phases in it [16, 17]. The operations of these clock zones and its phases are shown in Fig. 3.

3 Proposed Design of Half Adder in QCA Technology

Among arithmetic operations, addition is one of the most vital parts in the field of the digital computers. Half adder is basically doing the addition of two bits. Basically, a half adder requires one 2-input exclusive OR gate along with one 2-input AND gate. Both A and B input signals are applied to XOR and AND gate to provide outputs as SUM and CARRY. Here, output SUM and CARRY are described as (Table 2):

SUM = A XOR BCARRY = A AND B.

Previously many design approaches of half adder have been proposed using QCA technology [18]. The main purpose of this paper is to present a QCA design for half adder circuit which contains a smaller number of cells and less complex as compared to previously proposed designs by different researchers. For the implementation and

INPUT		OUTPUT	OUTPUT	
Х	Y	Sum	Carry	
0	0	0	0	
0	1	1	0	
1	0	1	0	
1	1	0	1	
	INPUT X 0 0 1 1	INPUT X Y 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 1	INPUT OUTPUT X Y Sum 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 1 1 0 1	

simulation of proposed half adder circuit and to verify its results, we have used the freely available tool named as QCA designer tool version 2.0.3.

Proposed QCA Design of Half Adder

Figure 4 show our proposed half adder implemented in QCA technology. The circuit has been implemented in area 0.03 um² as shown by QCA designer tool. This proposed circuit has been designed from 26 cells only. In this case, there are two input cells and two output cells which are named as 'A' and 'B' (input cells) and 'SUM' and 'CARRY' (output cells). Colors of inputs and output cells are blue and yellow, respectively. Two clocks are used in proposed design named as Clock 0 in green color and clock 1 in purple color for proper functioning of circuit. There are no crossover cells and multi-layer cells in the proposed circuit design.

The proposed design of QCA based half adder circuit is better in terms of some key parameters from the previously proposed designs (Table 3).





Table 3 Parameters of proposed design	Area	No. of cells	Delay factor	File opened
proposed design	$0.03 \ \mu m^2$	26	0.50	0.27 s

4 Result and Analysis of Proposed QCA Based Half Adder Design

Figures 5 and 6 show the simulation results of our proposed design of half adder circuit implemented in QCA technology. The simulation is performed on the QCA designer tool version 2.0.3. Here, simulation type is exhaustive by default, and the output of simulation result is same in both the engines setup, i.e., bi-stable engine and coherence vector engine. In the bi-stable engine, the simulation results have been obtained as two inputs and two outputs with total 26 cells, total initialization time 0 s, and total simulation time 4 s. The total simulation time taken by coherence vector engine is 13 s, and Euler method is used for coherence vectors.

Table 4 shows the comparison of proposed half adder design with the existing designs. Here, evaluation is performed on some selected parameters such as number of cells, clock cycle, number of gates used, and area. From this comparison table, we may deduce that our anticipated design is most optimized design as compared to existing ones.



Fig. 5 Simulation results of proposed QCA half adder

lesulation Resul	ts						
X Den	Save	Print Preview	Print Reset Zoom	X Thresholds	Decimal Binary	eee Hex	
Trace	Visible		9.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.099	1.1.1. 2pq0,	1111 3099	4099	L, 5000, L, L, L, 6000,
▼		A		0	1	Ì	1.
▼ •••• B			0.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.099	1.1.1.1.2090.1	1111 3000	4099	
sum	9	В	0	1		0	1
Carry			0	2000	1111 3099	4099	
Clock 0 Clock 1	2	sum	0				0
Clock 2			10.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.	1.1.1. 2000,	1111 3000	4099	1. 15090. 1. 1. 1. 16090.
Clock 3	R	carry	0		0	0	
			9.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.099	1.1.1. 2000.	11.1. 3000	4099	
		max: 9.80e-022 Clock 0 min: 3.80e-023					

Fig. 6 Simulation results of proposed QCA half adder in digital form

Design	No. of cells	Clock cycle	No. of gates used	Area in um ²
Existing design [1]	65	1	4	0.09
Existing design [2]	62	2	5	0.08
Existing design [3]	80	1	4	0.10
Existing design [4]	48	0.5	3	0.04
Existing design [6]	77	1	3	-
Existing design [9]	61	0.75	4	0.08
Existing design [10]	44	1	5	0.05
Proposed design structure of half adder	26	0.5	2	0.03
Improvement (%)	40.9	50	60	40

 Table 4
 Comparison table

5 Conclusion

Here in this paper, we have proposed a novel approach to design an optimized QCA based half circuit. The simulation of proposed circuit has been performed on QCA designer tool version 2.0.3. From comparison table, it is inferred that the simulated results of proposed circuit are better as compared to other designed circuits reported by different researchers in terms of various key parameters. The circuit has been optimized in terms of number of cells, design area, and clock delay. Moreover, the

clocking scheme is done in proper manner for functioning of proposed circuit [18–20]. Further the proposed design may be used to reduce the complexity of various computing circuits with reduced area and number of cells.

References

- S. Santra, U. Roy, Design and implementation of quantum cellular automata based novel adder circuits. World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology, Int. J. Nuclear Quantum Eng. 8(1) (2014)
- P.Z. Ahmad, F. Ahmad, H.A. Khan, A new F-shaped XOR gate and its implementations as novel adder circuits based Quantum-dot cellular Automata (QCA). IOSR J. Comput. Eng. (IOSR-JCE) 16(3), 110–117. e-ISSN: 2278-0661, p- ISSN: 2278-8727. Ver. I (2014)
- S. Basu, A. Bal, S. Sengupta, A novel design of half and full adder using basic QCA gates. Int. J. Comput. Appl. (0975 8887) 104(3) (2014)
- A. Moustafa, Efficient quantum-dot cellular automata for half adder using building block. Int. J. Quant. Inf. Rev. 7(1), 1–6 (2019)
- 5. F. Ahmad, G.M. Bhat, P.Z. Ahmad, Novel adder circuits based on quantum-dot cellular automata (QCA). Sci. Res. Circ. Syst. 5(6), Article ID:46798, 11 p (2014)
- 6. S.K. Lakshmi, G. Athisha, Design and Analysis of Adders using Nanotechnology Based Quantum dot Cellular Automata (2011)
- V. Shukla, O.P. Singh, G.R. Mishra, R.K. Tiwari, A novel approach to design a redundant binary signed digit adder cell using reversible logic gates, in 2015 IEEE UP Section Conference on Electrical Computer and Electronics (UPCON), 978-1-4673-8507-7/15/\$31.00 ©2015 IEEE (2015)
- V. Shukla, O.P. Singh, G.R. Mishra, R.K. Tiwari, Performance parameters optimization and implementation of adder/subtractor circuit using reversible logic approach, in 2016 11th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS) (2016)
- 9. H. Jagarlamudi, M. Saha, P. Jagarlamudi, Quantum dot cellular automata based effective design of combinational and sequential logical structures. Int. Sch. Sci. Res. Innov. 5, 442–446 (2011)
- V. Shukla, O.P. Singh, G.R. Mishra, R.K. Tiwari, Reversible realization of N-bit arithmetic circuit for low power loss ALU applications. Procedia Comput. Sci. 125, 847–854 (2018)
- C. Das, D. Jadav, Debashis, Reversible half-adder design using quantum dot-cellular automata. Quantum Matter 5(4), 476–491 (16) (2016)
- H. Cho, E.E. Swartzlander, Modular Design of Conditional Sum Adders Using Quantum-dot Cellular Automata, 1-4244–0078–3/06/\$20.OO (c) 2006 IEEE (2006)
- 14. H. Cho, E.E. Swartzlander, Adder designs and analyses for quantum-dot cellular automata. IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol. 6(3) (2007)
- I. Ercan, N.G. Anderson, Heat dissipation bounds for nanocomputing: theory and application to QCA, in 2011 11th IEEE International Conference on Nanotechnology Portland Marriott, August 15–18, Portland, Oregon, USA (2011)
- V. Dhare, U. Mehta, Fault analysis of QCA combinational circuit at layout & logic level, in 2015 IEEE International WIE Conference on Electrical and Computer Engineering (WIECON-ECE), 19–20, BUET, Dhaka, Bangladesh, 978-1-4673-8786- 6/15/\$31.00©2015 IEEE, December (2015)
- M. Qanbari, R. Sabbaghi, Nadooshan, Two novel quantum-dot cellular automata full adders. J. Eng. 2013, Article ID 561651, 6 p (2013)
- B. Sen, A. Rajoria, B.K. Sikdar, Design of efficient full adder in quantum-dot cellular automata. Sci. World J. 2013, Article ID 250802, 10 p (2013)

- A. Chaudhary, D.Z. Chen, X.S. Hu, M.T. Niemier, R. Ravichandran, K. Whitton, IEEE Trans. Comput. Aided Des. Integr. Circ. Syst. 26(11), 1978–1991 (2007)
- 20. N. Safoev, J.C. Jeon, Design of high-performance QCA incrementer/decrementer circuit based on adder/subtractor methodology. Microprocessors and Microsystems **72** (2020)

Low-Power Enhanced Speed Two-Tail Dynamically Controlled Comparator Suitable for Subthreshold CMOS Circuits



Avaneesh Kumar Dubey, Vikrant Varshney, Ankur Kumar, Pratosh Kumar Pal, and Rajendra Kumar Nagaria

1 Introduction

The most of devices in communication systems and consumer electronics use voltage reference circuits (VRC) [1], operational trans-conductance amplifiers (OTAs) [2–5], analog-to-digital converters (ADCs) [6–8] etc. as these are most likely to be portable and battery run. Therefore, these devices are required to be low-power, high-speed, and operational at very low power supply [9, 10]. In VLSI circuits, the digital and analog circuits can be integrated together due to the integration of the large number of transistors on a single chip. The digital circuits have the advantage over the analog circuits because of their smaller production cost and faster speed. But, on the other side, the analog circuits have their own importance as an inevitable interface between the digital and physical world. Eventually, the design of analog circuits sets the platform for the performance of the digital technology.

The conversion between analog and digital signal is one of the most important function in signal processing [6]. Analog-to-digital converter (ADC) [7, 8] typically contains one or more dynamic comparators, digital circuits, integrators, sample-and-hold and passive components. The dynamic comparator [11–27] is widely used in the

V. Varshney e-mail: vikrant1551@mnnit.ac.in

A. Kumar e-mail: rel1604@mnnit.ac.in

R. K. Nagaria e-mail: rkn@mnnit.ac.in

P. K. Pal ECED, M.M.M.U.T., Gorakhpur 273010, India e-mail: pkpec@mmmut.ac.in

A. K. Dubey (⊠) · V. Varshney · A. Kumar · R. K. Nagaria ECED, MNNIT Allahabad, Prayagraj 211004, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1121 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_97

process of converting analog signals to digital signals. In A/D conversion process, it is necessary to first sample the signals. This sampled signal then applied to the combination of dynamic comparators to determine the digital equivalent of analog signal. In the simplest form, the comparator can be considered as 1-bit ADC [13–15]. Dynamic comparators are the basic building blocks in Analog/Mixed-signal processing circuits [18, 19]. The demand for portable devices with high-speed and long battery life is increasing rapidly in modern communication systems. CMOS technology is scaled down (below 40 nm) to fulfill the demands [22, 26, 27]. It is difficult to scale down the threshold voltage of transistors with same rate which is limited the down scaling of supply voltage with channel length. It makes difficult to work at ultra-low-voltage power supply. These challenges produce more interest toward new design ideas for high-speed and low power supply.

The basic dynamic comparator is nothing but single tail dynamically controlled comparator (STDCC) [12]. STDCC suffers from nonlinear error because of distortion in input signal which is called kickback noise [11]. It dissipates also higher power and unable to work low power supply due to stacking problem. In order to solve this problem, two-tail dynamically controlled comparator (TTDCC) [13–15] came into picture. TTDCC is designed using amplification stage, latch stage and buffer stage. Amplification stage is basically a differential amplifier and latch stage is the combination of CMOS inverters with positive feedback. The amplification stage should be designed for low power, low-offset voltage, high gain and large CMR. The latch should be designed for high speed and low power. To reduce the offset voltage of input stage, the input transistor size should be large enough. Large transistors dissipate more power. The BD technique [10] and hybrid design technique [14] can be involved to reduce the power dissipation and delay at differential stage. The conventional BD techniques suffer from low trans-conductance. So, various novel techniques are desired to overcome above said challenges. There are several TTDCC designs proposed earlier that are Conv TTDCC [12], Hybrid TTDCC [14], BDL-TTDCC [18], TTDCC with self-biased technique [22], charge sharing-based TTDCC [25, 27], UC-TTDCC [26] etc.

From the above explained designs, it is noticeable that these designs are efficient, but unable to work at very low power supply. Therefore, there is a requirement of such novel design which can work for subthreshold CMOS circuits design. In this paper, a novel high-speed low power low-voltage TTDCC is proposed using the Gain Control by Bulk Amplification (GACOBA) loads, which is an advanced version of bulk-driven method to break standstill in power consumption and delay. In the proposed TTDCC, the latch stage uses GACOBA load and the differential stage uses bulk-driven load which enhances the speed and is able to work at very low power supply. The remainder of the paper is organized as follows: the proposed design is elaborated in Sect. 2 with detailed delay and kickback noise analysis. In Sect. 3, the results are discussed and Sect. 4 infers the paper.

2 Proposed Two-Tail Dynamically Controlled Comparator (TTDCC)

2.1 Circuit Implementation

The circuit diagram of the proposed TTDCC is illustrated in Fig. 1. Here, the differential stage is designed with BDL PMOS [18] (transistors Mb1 and Mb2 inside the



Fig. 1 The circuit diagram of the Proposed TTDCC

blue dotted region). The driver transistors are MD1 and MD2, where common mode voltage (V_{CM}) and differential inputs (ΔV_{IN}) are applied. This stage amplifies the differential input and the intermediate stage outputs (V_{IO1} and V_{IO2}) are obtained. The Vb is the biasing voltage used to bias BDL PMOS transistors as well as GACOBA loads in the subthreshold region. The bulk terminals of these transistors (Mb1, Mb2, Mg1 and Mg2) are connected separately. The bulk terminals of other transistors are connected according the conventional rule such as bulk of PMOS with power supply (V_{DD}) and bulk of NMOS with ground (GND). The combination of NM1/NM2 and Mg1/Mg2 transistors make dynamic inverters in latch stage. The effective transconductance of this stage is improved by the application of GACOBA loads PMOS (Mg1 and Mg2) [10]. The same is illustrated in Fig. 1 by the green and red dotted region. There are two-tail transistors in the circuit, *tail1* and *tail 2*, used to provide operating tail current for differential stage and latch stage, respectively.

2.2 Operation of the Proposed TTDCC

The transient behavior at $V_{DD} = 0.8$ V, $V_{CM} = 0.7$ V, $\Delta V_{IN} = 10$ mV for the proposed TTDCC is illustrated in Fig. 2. Here, the operation of the proposed TTDCC is classified into two mode, amplification mode and comparison mode, depending on the status of clock (CLK) signal. When CLK signal is low, transistors pM1 and pM2 are on; transistors tail1 and tail2 are off. The parasitic capacitors associated with nodes V_{IO1} and V_{IO2} (C_{IO1} and C_{IO2}) are charging up to the V_{DD} through pM1/pM2 and Mb1/Mb2. Simultaneously, the load capacitors (C_{Lout}) associated with the latch stage outputs OutN and OutP are discharging through NM1 and NM2. Therefore, at the end of amplification mode, the voltages of OutN and OutP nodes are low; and the V_{IO1} and V_{IO2} are high. The same can be illustrated from Fig. 2 before t = 2 ns.

The comparison mode starts when CLK goes high. As soon as CLK = logic '1', pM1 and pM2 are off; and transistors tail1 and tail2 are on. At the very beginning of the comparison mode, due to high V_{IO1} and V_{IO2} the transistors MS1 and MS2 are on, holding OutP and OutN nodes at low. As soon as transistor tail1 becomes on, it enables discharging path for C_{IO1} and C_{IO2} . Now depending on the input condition



(let us first consider In+>In-), the discharging rate of V_{IO1} node is greater than V_{IO2}. Due to this phenomenon, the transistor MS1 turns off before MS2. The output nodes capacitor associated with MS1 transistor (i.e., OutN node) will start charging before OutP through the transistor Mg1. The latching property of latch stage gets activated at this point and comparison has been made. Therefore, at the end of comparison mode, OutN node is high and OutP node is low (for the input condition In+>In-). The same operation is illustrated in Fig. 2 from t = 2 ns to t = 4 ns. The vice-versa operation will be performed by the proposed TTDCC when inputs are In+ < In-.

2.3 Delay Analysis

The BDL-TTDCC [18] is designed with the BDL PMOS differential stage. In this, the total delay (T_{Delay}) is given by following expression.

$$T_{\text{Delay}} = t_0 + T_{\text{latch}} = 2 \frac{V_{\text{THN}} \cdot C_{\text{Lout}}}{I_{t2}} + \frac{C_{\text{Lout}}}{g_{m,\text{ef}f} + g_{\text{mS1,2}}} \cdot \ln\left(\frac{V_{\text{DD}}}{2 \cdot \Delta V_0}\right) \quad (1)$$

where t_0 is the delay of differential stage, T_{Latch} is the delay of latch stage, $g_{m,\text{eff}}$ is effective trans-conductance of the differential stage, $g_{mSI,2}$ is the trans-conductance of transistor Ms1/Ms2, and ΔV_0 is expressed in the term of trans-conductance of several transistors.

$$\Delta V_0 = 2V_{\text{THN}} \cdot \frac{g_{\text{mS}1,2}}{I_{t2}} (g_{\text{m}1,2} + g_{\text{mb}L1,2}) (1 - \exp(-t_0/\tau_{\text{eq}})) (r_{01,2}||r_{0L1,2}) \Delta V_{\text{IN}}$$
(2)

where V_{THN} is the threshold voltage of NMOS transistors, the τ_{eq} , $g_{m1,2}$, $g_{mbL1,2}$, $r_{01,2}$ and $r_{0L1,2}$ are specified in [18].

From Eq. (2), it has been noticed that the large ΔV_0 can be achieved by improving trans-conductance of differential and latch stage. The large ΔV_0 reduces the latch stage delay (T_{Latch}) as detailed in Eq. (1). Therefore, ΔV_0 for the proposed TTDCC ($\Delta V_{0,\text{Prop.}}$) is derived as:

$$\Delta V_{0,\text{Prop.}} = 2V_{\text{THN}} \cdot \frac{G_{\text{mLatch, eff}}}{I_{t2}} (g_{m1,2} + g_{mbL1,2}) (1 - \exp(-t_0/\tau_{\text{eq}})) (r_{01,2}||r_{0Lb1,2}) \Delta V_{\text{IN}}$$
(3)

where $gm_{bL1,2}$ is the bulk trans-conductance of load transistors Mb1/Mb2, $r_{0Lb1,2}$ is the output resistance of load transistors Mb1/Mb2 and $G_{mLatch,eff} = g_{mS1,2} + (g_{mg1,2} + A_{V1}g_{mbg1,2})$.

By including the effect of effective latch stage trans-conductance, the latch stage delay of the proposed TTDCC ($T_{L,Prop.}$) is expressed as:

$$T_{L,\text{Prop.}} = \frac{C_{\text{Lout}}}{g_{m,\text{eff}} + G_{m\text{Latch,eff}}} \\ \cdot \ln \left(\frac{V_{\text{DD}/2}}{2V_{\text{THN}} \cdot 1 \frac{G_{m\text{Latch,eff}}}{I_{f2}} (g_{m1,2} + g_{mb\text{L}1,2}) (1 - \exp(-t_0/\tau_{eq})) (r_{01,2} || r_{0Lb1,2}) \Delta V_{\text{IN}}} \right)$$
(4)

From Eqs. (3) and (4), it is clearly seen that the improvement in effective transconductance improves the total delay of the proposed TTDCC.

2.4 Reduction in Kickback Noise

In general, the kickback noise very effectively affects the input signal because of two reasons, the parasitic capacitances directly connected between output nodes and the input nodes, and the fast operating of latch stage in TTDCCs [11]. It is also known that the transient noises are much higher in fast performing dynamic circuits as compared to the static counterpart. The peaks in input voltage are generated due to this effect, called as peak input voltage (PIV) error. The simulation setup to analysis PIV error due to the kickback noise is illustrated in Fig. 3. Here, the $R_{\rm TH}$ is the Thevenin's equivalent resistance offered by the preceding stage and $C_{\rm P,eff}$ is the effective parasitic capacitance directly connected between outputs and inputs node. The peaks visible in input voltage due to the effect of kickback noise (a) at $\Delta V_{\rm IN} = 5$ mV (b) at $\Delta V_{\rm IN} = 10$ mV are depicted in Fig. 4. Here, the effect of kickback noise is very negligible due to the use of shielding transistors MS1/MS2. Therefore, the peaks are very small in the proposed TTDCC. If kickback noise is very effective, the peaks will be large and PIV error will affect the comparison property of latch stage.







Fig. 4 The peaks visible in input voltage due to the effect of kickback noise **a** at $\Delta V_{IN} = 5$ mV, **b** at $\Delta V_{IN} = 10$ mV

3 Simulation Results and Discussions

The proposed TTDCC has been designed and simulated using the Cadence Virtuoso tool. The CMOS technology chosen for simulations is 90 nm. In the simulation, the transient part has been considered mainly as the delay and dynamic power dissipation are required to be analyzed. The power supply (V_{DD}) is varied from 0.7 to 1.2 V. Common Mode voltage (V_{CM}) is $V_{DD} - 0.1$ V. Differential input (ΔV_{IN}) applied to the TTDCC is 5 mV to 200 mV. The clock signal (CLK) has the frequency of 0.5 GHz and varying between 0 and V_{DD} . The transient behavior of the proposed TTDCC has already been discussed in Sect. 2. Now in this section the analysis of the Latch delay, total delay and power dissipation of the proposed TTDCC are discussed in detail.

The variation in latch delay and the total delay with respect to $V_{\rm DD}$ (a) latch stage delay (b) total delay are illustrated in Fig. 5. Here, the latch stage delay is 70 ps for $\Delta V_{\rm IN} = 10$ mV and $V_{\rm DD} = 0.8$ V. From Eq. (4), the latch stage delay is inversely proportional to the $\Delta V_{\rm IN}$. Hence, the latch stage delay will decrease with the increasing values of $\Delta V_{\rm IN}$. Same can be seen in Fig. 5a. The total delay is inversely



Fig. 5 The variation in latch delay and the total delay with respect to $V_{\rm DD}$ **a** latch stage delay, **b** total delay

proportional to the V_{DD} . Hence, the total delay will decrease with increasing V_{DD} . Same can be seen in Fig. 5b.

The variation in power dissipation and energy efficiency (a) power dissipation with respect to V_{DD} (b) energy efficiency with respect to ΔV_{IN} is depicted in Fig. 6. Here, the power dissipation follows the convention relation with V_{DD} (Power αV_{DD}^2). Now the energy efficiency is the power delay product (PDP) per conversion (i.e., PDP/2). The effect of ΔV_{IN} is negligible on the power dissipation but delay reduces. Hence, the energy efficiency will reduce with increasing ΔV_{IN} . Same behavior of the proposed TTDCC is visible in Fig. 6b. Here, it is also noticed that for higher V_{CM} , the energy efficiency decreases at constant V_{DD} (0.8 V).

The Monte-Carlo variation in offset voltage and the PIV error (a) offset voltage (b) PIV error due to effective kickback noise is shown in Fig. 7. Here, the 1-sigma error in offset voltage is 4.6134 mV for $\Delta V_{IN} = 10$ mV and $V_{DD} = 0.8$ V. The samples for Monte-Carlo analysis are 100 and the mean value of offset is 0.305 mV. The maximum random generated point on this graph is around 17 mV. The PIV error for the proposed TTDCC is varying with respect to the Thevenins' resistance R_{TH} . The larger value of R_{TH} and ΔV_{IN} increases the PIV error due to the kickback noise. Hence, if there is many preceding stage between the inputs and comparator block, the R_{TH} will be large and the kickback noise affects more and more. The similar illustration can be seen in Fig. 7b.

The corner analysis for the proposed TTDCC is shown in Table 1. Here, the corners are TT (typical values of NMOS and PMOS transistors), FF (Fast NMOS and Fast PMOS), FS (Fast NMOS and Slow PMOS), SF (Slow NMOS and Fast PMOS), and SS (Slow NMOS and Slow PMOS). The variation can be seen in the table.

The performance analysis of the proposed TTDCC compared to the conventional TTDCC simulated under similar simulation setup is shown in Table 2. Here, the simulation has be done in same simulation environments such as $V_{DD} = 1 \text{ V}$, $\Delta V_{IN} = 10 \text{ mV}$, $V_{CM} = 0.8 \text{ V}$, input signals, CLK and sizing of the transistors etc. The conventional TTDCC [12] has delay of 208.9 pS and power dissipation of 47.4 μ W. The hybrid TTDCC [14] has delay of 129.79 pS and power dissipation of 67.23 μ W. The proposed TTDCC has the lowest delay and power dissipation, hence the lowest energy efficiency per conversion. However, the offset voltage of the proposed TTDCC is 4.62 mV which is comparable to the others.

The performance of the proposed TTDCC is compared in Table 3 to the recent works. Here, the proposed work TTDCC has been compared with the results of [12, 14, 19–25]. From the table, it is clear that the energy efficiency is lowest as compared to the other published works.



Fig. 6 The variation in power dissipation and energy efficiency: **a** power dissipation with respect to V_{DD} , **b** energy efficiency with respect to ΔV_{IN}



Fig. 7 The Monte-Carlo variation in offset voltage and the PIV error: **a** offset voltage, **b** PIV error due to effective kickback noise

4 Conclusion

The novel TTDCC has been proposed using BDL differential stage and GACOBA load latch stage. The design and simulation have been carried out in Cadence Virtuoso and Spectre at 90 nm CMOS technology. The results show that the proposed TTDCC has very small delay and power dissipation, 124.2 ps and 2.49 μ W, respectively. Hence, it is very energy-efficient design as consume only 0.154 fJ per conversion. The offset voltage and PIV errors are also in control and can further be reduced but at the cost of delay and power dissipation. The proposed TTDCC is 63% faster and

Corners	mers Parameters						
	Total delay (ps)	Avg. PD (µW)	1-sigma Offset (mV)	PIV error (mV) $@(\Delta V_{IN} = 10 \text{ mV})$	PDP (fJ)		
TT	124.21	2.49	4.61	0.316	0.309		
FF	94.85	2.74	3.97	0.412	0.259		
FS	139.71	2.19	3.19	0.396	0.305		
SF	114.31	2.32	4.92	0.382	0.265		
SS	163.18	1.923	6.053	0.312	0.313		

Table 1 The corner analysis of the proposed TTDCC

Table 2 The performance analysis of the proposed TTDCC compared to the conventional TTDCC simulated under similar simulation setup ($V_{DD} = 1 \text{ V}, \Delta V_{IN} = 10 \text{ mV}$)

Parameters	[12]	[14]	[17]	Proposed TTDCC
Maximum sampling rate (GHz)	5	8.3	7.7	18.2
Total delay time (pS)	208.9	129.79	135.41	76.53
Power dissipation (µW)	47.4	67.23	36.906	9.91
1-sigma offset voltage (mV)	3.49	5.93	3.14	4.61
Energy efficiency (fJ/Conv.)	4.909	4.35	2.49	0.38

92% energy efficient as compared to the conventional TTDCC [12]. The promising behavior of the proposed work can be further used to design subthreshold CMOS circuits such as VRCs, ADCs etc.

		1							
Parameters	[12]	[14]	[19]	[20]	[21]	[23]	[24]	[25]	Proposed TTDCC
Year	2007	2014	2016	2017	2017	2018	2018	2018	1
CMOS process (nm)	90	180	180	180	06	180	90	06	90
Supply voltage, V _{DD} (V)	1.2	1.2	1.8	0.8	1	1.8	0.8	1	0.8
V _{CM} (V)	1	1	1	0.7	0.7	1	0.6	0.7	0.7
$\Delta V_{\rm IN}~({ m mV})$	5	5	100	5	5	1	5	20	10
Clock frequency (GHz)	3	0.5	4.54	0.05	1	0.5	1	1	0.5
Maximum sampling rate (GHz)	~ 14.3	2.4	5.2	*	*	1.5	4	3.7	18.2
Total delay time (ps)	~ 160	550	193	881	51.7	300	224	50.9	124.2
1-sigma offset voltage (mV)	13	7.8	2.5	*	*	2.4	*	7.7	4.61
Average power dissipation (μW)	~ 25	329	420	0.76	32.6	150	8.42	31.8	2.49
PDP (fJ)	40	181	81	0.67	1.69	4.5	1.9	1.62	0.309
Energy efficiency (fJ/Conv.)	40	240	40.5	0.33	0.5	2.2	0.95	0.8	0.154
PIV error (mV), @ ΔV_{IN} (mV)	*	43@ 100	*	4@ 5	*	*	*	*	0.316@ 10

 Table 3
 Performance of the proposed TTDCC compared with the recent works

*Not reported ~ calculated from given data

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank the New Research Lab and VLSI Lab of MN National Institute of Technology Allahabad for providing us the computational infrastructure.

References

- B.D. Yang, 250-mV supply subthreshold CMOS voltage reference using a low-voltage comparator and a charge-pump circuit. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II: Express Briefs 61(11), 850–854 (2014)
- P.K. Pal, R.K. Nagaria, A low power, sub-1V all MOSFET subthreshold voltage reference using body biasing. J. Circuit Syst. Comput. (JCSC) 28(13), 1950215(1–22) (2019)
- P.K. Pal, R.K. Nagaria, A Sub-1 V nanopower subthreshold current and voltage reference using current subtraction technique and cascoded active load. Integr. VLSI J. 71, 115–124 (2019)
- T. Dubey, V. Bhadauria, A low-voltage highly linear OTA using bulk-driven floating gate MOSFETs. AEU—Int. J. Electron. Commun. 98, 29–37 (2019)
- T. Dubey, R. Shankar, V. Bhadauria, Cross coupled bulk degenerated OTA using source follower auxiliary pair to improve linearity, in 2018 1st International Conference on VLSI, Communication and Signal Processing, VCAS 2018
- Z. Zhu, Z. Qiu, Y. Shen, Y. Yang, A 2.67 fJ/c.-s. 27.8 kS/s 0.35 V 10-bit successive approximation register analogue-to-digital converter in 65 nm complementary metal oxide semiconductor. IET Circuits Dev. Syst. 8(6), 427–434 (2014)
- Z. Zhu, M. Liu, Q. Wang, Y. Yang, A single-channel 8-bit 660MS/s asynchronous SAR ADC with pre-settling procedure in 65nm CMOS. Microelectron. J. 45(7), 880–885 (2014)
- K. Ragab, L. Chen, A. Sanyal, N. Sun, Digital background calibration for pipelined ADCs based on comparator decision time quantization. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II: Express Briefs 62(5), 456–460 (2015)
- A.K. Dubey, P. Srivastava, M. Pattanaik, Efficient technique to reduce power dissipation of Op-Amps at high speed, in 2015 International Conference on Robotics, Automation, Control and Embedded Systems (RACE) (IEEE, 2015), pp. 1–4
- A.K. Dubey, R.K. Nagaria, Enhanced gain low-power CMOS amplifiers: a novel design approach using bulk-driven load and introduction to GACOBA technique. J. Circ. Syst. Comput. (JCSC) 27(13), 1850204 (17 p) (2018)
- P.M. Figueiredo, J.C. Vitalm, Kickback noise reduction techniques for cmos latched comparators. IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II: Express Briefs 53(7), 541–545 (2006)
- D. Schinkel, E. Mensink, E. Klumperink, E. Van Tuijl, B. Nauta, A double-tail latch-type voltage sense amplifier with 18ps setup+ hold time, in *Solid-State Circuits Conference*, 2007. *ISSCC 2007. Digest of Technical Papers. IEEE International* (IEEE, 2007), pp. 314–605
- A.K. Dubey, R.K. Nagaria, Design and analysis of an energy-efficient high-speed CMOS double tail dynamic comparator with reduced kickback noise effect. J. Circuits Syst. Comput. (JCSC) 28(9), 1950157 (18 p) (2019)
- S. Babayan-Mashhadi, R. Lotfi, Analysis and design of a low-voltage low-power double-tail comparator. IEEE Trans. Very Large Scale Integr. (VLSI) Syst. 22(2), 343–352 (2014)
- R. Jain, A.K. Dubey, V. Varshney, R.K. Nagaria, Design of low-power high-speed double-tail dynamic CMOS comparator using novel latch struc-ture, in 2017 4th IEEE Uttar Pradesh Section International Conference on Electrical, Computer and Electronics (UPCON) (IEEE, 2017), pp. 217–222
- S. Huang, S. Diao, F. Lin, An energy-efficient high-speed CMOS hy-brid comparator with reduced delay time in 40-nm CMOS process. Analog Integr. Circuits Signal Process., 1–8 (2016)
- A. Khorami, M. Sharifkhani, Excess power elimination in high-resolution dynamic comparators. Microelectron. J. 64, 45–52 (2017)

- A.K. Dubey, R.K. Nagaria, Optimization for offset and kickback-noise in novel CMOS doubletail dynamic comparator: a low-power, high-speed design approach using bulk-driven load. Microelectron. J. 78, 1–10 (2018)
- A. Khorami, M. Sharifkhani, High-speed low-power comparator for analog to digital converters. Int. J. Electron. Commun. (AEÜ) (2016)
- R. Gupta, C. Singh, Analysis and design of power gated low-power, high performance latch dynamic double-tail comparator. Int. J. Recent Innov. Trends Comput. Commun. 5(6), 786–793 (2017)
- V. Savani, N.M. Devashrayee, Analysis and design of low-voltage low-power high-speed double tail current dynamic latch comparator. Analog Integr. Circuits Signal Process. 93(2), 287–298 (2017)
- 22. A.K. Dubey, R.K. Nagaria, Low-power high-speed CMOS double tail dynamic comparator using self-biased amplification stage and novel latch stage. Analog Integr. Circuits Signal Process. 101(2), 307–317 (2019)
- A. Khorami, M. Sharifkhani, A low-power technique for high-resolution dynamic comparators. Int. J. Circuit Theory Appl. 46(10), 1777–1795 (2018)
- 24. F. Rabbi, et al., Design of a low-power ultra high speed dynamic latched comparator in 90-nm CMOS technology, in 2018 IEEE International Conference on Computer, Communication, Chemical, Material and Electronic Engineering (IC4ME2) (2018)
- V. Savani, N.M. Devashrayee, Design and analysis of low-power high-speed shared charge reset technique based dynamic latch comparator. Microelectron. J. 74, 116–126 (2018)
- V. Varshney, R.K. Nagaria, An unbalanced clock based dynamic comparator: a high speed low-offset design approach for ADC applications. Adv. Electr. Electron. Eng. 17(4), 446–458 (2019)
- 27. V. Varshney, A.K. Dubey, R. K. Nagaria, Design and performance of high-speed energyefficient CMOS double tail dynamic latch comparator using GACOBA load suitable for low voltage Applications. J. Circuits Syst. Comput. (JCSC), **30**(11), 2150191 (2020)

Charge Plasma-Based Tunnel FET with Enhanced DC Performance Applicable for Ultra-low Power Applications



Varun Mishra^(D), Yogesh Kumar Verma, Santosh Kumar Gupta, and Afreen Anamul Haque

1 Introduction

Ever since the innovation of the primary transistor by the trio of Shockley, Brattain and Bardeen in 1947 and then Kilby's development of Integrated Circuit (IC) in 1958 [1, 2], the effect of the advancement of electronic technology in our day by day exercises has been colossal to the point that these days it is unbelievable to survive without it. Advanced mobile phones, smart-vehicles, e-watches, smart LEDs, etc., are only a couple of models that facilitate our everyday life, for the most part because of the downscale development of the electronic transistor. The exponential development in the number of transistors on a single die, adhering to Moore's law [3–5], has been the significant motivation for the semiconductor business throughout these years.

Right up till the late 90s, the hypothesis of the scaling down of transistors by Dennard [6] was very much shadowed by the electronic industries, for example, the biasing supply voltage VDD and threshold voltage V_{TH} were scaled down directly with the decrease in channel dimensions. Thusly, with the diminishing of VDD, a quadratic lessening of the switching power utilization in the transistor and thus in the IC was seen during all these years. The effective reduction in the size of the transistors was for the most part accomplished because of the incredible material, SiO₂, and its electrical attributes. During the previous 15 years, a few adjustments

V. Mishra (🖂) · A. A. Haque

Graphic Era (Deemed to Be) University, Dehradun, Uttarakhand, India e-mail: rel1605@mnnit.ac.in

Y. K. Verma Lovely Professional University, Phagwara, Punjab, India e-mail: yogesh.25263@lpu.co.in

S. K. Gupta Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Allahabad, UP, India e-mail: skg@mnnit.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1137 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_98

in the transistor geometry were requisite so as to keep the innovation downscaling pattern [7, 8].

With scaled down thickness of the gate oxide, a surge of gate leakage (tunneling) because of current coursing via a thin gate insulator was introduced as the serious issue to be tackled at 45 nm nodes. The inclusion of gate dielectrics having huge dielectric constants fundamentally diminished the leakage due to gate, in this way permitting the abatement of the scaling of the technology nodes to 32 nm [9–12]. With further decrease in channel length, thermal diffusion of carriers and ensuing increment of current due to leakage necessitated changes in the orthodox CMOS structure.

To conquer the resulting increment in static power utilized in chips, diverse device design structures, for example, FinFETs and FDSOI were made and are right now under fabrication with nodes scaled down to 7 nm [13]. Transistors having multi-gate structure increment the gate control of the channel, thus, permitting the decrease of undesirable effects of short channel and ensuing decrease of dissipation of leakage power [14–16]. Notwithstanding the better control of the channel by the gate as opposed to the bulk CMOS, FDSOI permits the variation in the threshold voltage $V_{\rm TH}$ by altering the voltage polarity of the body [17].

During the forthcoming years, electronic devices are in prospect to be decreased to a couple of nanometers, and further, scaling down of the transistor would be beyond the bounds of possibility [18]. According to the present trend, the widths and lengths of MOSFETs are headed toward such a small scale at which they will be made out of few hundred atoms, unsolicited effects, for example, gate tunneling will forestall further enhancements in the device execution because of enormous leakage currents. So as to ward off the ensuing increment of static power consumption, development of chips with additional downscaling of technology and still keep the augmentation of density of transistors at a feasible affordable production, the business of semiconductor will inevitably push endeavors in the advancement of vertical device dimensions, hardware with numerous layers, and diverse electrical transport mechanisms [18, 19].

The process proportions of MOSFETs has kept on diminishing with the advancement of technology of microelectronics; however, the biasing voltage has not kept on reducing at the same pace [20]. Both the static power utilization and dynamic power utilization have exponential increment; hence, it becomes the primary test for MOSFETs. They utilize the thermionic emission as their primary mechanism, that can't efficaciously make the sub-limit swing under 60 mV/dec. The current present in the sub-threshold region is the principle cause of utilization of static power. Therefore, conventional MOSFETs cannot meet the necessities of better performance and reduced power utilization. To bypass the SS confinement of the orthodox transistors, devices with various carrier injection mechanisms without depending on (Boltzmann) appropriation of mobile charge carriers are the need of the hour [18, 20].

So as to confront the expansion of static power utilization pattern in chips for the upcoming technology nodes post CMOS-technology and also because of its nonthermal mechanism of carrier injection relying on Band-To-Band Tunneling (BTBT) phenomenon, TFET, tunnel field-effect transistor is introduced as the finest promising candidate [19, 21].

With an alternate mechanism of carrier injection in contrast with the traditional thermal devices, TFETs have the ability to accomplish an inverse sub-limit slope (SS), at room temperature, with a value sub-60 mV/dec. With this unique trademark, TFETs can possibly accomplish a low working voltage, keeping up a huge current gain. The future assembly of TFETs in chips meant for low power is emphatically subject to the development of fabricating techniques as TFETs fabricated with the materials belonging to the groups III and V conquer the electrical functioning of silicon-based TFETs [2]. In light of the tunnel diodes controlled by the gate, the elementary planar TFETs possess petite ON-state current, the indirect band gap, perplexing heavy doping methods, and higher forbidden band width of the silicon material, which can restrict the large-scale use of silicon-based planar TFETs [5]. Researchers have planned some novel TFET devices with unique structures for taking care of this issue, for example, the hetero-intersection TFET, dopingless TFET, etc. [6].

The DLTFET can tackle the intensely doped technology issue. The entirety of the regions of DLTFET utilizes the intrinsic materials, and the regions comprising of source and drain are acknowledged by choosing the appropriate metal work function. In spite of the fact that the newly developed structures can take care of the issue to a limited degree, the device performance despite everything has opportunity to get better. The utilization of size scaling for TFETs is constrained by lesser on-current, higher miller capacitance and intensely doped sharp junctions [7, 8, 22].

2 Device Dimensions and Model

Figure 1 shows the schematic view of CP-TFET. The device dimensions of CP-TFET and DG-TFET are mentioned in Table 1. The models like Shockley–Read–Hall recombination model, Auger recombination model, band gap narrowing model, non-local BTBT model, field-dependent mobility model, and phonon-assisted tunneling model have been utilized throughout the numerical calculation. The spatial variation of energy bands has been considered by the non-local models.

3 Results and Discussions

In this section, we have investigated the electrical attributes of a dopingless charge plasma-based TFET (CP) in comparison with the orthodox dual-gate TFET (DG). Figure 2 portrays the graphs of energy band variations for TFET in OFF and ON state, which reflects shallower band bending for CP-TFET, practically like that of



Fig. 1 Schematic view of CP-TFET

Parameter	CP-TFET	DG-TFET
Channel length	50 nm	50 nm
Source length	100 nm	100 nm
Drain length	100 nm	100 nm
Gate work function	4.5 eV	4.5 eV
Source electrode	5.93 eV	-
Drain electrode	3.9 eV	-
Source doping	10 ¹⁵ /cm ³	10 ²⁰ /cm ³
Drain doping	10 ¹⁵ /cm ³	5×10^{18} /cm ³
Channel doping	10 ¹⁵ /cm ³	10 ¹⁷ /cm ³

Table 1Device dimensionsof CP-TFET and DG-TFET

traditional DG-TFET. Notwithstanding the introduction of charge plasma, the characteristics of TFET are not unfavorably influenced in the OFF state. Junction abruptness plays the crucial role in getting a superior device characteristics for the case of doping less TFET. In Fig. 2b, it is observed that the suggested structure with charge plasma is having a precipitous band bending in the on state that allows a maximum extent of electrons to pass through the junction with no trouble and hence furnishing more suitable drain current characteristics.



Fig. 2 Energy band diagram: a OFF state. b ON state

It is very well observed from Fig. 3, that a high potential gradient is present at the tunneling junction between the channel and source. Additionally, the tunneling band located at this junction is bent to some extent. Along these lines, having a sharp band bending aides in improving the tunneling rate of electrons and in the long run providing larger drain current.

Figure 4 shows electric field variation, which illustrates the higher electric field for CP-TFET as compared to conventional DG-TFET at interface of source and channel. The high electric field can adequately diminish the width of the tunneling barrier, and the energy band turns out to be increasingly bended which can advance the band tunneling phenomenon of electrons, thus enhancing the drain current.

Figure 5 shows the variation of electron and hole concentration along the channel in OFF state and ON state, respectively. The charge plasma method induces the electrons and holes concentration on source and drain regions of CP-TFET similar to doping done in DG-TFET. The concentration of electrons in ON state has increased in contrast to OFF state, and this enhances the drive current of CP-TFET analogous to OFF-state current. The transfer characteristics of CP-TFET and conventional DG-TFET at $V_{DS} = 1$ V are shown in Fig. 6. The OFF current obtained for CP-TFET is 1.77×10^{-18} A/µm which is less in contrast to 1.76×10^{-17} A/µm of DG-TFET. Sub-threshold swing obtained for CP-TFET is 29.1 mV/decade, whereas for DG-TFET is 35.1 mV/decade. By observing the graph, it is understood that the suggested structure exhibit enhanced drain current. This escalation in drain current is because of the introduction of charge plasma which enhances the carrier velocity at the junction of tunneling.

The augmented performance of DG-TFET contrasted with the dopingless CP-TFET can be comprehended from the electric field variation for the ON-state, portrayed in Fig. 4. We see that, for the dopingless CP-TFET because of the sheer abruptness in the energy profile of the ON-state (as appeared in Fig. 2b, the electric field at the junction between channel and source of the dopingless CP-TFET is higher contrasted with the DG-TFET. This resulting high electric field, along with a decreased tunneling width, prompts a greater band-to-band generation rate, and thus, superior drain current than its conventional counterpart.

4 Conclusion

In this work, the technique of charge plasma is utilized in order to curtail the random dopant fluctuations that occurs because of doping. The charge plasma based TFET is proposed that provides reduced OFF state current and enhanced drive current in compare to DG-TFET. Charge plasma minimizes the issues during fabrication process. It has been observed that CP-TFET has steep band bending in contrast to DG-TFET, which enhances the tunneling rate of charge carriers that leads to rise in electric field and drive current of the device. The CP-TFET has superior DC characteristics in contrast to DG-TFET which is best suited for applications of ICs of ultra-low power.



Fig. 3 Surface potential along the channel: a OFF state. b ON state





Fig. 4 Electric field along the channel: a OFF state. b ON state



Fig. 5 Electron and hole concentration along the channel: a OFF state. b ON state



Fig. 6 Transfer characteristics of CP-TFET and DG-TFET

References

- 1. D. Cavalheiro, Ultra low power cicuits based on tunnel FETs for energy harvesting applications, PhD thesis, Polytechnic University of Catalonia (2017)
- U.E. Avci, D.H. Morris, A. Young, Tunnel field-effect transistors: prospects and challenges. IEEE J. Electron Dev. Soc. 3(3), 88–95 (2015)
- A.M. Ionescu, H. Riel, Tunnel field-effect transistors as energy- efficient electronic switches. Nature 479, 329–337 (2011)
- 4. T. Han, H. Liu, S. Chen, S. Wang, H. Xie, TCAD Simulation of the doping-less TFET with Ge/SiGe/Si hetero-junction and hetero-gate dielectric for the enhancement of device performance. Coatings **10**, 278 (2020)
- S.S. Chauhan, N. Sharma, Impact of spacer-gate engineered workfunction on the performance of dopingless TFET. J. Nanoelectron. Optoelectron. 13, 1200–1203 (2018)
- S. Anand, R.K. Sarin, Gate misalignment e_ects on analog/RF performance of charge plasmabased doping-less tunnel FET. Appl. Phys. A 123, 413 (2017)
- A. Revelant, A. Villalon, Y. Wu, A. Zaslavsky, C. Le Royer, H. Iwai, S. Cristoloveanu, Electron hole bilayer TFET: experiments and comments. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 61, 2674–2681 (2014)
- M. Aslam, D. Sharma, S. Yadav, D. Soni, N. Sharma, A. Gedam, A comparative investigation of low work-function metal implantation in the oxide region for improving electrostatic characteristics of charge plasma TFET. Micro. Nano. Lett. 14, 123–128 (2019)

- 9. J.S. Kilby, Turning Potential Into Realities: The Invention of the Integrated Circuit (2000). http://nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/physics/laureates/2000/kilby-lecture.pdf
- G.E. Moore, Cramming more components onto integrated circuits. Reprinted from Electronics 38(8), 114–117 (1965)
- R.H. Dennard et al., Design of ion-implanted MOSFET's with very small physical dimensions. IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits 9, 256–268 (1974)
- 12. R. Chau et al., High-k/metal-gate stack and its MOSFET characteristics. IEEE Electron Device Lett. 25(6), 408–410 (2004)
- S.Y. Wu, et al., A 7 nm CMOS platform technology featuring 4th generation FinFET transistors with a 0.027 μm² high density 6-T SRAM cell for mobile SoC applications, in *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, pp. 2.6.1–2.6.4 (2016)
- I. Ferain, C.A. Colinge, J.P. Colinge, Multigate transistors as the future of classical metaloxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors. Nature 479, 310–316 (2011)
- 15. R. Courtland, Transistors could stop shrinking in 2021. IEEE Spectr. 53(9), 9–11 (2016)
- S.W. Kim, J.H. Kim, T.J.K. Liu, W.Y. Choi, B.G. Park, Demonstration of L-shaped tunnel field-effect transistors. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 63, 1774–1778 (2016)
- V. Mishra, Y.KO. Verma, P.K. Verma, S.K. Gupta, EMA-based modeling of the surface potential and drain current of dual-material gate-all-around TFETs. J. Comput. Electron. 17(4), 1596– 1602 (2018)
- V. Mishra, Y.K. Verma, S.K. Gupta. Investigation of localized charges and temperature effect on device performance of ferroelectric dual material gate all around TFETs. J. Nanoelectron. Optoelectron. 14(2), 161–168 (2019)
- V. Mishra, Y.K. Verma, S.K. Gupta, Surface potential-based analysis of ferroelectric dual material gate all around (FE-DMGAA) TFETs. Int. J. Numerical Model. Electron. Netw. Dev. Fields, e2726 (2020)
- V. Mishra, Y.K. Verma, P.K. Verma, S.K. Gupta, Ferroelectric dual material gate all around TFET architecture for enhanced electrical performance, in 2018 15th IEEE India Council International Conference (INDICON) (IEEE, 2018), pp. 1–4
- Y.K. Verma, V. Mishra, S.K. Gupta, Linearity Distortion Analysis of III–V and Si Quadruple Gate Field Effect Transistor (QG-FET) for Analog Applications. J. Nanoelectron. Optoelectron. 15(1), 1–18 (2020)
- P.K. Verma, Y.K. Verma, V. Mishra, S.K. Gupta, A charge-plasma-based dual-metal-gate recessed-source/drain dopingless junctionless transistor with enhanced analog and RF performance. J. Comput. Electron. 19(3), 1085–1099 (2020)

Data Collection Website with Brain Tumor and Pneumonia Detection



Atul Awasthi, Kumar Mohit, Rajeev Gupta, and Basant Kumar

1 Introduction

Medical science integrated with engineering has been proved to be a great success in reducing mortality rate through accurate and early disease detection. MIC (medical image computing) is an inter-disciplinary field of medicine, information engineering, computer engineering and electrical engineering which develops mathematical models for medical image processing. ANN application embedded with image processing techniques brings automation in CAD system which helps doctors and radiologists in faster and accurate diagnosis from medical images. ANN goes through a number of steps for automatic and faster analysis which mainly require training and testing of ANN model. Thousands of patients data are required to test and train for a successful model. The drawback of this technique is that online availability of data is not sufficient enough to fulfill the requirement, and also these data size can vary from few MB to few GB making it difficult to store online altogether.

There is always a requirement of a tool designated specifically for data collection where doctors can easily submit patient-related information and also researchers who need these data for training models can easily download it. This paper provides solution to medical data shortage problem by proposing a website model designed for medical data collection. In this way, it will also help doctors by storing hospitals and patients data for future references of case study, thus reducing paper workload. Besides data collection, we also integrated brain tumor and pneumonia detection models into the website, making our website useful not only for medical data collection but also helping doctors in decision-making process. These diseases if not detected at early stage then may lead to patient's death. Prompt and accurate diagnosis and treatment plan can only lead to improved quality of life in patients.

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_99

A. Awasthi · K. Mohit (⊠) · R. Gupta · B. Kumar MNNIT, Allahabad, Prayagraj, UP 211004, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1149 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Brain tumor terminology is given to the abnormal growth characteristics of brain tissues which can be classified as malignant (cancerous) and/or benign (noncancerous) [1]. Early detection of the brain tumor is possible with the advancement of MIC; one of such most practical and important model used is deep learning neural network (DNN) which is a subset of ANN [2]. Convolutional neural network (CNN) algorithms of deep learning have been used in our work which shows state-ofart performance in medical image analysis and disease detection problems through number of steps like feature extraction from ROI (region of interest), feature selection followed by disease classification. Training a CNN successfully may require large number of input data which are not available easily, thus limiting the practical applications of deep learning models in medical field. We have proposed various transfer learning techniques to train deep learning models whose idea is to take a model that has already been used for repurposing toward a new task.

Pneumonia is a bacterial, viral or fungal disease which causes infection in lungs. These germs are contagious hence communicate from person to person. Inflammation is produced in the lung's air sacs which may be filled with pus or fluid due to this infection, leading to difficulty in breathing. Bacterial and viral pneumonia are communicated to others during inhalation of nearby airborne droplets from infected cough, sneeze or exposure to contaminated surfaces. Fungal pneumonia generally is contracted from environment and doesn't spread from person to person. Deep neural network structure have been conventionally designed and tested continuously through trial-and-error method for pneumonia detection, which requires resources, enormous time and know-how. To overcome, these problems data augmentation is coupled with transfer learning. The proposed methodology uses CNN algorithm for extracting relevant features from images by convolving it with neurons set [3]. Efficacy of the method was demonstrated and compared with existing state-of-the-art pneumonia classification networks [4].

For brain tumor detection, we obtained a dataset of 253 brain MRI images and for pneumonia detection a dataset of 5500 chest X-ray images. The image dataset is pre-processed and resized using bi-cubic interpolation. The size of the dataset was then increased virtually using data augmentation. The pre-processed images are then fed into various models for feature extraction, selection and classification. For brain tumor detection, we trained three models, namely Inception V3, Resnet50 and VGG16. Out of these three models, VGG16 model performed the best against our standard. It achieved training accuracy of 97.68%, validation accuracy of 92.12% and testing accuracy of 89.72% and hence was chosen as the final model for brain tumor detection. For pneumonia detection, we trained three models, namely Inception V3, model trained from Scratch and VGG16. Out of these three models, VGG16 model performed the best against our standard. It achieved training accuracy of 93.02% and testing accuracy of 84.8% and hence was chosen as the final model for pneumonia detection.
2 Background

2.1 Convolutional Neural Network

In neural networks, CNN is usually preferred for ROI recognition and image classifications through objects detection, recognition, extraction, etc. CNN model simply takes an image as input, performs image processing and then classifies it under certain categories. A computer understands an image as array of pixels, height x width x dimension, which depends on its resolution; e.g., an image of $6 \times 6 \times 3$ array of RGB matrix (3 refers to RGB values) and an image of $4 \times 4 \times 1$ array of grayscale images matrix. Input images pass through a series of convolution layers having pooling layers, filters (kernels), fully connected layers (FC) and softmax function for classification of object with probabilistic values between 0 and 1.

2.2 Transfer Learning

As the name suggests, transfer learning process train a model for some specific problem and transfer this knowledge to other related problems. In deep learning, this technique trains a neural network model for a problem similar to the problem that is being solved. One or more layers from the trained model are then used in a new model trained on the problem of interest [5]. The weights in re-used layers may be used as the starting point for the training process and adapted in response to the new problem. This usage treats transfer learning as a type of weight initialization scheme. This may be useful when the first related problem has a lot more labeled data than the problem of interest and the similarity in the structure of the problem may be useful in both contexts. Transfer learning has the benefit of decreasing the training time for a neural network model and can result in lower generalization error.

3 Proposed Work

The complete work performed can be broken down into three major modules: website development, brain tumor and pneumonia detection. The website model is for medical data collection to address the problems of small medical datasets. The brain tumor and pneumonia detection models are trained to assist the doctors in decision-making process. We trained several models for each task. After training all the models, two models, one from each set, were chosen as the final models for integrating into the website for prediction purpose.

3.1 Website Development

The main goal of MIC is to extract clinically relevant information from medical images. There is always a requirement of storage where large number of medical images and findings must be saved online and can be accessed whenever required. To solve this problem, we proposed a website model for data collection in Fig. 1 with following notable features keeping security factor in mind too:

- The website consists of many pages interlinked through hypertext links.
- Webpages are designed to provide links to access large number of datasets.
- Only registered users can avail the services offered by the website.
- Access rights are divided between doctors and researchers only through proper login id after admin verification.
- Different categories of users are given different access rights.
- Doctors are provided with reading, writing and editing option so they can download as well as upload datasets.
- Researchers are allowed with reading option only so they can only download datasets provided by the admin.
- Guest page and login are provided to visit the webpage.



Fig. 1 Proposed website model

3.2 Clinical Dataset

For brain tumor detection, we obtained 253 MRI images from 253 different patients. Further processing on images required splitting it into training set with 155 images followed by validation set with 30 images and testing set with 30 images [6, 7]. For pneumonia detection, 5500 X-ray images dataset were obtained whose processing also followed splitting into training set with 4000 images followed by validation set with 500 images and the testing set with 500 images [8]. Although the dataset for brain tumor detection was small but applying data augmentation technique to generate more data, we have obtained satisfying results.

3.3 Image Pre-processing

After obtaining patients' dataset, pre-processing is performed over images to avoid inconsistency and maintaining high accuracy. It follows region of interest (ROI) extraction, cropping, resizing of the image and shifting the pixel range. Due to very high variation in pixel ratios, the images were cropped to extract the ROI in the first place. Image pre-processing followed the following algorithm:

- Get the original images one by one from the dataset.
- Find the biggest possible contour on the image using 'findAllContours' tool of the OpenCV library.
- 'MAX' function in the OpenCV library gives the maximum area contour in the image.
- Rectangular crop the image after locating the extreme points on this contour.
- Resize the image to the dimension (224,224,3) using bi-cubic interpolation method.
- Apply the model-specific pre-processing function on the images in the datasets to shift the range of the pixels.

3.4 Feature Extraction and Classification

For extracting the features of both datasets, we have used several pre-trained ConvNets as an initializing step for our models. The ConvNets include VGG16, Resnet50, InceptionV3 and models from scratch. For training the models, we use machine learning (ML) and transfer learning techniques. In traditional ML technique, we simply train the model from dataset that we acquire. This is also known as isolated learning. However, in transfer learning technique we transfer the knowledge of a pre-trained model to our model that we intended to train for our task of interest. For brain tumor detection, since the size of the dataset was small, we only used the transfer learning technique to train our models and, for pneumonia detection since

the size of the dataset was sufficient enough, we used ML and transfer learning both to train our models. We are discussing here transfer of knowledge in two ways:

• ConvNets feature extractor

Apply pre-trained ConvNet on the ImageNet dataset but remove the fully connected last layer (i.e., the MLP layer in Fig. 1). Rest of the ConvNet is used as fixed feature extractor for other dataset. The last fully connected layers or the dense layers of the models served the purpose of a classifier. The benefit of this approach would be that, even if you have less data, this would not over-fit as you would only train the MLP layer which you added to the convolutional base (i.e., retrain the classifier only and freeze the convolutional base).

• *Finetuning of the ConvNets* In finetuning, we initialize the network using pre-trained weights and then train the entire network like training the model from scratch.

After both the models were trained, we integrated these models into the predicted page of the website. This enables the doctors to make decisions related to pneumonia and brain tumor diagnosis quickly and accurately saving many lives.

4 Results

Medical images obtained were categorized into two classes. Class 0 denotes that the patient is healthy and Class 1 denotes that the patient is diseased. Accuracy has been calculated as a performance parameter of the model. Firstly, we developed the website for data collection and models for brain tumor and pneumonia detection. Then, we integrated the models into the website. The results for brain tumor and pneumonia detection models are compiled below:

4.1 Brain Tumor Detection

We have trained three models for brain tumor detection, namely Inception V3, Resnet50 and VGG16. The results for each model are compiled below:

	Training accuracy (%)	Validation accuracy (%)	Testing accuracy (%)
Inception V3	89.93	63.86	60.56
Resnet50	94.32	81.94	77.48
VGG 16	97.68	92.12	89.72

Clearly, VGG16 model outperformed other models and hence was chosen as the final model for brain tumor detection.

4.2 Pneumonia Detection

We have trained three models for pneumonia detection, namely Inception V3, model from scratch and VGG16. Out of these models, the one which outperformed all the other models was chosen as the final model for pneumonia detection. The results for each model are compiled below:

	Training accuracy (%)	Validation accuracy (%)	Testing accuracy (%)
Inception V3	85.46	77.62	72.12
Model from scratch	87.88	78.32	70.42
VGG16	96.90	93.02	84.80

Clearly, VGG16 model outperformed other models and hence was chosen as the final model for brain tumor detection.

4.3 Inference

Once these models were finalized, they were then integrated into the website to help doctors take decisions. Further, doctors can upload MRI and X-ray images of the brain and chest, respectively, and click the predict button on-page to get the prediction from these models.

5 Conclusion

To solve the problem of small datasets in medical field we designed a data collection website where doctors can maintain the records of their patient and researchers can download the dataset made from the images uploaded by the doctors. The procedure of dataset formation respects the confidentiality and privacy of human subject involved in the process. Moreover, to help the doctors take quicker decisions for pneumonia and brain tumor, we integrated the machine learning models in the website. Access rights for the users in the website are carefully designed as well as taken care of. Doctors can upload images of different organs of various modalities like ultrasound, X-Ray, CT-Scan, MRI, etc., along with the data related to the image. They can also view the images that they uploaded along with its associated data. Researchers are only allowed to download datasets, not upload them. In this way, integrity and credibility of the data have been maintained.

References

- 1. K. Mohit, A morphological filtration approach towards brain tumor segmentation. IJSRD **3**(8), 171–174 (2015)
- 2. A.P. Rahmathunneesa, Performance analysis of pre-trained deep learning networks for brain tumor categorization, in 2019 9th International Conference on Advances in Computing and Communication (ICACC) (2019)
- 3. J. Deng, A large-scale hierarchical image database, in *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pp. 248–255
- 4. G. Verma, Pneumonia classification using deep learning in health-care. IJITEE **9**(4), 2278–3075 (2020)
- 5. L. Chato, Machine learning and deep learning techniques to predict overall survival of brain tumor patients using MRI images, in *IEEE 17th International Conference on Bioinformatics and Bioengineering (BIBE)* (2017)
- 6. P. Selvy, Brain tumor detection using deep learning techniques. IJSRCEIT 5(2), 169–175 (2019)
- 7. M. Siar, Brain tumor detection using deep neural network and machine learning algorithm, in 2019 9th International Conference on Computer and Knowledge Engineering (ICCKE), pp. 363–368 (2019)
- O. Stephen, An efficient deep learning approach to pneumonia classification in healthcare. J. Healthcare Eng., 1–7 (2019)

Preview Control for Discrete Time Systems



Akhilesh Kumar Ravat, Amit Dhawan, and Manish Tiwari

1 Introduction

Over the past several decades, the problem of preview control theory has been attracting important interest in the field of process control, autonomous vehicle guidance, signal processing, manufacturing control, etc. [1-6]. In preview control, the exogenous disturbance or reference signal is prior defined [7-13]. With the help of available future reference or given disturbance signal, the tracking quality of the system is improved. The type of control problem that make use of the future information on reference and/or disturbance signal is called preview control [2]. In the designing of control systems, the benefit of future information is termed as preview control or look ahead. In the presence of exogenous signals, it is desired that the outcome should follow the reference signal [1]. If the given future value is known, the system's output should track the reference signal. For reference tracking, the preview problem is solved in uses like robot motion, tracking of missile target, etc. In the preview system to desired level. The quadratic performance index is used to optimize the tracking error and control input [3].

A. K. Ravat (🖂) · A. Dhawan · M. Tiwari

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Uttar Pradesh, Allahabad 211004, India

A. Dhawan e-mail: dhawan@mnnit.ac.in

M. Tiwari e-mail: mtiwari@mnnit.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1157 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_100

Preview controls have following benefits [12]:

- Better progress in tracking performance.
- Disturbance rejection improvement.
- Improve in low frequency tracking.

1.1 Examples Related to Preview Control

There are two examples to explain the key concept of preview control. In the first example, we think about to driving of a car move along a road. It is impossible for the driver to know complete information on the status of the road from the starting point to the destination. Now if the driver see ahead for a few distance then suddenly he apply break for turning or breaker, thus it is causes of accident possibly. To remove this problems, driver tries to look ahead with the help of future information of signal as far as possible.

In the second example, we consider outline of a continuous annealing procedure in which rightly thickness of steel strips is generated by passing them through heating. Variation in temperature and entry thickness may work as disturbances by which the performance of the system is poor. For the measurement of thickness and strip temperature can be previewed by X-ray gauge and radiation pyrometer. Thus, the system performance can be enhanced by using message [1].

1.2 Preview Control

There is comparison between conventional servo system and preview servo system.

Conventional servo system:



Preview-featured servo system:



2 **Problem Formulation**

Consider the following discrete-time system:

$$x(n+1) = \mathbf{A} \mathbf{x}(n) + \mathbf{B} \mathbf{u}(n) + \mathbf{w}(n)$$

$$y(n) = \mathbf{C} \mathbf{x}(n)$$
(1)

 $x(n) \in \mathbf{R}^p$ is defined as the state vector, $u(n) \in \mathbf{R}^m$ is known as control input vector, $y(n) \in \mathbf{R}^q$ is declared as controlled output vector. $w(n) \in \mathbf{R}^{ld}$ is defined as disturbance vector, $w(n) \in ld_2$. The matrix A, B and C, respectively, are available real constant matrices with exact dimensions.

However, according to the key point of preview horizon control, it is important for preview and control the current information of the system is to be needed. The input cannot be influenced the output at the similar time.

3 Derivation of Augmented System

An augmented system is derived to convert the tracking issue into regulator problem. Taking a difference on both side of Eq. (1), we find that

$$x(n+1) - x(n) = A(x(n) - x(n-1)) + B(u(n) - u(n-1))$$

The subtraction of the state variable is defined as:

$$\Delta x(n+1) = x(n+1) - x(n); \ \Delta x(n) = x(n) - x(n-1)$$
(2)

The subtraction of control input is defined as:

$$\Delta u(n) = u(n) - u(n-1) \tag{3}$$

The state-space equation can be clarified as:

$$\Delta x(n+1) = A \Delta x(n) + B \Delta u(n) \tag{4}$$

To connect state $\Delta x(n)$ with output y(n), a new formation of state variable vector is to be selected as

$$x(n) = [\Delta x(n)^T y(n)]^T$$

And

$$y(n+1) - y(n) = C(x(n+1) - x(n)) = C\Delta x(n+1)$$
$$= CA\Delta x(n) + CB\Delta u(n)$$
(5)

Putting together Eqs. (4) with (5) conduct to the state-space model as given below:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Delta x(n+1) \\ y(n+1) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & 0^T \\ CA & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta x(n) \\ y(n) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} B \\ CB \end{bmatrix} \Delta u(n)$$
$$y(n) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta x(n) \\ y(n) \end{bmatrix}$$
(6)

4 Preview Controller

The design of preview control system is to be computed the preview plant outcome with future signal as the convertible variables. This preview is explained with an optimization.

4.1 Preview of State and Output Variables

Let the sampling instant n_i , $n_i > 0$, the state variable vector is presented through measurement, and the state describes the current plant information. The future control trajectory is represented by

$$\Delta u(n_i), \ \Delta u(n_i+1), \ldots, \Delta u(n_i+N_{co}-1)$$

Here, N_{co} is defined as control horizon length, with the help of state variable, the future state variable is previewed for N_p . Here, N_p is known as preview horizon length.

Here, future state variables are represented as following:

$$x(n_i + 1|n_i), x(n_i + 2|n_i), \dots x(n_i + N_p|n_i),$$

The length of control horizon is selected in such a way that the preview horizon length is to be greater or equal.

On the viewpoint of state–space model, the calculation of future state variables is to be taken as sequences by the setting of future control parameters:

$$x(n_{i} + 1|n_{i}) = A_{a}x(n_{i}) + B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i})$$

$$x(n_{i} + 2|n_{i}) = A_{a}x(n_{i} + 1|n_{i}) + B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i} + 1)$$

$$x(n_{i} + 3|n_{i}) = A_{a}^{2}x(n_{i}) + A_{a}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i}) + B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i} + 1)$$

$$\vdots$$

$$x(n_{i} + N_{p}|n_{i}) = A_{a}^{N_{p}}x(n_{i}) + A_{a}^{N_{p}-1}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i}) + A_{a}^{N_{p}-2}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i} + 1) + \cdots + A_{a}^{N_{p}-N_{co}}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i} + N_{co} - 1)$$

By using preview state variables, the previewed outcome variables are given below:

$$y(n_{i} + 1|n_{i}) = C_{a}A_{a}x(n_{i}) + C_{a}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i})$$

$$y(n_{i} + 2|n_{i}) = C_{a}A_{a}^{2}x(n_{i}) + C_{a}A_{a}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i}) + C_{a}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i} + 1)$$

$$y(n_{i} + 3|n_{i}) = C_{a}A_{a}^{3}x(n_{i}) + C_{a}A_{a}^{2}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i})$$

$$+ C_{a}A_{a}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i} + 1) + C_{a}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i} + 2)$$

$$\vdots \qquad (7)$$

$$y(n_{i} + N_{p}|n_{i}) = C_{a}A_{a}^{N_{p}}x(n_{i}) + C_{a}A_{a}^{N_{p}-1}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i}) + C_{a}A_{a}^{N_{p}-2}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i}+1) + \cdots + C_{a}A_{a}^{N_{p}-N_{co}}B_{a}\Delta u(n_{i}+N_{co}-1)$$
(8)

The previewed variable are designed in form of current state, and future control is given as $\Delta u(n_i + j)$, where $j = 0, 1, 2, ..., N_{co} - 1$.

The output vectors

$$Y = [y(n_i + 1|n_i) \quad y(n_i + 2|n_i) \quad y(n_i + 3|n_i) \quad \dots \quad y(n_i + N_p|n_i)]^T$$

$$\Delta U = [\Delta u(n_i) \quad \Delta u(n_i + 1) \quad \Delta u(n_i + 3) \quad \dots \quad \Delta u(n_i + N_{co} - 1)]^T$$
(9)

From the above equation for SISO case, the dimension of *Y* is *Np* and ΔU have N_{co} dimension.

From Eqs. (7), (8), (9), we get

$$Y = Fx(n_i) + \alpha \Delta U \tag{10}$$

where

$$F = \begin{bmatrix} C_a A_a \\ C_a A_a^2 \\ C_a A_a^3 \\ \vdots \\ C_a A_a^{N_p} \end{bmatrix}; \ \alpha = \begin{bmatrix} C_a B_a & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ C_a A_a B_a & C_a B_a & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ C_a A_a^2 B_a & C_a A_a B_a & C_a B_a & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots \\ C_a A_a^{N_{p-1}} B_a C_a A_a^{N_{p-2}} B_a C_a A_a^{N_{p-3}} B_a \cdots C_a A_a^{N_p - N_{co}} B_a \end{bmatrix}$$

4.2 Optimization

The aim of the preview control system is to obtain the preview outcome as near as available to the reference point signal; we consider that there is no change in the reference signal by an optimization. The aim is to be achieving the 'best' control point vector ΔU by which an error function can be diminished.

Consider that the reference information is given as:

$$R^{T} = [1 \ 1 \ 1 \dots 1] r(n_{i}) = R'r(n_{i})$$

Here, we consider the cost function J, and it contains the control aim as:

$$J = (R - Y)^{T}(R - Y) + \Delta U R' \Delta U$$

where $R' = r_w I_{N_{co}*N_{co}}, (r_w \ge 0).$

Here, for the desired closed-loop performance, r_w is defined as tuning parameter. To obtain the optimal ΔU that shall minimize *J*, from Eq. (11), *J* is represented as

$$J = (R - Fx(n_i))^T (R - Fx(n_i)) - 2\Delta U^T \alpha^T (R - Fx(n_i)) + \Delta U^T (\alpha^T \alpha + R') \Delta U$$
(11)

From derivative of Eq. (11), we get

Preview Control for Discrete Time Systems

$$\frac{\delta J}{\delta \Delta U} = -2\alpha^T (R - Fx(n_i)) + 2(\alpha^T \alpha + R') \Delta U$$
(12)

To find the minimum value of J, we apply necessary condition given as

$$\frac{\delta J}{\delta \Delta U} = 0$$

The optimal solution can be defined for the control signal in next equation.

$$\Delta U = (\alpha^T \alpha + R')^{-1} \alpha^T (R - F x(n_i))$$
(13)

In Eq. (13), the term $(\alpha^T \alpha + R')^{-1} \alpha^T R$ corresponds to reference signal change, while the term $-(\alpha^T \alpha + R')^{-1} \alpha^T F$ corresponds to the state feedback control of preview control system. Thus,

$$\Delta u(n_i) = [1 \ 0 \ 0 \dots 0] \ (\alpha^T \alpha + R')^{-1} (\alpha^T R' r(n_i) - \alpha^T F x(n_i))$$

= $K_y r(n_i) - K_{\text{preview gain}} x(n_i)$ (14)

5 Numerical Example

In system (1), let $A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$, $B = \begin{bmatrix} 0.5 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$, $C = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ and D = 0.

We perform the simulation for different situation of previewed length and control horizon length. Here, we take the control horizon length is four and previewed length is ten, respectively.

With the help of MATLAB, we have been performed the implementation of preview control for discrete time system. In the result, the output signal follows the reference signal.

Results:

The corresponding results are given below (Figs. 1 and 2):

```
Rise Time = 1.7028
Settling Time = 4.2673
Settling Min = 0.9138
Settling Max = 1.0797
Overshoot = 7.9663
Undershoot = 0
Peak = 1.0797
Peak Time = 3.
```

The corresponding results are given below for preview length with 15 (Figs. 3



Fig. 1 The output response of the closed-loop system



Fig. 2 The control input signal

and **4**):

Rise Time = 1.7191Settling Time = 4.2743Settling Min = 0.9031Settling Ma = 1.0714Overshoot = 7.1387Undershoot = 0Peak = 1.0714Peak Time = 3



Fig. 3 The output response of the closed-loop system with different preview length



Fig. 4 The control input signal

6 Conclusion

This paper investigates the preview tracking issue for discrete-time systems. An augmented error system, taking previewed information is formulated by taking advantages of the subtraction between the system states which convert tracking issue into regulator problem. We have been implemented the preview control problem on MATLAB successfully. The numerical result for the closed-loop system with different preview length also gives the benefits of preview control in enhancing the tracking quality.

References

- 1. Z. Jarvis-Wloszek, D. Philbrick, M.A. Kaya, A. Packard, G. Balas, Control with disturbance preview and online optimization. IEEE Trans. Autom. Control **49**(2), 266–270 (2004)
- R.S. Sharp, V. Valtetsiotis, Optimal preview car steering control. Veh. Syst. Dyn. 35(SUPPL 1), 101–117 (2001)
- 3. M.M.S. All-bail, Y. Tan, L. Li, Preview control of trajectory tracking for servo system based on optimal preview control method. Mech. Eng. Res. 2(1), 18 (2012)
- L. Li, F. Liao, Output feedback preview tracking control for discrete-time polytopic timevarying systems. Int. J. Control 92(12), 2979–2989 (2019)
- L. Li, F. Liao, Preview control for MIMO discrete-time system with parameter uncertainty. Mathematics 8(5), 756 (2020)
- 6. D. Wang, F. Liao, M. Tomizuka, Adaptive preview control for piecewise discrete-time systems using multiple models. Appl. Math. Model. **40**(23–24), 9932–9946 (2016)
- K. Takaba, A tutorial on preview control systems. In SICE 2003 annual conference (IEEE Cat. No. 03TH8734), vol. 2 (IEEE, 2003), pp. 1388–1393
- 8. T.B. Sheridan, Three models of preview control. IEEE Trans. Hum. Factors Electron. **2**, 91–102 (1966)
- 9. A. Kojima, S. Ishijima, Formulas on Preview and Delayed \$ H^{\infty} \$ Control. IEEE Trans. Autom. Control **51**(12), 1920–1937 (2006)
- A. Kojima, S. Ishijima, LQ preview synthesis: optimal control and worst case analysis. IEEE Trans. Autom. Control 44(2), 352–357 (1999)
- N. Birla, A. Swarup, Optimal preview control: a review. Opt. Control Appl. Methods 36(2), 241–268 (2015)
- L. Li, F. Liao, J. Deng, H∞ Preview control of a class of uncertain discrete-time systems. Asian J. Control 19(4), 1542–1556 (2017)
- 13. S.K. Vikram, L. Dewan, Preview Control: A Review

Design of 15-4 Compressor for DSP Application



Sanjiv Kumar Gupta, Amit Dhawan, and Manish Tiwari

1 Introduction

Today, there is a need for DSP systems that fulfill the condition of low power, less area, and high speed. Hence, it becomes very important to design an energy-efficient digital signal processor because signal filtering, convolution, and correlation are done through these processors [1]. The performance of these processors depends upon its basic building blocks like adder, shifter, and multiplier.

The multiplier consumes more power and time, so design an efficient multiplier has always been an inspiring area for researchers. Multiplier operations are classified into three stages which are as follows: (I) production of partial product, (II) minimization of partial product, (III) final addition. The second stage is much more responsible for the performance of multiplier [2, 3]. A lot of methods for the reduction of partial products have been discussed in the literature [4–8]. In these methods, a compressor is very useful to reduce the partial product [9, 10].

The working of compressor logic is based on the counter property. A compressor counts the numbers of "one" in the input sequence [11, 12]. Small size compressors like 4-2 and 5-3 are not suitable for large size multiplier. Higher-order compressors are required for 16×16 , 32×32 bit multipliers. These higher bit compressors are useful to increase the speed of the multiplier [13]. The paper is structured as follows: Sect. 2 is the reproduction of a conventional 5-3 compressor. A 15-4 compressor is

A. Dhawan e-mail: dhawan@mnnit.ac.in

M. Tiwari e-mail: mtiwari@mnnit.ac.in

S. K. Gupta (🖂) · A. Dhawan · M. Tiwari

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology Allahabad, Uttar Pradesh, Prayagraj 211004, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1167 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_101



Fig. 1 A 5-3 compressor

proposed in Sect. 3. The simulation results of the designed modules are described in Sect. 4. The conclusion part is discussed in Sect. 5.

2 5-3 Compressor

Compressor is made of half adders or full adders and so works similarly to an adder. Compressor is playing a significant role to increase the speed of the multiplier by reducing partial products at the second stage. In this section, a conventional 5-3 approximate compressor has been reproduced [14–16]. Figure 1 describes the block diagram of 5-3 compressor. This compressor receives five inputs (X_0 , X_1 , X_2 , X_3 , X_4) and compresses into three outputs (O_0 , O_1 , O_2). Since this is an approximate circuit, so its error rate is considered [17–19].

3 Design of 15-4 Compressor

This section presents a modified 15-4 compressor. This compressor is designed using only five 5-3 compressors and one Kogge–Stone adder. The structure of this

compressor is as follows: The first stage is implemented by three 5-3 compressors that receive fifteen inputs (I_0-I_{15}) and output of this stage to apply in second stage that is designed by two 5-3 compressors and finally output of these compressors to apply Kogge–Stone adder. Here, Kogge–Stone circuit provides output (Q_3-Q_0) of 15-4 compressor.

The Kogge–Stone adder is based on parallel prefix addition. Carries are generated in a parallel manner in this adder. It is a high-performance adder, but it requires large area [20]. Figure 2 describes the architecture of 15-4 compressor.



Fig. 2 15-4 compressor

4 Simulation Result and Discussion

The design of 5-3 compressor, Kogge–Stone adder, and 15-4 compressor is coded in Verilog HDL in Xilinx ISE Design Suite 14.7 and Xilinx ISim simulator is used for simulation.

4.1 5-3 Compressor

Result of simulation for 5-3 compressor is discussed in this section. Figure 3 shows RTL view of 5-3 compressor, and Fig. 4 shows functional verification where output



Fig. 3 RTL of 5-3 compressor



Fig. 4 Output of 5-3 compressor

Cell:in- > out	fanout	Gate delay (ns)	Net delay (ns)			
IBUF:I- > 0	2	1.218	0.622			
LUT3:I0->0	2	0.704	0.622			
LUT4:I->0	1	0.704	0.420			
OBUF:I > 0		3.272				
Total delay = 7.562 ns (5.898 ns logic, 1.664 ns route)						

Table 1 Delay analysis of 5-3 compressor

 Table 2
 Device utilization of 5-3 compressor

Device utilization summary (estimated values)						
Logic utilization	Used	Available	Utilization (%)			
Number of slice	3	4656	0			
Number of 4 input LUTs	5	9312	0			
Number of bonded IOBs	8	232	3			

is 011 for input 01101. Table 1 represents delay of the circuit that is 7.562 ns, and Table 2 represents area utilization of the circuit.

4.2 Kogge–Stone Adder

RTL of Kogge–Stone adder is shown in Fig. 5, and functional verification of this adder is shown in Fig. 6.

4.3 15–4 Compressor

In this section, simulation result of 15-4 compressor is discussed. Figure 7 shows RTL view of 15-4 compressor, and Fig. 8 shows functional verification. Table 3 represents delay of the circuit that is 13.69 ns, and Table 4 represents area utilization of the circuit.

5 Conclusion

In this paper, a 15-4 compressor is proposed. This 15-4 compressor is designed using five 5-3 compressor and one Kogge–Stone adder due to which it has higher speed



Fig. 5 RTL of Kogge-Stone adder

Name	Value	_	999,994 ps	999,995 ps	999,996 ps	999,997 ps
▶ []{ s[3:0]	1001				1001	
i cout	o					
▶ 📷 a[3:0]	0101				0101	
▶ 🎲 Б[3:0]	0100				0100	
👩 cin	0					

Fig. 6 Simulation result of Kogge–Stone adder



Fig. 7 RTL 15-4 compressor

Name	Value	 1999,994 ps	1999,995 ps	999,996 ps	1999,997 ps	1999,998 ps	1999,999 ps
🔻 💐 out[3:0]	0011			0011			
1(g [3]	0						
1 [2]	0						
14 [1]	1						
1(d) (o)	1						
in[14:0]	00000110000000			000001100000	001		

Fig. 8 Simulation result of 15-4 compressor

Table 3 Delay analysis of 15-4 compress	sor
---	-----

Cell:in->out	fanout	Gate delay (ns)	Net delay (ns)
IBUF:I->0	2	1.218	0.622
LUT4:I0->0	3	0.704	0.706
LUT3:I0- > 0	3	0.704	0.566
LUT4:I2->0	2	0.704	0.447
MUXF5:S->0	2	0.739	0.526
LUT2:I1->0	2	0.704	0.451
LUT4:I3->0	1	0.704	0.499
LUT3:I1->0	1	0.704	0.420
OBUF:I->0		3.272	
Total Delay = $13.690 \text{ ns} (9.453 \text{ ns} \log c, 4.237 \text{ ns} rd)$	oute)	·	·

Device utilization summary (estimated values)						
Logic utilization	Used	Available	Utilization (%)			
Number of slice	14	4556	0			
Number of 4 input LUTs	24	9312	0			
Number of bonded IOBs	19	232	8			

 Table 4
 Device utilization of 15-4 compressor

compared to conventional compressor. It has delay of 13.69 ns. Future application of this compressor is to design higher bit multiplier for DSP application.

References

- 1. K.K. Parhi, VLSI Digital Signal Processing Systems: Design and Implementation, vol. 3, 1st ed. (Wiley, Hoboken, NJ, USA, 1999
- V.G. Oklobdzija, D. Villeger, S.S. Liu, A method for speed optimized partial product reduction and generation of fast parallel multipliers using an algorithmic approach. IEEE Trans. Comput. 45(3) (1996)
- 3. V. Oklobdzija, High speed VLSI arithmetic unit: adders and multipliers, in *Design of High Performance Microprocessor Circuits*, ed. by Chandrakasan (IEEE Press, 2000)
- 4. S. Balamurugan, P.S. Mallick, Fixed-width multiplier circuits using column by passing and decomposition logic techniques. Int. J. Elect. Eng. Inform. **7**(4), 655–664 (2015)
- F. Farshchi, M.S. Abrishami, S.M. Fakhraie, New approximate multiplier for low power digital signal processing, in *The 17th CSI International Symposium on Computer Architecture & Digital Systems (CADS)*, pp. 25–30, Oct 2013
- 6. Y. Bansal, C. Madhu, A novel high-speed approach for 16 × 16 vedic multiplication with compressor adders. Comput. Elect. Eng. **49**, 39–49 (2016)
- N. Maheshwari, Z. Yang, J. Han, F. Lombardi, A design approach for compressor based approximate multipliers, in *Proceedings of 28th International Conference on VLSI Design (VLSID)*, pp. 209–214, Jan 2015
- J. Ma, K.L. Man, N. Zhang, S.-U. Guan, T.T. Jeong, High-speed area-efficient and power-aware multiplier design using approximate compressors along with bottom-up tree topology, in *Proc. Int. Soc. Opt. Photon. (ICMV)*, pp. 1–9, Mar 2012
- A. Pishvate, G. Jaberipur, A. Jahanian, Improved CMOS (4; 2) compressor designs for parallel multipliers. Comput. Elect. Eng. 38(6), 1703–1716 (2012)
- P. Kulkarni, P. Gupta, M.D. Ercegovac, Trading accuracy for power in a multiplier architecture. J. Low Power Electron. 7(4), 490–501 (2011)
- C. Chang, J. Gu, M. Zhang, Ultra low-voltage low-power CMOS 4–2 and 5-2 compressors for fast arithmetic circuits. IEEE Trans. Circ. Syst. 51(10), 1985–1997 (2004)
- D. Radhakrishnan, A.P. Preethy, Low-power CMOS pass logic 4–2 compressor for high-speed multiplication, in *Proceedings of the 43rd IEEE Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems*, vol. 3, pp. 1296–1298 (2000)
- 13. Z. Wang, G.A. Jullien, W.C. Miller, A new design technique for column compression multipliers. IEEE Trans. Comput. 44, 962–970 (1995)
- A. Dandapat, S. Ghosal, P. Sarkar, D. Mukhopadhyay, 'A 1.2-ns 16×16 bit binary multiplier using high speed compressor.' Int. J. Elect. Electron. Eng. 4(3), 234–239 (2010)
- O. Kwon, K. Nowka, E. Swartzlander, Jr., A 16-bit by 16-bit MAC design using fast 5:3 compressor cells. J. VLSI Signal Process. Syst. Signal, Image Video Technol., 31(2), 77–89 (2002)

- K. ManikanttaReddy, M.H. Vasantha, Y.B. Kumar, D. Dwivedi, Design and analysis of multiplier using approximate 4-2 compressors. Int. J. Electron. Commun. (AEU) 107, 89–97 (2019)
- A. Momeni, J. Han, P. Montuschi, F. Lombardi, Design and analysis of approximate compressors for multiplication. IEEE Trans. Comput. 64(4), 984–994 (2015)
- R. Marimuthu, Y.E. Rezinold, P.S. Mallick, Design and analysis of multiplier using approximate 15-4 compressor. IEEE Access 5, 1027–1036 (2017)
- J. Liang, J. Han, F. Lombardi, New metrics for the reliability of approximate and probabilistic adders. IEEE Trans. Comput. 63(9), 1760–1771 (2013)
- 20. Y. Choi, Parallel prefix adder design, in *Proceedings of the 17th IEEE Symposium on Computer* Arithmetic, pp. 90–98 (2005)

UWB Antenna for ITS Application



Satya Prakash Singh, Mukesh Kumar, Anil Kumar, and Rohini Saxena

1 Introduction

Transportation plays an important role in human life and economy of country. It is the backbone of the human life. The delays due to congestion, bad weather condition and other environmental hazard can affect the economy of the country. Many accidents occur and many lives are in endangered due to accidents. With help of growing wireless communication, intelligent transportation systems (ITS) can decrease the delay and avoid accidents. There are many applications of ITS with respect to security of vehicle and life. There are many applications like blind spot detection, adaptive cruise control, lane changing, etc. that came in security. These applications are achieved by long-range radar (LRR) and short-range radar antenna (SRR). The LRR and SRR should work on 24 GHz and 79 GHz frequency. Millimetre wave (MW) frequency range is also used in intelligent transportation system applications.

Brooker [1] proposed a 77 GHz and 94 GHz MW radar having bandwidth of 2 GHz and 4.9 GHz, respectively. Beer et al. [2] proposed a 77 GHz antenna having gain of 15.8 dBi. Hasch et al. [3] proposed a 77 GHz MW technology for automotive radar sensors having bandwidth of 4 GHz and half power beam width gain of 5 dBi. Artemenko et al. [4] proposed a 77 GHz beam-steerable lens antenna with bandwidth of 35 GHz. Ojaroudi et al. [5] proposed an antenna for UWB application which works in frequency range of 2.72–12.06 GHz and having impedance bandwidth of 125%. Gao et al. [6] proposed a wide slot UWB antenna for intelligent transportation application. It operates from 2.89 to 11.52 GHz frequency range. Li et al. [7] proposed a dielectric

M. Kumar e-mail: mukesh.kumar@shiats.edu.in

A. Kumar e-mail: anil.kumar@shiats.edu.in

S. P. Singh (🖂) · M. Kumar · A. Kumar · R. Saxena

Department of Electronics & Communication, SHUATS, Prayagraj, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1177 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_102

patch array antenna having centre frequency, impedance bandwidth and gain of 60 GHz, 23% and 17.5 dBi, respectively. Next, Zhou et al. [8] proposed a linearly polarized patch array antenna. The proposed antenna operates from frequency range of 23.2 to 24.8 GHz (6.67%) with return of 15 dB and its gain varied from 16 to 19 dBi. Ahmed Jamal Abdullah Al-Gburi [9] proposed a strawberry-shaped UWB monopole antenna. The frequency selective surface (FSS) has 10×10 array structure which produced bandwidth of 8.85 GHz for frequency range of 3.05-11.9 GHz. Danjuma [10] proposed a UWB antenna for body imaging applications. It works on frequency range of 3.1-10.6 GHz. Asokan [11] proposed a UWB antenna from impedance resonators. The proposed antenna works on frequency range of 2.58-10 GHz.

Mohamadzade [12] proposed a UWB antenna with monopole pattern. There are different circular rings cut to achieve wide bandwidth. It works on frequency range of 2.85 to 8.6 GHz. Sang [13] proposed a UWB Vivaldi antenna with high gain. It works on frequency range of 6–18 GHz with highest gain of 5.5 dBi. Gorai [14] proposed a notch UWB dual-band antenna for Bluetooth application. The proposed antenna works on frequency range of 3–12 GHz having a centre frequency of 2.4 GHz. It has gain of 4 dBi.

Shan and Shen [15] proposed a dual-band UWB tag antenna. It works on two different frequency bands. It has frequency range of 919–931 MHz in the lower band and 3.28-6.95 GHz in higher band. Chattha [16] proposed a UWB multi-input multi-output (MIMO) antenna. It has size of $23 \times 26 \times 0.8$ mm3. It works from 3 to 10.6 GHz frequency range. Karmakar [17] proposed a UWB triple-band antenna. The proposed antenna has circular polarization. The proposed antenna covers frequency range of 3.1-11 GHz. Guo [18] proposed a UWB Vivaldi antenna for airborne applications. It works on frequency range from 300 to 2 GHz. It has maximum gain of 11.5 dBi. Moosazadeh et al. [19] proposed an mm-Wave antenna. It works on frequency range of 24-72 GHz. It has maximum realized gain of 13 dBi. Moosazadeh et al. [21] proposed an mm-Wave antenna. It works in frequency range of 3.4-40 GHz. It has gain of 14.3 dBi.

In this paper, proposed antenna has very large bandwidth with band range of 19– 129.6 GHz. The proposed antenna has high gain. A novel antenna design is proposed based on meander line slot cut on ground plane. Parametric analysis is done in this paper. Proposed antenna is also circularly polarized in nature. The proposed antenna is used in ITS applications. The proposed antenna is designed and simulated in HFSS.

This paper is organized as follows: Sect. 2 shows design steps and process of proposed antenna. Results are discussed in Sect. 3. Finally, paper is concluded in Sect. 4.



Fig. 1 Proposed structure shows a patch and b ground plane

Table 1	Values of parameter	Parameters	Value	Parameters	Value
(111 11111)		L	20	<i>l</i> ₂	7
		W	14	<i>l</i> ₃	8
		l_1	18	14	10
		<i>w</i> ₁	10	<i>l</i> ₅	1.75
		<i>w</i> ₂	4	w4	2
		W3	4	W5	0.5

2 Design Specification

In this section, the proposed antenna design structure has been discussed. Figure 1 shows proposed antenna structure. The printed board used in this proposed structure is Rogers R03210 with dielectric constant of 10.2 and height of 1.28 mm. The dimension of the substrate material is $L \times W$. The patch is shown in Fig. 1a. The length and width of the patch are l_1 and w_1 , respectively. Defected ground plane is shown in Fig. 1b. The two slots are cut out from ground plane with width of w_2 and w_3 . The meander line slot is also etched out from the ground plane having dimension parameter of l_2 , l_5 and w_3 as shown in Fig. 1b. There is cross-shape coplanar waveguide feed line. The cross-shaped feed line has dimension of l_4 and l_3 . The feed line width is w_4 . The parametric values are shown in Table 1.

3 Results and Discussion

The proposed design is simulated by using HFSSv13 [22]. Parametric analysis is done for proposed antenna structure. The return loss results by parametric analysis are shown in Table 2. From Table 2 result analysis, the parameter values are set for 79 GHz centre frequency as shown in Table 1.

Parameters	Parameter value (in mm)	$f_{\rm c}$ (in GHz)	S11 (in dB)	Bandwidth (at -20 dB) (in GHz)
l_1	16	79.2	-25.33	11.7
	18	79	-25.25	13.4
	20	79.6	-25.46	10.7
<i>w</i> ₁	8	79.3	-23.55	7.7
	10	79	-25.25	13.4
	12	80.8	-24.18	10.6
w ₂	3	81.55	-27.06	11.71
	4	79	-25.25	13.4
	5	78.05	-30.64	10.80
<i>w</i> ₃	3	75	-22.36	8.33
	4	79	-25.25	13.4
	5	80.1	-28.84	9.95
<i>l</i> ₃	6	78.1	-30.5	10
	8	79	-25.25	13.4
	10	78.2	-28.5	13.06
l_4	9	80.1	-30.89	9.01
	10	79	-25.25	13.4
	11	78	-35	7.86

Table 2 |S11| data by parametric analysis

The IS11I result is shown in Fig. 2. This figure shows that the proposed antenna has very wide band range from 19 to 129.6 GHz having bandwidth of 110.6 GHz. The wide band covers most of the millimetre wave and intelligent transportation application frequencies. It has many centre frequency like 24.5 GHz, 30.5 GHz, 34.1 GHz, 37 GHz, 79 GHz and 114 GHz.

Figure 3 shows the vector current distribution on the surface of antenna structure. This shows that the coupling between feed line and patch makes the antenna resonates at 79 GHz. The meander line slots in ground plane to improve the band range of the proposed antenna.

The simulated radiation pattern is shown in Fig. 4. This result shows the E plane and H plane of the proposed antenna structure. This result shows that antenna is circularly polarized.

Figure 5 shows 3D radiation pattern at frequency 79 GHz. This result shows the way antenna is radiated.

Figure 6 shows the axial ratio over the frequency 10 GHz–130 GHz. The axial ratio is below 3 dB over the frequency range of 23–36 GHz and 77.5–90.5 GHz. This shows that the antenna is circularly polarized for above band. Figure 7 shows



Fig. 2 A simulated return loss in dB



Fig. 3 Surface vector current distribution

the gain plot for frequency range 10–130 GHz. This result shows that the maximum gain of antenna is 19.26 dBi at 79 GHz resonant frequency.

Finally, the proposed work is compared with recent published work as shown in Table 3. This shows that the proposed antenna gives better result.



Fig. 4 Simulated radiation pattern of a E plane and b H plane at 79 GHz frequency



4 Conclusion

The proposed antenna works in millimetre wave frequency band. It has very wide band range. The measured band range is 19–129 GHz. It has bandwidth of 113 GHz. The coplanar wave guide makes antenna to work in high frequency range. The meander line slots in ground plane to improve the bandwidth of the antenna. The proposed antenna has very high gain of 19.26 dBi. The antenna is circularly polarized in nature. The proposed antenna is very suitable of intelligent transportation and millimetre wave application.



Fig. 6 Simulated axial ratio



Frequency in (GHz)

Parameters	Ahmed Jamal Abdullah Al-Gburi et al. [9]	Mahdi Moosazadeh et al. [20]	Markus H. Novak et al. [21]	Mahdi Moosazadeh et al. [22]	Proposed work
Centre frequency (GHz)	9	24	60	24	79
Bandwidth (GHz)	8	45	48	36.6	113
Gain (dBi)	10	14	13	14.3	19.26

 Table 3
 Values of parameter (in mm)

References

- G.M. Brooker, Mutual interference of millimeter-wave radar systems. IEEE Trans. Electromagn. Compat. 7(1), 170–181 (2007)
- S. Beer, G. Adamiuk, T. Zwick, Novel antenna concept for compact millimeter-wave automotive radar sensors. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 12, 771–774 (2009)
- J. Hasch, E. Topak et al., Millimeter-wave technology for automotive radar sensors in the 77 GHz frequency band. IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 60(3), 845–846 (2012)
- A. Artemenko, A. Mozharovskiy et al., Experimental characterization of E-Band twodimensional electronically beam steerable integrated lens antennas. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 12, 1188–1191 (2013)
- N. Ojaroudi, M. Ojaroudi, Novel design of dual band-notched monopole antenna with bandwidth enhancement for uwb applications. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 12, 698–701 (2013)
- P. Gao, et al., Compact printed wide-slot UWB antenna With 3.5/5.5GHz dual band-notched characteristics. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 12, 983–986 (2013)
- A. Fischer et al., 77-GHz multi-channel radar transceiver with antenna in package. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 62(3), 1386–1394 (2014)
- N. Ojaroudi, N. Ghadimi, UWB small slot antenna with WLAN frequency band-stop function. Electron. Lett. 49(21), 1317–1318 (2013)
- A.J.A. Al-Gburi, I.B.M. Ibrahim, M.Y. Zeain, Z. Zakaria, Compact size and high gain of CPW-Fed UWB strawberry artistic shaped printed monopole antennas using FSS single layer reflector. IEEE Access 8, 92697–92707 (2020)
- I.M. Danjuma, M.O. Akinsolu, C.H. See, R.A. Abd-Alhameed, B. Liu, Design and optimization of a slotted monopole antenna for ultra-wide band body centric imaging applications. IEEE J. Electromagn. RF Microw. Med. Biol. 4(2), 140–147 (2020)
- H. Asokan, S. Gopalakrishnan, Development of inductive-loaded ultra-wideband monopole antennas from stepped-impedance resonators. J. Eng. 2020(2), 58–62 (2020)
- B. Mohamadzade, R.B.V.B. Simorangkir, R.M. Hashmi, A. Lalbakhsh, A conformal ultrawideband antenna with monopole-like radiation patterns. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 68(8), 6383–6388 (2020)
- L. Sang, S. Wu, G. Liu, J. Wang, W. Huang, High-Gain UWB Vivaldi antenna loaded with reconfigurable 3-D Phase adjusting unit lens. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 19(2), 322– 326 (2020)
- A. Gorai, R. Ghatak, Multimode resonator-assisted dual band notch UWB antenna with additional bluetooth resonance characteristics. IET Microwaves Antennas Propag. 13(11), 1854–1859 (2019)
- X. Shan, Z. Shen, Miniaturized UHF/UWB tag antenna for indoor positioning systems. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 18(12), 2453–2457 (2019)

- H.T. Chattha, F. Latif, F.A. Tahir, M.U. Khan, X. Yang, Small-sized UWB MIMO antenna with band rejection capability. IEEE Access 7, 121816–121824 (2019)
- A. Karmakar, P. Chakraborty, U. Banerjee, A. Saha, Combined triple band circularly polarised and compact UWB monopole antenna. IET Microwaves Antennas Propag. 13(9), 1306–1311 (2019)
- J. Guo, J. Tong, Q. Zhao, J. Jiao, J. Huo, C. Ma, An Ultrawide band antipodal vivaldi antenna for airborne GPR application. IEEE Geosci. Remote Sens. Lett. 16(10), 1560–1564 (2019)
- M. Moosazadeh, S. Kharkovsky, J.T. Case, B. Samali, Improved radiation characteristics of small antipodal Vivaldi antenna for microwave and millimeter-wave imaging applications. IEEE Antennas Wirel. Propag. Lett. 16, 1961–1964 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1109/LAWP. 2017.2690441
- M.H. Novak, F.A. Miranda, J.L. Volakis, Ultra-wideband phased array for millimeter-wave ISM and 5G bands, realized in PCB. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag. 66(12), 6930–6938 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1109/TAP.2018.2872177
- M. Moosazadeh, S. Kharkovsky, J.T. Case, Microwave and millimetre wave antipodal Vivaldi antenna with trapezoid-shaped dielectric lens for imaging of construction materials. IET Microw. Antennas Propag. 10(3), 301–309 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-map.2015.0374
- 22. ANSYS Academic Research, Release 13.0

FPGA-Based Modulation Technique for Five-to-Three-Phase Ultra Sparse Matrix Converter



Tannistha Malakar, Vulavakayala Siva, and Santosh K. Singh

1 Introduction

The world is in the quest of highly efficient and economic technologies which will help to achieve automated industrial environment. For automation, there is dominance of mainly two technologies—computers and power electronics. The first electronics revolution was started with the invention of semiconductor devices, whereas the power semiconductor devices started the second electronic revolution [1]. Power electronics is enabling technology for distributed power generation.

In modern days, the power generation and transmission are done using threephase systems. As the number of phases increases in AC machines, the phase current reduces, but the power handling capacity and efficiency of the machine increase. That is why, five-phase permanent magnet synchronous generator is being considered as wind power generator in this paper. In five-phase system, the apparent power is $2.629V_LI_L \cos \phi$ as compared to $1.732V_LI_L \cos \phi$, which is the apparent power of three-phase system. Thus, five-phase system has higher power handling capability. A symmetrical balanced five-phase system can be realised as five single-phase systems separated with 72° phase displacement. To integrate five-phase system with conventional three-phase system, five-to-three-phase AC-AC converter is required. As it is intended to use this converter at the generating station, bidirectional power flow capability is not necessary.

DSP and FPGA are most popular choices in designing digital controller for power electronics converters. The FPGA outperforms DSP in power converter switching applications because of its parallel computational capability. DSP devices can perform A/D conversion in sequence only, whereas FPGA can perform A/D conversions

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_103

T. Malakar (🖂) · V. Siva · S. K. Singh

Indian Institute of Technology, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi 221005, India e-mail: tannisthamalakar.eee17@itbhu.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1187 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

in parallel. This results in better sensing stage performance in FPGA than DSP. For better performance, FPGA is used to design the controller [2]. To realise the control strategy, XILINX system generator (XSG) toolbox in MATLAB Simulink is used.

2 Five-to-Three-Phase USMC

Matrix converter is one of the state-of-the-art AC–AC converter. It posses many benefits like unity power factor operation, low switching losses, reduced size, improved efficiency, no DC-link reactive elements and high reliability [3].

Matrix converters can be categorised in two types, direct matrix converter or conventional matrix converter (CMC) and indirect matrix converter (IMC), depending upon the topologies [4, 5]. IMC transforms AC voltage and frequency in two stages. At first, the input AC is transformed into DC using rectifier arrangement, and then this DC is converted into output AC with desirable voltage and frequency using inverter arrangement. Therefore, IMC involves intermediate DC-link. Further IMC can be categorised in four types depending on the number of switching devices used [6]. With the realisation of PWM buck rectifier, USMC topology is conceptualised. Due to the low number of transistors used, this topology is denoted as ultra sparse matrix converter. The reduced number of switching devices comes at the cost of restriction to the reversibility of the DC-link current. To supply highly inductive load, this limitation could be eliminated by using compensating capacitor bank.

In USMC topology, the input AC quantities are first converted into DC quantities, and then this DC quantities are converted to AC with desirable frequency. To feed the generated five-phase power to the existing three-phase system, a novel five-phase to three-phase USMC is proposed. The rectifier section of the converter contains five legs each with one transistor and four diodes. The inverter section is similar to VSI. This proposed USMC employs total of eleven transistors and twenty six diodes compared to sixteen transistors and sixteen diodes in voltage source DC-link back-to-back converter (V-BBC) used in wind energy conversion system [7]. The reduced number of controlled switches reduces the complexity of the controller and makes it cost-effective. Also the elimination of the DC-link capacitor increases the reliability of the overall converter (Fig. 1).

3 Modulation Technique for USMC

Sinusoidal pulse width modulation (SPWM) is broadly used in variable speed induction machine drive. Though this technique is easy to implement, it has the disadvantages of high THD and unable to utilise full DC-link voltage [8]. On the other hand, space vector pulse width modulation (SVPWM) technique provides more voltage output compared to other commonly used modulation strategies. Because of this reason, in this paper, SVPWM technique is used as the control strategy of five-to-


Fig. 1 Five-to-three-phase USMC Circuit Diagram

three-phase USMC. The operation and control of five-to-three-phase USMC can be analysed by the back-to-back connection of the input stage rectifier of C-BBC and the output stage inverter of V-BBC with no passive element present in the DC-link.

3.1 Five-Phase Space Vector

All the AC quantities can be considered as vectors, having both magnitude and direction (angle). Assume a five-phase balanced AC system with phase voltages,

$$v_{an} = V_m \sin \omega t \tag{1}$$

$$v_{bn} = V_m \sin\left(\omega t - \frac{2\pi}{5}\right) \tag{2}$$

$$v_{cn} = V_m \sin\left(\omega t - \frac{4\pi}{5}\right) \tag{3}$$

$$v_{dn} = V_m \sin\left(\omega t - \frac{6\pi}{5}\right) \tag{4}$$

$$v_{en} = V_m \sin\left(\omega t - \frac{8\pi}{5}\right) \tag{5}$$

$$\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{s}}^{*} = v_{an} + v_{bn}e^{j\frac{2\pi}{5}} + v_{cn}e^{j\frac{4\pi}{5}} + v_{dn}e^{j\frac{6\pi}{5}} + v_{en}e^{j\frac{8\pi}{5}}$$
(6)



Substituting the values of v_{an} , v_{bn} and v_{cn} in the above equation (Fig. 2),

$$\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{s}}^* = 2.5 V_m (\sin \omega t - j \cos \omega t) \tag{7}$$

3.2 SVPWM Three-Phase Inverter

In SVPWM technique, the entire inverter module is considered as a single unit. At any given time, only one phase should be switched.

$$v_{a0} = v_{an} + v_{n0} \tag{8}$$

$$v_{b0} = v_{bn} + v_{n0} \tag{9}$$

$$v_{c0} = v_{cn} + v_{n0} \tag{10}$$

$$\therefore v_{n0} = \frac{1}{3}(v_{a0} + v_{b0} + v_{c0}) \tag{11}$$

There are three switches present in the three upper limbs of the inverter, respectively. They could be in ON/OFF state. So, there are total of eight switching states, (0, 0, 0) to (1, 1, 1) representing (S_1, S_3, S_5) .



Fig. 3 Switching states of SVPWM inverter

 T_0 , T_1 and T_2 are the time durations of the switching states [0, 0, 0, [1, 0, 0] and [1, 1, 0], respectively. Solving the above equation (Fig. 3),

$$T_1 = aT_c \frac{\sin(60^\circ - \theta)}{\sin 60^\circ}$$

= $M_i \sin(60^\circ - \theta)$ (12)

and
$$T_2 = a T_c \frac{\sin \theta}{\sin 60^\circ}$$

$$= M_i \sin \theta \tag{13}$$

$$\implies T_0 = T_c - (T_1 + T_2) \tag{14}$$

where $M_i = \frac{aT_c}{\sin 60^\circ}$. and T_c is the half of the sampling time, T_s . Generalising Eqs. 12 and 13 for all of the six sectors,

$$T_u = M_i \sin[\frac{\pi}{3}s - \theta] \tag{15}$$

and
$$T_v = M_i \sin[\theta - \frac{\pi}{3}(s-1)]$$
 (16)

where s is the sector number in which V_s^* lies.

 T_0 could be obtained by using the switching states either (0, 0, 0) or (1, 1, 1) or both. In any of the cases, the produced average voltage vector will be same. V_1 and

 V_2 need not to be applied continuously within the sub-time period T_s . They could be divided in as many parts, but they should fall under T_s .

All the sectors should be equally used to produce symmetrical line voltages. All the samples should be positioned symmetrically about each sectors with one sample at the centre of that sector.

3.3 SVPWM Five-Phase Rectifier

SVPWM rectifier is preferred for AC–DC conversion compared to diode bridge rectifier. In SVPWM rectifier, the input side power factor could be controlled, and the sinusoidal source current is achieved.

It can be realised by the input stage rectifier of C-BBC with no freewheeling diode present in the DC-link. So, the modulation technique should always provide a path to flow the impressed DC-link current through the power transistors.

Assume a balanced five-phase system with input current i_{in^*} , defined as (Table 1)

$$\mathbf{i}_{in}^{*} = \hat{I}^{*} e^{-j\phi_{in}^{*}} = \hat{I}^{*} e^{-j(\omega t - \phi_{in}^{*})}$$
(17)

where \hat{I}^* is the amplitude of the input current space vector, ω is the supply frequency, and ϕ_{in}^* is the required input phase displacement angle.

Similar to the SVPWM inverter, rectifier switching states are determined based on the position of the current space vector. For five-phase rectifier, there are total ten sectors depending upon the switching states. The switching sequence contains two active states and a zero state.

When the input current phase angle $\phi_{i_{i_n}}^*$ lies within $[-18^\circ, +18^\circ]$ *i.e.* sector-1, the possible switching states are *aa*, *ac* and *ad*. Therefore, there would be three switching sequences possible, which are

$$\dots |_{t=0} (ad) - (ac) - (aa) |_{t=T_c} (aa) - (ac) - (ad) |_{t=T_c}$$

No.	<i>S</i> ₁	<i>S</i> ₂	<i>S</i> ₃	<i>S</i> ₄	<i>S</i> ₅	<i>S</i> ₆	vs*
1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0∠0
2	1	1	0	0	0	1	$V_{dc} \angle 0$
3	1	1	1	0	0	0	$V_{dc} \angle \frac{\pi}{3}$
4	0	1	1	1	0	0	$V_{dc} \angle \frac{2\pi}{3}$
5	0	0	1	1	1	0	$V_{dc} \angle \pi$
6	0	0	0	1	1	1	$V_{dc} \angle \frac{4\pi}{3}$
7	1	0	0	0	1	1	$V_{dc} \angle \frac{5\pi}{3}$
8	1	0	1	0	1	0	0∠0

Table 1 Three-phase inverter switching states

FPGA-Based Modulation Technique for Five-to-Three-Phase ...

$$\dots |_{t=0} (aa) - (ac) - (ad) |_{t=T_c} (ad) - (ac) - (aa) |_{t=T_s}$$
$$\dots |_{t=0} (ac) - (aa) - (ad) |_{t=T_c} (ad) - (aa) - (ac) |_{t=T_s}$$

The switching losses vary with the selection of the switching sequence of the rectifier. To place the zero switching state between the two active states, switching state of only one phase has to be changed. The formation of output DC-link voltage is determined by ϕ_{in}^* to maintain the power balance. The average output voltage is inversely proportional to ϕ_{in}^* .

$$I_{in}^* T_c = I_{dc} T_1 + I_{dc} T_2 + I_0 T_0 \tag{18}$$

where T_0 , T_1 and T_2 are the time durations of the switching states *aa*, *ac* and *ad*, respectively. T_c is the half of the sampling time, T_s . Solving the above equation, it could be found that

$$T_1 = aT_c \frac{\sin(18^\circ - \phi_{i_{in}}^*)}{\sin 36^\circ} = M_r \sin(18^\circ - \phi_{i_{in}}^*)$$
(19)

and
$$T_2 = aT_c \frac{\sin(\phi_{i_{i_n}}^* + 18^\circ)}{\sin 36^\circ} = M_r \sin(\phi_{i_{i_n}}^* + 18^\circ)$$
 (20)

$$\implies T_0 = T_c - (T_1 + T_2) \tag{21}$$

where modulation index, $a = \frac{\hat{I}_{in}^*}{I_{dc}} = [0, 1]$ and $M_r = \frac{aT_c}{\sin 36^\circ}$.

Generalising Eqs. 19 and 20 for all the sectors,

$$T_m = M_r \sin\left[\frac{\pi}{5}s - \left(\phi_{i_{in}}^* + \frac{\pi}{10}\right)\right] = M_r \sin\phi_m \tag{22}$$

and
$$T_n = M_r \sin\left[\frac{\pi}{5} - \phi_m\right]$$
 (23)

where s is the sector number in which I_{in}^* lies (Table 2).

No.	Sa	S _b	Sc	S _d	Se	V _{dc}
1	1	0	1	0	0	Vac
2	0	1	0	1	0	V_{bd}
3	0	0	1	0	1	Vce
4	1	0	0	1	0	V _{da}
5	0	1	0	0	1	V _{eb}

Table 2 Switching states of rectifier section

3.4 SVPWM Matrix Converter

In IMC, the purpose of the rectifier stage is to produce sinusoidal input current and a positive DC-link voltage. The modulation is done in such a way that maximum voltage is available in the DC-link. The DC-link voltage is formed by the switching between two line voltages of five-phase supply. Then from this DC, three-phase AC voltage of desired frequency is produced.

At first, the input five-phase AC is sensed to calculate the rotating vector. Then according to the position of the rotating vector, ten sectors of 36° each are defined according to that. In each sector, the input line voltages used to form the DC-link voltage is different.

When the rotating vector lies in sector-1, phase-A is ON always and phase-C and phase-D are switched alternatively to form the DC-link voltage. So, the DC-link would contain the portions of v_{ac} and v_{ad} . When S_a and S_c are ON, the DC-link voltage follows the profile of v_{ac} . Similarly, when S_a and S_d are ON, the DC-link voltage follows v_{ad} . The duty cycle of the switches S_b and S_c is defined as

$$d_{ac} = -\frac{v_c}{v_a} \tag{24}$$

$$d_{ad} = -\frac{v_d}{v_a} \tag{25}$$

and
$$d_{ac} + d_{ad} = 1$$
 (26)

The average DC-link voltage,

$$V_{dc} = d_{ac} \cdot v_{ac} + d_{ad} \cdot v_{ad} \tag{27}$$

Similarly, V_{dc} can be found for all the other sectors. After the formation of V_{dc} , the inverter could be controlled using SVPWM technique as described in *section* 3.2.

The voltage transfer ratio is defined as (Fig. 4)

$$m = \frac{\overline{V_s^*}}{\overline{V_{in}^*}} \tag{28}$$

In IMC topology, the switching of rectifier stage and the inverter stage has to be coordinated to produce balanced symmetrical input currents and output voltages. T_u , T_v and T_0 of the inverter stage are distributed among T_m and T_n of the rectifier stage maintaining the proportional ratio. The switching of rectifier stage is always done during the freewheeling period of the inverter stage to achieve zero DC-link current commutation.



Fig. 4 Switching states within a pulse period

4 Modelling and Simulation

4.1 Filter Design

The matrix converter system dynamics are highly affected by the choice of filter design. In this topology, filter components are the only inertial elements present. That is why, a proper selection of the filter components is required so that the voltage regulation, efficiency, and the reactive current loading stay within the permissible limit [9].

Input Filter To provide path for switching frequency currents, input filter is essential in matrix converter topology. The most appropriate input filter for this topology is single stage LC filter. The value of C_{in} should be low, so that the input displacement factor (IDF) becomes minimum. However, for inductive load, a high value of C_{in} should be used. Damping resistors are used across the inductors. This arrangement provides minimum conflict between efficiency and damping requirements. The output current of the USMC decides the current rating of the input filter capacitors, C_{in} [9].

Output Filter A second-order ripple filter is also used in the output side of the USMC to provide a regulated three-phase AC voltage. The output current depends on the value of L_0 . Proper selection of L_0 leads to the selection of C_{in} with low current rating [9]. The per phase representation of the input and output filter is shown in Fig. 5.



Fig. 5 Single-phase diagram of input and output filters for matrix converter [9]

4.2 Five-to-Three-phase USMC Simulation

Digital controllers can be designed and analysed in a virtual FPGA environment using XSG. Integrated platform of MATLAB-Simulink-XSG can be used for real-time FPGA-based controller designing using automatic HDL code generation functionality. Hence, it is necessary to model the controller in XSG for real-time implementation of the system using FPGA [10]. The simulation model of five-to-three-phase USMC is designed in MATLAB Simulink using XILINX blockset. The clock of the XILINX system generator is set to 10 ns. The test parameters are shown in the table 3.

At first, the phase voltages are sensed from a five-phase input voltage, and then gate pulses are generated according to that. After sensing the input phase voltages, the position of the input space vector is detected using CORDIC block from XILINX toolbox. Then the active sector is determined depending on the position of the input space vector. Then T_m and T_n are derived from the input space vector position, and the active sector for the rectifier section and T_c . T_c is calculated from the predetermined sampling time.

The determination of T_u , T_v and T_0 is same as three-phase USMC [4]. Then these T_u and T_v and T_0 are combined with T_m and T_n to determine the converter switching signals according to the input voltage space vector position. To avoid short circuiting of the DC-link voltage, finally, dead time is introduced between turn-off and turn-on of transistors in bridge legs of the inverter section [6].

Figure 6 shows the results of the simulation of FTTP USMC. With 25 Hz input frequency, the produced output frequency 50 Hz. The ripple factor of the DC-link voltage is 0.04. The output voltage THD is also less than 5% as shown in Fig. 7.

Figure 8 shows the input phase current profile corresponds to input phase voltage. The input current ripple factor can be reduced further with the use of higher order input filter.

Input phase voltage	141.421 V			
Input frequency	25 Hz			
Modulation index	0.86			
Switching frequency	4.5 KHz			
Diode snubber resistance	1 ΜΩ			
Damping resistance	1 Ω			
Series inductance	150 μΗ			
Shunt capacitance	150 μF			
Series inductance	500 µH			
Shunt capacitance	150 μF			

Table 3 Simulation parameters of five-phase USMC



Fig. 6 Voltage profile of five-to-three-phase USMC



Fig. 7 FFT analysis of output voltage of five-to-three-phase USMC



Fig. 8 Input current profile of five-to-three-phase USMC

5 Conclusion

A FTTP USMC is modelled to convert five-phase power to three-phase. The size and cost of the converter would be less than other types of converter serving same purpose. The modulation technique of FTTP USMC is derived and verified using MATLAB Simulink. The proposed modulation scheme uses space vector modulation technique to provide fixed output frequency from variable input frequency supply. The output voltage THD rating is under the permissible limit. Zero current switching of the rectifier section is achieved for FTTP USMC. The switching states symmetrically placed about the middle of a sample time. All switching sectors are used equally. As the switching frequency increases, the output voltage harmonics reduces further. In addition, the voltage output of the converter with this modulation technique could be controlled.

References

- B.K. Bose, Energy, environment, and advances in power electronics, in *ISIE*'2000, vol. No. 00TH8543, vol. 1 (IEEE, 2000), pp. TU1–T14
- C.A. Sepúlveda, J.A. Muñoz, J.R. Espinoza, M.E. Figueroa,, C.R. Baier, FPGA v/s DSP performance comparison for a VSC-based STATCOM control application. IEEE Trans. Ind. Inform. 9(3), 1351–1360 (2012)
- M. Raghuram, A.K. Chauhan, S.K. Singh, Extended range of ultra sparse matrix converter using integrated switched capacitor network. IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl. 55(5), 5406–5415 (2019)
- 4. J.W. Kolar, T. Friedli, J. Rodriguez, P.W. Wheeler, Review of three-phase PWM AC–AC converter topologies. IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron. **58**(11), 4988–5006 (2011)
- J.W. Kolar, F. Schafmeister, S.D. Round, H. Ertl, Novel three-phase AC-AC sparse matrix converters. IEEE Trans. Power Electron. 22(5), 1649–1661 (2007)

- 6. J.W. Kolar, M. Baumann, F. Schafmeister, H. Ertl, Novel three-phase AC-DC-AC sparse matrix converter, in *APEC*, vol. No. 02CH37335, vol. 2 (IEEE, 2002), pp. 777–791
- H.H.H. Mousa, A.-R. Youssef, E.E.M. Mohamed, Optimal power extraction control schemes for five-phase PMSG based wind generation systems. Eng. Sci. Technolo. Int. J. 23(1), 144–155 (2020)
- H. Benbouhenni, Z. Boudjema, A. Belaidi, Using three-level fuzzy space vector modulation method to improve indirect vector control strategy of a DFIG based wind energy conversion systems. Int. J. Smart Grid 2(3), 155–171 (2018)
- 9. A. Dasgupta, P. Sensarma, Filter design of direct matrix converter for synchronous applications. IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron. **61**(12), 6483–6493 (2014)
- V.K. Singh, R.N. Tripathi, T. Hanamoto, in Xilinx System Generator Based Modelling of Finite State MPC (IEEE, 2018), pp. 1698–1703

Exact SER for Modulation Schemes Over Generalized Rician Fading Channel



Veenu Kansal, Rajanbir Singh, and Simranjit Singh

1 Introduction

The fading of the signal in wireless communication limits the performance of wireless systems. Fading essentially constitutes small-scale fading in which a signal rapidly changes its phase and amplitude over a small distance or time. Large-scale fading, in which signal variations observed over a large distance or time, is ignored in case of small-scale fading [1]. There are many fading distributions that characteristically define the mobile radio signal in a certain environment. The most commonly used distributions are the Rayleigh, Nakagami-*m*, and Rician fading distributions. The generalized Rician fading distribution is another interesting fading distribution, which encompasses the above-defined fading distributions as its special cases. This distribution can model the narrow-band and light-shadowed mobile radio channel [2]. The available literature on this fading distribution was exhaustively studied, and the most relevant literature is discussed below.

First-order statistics (probability density function (PDF)) and second-order statistics (level crossing rate and average duration of fade) of the generalized Rician fading distribution were derived in [3]. In [4], the authors used the moment generating function (MGF) approach to evaluate the error rate probability of the M-ary quadrature amplitude modulation (MQAM) multi-input multi-output (MIMO) orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) systems. The BER of M-ary orthogonal modulation techniques was evaluated for the nonidentical generalized Rician fading channels, employing non-coherent equal-gain diversity in [5]. The outage probability, pairwise error probability, and bit error rate (BER) of orthogonal space–time block code OFDM systems were calculated through the MGF approach over correlated generalized Rician channels in [6]. Since the practical multipath of the signal is correlated, in order to better understand the correlated generalized Rician fading

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_104

V. Kansal · R. Singh · S. Singh (⊠)

Punjabi University, Patiala 147002, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1201

model, a complete study for the statistical properties of the correlated channel is presented in [7]. Exact symbol error rate (SER) analysis is quite tedious; therefore, to simplify calculations, the authors in [8] used asymptotic analysis to evaluate the SER of equal gain combining. Work done in [8] was extended to include the asymptotic SER performance of selection combining (SC) in [9]. In [10, 11], some new research papers are reported on the analysis of generalized Rician fading.

After reviewing the literature, we observed that a comprehensive analysis involving the SER of different modulation schemes was missing. However, the analysis is performed only for the M-ary modulations over this fading channel in [12]. In this work, we derived the generalized expressions of SER of various modulation schemes for the generalized Rician fading.

2 System Model

The received signal envelope is assumed to be follows: the distribution of generalized Rician fading. It is a general model that includes Rayleigh, Rician, and Nakagami-*m* as special cases. The PDF of signal to noise ratio (SNR) is obtained by using the square transformation [13]. The PDF of SNR form can be evaluated by [10]:

$$p_{\gamma}(\gamma) = \frac{\gamma^{\frac{n-2}{4}} \exp\left(-\frac{nK}{2} - \frac{\Omega\gamma}{2\sigma^{2}\overline{\gamma}}\right) I_{\frac{n}{2}-1}\left(\sqrt{\frac{nK\Omega\gamma}{\sigma^{2}\overline{\gamma}}}\right)}{2\left(\frac{\sigma^{2}\overline{\gamma}}{\Omega}\right)^{\frac{n+2}{4}} (nK)^{\frac{n-2}{4}}}.$$
(1)

where Ω denotes second moment of fading model, which is calculated by taken k = 2 in the below given equation [14]:

$$E[X^k] = \left(2\sigma^2\right)^{\frac{k}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{s^2}{2\sigma^2}\right) \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+k}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n}{2}\right)} {}_1F_1\left(\frac{n+k}{2}, \frac{n}{2}; \frac{s^2}{2\sigma^2}\right), \tag{2}$$

The expression for second moment of this fading is given by:

$$\Omega = E[X^2] = n\sigma^2 \exp\left(-\frac{s^2}{2\sigma^2}\right)_1 F_1\left(1 + \frac{n}{2}, \frac{n}{2}; \frac{s^2}{2\sigma^2}\right).$$
 (3)

where *E*[.] represents the expectation operator and denotes confluent hypergeometric function [15]. The generalized Rician *K*-factor characterizes the ratio of power of line of sight (LOS) signal component to the diffuse components which is given by $K = s^2/n\sigma^2$. This distribution changes to Rician for n = 2. It reduces to Rayleigh for n = 2 and s = 0, and this channel can also represent Nakagami-*m* for n = 2 *m* and s = 0, where *m* can hold only integer or half integer values [9].

3 Average Symbol Error Analysis

The average symbol error probability (ASEP) for modulation schemes can be found by integrating the conditional error probability over the PDF of the fading channel [13]:

$$P_e = \int_{0}^{\infty} P_e(\gamma) p_{\gamma}(\gamma) d\gamma$$
(4)

where $P_e(\gamma)$ denotes the conditional symbol error probability (SEP) and $p_{\gamma}(\gamma)$ denotes PDF of the generalized Rician fading. There are generalized expressions of conditional SEP for various modulation schemes, which are provided as below.

(1) The general form of the conditional symbol error expression of the binary phase shift keying (BPSK), square MQAM, and quadrature phase shift keying (QPSK)/minimum shift keying (MSK) with coherent detection is:

$$P_e(\gamma) = Aerfc\left(\sqrt{B\gamma}\right) + Cerfc^2\left(\sqrt{B\gamma}\right)$$
(5)

(2) Conditional SER of differential phase shift keying (DPSK), binary frequency shift keying (BFSK), and M-ary frequency shift keying (MFSK) can be expressed as:

$$P_e(\gamma) = A \exp(-B\gamma) \tag{6}$$

(3) The conditional SER of M-ary phase shift keying (MPSK) and M-ary differential phase shift keying (MDPSK) can be represented in the form:

$$P_e(\gamma) = A \int_{0}^{\pi - \pi/M} \exp(-B(\theta)\gamma) d\theta$$
(7)

The A, B, and C that depend on kind of modulations are given in Table 1 [13, 16-20, 22, 23].

3.1 The ASEP of Coherent Modulation Schemes

The modulation schemes included under coherent modulation detection are BPSK, MQAM, and QPSK/MSK. By substituting the series form of the Bessel function in (1), the PDF of the received SNR is evaluated as:

, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,					
Modulation scheme	A	B	С		
BPSK	1/2	1	0		
MQAM	$2(1-1/\sqrt{M})$	$1.5\log_2(M)/(M-1)$	$-(1-(1/\sqrt{M}))^2$		
QPSK/MSK	1	1	1/4		
DPSK	1/2	1	0		
MFSK	$\sum_{m=1}^{M-1} \frac{(-1)^{m+1}(M-1)!}{m! \ (m+1)(M-1-m)!}$	$\frac{m}{m+1}\log_2(M)$	0		
BFSK	1/2	1/2	0		
MPSK	1/π	$\frac{\sin^2\left(\frac{\pi}{M}\right)\log_2(M)}{\sin^2(\theta)}$	0		
MDPSK	1/π	$\frac{\sin^2\left(\frac{\pi}{M}\right)\log_2(M)}{1+\cos\left(\frac{\pi}{M}\right)\cos\theta}$	0		

Table 1 Different values of A, B, and C for specific modulations

$$p_{\gamma}(\gamma) = \exp\left(-\frac{nK}{2} - \gamma\lambda\right) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{(nK)^{l} \gamma^{l+\frac{n}{2}-1}(\lambda)^{l+\frac{n}{2}}}{2^{l} l! \Gamma\left(l+\frac{n}{2}\right)}$$
(8)

where $\lambda = \Omega / 2\sigma^2 \overline{\gamma}$.

Now we substitute (5) and (8) in (4) to get the average symbol error rate (ASER):

$$P_e = \underbrace{\int_{0}^{\infty} Aerfc\left(\sqrt{B\gamma}\right) \cdot p_{\gamma}(\gamma) d\gamma}_{I_1} + \underbrace{\int_{0}^{\infty} Cerfc^2\left(\sqrt{B\gamma}\right) \cdot p_{\gamma}(\gamma) d\gamma}_{I_2}$$
(9)

Now substituting the value of $p_{\gamma}(\gamma)$ in (9), we obtain I_1 :

$$I_1 = A \exp\left(\frac{-nK}{2}\right) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{(nK)^l}{2^{l-1}l!} \int_0^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} erfc\left(\sqrt{B\gamma}\right) \frac{(\lambda\gamma)^{\alpha}}{\alpha!} \exp(-\lambda\gamma) d\gamma \quad (10)$$

where $\alpha = l + \frac{n}{2} - 1$. The equation in (10) can be solved using the formula in [19], Eq. (17)]. We obtain I_1 as follows:

$$I_{1} = A \exp\left(\frac{-nK}{2}\right) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{(nK)^{l}}{2^{l-1}l!} \left(\frac{1}{2}\left(1 - \sqrt{\frac{B}{\lambda + B}}\right)\right)^{\alpha+1}$$
$$\sum_{a=0}^{\alpha} \frac{(\alpha + a)!}{a! (\alpha)!} \left(\frac{1}{2}\left(1 + \sqrt{\frac{B}{\lambda + B}}\right)\right)^{a}$$
(11)

Now we solve for I_2 , which is given as follows:

Exact SER for Modulation Schemes Over Generalized ...

$$I_2 = C \exp\left(\frac{-nK}{2}\right) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{(nK)^l \lambda^{\alpha+1}}{2^l l! \Gamma(\alpha+1)} \int_0^{\infty} \gamma^{\alpha} erfc^2\left(\sqrt{B\gamma}\right) \exp(-\lambda\gamma) d\gamma \quad (12)$$

Using formula [19], Eq. (19)], I_2 becomes:

$$I_{2} = C \exp\left(\frac{-nK}{2}\right) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{(nK)^{l}}{l! \ 2^{l}} \left(1 - \left(\frac{\frac{4}{\pi} \sum_{a=0}^{\alpha} \frac{1}{2a+1} \left(\frac{\lambda}{B}\right)^{a}}{\times {}_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{1}{2}+a, 1+a; \frac{3}{2}+a; -1-\frac{\lambda}{B}\right)} \right) \right)$$
(13)

where ${}_{2}F_{1}(\cdot, \cdot; \cdot; \cdot)$ is the Gaussian hypergeometric function. The final ASEP is obtained by performing operation $I_{1} + I_{2}$ as:

$$P_{e} = \xi \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{(nK)^{l}}{2^{l-1}l!} \begin{cases} A \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \sqrt{\frac{B}{\lambda + B}} \right) \right]^{\alpha+1} \sum_{a=0}^{\alpha} \frac{(\alpha + a)!}{a!\Gamma(\alpha + 1)} \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(1 + \sqrt{\frac{B}{\lambda + B}} \right) \right]^{a} \\ + \frac{C}{2} \left[1 - \frac{4}{\pi} \sum_{a=0}^{\alpha} \frac{1}{2a+1} \left(\frac{\lambda}{B} \right)^{a} {}_{2}F_{1} \left(\frac{1}{2} + a, 1 + a; \frac{3}{2} + a; -1 - \frac{\lambda}{B} \right) \right] \end{cases}$$
(14)

where $\xi = \exp(\frac{-nK}{2})$.

The ASEP for $\overline{Q}PSK$ can be obtained by substituting M = 4 in the expression of MQAM [21]. The ASER of MSK and QPSK is same [22].

3.2 The ASEP of Non-Coherent Modulations

The modulation schemes with non-coherent detection include DPSK, MFSK, etc. In order to obtain the ASEP, we substitute Eqs. (6) and (8) in (4) to obtain the ASEP as follows:

$$P_e = \exp\left(\frac{-nK}{2}\right) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{A\lambda^{l+\frac{n}{2}}(nK)^l}{2^l l! \Gamma\left(l+\frac{n}{2}\right)} \int_0^{\infty} \gamma^{l+\frac{n}{2}-1} \exp(-\gamma(\lambda+B)) d\gamma, \qquad (15)$$

Equation (15) can be solved using the identity in [15]; the ASEP is then reduced to

$$P_{e} = A \exp\left(\frac{-nK}{2}\right) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^{l+\frac{n}{2}} (nK)^{l}}{2^{l} l! (\lambda+B)^{l+\frac{n}{2}}},$$
(16)

1205

Now, using (3) in (16), we obtain ASEP as follows:

$$P_{e} = A \exp\left(\frac{-Kn}{2}\right) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\mu)^{l+\frac{n}{2}} (nK)^{l}}{2^{l} l! (\mu + \overline{\gamma}B)^{l+\frac{n}{2}}}$$
(17)

where $\mu = \exp(-\frac{Kn}{2})\frac{n}{2} F_1(1 + \frac{n}{2}, \frac{n}{2}; \frac{Kn}{2})$.

The equation in (17) provided the exact ASEP for DPSK and MFSK modulation schemes over the generalized Rician fading channel. The average bit error probability (BEP) of BFSK can be obtained by substituting M = 2 in the ASEP of MFSK.

3.3 The ASEP of M-Ary Modulations

The modulation schemes that fall under this category are MPSK and MDPSK. The ASEP is obtained by putting Eqs. (7) and (8) in Eq. (4), which is given as [12]:

$$P_e = A \xi \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^{l+\frac{n}{2}} (nK)^l}{2^l l! \Gamma\left(l+\frac{n}{2}\right)} \int_0^{\pi-\frac{\pi}{M}} \int_0^{\infty} \gamma^{l+\frac{n}{2}-1} \exp(-\gamma(\lambda+B)) \mathrm{d}\gamma \mathrm{d}\theta \qquad (18)$$

Equation (18) can be solved by applying the identity [15]; the ASEP then becomes:

$$P_e = A \exp\left(-\frac{nK}{2}\right) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{(nK)^l}{2^l l!} \int_{0}^{\pi - \frac{\pi}{M}} \left(1 + \frac{B}{\lambda}\right)^{-\left(l + \frac{\pi}{2}\right)} \mathrm{d}\theta.$$
(19)

The final expression obtained in Eq. (19) can be easily evaluated using software MATHEMATICA, MATLAB.

4 Analytical Results and Discussion

Numerical results are obtained from the analytical results for different values of parameters K and n. The derived results of ASEP for BPSK, MQAM (M = 16), and QPSK are plotted with respect to average SNR in Fig. 1. It depicts that the error performance reduces on increasing the parameter n. Thus, the performance of average BEP improves with an increase in the value of n because of the increase in the degrees of freedom of the non-central Chi-square distribution.

The ASER performance of DPSK, MFSK (M = 4), and BFSK is analyzed in Fig. 2 and for MDPSK (M = 4) and MPSK (M = 16) in Fig. 3. The improvement in the ASEP performance is observed in the above two cases, as compared to the first case.



Another method of examining ASEP performance is by varying K and keeping the 'n' constant. The graphs of ASER expressions of BPSK, MQAM (M = 16), and QPSK are drawn versus the average SNR by keeping 'n' constant in Fig. 4. Figure illustrates that increase in parameter K decreases the ASEP because an increase in Kincreases the power of the specular component, thereby increasing SNR and hence



reducing the ASEP. The most severe fading is when K = 0 dB, which represents the Rayleigh fading environment in which there is no LOS component.

In Fig. 5, the analytical ASEP results for DPSK, MFSK (M = 4), and BPSK are plotted in against the average SNR. Here, the ASEP also decreases as K increases. Similar results are observed for MDPSK (M = 4) and MPSK (M = 16) in Fig. 6. The



MATLAB simulations of the results are also shown in the figures. The simulation results are in accordance with the numerical results.

5 Conclusion

In this work, we analyzed the performance of different modulations over a generalized Rician fading channel. We divided the modulation schemes into three different groups and performed a generalized ASEP analysis covering all the modulation schemes. Exact closed-form solutions for ASEP are derived and compared with the simulation results. We observed that, for the constant value of K, probability of error reduces as n increases and for constant n, the ASEP decreases, as K increases. The MATLAB simulation results justify the analytically derived results.

References

- 1. T.S. Rappaport, *Wireless Communications: Principles and Practice*, 2nd edn. (Pearson Education Inc., 2002)
- I. Jaafar, N. Youseff, H. Boujemma, A generalized Rice channel for modeling mobile satellite link, in *IEEE First International Symposium on Control, Communication and Signal Processing*, pp. 515–518 (2004)
- N. Youssef, C.X. Wangt, M. Patzoldt, I. Jaafar, S. Tabbane, On the statistical properties of generalized Rice multipath fading channels, in *Proceedings of IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference*, pp. 162–165 (2004)
- 4. P. Loskot, N.C. Beaulieu, Performance analysis of coded MIMO-OFDM systems over generalized Ricean fading channels, in *Proceedings of IEEE Canadian Conference on Electrical and Computer Engineering*, pp. 1634–1639 (2006)
- R.M. Radaydeh, M.M. Matalgah, Compact formulas for the average error performance of noncoherent M-ary orthogonal signals over generalized rician, Nakagami-m, and Nakagami-q fading channels with diversity reception. IEEE Trans. Commun. 56(1), 32–38 (2008)
- P. Loskot, N.C. Beaulieu, Approximate performance analysis of coded OSTBC-OFDM systems over arbitrary correlated generalized Rician fading channels. IEEE Trans. Commun. 57(8), 2235–2238 (2009)
- Q. Shi, Y. Karasava, On the correlated generalized Rician fading based on Gaussian class multivariate distributions based with generalized correlation. IEEE Commun. Lett. 16, 1925– 1928 (2012)
- 8. J. Schlenker, J. Cheng, R. Schober, Asymptotically tight error rate bounds for EGC in correlated generalized Rician fading, in *Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Communications*, pp. 3079–3084 (2013)
- J. Schlenker, J. Cheng, R. Schober, Improving and bounding asymptotic approximations for diversity combiners in correlated generalized Rician fading. IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun. 13(2), 736–748 (2014)
- K.N. Le, Opportunistic outdated relays under even-degree-of-freedom generalized rician fading. IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol. 68(3), 2472–2487 (2019)
- K.N. Le, Distributions of even-degree-of-freedom generalized rician fading for opportunisticrelay selection employing MRC under outdated-CSI conditions. IEEE Trans. Commun. 67(9), 6441–6455 (2019)
- 12. V. Kansal, R. Singh, S. Singh, Exact BER for MDPSK and MPSK over generalized rician fading channel, in *International Conference on Advanced Informatics for Computing Research*, pp. 50–62 (2018)
- M.K. Simon, M.S. Alouini, *Digital Communications over Fading Channels*, 2nd edn. (Wiley-IEEE Press, New York, NY, 2004)
- 14. J.G. Proakis, M. Salehi, Digital Communications (The McGraw-Hill, New York, NY, 2008)

- I.S. Gradshteyn, I.M. Ryzhik, *Table of Integrals, Series, and Products* (Academic Press, USA, 2000)
- 16. A. Goldsmith, Wireless Communications (Cambridge University Press, New York, 2005)
- J.W. Craig, A new, simple and exact result for calculating the probability of error for twodimensional signal constellation, in *Proceedings of IEEE MILCOM Conference*, McLean, Virginia (1991)
- 18. J.G. Proakis, Digital Communications, 3rd edn. (McGraw Hill, New York, 1995)
- A. Annamalai, C. Tellambura, Analysis of maximal-ratio and equal-gain diversity systems for m-ary QAM on generalized fading channels, in *Proceedings of IEEE International Conference*, Vancouver, Canada (1999)
- R.F. Pawula, A new formula for MDPSK symbol error probability. IEEE Commun. Lett. 2, 271–272 (1998)
- A. Annamalai, C. Tellambura, Error rates for Nakagami-m fading multichannel reception of binary and m-ary signals. IEEE Trans. on Commun. 49(1), 58–68 (2001)
- 22. A. Annamalai, C. Tellambura, V.K. Bhargava, Unified analysis of equal-gain diversity on Rician and Nakagami fading channels, in *Proceedings of IEEE Wireless Communication and Networking Conference*, New Orleans, USA (1999)
- 23. V. Kansal, S. Singh, Analysis of average symbol error probability of MDPSK, MFSK and MPSK in the Beaulieu-Xie Fading, in *Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Wireless Networks & Embedded Systems (WECON)*, Rajpura, India, pp. 1–5 (2018)

Implementation of an Efficient Handover Algorithm on AP Using Software-Defined Wi-Fi Systems



Shruti Sujan Munde and Vinodkumar Jadhav

1 Introduction

With the increasing number of mobile users, the demand for quality services is increasing; the continuous growth in network traffic has resulted in large deployment of wireless local area networks. When a user is moving from one place to another, a frequent handover of the mobile terminal between the Wi-Fi access points has to be performed to provide uninterrupted good quality, data services to the user. A mobile terminal connects to the Internet using wireless technologies such as cellular network and IEEE 802.11 WLANs. The wireless products being vendor dependent face the inter-operability problems. SDN is the solution to this problem. It is the booming technology that has totally changed the idea of WLAN infrastructure. It has overcome the limitations of the traditional networks.

The basic idea of SDN technology is to decouple its brain that is the control plane from the forwarding plane (data plane). Control planes of all the devices in a network are logically placed together and are referred as SDN controller. The SDN controller thus gets the whole view of the network. It is placed at the middle layer of the SDN architecture out of the three layers, data plane is the lowest layer, and application layer is the upper layer. The OpenFlow protocol is used by SDN to carry the communication between the layers. The controller communicates with application layer via south bound interface (SBI) and with data plane via northbound interface (NBI). In this paper, we are using SDN technology along with WLAN technology. The SDN properties such as vendor independency, centralized control and programmability help us to get the overall view, information about the network devices present in WLAN even network control and management becomes easy.

S. S. Munde $(\boxtimes) \cdot V$. Jadhav

V. Jadhav

e-mail: vinodkumar.jadhav@mitwpu.edu.in

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_105

Mtech ECE (CNS), School of ECE, Dr. Vishwanath Karad MITWPU, Pune, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1213 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

A heavily loaded network out-turns into low end throughput; therefore, the AP load must also be considered along with the other factors during the handover process. If a mobile terminal is put on to make a handover when it is in the overlapping area of two APs, switching of mobile terminal with heavily loaded AP will, however, degrade the quality of service provided to the user. Hence, in this paper we have proposed a handover algorithm which considers an AP load, and this algorithm is compared with the SDN-based RSSI handover mechanism. The paper is further divided into different sections accordingly; related work is explained in Sect. 2. Section 3 gives the idea about network architecture with detailed information about handover mechanisms. Section 4 gives experimentation details along with results and analysis. Section 5 concludes the paper.

2 Related Work

The software-defined wireless network is one of the emerging technology approaches that help to overcome the limitations of WLANs. The SDWN is proposed cost effective solution [1] in order to fulfill the demand of dynamic services needed by wireless networks. Motivation to research and work on SDN are [2] many some of them are (i) simplified network configuration and management (ii) evolvable networks and (iii) vendor independency.

In SDN control plane is decoupled from data plane, and data plane forwards the packets according to the logic provided by control plane [2]. Open flow is one of the popular protocols used in SDN [3], and it uses open source codes to control SDN controllers and switches. Controller in SDN is software that manages the collection of switches for traffic control. Communication in SDN takes place via NBI and SBI; the entire SDN communication is explained in [4]. There are very few network emulators available for experimenting with SDN and OpenFlow protocols, for example, NS-3 and OMNET++ [4]. But mininet-wifi is the only emulator allowing us to work with software-defined wireless networks.

In traditional networks, when the handover takes place, there is an interruption in data transmission; hence, many authors tried to add another interface so as to keep the transmission continuous [5, 6]. But the market available access points usually have only one interface, which limits this approach.

In traditional networks, delay happens due to two reasons; first is that the client station is accountable for deciding when to initiate the handover, which occurs during the detection phase [7]. But, this phase is not standardized as each equipment vendor is in charge to implement it [8]. Mobile terminals perform handoff when one of the two thresholds is reached, either poor signal strength or because of many lost frames [8]. And in traditional network the devices programmability is vendor dependent, different thresholds are decided by different vendors. Hence, there is no standardized time for AP detection and hence the detection delay varies [9]. After that during discovery phase the mobile terminal tries to search for new AP to connect, it has to

send the probe request to all the available APs and then wait for probe response from them. Hence, this time considerably depends on the traffic load on APs [10].

The existing networks consider the RSSI (received signal strength indicator) value in order to perform the handover [11]. The RSSI-based handover strategy is easy to implement; however, it does not guarantee good QoS [12]. This paper proves that a handover of the terminal from overloaded AP to underloaded AP results is improvement in throughput with low latency. Handover method by combining SDN with traditional RSSI mechanism is proposed in [13] which is called as Dispatch.

3 System Model

Software-defined wireless network (SDWN) is use of SDN features in wireless networks. Using SDN controller, SDWN helps in the formation of new techniques according to user demands, such as security, quality of service (QoS), mobility and handoff. The architecture of SDWN is shown in Fig. 1. The infrastructure layer consists of access points and OpenFlow-enabled switches. APs and OpenFlow switches both are totally responsible for information forwarding only, while the logic management units of them are attached to the controller. The controller has the sight of complete network and has information about each flow in the network. The components of the architecture are as follows:



Fig. 1 Proposed SDWN architecture

• Access point (APs)

The APs in this design are solely responsible for the information forwarding function, while the logic management functions are coupled with the controller. This OpenFlow protocol will not totally take into account the distinctiveness of a network and the controller cannot administer the APs. Hence, a distinct communication channel between the controller and every AP is set up from which the controller collects the status details of all APs, thereby executing control over the APs.

• Controller

Controller being a unified and central logic control unit, it is accountable for the gathering of status of forwarding devices particulars, for the administration of APs OpenFlow switches, and for the flow table deliverance. It jointly provides a programmable interface that is suitable to write down applications for users by keeping into account their individual requirements.

• Switch

Resembling to an AP, the OpenFlow switch has its control functions coupled with the controller and thus keep hold only on the data forwarding function along with it. Hence, this switch acts in a similar way as a pure data channel.

3.1 Handover Methods

Handover is the process of disassociating a mobile terminal from one channel and associating it to other channel in the network. Handover management allows a wireless network to maintain a mobile terminals connection to services when it is moving in the network. In this paper, two SDN-based mobile terminal handover methods have been performed; they are as follows:

SDN based RSSI handover mechanism:

- (1) Pre-association and pre-authentication: This is the process in which mobile terminals link AP out of its range by use of out-of-band signaling; the existing association to the control server enables them to exchange links and authenticate messages. This allows terminals to link with all APs of limited geographical area prior to the station's arrival in that area.
- (2) Scanning: The mobile terminals include the handover manager that consists of the scanning and scheduler module. It decides about when to perform the handover. To discover surrounding APs the terminal broadcasts the probe request messages to all APs and listens to the response. APs on the particular channel then reply to the mobile terminal requests. The check for new APs has to be done regularly enough to find new APs fast enough. Too frequently scanning will, however, result in a decrease in throughput and QoS, as no data can be transmitted during scanning. Min_Channel_Time and the Max_Channel_Time are the maximum and minimum times the station should wait on a channel, before rescanning.



Fig. 2 SDN-based RSSI handover mechanism

(3) Handover process: Based on results obtained from scanning the handover takes place, the scheduler initiates a transfer only when the (RSSI) signal strength indicator of any AP is stronger than the RSSI of the existing AP. Transmission buffer of the station is put in a blocked state. Subsequently, the station sends a "Handover Initiate" message to its associated AP which sends the message to the controller. The controller then responds to the station with an (ACK) acknowledgement response, sends a pause message to the switch, and updates the switch forwarding table using the OpenFlow protocol to transfer future downstream packets of data through AP2 and forward upstream incoming traffic from the station through AP2 to the streaming service. The process is explained in Fig. 2.

SDN-based AP load balancing handover mechanism:

The above-explained handover mechanism provides a good quality of service (QoS) compared to the traditional network IEEE 802.11 handover mechanism. As the controller has the entire network view, it in advance gets the information of all the mobile terminals in the network through southbound interface using OpenFlow protocol. Hence, there is no need of scanning and authentication process as in traditional handover process. This helps in reducing the discovery and association delay. However, if the AP is heavily loaded, the bandwidth allocation and the quality of service provided to the terminal degrade. Hence, the load of the AP should also be considered so as to provide the good quality of service to all the mobile terminals.

In this SDN-based AP load balancing handover mechanism, the information about the load on particular AP is gathered and sent to the controller via southbound interface. The controller has the information about all the flow in the network and has



Fig. 3 SDN-based AP load balancing handover mechanism

the global view of the network. Whenever the mobile terminal enters the overlapping area of the two APs, it gets request from both the APs for connection; however, the handover process is performed depending on the load present on each AP. In this mechanism, irrespective of the RSSI value the handover in overlapping area takes place only if the load on the other AP is less than that of the AP to which the mobile terminal is currently connected, or else the terminal remains connected to same AP. The flowchart of SDN-based AP load balancing handover mechanism is shown in Fig. 3, and the algorithm is as given below:

SDN-based AP load balancing handover algorithm:

- 1. Controller gathers information about load on AP via southbound interface.
- 2. When the terminal starts moving to the overlapping region, controller compares the load present on both APs
- 3. **if** APLoad (current AP) < 1 + APload (reference AP)

Reference AP over loaded Deny new terminal

No handover performed.

4. **else if** APLoad (current AP) > 1 + APload (reference AP):

Reference AP under loaded.

Send message of disassociation to current AP

To disconnect it Transfer terminal to new AP

5. Else:

No handoff

4 Experiment, Results and Analysis

To perform the experiments, a network emulator named mininet-wifi is used. Being an extended version of mininet, it supports Wi-Fi technology and adds functionality of virtualized Wi-Fi stations and access points. It is a Linux based with an ability to build a broad variety of network topologies with virtual hosts, switches and links. It has an inbuilt support for OpenFlow switches and so is widely used for experiments with software-defined network (SDN), providing reliable and consistent reports.

Case scenario 1:

This experimental setup consists of two APs which are OpenFlow-enabled and six mobile terminals which are associated with those APs, as shown in Fig. 4. All six stations are at static positions, initially only 1 station that is STA2 is associated with AP1, while all other five stations—STA1, STA3, STA4, STA5, and STA6—are associated with AP2. This makes AP2 overloaded. while AP1 is under loaded.

The aim of this experiment is to show the association of the station to one of the AP, when it is in the overlapping area of two APs. Association of the station to AP in the overlapping regions depends upon the handover mechanism used STA3 is moved from its initial position to the overlapping region using the "py sta3.setPosition" as



Fig. 4 Experimental scenario

shown in Fig. 5. When the handover mechanism used in the experimental setup is "SDN-based RSSI handover mechanism," STA3 remains associated with AP2, as the signal strength received from AP2 is strong than that of AP1. Figure 6 shows the association of STA3 after changing its position, command "sta3 iwconfig" is used to get the information about the connection of the station, and it shows that sta3-wlan0 is currently associated with AP2.



Fig. 5 Changed position of STA3



Fig. 6 Association of STA3

Implementation of an Efficient Handover Algorithm ...

```
😑 💿 root@DELL: /home/dell/mininet-wifi/examples
root@DELL:/home/dell/mininet-wifi/examples# python final1.py
   * Creating nodes
*** Configuring wifi nodes
*** Creating links
*** Starting network
*** Running CLI
*** Starting CLI:
mininet-wifi> py sta3.setposition("42,30,0")
'Station' object has no attribute 'setposition'
mininet-wifi> py sta3.setPosition("42,30,0")
mininet-wifi> sta3 iwconfig
10
           no wireless extensions.
sta3-wlan0 IEEE 802.11 ESSID:"ssid-ap1"
            Mode:Managed Frequency:2.412 GHz
                                                      Access Point: 02:00:00:00:06:00
            Bit Rate:1 Mb/s Tx-Power=1 dBm
            Retry short limit:7
                                      RTS thr:off
                                                       Fragment thr:off
            Encryption key:off
            Power Management:off
            Link Quality=70/70 Signal level=-36 dBm
Rx invalid nwid:0 Rx invalid crypt:0 Rx invalid frag:0
            Tx excessive retries:0 Invalid misc:0
                                                             Missed beacon:0
 ininet-wifi>
```

Fig. 7 Association of STA3

In other case, when "SDN based AP load balancing handover mechanism" is used, STA3 gets associated with AP1. Hence, even if sta3 is at same position as in Fig. 5, but because of AP load balancing mechanism used in this case, the station gets associated with AP1. Figure 7 shows the association of STA3 to AP1.

Case scenario 2:

The experimental setup is shown in Fig. 4; it consists of two APs which are OpenFlowenabled and six mobile terminals which are associated with those APs, as shown in figure. All six stations are at static positions, initially only 1 station that is STA2 is associated with AP1, while all other five stations—STA1, STA3, STA4, STA5, and STA6—are associated with AP2. This makes AP2 overloaded, while AP1 is overloaded.

In this experiment, out of six stations five stations STA1, STA2, STA3, STA4, and STA6 are kept at fixed position, while the STA5 is made to move from AP2 to AP21. The starting and ending points of station STA5 are set, and even the mobility time is set.

(a) TCP THROUHPUT:

A TCP connection is set in between station SAT2 and station STA5, the "iperf –s –p 5566 –t 50 -i 1" command is run at server station, and "iperf –c 10.0.0.2 –p 5566 –t 50" is run at the client station. The traffic is measured using the iperf command. To calculate the delay a ping was made from STA5 to STA2 using command "ping 10.0.0.2." the delay produced in the scenario results in the packet loss. The same procedure was followed in both handover mechanisms. As shown in Fig. 8, the total bandwidth allocated using SDN-based RSSI mechanism is 7.59 MBits/sec, while

😣 🖨 🗉 "Node: sta5"
root@DELL:/home/dell/mininet-wifi/examples# iperf -c 10.0.0.2 -p 5566 -t 50
Client connecting to 10.0.0.2, TCP port 5566 TCP window size: 85.3 KByte (default)
[24] local 10.0.0.5 port 43712 connected with 10.0.0.2 port 5566 [ID] Interval Transfer Bandwidth [24] 0.0-50.6 sec 45.8 MBytes 7.59 Mbits/sec root@DELL:/home/dell/mininet-wifi/examples#

Fig. 8 TCP connection report for SDN-RSSI mechanism



Fig. 9 TCP connection report for SDN-AP load mechanism

SDN-based AP load balancing mechanism provides 8.50 MBits/s which can be seen in Fig. 9.

Figure 10 shows the comparison between TCP throughput between both techniques. As the delay produced in the 2nd mechanism is less, the packet loss is also less in AP load balancing mechanism than that of RSSI mechanism.

(b) UDP THROUHPUT:

In this experiment, a UDP connection is set in between station SAT2 and station STA5, STA2 acts as server, while STA5 acts client. Again the traffic is measured using iperf command. Figures 11 and 12 show that bandwidth allocated is same in both methods; however, the jitter produced in AP load balancing mechanism is '0.016 ms' which is less than that of RSSI mechanism. Figure 12 shows the comparison between UDP throughputs of both techniques.

Performance metrics table (Table 1) compares both the handover mechanism; the table shows that the results obtained from AP load balancing handover mechanism when the terminal is moving from an overloaded AP to under loaded are better than RSSI handover mechanism (Fig. 13).



Fig. 10 TCP throughput comparison between handover mechanisms



Fig. 11 TCP connection report for SDN-RSSI mechanism

5 Conclusion

Two different SDN-based handover mechanisms are proposed and tested in the paper, the required experiment setup is built and tested in the mininet-wifi network emulator, comparison between the SDN-based RSSI handover mechanism and SDN-based AP handover mechanism is made, and analysis is done on different factors—transfer, bandwidth, jitter and packet loss.



Fig. 12 TCP connection report for SDN-AP load mechanism

Table 1 Performance metrics table	Metric	SDN based RSSI mechanism handover	SDN based AP load balancing mechanism handover
	Transfer	 TCP connection = 45.8 Mbytes UDP connection = 5.79 Mbytes 	 TCP connection = 51.2 Mbytes UDP connection = 5.78 Mbytes
	Bandwidth	 TCP connection = 7.59 Mb/s UDP connection = 970 kb/s 	 TCP connection = 8.50 Mb/s UDP connection = 970 kb/s
	Jitter	0.053 ms	0.016 ms
	Packet loss	14%	6%

In SDN-based RSSI handover mechanism, the station is associated with AP that provides the strongest signal compared to other AP and hence can result in getting low Quos when AP is overloaded. SDN-based AP handover mechanism tries to balance the load when AP is in overlapping region, thus ensuring good QoS to all stations.

From obtained results, we can say that SDN-based AP handover mechanism gives better result than SDN-based RSSI handover mechanism in terms of transfer, bandwidth, jitter and packet loss.



UDP THROUHTPUT COMPARISION

Fig. 13 UDP throughput comparison between handover mechanisms

References

- 1. R.Q. Hu, H. Hu, P. Mueller, Y Rui, H. Hwa Chen, Software defined wireless networks: part 1. IEEE Commun. Mag. **53**(11)
- 2. L. Galluccio, S. Costanzo, S. Pallazo, G. Morbito, Software defined wireless networks: SDWN: an evolvable architecture for W-PAN's, in 2015 IEEE 1st International Forum on Research and Technologies for Society and Industry Leveraging a better Tomorrow (RTSI)
- F. Hu, Q. Hao, K. Bao, A survey on software-defined network and OpenFlow: from concept to implementation. IEEE Commun. Surv. Tutor. 16(4) (2014)
- 4. R.R. Fontes, S.H.B. Brito, M.A.S. Santos, S. Afzal, C.E. Rothenberg, Mininet-WiFi: emulating software-defined wireless networks, in 2015 11th International Conference on Network and Service Management (CNSM) (2015)
- N. Sanghavi, R.S. Bansode, Improving IEEE 802.11 Wlan handoff latency by access pointbased modification. Glob. J. Comput. Sci. Technol. E Netw. Web Secur. 15(5), 37–40 (2015)
- 6. Y. Chan, The design of an AP-based handoff scheme for IEEE 802.11 WLANs. Int. J. e-Education, e-Bus. e-Manage. e-Learn. (2014)
- Y. Hu, Z.A. Arain, K. Nahida , C. Pan, C. Yin, I. Khan, Y. Zhang, G.M. Rahman, Handover based on AP load in software defined Wi-fi systems. J. Commun. Netw. 19(6) (2017)
- G. Yao, J.-N. Cao, J. Stebert, X. Liu, OppoScan: enabling fast handoff in dense 802.11 WMNs via opportunistic probing and virtual radio, in *14thIEEE International conFerence on Mobile*, *Adhoc and Sensors Systems* (2017)
- 9. B. Hang, X. Wen, Z. Lu, T. Lei, X. Zhao, A fast handoff scheme for ieee 802.11 networks using software defined networking, in 2016 19th International Symposium on Wireless Personal Multimedia Communications
- 10. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40534-013-0007-x
- Y. Fukuda, M. Honjo, Y. Oie, Development of access point selection architecture with avoiding interference for WLANs, in *Proceedings of IEEE PIMRC* (2006)

- 12. Handover based on AP load in software defined Wi-Fi system. J. Commun. Netw. **19**(6), 596–604 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1109/jcn.2017.000100
- 13. https://www.hindawi.com/journals/wcmc/2018/9246824/
A Novel Technique for the Design and Implementation of a 4 × 2 All Optical Encoder Using Micro-ring Resonator Switching Mechanism



Rakesh Choudhary, Sushanta Mahanty, and Ajay Kumar

1 Introduction

Optical waveguides and switching devices are the essential elements for the processing of signals in the optical domain. An all-optical communication system requires sending, processing, and receiving the signal in the optical domain only. It means, to make all-optical systems, the entire components that are used in the optical networks should be optical elements. The reason behind focusing more on optical communication technology is that it provides wider transmission capacity and longer transmission distance. All-optical signal processing has several other advantages also, e.g., parallel processing/computing, immunity to electromagnetic interference, very fewer transmission losses, compact design, and wider bandwidth. Several studies indicate that a large number of researchers are taking interest in the area of ultra-fast optical communication systems and also obtained very significant results. Optical logic gates play a very vital role in numerous optical signal processing operations like switching, decision-making, addressing, regeneration, multiplexing/demultiplexing, coding/decoding, and simple/complex computing. The concept of linear electro-optic effect which is also known as the 'Pockels effect' has been successfully employed by several researchers to design various optical combinational and sequential functionalities. According to the 'Pockels effect,' the refractive index of a material varies directly with the applied electric field across that material. Some common examples of materials that exhibit 'Pockels effect' are lithium niobate (LiNbO3) and gallium arsenide (GaAs). One of the optical devices constructed using lithium niobate substrate is Mach-Zehnder Interferometer (MZI) and it can work as a powerful optical switch by employing the concept of electro-optic effect.

e-mail: ajay.ece@nitjsr.ac.in

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_106

R. Choudhary (🖂) · S. Mahanty · A. Kumar

Department of Electronics & Communication Engineering, NIT Jamshedpur, Jamshedpur, India

A. Kumar

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1227

Further, various digital logic circuits either combinational or sequential can be implemented in the optical domain by properly cascading the required numbers of MZIs. An efficient method to achieve electro-optic switching using Mach–Zehnder interferometer and optical implementation of some digital logic gates using MZI has been explained in [1]. One excellent utilization of the Mach–Zehnder interferometer for constructing a 1×4 optical signal router is given in [2]. The semiconductor optical amplifier (SOA)-based MZI structure for the design and analysis of ultrafast alloptical XOR gate is explained in detail [3-5]. The detailed study and experimental implementation of Mach-Zehnder-based AND, Exclusive-OR/Exclusive-NOR logic gates [6], full adder & full subtractor [7], gray code converter and parity checker (even) [8], optical decoder circuit [9], and 4×2 optical encoder circuits [10] are very nicely explained. Another emerging technology in the area of ultrafast optical signal processing is photonic crystals. Photonic crystal devices consume very little power and at the same time, their operating speed is very high. These devices are getting much attention because of its low loss structure. An efficient technique to design OR and XOR gate using 2D photonic crystal reported in [11]. A new scheme to demonstrate a photonic crystal ring resonator-based optical encoder switch is explained in [12]. Another example of a 2D photonic crystal-based all-optical 4×2 encoder is nicely represented in [13]. The method to analyze photonic crystal ring resonator (hexagonal shaped) based on the all-optical encoder is described in [14]. Another concept which is playing a very important role in optical switching is micro-ring resonator (MRR). The switching mechanism of MRR and its utilization in designing the various logical functions is demonstrated in [15]. The concept of MRR-based switching action is efficiently used to design both combinational and sequential types of digital logic devices that are represented in [16-24]. In this article, initially, we have explained the efficient switching capability of micro-ring resonator (MRR) and then designed a novel 4×2 all-optical encoder based on this switching mechanism. Section 1 of this article explains about the relevant technical background and previous research works which has already been done related to our proposed design. Sect. 2 of the paper describes the theoretical part of micro-ring resonator (MRR) and how it can be implemented as an optical switch with detailed mathematical equations. Section 3 of the paper is a very important part of our research. Here, we explained about a new layout diagram of 4×2 optical encoder using cascaded arrangements of five similar types of ring resonators. After that the working principle of the proposed layout structure is theoretically explained and then this novel structure is experimentally verified by the MATLAB simulation software. Finally, in Sect. 4, we concluded our research work. In this way, we proved that the proposed design can be used as an all-optical 4×2 optical encoder using the switching phenomena of the micro-ring resonator. This article will be very useful for all the people exploring and doing research work in the domain of all-optical ultra-fast communication.

2 Basic Principle and Switching Mechanism of Micro-ring Resonator (MRR)

The principle underlying the optical ring resonators are the same as that of whispering galleries but unlike whispering galleries, ring resonators use the light signal and comply with the characteristics of light like total internal reflection and constructive interference. Micro-ring resonators (MRR) are a set of waveguides where minimum one is coupled in closed-loop to some light input and output. If the light signal from the input waveguide, having a resonant wavelength, travels through the loop then due to the property of constructive interference, it builds up in intensity over multiple round-trips which will appear at the output waveguide. The layout diagram of a micro-ring resonator is shown in Fig. 1.

In the MRR structure, the coupling between the ring and the input waveguide is always unidirectional. We can observe from the above figure that a total of three waveguides (two straight waveguides and one ring) has been used to construct the ring resonator diagram. The coupling coefficients between top waveguide & ring are denoted by k_1 and between ring & bottom waveguide is denoted by k_2 . The term 'r' is used to represent the radius of the ring. When the optical input signal of continuous nature is provided to the input port of MRR then some portion of this signal is transferred to the ring also due to the coupling effect. The constructive interference is being formed and the ring resonator is said to be 'On Resonance' if it satisfies the condition that the total effective path length of the ring will be multiple of the operating wavelength. As a result of this, periodic fringes will appear. The signal which is now rotating in the ring is also transferred to the drop port with a fraction of k_2 due to the coupling effect. Therefore, the drop port of MRR reflects maximum transmission in this condition and the ring exhibits minimum resonance through the



Fig. 1 Layout diagram of a single micro-ring resonator (MRR)

port. We can obtain the excellent optical switching if the MRR is designed using some nonlinear materials like gallium arsenide/aluminum gallium arsenide. Here, an effective refractive index is the function of the intensity of the light signal which is flowing in MRR. When the MRR is excited by applying the optical LASER signal from the top of the ring, carriers of high density will be generated due to the total absorption of the light signal. As a result of this, the refractive index is reduced by a significant amount which in turn leads to blue shift phenomena. Let us further assume the following parameters associated with the ring resonator structure: L denotes the circumference of the ring and it is equal to $2\pi r$, where 2r is the diameter of the ring. α denotes the attenuation coefficients of the ring, γ represents the insertion loss and kn denotes the wave propagation constant which is equal to $(2\pi/\lambda)n_{\rm eff}$ where λ is the resonant wavelength. $n_{\text{eff}} = n_0 + n_2 \cdot I = n_0 + \frac{n_2}{A_{\text{eff}}} P$, where $n_0 \& n_2$ are the linear and nonlinear refractive indexes, I & P are the intensity and power of the optical pump signal. The values of k_1 and k_2 are taken as 0. 25, attenuation coefficient (α) = 0. 0005 micro/meter, effective cross-sectional area = 0.25 micro/m^2 and the resonator wavelength as $\lambda = 1.55$ micro-meters. Again, let E_{i1} and E_{i2} are the field intensities of the input port and add the port of MRR. So, the through port (Et) and drop port (Ed) field intensity as derived in [21] is given as,

$$E_{t} = \frac{D\sqrt{1-k_{1}} - D\sqrt{1-k_{2}x^{2}}\exp^{2}(j\phi)}{1 - \sqrt{1-k_{1}}\sqrt{1-k_{2}x^{2}}\exp^{2}(j\phi)}E_{i1} + \frac{-D\sqrt{k_{1}k_{2}x}\exp(j\phi)}{1 - \sqrt{1-k_{1}}\sqrt{1-k_{2}x^{2}}\exp^{2}(j\phi)}E_{i2}$$
(1)

$$E_{d} = \frac{-D\sqrt{k_{1}k_{2}}x \exp(j\phi)}{1 - \sqrt{1 - k_{1}}\sqrt{1 - k_{2}}x^{2}\exp^{2}(j\phi)}E_{i1} + \frac{D\sqrt{1 - k_{1}} - D\sqrt{1 - k_{2}}x^{2}\exp^{2}(j\phi)}{1 - \sqrt{1 - k_{1}}\sqrt{1 - k_{2}}x^{2}\exp^{2}(j\phi)}E_{i2}$$
(2)

where $D = \sqrt{(1 - \gamma)}$, $x = D \exp\left(-\alpha \frac{L}{4}\right)$ and $\phi = \frac{k_n L}{2}$.

We can achieve the switching characteristics of the ring resonator by using the above equations and at the same time, these equations are very important for analyzing the cascaded structure of MRRs. The MATLAB simulation output of a single MRR as shown in Fig. 1 which depicts its switching action is shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2 Output characteristics curve of a micro-ring resonator (MRR) using MATLAB

3 Design of 4 × 2 All Optical Encoder Using Micro-Ring Resonator

3.1 Theory

The implementation of 4×2 all-optical encoders using micro-ring resonators is the main objective of our article. In Sect. 2, we have seen how an optical MRR can be used as a switching device. Here, we are using the switching capability of micro-ring resonator for designing the above-mentioned optical encoder. The combinational digital circuit that performs the reverse operation of the decoder is called an encoder. It has a 2n number of input lines and n number of output lines. It produces an active high binary code equivalent to the input combination. The enable signal is optional in an encoder, so it is not considered in our design. The block diagram, truth table, and gate-level diagram of a 4 to 2 encoder are shown in Fig. 3a–c.

The two outputs Y1 & Y0 of the encoder from Fig. 3b can be expressed as

$$Y_1 = I_2 + I_3$$

 $Y_0 = I_1 + I_3$

The gate-level implementation of the above logic function is shown in Fig. 3c.

The block diagram of a 4×2 all-optical encoder based on cascading ring resonators architecture is shown in Fig. 4. Here, we have used five identical micro-ring resonators, namely MRR1, MRR2, MRR3, MRR4, and MRR5 in cascaded mode. The cascading of all these MRRs has been done in such a way that it will produce two



Fig. 3 a Block diagram of 4×2 encoder. b Truth table of 4×2 encoder. c Gate level diagram of 4×2 Encoder

optical OR functionalities at the final output through-beam couplers I&II. The first optical OR functionality is obtained by using MRR2 & MRR3 and beam coupler-I, whereas second optical OR functionalities by MRR4 & MRR5 and beam coupler-II. In this diagram, the same control signal is applied to MRR2 & MRR4 for simplicity purposes. Both the OR functionalities are controlled by the MRR1. To excite this optical circuit, an optical signal of continuous nature (E_i) is provided at the input port of MRR1. The control LASER signal for this MRR is IO.

Now from the Boolean expressions of 4×2 encoder as described above, it is clear that for its implementation, we need to design two optical OR functionality. This is done through the proper combinations of MRR2 & MRR3 (First optical OR functionality) and MRR4 & MRR5 (Second optical OR functionality). In the first optical OR functionality, drop port output of first MRR acts as an input wave for MRR2, and drop port output of MRR2 acts as input wave for MRR3. These two ring resonators, i.e., MRR2 & MRR3 are controlled by the optical pulse trains **'I3'** and **'I2'**. The through port outputs of MRR2 & MRR3 is then passed through the



Fig. 4 The layout structure of 4×2 all-optical encoder based on micro-ring resonator

beam coupler-I and at the output of this coupler, we will obtain the first optical OR functionality (Y1 = I2 + I3). Similarly, for obtaining the second optical OR functionality, MRR4 & MRR5 are used. The same signal EdI0 is also provided as the input wave to MRR4 and its drop port signal will act as the input signal for MRR5. The optical control pump signals 'I3' and 'I1' are used to modulate the MRR4 and MRR5, respectively. Finally, the through port outputs of MRR4 & MRR5 are passed through beam coupler-II which in turn produces the second optical OR functionality (Y0 = I1 + I3).

3.2 Simulation and Results

In this section, we are going to explain the experimental results of the proposed 4×2 all-optical encoder obtained from MATLAB software. These experimental results are shown graphically for convenience. The MATLAB simulation for the proposed design (Fig. 4) is performed by considering the values of parameters and derived mathematical equations of MRR as mentioned in section-II. The detailed description of the principle of operation of 4×2 all-optical encoder, by considering all the four possible cases of truth table (Fig. 3b) along with the MATLAB outcomes is given as follows.



Fig. 5 MATLAB output of the proposed design for input combination (I3 = 0, I2 = 0, I1 = 0, & I0 = 1)

Case 1: When I3 = 0, I2 = 0, I1 = 0, and I0 = 1

We know that both the outputs of the proposed encoder will be equal to zero for the above-mentioned input combination. This condition can also be verified from Fig. 4 using MATLAB. As the control signal of the first MRR for the above case (I0) = 1 so, the applied input signal will be moved to its through port (EtI0) and its drop port (EdI0) will not have any signal. Since EdI0 is the input signal for the input ports of MRR2 & MRR4, therefore, no signal will be available at their through port. Again, as the pump signals I3 = 0, I2 = 0 & I1 = 0 therefore the through port outputs of MRR3 & MRR5 will also not have any signal. Hence the outputs of both the beam couplers I & II will be equal to zero (Y1 = 0 & Y0 = 0). The experimental output for the above condition is reflected in Fig. 5 where 1st & 2nd rows represent input & output combinations for case1.

Case 2: When I3 = 0, I2 = 0, I1 = 1, and I0 = 0

In this case, as control signal of first MRR (I0) = 0, therefore the applied input signal will be observed at its drop port (EdI0) only. From Fig. 4, it can be seen that the signal EdI0 is applied to the input sections of both optical OR functionalities. So, the signal EdI0 will activate both the optical OR functionalities for this case. Since the values of control signals for the 2nd & 3rd MRR (I3&I2) are zero therefore signal will not be available to their through ports (EtI3 & EtI2 = 0). As a result of this, the output of beam coupler—I will also be zero (Y1 = 0). Now in the 2nd OR functionality, applied input signal EdI0 will be directed to its drop port (EdI3) because I3 = 0. Further, the signal EdI3 will appear at through port of MRR5 (EtI1) because of the value of its control signal(I1) = 1. As EtI1 is high therefore the output of beam coupler-II will also be high (Y0 = 1). The MATLAB output for the above condition is reflected in Fig. 6.



Fig. 6 MATLAB output of the proposed design for input combination (I3 = 0, I2 = 0, I1 = 1, & I0 = 0)

Case 3: When I3 = 0, I2 = 1, I1 = 0, and I0 = 0

Similarly, if the applied control pulse I0 = 0 then we will get the applied input signal of MRR1 at its drop port (EdI0). As the value of control signal I3 = 0, through port outputs of 2nd and 4th MRRs will be equal to zero because the optical signal (EdI0) will appear to their drop ports. Now, as I2 = 1, so its input signal EdI3 will appear at EtI2 and its value will be high. Since EtI2 is one of the inputs to beam coupler-I, therefore its output will also be high (**Y1 = 1**). The output of beam coupler will be zero (**Y0 = 0**) because both I2 & I3 = 0. This condition is reflected graphically in Fig. 7 which is obtained from MATLAB.



Fig. 7 MATLAB output of the proposed design for input combination (I3 = 0, I2 = 1, I1 = 0, & I0 = 0)



Fig. 8 MATLAB output of the proposed design for input combination (I3 = 1, I2 = 0, I1 = 0, & I0 = 0)

Case 4: When I3 = 1, I2 = 0, I1 = 0, and I0 = 0

In this case, the applied input optical signal to MRR1 comes to its drop port (EdI0) because of pump signal I0 = 0. This signal (EdI0) is further applied to the input ports of MRR2 & MRR4 and as the values of control pulses I3 = 1, I2 = 0 & I1 = 0, so the optical signal will now appear at the through ports of both the ring resonators (MRR2 & MRR4) and no signal will be obtained to their drop ports. Thus, outputs of both the beam couplers will be equal to logic 1 (Y1 = 1 & Y0 = 0). The MATLAB output for the above condition is reflected in Fig. 8.

4 Conclusion

The proposed article illustrates the working principle of the MRR circuit and its application as an optical switch. The paper covers theoretical as well as mathematical derivations of optical ring resonator necessary for its switching phenomena and it is further verified using MATLAB simulation software. The switching activity of the ring resonator has been effectively utilized to design an optical encoder device in this paper. Five ring resonators in total are used here for the implementation of a 4×2 optical encoder. Finally, the proposed architecture has been verified using MATLAB simulation software. Therefore, for high-speed data communication system in the optical domain, this article will be very useful.

References

- S. Kumar, S.K. Raghuwanshi, A. Kumar, Implementation of optical switches using Mach-Zehnder interferometer. Opt. Eng. 52(9), 097106 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1117/1.oe.52.9. 097106
- S.K. Raghuwanshi, A. Kumar, S. Kumar, 1×4 signal router using three Mach-Zehnder interferometers. Opt. Eng. 52(3), 035002 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1117/1.oe.52.3.035002
- M. Zhang, Y. Zhao, L. Wang, J. Wang, P. Ye, Design and analysis of all-optical XOR gate using SOA-based Mach-Zehnder interferometer. Opt. Commun. 223(4–6), 301–308 (2003). https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0030-4018(03)01692-4
- T. Houbavlis, K.E. Zoiros, G. Kanellos, C. Tsekrekos, Performance analysis of ultrafast alloptical Boolean XOR gate using semiconductor optical amplifier-based Mach-Zehnder Interferometer. Opt. Commun. 232(1–6), 179–199 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optcom.2003. 12.062
- H. Han, M. Zhang, P. Ye, F. Zhang, Parameter design and performance analysis of a ultrafast all-optical XOR gate based on quantum dot semiconductor optical amplifiers in nonlinear mach-zehnder interferometer. Opt. Commun. 281(20), 5140–5145 (2008). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.optcom.2008.07.020
- A. Kumar, S. Kumar, S.K. Raghuwanshi, Implementation of XOR/XNOR and AND logic gates by using Mach-Zehnder interferometers. Optik (Stuttg) 125(19), 5764–5767 (2014). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijleo.2014.07.037
- A. Kumar, S. Kumar, S.K. Raghuwanshi, Implementation of full-adder and full-subtractor based on electro-optic effect in Mach-Zehnder interferometers. Opt. Commun. 324, 93–107 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optcom.2014.03.045
- A. Kumar, S.K. Raghuwanshi, Implementation of optical gray code converter and even parity checker using the electro-optic effect in the Mach-Zehnder interferometer. Opt. Quantum Electron. 47(7), 2117–2140 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11082-014-0087-9
- A. Pal, S. Kumar, S. Sharma, Design of optical decoder circuits using electro-optic effect inside Mach-Zehnder interferometers for high speed communication. Photonic Netw. Commun. 35(1), 79–89 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11107-017-0718-8
- A. Pal, S. Kumar, S. Sharma, S.K. Raghuwanshi, Design of 4 to 2 line encoder using lithium niobate based Mach Zehnder Interferometers for high speed communication, vol. 9889, pp. 1–6 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2225867
- A.P. Kabilan, X.S. Christina, P.E. Caroline, Photonic Crystal based all Optical OR and XOR Logic Gates, pp. 0–3 (2010)
- I. Ouahab, A novel all optical 4x2 encoder switch based on photonic crystal ring resonators. Opt. - Int. J. Light Electron Opt. (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijleo.2016.05.080
- F. Parandin, High contrast ratio all-optical 4 × 2 encoder based on two-dimensional photonic crystals. Opt. Laser Technol. 113(October 2018), 447–452 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. optlastec.2019.01.003
- G. Subhalakshmi, S. Robinson, Design of 4 * 2 Optical Encoder using Hexagonal Shaped Photonic Crystal Ring Resonator, vol. 4, no. June, pp. 4–8 (2018)
- J.K. Rakshit, T. Chattopadhyay, J.N. Roy, Design of ring resonator based all optical switch for logic and arithmetic operations—a theoretical study. Optik (Stuttg) 124(23), 6048–6057 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijleo.2013.04.075
- J.K. Rakshit, J.N. Roy, T. Chattopadhyay, All-optical XOR/XNOR logic gate using micro-ring resonators, in CODEC 2012—5th International Conference on Computers and Devices for Communication, vol. 3, pp. 3–6 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1109/CODEC.2012.6509327
- J.K. Rakshit, T. Chattopadhyay, J.N. Roy, Design of Micro Ring Resonator Basedall Optical Adder/Subtractor, vol. 1, no. January, pp. 32–43 (2013)
- G.K. Bharti, J.K. Rakshit, Micro-ring resonator based all optical reversible logic gates and its applications. Optoelectron. Adv. Mater. Rapid Commun. 13(1–2), 10–19 (2019)

- J.K. Rakshit, J.N. Roy, T. Chattopadhyay, Design of micro-ring resonator based all-optical parity generator and checker circuit. Opt. Commun. 303, 30–37 (2013). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.optcom.2013.03.025
- G.K. Bharti, J.K. Rakshit, Design of all-optical JK, SR and T flip-flops using micro-ring resonator-based optical switch. Photonic Netw. Commun. 35(3), 381–391 (2018). https://doi. org/10.1007/s11107-017-0754-4
- 21. A. Kumar, Application of micro-ring resonator as high speed optical gray code converter. Opt. Quantum Electron. **48**(10), 1–14 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11082-016-0737-1
- A. Kumar, M. Kumar, S.K. Jindal, S.K. Raghuwanshi, Implementation of all-optical active low/high tri-state buffer logic using the micro-ring resonator structures. Opt. Quantum Electron. 51(6), 1–18 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11082-019-1898-5
- A. Kumar, Implementation of all-optical NAND logic gate and half-adder using the micro-ring resonator structures. Opt. Quantum Electron. 48(10) (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11082-016-0747-z
- A. Kumar, S.K. Raghuwanshi, Implementation of some high speed combinational and sequential logic gates using micro-ring resonator. Optik (Stuttg) 127(20), 8751–8759 (2016). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijleo.2016.06.061

Design of Micro-ring Resonator Based All-Optical Half Adder Using 2–4 Line Decoder Circuit



Sushanta Mahanty, Rakesh Choudhary, and Ajay Kumar

1 Introduction

The modern era communication technology focused on innovative and optimum methodology to improve the communication system. Implementation of digital computing phenomena is one of the most important aspects, which includes some added advantages of the optics. Many researchers have achieved an accurate switching activity, where the switching activities are further utilized to explore the concepts of various combinational and sequential activities. In many cases, the idea of linear electro-optic effect (EO), i.e. (Pockels effect) is applied for the improved switching activity. One of the concepts of signal selectivity in the form of 1×4 optical signal router is discussed in [1]. The paper discusses an outline of the integrated optical signal router based on the concept of the EO effect. Similarly, many researchers have employed the optical interferometer circuits, which is a combination of optical couplers and optical delay devices, which are a common element employed in all-optical devices [2–4]. Based on the EO effect and proper feedback mechanism, the implementation of optical sequential circuits is investigated [5]. Using the principle of linear EO effect, some work has been explored to observe some combinational logical phenomena. Using the concept of Pockels effect, the concept associated with basic logic gate some of the combinational logic circuits such as optical code converter and even parity checker, optical adder, and subtractor [6–8], optical universal logic gates, and some MOEMS pressure sensors [9] are widely investigated. However, all the switching activities associated with [1, 5-9]are based on the concept of the EO effect, where the semiconductor optical amplifier (SOA) has not been used for the implementation of logical functionality. In the same

A. Kumar

e-mail: ajay.ece@nitjsr.ac.in

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_107

S. Mahanty (🖂) · R. Choudhary · A. Kumar

Department of Electronics and Communication Engineering, NIT Jamshedpur, Jamshedpur, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1239

manner, many researchers are also involved with some other techniques to implement the function of sequential logic. The implementation and performance of sequential circuits have been studied in [10]. A novel design of some all-optical combinational circuits that can be involved for the functions implementing more than single value logic is described in [11]. In a similar manner, A simple and novel scheme presented (XGM) effect in wideband SOA-based Mach-Zehnder interferometer having a feedback loop for all-optical sequential circuits such as flip flop, shift registers have a quick response, having very low complexity has been investigated in [12-18]. The design of sequential circuits based on (SOA-MZI) for two stable states is reported by phase-shifting of MZI arms. In the same manner, [15] have been explored a novel all-optical T-flip-flop implemented using an element of single-optical latching consisting of an integrated (SOA-MZI), and feedback loop. In our proposed work, it has been described as an approach to realize the all-optical HA using a 2-4 line decoder circuit. In Sect. 1, we discussed the introduction of earlier relevant works associated with the technology, and Sect. 2 designates the important mathematical formulations behind MRR based switching phenomenon. In Sect. 3, we designed and analyzed the techniques to implement the half adder using a 2-4 line decoder circuit with its complete layout diagram. The discussed schemes are verified and simulated using MATLAB. Finally, we describe the conclusion in Sect. 4.

2 Micro-Ring Resonator (MRR)

The MRR is one of the optical switching devices, most of the researchers for the switching phenomenon in the optical domain are focused on the coupling principle between the I/O optical waveguide and the optical ring resonator. For that MRR comprises the optical ring resonator, i.e. the mechanism based on the resonator cavity. A portion of continuous-wave signal or logical data is permitted to transmit to the ring resonator, Fig. 1 shows the details. k_1 is the coupling coefficient of the input optical waveguide with the optical ring resonator, and r is the radius of the optical ring resonator. It has been observed that the positive interference may have occurred, if it is the total optical path length is a multiple of wavelengths. The positive interference in MRR is known as 'ON RESONANCE'. So the output port of the MRR provides fringes periodic in nature. The coupling coefficient of the optical ring resonator with the output optical waveguide is k_2 . The developed wave inner ring is coupled to the output port provides the maximum transmission in drop ports.

As a result, the through ports have minimum resonance. For the proper switching activity, the nonlinear substantial has been used to produce the resonance. By applying the proper light amplitude, through the ring resonator from the top of the ring excitation is observed in the optical ring, and the effective index is varied. And finally, the refractive index may comparable decrease due to high-density carrier generated from the total absorption of intensity, which makes the blue-shift phenomenon, momentarily for the particular micro-resonance wavelengths. Different resonant wavelength occurs due to variation in the refractive index (R.I.) then this



Fig. 1 Single micro-ring resonator

phenomenon is used as switching activity for ON or OFF for a signal. Considering *L* is the circumference of the optical ring. k_1 is the coupling coefficient of the input optical waveguide with the optical ring resonator, whereas coupling coefficient of the optical ring resonator with the output optical waveguide is k_2 , intensity attenuation coefficients of the optical ring is α , γ is the intensity insertion loss coefficients and wave propagation constant is k_n , where $k_n = \frac{2\pi}{\lambda} n_{\text{eff}}$, the resonant wavelength of the ring is $\lambda . n_{\text{eff}} = n_0 + n_2 . I = n_0 + \frac{n_2}{A_{\text{eff}}} P$, where n_0 is linear R.I. and n_2 are nonlinear R.I. in an optical pump, signal intensity is *I*, and power is denoted by *P*. Let us consider E_{i1} is input port field and E_{i2} is the add port field. In the optical ring, the field at different points named as a, b, c, and d are E_{ra}, E_{rb}, E_{rc} , and E_{rd} , respectively, can be written as [13, 19, 20],

$$E_{ra} = (1 - \gamma)^{1/2} \left[j \sqrt{k_1} E_{i1} + \sqrt{(1 - k_1)} E_{rd} \right]$$
(1)

$$E_{rb} = E_{ra} \exp(-\alpha L/4) \exp(jk_n L/2)$$
(2)

$$E_{rc} = (1 - \gamma)^{1/2} \left[j \sqrt{k_2} E_{i2} + \sqrt{(1 - k_2)} E_{rb} \right]$$
(3)

$$E_{rd} = E_{rc} \exp(-\alpha L/4) \exp(jk_n L/2)$$
(4)

The through port field is given by

$$E_t = (1 - \gamma)^{1/2} \left[\sqrt{(1 - k_1)} E_{i1} + j \sqrt{k_1} E_{rd} \right]$$
(5)

The drop port field is given by

$$E_d = (1 - \gamma)^{1/2} \left[\sqrt{(1 - k_2)} E_{i2} + j \sqrt{k_2} E_{rb} \right]$$
(6)

For the generalization, it is assumed,

$$D = (1 - \gamma)^{1/2}, \quad x = D \exp\left(-\alpha \frac{L}{4}\right) \text{ and } \phi = \frac{k_n L}{2}$$

By solving Eqs. (1)–(6), we develop the E_t (TP) and the E_d (DP) field as:

$$E_{t} = \frac{D\sqrt{1-k_{1}} - D\sqrt{1-k_{2}x^{2}}\exp^{2}(j\phi)}{1-\sqrt{1-k_{1}}\sqrt{1-k_{2}x^{2}}\exp^{2}(j\phi)}E_{i1} + \frac{-D\sqrt{k_{1}k_{2}x}\exp(j\phi)}{1-\sqrt{1-k_{1}}\sqrt{1-k_{2}x^{2}}\exp^{2}(j\phi)}E_{i2}$$
(7)
$$E_{d} = \frac{-D\sqrt{k_{1}k_{2}x}\exp(j\phi)}{1-\sqrt{1-k_{1}}\sqrt{1-k_{2}x^{2}}\exp^{2}(j\phi)}E_{i1} + \frac{D\sqrt{1-k_{1}} - D\sqrt{1-k_{2}x^{2}}\exp^{2}(j\phi)}{1-\sqrt{1-k_{1}}\sqrt{1-k_{2}x^{2}}\exp^{2}(j\phi)}E_{i2}$$
(8)

The generalized equations E_t and E_d are the key terms for switching activity in ring resonator and helps in various design and analysis for any combinational and sequential logic circuits. It also assists to design the cascaded ring resonator. The cascaded structure for GaAs-AlGaAs based MRR is done having a wavelength (λ) for the COS input and having without any input in add port. Considering coupling coefficient $K_s = 0.25$, (α) = 0.0005 μ m⁻¹, effective cross-sectional area = 0.25 μ m² and the $\lambda = 1.55 \mu$ m.

3 Design of All-Optical Half Adder Using 2: 4 Line Decoder Circuit Using the MRR Structure

In the data transmission system, binary data is transmitted from source to destination, the decoder plays an important role in secure transmission when the transmitter has to transmit the data over a multiple output path the function of the decoder is to select any one of the paths and the rest are disabled. Therefore, it is necessary to know the status of data at the receiver end which path carries the transmitted data. In other words, the receiver should be able to know whether the received information is appearing or not. To detect such type of occurrence, a decoder is one of the combinational circuits in digital communication is shown in Fig. 2. And truth table of the 2:4 line decoders is presented in Table 2. As our objective in this paper is confined with the design of



a two-bit adder (HA) using 2:4 line decoder part only so, the truth table of an HA and 2:4 line decoder are represented in Tables 1 and 2, respectively.

Figure 2 shows the logical diagram of 2:4 decoders where it is supposed to help the design of HA. Now, the suitable layout diagram describing the all-optical implementation of half adder/subs tractor using 2:4 decoders using the 3 identical MRR structures. Figure 3 explores the basic layout of all-optical HA/HS using 2:4 decoders using the proper layout of three identical MRR structure. In the input port E_i of MRR1 (COS) of wavelength (λ) = 1.55 µm is applied. In the all-optical HA circuit addition of two single-bit binary numbers (A, B) and gives results in two single-bit binary output, represented as sum (S) and carry (C_{out}). The implementation of HA circuit using the 2–4 line decoder and beam coupler, MRR based optical switch is shown in Fig. 3. Maximum possibilities of the two variables (A, B) the four output terminals

Input		Output		
Α	B	Sum (S)	Carry (C _{out})	
0	0	0	0	
0	1	1	0	
1	0	1	0	
1	1	0	1	

Table 1 Truth table of half adder

Α	В	<i>D</i> 0	D1	D2	D3
0	0	1	0	0	0
0	1	0	1	0	0
1	0	0	0	1	0
1	1	0	0	0	1

 Table 2
 Truth table of 2:4 line decoders



Fig. 3 The layout of all-optical HA/HS using 2:4 decoders using the 3 identical MRR structures

(D0-D3) one of the four outputs is obtained. All four possible cases are described in detail below.

Case-1: when the optical light comes from the COS is applied to the input port of MRR1. Here, in this case A = 0, B = 0; pumped signal (*A*) is in a low state; the light appears at the drop port of MRR1 and forwarded to the input of MRR 3. At the same time, pumped signal (*B*) is also in a low state; the signal propagates the same theory and goes to the drop port of MRR 3. As a result, light beam appears at the output *D*0. So here, in this case, the output *D*0 is in a high state (logic one), and the rest output nodes are in a low state (logic zero). The output of *D*0 after passing through the beam coupler appears at the logical sum (*S*) as well as carry (C_{out}) for the all-optical HA unit. Hence, here we observed, S = '0' and $C_{out} = '0'$.

Case-2: A = 0, B = 1; Similarly, when MRR1 pumped signal (A) is a low state, and MRR 3 pumped signal (B) is a high state, the light appears at the drop port of MRR1 and goes to the input port of MRR 3. At the same time, pumped signal B is a logic high state; the signal propagates and goes through port of MRR 3. As a result, light beam appears at the output D1. So here, in this case, the output D1 is in a high state (logic one), and the rest output nodes are in a low state (logic zero). The output of D1 after passing through the beam coupler appears at the logical sum (S) as well as

carry (C_{out}) for the all-optical HA unit. Hence, here we observed, S = '1' and $C_{out} = '0'$.

Case-3: A = 1, B = 0; Similarly, when MRR1 pumped signal (A) is a high state and MRR 2 pumped signal (B) is a low state, the light appears at the through port of MRR1 and goes to the input port of MRR 2. At the same time, pumped signal B is low state; the signal propagates goes to drop port of MRR 2. As a result light beam appears at the output D2. So here, in this case, the output D2 is in a high state (logic one), and the rest output nodes are in a low state (logic zero). The output of D2 after passing through the beam coupler appears at the logical sum (S) as well as carry (C_{out}) for the all-optical HA unit. Hence, here we observed, S = '1' and C_{out} = '0'.

Case-4: A = 1, B = 1; Similarly, when MRR1 pumped signal (A) is a high state and MRR 2 pumped signal (B) is also in a high state, firstly the light appears at the through port of MRR1 and forwarded to the input port of MRR 2. At the same time, pumped signal B is also in the high state; the signal propagates and goes through port of MRR 2. As a result, light beam appears at the output D3. So here, in this case, the output D3 is in a high state (logic one), and the rest output nodes are in a low state (logic zero). The output of D3 after passing through the beam coupler appears at the logical sum (S) as well as carry (C_{out}) for the all-optical HA unit. Hence, here we observed, S = '0' and $C_{out} = '1'$.

Finally, the proposed structure is simulated using MATLAB software. Using Eqs. (7) and (8), the appropriate simulated result using MATLAB is as follow.

Figure 4 shows the suitability of the proposed MRR based HA using a 2:4 line decoder circuit. In Fig. 4a, 2:4 line decoder represents the different combinations of optical input bit sequences A, B where the bit sequences acquire the value from 00, 01, 10, and 11. The first-row of Fig. 4a input of AB is 00, in the third-row reflects the input of AB is 01, in the fifth-row of Fig. 4a input of AB is 10, and in the seventh-row input of AB is 11 the corresponding 2:4 decoder outputs are shown in the second-row where decoder output appears in D0 and rest of the outputs ports are at a logic low level, similarly in fourth-row, where decoder output appears in D1 and rest of the outputs ports, are at a logic low level, in the sixth-row we observe where decoder output appears in D2 and rest of the outputs ports are at a logic low level and finally in the eighth row, where decoder output appears in D3 and rest of the outputs ports, are at logic low level, respectively. In Fig. 4b, we observed that for the all possible two-bit combinations of inputs AB in half adder, e.g. 00, 01, 10, and 11 respective output comes from the D0, D1, D2, and D3 are generated and finally, the half adder outputs are collected from the beam coupler as sum and carry Fig. 4a, b describes the corresponding optical equivalent of 2:4 line decoder and half adder.



Fig. 4 a, b Simulated result using MATLAB for the proposed half adder using 2:4 line decoder circuit



Fig. 4 (continued)

4 Conclusion

The paper shows some useful applications of the MRR structure for designing as well as implements the all-optical proposed HA using 2:4 line decoder circuit. In the paper, we have represented a detailed discussion about the single micro-ring resonator arrangement with all the device and simulation parameters. The proper structure of the optimum number of micro-ring resonator arrangements provides the layout of the proposed HA using 2:4 line decoder circuit. The conventional truth table of proposed all-optical half adder using 2 to 4 line decoder circuits are being verified with the MATLAB simulation results. The paper involves some optimistic approaches to implement some digital circuits, e.g. the HA using 2:4 line decoder circuit in the domain of optical communication. Finally, the discussed

scheme serves some added advantage in the field of optical communications, e.g. miniature size, secure signal transmission, greater bandwidth, etc. Hence, for the ultra-speed communication systems, the proposed scheme can be preferable.

References

- S.K. Raghuwanshi, A. Kumar, S. Kumar, 1×4 signal router using 3 Mach-Zehnder interferometers. Opt. Eng. (SPIE) 52(3), 035002 (2013)
- L.F. Stokes, M. Chodorow, H.J. Shaw, All single-mode fiber resonator. Opt. Lett. 7(6), 288–290 (1982)
- 3. B. Moslehi, Fiber-optic lattice signal processing. Proc. IEEE 72(7), 909-930 (1984)
- K.P. Jackson, G. Xiao, H.J. Shaw, Coherent optical fiber delay line processor. Electron. Lett 22(5), 1335–1337 (1986)
- S.K. Raghuwanshi, A. Kumar, N.K. Chen, Implementation of a sequential logic circuit using the Mach-Zehnder interferometer based on electro-optic effect. Opt. Commun. 333, 193–208 (2014)
- A. Kumar, S. Kumar, S.K. Raghuwanshi, Implementation of XOR/XNOR and AND logic gates using Mach-Zehnder interferometers. Optik 125, 5764—5767 (2014)
- A. Kumar, S.K. Raghuwanshi, Implementation of optical gray code converter and even parity checker using the electro-optic effect in the Mach-Zehnder interferometer structure. Opt. Quant. Electron. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11082-014-0087-9
- A. Kumar, S. Kumar, S.K. Raghuwanshi, Implementation of full adder and full-subtractor based on electro-optic effect in Mach-Zehnder interferometers. Opt. Commun. 324, 93–107 (2014)
- S.K. Jindal, S.K. Raghuwanshi, A. Kumar, Realization of MOEMS pressure sensor using Mach Zehnder interferometer. J. Mech. Sci. Technol. 29(9), 3831–383 (2015)
- W. Li, S. Ma, H. Hu, N.K. Dutta, All-optical latches using the quantum-dot semiconductor optical amplifier. Opt. Commun. 285, 5138–5143 (2012)
- T. Chattopadhyay, J.N. Roy, A.K. Chakraborty, Polarization encoded all quaternary R-S flipflop using a binary latch. Opt. Commun. 282, 1287–1293 (2009)
- 12. S. Kaur, R.S. Kaler, All-optical SR and D flip-flop employing XGM effect in semiconductor optical amplifier. Optik **125**, 865–869 (2014)
- R. Clavero, F. Ramos, J.M. Martinez, J. Martie, All-optical flip-flop based on a single SOA-MZI. IEEE Photon. Technol. Lett. 17(4), 843–845 (2005)
- T. Chattopadhyay, C. Reis, P. Andre, A. Teixeira, Theoretical analysis of all-optical clocked D flip-flop using a single SOA assisted symmetric MZI. Opt. Commun. 283, 2506–2517 (2012)
- P. Bakopoulos, K. Vyrsokinos, D. Fitsios, T. Alexoudi, D. Apostolopoulos, H. Avramopoulos, A. Millou, N. Pleros, All-optical T-flip flop using a single SOA-MZI based latching element. IEEE Photon. Technol. Lett. 24(9), 748–750 (2012)
- T. Chattopadhyay, J.N. Roy, Design of SOA-MZI based all-optical programmable logic device (PLD). Opt. Commun. 283, 2506–2517 (2010)
- 17. X. Yang, Q. Weng, W. Hu, High speed all-optical long-term memory using SOA-MZIs: simulation and experiment. Opt. Commun. **285**, 4043–4047 (2012)
- T. Chattopadhyay, C. Reis, P. André, A. Teixeira, Theoretical analysis of all-optical clocked D flip-flop using a single SOA assisted symmetric MZI. Opt. Commun. 285(9), 2266–2275 (2012)
- 19. J.K. Rakshit, T. Chattopadhyay, J.N. Roy, All-optical clocked D flip flop using single micro-ring resonator, in *International Conference on Fiber Optics and Photonics (OSA)* (2012)
- A. Kumar, S.K. Raghuwanshi, Implementation of some high speed combinational and sequential logic gates using micro-ring resonator. Optik 127, 8751–8759 (2016)

Image Restoration of Landslide Photographs Using SRCNN



Amrita Mohan, Ramji Dwivedi, and Basant Kumar

1 Introduction

In the last, few years CNN and deep learning-based algorithms have build-up power to solve different machine learning (ML) problems, and also, research areas related to computer vision are benefited. The most frequently used framework is the SRCNN, which manifest the application of deep learning knowledge to enhance images. The task of attaining a high-resolution image from the low-resolution image is referred to as Image Super-Resolution [1]. In many research areas, there has been a requirement for high-resolution images so that they can be utilized with various state-of-theart deep learning algorithms to perform object detection and image classification in different domain. The term high resolution signifies more pixel information that can be extracted from images. The two main reasons for the need for resolution enhancement of landslide photographs: (i) To improve the performance of deep learning-based algorithms by using the concept of data labelling. (ii) Enhancement of landslide-related information in the photograph for individual analysis.

Initially, the term SRCNN was proposed by *C. Dong* et al. having several tempting properties. The proposed deep CNN has lightweight structure, fast speed and also have the state-of-the-art image restoration capabilities. Different types of parameter settings and network structures are examined, achieving trade-offs between speed and performance [1]. The term super-resolution [2] aims to retrieve high-resolution image from a specific poor resolution image.

Reconstructed-SRCNN was implemented by *C. M ward* et al., and three parameters, i.e. BRISQUE, SSIM and PSNR, were applied to the image, and it is concluded that expected image was reconstructed by SRCNN successfully [3].

A comprehensive review of super-resolution reconstruction methodology for remote sensing images, several categories for super-resolution, along with challenges

A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_108

A. Mohan (🖂) · R. Dwivedi · B. Kumar

MNNIT Allahabad, Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1249

Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777,

associated with remote sensing images is given in [4]. Techniques suggested by [4] include interpolation-based super-resolution (SR), probability theory-based SR and learning-based SR.

Exhaustive literature of SR implementation methods with challenges associated with its implementation and various techniques to implement SR of an image with details along with comparative analysis of technologies is presented in [5].

For improving the spatial-resolution of remote sensing images, a new single image-SR method was implemented, i.e. DGANet-ISE (deep gradient-aware network with image-specific enhancement) by *M*. *Qin* et al. The proposed method was applied to remote sensing images generating significant results. It is also concluded that the proposed method is superior in terms of a visual and quantitative context [6].

Performance evaluation parameters, open-source datasets, along with three significant categories of super-resolution, i.e. supervised, unsupervised and domain-specific SR methods, are presented in [7]. A detailed survey on existing deep learning-based super-resolution methods along with the remark that the state-of-the-art methods still has certain limitations, restricting their use in real-world scenarios is given in [8].

A software algorithm is proposed by *P. Li* et al. for enhancement of image resolution by considering faulty sub-pixel matching. The proposed algorithm can reduce the effect of matching error dramatically and has good stability [9]. To achieve the super-resolution (SR) reconstruction of images, a new method is proposed by *N. Sun & H. Li*. The proposed method is validated using the publicly available online dataset, and it is also analysed that the proposed method has a powerful effect on PSNR and MSE. It is revealed after analysis that the proposed method is suitable for obtaining a high-quality image, and it performs better as compared to a single deep learning-based algorithm and traditional approaches [10].

Self-learning method for image super-resolution is proposed by using sparse representation [11]. The leverage of the proposed method is that it utilizes information related to the input image for training LR/HR dictionaries. Results of the proposed methods reveal that it regenerates the details and high-frequency information with satisfying accuracy [11].

Discrete contrast enhancement ranging from traditional to the new innovative method will be given by [12]. Also, 2D-based image enhancement method is proposed while preserving the mean brightness up to some degree.

1.1 DIP Based Resolution Improvement Approaches

In the field of image processing, the most common method of low-level image processing is "Resolution Improvement". The main objective of the resolution of an image is to enhance the visual debut of an image. Images like aerial and satellite images in remote sensing domain, medical images may endure from standard and low contrast [13]. Image enhancement method can be categorized into two main categories: (I) Spatial Domain, (II) Frequency Domain [13].

- (I) Spatial Domain [14]: The term "spatial domain" means an accumulation of pixels constituting an image. Methods of the spatial domain directly perform on the image pixel, i.e. image pixels are manipulated directly [14]. It is further classified into subcategories:
- (a) Histogram equalization [14]: It is the most essential part image processing method. It can be applied either on the whole image or any particular part of an image resulting in improved visualization [14].
- (b) Image Smoothing [14]: The main objective of this method is to reduce the effects like noise generated form camera, missing digital numbers, specious pixel values, etc. [14]. There are many techniques exist or image smoothing, neighbourhood averaging, etc.
- (c) Image Sharpening [14]: The fundamental purpose of this method is to feature fine details present in the image or details that are blurred due to noise and another type of effects. In this method, high-frequency components are enhanced, implying that spatial filter having high positive feature at the central position [14].
- (d) High Boost Filtering [13, 14]: It is a sharpening operator used in the image processing domain. It is applied for amplification of high-frequency components in the image. The amplification of an image is accomplished with a process which subtracts a low-pass filter image from the scaled input image [14, 15].
- (II) Frequency Domain [14, 15]: In this type of method, Fourier transformation of the image is calculated first, after that obtained result is multiplied by the filter, then inverse transform of the image is taken for producing the enhanced image [14]. Further, it is classified in the following classes:
- (a) Low Pass Filter (LPF) [15]: It removes high-frequency components and keeps low-frequency components. LPF is used for image smoothing, and it is achieved by constricting high-frequency component and preserving low-frequency components [14]. Mathematically mechanism is expressed as [14]:

$$G(U, V) = H(U, V).F(U, V)$$
(1)

where F(U, V) is Fourier transformation of the image and H(U, V) is Fourier transform of filtering mask.

(b) High Pass Filter (HPF) [14, 16]: This filter removes low-frequency component keeping high-frequency components. It is applied to image sharpening. This type of filter is achieved by attenuating low-frequency components while retaining high-frequency components [14]. It is written as [14]:

$$H(U, V) = 1 - H'(U, V)$$
 (2)

where H(U, V) is Fourier transform of high pass filter and H'(U, V) is Fourier transform of low-pass filter.

(c) Band Pass Filter (BPF) [14]: It keeps frequencies of constrain range and removes the very low and the very high-frequency components. It is also utilized for edge enhancement reducing the noise at the same time.

This paper presents a deep learning-based advanced method for resolution improvement of landslide photographs using the current state-of-the art approach, i.e. SRCNN. To attain this objective, the SRCNN is expanded using Keras. The newly implemented deep CNN-based SRCNN has the capability to perform sequential mapping ranging from low-resolution landslide image to high-resolution landslide image.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: Section 2 is a description of the dataset used. Section 3 introduces the methodology adopted by SRCNN algorithm. Section 4 includes results, table and performance evaluation parameters of SRCNN algorithm on landslide images. Section 5 is the conclusion summarizing findings in the proposed work.

2 Dataset Used

The dataset used in this research work has been freely downloaded from the available search engines (Bing, Google) and other sources. A python script is implemented for downloading landslide data from Bing and Google search engines. A huge number of images are downloaded from these sources, and some specific images that belong to particular terrain having landslides were manually selected by visual inspection to identify those photos which are most representative for landslides in the hilly region. It can be seen that most landslide images include mountains, having vegetation cover, landscapes, forests, roads and other man-made objects. At the same time, during the selection of representative landslide photos, the scene completeness, i.e. a variety of object types, landslide in the specific hilly region was considered. For example, side-view of any particular cliff with landslide was excluded, and landslides that only represents mud were excluded. Landslide belonging to particular terrain, having vegetation, waterbody, buildings, etc., was kept. On the other side images that are completely irrelevant (for ex: ads, book cover pages), post-hazard resilience images without the specific landslide (like diggers, peoples, rescue team), flooding photographs and images with extreme small sizes were also discarded while preparing training datasets.

The total number of 30 landslide photographs is used with pre-trained model. In the proposed work, the number of training images is 22, and testing is 10 along with pre-trained weights of SRCNN.

3 Methodology

The pre-trained SRCNN model involves three convolutional layers with activation function: (a) Convolved Feature/Patch Extraction and Representation: having filter size 9×9 , (b) Multidimensional Scaling with the spatial filter of size 1×1 and (c) Reconstruction from high-resolution patches with the spatial filter of size 5×5 , respectively. The input image used with SRCNN is a bilinear interpolation image of a low-resolution landslide image. The first layer in pre-trained SRCNN extracts feature (patches) and representation of low-resolution landslide images. The second convolutional layer maps the feature map with n_1 dimension, having several patches to n_2 dimension making a multidimensional scaling or nonlinear mapping. For mapping, the number of patches depends on the filter size of the second CNN layer. Then the last layer is responsible for the reconstruction of the desired HR image from HR patches. Therefore, it is concluded that SRCNN mainly serves two purposes: (i) Transferring input image to end layer and (ii) Reconstruction of residuals.

Workflow:

- (i) Pre-processing: We have some landslide photographs as shown in Fig. 1; low-resolution version of these landslide photographs is achieved by resizing using OpenCV. Several approaches exist for resizing images; in the proposed work, bilinear interpolation is used.
- (ii) **Patch Extraction**: Set of feature maps extracted, i.e. feature maps 1 and 2 as shown in the Fig. 2 from low-resolution landslide photograph.
- (iii) **Non-Linear Mapping**: In this step, feature map depicting low-resolution to high-resolution patches is mapped.
- (iv) **Reconstruction**: High-resolution landslide photograph is produced from high-resolution patches as shown in Figs. 2 and 3.

Steps (ii)–(iv) can be considered as a convolutional layer in a CNN that obtain the pre-processed landslide photographs from above step 1 and results in high-resolution (HR) landslide image. The SRCNN structure consists of three convolutional layers [1]:



Fig. 1 Sample images used with SRCNN



Fig. 2 Workflow diagram for SRCNN



Fig. 3 Sample images used with SRCNN

Input Landslide Photograph: Low-resolution landslide photograph upsampled to desired high-resolution landslide photograph, C channels (the colour component of the landslide photograph).

Layer 1: Patch or Feature Extraction:

- Filter n_1 , having size $c \times f_1 \times f_1$
- ReLU (Rectified Linear Unit): Nonlinear activation function
- Output: Feature Map 1
- Parameters to enhance: $c \times f_1 \times f_1 \times n_1$ weights and n_1 biases.

Layer 2: Nonlinear mapping:

• Filter n_2 , having size $n_1 \times f_2 \times f_2$

11.5 6									
Image	PSNR		MSE		SSIM				
	Degraded	Improved	Degraded	Improved	Degraded	Improved			
Image 1	31.14	32.40	149.94	112.13	0.81	0.87			
Image 2	26.56	26.95	430.46	393.25	0.78	0.81			
Image 3	25.51	26.96	547.79	391.94	0.72	0.82			
Image 4	28.69	29.84	263.17	201.97	0.77	0.83			
Image 5	23.96	24.38	782.06	710.02	0.72	0.77			
Image 6	24.81	25.32	643.27	571.85	0.75	0.79			

Table 1 PSNR, MSE and SSIM after applying SRCNN

- ReLU: Nonlinear activation function
- Output: Feature Map 2
- The parameter to enhance: $n_1 \times f_1 \times f_1 \times n_2$ weights and n_2 biases.

Layer 3: Reconstruction of Image:

- The single filter of size $n_2 \times f_3 \times f_3$
- Identity: Activation function
- Output: High-resolution image
- Parameters to optimize: $n_2 \times f_3 \times f_3 \times c$ weights and *c* biases.
- In the next step, importing required packages and libraries and printing them with their versions forex. Keras, cv2, matplotlib, skimage, etc.
- Exemplify the performance metrics, i.e. PSNR, MSE and SSIM. Essential functions are also defined to calculate the three metrics. SSIM is directly specified from "sci-kit library". For PSNR and MSE, own function is defined.
- Building and deploying SRCNN model in Keras. The architectural detail and hyperparameter can be obtained from reference [1].
- After applying SRCNN approach to the input landslide images, PSNR, MSE and SSIM are calculated for degraded and high-resolution landslide image as shown in Table 1.

4 Performance Evaluation Metrics and Results

For evaluation model performance, following image quality metrics are used:

(i) *PSNR (Peak Signal to Noise Ratio)* [17]: It is the ratio between the highest possible power of an image and the power of corrupting noise that affects the image quality representation. It is given as:

$$\mathbf{PSNR} = 20 \log_{10} \left(\frac{\mathbf{MAX}_I}{\sqrt{\mathbf{MSE}}} \right)$$
(3)

where MAX_I the maximum possible pixel value of the image and MSE is the ratio of the sum of all squared value differences and image size, i.e. 3.

(ii) *SSIM (Structural Similarity Index)* [1]: It is capable of measuring the perceptual difference between the two images of the same type. It depends on the visible structures present in the image.

$$SSIM = \frac{(2u_x u_y + C_1)(2\sigma_{xy} + C_2)}{(u_x^2 + u_y^2 + C_1)(\sigma x^2 + \sigma y^2 + C_2)}$$
(4)

where (X, Y) = Common size window.

 μ_x = Average of *X*, μ_y = Average of *Y*, σ_x^2 = Variance of *x*, σ_y^2 = Variance of *Y*, σ_{xy} = Covariance of *X* and *Y*, $C_1 = (K_1L)^2$, $C_2 = (k_2L)^2$ two variables to stabilize the weak denominator, *L* = dynamic range of the pixel value, K_1 = 0.01 and K_2 = 0.03 by default.

(iii) *MSE (Mean squared Error)* [17]: It is the measurement of average squares of error, i.e. average of the squared difference between the estimated value and actual value.

$$MSE = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (f_i - y_i)^2$$
(5)

where N = number of data points, f_i = Value returned by the data model and y_i = the actual value of the data point y_i (Fig. 4).

5 Conclusion

To achieve improved resolution of landslide photographs, an innovative deep learning-based method single image super-resolution is used. The state-of-the art SRCNN method is capable of learning the end-to-end mapping between low- and high-resolution images. In the proposed work, we applied three different metrics, i.e. PSNR, MSE and SSIM, for the objective quality assessment of the output high-resolution landslide photograph using SRCNN. After deploying SRCNN, it is revealed that it performs well in image restoration. The future work includes the implementation of different interpolation techniques on multispectral and multimodal remote sensing images using different variants of the CNN model.

Image Restoration of Landslide Photographs Using SRCNN

Original

Original





Original



PSNR: 25.515799296085227 MSE: 547.7995686934568 SSIM: 0.7281789846037805





PSNR 26 96980163046581 MSE 391 94168244617435 SSIM 0 8239273220010408

PSNR: 24.389297890562148 MSE: 710.0220343467533 SSIM: 0.7744344608362836

Fig. 4 Results obtained from SRCNN on landslide photographs







PSNR: 26.562609193364814 MSE: 430.46782526661804 SSIM: 0.780616986851539



PSNR: 26.955306723947828 MSE: 393.2520028596487 SSIM: 0.8166138318453555

Fig. 4 (continued)

References

- 1. C. Dong, C.C. Loy, K. He, X. Tang, Image super-resolution using deep convolutional networks. IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell. **38**(2), 295–307 (2016)
- 2. M. Irani, S. Peleg, By image registration. Improv. Resolut. Image Regist. 53(3), 231–239 (1991)
- C.M. Ward, J.D. Harguess, S. Parameswaran, B. Crabb, Image quality assessment for determining efficacy and limitations of Super-Resolution Convolutional Neural Network (SRCNN) (2017), p. 5
- 4. D. Yang, Z. Li, Y. Xia, Z. Chen, Remote sensing image super-resolution: Challenges and approaches. Int. Conf. Digit. Signal Process. DSP, Sept 2015 (2015), pp. 196–200
- A. Singh, J. Singh, Survey on single image based super-resolution—implementation challenges and solutions. Multimed. Tools Appl. 79(3–4), 1641–1672 (2020)
- 6. M. Qin et al., Remote sensing single-image resolution improvement using a deep gradient-aware network with image-specific enhancement. Remote Sens. **12**(5) (2020)
- 7. Z. Wang, J. Chen, S.C.H. Hoi, Deep learning for image super-resolution: A survey. IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell. 1–1 (2020)
- S. Anwar, S. Khan, N. Barnes, A deep journey into super-resolution. ACM Comput. Surv. 53(3), 1–34 (2020)
- P. Li, H. Shen, L. Zhang, R. Sensing, F. John, A Method of Image Resolution Enhancement Based on the Matching Technique. Engineering, pp. 2–5. https://www.isprs.org/proceedings/ XXXV/congress/comm3/papers/356.pdf
- N. Sun, H. Li, Super resolution reconstruction of images based on interpolation and full convolutional neural network and application in medical fields. IEEE Access 7, 186470–186479 (2019)
- R.A. Dehkordi, H. Khosravi, A. Ahmadyfard, Single image super-resolution based on sparse representation using dictionaries trained with input image patches. IET Image Process. 14(8), 1587–1593 (2020)

- 12. D. Vijayalakshmi, M.K. Nath, O.P. Acharya, A Comprehensive Survey on Image Contrast Enhancement Techniques in Spatial Domain, vol. 21, no. 1 (Springer US, 2020)
- 13. R.B. Paranjape, Fundamental enhancement techniques. Handb. Med. Imaging 3–18 (2000)
- R.C. Gonzalez, R.E. Woods, B.R. Masters, digital image processing, third edition. J. Biomed. Opt. 14(2), 029901 (2009)
- 15. T. Acharya, A.K. Ray, Image Processing: Principles and Applications (2005)
- 16. I.D. Craig, Undergraduate Topics in Computer Science (2009)
- 17. Y. Da Wang, R. Armstrong, P. Mostaghimi, Super Resolution Convolutional Neural Network Models for Enhancing Resolution of Rock Micro-CT Images (2019)

Classification Techniques for Binary Motor Imagery Signal for Brain-Computer Interfaces



Piyush Kant, S. H. Laskar, and Jupitara Hazarika

1 Introduction

Motor imagery (MI) classification has been a very significant issue in brain-computer interfaces (BCI). The need for better classification accuracy is the paramount for the development of assistive technologies for people with neuromuscular disorders. With the need for classification of mind signal interpretations, electroencephalogram (EEG) is considered as an optimal solution for non-invasive brain signal analysis for communication and control of devices such as wheelchair and the robotic arm. The ability to interpret brain signals can enable users with motor disabilities to interact with the outside environment without using conventional motor pathways. Since the subject is related to humanitarian assistance, better accuracies can play a vital role in providing correct outcomes for particular movement imagination. EEG patterns are generated due to event-related potentials (ERP) [1, 2]. ERP(s) can further be subdivided into event-related synchronization (ERS) and event-related desynchronization (ERD) [3]. Event-related desynchronization is the event where rain cells are desynchronized with each other, and they result in the lower potential of EEG waves. On the other side, event-related synchronization results in the higher potential, due to synchronization in brain cells' potential.

P. Kant (🖂) · S. H. Laskar · J. Hazarika

S. H. Laskar e-mail: shlaskar@ei.nits.ac.in

J. Hazarika e-mail: jupitara@ei.nits.ac.in

Department of Electronics and Instrumentation Engineering, National Institute of Technology Silchar, Silchar, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 1261 A. Dhawan et al. (eds.), *Recent Trends in Electronics and Communication*, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering 777, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-2761-3_109

Brain-computer interfaces based on motor imagery systems have wide applications in medical and non-medical fields [4], such as real-time control in the robotic arm, rehabilitation of a person with stroke. To operate a robotic arm [5, 6] in coordination with MI-BCI, a scheme was proposed by Cantillo-Negrete et al. Generally, the raw EEG signal of the subject was analyzed using computational models to classify various imagination task related to motion. That was performed using various pattern recognition algorithms such as feature extraction, feature selection, and classification using various machine learning methods. Various machine learning methods [7] were proposed for the classification of motor imagery tasks for BCI applications. However, it is still open for further research to get higher classification accuracy and dimensional features from EEG data.

The data used in the present study is acquired using the international 10-20 system for EEG acquisition [8] which is shown in Fig. 1. The 10-20 system is an arrangement to locate EEG electrodes evenly on the brain scalp. The human motor cortex [9] is the brain region that controls movement-related activities in the human brain as shown in Fig. 1. This region is a central part of the brain scalp.

This work demonstrates a comparison of two motor imagery (MI) classification techniques. Preprocessing steps for both techniques are kept the same for comparison. Both techniques employ filtering the signal and wavelet denoising for each signal. In the first technique, conventional feature extraction techniques with statistical features especially Shannon entropy [10] was done, and it was claimed to be a very prominent feature as it outperformed mean, variance energy, log-energy entropy, kurtosis, and skewness [11]. The given feature was then fed to Support Vector Machine (SVM), K-Nearest Neighbor (KNN), and Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) classifier for classification. For the second one, the EEG signals were processed using continuous wavelet transform (CWT) [12] to transform the signal into CWT Filterbank.

The first approach for motor imagery classification has been shown in Fig. 2. In this approach, the data has been collected from the C3 and C4 electrodes as they lie just over the motor cortex. Both the electrodes combine into one dipole for the motor





imagery related to the movement imagined. Shannon entropy was then evaluated using different classifiers for evaluation of the best performing method.

The second approach is shown in Fig. 3 employs the transfer learning method. Here, the signals from both the electrodes were combined, and continuous wavelet transform (CWT) was used to convert 1-Dimensional EEG signals into 2-Dimensional time–frequency images.

The main advantage of CWT is the time–frequency representation of the timedomain EEG signals. The time–frequency image generated by CWT has continuous frequency information embedded with continuous time. Moreover, the 2-D image is most suitable for transfer learning using available deep neural networks [13]. Many available deep learning models use Convolutional Neural Networks (CNN). The CNN extracts image features such as edge and curves and detects patterns in the given image. Automatic feature extraction by pre-trained deep learning models makes 2-d images the most suitable for our study. In a recent study, it has been observed [14] that for the data used linear models such as alexnet, vgg16, and vgg19 performed best for two-class motor imagery classifications. Thus, for our study, we used these three models to evaluate algorithm performance.


2 Methodology

2.1 Data Description

The dataset used in this study is BCI competition II dataset III [15], also known as Graz 2003 data. The dataset has been used in several studies for MI-based BCI algorithms. The data was recorded by the University of Technology Graz, Institute of Biomedical Engineering. Data is acquired from a 25-year-old healthy female participant. Tasks during data acquisition were motor imagery of left and right hand movement. The task was based on the imaginary movement of a block based on a cue that was shown on the screen randomly.

The timing scheme for data acquisition is shown in Fig. 4. The duration for EEG data for each sample was 9 s. The subject was asked to relax in the beginning. After two seconds, a fixation cross was shown which marks the beginning of the trial and from three to nine-second, a cue showing the movement direction was shown to the subject which represents the movement direction for the hand MI. Hence, the data recorded has motor imagery for six seconds.

A total of 280 trials were recorded out of which 140 samples were taken for training the data and the remaining 140 samples were kept for testing. The data was recorded for electrodes on the motor cortex which were C3, C4, and CZ electrodes as described in Fig. 1. For our algorithms, we have chosen C3 and C4 electrodes as



Fig. 4 Timing schemer for data acquisition

CZ has not been very much effective in our study. This approach is the same for both the approaches that have been used in this study.

2.2 Preprocessing

The EEG data processed for different bands [16, 17] which are Delta (0.5-4 Hz), Theta (4–8 Hz), Alpha/Mu (8–16 Hz), Beta (16–24 Hz), and Gamma band (24 Hz and above). The EEG signal was filtered to 0–30 Hz using a bandpass filter. The bands were decomposed using wavelet packet transform (WPT). Alpha or Mu band is proven to be the most effective in MI classification [18, 19] in several studies hence, both the approaches were implemented on the Mu band in our study.

2.3 Feature Extraction

Brain waves or EEG are time-varying, non-stationary signals. It contains different frequencies at different times even for a short amount of time [20]. In comparison with FFT and STFT, wavelets can decompose the signals [21]. Therefore, to extract accurate EEG signal feature both the approaches employs wavelet packet transform (WPT). In our study, we have used Daubechies 4 or popularly known as db4 as it has been recognized for good results [22]. The signals were then decomposed on the various level to extract a specific band of frequencies. A wavelet packet transforms at different level down-samples the signal into detail coefficients (High-pass) and approximation coefficients (Low-pass) [23]. These coefficients are further down-sampled for more details and approximation on the next level. WPT produces 2^n



Fig. 5 Wavelet packet transform tree

different sets of coefficients at level *n*. Thus, depending upon the requirements, we can extract different frequency bands details on different levels. The typical wavelet packet tree is shown in Fig. 5.

The data had a sampling frequency of 128 Hz, resulting in maximum frequency contents 0–64 Hz. Signal was decomposed at a different level to obtain down-sampled frequency content. The signals were decomposed up to three levels detail coefficient at the third level were chosen to extract Mu band frequencies.

For the first approach, feature extraction required Shannon entropy [10], which is a statistical feature. Equation 1 shows the formula to calculate Shannon entropy.

$$SE = -\sum_{i=0}^{N-1} P_i \log_2 P_i \tag{1}$$

Here, P_i is the probability in a given sample class. N is the number of samples in each trial.

Shannon entropy provided entropy values for each class per electrode. The process is repeated for all the trials.

For the second approach, a two-dimensional image is generated out of onedimensional EEG data. CWT extracts various frequencies available in the signal at any particular point of time. The CWT image contains time and frequency features. In contrast to STFT which is inefficient in interpreting MI signals because of trade-off in resolution between frequency and time [24]. When the width of the time window is short, it shows better resolution in time, but frequency resolution is deteriorated. A large time window results in just the opposite. This issue is addressed using continuous wavelet transform (CWT). Methods used in fourier transform and CWT are similar, but as the fourier transform correlates coefficients between the sinusoidal signal and the original signal on the other hand CWT correlates the original signal with the mother wavelet. However, CWT decomposes signals in the time–frequency domain by scaling and translating the mother wavelet, whereas fourier transforms decomposed the signal just in the frequency domain. In our study, we have used Morlet as mother wavelet. Equation 2 shows a typical CWT operation.



Fig. 6 Scalogram for motor imagery. a Right imagery and b left hand imagery

$$CWT(\omega, s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|s|}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t)\psi\left(\frac{t-\omega}{s}\right) dt$$
(2)

Here, x(t) is motor imagery signal, ψ is the mother wavelet, ω shows time-shifting parameter or translation, and *s* represents the scaling parameter. The left hand side $CWT(\omega, s)$ denotes the correlation coefficients of the continuous wavelet transform.

After going through CWT, each EEG signal is converted into image representation and saved with their class labels.

Figure 6 shows 2-dimensional images generated from 1-dimensional EEG MI signals for right and left hand, respectively.

Convolutional neural network (CNN) extracts features from the signal image. Every two-dimensional image has some certain features such as curves, edges, and corners, etc. These low-level features then build-up to determine high-level features [25] such as a pattern on a specific location. These features enable the algorithm to identify structures present in the images. Again the process is repeated for each trial.

2.4 Model Training

Both the approaches train model differently. The first approach uses conventional machine learning through which three supervised machine learning classifiers (i) Support Vector Machine (SVM), (ii) K-Nearest Neighbor, and (iii) Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA). On the other hand for the second approach, we have used transfer learning on top of CNN based deep neural networks. In this approach, we have employed three models (i) alexnet, (ii) vgg16, and (iii) vgg19 and modified them to suit our dataset.

3 Classification

The performance of both approaches was evaluated based on the classification accuracies of the same dataset. Different supervised machine learning techniques used in this study are described below. Both the approaches used 140 trials for training and 140 trials for the testing of the trained model as available in the BCI competition dataset. For the second approach classification techniques, we have used three pre-trained deep learning models. The basic building blocks of most of the deep neural networks are more or less the same as they employ similar layers with some tweaks in parameters and layers arrangement. These differences can be observed by observing their architecture. Our study includes the following pre-trained deep learning models:

All the training data available was used to make results more reliable. The classification methods used in the study are described below:

3.1 Support Vector Machine

Support Vector Machine (SVM) is a classification algorithm that generates a hyperplane in *N*-dimensional space. Where, *N* is the number of features in a sample. The objective of hyperplane is to distinctly classify data points. The SVM algorithm tries to maximize the margin between data points and hyperplane.

3.2 K-Nearest Neighbors

K-Nearest Neighbors (KNN) algorithm is based on assumptions that similar things can be classified based on their proximity. Thus, for each new data point, the KNN algorithm looks for the neighboring data points and the class to which they belong. A new data point according to KNN lies in the same class to which its neighbor belongs.

3.3 Linear Discriminant Analysis

Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) is a technique for dimensionality reduction. It reduces the number of variables/dimensions in the given dataset as well as retains much of the meaningful information intact. LDA creates a new axis or plain reducing the dimensionality to make different classes separate.

3.4 Alexnet

Alexnet is a deep learning model which consists of 8 main layers (5 convolution layers and 3 fully connected layers). It uses data augmentation to reduce overfitting. It used several different kernel sizes for convolution.

3.5 Vgg16

VGG net was formulated to address the need to reduce the number of parameters used in convolution layers which in turn provides improved training duration. Vgg16 used a fixed kernel of size 3×3 . Kernel size used in alexnet ($11 \times 11, 5 \times 5$, and 3×3) were replicated by using multiple 3×3 kernels in vgg net.

3.6 Vgg19

Vgg19 is an improved version of vgg16. These networks differ only in the number of layers. vgg19 has 3 more convolution lavers than vgg16. Vgg19 has the same convolution kernel, which is 3×3 .

4 Results

The results of the study are observed separately for the first and second approaches. Figure 7 shows the comparison of Shannon entropy for both hands in either electrode



Classification technique	Vgg19	Vgg16	Alexnet	SVM	KNN	LDA
Kappa	0.89	0.89	0.87	0.73	0.69	0.74

Table 1 Kappa values for classification technique

obtained during the first approach.

The results for the first approach were obtained and recorded in Table 2. As table shows LDA has performed the best in terms of classification accuracy but SVM and KNN also performed very well. Even if the accuracies such as 87.1% are high enough, still scope of improvement is there as the human implementation of BCI requires the highest possible accuracy.

In the second approach, the results obtained are shown in Table 3. Obtained results were promising and found out to be as high as 94.29% for the vgg19 model. The results show that the transfer learning approach using deep networks are proven to be more effective than conventional machine learning approaches. Kappa values, which is used to estimate the interrater reliability of an algorithm. Based on the obtained results, Kappa values for all six classification methods were compared and summarized in Table 1. Table 1 also visualizes the effectiveness of transfer learning methods for the aforementioned datasets. All the transfer learning methods have Kappa values more than 0.87 which is a great improvement over conventional methods having the most Kappa value 0.74.

5 Discussion and Conclusion

In the present study, aforementioned features were extracted from EEG dataset BCI competition II dataset III. After preprocessing the data, two different approaches were used to compare their classification efficiency of both the approaches separately for both the datasets. Different feature extraction techniques were used for respective approaches. Shannon entropy and CWT along with CNN were used, respectively, to extract features, respectively. Finally, the features were then used to train classification models. The total sample size of 280 was divided into half for training and testing purposes. The results were shown in Tables 1, 2, and 3. Table 4 shows some previous works based on the same dataset.

The study shows that deep learning methods (alexnet, vgg16, and vgg19) worked better than conventional machine learning (SVM, KNN, and LDA). The Kappa values in Table 1 show deep learning methods have outperformed conventional methods for the same dataset. It should be noted that deep learning methods have larger training

Table 2 Classification	Feature	Classification accuracy (%)		
accuracies for different classifier using Shannon		SVM	KNN	LDA
entropy	Shannon entropy (SE)	86.4%	84.3%	87.1%

Table 3 Classification accuracies for different Image: Classification	Feature	Classification accuracy (%)		
classifier using Shannon		Alexnet	Vgg16	Vgg19
entropy	CNN	93.57%	94.29%	94.29%

Authors	Method used	Classification acc. (%)	
Bhattacharyya et al.	Average band power of alpha and beta with KNN	84.29	
Liu et al.	Common spatial pattern (CSP) with SVM	82.86	
Tae-Ung Jang et al.	STFT with K-nearest neighbor	83.57	
Tabar and Halici	STFT with deep learning	90	
Samira Vafay Eslahi et al.	Genetic Algorithm based optimization with FKNN, LDA	84	
Kant et al.	Wavelet transform with Shannon entropy using SVM and KNN	86.4	

 Table 4
 Notable previous research work is done with the same dataset

time for a particular model. In our work with the first approach, all three classifiers took less than 15 s and the second approach with deep learning took 2 min and 29 s at most [alexnet (1 min 39 s), vgg16 (2 min 13 s), and vgg19 (2 min 29 s)] for training. However, once trained the model can classify a new sample within seconds for each classification technique. And with the arrival of faster and faster processors, deep networks are best-suited techniques for BCI implementation.

The works have also determined the efficient classifiers for each of the first, and the second approach. LDA (87.1%) has classified better than SVM (86.4%) and KNN (84.3%) in their experiment, while vgg19, vgg16 provided the same classification accuracy (94.29%) and proven better than alexnet (93.57%) in our particular experiments. The work establishes the effectiveness of deep neural networks over conventional machine learning techniques that have at least a 6% improvement over the first approach's the best classification accuracy.

It may be noted that the accuracy of these classifiers may also differ for different datasets and some other preprocessing or filtering techniques. Alpha/Mu band in our case provided conclusive pieces of evidence for our study to determine the effectiveness of particular approaches in order to be used in further studies.

Acknowledgements This research work is supported by the Visvesvaraya Ph.D. Scheme of MietY, Government of India (Ref No.: PhD-MLA/4(74)/2015-16).

References

- 1. S.P. Levine et al., A direct brain interface based on event-related potentials. IEEE Trans. Rehabil. Eng. 8(2), 180–185 (2000)
- A. Kok, Event-related-potential (ERP) reflections of mental resources: a review and synthesis. Biol. Psychol. 45(1–3), 19–56 (1997)
- 3. W. Klimesch, H. Schimke, M. Doppelmayr, B. Ripper, J. Schwaiger, G. Pfurtscheller, Eventrelated desynchronization (ERD) and the Dm effect: Does alpha desynchronization during encoding predict later recall performance? Int. J. Psychophysiol. **24**(1–2), 47–60 (1996)
- 4. S. Sankha Sarma, P. Kant, Multi-functional system for persons with disabilities using electroencephalography signals of eye blink opto-mechatronics technologies for next generation sensors and applications (OMEGA) view project biomedical instrumentation and signal processing view project. researchgate.net
- 5. A. Casey, H. Azhar, M. Grzes, M. Sakel, BCI controlled robotic arm as assistance to the rehabilitation of neurologically disabled patients. Disabil. Rehabil. Assist. Technol. (2019)
- 6. J. Meng, S. Zhang, A. Bekyo, J. Olsoe, B. Baxter, B. He, Noninvasive electroencephalogram based control of a robotic arm for reach and grasp tasks. Sci. Rep. 6, 1–15 (2016)
- H.K. Lee, Y.S. Choi, A convolution neural networks scheme for classification of motor imagery EEG based on wavelet time-frequency image, in *International Conference on Information Networking*, vol. 2018, Janua (2018), pp. 906–909
- 8. Y. Yang, S. Chevallier, J. Wiart, I. Bloch, Time-frequency optimization for discrimination between imagination of right and left hand movements based on two bipolar electroencephalog-raphy channels. EURASIP J. Adv. Signal Process. **1**, 2014 (2014)
- H. Yuan, A. Doud, A. Gururajan, B. He, Cortical imaging of event-related (de)synchronization during online control of brain-computer interface using minimum-norm estimates in frequency domain. IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng. 16(5), 425–431 (2008)
- M.A. Rahman, F. Khanam, M. Ahmad, M.S. Uddin, Multiclass EEG signal classification utilizing Rényi min-entropy-based feature selection from wavelet packet transformation. Brain Inform. 7(1) (2020)
- P. Kant, J. Hazarika, S.H. Laskar, Wavelet transform based approach for EEG feature selection of motor imagery data for braincomputer interfaces, in *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Inventive Systems and Control, ICISC 2019* (2019), pp. 101–105
- M.K. Kiymik, I. Güler, A. Dizibüyük, M. Akin, Comparison of STFT and wavelet transform methods in determining epileptic seizure activity in EEG signals for real-time application. Comput. Biol. Med. 35(7), 603–616 (2005)
- U.R. Acharya, S.L. Oh, Y. Hagiwara, J.H. Tan, H. Adeli, Deep convolutional neural network for the automated detection and diagnosis of seizure using EEG signals. Comput. Biol. Med. 100, 270–278 (2018)
- 14. P. Kant, S.H. Laskar, J. Hazarika, R. Mahamune, CWT based transfer learning for motor imagery classification for brain computer interfaces. J. Neurosci. Methods 108886 (2020)
- BCI Competition II. [Online]. Available: http://www.bbci.de/competition/ii/. Accessed: 27-Aug-2020
- W.J. Ray, H.W. Cole, EEG alpha activity reflects attentional demands, and beta activity reflects emotional and cognitive processes. Science 228(4700), 750–752 (1985)
- M. Wogan, C.D. Kaplan, S.F. Moore, R. Epro, R.N. Harner, Sex difference and task effects in lateralization of EEG-alpha. Int. J. Neurosci. 8(4), 219–223 (1979)
- R. Hundia, Brain computer interface-controlling devices utilizing the alpha brain waves. Int. J. Sci. Technol. Res. 4(01), 281–285 (2015)
- J. Matsumoto, T. Fujiwara, O. Takahashi, M. Liu, A. Kimura, J. Ushiba, Modulation of mu rhythm desynchronization during motor imagery by transcranial direct current stimulation. J. Neuroeng. Rehabil. 7(1), 1–5 (2010)
- 20. U.R. Acharya et al., AtheromaticTM: symptomatic vs. asymptomatic classification of carotid ultrasound plaque using a combination of HOS, DWT & texture, in *Proceedings of the Annual*

International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, EMBS (2011), pp. 4489–4492

- 21. M.K. Wali, M. Murugappan, R.B. Ahmad, B.S. Zheng, Development of discrete wavelet transform (DWT) toolbox for signal processing applications. ieeexplore.ieee.org (2012)
- 22. M.K. Wali, M. Murugappan, B. Ahmmad, Wavelet packet transform based driver distraction level classification using EEG. Math. Probl. Eng. **2013** (2013)
- G. Balasubramanian, A. Kanagasabai, J. Mohan, N.G. Seshadri, Music induced emotion using wavelet packet decomposition—an EEG study. Biomed. Sig. Process. Control 42, 115–128 (2018)
- S. Chaudhary, S. Taran, V. Bajaj, A. Sengur, Convolutional neural network based approach towards motor imagery tasks EEG signals classification. IEEE Sens. J. 19(12), 4494–4500 (2019)
- D. Kollias, S. Zafeiriou, Exploiting multi-CNN features in CNN-RNN based dimensional emotion recognition on the OMG in-the-wild dataset. IEEE Trans. Affect. Comput. 1–1 (2019)